Vladimir V. Mityushev Michael V. Ruzhansky Editors

# Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications

Proceedings of the 9th ISAAC Congress, Kraków 2013

Joaac





## **Trends in Mathematics**

## **Research Perspectives**

*Research Perspectives* collects core ideas and developments discussed at conferences and workshops in mathematics, as well as their increasingly important applications to other fields. This subseries' rapid publication of extended abstracts, open problems and results of discussions ensures that readers are at the forefront of current research developments. Proposals for volumes can be submitted using the online book project submission form at our website www.birkhauser-science.com.

# Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications

Vladimir V. Mityushev Michael V. Ruzhansky Editors

Proceedings of the 9th ISAAC Congress, Kraków 2013



*Editors* Vladimir V. Mityushev Dept. of Computer Sc. & Comp. Methods Pedagogical University Kraków, Poland

Michael V. Ruzhansky Department of Mathematics Imperial College London London, UK

ISSN 2297-0215 Trends in Mathematics ISBN 978-3-319-12576-3 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0 ISSN 2297-024X (electronic)

ISBN 978-3-319-12577-0 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014958749

Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

## Preface

The *9th International ISAAC Congress* was held in the period 5–9 August 2013 in Krakow, Poland. The main organiser was the Krakow Pedagogical University. The congress continued the successful series of biennial meetings previously held in USA (1997), Japan (1999), Germany (2001), Canada (2003), Italy (2005), Turkey (2007), UK (2009) and Russia (2011). The total number of participants of the congress was 502 coming from 62 countries, including the special guests and the Organising Committee from Krakow and Rzeszow. There were 12 plenary speakers and 2 key speakers of the discussion group on applications. Totally, the congress had 23 sessions spanned over 4 working days, while 1 day was assigned to excursions. The congress was sponsored by industrial partners. When needed, the Polish consulates over Europe issued free visas for participants of the congress.

One of the main features of the congress was the invitation of industrial specialists, especially engineers working in industry, whose activity is related to applied mathematics (industrial mathematics) and computer sciences. The 9th International ISAAC Congress was an important scientific event during which mathematicians from different parts of the world had an opportunity to present new results and ideas. It was also a great possibility for young mathematicians to contact experts in a variety of fields.

The atmosphere during the Congress was warm and friendly at the sessions and at the social events: banquet, excursions, football match followed by a barbeque. It is impossible to give the final score of the football match because too many goals were scored.

The dates of the Congress, namely 5–9 August, provided for an extremely hot period in the history of Krakow that correlated well with hot and fruitful scientific discussions during the Congress.

It is already a well-established tradition to award one or several outstanding young researchers during the ISAAC congress. The ISAAC award of the 9th International ISAAC Congress was presented to

Jasson Vindas (University of Ghent, Belgium) for his outstanding results on the asymptotic behaviour of Schwartz distributions and their pointwise values.

At the ISAAC board meeting during the congress Professor Luigi Rodino of the University of Turin was elected as the new ISAAC President, and Professor Michael Reissig of Freiberg University as the new Vice-President. The former president, Professor Michael Ruzhansky of Imperial College London, UK, has finished his 4-year service. The election of the new vice-president and new rules concerning the structure and functioning of the interest groups within ISAAC completed the work on the new ISAAC constitution that took place in the year before the congress. The new constitution was approved by the general electronic vote by ISAAC members prior to the congress. Further information can be found on the ISAAC homepage

#### www.mathisaac.org

The ISAAC Board has decided the venue for the following 10th International ISAAC Congress in 2015 to be the University of Macau.

The plenary and key lectures given at the congress appear not here but in the independent volume:

Mityushev V., Ruzhansky M. (Eds.) Analytic Methods in Interdisciplinary Applications. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, Vol. 116, Springer, 2015.

The present volume contains the texts of a selection of talks delivered at the congress. As in the previous years, some of the sessions or interest groups decided to publish their own volumes of proceedings and are therefore excluded from the present collection. The work of the congress was spread over the following sessions:

- Complex variables and potential theory, organised by T. Aliyev, A. Golberg, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, S. Plaksa
- Differential Equations: Complex and Functional Analytic Methods, Applications, organised by H. Begehr
- Complex-analytic methods for applied sciences, organised by S.V. Rogosin
- *Clifford and Quaternion Analysis*, organised by S. Bernstein, U. Kähler, I. Sabadini and F. Sommen
- Fixed Point Theory and Applications, organised by E. Karapınar
- Spaces of Differentiable Functions of Several Real Variables and Applications, organised by V. Burenkov and S. Samko
- *Generalized Functions*, organised by M. Oberguggenberger and S. Pilipović
- *Qualitative Properties of Evolution Models*, organised by K. Yagdjian, F. Hirosawa and M. Reissig
- Nonlinear Infinite Dimensional Evolutions and Control Theory with Applications, organised by I. Lasiecka, J. Webster and G. Avalos
- *Nonlinear PDE*, organised by V. Georgiev and T. Ozawa
- Topological and Geometrical Methods of Analysis, organised by A. Prykarpatskyi, Yu. Zelinskyi and K. Soltanov

#### Preface

- Didactical Approaches to Mathematical Thinking, organised by E. Swoboda and V. Mityushev
- Wavelet Theory And its Related Topics, organised by K. Fujita and A. Morimoto
- Integral Transforms and Reproducing Kernels, organised by S. Saitoh and Ju. Rappoport
- Pseudo differential operators, organised by L. Rodino, J. Toft and M. W. Wong
- Medical Mathematics and Computing, organised by R. Gilbert, Ju. Rappoport and V. Yakushev
- Toeplitz Operators and Their Applications, organised by S. Grudsky and N. Vasilevski
- Approximation Theory and Fourier Analysis, organised by S. Tikhonov and E. Liflyand
- Differential and Difference Equations with Applications, organised by L. Berezansky, J. Diblik, A. Zafer and M. Zima
- Analytic Methods in Complex Geometry, organised by A. Schmitt
- *M-Frame Constructions*, organised by K. Rudol, H.G. Stark, A. Grybos and D. Onchis
- Applications of Queueing Theory in Modelling and Performance Evaluation of Computer Networks,
  - organised by K. Grochla
- Applied Mathematics, organised by S. Bosiakov
- *Others* containing other talks, organised by the editors of this volume

We thank the organisers of all the sessions of the congress for their work. They spent an enormous amount of time inviting participants, arranging their sessions, providing chairmen and creating a familiar and workshop-like atmosphere within their meetings. The session organisers were also responsible for collecting contributions to this proceedings volume and for the refereeing process of the papers.

Krakow, Poland London, UK Vladimir Mityushev Michael Ruzhansky

## Contents

## Part I Tributes

A Tribute to the 70th Birthday of Prof Saburou Saitoh	3
Sergei Rogosin: Achievements so Far and Further Plans	5
Part II Differential Equations: Complex and Functional Analytic Methods, Applications	
The Degenerate Second-Order Elliptic Oblique Derivative Problem           in a Domain with a Conical Boundary Point           Mariusz Bodzioch and Mikhail Borsuk	11
On Locally Differentiable Solutions of the Stationary Schrödinger Equation with Discontinuous Coefficients	19
<b>Riemann Problems for Single-Periodic Polyanalytic Functions II</b> Wang Yufeng and Wang Yanjin	23
<b>Riemann–Hilbert Problem for Multiply Connected Domains</b> Anna Tytuła	33
The Schottky–Klein Prime Function	41
Green Function of the Dirichlet Problem for the Laplacian and Inhomogeneous Boundary Value Problems for the Poisson Equation in a Punctured DomainBaltabek Kanguzhin and Niyaz Tokmagambetov	49
Boundary Value Problems and Method of Reflection for Quarter Ring and Half Hexagon	59

Harmonic Dirichlet Problem in a Ring Sector	67
The Parqueting-Reflection Principle            Heinrich Begehr	77
On Existence of the Resolvent and Discreteness of the Spectrum of a Class of Differential Operators of Hyperbolic Type M.B. Muratbekov and M.M. Muratbekov	85
On the Singularities of the Emden–Fowler Type Equations	93
Differential Equations with Degenerated Variable Operator         at the Derivative	101
Cauchy Problem for a First Order Ordinary Differential System with Variable Coefficients	109
General Solution of an <i>n</i> -th Order Linear Ordinary DifferentialEquation with Variable CoefficientsA. Tungatarov and B. Omarbayeva	117
About a Class of Two Dimensional Volterra Type Integral Equations with Singular Boundary Lines	123
<b>Optimal Control Problem on Optimization of Resources Productivity</b> . Anastasia A. Usova and Alexander M. Tarasyev	133
Part III Spaces of Differentiable Functions of Several Real Variables and Applications	
The Amalgam Spaces $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ and Boundedness of Hardy– Littlewood Maximal Operators	145
Spaces of Generalised Smoothness in Summability Problemsfor Φ-Means of Spectral DecompositionTsegaye G. Ayele and Mikhail L. Goldman	163
Viewing the Steklov Eigenvalues of the Laplace Operator           as Critical Neumann Eigenvalues           Pier Domenico Lamberti and Luigi Provenzano	171
Generalized Fractional Integrals on Central Morrey Spaces and Generalized σ-Lipschitz SpacesMorrey Spaces and Lipschitz SpacesKatsuo Matsuoka	179
Part IV Qualitative Properties of Evolution Models	

Contents
----------

Well-Posedness for a Generalized Boussinesq Equation	193
Energy Solutions for Nonlinear Klein–Gordon Equations in de Sitter         Spacetime         Makoto Nakamura	203
A Benefit from the $L^{\infty}$ Smallness of Initial Data for the Semilinear Wave Equation with Structural Damping	209
A Regularity Criterion for the Schrödinger Map Jishan Fan and Tohru Ozawa	217
Microlocal Analysis for Hyperbolic Equations in Einstein-de Sitter Spacetime	225
Nonlinear Evolution Equations with Strong Dissipation and         Proliferation          Akisato Kubo and Hiroki Hoshino	233
A Note on Real Powers of Time Differentiation	243
A Stationary Approach to the Scattering on Noncompact Star Graphs Containing Finite Rays	253
Integral Transform Approach to the Cauchy Problem for the Evolution Equations	263
Part V Nonlinear PDE and Control Theory	
On Some Solutions of Certain Versions of "Sigma" Model and Some Skyrme-Like Models	273
Sharp Sobolev–Strichartz Estimates for the Free Schrödinger         Propagator	281
Nonlinear PDE as Immersions	289
Blow-Up for Nonlinear Inequalities with Singularities on Unbounded	200
Evgeny Galakhov and Olga Salieva	299

Contents
----------

Well-Posedness and Stability of a Mindlin–Timoshenko Plate Model with Damping and Sources	307
Pei Pei, Mohammad A. Rammaha, and Daniel Toundykov	507
<b>On Deterministic and Stochastic Linear Quadratic Control Problems</b> . Tijana Levajković and Hermann Mena	315
Part VI Topological and Geometrical Methods	
Ergodic Theory, Boole Type Transformations, Dynamical Systems Theory	325
<b>Fixed Points Theorems for Multivalued Mappings</b>	335
Parametric Continuity of Choquet and Sugeno Integrals	341
Nonlinear Operators, Fixed-Point Theorems, Nonlinear Equations Kamal N. Soltanov	347
Some Remarks About Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of Ruled Threefolds	361
Atiyah Classes of Lie Algebroids	375
Kähler Metrics with Cone Singularities and Uniqueness Problem Kai Zheng	395
Part VII Didactics and Education	
Teaching of Mathematics in Vocational Schools Upon 1951         Reorganisation          Ryszard Ślęczka	411
Arithmetic in Polish Parish Schools in the Period of the Commission         of National Education         Ryszard Ślęczka and Jan Ryś	417
Life as an Example. S.M. Nikolskij	425
<b>The Area Method and Proving Plane Geometry Theorems</b> Martin Billich	433
Part VIII Clifford, Quaternion and Wavelet Analysis	
Redundant Multiscale Haar Wavelet Transforms	443

#### Contents

Gabor Transform of Analytic Functional on the Sphere	451
<b>On the Interpolation of Orthonormal Wavelets with Compact Support</b> . Naohiro Fukuda and Tamotu Kinoshita	459
An Estimation Method of Shift Parameters in Image Separation Problem	467
Slice Functional Calculus in Quaternionic Hilbert Spaces	475
Recent Progress on Spheroidal Monogenic Functions	485
Clifford Algebras with Induced (Semi)-Riemannian Structures and Their Compactifications	499
Part IX Integral Transforms and Reproducing Kernels	
Generalized Shift Operators Generated by Convolutions of Integral Transforms	507
<b>An Approach for Developing Fourier Convolutions and Applications</b> Nguyen Minh Tuan	515
Whittaker Differential Equation Associated to the Initial Heat Problem M.M. Rodrigues and S. Saitoh	523
Recovery of Holomorphic Functions and Taylor Coefficients by         Sampling	531
<b>On Approximation of Lebedev Type Transforms</b> Juri Rappoport	545
Reproducing Kernels and Discretization	553
Dirichlet's Problem by Using Computers with the Theory of Reproducing Kernels Tsutomu Matsuura and Saburo Saitoh	561
Part X Toeplitz Operators and Their Applications	
C*-Algebras of Two-Dimensional Singular Integral Operators with Shifts	571
Uncertainty and Analyticity	583

Toeplitz Operators on the Harmonic Bergman Space         with Pseudodifferential Defining Symbols         Maribel Loaiza and Nikolai Vasilevski	591
<b>Theorems of Paley–Wiener Type for Spaces of Polyanalytic Functions</b> . Luís V. Pessoa and Ana Moura Santos	605
<b>Fredholm Theory of Pseudodifferential Operators Acting in Variable</b> <b>Exponent Spaces of Bessel Potentials on Smooth Manifolds</b> Vladimir Rabinovich	615
Part XI Differential and Difference Equations with Applications	
Boundary Value Problems for the Radiative Transfer Equation with Reflection and Refraction Conditions	625
Asymptotic Approximations of a Thin Elastic Beam with Auxiliary Coupled 1D System due to Robin Boundary Condition Z. Bare, J. Orlik, and G. Panasenko	637
Smooth Solution of an Initial Value Problem for a Mixed-Type         Differential Difference Equation         Valentina Iakovleva and Judith Vanegas	649
On the Classical Lorenz System	655
Discrete Singular Integrals in a Half-Space	663
Geometrical Features of the Soliton Solution	671
Part XII M-Frame Constructions	
Approximate Dual M-Frames Constructions: The Gabor Case Darian M. Onchis and Anna Grybos	681
Matrices of Operators on Some Function Spaces	689
Rank-M Frame Multipliers and Optimality Criterions for Density         Operators of Rank M          Daniel Lantzberg	695
Audio Inpainting Using M-Frames	705
Wavelet Frames to Optimally Learn Functions on Diffusion Measure	
Spaces	715

#### Contents

Part XIII Applications of Queueing Theory in Modelling and Performance Evaluation of Computer Networks	
A Study on Ateb Transform as a Generalization of Fourier Transform . Ivanna Dronjuk and Maria Nazarkevich	723
Queue-Size Distribution in Energy-Saving Model Based on Multiple         Vacation Policy	733
Automobile System Safety Based on the Model for Stochastic Networks         with Dependent Service Times         Vladimir Vishnevsky and Vladimir Rykov	741
Part XIV Applied Mathematics	
Damage Prediction of the Femur with Postresection DefectS. Bosiakov, D. Alekseev, and I. Shpileuski	753
<b>Representative Elements for Polydispersed Composites</b> Natalia Rylko	761
Random Non-overlapping Walks of Disks on the Plane	769
Symbolic Computation of Conformal Mappings onto Slit Domains Roman Czapla	777
On One Approach to the Simulation of the Periodontal Ligament Takes into Account Its Viscoelastic Properties	785
Biomechanical Effects of Maxillary Expansion in Cross-Bite Patients During Orthodontic Treatment with Hyrax Screw	793
Part XV Others	
On the Solvability of a Nonlinear Optimal Control Problem for the Thermal Processes Described by Fredholm Integro- Differential Equations	803
Exact Null-Controllability of Evolution Equations by Smooth Controls and Applications to Controllability of Interconnected Systems B. Shklyar	823
On the Sum of Contractive Type of Mappings I: Maps on the Same Class	831
On $(\alpha, \psi)$ Contractions of Integral Type on Generalized Metric Spaces Erdal Karapınar	843

Irina V. Melnikova and Olga Starkova	
Biomechanical Model of the Human Eye on the Base of Nonlinear Shell Theory	365
Appendix Impressions of 9th ISAAC Congress, Kraków 2013 8	373
Author Index	391

## Part I Tributes

## A Tribute to the 70th Birthday of Prof Saburou Saitoh

Tsutomu Matsuura

Keywords ISAAC · Saburou Saitoh

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 01A70 · Secondary 30DXX · 33E12 · 45EXX · 74A40 · 76D27 · 30E25



Professor Saburou Saitoh participated in the ISAAC congresses since the first congress was held at the University of Delaware in 1997. Every time he organized the session on reproducing kernels during the congress, publishing two volumes of

T. Matsuura  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Dedicated to Prof. Saitoh's 70th anniversary.

Division of Mechanical Science and Technology, Faculty of Science and Technology, Gunma University, 1-5-1, Tenjin-cho, Kiryu, Gunma 376-8515, Japan e-mail: matsuura@gunma-u.ac.jp

the proceedings with Kluwer Academic Publishers. He was also the Vice-President of ISAAC for 6 years.

Prof. Saburou Saitoh is a unique mathematician—he is always considering questions beyond mathematics: what is the meaning of our whole life and what is the meaning of mathematics. While his research group on the theory of reproducing kernels is not so large, he brings to it his deep love of reproducing kernels. He is teaching his students and colleagues about how fundamental and beautiful mathematics is, and it good impact on human beings.

This led him to a range of results involving the fundamental theory of linear transforms, generalizations of Pythagorean theorem, many beautiful norm inequalities, representations of non-linear simultaneous equations and implicit functions, some considerations of the Tikhonov regularization. A typical result of him is the success of the numerical and real inversion formula of the Laplace transform co-authored with Professors H. Fujiwara and T. Matsuura.

After his retirement from Gunma University at the age of 65 years, the University of Aveiro invited him for a visiting position for 5 years as a researcher. Thus, he got a very happy chance to realize his ideas further. He and his son published an essay book on the universal problems beyond mathematics. In mathematics, he worked on the development of the Aveiro discretization method, with colleagues Professors L.P. Castro, M.M. Rodrigues, and others, and he also presented Announcement 142: An Aveiro Dream in Mathematics. Roughly speaking, when we know some eigenfunctions of a linear operator, we can consider the related partial differential equation and we can solve the associated initial value problem; in this method, one considers the reproducing kernel forms and related integral transforms (linear mappings), and one can discuss the existence problem and the construction problem of the initial value problem. Furthermore, by using the theory of reproducing kernels one can consider further properties of solutions. From this general method, one can consider properties of many integral transforms and reproducing kernels in concrete forms from the known eigenfunctions.

Prof. Saitoh published over 100 papers and 7 books by himself or jointly with his colleagues. Now he is planning a publication of a new book on the theory of reproducing kernels with the young colleague Professor Yoshihiro Sawano–we are waiting for its publication. He is writing blogs on human beings and social problems, and his opinions are stated in Announcements of the Institute of Reproducing Kernels: at this moment, this consists of more than 150 items. We hope his ideas will be spread further and help making a beautiful world.

## Sergei Rogosin: Achievements so Far and Further Plans

Maryna Dubatovskaya, Anna Koroleva, and Gennady Mishuris

Keywords ISAAC · Sergei Rogosin

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 01A70 · Secondary 30DXX · 33E12 · 45EXX · 74A40 · 76D27 · 30E25



Dedicated to Prof. Rogosin's 60th anniversary.

M. Dubatovskaya (⊠) · A. Koroleva Belarusian State University, Nezavisivosti ave, 4, 220030 Minsk, Belarus e-mail: dubatovska@bsu.by

A. Koroleva e-mail: koroleva@bsu.by

G. Mishuris Aberystwyth University, Penglais, SY23 3BZ Aberystwyth, UK e-mail: ggm@aber.ac.uk

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_2 Professor Sergei Rogosin is an international expert in the field of mathematical analysis, complex variables and their applications. His main research interests are: boundary value problems for analytic functions, integral equations, wavelet analysis, nonlinear analysis, free boundary value problems, geometric functions theory, approximation theory, mechanics of continuum media, Hele-Show flows, fluid dynamics, theory of composite materials, fractional analysis, special functions and differential equations of fractional order. Sergei Rogosin is an author of many research publications including three monographs (one published jointly with V. Mityushev, another with F. Mainardi and the third one with R. Gorenflo, A. Kilbas, F. Mainardi). Clearly, his active international cooperation has contributed significantly to broadening his scientific interests. He is also known as an author of the history of mathematical study in the area of probability theory and rheology.

Sergei Rogosin is an outstanding representative of the scientific school created by academician F.D. Gakhov in the Former Soviet Union. The schools impact on the development of analytical methods for analyzing various boundary value problems has been widely recognized. As a pupil of F.D. Gakhov, Sergei Rogosin has made essential contributions to the schools achievements.

Since 2001, Sergei Rogosin has been an active participant in ISAAC Congresses. In 2009 he became a Member of the ISAAC International Advisory Board. He has organised special sessions at the 5th (July 25–30, 2005, Catania, Italy), 6th (August 13–18, 2007, Ankara, Turkey), 7th (July 12–19, 2009, London, UK), 8th (August 22–27, 2011, Moscow, Russia) and 9th (August 5–10, 2013, Krakow, Poland) ISAAC Congresses. Sergei Rogosin contributed extensively to form the scientific programs of these Congresses, to recruit new ISAAC members and to promote the Societies activities. He was an editor of the collection of scientific papers from participants of the 9th ISAAC Congress, accepted for publication at the publishing house Cambridge Scientific Publishers.

Another important activity by Professor Rogosin has been the organization of a series of AMADE international conferences in Minsk. It started in 1996, when professor Anatoly Kilbas brought forward the idea of holding a conference dedicated to the memory of academician F.D. Gakhov. Sergei Rogosin became a scientific secretary of the organizing committee for the international conference "Boundary Value problems, Special Functions and Fraction Calculus".

Following the success of the previous conference, in 1999 the next conference was organised with the title "Analytic Methods of Analysis and Differential Equations" (AMADE) proposed by Prof. A.P. Prudnikov. Since then the title has remained the same while AMADE subject areas have consistently been extended at the conferences held in Minsk in 2001, 2003, 2006, 2009, 2011, 2012.

After the untimely demise of professor Anatoly Kilbas in 2010, Sergei undertook the main duties of organizing the conferences. AMADE-2011 was dedicated to the memory of professor A. Kilbas. The next conference AMADE-2015 will be organized in 2015 (September, 14–19) in Minsk as usual. All AMADE conferences were held under the guidance of ISAAC.

Along with his scientific activity, professor Rogosin has also been a dedicated teacher. He is an author of programs for courses in Real and Complex Analysis and

has published several textbooks and lecture notes. His teaching experience includes a broad spectrum of problems and methodologies following from his scientific interests and lecturing activities in his own country and abroad. Over a long career at the Belarusian State University, Sergei Rogosin delivered lectures on Real and Complex Analysis, Optimization Methods, Optimal Control Theory, Mathematical and Economical Statistics, Econometrics as well as various aspects of teaching methodologies.

In 2009, Sergei Rogosin prepared and delivered lectures on modern problems of analysis and their applications for graduate and post-graduate students in Druskininkai, Lithuania (organized by the Institute of Mathematics and Informatics, Vilnius University). In January 2010, he became one of the organizers of the International Winter School "Modern problems of Mathematics and Mechanics" for young researchers and postgraduate students. Cycles of lectures were presented by international experts in the area from the UK, Germany, Lithuania, Poland, Belarus and Ukraine. The success of the school was confirmed by the publication of the lecture notes "Advances in Applied Analysis" in Birkhäuser Verlag.

Sergei Rogosin has a passion for working with the younger generation. He spares no efforts to help earlier stage researchers in formulating new problems, discussing their progress, and preparing their first research papers. His most successful postgraduate students were: M. Dubatovskaya (Minsk, BSU, 1997), S. Makaruk (Minsk, BSU, 2004), E. Pesetskaya (Minsk, BSU, 2006) and T. Vaitekhovich (Berlin, FU, 2008).

Professor Rogosin has created his own research groups in Belarusian State University and leads a number of projects within the framework of State Research Programs and the Belarusian Fund for Fundamental Research. He is also a coordinator of European international scientific programs at the Belarusian State University.

Sergei Rogosin is a member of the Editorial Board of the international journals: Mathematical Modelling and Analysis (Vilnius, Lithuania), Analysis (München, Germany), Mathematics in Engineering, Science and Aerospace (Cambridge, UK), Fractional Calculus and Applied Analysis (Sofia, Bulgaria) and the Siauliai Mathematical Seminar (Siauliai, Lithuania). His expertise and enormous scientific erudition is highly demanded by the colleagues asking him for proofreading, reviewing their books and papers.

And, yet, there are still so many exciting things for Sergei to do: he is intensively developing several new scientific ideas and awaiting the further papers, books and conference presentations to come. He is looking forward to meeting and communicating with his old and new colleagues, helping his new and previous pupils. Without a doubt, he will continue contributing to new and exciting directions of research and teaching.

## Part II Differential Equations: Complex and Functional Analytic Methods, Applications

Organizer: Heinrich Begehr

## The Degenerate Second-Order Elliptic Oblique Derivative Problem in a Domain with a Conical Boundary Point

Mariusz Bodzioch and Mikhail Borsuk

Abstract We have investigated the behaviour of strong solutions to the degenerate oblique derivative problem for linear second-order elliptic equation in a neighborhood of a conical boundary point of an *n*-dimensional bounded domain  $(n \ge 2)$ .

Keywords Elliptic equations · Oblique problem · Conical points

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 35J20 · 35J25 · 35J70

## **1** Introduction

This is a brief description of results of [1-3], which were presented at the 9th ISAAC Congress. In these articles we have investigated the behavior of strong solutions to the oblique degenerate derivative problem for the general second-order linear elliptic equation in a neighborhood of a conical boundary point of an *n*-dimensional bounded domain ( $n \ge 2$ ). The degeneracy of the problem stems from the term in the boundary condition. We have found the precise exponent of the solution's decreasing rate under minimal assumptions on the coefficients of the problem.

Let G be an n-dimensional,  $n \ge 2$ , bounded domain with a boundary that is a smooth surface everywhere except at the origin  $\mathcal{O} \in \partial G$  and near  $\mathcal{O}$  it is a conical surface.

We consider the oblique derivative problem for the elliptic second-order linear equation:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L}[u] \equiv a^{ij}(x)u_{x_ix_j} + a^i(x)u_{x_i} + a(x)u = f(x), & x \in G, \\ \mathcal{B}[u] \equiv \frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{n}} + \chi(\omega)\frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{|x|}\gamma(\omega)u = g(x), & x \in \partial G \setminus \mathcal{O}, \end{cases}$$
(L)

M. Bodzioch · M. Borsuk (🖂)

Department of Mathematics and Informatics, University of Warmia and Mazury in Olsztyn, Sloneczna 54, 10-710 Olsztyn, Poland e-mail: borsuk@uwm.edu.pl

M. Bodzioch e-mail: mariusz.bodzioch@matman.uwm.edu.pl

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_3



Fig. 1 *n*-dimensional bounded domain with a conical boundary point

where  $\vec{n}$  denotes the unit exterior normal to  $\partial G \setminus O$ ,  $(r, \omega)$  are spherical coordinates in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with pole O; repeated indices are understood as summation from 1 to *n*.

## 2 Preliminaries

For a domain G we use the following notations:

- $\Omega := G \cap S^{n-1}$ , where  $S^{n-1}$  denotes the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ;
- $\partial \Omega$ : the boundary of  $\Omega$ ;
- $G_a^b := G \cap \{(r, \omega) : 0 \le a < r < b, \omega \in \Omega\}$ : a layer in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ;

• 
$$\Gamma_a^b := \partial G \cap \{(r, \omega) : 0 \le a < r < b, \omega \in \partial \Omega\}$$
: the lateral surface of  $G_a^b$ ;

•  $G_d := G \setminus G_0^d, \ \Gamma_d := \partial G \setminus \Gamma_0^d, \ \Omega_\varrho := \overline{G_0^d} \cap \{|x| = \varrho\}, \ \varrho \le d.$ 

Without loss of generality, we assume, that there exists d > 0, such that  $G_0^d$  is a *rotational cone* (see Fig. 1) with vertex  $\mathcal{O}$  and aperture  $\omega_0 \in (0, \pi)$ , thus

$$\Gamma_0^d = \left\{ (r,\omega) : \ x_1^2 = \cot^2 \frac{\omega_0}{2} \sum_{i=2}^n x_1^2, \ r \in (0,d), \ \omega_1 = \frac{\omega_0}{2}, \ \omega_0 \in (0,\pi) \right\}.$$

We use standard function spaces:  $C^{k}(\overline{G})$  with the norm  $|u|_{k,\overline{G}}$ ;  $L_{p}(G)$  with the norm  $||u||_{p,G}$ ,  $p \ge 1$ ;  $W^{k,p}(G)$  with the norm  $||u||_{W^{k,p}(G)}$  for integer  $k \ge 0$ ; the weighted Sobolev space  $\overset{\circ}{W}_{\alpha}^{k}(G)$  for real  $\alpha$  with the norm  $||u||_{\overset{\circ}{W}_{\alpha}^{k}(G)} =$   $(\int_G \sum_{|\beta|=0}^k r^{\alpha+2(|\beta|-k)} |D^{\beta}u|^2 dx)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and the space  $\overset{\circ}{W}_{\alpha}^{k-\frac{1}{2}}(\partial G)$  denotes the space of traces on  $\partial G$ .

**Definition 2.1** A function u(x) is called a strong solution of problem (*L*) provided that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  function  $u(x) \in W_{loc}^{2,n}(G) \cap W^{2,2}(G_{\varepsilon}) \cap C^{0}(\overline{G})$  and satisfies the equation  $\mathcal{L}u = f$  for almost all  $x \in G_{\varepsilon}$  as well as the boundary condition  $\mathcal{B}u = g$  in the sense of traces on  $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}$ .

We assume that the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) the ellipticity condition

$$\nu|\xi|^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^n a^{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \le \mu|\xi|^2, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ x \in \overline{G}$$

with the ellipticity constants  $v, \mu > 0$ ;  $a^{ij}(x) = a^{ji}(x)$ ;  $a^{ij}(0) = \delta_i^j$ ; (b)  $a^{ij}(x) \in C^0(\overline{G})$ ,  $a^i(x) \in L^p(G)$ , p > n; a(x) and  $f(x) \in L^n(G) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_{4-n}^0(G)$ ,  $g(x) \in \overset{\circ}{W}_{4-n}^{1/2}(\partial G)$ ; there exists a monotonically increasing nonnegative function  $\mathcal{A}(r)$ , continuous at zero,  $\mathcal{A}(0) = 0$ , such that for  $x \in \overline{G}$ 

$$\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left|a^{ij}(x) - \delta_{i}^{j}\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + |x| \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left|a^{i}(x)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + |x|^{2} |a(x)| \leq \mathcal{A}(|x|);$$

- (c)  $\gamma(\omega), \chi(\omega) \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$  and there exist numbers  $\chi_0 \ge 0, \gamma_0 > 0$  such that  $\gamma(\omega) \ge \gamma_0 > 0, 0 \le \chi(\omega) \le \chi_0$ ;
- (d) there exist numbers  $f_1 \ge 0$ ,  $g_1 \ge 0$ ,  $g_0 \ge 0$ , s > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} \left| f(x) \right| &\leq f_1 |x|^{s-2}, \qquad \left| g(x) \right| \leq g_1 |x|^{s-1}, \\ \int_{G_0^{\varrho}} r^{4-n} |\nabla g|^2 dx \leq g_0^2 \varrho^{2s}, \quad \varrho \in (0,1). \end{split}$$

Let  $\chi(\omega) \ge 0$ ,  $\gamma(\omega) > 0$  be  $C^0(\partial \Omega)$ -functions and  $\vec{\nu}$  be the unit exterior normal to  $G_0^1$  at the points of  $\partial \Omega$ . We consider the **eigenvalue problem** for the Laplace–Beltrami operator  $\Delta_{\omega}$  on the unit sphere

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\omega}\psi + \lambda(\lambda + n - 2)\psi(\omega) = 0, & \omega \in \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}} + \langle\lambda\chi(\omega) + \gamma(\omega)\rangle\psi(\omega) = 0, & \omega \in \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(EVP)

which consists of the determination of all values  $\lambda$  (eigenvalues), for which (*EVP*) has a non-zero weak solutions  $\psi(\omega)$  (eigenfunctions).

**Definition 2.2** A function  $\psi$  is called a weak solution of problem (*EVP*) provided that  $\psi \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and satisfies the integral identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( \frac{1}{q_i} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \omega_i} \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \omega_i} - \lambda(\lambda + n - 2)\psi \eta \right) d\Omega + \int_{\partial \Omega} \langle \lambda \chi(\omega) + \gamma(\omega) \rangle \psi \eta d\sigma = 0 \quad (2.1)$$

for all  $\eta(x) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

*Remark 2.3* It is easy to see, that  $\lambda = 0$  is not an eigenvalue.

## **3** Main Results

**Theorem 3.1** ([1–3]) Let u(x) be a strong solution of problem (L) and assumptions (a)–(d) are satisfied. Then there are  $d \in (0, 1)$  and constants  $C_1, C_2, C_3 > 0, c_s > 0$ depending only on  $f_1, g_1, g_0, v, \mu, s, \lambda, \gamma_0, \chi_0, \|\gamma\|_{C^1(\partial G)}, \|\chi\|_{C^1(\partial G)}, \dim G$ , meas G, on the modulus of continuity of the leading coefficients and on the quantity  $\int_0^1 \frac{A(r)}{r} dr$ , such that for all  $x \in G_0^d$ 

$$|u(x)| \le C_1 \begin{cases} |x|^{\lambda}, & \text{if } s > \lambda, \\ |x|^{\lambda} \ln \frac{1}{|x|}, & \text{if } s = \lambda, \\ |x|^s, & \text{if } s < \lambda, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

if the function  $\mathcal{A}(r)$  is Dini-continuous at zero;

•

$$|u(x)| \le C \begin{cases} |x|^{\lambda-\varepsilon}, & \text{if } s \ge \lambda, \\ |x|^{s-\varepsilon}, & \text{if } s < \lambda, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.2)$$

*if the function* A(r) *is continuous at zero, but is not Dini continuous;* 

٠

$$|u(x)| \le C \ln^{c_s(\lambda)} \left(\frac{1}{|x|}\right) \cdot \begin{cases} |x|^{\lambda}, & \text{if } s \ge \lambda, \\ |x|^s, & \text{if } s < \lambda, \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

*if the function*  $\mathcal{A}(r) \sim \frac{1}{\ln \frac{1}{r}}$ .

**Theorem 3.2** ([1, 2]) There exists the smallest positive eigenvalue  $\lambda$  of problem (*EVP*), which satisfies the following inequalities

$$0 < \lambda < \sqrt{\left(\frac{\pi}{\omega_0}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{n-2}{2}\right)^2} - \frac{n-2}{2}$$

for  $n \ge 3$ .

#### 4 The Ideas of the Proofs of Theorems 3.1 and 3.2

The idea of the proof of Theorem 3.1 is based on the deduction of a new inequality of Friedrichs–Wirtinger type (see Theorem 4.1 and Remark 4.2) with an exact constant as well as some integral-differential inequalities adapted to our problem. The precise exponent of the solution's decrease rate depends on this exact constant.

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $\lambda$  be the smallest positive eigenvalue of problem (EVP) and  $\chi(\omega) \ge 0, \, \gamma(\omega) > 0$  be  $C^0(\partial \Omega)$ -functions. Then the inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} u^2 d\Omega \leq \frac{1}{\lambda(\lambda+n-2)} \left[ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla_{\omega} u|^2 d\Omega + \int_{\partial\Omega} \langle \lambda \chi(\omega) + \gamma(\omega) \rangle u^2 d\sigma \right] \quad (FW)$$

holds for any  $u \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

*Remark 4.2* Inequality (*FW*) is the best possible, i.e. the estimating constant in this inequality is exact. This is easy to see if we put  $u(\omega)$  as a solution of problem (EVP).

Theorem 3.1 for the Dirichlet and Robin problems was proved in [4]. In our case technical difficulties were related with the term  $\chi(\omega)\frac{\partial u}{\partial r}$  in the boundary condition of (L).

The existence of the smallest positive eigenvalue of problem (*EVP*) for n = 3was proved in [1]. The ideas of the proof of this theorem are based on the Legendre spherical harmonics (see [1]) and the Gegenbauer functions  $C_{\lambda}^{\alpha}$ . We have proved the existence of the smallest positive solution  $\lambda$  of equation

$$(n-2)\sin\frac{\omega_0}{2}\cdot \mathcal{C}_{\lambda-1}^{\frac{n}{2}}\left(\cos\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right) = (\lambda\chi_0+\gamma_0)\cdot \mathcal{C}_{\lambda}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}\left(\cos\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right)$$

and that this solution is the smallest positive eigenvalue of (*EVP*).

## **5** Examples

We demonstrate our results by examples from [1] and [3].

Suppose n = 2 and the domain G lies inside the corner

$$G_0 = \left\{ (r, \omega) : r > 0, \ \omega \in \left( -\frac{\omega_0}{2}, \frac{\omega_0}{2} \right), \ \omega_0 \in (0, \pi) \right\}, \quad \mathcal{O} \in \partial G$$

and in some neighborhood of  $\mathcal{O}$  the boundary  $\partial G$  coincides with the sides of the corner  $\omega = -\frac{\omega_0}{2}$  and  $\omega = \frac{\omega_0}{2}$ . We denote  $\Gamma_{\pm} = \{(r, \omega) \mid r > 0; \ \omega = \pm \frac{\omega_0}{2}\}$  and we put  $\gamma(\omega)|_{\omega = \pm \frac{\omega_0}{2}} = \gamma_{\pm} =$ 

 $const > 0; \chi(\omega)|_{\omega=\pm\frac{\omega_0}{2}} = \chi_{\pm} = const \ge 0.$ 

In this case the eigenvalue problem (EVP) has the following form

$$\begin{cases} \psi''(\omega) + \lambda^2 \psi(\omega) = 0, \quad \omega \in \left(-\frac{\omega_0}{2}, \frac{\omega_0}{2}\right), \\ \psi'\left(\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right) + (\lambda\chi_+ + \gamma_+)\psi\left(\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right) = 0, \\ -\psi'\left(-\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right) + (\lambda\chi_- + \gamma_-)\psi\left(-\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

The smallest positive eigenvalue  $\lambda$  of this problem satisfies the inequality  $\frac{\pi}{2\omega_0} < \lambda < \frac{\pi}{\omega_0}$ .

*Example* Let  $\omega_0 \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  and  $(\lambda, \psi(\omega))$  be the solution of (5.1). Therefore we have  $\lambda > 1$ . The function  $u(r, \omega) = r^{\lambda} (\ln \frac{1}{r})^{\frac{\lambda-1}{\lambda+1}} \cdot \psi(\omega)$  is the solution in the corner  $G_0$  of the problem

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a^{ij}(x)u_{x_{i}x_{j}} = 0, \quad x \in G_{0}, \\ \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{n}} + \frac{1}{r}\gamma_{\pm}u + \chi_{\pm}\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{r}}\right) \Big|_{\Gamma_{\pm}} = g(r,\omega)|_{\Gamma_{\pm}}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} a^{11}(x) &= 1 - \frac{2}{\lambda + 1} \cdot \frac{x_2^2}{r^2 \ln 1/r}, \\ a^{12}(x) &= a^{21}(x) = \frac{2}{\lambda + 1} \cdot \frac{x_1 x_2}{r^2 \ln 1/r}, \\ a^{22}(x) &= 1 - \frac{2}{\lambda + 1} \cdot \frac{x_1^2}{r^2 \ln 1/r}, \\ g(r, \omega)|_{\Gamma_{\pm}} &= -\frac{\lambda - 1}{\lambda + 1} \chi_{\pm} r^{\lambda - 1} \left( \ln \frac{1}{r} \right)^{-\frac{2}{\lambda + 1}} \cdot \psi\left( \pm \frac{\omega_0}{2} \right), \quad r > 0. \end{aligned}$$

If  $d < e^{-2}$ , then  $\mu = 1$  and  $\nu = 1 - \frac{2}{\ln(1/d)}$ . Furthermore, we have that the assumption (*b*) is fulfilled with  $\mathcal{A}(r) = \frac{2}{\lambda+1} \cdot \frac{1}{\ln(\frac{1}{r})}$ , but the function  $\mathcal{A}(r)$  does not satisfy the Dini condition at zero. Moreover,  $a^{ij}(x)$  are continuous at the point  $\mathcal{O}$  and  $g(r, \omega)|_{\Gamma_{\pm}} = O(r^{\lambda-1})$ . This example shows that the assumption of Theorem 3.1 about the Dini-continuity of the leading coefficients of (*L*) and  $s > \lambda$  are essential for  $u(x) = O(|x|^{\lambda})$ . At the same time the example confirms the validity of (3.3) of Theorem 3.1.

Let the domain  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  lie inside the cone

$$G_0 = \left\{ (r, \omega_1, \omega_2) : r > 0, \ \omega_1 \in \left(0, \frac{\omega_0}{2}\right), \ \omega_2 \in (0, 2\pi); \ \omega_0 \in (0, \pi) \right\},\$$

 $\mathcal{O} \in \partial G$  and in some neighborhood of  $\mathcal{O}$  the boundary  $\partial G$  coincides with the lateral surface of the cone  $G_0$ . Denote

$$\Gamma_0 = \left\{ (r, \omega_1, \omega_2) : r > 0, \ \omega_1 = \frac{\omega_0}{2}, \ \omega_2 \in (0, 2\pi); \ \omega_0 \in (0, \pi) \right\}.$$

Let  $\chi \ge 0$ ,  $\gamma > 0$  be constants.

*Example* The function

$$u(r, \omega_1, \omega_2) = r^{\lambda} \ln \frac{1}{r} \psi(\omega_1)$$

is the solution of the problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = -(2\lambda + 1)r^{\lambda - 2}\psi(\omega_1), & x \in G_0, \\ \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{n}} + \chi \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r}\gamma u\right)\Big|_{\omega_1 = \frac{\omega_0}{2}} = -\chi r^{\lambda - 1}\psi\left(\frac{\omega_0}{2}\right). \end{cases}$$

Hence

$$f(x) = O(|x|^{\lambda - 2}), \qquad g(x) = O(|x|^{\lambda - 1}),$$

therefore in this case  $s = \lambda$ . Thus, this example confirms the validity of (3.1) of Theorem 3.1 for  $s = \lambda$ .

*Example* The function

$$u(r,\omega_1,\omega_2) = r^{\lambda} \ln \frac{1}{r} \psi(\omega_1)$$

is the solution of the problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u + \frac{2\lambda + 1}{r^2 \ln \frac{1}{r}} u = 0, \quad x \in G_0, \\ \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{n}} + \chi \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r} \gamma u \right) \Big|_{\omega_1 = \frac{\omega_0}{2}} = -\chi r^{\lambda - 1} \psi \left( \frac{\omega_0}{2} \right). \end{cases}$$

In this case

$$\mathcal{A}(r) = \frac{2\lambda + 1}{\ln \frac{1}{r}} \implies \int_0^1 \frac{\mathcal{A}(r)}{r} dr = +\infty$$

Therefore the assumption of Dini-continuity is not satisfied. Thus, this example confirms the validity of (3.3) of Theorem 3.1 for  $s = \lambda$ .

## References

- M. Bodzioch, Oblique derivative problem for linear second-order elliptic equations with the degeneration in a 3-dimensional bounded domain with the boundary conical point. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2012(228), 1–28 (2012)
- M. Bodzioch, M. Borsuk, On the degenerate oblique derivative problem for elliptic secondorder equations in a domain with boundary conical point. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. (2014). doi:10.1080/17476933.2012.718339
- 3. M. Borsuk, On the degenerate oblique derivative problem for elliptic equations in a plane domain with boundary corner point. J. Differ. Equ. **254**, 1601–1625 (2013)
- M. Borsuk, V. Kondratiev, *Elliptic Boundary Value Problems of Second Order in Piecewise Smooth Domains*. North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 6 (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2006)

## On Locally Differentiable Solutions of the Stationary Schrödinger Equation with Discontinuous Coefficients

#### K.N. Ospanov

Abstract In this paper we study the binomial second order elliptic equation. The coefficient and the right-hand side of this equation belong to some space M of type F. We find necessary and sufficient conditions on M under which a generalized solution of this equation is continuously differentiable. We find necessary and sufficient conditions on M for continuous differentiability of the solution to the above equation, when M is a symmetric space, or one of the Lorentz spaces, a Sobolev or a Besov space.

Keywords Elliptic equation · Differentiability of solution · Symmetric space

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 35J10

Let  $n \ge 3$  and Q be a bounded set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with a smooth boundary and  $\Omega$  be an arbitrary open subset of Q. Let  $C^{(1)}(Q)$  be the space of continuously differentiable functions in Q and  $W_p^s(\Omega)$  be the well-known Sobolev space.

We consider the following equation:

$$Lu \equiv -\Delta u + q(x)u = f(x), \tag{1}$$

where  $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) \in \Omega$ .

It is known that if p > n and  $q, f \in L_p(\Omega)$ , then there is a generalized solution  $u \in W_p^1(\Omega)$  of (1) such that it has continuous partial derivatives in  $\Omega$  (see [1], Ch. 3, paragraph 15). This result can not be improved, since if at least one of q and f belongs to  $L_n(\Omega) \setminus L_p(\Omega)$  (p > n), then the solution u of (1) does not belong to  $C_{loc}^{(1)}(\Omega)$  (For a Banach space F(Q) of functions in Q, it is said that u belongs to  $F_{loc}(\Omega)$ , if  $\psi(x)u(x) \in F(\Omega)$  for all  $\psi(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .) So the following question arises:

**Question** Are there other spaces such that the above precise result about differentiable solutions of (1) holds for any q, f in this spaces?

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_4

K.N. Ospanov (🖂)

L.N. Gumilyov Eurasian National University, Astana, Kazakhstan e-mail: ospanov\_k@mail.ru

The purpose of this work is to answer this question.

By a space of type F we mean a Banach space F(Q) of functions in Q satisfying the following properties:

(a) F(Q) is embedded in  $L_1(Q)$ , i.e., there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$||f||_{L_1(Q)} \le c ||f||_{F(Q)}, \quad \forall f \in F(Q);$$

- (b) the set  $C^{\infty}(Q)$  of infinitely differentiable functions in Q is dense in F(Q);
- (c) if  $g \in F(Q)$  and  $\psi \in C^{\infty}(Q)$ , then  $\psi \cdot g \in F(Q)$ ;
- (d) if  $g \in F(Q)$ , then  $|g| \in F(Q)$  and  $||g||_{F(Q)} \le c_1 ||g||_{F(Q)}$ .

For example,  $L_p(Q)$  and the Lorentz space  $L_{p,r}(Q)$   $(1 < p, r < \infty)$  are spaces of type *F*, where the norm of  $L_{p,r}(Q)$  is given in the following form (see [2]):

$$\|u\|_{L_{p,r}(Q)} = \left(\int_0^{+\infty} \left\{ \left[ \mu \left( x \in Q : \left| f(x) \right| \ge t \right) \right]^{1/p} t \right\}^r \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r}$$

Here  $\mu$  is the Lebesgue measure.

**Definition 1** Let M(Q) and  $M_1(Q)$  be Banach spaces of functions in Q satisfying the above conditions (a), (b) and (c). Assume that q(x),  $f(x) \in M(\Omega)$  and  $u(x) \in M_1(\Omega)$ . If there is a sequence  $\{u_m(x)\}_{m\geq 1}$  of infinitely differentiable functions in  $\Omega$  such that for any  $\psi(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ 

 $\|\psi u_m - \psi u\|_{M_1(\Omega)} \to 0, \qquad \|\psi L u_m - \psi f\|_{M(\Omega)} \to 0 \quad (m \to \infty),$ 

then u(x) is called a solution of (1).

**Definition 2** Let M(Q) be a Banach space of functions in Q satisfying the above conditions (a), (b) and (c). If for any  $q, f \in M_{loc}(\Omega)$  the solution  $u \in W^1_{p,loc}(\Omega)$   $(p > \frac{n}{2})$  of (1) belongs to  $C^{(1)}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , then M(Q) is called " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated".

*Remark 1* From this definition it follows that if M(Q) is a " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" space and  $M_2(Q) \subseteq M(Q)$  is a Banach space of functions in Q satisfying the above conditions (a), (b) and (c), then  $M_2(Q)$  is also a " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" space.

In order to answer the above question, we need to find a " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" space of functions in Q.

Let  $\alpha$  be an integer and  $0 \le \alpha < n$ . We denote by  $P_{\alpha}(Q)$  the completion of  $(C_0^{\infty}(Q), \|.\|_{P_{\alpha}(Q)})$ , where

$$\|u\|_{\mathbf{P}_{\alpha}(Q)} = \sup_{x \in Q} \int_{Q} \frac{|u(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} dy.$$

It is easy to check that  $P_{\alpha}(Q)$  is a space of type *F*.

**Theorem 1** Let M(Q) be a space of type F and  $n \ge 3$ . Then M(Q) is " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" if and only if

$$M(\Omega) \subseteq \mathbf{P}_{n-1}(\Omega).$$

In particular,  $P_{n-1}(Q)$  is a " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" space.

From Remark 1 and Theorem 1 it follows that  $P_{n-1}(Q)$  is the widest " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" space of type *F*.

**Theorem 2** Let M(Q) be a space of type F. Assume that there exits a constant  $c_2 > 0$  such that for any  $u \in M(Q)$  and any automorphism  $\varphi$  (one to one correspondence preserving the measure) in Q, one has that

$$u(\varphi(x)) \in M(Q), \quad \left\| u(\varphi) \right\|_{M(Q)} \le c_2 \| u \|_{M(Q)}.$$

Then M(Q) is " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" if and only if

$$M(Q) \subseteq L_{n,1}(Q). \tag{2}$$

A Banach space M(Q) of functions in Q is called a symmetric space, if for any  $u \in M(Q)$  and any automorphism  $\varphi$  in Q, one has that

$$u(\varphi(x)) \in M(Q), \quad \left\| u(\varphi) \right\|_{M(Q)} = \| u \|_{M(Q)}.$$

By Theorem 2 and Remark 1, we have that  $L_{n,1}(Q)$  is the widest " $\{-\Delta, C^{(1)}\}$  coordinated" symmetric space satisfying the above conditions (a), (b) and (c). From Theorem 2 and Definition 2 we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 1** Let  $1 \le p, r < \infty$  and  $q(x), f(x) \in L_{p,r,loc}(\Omega)$ . Then the solution  $u(x) \in W^1_{p,loc}(\Omega)$   $(p > \frac{n}{2})$  of (1) belongs to  $C^{(1)}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if and only if one of the following conditions holds

(i)  $r = 1, p \ge n$ , (ii)  $1 \le r \le \infty, p > n$ .

By the inclusion (2) and Remark 1, we obtain the following results.

**Corollary 2** Let  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $0 < s < \infty$  and q(x),  $f(x) \in W^s_{p,loc}(\Omega)$ . Then the solution  $u(x) \in W^1_{p,loc}(\Omega)$   $(p > \frac{n}{2})$  of (1) belongs to  $C^{(1)}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if and only if  $s > \frac{n}{p} - 1$ .

**Corollary 3** Let  $1 \le p, \theta < \infty, 0 < s < \infty$ . If q(x) and f(x) belong to the Besov space  $B^s_{p,\theta,loc}(\Omega)$ , then the solution  $u(x) \in W^1_{p,loc}(\Omega)$   $(p > \frac{n}{2})$  of (1) belongs to  $C^{(1)}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if and only if one of the following conditions holds

(i)  $\theta = 1, s \ge \frac{n}{p} - 1, 1$  $(ii) <math>\theta \ge 1, s > \frac{n}{p} - 1, 1 \le p < \infty.$ 

## References

- 1. O.A. Ladyzhenskaya, N.N. Ural'tseva, *Linear and Quasilinear Elliptic Equations* (Nauka, Moscow, 1973) (Russian)
- 2. J. Berg, J. Löfström, *Interpolation Spaces, an Introduction* (Springer, Berlin–Heidelberg–New York, 1976)

## **Riemann Problems for Single-Periodic Polyanalytic Functions II**

Wang Yufeng and Wang Yanjin

**Abstract** In this article, we obtain the explicit expression of the solution and the conditions of solvability for the Riemann problem of single-periodic polyanalytic function.

**Keywords** Single-periodic polyanalytic function · Periodic poly-Cauchy integral · Riemann boundary-value problem

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 30G30 · Secondary 45E05

## **1** Introduction

When a complex partial differential equation (PDE) couples with some boundary conditions and growth conditions, a boundary-value problem (BVP) takes shape. In recent years, the theory of BVPs for analytic functions has been generalized to those of different classes of functions, including polyanalytic functions [1–3], polyharmonic functions [4], metaanalytic functions [2], and even the family defined by other complex PDEs [5].

Let  $\omega$  be a complex number different from 0. If the open set  $\Omega$  on the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  satisfies the condition  $z \pm \omega \in \Omega$  for  $\forall z \in \Omega$ , then  $\omega$  is called a period of the open set  $\Omega$ . All the periods of the open set  $\Omega$  form a set, denoted as  $\mathcal{P}_{\Omega}$ . In what follows, we assume that  $\Omega$  is a periodic open set.

W. Yufeng (🖂)

This work is partially supported by NNSF of China (11171260), NNSF for Young Scholars of China (11001206), RFDP of Higher Eduction of China (20100141110054). The second author is supported by NSF (11001020), NNSF (11371069), Tianyuan Fund of Mathematics (10926188), SRF for ROCS, SEM, CAEP (2012BB0202029).

School of Mathematics and Statistics, Wuhan University, Wuhan 430072, P.R. China e-mail: wh\_yfwang@hotmail.com

W. Yanjin

Institute of Applied Physics and Computational Mathematics, No. 2, Road Fenghaodong, District Haidian, Beijing, 100094, P.R. China e-mail: wang\_jasonyj2002@yahoo.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_5
**Definition 1.1** Suppose *f* is a polyanalytic function [7] of order *n* on  $\Omega$ , where  $\Omega$  is a periodic open set. If the following two conditions are fulfilled: (1) There exists a complex constant  $\omega \in \mathcal{P}_{\Omega} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$f(z+\omega) = f(z), \quad \forall z \in \Omega,$$
 (1.1)

(2) If two complex constants  $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \mathcal{P}_{\Omega} \setminus \{0\}$  satisfy (1.1),  $\frac{\omega_1}{\omega_2}$  is real, then we say that *f* is a single-periodic polyanalytic function of order *n* with period  $\omega$  on  $\Omega$ , or simply single-periodic polyanalytic function. The collection of all single-periodic polyanalytic functions on  $\Omega$  is denoted as  $PH_n(\Omega)$ .

For a fixed number  $\omega \in \mathcal{P}_{\Omega}$ , we denote the subset of  $PH_n(\Omega)$  as

$$PH_n(\Omega; \omega) = \left\{ f \in PH_n(\Omega) : f(z + \omega) = f(z) \text{ for } \forall z \in \Omega \right\}.$$

Obviously,  $PH_n(\Omega; 0) = PH_n(\Omega)$  and  $PH_n(\Omega; \omega) \subset PH_n(\Omega; m\omega)$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The following decomposition of single-periodic polyanalytic functions is equivalent to Pokazeev's decomposition given in [8].

**Theorem 1.2** (see [6]) Let  $\Omega$  be a periodic open set with period  $\omega \neq 0$ . Then

$$PH_n(\Omega;\omega) = PH_1(\Omega;\omega) \oplus \left(\bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega}z\right) PH_1(\Omega;\omega) \oplus \cdots$$
$$\oplus \left(\bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega}z\right)^{n-1} PH_1(\Omega;\omega)$$
$$\bar{\omega}$$

with  $(\bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega}z)^j PH_1(\Omega; \omega) = \{(\bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega}z)^j f(z) : f \in PH_1(\Omega; \omega)\}.$ 

In [6], by the decomposition of single-periodic polyanalytic functions, the Riemann problem of single-periodic polyanalytic functions has been discussed according to two growth conditions of functions at infinity. Finally, we obtain the explicit expression of the solution and the conditions of solvability in three cases. In this article, we will discuss the Riemann BVP of single-periodic polyanalytic functions in other cases.

### 2 Preliminaries

Let  $\omega \neq 0$  in the following. We define the family of straight lines

$$l_m: z_m(t) = \left(\frac{m}{2} + it\right)\omega, \quad -\infty < t < +\infty, \ m \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1,$$
(2.1)

which cut the complex plane  $\mathbb C$  into countable open strips

$$\Xi_{\frac{m+1}{2}} = \left\{ z = \left( \frac{m}{2} + \xi + i\eta \right) \omega : \ 0 < \xi < 1, \ \eta \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$
(2.2)

The special open strip  $\Xi_0$  defined in (2.2) is said to be the basic strip, and  $\Xi_{\frac{m+1}{2}} = \frac{m+1}{2}\omega + \Xi_0$ ,  $m \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$ . For  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , we also define three subsets

$$\begin{cases} \Xi_{0,b}^{+} = \left\{ z = (\xi + i\eta)\omega : -\frac{1}{2} < \xi < \frac{1}{2}, \ \eta > b \right\}, \\ \Xi_{0,a}^{-} = \left\{ z = (\xi + i\eta)\omega : -\frac{1}{2} < \xi < \frac{1}{2}, \ \eta < a \right\} \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

and  $\Box_{a,b} = \Xi_{0,a}^+ \cap \Xi_{0,b}^-$ . We assume that  $\Box_{a,b} = \emptyset$  if  $a \ge b$ . Let

$$\Omega_b^+ = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( m\omega + \overline{\Xi_{0,b}^+} \right), \qquad \Omega_a^- = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( m\omega + \overline{\Xi_{0,a}^-} \right), \tag{2.4}$$

where  $\Xi_{0,b}^+$  and  $\Xi_{0,a}^-$  are defined in (2.3).

**Definition 2.1** (see [6]) Suppose  $f \in PH_n(\Omega_R^+; \omega)$ . If there exists an integer *m* such that  $\limsup_{z \in \Xi_{0,R}^+, z \to \infty} |e^{i\frac{2m\pi z}{\omega}} f(z)| = \alpha$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, +\infty)$ , then we say that *f* possesses order *m* at  $+\infty i\omega$ , denoted as  $\operatorname{Ord}(f, +\infty i\omega) = m$ . If  $\limsup_{z \in \Xi_{0,R}^+, z \to \infty} |e^{i\frac{2m\pi z}{\omega}} f(z)| = +\infty$  for any  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then we say that *f* has order  $+\infty$  at  $+\infty i\omega$ , denoted as  $\operatorname{Ord}(f, +\infty i\omega) = +\infty$ . We assume  $\operatorname{Ord}(f, +\infty i\omega) = -\infty$  if and only if  $f \equiv 0$ . Similarly, the growth order at  $-\infty i\omega$  is defined.

**Theorem 2.2** (see [6]) (1) If  $f \in PH_n(\Omega_R^+; \omega)$ , then

$$\operatorname{Ord}(f, +\infty i\omega) = \max\left\{\operatorname{Ord}(f_0, +\infty i\omega), \operatorname{Ord}(f_k, +\infty i\omega) + 1, \\ k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1\right\},$$

where  $f_k$  is the kth-component of f; (2) If  $f \in PH_n(\Omega_R^-; \omega)$ , then

$$\operatorname{Ord}(f, -\infty i\omega) = \max \{ \operatorname{Ord}(f_0, -\infty i\omega), \operatorname{Ord}(f_k, -\infty i\omega) + 1, k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1 \},$$

where  $f_k$  is the kth-component.

For  $m, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we introduce the family of periodic Laurent-type polynomials

$$\Pi_{\ell,m} = \begin{cases} \left\{ q_{\ell,m}(z) = \sum_{k=\ell}^{m} c_k e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}} : c_k \in \mathbb{C}, \ k = \ell, \ell+1, \dots, m \right\}, & m \ge \ell, \\ \{0\}, & m < \ell. \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

Obviously  $\Pi_{\ell,m} \subset PH_1(\mathbb{C}; \omega)$ . Let

$$\Pi_{\ell,m}^{n} = \left\{ q_{\ell,m}^{0}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left( \bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega} z \right)^{j} q_{\ell+1,m-1}^{j}(z) : q_{\ell,m}^{j} \in \Pi_{\ell,m} \right\}.$$
 (2.6)

In particular,  $\Pi_{\ell,m}^n = \Pi_{\ell,m}$  if n = 1. Clearly,

$$\lim_{z \in \mathcal{Z}_{0,R}^+, z \to \infty} \tan \frac{\pi z}{\omega} = i \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{z \in \mathcal{Z}_{0,R}^-, z \to \infty} \tan \frac{\pi z}{\omega} = -i.$$
(2.7)

Moreover, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , one has the Fourier expansions

$$\begin{cases} \tan^{j} \frac{\pi z}{\omega} = i^{j} + \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} c_{j,k}^{+} \cdot e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}}, & z \in \Omega_{0}^{+}, \\ \tan^{j} \frac{\pi z}{\omega} = (-i)^{j} + \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} c_{j,k}^{-} \cdot e^{-i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}}, & z \in \Omega_{0}^{-}, \end{cases}$$

$$(2.8)$$

where  $c_{i,k}^{\pm}$  is the Fourier coefficient.

Let  $L_0 \subset \Xi_0$  be a piecewise-smooth closed Jordan curve, oriented counterclockwise. The basic open strip  $\Xi_0$  is divided into two domains by the curve  $L_0$ , denoted as  $S_0^+$  and  $S_0^-$ , respectively. Without loss of generality, we always assume  $0 \in S_0^+$ . Let  $L_m = m\omega + L_0$  for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $S^+ = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} (m\omega + S_0^+)$ ,  $S^- = \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{S^+}$  and we assume that  $L_m$  has the same orientation as  $L_0$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We set  $L = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} L_m$ . Our problem is to find a function  $\Phi \in PH_1(S^+ \cup S^-; \omega)$  satisfying a Riemann-type boundary condition and two growth conditions

$$\begin{cases} \Phi^{+}(t) = G(t)\Phi^{-}(t) + g(t), & t \in L, \\ \operatorname{Ord}(\Phi, +\infty i\omega) \leq \ell, & \operatorname{Ord}(\Phi, -\infty i\omega) \leq m, \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

where the boundary data G, g are Hölder continuous on every curve  $L_m$  and  $G(t) \neq 0, t \in L$ . Moreover,  $G(t + \omega) = G(t)$  and  $g(t + \omega) = g(t)$  for  $t \in L$ . The problem (2.9) is simply called  $PR_{\ell,m}$  problem.

The index of the problem (2.9) is  $\kappa = \frac{1}{2\pi} [G(t)]_{L_0}$ . Introduce the periodic Cauchy-type integral operator

$$C_{\omega}[g](z) = \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_0} g(\tau) \cot \frac{\pi(\tau - z)}{\omega} d\tau, \quad z \in S^+ \cup S^-$$
(2.10)

with  $g \in H(L_0)$ . As in [9], the canonical function is introduced as follows

$$X(z) = \begin{cases} e^{\Gamma(z)}, & z \in S^+, \\ \cot^{\kappa} \frac{\pi z}{\omega} \cdot e^{\Gamma(z)}, & z \in S^- \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

with  $\Gamma(z) = \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_0} \log[\cot^{\kappa} \frac{\pi t}{\omega} \cdot G(t)] \cot \frac{\pi (t-z)}{\omega} dt, z \in S^+ \cup S^-$ , where the branch of the logarithm is arbitrarily chosen. In addition, the set  $\Pi_k^0$  is defined by

$$\Pi_{k}^{0} = \begin{cases} \left\{ p_{k}(z) = d_{k}z^{k} + \dots + d_{1}z : d_{j} \in \mathbb{C}, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, k \right\}, & k > 0, \\ \{0\}, & k \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

At some neighborhood of  $z = \frac{\omega}{2}$ , the function  $e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}}$  possesses the Lagrange–Bürmann expansion [8]

$$e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}} = (-1)^k + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{j,k} \cot^j \frac{\pi z}{\omega}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(2.13)

where  $\alpha_{i,k}$  is a constant.

**Theorem 2.3** (see [6]) For the  $PR_{\ell,m}$  problem (2.9), there are four cases:

(1) If  $\ell \ge 0$  and  $m \ge 0$ , the solution of the problem (2.9) can be represented as  $\Phi(z) = X(z) \cdot \{C_{\omega}[\frac{g}{X^+}](z) + q_{-\ell,m}(z) + p_{\kappa}(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega})\}$  with  $p_{\kappa} = \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} d_j z^j \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$  and  $q_{-\ell,m} = \sum_{j=-\ell}^{m} c_j e^{i\frac{2j\pi z}{\omega}} \in \Pi_{-\ell,m}$ , where all the coefficients satisfy the system of algebraic equations

$$\sum_{k=-\ell}^{m} (-1)^{k} c_{k} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{g}{X^{+}}(t) \tan \frac{\pi t}{\omega} dt = 0,$$

$$\sum_{k=-\ell}^{m} \alpha_{j,k} c_{k} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{g}{X^{+}}(t) \frac{\sin^{j-1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}}{\cos^{j+1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}} dt = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, -\kappa - 1,$$
(2.14)

where  $\alpha_{i,k}$  is determined by (2.13).

(2) If  $\ell \ge 0$  and m < 0, the solution of the problem (2.9) can be expressed as  $\Phi(z) = X(z) \cdot \{C_{\omega}[\frac{g}{X^+}](z) + q_{-\ell,0}(z) + p_{\kappa}(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega})\}$  with  $q_{-\ell,0}(z) = \sum_{j=-\ell}^{0} c_j e^{i\frac{2j\pi z}{\omega}} \in \Pi_{-\ell,0}, p_{\kappa}(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} d_j z^j \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$ , where all the coefficients satisfy

$$\begin{cases} c_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} (-i)^j \cdot d_j = \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) dt, \\ c_k + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,-k}^- \cdot d_j = \frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = -\ell, -\ell + 1, \dots, -1, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,-k}^- \cdot d_j = \frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = m + 1, m + 2, \dots, -\ell - 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.15)$$

and (2.14) with m = 0.

(3) If  $\ell < 0$  and  $m \ge 0$ , the solution of the problem (2.9) can be expressed as  $\Phi(z) = X(z) \cdot \{C_{\omega}[\frac{g}{X^+}](z) + q_{0,m}(z) + p_{\kappa}(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega})\}$  with  $q_{0,m}(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} c_j e^{i\frac{2j\pi z}{\omega}} \in$ 

 $\Pi_{0,m}$ ,  $p_{\kappa}(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} d_j z^j \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$ , where all the coefficients  $c_j$  and  $d_j$  satisfy (2.14) with  $\ell = 0$  and

$$\begin{cases} c_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} i^j \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) dt, \\ c_k + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,k}^+ \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,k}^+ \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \qquad k = m+1, m+2, \dots, -\ell-1. \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

(4) If  $\ell < 0$  and m < 0, the solution of the problem (2.9) can be written as  $\Phi(z) = X(z) \cdot \{C_{\omega}[\frac{g}{X^+}](z) + d_0 + p_{\kappa}(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega})\}$  with  $d_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $p_{\kappa}(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} d_j z^j \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$ , where  $d_j$ ,  $j = 0, 1, ..., \kappa$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} d_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} (-i)^j \cdot d_j = \frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) dt, \\ d_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} i^j \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) dt, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,k}^+ \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, -\ell - 1, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,-k}^- \cdot d_j = \frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{g}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = m + 1, m + 2, \dots, -1. \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

### **3** Riemann BVP for Single-Periodic Polyanalytic Functions

Let *L* be a piecewise-smooth Jordan curves as in the preceding section. We will consider the following BVP: find a function  $V \in PH_n(S^+ \cup S^-; \omega)$  satisfying *n* Riemann-type boundary conditions and two growth conditions

$$\begin{cases} \left(\partial_{\bar{z}}^{j-1}V\right)^{+}(t) = G(t) \cdot \left(\partial_{\bar{z}}^{j-1}V\right)^{-}(t) + g_{j}(t), & t \in L, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \operatorname{Ord}(V, +\infty i\omega) \leq \ell, & \operatorname{Ord}(V, -\infty i\omega) \leq m, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where G and  $g_j$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n are Hölder continuous on every curve  $L_m$  and  $G(t) \neq 0, t \in L$ . In addition,  $G(t + \omega) = G(t), g_j(t + \omega) = g_j(t), t \in L$ . The problem (3.1) is simply called  $PPR_{\ell,m}$  problem.

Let the symbols be the same as before. By Theorem 1.2, let

$$V(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left( \bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega} z \right)^j V_{j+1}(z), \quad z \in S^+ \cup S^-,$$
(3.2)

where  $V_{j+1}$  is a single-periodic analytic function for all *j*'s. By Theorem 2.2,  $PPR_{\ell,m}$  problem (3.1) is equivalent to *n* independent BVPs of single-periodic analytic functions discussed in the preceding section, respectively,

$$\begin{cases} V_1^+(t) = G(t)V_1^-(t) + \widetilde{g}_1(t), & t \in L, \\ \operatorname{Ord}(V_1, +\infty i\omega) \le \ell, & \operatorname{Ord}(V_1, -\infty i\omega) \le m, \end{cases}$$
(3.3)  
$$\begin{cases} V_j^+(t) = G(t)V_j^-(t) + \widetilde{g}_j(t), & t \in L, \\ \operatorname{Ord}(V_j, +\infty i\omega) \le \ell - 1, & \operatorname{Ord}(V_j, -\infty i\omega) \le m - 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

where  $\tilde{g}_{j}(t) = \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} (\bar{t} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega} t)^{k-j} g_{k}(t)$  for j = 1, 2, ..., n-1. In [6], when  $\ell > 0$ , the problem (3.1) has been discussed for m > 0, = 0, < 0.

In [6], when  $\ell > 0$ , the problem (3.1) has been discussed for m > 0, = 0, < 0. Here we will discuss the problem (3.1) in the other cases. As in [6], the singleperiodic poly-Cauchy integral is defined by

$$W[f_0, \dots, f_{n-1}](z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^j}{j!} \frac{1}{2\omega i} \cdot \int_{L_0} \left[ \left( \overline{\tau} - \frac{\overline{\omega}}{\omega} \tau \right) - \left( \overline{z} - \frac{\overline{\omega}}{\omega} z \right) \right]^j \\ \times \cot \frac{\pi (\tau - z)}{\omega} f_j(\tau) d\tau,$$
(3.5)

where  $f_i$  is Hölder-continuous on L for all j's.

**Theorem 3.1** If  $\ell = 0$  and m > 0,  $PPR_{0,m}$  problem (3.1) is solvable and its solution can be expressed as

$$V(z) = X(z) \left\{ W\left[\frac{g_1}{X^+}, \dots, \frac{g_n}{X^+}\right](z) + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(\bar{z} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega}z\right)^j p_{\kappa}^j \left(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega}\right) + Q_{0,m}^n(z) \right\}$$
(3.6)

with  $p_{\kappa}^{j} \in \Pi_{\kappa}^{0}$  and  $Q_{0,m}^{n}(z) \in \Pi_{0,m}^{n}$ , where all the coefficients and the free terms  $g_{j}(1 \leq j \leq n)$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{m} (-1)^{k} c_{k}^{0} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{(k-1)!} \int_{L_{0}} \left(\bar{t} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega} t\right)^{k-1} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) \tan \frac{\pi t}{\omega} dt = 0, \\ \sum_{k=0}^{m} \alpha_{s,k} c_{k}^{0} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{(k-1)!} \int_{L_{0}} \left(\bar{t} - \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\omega} t\right)^{k-1} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) \frac{\sin^{s-1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}}{\cos^{s+1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}} dt = 0, \\ s = 1, \dots, -\kappa - 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

and

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k} c_{k}^{j-1} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} \\ \times \int_{L_{0}} \left( \tilde{t} - \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{\omega} t \right)^{k-j} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) \tan \frac{\pi t}{\omega} dt = 0, \\ \begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_{s,k} c_{k}^{j-1} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} \\ \times \int_{L_{0}} \left( \tilde{t} - \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{\omega} t \right)^{k-j} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) \frac{\sin^{s-1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}}{\cos^{s+1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}} dt = 0, \\ s = 1, \dots, -\kappa - 1, \end{cases}$$

$$c_{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{\kappa} i^{k} \cdot d_{k} = -\frac{1}{2\omega} \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} \int_{L_{0}} \left( \tilde{t} - \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{\omega} t \right)^{k-j} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) dt, \\ c_{s} + \sum_{k=1}^{\kappa} c_{k,s}^{+} \cdot d_{k} = -\frac{1}{\omega} \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} \int_{L_{0}} \left( \tilde{t} - \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{\omega} t \right)^{k-j} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) e^{-i \frac{2s\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, m, \end{cases}$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\kappa} c_{k,s}^{+} \cdot d_{k} = -\frac{1}{\omega} \sum_{k=j}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k+j}}{(k-j)!(j-1)!} \int_{L_{0}} \left( \tilde{t} - \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{\omega} t \right)^{k-j} \frac{g_{k}}{X^{+}}(t) e^{-i \frac{2s\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \\ s = m + 1, m + 2, \dots, -\ell - 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

for j = 2, ..., n - 1.

*Proof* By case (1) in Theorem 2.2, the solution of  $PR_{0,m}$  problem (3.3) can be represented as  $V_1(z) = X(z) \{ C_{\omega}[\frac{\tilde{\chi}_1}{X^+}](z) + q_{0,m}^0(z) + p_{\kappa}^0(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega}) \}$  with  $q_{0,m}^0 = \sum_{k=0}^m c_k^0 e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}} \in \Pi_{0,m}, p_{\kappa}^0(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\kappa} d_k^0 z^k \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$ , where all the coefficients satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{m} (-1)^{k} c_{k}^{0} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{\widetilde{g}_{1}}{X^{+}}(t) \tan \frac{\pi t}{\omega} dt = 0, \\ \sum_{k=0}^{m} \alpha_{s,k} c_{k}^{0} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{\widetilde{g}_{1}}{X^{+}}(t) \frac{\sin^{s-1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}}{\cos^{s+1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}} dt = 0, \quad s = 1, \dots, -\kappa - 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Similarly, for j = 2, 3, ..., n - 1, from case (3) of Theorem 2.3, the solution of problem (3.4) is  $V_j(z) = X(z) \{ C_{\omega}[\frac{\tilde{g}_j}{X^+}](z) + q_{0,m-1}^{j-1}(z) + p_{\kappa}^{j-1}(\tan\frac{\pi z}{\omega}) \}$  with  $q_{0,m-1}^{j-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} c_k^{j-1} e^{i\frac{2k\pi z}{\omega}} \in \Pi_{0,m-1}, \ p_{\kappa}^{j-1}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\kappa} d_k^{j-1} z^k \in \Pi_{\kappa}^0$ , where all the coefficients satisfy

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (-1)^{k} c_{k}^{j-1} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{\widetilde{g}_{j}}{X^{+}}(t) \tan \frac{\pi t}{\omega} dt = 0,$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \alpha_{s,k} c_{k}^{j-1} - \frac{1}{2\omega i} \int_{L_{0}} \frac{\widetilde{g}_{j}}{X^{+}}(t) \frac{\sin^{s-1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}}{\cos^{s+1} \frac{\pi t}{\omega}} dt = 0, \quad s = 1, \dots, -\kappa - 1$$
(3.11)

and

$$\begin{cases} c_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} i^j \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{2\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{\widetilde{g}_j}{X^+}(t) dt, \\ c_k + \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,k}^+ \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{\widetilde{g}_j}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} c_{j,k}^+ \cdot d_j = -\frac{1}{\omega} \int_{L_0} \frac{\widetilde{g}_j}{X^+}(t) e^{-i\frac{2k\pi t}{\omega}} dt, \quad k = m+1, m+2, \dots, -\ell-1. \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

Therefore, the solution of  $PPR_{0,m}$  problem (3.1) can be written as

$$V(z) = X(z) \left\{ \left[ C_{\omega} \left[ \frac{\widetilde{g}_1}{X^+} \right](z) + q_{0,m}^0(z) + p_{\kappa}^0 \left( \tan \frac{\pi z}{\omega} \right) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left( \overline{z} - \frac{\overline{\omega}}{\omega} z \right)^j \left[ C_{\omega} \left[ \frac{\widetilde{g}_{j+1}}{X^+} \right](z) + q_{1,m-1}^j(z) + p_{\kappa}^j \left( \tan \frac{\pi z}{\omega} \right) \right] \right\},$$

where all the coefficients in  $q_{0,m}^j$ ,  $q_{1,m-1}^j$ ,  $p_{\kappa}^j$  satisfy (3.10), (3.11) and (3.12). Further, by simple calculation, the desired conclusion is true.

#### References

- Y. Wang, J. Du, On Riemann boundary value problem of polyanalytic functions on the real axis. Acta Math. Sci. 24B(4), 663–671 (2004)
- 2. J. Du, Y. Wang, Riemann boundary value problems of polyanalytic functions and metaanalytic functions on the closed curves. Complex Var. Theory Appl. **50**(7-11), 521–533 (2005)
- J. Du, Y. Wang, On boundary value problems of polyanalytic function on the real axis. Complex Var. Theory Appl. 48(6), 527–542 (2003)
- H. Begehr, J. Du, Y. Wang, A Dirichlet problem for polyharmonic functions. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 187(3), 435–457 (2008)
- H. Begehr, Complex Analytic Methods for Partial Differential Equation: an Introductory Text (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994)
- Y. Wang, Y. Wang, On Riemann problems for single-periodic polyanalytic functions. Math. Nachr. 287(16), 1886–1915 (2014)
- 7. M.B. Balk, Polyanalytic Functions (Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 2001)

- A.A. Gonchar, V.P. Havin, N.K. Nikolski (eds.), Complex Analysis I: Entire and Meromorphic Functions, Polyanalytic Functions and Their Generalizations (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1997)
- 9. L. Jianke, Boundary Value Problems for Analytic Functions (World Scientific, Singapore, 1993)

# **Riemann–Hilbert Problem for Multiply Connected Domains**

#### Anna Tytuła

**Abstract** We discuss scalar Riemann–Hilbert problems for circular multiply connected domains considered by Mityushev (Functional Equations in Mathematical Analysis, pp. 599–632, 2012). The main attention is paid to the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear and the Schwarz problems. Some details concerning applications of the metod of functional equation, outlined in Functional Equations in Mathematical Analysis, pp. 599–632, 2012 are extended in the present paper.

Keywords Riemann-Hilbert problem · Functional equations

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 30E25

## 1 Riemann–Hilbert Problem

Let *D* be a multiply connected domain on the complex plane whose boundary  $\partial D$  consists of *n* simple Jordan curves with positive orientation ( $\partial D$  leaves *D* to the left). The linear Riemann–Hilbert problem for *D* is stated as follows. For given Hölder continuous functions  $\lambda(t) \neq 0$  and f(t) on  $\partial D$ , find a function  $\phi(z)$  analytic in *D*, continuous in the closure of *D* with the boundary condition

$$\operatorname{Re}(\overline{\lambda(t)}\phi(t)) = f(t), \quad t \in \partial D.$$
 (1.1)

The above condition can be also written in the following form

$$\phi(t) + G(t)\overline{\phi(t)} = g(t), \quad t \in \partial D, \tag{1.2}$$

where |G(t)| = 1. By the assumption that  $\lambda(t) \neq 0$  we can rewrite (1.1) as follows

$$\phi(t) + \frac{\lambda(t)}{\overline{\lambda(t)}} \overline{\phi(t)} = 2 \frac{f(t)}{\overline{\lambda(t)}}.$$

A. Tytuła (🖂)

Pedagogical University of Cracow, Cracow, Poland e-mail: anna.tytula8@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_6

Any multiply connected domain D can be conformally mapped onto a circular multiply connected domain. Hence, it is sufficient to solve the problem (1.1) for a circular domain and using conformal mapping again to transform the solvability conditions and the solution.

The problem (1.1) had been completely solved for multiply connected domains by Mityushev [1]. In the present paper, we follow [1] and extend explanations in details concerning the spectral theory.

#### 1.1 $\mathbb{R}$ -Linear Problem

Consider mutually disjoint disks

$$\mathbb{D}_k := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - a_k| < r_k \}, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\mathbb{D}$  be the complement of the closed disks  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$  to the extended complex plane  $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$  i.e.

$$\mathbb{D} := \hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} (\mathbb{D}_{k} \cup \partial \mathbb{D}_{k}).$$

The circles  $\mathbb{T}_k := \{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t - a_k| = r_k\}$  leaves  $\mathbb{D}$  to the left.

Let *D* be a multiply connected domain described above. Let  $D_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n) be simply connected domains complementing *D* to the extended complex plane. The  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear conjugation problem or simply  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem is stated as follows. For given Hölder continuous functions  $a(t) \neq 0$ , b(t) and c(t) on  $\partial D$ , find a function  $\phi(z)$  analytic in  $\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k \cup D$ , continuous in  $D_k \cup \partial D_k$  and in  $D \cup \partial D$  with the conjugation condition

$$\phi^{+}(t) = a(t)\phi^{-}(t) + b(t)\phi^{-}(t) + c(t), \quad t \in \partial D.$$
(1.3)

Here,  $\phi^+(t)$  is the limit value of  $\phi(z)$  when  $z \in D$  tends to  $t \in \partial D$ ,  $\phi^-(t)$  is the limit value of  $\phi(z)$  when  $z \in D_k$  tends to  $t \in \partial D$ .

In the case  $|a(t)| \equiv |b(t)|$ , the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem is reduced to the Riemann– Hilbert problem (1.1). Since  $|a(t)| \equiv |b(t)|$  we have  $b(t) = a(t)e^{i\theta(t)}$ , where  $\theta(t)$  is a real function on  $\partial D$ 

$$\phi^+(t) = a(t)\phi^-(t) + a(t)e^{i\theta(t)}\overline{\phi^-(t)} + c(t), \quad t \in \partial D.$$

This can be rewritten in the form

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(a(t)e^{-i\theta(t)/2}\phi^{+}(t)\right) = \operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{c(t)}{a(t)e^{i\theta(t)/2}}\right), \quad t \in \partial D,$$

i.e., as the Riemann–Hilbert problem (1.1) with  $\overline{\lambda(t)} = a(t)e^{-i\theta(t)/2}$  and  $f(t) = \text{Im}(\frac{c(t)}{a(t)e^{i\theta(t)/2}})$ .

Let  $\kappa_k$  be the index of  $\lambda(t)$  along the curve  $\mathbb{T}_k$  given by the formula

$$\kappa_k = \operatorname{wind}_{\mathbb{T}_k} \lambda(t) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_k} d\ln \lambda(t).$$

The value  $\kappa = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \kappa_k$  is called the index of the problem.

**Theorem 1.1** Let the coefficients of the problem (1.3) satisfy the inequality

$$\left| b(t) \right| < \left| a(t) \right|. \tag{1.4}$$

If  $\kappa = \text{wind}_{\partial D} a(t) \ge 0$ , the problem (1.3) is solvable and the homogeneous problem (1.3) (f(t) = 0) has  $2\kappa \mathbb{R}$ -linearly independent solutions vanishing at infinity. If  $\kappa = \text{wind}_{\partial D} a(t) < 0$ , the problem (1.3) has a unique solution if and only if  $|2\kappa| \mathbb{R}$ -linearly independent conditions for f(t) are fulfilled.

#### **1.2 Riemann–Hilbert Problem with Constant Coefficients**

The Riemann–Hilbert problem (1.1) is a partial case of the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem.

**Theorem 1.2** ([1]) *The problem* 

$$\operatorname{Re}\overline{v_k}\phi(t) = c(t), \quad t \in \partial D, \tag{1.5}$$

is equivalent to the problem

$$\overline{v_k}\phi^+(t) = \phi^-(t) - \overline{\phi^-(t)} + c(t), \quad t \in \partial D,$$
(1.6)

*i.e.* the problem (1.5) is solvable if and only if (1.6) is solvable. If (1.5) has a solution  $\phi(z)$ , this function is analytic in D and can be constructed in  $D_k$  in such a way that (1.6) is fulfilled. It can be found from the following simple problem with respect to the function  $2 \operatorname{Im} \phi^-(z)$  harmonic in  $D_k$ 

$$2\operatorname{Im}\phi^{-}(t) = \operatorname{Im}\overline{v_k}\phi^{+}(t) - c(t), \quad t \in \partial D.$$
(1.7)

The problem (1.7) has a unique solution up to an arbitrary additive real constant.

#### **2** Functional Equations

#### 2.1 Reflection with Respect to the Circle $\mathbb{T}_k$

Consider mutually disjoint disks  $\mathbb{D}_k$  in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let

$$z_{(k)}^* = \frac{r_k^2}{\overline{z - a_k}} + a_k$$

be the reflection with respect to the circle  $\mathbb{T}_k$ . Note that if  $\Phi(z)$  is analytic in the disk  $|z - a_k| < r_k$  and continuous in its closure then  $\overline{\Phi(z_{(k)}^*)}$  is analytic in the disk  $|z - a_k| > r_k$  and continuous in  $|z - a_k| \ge r_k$ . Introduce the compositions of successive reflections with respect to the circles  $\mathbb{T}_{k_1}, \mathbb{T}_{k_2}, \ldots, \mathbb{T}_{k_p}$ 

$$z^*_{(k_pk_{p-1}\cdots k_1)} := \left(z^*_{(k_{p-1}\cdots k_1)}\right)^*_{k_p}.$$
(2.1)

In the sequence  $k_1, k_2, ..., k_p$ , no two neighbouring numbers are equal. The umber p is called the level of the mapping. When p is even, these are Möbius transformations. When p is odd, these are anti-Möbius transformations, i.e., Möbius transformations in  $\overline{z}$ . Thus this mapping can be written in the form

$$\gamma(z) = \frac{e_j z + b_j}{c_j z + d_j}, \ p \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \qquad \gamma(\overline{z}) = \frac{e_j \overline{z} + b_j}{c_j \overline{z} + d_j}, \quad p \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1.$$
(2.2)

Where  $\gamma_0 := z$  (identical mapping with the level p = 0),  $\gamma_1(\overline{z}) := z_{(n)}^*$  (*n* simple reflections with level p = 1),  $\gamma_{n+1}(z) := z_{(12)}^*, \dots, \gamma_{n^2}(z) := z_{(n-1,n)}^*$  ( $n^2 - n$  pairs on reflections with level p = 2) and so on. The sets of the subscripts *j* of  $\gamma_j$  is ordered in such a way that the level *p* is increasing. The functions (2.2) generate a Schottky group  $\mathcal{K}$ . Thus each element of  $\mathcal{K}$  is represented in the form of the composition of reflection (2.1) or in the form of linearly ordered functions (2.2).

#### 2.2 Homogeneous Equation

Let *G* be a domain on the extended complex plane whose boundary  $\partial G$  consist of simply closed Jordan curves. Introduce the Banach space  $C(\partial G)$  of functions continuous on the curves of  $\partial G$  with the norm  $||f|| = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \max_{\partial G} |f(t)|$ . Consider the closed subspace  $C_{\mathcal{A}}(G)$  consisting of all function analytically continued into *G*. Introduce for brevity the designation  $C_{\mathcal{A}} = C_{\mathcal{A}}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathbb{D}_{k})$ . Let *w* be a fixed point from  $\mathbb{D} \setminus \{\infty\}$ .

**Lemma 2.1** ([1]) Let  $v_k = exp(-i\mu_k)$  with  $\mu_k \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider the system of functional equations with respect to the function  $\phi_k(z)$  analytic in  $\mathbb{D}_k$ 

$$\phi_{k}(z) = -v_{k} \sum_{m \neq k} \left[ \overline{\phi_{m}(z_{(m)}^{*})} - \overline{\phi_{m}(w_{(m)}^{*})} \right],$$

$$|z - a_{k}| \leq r_{k}, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(2.3)

This system has only the trivial solution.

*Proof* We now give the detailed proof of this lemma following [1]. Let  $\phi_m(z)$  (m = 1, 2, ..., n) be a solution of (2.3). Then the right-hand part of (2.3) implies that the

function  $\phi_k(z)$  is analytic in  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n). Introduce the function

$$\psi(z) := -\sum_{m=1}^{n} \overline{v_m} [\overline{\phi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\phi_m(w^*_{(m)})}],$$

analytic in the closure of  $\mathbb{D}$ . Then the functions  $\psi$ ,  $\phi_k$  satisfy the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear boundary conditions

$$v_k \psi(t) = \phi_k(t) - \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \overline{\phi_k(w_{(k)}^*)}, \qquad |t - a_k| = r_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (2.4)

because

$$\begin{aligned} v_k \psi(t) &= -v_k \sum_{m=1}^n \overline{v_m} \left[ \overline{\phi_m(t_{(m)}^*)} - \overline{\phi_m(w_{(m)}^*)} \right] \\ &= -v_k \sum_{m=1, m \neq k}^n \overline{v_m} \left[ \overline{\phi_m(t_{(m)}^*)} - \overline{\phi_m(w_{(m)}^*)} \right] - v_k \overline{v_k} \overline{\phi_k(t)} + v_k \overline{v_k} \overline{\phi_k(w_{(k)}^*)} \\ &= \phi_k(t) - \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \overline{\phi_k(w_{(k)}^*)}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$t_k^* = \frac{r_k^2}{t - a_k} + a_k = \frac{r_k^2}{r_k e^{i\theta} + a_k - a_k} + a_k = r_k e^{i\theta} + a_k = t.$$

Note that if  $\overline{\phi_k(w^*_{(k)})} = c_k + i d_k$  then

$$v_k \psi(t) = \operatorname{Re} \phi_k(t) + \operatorname{Im} \phi_k(t) - \operatorname{Re} \phi_k(t) + \operatorname{Im} \phi_k(t) + \phi_k \left( w_{(k)}^* \right)$$
$$= 2 \operatorname{Im} \phi_k(t) + \overline{\phi_k \left( w_{(k)}^* \right)} = 2 \operatorname{Im} \phi_k(t) + c_k + i d_k.$$

Hence, we can also rewrite the relation in the following form

Re 
$$v_k \psi(t) = c_k$$
,  $|t - a_k| = r_k$ ,  $k = 1, ..., n$ , (2.5)

$$2 \operatorname{Im} \phi_k(t) = \operatorname{Im} v_k \psi(t) + d_k, \qquad |t - a_k| = r_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(2.6)

One may consider equalities (2.5) as a boundary value problem with respect to the function  $\psi(z)$  analytic in  $\mathbb{D}$  and continuous in its closure, i.e.,  $\psi \in C_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathbb{D})$ . The real constants  $c_k$  have to be determined. The problem (2.5) has only constant solutions [1].

## 2.3 Non-homogeneous Equation

Below the following lemma from [1] is proved in detail concerning the spectral theory.

**Lemma 2.2** Let  $h \in C_A$  and  $v_k = exp(-i\mu_k)$  with  $\mu_k \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider the system of functional equations

$$\phi_{k}(z) = -v_{k} \sum_{m \neq k} \left[ \overline{\phi_{m}(z_{(m)}^{*})} - \overline{\phi_{m}(w_{(m)}^{*})} \right] + h_{k}(z),$$

$$|z - a_{k}| \leq r_{k}, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(2.7)

It has a unique solution  $\Phi \in C_A$ , where

$$\Phi(z) := \phi_k(z), \qquad |z - a_k| \le r_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

This solution can be found by the method of successive approximations. The approximations are converging in  $C_A$ .

*Proof* We can rewrite the system (2.7) on  $\mathbb{T}_k$  in the form of the system of integral equations valid on  $|t - a_k| = r_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n)

$$\phi_k(t) = -v_k \sum_{m \neq k} \overline{v_m} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}_m^-} \phi_m(\tau) \left( \frac{1}{\tau - t_{(m)}^*} - \frac{1}{\tau - w_{(m)}^*} \right) d\tau + h_k(t), \quad (2.8)$$

The orientation on  $\mathbb{T}_m^-$  leaves  $\mathbb{D}_m$  to the left. The system (2.8) can be written as an equation in the space  $\mathcal{C}(\bigcup_{k=1}^n \mathbb{T}_k)$ 

$$\Phi = A\Phi + h \tag{2.9}$$

The integral operators from (2.8) are compact in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T}_k)$  [2], multiplication by  $\overline{v_m}$ and complex conjugation are bounded operators in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Then A is a compact operator in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Since  $\Phi$  is a solution of (2.9) in  $\mathcal{C}$ , we have  $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_A$ . This follows from the properties of Cauchy integrals and the condition  $h \in \mathcal{C}_A$ . Therefore, (2.9) in  $\mathcal{C}_A$  and (2.7) in  $\mathcal{C}_A$  are equivalent when  $h \in \mathcal{C}_A$ . By Lemma 2.1 the homogeneous equation  $\Phi = A\Phi$  has only the trivial solution. Then the Fredholm theorems imply that (2.9) or the system (2.7) has a unique solution.

Let us show the convergence of the method of successive approximations. By virtue of The Successive Approximation Theorem [2] it is sufficient to prove the inequality  $\rho(A) < 1$ , where  $\rho(A)$  is the spectral radius of the operator A, i.e.  $\rho(A) = \sup_{x \in \sigma(A)} |x|$ , where  $\sigma(A)$  is the spectrum of A. Compactness of the operator A in the Banach space implies that for every g there exist a nontrivial solution equation  $\Phi - A\Phi = g$ . Hence, every non zero element of the spectrum of A is an eigenvalue of A. Moreover, the eigenvalues can only accumulate at 0. Hence, there are finitely many eigenvalues of A and  $\rho(A) = \sup_{x \in \sigma(A)} |x| = \max_{x \in \sigma(A)} |x|$ . If we have  $\Phi = \lambda A\Phi$  for non-zero  $\lambda$  then  $\frac{1}{\lambda}$  is an eigenvalues of A.

The inequality  $\rho(A) < 1$  means that each eigenvalue is less than 1. Hence  $\rho(A) < 1$  is satisfied if for all complex numbers  $\lambda$  such that  $|\lambda| \le 1$  equation

$$\Phi = \lambda A \Phi$$

has only the trivial solution, because then  $\frac{1}{|\lambda|} > 1$ , hence  $\lambda$  is not an eigenvalues of *A*.

Since  $\Phi(z) := \phi_k(z), |z - a_k| \le r_k, k = 1, ..., n$ , equation  $\Phi = \lambda A \Phi$  can be rewritten in the form

$$\phi_k(z) = -\lambda v_k \sum_{m \neq k} \left[ \overline{\phi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\phi_m(w^*_{(m)})} \right],$$

$$|z - a_k| \le r_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(2.10)

Consider the case  $|\lambda| < 1$ . Introduce the function analytic in the closure of  $\mathbb{D}$ 

$$\psi(z) = -\lambda \sum_{m=1}^{n} \overline{v_m} \left[ \overline{\phi(z_{(m)}^*)} - \overline{\phi(w_{(m)}^*)} \right]$$

Then

$$v_k \psi(t) = -\lambda v_k \sum_{m=1}^n \overline{v_m} \left[ \overline{\phi(t^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\phi(w^*_{(m)})} \right]$$
$$= \phi_k(t) - \lambda \overline{\phi_k(t^*_{(k)})} + \lambda \overline{\phi_k(w^*_{(k)})} = \phi_k(t) - \lambda \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \lambda \overline{\phi_k(w^*_{(k)})},$$

where  $|t - a_k| = r_k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., n. Hence  $\psi(z)$  and  $\phi_k(z)$  satisfy the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem

$$v_k\psi(t) = \phi_k(t) - \lambda\overline{\phi_k(t)} + \gamma_k, \qquad |t - a_k| = r_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

where  $\gamma_k = \lambda \overline{\phi_k(w_{(k)}^*)}$ . Let  $\psi_0(z) = \psi(z) - \psi(\infty)$ , then

$$v_k \psi(t) = v_k (\psi_0(t) + \psi(\infty)) = \phi_k(t) - \lambda \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \gamma_k$$

and

$$v_k\psi_0(t) = \phi_k(t) - \lambda \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \gamma_k - v_k\psi(\infty).$$
(2.11)

Theorem 1.1 implies that the problem (2.11) has the unique solution  $\psi_0(z) \equiv 0$  and hence

$$v_k\psi_0(t) = \phi_k(t) - \lambda \overline{\phi_k(t)} + \gamma_k - v_k\psi(\infty).$$

This gives

$$\phi_k(z) = \frac{\gamma_k - v_k \psi(\infty) + \lambda (\gamma_k - v_k \psi(\infty))}{|\lambda|^2 - 1},$$

hence  $\phi_k(z) \equiv constant$ . Then (2.10) yields  $\phi_k(z) \equiv 0$ .

Consider the case  $|\lambda| = 1$ . Then, substituting  $\omega_k(z) = \phi_k(z)/\sqrt{\lambda}$  we reduce the system (2.10) to the same system with  $\lambda = 1$ . It follows from Lemma 2.1 that  $\omega_k(z) = \phi_k(z) = 0$ . Hence,  $\rho(A) < 1$ .

This inequality proves the lemma.

## References

- V. Mityushev, Scalar Riemann–Hilbert problem for multiply connected domains, in *Functional Equations in Mathematical Analysis*. Springer Optimization and Its Applications, vol. 52, ed. by Th.M. Rassias, J. Brzdek (Springer Science and Business Media, LLC, Berlin, 2012), pp. 599– 632. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-0055-438
- M.A. Krasnosel'skii, Ja.B. Rutitcki, V.Ja. Stecenko, G.M. Vainikko, P.P. Zabreiko, Approximate Solutions of Operator Equations (Walters–Noordhoff Publ., Groningen, 1972)

# The Schottky–Klein Prime Function

#### Inez Badecka

**Abstract** This paper describes the Schottky–Klein prime function. The classical Schottky groups and the Poincaré  $\alpha$ -series are used to construct the Schottky–Klein prime function for arbitrary multiply connected circular domains.

**Keywords** Schottky groups  $\cdot$  Schottky–Klein prime function  $\cdot$  Riemann–Hilbert problem

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 30E25

## 1 Schottky Groups

Consider mutually disjoint disks  $D_k = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - \alpha_k| < r_k\}$  in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  and the multiply connected domain  $D = \widehat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \bigcup_{k=1}^n (D_k \cup \partial D_k)$  to the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} := \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ .



I. Badecka (🖂)

Pedagogical University of Cracow, Cracow, Poland e-mail: inez.badecka@wp.pl

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_7

Consider the reflection with respect to the circle  $|z - \alpha_k| = r_k$ 

$$z_{(k)}^* = \frac{r_k^2}{\overline{z - \alpha_k}} + \alpha_k.$$

Introduce the composition of successive reflections with respect to the circles:

$$z^*_{(k_pk_{p-1}\cdots k_1)} := \left(z^*_{(k_{p-1}\cdots k_1)}\right)^*_{k_p}.$$
(1.1)

These mappings can be written in the form:

$$\gamma_j(z) = \frac{e_j z + b_j}{c_j z + d_j}, \quad p \in 2\mathbb{Z},$$
  

$$\gamma_j(\overline{z}) = \frac{e_j \overline{z} + b_j}{c_j \overline{z} + dj}, \quad p \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1,$$
(1.2)

where  $e_j d_j - b_j c_j = 1$ , j = 0, 1, 2, ... and p is called the level of the mapping. Here, we introduce

 $\gamma_0(z) := z,$ 

$$(\text{identical mapping, } p = 0)$$
  

$$\gamma_1(\overline{z}) := z_{(1)}^*, \quad \gamma_2(\overline{z}) := z_{(2)}^*, \quad \dots, \quad \gamma_n(\overline{z}) := z_{(n)}^*,$$
  

$$(n \text{ simple reflections, } p = 1)$$
  

$$\gamma_{n+1}(z) := z_{(1,2)}^*, \quad \gamma_{n+2}(z) := z_{(1,3)}^*, \quad \dots, \quad \gamma_{n^2}(z) := z_{(n,n-1)}^*,$$
  

$$(n^2 - n \text{ double reflections, } p = 2)$$
  

$$\gamma_{n^2+1}(\overline{z}) := z_{(1,2,1)}^*, \quad \gamma_{n^2+2}(\overline{z}) := z_{(1,2,2)}^*, \quad \dots$$

and so on. The functions (1.2) generate a Schottky group  $\mathcal{K}$ . All elements  $\gamma_j$  of even level generate a subgroup  $\mathcal{E}$ . The set of the elements  $\gamma_j$  of odd  $\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{E}$  level is denoted by  $\mathcal{O}$ .

Let H(z) be a rational function.

The following series

$$\theta_2(z) := \sum_{\gamma_j \in \mathcal{E}} \frac{H[\gamma_j(z)]}{(e_j z + d_j)^2} \tag{1.3}$$

is called the Poincaré  $\theta_2$ -series associated with the subgroup  $\mathcal{E}$ .

Now, let us introduce the series:

$$\theta_2^{(1)}(z) = H(z) - \sum_{k=1}^n \overline{H[z_{(k)}^*]}(\overline{z_{(k)}^*})' + \sum_{k=1}^n \sum_{k_1 \neq k} H[z_{(k_1,k)}^*](z_{(k_1,k)}^*)'$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}\overline{H[z^{*}_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)})'}$$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}\sum_{k_{3}\neq k_{2}}H[z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)})' - \cdots \quad (1.4)$$

$$\theta_{2}^{(2)}(z) = H(z) + \sum_{k=1}^{n}\overline{H[z^{*}_{(k)}](z^{*}_{(k)})'} + \sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}H[z^{*}_{(k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{1},k)})'$$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}\overline{H[z^{*}_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)})'}$$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}\sum_{k_{3}\neq k_{2}}H[z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)})' + \cdots \quad (1.5)$$

The Poincaré  $\theta_2$ -series can be written in the form:

$$\theta_2(z) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \theta_2^{(1)}(z) + \theta_2^{(2)}(z) \right).$$
(1.6)

Let  $\alpha_k$  be real numbers from the range  $[0, 2\pi)$ . Introduce the multi-index  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n)$  and, following [7], also the series:

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{2}^{(1)}(z,\alpha) &= H(z) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha_{k}} \overline{H[z_{(k)}^{*}]}(\overline{z_{(k)}^{*}})' \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}})} H[z_{(k_{1},k)}^{*}](z_{(k_{1},k)}^{*})' \\ &- \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}} + \alpha_{k_{2}})} \overline{H[z_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}]}(\overline{z_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}})' \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \sum_{k_{3} \neq k_{2}} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}} + \alpha_{k_{2}} - \alpha_{k_{3}})} \\ &\times H[z_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)})' - \cdots \end{aligned}$$
(1.7)  
$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{2}^{(2)}(z,\alpha) &= H(z) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha_{k}} \overline{H[z_{(k)}^{*}]}(\overline{z_{(k)}^{*}})' \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}})} H[z_{(k_{1},k)}^{*}](z_{(k_{1},k)}^{*})' \end{aligned}$$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}e^{2i(\alpha_{k}-\alpha_{k_{1}}+\alpha_{k_{2}})}\overline{H[z^{*}_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}]}(\overline{z^{*}_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}})'$$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{n}\sum_{k_{1}\neq k}\sum_{k_{2}\neq k_{1}}\sum_{k_{3}\neq k_{2}}e^{2i(\alpha_{k}-\alpha_{k_{1}}+\alpha_{k_{2}}-\alpha_{k_{3}})}$$

$$\times H[z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}](z^{*}_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)})'+\cdots \qquad (1.8)$$

$$\theta_2(z,\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \theta_2^{(1)}(z,\alpha) + \theta_2^{(2)}(z,\alpha) \right).$$
(1.9)

The series (1.8)–(1.10) are called the Poincaré  $\alpha$ -series. The Poincaré  $\theta_2$ -series and the Poincaré  $\alpha$ -series are [7] uniformly convergent in every compact subset not containing the limit points of  $\mathcal{K}$  and poles of  $H[\gamma_j(z)]$ . Moreover, the Poincare  $\theta_2$ -series is an automorphic function of the weight (-2) [4]:

$$\theta_2(z) = \frac{\theta_2[\gamma_j(z)]}{(c_j z + d_j)^2}.$$
 (1.10)

### 2 The Schottky–Klein Prime Function

Let  $\mathcal{H}_A(\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k)$  be the Banach space of functions analytic in  $\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k$  and with the norm  $||f|| = \max_{k=1,2,...,n} \max_{\partial D_k} |f(t)|$ .

**Theorem 2.1** ([1, 6]) Given  $f(z) \in \mathcal{H}_A(\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k)$ , the system of functional equations:

$$\psi_k(z) = \sum_{m \neq k} \left(\frac{r_m}{z - a_m}\right)^2 \overline{\psi_m(z^*_{(m)})} + f(z),$$

$$|z - a_k| \le r_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(2.1)

has a unique solution for any circular multiply connected domain D. This solution can be found by the method of successive approximations. The approximations converge in  $\mathcal{H}_A(\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k)$ .

Let  $\zeta$  and w be fixed points of  $(D \cup \partial D) \setminus \{\infty\}$  and introduce [7]:

$$\omega(z) = -\sum_{m=1}^{n} \left[\overline{\varphi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\varphi_m(w^*_{(m)})}\right].$$
(2.2)

The function  $\omega(z)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_A(\bigcup_{k=1}^n D_k)$  and vanishes at z = w.

The Schottky-Klein Prime Function

Introduce the functions [7]:

$$\omega_0(z,\zeta,w) = \ln \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu_j(z,\zeta,w), \qquad (2.3)$$

where

$$\mu_{j}(z,\zeta,w) = \begin{cases} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(w)}, & \text{if } \gamma_{j} \in \mathcal{E}, \\ \frac{\overline{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(\overline{w})}}{\overline{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(\overline{z})}}, & \text{if } \gamma_{j} \in \mathcal{O}. \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

The infinite product converges uniformly in the variable *z* in every compact subset of  $(D \cup \partial D) \setminus (\{\infty\}, \{\zeta\}, \{w\})$ . The justification of these assertions is based on the application of Theorem 2.1 to the functional equations:

$$\varphi_k(z) = -\sum_{m \neq k} \left[ \overline{\varphi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\varphi_m(w^*_{(m)})} \right] + \ln \frac{z - \zeta}{w - \zeta},$$

$$|z - a_k| \le r_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(2.5)

An application of the method of successive approximations to (2.5) yields the uniformly convergent series:

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{k}(z) &= \ln \frac{z - \zeta}{w - \zeta} \\ &- \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \ln \frac{\overline{\zeta - z_{(k_{1})}^{*}}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{1})}^{*}}} \quad (1 \text{st approximations}) \\ &+ \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \ln \frac{\zeta - z_{(k_{2}k_{1})}^{*}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{2},k_{1})}^{*}}} \quad (2 \text{nd approximations}) \\ &- \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \sum_{k_{3} \neq k_{2}} \ln \frac{\overline{\zeta - z_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1})}^{*}}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1})}^{*}}} \quad (3 \text{rd approximations}) \\ &+ \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \sum_{k_{3} \neq k_{2}} \sum_{k_{4} \neq k_{3}} \ln \frac{\zeta - z_{(k_{4},k_{3},k_{2},k_{1})}^{*}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{4},k_{3},k_{2},k_{1})}^{*}}} + \cdots, \quad (4 \text{th approximations}) \\ &|z - a_{k}| \leq r_{k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n. \end{split}$$

The function (2.2) can be written in the form on the uniformly convergent product:

I. Badecka

$$\omega(z) = \ln\left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\overline{\zeta w_{(k)}^{*}}}{\overline{\zeta - z_{(k)}^{*}}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \prod_{k_{1} \neq k} \frac{\zeta z_{(k_{1},k)}^{*}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{1},k)}^{*}}} \right)$$
$$\times \prod_{k=1}^{n} \prod_{k_{1} \neq k} \prod_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \frac{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}}}{\overline{\zeta - z_{(k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}}} \\\times \prod_{k=1}^{n} \prod_{k_{1} \neq k} \prod_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \prod_{k_{3} \neq k_{2}} \frac{\zeta z_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}}{\overline{\zeta - w_{(k_{3},k_{2},k_{1},k)}^{*}}} \cdots \right).$$

Hence and [5] function  $\omega_0(z)$  can be represented in the form (2.4). Now, instead of applying Theorem 2.1 to (2.6), we apply it to the following functional equations:

$$\varphi_k(z) = \sum_{m \neq k} \left[ \overline{\varphi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\varphi_m(w^*_{(m)})} \right] + \ln \frac{z - \zeta}{w - \zeta},$$

$$|z - a_k| \le r_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$
(2.7)

and introduce the function:

$$\omega_1(z,\zeta,w) = \ln \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} v_j(z,\zeta,w), \qquad (2.8)$$

where

$$v_{j}(z,\zeta,w) = \begin{cases} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(w)}, & \text{if } \gamma_{j} \in \mathcal{E}, \\ \frac{\overline{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(\overline{z})}}{\overline{\zeta - \gamma_{j}(\overline{w})}}, & \text{if } \gamma_{j} \in \mathcal{O}. \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

Similarly to (1.9), introduce the function:

$$\omega(z,\zeta,w) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \omega_0(z,\zeta,w) + \omega_1(z,\zeta,w) \right] = \frac{1}{2} \ln \prod_{j \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \{\gamma_0\}} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_j(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_j(w)}$$
(2.10)

Hence, the following product

$$\Omega(z,\zeta,w) = \ln \prod_{j \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \{\gamma_0\}} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_j(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_j(w)}$$
(2.11)

is correctly defined for  $z \neq \zeta$ .

We can introduce the function of two variables:

$$S(z,\zeta) = (\zeta - z)\Omega(\zeta, z, z)\Omega(z, \zeta, \zeta)$$
  
=  $(\zeta - z) \prod_{j \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \{\gamma_0\}} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_j(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_j(w)} \frac{\zeta - \gamma_j(z)}{\zeta - \gamma_j(w)}.$  (2.12)

This function is called the Schottky–Klein function presented in the form of a uniformly convergent product. The uniform convergence is proved for  $\Omega(\zeta, z, z)$  in the variable  $\zeta$  in every compact subset of  $(D \cup \partial D) \setminus (\{z\}, \{\infty\})$  and for  $\Omega(z, \zeta, \zeta)$  in the variable z in every compact subset of  $(D \cup \partial D) \setminus (\{\zeta\}, \{\infty\})$ . A representation of the Schottky–Klein function in the form of an absolutely convergent product was given by Crowdy [2, 3] under geometrical restrictions on the disks  $D_k$ .

Similarly to (1.8)–(1.10) one can introduce the Schottky–Klein  $\alpha$ –prime function:

$$S(z,\zeta,\alpha) = (\zeta-z) \prod_{j \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \{\gamma_0\}} e^{2is_j(\alpha)} \frac{\zeta-\gamma_j(z)}{\zeta-\gamma_j(w)} \frac{\zeta-\gamma_j(z)}{\zeta-\gamma_j(w)}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where *p* is an odd number and  $s_j(\alpha) = \alpha_k - \alpha_{k_1} + \dots + \alpha_{k_{p-1}} - \alpha_{k_p}$ .

The correspondence between *j* and  $(k_p, k_{p-1}, ..., k_1, k)$  is established via the numeration of the elements of  $\mathcal{E}$ , i.e., via the relation  $\gamma_j(z) = z^*_{(k_p k_{p-1} \cdots k_1)}$ .

#### References

- B. Bojarski, On generalized Hilbert boundary value problem. Soobsch. AN GruzSSR25, No. 4 (1960)
- D.G. Crowdy, The Schwarz problem in multiply connected domains and the Schottky–Klein prime function. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 53(3), 221–236 (2008)
- D.G. Crowdy, The Schottky–Klein prime function on the Schottky double of planar domains. Comput. Methods Funct. Theory 10(2), 501–517 (2010)
- V.V. Mityushev, Convergence of the Poincaré series for classical Schottky groups. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 126(8), 2399–2406 (1998)
- V. Mityushev, Riemann–Hilbert problems for multiply connected domains and circular slit maps. Comput. Methods Funct. Theory 11(2), 575–590 (2011)
- V.V. Mityushev, S.V. Rogosin, Theory and applications, in *Constructive Methods for Linear* and Nonlinear Boundary Value Problems for Analytic Functions. Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics (Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, 2000)
- 7. V. Mityushev, Poincaré α-series for classical Schottky groups, in *Analytic Number Theory, Approximation Theory, and Special Functions* (2014), pp. 827–852

# Green Function of the Dirichlet Problem for the Laplacian and Inhomogeneous Boundary Value Problems for the Poisson Equation in a Punctured Domain

Baltabek Kanguzhin and Niyaz Tokmagambetov

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to present a new definition of the Green function of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation prompted by the theory of ordinary differential equations and investigate correctly solvable boundary value problems for the Poisson equation in a punctured domain.

**Keywords** Green's function  $\cdot$  Poisson equation  $\cdot$  Dirichlet problem  $\cdot$  Punctured domain  $\cdot$  Non simply connected domain  $\cdot$  Non-local boundary value problem

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 35J08 · Secondary 35J05 · 35J25

# **1** Definition of the Green Function of the Dirichlet Problem for the Laplace Operator

From the work of M.A. Naimark [1], we introduce the definition of the Green function for ordinary differential operators. Let an operator  $L_1$ , generated by the ordinary differential expression with smooth coefficients on the interval (a, b)

$$l(y) = p_0(x)\frac{d^n u}{dx^n} + p_1(x)\frac{d^{n-1}u}{dx^{n-1}} + \dots + p_n(x)u$$

B. Kanguzhin  $(\boxtimes) \cdot N$ . Tokmagambetov

N. Tokmagambetov e-mail: niyaz.tokmagambetov@gmail.com

N. Tokmagambetov

This work was supported partially by fundamental research programs and projects of the MES RK, Grant 0732/GF, 2012–2014 yy.

Department of Fundamental Mathematics, Faculty of Mechanics and Mathematics, Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, Al-Farabi ave., 71, 500040, Almaty, Kazakhstan e-mail: kanbalta@mail.ru

Institute of Mathematics and Mathematical Modeling, Shevchenko str., 28, 500010, Almaty, Kazakhstan

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_8

and some boundary conditions

$$U_{\nu}(u) = 0, \quad \nu = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

have an inverse  $L_1^{-1}$  the domain of which coincides with the range of values of the operator  $L_1$ .  $L_1^{-1}$  is an integral operator with a continuous kernel. This kernel is called Green function of the operator  $L_1$ . Let us formulate this definition more precisely.

**Definition 1.1** If a function  $\Gamma(x, \xi)$  satisfies the following conditions

(1)  $\Gamma(\cdot,\xi) \in C^{n}([a,\xi) \cup (\xi,b]);$ (2)  $l(\Gamma) = 0$  on intervals  $(a,\xi)$  and  $(\xi,b);$ (3)  $U_{\nu}(\Gamma) = 0, \nu = 1, 2, ..., n;$ (4) for i = 1, 2, ..., n - 2

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \left[ \frac{\partial^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \Gamma(\xi + \delta, \xi) - \frac{\partial^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \Gamma(\xi - \delta, \xi) \right] = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \left[ \frac{\partial^{n-1}}{\partial x^{n-1}} \Gamma(\xi + \delta, \xi) - \frac{\partial^{n-1}}{\partial x^{n-1}} \Gamma(\xi - \delta, \xi) \right] = \frac{1}{p_0(\xi)},$$

then the function  $\Gamma(x,\xi)$  is called Green function of the operator  $L_1$ .

There can be found the proof of the following Green function's uniqueness theorem.

**Theorem 1.2** If the boundary value problem  $L_1y = 0$  has only the trivial solution, then the operator  $L_1$  has a unique Green function.

Let an operator  $L_2$  be generated by the Laplacian  $-\Delta$  and with the Dirichlet boundary condition. In the standard textbooks (for instance [2]), in a case of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplacian, a definition of the Green function is given as follows.

**Definition 1.3** The Green function of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace operator in the domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is the  $\mathcal{G}(x, y), x \in \overline{\Omega}, y \in \Omega$ , which satisfies the properties:

(1) for all  $y \in \Omega$ 

$$G(x, y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \ln |x - y| + g(x, y),$$

where g(x, y) is harmonic in the domain  $\Omega$  and continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$  respect to x; (2) for any  $y \in \Omega$ 

$$\mathcal{G}(x, y)|_{x \in \partial \Omega} = 0.$$

Conditions (1) and (2) imply that  $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$  is a harmonic function in  $\Omega \setminus \{y\}$  and continuous in  $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{y\}$  with respect to x, vanishes on  $\partial \Omega$  and approaches to  $\infty$  for  $x \to y$ .

In what follows, we present a new definition of the Green function of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation prompted by the theory of ordinary differential equations. In the condition (1) of Definition 1.3 appears the fundamental solution of the Laplace operator, which is defined by the Dirac delta function. At the same time, in Definition 1.3 generalized functions are absent. It needs to have a definition of the Green function of the Dirichlet problem for the Poisson equation without involving generalized functions.

Consider the differential expression

$$\Delta u := \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$$

in  $\Omega_0 := \Omega \setminus \{M_0\}$ , where  $\Omega$  is a bounded, simple-connected domain with sufficiently smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $M_0 = (x_0, y_0)$  is an inner fixed point of the domain  $\Omega$ .

Let us denote

$$\Pi^0_{\delta} = \left\{ (x, y) : -\delta \le x - x_0 \le \delta, \ -\delta \le y - y_0 \le \delta \right\}.$$

Introduce a functional

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(h) &= \frac{1}{2} \lim_{\delta \to +0} \int_{x_0 - \delta}^{x_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial h(\xi, y_0 + \delta)}{\partial \eta} - \frac{\partial h(\xi, y_0 - \delta)}{\partial \eta} \right] d\xi \\ &+ \int_{y_0 - \delta}^{y_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial h(x_0 + \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} - \frac{\partial h(x_0 - \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} \right] d\eta. \end{aligned}$$

Note, the value of the functional  $\alpha(\cdot)$  for continuously differentiable functions  $h(\cdot)$  is equal to zero.

**Definition 1.4** A function  $\Gamma$  defined on the set  $\Omega_0$  is called Green function in the classical sense of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplacian, if the following conditions are valid

(1)  $\Gamma \in C^2(\Omega_0);$ (2)  $\Delta \Gamma = 0$  in the  $\Omega_0;$ (3) for every  $(x_0, y_0) \in \Omega$ 

$$\Gamma(x, y, x_0, y_0)|_{(x, y) \in \partial \Omega} = 0;$$

(4) the functionals for  $\Gamma$  are equal to

$$I_{1}(\Gamma) \equiv \lim_{\delta \to +0} \delta \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} |\Gamma(x, y, x_{0}, y_{0})| dS_{x, y} = 0,$$

$$I_{2}(\Gamma) \equiv \lim_{\delta \to +0} \delta \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \left| \frac{\partial \Gamma(x, y, x_{0}, y_{0})}{\partial n_{x, y}} \right| dS_{x, y} = 0.$$

and

$$\alpha(\Gamma) = 1.$$

Note, that the functional  $\alpha(\cdot)$  first was introduced in the work [3].

Let a functional space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  be a subspace of the Sobolev space  $W_2^2(\Omega_0)$ and for elements  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  the functionals  $\alpha(\cdot)$ ,  $I_1(\cdot)$ ,  $I_2(\cdot)$  exist, and moreover, the functionals  $I_1(\cdot)$  and  $I_2(\cdot)$  equal to zero.

The following theorem is the main result of this section.

**Theorem 1.5** In the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  the Green function in the classical sense of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace operator exists and is uniquely determined.

We note, that the existence of the Green function in the classical sense was proved in the work [4].

Denote by  $\varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  the function

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\ln((x-x_0)^2+(y-y_0)^2).$$

For this function we prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 1.6** For the function  $\varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  the relation

$$\alpha(\varepsilon) = 1 \tag{1.1}$$

holds.

Proof As

$$\frac{\partial \ln((x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2)}{\partial x} = \frac{2(x-x_0)}{(x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2},$$
$$\frac{\partial \ln((x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2)}{\partial y} = \frac{2(y-y_0)}{(x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2}$$

by simple calculations, we have

$$\alpha(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \lim_{\delta \to +0} \int_{x_0-\delta}^{x_0+\delta} \left(\frac{4\delta}{\delta^2 + (x_0-t)^2}\right) dt$$
$$+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \lim_{\delta \to +0} \int_{y_0-\delta}^{y_0+\delta} \left(\frac{4\delta}{\delta^2 + (x_0-t)^2}\right) dt = 1$$

Lemma 1.6 is proved.

*Proof of Theorem 1.5* At first, we prove the existence of the Green function in the classical sense of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation. Construct a function  $P(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  of the form

$$P(x, y, x_0, y_0) = \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0) + g(x, y),$$

where g(x, y) is a sufficiently smooth function and

$$(-\Delta_{x,y})g(x,y) = 0, \quad (x,y) \in \Omega \times \Omega.$$

Also, we choose the function g(x, y) such that the values of the functions  $\varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  and -g(x, y) coincide on the boundary  $\partial \Omega$ . Since g(x, y) is a continuously differentiable function, then  $\alpha(g) = 0$ . Hence, we get  $\alpha(P) = 1$ . The constructed function  $P(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  has a singularity only at the point  $(x_0, y_0)$ , and the singularity is logarithmic. Then the functionals  $I_1(\cdot)$  and  $I_2(\cdot)$  for P exist and are equal to zero. Therefore, it is established that the function  $P(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  belongs to the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$ . In addition the function  $P(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  satisfies all requirements of Definition 1.4. Hence, the existence is proved.

Now it remains to prove the uniqueness of the Green function in the classical sense of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation.

**Problem 1** In the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  consider the Laplace equation

$$\Delta u(x) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega_0,$$

with the Dirichlet boundary condition on the exterior boundary of the domain  $\Omega_0$ 

 $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ 

and with a condition on the "inner" boundary

$$\alpha(u) = 0.$$

Our aim is to show that Problem 1 has only the trivial solution. Let  $(x, y) \in \Omega_0$ . By the Green formulae

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega \setminus \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \int \Big[ \Delta u(\xi,\eta) G(x,y,\xi,\eta) - u(\xi,\eta) \Delta G(x,y,\xi,\eta) \Big] d\xi d\eta \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega} \Big[ \frac{\partial u(\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} G(x,y,\xi,\eta) - u(\xi,\eta) \frac{\partial G(x,y,\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} \Big] dS \\ &- \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \Big[ \frac{\partial u(\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} G(x,y,\xi,\eta) - u(\xi,\eta) \frac{\partial G(x,y,\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} \Big] dS, \end{split}$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is chosen such that  $(x, y) \in \Omega \setminus \Pi_{\delta}^{0}$ . From properties of the  $\varepsilon$ , the taken formulae can be written as

$$u(x, y) = -\int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \left[ \frac{\partial u(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta) - u(\xi, \eta) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \right] dS$$
(1.2)

for any  $(x, y) \in \Omega \setminus \Pi_{\delta}^{0}$ . Let us show, that the second integral in equality (1.2) approaches to zero for  $\delta \to 0$ . Extend the function u(x) at  $(x_0, y_0)$  continuously, i.e. get the function u(x) at the point  $(x_0, y_0)$  equal to the value of the first integral of the right-hand side of equality (1.2). Hence, we get a harmonic function in  $\Omega$ , which coincides with u(x) in  $\Omega_0$ .

Now, we show, that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \left[ \frac{\partial u(\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} \varepsilon(x,y,\xi,\eta) - u(\xi,\eta) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x,y,\xi,\eta)}{\partial n_{\xi,\eta}} \right] dS = 0.$$
(1.3)

For this, we prove

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \frac{\partial u(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta) dS = 0.$$

and the equality

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} u(\xi, \eta) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} dS = 0$$

follows from the same calculations. Thus

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\delta \to 0} & \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \frac{\partial u(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta) dS \\ &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{y_0 - \delta}^{y_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial u(x_0 + \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} \varepsilon(x, y, x_0 + \delta, \eta) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{\partial u(x_0 - \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} \varepsilon(x, y, x_0 - \delta, \eta) \right] dS \\ &\left. + \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{x_0 - \delta}^{x_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial u(\xi, y_0 + \delta)}{\partial \eta} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, y_0 + \delta) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{\partial u(\xi, y_0 - \delta)}{\partial \eta} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, y_0 - \delta) \right] dS. \end{split}$$

By virtue that all derivatives of the function  $\varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  are bounded functions for  $(x, y) \in \Pi^0_{\delta_1} \setminus \Pi^0_{\delta}$  by the last two arguments, then we get

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \frac{\partial u(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta) dS$$

$$\begin{split} &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{y_0 - \delta}^{y_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial u(x_0 + \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} \left( \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0) \right. \\ &+ \delta \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \xi} + (\eta - y_0) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \eta} + O(\delta^2) \right) \\ &- \frac{\partial u(x_0 - \delta, \eta)}{\partial \xi} \left( \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0) - \delta \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \xi} \right. \\ &+ (\eta - y_0) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \eta} + O(\delta^2) \right) \right] dS \\ &+ \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{x_0 - \delta}^{x_0 + \delta} \left[ \frac{\partial u(\xi, y_0 + \delta)}{\partial \eta} \left( \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0) \right. \\ &+ (\xi - x_0) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \xi} + \delta \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \eta} + O(\delta^2) \right) \right. \\ &- \frac{\partial u(\xi, y_0 - \delta)}{\partial \eta} \left( \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0) + (\xi - x_0) \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \xi} \right. \\ &- \delta \frac{\partial \varepsilon(x, y, x_0, y_0)}{\partial \eta} + O(\delta^2) \right) \right] dS. \end{split}$$

Since  $u \in \widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$ , the functionals  $I_1(\cdot)$  and  $I_2(\cdot)$  for the function u are equal to zero. Finally, we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\partial \Pi_{\delta}^{0}} \frac{\partial u(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} \varepsilon(x, y, \xi, \eta) dS = \alpha(u) \varepsilon(x, y, x_{0}, y_{0}) = 0.$$

Whence limit (1.3) is valid. Thereby, it was established that the solution of Problem 1, i.e. the function u is a harmonic function in  $\Omega$ . From the homogeneous Dirichlet condition the function u is identically equal to zero in the domain  $\Omega$ . Hence, uniqueness of the Green function in the classical sense of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplacian is shown.

The proof of Theorem 1.5 is completed.

**Proposition 1.7** In the proof of the main theorem of this section was shown that the Green function in the classical sense coincides with the standard Green function.

## **2** Inhomogeneous Boundary Value Problems for the Poisson Equation in a Punctured Domain

In the first part of this paper it was proved that for a fixed point  $(x_0, y_0) \in \Omega$  the function  $u(x, y) \equiv G(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  is a solution of the boundary value problem for the Laplace equation in the punctured domain  $\Omega_0 = \Omega \setminus \{M_0\}$ , where  $M_0 = (x_0, y_0)$ .

According to Theorem 1.5 the function u(x, y) at first, belongs to the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  and, secondly satisfies the equation

$$-\Delta u(x, y) = 0, \quad (x, y) \in \Omega_0,$$

also the Dirichlet boundary condition

 $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ 

and the additional condition at the point  $M_0$ 

$$\alpha(u) = 1.$$

The functional class  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  and the functional  $\alpha(\cdot)$  were introduced in the first part of the work. Thus, the function  $u(x, y) \equiv G(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  is a solution for the boundary value problem for the Laplace equation in the non simply connected domain  $\Omega_0$ . In this section, we investigate correctly solvable boundary value problems for the Poisson equation in the punctured domain  $\Omega_0$ .

Consider the Poisson equation

$$-\Delta w(x, y) = f(x, y), \quad (x, y) \in \Omega_0$$
(2.1)

with the Dirichlet boundary condition

$$w|_{\partial\Omega} = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

We search for a solution w from the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$ . From the discussion of the first section the solution of the problem (2.1)–(2.2) in the functional class  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  is not unique, since for  $f \equiv 0$  as w we can take the functions  $u(x, y) \equiv G(x, y, x_0, y_0)$  and  $w(x, y) \equiv 0$ .

Raises the question: what additional conditions at the point  $M_0$  must be imposed on the function w(x, y) such that the problem (2.1)–(2.2) for all  $f \in L_2(\Omega)$  has a unique solution.

**Theorem 2.1** In the space  $\widetilde{W}_2^2(\Omega_0)$  the Poisson equation (2.1) with Dirichlet boundary condition (2.2) and with non-local condition at the point  $M_0$ 

$$\alpha(w) - \int_{\Omega} \int K(\xi, \eta) \left( -\Delta w(\xi, \eta) \right) d\xi d\eta = 0$$
(2.3)

has a unique solution, where  $K \in L_2(\Omega)$ .

*Proof* Uniqueness of the solution of the problem (2.1)–(2.3) follows from the proof of Theorem 1.5. Let us consider the function

$$v(x, y) \equiv \int_{\Omega} \int G(x, y, \xi, \eta) f(\xi, \eta) d\xi d\eta$$

+ 
$$G(x, y, x_0, y_0) \int_{\Omega} \int K(\xi, \eta) f(\xi, \eta) d\xi d\eta.$$

It easy to see, that the introduced function v satisfies (2.1), the boundary condition (2.2) and the relation (2.3). Thereby, existence of the solution of the problem (2.1)–(2.3) is established.

Theorem 2.1 is proved.

Denote by  $\mathcal{L}_K$  an operator, which corresponds to the problem (2.1)–(2.3). Indeed, we get a class of operators. Every function *K* from  $L_2(\Omega)$  generates new operator  $\mathcal{L}_K$ . For example, for a harmonic *K* in  $\Omega$ , the condition (2.3) has the form

$$\alpha(w) + \int_{\partial \Omega} K(\xi, \eta) \frac{\partial w(\xi, \eta)}{\partial n_{\xi, \eta}} dS_{\xi, \eta} = 0,$$

i.e. a connection between the "inner" and "exterior" data.

## References

- 1. M.A. Naimark, Linear Differential Operators (Harrap, London; Toronto, 1968)
- 2. L.C. Evans, Partial Differential Equations (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1998)
- B.E. Kanguzhin, A.A. Aniyarov, Well-posed problems for the Laplace operator in a punctured disk. Math. Notes 89(5-6), 819–829 (2011)
- B. Kanguzhin, D. Nurakhmetov, N. Tokmagambetov, On Green function's properties. Int. J. Math. Anal. 7(13–16), 747–753 (2013)

# **Boundary Value Problems and Method** of Reflection for Quarter Ring and Half Hexagon

#### **B.** Shupeyeva

**Abstract** On basis of the reflection principle, the boundary value problems of Schwarz, Dirichlet and Neumann type are explicitly solved for two irregular domains.

Keywords Schwarz  $\cdot$  Dirichlet  $\cdot$  Neumann  $\cdot$  Green function  $\cdot$  Quarter ring  $\cdot$  Half hexagon

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 30E20 · 30E25 · 31A20 · 31A25

## 1 Introduction

The basic boundary value problems for complex partial differential equations have been considered by many authors for different particular domains e.g. [1-14, 16, 17]. These problems for the inhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation and the Poisson equation are solved explicitly in regular and irregular domains. The latter ones attract much attention since they entail the specific investigation of the behavior of solutions in the neighborhood of the corner points e.g. half disc and half ring [5], quarter disc [10], disc sectors [16], lenses and lunes [9]. For constructing the Schwarz kernel and the Green and Neumann functions, which are essential for solutions, a method described e.g in [7, 9] is used. The method uses reflection of the domain at all parts of the boundary and it is applicable if the whole complex plane can be covered by continuously repeated reflections. In this paper the method is shown in application to two irregular domains such as quarter ring and half hexagon. The boundary of the quarter ring consists of two straight segments and two circular arcs. Reflections at the segments gives the covering of a ring domain and continued reflections at the boundary circles of the ring produces a covering of the punctured complex plane. Similarly, reflection of the half hexagon to the whole hexagon leads to the whole covered plane. The reflection principle allows to use

B. Shupeyeva (⊠)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Freie Universität Berlin, Institut für Mathematik, Arnimallee 3, 14195 Berlin, Germany e-mail: bibinurs@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_9

the Cauchy–Pompeiu representation formula to attain the Poisson kernel. It helps to solve the boundary value problems for the Cauchy–Riemann equation. The harmonic Green and ensuing Neumann functions obtained by this method form the Green and Neumann representation formulas. They are needed for solutions of the boundary value problems for the Poisson equation.

Here the main results for the domains mentioned above are presented in a short form. The necessary calculations as well as the proofs of the theorems and lemmas are fully described in [12, 13].

## 2 Some Results for the Quarter Ring Domain

The Cauchy-Pompeiu representation formula

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{d\xi d\eta}{\zeta - z}, \quad z \in D$$
(2.1)

for any function  $w \in C^1(D; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(\overline{D}; \mathbb{C})$  in a bounded domain *D* of  $\mathbb{C}$  with piecewise smooth boundary is complemented with the relation

$$0 = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{d\xi d\eta}{\zeta - z}, \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{D}.$$
(2.2)

Let  $R^*$  be the upper right quarter ring domain in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ 

$$R^* = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : r < |z| < 1, \text{ Re } z > 0, \text{ Im } z > 0 \}.$$

The boundary  $\partial R^*$  is piecewise smooth and contains four corner points r, 1, i, ir. A point  $z \in R^*$  is reflected across the boundary parts. Continuing the reflection process, the new points

appear. Substituting them into formulas (2.1), (2.2) lead to the modified Cauchy–Pompeiu formula.

**Theorem 2.1** Any  $w \in C^1(R^*; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(\overline{R^*}, \mathbb{C})$  for the domain  $R^* \subset \mathbb{C}$  can be represented as

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial R^*} w(\zeta) \left\{ \frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} r^{2n} \left[ \frac{\zeta}{r^{2n} \zeta - z} + \frac{z}{\zeta - r^{2n} z} \right] \right\} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$

Boundary Value Problems and Method of Reflection

$$-\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{R^*} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \left\{ \frac{1}{\zeta-z} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} r^{2n} \left[ \frac{1}{r^{2n}\zeta-z} + \frac{z}{\zeta(\zeta-r^{2n}z)} \right] \right\} d\xi d\eta \quad (2.4)$$

and

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_1 R^*} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \Lambda_1(\zeta, z) d\zeta - \frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_2 R^*} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \Lambda_1(\zeta, z) d\zeta + \frac{2}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_3 R^*} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) d\zeta + \frac{2}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_4 R^*} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) d\zeta + \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{\partial_1 R^*} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta} - \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{R^*} \left\{ w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) - \overline{w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta)} \Lambda_2(\overline{\zeta}, z) \right\} d\xi d\eta,$$
(2.5)

where for  $\zeta \in \partial R^*$ 

$$\Lambda_{1}(\zeta, z) = \left(\frac{\zeta^{2} + z^{2}}{\zeta^{2} - z^{2}} - \frac{\overline{\zeta}^{2} + z^{2}}{\overline{\zeta}^{2} - z^{2}} + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} r^{4n} \left[\frac{\zeta^{2}}{r^{4n}\zeta^{2} - z^{2}} - \frac{z^{2}}{r^{4n}z^{2} - \zeta^{2}} + \frac{z^{2}}{r^{4n}z^{2} - \overline{\zeta}^{2}} - \frac{\zeta^{2}}{r^{4n}\overline{\zeta}^{2} - z^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{1}{\zeta},$$

$$\Lambda_{2}(\zeta, z) = \left(\frac{\zeta^{2}}{\zeta^{2} - z^{2}} - \frac{\zeta^{2}z^{2}}{1 - \zeta^{2}z^{2}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} r^{4n} \left[\frac{\zeta^{2}}{r^{4n}z^{2} - z^{2}} - \frac{z^{2}}{r^{4n}z^{2} - \zeta^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{1}{\zeta},$$
(2.6)

$$\zeta, z) = \left(\frac{\zeta^2 - z^2}{\zeta^2 - z^2} - \frac{1 - \zeta^2 z^2}{1 - \zeta^2 z^2} + \sum_{n=1}^{r} r \left[\frac{r^{4n} \zeta^2 - z^2}{r^{4n} z^2 - \zeta^2} - \frac{1}{r^{4n} z^2 - \zeta^2}\right] + \frac{z^2 \zeta^2}{r^{4n} z^2 \zeta^2 - 1} - \frac{1}{r^{4n} - \zeta^2 z^2} \right] \frac{1}{\zeta}$$
(2.7)

and the parts of the boundary are denoted as

$$\partial_1 R^* = \left\{ |\zeta| = 1, \text{ Re } \zeta \ge 0, \text{ Im } \zeta \ge 0 \right\};$$
  

$$\partial_2 R^* = \left\{ |\zeta| = r, \text{ Re } \zeta \ge 0, \text{ Im } \zeta \ge 0 \right\};$$
  

$$\partial_3 R^* = \{\zeta = t : r \le t \le 1\},$$
  

$$\partial_4 R^* = \{\zeta = it : r \le t \le 1\}.$$

To solve the related Schwarz problem, using Theorem 2.1, the boundary behavior of the boundary integral is studied, see [13]. It is also shown that continuity in the corner points holds.

**Theorem 2.2** The Schwarz problem

$$w_{\overline{z}} = f \text{ in } R^*, \ f \in L_p(R^*; \mathbb{C}), \ p > 2, \ \operatorname{Re} w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial R^*,$$
(2.8)

$$\gamma \in C(\partial R^*; \mathbb{C}), \ \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{Im} w(e^{i\varphi}) d\varphi = c, \ c \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (2.9)
is uniquely solvable by

$$\begin{split} w(z) &= \frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_1 R^*} \gamma(\zeta) \Lambda_1(\zeta, z) d\zeta - \frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_2 R^*} \gamma(\zeta) \Lambda_1(\zeta, z) d\zeta \\ &+ \frac{2}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_3 R^*} \gamma(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) d\zeta + \frac{2}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_4 R^*} \gamma(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) d\zeta + ic \\ &- \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{R^*} \left\{ f(\zeta) \Lambda_2(\zeta, z) - \overline{f(\zeta)} \Lambda_2(\overline{\zeta}, z) \right\} d\xi d\eta \end{split}$$

The Pompeiu-type operator [15] on the right-hand side provides a solution of (2.8) in a weak sense.

The modified Cauchy–Pompeiu formula and a solvability condition provide the solution of the Dirichlet and, hence, the Neumann problems, [13].

The harmonic Green function for  $R^*$  is obtained on the basis of the Green function for the ring R [14] and the upper half ring  $R^+$  by observing the additional points appeared within reflection process. Thus, for the quarter ring domain  $R^*$  the Green function  $G_1(z, \zeta)$  equals to

$$\log \left| \frac{(\overline{\zeta}^{2} - z^{2})(\overline{\zeta}^{2} z^{2} - 1)}{(\zeta^{2} - z^{2})(\zeta^{2} z^{2} - 1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \right| \\ \times \frac{(\overline{\zeta}^{2} - r^{4n} z^{2})}{(\zeta^{2} - r^{4n} z^{2})} \frac{(\overline{\zeta}^{2} r^{4n} - z^{2})(\overline{\zeta}^{2} z^{2} - r^{4n})(\overline{\zeta}^{2} z^{2} r^{4n} - 1)}{(\zeta^{2} r^{2} r^{4n} - z^{2})(\zeta^{2} z^{2} - r^{4n})(\zeta^{2} z^{2} r^{4n} - 1)} \right|^{2}$$
(2.10)

and as it is shown in [12, 13], it satisfies the properties of the harmonic Green function [2].

**Theorem 2.3** [3] Any  $w \in C^2(D; \mathbb{C}) \cap C^1(\overline{D}; \mathbb{C})$  can be represented as

$$w(z) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} G_1(z,\zeta) ds_{\zeta} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_D w_{\zeta\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) G_1(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta, \quad (2.11)$$

where  $s_{\zeta}$  is the arc length parameter on  $\partial D$  with respect to the variable  $\zeta$  and  $G(z,\zeta) = \frac{1}{2}G_1(z,\zeta)$  is the harmonic Green function for D.

The Green representation formula provides a solution to the Dirichlet problem

$$w_{z\overline{z}} = f \text{ in } R^*, \ w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial R^*$$
  
for  $f \in L_2(R^*; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(R^*; \mathbb{C}), \ \gamma \in C(\partial R^*; \mathbb{C}).$ 

Solution is given in [12, 13]. From the Green function the harmonic Neumann function for  $R^*$  is obtained

$$N_1(z,\zeta) = \log \frac{|z\zeta|^8}{r^8} - \log \left| (\overline{\zeta}^2 - z^2) (\zeta^2 - z^2) (\overline{\zeta}^2 z^2 - 1) (\zeta^2 z^2 - 1) \right|^2$$

Boundary Value Problems and Method of Reflection

$$+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\log |z\zeta|^{16} - \log |(\overline{\zeta}^{2} - r^{4n}z^{2})(\zeta^{2} - r^{4n}z^{2})(\overline{\zeta}^{2}r^{4n} - z^{2}) \times (\zeta^{2}r^{4n} - z^{2})(\overline{\zeta}^{2}z^{2} - r^{4n})(\zeta^{2}z^{2} - r^{4n}) \times (\overline{\zeta}^{2}z^{2}r^{4n} - 1)(\zeta^{2}z^{2}r^{4n} - 1)|^{2})$$
(2.12)

The Neumann representation formula

**Theorem 2.4** Any  $w \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^*, \mathbb{C}) \cap C^1(\overline{\mathbb{R}^*}, \mathbb{C})$  can be represented by

$$\begin{split} w(z) &= -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\partial R^*} \left[ w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} N_1(z,\zeta) - \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} w(\zeta) N_1(z,\zeta) \right] ds_{\zeta} \\ &- \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{R^*} w_{\zeta \overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) N_1(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta, \end{split}$$

with  $N_1 = 2N$ , where N is the harmonic Neumann function for  $R^*$ .

provides a solution to the Neumann problem, see [12, 13]

$$w_{z\overline{z}} = f \text{ in } R^*, \ \partial_{\nu}w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial R^*, \ \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} w(re^{i\varphi})d\varphi = c,$$
$$f \in L_2(R^*; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(R^*; \mathbb{C}), \ \gamma \in C(\partial R^*; \mathbb{C}), \ c \in \mathbb{C}$$

under condition

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\int_{\partial R^*}\gamma(\zeta)ds_{\zeta}=\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{R^*}f(\zeta)d\xi d\eta.$$

#### **3** Some Results for the Half Hexagon

The half hexagon  $P^+$  contains 4 corner points:  $\pm 2$ ,  $\pm 1 + i\sqrt{3}$ . A point  $z \in P^+$  is reflected through the real axis, the entire set  $P^+$  is reflected to the whole hexagon P. The points z,  $\overline{z}$  are reflected across all the sides of P and the new reflection points appear:  $-\frac{1}{2}(1 + i\sqrt{3})\overline{z} + 3 + i\sqrt{3}$ ,  $\overline{z} \pm 2i\sqrt{3}$ ,  $-\frac{1}{2}(1 - i\sqrt{3})\overline{z} - 3 + i\sqrt{3}$ ,  $-\frac{1}{2}(1 + i\sqrt{3})\overline{z} + 3 - i\sqrt{3}$ .

Adding the main period  $\omega = 3m + i\sqrt{3}n$ ,  $m + n \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , all the reflection points are described in general. Similarly, by substituting these reflection points into formulas (2.1), (2.2), different representation formulas for  $H^+$  are obtained.

**Theorem 3.1** Any  $w \in C^1(P^+; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(\overline{P^+}; \mathbb{C})$  for the half hexagon  $P^+ \subset \mathbb{C}$  can be represented as

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial P^+} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{P^+} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{d\xi d\eta}{\zeta - z}, \quad z \in P^+,$$
(3.1)

and for k = 1, 2, 3

$$\begin{split} w(z) &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left\{ \int_{\partial P^{+}} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) 2 \sum_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} \left[ q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, z) - q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, 0) \right] d\zeta \right. \\ &- \int_{\partial_{1}P^{+}} \left[ \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \frac{2(2\xi - 3)}{(2\xi - 3)^{2} + 3} + \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{(2\xi - 3)^{2} + 3} \right] ds_{\zeta} \\ &+ \int_{\partial_{2}P^{+}} \left[ \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \frac{2\xi}{\xi^{2} + 3} + \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{\xi^{2} + 3} \right] ds_{\zeta} \\ &- \int_{\partial_{3}P^{+}} \left[ \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \frac{2(2\xi + 3)}{(2\xi + 3)^{2} + 3} + \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{(2\xi + 3)^{2} + 3} \right] ds_{\zeta} \\ &+ \int_{\partial_{4}P^{+}} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \frac{2}{\xi} ds_{\zeta} \right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{P^{+}} \left\{ w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \left( \sum_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} \left[ q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, z) - q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, 0) \right] + \frac{1}{\zeta} \right) \right\} d\xi d\eta, \\ &\xi = \operatorname{Re} \zeta, \end{split}$$

where  $\partial_k P^+$ , k = 1, 2, 3, 4, are the four boundary segments of  $P^+$  and

$$q_{mn}^{1}(\zeta, z) = \frac{3(\zeta - \omega_{mn} - 2)^{2}}{(\zeta - \omega_{mn} - 2)^{3} - (z - 2)^{3}},$$
  

$$q_{mn}^{3}(\zeta, z) = \frac{3(\zeta - \omega_{mn} + 2)^{2}}{(\zeta - \omega_{mn} + 2)^{3} - (z + 2)^{3}},$$
  

$$q_{mn}^{2}(\zeta, z) = \frac{3(\zeta - \omega_{mn} + 1 - i\sqrt{3})}{(\zeta - \omega_{mn} + 1 - i\sqrt{3})^{3} - (z + 1 - i\sqrt{3})^{3}}.$$

These formulas are equivalent and used for solving the Schwarz problem.

**Theorem 3.2** The Schwarz problem

$$w_{\overline{z}} = f \text{ in } P^{+}, \ f \in L_{p}(P^{+}; \mathbb{C}), \ p > 2,$$
  

$$\operatorname{Re} w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial P^{+}, \ \gamma \in C(\partial P^{+}; \mathbb{C}),$$
  

$$\gamma(\zeta) = 0 \text{ for } \zeta \in \{\pm 2, \pm 1 + i\sqrt{3}\},$$
  

$$-\frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_{1}P^{+}} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{\sqrt{3}}{(2\xi - 3)^{2} + 3} ds_{\zeta} + \frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_{2}P^{+}} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\xi^{2} + 3} ds_{\zeta}$$
(3.3)

Boundary Value Problems and Method of Reflection

$$-\frac{1}{\pi i} \int_{\partial_3 P^+} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{\sqrt{3}}{(2\xi+3)^2+3} ds_{\zeta} = c \quad \text{for } c \in \mathbb{R}$$
(3.4)

is uniquely solvable by

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{\pi i} \left\{ \int_{\partial P^{+}} \gamma(\zeta) \sum_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} 2[q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, z) - q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, 0)] d\zeta - \int_{\partial_{1}P^{+}} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{2\xi - 3}{(2\xi - 3)^{2} + 3} ds_{\zeta} + \int_{\partial_{2}P^{+}} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{\xi}{\xi^{2} + 3} ds_{\zeta} - \int_{\partial_{3}P^{+}} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{2\xi + 3}{(2\xi + 3)^{2} + 3} ds_{\zeta} + \int_{\partial_{4}P^{+}} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{1}{\xi} ds_{\zeta} \right\} + ic - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{P^{+}} \left\{ w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \left( \sum_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} [q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, z) - q_{mn}^{k}(\zeta, 0)] + \frac{1}{\zeta} \right) - \overline{w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta)} \left( \sum_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} [q_{mn}(\overline{\zeta}, z) - q_{mn}(\overline{\zeta}, 0)] + \frac{1}{\zeta} \right) \right\} d\xi d\eta$$
for  $k = 1, 2, 3.$ 
(3.5)

The proof and full explanation are given in [13].

The method allows to use the reflection points to construct the harmonic Green function. It turns out, that for the half hexagon it has three forms and used according to the boundary conditions.

$$G_{1}(z,\zeta) = \log \left| \prod_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} \frac{(z - \omega_{mn} - 2)^{3} - (\overline{\zeta} - 2)^{3}}{(z - \omega_{mn} - 2)^{3} - (\zeta - 2)^{3}} \right|^{2} \text{ for the right-hand side.}$$
$$G_{1}(z,\zeta) = \log \left| \prod_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} \frac{(z - \omega_{mn} + 2)^{3} - (\overline{\zeta} + 2)^{3}}{(z - \omega_{mn} + 2)^{3} - (\zeta + 2)^{3}} \right|^{2} \text{ for the left-hand side.}$$

For the upper boundary

$$G_1(z,\zeta) = \log \prod_{m+n \in 2\mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{(z - \omega_{mn} + 1 - i\sqrt{3})^3 - (\overline{\zeta} + 1 + i\sqrt{3})^3}{(z - \omega_{mn} + 1 - i\sqrt{3})^3 - (\zeta + 1 - \sqrt{3})^3} \right|^2.$$
(3.6)

Applying the Green representation formula and observing the Poisson kernel, the related harmonic Dirichlet problem is solved explicitly, see [13].

**Theorem 3.3** The Dirichlet problem

$$w_{z\overline{z}} = f \text{ in } P^+, \ w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial P^+ \text{ for } f \in L_p(P^+; \mathbb{C}),$$
  

$$2 < p, \ \gamma \in C(\partial P^+; \mathbb{C})$$
(3.7)

is uniquely solvable in the space  $W^{2,p}(P^+; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(\overline{P^+}; \mathbb{C})$  by

$$w(z) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\partial P^+} \gamma(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} G_1(z,\zeta) ds_{\zeta} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{P^+} f(\zeta) G_1(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta \quad (3.8)$$

#### References

- 1. S.A. Abdymanapov, H. Begehr, A.B. Tungatarov, Some Schwarz problems in a quarter plane. Eurasian Math. J. **3**, 22–35 (2005)
- H. Begehr, Boundary value problems in complex analysis, I, II. Bol. Asoc. Mat. Venez. XII(1), 65–85 (2005)
- 3. H.G.W. Begehr, *Complex Analytic Methods for Partial Differential Equations: an Introductory Text* (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Complex partial differential equations in a manner of I.N. Vekua. Lect. Notes TICMI 8, 15–26 (2007)
- 5. H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Harmonic boundary value problems in half disc and half ring. Funct. Approx. **40**(2), 251–282 (2009)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Harmonic Dirichlet problem for some equilateral triangle. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 57(2-4), 185–196 (2012)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, How to find harmonic Green function in the plane. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 56(12), 1169–1181 (2011)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Green functions, reflections and plane parqueting. Eurasian Math. J. 1(1), 17–31 (2010)
- 9. H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, The parqueting-reflection principle for constructing Green functions, FU Berlin, Univ. of Bonn (2013), preprint
- M.-R. Costache, Basic boundary value problems for the Cauchy–Riemann and the Poisson equations in a quarter disc. Master thesis, Şcoala Naormală Superioară Bucharest, Depart. of Math. (2009)
- E. Gärtner, Basic complex boundary value problems in the upper half plane. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2006). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_00000002129
- B. Shupeyeva, Harmonic boundary value problems in a quarter ring domain. Adv. Pure Appl. Math. 3, 393–419 (2012)
- B. Shupeyeva, Some Basic Boundary Value Problems for Complex Partial Differential Equations in Quarter Ring and Half Hexagon. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2013). www.diss.fu-berlin. de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_000000094596
- T. Vaitsiakhovich, Boundary Value Problems for Complex Partial Differential Equations in a ring domain. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2008). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_ thesis\_000000003859
- 15. I.N. Vekua, *Generalized Analytic Functions*. International Series of Monographs in Pure and Applied Mathematics (Pergamon, Elmsford, 1962)
- Y. Wang, Boundary Value Problems for Complex Partial Differential Equations in Fan-Shaped domains. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2011). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_ 000000021359
- Y.F. Wang, Y.J. Wang, Schwarz-type problem of nonhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation on a triangle. J. Math. Anal. Appl. (2010)

### Harmonic Dirichlet Problem in a Ring Sector

Ying Wang and Jinyuan Du

**Abstract** In this paper, we construct a harmonic Green function by reflection method in a general ring sector with angle  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$  and  $\alpha \ge \frac{1}{2}$ , then the related harmonic Dirichlet problem for the Poisson equation is discussed explicitly.

Keywords Green function · Dirichlet problem

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 31A30 · 30E25

#### 1 Introduction

Many kinds of concrete applied problems led to the investigation of boundary value problems for complex partial differential equations in different domains [1–6]. In [2], the authors studied harmonic boundary value problems in half disc and half ring. Also a harmonic Dirichlet problem was investigated in a quarter ring domain [3]. In this article, we extend some results to a general domain. Firstly we shall give a harmonic Green function based on conformal mapping in a ring sector with angle  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \ge \frac{1}{2}$  (when  $\alpha = 1$  or  $\alpha = 2$ , it is the cases in [2, 3] respectively), and then discuss a related Dirichlet problem for the Poisson equation explicitly.

Let  $\Omega = \{0 < r < |z| < 1, 0 < \arg z < \frac{\pi}{\alpha}, \alpha \ge \frac{1}{2}\}$  be a ring sector with angle  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$  ( $\alpha \ge \frac{1}{2}$ ), and its boundary  $\partial \Omega = [r, 1] \cup l_1 \cup [\varpi, \omega] \cup l_2$  is oriented counterclockwise, where  $r, 1, \varpi = e^{i\theta}, \omega = re^{i\theta}$  are corner points and the oriented circular

Y. Wang (🖂)

School of Statistics and Mathematics, Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, Wuhan 430073, China e-mail: wangyingyezi@sina.com

#### J. Du

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_10

This work was completed with the support of Tian Yuan Foundation (#11326087) and NNSF (#11171260) of China.

Department of Mathematics, Wuhan University, Wuhan 430072, China e-mail: jydu@whu.edu.cn

arc  $l_1$ ,  $l_2$  are parameterized by, respectively

$$l_1: \tau \longmapsto e^{i\tau}, \quad \tau \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right]; \qquad l_2: \tau \longmapsto r e^{i\tau}, \quad \tau \in \left[\frac{\pi}{\alpha}, 0\right].$$

From [2], the harmonic Green function for the upper half ring is

$$G_{1}(z,\zeta) = \log \left| \frac{(1-z\overline{\zeta})(\overline{\zeta}-z)}{(\zeta-z)(1-z\zeta)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(z-r^{2n}\overline{\zeta})(z\overline{\zeta}-r^{2n})(\overline{\zeta}-r^{2n}z)(1-r^{2n}z\overline{\zeta})}{(z-r^{2n}\zeta)(z\zeta-r^{2n})(\zeta-r^{2n}z)(1-r^{2n}z\zeta)} \right|^{2}$$

Then the harmonic Green function for  $\Omega$  can be expressed by

$$G(z,\zeta) = \log \left| \frac{(1-z^{\alpha}\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha})(\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha})}{(\zeta^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha})(1-z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha})} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r^{2n\alpha}\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha})(z^{\alpha}\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha}-r^{2n\alpha})}{(r^{2n\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha})(z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}-r^{2n\alpha})} \right|^{2} \times \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha}-r^{2n\alpha}z^{\alpha})(1-r^{2n\alpha}z^{\alpha}\overline{\zeta}^{\alpha})}{(\zeta^{\alpha}-r^{2n\alpha}z^{\alpha})(1-r^{2n\alpha}z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha})} \right|^{2}.$$
(1.1)

Similarly in [3], the infinite product in (1.1) converges for  $z, \zeta \in \Omega$ . By simple computation, we know the harmonic Green function  $G(z, \zeta)$  also satisfies  $G(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $z \in \partial \Omega$ .

The outward normal derivatives on the boundary  $\partial \Omega$  are defined as

$$\partial_{\nu_{z}} = \begin{cases} z\partial_{z} + \overline{z}\partial_{\overline{z}}, & z \in l_{1}, \\ -\frac{1}{r}(z\partial_{z} + \overline{z}\partial_{\overline{z}}), & z \in l_{2}, \\ -i(\partial_{z} - \partial_{\overline{z}}), & z \in (r, 1), \\ i(e^{i\theta}\partial_{z} - e^{-i\theta}\partial_{\overline{z}}), & z \in (\overline{\omega}, \omega). \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

#### 2 Harmonic Dirichlet Problem

Define a new function

$$H(z, \zeta)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{\zeta^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} + \frac{\overline{z^{\alpha}}}{1 - \overline{z^{\alpha}}\zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{z^{\alpha}}{1 - z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}}$$
$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{r^{2\alpha n}}{r^{2\alpha n}\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{r^{2\alpha n}}{r^{2\alpha n}\zeta^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} - \frac{z^{\alpha}}{r^{2\alpha n} - z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}} + \frac{\overline{z^{\alpha}}}{r^{2\alpha n} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}\zeta^{\alpha}} \right]$$
$$- \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{r^{2\alpha n}z^{\alpha} - \zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{r^{2\alpha n}\overline{z^{\alpha}} - \zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{r^{2\alpha n}z^{\alpha}}{r^{2\alpha n}z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha} - 1} + \frac{r^{2\alpha n}\overline{z^{\alpha}}}{r^{2\alpha n}\overline{z^{\alpha}}\zeta^{\alpha} - 1} \right].$$

Then we have the following results.

# **Lemma 2.1** If $\gamma \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$ , then $\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z, \zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta = \gamma(1)$ .

Proof By simple computation,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to1}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{I_1}\left[\gamma(\zeta)-\gamma(1)\right]H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}d\zeta\\ &=\lim_{z\in\Omega,z\to1}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{I_1}\left[\gamma(\zeta)-\gamma(1)\right]\\ &\times\left[\frac{\zeta^{\alpha}}{\zeta^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha}}-\frac{\zeta^{\alpha}}{\zeta^{\alpha}-\overline{z^{\alpha}}}+\frac{\overline{z^{\alpha}}\zeta^{\alpha}}{1-\overline{z^{\alpha}}\zeta^{\alpha}}-\frac{z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}}{1-z^{\alpha}\zeta^{\alpha}}\right]\frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}\\ &=\lim_{z\in\Omega,z\to1}\left\{\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{L_1}\left[\gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})-\gamma(1)\right]\left[\frac{\zeta}{\zeta-z^{\alpha}}+\frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta}-\overline{z^{\alpha}}}-1\right]\frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}\right.\\ &+\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\widetilde{L_1}}\left[\gamma(1)-\gamma(\overline{\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}})\right]\left[\frac{\zeta}{\zeta-z^{\alpha}}+\frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta}-\overline{z^{\alpha}}}-1\right]\frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}\right.\\ &=\lim_{z\in\Omega,z\to1}\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{|\zeta|=1}\Gamma_1(\zeta,1)\left[\frac{\zeta}{\zeta-z^{\alpha}}+\frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta}-\overline{z^{\alpha}}}-1\right]\frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}\\ &=0, \end{split}$$

where  $L_1 = \{ |\tau| = 1, \text{ Im } \tau > 0 \}$ ,  $\widetilde{L_1} = \{ \tau : |\tau| = 1, \text{ Im } \tau < 0 \}$  are oriented counterclockwise and

$$\Gamma_{1}(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} \gamma\left(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right) - \gamma(z), & \zeta \in L_{1}, \\ \gamma(z) - \gamma\left(\overline{\zeta}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right), & \zeta \in \widetilde{L}_{1}. \end{cases}$$

The last equality of limitation is true from the continuity of  $\Gamma_1(\zeta, 1)$  at  $\zeta = 1$  and the property of Poisson operator on the unit circle. Similarly,

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{r}^{1} [\gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(1)] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{r}^{1} [\gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(1)]$$
$$\times \left[ \frac{\zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{\zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} + \frac{\overline{z^{\alpha}} \zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - \overline{z^{\alpha}} \zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{z^{\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - z^{\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha}} \right] d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{r^{\alpha}}^{r^{-\alpha}} \Gamma_{2}(\zeta, 1) \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{\zeta - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} \right] d\zeta = 0$$

with the last equality above derives from the property of Poisson kernel and

$$\Gamma_{2}(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} \gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}) - \gamma(z), & \zeta \in (r^{\alpha}, 1), \\ \gamma(z) - \gamma(\zeta^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}}), & \zeta \in (1, r^{-\alpha}). \end{cases}$$

Additionally,  $H(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $(z, \zeta) \in \{1\} \times \{(\varpi, \omega) \cup l_2\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{(\varpi, \omega) \cup l_2} [\gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(1)] H(z, \zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta = 0.$$

From the above discussion, we obtain

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to 1} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \left\{ \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(1) \right] + \gamma(1) \right\} H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\gamma(1) \quad \left( by \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta \equiv 1 \text{ when } z \in \Omega \right).$$

Therefore, the lemma is true.

**Lemma 2.2** With  $\gamma(\zeta) \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to\varpi}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\partial\Omega}\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=\gamma(\varpi).$$

Proof Obviously,

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to \varpi} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_1} [\gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\varpi)] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
  

$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to \varpi} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_1} [\gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\varpi)]$$
  

$$\times \left[ \frac{\zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{\zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} + \frac{\overline{z^{\alpha}} \zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - \overline{z^{\alpha}} \zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{z^{\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - z^{\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha}} \right] d\zeta$$
  

$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to \varpi} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta| = 1} \Gamma_1(\zeta, \varpi) \left[ \frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} - 1 \right] \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$
  

$$= 0.$$

By the same way,

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,z\to\infty}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\varpi}^{\omega} \left[\gamma(\zeta)-\gamma(\varpi)\right]H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta$$

Harmonic Dirichlet Problem in a Ring Sector

$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to \varpi} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-r^{-\alpha}}^{-r^{\alpha}} \Gamma_3(\zeta, \varpi) \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{\zeta - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} \right] d\zeta$$
$$= 0,$$

where

$$\Gamma_{3}(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} \gamma\left(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right) - \gamma(z), & \zeta \in \left(-1, -r^{\alpha}\right), \\ \gamma(z) - \gamma\left(\zeta^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right), & \zeta \in \left(-r^{-\alpha}, -1\right). \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for  $(z, \zeta) \in \{\varpi\} \times \{(r, 1) \cup l_2\}, H(z, \zeta) = 0$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega, z\to\varpi} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{(r,1)\cup l_2} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\varpi) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} \mathrm{d}\zeta = 0,$$

so,

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to\varpi}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\partial\Omega}\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=\gamma(\varpi).$$

Now the proof is completed.

**Lemma 2.3** With  $\gamma(\zeta) \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to\omega}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\partial\Omega}\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=\gamma(\omega).$$

Proof We see

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{z\in\Omega, z\to\omega} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_2} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\omega) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} \mathrm{d}\zeta \\ &= \lim_{z\in\Omega, z\to\omega} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_2} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\omega) \right] \\ &\times \left[ \frac{\zeta^{\alpha}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{\zeta^{\alpha}}{\zeta^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} + \frac{r^{2\alpha}}{r^{2\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}} \zeta^{\alpha}} - \frac{r^{2\alpha}}{r^{2\alpha} - z^{\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha}} \right] \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{\zeta} \\ &= -\lim_{z\in\Omega, \ z\to\omega} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta| = r^{\alpha}} \Gamma_4(\zeta, \omega) \left[ \frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} - 1 \right] \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{\zeta} \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

where  $L_2 = \{z : |z| = r^{\alpha}, \text{ Im } z > 0\}, \widetilde{L_2} = \{z : |z| = r^{\alpha}, \text{ Im } z < 0\}$  are oriented counter-clockwise and

$$\Gamma_4(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} \gamma\left(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right) - \gamma(z), & \zeta \in L_2, \\ \gamma(z) - \gamma\left(\overline{\zeta}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right), & \zeta \in \widetilde{L_2}. \end{cases}$$

Also, we have

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, \ z \to \omega} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\varpi}^{\omega} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\omega) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, \ z \to \omega} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-r^{-\alpha}}^{-r^{\alpha}} \Gamma_3(\zeta,\omega) \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{\zeta - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} \right] d\zeta$$
$$= 0.$$

In addition,  $H(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $(z, \zeta) \in \{\omega\} \times \{(r, 1) \cup l_1\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to \omega} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{(r,1) \cup l_1} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(\omega) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} \mathrm{d}\zeta = 0.$$

Similar as in Lemma 2.1, the result is true.

**Lemma 2.4** If  $\gamma \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$ , then  $\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to r} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z, \zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta = \gamma(r)$ .

Proof We have

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to r} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_2} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(r) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
$$= -\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to r} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta| = r^{\alpha}} \Gamma_4(\zeta, r) \left[ \frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} - 1 \right] \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$
$$= 0,$$

and

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to r} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{r}^{1} \left[ \gamma(\zeta) - \gamma(r) \right] H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to r} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{r^{2\alpha}}^{1} \Gamma_{5}(\zeta,r) \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{\zeta - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} \right] d\zeta$$
$$= 0$$

with

$$\Gamma_{5}(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} \gamma\left(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right) - \gamma(z), & \zeta \in \left(r^{\alpha}, 1\right), \\ \gamma(z) - \gamma\left(r^{2}\zeta^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right), & \zeta \in \left(r^{2\alpha}, r^{\alpha}\right). \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for  $(z, \zeta) \in \{r\} \times \{(\varpi, \omega) \cup l_1\}, H(z, \zeta) = 0$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to r}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{(\varpi,\omega)\cup l_1} [\gamma(\zeta)-\gamma(r)]H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=0.$$

As the discussion in Lemma 2.1, the lemma is true.

**Lemma 2.5** If  $\gamma \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$  and  $t \in l_1 \setminus \{\varpi, 1\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega, z\to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial\Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} \mathrm{d}\zeta = \gamma(t).$$

*Proof* Let  $\gamma^*(\zeta) = \gamma^*(\overline{\zeta})$   $(\zeta \in \widetilde{L_1})$  where  $\gamma^*(\zeta) = \gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})$   $(\zeta \in L_1)$ . Since  $H(z,\zeta) = 0$  for  $(z,\zeta) \in \{l_1 \setminus \{\varpi, 1\}\} \times \{\partial \Omega \setminus l_1\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_1} \gamma(\zeta) H(z, \zeta) \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{L_1} \gamma\left(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}\right) \frac{1 - |z|^{2\alpha}}{|\zeta - z^{\alpha}|^2} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta} \quad \text{(by simple computation)}$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta| = 1} \gamma^*(\zeta) \left[\frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z^{\alpha}} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}} - 1\right] \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$
  
= 
$$\gamma(t) \quad \text{(by } \gamma^*(t^{\alpha}) = \gamma(t) \text{ for } t \in l_1 \setminus \{\varpi, 1\}\text{)}.$$

This proof is completed.

**Lemma 2.6** If  $\gamma \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$  and  $t \in l_2 \setminus \{\omega, r\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to t}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\partial\Omega}\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=\gamma(t).$$

*Proof* By  $H(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $(z, \zeta) \in \{l_2 \setminus \{\omega, r\}\} \times \{\partial \Omega \setminus l_2\}$ , then

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_2} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{l_2} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{r^{2\alpha} - |z^{\alpha}|^2}{|\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}|^2} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$
  
= 
$$-\lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{L_2} \gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}) \frac{r^{2\alpha} - |z^{\alpha}|^2}{|\zeta - z^{\alpha}|^2} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta}$$
  
= 
$$\gamma(t).$$

This proof is completed.

**Lemma 2.7** If  $\gamma(\zeta) \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$  and  $t \in (r, 1)$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega, z\to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial\Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} \mathrm{d}\zeta = \gamma(t).$$

*Proof* Because  $H(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $(z, \zeta) \in (r, 1) \times \{\partial \Omega \setminus (r, 1)\},\$ 

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,z\to t}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_r^1\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta$$

$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{r}^{1} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{z^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}}{|\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}|^{2}} \zeta^{\alpha - 1} d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{z \in \Omega, z \to t} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{r^{\alpha}}^{1} \gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}) \frac{z^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}}{|\zeta - z^{\alpha}|^{2}} d\zeta$$
$$= \gamma(t).$$

This proof is completed.

**Lemma 2.8** If  $\gamma \in C(\partial \Omega; \mathbb{C})$  and  $t \in (\overline{\omega}, \omega)$ , then

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega,\ z\to t}\frac{\alpha}{2\pi i}\int_{\partial\Omega}\gamma(\zeta)H(z,\zeta)\zeta^{\alpha-1}\mathrm{d}\zeta=\gamma(t).$$

*Proof* Since  $H(z, \zeta) = 0$  for  $(z, \zeta) \in (\varpi, \omega) \times \{\partial \Omega \setminus (\varpi, \omega)\},\$ 

$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, \ z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\varpi}^{\omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, \ z \to t} \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\varpi}^{\omega} \gamma(\zeta) \frac{z^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}}{|\zeta^{\alpha} - z^{\alpha}|^{2}} \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{z \in \Omega, \ z \to t} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-1}^{-r^{\alpha}} \gamma(\zeta^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}) \frac{z^{\alpha} - \overline{z^{\alpha}}}{|\zeta - z^{\alpha}|^{2}} d\zeta$$
  
= 
$$\gamma(t).$$

This proof is completed.

**Theorem 2.9** [4, 6] Any  $w \in C^2(\Omega; \mathbb{C}) \cap C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{C})$  can be represented as

$$w(z) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\partial \Omega} w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} G(z,\zeta) ds_{\zeta} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Omega} w_{\zeta\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) G(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta, \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $s_{\zeta}$  is the arc length parameter on  $\partial \Omega$  with respect to the variable  $\zeta$  and  $G(z,\zeta)$  is the harmonic Green function for  $\Omega$ .

**Theorem 2.10** The Dirichlet problem

$$\partial_{z}\partial_{\bar{z}}w = f \text{ in } \Omega, \ f \in L_{p}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}), \ p > 2, \ w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \ \gamma \in C(\partial\Omega; \mathbb{C})$$

is uniquely solvable by

$$w(z) = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \gamma(\zeta) H(z,\zeta) \zeta^{\alpha-1} d\zeta - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Omega} f(\zeta) G(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta, \quad z \in \Omega,$$
(2.2)

where G is given in (1.1).

*Proof* By (1.2), Theorem 2.9 and simple computation, the expression (2.1) is just (2.2) explicitly, thus we only need to verify that (2.2) is a solution. From (2.2) and the property of  $G(z, \zeta)$ , we easily obtain

$$\partial_{z}\partial_{\overline{z}}w(z) = -\partial_{\overline{z}}\left\{\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\int_{\Omega}\frac{\zeta^{\alpha-1}f(\zeta)}{\zeta^{\alpha}-z^{\alpha}}\mathrm{d}\xi\mathrm{d}\eta\right\} = -\partial_{\overline{z}}\left\{\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\Omega}\frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta-z}\mathrm{d}\xi\mathrm{d}\eta\right\} = f(z).$$

In addition, by Lemmas 2.1–2.8 and  $G(z, \zeta)$  vanishing for z on the boundary, we get  $\lim_{z\to\zeta} w(z) = \gamma(\zeta)$  for  $\zeta \in \partial \Omega$ . This completes the proof.

#### References

- 1. H. Begehr, E.A. Gaertner, A Dirichlet problem for the inhomogeneous polyharmonic equation in the upper half plane. Georgian Math. J. **14**(1), 33–52 (2007)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Harmonic boundary value problems in half disc and half ring. Funct. Approx. 40(2), 251–282 (2009)
- B. Shupeyeva, Harmonic boundary value problems in a quarter ring domain. Adv. Pure Appl. Math. 3, 393–419 (2012)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Iterated Dirichlet problem for the higher order Poisson equation. Matematiche LXIII, 139–154 (2008)
- 5. Y. Wang, Y. Wang, Schwarz-type problem of nonhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation on a triangle. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **377**(2), 557–570 (2011)
- 6. H. Begehr, *Complex Analytic Methods for Partial Differential Equations: an Introductory Text* (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994)

# **The Parqueting-Reflection Principle**

#### **Heinrich Begehr**

**Abstract** For certain plane domains with boundaries composed by arcs from circles and straight lines the parqueting-reflection principle is used to construct the Schwarz, Green, and Neumann kernels for solving the Schwarz, Dirichlet, and Neumann boundary value problems for the inhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann and the Poisson equation, respectively.

**Keywords** Cauchy–Riemann equation · Poisson equation · Schwarz · Green · Neumann representations · Plane domains · Boundary value problems

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** 35J08 · 31A10 · 31A25 · 30E25 · 35J25 · 35C15

#### **1** Admissible Domains

A domain D in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  is admissible for the parqueting-reflection principle if its boundary consists of arcs from circles or straight lines, such that the continued reflections of the domain at the boundary parts lead to a parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$  or of several samples of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Circles and straight lines are represented by equations of the form

$$\Gamma = \{ \alpha z \overline{z} + \overline{a} z + a \overline{z} + \beta = 0, \ 0 < a \overline{a} - \alpha \beta, \ a \in \mathbb{C}, \ \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R} \}$$
(1.1)

**Definition** For  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  the point  $z_r$  satisfying

$$\alpha z_r \overline{z} + \overline{a} z_r + a \overline{z} + \beta = 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

is called the reflection point of z at  $\Gamma$ .

Obviously a point from  $\Gamma$  is reflected onto itself while the reflection of a point not on  $\Gamma$  lies on the opposite side of  $\Gamma$ .

H. Begehr (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Math. Inst. FU Berlin, Arnimallee 3, 14195 Berlin, Germany e-mail: begehrh@zedat.fu-berlin.de

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_11

Simple examples for admissible domains are discs and half planes where just one reflection provides a parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$ , see [3, 7]. Half discs need two reflections, [4], cones of opening angle  $\frac{\pi}{n}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , 2n reflections [1], disc sectors of opening angle  $\frac{\pi}{n}$  need 2n + 1 reflections [17]. For rectangles and concentric rings [12–15] as well as for certain triangles [5, 6, 8, 17], ring sectors [12–14, 16, 18], half hexagons [12–14] countably many reflections have to be used. Reflecting cones with opening angle  $\frac{m}{n}\pi$ , m < 2n, m,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , [9], 2n times leads to an *m*-fold covering of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

In Sect. 3 a hyperbolic plane forming a certain lens [9, 10] is described. Four reflections serve for a parqueting of the plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . This is also true for the two complementary lunes of this lens.

#### 2 The Principle

Having achieved a parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$  through continued reflections out of an admissible domain *D*, the Schwarz, Green, and Neumann representation formulas are attained as follows.

1. For the Schwarz formulas expressing an analytic function in D through the boundary values of its real part the Cauchy formula is used for a point  $z \in D$  and its continued reflection points which are outside of D. Combining these Cauchy formulas in a proper way avoiding integrals with  $\overline{z}$  involved by complex conjugation results in the representation formula aimed for. This method even works with the Cauchy–Pompeiu representation formula related to the inhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation. The Schwarz kernel attained in this way may in cases countable many reflections are involved in the parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$  turn out as an infinite sum which has to be shown to converge.

2. In order to find the harmonic Green function the domains attained through the continued reflection process out of D are divided into two subclasses, the pole and the zero domains. D itself is determined to be a pole domain. Any direct reflection of a pole domain becomes a zero domain and any direct reflection of a zero domain is a pole domain. The point  $z \in D$  is taken to be a simple pole of a meromorphic function P in the plane  $\mathbb{C}$ , the consecutive reflections of  $z \in D$  lying in a zero domain is taken to be a simple zero of P, the ones in a pole domain are simple poles for P. Let the variable of P be  $\zeta$ . P also depends on z as a parameter,  $P(\zeta, z)$ . If the reflection point of a point  $\hat{z}$  on an arc of a circle (1.1),  $\alpha \neq 0$  is  $\hat{z}_r$  given by  $\hat{z}_r = -\frac{a\hat{z}+\beta}{\alpha\hat{z}+a}$  then instead of  $\zeta - \hat{z}_r$  in the definition of  $P(\zeta, z)$  the term  $(\alpha \hat{z} + \bar{a})(\zeta - \hat{z}_r) = (\alpha \hat{z} + \bar{a})\zeta + (a\hat{z} + \beta)$  is used. The reason is that the right-hand side of the last equation is symmetric in the sense

$$\overline{\alpha\overline{z}\zeta + \overline{a}\zeta + a\overline{z} + \beta} = \alpha z\overline{\zeta} + a\overline{\zeta} + \overline{a}z + \beta$$

for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $a, z, \zeta \in \mathbb{C}$ . For the reflection on a straight line, i.e.  $\alpha = 0$  in (1.1),  $\zeta - \hat{z}_r = \zeta + \frac{a}{a}\hat{z} + \frac{\beta}{a}$ .  $P(\zeta, z)$  thus is given as an eventually infinite product of appropriate quotients of linear polynomials in  $\zeta$  with coefficients depending on the

original point  $z \in D$ . Having asserted the absolute convergence of the product for  $\zeta \in D$  then  $\log |P(\zeta, z)|$  is the harmonic Green function for D. It may happen, see e.g. [15], that the repeated reflection of D does not perform a complete parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$  when single points are left out. In these cases proper additional factors have to be added to P in order to achieve a proper asymptotic behavior in these points.

3. The Neumann function is found through the same reflection points from  $z \in D$ . Here all reflected points are used as simple poles of a function meromorphic in the entire plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . The linear polynomial factors are just those from the Green function. In case of an infinite product here additional proper factors have to be added achieving convergence. These factors should be bounded and bounded away from zero, see e.g. [11, 15].

#### 3 An Example: A Hyperbolic Half Plane

The lens  $D = \mathbb{D} \cap D_m(r)$  is a hyperbolic half plane in the Poincaré disc  $\mathbb{D} = \{|z| < 1\}$ . It is the intersection of  $\mathbb{D}$  with the disc  $D_m(r) = \{|z - m| < r\}, 0 < r < 1 < m, m^2 = 1 + r^2$ . Its boundary  $\partial D$  consists of the two arcs  $\partial_1 D = \partial \mathbb{D} \cap \overline{D_m(r)}$  and  $= \partial D_m(r) \cap \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ .

A reflections at a circle or a straight line is a combinations of a linear transformation with complex conjugation. Hence they preserve orthogonality and map circles and straight lines onto circles and straight lines. Therefore the reflection of D at  $\partial_1 D$  gives the lune  $L_r = D_m(r) \setminus D$  while the reflection of D at  $\partial_r D$  results in the lune  $L_1 = \mathbb{D} \setminus D$ .

The point  $z \in D$  is reflected at  $\partial \mathbb{D}$  to  $\frac{1}{z} \in D_m(r) \setminus D$ . Both these points  $z, \frac{1}{z} \in D_m(r)$  are reflected at  $\partial D_m(r)$  to the points

$$m + \frac{r^2}{\overline{z} - m} = \frac{\overline{z}m - 1}{\overline{z} - m}, \qquad m + \frac{r^2}{\frac{1}{\overline{z}} - m} = \frac{m - z}{1 - mz},$$

respectively. They are outside the closure  $\overline{D_m(r)}$  of  $D_m(r)$ , in particular do not belong to D. The reflection of D onto  $L_r$  and the reflection of  $D_m(r)$  achieves a parqueting of  $\mathbb{C}$ . The same points are attained if D is firstly reflected onto  $L_1$  and then  $\mathbb{D}$  onto its complement.

1. Applying the Cauchy–Pompeiu formula as mentioned in the preceding session gives the Schwarz representation formula [10].

**Theorem** Any function  $w \in C^1(D; \mathbb{C}) \cap C(\overline{D}; \mathbb{C})$  is representable as

$$w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D \cap \partial \mathbb{D}} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \left[ \frac{2\zeta}{\zeta - z} - 1 + \frac{2\zeta(1 - mz)}{\zeta(1 - mz) + z - m} - 1 \right] \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D \cap \partial D_m(r)} \operatorname{Re} w(\zeta) \left[ \frac{2(\zeta - m)}{\zeta - z} - 1 + \frac{2[\zeta - m)(1 - mz)}{(\zeta - m)(1 - mz) - zr^2} - 1 \right]$$

$$\times \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - m}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\partial D \cap \partial \mathbb{D}} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta} + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\partial D \cap \partial D_m(r)} \operatorname{Im} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - m}$$

$$- \frac{1}{\pi} \int_D \left\{ w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z} + \frac{1 - mz}{z - m + \zeta(1 - mz)} \right] \right\}$$

$$+ \overline{w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta)} \left[ \frac{z}{1 - z\overline{\zeta}} - \frac{z - m}{\overline{\zeta}(z - m) + 1 - mz} \right] d\xi d\eta.$$

Proof The Cauchy-Pompeiu formula

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{d\xi d\eta}{\zeta - z} = \begin{cases} w(z), & z \in D, \\ 0, & z \notin \overline{D}, \end{cases}$$

applied to  $z \in D$ ,  $\frac{1}{\overline{z}} \in D_m(r) \setminus \mathbb{D}$ ,  $\frac{\overline{zm-1}}{\overline{z-m}}$ ,  $\frac{m-z}{1-mz} \notin \overline{D_m(r)}$ , gives for  $z \in D$ 

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{d\xi d\eta}{\zeta - z} = w(z),$$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{\overline{z} d\zeta}{1 - \overline{z}\zeta} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{\overline{z} d\xi d\eta}{1 - \overline{z}\zeta} = 0,$$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{(1 - mz) d\zeta}{\zeta(1 - mz) - m + z} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{(1 - mz) d\xi d\eta}{\zeta(1 - mz) - m + z} = 0,$$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \frac{(\overline{z} - m) d\zeta}{\zeta(\overline{z} - m) + 1 - m\overline{z}} - \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \frac{(\overline{z} - m) d\xi d\eta}{\zeta(\overline{z} - m) + 1 - m\overline{z}} = 0.$$

Taking the complex conjugate of the second and forth formula, where  $\overline{z}$  appears and adding the resulting four relations, leads to the claimed representation formula.  $\Box$ 

This representation formula serves to solve the Schwarz boundary value problem for the inhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation in the lens *D*.

2. The function  $P(\zeta, z)$  mentioned in Sect. 2 for constructing the Green function for *D* is a rational function having simple zeroes at the points  $\frac{1}{\overline{z}}$ ,  $\frac{\overline{z}m-1}{\overline{z}-m}$  and simple poles at z,  $\frac{m-z}{1-mz}$ , see [9]. Hence the harmonic Green function for *D* is

$$G(z,\zeta) = \log \left| \frac{1 - z\overline{\zeta}}{\zeta - z} \frac{m((\overline{\zeta} + z) - (1 + z\overline{\zeta}))}{\zeta + z - m(1 + z\zeta)} \right|.$$

For the Poisson kernel on |z| = 1

$$2z\partial_z G(z,\zeta) = \frac{z}{\zeta - z} - \frac{z\overline{\zeta}}{1 - z\overline{\zeta}} - \frac{z - mz\zeta}{\zeta + z - m(1 + z\zeta)} + \frac{z\overline{\zeta} - mz}{1 + z\overline{\zeta} - m(\overline{\zeta} + z)}$$

gives for the part  $\partial_1 D$  of  $\partial D$ 

$$\partial_{\nu_z} G(z,\zeta) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\zeta+z}{\zeta-z} + \frac{\zeta-z-m(1-z\zeta)}{\zeta+z-m(1+z\zeta)}\right\}.$$

Similarly, for |z - m| = r

$$2(z-m)\partial_z G(z,\zeta)$$
  
=  $\frac{z-m}{\zeta-z} - \frac{(z-m)\overline{\zeta}}{1-z\overline{\zeta}} - \frac{z-m-m(z-m)\zeta}{\zeta+z-m(1+z\zeta)} + \frac{(z-m)\overline{\zeta}-m(z-m)}{1+z\overline{\zeta}-m(\overline{\zeta}+z)}$ 

shows for the boundary curve  $\partial_r D$ 

$$\partial_{\nu_z} G(z,\zeta) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\zeta + z - 2m}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1 + z\overline{\zeta} - 2m\overline{\zeta}}{1 - z\overline{\zeta}}\right\}.$$

This can be seen by using the relation

$$1 - mz = m\overline{z} - |z|^2.$$

With these expressions the Poisson representation formula

$$w(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} G(z,\zeta) ds_{\zeta} + \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{D} w_{\zeta\overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) G(z,\zeta) d\xi d\eta,$$

generally valid for bounded domains with piecewise smooth boundary, holds for D and proper functions w, see e.g. [2]. This representation formula serves to solve the Dirichlet problem for the Poisson equation in D.

3. The Neumann function for the lens D is

$$N(z,\zeta) = -\log \left| (\zeta - z)(1 - z\overline{\zeta}) \left( \zeta + z - m(1 + z\zeta) \right) \left( 1 + z\overline{\zeta} - m(\overline{\zeta} + z) \right) \right|.$$

On its boundary part  $\partial_1 D$  from  $\partial \mathbb{D}$ 

$$\partial_{\nu_z} N(z,\zeta) = 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\{ z \partial_z N(z,\zeta) \right\}$$
  
=  $\operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{z}{\zeta - z} + \frac{z\overline{\zeta}}{1 - z\overline{\zeta}} - \frac{z(1 - m\zeta)}{\zeta + z - m(1 + z\zeta)} - \frac{z(\overline{\zeta} - m)}{1 + z\overline{\zeta} - m(\overline{\zeta} + z)} \right\}$   
= -2,

for  $\zeta \in D$ , while for  $\zeta \in \partial_1 D$ 

$$\partial_{\nu_z} N(z,\zeta) = \frac{\zeta}{\zeta-z} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta-z}} - 3.$$

Similarly, for the boundary part  $\partial_r D$  on  $\partial D_m(r)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} &\partial_{\nu_z} N(z,\zeta) \\ &= 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\{ (z-m) \partial_z N(z,\zeta) \right\} \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{z-m}{\zeta-z} + \frac{(z-m)\overline{\zeta}}{1-z\overline{\zeta}} - \frac{(z-m)(1-m\zeta)}{\zeta+z-m(1+z\zeta)} - \frac{(z-m)(\overline{\zeta}-m)}{1+z\overline{\zeta}-m(\overline{\zeta}+z)} \right\} \\ &= -2, \end{aligned}$$

if  $\zeta \in D$ , and if  $\zeta \in \partial_r D$ 

$$\partial_{\nu_z} N(z,\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - m}{\zeta - z} + \frac{\overline{\zeta} - m}{\overline{\zeta} - z} - 3.$$

*Remark* If one starts with z in the lune  $L_1$  or  $L_r$  the process leads to the same formula for the Schwarz, Green, and Neumann kernels. This phenomenon is well known from the Euclidean half planes or from the inside and outside of discs.

**Theorem** For  $f \in L_p(\mathbb{D}; \mathbb{C}), 2 < p, \gamma \in C(\partial \mathbb{D}; \mathbb{C})$ , the Neumann problem

$$\partial_z \partial_{\overline{z}} w = f \text{ in } D, \qquad \partial_v w = \gamma \text{ on } \partial D,$$

is solvable if and only if

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} \gamma(\zeta) ds_{\zeta} = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{D} f(\zeta) d\xi d\eta$$

the solution being then

$$w(z) = c + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} \gamma(\zeta) N(\zeta, z) ds_{\zeta} - \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{D} f(\zeta) N(\zeta, z) d\xi d\eta,$$

with

$$c = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} N(\zeta, z) ds_{\zeta} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) ds_{\zeta}.$$

The proof follows from the Neumann representation formula [2]

$$w(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} N(\zeta, z) ds_{\zeta} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial D} \partial_{\nu_{\zeta}} w(\zeta) N(\zeta, z) ds_{\zeta} - \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{D} \partial_{\zeta} \partial_{\overline{\zeta}} w(\zeta) N(\zeta, z) d\xi d\eta.$$

Let w(z) be the function defined by the formula in the theorem. On  $\partial_1 D$  then

$$\partial_{\nu}w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial_1 D} \gamma(\zeta) \left[ \frac{\zeta}{\zeta - z} + \frac{\overline{\zeta}}{\overline{\zeta - z}} - 1 \right] ds_{\zeta}$$

The Parqueting-Reflection Principle

$$-\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\partial D}\gamma(\zeta)ds_{\zeta}+\frac{4}{\pi}\int_{D}f(\zeta)d\xi d\eta$$

and on  $\partial_r D$ 

$$\partial_{\nu}w(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial_{r}D} \gamma(\zeta) \left[ \frac{\zeta - m}{\zeta - z} + \frac{\overline{\zeta} - m}{\overline{\zeta} - z} - 1 \right] ds_{\zeta}$$
$$- \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\partial D} \gamma(\zeta) ds_{\zeta} + \frac{4}{\pi} \int_{D} f(\zeta) d\xi d\eta.$$

From the properties of the Poisson kernels the boundary behavior is seen when observing the solvability condition. For proving

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\partial D} w(\zeta) ds_{\zeta} = c$$

the property

$$\int_{\partial D} N(z,\zeta) ds_{\zeta} = 0$$

would be needed.

#### References

- 1. M.S. Akel, H.S. Hussein, Two basic boundary-value problems for the inhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation in an infinite sector. Adv. Pure Appl. Math. **3**, 315–328 (2012)
- H. Begehr, Boundary value problems in complex analysis, I, II. Bol. Asoc. Mat. Venez. XII, 65–85 (2005), 217–250
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Polyharmonic Green functions for particular plane domains, in Proc. 6. Congress of Romanian Mathematicians, Bucharest, Romania, 2007, ed. by L. Beznea et al., Romanian Acad. Sci., vol. 1 (Publ. House, Bucharest, 2009), pp. 119–126
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Harmonic boundary value problems in half disc and half ring. Funct. Approx. 40, 251–282 (2009). Part 2
- 5. H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Green functions, reflections, and plane parqueting. Eurasian Math. J. 1, 17–31 (2010)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Green functions, reflections, and plane parqueting, revisited. Eurasian Math. J. 2, 139–142 (2011)
- 7. H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, How to find harmonic Green functions in the plane. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. **56**, 1169–1181 (2011)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Harmonic Dirichlet problem for some equilateral triangle. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 57, 185–196 (2012)
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, *The Parqueting-Reflection Principle for Constructing Green Functions*, ed. by S.V. Rogosin, M.V. Dubatovskaya. Analytic Methods of Analysis and Differential Equations: AMADE 2012 (Cambridge Scientific Publishers, Cottenham, 2013), pp. 11–20
- H. Begehr, T. Vaitekhovich, Schwarz problem in lens and lune. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 59, 76–84 (2014)
- E. Gaertner, Basic complex boundary value problems in the upper half plane. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2006). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_00000002129

- B. Shupeyeva, Harmonic boundary value problems in a quarter ring domain. Adv. Pure Appl. Math. 3, 393–419 (2012); 4, 103–105 (2013)
- B. Shupeyeva, Somme basic boundary value problems for complex partial differential equations in quarter ring and half hexagon. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2013). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/ diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_000000094596
- B. Shupeyeva, Boundary value problems and method of reflection for quarter ring and half hexagon, in *Current Trends in Analysis and its Applications, Trends in Mathematics*, ed. by V.V. Mityushev, W. Ruzhansky (Springer Switzerland, Basel, 2015), pp. 59–66
- T. Vaitsiakhovich, Boundary value problems for complex partial differential equations in a ring domain. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2008). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_ thesis\_000000003859
- Y. Wang, Boundary value problems for complex partial differential equations in fan-shaped domains. Ph.D. thesis, FU Berlin (2011). www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS\_thesis\_ 000000021359
- Y.-F. Wang, Y.-J. Wang, Schwarz-type problem of nonhomogeneous Cauchy–Riemann equation on a triangle. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 377(2), 557–570 (2011)
- Y. Wang, J. Du, Harmonic Dirichlet problem in a ring sector, in *Current Trends in Analysis and its Applications, Trends in Mathematics*, ed. by V.V. Mityushev, W. Ruzhansky (Springer Switzerland, Basel, 2015), pp. 67–75

# On Existence of the Resolvent and Discreteness of the Spectrum of a Class of Differential Operators of Hyperbolic Type

M.B. Muratbekov and M.M. Muratbekov

**Abstract** The existence and compactness of the resolvent and discreteness of the spectrum of some hyperbolic differential operators are studied in this paper. One of the main results is the criterion of discreteness of the spectrum of a hyperbolic singular differential operator.

Keywords Spectrum · Resolvent · Singular differential operator · Hyperbolic type

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 47A10 · Secondary 35L81

#### **1** Problem Statement and the Main Results

Singular differential operators, for example operators defined in an unbounded domain, in general may have not only a discrete but also a continuous spectrum. Therefore in general an arbitrary function cannot be decomposed into a series of eigen functions. For this reason the most important problem in the study of the spectrum in dependence of the behavior of the coefficients in the case of an unbounded domain is the discreteness of the spectrum.

Spectral characteristics of singular elliptic differential operators are well studied and the typical difficulties encountered in connection with bad behaving coefficients clarified. An extensive literature is devoted to their study and we mention [1-3].

Review of the literature shows that such questions as: (1) the existence and compactness of the resolvent, (2) the discreteness of the spectrum of hyperbolic differential operators defined in an unbounded domain are not well studied.

Prmanov str. 37, 080016 Taraz, Kazakhstan e-mail: musahan\_m@mail.ru

M.M. Muratbekov Musrepov str. 10, ap. 14, 010009 Astana, Kazakhstan e-mail: madimm@list.ru

M.B. Muratbekov (🖂)

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_12

We consider in the space  $L_2(\Omega)$  the differential operator of hyperbolic type

$$A_0 u = u_{xx} - u_{yy} + a(y)u_x + c(y)u_y$$

with the domain  $D(A_0)$  of infinitely differentiable functions satisfying the conditions  $u(-\pi; y) = u(\pi; y)$ ,  $u_x(-\pi; y) = u_x(\pi; y)$  and compactly supported with respect to the variable y, where

$$\Omega = \{ (x, y) : -\pi < x < \pi, -\infty < y < \infty \}.$$

Further, we assume that the coefficients a(y), c(y) satisfy the conditions:

(i)  $|a(y)| \ge \delta_0 > 0$ ,  $c(y) \ge \delta > 0$  are continuous functions in  $R = (-\infty; \infty)$ .

It is easy to verify that the operator  $A_0$  admits a closure in the space  $L_2(\Omega)$ , which is denoted by A.

We note that the operator A corresponds to the problem of propagation of the boundary regime (see [4], p. 106), i.e. the problem without initial conditions. Here the term  $au_x$  describes the friction force. The question of the existence of solutions of the problem without initial conditions, in general, depends on the behavior of the coefficients *a* and *c*. For example, when a = 0, a solution does not always exist.

The main results of this paper are the following theorems.

**Theorem 1.1** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled. Then the operator  $A + \lambda I$  is continuously invertible for  $\lambda \ge 0$ .

**Theorem 1.2** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled. Then the resolvent of the operator A is compact if and only if for any w > 0

$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty}\int_{y}^{y+w}c(t)dt=\infty.$$
(\*)

The last theorem shows that the condition (\*) is a necessary and sufficient condition for the discreetness of the spectrum of A.

The question of the existence of the resolvent and discreet spectrum in an unbounded domain with growing and oscillating coefficients was previously studied only in the case of elliptic and pseudodifferential operators [1-3].

Assume that the coefficients of the operator A, in addition to conditions (i), satisfy the condition

(ii)

$$\mu_0 = \sup_{|y-t| < 1} \frac{c(y)}{c(t)} < \infty, \qquad \mu = \sup_{|y-t| < 1} \frac{a(y)}{a(t)} < \infty$$

Then, Theorem 1.2 easily implies the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.3** Let the conditions (i)–(ii) be fulfilled. Then the resolvent of the operator A is compact if and only if  $\lim_{|y|\to\infty} c(y) = \infty$ .

#### 2 Auxiliary Lemmas and Inequalities

The following statements below are given without proofs, because computations and arguments that have been used in [5] are similar for their proofs.

**Lemma 2.1** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled and  $\lambda \ge 0$ . Then the inequality

$$\|(A + \lambda I)u\|_{2} \ge c \|u\|_{2},$$
 (2.1)

holds for all  $u \in D(A)$ , where  $c = c(\delta, \delta_0)$  and  $\|\cdot\|_2$  is the norm in  $L_2(\Omega)$ .

Let  $\Delta_j = (j-1, j+1)$   $(j \in Z)$ , and  $\gamma$  be a constant such that  $\gamma a(y) > 0$ . Denote by  $l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I$  the closure in  $L_2(\Delta_j)$  of the differential expression  $(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)u =$  $-u'' + [-n^2 + in(a(y) + \gamma) + c(y) + \lambda]u$ ,  $(n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$  defined on the set  $C_0^2(\overline{\Delta}_j)$  of twice continuously differentiable functions u on  $\overline{\Delta}_j$  which satisfy the conditions u(j-1) = u(j+1) = 0.

**Lemma 2.2** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled and  $\lambda \ge 0$ . Then the following inequalities

(a)

$$\begin{split} \| (l_{n,\gamma,j} + \lambda I) u \|_{L_{2}(\Delta_{j})} \\ &\geq c_{1} \big( \| u' \|_{2} + \| \sqrt{c(y) + \lambda} u \|_{L_{2}(\Delta_{j})} + \| |n| \sqrt{\big( |a(y)| + |\gamma| \big)} u \|_{L_{2}(\Delta_{j})} \big), \\ &n \neq 0, \ u \in D(l_{n,\gamma,j} + \lambda I); \end{split}$$

(b)

$$\left\| \left( l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right\|_{L_2(\Delta_j) \to L_2(\Delta_j)} \leq \frac{c_0}{(\delta + \lambda)^{1/2}};$$

(c)

$$\left\|\frac{d}{dy}(l_{n,j,\gamma}+\lambda I)^{-1}\right\|_{L_2(\Delta_j)\to L_2(\Delta_j)} \le \frac{c_2}{(\delta+\lambda)^{1/4}}$$

*hold, where*  $c_0 = c_0(\delta)$ *,*  $c_1 = c_1(\delta)$ *,*  $c_2 = c_2(\delta)$ *.* 

**Lemma 2.3** The operator  $l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I$  is invertible for  $\lambda \ge 0$  and the inverse operator  $(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}$  is defined in all  $L_2(\Delta_j)$ ,  $j \in Z$ , where Z is the set of entire numbers.

By  $l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I$   $(n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$  we denote the closure in  $L_2(R)$   $(R = (-\infty, \infty))$  of the differential expression  $(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)u = -u'' + (-n^2 + in(a(y) + \gamma) + c(y) + \lambda)u$ , defined on the set  $C_0^{\infty}(R)$  of infinitely differentiable functions with compact support.

**Lemma 2.4** Let  $\lambda \ge 0$  and condition (i) hold. Then for any  $u \in D(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)$  the following estimates

$$\begin{split} \left\| (l_{0,\gamma} + \lambda I) u \right\|_{L_2(R)} &\geq \sqrt{\delta + \lambda} \| u \|_{L_2(R)}, \\ \left\| (l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I) u \right\|_{L_2(R)} &\geq |n| \left( \delta_0 + |\gamma| \right) \| u \|_{L_2(R)} \end{split}$$

hold for  $n \neq 0$ .

Lemma 2.4 is proved by transforming the expression  $\langle (l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)u, -inu \rangle$ , where  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(R)$ .

Let  $\{\varphi_j(y)\}_{j=-\infty}^{+\infty} \subset C_0^{\infty}(R)$  be a sequence of functions satisfying the conditions  $\varphi_j \ge 0$ ,  $\sup \varphi_j \subseteq \Delta_j (j \in Z)$ ,  $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{+\infty} \varphi_j^2(y) = 1$ . Assume

$$cK_{\lambda,\gamma}f = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{+\infty} \varphi_j(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\varphi_j f,$$
  
$$B_{\lambda,\gamma}f = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{+\infty} \varphi_j''(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\varphi_j f + 2\sum_{j=-\infty}^{+\infty} \varphi_j' \frac{d}{dy}(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\varphi_j f,$$
  
$$f \in C_0^{\infty}(R), \quad \lambda \ge 0.$$

Obviously,

$$(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I) K_{\lambda,\gamma} f = f - B_{\lambda,\gamma} f.$$
(2.2)

**Lemma 2.5** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled. Then there exists a number  $\lambda_0 > 0$  such that  $||B_{\lambda,\gamma}||_{L_2(R)\to L_2(R)} < 1$  for all  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ .

**Lemma 2.6** Let the condition (i) be satisfied. Then the operator  $l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I$  is continuously invertible for  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0 > 0$ , and for the inverse operator  $(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}$  the following equality

$$(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1} = K_{\lambda,\gamma} (I - B_{\lambda,\gamma})^{-1}$$
(2.3)

holds.

Lemma 2.6 follows from (2.2) and from Lemmas 2.5 and 2.4.

**Lemma 2.7** Let the condition (i) be satisfied and  $\rho(y)$  be a continuous function defined on *R*. Then for  $\alpha = 0, 1$  and  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$  the following estimate

$$\|\rho(y)|n|^{\alpha}(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_{2}(R) \to L_{2}(R)}^{2} \leq c_{4}(\lambda) \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|\rho(y)|n|^{\alpha} \varphi_{j}(l_{n,j,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_{2}(\Delta_{j}) \to L_{2}(\Delta_{j})}^{2}$$
(2.4)

holds.

The result below follows from Lemma 2.2 and the estimate (2.4).

**Lemma 2.8** Let the condition (i) be satisfied and  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ . Then

(a) 
$$\|\sqrt{c(y) + \lambda}(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} < \infty \ (n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \ldots);$$

- (b)  $\|in(l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} < \infty \ (n \neq 0);$
- (c)  $\|\frac{d}{dy}(l_{n,\gamma}+\lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R)\to L_2(R)} < \infty \ (n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,\ldots).$

Consider the equation

$$(l_n + \lambda I)u \equiv -u'' + (-n^2 + ina(y) + c(y) + \lambda)u = f,$$
(2.5)

where  $f \in L_2(R)$ .

The function  $u \in L_2(R)$  is called a solution of (2.5) if there exists a sequence  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset C_0^{\infty}(R)$  such that  $||u_n - u||_{L_2(R)} \to 0$ ,  $||(l_n + \lambda I)u_n - f||_{L_2(R)} \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

**Lemma 2.9** The operator  $l_n + \lambda I$   $(n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$  is boundedly invertible for  $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$ , and for the inverse operator  $(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}$  the equality

$$(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1} f = (l_{n,\gamma} + \lambda I)^{-1} (I - A_{\lambda,\gamma})^{-1} f, \quad f \in L_2(R)$$
(2.6)

*holds, where*  $||A_{\lambda,\gamma}||_{L_2(R)\to L_2(R)} < 1$ .

Lemma 2.8 and the equality (2.6) imply the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.10** If  $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$ , then the estimates

- (a)  $\|\sqrt{c(y) + \lambda}(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} < \infty \ (n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \ldots);$ (b)  $\|i_n(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} < \infty (n \neq 0);$
- (c)  $\|\frac{d}{dv}(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} < \infty \ (n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...) \ hold.$

We will use also the following well-known lemma [6, p. 350].

**Lemma 2.11** Let the operator  $A + \lambda_0 I$  ( $\lambda_0 > 0$ ) be boundedly invertible in  $L_2(R)$  and the estimate  $||(A + \lambda I)u||_{L_2(R)} \ge c ||u||_{L_2(R)}$ ,  $u \in D(A + \lambda I)$  hold for  $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_0]$ . Then the operator  $A : L_2(R) \to L_2(R)$  is boundedly invertible also.

**Lemma 2.12** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled and  $\lambda > 0$ . Then the inequality

$$\left\| (l_n + \lambda I)^{-1} \right\|_{L_2(R) \to L_2(R)} \le \frac{1}{|n| \cdot \delta_0}$$
(2.7)

*holds for all n*  $(n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$ .

**Lemma 2.13** Let the condition (i) be fulfilled and  $\lambda > 0$ . Then the operator  $(l_n + 1)$  $\lambda I$ )<sup>-1</sup> is completely continuous for all  $n \ (n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...)$  if and only if for any  $\omega > 0$ 

$$\lim_{|y| \to \infty} \int_{y}^{y+\omega} c(t)dt = \infty.$$
 (\*)

#### 3 Proofs of Theorems 1.1–1.3

*Proof of Theorem 1.1* From Lemma 2.9 we obtain that

$$u_k(x, y) = \sum_{n=-k}^{k} (l_n + \lambda I)^{-1} f_n(y) e^{inx}$$
(3.1)

is a solution of the problem

$$(A + \lambda I)u_k(x, y) = f_k(x, y),$$
$$u_k(-\pi, y) = u_k(\pi, y), \qquad u_{kx}(-\pi, y) = u_{kx}(\pi, y),$$

where  $f_k(x, y) \xrightarrow{L_2} f(x, y)$ ,  $f_k(x, y) = \sum_{n=-k}^{k} f_n(y)e^{inx}$ ,  $(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}$  is the inverse operator to the operator  $(l_n + \lambda I)$ .

By virtue of (2.1) we have

$$\|u_k(x, y)\|_2 \le c \|f_k(x, y)\|_2,$$
 (3.2)

where c > 0 is a constant independent of k.

Since  $f_k \xrightarrow{L_2} f$ , then from (3.2) we find

$$||u_k - u_m||_2 \le c ||f_k - f_m||_2 \to 0 \text{ as } k, m \to \infty$$

Hence, by virtue of the completeness of the space  $L_2(\Omega)$ , it follows that there exists a unique function  $u \in L_2(\Omega)$  such that

$$u_k \to u \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$
 (3.3)

(3.3) implies that for any  $f \in L_2(\Omega)$ 

$$u(x, y) = (A + \lambda I)^{-1} f(x, y) = \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} (l_n + \lambda I)^{-1} f_n(y) e^{inx}$$
(3.4)

is a strong solution of the problem

$$(A + \lambda I)u = f \tag{3.5}$$

$$u(-\pi, y) = u(\pi, y), \qquad u_x(-\pi, y) = u_x(\pi, y)$$
 (3.6)

Let us recall the definition of a strong solution.

The function  $u \in L_2(\Omega)$  is called a strong solution of (3.5)–(3.6), if there exists a sequence  $\{u_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset D(L_0)$  such that  $||u_k - u||_2 \to 0$  and  $||(A + \lambda I)u_k - f||_2 \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

Now, it is easy to see that (3.4) is the inverse operator to the closed operator  $A + \lambda I$ . Lemma 2.1 implies that the last statement holds for all  $\lambda \ge 0$ . Theorem 1.1 is proved.

*Proof of Theorem 1.2* Using Lemma 2.12 it is easy to see that

$$\lim_{|n| \to \infty} \| (l_n + \lambda I)^{-1} \|_{2 \to 2} = 0.$$

Therefore, and using the  $\varepsilon$ -net, from (3.4) we have that the operator  $(A + \lambda I)^{-1}$  is compact if and only if  $(l_n + \lambda I)^{-1}$  is continuous. Now, the proof of the theorem follows from Lemma 2.13.

*Proof of Theorem 1.3* Without loss of generality we assume  $0 < w \le 1$ , then by the condition (ii) we have

$$\mu_0^{-1} \cdot w \cdot c(y) \le \int_y^{y+w} c(t)dt \le \mu_0 \cdot w \cdot c(y).$$

The proof of Theorem 1.3 follows from this inequality and Theorem 1.2.

#### References

- A.M. Molchanov, On conditions of the spectrum discreteness of self-adjoint second-order differential equations. Tr. Mosk. Mat. Obŝ. 2, 169–P. 200 (1953) (in Russian)
- M. Otelbaev, Embedding theorems for spaces with a weight and their application to the study of the spectrum of the Schrodinger operator. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 150, 256–305 (1979) (in Russian)
- K.Kh. Boimatov, Separation theorems, weighted spaces and their applications. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 170, 39–81 (1987)
- 4. A.N. Tikhonov, A.A. Samarskiy, *Equations of Mathematical Physics* (City place Macmillan, New York, 1963)
- M. Muratbekov, K. Ospanov, S. Igisinov, Solvability of a class of mixed type second order equations and nonlocal estimates. Appl. Math. Lett. 25, 1661–1665 (2012)
- N.I. Akhieser, I.M. Glasman, Theory of Linear Operators in Hilbert Space (F. Ungar Pub. Co., New York, 1961–1963)

# On the Singularities of the Emden–Fowler Type Equations

**Radosław Antoni Kycia and Galina Filipuk** 

**Abstract** We study the Emden–Fowler type equations and their analytic solutions at the origin. We explain the structure of movable singularities of these solutions and visualize them numerically.

Keywords Lane–Emden equation  $\cdot$  Emden–Fowler equation  $\cdot$  Movable singularities  $\cdot$  Nonlinear ODE

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 34A34 · Secondary 34A25

#### 1 Introduction

The Emden-Fowler equation

$$\frac{d^2u(x)}{dx^2} + \frac{\alpha}{x}\frac{du(x)}{dx} + \delta x^n u(x)^p = 0$$
(1.1)

has many application in physics [1, 2, 5, 8]. Throughout this paper we assume that  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\delta \neq 0$  are real parameters, *n* is an integer such that n > -2 and p > 1 is a natural number. Note that when p = 1, (1.1) is linear and can be integrated using the Bessel functions. When n = 0 and  $\delta = 1$  (1.1) is called the Lane–Emden equation and it also has many important applications [2].

Equation (1.1) has two fixed singularities at x = 0 and  $x = \infty$ . In practice it is important to know a solution for the prescribed initial data at x = 0 with high precision. As it will be shown below (see also [8] for the Lane–Emden equation), there exists a power series solution at the origin which is convergent in a finite circle centred at the origin in the complex plane because of the existence of singularities on

R.A. Kycia (⊠) · G. Filipuk

University of Warsaw, Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Mechanics, Banacha 2, 02-097 Warsaw, Poland

e-mail: R.Kycia@mimuw.edu.pl

G. Filipuk e-mail: filipuk@mimuw.edu.pl

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_13

the boundary of this circle. These singularities move when we change the initial data and/or the parameters of the equation. Such singularities are called movable singularities (for the reference on singularities of ordinary differential equations (ODEs) see [7, 9]). The generalized isothermal sphere equation (including the isothermal sphere equation for n = 1)

$$\frac{d^2u(x)}{dx^2} + \frac{\alpha}{x}\frac{du(x)}{dx} - \delta x^n e^{-u(x)} = 0$$
(1.2)

possesses a similar structure of singularities. This equation can be regarded as a limit of (1.1) as p tends to infinity.

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section we shall obtain an analytic solution around x = 0 of (1.1) and discuss the relations and the symmetries of (1.1) and (1.2). Then we shall prove, by generalizing the results from [8] for the Lane–Emden equation, that movable singularities of the analytic solution of (1.1) exist in the finite complex plane. We shall also visualize them using numerical methods.

#### **2** Analytic Solutions of the Generalized Emden–Fowler Equation

It is straightforward to show that (1.1) has a local analytic solution near x = 0 of the form

$$u(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k x^k, \qquad (2.1)$$

with

$$a_0 = c,$$
  $a_1 = \dots = a_{n+1} = 0,$   
 $a_{k+n+2} = -\frac{\delta c_k}{(k+n+2)(k+n+1+\alpha)},$   $k \ge 0,$ 

where the coefficients  $\{c_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  are derived from  $\{a_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  using the known Cauchy product formula [6]

$$\left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} a_l (x - x_0)^l\right)^p = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} c_l (x - x_0)^l,$$
  

$$c_0 = a_0^p, \qquad c_m = \frac{1}{ma_0} \sum_{l=1}^m (lp - m + l) a_l c_{m-l}, \quad m > 0.$$
(2.2)

Here *c* is an arbitrary parameter corresponding to the initial data u(0) = c.

To get the recurrence relation (2.1) for the coefficients in the series we substitute it into (1.1) and use (2.2). The proof of the fact that this formal solution has a

nonzero radius of convergence relies on Proposition 1 from [3] for the system

$$\begin{cases} xu' = xv\\ xv' = -\alpha v - x^{n+1}\delta u^p, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

which is equivalent to (1.1). The assumption  $\alpha > 0$  is essential in the application of the Proposition 1 of [3].

We remark that we can study analytic solutions at  $x = \infty$  of (1.1) and (1.2) using the symmetry

$$x \to 1/x, \qquad n \to -(n+4), \qquad \alpha \to 2-\alpha, \qquad \delta \to \delta.$$
 (2.4)

One can note that n = -2,  $\alpha = 1$  is a fixed point of this transformation. Moreover, for n = -2 there is no non-trivial series solution. For n < -2 by duality (2.4) we get an asymptotic series in powers of 1/x. In this sense one can imagine that by changing *n* the singularities x = 0 and  $x = \infty$  swap as we cross the value n = -2.

A similar study of analytic solutions can be performed for (1.2). This generalizes results from [8] (see Eqs. (7) and (8) therein).

Equation (1.1) is invariant under the following change of variables:

$$u(x) = a^{k_2}u_1(x_1), \qquad x_1 = a^{k_1}x, \qquad k_2(p-1) = k_1(n+2),$$
 (2.5)

where *a* is arbitrary. In particular, we can scale the initial data from u(0) = c to u(0) = 1.

The parameter  $\delta$  is not essential in (1.1) and (1.2). For instance, by changing the variable  $u(x) \rightarrow \delta^{-1/(p-1)}u(x)$  in (1.1), we get the same equation with  $\delta = 1$ .

By using a linear transformation  $u(x) \rightarrow Au(x) + pB$ , where A, B are constants and then using rescaling (2.5) we can bring (1.1) to the form

$$\frac{d^2u(x)}{dx^2} + \frac{\alpha}{x}\frac{du(x)}{dx} - x^n \left(1 - \frac{u(x)}{p}\right)^p = 0,$$
(2.6)

which leads to (1.2) in the limit  $p \to \infty$  (see [8]). Similarly, by shifting  $u \to u - c$  in (1.2) and by using (2.5), we can change the arbitrary initial data u(0) = c to the normalized ones u(0) = 0.

In the next section we shall study the radius of convergence of the power series, or, alternatively, study the existence of movable singularities of the solutions.

#### **3** Singularities in the Complex Plane

In this section we shall prove the existence of movable singularities of the solution (2.1) of (1.1). This result can be regarded as a generalization of the results from [8] for the Lane-Emden equation.

**Theorem 3.1** A nonzero analytic solution (2.1) of (1.1) has n + 2 singularities located symmetrically with respect to the origin on the rays connecting the origin with all (n + 2) roots of -1 in the complex plane.

*Proof* Using (2.5) we can assume that u(0) = 1. Moreover, we can also assume that  $\delta = 1$ . The proof is as follows. First, using the change of variables  $z = x^{n+2}$ , we are interested in a singularity for z < 0. Next, by introducing new variables we study a vector field of an autonomous system of equations and show that it gives a singularity for a finite negative  $\bar{z}$ , which is equivalent to the fact that the singularities in the *x* variable are symmetric with respect to the origin and are located on the rays connecting the origin with all (n + 2) roots of -1 in the complex plane. The strategy of the proof is similar to [8] for the Lane–Emden equation.

Introducing a new variable  $z = x^{n+2}$  in (1.1) gives

$$(n+2)^{2}zu'' + (n+2)(n+1+\alpha)u' + u^{p} = 0, \quad '=d/dz.$$
(3.1)

Setting

$$k(z) = \frac{-u^p}{(n+2)u'}, \qquad l(z) = \frac{-(n+2)zu'}{u}, \qquad (3.2)$$

(3.1) can be written as follows

$$\frac{dl}{dk} = \frac{l(l+k+1-\alpha)}{k(n+1+\alpha-k-pl)}.$$
(3.3)

Using (3.2), the series solution (2.1) around z = 0 with u(0) = 1 corresponds to the series expansions for k(z) and l(z) with  $k(0) = n + 1 + \alpha$ , l(0) = 0. The existence of a singularity  $(u \to \infty)$  for z < 0 means that u''(z) > 0, i.e., the function is convex. From the equation

$$u'' = \frac{l(n+1+\alpha-k)u}{(n+2)^2 z^2}$$
(3.4)

it occurs when l < 0 and  $k > n + 1 + \alpha$  (u > 0 and u' < 0).

To prove that the singularity is located at finite z < 0 we employ the fact that the flow of (3.3) keeps the solution which starts initially from the analytic solution (2.1) below the critical line  $n + 1 + \alpha - k - pl = 0$ . See Fig. 1 for details. It follows that

$$k < n+1+\alpha - pl. \tag{3.5}$$

Since l < 0, we obtain

$$\frac{k}{-l} < \frac{n+1+\alpha}{-l} + p. \tag{3.6}$$

As  $l \to -\infty$  one can find such  $z_* < 0$  that for  $z < z_*$  we have  $-l > n + 1 + \alpha$ . For such a  $z_*$  the variable k is also finite. Moreover, from  $kl = u^{p-1}z$  and  $kl^p = 1$ 



**Fig. 1** The vector field (3.3) for  $\alpha = 4$ ,  $\delta = 1$ , p = 5 and n = 2. The lines  $l + k + 1 - \alpha = 0$ ,  $n + 1 + \alpha - k - pl = 0$  and the axes l = 0, k = 0 are the critical lines for the vector field (3.3). The *bold point* represents the initial data at x = 0 (z = 0). The series solutions (2.1) for small z < 0 corresponds to the point slightly below this point in the region where the flow keeps the solution below the line  $n + 1 + \alpha - k - pl = 0$  and forces it to the limit  $k \to \infty$ ,  $l \to -\infty$ 

 $(n+2)^{p-1}(-z)^p(u')^{p-1}$  we see that we have no singularity at this point. Therefore, from (3.2) we get

$$\frac{k}{-l} = \frac{u^{p+1}}{(n+2)^2(-z)(u')^2} < p+1.$$
(3.7)

Integrating from  $z_*$   $(u(z_*) = u_*)$  to some  $\overline{z} < z^*$  at which we assume that  $\lim_{z \to \overline{z}} u(z) = \infty$ , we obtain a bound on  $\overline{z}$  (note that u' < 0)

$$\sqrt{-\bar{z}} < \frac{(n+2)\sqrt{p+1}}{p-1}u_*^{(1-p)/2} + \sqrt{-z_*},\tag{3.8}$$

from which we conclude that the singularities are located at n + 2 finite points in the complex plane (i.e.,  $x = (-|\bar{z}|)^{1/(n+2)}$ ).

It is clear that the singular points move along the rays as the initial value u(0) = c changes, which is obvious from the first equation in (2.5) when we set a = c.



Fig. 2 The plots of |u(x)| of the analytic solution in the complex plane of (1.1) with  $\alpha = 3$ ,  $\delta = 1$ , p = 5 and c = 1.5 for the initial data in (2.1)

A similar proof can be given for (1.2) using

$$k(z) = \frac{e^{-u}}{(n+2)u'}, \qquad l(z) = (n+2)zu'$$
(3.9)

instead of (3.2). See also [8].

The plots of |u(x)| of the analytic solution (2.1) in the complex plane are presented in Fig. 2. Similar plots can be prepared for the analytic solutions of (1.2). One can see a symmetry of the location of singularities, which is due to the transformation  $x \rightarrow x^{1/(n+2)}$  mapping (3.1) with only one singularity on the negative axis into (1.1).

The plots were obtained by integrating numerically the analytic initial data from the vicinity of the origin along uniformly distributed (in angle) rays in the complex plane emanating from the origin. The complex version of the classical (4th order) Runge–Kutta method [9] was used. If the modulus of the solution is greater than a prescribed constant value, then it is assumed that the singularity is in the proximity of that point, the integration is stopped and the next ray is chosen until scans along all directions are performed. In this example there was no danger of shadowing singularities on the single ray by the first encountered singularity, however, in more elaborated examples one should prepare the plots for different initial points and check if there is some additional structure of singularities hidden by this shadowing.

#### 4 Discussion

In this paper we showed how to find analytic solutions of the Emden–Fowler type equations. The singularities of these solutions are studied both analytically and numerically.

We can see that when  $n \to \infty$  in (1.1) we obtain the so-called natural boundary phenomenon like for the series  $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} x^{2^j}$  when  $|x| \to 1^-$  (e.g., see [4]), when the series cannot be extended outside of its circle of convergence because the boundary of this circle consists of an infinite number of singularities.

Equations (1.1) or (1.2) can also be used to construct equations with singularities located at arbitrarily chosen points in the complex plane by choosing an appropriate transformation. To this end one has to construct a mapping of the complex plane which transforms the singular points of these equations into the points of an arbitrary choice. A similar method was proposed for the generation of solutions for equations which can be transformed into (1.1) or (1.2), see [1].

Acknowledgements RK is supported by the Warsaw Center of Mathematics and Computer Science from the funds of the Polish Leading National Research Centre (KNOW). GF is supported by NCN grant 2011/03/B/ST1/00330. RK is also grateful to Rod Halburd and Thomas Kecker (UCL, UK) for illuminating discussions.

#### References

- 1. A. Aslanov, Determination of convergence intervals of the series solutions of Emden–Fowler equations using polytropes and isothermal spheres. Phys. Lett. A **372**, 3555–3561 (2008)
- 2. R. Bellman, Stability Theory of Differential Equations (Dover, New York, 2008)
- P. Breitenlohner, P. Forgács, D. Maison, Static spherically symmetric solutions of the Einstein– Yang–Mills equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 163, 141–172 (1994)
- 4. O. Costin, M. Huang, Behavior of lacunary series at the natural boundary. Adv. Math. **222**(4), 1370–1404 (2009). Commun. Math. Phys. **163**, 141–172 (1994)
- 5. H.T. Davis, *Introduction to Nonlinear Differential and Integral Equations* (Dover, New York, 2010)
- 6. I.S. Gradshteyn, I.M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series and Products* (Academic Press, San Diego, 1994)
- 7. E. Hille, Ordinary Differential Equations in the Complex Domain (Dover, New York, 1997)
- C. Hunter, Series solutions for polytropes and the isothermal sphere. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 328, 839–847 (2001)
- 9. E.L. Ince, Ordinary Differential Equations (Dover, New York, 1956)
# Differential Equations with Degenerated Variable Operator at the Derivative

B.V. Loginov, Y.B. Rousak, and L.R. Kim-Tyan

**Abstract** The theory of Jordan chains for multiparameter operator-functions  $A(\lambda)$ :  $E_1 \rightarrow E_2, \lambda \in \Lambda$ , dim  $\Lambda = k$ , dim  $E_1 = \dim E_2 = n$  is developed. Here  $A_0 = A(0)$  is a degenerated operator, dim Ker  $A_0 = 1$ , Ker  $A_0 = \{\varphi\}$ , Ker  $A_0^* = \{\psi\}$  and the operator-function  $A(\lambda)$  is supposed to be linear in  $\lambda$ . Applications to degenerate differential equations of the form  $[A_0 + R(\cdot, x)]x' = Bx$  are given.

**Keywords** Jordan chains · Degenerated operator · Degenerated differential equations

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 34G20 · 47J15

# **1** Introduction

Below degenerated differential equations (DE) of the form

$$A(x)x' = G(x) \tag{1.1}$$

are considered. If the opposite is not stipulated, it is supposed A(x), G(x):  $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ , dim  $E_1 = \dim E_2 = n$ ,  $A(0) = A_0$  is a degenerated operator with

B.V. Loginov (⊠) ULGTU, Severniy Venets 32, Ul'yanovsk, 432027, Russia e-mail: panbobl@yandex.ru

Y.B. Rousak Department of Social Services, Canberra, Australia e-mail: irousak@gmail.com

L.R. Kim-Tyan National University of Science and Technology "MISIS" (MISIS), Leninskiy pr. 4, 119049 Moscow, Russia e-mail: kim-tyan@yandex.ru

This work was partially supported by the federal target program "Scientific and scientific-pedagogical personnel of innovative Russia" (Agreement 14.37.21.0373).

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_14

dim Ker  $A_0 = \dim$  Ker  $A_0^* = 1$ , Ker  $A_0 = N(A_0) = \{\varphi\}$ , Ker  $A_0^* = N(A_0^*) = \{\psi\}$ . The function G(x) is sufficiently smooth and G(0) = 0, G(x) = Bx - H(x), H(0) = 0, H'(0) = 0. Our aim here is first of all to determine under which conditions the operator A(x) will be nondegenerated in some neighborhood of the point x = 0, degenerated in some neighborhood of x = 0, or degenerated on some submanifold in a neighborhood of x = 0. On this way the theory of Jordan chains for the degenerated operator-functions will be developed (Sects. 2, 3) and applied to DE of the form (4.1), Sect. 4. In the definition of the Jordan chain a slightly more generic case will be studied when the operator-function is linear in the parameter  $\lambda$ .

$$A(\lambda) = A_0 + DA(0)\lambda : E_1 \to E_2, \quad \lambda \in \Lambda, \text{ dim } \Lambda = k$$
(1.2)

depends linearly on the parameter  $\lambda$  acting from  $\Lambda$  into  $E_1$  space.

The case of a polynomial (or analytical) operator-function  $A(\lambda)$  will be considered in an extended variant of the article. In the examples provided in Sect. 2 of this article the case  $A = E_1$  will often be considered. Section 4 contains applications to degenerated differential equations.

#### 2 Jordan Chains of Multiparameter Operator-Functions

Let the function  $A(\lambda)$  be linear in  $\lambda$ , i.e.  $A(\lambda) = A_0 + DA(0)\lambda$ , and DA(0) be a mapping from a neighborhood of  $0 \in \Lambda$  to the space of square  $n \times n$ -matrices. The following construction defines a Jordan chain (further JCh) for the operator-function (1.2).

**Lemma 2.1** For the mapping (1.2) being non invertible in some neighborhood of  $\lambda = 0$  the existence of some function  $h(\lambda) : U(0) \to E_1$  defined in some neighborhood of zero (or on a submanifold of U(0)) is necessary and sufficient, such that  $[A_0 + DA(0)\lambda]h(\lambda) = 0$ .

Proof For sufficiently smooth  $h(\lambda) = \varphi + Dh(0)\lambda + D^2h(0)\lambda^2 + \dots + D^sh(0)\lambda^s + \dots$ where  $D^sh(0)$  is an *s*-linear symmetric operator acting from  $\Lambda$  into  $E_1$ or, that is the same a linear operator acting from  $\Lambda \otimes \dots \otimes \Lambda = \bigotimes_s \Lambda$  into  $E_1$  one has  $0 = A_0\varphi + [A_0Dh(0)\lambda + (DA(0)\lambda)(\varphi)] + \dots + [A_0D^sh(0)\lambda^s + (DA(0))\lambda(D^{s-1}h(0)\lambda^{s-1})] + \dots DA(0)$  in the expression  $A_0Dh(0)\lambda + (DA(0)\lambda)(\varphi)$ can be considered as a bilinear operator of two variables and since the second variable has constant value  $\varphi$ , it presents some known operator acting on  $\lambda$ ,  $B_1\lambda$ , i.e.  $A_0Dh(0)\lambda + (DA(0)\lambda)(\varphi) = [A_0Dh(0) + B_1]\lambda$ . Thus, since  $Dh(0) \in L\{\Lambda \to E_1\}$ , the operator  $A_0$  generates the operator  $B_1$  acting from the space  $L\{\Lambda \to E_1\}$  into the space  $L\{\Lambda \to E_2\}$  according to the rule: if  $S \in L\{\Lambda \to E_1\}$ , then  $B_1S = -A_0S$ .

In order that  $S \in \text{Ker } B_1$  it is necessary and sufficient that  $\text{Im } S \in \{\varphi\}$ . Consequently dim Ker  $B_1 = k$ , and since dim  $\Lambda = k$ , then there exist exactly k linearly independent operators S such that  $\text{Im } S = \{\varphi\}$ . Let the vectors  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k$  form a basis in  $\Lambda$ , then a basis in Ker  $B_1$  is composed by the operators  $\{\Phi_i \mid \Phi_i \xi_s = \delta_{is} \varphi\}$ . The

equality dim  $L\{\Lambda \to E_1\} = \dim L\{\Lambda \to E_2\}$  implies that dim coKer  $B_1 = k$ . Since the space  $L\{\Lambda \to E_1\}$  is isomorphic to the space  $\Lambda^* \otimes E_1$  (designation  $L\{\Lambda \to E_1\} \approx \Lambda^* \otimes E_1$ ), then  $L\{\Lambda \to E_2\}^* \approx \Lambda \otimes E_2^*$  and the operators  $\Psi_i = \xi_i \otimes \psi$ in the space  $L\{\Lambda \to E_2\}^*$  form a basis in the space coKer  $B_1$ . Thus for the solvability of the equation  $A_0 Dh(0) = -B_1$  the realization of the following equalities  $\langle B_1, \Psi_i \rangle = 0, i = 1, ..., n$  is necessary and sufficient.

In this case the operator Dh(0) is defined up to linear combinations of the operators  $\Phi_i$ .

Suppose by induction that the operator  $D^{s-1}h(0)$  is determined and consider the equation

$$A_0 D^s h(0) \lambda^s + (DA(0)\lambda) (D^{s-1}h(0)\lambda^{s-1}) = [A_0 D^s h(0) + B_s] \lambda^s.$$
(2.1)

The operator  $A_0$  generates the operator  $B_s$  acting from the space  $L\{\Lambda \otimes \cdots \otimes A \to E_1\} = L\{\otimes_s A \to E_1\}$  into the space  $L\{\bigotimes_s A \to E_2\}$  according to the rule: if  $S \in \{\bigotimes_s A \to E_1\}$ , then  $B_s S = A_0 S$ . Since the space  $L\{\bigotimes_s A \to E_1\}$  is isomorphic to  $\bigotimes_s A^* \otimes E_1$  (represented by the elements of the space), then dim Ker  $B_s = k^s$  and a basis in Ker  $B_s$  composed by the operators  $\Phi_{i_1 \cdots i_s}$ , can be constructed in the following manner: let the vectors  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k$  form the basis in A and  $\xi_1^*, \ldots, \xi_k^*$  be the biorthogonal basis in  $A^*$ , the vectors  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$   $(u_1, \ldots, u_n)$  form the basis in  $E_1$  (resp.  $E_2$ ), where for definiteness  $e_1 = \varphi$   $(u_1^* = \psi)$ , then the vectors  $\Phi_{i_1 \cdots i_s}$  are given by the formulae  $\Phi_{i_1 \cdots i_s} = \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes \varphi$  and  $B_s \Phi_{i_1 \cdots i_s} = 0$ . In an analogous manner define a basis of coKer  $B_s \subset [L\{\bigotimes_s A \to E_2\}]^* \approx \bigotimes_s A^* \otimes E_2$  as linearly independent vectors  $\Psi_{j_1 \cdots j_s} = \xi_{j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{j_s} \otimes \psi$  forming the space of dimension  $k^s$ . In fact, since  $S \in L\{\bigotimes_s A \to E_1\} \approx \bigotimes_s A^* \otimes E_1$ , then S can be represented in the form  $S = \sum a_{j_1 \cdots j_s} \bigotimes_{s=1}^s \xi_{j_k}^* \otimes e_j$  and therefore  $B_s S = \sum a_{j_1 \cdots j_s} \bigotimes_s \xi_{j_k}^* \otimes A_0 e_j$ . As far as  $\langle B_s S, \Psi_{i_1 \cdots i_s} \rangle = \sum a_{j_1 \cdots j_s} \langle \bigotimes_{k=1}^s \xi_{j_k}^* \otimes \varphi_k$  absis of the space coKer  $B_s$ .

Thus for the solvability of (2.1) it is necessary and sufficient that the following conditions hold:

$$\langle B_s, \Psi_{j_1\cdots j_s} \rangle = 0, \quad j_1, \dots, j_s = \overline{1, n}$$
 (2.2)

**Definition 2.2** The elements  $\varphi$ , Dh(0),  $D^2h(0)$ , ...,  $D^ph(0)$ , as far as they are determined, form a Jordan chain of the zero-element  $\varphi$  for the operator-function  $A_0 + DA(0)\lambda$ .

**Lemma 2.3** For the irreversibility of the operator-function  $A_0 + DA(0)\lambda$  everywhere in the neighborhood of the point  $\lambda = 0$  the existence of an infinite Jordan chain is necessary and sufficient.

**Sufficiency** Let there exists an infinite JCh. For the simplification introduce on every step Schmidt's operator [1]. Then using accepted designations  $\widetilde{A}_0 =$ 

 $A_0 + \langle \cdot, e_1^* \rangle u_1 \text{ is the Schmidt's operator for } A_0, \widetilde{A}_0^{-1} = \Gamma \text{ [1]. Analogously, } \widetilde{B}_1 = B_1 + \sum_{i=1}^k \langle \cdot, \xi_i \otimes e_1^* \rangle \xi_i^* \otimes u_1. \text{ For } L\{\Lambda \to E_1\} \ni S = \sum_m a_{1m} \xi_m^* \otimes e_1 \text{ one has } \widetilde{B}_1 S = B_1 S + \sum_{i=1}^k \langle \sum_m a_{1m} \xi_m^* \otimes e_1, \xi_i \otimes e_1^* \rangle \xi_i^* \otimes u_1 = B_1 S + \sum_{i=1}^k a_{1i} \xi_i^* \otimes u_1, \text{ and since } \langle S\lambda, e_1^* \rangle = \langle \sum_m a_{1,m} \lambda_m e_1, e_1^* \rangle = \sum_m a_{1m} \lambda_m = \sum_m a_{1m} \xi_m^* \langle \lambda \rangle \text{ then } \widetilde{B}_1 S = A_0 S + \langle S \cdot, e_1^* \rangle u_1 = \widetilde{A}_0 S. \text{ If } \Gamma_1 = \widetilde{B}_1^{-1}. \text{ From here it follows } \Gamma_1 T = \Gamma T \text{ for } T \in L\{\Lambda_1 \to E_2\}. \text{ For the proof it is sufficient to set } S = \Gamma T \Rightarrow \widetilde{B}_1 \Gamma T = \widetilde{A}_0 \Gamma T = T \Rightarrow \Gamma_1 \widetilde{B}_1 \Gamma T = \Gamma_1 T \Rightarrow \Gamma T = \Gamma_1 T.$ 

Analogously, if  $B_s : L\{\bigotimes_s \Lambda \to E_1\} \to L\{\bigotimes_s \Lambda \to E_2\}$ , then  $\widetilde{B}_s S = \widetilde{A}_0 S$  for  $S \in L\{\bigotimes_s \Lambda \to E_1\}$ . In fact,  $\widetilde{B}_s S = B_s S + \sum \langle \cdot, \xi_{j_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes \xi_{j_s} \otimes e_1^* \rangle \xi_{j_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{j_s}^* \otimes e_1$  and  $S = \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes e_i \Rightarrow \widetilde{B}_s S = A_s S + \sum \langle \sum \langle a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes e_i \rangle \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes u_1 \rangle = A_0 S + \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes e_1^* \rangle \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes u_1 \rangle = A_0 S + \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes u_1 \rangle = A_0 S + \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \xi_{i_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{i_s}^* \otimes u_1 \rangle = \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, i} \lambda_{i_1} \dots \lambda_{i_s} e_i e_i^* \rangle = \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, 1} \lambda_{i_1} \dots \lambda_{i_s} = \sum a_{i_1 \cdots i_s, 1} e_{i_1}^* \langle \lambda \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{i_s}^* \langle \lambda \rangle$ . If now  $\Gamma_k = (\widetilde{A}_k)^{-1}$ , then  $\Gamma_k T = \Gamma T$ , where  $T \in \{\bigotimes_s \Lambda \to E_2\}$ . From the last relation the inequality  $\|\Gamma_k\| \leq \|\Gamma\|$  follows.

In an analogous manner define the operator  $D_s$  acting from  $L\{\bigotimes_{s-1} \Lambda \to E_1\}$ into  $L\{\bigotimes_s \Lambda \to E_2\}$  according to the rule  $D_s S\lambda = R(S\lambda, \lambda)$ , for  $S \in L\{\bigotimes_{s-1} \Lambda \to E_1\}$ . Note here, that  $D_0 : E_1 \to L\{\Lambda \to E_2\}$ . Obviously  $||D_s|| \le ||R||$  holds. The usage of the introduced notations implies the following formulae for Jordan chain elements  $J^{s+1} = (\Gamma_s D_{s-1}) \dots (\Gamma_1 D_0)\varphi$ ,  $s = 1, 2, \dots, J^1 = \varphi$ . The estimate  $||J^{s+1}|| \le (||R|| ||\Gamma||)^s ||\varphi||$  gives the convergence of the series  $h(\lambda)$  in some neighborhood of  $\lambda = 0$ .

**Necessity** Let in some neighborhood of  $\lambda = 0$  the operator-function  $A(\lambda)$  be irreversible, i.e. there exists a function  $X(\lambda) : D_{\varepsilon}(0) \to E_1$  such that  $A(\lambda)X(\lambda) = 0$ ,  $X(\lambda) \neq 0$ ,  $||X(\lambda)|| = 1$  or at the usage of accepted notations  $A_0X(\lambda) + R(X(\lambda), \lambda) = 0 \Rightarrow \widetilde{A}_0X(\lambda) + R(X(\lambda), \lambda) = \langle X(\lambda), e_1^* \rangle u_1 \Rightarrow [I + \Gamma R(\cdot, \lambda)]X(\lambda) = \langle X(\lambda), e_1^* \rangle e_1 \Rightarrow X(\lambda) = \langle X(\lambda), e_1^* \rangle (I + \Gamma R(\cdot, \lambda))^{-1} e_1$ , since  $\Gamma = (\widetilde{A}_0)^{-1}$  exists,  $\Gamma u_1 = e_1$ , when  $\lambda$  is sufficiently small. Then  $\langle X(\lambda), e_1^* \rangle \neq 0$  at  $||X(\lambda)|| = 1$ , and by the application of the functional  $e_1^*$  one has  $1 = \langle [I + \Gamma R(\cdot, \lambda)]^{-1} e_1, e_1^* \rangle \Rightarrow \langle \Gamma R(e_1, \lambda), e_1^* \rangle - \langle \Gamma R(\Gamma R(e_1, \lambda), \lambda), e_1^* \rangle + \cdots = 0$ . Its realization for all sufficiently smooth  $\lambda$  by using the relation  $\Gamma^* e_1^* = u_1^*$  gives

$$\langle R(e_1,\lambda), u_1^* \rangle = 0, \qquad \langle R(\Gamma R(e_1,\lambda),\lambda), u_1^* \rangle = 0, \qquad \dots, \langle R(\dots(\Gamma R(e_1,\lambda)),\dots,\lambda), u_1^* \rangle = 0, \qquad \dots$$
 (2.3)

From the first equality (2.3) follows that the operator  $D_0\varphi$  (here  $D_0\varphi = R(e_1, \cdot)$ ) is orthogonal to the operators  $\Psi_i = \xi_i \otimes u_1^*, i = 1, ..., k$ , since according to (2.1)  $R(e_1, \cdot) = \sum r_{\sigma\rho}\xi_{\sigma}^* \otimes u_{\rho}, \rho > 1$ . Thus the conditions for the existence of the element  $J^2$  are realized. Analogously the relation  $\langle R(\cdots(\Gamma R(e_1, \lambda)), \ldots, \lambda), u_1^* \rangle = 0$ means, that the polylinear function  $R(\ldots(\Gamma R(e_1, \lambda)), \ldots, \lambda)$  is equal to  $\sum r_{\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_s,\rho}\xi_{\sigma_1}^* \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{\sigma_s} \otimes u_{\rho}, \rho > 1$  and therefore is orthogonal to all  $\Psi_{\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_s,1} = \xi_{\sigma_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \xi_{\sigma_s} \otimes u_1$ . Thus the conditions for the existence of any elements  $J^{s+1}$  are fulfilled. **Lemma 2.4** If  $\lambda = 0$  is a simple eigenvalue of the operator-function (1.2), i.e. if the Jordan chain consists of only one element  $\varphi$ , then in a small neighborhood of  $\lambda = 0$  the operator-function is invertible everywhere with the exception of some hypersurface passing through zero.

Below the operator-function  $A_0^*x + R^*(x, \lambda)$  is considered, where under  $R^*(x, \lambda)$  one understands the conjugate to the matrix  $R(\cdot, \lambda)$  with regard to the action  $R(y, \lambda) = R(\lambda)y$ .

**Lemma 2.5** If the operator-function  $A(\lambda) = A_0 + R(\cdot, \lambda)$  has zero as a simple eigenvalue, then the operator-function  $A^*(\lambda) = A_0^* + R^*(\cdot, \lambda)$  also has zero as a simple eigenvalue. It is non-invertible on the same hypersurface where  $A(\lambda)$  is. The zero-element of  $A^*(\lambda)$  is determined by the formula  $\Psi(y) = (I + \Gamma^* R^*(\cdot, \lambda))^{-1} u_1^*$ .

### **3** Jordan Chains Along Directions

For every point  $0 \neq \lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n) \in \Lambda$  let  $e_{\lambda} = \frac{\lambda}{\|\lambda\|}$  be the unit vector in the direction of  $\lambda$ . Then the restriction of the operator-function  $A(\cdot, \lambda) = A_0 + R(\cdot, \lambda)$  on the straight line  $\lambda = \varepsilon e_{\lambda}$  depends now only on a one-dimensional parameter  $\varepsilon$ :  $A_{\lambda}(x, \varepsilon) = [A_0 + \varepsilon R(\cdot, e_{\lambda})]x$ . At the assumption  $R(\cdot, e_{\lambda}) \neq 0$  one can define JChs of the operator-function  $A_{\lambda}(x, \varepsilon)$ , which are called JChs of the operator-function  $A(x, \lambda)$  along the direction  $\lambda$ . The relevant length of the JCh of  $A_{\lambda}(x, \varepsilon)$  is denoted by  $p(\lambda)$ .

**Lemma 3.1** Let p be the length of the JCh of the multiparameter operator-function  $A(x, \lambda)$ . Then for any direction  $\lambda \ p \le p(\lambda)$  and for almost all directions  $\lambda$  with the exception of an algebraic set  $p = p(\lambda)$ .

**Definition 3.2** The directions  $\lambda^0$  along which  $p(\lambda^0) > p$  are called singular, all other ones are nonsingular. A singular direction, along which the operator-function  $A_0 + \varepsilon R(\cdot, \lambda^0)$  is non-invertible is called degenerated.

*Remark 3.3* Let be  $p < \infty$ . According to Theorem 30.1 [1] on the set of all nonsingular directions  $\lambda^0$  the operator-function  $A_0 + R(\cdot, \lambda^0)$  is invertible in the ball  $0 < |\epsilon| < \rho(\lambda^0)$  for some  $\rho(\lambda^0)$ .

*Remark 3.4* The following example shows that  $\rho(\lambda)$  cannot be chosen independently of  $\lambda$ :  $A(\lambda)x = \left[ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_1 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right] \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}$ , det  $A(\lambda) = \lambda_1 - \lambda_1^2 - \lambda_2^2$ .  $A(\lambda)$  is non-invertible on the curve  $(\lambda_1 - \frac{1}{2})^2 + \lambda_2^2 = \frac{1}{4}$ . Here any direction  $\lambda^0 \neq (0, 1)$ , except the vertical ones, is nonsingular and  $\rho(\lambda^0)$  is equal to the distance between zero and the intersection point of the direction  $\lambda^0$  with the curve  $\lambda_1 - \lambda_1^2 - \lambda_2^2 = 0$ . Obviously,  $\rho(\lambda^0) \to 0$  for  $\lambda^0 \to (0, 1)$ . Along the singular direction  $(0, 1) A(\lambda)$  is invertible everywhere except  $\lambda = 0$ . *Remark 3.5* If along some direction  $\lambda^0 A(\lambda)$  has a maximal JCh, then along this direction it is invertible everywhere except  $\lambda = 0$ .

**Corollary 3.6** The length of JCh is either equal to infinity, or is not exceeding the space dimension.

**Lemma 3.7** If for the operator-function  $A(\lambda) = A_0 + R(\cdot, \lambda)$  the length of JCh is p, then for any sufficiently small value  $\lambda \neq 0$ , for which the direction  $\lambda^0 = \frac{\lambda}{\|\lambda\|}$  is non-degenerated, the images of the JCh elements in the point  $\lambda$  are linearly independent.

*Remark 3.8* The following example shows that the images of JCh elements in the point  $\lambda^0$  can be linearly dependent, while the direction  $\lambda^0$  is degenerated

$$A(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_1 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.1)

This operator-function has JCh consisting of two elements  $J^1 = \varphi = (1, 0, 0)^T$ and  $J^2(\lambda) = (0, \lambda_1, 0)^T$ . This chain is non-prolongated, since  $R(J^2(\lambda), \lambda) = (\lambda_1^2, \lambda_1\lambda_2, 0)^T$  and therefore if  $\Psi = \xi_1 \otimes \xi_2 \otimes \psi$ , then  $\langle R(J^2(\lambda), \lambda), \Psi \rangle \neq 0$ . However, on the straight line corresponding to the degenerated direction (0, 1) (or (0, 1, 0) if dim  $\Lambda = 3$ ) the images of JCh elements are linearly dependent since there  $J^2(\lambda) = 0$ .

**Lemma 3.9** If for  $n \le k$  and for  $A_0 + R(\cdot, \lambda)$  the length of JCh is p > 1, then always there exists a direction  $\lambda^0$  along which  $A_0 + \varepsilon R(\cdot, \lambda^0)$  is degenerated.

*Remark 3.10* When n > k the degenerated direction  $\lambda^0$  does not always exist as shows the following example

$$A(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_1 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

JCh for this  $A(\lambda)$  consists of two elements (1, 0, 0) and  $(0, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)$ . Obviously that the square vector-function  $(\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2, 0, 0)$  satisfied one of two conditions  $\lambda_1(\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2) \neq 0$  or  $\lambda_2(\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2) \neq 0$  and along the directions (1, 0) and (0, 1)  $A(\lambda)$  is not degenerated, since det $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 \\ \lambda_1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = -\lambda_1^2 \neq 0$  and det $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \lambda_2 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = -\lambda_2^2 \neq 0$ . For the "intermediate" direction (1, a) one has det $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon & \varepsilon a \\ \varepsilon & 1 & 0 \\ \varepsilon a & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = -\varepsilon^2 - \varepsilon^2 a^2 \neq 0$ . Thus,  $A(\lambda)$  has no degenerated directions.

*Remark 3.11* However, for more complicated, nonlinear  $A(\lambda)$  in  $\lambda$  Lemma 3.9 is not valid, as the following example shows:  $A(x, \lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} - \lambda_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda_3 \begin{pmatrix} x_$ 

 $\lambda_1^2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}$ . It has no degenerated direction, since det  $A(\lambda) = \lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 \neq 0$  for  $\lambda \neq 0$ .

*Remark 3.12* The following example shows, that when  $A(\lambda)$  has zero as simple eigenvalue, a degenerated direction for it can exist:  $A(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} - \lambda_1 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $R(e_1, \lambda) = \xi_1^* \otimes u_1 \Rightarrow \langle R(e_1, \cdot), \Psi_1 \rangle = \langle R(e_1, \cdot), \xi_1 \otimes \psi \rangle = 1$  i.e. p = 1, while the direction (0, 1) is degenerated.

### 4 Degenerated Differential Equations

In this section the results of Sects. 2, 3 are applied to the questions on the existence and uniqueness of the solutions of degenerated DE

$$\left[A_0 + R(\cdot, x)\right]x' = Bx \tag{4.1}$$

Suppose that  $A_0 + R(\cdot, x)$  has zero as a simple eigenvalue, i.e. JCh consists of only one zero-element. According to Lemma 2.4 in a neighborhood of x = 0 there exists a hypersurface M, on which  $A_0 + R(\cdot, x)$  is degenerated, i.e. it has the zero-element  $\Phi(x) = [I + \Gamma R(\cdot, x)]^{-1}e_1$  satisfying the condition  $\langle \Phi(x), e_1^* \rangle = 1$ . The hypersurface M is determined by the equation  $\langle R(\cdot, x)(I + \Gamma R(\cdot, x))^{-1}e_1, e_1^* \rangle = 0$  and the tangent space to it in the point x = 0 is given by the equation  $x_1 \langle R(e_1, e_1), \Psi \rangle + \cdots + x_n \langle R(e_1, e_n), \Psi \rangle = 0$ .

Outside of *M* the Cauchy problem for (4.1) has a unique solution, while on *M* the system (4.1) it can have solution nowhere (except at the point x = 0), can have solutions everywhere on *M* or only on some sub-manifold  $M_1 \subset M$ , as simple examples show.

**Definition 4.1** JCh of  $A_0 + R(\cdot, x)$  is breaking along the principal direction  $e_1$ , if  $\langle R(e_1, e_1), \Psi \rangle \neq 0$ .

**Definition 4.2** The operator-function  $A_0 + R(\cdot, x)$  is non-degenerated along a hypersurface M, if it has no zeroes on the tangent stratification to M.

**Lemma 4.3** If for the operator-function  $A(x) = A_0 + R(\cdot, x)$  the JCh is breaking along the principal direction, then A(x) is non-degenerated along the hypersurface *M* in a neighborhood of the point zero.

However the following example shows, that if the JCh of A(x) is breaking along the non-principal direction  $\langle R(e_1, e_1), \Psi \rangle = 0$ , then A(x) can be degenerated along the hypersurface M:  $A(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ . Here M is determined by the equation  $x_2 = 0$  and the zero-element  $e_1$  belongs to the tangent space to M in any point of the neighborhood x = 0.

**Theorem 4.4** Let zero be a simple eigenvalue of A(x) and its JCh be breaking along the principal direction. If in addition  $Bx \in \text{Im } A(x)$  for any  $x \in M$ , then the unique solution to (4.1) belonging to M passes through any point of a neighborhood of x = 0 on M.

For the case when JCh of A(x) is breaking along a non-principal direction the following analog of Theorem 4.4 is true.

**Theorem 4.5** Let A(x) have a simple eigenvalue in zero and also its JCh be breaking along a non-principal direction, but nevertheless A(x) be non-degenerate along the hypersurface M in some particular neighborhood of zero. If in addition  $Bx \in \text{Im } A(x)$  for any  $x \in M$ , then the unique solution to (4.1) belonging to Mpasses through any point of this neighborhood in M.

In the following example  $\binom{x_2 \ x_1}{x_1 \ 1} \binom{x_1'}{x_2'} = \binom{0 \ 1}{1 \ 0} \binom{x_1}{x_2}$ , *M* is determined by the equation  $x_2 = x_1^2$  and in a particular neighborhood of zero on *M* the operator-function  $A(x) = \binom{x_1^2 \ x_1}{x_1 \ 1}$  has the zero-element  $(-1, x_1)$ , not belonging to the tangent subspace to *M* in the point  $(x_1, x_1^2)$ . This system on the hypersurface *M* takes the form  $\binom{x_1^2 \ x_1}{x_1 \ 1} \binom{x_1'}{2x_1'} = \binom{0 \ 1}{1 \ 0} \binom{x_1}{x_1^2}$ , and when  $x_1 \neq 0$  the obtained equation  $(x_1 + 2)x_1' = x_1$  is uniquely solvable.

**Theorem 4.6** Let the operator-function A(x) have a simple eigenvalue in zero and its JCh be breaking along a non-principal direction. Let in addition in some neighborhood of x = 0 the zero-element  $\Phi(x)$  of A(x) belong to the tangent stratification TM. If also for any  $x \in M$ ,  $Bx \in \text{Im}(A(x)|_{TM(x)})$ , then in this neighborhood of x = 0 there exists an (n - 2)-dimensional submanifold N of the hypersurface M on which (4.1) is uniquely solvable.

The condition  $Bx \in \text{Im}(A(x))|_{TM(x)}$  cannot be replaced by the condition by Theorem 4.4 condition:  $\begin{pmatrix} x_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x'_1 \\ x'_2 \\ x'_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}$  from Theorem 4.4. The hypersurface M here is  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 | x_2 = 0\}$ , the system on it has the solution  $x_1 = 0, x_3 = 0$ .

*Remark 4.7* There are examples showing that solutions to (4.1) beginning on the hypersurface M can leave M. Here the uniqueness of the solution with a given initial point can be lost. In the assumptions of Theorem 4.4 the conditions are found, which determine solutions beginning on the manifold M and not belonging to it.

## References

 M.M. Vainberg, V.A. Trenogin, Branching Theory of Solutions to Nonlinear Equations (Nauka, Moscow, 1964). English translation. Wolter Noordoff Leyden (1974)

# **Cauchy Problem for a First Order Ordinary Differential System with Variable Coefficients**

#### A. Tungatarov

**Abstract** In this article the general solution of the first order ordinary differential systems is found. The Cauchy problem is solved.

Keywords Ordinary differential system · Variable coefficient · Cauchy problem

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 34B05

# **1** Introduction

Let  $-\infty < t_1 < t_2 < \infty$  and  $S[t_1, t_2]$  be the set of measurable, essentially bounded functions f(t) in  $[t_1, t_2]$  with the norm

$$||f||_1 = \operatorname{esssup}_{t \in [t_1, t_2]} |f(t)| = \lim_{p \to \infty} ||f||_{L_p[t_1, t_2]}.$$

Here  $L_p[t_1, t_2]$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$  is the set of functions, the p-th powers of which are integrable on  $[t_1, t_2]$  with norm  $||f||_{L_p[t_1, t_2]} = (\int_{t_1}^{t_2} |f(t)|^p dt)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ .

We consider the system

$$u' = f(t)u + g(t)v + h(t), \qquad v' = g(t)u - f(t)v + q(t)$$
(1.1)

in  $[t_1, t_2]$ , where  $h(t), q(t) \in L_1[t_1, t_2]$ ;  $f(t), g(t) \in S[t_1, t_2]$ .

E. Kamke in his reference book [1] gives a general solution for the system

$$u' = f(t)u - g(t)v,$$
  $v' = g(t)u + f(t)v,$ 

but he does not consider the system (1.1). This is connected to the fact that the methods used for the latter system are not applicable for (1.1). In the present work we construct the general solution of the system (1.1) in the class

A. Tungatarov (⊠)

av. al-Farabi 71, P.O. Box 050040, Almaty, Kazakhstan e-mail: tun-mat@list.ru

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_15

A. Tungatarov

$$W_{\infty}^{1}[t_{1}, t_{2}] \cap C[t_{1}, t_{2}], \qquad (1.2)$$

where  $W_{\infty}^{1}[t_{1}, t_{2}]$  is the class of function f(t) for which  $f'(t) \in S[t_{1}, t_{2}]$ . Let  $t_{0} \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]$ . We consider the Cauchy problem:

**Problem K** Find the solution of system (1.1) from the class (1.2) satisfying the Cauchy conditions

$$u(t_0) = \alpha, \qquad v(t_0) = \beta, \tag{1.3}$$

where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are given real numbers.

## **2** Construction of the General Solution to (1.1)

For solving the system (1.1) by multiplying the second equation of this system by  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and adding it to the first equation of this system we obtain

$$W' - b(t)\overline{W} = a(t), \qquad (2.1)$$

where b(t) = f(t) + ig(t), a(t) = h(t) + iq(t), W = u + iv.

Obviously  $b(t) \in S[t_1, t_2]$ ,  $a(t) \in L_1[t_1, t_2]$  and  $W \in W^1_{\infty}[t_1, t_2] \cap C[t_1, t_2]$ . By integrating (2.1) we have

By integrating (2.1) we have

$$W(t) = (BW)(t) + A_0(t) + c, \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$(BW)(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) \overline{W(\tau)} d\tau, \qquad A_0(t) = \int_{t_0}^t a(\tau) d\tau,$$

c is an arbitrary complex number.

Applying the operator B to both sides of (2.2) we get

$$(BW)(t) = (B^2W)(t) + A_1(t) + \overline{c}I_1(t),$$
(2.3)

where

$$(B^2 W)(t) = (B(BW)(t))(t), \qquad I_1(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) d\tau,$$
$$A_1(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) \overline{A_0(\tau)} d\tau.$$

From (2.3) and (2.2) it follows

$$W(t) = (B^2 W)(t) + A_0(t) + A_1(t) + \overline{c}I_1(t) + c.$$

Continuing this procedure n times we have

$$W(t) = \left(B^{2n}W\right)(t) + \sum_{j=0}^{2n-1} A_j(t) + \overline{c} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^n I_{2j-1}(t) + c\left(1 + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} I_{2j}(t)\right), \quad (2.4)$$

where

$$(B^n W)(t) = (B(B^{n-1}W)(t))(t), \qquad I_j(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau)\overline{I_{j-1}(\tau)}d\tau,$$
$$A_j(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau)\overline{A_{j-1}(\tau)}d\tau \quad (j = 1, 2, ...), \qquad (B^1 W)(t) = (BW)(t)$$

Taking into consideration the definition of the operators  $(B^n W)(t)$  and the functions  $I_n(t)$ ,  $A_n(t)$  the following estimates are obtained:

$$\left| \left( B^{n} W \right)(t) \right| \leq |W|_{0} \frac{(|b|_{1}|t - t_{0}|)^{n}}{n!}, \qquad \left| I_{n}(t) \right| \leq \frac{(|b|_{1}|t - t_{0}|)^{n}}{n!},$$

$$\left| A_{n}(t) \right| \leq |A_{0}|_{0} \frac{(|b|_{1}|t - t_{0}|)^{n}}{n!} \quad (n = 1, 2, ...),$$

$$(2.5)$$

where

$$|f|_{0} = \max_{t \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]} |f(t)|, \qquad |f|_{1} = \operatorname{esssup}_{t \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]} |f(t)| = \lim_{p \to \infty} ||f(t)||_{L_{p}[t_{1}, t_{2}]}$$

Passing to the limit with  $n \to \infty$  in the representation (2.4) and taking estimates (2.5) into account we receive

$$W(t) = \overline{c}P_1(t) + cP_2(t) + P_3(t), \qquad (2.6)$$

where

$$P_1(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} I_{2j-1}(t), \qquad P_2(t) = 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} I_{2j}(t), \qquad P_3(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A_j(t).$$

Using inequalities (2.5) we obtain

$$|P_1(t)| \le \sinh(|b|_1|t - t_0|), \qquad |P_2(t)| \le \cosh(|b|_1|t - t_0|), |P_3(t)| \le |A_0|_0 \exp(|b|_1|t - t_0|).$$
(2.7)

From the forms of the functions  $P_1(t)$ ,  $P_2(t)$ ,  $P_3(t)$  it follows

$$P'_{1}(t) = b(t)\overline{P_{2}(t)}, \qquad P'_{2}(t) = b(t)\overline{P_{1}(t)}, \qquad P'_{3}(t) = b(t)\overline{P_{3}(t)} + a(t).$$
 (2.8)

From (2.8) using the equalities  $P_1(t_0) = 0$ ,  $P_2(t_0) = 1$  we have the integral equations

$$P_1(t) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) \overline{P_2(\tau)} d\tau, \qquad P_2(t) = 1 + \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) \overline{P_1(\tau)} d\tau.$$
(2.9)

Integrating by parts n times the integral on the right -hand side of the second (2.9) we obtain

$$P_{2}(t) - 1 = \overline{P_{1}(t)} \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{n} I_{2k-1}(t) - P_{2}(t) \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{n} \overline{I_{2k}(t)} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} b(\tau) \overline{I_{2n}(\tau)} \cdot \overline{P_{1}(\tau)} d\tau.$$

Thus, passing to the limit with  $n \to \infty$  and taking into account estimates (2.5) and (2.7) in the last equality we obtain the identity

$$|P_2(t)|^2 - |P_1(t)|^2 \equiv 1$$

From the last identity and (2.8) it follows, that the Wronskian of the functions  $P_1(t)$  and  $P_2(t)$  is equal to  $-b(t) \neq 0$ . Therefore, the functions  $P_1(t)$  and  $P_2(t)$  form a linearly independent system in  $[t_1, t_2]$ . Thus, the general solution of (2.1) is found by the formula (2.6). Highlighting the real and imaginary parts of the equality (2.6) we obtain the solution of the system (1.1):

$$u = c_1 \Re (P_1(t) + P_2(t)) + c_2 \Im (P_1(t) - P_2(t)) + \Re P_3(t),$$
  
$$v = c_1 \Im (P_1(t) + P_2(t)) - c_2 \Re (P_1(t) - P_2(t)) + \Im P_3(t),$$

where  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are arbitrary real numbers.

## **3** Solving the Cauchy Problem

Now let us solve Problem K. To solve the Cauchy problem we use (2.6). From the form of the functions  $P_1(t)$ ,  $P_2(t)$  and  $P_3(t)$  it follows

$$P_1(t_0) = P_3(t_0) = 0, \qquad P_2(t_0) = 1.$$

Using these formulas from (2.6) we obtain

$$u(t_0) + iv(t_0) = c_1 + ic_2,$$
  $u(t_0) = c_1,$   $v(t_0) = c_2.$ 

Thus, due to (1.3) we get

$$c_1 = \alpha, \qquad c_2 = \beta.$$

The obtained value  $c = c_1 + ic_2$  is put in (2.6):

$$W(t) = (\alpha - i\beta)P_1(t) + (\alpha + i\beta)P_2(t) + P_3(t).$$

Highlighting the real and imaginary parts of the last formula we finally obtain the solution of the Cauchy problem:

$$u = \alpha \Re (P_1(t) + P_2(t)) + \beta \Im (P_1(t) - P_2(t)) + \Re P_3(t),$$
  

$$v = \alpha \Im (P_1(t) + P_2(t)) - \beta \Re (P_1(t) - P_2(t)) + \Im P_3(t).$$
(3.1)

Thus, the following theorem is proved.

**Theorem 3.1** *The Cauchy problem has the only solution which is given by the formula* (3.1).

*Remark 3.2* The obtained results remain in force and in the case:

$$f(t), g(t), h(t), q(t) \in C[t_1, t_2];$$
  
 $u(t), v(t) \in C^1[t_1, t_2].$ 

# 4 Cauchy Problem for the Nonlinear First Order Ordinary Differential System

Let  $-\infty < t_1 < t_0 < t_2 < \infty$ . We consider the nonlinear system

$$u' = f(t)u + g(t)v + h(t, u, v), \qquad v' = g(t)u - f(t)v + q(t, u, v), \tag{4.1}$$

in the interval  $[t_1, t_2]$ , where  $f(t), g(t) \in C[t_1, t_2]$  and the functions h(t, u, v), q(t, u, v) are continuous in the set of variables in the domain  $|t - t_0| < \delta$ ,  $|u - \alpha| < \sigma_1$ ,  $|v - \beta| < \sigma_2$ . Here  $u(t_0) = \alpha$ ,  $v(t_0) = \beta$ ;  $\delta$ ,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2$  are real numbers, so that  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\sigma_1 > 0$ ,  $\sigma_2 > 0$ ,  $\delta < t_2 - t_1$ . The connection between the numbers  $\delta$  and  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  will be defined later. Multiplying the second equation of the system (4.1) by  $i = \sqrt{-1}$ , then adding it to the first equation of (4.1) we get

$$W' - b(t)\overline{W} = a(t, W), \qquad (4.2)$$

where W = u + iv, b(t) = f(t) + ig(t), a(t, W) = h(t, u, v) + iq(t, u, v).

Obviously  $b(t) \in C[t_1, t_2]$  and the function a(t, W) is continuous in the set of variables in the domain  $|t - t_0| < \delta$ ,  $|W - \gamma| < \sigma$ , where  $\gamma = \alpha + i\beta$ ,  $\sigma = \sigma_1 + \sigma_2$ . We find the solution to (4.2) from the class  $C^1[t_1, t_2]$  satisfying the following condition

$$W(t_0) = \gamma. \tag{4.3}$$

Equality (4.3) follows from (1.3).

Using formula (2.6) we have

$$W(t) = \bar{c}P_1(t) + cP_2(t) + P_3(t, W), \qquad (4.4)$$

where

$$P_{3}(t, W) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A_{j}(t, W), \qquad A_{0}(t, W) = \int_{t_{0}}^{t} a(\tau, W(\tau)) d\tau,$$

$$A_j(t, W) = \int_{t_0}^t b(\tau) \overline{A_{j-1}(\tau, W)} d\tau, \quad (j = \overline{1, \infty}).$$

From (2.7), (2.9) it follows

$$\left|P_{1}(t)\right| \leq |b|_{1}\delta\cosh\delta_{1}, \qquad \left|P_{2}(t)-1\right| \leq |b|_{1}\delta\sinh\delta_{1}, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$|P_1(t_4) - P_1(t_3)| \le |b|_1 \sinh \delta_1 \cdot (t_4 - t_3), |P_2(t_4) - P_2(t_3)| \le |b|_1 \cosh \delta_1 \cdot (t_4 - t_3),$$
(4.6)

where  $\delta_1 = |b|_1 \cdot \delta$ ,  $t_1 \le t_3 < t_4 \le t_2$ .

Let  $a_1$  be the maximum of the function  $|P_3(t, W)|$  in the domain  $|t - t_0| < \delta$ ,  $|W - \gamma| < \sigma$ . From the form of the function  $P_3(t, W)$  it follows

$$|P_3(t, W)| \le a_1(\exp \delta_1 - 1),$$
 (4.7)

$$\left| P_3(t_4, W) - P_3(t_3, W) \right| \le a_1 \left( 1 + |b|_1 (\exp \delta_1 - 1) \right) (t_4 - t_3).$$
(4.8)

From the form of the functions  $P_1(t)$ ,  $P_2(t)$ ,  $P_3(t, W)$  and (2.8) it follows that the right hand-side of the equality (4.4) belongs to the class  $C^1[t_1, t_2]$ . If we take the derivative of both sides of the equality (4.4) then we obtain (4.2). Therefore, the following theorem holds.

**Theorem 4.1** Any solution of (4.4) from the class  $C[t_1, t_2]$  is a solution to (4.2) from the class  $C^1[t_1, t_2]$ .

We consider the solutions to (4.4) from the class  $C[t_1, t_2]$  satisfying initial condition (4.3). We obtain  $c = \gamma$  from (4.4) by taking into account the equalities

 $P_1(t_0) = P_3(t_0, W) = 0$ ,  $P_2(t_0) = 1$ . Thus, any solution from the class  $C[t_1, t_2]$  of the equation

$$W(t) = (DW)(t),$$
 (4.9)

where

$$(DW)(t) = \overline{\gamma} P_1(t) + \gamma P_2(t) + P_3(t, W)$$

is the solution of the Cauchy problem for (4.2).

Let

$$|\gamma||b|_1\delta\exp\delta_1 + a_1(\exp\delta_1 - 1) < \sigma, \tag{4.10}$$

where  $\delta_1 = \delta |b|_1$ ,  $a_1$  is the maximum of the function  $|P_3(t, W)|$  in the domain

$$|t-t_0| < \delta, \qquad |W-\gamma| < \sigma.$$

Inequality (4.10) always might be obtained for the small value of the number  $\delta$ . Let us prove the existence of continuous solutions to the system (4.1) in some neighborhood of the point  $t_0$ . **Theorem 4.2** Let f(t),  $g(t) \in C[t_1, t_2]$  and the functions h(t, u, v), q(t, u, v) be continuous in the set of variables in the domain  $|t - t_0| < \delta$ ,  $|u - \alpha| < \sigma_1$ ,  $|v - \beta| < \sigma_2$ . Then on the interval  $[t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta]$ , where the number  $\delta$  satisfies the condition (4.10) there exists at least one solution to the system (4.1) from the class  $C^1[t_1, t_2]$  satisfying the condition (1.3).

*Proof* If there exists a solution to (4.9) from the class  $C[t_1, t_2]$ , then by highlighting real and imaginary parts of it, we obtain the solution of the system (4.1) from the class  $C^1[t_1, t_2]$ . Therefore, by Theorem 4.2 it is sufficient to prove the existence of solutions from the class  $C[t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta]$  of (4.9). Let  $||W|| = \max_{|t-t_0| < \delta} |W(t)|$ . We consider the operator D which is defined by the equality

$$(DW)(t) = \overline{\gamma} P_1(t) + \gamma P_2(t) + P_3(t, W)$$

on the sphere  $||W - \gamma|| \le \sigma$  of the space  $C[t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta]$ . Let us show that the operator *D* is continuous enough on this sphere. Obviously the operator *D* is continuous on the sphere  $||W - \gamma|| \le \sigma$ . For any element W(t) of the sphere  $||W - \gamma|| \le \sigma$  in force of the inequalities (2.7), (4.7) we get

$$|(DW)(t)| \le |\gamma| \exp \delta_1 + a_1(\exp \delta_1 - 1).$$
 (4.11)

If  $t_3$  and  $t_4$  are two arbitrary points of the interval  $[t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta]$ , then by inequalities (4.6), (4.8) we have

$$|(DW)(t_4) - (DW)(t_3)| \le (|\gamma||b|_1 \exp \delta_1 + a_1 (1 + |b|_1 (\exp \delta_1 - 1)))(t_4 - t_3).$$
(4.12)

By the Arzela–Ascoli theorem from inequalities (4.11), (4.12) it follows, that the operator *D* transforms the sphere  $||W - \gamma|| \le \sigma$  into a compact set. We show that the operator *D* transforms this sphere into itself. Indeed, inequalities (4.5), (4.7) give us

$$\left| (DW)(t) - \gamma \right| \le |b|_1 \delta |\gamma| \exp \delta_1 + a_1 (\exp \delta_1 - 1).$$

Finally, inequality (4.10) gives  $|(DW)(t) - \gamma| < \sigma$ . Therefore, the operator *D* satisfies all the conditions of Schauder's theorem. Hence, there exists a fixed point of this operator, i.e. such a function W(t), so that

$$W(t) = \bar{\gamma} P_1(t) + \gamma P_2(t) + P_3(t, W).$$

Therefore, by Theorem 4.2 there exists a solution to the Cauchy problem for the system (4.1). The theorem is proved.  $\Box$ 

#### References

1. E. Kamke, Differentialgleichungen. Lösungsmethoden und Lösungen, Teil I (Akad. Verlag, Leipzig, 1959)

# General Solution of an *n*-th Order Linear Ordinary Differential Equation with Variable Coefficients

#### A. Tungatarov and B. Omarbayeva

**Abstract** In this article the general solution of an *n*-th order ordinary differential equations is found. The Cauchy problem for this equation is solved.

**Keywords** General solution  $\cdot n$ -th order linear ordinary differential equation  $\cdot$  Variable coefficients  $\cdot$  Cauchy problem

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 34B05

## **1** Introduction

Let  $-\infty < x_1 < x_2 < \infty$ . By  $S[x_1, x_2]$  we denote the class of measurable essentially bounded functions on  $[x_1, x_2]$ . The norm of an element from  $S[x_1, x_2]$  is defined by the formulas

$$\|f\|_{S[x_1,x_2]} = \sup vrai_{x \in [x_1,x_2]} |f(x)| = \lim_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_{L_p[x_1,x_2]}.$$

We consider the equation

$$\frac{d^n u}{dx^n} - p(x)u = f(x) \tag{1.1}$$

on  $[x_1, x_2]$ , where  $p(x), f(x) \in S[x_1, x_2]$ .

The general solution of (1.1) and the solution of the Cauchy problem with the initial problem in the point  $x_0 \in [x_1, x_2)$  for this equation will be sought from the class

$$C[x_1, x_2] \cap W^n_{\infty}[x_1, x_2],$$
 (1.2)

where  $W_{\infty}^{n}[x_{1}, x_{2}]$  is the class of functions f(x), for which  $\frac{d^{n}f}{dx^{n}} \in S[x_{1}, x_{2}]$ .

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

A. Tungatarov (🖂) · B. Omarbayeva

av. al-Farabi 71, P.O. Box 050040, Almaty, Kazakhstan e-mail: tun-mat@list.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_16

The general solution of (1.1) in the particular case n = 2 is given in [1, 2] and for n = 3 in [3]. Note that in the mathematical literature one cannot find any representation of solutions to (1.1).

If p(x),  $f(x) \in C[x_1, x_2]$  the general solution is found in the present article in the class  $C^n[x_1, x_2]$ .

# 2 Construction of the General Solution to (1.1)

Let us choose  $x_0 \in [x_1, x_2)$ . Integrating (1.1) *n* times gives

$$u(x) = (Bu)(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k (x - x_0)^{k-1} + g(x), \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_n$  are arbitrary real numbers,

$$(Bu)(x) = \int_{x_0}^x \int_{x_0}^{y_1} \int_{x_0}^{y_2} \cdots \int_{x_0}^{y_{n-1}} p(t)u(t)dt dy_{n-1}dy_{n-2} \dots dy_1$$
$$g(x) = \int_{x_0}^x \int_{x_0}^{y_1} \int_{x_0}^{y_2} \cdots \int_{x_0}^{y_{n-1}} f(t)dt dy_{n-1}dy_{n-2} \dots dy_1.$$

Applying the operator B to (2.1) we get

$$(Bu)(x) = (B^2u)(x) + (Bg)(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k a_{k,1}(x),$$
(2.2)

where

$$(B^2 u)(x) = (B(Bu)(x))(x),$$
  
$$a_{k,1}(x) = \int_{x_0}^x \int_{x_0}^{y_1} \int_{x_0}^{y_2} \cdots \int_{x_0}^{y_{n-1}} (t - x_0)^{k-1} p(t) dt dy_{n-1} dy_{n-2} \dots dy_1.$$

From (2.1) and (2.2) it follows

$$u(x) = (B^2 u)(x) + (Bg)(x) + g(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k ((x - x_0)^{k-1} + a_{k,1}(x)).$$
(2.3)

In the following we use the formulas

$$(B^k f)(x) = (B(B^{k-1}f)(x))(x),$$

 $a_{k,l}(x) = (Ba_{k,l-1}(x))(x)$ 

Linear Ordinary Differential Equation

$$= \int_{x_0}^x \int_{x_0}^{y_1} \int_{x_0}^{y_2} \cdots \int_{x_0}^{y_{n-1}} p(t)a_{k,l-1}(t)dt dy_{n-1}dy_{n-2} \dots dy_1.$$

Applying the operator B to both sides of (2.3) and using the previous formulas imply

$$(Bu)(x) = (B^{3}u)(x) + (B^{2}g)(x) + (Bg)(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k}(a_{k,1}(x) + a_{k,2}(x))$$
(2.4)

From (2.1) and (2.4) it follows

$$u(x) = (B^{3}u)(x) + g(x) + (Bg)(x) + (B^{2}g)(x) + (B^{3}g)(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} ((x - x_{0})^{k-1} + a_{k,1}(x) + a_{k,2}(x)).$$

Continuing this procedure m times we obtain the following integral equation for the solution of (1.1):

$$u(x) = (B^{m}u)(x) + g(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} (B^{k}g)(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} \left( (x - x_{0})^{k-1} + \sum_{l=1}^{m-1} a_{k,l}(x) \right).$$
(2.5)

Let us choose  $u(x) \in C[x_1, x_2]$ . Taking the definition of the iterated operators  $(B^k f)(x)$  and the iterated functions  $a_{k,l-1}(x)$  into consideration the following estimates are obtained without any difficulties:

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( B^{m} u \right)(x) \right| &\leq |u|_{1} \frac{(\sqrt[n]{p|_{0}} \cdot |x - x_{0}|)^{nm}}{(mn)!}, \\ \left| \left( B^{k} g \right)(x) \right| &\leq |g|_{1} \frac{(\sqrt[n]{p|_{0}} \cdot |x - x_{0}|)^{kn}}{(kn)!}, \\ \left| a_{k,l}(x) \right| &\leq |p|_{0}^{l} \frac{|x - x_{0}|^{nl}}{(nl)!}, \end{split}$$
(2.6)

where

$$|f|_0 = \sup vrai_{x \in [x_1, x_2]} |f(x)|, \qquad |f|_1 = \max_{x \in [x_1, x_2]} |f(x)|.$$

Passing to the limit  $m \to \infty$  in the representation (2.5), by virtue of (2), we conclude

$$u(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k \cdot I_k(x) + F(x), \qquad (2.7)$$

where

$$I_k(x) = (x - x_0)^{k-1} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_{k,m}(x), \qquad F(x) = g(x) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (B^m g)(x).$$

Using the estimates (2) we get

$$|I_k(x)| \le \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\sqrt[n]{|p|_0} \cdot |x - x_0|)^{nm}}{(mn)!} \quad (k = 1, 2, ..., n),$$
$$|F(x)| \le |g|_1 \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\sqrt[n]{|p|_0} \cdot |x - x_0|)^{mn}}{(mn)!}.$$

The following relations for the functions  $I_1(x)$ ,  $I_2(x)$ , ...,  $I_n(x)$  and F(x) are of importance:

$$\frac{d^{n}I_{k}}{dx^{n}} - p(x)I_{k} = 0 \quad (k = 1, 2, ..., n),$$

$$\frac{d^{n}F}{dx^{n}} - p(x)F(x) = f(x),$$

$$I_{k}^{l-1}(x_{0}) = \begin{cases} (l-1)!, & \text{if } k = 1, \\ 0, & \text{if } k \neq 1, \end{cases} \quad I_{k}(x_{0}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } k = 1, \\ 0, & \text{if } k \neq 1. \end{cases}$$
(2.8)
$$(2.8)$$

The formulas (2.8) tell us that the functions  $I_1(x)$ ,  $I_2(x)$ , ...,  $I_n(x)$  are particular solutions from the class (1.2) of the homogeneous equation

$$\frac{d^n u}{dx^n} - p(x)u = 0$$

and the function F(x) is a particular solution of the inhomogeneous equation (1.1).

From (2.8) we see that the Wronskian W(x) is equal to  $2! \cdot 3! \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-1)!$  in  $x = x_0$ . Therefore the functions  $I_1(x), I_2(x), \ldots, I_n(x)$  are linearly independent on  $[x_1, x_2]$  and the general solution to (1.1) belonging to the class (1.2) is determined by the formula (2.7).

Summarizing we have proved the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.1** The general solution of (1.1) from the class (1.2) is given by formula (2.7).

# **3** Cauchy Problem

Now we are going to solve the Cauchy problem.

**Cauchy problem** Find a solution of (1.1) from the class (1.2), satisfying the Cauchy conditions

where  $\alpha_{kj}$  (k, j = 1, 2, ..., n),  $\beta_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n) are given real numbers,

$$u^{k}(x_{0}) = \frac{d^{k}u}{dx^{k}}\Big|_{x=x_{0}}$$
  $(k = 1, 2, ..., n).$ 

**Solution of the Cauchy problem** To solve the Cauchy problem we use the general solution of (1.1) given by formula (2.7). Substituting the function u(x) given by formula (2.7) into the initial problem (3.1), taking (2.9) into consideration we get

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{11} \cdot c_1 + 1! \cdot \alpha_{12} \cdot c_2 + \dots + (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{1n} \cdot c_n = \beta_1, \\ &\alpha_{21} \cdot c_1 + 1! \cdot \alpha_{22} \cdot c_2 + \dots + (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{2n} \cdot c_n = \beta_2, \\ &\dots \\ &\alpha_{n1} \cdot c_1 + 1! \cdot \alpha_{n2} \cdot c_2 + \dots + (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{nn} \cdot c_n = \beta_n. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.2)$$

In case  $|\Delta| \neq 0$  we get from (3.2)

$$c_k = \frac{|\Delta_k|}{|\Delta|}$$
  $(k = 1, 2, ..., n),$  (3.3)

where

$$\Delta = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{11} & 1! \cdot \alpha_{12} & \dots & (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{1n} \\ \alpha_{21} & 1! \cdot \alpha_{22} & \dots & (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{2n} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \alpha_{n1} & 1! \cdot \alpha_{n2} & \dots & (n-1)! \cdot \alpha_{nn} \end{pmatrix},$$

 $\Delta_k$  is the matrix which is received by replacing the k matrix column of the matrix  $\Delta$  by the column

$$\beta = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

If  $|\Delta| = 0$  for the solvability of the algebraic system (3.2) the conditions:

$$|\Delta_k| = 0$$
  $(k = 1, 2, ..., n)$  (3.4)

are necessary and sufficient.

**Theorem 3.1** (1) If  $|\Delta| \neq 0$  then the Cauchy problem has a unique solution given by the formulas (2.7) and (3.3). (2) If  $|\Delta| = 0$  then for the solvability of the Cauchy problem it is necessary and sufficient that the equalities (3.4) are satisfied. In this case the Cauchy problem has an infinite number of solutions, which are given by formula (2.7), where the arbitrary constants  $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_n$  are connected by the relation (3.2).

## References

- A. Tungatarov, D.K. Akhmed-Zaki, Cauchy problem for one class of ordinary differential equations. Int. J. Math. Anal. 6(14), 695–699 (2012)
- A. Tungatarov, D.K. Akhmed-Zaki, General solution of second order linear ordinary differential equations with variable coefficients. J. Inequal. Spec. Funct. 3(4), 42–49 (2012). ISSN: 2217-4303, www.ILIRIAS.com
- 3. A. Tungatarov, B. Omarbayeva, B. Yaisov, The Cauchy type problem for a third order ordinary differential equation with variable coefficients. Mech. Infor. Ser. Math. **2**(73), 49–55 (2012), Vestnik al-Farabi Kazakh National University (Russian)

# About a Class of Two Dimensional Volterra Type Integral Equations with Singular Boundary Lines

Lutfya Rajabova

**Abstract** We examine 2-dimensional integral equations of Volterra type with two singular boundary lines corresponding to x = a and y = b. The non-homogeneous integral equation that we can consider involves constants  $A_1, A_2, B_1, B_2, C_1, C_2, C_3$ ,  $C_4$ . Given certain inequalities for  $A_1, A_2, B_1, B_2$ , it always has solutions on suitable domains that contain arbitrary functions of one variable. With other hypotheses, the equation has a unique solution in some domain.

Keywords Volterra type integral equation · Singular boundary lines

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 45L10 · Secondary 45G05

## **1** Introduction and Preliminaries

Consider the rectangle  $D = \{a < x < a_1, b < y < b_1\}$ , and the straight lines  $\Gamma_1 = \{a < x < a_1, y = b\}$ ,  $\Gamma_2 = \{x = a, b < y < b_1\}$ , where  $a < x < a_1, b < b < b_1$ . In the domain D, we consider the 2-dimensional integral equation

$$u(x, y) + A_1 \int_a^x \frac{u(t, y)}{t - a} dt + A_2 \int_a^x \ln\left(\frac{x - a}{t - a}\right) \frac{u(t, y)}{t - a} dt + B_1 \int_b^y \frac{u(x, s)}{s - b} ds + B_2 \int_b^y \ln\left(\frac{y - b}{s - b}\right) \frac{u(x, s)}{s - b} ds + C_1 \int_a^x \frac{dt}{t - a} \int_b^y \frac{u(t, s)}{s - b} ds + C_2 \int_a^x \frac{dt}{t - a} \int_b^y \ln\left(\frac{y - b}{s - b}\right) \frac{u(t, s)}{s - b} ds + C_3 \int_a^x \ln\left(\frac{x - a}{t - a}\right) \frac{dt}{t - a} \int_b^y \frac{u(t, s)}{s - b} ds$$

L. Rajabova (🖂)

Tajik Technical University, Rajabovs avenue 10, Dushanbe, Tajikistan e-mail: lutfya62@mail.ru

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_17

$$+ C_4 \int_a^x \ln\left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right) \frac{dt}{t-a} \int_b^y \ln\left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right) \frac{ds}{s-b}$$
$$= f(x, y), \tag{1.1}$$

where  $A_i$ ,  $B_i$ ,  $C_j$ ,  $i = \overline{1, 2}$ ,  $j = \overline{1, 4}$ , are given constants,  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ .

The solution of (1.1) is sought in the class of functions  $u(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$  which are zero on the singular lines  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ .

The solution of many problems having a significance in applications can be figured out by the help of integral equations in explicit from. For that reason, this article is dedicated to this area.

Early problems concerning 2-dimensional Volterra-type integral equations of the form

$$u(x, y) + \lambda \int_{a}^{x} \frac{u(t, y)}{(t-a)^{\alpha}} dt - \mu \int_{y}^{b} \frac{u(x, s)}{(b-s)^{\beta}} ds + \delta \int_{a}^{x} \frac{dt}{(t-a)^{\alpha}} \int_{y}^{b} \frac{u(t, s)}{(b-s)^{\beta}} ds = f(x, y),$$
(1.2)

with two singular and super-singular boundary lines in the domain

$$D_1 = \{a < x < a_0, \ b_0 < y < b\},\$$

are investigated in [1-3].

Integral equations of type

$$u(x, y) + \int_a^x \frac{A(t)u(t, y)}{t - a} dt - \int_y^b \frac{B(s)u(x, s)}{b - s} ds$$
$$+ \int_a^x \frac{dt}{t - a} \int_y^b \frac{C(t, s)u(t, s)}{b - s} ds = f(x, y)$$

with singular and super-singular boundary and interior lines, in cases of  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta > 1$ ;  $\alpha > 1$ ,  $\beta = 1$ ;  $\alpha < 1$ ,  $\beta > 1$  are investigated in [4, 5, 10].

References [6, 7] are dedicated to the problem of finding continuous solutions of a second-order hyperbolic equation with two singular or super-singular boundary lines  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , corresponding to the study of integral equations (1.2) in the domain  $D_1$  with  $\alpha \ge 1$  and  $\beta \ge 1$ .

Finally, [8, 9] deals with the integral equation

$$u(x, y) + \int_{a}^{x} \frac{K_{1}(x, y; t)u(t, y)}{(t - a)^{\alpha}} dt - \int_{y}^{b} \frac{K_{2}(x, y; s)u(x, s)}{(b - s)^{\beta}} ds + \int_{a}^{x} \frac{dt}{(t - a)^{\alpha}} \int_{y}^{b} \frac{K_{3}(x, y; t, s)u(t, s)}{(b - s)^{\beta}} ds = f(x, y)$$

in  $D_1$  in the cases  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 1$  where

$$\lambda = K_1(a, b; a), \qquad \mu = K_2(a, b; b), \qquad \delta = K_3(a, b; a, b) = -\lambda \mu.$$

For  $\alpha > 1$ ,  $\beta > 1$  we set

$$A(t) = K_1(a, b; t),$$
  $B(s) = K_2(a, b; s),$   $C(t, s) = K_3(a, b; t, s)$ 

and require  $C_1(t, s) = C(t, s) + A(t)B(s)$  not to be identically zero.

In this paper, we find the solution of the 2-dimensional Volterra type linear integral equation with boundary singularities, when  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$ .

In this case we shall prove that, whether parameters in the integral equation are connected with one another in a certain from, dependent on the signs of these parameters and the roots of the characteristic equations the general solution of the homogeneous equation contains a few arbitrary functions of one variable and in some particular cases has a unique solution.

## 2 A First Theorem

Our first result is the following statement that deals with the case in which  $A_1 > 0$ ,  $A_2 < 0$ ,  $B_1 > 0$ ,  $B_2 < 0$ .

**Theorem 2.1** Given (1), suppose that  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 > 0$ ,  $A_2 < 0$ ,  $B_1 > 0$ ,  $B_2 < 0$ ,  $A_1^2 - 4A_2 > 0$ ,  $B_1^2 - 4B_2 > 0$ . Moreover, suppose that f(x, y) is a continues function in  $\overline{D}$  that satisfies f(a, b) = 0 and has the following asymptotic behavior

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\delta_1}], \quad \delta_1 > \lambda_1 \text{ as } x \to a,$$
  
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\gamma_1}], \quad \gamma_1 > \nu_1, \text{ as } y \to b.$$

Then (1) always admits a solution with  $u(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$  and  $u(x, y) \to 0$  as  $(x, y) \to \Gamma_i$  for i = 1, 2, and its general solution contains two arbitrary functions each of one variable.

We claim that the solution is given by means of the following formula:

$$u(x, y) = (y - b)^{\nu_1} \varphi_1(x) + (x - a)^{\lambda_1}$$

$$\times \left[ \psi_1(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 + 4|B_2|}} \int_b^y \left[ \nu_2^2 \left( \frac{s - b}{y - b} \right)^{|\nu_2|} - \nu_1^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_1} \right]$$

$$\times \frac{\psi_1(s)}{s - b} ds + f(x, y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 + 4|A_2|}}$$

$$\times \int_{a}^{x} \left[ \lambda_{2}^{2} \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{|\lambda_{2}|} - \lambda_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{x-a}{t-a} \right)^{\lambda_{1}} \right] \frac{f(t,y)}{t-a} dt$$

$$- \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_{1}^{2} + 4|B_{2}|}} \int_{b}^{y} \left[ \nu_{2}^{2} \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{|\nu_{2}|} - \nu_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{y-b}{s-b} \right)^{\nu_{1}} \right]$$

$$\times \frac{f(x,s)}{s-b} ds + \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_{1}^{2} + 4|A_{2}|} \sqrt{B_{1}^{2} + 4|B_{2}|}}$$

$$\times \int_{b}^{y} \left[ \nu_{2}^{2} \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{|\nu_{2}|} - \nu_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{y-b}{s-b} \right)^{\nu_{1}} \right] \frac{1}{s-b}$$

$$\times \int_{a}^{x} \left[ \lambda_{2}^{2} \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{|\lambda_{2}|} - \lambda_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{x-a}{t-a} \right)^{\lambda_{1}} \right] \frac{f(t,s)}{t-a} dt ds.$$

In this formula  $\varphi_1(x)$ ,  $\psi_1(y)$  are arbitrary continuous functions on  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , satisfying  $\varphi_1(x) \to 0$  as  $x \to a$  and  $\psi_1(y) \to 0$  as  $y \to b$  and such that their behavior is governed by the following asymptotic formulas:

$$\varphi_{1}(x) = o[(x-a)^{\varepsilon}], \quad as \ x \to 0,$$
  

$$\psi_{1}(y) = o[(y-b)^{\gamma_{2}}], \quad \gamma_{2} > \nu_{1} \ as \ y \to b,$$
  

$$\lambda_{1} = \frac{\sqrt{A_{1}^{2} - 4A_{2}} - A_{1}}{2}, \qquad \lambda_{2} = \frac{-A_{1} - \sqrt{A_{1}^{2} - 4A_{2}}}{2}$$
  

$$\nu_{1} = \frac{\sqrt{B_{1}^{2} - 4B_{2}} - B_{1}}{2}, \qquad \nu_{2} = \frac{-B_{1} - \sqrt{B_{1}^{2} - 4B_{2}}}{2}$$

#### **3** Other Theorems

**Theorem 3.1** In (1.1), let  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 < 0$ ,  $A_2 > 0$ ,  $B_1 < 0$ ,  $B_2 > 0$ ,  $A_1^2 - 4A_2 > 0$ ,  $B_1^2 - 4B_2 > 0$ . Moreover, let  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ , f(a, b) = 0 with the following asymptotic behavior on the boundaries  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ :

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\delta_2}], \quad \delta_2 > \lambda_3 \text{ as } x \to a,$$
  
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\gamma_3}], \quad \gamma_3 > \nu_3, \text{ as } y \to b.$$

Then the non-homogeneous integral equation (1.1) in the class  $C(\overline{D})$ , approaching zero at  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , is always solvable and its general solution contain four arbitrary functions of one variable.

The solution is in fact given by means of following formula

$$\begin{split} u(x, y) &= (y - b)^{\nu_3} \varphi_1(x) + (y - b)^{\nu_4} \varphi_2(x) + (x - a)^{\lambda_3} \\ &\times \left[ \psi_1(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ v_4^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_4} - v_3^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_3} \right] \frac{\psi_1(s)}{s - b} ds \right] \\ &- (x - a)^{\lambda_4} \left[ \psi_2(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ v_4^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_4} - v_3^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_3} \right] \right] \\ &\times \frac{\psi_2(s)}{s - b} ds \right] + f(x, y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}} \\ &\times \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_4^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_4} - \lambda_3^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_3} \right] \frac{f(t, y)}{t - a} dt \\ &- \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ v_4^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_4} - v_3^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_3} \right] \frac{f(x, s)}{s - b} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2} \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ v_4^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_4} - v_3^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_3} \right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{s - b} \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_4^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_4} - \lambda_3^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_3} \right] \frac{f(t, y)}{t - a} dt ds. \end{split}$$

Here  $\varphi_i(x)$ ,  $\psi_i(y)$ , i = 1, 2, are arbitrary continuous functions on  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  respectively. Moreover, as  $x \to a$ ,  $y \to b \varphi_i(y)$  and  $\psi_i(y)$  approach zero and their behavior is determined by the following asymptotic formula:

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{1}(x) &= o\big[(x-a)^{\varepsilon}\big], \quad \varepsilon > 0, \ as \ x \to a, \\ \varphi_{2}(x) &= o\big[(x-a)^{\varepsilon}\big], \quad \varepsilon > 0, \ as \ x \to a, \\ \psi_{1}(y) &= o\big[(y-b)^{\gamma_{4}}\big], \quad \gamma_{4} > \nu_{3} \ as \ y \to b, \\ \psi_{2}(y) &= o\big[(y-b)^{\gamma_{5}}\big], \quad \gamma_{5} > \nu_{3} \ as \ y \to b, \\ \lambda_{3} &= \frac{|A_{1}| + \sqrt{A_{1}^{2} - 4A_{2}}}{2}, \qquad \lambda_{4} &= \frac{|A_{1}| - \sqrt{A_{1}^{2} - 4A_{2}}}{2}, \\ \nu_{3} &= \frac{|B_{1}| + \sqrt{B_{1}^{2} - 4B_{2}}}{2}, \qquad \nu_{4} &= \frac{|B_{1}| - \sqrt{B_{1}^{2} - 4B_{2}}}{2}. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 3.2** In (1.1), let  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 < 0$ ,  $A_2 < 0$ ,  $B_1 < 0$ ,  $B_2 < 0$ ,  $A_1^2 > 4A_2$ ,  $B_1^2 > 4B_2$ . Moreover, let  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ , f(a, b) = 0 with the following asymptotic behavior at the boundaries  $\Gamma_1$ 

and  $\Gamma_2$ :

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\delta_3}], \quad \delta_3 > \lambda_5 \text{ as } x \to a,$$
  
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\gamma_6}], \quad \gamma_6 > \nu_5, \text{ as } y \to b.$$

Then the non-homogeneous integral equation (1.1) is always solvable in the class of  $C(\overline{D})$ -functions approaching zero at  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , and its general solution contains two arbitrary functions of one variable.

The solution is in fact given by means of the following formula

$$\begin{split} u(x, y) &= (y - b)^{\nu_5} \varphi(x) + (x - a)^{\lambda_5} \\ &\times \left[ \psi(y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 + 4|B_2|}} \int_b^y \left[ \nu_6^2 \left( \frac{s - b}{y - b} \right)^{|\nu_6|} - \nu_5^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_5} \right] \\ &\times \frac{\psi(s)}{s - b} ds \right] + f(x, y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 + 4|A_2|}} \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_6^2 \left( \frac{t - a}{x - a} \right)^{|\lambda_6|} \right] \\ &- \lambda_5^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_5} \right] \frac{f(t, y)}{t - a} dt - \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 + 4|B_2|}} \\ &\times \int_b^y \left[ \nu_6^2 \left( \frac{s - b}{y - b} \right)^{|\nu_6|} - \nu_5^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_5} \right] \\ &\times \frac{f(x, s)}{s - b} ds + \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 + 4|A_2|} \sqrt{B_1^2 + 4|B_2|}} \int_b^y \left[ \nu_6^2 \left( \frac{s - b}{y - b} \right)^{|\nu_6|} \\ &- \nu_5^2 \left( \frac{y - b}{s - b} \right)^{\nu_5} \right] \frac{1}{s - b} \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_6^2 \left( \frac{t - a}{x - a} \right)^{|\lambda_6|} \\ &- \lambda_5^2 \left( \frac{x - a}{t - a} \right)^{\lambda_5} \right] \frac{f(t, s)}{t - a} dt ds. \end{split}$$

Here  $\varphi(x)$ ,  $\psi(y)$  are arbitrary continuous functions on  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  respectively. Moreover, at  $x \to a$ ,  $y \to b \varphi(x)$  and  $\psi(y)$  approach zero and their behavior is determined by the following asymptotic formulas:

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi(x) &= o[(x-a)^{\varepsilon}], \quad \varepsilon > 0, \text{ as } x \to a, \\ \psi(y) &= o[(y-b)^{\gamma_7}], \quad \gamma_7 > \nu_5 \text{ as } y \to b, \\ \lambda_5 &= \frac{|A_1| + \sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}}{2}, \qquad \lambda_6 = \frac{|A_1| - \sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}}{2} \end{aligned}$$

Volterra Type Integral Equations with Singular Boundary Lines

$$v_5 = \frac{|B_1| + \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}}{2}, \qquad v_6 = \frac{|B_1| - \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}}{2}.$$

**Theorem 3.3** In (1.1), let  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 > 0$ ,  $A_2 > 0$ ,  $B_1 > 0$ ,  $B_2 > 0$ ,  $A_1^2 - 4A_2 > 0$ ,  $B_1^2 - 4B_2 > 0$ . Moreover, let  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ , f(a, b) = 0 with the following asymptotic behavior at the boundaries  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ :

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\delta_8}], \quad \delta_8 > \lambda_8 \text{ as } x \to a,$$
  
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\gamma_8}], \quad \gamma_8 > \nu_8, \text{ as } y \to b.$$

Then the non-homogeneous integral equation (1.1) has a unique solution in the class  $C(\overline{D})$ , approaching zero at  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , and given by means of the following formula

$$\begin{split} u(x,y) &= f(x,y) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}} \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_8^2 \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{\lambda_8} - \lambda_7^2 \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{\lambda_7} \right] \frac{f(t,y)}{t-a} dt \\ &- \frac{1}{\sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ \gamma_8^2 \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{\gamma_8} - \gamma_7^2 \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{\nu_7} \right] \frac{f(x,s)}{s-b} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2} \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}} \int_b^y \left[ \gamma_8^2 \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{\gamma_8} - \gamma_7^2 \left( \frac{s-b}{y-b} \right)^{\nu_7} \right] \frac{1}{s-b} \\ &\times \int_a^x \left[ \lambda_8^2 \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{\lambda_8} - \lambda_7^2 \left( \frac{t-a}{x-a} \right)^{\lambda_7} \right] \frac{f(t,s)}{t-a} dt ds. \end{split}$$

Here

$$\lambda_7 = \frac{-A_1 + \sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}}{2}, \qquad \lambda_8 = \frac{-A_1 - \sqrt{A_1^2 - 4A_2}}{2}$$
$$\nu_7 = \frac{-B_1 + \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}}{2}, \qquad \nu_8 = \frac{-B_1 - \sqrt{B_1^2 - 4B_2}}{2}.$$

**Theorem 3.4** In (1.1), let  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 < 0$ ,  $B_1 < 0$ ,  $A_1^2 = 4A_2$ ,  $B_1^2 = 4B_2$ . Moreover, let  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ , f(a, b) = 0 with the following asymptotic behavior at the boundaries  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ :

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\delta_8}], \quad \delta_8 > \frac{|A_1|}{2} \text{ as } x \to a,$$
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\gamma_9}], \quad \gamma_9 > \frac{|B_1|}{2}, \text{ as } y \to b.$$

Then the non-homogeneous integral equation (1.1) is always solvable in the class of  $C(\overline{D})$ -functions approaching zero at  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , and its general solution contains two arbitrary functions of one variable.

The solution is in fact given by means the following formula:

$$\begin{split} u(x, y) &= (x-a)^{\frac{|A_1|}{2}} \left[ \psi_1(y) + \ln(x-a)\psi_2(y) \right] + \frac{|A_1|}{2} \int_a^x \left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right)^{\frac{|A_1|}{2}} \\ &\times \left[ 2 + \frac{|A_1|}{2} \ln\left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right) \right] \frac{f(t, y)}{t-a} dt + \frac{|B_1|}{2} \int_b^y \left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right)^{\frac{|B_1|}{2}} \\ &\times \left[ 2 + \frac{|B_1|}{2} \ln\left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right) \right] \frac{f(x,s)}{s-b} ds + \frac{|A_1B_1|}{4} \int_b^y \left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right)^{\frac{|B_1|}{2}} \\ &\times \left[ 2 + \frac{|B_1|}{2} \ln\left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right) \right] \frac{1}{s-b} \int_a^x \left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right)^{\frac{|A_1|}{2}} \\ &\times \left[ 2 + \frac{|A_1|}{2} \ln\left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right) \right] \frac{f(t,s)}{t-a} dt ds. \end{split}$$

Here  $\varphi_j(y)$ , j = 1, 2 are arbitrary continuous functions on  $\Gamma_2$ . Moreover, as  $y \rightarrow b \varphi_j(y)$  approaches zero and its asymptotic behavior is determined by the following asymptotic formula:

$$\varphi_j(y) = o[(y-b)^{\varepsilon}], \quad \varepsilon > 0, \text{ as } y \to b, \ j = 1, 2.$$

**Theorem 3.5** In (1.1), let  $C_1 = A_1B_1$ ,  $C_2 = A_1B_2$ ,  $C_3 = A_2B_1$ ,  $C_4 = A_2B_2$  and  $A_1 > 0$ ,  $B_1 > 0$ ,  $A_1^2 = 4A_2$ ,  $B_1^2 = 4B_2$ . Moreover, let  $f(x, y) \in C(\overline{D})$ , f(a, b) = 0 with the following asymptotic behavior at the boundaries  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ :

$$f(x, y) = o[(x - a)^{\varepsilon}], \quad as \ x \to a,$$
  
$$f(x, y) = o[(y - b)^{\varepsilon}], \quad as \ y \to b.$$

Then the non-homogeneous integral equation (1.1) has a unique solution in the class  $C(\overline{D})$  approaching zero at  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$ , and given by means of the following formula:

$$u(x, y) = f(x, y) - \frac{A_1}{2} \int_a^x \left(\frac{t-a}{x-a}\right)^{\frac{A_1}{2}} \left[2 - \frac{A_1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right)\right] \frac{f(t, y)}{t-a} dt$$
$$- \frac{B_1}{2} \int_b^y \left(\frac{s-b}{y-b}\right)^{\frac{B_1}{2}} \left[2 - \frac{B_1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right)\right] \frac{f(x, s)}{s-b} ds$$
$$+ \frac{A_1 B_1}{4} \int_b^y \left(\frac{s-b}{y-b}\right)^{\frac{B_1}{2}}$$

$$\times \left[2 - \frac{B_1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{y-b}{s-b}\right)\right] \frac{1}{s-b} \int_a^x \left(\frac{t-a}{x-a}\right)^{\frac{A_1}{2}}$$
$$\times \left[2 - \frac{A_1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{x-a}{t-a}\right)\right] \frac{f(t,s)}{t-a} dt ds.$$

## References

- 1. N. Rajabov, L. Rajabova, Explicit solution of one class of two dimensional linear Volterra type integral equations with two boundary singular lines, in *Differential Equations and Its Applications, Samara* (2002), pp. 286–288 (in Russian)
- N. Rajabov, M. Ronto, L. Rajabova, On Some Two Dimensional Volterra Type Linear Integral Equations with Super-Singularity, vol. 4 (Mathematical Notes, Miskolc, 2003), pp. 65–76
- N. Rajabov, L. Rajabova, Investigation of one class of two dimensional integral equations with fixed singular kernels, in connection with hyperbolic equations. Russ. Dokl. Acad. Sci. 391(1), 20–22 (2003) (in Russian)
- N. Rajabov, L. Rajabova, The theory of one class of two dimensional, non model Volterra type integral equations with boundary super-singular lines on the kernels. Russ. Dokl. Acad. Sci. 400(5), 602–605 (2005) (in Russian)
- L. Rajabova, Explicit solution one class of non model Volterra type integral equations with one singular and one weak-singular line, in *Inter. Sci. Conf. "Differential Equations with Partial Derivatives and Related Problems in Analysis and Information"*, vol. 4, ed. by S. Abdinazarov (2004), pp. 78–80
- L. Rajabova, About One Class of Hyperbolic Equations with Singular Lines. Vestnik National University (science magazine), Dushanbe, no. 5 (2006), pp. 44–51
- L. Rajabova, To the theory of one class of hyperbolic equations with singular lines. Tajikistan Dokl. Acad. Sci. 49(8), 710–717 (2006)
- L. Rajabova, About General Two Dimensional Volterra Type Integral Equations Singular and Super-Singular on the Boundary of the Domain. Proceeding Intern. Sci. Conf. "Differential Equations, theory function and applications", Novosibirsk (2007), pp. 458–459 (in Russian)
- L. Rajabova, About One Two Dimensional Volterra Type Integral Equation with Singularities on the Boundary of the Domain. Vestnik Tajik State National University (science magazine), Dushanbe, no. 3 (2007), pp. 30–37
- L. Rajabova, A study about one kind of two dimensional integral equation of Volterra type with two interior singular lines, in *Progress in Analysis and Its Applications. Proceedings of* the 7-th International ISAAC Congress (World Scientific, Singapore, 2010), pp. 96–104

# **Optimal Control Problem on Optimization** of Resources Productivity

Anastasia A. Usova and Alexander M. Tarasyev

**Abstract** The paper is devoted to the optimal control problem which is based on the model of optimization of resources productivity. Model analysis is implemented within the framework of Pontryagin maximum principle for the problems with infinite time horizon. Qualitative analysis of the Hamiltonian system allows to formulate necessary and sufficient conditions of existence of a steady state in terms of the model parameters. Under these conditions and an assumption on the saddle character of the steady state, we construct a nonlinear regulator which allows to approximate optimal trajectories by the solutions of the stabilized Hamiltonian system at a vicinity of the steady state. Finally, comparative analysis of results of numerical simulations is carried out.

Keywords Optimal control  $\cdot$  Stabilization  $\cdot$  Numerical algorythm  $\cdot$  Feedback control

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 93C10 · Secondary 93B40 · 93B52

# **1** Introduction

The paper is devoted to investigation of the model on optimization of resources productivity by means of balanced investment in economy's dematerialization. The

This work was supported by RFBR (Projects 11-01-00427-a, 12-01-00024-a, 12-01-31300), by the Program for Sponsorship of Leading Scientific Schools (Project NSCH-64508.2010.1), by Programs of the Presidium of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Projects 12- $\Pi$ -1-1002, 12- $\Pi$ -1-1012, 12- $\Pi$ -1-1038, 12- $\Pi$ -7-1001), by the Project 13-1-H $\Pi$ -253 of the Ural Branch Of RAS, and the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (Project NSFC-IIASA).

A.A. Usova (⊠) · A.M. Tarasyev

S. Kovalevskaya str., 16, 620990, Yekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: anastasy.ousova@gmail.com

A.M. Tarasyev e-mail: tam@imm.uran.ru

model is based on the economic growth theory [3, 5, 7, 12, 13] and inherits elements of economic growth models introduced in [1, 2, 6, 9, 14, 16].

It is assumed that the investment in resources productivity stimulates its relative growth. Output is represented as an exponential production function of the Cobb– Douglas type, it depends on main production factor which is material use. Balance relation takes into account three components: investment in raising resources productivity, expenditures on natural resources and consumption. Quality of the control process is valued by means of the integrated consumption index discounted on the infinite time interval. The connection between expenditures on natural resources and their rests is expressed with help of the price formation mechanism which supposes inverse proportionality between stocks of materials and prices on them. Increasing prices negatively influence the consumption index which should be maximized in the model as the basic element of the utility function.

The problem is to find the optimal proportion of investment in the dynamic process with maximization of the utility function given as the integrated consumption index over trajectories of the economic system. The model is examined within the framework of the Pontryagin maximum principle [11] with special characteristics of infinite horizon [4]. Specific features of the corresponding Hamiltonian system are examined within the qualitative theory of differential equations [8]. Particularly, necessary and sufficient conditions of existence of a steady state are formulated. Owing to the numerical calculations for the data by Chinese economy it is shown that the steady state has a saddle character. Due to this fact the nonlinear regulator [14] can be constructed, which allows to stabilize the Hamiltonian system at a steady state neighborhood. Integration of the original Hamiltonian system is performed using stabilized solutions in the backward time. Finally, the comparison of the stabilized solutions and optimal trajectories at a steady state neighborhood is carried out.

### 2 Model Description

The main phase variables of the model are presented by the resource use m = m(t), the cumulative resource consumption, which is introduced as the integrated material use  $M(t) = \int_0^t m(s) ds \le M_0$ , where parameter  $M_0$  is the initial stock of the natural resources, and the current production y = y(t). Resources productivity z = z(t) is the ratio of the production y(t) to the used materials m(t)

$$z(t) = \frac{y(t)}{m(t)}.$$
(2.1)

The exponential production function of the Cobb–Douglas type is chosen for the first version of the model

$$y(t) = ae^{bt}m^{\alpha}(t), \quad a > 0, \ b \ge 0, \ 0 \le \alpha < 1.$$
 (2.2)

Here the parameter *a* is a scale factor; the growth rate *b* indicates the growth process of production y(t) due to development of basic production factors such as capital, labor, technology, etc.; the symbol  $\alpha$  denotes the elasticity coefficient of natural resources.

## 2.1 Price Formation Mechanism

The price formation mechanism provides the growth of prices p(t) on nature resource in the case of their exhaustion. It is assumed that prices are growing according to the inversely proportional rule of resource exhaustion

$$p = p(t) = p_0 \left(1 - \frac{M(t)}{M_0}\right)^{-1}.$$
(2.3)

Here the symbol  $p_0$  denotes the initial price on natural resources. Formula (2.3) envisages that price p(t) can grow rapidly to infinity according to the hyperbolic law when the total material use M(t) reaches its limitation  $M_0$ .

#### 2.2 Balance Equation

In the balance equation it is taken into account that production y(t) in period t is shared between consumption c(t), from the one hand, and the growing cost of natural resources p(t)m(t) plus investment u(t)y(t) in improving the resource productivity, from the other hand,

$$y(t) = c(t) + p(t)m(t) + u(t)y(t).$$
(2.4)

Let us assume that there exists lower and upper bounds  $\underline{u}, \overline{u}$  for investment intensity u(t), i.e.  $0 < \underline{u} \le u(t) \le \overline{u} < 1$ . Deducing the consumption intensity c(t)/y(t) from (2.4) through the resource intensity m(t)/y(t) we obtain the following relation

$$\frac{c(t)}{y(t)} = 1 - p(t)\frac{m(t)}{y(t)} - u(t).$$
(2.5)

Using representation of the consumption c(t) (2.5), we introduce an integrated logarithmic consumption index discounted with the discount rate  $\rho$ ,  $\rho > 0$ , on the infinite time interval

$$J = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\rho t} \ln c(t) dt = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\rho t} \ln \left( y(t) - p(t)m(t) - u(t)y(t) \right) dt.$$

## 2.3 Model Dynamics

Let assume that the relative raise in the resource productivity z(t) is proportional to the portion of the assigned investment u(t) which can be interpreted as investment in "green" technology (see [7, 16])

$$\frac{\dot{z}(t)}{z(t)} = \beta u(t), \quad \beta \ge 0.$$
(2.6)

Here the parameter  $\beta$  describes the effectiveness of investment u(t) in raising the resources productivity. Taking into account the definition (2.1) of the resources productivity z(t), its dynamic (2.6) and the production function (2.2) for the output y(t) one can obtain the differential equation for the used materials m(t)

$$\dot{m}(t) = \frac{m(t)}{1-\alpha} \left( b - \beta u(t) \right). \tag{2.7}$$

Equation (2.7) shows that the rate of the resource consumption is influenced by the production growth rate b and can be reduced only by investment u(t) in raising the resource productivity.

Let us introduce phase variables

$$x_{1}(t) = \frac{m(t)}{M_{0} - M(t)}, \qquad x_{2}(t) = \frac{p(t)m(t)}{y(t)},$$
  

$$x_{1}(0) = x_{1}^{0} = \frac{m_{0}}{M_{0}}, \qquad x_{2}(0) = x_{2}^{0} = \frac{p_{0}m_{0}^{1-\alpha}}{a}.$$
(2.8)

where the first variable  $x_1(t)$  is the share of material use m(t) in the current stock  $(M_0 - M(t))$  of natural resources, and second one is the ratio of expenditures p(t)m(t) on natural resources to the production output y(t).

## **3** Optimal Control Problem

The problem is to maximize the utility function

$$J(\cdot) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\rho t} \left( \ln x_1(t) - \ln x_2(t) + \ln \left( 1 - x_2(t) - u(t) \right) \right) dt \qquad (3.1)$$

over the control process  $(x_1(t), x_2(t), u(t))$  of the dynamic system

$$\dot{x}_1(t) = x_1(t) \left( x_1(t) + \frac{b - \beta u(t)}{1 - \alpha} \right), \qquad \dot{x}_2(t) = x_2(t) \left( x_1(t) - \beta u(t) \right)$$
(3.2)

satisfying initial conditions  $x_1(0) = x_1^0$ ,  $x_2(0) = x_2^0$  (2.8) and subject to constraints for the control variable

$$0 < \underline{u} \le u(t) \le \overline{u} < 1.$$

*Remark 3.1* It is supposed that the following inequality is valid  $\beta \underline{u} \ge b + (1 - \alpha) \frac{m_0}{M_0} > 0$ .

## 3.1 Hamiltonian Function

Analysis of the optimal control problem is based on generalized Pontryagin maximum principle [4]

The stationary Hamiltonian function [16] for the optimal control problem (3.1)–(3.2) has the following structure

$$\widehat{H}(x, \psi, u) = \ln x_1 - \ln x_2 + \ln (1 - x_2 - u) + \psi_1 x_1 \left( x_1 + \frac{b - \beta u}{1 - \alpha} \right) + \psi_2 x_2 (x_1 - \beta u)$$

where  $\psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)$  and  $x = (x_1, x_2)$  are vectors of adjoint and phase variables respectively.

Maximizing the Hamiltonian function  $\widehat{H}(x, \psi, u)$  with respect to the control variable *u*, one can obtain the following structure of the control  $\widehat{u}$ 

$$\widehat{u} = \begin{cases} u_1 = \underline{u}, & D_1 = \{(x, \psi) : 1 - x_2 - v(x, \psi) \le \underline{u}\}, \\ u_2 = 1 - x_2 - v(x, \psi), & D_2 = \{(x, \psi) : \underline{u} \le 1 - x_2 - v(x, \psi) \le \overline{u}\}, \\ u_3 = \overline{u}, & D_3 = \{(x, \psi) : 1 - x_2 - v(x, \psi) \ge \overline{u}\}, \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where symbol  $v(x, \psi)$  is defined as follows  $v(x, \psi) = -\frac{1-\alpha}{\beta} \frac{1}{\psi_1 x_1 + (1-\alpha)\psi_2 x_2}$ . Thus, one can single out three domains  $D_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3) of definition of the maximized Hamiltonian function.

Hamiltonian systems in each domain can be found by formulas

$$\dot{x}_i(t) = \frac{\partial H_i(x,\psi)}{\partial \psi_i} \bigg|_{\substack{x=x(t),\\\psi=\psi(t)}}, \qquad \dot{\psi}_i(t) = \rho \psi_i(t) - \frac{\partial H_i(x,\psi)}{\partial x_i} \bigg|_{\substack{x=x(t),\\\psi=\psi(t)}}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Let us introduce new adjoint variables  $z_i = x_i \psi_i$ , i = 1, 2. In these variables  $x(t) = (x_1(t), x_2(t)), z(t) = (z_1(t), z_2(t))$  Hamiltonian systems have the following structures

In domains $D_1$ , $D_3$	In the domain $D_2$
$\dot{x}_1(t) = x_1(t)(x_1(t) + \frac{b - \beta u_i}{1 - \alpha})$	$\dot{x}_1(t) = x_1(t)(x_1(t) + \frac{\beta(x_2(t) + v(z(t)) - 1) - b}{1 - \alpha})$
$\dot{x}_2(t) = x_2(t)(x_1(t) - \beta u_i)$	$\dot{x}_2(t) = x_2(t)(x_1(t) - \beta(x_2(t) + v(z(t)) - 1))$
$\dot{z}_1(t) = \rho z_1(t) - x_1(t)(z_1(t) + z_2(t)) - 1$	$\dot{z}_1(t) = \rho z_1(t) - x_1(t)(z_1(t) + z_2(t)) - 1$
$\dot{z}_2(t) = \rho z_2(t) + \frac{1 - u_i}{1 - u_i - x_2(t)}$	$\dot{z}_2(t) = \rho z_2(t) + \frac{x_2(t)}{v(z(t))} + 1$

**Fig. 1** Area  $\Omega$  of existence of the steady state



## 3.2 Qualitative Analysis of the Hamiltonian System

First of all let us formulate necessary and sufficient conditions of existence of a steady state in the domain  $D_2$  of the non-constant control  $u_2$ .

**Proposition 3.2** The Hamiltonian system in the domain  $D_2$  of the transient control regime  $u_2$  has a steady state  $(x^*, z^*) = (x_1^*, x_2^*, z_1^*, z_2^*)$  if and only if model parameters are located in the area  $\Omega$  depicted in Fig. 1.

If the steady state exists then its coordinates can be found analytically by formulas

$$x_1^* = \frac{b}{\alpha}, \qquad x_2^* = \frac{(\alpha \rho - b)((1 - \alpha)\rho + \alpha \beta - b)}{\alpha \beta \rho},$$
$$z_1^* = (1 - \alpha) \left(1 - \frac{\alpha \rho}{\alpha \beta - b}\right) z_2^*, \qquad z_2^* = -\frac{\alpha \beta - b}{\alpha \rho (1 - \alpha)(\beta - \rho) + b(\alpha \beta - b)}.$$

Numerical experiments which have been carried out for the statistical data by Chinese economy [10] for the period from 1980 to 2010, show that the steady state has the saddle character, i.e. Jacobi matrix, evaluated at the steady state, has four different real eigenvalues, two of which are negative numbers and two others are positive ones  $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < 0 < \lambda_3 < \lambda_4$ . It allows to construct a nonlinear regulator (stabilizer) which stabilizes Hamiltonian system at a neighborhood of the steady state.

# 4 Nonlinear Stabilizer

Let us formulate the theorem which summarizes conditions for constructing nonlinear regulator and its properties.

**Theorem 4.1** (Nonlinear stabilizer) Let the Hamiltonian system at the domain  $D_2$  of the transient control regime  $u_2$  has a steady state  $(x^*, z^*)$  satisfying following conditions

A1. Jacobi matrix, evaluated at the steady state, has four different real eigenvalues, two of which are negative numbers and two others are positive ones  $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < 0 < \lambda_3 < \lambda_4$ ;
A2. Eigenvectors  $h_i = (h_{i1}, h_{i2}, h_{i3}, h_{i4})$  corresponding to negative eigenvalues  $\lambda_i$ (*i* = 1, 2) meet inequality:  $h_{11}h_{22} \neq h_{12}h_{21}$ .

Then there exists the nonlinear stabilizer with the following properties:

- P1. the stabilized Hamiltonian system generated by the nonlinear regulator is closed with respect to the phase variables  $x_1, x_2$ ;
- P2. the steady state of the stabilized system has coordinates  $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*)$  which coincide with the phase coordinates  $x^*$  of the steady state  $(x^*, z^*)$  of the original Hamiltonian system;
- P3. the stabilized system has two negative eigenvalues which are equal to  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2$ ;
- P4. the eigenvectors of the linearized system generated by the stabilizer can be evaluated by formulas

$$\overline{h}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \overline{h}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{21} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$

#### 4.1 Algorithm for Constructing Nonlinear Stabilizer

The algorithm for constructing nonlinear stabilizer can be applied if the assumptions A1, A2 indicated at Theorem 4.1 are fulfilled.

The first step consists in constructing a plane by two eigenvectors h<sub>1</sub>, h<sub>2</sub> corresponding to negative eigenvalues λ<sub>1</sub>, λ<sub>2</sub>.

$$\nu_{11}x_1 + \nu_{12}x_2 + \nu_{13}z_1 + \nu_{14}z_2 = C_1,$$
  

$$\nu_{21}x_1 + \nu_{22}x_2 + \nu_{23}z_1 + \nu_{24}z_2 = C_2.$$
(4.1)

Let us call this flat surface as eigen-plane. Since the steady state is located in the eigen-plane constants C1 and C2 can be uniquely found by substituting coordinates  $(x_1^*, x_2^*, z_1^*, z_2^*)$  of the steady state in equalities (4.1).

2. Using (4.1) of the eigen-plane one can derive adjoint variables through the phase ones  $z_1 = \hat{z}_1(x), z_2 = \hat{z}_2(x)$ .

$$\widehat{z}_{1}(x) = z_{1}^{*} + \gamma_{11}(x_{1} - x_{1}^{*}) + \gamma_{12}(x_{2} - x_{2}^{*}), 
\widehat{z}_{2}(x) = z_{2}^{*} + \gamma_{21}(x_{1} - x_{1}^{*}) + \gamma_{22}(x_{2} - x_{2}^{*}),$$
(4.2)

where coefficients  $\gamma_{ij}$  are found by formulas due to the condition A2 of Theorem 4.1

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{11} &= -\frac{\begin{vmatrix} h_{12} & h_{13} \\ h_{22} & h_{23} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{vmatrix}}, \qquad \gamma_{12} &= \frac{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{13} \\ h_{21} & h_{23} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{vmatrix}},\\ \gamma_{21} &= -\frac{\begin{vmatrix} h_{12} & h_{14} \\ h_{22} & h_{24} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{vmatrix}}, \qquad \gamma_{22} &= \frac{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{14} \\ h_{21} & h_{24} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{vmatrix}}, \end{split}$$

3. On this step the representation of adjoint variables (4.2) is substituted in the relation for the control  $u_2$  (3.3) corresponding to the domain  $D_2$ .

$$\widehat{u}(x) = 1 - x_2 + \frac{1 - \alpha}{\beta} \frac{1}{\widehat{z}_1(x) + (1 - \alpha)\widehat{z}_2(x)} = 1 - x_2 - v(\widehat{z}(x)).$$
(4.3)

4. Stabilized Hamiltonian system in the domain  $D_2$  of the transient control regime  $u_2$  can be obtained by replacing adjoint variables  $z_1, z_2$  by their expressions  $\hat{z}_1(x), \hat{z}_2(x)$  in the first two equations of the original Hamiltonian system.

$$\dot{x}_{1}(t) = x_{1}(t) \left( x_{1}(t) + \frac{\beta}{1-\alpha} (x_{2}(t) + v(\hat{z}(x(t))) - 1) + \frac{b}{1-\alpha} \right),$$

$$\dot{x}_{2}(t) = x_{2}(t) (x_{1}(t) + \beta (x_{2}(t) + v(\hat{z}(x(t))) - 1)).$$
(4.4)

#### 4.2 Construction of the Optimal Trajectories

Relying on the qualitative theory of differential equations [8], it is known that the solution of ordinary differential equations converges to the saddle steady state by the tangent plane built by two eigenvectors corresponding to negative eigenvalues. Due to this fact, construction of the optimal trajectories is carried out by the following way.

- 1. Algorithm for constructing optimal solutions is based on stabilized trajectories  $(\hat{x}_1(t), \hat{x}_2(t))$  obtained as a solution of the stabilized Hamiltonian system at the steady state  $\varepsilon$ -vicinity [15].
- 2. Original Hamiltonian system is solved in backward time starting from points located both at the steady state  $\varepsilon$ -vicinity  $(O_{\varepsilon}^*)$  and in a  $\delta$ -neighborhood  $(\widehat{O}_{\delta})$  of stabilized trajectories  $(\widehat{x}_1(t), \widehat{x}_2(t))$ .
- 3. Algorithm is stopped when the constructed trajectory reaches original initial position  $(x_1^0, x_2^0)$ .
- 4. If the integrated trajectory does not achieve the original initial point  $(x_1^0, x_2^0)$ , then we exhaustively search for another initial position by looking through the points from the intersection of neighborhoods  $O_{\varepsilon}^*$  and  $\widehat{O}_{\delta}$ .

#### 4.3 Numerical Experiments

The calculations have been carried out on the basis of the data on Chinese economy from 1980 to 2010, reduced to the values of 1980. The calibration of the parameters of the model has yielded the following values of the parameters  $p_0 = 100$ ,  $M_0 = 1.8121 \cdot 10^6$ ,  $\beta = 1.5226$ , a = 64.3348,  $\alpha = 0.4091$ , b = 0.0686,  $\rho = 0.18$ ,  $m_0 = 0.08565$ ,  $\underline{u} = 0.0451$ ,  $\overline{u} = 0.6360$ . Steady state of the Hamiltonian system has coordinates  $x_1^* = 0.1676$ ,  $x_2^* = 0.0296$ ,  $z_1^* = 2.9449$ ,  $z_2^* = -5.7473$ . Jacobi



**Fig. 2** Comparison of the optimal and stabilized solutions: (a) for the control variable u(t), (b), (c) for the phase variables  $(x_1(t), x_2(t))$ 

matrix evaluated at the steady state has the following eigenvalues  $\lambda_1 = -1.457$ ,  $\lambda_2 = -0.005$ ,  $\lambda_3 = 0.185$ ,  $\lambda_4 = 1.637$ . Eigen-plane equations (4.1) look as follows

$$\widehat{z}_1(x) = 2.945 - 2.17(x_1 - x_1^*) + 2.5(x_2 - x_2^*),$$
  

$$\widehat{z}_2(x) = -5.747 + 0.44(x_1 - x_1^*) - 6.29(x_2 - x_2^*).$$

Figure 2(a) depicts optimal programming control u(t) in comparison with the stabilizer  $\hat{u}(\hat{x}(t))$  (4.3) at the  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood of the steady state, where radius  $\varepsilon = 10^{-3}$ . Graphs of the optimal solutions  $(x_1(t), x_2(t))$  and corresponding trajectories  $(\hat{x}_1(t), \hat{x}_2(t))$  of the stabilized Hamiltonian system (4.4), constructed at the same  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood of the steady state, are shown at Fig. 2(b)–(c).

One can see that the stabilized system solution and original one are very close to each other in the steady state neighborhood, moreover they have the similar behavior.

#### References

 B.K. Ane, A.M. Tarasyev, C. Watanabe, Construction of nonlinear stabilizer for trajectories of economic growth. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 134, 303–320 (2007)

- B.K. Ane, A.M. Tarasyev, C. Watanabe, Impact of technology assimilation on investment policy: dynamic optimization and econometric identification. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 134, 321–338 (2007)
- K.J. Arrow, *Production and Capital. Collected Papers*, vol. 5 (The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, 1985)
- S.M. Aseev, A.V. Kryazhimskiy, The Pontryagin maximum principle and optimal economic growth problems, in *Proceedings of the Steklov Institute of Mathematics, Pleiades Publishing*, vol. 257 (2007)
- 5. R.U. Ayres, B. Warr, *The Economic Growth Engine: How Energy and Work Drive Material Prosperity* (Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham, 2009)
- G. Feichtinger, R.F. Hartl, P.M. Kort, V.M. Veliov, Capital accumulation under technological progress and learning: a vintage capital approach. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 172, 293–310 (2006)
- 7. G.M. Grossman, E. Helpman, *Innovation and Growth in the Global Economy* (MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1991)
- 8. Ph. Hartman, Ordinary Differential Equations (Wiley, New York, London, Sydney, 1964)
- 9. A.A. Krasovskii, A.M. Tarasyev, High-precision algorithms for constructing optimal trajectories via solving Hamiltonian systems, in *Proceedings of IFAC 9th Workshop on Control Applications of Optimization, University of Jyuvaskyla* (2009)
- ECD Synthesis Report: Measuring Material Flows and Resource Productivity (OECD Publishing, Paris, 2008). www.oecd.org/dataoecd/55/12/40464014.pdf
- 11. L.S. Pontryagin, V.G. Boltyanskii, R.V. Gamkrelidze, E.F. Mishchenko, *The Mathematical Theory of Optimal Processes* (Interscience, New York, 1962)
- K. Shell, Applications of Pontryagin's maximum principle to economics. Math. Syst. Theory Econ. 1, 241–292 (1969)
- 13. R.M. Solow, Growth Theory: an Exposition (Oxford University Press, New York, 1970)
- A.M. Tarasyev, A.A. Usova, Construction of a regulator for the Hamiltonian system in a twosector economic growth model. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 271, 265–285 (2010)
- A.M. Tarasyev, A.A. Usova, Stabilizing the Hamiltonian system for constructing optimal trajectories. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 277, 248–265 (2012)
- A. Tarasyev, B. Zhu, Optimal proportions in growth trends of resource productivity, in *The Springer Monograph "Green Growth and Sustainable Development"*, ed. by J. Crespo-Cuaresma T Palokangas A. Tarasyev (Springer, New York, 2013), pp. 49–66

# Part III Spaces of Differentiable Functions of Several Real Variables and Applications

Organizers: Victor Burenkov, Stefan Samko

## The Amalgam Spaces $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ and Boundedness of Hardy–Littlewood Maximal Operators

#### A. Turan Gürkanlı

**Abstract** Let  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  be variable exponent Lebesgue space and  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  be discrete analog of this space. In this work we define the amalgam spaces  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$ and  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ , and discuss some basic properties of these spaces. Since the global components  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  are not translation invariant, these spaces are not a Wiener amalgam space. But we show that there are similar properties of these spaces to the Wiener amalgam spaces. We also show that there is a variable exponent q(x) such that the sequence space  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  is the discrete space of  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . By using this result we prove that  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}}) = L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . We also study the frame expansion in  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . At the end of this work we prove that the Hardy– Littlewood maximal operator from  $W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}})$  into  $W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$  is bounded under some assumptions.

**Keywords** Amalgam space · Variable exponent Lebesgue space · Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 42B25 · 42B35

## **1** Introduction

The first appearance of amalgam can be traced to N. Wiener [20]. But the first systematic study of these spaces was undertaken by F. Holland [15]. A generalization of Wiener's definition was given by H.G. Feichtinger in [9]. Later a number of authors worked on these spaces, for example [11, 12, 16]. Also J.J. Fournier and J.S. Steward gave a good historical background of amalgam space cite18. A.T. Gürkanlı and I. Aydın was defined the weighted variable exponent amalgam space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell_w^p)$  by using variable exponent Lebesgue space  $L^{p(x)}$  as local component and investigated some properties of these spaces, [2, 13].

A.T. Gürkanlı (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_19

This paper is in final form and no version of it will be submitted for publication elsewhere.

Istanbul Arel University Faculty of Science and Letters, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, 34537 Tepekent, Büyükçekmece, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: turangurkanli@arel.edu.tr

Also the function spaces with variable exponents have been studied in recent years by a significant number of authors. But the modern development started by O. Kovacik and J. Rakosnik [17]. The boundedness of the Maximal operator was open problem in  $L^{p(x)}$  for long time. It was proved by L. Diening over bounded domains in [5] and by D.C. Ulribe, A. Fiorenza and C.J. Neugebauer over open domains in [3, 4].

In the present work we define the variable exponent amalgam spaces  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$  and  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ , and discuss some basic properties of these spaces, where  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  is discrete analog of  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . Since the global components  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ and  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  are not translation invariant, these amalgam spaces are not a Wiener amalgam space. We also show that there is a variable exponent q(x) such that the sequence space  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  is the discrete space of  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . By using this result we prove that  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}}) = L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . Later we study on the frame expansion in  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  and boundedness of the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator from  $W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}})$  into  $W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$ .

#### 2 Notations

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}$  be an open subset. For a measurable function  $p : \Omega \to [1, \infty)$  (called the variable exponent on  $\Omega$ ) put

$$p_* = \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,inf}}_{x \in \Omega} p(x), \qquad p^* = \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{x \in \Omega} p(x).$$

Define  $P(\Omega)$  to be the set of measurable functions  $p: \Omega \to [1, \infty)$  such that  $1 < p_* \le p(x) \le p^* < \infty$ . Throughout this paper we will assume that  $p^* < \infty$ . The generalized Lebesgue spaces (or Lebesgue space with variable exponent)  $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$  is defined to be the space of all measurable functions (equivalent classes) f on  $\Omega$  for which

$$\varrho_p(f) = \int_{\Omega} \left| f(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx < \infty.$$

Equipped with the Luxemburg norm

$$||f||_{L^{p(x)}} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0 : \varrho_p\left(\frac{f}{\lambda}\right) \le 1\right\},\$$

 $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$  is a Banach space. If p(x) = p is a constant function, then the norm  $\|.\|_{L^{p(x)}}$  coincides with the usual Lebesgue norm  $\|.\|_{L^{p}}$ , [6, 17]. It is also known that if  $p^{*} < \infty$  then  $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$  is solid, i.e if any measurable function g, for which there exists  $f \in L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$  such that  $|g(x)| \le |f(x)|$  locally almost everywhere, belongs to  $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$ , with  $\|g\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}}$ , [1].

Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be the set of all mappings  $a : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $a = \{a_n\}$ . Denote by

$$\varepsilon = \{ p \in \mathcal{M} : p \ge 1 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{Z} \}$$

The Amalgam Space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ 

$$p^* = \sup\{p_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{B} = \big\{ p \in \varepsilon : p^* < \infty \big\}.$$

Let  $p \in \varepsilon$ . Define the space  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  by

$$\ell^{\{p_n\}} = \{a : \|a\|_{\{p_n\}} < \infty\},\$$

where

$$\|a\|_{\{p_n\}} = \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{a_n}{\lambda} \right|^{p_n} \le 1 \right\}.$$
 (2.1)

If the mapping  $r \in \varepsilon$  is a constant, then we use the usual symbol  $\ell^r$  and,

$$||a||_r = \left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |a_n|^r\right)^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$

If  $p \in \mathcal{B}$ , then by Lemma 2.5 in [18]

$$\ell^{\{p_n\}} = \left\{a: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} |a_n|^{p_n} < \infty\right\}.$$

Let  $p, q \in \varepsilon$  and let T be a linear function from  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  into  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$ . We say that T is bounded if

$$||T|| = \sup\{||Ta||_{\{p_n\}} : ||a||_{\{p_n\}} \le 1\} < \infty.$$

Let  $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{M}$ . We say that  $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{P}$  if there exists a real number C > 0 such that

$$\sum_{n\in P(\varepsilon)}\varepsilon_n C^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon_n}}<\infty,$$

where

$$P(\varepsilon) = \{ n \in \mathbb{Z} : \varepsilon_n > 0 \},\$$

#### [7, 18].

A sequence space  $X_d$  is called a Banach coordinate space (or shortly BK space) if it is a Banach space and the coordinate functions  $P_n : X_d \to \mathbb{C}$  are continuous on  $X_d$ , i.e., the relations  $x_n = (\alpha_j^n)$ ,  $x = (\alpha_j) \in X_d$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = x$  imply  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \alpha_j^n = \alpha_j$  (j = 1, 2, ...).

Given any neighbourhood U of  $0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , a family  $X = (x_i)_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{R}$  is called Udense if the family  $(x_i + U)_{i \in I}$  covers  $\mathbb{R}$ . That is  $\bigcup_{i \in I} (x_i + U) = \mathbb{R}$ . The family X is called separated if the sets  $(x_i + U)_{i \in I}$  are pairwise disjoint. The family X is called relatively separated proved that it is a finite union of separated sets. We will

call a family  $X = (x_i)_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{R}$  is well-spread in  $\mathbb{R}$  if it is both *U*-dense and relatively separated.

A family of functions  $\psi = \{\psi_i\}_{i \in I}$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  is a bounded uniform partition of unity (BUPU or U-BUPU) if the following properties hold:

- (a)  $\sum_{i \in I} \psi_i \equiv 1;$
- (b)  $\sup \|\psi_i\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty;$
- (c) There exists a compact set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}$  with nonempty interior and  $X = (y_i)_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that supp  $\psi_i \subset y_i + U$  for all  $i \in I$ ;
- (d) For each compact  $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \sharp\{i \in I : x \in K + y_i\} = \sup_{i \in I} \sharp\{j \in I : K + y_i \cap K + y_j \neq \phi\} < \infty$$

Let  $1 \le r, s \le \infty$ . Fix a compact  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}$  with nonempty interior. Then the Wiener amalgam space  $W(L^r, L^s)(\mathbb{R})$  with local component  $L^r(\mathbb{R})$  and global component  $L^s(\mathbb{R})$  is defined as the space of all measurable functions (equivalent classess) f : $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $f \chi_K \in L^r(\mathbb{R})$  for each compact subset  $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ , for which the norm

$$\|f\|_{W(L^{r},L^{s})} = \|F_{f}\|_{s} = \|\|f\chi_{Q+x}\|_{r}\|_{s}$$

is finite, where  $\chi_K$  is the characteristic function of K and

$$F_f(x) = \|f\chi_{Q+x}\|_r \in L^s(\mathbb{R}).$$

It is known that if  $r_1 \ge r_2$  and  $s_1 \le s_2$  then  $W(L^{r_1}, L^{s_1})(\mathbb{R}) \subset W(L^{r_2}, L^{s_2})(\mathbb{R})$ . If r = s then  $W(L^r, L^r)(\mathbb{R}) = L^r(\mathbb{R})$ , [9, 10, 14].

For  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ , we define the (centered) Hardy–Littlewood maximal function Mf of f by

$$Mf(x) = \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|\tilde{B}(x,r)|} \int_{\tilde{B}(x,r)} |f(y)| dy, \quad \tilde{B}(x,r) = B(x,r) \cap \Omega,$$
(2.2)

where the supremum is taken over all balls B(x, r) and |.| denotes the volume of  $\tilde{B}(x, r)$ .

We will often need to assume that p(x) satisfies the following two log-Hölder continuity conditions:

$$|p(x) - p(y)| \le \frac{C}{-\ln|x - y|}, \quad x, y \in \Omega, \ |x - y| \le \frac{1}{2}$$
 (2.3)

and

$$|p(x) - p(y)| \le \frac{C}{\ln(e + |x|)}, \quad x, y \in \Omega, |y| > |x|.$$
 (2.4)

Condition (2.4) is the natural analogue of (2.3) at infinity. It implies that there is some number  $p_{\infty}$  such that  $p(x) \rightarrow p_{\infty}$  as  $|x| \rightarrow \infty$ , and this limit holds uniformly in all directions.

It is known that if  $\Omega$  is open and bounded and (2.3) holds, then the Hardy– Littlewood maximal operator is bounded on  $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$ , [5]. It is also known that if  $\Omega$  is open and both (2.3) and (2.4) hold, then again the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator is bounded on  $L^{p(x)}(\Omega)$ , [3, 4]. Although the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator is bounded on  $L^{p(x)}$  under some conditions, it is not bounded on many of the Wiener amalgam spaces.

## **3** The Amalgam Spaces $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ and $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$

In this section we will define the spaces  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$  and  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$  like the Wiener amalgam space in [2, 9, 10, 14] and investigate some properties. Later we will compare these spaces with the Wiener amalgam spaces.

Suppose that  $(y_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and U such that  $(U+i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is a partition of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Then  $(\psi_i) = (\chi_{i+U})_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is a BUPU.

**Definition 3.1** Let p(x) be a variable exponent on  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $(\psi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is a BUPU as above. Then the *amalgam space*  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  consists of all (classes of) measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $f\chi_K \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  for each compact subset  $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ , and  $||f||_W = ||f||_{W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})} < \infty$ , where

$$\|f\|_{W} = \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_{n}\}})} = \|\{\|f\psi_{n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\{q_{n}\}}.$$
$$= \|\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\{q_{n}\}}.$$
(3.1)

*Remark 3.1* By the definition of Wiener amalgam space  $W(L^p, L^q)$ , the global component  $L^q$  (or in the discrete case  $W(L^p, \ell^q)$  the global component  $\ell^q$ ) is translation invariant. Hence as a consequence of Theorem 1 in [9], the definition of Wiener amalgam space  $W(L^p, L^q)$  is not depend on the particular choice of compact subset  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}$ . But in the amalgam spaces  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ , the global components  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  is not translation invariant. We notice that the definition of the space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$  are depend on the choice of the subset  $U \subset \mathbb{R}$ . Throughout this work we will choice that U = (0, 1].

Now we will discuss whether some known properties of Wiener amalgam space true or not true for the space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ .

**Lemma 3.1** If  $p \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  is a BK space under the norm

$$\|x\|_{\{p_n\}} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left|\frac{x_n}{\lambda}\right|^{p_n} \le 1\right\}, \quad x = (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}.$$

*Proof* It is known that  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  is a Banach function space by Lemma 2.5 in [8]. Hence it is a Banach space. Now let  $x \in \ell^{\{p_n\}}$  and  $x = (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ . We have the inequality

$$P_n(x) \Big| = |x_n| \le \inf \Big\{ \lambda > 0 : |x_n| \le \lambda \Big\}$$
  
$$\le \inf \Big\{ \lambda > 0 : \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{x_n}{\lambda} \right|^{p_n} \le 1 \Big\} = \|x\|_{\{p_n\}}.$$
(3.2)

That means the coordinate functions  $P_n$  are continuous for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  is a BK space.

**Proposition 3.1** Let  $1 \le p(x) \le s(x) < \infty$  and  $q = \{q_n\}, t = \{t_n\}$ . If  $q, t \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $t - q \in \mathcal{P}$ , then

$$W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \hookrightarrow W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}),$$

equivalently

$$\|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})} \le C(\mu(U)+1) \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[t_n]})} \quad (f \in W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{[t_n]}))$$

for some constant C > 0 independent of f.

*Proof* Let  $f \in W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}})$  be given. Then  $\{\|\chi_{U+n}f\|_{L^{s(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{t_n\}}$ . Since  $p(x) \leq s(x)$ , by Theorem 2.8 in [17] we have  $L^{s(x)}(U+n) \hookrightarrow L^{p(x)}(U+n)$  and

$$\|\chi_{U+n}f\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le (\mu(U+n)+1)\|\chi_{U+n}f\|_{L^{s(x)}}$$
  
=  $(\mu(U)+1)\|\chi_{U+n}f\|_{L^{s(x)}},$  (3.3)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $\mu$  is the Lebesgue measure of U. Hence by (3.3) and the solidness of  $\ell^{\{t_n\}}$  one has  $\{\|\chi_{U+n} f\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{t_n\}}$ . On the other hand since  $t - q \in \wp$ , by Theorem 4.1 in [18] we have the continuous embedding  $\ell^{\{t_n\}} \hookrightarrow \ell^{\{q_n\}}$  and there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|.\|_{\{q_n\}} \le C \|.\|_{\{t_n\}} \tag{3.4}$$

This implies  $\{\|\chi_{U+n}f\|_{L^{q(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\in \ell^{\{q_n\}}$ . Thus  $f\in W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}})$ . Also since  $\ell^{\{t_n\}}\hookrightarrow \ell^{\{q_n\}}$ , by using (3.4) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}})} &= \|\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\{q_n\}} \le C \|\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\{t_n\}} \\ &= C \bigg[\inf\bigg\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \bigg| \frac{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \bigg|^{t_n} \le 1\bigg\}\bigg] \\ &\le C \bigg[\inf\bigg\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \bigg| \frac{(\mu(U)+1)\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{s(x)}}}{\lambda} \bigg|^{t_n} \le 1\bigg\}\bigg] \\ &= C \bigg[\inf\bigg\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \bigg| \frac{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{s(x)}}}{(\mu(U)+1)} \bigg|^{t_n} \le 1\bigg\}\bigg] \end{split}$$

The Amalgam Space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ 

$$= C(\mu(U)+1) \left[ \inf \left\{ \frac{\lambda}{(\mu(U)+1)} > 0 : \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{\|f \chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{s(x)}}}{\frac{\lambda}{(\mu(0)+1)}} \right|^{t_n} \le 1 \right\} \right]$$
  
=  $C(\mu(U)+1) \|\{\|f \chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{s(x)}}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{\{t_n\}}$   
=  $C(\mu(U)+1) \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{[t_n]})}$ 

Then  $W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \hookrightarrow W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  and

$$\|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})} \leq C(\mu(U)+1) \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[t_n]})}.$$

**Corollary 3.1** Let  $1 \le p(x) < \infty$ ,  $q = \{q_n\}$ ,  $t = \{t_n\}$  and  $q, t \in \mathcal{B}$ . If  $|t - q| \in \mathcal{P}$ , *then* 

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}).$$

*Proof* Since  $|t - p| \in \mathcal{P}$ , then by Theorem 4.3 in [14],  $\ell^{\{q_n\}} = \ell^{\{t_n\}}$ . The proof is completed by Theorem 3.2.

**Theorem 3.1** If  $p \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  is a Banach space under the norm

$$\|f\|_{W} = \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}})} = \left\|\left\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\right\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\{q_n\}}$$

*Proof* Since  $q^* \ge q_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , by Proposition 3.1 we have the inclusion  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) \subset W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{q^*})$  and there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|.\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{q^*})} \le C \|.\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}})}.$$
(3.5)

Let  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a Cauchy sequence of functions in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ . Then by (3.5),  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  is also a Cauchy sequence in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{q^*})$ . Since  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{q^*})$  is complete,  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges to a function  $f_0 \in W(L^{(x)}, \ell^{q^*})$ . Thus

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \|f_{i-}f_0\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{q^*})} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \|\{\|(f_{i-}f_0)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q^*}} = 0$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then by Lemma 3.1, for every fixed  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \| (f_{i-}f_0)\chi_{U+n} \|_{L^{p(x)}} = 0.$$

Now we will show that  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges to  $f_0$  in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ . For given any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , choice any  $\lambda > \varepsilon$ . Since for fixed  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  one has

$$\lim \inf_{j \to \infty} \left| \frac{\|(f_{i} - f_{0})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_{n}} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \left| \frac{\|(f_{i} - f_{j})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_{n}} = \left| \frac{\|(f_{i} - f_{0})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_{n}}$$
(3.6)

then by the Fatou's Lemma for series and (3.6),

$$\lim \inf_{j \to \infty} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{\|(f_i - f_j)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_n} \ge \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \lim \inf_{j \to \infty} \left| \frac{\|(f_i - f_0)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_n}$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{\|(f_i - f_0)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_n}$$
(3.7)

Also since  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ , there exists  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $i, j \ge k_0$ 

$$\begin{split} \|f_{i-}f_{j}\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_{n}\}})} &= \left\|\left\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\right\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\{q_{n}\}} \\ &= \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\frac{\|(f_{i-}f_{j})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda}\right|^{q_{n}} \le 1\right\} < \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Thus if for fixed  $i \ge k_0$  and for all  $j \ge k_0$ 

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\frac{\|(f_i-f_j)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda}\right|^{q_n}\leq 1,$$

then

$$\lim \inf_{j \to \infty} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \frac{\|(f_i - f_j) \chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda} \right|^{q_n} \le 1.$$

Hence by (3.7), for all  $j \ge k_0$ 

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\frac{\|(f_{i-}f_0)\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda}\right|^{q_n}\leq 1.$$

Since these results are true for every  $\lambda > \varepsilon$  and for all  $j \ge k_0$ , we have

$$\|f_{i-}f_{0}\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_{n}\}})} = \|\{\|(f_{i-}f_{0})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\{q_{n}\}}$$
  
$$= \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\frac{\|(f_{i-}f_{0})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda}\right|^{q_{n}} \le 1\right\}$$
  
$$\le \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\frac{\|(f_{i-}f_{j})\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}}{\lambda}\right|^{q_{n}} \le 1\right\}$$
  
$$= \|f_{i-}f_{j}\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_{n}\}})} \le \varepsilon$$

for all  $i \ge k_0$ . Hence  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  tends to  $f_0$  in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ . To show that  $f_0 \in W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ , take any  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Since  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  tends to  $f_0$  there exists  $i_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$||f_{i}-f_{0}||_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_{n}\}})} < \varepsilon.$$

On the other hand since  $(f_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, there exists a number M > 0 such that  $||f_i||_{W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})} < M$ . Hence we have

$$\|f_0\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})} = \|f_0 + f_i - f_i\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})}$$
  
=  $\|f_{i-f_0}\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})} + \|f_i\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{[q_n]})} < M + \varepsilon.$ 

This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.2** Let  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Define a shift operator  $S_k$  from  $\mathcal{M}$  into itself by

$$(S_k a)_n = a_{n-k}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ a \in \mathcal{M}.$$

Set

$$D = \sup \{ \|S_k\|_{p_n \to p_n} : k \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

**Proposition 3.2** Let  $1 \le p(x) < \infty$ ,  $q = \{q_n\}$  and  $q \in \mathcal{B}$ . If  $D < \infty$ , then there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r) = W(L^{p(x)}, L^r).$$

*Proof* Assume that  $D < \infty$ . Then by Lemma 5.10 in [18] there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that the norms in  $\ell^{\{q_n\}}$  and  $\ell^r$  are equivalent. Thus  $\ell^{\{q_n\}} = \ell^r$ . Hence

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r).$$
(3.8)

Also by Proposition 3 in [13]

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{r}) = W(L^{p(x)}, L^{r}).$$
(3.9)

Finally by (3.8) and (3.9) we obtain

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r) = W(L^{p(x)}, L^r).$$

As a easy consequence of Proposition 3.2 and Corollary 3.1 we obtain the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.2** Let  $1 \le p(x) < \infty$ ,  $q = \{q_n\}$ ,  $t = \{t_n\}$  and  $q, t \in \mathcal{B}$ . If  $|t - q| \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $D < \infty$ , then there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that the norms in  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$ ,  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}})$  and  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r)$  are equivalent.

**Proposition 3.3** Let  $1 \le p(x), s(x) < \infty, q = \{q_n\}, t = \{t_n\}$  and  $q, t \in \mathcal{B}$ . Also assume that  $|t - q| \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $D < \infty$ . Then there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that

$$W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{\{t_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)},\ell^r)$$

if and only if p(x) = s(x).

 $\square$ 

*Proof* Assume that p(x) = s(x). Since  $|t - q| \in \mathcal{P}$ , then by Corollary 3.1,

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}).$$
(3.10)

Also since  $D < \infty$ , according to Corollary 3.2, there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r).$$
 (3.11)

Hence by (3.10) and (3.11) we obtain

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^r).$$

Conversely assume that

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}).$$
(3.12)

Since  $|t - q| \in \mathcal{P}$ , then  $\ell^{\{q_n\}} = \ell^{\{t_n\}}$ . Also since  $D < \infty$ , by Lemma 5.10 in [18] there exists  $r \in [1, \infty)$  such that

$$\ell^{\{q_n\}} = \ell^{\{t_n\}} = \ell^r.$$

Hence by (3.12)

$$W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}}) = W(L^{p(x)},\ell^r)$$

and

$$W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{\{t_n\}})=W(L^{s(x)},\ell^r).$$

Then

$$W(L^{p(x)},\ell^r) = W(L^{s(x)},\ell^r).$$

Finally by Corollary 1 in [13] one has p(x) = s(x).

Now we define the general case of amalgam space by taking  $L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  instead of  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  and compare it with the Wiener amalgam space.

**Definition 3.3** Let p(x) and q(x) be variable exponents on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Fix a compact subset  $U \subset \mathbb{R}$  with nonempty interior. Then the amalgam space  $W(L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}), L^{q(x)}(\mathbb{R}))$ , (shortly  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$ ) consists of all functions  $f \in L^{p(x)}_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $||f||_W = ||f||_{W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})} < \infty$ , where the norm of f is

$$\|f\|_{W} = \|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})} = \|\|f\chi_{U+z}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\|_{L^{q(z)}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

*Remark 3.2* Since the global component  $L^{q(x)}$  of the amalgam space  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$  is not translation invariant, we can not say that the definition is independent of the choice of U. Hence the space  $W(L^{p(x)}, L^{q(x)})$  is not a Wiener amalgam space.

The Amalgam Space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ 

**Definition 3.4** Let  $X = (x_i)_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{R}$  be well-spread family in  $\mathbb{R}$ . For any variable exponent Lebesgue space  $L^{p(x)}$ , we define the associate discrete space  $(L^{p(x)})_d$  as

$$(L^{p(x)})_d = \left\{ \Lambda : \Lambda = (\lambda_i)_{i \in I} \text{ with } \sum_{i \in I} |\lambda_i| \chi_{x_i+U} \in L^{p(x)} \right\}$$

with the norm

$$\|\Lambda\|_{(L^{p(x)})_d} = \left\|\sum_{i\in I} |\lambda_i| \chi_{x_i+U}\right\|_{L^{p(x)}}.$$

Since  $L^{p(x)}$  is not translation invariant,  $(L^{p(x)})_d$  is depend on the choice of U.

**Theorem 3.2** Let  $q : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $q = \{p_n\} \in \mathcal{B}$  and U = (0, 1]. Define a function  $p : \mathbb{R} \to [1, \infty)$  as  $p(x) = p_n$  if  $x \in U + n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then  $(L^{p(x)})_d = \ell^{\{p_n\}}$ .

*Proof* If we get  $x_i = i$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then  $(x_i)_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{R}$  is a well spread family in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Define the associate discrete space  $(L^{p(x)})_d$  as in Definition 3.4. Let  $\lambda = (\lambda_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \in (L^{p(x)})_d$ . By the definition of  $(L^{p(x)})_d$ ,  $\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i} \in L^{p(x)}$ . On the other hand we have the equality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i}(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx = \int_{\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (U+n)} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i}(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{U+n} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i}(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{U+n} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i}(x) \right|^{p_n} dx$$
$$= \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i|^{p_i}$$
(3.13)

Since the left side of the equality (3.13) is finite, then right side is also finite. Then we have the inclusion

$$\left(L^{p(x)}\right)_d \subset \ell^{\{p_n\}} \tag{3.14}$$

Conversely let  $\lambda = (\lambda_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{p_n\}}$ . Then

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}|\lambda_i|^{p_i}<\infty.$$

Thus again by (3.13),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i| \chi_{U+i}(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |\lambda_i|^{p_i} < \infty.$$

 $\square$ 

This implies

$$\ell^{\{p_n\}} \subset \left(L^{p(x)}\right)_d. \tag{3.15}$$

If we combine (3.14) and (3.15) obtain  $(L^{p(x)})_d = \ell^{\{p_n\}}$ .

**Theorem 3.3** Let  $q = \{q_n\}, q \in \mathcal{B}$ . Define any function  $p : \mathbb{R} \to [1, \infty)$  as  $p(x) = q_n$  if  $x \in U + n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = L^{p(x)}$ .

*Proof* By Definition 3.1,  $f \in W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  if and only if

$$\left\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{p(x)}}\right\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} = \left\{\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{q_n}}\right\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{q_n\}}.$$

Hence  $f \in W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  if and only if

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{q_n}}^{q_n} = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left[ \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| f\chi_{U+n}(x) \right|^{q_n} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{q_n}} \right]^{q_n} \\ = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| f\chi_{U+n}(x) \right|^{q_n} dx < \infty$$
(3.16)

On the other hand for any  $f \in L^{p(x)}$  we have

$$\rho_p(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f(x)|^{p(x)} dx = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{U+n} |f(x)|^{p(x)} dx$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f\chi_{U+n}(x)|^{p(x)} dx = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f\chi_{U+n}(x)|^{q_n} dx.$$
(3.17)

Since  $f \in L^{p(x)}$  if and only if  $\rho_p(f) < \infty$  and the right sides of (3.16) and (3.17) are equal, then  $f \in W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}})$  if and only if  $f \in L^{p(x)}$ . This implies  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = L^{p(x)}$ .

## **4** Frame Expansions in $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$

**Definition 4.1** Let  $\frac{1}{p(x)} + \frac{1}{s(x)} = 1$ . A countable family  $(g_i)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset L^{s(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  is called a p(x)-frame for  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  if  $(g_i(f))_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{q_n\}}$  and there exist constants A, B > 0 such that

 $A \| f \|_{L^{p(x)}} \le \left\| \left( g_i(f) \right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} \le B \| f \|_{L^{p(x)}}$ 

for all  $f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ .

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $q : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $q = \{p_n\} \in \mathcal{B}$  and U = (0, 1]. Define a function  $p : \mathbb{R} \to [1, \infty)$  as  $p(x) = p_n$  if  $x \in I_n = U + n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Assume that  $\frac{1}{p(x)} + \frac{1}{s(x)} = 1$ .

The Amalgam Space  $W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$ 

- 1. Then  $(\chi_{I_n})_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset L^{s(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  is a p(x)-frame for  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ .
- 2. Every  $f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  has the expansions

$$f = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle \chi_{I_n}$$

*Proof* 1. By Lemma 3.1,  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  is a *BK*-space. It is easy to see that  $(\chi_{I_n})_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $(\chi_{I_n})_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset L^{s(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ , where  $L^{s(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  is the dual of  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . By Proposition 3.2,

$$W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{p_n\}}) \hookrightarrow W(L^1, \ell^{\{p_n\}})$$

$$(4.1)$$

and then by (4.1) and Theorem 3.3, there exists B > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{W(L^{1},\ell^{\{p_{n}\}})} \leq B\|f\|_{W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{p_{n}\}})} = B\|f\|_{L^{p(x)}}, f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}).$$
(4.2)

On the other hand

$$\|f\|_{W(L^{1},\ell^{\{p_{n}\}})} = \|F_{f}\|_{\ell^{\{p_{n}\}}} = \|(\|f\chi_{U+n}\|_{L^{1}})_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{\{p_{n}\}}}$$
$$= \|(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |f\chi_{U+n}(x)|dx)_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{\{p_{n}\}}}$$
$$= \|(\int_{I_{n}} |f(x)|dx)_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{\{p_{n}\}}}.$$
(4.3)

Define the analysis operator  $C: L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}) \to \ell^{\{p_n\}}$  by

$$f \to \left(\int_{I_n} f(x) dx\right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} = \left(\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle\right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$$

From (4.2) and (4.3) we have

$$\begin{split} \| (\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} &= \left\| \int_{I_n} C(f) \right\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} = \left\| \left( \int_{I_n} f(x) dx \right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} \\ &\leq \left\| \left( \int_{I_n} |f(x)| dx \right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} \\ &= \| f \|_{W(L^1, \ell^{\{p_n\}})} \leq B \| f \|_{L^{p(x)}}. \end{split}$$
(4.4)

This implies that  $(\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \in (L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}))_d = \ell^{\{p_n\}}$ . That means the analysis operator *C* is well defined. Also by (4.4), it is bounded. It is easy to see that *C* is injective. To show that *C* is surjective take any  $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{\{p_n\}}$ . If we say

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}a_n\chi_{I_n}=f,$$

by the definition of  $(L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}))_d$  we have  $f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ . Also we write  $C(f) = (\langle \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n \chi_{I_n}, \chi_{I_m} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} = (a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ . Then *C* is surjective. Finally since *C* is bijective and bounded, then  $C^{-1}$  exits and bounded by Theorem 4.2.H in [19]. Since  $C^{-1}$  is bounded, there exists M > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p(x)}} = \|C^{-1}(Cf)\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le M \|C(f)\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}}$$
$$= M \|(\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}}, \quad f \in L^{p(x)}.$$
(4.5)

Combining (4.4) and (4.5) we have

$$\frac{1}{M} \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le \left\| \left( \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle \right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^{\{p_n\}}} \le \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}}.$$

Hence  $(\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is a p(x)-frame for  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ .

2. It is easy to show that  $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is a Schauder basis of  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$ , where  $e_n = (0, 0, \dots, 1^{n-\text{th}}, \dots)$ . Let  $f_i = C^{-1}(e_i)$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $C^{-1}$  is bounded and linear, then for every  $f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  we have

$$f = C^{-1}(Cf) = C^{-1}((\langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}})$$
$$= C^{-1}\left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle e_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle C^{-1}(e_n) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle f_n.$$
(4.6)

By the definition of  $f_n$  we write

$$e_n = C(f_n) = \left(\dots, \int_{I_{n-1}} f_n(x) dx, \int_{I_n} f_n(x) dx, \int_{I_{n+1}} f_n(x) dx \dots\right), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.7)

This implies if  $m \neq n$ ,  $\int_{I_n} f_m(x) dx = 0$  and if m = n,  $\int_{I_n} f_m(x) dx = 1$ . On the other hand

$$C(\chi_{I_m}) = \left(\int_{I_n} \chi_{I_m}(x) dx\right)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} = e_m.$$
(4.8)

Since *C* is bijective, by (4.7) and (4.8) we have  $f_m = \chi_{I_m}$ . Finally from (4.6) we obtain

$$f = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle f_n = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \chi_{I_n} \rangle \chi_{I_n}.$$

This completes the proof.

### 5 Boundedness of the Hardy-Littlewood Maximal Operator

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $q = \{q_n\}$  and  $q \in \mathcal{B}$ . Define any function  $p : \mathbb{R} \to [1, \infty)$  by  $p(x) = q_n$  if  $x \in U + n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Also let  $t = \{t_n\}$ ,  $v = \{v_n\}$  and  $t, v \in \mathcal{B}$ . If  $1 \le u(x) \le p(x) < s(x) < \infty$ ,  $t - q \in \mathcal{P}$ ,  $q - v \in \mathcal{P}$  and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

$$M: L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}) \to L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$$

is bounded, then the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator

$$M: W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \to W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$$

is bounded.

*Proof* By Theorem 3.3, we write

$$W(L^{p(x)},\ell^{\{q_n\}}) = L^{p(x)}.$$

Also by Proposition 3.2 we have

$$W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \hookrightarrow W(L^{p(x)}, \ell^{\{q_n\}}) = L^{p(x)} \hookrightarrow W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}}).$$
(5.1)

If we denote the unit maps from  $W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}})$  into  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  and from  $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ into  $W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$  by  $I_1$  and  $I_2$  respectively, then there exists  $C_1 > 0$  and  $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\left\|I_{1}(f)\right\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le C_{1} \|f\|_{W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{\{t_{n}\}})}$$
(5.2)

and

$$\|I_2(f)\|_{W(L^{u(x)},\ell^{\{v_n\}})} \le C_2 \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}}.$$
(5.3)

Since  $M: L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}) \to L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$  is bounded there exists  $C_3 > 0$  such that

$$\|Mf\|_{L^{p(x)}} \le C_3 \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}}.$$
(5.4)

Then combining (5.2), (5.3) and (5.4) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|Mf\|_{W(L^{u(x)},\ell^{\{v_n\}})} &= \|I_2(Mf)\|_{W(L^{u(x)},\ell^{\{v_n\}})} \le C_2 \|Mf\|_{L^{p(x)}} \\ &\le C_2 C_3 \|f\|_{L^{p(x)}} = C_2 C_3 \|I_1(f)\|_{L^{p(x)}} \\ &\le C_1 C_2 C_3 \|f\|_{W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{\{t_n\}})} = K \|f\|_{W(L^{s(x)},\ell^{\{t_n\}})}, \end{split}$$

where  $K = C_1 C_2 C_3$ . This completes the proof.

**Corollary 5.1** Let  $q = \{q_n\}$  and  $q \in \mathcal{B}$ . Define any function  $1 \le p(x) < \infty$  by  $p(x) = q_n$  if  $x \in U + n$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Also let  $t = \{t_n\}, v = \{v_n\}$  and  $t, v \in \mathcal{B}$ . If

 $1 \le u(x) \le p(x) < s(x) < \infty$ ,  $t - q \in \mathcal{P}$ ,  $q - v \in \mathcal{P}$  and p(x) satisfies the Log-Hölder continuity conditions (2.3) and (2.4) then the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

$$M: W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \to W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$$

is bounded.

*Proof* Since p(x) satisfies Log-Hölder continuity conditions (2.3) and (2.4), then the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

$$M: L^{p(x)} \to L^{p(x)}$$

is bounded (see [4] and [3]). Hence by Theorem 5.1, the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator

$$M: W(L^{s(x)}, \ell^{\{t_n\}}) \to W(L^{u(x)}, \ell^{\{v_n\}})$$

is bounded.

#### References

- I. Aydın, A.T. Gürkanlı, On some properties of the spaces A<sub>ω</sub><sup>p(x)</sup>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>). Proc. Jangjeon Math. Soc. 12(2), 141–155 (2009)
- I. Aydın, A.T. Gürkanlı, Weighted variable exponent amalgam spaces W(L<sup>p(x)</sup>, L<sup>q</sup><sub>w</sub>). Glas. Mat. 47(67) 167–176 (2012)
- D. Cruz Uribe, A. Fiorenza, C.J. Neugebauer, The maximal function on variable L<sup>p</sup> spaces. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., Math. 28, 223–238 (2003)
- D. Cruz Uribe, A. Fiorenza, C.J. Neugebauer, Corrections to the maximal function on variable L<sup>p</sup> spaces. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., Math. 29, 247–249 (2004)
- L. Diening, Maximal function on generalized Lebesgue spaces L<sup>p(.)</sup>. Math. Inequal. Appl. 7, 245–253 (2004)
- 6. L. Diening, P. Harjulehto, P. Hästö, M. Ruzicka, Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces with variable exponents. Monograph (2010)
- 7. D.E. Edmunds, A. Nekvinda, Averaging operators on  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  and  $L^{p(x)}$ . Math. Inequal. Appl. 5(2), 235–246 (2002)
- 8. D.E. Edmunds, J. Lang, A. Nekvinda, On  $L^{p(x)}$  norms. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., Ser. A, Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. **455**, 219–225 (1999)
- H.G. Feichtinger, Banach convolution algebras of Wiener type, in *Functions, Series, Operators, Proc. Conf. Budapest*. Colloq. Math. Soc. Janos Bolyai, vol. 38 (1980), pp. 509–524
- H.G. Feichtinger, K.H. Gröchenig, Banach spaces related to integrable group representations and their atomic decompositions I. J. Funct. Anal. 86, 307–340 (1989)
- R.H. Fischer, A.T. Gürkanlı, T.S. Liu, On a family of Wiener type spaces. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 19, 57–66 (1996)
- 12. J.J. Fournier, J. Stewart, Amalgams of  $L^p$  and  $\ell^q$ . Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 13, 1–21 (1985)
- 13. A.T. Gürkanlı, I. Aydın, On the weighted variable exponent amalgam space  $W(L^{p(x)}, L_m^q)$ . Acta Math. Sci. **34B**(4), 1098–1110 (2014)
- C. Heil, An introduction to weighted Wiener amalgams, in Wavelets and Their Applications, Chennai, January 2002 (Allied Publishers, New Delhi, 2003), pp. 183–216
- F. Holland, Square-summable positive-definite functions on the real line, linear operators approx. II, in *Proc. Conf. Oberwolfach, ISNM*, vol. 25 (1974), pp. 247–257

- 16. F. Holland, Harmonic analysis on amalgams of  $L^p$  and  $\ell^q$ . J. Lond. Math. Soc. 10, 295–305 (1975)
- 17. O. Kovacik, J. Rakosnik, On spaces  $L^{p(x)}$  and  $W^{k,p(x)}$ . Czechoslov. Math. J. **41**(116), 592–618 (1991)
- 18. A. Nekvinda, Equivalence of  $\ell^{\{p_n\}}$  norms and shift operators. Math. Inequal. Appl. 5(4), 1–12 (2002)
- 19. A.E. Taylor, Introduction to Functional Analysis (Wiley, New York, 1958)
- 20. N. Wiener, *Generalized Harmonic Analysis Tauberian Theorems* (MIT Press, Cambridge, 1964)

## Spaces of Generalised Smoothness in Summability Problems for $\Phi$ -Means of Spectral Decomposition

Tsegaye G. Ayele and Mikhail L. Goldman

**Abstract** We establish conditions for localization of generalised Riesz means of spectral decomposition by system of fundamental functions of Laplace operator in terms of belongingness of the decomposing function to the spaces of generalised smoothness.

**Keywords** Spectral decomposition · Summation method · Principle of localization · Spases of generalised smoothness

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 46E35 · 54C35 · 35B65

## **1** Introduction

In spectral theory of differential operators one is often confronted with problems, solutions of which are to be sought in terms of spaces of generalised smoothness. The problem on conditions for localization of spectral decompositions for different differential operators (in particular, for multiple Fourier series and Fourier integrals) is among them. Such problems were investigated by several mathematicians. However, we shall restrict ourselves to works of Ilin and Alimov, particularly to the results in [4]. Throughout the paper, we use the following notations:

T.G. Ayele (🖂)

M.L. Goldman

Department of Mathematics, Addis Ababa University, P.O. Box 1176, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia e-mail: tsegaye.ayele@aau.edu.et

Department of Nonlinear Analysis and Optimization, Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, Miklukho-Maklaya str. 6, Moscow 117198, Russia e-mail: seulydia@yandex.ru

For *n*-dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and for  $1 \le p \le \infty$ ,  $L_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denotes the Lebesgue space with the norm

$$\|f\|_{L_p(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \begin{cases} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p\right]^{1/p}, & \text{if } 1 \le p < \infty, \\ ess \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|, & \text{if } p = \infty \end{cases}$$

whereas  $A \hookrightarrow B$  denotes the topological inclusion of space A in space B and observe that A = B if and only if  $A \hookrightarrow B \cap B \hookrightarrow A$ . The notation  $a \simeq b$  means that  $c \leq \frac{a}{b} \leq d$  with  $0 < c \leq d$  depending on non significant parameters. For u > 0 and function  $\varphi$  in  $\mathbb{R}^1$ , the notations  $\varphi(u)$  al.  $\downarrow$  and  $\varphi(u)$  al.  $\uparrow$  are used to mean that  $\varphi(u)$  is almost decreasing and  $\varphi(u)$  is almost increasing respectively.

In this paper, we establish conditions for localisation of  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition by fundamental functions for Laplace operator in arbitrary multidimensional domain. The result which is formulated in terms of Nikol'skii type spaces of generalised smoothness generalises results in [4] and extends our publication [1].

#### 2 Statement of the Problem

Let  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be an arbitrary domain,  $(-\widehat{\Delta})$  arbitrary self-adjoint nonnegative extension of Laplace operator in G, and u an ordered spectral representation of  $L_2(G)$  with respect to  $(-\widehat{\Delta})$ ,  $d\rho(t)$  the corresponding spectral measure and  $\{u_i(x,t)\}_{i=1}^m$  fundamental function system with multiplicity  $m \leq \infty$ . Moreover, for any fixed  $t \geq 0$ , the fundamental functions  $u_i(x, t)$  belong to the class  $C^{\infty}(G)$  and satisfy the differential equation:

$$\Delta u_i(x,t) + t^2 u_i(x,t) = 0, \quad x \in G.$$
(2.1)

For a function  $f \in L_2(G)$ , define the Fourier transform

$$\widehat{f}(t) := \left\{ \widehat{f}(t) \right\}_{i=1}^{m} \quad \text{and} \quad \widehat{f}_i(t) := \int_G f(x) u_i(x, t) dx \tag{2.2}$$

the spectral decomposition by the system  $u(x, t) = \{u_i(x, t)\}_{i=1}^m$ 

$$S_{\mu}(f,x) = \int_{0}^{\mu} \widehat{f}(t)u(x,t)d\rho(t), \quad \mu > 0$$
(2.3)

and Riesz means of spectral decomposition by

$$\sigma_{\mu}^{s}(f,x) = \int_{0}^{\mu} \widehat{f}(t)u(x,t) \left(1 - \frac{t^{2}}{\mu^{2}}\right)^{s} d\rho(t).$$
(2.4)

Now introduce  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition

$$\sigma_{\mu}^{\Phi}(f,x) = \int_{0}^{\mu} \widehat{f}(t)u(x,t)\Phi\left(1 - \frac{t^{2}}{\mu^{2}}\right)d\rho(t)$$
(2.5)

where  $\Phi(u)$  is sth Reimann–Liouville integral.

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^u (u - v)^{s-1} \varphi(v) dv; \quad u \in (0, 1],$$
(2.6)

with s > 0 and a function  $\varphi$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}$  possessing properties:  $\varphi(u) \equiv 0$  for u < 0,  $\varphi(u) > 0$ ,  $\varphi(u)$  almost decreasing on (0, 1] and  $\varphi(u) \asymp \varphi(v)$  when  $u \asymp v$  for  $u, v \in (0, 1]$ . Moreover, for s > 0, set  $s_0 = s$  if s < 1,  $s_0 = 1$  if  $s \ge 1$  and require that 1.

$$\varphi_{s_0}(u) = \int_0^u v^{s_0 - 1} \varphi(v) dv < \infty, \quad u \in (0, 1]$$

2.

$$\varphi \in C^2(0,1), \quad |\varphi'(u)| \le c\varphi(u)u^{-1}, \quad |\varphi''(u)| \le c\varphi(u)u^{-2}$$

3.

$$\int_0^1 (1-v)^{s-1} \varphi(v) dv = \Gamma(s).$$

We observe that  $\Phi(1) = 1$  and if we set  $\varphi(u) = \Gamma(s+1)$  for  $u \in (0, 1]$ , then  $\Phi(u) = u^s$  and  $\Phi$ -means reduce to Riesz means of spectral decomposition,  $\sigma_u^s(f, x)$ .

The problem consists in obtaining conditions for localisation of  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition. For Riesz means a similar problem has been solved completely by Ilin and Alimov [4] in the framework of spaces of exponential order of smoothness. The result, substantially, was due to the possibility of giving a two-sided estimate of exponential type for Lebesgue function of Riesz means in spaces with exponential order of smoothness.

For  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition such an estimate does not posses exponential character. Thus, for multiple Fourier integral with assumption of convexity on  $\varphi(u)$ , the following estimate for Lebesgue constant was established by Goldman in [2].

$$\int_{R_1 \le |x| \le R_2} \left| D^{\Phi}_{\mu} \right| dx \asymp \frac{1}{\omega_0(1/\mu)}, \quad \omega_0(u) = \frac{u^{(n-1)/2-s}}{\varphi(u)}$$
(2.7)

Here  $0 < R_1 < R_2 < \infty$  are fixed and for  $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $D^{\Phi}_{\mu}(x) = F^{-1}[\Phi(1 - |\xi|^2/\mu^2)](x)$  is the Kernel of  $\Phi$ -means.

This estimate hints that the results on conditions for localization of  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition to be formulated in terms of spaces with generalised smoothness.

### **3** Formulation of the Result

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a domain and  $\Omega \subset \subset G$ , that is,  $\overline{\Omega}$  is compact and  $\overline{\Omega} \subset G$ . Let  $\omega(0) = 0, \omega(u)$  is increasing and  $\omega(u)u^{-k}$  is almost decreasing for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Definition 3.1** The Nikol'skii type space with generalised smoothness  $H_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$  is defined as

$$H_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega) = \left\{ f \in L_p(\Omega) : \|f\|_{H_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)} < \infty \right\},\tag{3.1}$$

where

$$\|f\|_{H_{p}^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)} = \|f\|_{L_{p}(\Omega)} + \sup_{0 < u \leq 1} \left[\frac{\omega_{p,\Omega}^{k}(f;u)}{\omega(u)}\right]$$
(3.2)

and

$$\omega_{p,\Omega}^k(f;u) = \sup_{|h| \le u} \|\Delta_{h,\Omega}^k f\|_{L_{p(\Omega)}}, \quad u > 0$$
(3.3)

is the modulus of continuity of order k for function  $f \in L_p(\Omega)$  with

$$\Delta_{h,\Omega}^k f(x) = \begin{cases} \Delta_h^k f(x) = \sum_{m=0}^k (-1)^{k-m} C_k^m f(x+mh), & [x, x+kh] \subset \Omega, \\ 0, & [x, x+kh] \subset \Omega^c. \end{cases}$$

**Theorem 3.2** (Main Theorem) Let  $\mathring{H}_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$  be the closure in  $H_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$  of  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $s > 0, 0 \le \alpha, \beta$  are such, that

$$\frac{n-2}{2} - s < \alpha \le \beta < \min\left\{\alpha + \frac{3}{2}, \frac{n}{2} + 1\right\}$$
(3.4)

and function  $\omega(u)$  satisfies the requirement

$$\omega(u)u^{-\alpha} \text{ al.} \uparrow, \qquad \omega(u)u^{-\beta} \text{ al.} \downarrow \quad on \ (0, 1],$$
(3.5)

$$\omega(u) \le c\omega_0(u), \quad u \in (0, 1], \qquad \omega_0(u) = \frac{u^{((n-1)/2)+s_0-s}}{\varphi_{s_0}(u)}.$$
 (3.6)

Let  $D \subset \Omega \subset G$  and  $f \in \mathring{H}_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$  be a function satisfying the condition  $f(x) \equiv 0$  for all x in D. Then for each compact  $K \subset D$  uniformly in x holds the relation:

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} \sigma_{\mu}^{\Phi}(f, x) = 0.$$

To prove the main theorem we require the following results which we state without proof.

**Lemma 3.3** Let condition (3.6) be satisfied for  $\alpha \leq \beta < \alpha + 3/2$ . Then for any domain  $\Omega \subset G$  and function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ 

$$\sup_{\mu \ge 1} \left\{ \int_{\mu}^{3\mu} \left| \hat{f}(t) \right|^2 d\rho(t) \right\}^{1/2} \le c(\Omega) \| f \|_{H_2^{\omega}} \omega(\mu^{-1})$$
(3.7)

The proof of the lemma is similar to that of Lemma 3.1 in [4], giving the estimate for  $H_2^r$ .

**Proposition 3.4** Let  $\delta = \frac{\nu+1}{2} - s$ 

1. For  $\mu \geq \frac{3}{R}$ , 0 < t < 1/R,  $\delta \leq 0$  holds true the estimate

$$\left|\Delta_{R}(\mu,t)\right| \le c_{1}(\mu R)^{\delta}\varphi_{1}\left(\frac{1}{\mu R}\right)$$
(3.8)

2. For  $\mu \geq \frac{1}{R}$ , t > 1/R holds true the estimates

$$\left|\Delta_{R}(\mu,t)\right| \le c_{2}R^{-s}\mu^{\delta+1}\varphi_{1}\left(\frac{1}{\mu R}\right)t^{-(\nu+1/2)}|\mu-t|^{-1}, \quad |\mu-t| > \frac{1}{R} \quad (3.9)$$

$$\left|\Delta_{R}(\mu,t)\right| \le c_{3}R^{s_{0}-s}\mu^{\delta+s_{0}}\varphi_{s_{0}}\left(\frac{1}{\mu R}\right)t^{-(\nu+1/2)}, \quad |\mu-t| \le \frac{1}{R}$$
(3.10)

where  $c_1, c_2, c_3$  do not depend on  $t, \mu, R$ .

**Proposition 3.5** Let s > 0,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\omega(u)$  be as stated in the theorem.  $\Omega \subset \subset G$ ,  $x_0 \in \Omega$ ,  $0 < R < \rho(x_0, \partial \Omega)$ ,  $R \le 1$ ,  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ ,  $f(x) \equiv 0$  for  $|x - x_0| \le R$ . Then for all  $\mu \ge 3/R$ , holds true the following inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\sigma_{\mu}^{\varPhi}(f,x_{0})\right| &\leq c \|f\|_{H_{2}^{\varpi}} \left\{ (\mu R)^{s_{0}-s-\frac{1}{2}} \varphi_{s_{0}}\left(\frac{1}{\mu R}\right) \omega\left(\frac{1}{\mu}\right) \mu^{\frac{n}{2}} \right. \\ &\left. + (\mu R)^{\delta} \varphi_{1}\left(\frac{1}{\mu R}\right) \omega(R) V_{\beta}(R) \right\}. \end{aligned} \tag{3.11}$$

Here c does not depend on  $\mu$ , R, f,  $x_0$ 

$$V_{\beta}(R) = \begin{cases} R^{-\frac{n}{2}}, & \beta < \frac{n}{2} \\ R^{-\frac{n}{2}} \log_2\left(\frac{1}{R}\right) & \beta = \frac{n}{2} \\ R^{-\beta} & \beta > \frac{n}{2} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\delta \leq \min\{0, (n+1)/2 - s - \beta\}.$$

*Proof of Theorem 3.2* Let  $R = \rho(x, \partial D)$ . Then for any function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ ,  $f \equiv 0$  in *D* and any point  $x_0 \in K$  holds estimate (3.11) in which R = R(K) > 0 is fixed. Then

$$\left|\sigma_{\mu}^{\Phi}(f, x_{0})\right| \leq c(K) \|f\|_{H_{2}^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)} \left[\frac{\omega(\mu^{-1})}{\omega_{0}(\mu^{-1})} + \mu^{\delta}\varphi_{1}(\mu^{-1})\right]$$
(3.12)

Since  $\delta \leq 0$  and  $\mu^{\delta} \varphi_1(\mu^{-1}) \to 0$  as  $\mu \to \infty$ . Finally applying (3.6), we arrive at

$$\left|\sigma_{\mu}^{\Phi}(f, x_{0})\right| \le c(K) \|f\|_{H_{2}^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)}$$
(3.13)

for all  $x_0 \in K$  and for all  $\mu \ge 1$ . Using denseness of  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in  $\mathring{H}_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$  and uniform convergence of spectral decomposition and hence  $\Phi$ -means for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , by standard scheme we obtain that  $\sigma_{\mu}^{\Phi}(f, x) \to f(x)$  as  $\mu \to \infty$  uniformly in  $x \in K$  for any function  $f \in \mathring{H}_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$ ,  $f \equiv 0$  in D.

*Remark 3.6* The theorem gives the conditions for localization of  $\Phi$ -means of spectral decomposition. In typical situations, when

$$\varphi_{s_0}(u) \asymp u^{s_0} \varphi(u), \qquad \omega_0(u) \asymp \frac{u^{\frac{n-1}{2}-s}}{\varphi(u)}, \quad u \in (0,1],$$
 (3.14)

there appears a function  $\omega_0(u)$  of the form (2.7). In particular, for Riesz means of spectral decomposition, that is, for  $\varphi(u) = \Gamma(s + 1)$  we obtain the requirement:

$$\omega(u) \le cu^{\frac{n-1}{2}-s} \tag{3.15}$$

which for  $s < \frac{n-1}{2}$  reduces to the sharp condition of localization in terms of exponential order of smoothness for  $f \in \mathring{H}_2^{\alpha}(\Omega)$  with  $\alpha = \frac{n-1}{2} - s$ , established by Ilin and Alimov in [4]. Moreover, Goldman in [2] proved that this condition is sharp in terms of spaces of generalised smoothness.

Namely, if

$$\overline{\lim}_{u \to +0} \left[ \omega(u) u^{s - \frac{n-1}{2}} \right] = \infty \quad \text{and} \quad 0 \le \frac{n-1}{2}, \tag{3.16}$$

then for all  $x_0 \in \Omega$ ,  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , there exists a function  $f_0 \in \mathring{H}_p^{\omega(.)}(\Omega)$ , which is equal to zero in some neighbourhood of  $x_0$ , such that the Riesz means of spectral decomposition  $\sigma_{\mu}^s(f_0, x_0)$  is unbounded as  $\mu \to \infty$ . To obtain these results, the generalised kernels of fractional order and corresponding integral operators in spaces of generalised smoothness investigated by Goldman in [3] were implemented.

Acknowledgement This Research was supported by Humboldt Foundation Research Fellowship Grant No. 3.4-ATH/1144171 in the case of the first author.

## References

- M.L. Goldman, T.G. Ayele, Spaces of generalised smoothness in problems of summability of spectral decompositions. All-Union Institute of Scientific and Technical Information, Russian Academy of Sciences 31.03.99 No. 1028-B99, Moscow
- M.L. Goldman, Issledobanye prostranstb differentserumikh funktsii mnogikh peremenikh c obovshonoy gladcostyu. Dissertatsiya na soeskaniya ychonoy stepin doktora Fiziko-Matematichiskikh Nauk (1987)
- 3. M.L. Goldman, Abovshonie yadra drobnovo porydka. Differ. Uravn. 7(12), 1236–1255 (1971)
- V.A. Ilin, Sh.A. Alimov, Conditions for the convergence of spectral decompositions that correspond to self-adjoint extensions of elliptic operators. I, II. Differ. Uravn. 7, 670–710 (1971); 851–882

## Viewing the Steklov Eigenvalues of the Laplace Operator as Critical Neumann Eigenvalues

Pier Domenico Lamberti and Luigi Provenzano

**Abstract** We consider the Steklov eigenvalues of the Laplace operator as limiting Neumann eigenvalues in a problem of boundary mass concentration. We discuss the asymptotic behavior of the Neumann eigenvalues in a ball and we deduce that the Steklov eigenvalues minimize the Neumann eigenvalues. Moreover, we study the dependence of the eigenvalues of the Steklov problem upon perturbation of the mass density and show that the Steklov eigenvalues violates a maximum principle in spectral optimization problems.

Keywords Steklov boundary conditions · Eigenvalues · Optimization

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 35J25 · Secondary 35B25 · 35P15

## 1 Introduction

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain (i.e. a bounded connected open set) of class  $C^2$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ . We consider the Steklov eigenvalue problem for the Laplace operator

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial v} = \lambda \rho u, & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

in the unknowns  $\lambda$  (the eigenvalue) and u (the eigenfunction). Here  $\rho$  denotes a positive function on  $\partial \Omega$  bounded away from zero and infinity and  $\nu$  the unit outer normal to  $\partial \Omega$ .

P.D. Lamberti (🖂) · L. Provenzano

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Padova, Via Trieste, 63, 35126 Padova, Italy e-mail: lamberti@math.unipd.it

L. Provenzano

e-mail: proz@math.unipd.it

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_21

Keeping in mind important problems in linear elasticity (see e.g. Courant and Hilbert [4]), we shall think of the weight  $\rho$  as a mass density. In fact, for N = 2 problem (1.1) arises for example in the study of the vibration modes of a free elastic membrane the total mass of which is concentrated at the boundary. Note that the total mass is given by  $\int_{\partial\Omega} \rho d\sigma$ . This mass concentration phenomenon can be described as follows.

For any  $\epsilon > 0$  sufficiently small, we consider the  $\epsilon$ -neighborhood of the boundary  $\Omega_{\epsilon} = \{x \in \Omega : d(x, \partial \Omega) < \epsilon\}$  and for a fixed M > 0 we define a function  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  in the whole of  $\Omega$  as follows

$$\rho_{\epsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} \epsilon, & \text{if } x \in \Omega \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\epsilon}, \\ \frac{M - \epsilon |\Omega \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\epsilon}|}{|\Omega_{\epsilon}|}, & \text{if } x \in \Omega_{\epsilon}. \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

Note that for any  $x \in \Omega$  we have  $\rho_{\epsilon}(x) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ , and  $\int_{\Omega} \rho_{\epsilon} dx = M$  for all  $\epsilon > 0$ . Then we consider the following eigenvalue problem for the Laplace operator with Neumann boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = \lambda \rho_{\epsilon} u, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial v} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

We recall that for N = 2 problem (1.3) provides the vibration modes of a free elastic membrane with mass density  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  and total mass M. It is not difficult to prove that the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of problem (1.3) converge as  $\epsilon$  goes to zero to the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of problem (1.1) with  $\rho = \frac{M}{|\partial \Omega|}$ . Thus the Steklov problem can be considered as a limiting Neumann problem. We refer to [1, Arrieta, Jiménez-Casas, Rodríguez-Bernal] for a general approach to this type of problems.

The aim of this paper is to highlight a few properties of the Steklov problem which, compared to the Neumann problem, reveals a critical nature.

First, we study the asymptotic behavior of the eigenvalues of problem (1.3) as  $\epsilon \to 0$ , when  $\Omega$  is a ball. We prove that such eigenvalues are differentiable with respect to  $\epsilon \ge 0$  and establish formulas for the first order derivatives at  $\epsilon = 0$ , see Theorem 2.2. It turns our that such derivatives are positive, hence the Steklov eigenvalues minimize the Neumann eigenvalues of problem (1.3) for  $\epsilon$  sufficiently small, see Remark 2.3.

Second, we consider the problem of optimal mass distributions for problem (1.1) under the condition that the total mass is fixed. This problem has been largely investigated in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions, see e.g. Henrot [5] for references. As for Steklov boundary conditions, we quote the classical paper by Bandle and Hersch [3].

By following the approach developed in [6], we prove that simple eigenvalues and the symmetric functions of the multiple eigenvalues of (1.1) depend real analytically on  $\rho$  and we characterize the corresponding critical mass densities under mass constraint. See Theorem 3.1 and Corollary 3.2. Again, the Steklov problem exhibits a critical behavior and violates the maximum principle discussed in [10] for general elliptic operators of arbitrary order subject to homogeneous boundary conditions of Dirichlet, Neumann and intermediate type for which critical mass densities do not exist. Indeed, it turns out that if  $\Omega$  is a ball then the constant function is a critical mass density for the Steklov problem (1.1), see Corollary 3.3, Remark 3.4 and Theorem 3.5.

#### 2 Asymptotic Behavior of Neumann Eigenvalues

Given a bounded domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of class  $C^2$  and M > 0 we denote by  $\lambda_j$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , the eigenvalues of problem (1.1) corresponding to the constant surface density  $\rho = \frac{M}{|\partial \Omega|}$ . Similarly, for  $\epsilon > 0$  sufficiently small, we denote by  $\lambda_j(\epsilon)$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , the eigenvalues of problem (1.3). Note that in this paper we always assume that  $N \ge 2$ . Moreover, by  $\mathbb{N}$  we denote the set of natural numbers including zero, hence  $\lambda_0(\epsilon) = \lambda_0 = 0$  for all  $\epsilon > 0$ .

As is well-known, by the Min–Max Principle we get the following variational characterization of the two sequences of eigenvalues:

$$\lambda_{j}(\epsilon) = \inf_{\substack{E \subset H^{1}(\Omega) \\ \dim E = j+1}} \sup_{\substack{0 \neq u \in E \\ \Pi = j+1}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{2} dx}{\int_{\Omega} u^{2} \rho_{\epsilon} dx}, \quad j \in \mathbb{N},$$
$$\lambda_{j} = \inf_{\substack{E \subset H^{1}(\Omega) \\ \dim E = j+1}} \sup_{\substack{u \in E \\ \Pi = j+1}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{2} dx}{\int_{\partial \Omega} (\operatorname{Tr} u)^{2} \frac{M}{|\partial \Omega|} d\sigma}, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Here  $H^1(\Omega)$  denotes the standard Sobolev space of real-valued functions in  $L^2(\Omega)$  with weak derivatives up to first order in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and  $\operatorname{Tr} u$  denotes the trace in  $\partial \Omega$  of a function  $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ . We note that, for each fixed  $u \in H^1(\Omega)$  we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 \rho_{\epsilon} dx} = \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx}{\int_{\partial \Omega} (\operatorname{Tr} u)^2 \frac{M}{|\partial \Omega|} d\sigma}.$$
 (2.1)

By looking at (2.1) one could expect the spectral convergence of the Neumann problems under consideration to the Steklov problem. In fact the following statement holds.

**Theorem 2.1** If  $\Omega$  is bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of class  $C^2$  then  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \lambda_j(\epsilon) = \lambda_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ .

This theorem can be proved directly by using the notion of compact convergence for the resolvent operators but can also be obtained as a consequence of the more general results proved in [1, Arrieta, Jiménez-Casas, Rodríguez-Bernal].

By Theorem 2.1, it follows that the function  $\lambda_j(\cdot)$  can be extended with continuity at  $\epsilon = 0$  by setting  $\lambda_j(0) = \lambda_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . This will be understood in the

sequel. If  $\Omega$  is a ball then we are able to establish the asymptotic behavior of  $\lambda_j(\epsilon)$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Indeed, we can prove that  $\lambda_j(\epsilon)$  is differentiable with respect to  $\epsilon$  and compute the derivative  $\lambda'_i(0)$  at  $\epsilon = 0$ .

**Theorem 2.2** If  $\Omega$  is the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  then  $\lambda_j(\epsilon)$  is differentiable for any  $\epsilon \ge 0$  and

$$\lambda_j'(0) = \frac{2M\lambda_j^2(0)}{3N|\Omega|} + \frac{2\lambda_j^2(0)|\Omega|}{2M\lambda_j(0) + N^2|\Omega|}.$$

The proof of this theorem relies on the use of Bessel functions which allow to recast the Neumann eigenvalue problem in the form of an equation  $F(\lambda, \epsilon) = 0$  in the unknowns  $\lambda$ ,  $\epsilon$ . Then, after some preparatory work, it is possible to apply the Implicit Function Theorem and conclude. We note that, despite the idea of the proof is rather simple and used also in other contexts (see e.g. [9]), this method requires standard but lengthy computations, suitable Taylor's expansions and estimates on the corresponding remainders, as well as recursive formulas for the cross-products of Bessel functions and their derivatives. We refer to [12] for details.

*Remark 2.3* By Theorem 2.2 it follows that for  $\epsilon > 0$  sufficiently small the functions  $\epsilon \mapsto \lambda_j(\epsilon)$  are strictly increasing. In particular, it follows that for all  $\epsilon > 0$  sufficiently small, we have that  $\lambda_j(0) < \lambda_j(\epsilon)$ .

It is interesting to compare our result with the monotonicity result by Ni and Wang [11] who have proved that if  $\Omega$  is the unit disk in the plane then the first positive eigenvalue of the Neumann Laplacian in  $\Omega_{\epsilon}$ , i.e. the first positive eigenvalue of the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = \lambda u, & \text{in } \Omega_{\epsilon}, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega_{\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

is a strictly increasing function of  $\epsilon > 0$ .

#### **3** Existence of Critical Mass Densities for the Steklov Problem

Given a bounded domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of class  $C^2$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{R}$  the subset of  $L^{\infty}(\partial \Omega)$  of those functions  $\rho \in L^{\infty}(\partial \Omega)$  such that  $\operatorname{ess} \inf_{\partial \Omega} \rho > 0$ . For any  $\rho \in \mathcal{R}$ , we denote by  $\lambda_j[\rho]$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , the eigenvalues of problem (1.1). By classical results in perturbation theory, one can prove that  $\lambda_j[\rho]$  depends real-analytically on  $\rho$  as long as  $\rho$  is such that  $\lambda_j[\rho]$  is a simple eigenvalue. This is no longer true if the multiplicity of  $\lambda_j[\rho]$  varies. As it was pointed out in [6, 7], in the case of multiple eigenvalues, analyticity can be proved for the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues. Namely, given a finite set of indexes  $F \subset \mathbb{N}$ , one can consider the symmetric

functions of the eigenvalues with indexes in F

$$\Lambda_{F,h}[\rho] = \sum_{\substack{j_1, \dots, j_h \in F \\ j_1 < \dots < j_h}} \lambda_{j_1}[\rho] \cdots \lambda_{j_h}[\rho], \quad h = 1, \dots, |F|$$

and prove that such functions are real-analytic on

$$\mathcal{R}[F] \equiv \left\{ \rho \in \mathcal{R} : \lambda_j[\rho] \neq \lambda_l[\rho], \ \forall j \in F, \ l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus F \right\}.$$
(3.1)

In fact, we can prove the following theorem where in order to establish formulas for the Frechét differentials, we find it convenient to set

$$\Theta[F] \equiv \left\{ \rho \in \mathcal{R}[F] : \lambda_{j_1}[\rho] = \lambda_{j_2}[\rho], \ \forall j_1, j_2 \in F \right\}.$$

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of class  $C^2$  and F a finite subset of  $\mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{R}[F]$  is an open set in  $L^{\infty}(\partial \Omega)$  and the functions  $\Lambda_{F,h}$  are real-analytic in  $\mathcal{R}[F]$ . Moreover, if  $F = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} F_k$  and  $\rho \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{n} \Theta[F_k]$  is such that for each k =1,..., n the eigenvalues  $\lambda_j[\rho]$  assume the common value  $\lambda_{F_k}[\rho]$  for all  $j \in F_k$ , then the differentials of the functions  $\Lambda_{F,h}$  at the point  $\rho$  are given by the formula

$$d\Lambda_{F,h}[\rho][\dot{\rho}] = -\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k \sum_{l \in F_k} \int_{\partial \Omega} (\operatorname{Tr} u_l)^2 \dot{\rho} d\sigma, \qquad (3.2)$$

for all  $\dot{\rho} \in L^{\infty}(\partial \Omega)$ , where

$$c_{k} = \sum_{\substack{0 \le h_{1} \le |F_{1}| \\ 0 \le h_{n} \le |F_{n}| \\ h_{1} + \dots + h_{n} = h}} \binom{|F_{k}| - 1}{h_{k} - 1} \lambda_{F_{k}}^{h_{k}}[\rho] \prod_{\substack{j=1 \\ j \ne k}}^{n} \binom{|F_{j}|}{h_{j}} \lambda_{F_{j}}^{h_{j}}[\rho],$$

and for each k = 1, ..., n,  $\{u_l\}_{l \in F_k}$  is a basis of the eigenspace of  $\lambda_{F_k}[\rho]$  normalized by the condition  $\int_{\partial \Omega} \operatorname{Tru}_i \operatorname{Tr} u_j \rho d\sigma = \delta_{ij}$  for all  $i, j \in F_k$ .

The proof of this theorem follows the lines of the corresponding result proved in [10] for general elliptic operators subject to homogeneous boundary conditions of Dirichlet, Neumann and intermediate type. In the same spirit of [10], we can use formula (3.2) in order to investigate the existence of critical mass densities for the eigenvalues of the Steklov problem subject to mass constraint. We note that a typical optimization problem in the analysis of composite materials consists in finding mass densities  $\rho$ , with given total mass, which minimize a cost functional  $F[\rho]$  associated with the solutions of suitable partial differential equations depending on  $\rho$ . Namely, in the case of Steklov boundary conditions one can consider the following problems

$$\min_{\substack{\beta \in \Omega \\ \rho \mid \sigma = \text{const.}}} F[\rho] \quad \text{or} \quad \max_{\substack{\beta \in \Omega \\ \sigma \neq \sigma = \text{const.}}} F[\rho].$$

More in general, setting  $M[\rho] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \rho d\sigma$  one can consider the problem of finding critical mass densities  $\rho$  under mass constraint, i.e. mass densities  $\rho$  which satisfy the condition Ker  $dM[\rho] \subset$  Ker $dF[\rho]$ . As in [10] we can give a characterization of critical mass densities which immediately follows by formula (3.2) combined with the Lagrange Multipliers Theorem.

**Corollary 3.2** Let all assumptions of Theorem 3.1 hold. Then,  $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$  is a critical mass density for  $\Lambda_{F,h}$  for some h = 1, ..., |F|, subject to mass constraint if and only if there exists  $c \ge 0$  such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k \sum_{l \in F_k} (\operatorname{Tr} u_l)^2 = c, \quad a.e. \text{ on } \partial \Omega.$$
(3.3)

The analysis carried out in [10] has pointed out that for a large class of nonnegative elliptic operators subject to homogeneous boundary conditions of intermediate type (including the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions), there are no critical mass densities for simple eigenvalues and the symmetric functions of multiple eigenvalues. For example, in the case of Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions, (3.3) has to be replaced by

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k \sum_{l \in F_k} u_l^2 = c, \quad \text{a.e. in } \Omega,$$
(3.4)

which is clearly not satisfied in the Dirichlet case. As for Neumann boundary conditions the same non existence result can be easily proved for simple eigenvalues in which case only a summand appears in (3.4). The situation is not completely clear for multiple eigenvalues. Under suitable regularity assumptions on the eigenfunctions  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  associated with the same Neumann eigenvalue  $\lambda$  one can prove that the condition  $u_1^2 + u_2^2 = c$  in  $\Omega$  implies that  $\lambda = 0$ , but the proof in the case of multiplicities higher than two seems not straightforward. However, well-known explicit formulas for the eigenfunctions of the Neumann Laplacian in the ball clearly show that condition (3.4) is not satisfied, hence *no critical mass densities exist for the Neumann Laplacian in the ball*. In the case of Steklov boundary conditions the situation is much different. Indeed, if  $\Omega$  is a ball then a critical mass density exists.

**Corollary 3.3** Let  $\Omega$  be the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , M > 0 and  $F \subset \mathbb{N}$  be a finite set such that the constant mass density  $\rho = M/|\partial \Omega|$  belongs to  $\mathcal{R}[F]$ . Then  $\rho = M/|\partial \Omega|$  is critical for  $\Lambda_{F,h}$  for all h = 1, ..., |F| under the constraint  $M[\rho] = M$ .

The proof can be carried out as in [8]. Namely, assume that  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of problem (1.1) with multiplicity *m* and consider a basis  $u_1, \ldots, u_m$  of the corresponding eigenspace. Assume that this basis is orthonormal in  $L^2(\partial \Omega)$  with respect to the scalar product defined by  $\int_{\partial \Omega} \operatorname{Tr} u \operatorname{Tr} v \rho d\sigma$ . Then for any isometry *R* in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  also  $u_1 \circ R, \ldots, u_m \circ R$  is an orthonormal basis of the same eigenspace, hence  $\sum_{i=1}^m u_i^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m u_i^2 \circ R$ . It follows that  $\sum_{i=1}^m u_i^2$  is constant on  $\partial \Omega$ .

*Remark 3.4* It is interesting to compare Corollary 3.3 with a classical result proved by Bandle and Hersch [2] in the case of a class of symmetric planar domains. For the convenience of the reader we formulate such result assuming directly that  $\Omega$  is the unit disk in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  centered at zero. For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we set

$$\mathcal{R}_n = \left\{ \rho \in \mathcal{R} : \ \rho \left( e^{2\pi i/n} z \right) = \rho(z), \ \forall \ z \in \partial \Omega \right\},\$$

where the use of the complex variable z is clearly understood. Then we have the following result

**Theorem 3.5** (Bandle and Hersch) Let  $\Omega$  be the unit disk in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  centered at zero,  $M > 0, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$\lambda_j[\rho] \le \lambda_j \left[\frac{M}{2\pi}\right]$$

for all j = 0, ..., n and  $\rho \in \mathcal{R}_n$  such that  $M[\rho] = M$ . Equality holds only if  $\rho = M/2\pi$ .

Thus in the case of a ball in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  the constant mass density is in fact a maximizer among all mass densities satisfying the symmetry condition above. We refer to Bandle [2] for further discussions.

Acknowledgements We acknowledge financial support by the research project "Singular perturbation problems for differential operators", Progetto di Ateneo of the University of Padova.

#### References

- J.M. Arrieta, A. Jiménez-Casas, A. Rodríguez-Bernal, Flux terms and Robin boundary conditions as limit of reactions and potentials concentrating in the boundary. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 24(1), 183–211 (2008)
- C. Bandle, *Isoperimetric Inequalities and Applications*. Pitman Advanced Publishing Program, Monographs and Studies in Mathematics, vol. 7 (1980)
- 3. C. Bandle, J. Hersch, Sur le problème de Stekloff: Quelques inégalités isopérimétriques pour des domaines symètriques. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér. A–B **265**, A327–A328 (1967)
- 4. R. Courant, D. Hilbert, *Methods of Mathematical Physics, vol. I* (Interscience, New York, 1953)
- 5. A. Henrot, *Extremum Problems for Eigenvalues of Elliptic Operators*. Frontiers in Mathematics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006)
- P.D. Lamberti, Absence of critical mass densities for a vibrating membrane. Appl. Math. Optim. 59(3), 319–327 (2009)
- P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, A real analyticity result for symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of a domain dependent Dirichlet problem for the Laplace operator. J. Nonlinear Convex Anal. 5(1), 19–42 (2004)
- P.D. Lamberti, M. Lanza de Cristoforis, Critical points of the symmetric functions of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator and overdetermined problems. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. 58(1), 231–245 (2006)
- 9. P.D. Lamberti, M. Perin, On the sharpness of a certain spectral stability estimate for the Dirichlet Laplacian. Eurasian Math. J. 1(1), 111–122 (2010)
- 10. P.D. Lamberti, L. Provenzano, A maximum principle in spectral optimization problems for elliptic operators subject to mass density perturbations. Eurasian Math. J. 4(3), 69–82
- W.-M. Ni, X. Wang, On the first positive Neumann eigenvalue. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 17(1), 1–19 (2007)
- 12. L. Provenzano. Ph.D. thesis, University of Padova, in preparation

# Generalized Fractional Integrals on Central Morrey Spaces and Generalized $\sigma$ -Lipschitz Spaces

Katsuo Matsuoka

**Abstract** For the generalized fractional integrals  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$ , which were defined in Function Spaces X, to appear, when  $n/\alpha \leq p < \infty$ , we will consider their boundedness from the central Morrey spaces  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to the generalized  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz spaces  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\mathcal{B},\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Keywords** Central Morrey space  $\cdot \lambda$ -Central mean oscillation space  $\cdot \sigma$ -Lipschitz space  $\cdot$  Generalized  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation space  $\cdot$  Generalized  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz space  $\cdot$  Fractional integral  $\cdot$  Generalized fractional integral

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 42B35 · Secondary 26A33 · 46E30 · 46E35

# 1 Introduction

In 1964, the spaces  $B^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , were introduced by A. Beurling [3], together with their preduals  $A^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , so-called the Beurling algebras. Further, in 1989, the central mean oscillation spaces  $\text{CMO}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , which contain the spaces  $B^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  modulo constants, were introduced by Y. Chen and K. Lau [6] and J. García-Cuerva [9].

Later, in 2000, the non-homogeneous central Morrey spaces  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and the  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation spaces  $\text{CMO}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , were introduced by J. Alvarez, M. Guzmán-Partida and J. Lakey [1]. The spaces  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  contain the spaces  $B_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $0 < q \le 1$ , which were defined by J. García-Cuerva and M. J. Herrero [10] in 1994, as special cases. Here we note that the spaces  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are the non-homogeneous Herz spaces  $K_{p,\infty}^{-n/p-\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (cf. [7] and [13]). Moreover, in [18] (cf. [14, 15]), we defined the weak  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation spaces  $WCMO^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

K. Matsuoka (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Dedicated to Professor Kichi-Suke Saito in celebration of his 65th birthday.

College of Economics, Nihon University, 1-3-2 Misaki-cho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-8360, Japan e-mail: katsu.m@nihon-u.ac.jp

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_22

Afterward, in 2011, we ([20]; cf. [16]) introduced the  $B_{\sigma}$ -function spaces,  $0 \le \sigma < \infty$ , in order to unify  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , CMO<sup> $p,\lambda$ </sup>( $\mathbb{R}^n$ ) and the usual Morrey–Campanato spaces.

Recently, in [17, 19] (cf. [22]), we introduced the generalized  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation spaces  $\Lambda_{p,\lambda}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the generalized weak  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation spaces  $W\Lambda_{p,\lambda}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , in order to consider the further boundedness of fractional integrals  $I_{\alpha}$  for  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The spaces  $\Lambda_{p,\lambda}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  also contain the spaces  $\Lambda_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $0 < q \le 1$ , which were defined in [10], as special cases.

On the other hand, for the fractional integrals  $I_{\alpha}$  and the modified fractional integrals  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < n$ , which are defined by

$$I_{\alpha}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{f(y)}{|x-y|^{n-\alpha}} \, dy$$

and

$$\tilde{I}_{\alpha}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(y) \left( \frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-\alpha}} - \frac{1-\chi_{Q_1}(y)}{|y|^{n-\alpha}} \right) dy$$
(1.1)

(for the notation  $\chi_{Q_1}$ , see Sect. 2) respectively, the following boundedness results are well-known: For  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $1/q = 1/p - \alpha/n$ ,

(i)  $I_{\alpha}: L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), 1$  $(ii) <math>I_{\alpha}: L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to WL^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), p = 1;$ (iii)  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}: L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), 0 < \beta = \alpha - n/p < 1;$ (iv)  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}: L^{n/\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \operatorname{BMO}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), p = n/\alpha.$ 

Here (i) is due to G. H. Hardy and J. E. Littlewood [11, 12] for the 1-dimensional case and S. L. Sobolev [28] for the *n*-dimensional case, (ii) belongs to A. Zygmund [29], and (iii) and (iv) were proved by J. Peetre [24].

After that, for the fractional integrals  $I_{\alpha}$  on  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the following boundedness result was obtained by Z. W. Fu, Y. Lin and S. Z. Lu [8]: For  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 , <math>-n/p + \alpha \le \lambda + \alpha = \mu < 0$  and  $1/q = 1/p - \alpha/n$ ,

(i') 
$$I_{\alpha}: B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to B^{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

Furthermore, in [16, 20] (cf. [15]), from several  $B_{\sigma}$ -Morrey–Campanato estimates for  $I_{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}$ , the following boundedness results are obtained as the corollaries: For  $0 < \alpha < n, -n + \alpha \le \lambda + \alpha = \mu < 0$  and  $1/q = 1 - \alpha/n$ ,

(ii') 
$$I_{\alpha}: B^{1,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to WB^{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Also for  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $-n/p + \alpha \le \lambda + \alpha = \mu < 1$ ,  $1 \le q \le pn/(n - p\alpha)$ and  $\sigma = \lambda + n/p$ ,

(i'') 
$$\tilde{I}_{\alpha} : B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \text{CMO}^{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 (ii'')  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha} : B^{1,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W\text{CMO}^{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), p = 1;$$$

(iii')  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}: B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n), 0 < \beta = \alpha - n/p < 1;$ (iv')  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}: B^{n/\alpha,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \operatorname{BMO}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n), p = n/\alpha.$ 

As for the spaces  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\operatorname{BMO}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , refer to Remark 2.10 below.

Recently, as we stated above, for the whole of  $\lambda$  such that  $-n/p \leq \lambda < \infty$ , in order to investigate the boundedness of  $I_{\alpha}$  for  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we introduced the "new" modification of  $I_{\alpha}$ , i.e., the generalized fractional integrals  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < n$  and  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , and showed the following boundedness results: For  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 \leq p < n/\alpha$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $-n/p + \alpha \leq \lambda + \alpha = \mu < d + 1$  and  $q = pn/(n - p\alpha)$ , i.e.,  $1/q = 1/p - \alpha/n$ ,

(i'') 
$$\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}: B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \Lambda^{(d)}_{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 (ii'')  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}: B^{1,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W\Lambda^{(d)}_{q,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n), p = 1.$$$

The above (i''') and (ii''') are the results for the whole of  $\lambda$  such that  $-n/p \leq \lambda < \infty$  and further the condition  $1 \leq p < n/\alpha$ . In this paper, therefore, under the condition  $n/\alpha \leq p < \infty$ , we investigate the boundedness of  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$  for  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In order to do so, we shall use the generalized  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz spaces  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the special cases of which are  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\operatorname{BMO}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see Definition 2.8 below).

We note that the same results in this paper still hold for the homogeneous versions of the function spaces.

#### 2 Generalized $\sigma$ -Lipschitz Spaces

First we explain the notations used in the present paper. We use the symbol  $A \leq B$  to denote that there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $A \leq CB$ . If  $A \leq B$  and  $B \leq A$ , we then write  $A \sim B$ . For r > 0, by  $Q_r$ , we mean the following:  $Q_r = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |y| < r\}$  or  $Q_r = \{y = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} |y_i| < r\}$ . And for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we set  $Q(x, r) = x + Q_r = \{x + y : y \in Q_r\}$ . For a measurable set  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , we denote the Lebesgue measure of G by |G| and the characteristic function of G by  $\chi_G$ . Further, for a function  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and a measurable set  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with |G| > 0, let

$$f_G = \oint_G f(y) \, dy = \frac{1}{|G|} \int_G f(y) \, dy$$

and let  $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ .

Next we state the definition of the non-homogeneous central Morrey space  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see [1] and [8]).

**Definition 2.1** For  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $-n/p \le \lambda < \infty$ ,

$$B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \left\{ f \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}} < \infty \right\},\$$

where

$$||f||_{B^{p,\lambda}} = \sup_{r \ge 1} \frac{1}{r^{\lambda}} \left( \int_{Q_r} |f(y)|^p \, dy \right)^{1/p}.$$

*Remark* 2.2 The spaces  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are the particular cases of local general Morrey-type spaces  $LM_{p\theta,w(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\theta = \infty$  and  $w(r) = r^{-n/p-\lambda}$ . In the last decade there were many results on the boundedness of various operators of real analysis from one local Morrey-type space  $LM_{p_1\theta_1,w_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to another one  $LM_{p_2\theta_2,w_2(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . A survey of these results is given in [4, 5].

Now we define the generalized  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz spaces  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see [17] and [22]).

**Definition 2.3** (Definition 8.1 of [22]; cf. [17]) Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$  or  $U = Q_r$  with r > 0. For  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $0 \le \beta \le 1$ , the continuous function f will be said to belong to the generalized Lipschitz space on U, i.e.,  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(U)$  if and only if

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(U)} = \sup_{x, x+h \in U, h \neq 0} \frac{1}{|h|^{\beta}} \left| \Delta_{h}^{d+1} f(x) \right| < \infty,$$

where  $\Delta_h^k$  is a difference operator, which is defined inductively by

$$\Delta_h^0 f = f, \qquad \Delta_h^1 f = \Delta_h f = f(\cdot + h) - f(\cdot),$$
  
$$\Delta_h^k f = \Delta_h^{k-1} f(\cdot + h) - \Delta_h^{k-1} f(\cdot), \qquad k = 2, 3, \dots.$$

In particular,

$$BMO^{(d)}(U) = \operatorname{Lip}_0^{(d)}(U),$$

which we call the generalized BMO space on U.

*Remark* 2.4 For  $0 < \beta < 1$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\beta = 1$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  the spaces  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(U)$  concide with Nikol'skiĭ spaces  $h_{\infty}^{\beta}(U)$ . For the well developed theory of Nikol'skiĭ spaces  $h_p^{\beta}(U)$  and their generalizations see books [2] and [23].

*Remark* 2.5 (Theorem 8.3 of [22]) Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$  or  $U = Q_r$  with r > 0. For  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $0 \le \beta \le 1$  and  $f \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(U)} \sim \|f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{p,\beta}^{(d)}(U)},$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{p,\beta}^{(d)}(U)$  is the generalized Campanato space on U defined in the following.

**Definition 2.6** Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$  or  $U = Q_r$  with r > 0. For  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $-n/p \le \lambda < d + 1$ , the function  $f \in L^p_{loc}(U)$  will be said to belong to the generalized Campanato space on U, i.e.,  $\mathcal{L}^{(d)}_{p,\lambda}(U)$  if and only if for every  $Q(x, s) \subset U$ , there is a polynomial  $P^d_{Q(x,s)}f$  of degree at most d such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{p,\lambda}^{(d)}(U)} = \sup_{Q(x,s)\subset U} \frac{1}{s^{\lambda}} \left( \int_{Q(x,s)} |f(y) - P_{Q(x,s)}^{d} f(y)|^{p} \, dy \right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

*Remark* 2.7 (Remark 6.2 of [22]) Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$  or  $U = Q_r$  with r > 0. For  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $-n/p \le \lambda < d + 1$  and  $f \in L^p_{loc}(U)$ , we have

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{p,\lambda}^{(d)}(U)} \sim \sup_{Q(x,s) \subset U} \inf_{P \in \mathcal{P}^d(U)} \frac{1}{s^{\lambda}} \left( \oint_{Q(x,s)} \left| f(y) - P(y) \right|^p dy \right)^{1/p}$$

where  $\mathcal{P}^{d}(U)$  is the set of all polynomials of degree at most d.

**Definition 2.8** (cf. Definition 11 of [17]) For  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $0 \le \beta \le 1$  and  $0 \le \sigma < \infty$ , the continuous function f will be said to belong to the generalized  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz ( $\sigma$ -Lip) space, i.e.,  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}} = \sup_{r \ge 1} \frac{1}{r^{\sigma}} \|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(Q_r)} < \infty.$$

In particular,

$$BMO_{\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \operatorname{Lip}_{0,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

which we call the generalized  $\sigma$ -BMO space.

*Remark 2.9* Very close spaces to  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are studied in much detail and generality in papers by T. Runst, W. Sickel and other mathematicians. See book [25] and survey paper [26, 27].

Identifying functions which differ by a polynomial of degree at most d, a.e., we see that  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are the Banach spaces (see [17] and [22]).

Remark 2.10 ([18]; cf. [15]) We note that particularly

$$\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(0)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n), \qquad \operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(0)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and

$$BMO^{(0)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = BMO(\mathbb{R}^n), \qquad BMO^{(0)}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n) = BMO_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Here, for  $0 \le \beta \le 1$  and  $0 \le \sigma < \infty$ ,  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\operatorname{BMO}_{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \operatorname{Lip}_{0,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , socalled the  $\sigma$ -Lipschitz ( $\sigma$ -Lip) space and the  $\sigma$ -BMO space respectively, are defined by

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}} = \sup_{r \ge 1} \frac{1}{r^{\sigma}} \|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}(\mathcal{Q}_r)},$$

where

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} = \sup_{\mathcal{Q}(x,s)\subset\mathcal{Q}_{r}} \frac{1}{s^{\beta}} \left( \int_{\mathcal{Q}(x,s)} \left| f(y) - f_{\mathcal{Q}(x,s)} \right| dy \right).$$

# **3** Generalized Fractional Integrals

In [19], in order to consider the boundedness of fractional integrals  $I_{\alpha}$  on  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ under the conditions  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $-n/p \le \lambda < \infty$  and  $\lambda + \alpha \ge 1$ , we introduced the following definition of generalized fractional integrals  $I_{\alpha,d}$ .

**Definition 3.1** (Definition 3.1 of [19]) For  $0 < \alpha < n$  and  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , we define the generalized fractional integral (of order  $\alpha$ ), i.e.,  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$ , as follows: For  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(y) \bigg\{ K_{\alpha}(x-y) - \bigg(\sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} (D^l K_{\alpha})(-y) \bigg) (1-\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_1}(y)) \bigg\} dy,$$

where

$$K_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{1}{|x|^{n-\alpha}}$$

and for  $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $l = (l_1, l_2, ..., l_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|l| = l_1 + l_2 + \dots + l_n$ ,  $x^l = x_1^{l_1} x_2^{l_2} \cdots x_n^{l_n}$  and  $D^l$  is the partial derivative of order *l*, i.e.,

$$D^{l} = (\partial/\partial x_{1})^{l_{1}} (\partial/\partial x_{2})^{l_{2}} \cdots (\partial/\partial x_{n})^{l_{n}}.$$

We note that particularly

$$\tilde{I}_{\alpha,0} = \tilde{I}_{\alpha}$$

(see (1.1) above). For further details of  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$ , refer to [19].

Then for a generalized fractional integral  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$ , we can show the following estimates on  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 3.2** Let  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $n/\alpha \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $-n/p + \alpha + d \le \lambda + \alpha < d + 1$ ,  $\beta = \alpha - n/p$  and  $\sigma = \lambda + n/p$ . Then  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$  is bounded from  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , that is, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

(iii'') when  $n/\alpha ,$ 

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}} \leq C \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}, \quad f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n);$$

(iv") when  $p = n/\alpha$ , *i.e.*,  $\beta = 0$ ,

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\mathrm{BMO}_{\sigma}^{(d)}} \le C \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}, \quad f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

In the above theorem, if d = 0, then we obtain the following estimates for  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}$  (cf. Sect. 1).

**Corollary 3.3** (cf. Theorem 2.3 of [20]) Let  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $n/\alpha \le p < \infty$ ,  $-n/p + \alpha \le \lambda + \alpha < 1$ ,  $\beta = \alpha - n/p$  and  $\sigma = \lambda + n/p$ . Then  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha}$  is bounded from  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , that is, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

(iii') when  $n/\alpha ,$ 

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}} \leq C \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}, \quad f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n);$$

(iv') when  $p = n/\alpha$ , *i.e.*,  $\beta = 0$ ,

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha}f\|_{\mathrm{BMO}_{\sigma}} \le C \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}, \quad f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

# 4 Proof of Theorem 3.2

First of all, we state the following well-definedness of  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}$  for  $B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , which was shown in [19].

**Lemma 4.1** (Lemma 4.1 of [19]) Let  $0 < \alpha < n$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $-n/p + \alpha \le \lambda + \alpha < d + 1$ . Then for  $f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f$  is well-defined.

Also, in order to prove Theorem 3.2, it is necessary to use the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 4.2** (cf. Lemma 7.3 of [21]) Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 < \alpha < n$  and  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . If  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_{2|x|}$ , then

$$\left|\Delta_{h}^{d+1}\left(K_{\alpha}(x-y)-\sum_{\{l:|l|\leq d\}}\frac{x^{l}}{l!}\left(D^{l}K_{\alpha}\right)(-y)\right)\right|\leq C\frac{|h|^{d+1}}{|y|^{n-\alpha+d+1}}.$$

*Proof* By Taylor's theorem, there exists  $\xi \in Q_{|x|} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$K_{\alpha}(x-y) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^{l}}{l!} (D^{l} K_{\alpha})(-y) = \sum_{\{l:|l|=d+1\}} \frac{x^{l}}{l!} (D^{l} K_{\alpha})(\xi-y).$$

Thus

$$\left| \Delta_h^{d+1} \left( K_\alpha(x-y) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} (D^l K_\alpha) (-y) \right) \right|$$
$$= \left| \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} h^l (D^l K_\alpha) (\xi - y) \right| \lesssim \frac{|h|^{d+1}}{|y|^{n-\alpha+d+1}}.$$

**Lemma 4.3** (Lemma 4.3 of [19]) Let  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . If  $\beta + \lambda < 0$ , then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_r} \frac{|f(y)|}{|y|^{n-\beta}} \, dy \le Cr^{\beta+\lambda} \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}} \quad \text{for all } f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } r \ge 1.$$

*Proof of Theorem 3.2* Let  $f \in B^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $r \ge 1$  and  $x \in Q_r$ . Since  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f$  is well-defined by Lemma 4.1, we prove only that

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}} \leq C \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}.$$

Now, we decompose  $\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d} f(x)$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{I}_{\alpha,d} f(x) \\ &= \tilde{I}_{\alpha,d} (f \chi_{Q_{2r}})(x) + \tilde{I}_{\alpha,d} \Big( f (1 - \chi_{Q_{2r}}) \Big)(x) \\ &= I_{\alpha} (f \chi_{Q_{2r}})(x) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} \int_{Q_{2r} \setminus Q_1} f(y) \Big( D^l K_{\alpha} \big)(-y) \, dy \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_{2r}} f(y) \Big( K_{\alpha}(x - y) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} \Big( D^l K_{\alpha} \big)(-y) \Big) \, dy. \end{split}$$
(4.1)

Here note that the second term is a polynomial of degree at most d (see the proof of Lemma 4.1 of [19]). Consequently, in (4.1), letting

$$R_r^d f(x) = -\sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{2r} \setminus \mathcal{Q}_1} f(y) \left( D^l K_\alpha \right) (-y) \, dy$$

and

$$J_{\alpha,d,r}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{Q}_{2r}} f(y) \bigg( K_{\alpha}(x-y) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} \big( D^l K_{\alpha} \big) (-y) \bigg) dy,$$

 $R_r^d f \in \mathcal{P}^d(Q_r)$  and it follows from Remark 2.7 that

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} &\sim \|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{1,\beta}^{(d)}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} \\ &\sim \sup_{\mathcal{Q}(x,s)\subset\mathcal{Q}_{r}} \inf_{P\in\mathcal{P}^{d}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} \frac{1}{s^{\beta}} \left( \oint_{\mathcal{Q}(x,s)} \left| \tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f(y) - P(y) \right| dy \right) \\ &\leq \|I_{\alpha}(f\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{2r}})\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} + \|J_{\alpha,d,r}f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{1,\beta}^{(d)}(\mathcal{Q}_{r})} \\ &\equiv I_{1} + I_{2}. \end{split}$$

First we estimate  $I_1$ . When  $n/\alpha , if we use the <math>(L^p, \text{Lip}_\beta)$  boundedness of  $I_\alpha$ , then we obtain

$$I_{1} \leq \left\| I_{\alpha}(f \chi_{Q_{2r}}) \right\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}} \lesssim \| f \chi_{Q_{2r}} \|_{L^{p}} \lesssim r^{\lambda + n/p} \| f \|_{B^{p,\lambda}}$$
$$= r^{\sigma} \| f \|_{B^{p,\lambda}}.$$

Similarly, when  $p = n/\alpha$ , by applying the  $(L^{n/\alpha}, BMO)$  boundedness of  $I_{\alpha}$ , we have

$$I_1 \leq \left\| I_{\alpha}(f \chi_{Q_{2r}}) \right\|_{\text{BMO}} \lesssim r^{\sigma} \| f \|_{B^{p,\lambda}}.$$

Next we estimate  $I_2$ . By Remark 2.5 it follows that

$$I_{2} \sim \|J_{\alpha,d,r}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(Q_{r})} = \sup_{x,x+h \in Q_{r}, h \neq 0} \frac{1}{|h|^{\beta}} |\Delta^{d+1}J_{\alpha,d,r}f(x)|.$$

In order to estimate  $\Delta^{d+1} J_{\alpha,d,r} f(x)$ , if we use Lemmas 4.2, 4.3 and the assumption  $\lambda + \alpha < d + 1$ , then we get for  $x \in Q_r$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_{2r}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left| \Delta^{d+1} J_{\alpha,d,r} f(x) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_{2r}} f(y) \left\{ \Delta_h^{d+1} \left( K_\alpha(x-y) - \sum_{\{l:|l| \le d\}} \frac{x^l}{l!} \left( D^l K_\alpha \right) (-y) \right) \right\} dy \right| \\ &\lesssim |h|^{d+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_{2r}} \frac{|f(y)|}{|y|^{n-\alpha+d+1}} \lesssim |h|^{d+1} r^{\alpha-d-1+\lambda} \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$I_2 \lesssim \sup_{\substack{x,x+h \in Q_r, h \neq 0}} \frac{1}{|h|^{\beta}} \cdot |h|^{d+1} r^{\alpha - d - 1 + \lambda} \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}$$
$$\leq r^{\lambda + \alpha - \beta} \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}} = r^{\sigma} \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}.$$

Thus we have

$$\|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta,\sigma}^{(d)}} = \sup_{r \ge 1} \frac{1}{r^{\sigma}} \|\tilde{I}_{\alpha,d}f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}_{\beta}^{(d)}(Q_r)} \lesssim \|f\|_{B^{p,\lambda}}.$$

This concludes the proof.

Acknowledgement The author would like to express to the anonymous referee his gratitude for reading his paper carefully and for suggesting the valuable remarks, i.e., Remarks 2.2, 2.4 and 2.9.

### References

1. J. Alvarez, M. Guzmán-Partida, J. Lakey, Spaces of bounded  $\lambda$ -central mean oscillation, Morrey spaces, and  $\lambda$ -central Carleson measures. Collect. Math. **51**, 1–47 (2000)

- O.V. Besov, V.P. Il'in, S.M. Nikol'skiĭ, in *Integral Representations of Functions and Imbed*ding Theorems, vol. I, II, ed. by M.H. Teibleson Scripta Series in Mathematics (Winston, Washington, 1978). Translated from Russian, 1979
- 3. A. Beurling, Construction and analysis of some convolution algebras. Ann. Inst. Fourier 14(2), 1-32 (1964)
- 4. V.I. Burenkov, Recent progress in studying the boundedness of classical operators of real analysis in general Morrey-type spaces. I. Eurasian Math. J. **3**(3), 11–32 (2012)
- V.I. Burenkov, Recent progress in studying the boundedness of classical operators of real analysis in general Morrey-type spaces. II. Eurasian Math. J. 4(1), 21–45 (2013)
- 6. Y. Chen, K. Lau, Some new classes of Hardy spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 84, 255–278 (1989)
- H. Feichtinger, An elementary approach to Wiener's third Tauberian theorem on Euclidean n-space, in *Proceedings, Conference at Cortona 1984*. Symposia Mathematica, vol. 29 (Academic Press, New York, 1987), pp. 267–301
- Z. Fu, Y. Lin, S. Lu, λ-Central BMO estimates for commutators of singular integral operators with rough kernels. Acta Math. Sin. Engl. Ser. 24(3), 373–386 (2008)
- 9. J. García-Cuerva, Hardy spaces and Beurling algebras. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 39, 499–513 (1989)
- J. García-Cuerva, M.J.L. Herrero, A theory of Hardy spaces associated to the Herz spaces. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 69, 605–628 (1994)
- G.H. Hardy, J.E. Littlewood, Some properties of fractional integrals. I. Math. Z. 27, 565–606 (1928)
- G.H. Hardy, J.E. Littlewood, Some properties of fractional integrals. II. Math. Z. 34, 403–439 (1932)
- C. Herz, Lipschitz spaces and Bernstein's theorem on absolutely convergent Fourier transforms. J. Math. Mech. 18, 283–324 (1968)
- Y. Komori-Furuya, K. Matsuoka, Some weak-type estimates for singular integral operators on CMO spaces. Hokkaido Math. J. 39, 115–126 (2010)
- Y. Komori-Furuya, K. Matsuoka, Strong and weak estimates for fractional integral operators on some Herz-type function spaces, in *Proceedings of the Maratea Conference FAAT 2009*, *Rendiconti del Circolo Mathematico di Palermo, Serie II*, vol. 82 (2010), pp. 375–385
- 16. Y. Komori-Furuya, K. Matsuoka, E. Nakai, Y. Sawano, Integral operators on  $B_{\sigma}$ -Morrey– Campanato spaces. Rev. Mat. Complut. **26**, 1–32 (2013). doi:10.1007/s13163-011-0091-6
- 17. Y. Komori-Furuya, K. Matsuoka, E. Nakai, Y. Sawano, Applications of Littlewood-Paley theory for  $\dot{B}_{\sigma}$ -Morrey spaces to the boundedness of integral operators. J. Funct. Spaces Appl. **2013** (2013). Article ID 859402, 21 pages
- 18. K. Matsuoka,  $B_{\sigma}$ -Morrey–Campanato estimates and some estimates for singular integrals on central Morrey spaces and  $\lambda$ -CMO spaces, in *Banach and Function Spaces IV (Kitakyushu 2012)* (Yokohama Publishers, Yokohama, 2014), pp. 325–335
- 19. K. Matsuoka, Generalized fractional integrals on central Morrey spaces and generalized  $\lambda$ -CMO spaces, in Function Spaces X. Banach Center Publ. (Inst. Math., Polish Sci., Warsawa), to appear
- K. Matsuoka, E. Nakai, Fractional integral operators on B<sup>p,λ</sup> with Morrey–Campanato norms, in *Function Spaces IX*. Banach Center Publ., vol. 92 (Inst. Math., Polish Sci., Warsawa, 2011), pp. 249–264
- 21. Y. Mizuta, Potential Theory in Euclidean Spaces (Gakkōtosho Co., Tokyo, 1996)
- 22. E. Nakai, Y. Sawano, Hardy spaces with variable exponents and generalized Campanato spaces. J. Funct. Anal. **262**, 3665–3748 (2012)
- 23. S.M. Nikol'skiĭ, Approximation of Functions of Several Variables and Imbedding Theorems (Springer, Berlin, 1975)
- 24. J. Peetre, On the theory of  $\mathcal{L}_{p,\lambda}$  spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 4, 71–87 (1969)
- 25. T. Runst, W. Sickel, Sobolev Spaces of Fractional Order, Nemytskij Operators and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations (de Gruyter, Berlin, 1996)
- W. Sickel, Smoothness spaces related to Morrey spaces—a survey. I. Eurasian Math. J. 3(3), 110–149 (2012)

- W. Sickel, Smoothness spaces related to Morrey spaces—a survey. II. Eurasian Math. J. 4(1), 82–124 (2013)
- 28. S.L. Sobolev, On a theorem in functional analysis. Mat. Sb. 4, 471–497 (1938) (Russian)
- 29. A. Zygmund, On a theorem of Marcinkiewicz concerning interpolation of operations. J. Math. Pures Appl. **35**, 223–248 (1956)

# Part IV Qualitative Properties of Evolution Models

Organizers: Karen Yagdjian, Fumihiko Hirosawa, Michael Reissig

# Well-Posedness for a Generalized Boussinesq Equation

Alessia Ascanelli and Chiara Boiti

**Abstract** We consider a generalization of the Boussinesq equation obtained by adding a term of the form  $a(t, x, u)\partial_x^3 u$ . We prove local in time well-posedness of the Cauchy problem in Sobolev spaces under a suitable decay condition on the real part of the coefficient a(t, x, u), as  $x \to \infty$ .

**Keywords** Boussinesq equation · Non-linear evolution equations · Well-posedness in Sobolev spaces

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35G25 · Secondary 35Q35

# 1 A Well-Posedness Result

In this paper we consider the equation

$$\partial_t^2 u + (u\partial_x u)_x + a(t, x, u)\partial_x^3 u + \partial_x^4 u = 0,$$

with  $a \in C([0, T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}))$ . This is the classical Boussinesq equation, widely used in hydrodynamics and physics, if  $a \equiv 0$ .

It is well known that the Cauchy problem for the classical Boussinesq equation is locally in time well-posed in Sobolev spaces. In this paper we show that the same result holds also in the case  $a \neq 0$ , under suitable decay conditions on the coefficient a(t, x, u) (see condition (1.2)).

The Boussinesq equation describes the propagation of long waves with small amplitude in shallow water of constant depth. The introduction of a term of the third order with a coefficient that depends on x might be useful to take into account irregular seabeds (e.g. presence of dunes); the condition that this coefficient vanishes

A. Ascanelli (⊠) · C. Boiti

Dipartimento di Matematica ed Informatica, Università di Ferrara, Via Machiavelli n. 35, 44121 Ferrara, Italy e-mail: alessia.ascanelli@unife.it

C. Boiti e-mail: chiara.boiti@unife.it

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0 23 for  $|x| \to \infty$  implies the assumption that for large |x| (e.g. closer to the beach) we recover the ideal conditions of Boussinesq (shallow water and constant depth).

To state our result, let us write the equation in the form Pu(t, x) = 0, where

$$P(t, x, u, D_t, D_x) := D_t^2 - D_x^4 + ia(t, x, u)D_x^3 + uD_x^2 - i(\partial_x u)D_x \quad (1.1)$$

for  $D = -i\partial$ . This is a semi-linear operator of 2-evolution order m = 2 with real characteristics (in the sense of Petrowsky)  $\tau = \pm \xi^2$ . We know, from the pioneering paper [8], that to obtain well-posedness in Sobolev spaces of the Cauchy problem for a 2-evolution equation with real characteristics, some decay conditions at infinity on the lower order terms are necessary. These kind of conditions already appeared in [5] for the vibrating beam equation (which has the same principal part as the Boussinesq equation); a more general case of second order Schrödinger type equations with decay conditions at infinity was considered in [6].

We are going to prove the following result:

**Theorem 1.1** Consider P in (1.1) for  $a \in C([0, T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}))$  and  $a(t, \cdot, u) \in \mathcal{B}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ , satisfying

$$\left|\operatorname{Re} a(t, x, w)\right| \le \frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon}} h(w) \quad \forall (t, x, w) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C},$$
(1.2)

for some constants  $C, \varepsilon > 0$  and a function  $h : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}^+$  bounded on compact sets, where  $\langle x \rangle := \sqrt{1 + x^2}$ .

Then the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} P(t, x, u(t, x), D_t, D_x)u(t, x) = f(t, x) \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x) \\ u_t(0, x) = u_1(x) \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

is locally in time well-posed in  $H^{\infty}$ . More precisely, for every s > 3/2 and for all  $f \in C([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R})), u_0 \in H^{s+2}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $u_1 \in H^s(\mathbb{R})$ , there exists  $0 < T^* \leq T$  and a unique solution  $u \in C([0, T^*]; H^{s+2}(\mathbb{R})) \cap C^1([0, T^*]; H^s(\mathbb{R}))$  of (1.3) satisfying, for some  $\sigma > 0$  depending on s,

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{s+2}^{2} + \|D_{t}u(t,\cdot)\|_{s}^{2}$$
  
 
$$\leq e^{\sigma t} \left( \|u_{0}\|_{s+2}^{2} + \|u_{1}\|_{s}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|f(\tau,\cdot)\|_{s}^{2} d\tau \right)$$
 (1.4)

for all  $t \in [0, T^*]$ .

To prove Theorem 1.1 we linearize equation (1.1) as done in [4], reduce it to a first order 2-evolution system following [2] and finally apply the results of [1, 3], in the framework of pseudo-differential operators with symbol  $p(x, \xi)$  in the classical class  $S^m$  defined by

Well-Posedness for a Generalized Boussinesq Equation

$$\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} D_{x}^{\beta} p(x,\xi)\right| \leq C_{\alpha,\beta,h} \langle \xi \rangle_{h}^{m-\alpha} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}, \ h \geq 1,$$

for some  $C_{\alpha,\beta,h} > 0$ , where  $\langle \xi \rangle_h := \sqrt{h^2 + \xi^2}$ .

In the next section we shall use the notation  $op(p(x,\xi))$  to denote a pseudodifferential operator with symbol  $p(x,\xi)$ .

# 2 Proof of Theorem 1.1

The first step is to linearize the operator P defined in (1.1). To this aim we fix  $u \in C([0, T]; H^{s+2}(\mathbb{R})) \cap C^1([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}))$  and look for a solution  $v \in C([0, T]; H^{s+2}(\mathbb{R})) \cap C^1([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}))$  of the linear Cauchy problem

$$P(t, x, u(t, x), D_t, D_x)v(t, x) = f(t, x)$$
  

$$v(0, x) = u_0(x)$$
  

$$v_t(0, x) = u_1(x).$$
  
(2.1)

In order to study well-posedness of (2.1) in Sobolev spaces, we follow [2] and look for a factorization of the principal part of P (in the sense of Petrowsky) by means of pseudo-differential operators: defining

$$\mu(t, x, u, D_x) := D_x^2 - \frac{i}{2}a(t, x, u)D_x$$
(2.2)

we have that

$$P(t, x, u, D_t, D_x) = (D_t - \mu)(D_t + \mu) + b_2(t, x, u)D_x^2 + b_1(t, x, u)D_x$$

with

$$b_{2}(t, x, u) := u - i D_{x} (a(t, x, u)) - \frac{1}{4} a^{2}(t, x, u)$$
  

$$b_{1}(t, x, u) := -i(\partial_{x}u) + \frac{i}{2} D_{t} (a(t, x, u)) - \frac{i}{2} D_{x}^{2} (a(t, x, u))$$
  

$$- \frac{1}{4} a(t, x, u) D_{x} (a(t, x, u)).$$

Now, following again [2] we perform a reduction to a first order system: we set  $V = (v_1, v_2)$  with

$$\begin{cases} v_1 = \langle D_x \rangle_h^2 v \\ v_2 = (D_t + \mu) v \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

and obtain that v is a solution of the equation Pv = f if and only if V is a solution of the system

$$(D_t - A + R)V = F \tag{2.4}$$

where  $D_t$  is the matrix  $D_t \cdot I$ ,  $A = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & \langle D_x \rangle_h^2 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $F = {}^t(0, f)$  and  $R(t, x, u, D_x)$  is a matrix of pseudo-differential operators of order 0.

We now diagonalize A (modulo terms of order 0) by means of the following matrix of pseudo-differential operators of order 0:

$$K(t, x, u, D_x) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \operatorname{op}(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu(t, x, \xi)}) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The operator K is invertible and the inverse operator

$$K^{-1}(t, x, u, D_x) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\operatorname{op}(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu(t, x, \xi)}) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

coincides with the inverse matrix of K. We have that

$$K^{-1}AK = \tilde{A} + \tilde{R} \tag{2.5}$$

with  $\tilde{A} = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\tilde{R} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \tilde{r}_{12} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  of order 0 since  $\tilde{r}_{12}$  has symbol

$$\sigma(\tilde{r}_{12}) = \sigma\left(-\mu \operatorname{op}\left(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu}\right) + \langle D_x \rangle_h^2 - \operatorname{op}\left(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu}\right)\mu\right)$$
$$= -\mu \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu} + \langle \xi \rangle_h^2 - \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu}\mu - \sum_{\alpha \ge 1} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \left[\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \mu \cdot D_x^{\alpha} \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu} + \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu} D_x^{\alpha} \mu\right]$$

with principal part  $\partial_{\xi} \mu \cdot D_x \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu} + \partial_{\xi} \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_h^2}{2\mu} D_x \mu \in S^0$  by (2.2).

Applying then  $K^{-1}$  to (2.4) we obtain from (2.5) that V is a solution of (2.4) if and only if  $W = K^{-1}V$  is a solution of

$$(D_t - \tilde{A} + R_0)W = \tilde{F}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where  $\tilde{F} = K^{-1}F$  and  $R_0 = -\tilde{R} + K^{-1}RK$  is a matrix of pseudo-differential operators of order zero.

To study well-posedness of system (2.6), we follow [3, formula (2.4) and Remark 3.1] (see also [1, Remark 4.1]) and define

$$\lambda(x,\xi) := M\omega\left(\frac{\xi}{h}\right) \int_0^x \langle y \rangle^{-1-\varepsilon} \psi\left(\frac{\langle y \rangle}{\langle \xi \rangle_h}\right) dy$$

for M > 0 to be chosen in the following,  $\omega \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with  $0 \le \omega, \psi \le 1$  such that

$$\omega(y) = \begin{cases} 0 & |y| \le 1\\ \text{sgn } y & |y| \ge 2, \end{cases} \qquad \psi(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & |y| \le 1/2\\ 0 & |y| \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

Then, by Lemma 2.3 of [3] the operator  $e^{\lambda(x,D_x)}$  with symbol  $e^{\lambda(x,\xi)} \in S^0$  is invertible, for *h* large enough, and

$$\left(e^{\lambda}\right)^{-1} = e^{-\lambda}(I + R_{-1})$$

for a pseudo-differential operator  $R_{-1}$  with principal symbol  $r_{-1}(x,\xi) = \partial_{\xi}\lambda \cdot D_x\lambda \in S^{-1}$ .

We define then the matrix

$$E^{\Lambda(x,D_x)} := \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda(x,D_x)} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-\lambda(x,D_x)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This is an invertible matrix and its inverse matrix is a the diagonal matrix with entries  $(E^{\Lambda})_{11}^{-1} = (e^{\lambda})^{-1}$  and  $(E^{\Lambda})_{22}^{-1} = (e^{-\lambda})^{-1}$ .

Defining then

$$L_{\Lambda} := \left(E^{\Lambda}\right)^{-1} \left(D_t - \tilde{A} + R_0\right) E^{\Lambda} = D_t - iA_{\Lambda} + R_{\Lambda}$$

with

$$A_{\Lambda} := -i \left( E^{\Lambda} \right)^{-1} \tilde{A} E^{\Lambda}, \qquad R_{\Lambda} := \left( E^{\Lambda} \right)^{-1} R_0 E^{\Lambda}$$

we have that W is solution of (2.6) if and only if  $Z := (E^{\Lambda})^{-1}W$  is solution of  $L_{\Lambda}Z = F_{\Lambda}$  with  $F_{\Lambda} := (E^{\Lambda})^{-1}\tilde{F}$ .

We are thus reduced to study well-posedness of the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} L_{\Lambda}Z(t,x) = F_{\Lambda}(t,x), & (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \\ Z(0,x) = Z_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

with  $Z_0(x) = (E^{\Lambda})^{-1} W(0, x) = (E^{\Lambda})^{-1} K^{-1} V(0, x).$ 

This system satisfies all assumptions of Theorem 1.1 of [1], so that we have the following energy estimate with no loss of derivatives (see also [1, Remark 1.3]):

$$|||Z(t,\cdot)|||_{s}^{2} \leq C_{s}(u) \left( |||Z_{0}|||_{s}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} |||F_{\Lambda}(\tau,\cdot)|||_{s}^{2} d\tau \right),$$

where  $|||Z|||_s^2 := ||z_1||_s^2 + ||z_2||_s^2$  for  $Z = (z_1, z_2)$ .

However, as in [4], we need to determine the constant  $C_s(u)$  in order to apply a fixed point theorem.

To this aim we set  $\langle \langle Z, Z' \rangle \rangle_s = \langle z_1, z'_1 \rangle_s + \langle z_2, z'_2 \rangle_s$  for  $Z = (z_1, z_2)$  and  $Z' = (z'_1, z'_2)$ , and we estimate:

$$\frac{d}{dt} |||Z|||_{0}^{2} = 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \langle \partial_{t} Z, Z \rangle \rangle_{0} = 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \langle i L_{A} Z, Z \rangle \rangle_{0}$$
$$- 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \langle A_{A} Z, Z \rangle \rangle_{0} - 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \langle i R_{A} Z, Z \rangle \rangle_{0}$$
$$\leq C \left( |||L_{A} Z|||_{0}^{2} + |||Z|||_{0}^{2} \right) - 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \langle A_{A} Z, Z \rangle \rangle_{0}$$
(2.8)

for some C > 0 since  $R_A$  has order zero.

Now,

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle\langle A_{\Lambda}Z, Z\rangle\rangle_{0} = \operatorname{Re}\langle(e^{\lambda})^{-1}i\mu e^{\lambda}z_{1}, z_{1}\rangle_{0} - \operatorname{Re}\langle(e^{-\lambda})^{-1}i\mu e^{-\lambda}z_{2}, z_{2}\rangle_{0}$$
$$=: \operatorname{Re}\langle A_{\Lambda}^{1}z_{1}, z_{1}\rangle_{0} + \operatorname{Re}\langle A_{\Lambda}^{2}z_{2}, z_{2}\rangle_{0}, \qquad (2.9)$$

and, for j = 1, 2 and  $|\xi| \ge 2h$ :

$$\operatorname{Re}\sigma\left(A_{\Lambda}^{j}\right) = 2\xi \partial_{x}\lambda \pm \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Re}a(t,x,u)\xi$$

$$= 2\xi \frac{M}{\langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon}}\omega\left(\frac{\xi}{h}\right)\psi\left(\frac{\langle x \rangle}{\langle \xi \rangle_{h}}\right) \pm \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Re}a(t,x,u)\xi$$

$$\geq \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{h}}{\langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon}}\left(\frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}M - \frac{1}{2}Ch(u)\right)\psi - \frac{C}{2}h(u)\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{h}}{\langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon}}(1-\psi)$$

$$\geq \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{h}}{\langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon}}\left(\frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}M - \frac{1}{2}Ch(u)\right)\psi - Ch(u) \qquad (2.10)$$

since  $\langle \xi \rangle_h \le 2 \langle x \rangle$  on supp $(1 - \psi)$ .

We now define

$$\|\|u(t,\cdot)\|\|_{s} := \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{s+2} + \|D_{t}u(t,\cdot)\|_{s},$$

$$\mathcal{B}_r := \left\{ u \in C([0,T]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^s) : \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left\| \left\| u(t, \cdot) \right\| \right\|_s \le r \right\}$$

and

$$c_r := \sup_{\substack{(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \\ u \in \mathcal{B}_r}} h(u).$$

We choose  $M > \sqrt{5}Cc_r/8$  and obtain, from (2.10), that

$$\operatorname{Re}\sigma\left(A_{\Lambda}^{j}\right) \geq -Cc_{r}, \quad j=1,2$$

and hence, by the sharp-Gårding inequality:

Well-Posedness for a Generalized Boussinesq Equation

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle A_{A}^{j}z_{j}, z_{j}\rangle_{0} \ge -c(1+c_{r})\|z_{j}\|_{0}^{2}, \quad j=1,2$$

for some c > 0.

Substituting in (2.9) and (2.8) we have the estimate:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left\| \left\| Z \right\|_{0}^{2} \le (4c+C)(1+c_{r}) \left\| \left\| Z \right\|_{0}^{2} + C \left\| \left\| L_{\Lambda} Z \right\|_{0}^{2} \right\};$$

this leads, by standard arguments, to the following energy estimate for the solution of (2.7):

$$\|Z(t,\cdot)\|\|_{s}^{2} \leq e^{c_{1}(1+c_{r})t} \left( \||Z_{0}\|\|_{s}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \||F_{\Lambda}(\tau,\cdot)\|\|_{s}^{2} d\tau \right)$$

for some  $c_1 > 0$  depending on  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Since  $E^{\Lambda}$  and K have order zero, then for  $V = K E^{\Lambda} Z$  and  $F = K E^{\Lambda} F_{\Lambda}$  we have:

$$\left\| \left\| V(t, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} \le e^{c_{2}(1+c_{r})t} \left( \left\| V(0) \right\|_{s}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \left\| F(\tau, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} d\tau \right)$$
(2.11)

for some  $c_2 > 0$ .

Now,  $|||F(\tau, \cdot)|||_{s}^{2} = |||f(\tau, \cdot)|||_{s}^{2}$  and moreover, by (2.3),

$$|||V|||_{s}^{2} = ||v_{1}||_{s}^{2} + ||v_{2}||_{s}^{2} = ||\langle D_{x}\rangle_{h}^{2}v||_{s}^{2} + ||(D_{t} + \mu)v||_{s}^{2}$$
  
$$\leq c_{3}(||v||_{s+2}^{2} + ||D_{t}v||_{s}^{2})$$

and, vice versa,

$$\|v\|_{s+2} + \|D_tv\|_s = \|\langle D_x \rangle_h^{-2} v_1\|_{s+2} + \|v_2 - \mu \langle D_x \rangle_h^{-2} v_1\|_s$$
  
$$\leq c_4 (\|v_1\|_s + \|v_2\|_s)$$

for some  $c_3, c_4 > 0$ .

Therefore (2.11) is equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{s+2}^{2} + \left\| D_{t} v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} &\leq e^{c_{5}(1+c_{r})t} \left( \left\| v(0, \cdot) \right\|_{s+2}^{2} + \left\| v_{t}(0, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \left\| f(\tau, \cdot) \right\|_{s}^{2} d\tau \end{aligned} \end{aligned}$$

and hence

$$\|v(t,\cdot)\|_{s+2} + \|D_t v(t,\cdot)\|_s \le e^{C'(1+c_r)t} \Big(\|u_0\|_{s+2} + \|u_1\|_s + \sqrt{t} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|f(t,\cdot)\|_s\Big)$$
(2.12)

for some  $c_5$ , C' > 0.

We have thus defined a map

$$S: \mathcal{B}_r \longrightarrow C([0, T]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^1([0, T]; H^s)$$
$$u \longmapsto v$$

which associates to each  $u \in \mathcal{B}_r$  the unique solution  $v \in C([0, T]; H^{s+2}) \cap$  $C^{1}([0, T]; H^{s})$  of the Cauchy problem (2.1) satisfying (2.12).

If we now choose

$$r > 2e \max \Big\{ \|u_0\|_{s+2} + \|u_1\|_s, \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|f(t, \cdot)\|_s \Big\},\$$

then, from (2.12),

$$\|\|v(t, \cdot)\|\|_{s} \le \frac{1}{2}re^{C'(1+c_{r})t-1}(1+\sqrt{t}) < r$$

if  $t \in [0, T_0]$  for  $T_0$  sufficiently small.

Defining then

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{0} := \left\{ v \in C([0, T_{0}]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^{1}([0, T_{0}]; H^{s}) : \sup_{t \in [0, T_{0}]} \left\| \left\| v(t, \cdot) \right\| \right\|_{s} \le r \right\}$$

we have that S maps  $\mathcal{B}_r^0$  into itself. We prove now that S is a contraction. To this aim we fix  $u, \tilde{u} \in \mathcal{B}_r^0$  and set v := $S(u), \tilde{v} := S(\tilde{u}), w := v - \tilde{v}.$ 

From

$$D_t^2 v - D_x^4 v + ia(t, x, u) D_x^3 v + u D_x^2 v - i(\partial_x u) D_x v = f$$
$$D_t^2 \tilde{v} - D_x^4 \tilde{v} + ia(t, x, \tilde{u}) D_x^3 \tilde{v} + \tilde{u} D_x^2 \tilde{v} - i(\partial_x \tilde{u}) D_x \tilde{v} = f$$

we have that

$$D_t^2 w - D_x^4 w + ia(t, x, u) D_x^3 w + u D_x^2 w - i(\partial_x u) D_x w$$
  
+  $i(a(t, x, u) - a(t, x, \tilde{u})) D_x^3 \tilde{v} + (u - \tilde{u}) D_x^2 \tilde{v} - i(\partial_x u - \partial_x \tilde{u}) D_x \tilde{v} = 0,$ 

i.e.

$$\begin{cases} P(t, x, u, D_t, D_x)w = \tilde{f}(t, x, u, \tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) \\ w(0, x) = 0 \\ w_t(0, x) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

with

$$\begin{split} \tilde{f}(t,x,u,\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) &:= -i \big( a(t,x,u) - a(t,x,\tilde{u}) \big) D_x^3 \tilde{v} \\ &- (u - \tilde{u}) D_x^2 \tilde{v} + i (\partial_x u - \partial_x \tilde{u}) D_x \tilde{v}. \end{split}$$

Since  $u, \tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in C([0, T]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^1([0, T]; H^s)$  then  $\tilde{f} \in C([0, T]; H^{s-1})$  and, applying (2.12) to (2.13) with s - 1 instead of s:

$$\|w(t,\cdot)\|_{s+1} + \|D_t w(t,\cdot)\|_{s-1} \le e^{C'(1+c_r)t} \sqrt{t} \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \|\tilde{f}(t,\cdot)\|_{s-1}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_0]$ . Now, for s > 3/2:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{f}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{s-1} &\leq \left\| \left( a(t, x, u) - a(t, x, \tilde{u}) \right) D_x^3 \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} + \left\| (u - \tilde{u}) D_x^2 \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} \\ &+ \left\| (\partial_x u - \partial_x \tilde{u}) D_x \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} \\ &\leq \left\| a(t, x, u) - a(t, x, \tilde{u}) \right\|_{s-1} \cdot \left\| D_x^3 \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} \\ &+ \left\| u - \tilde{u} \right\|_{s-1} \cdot \left\| D_x^2 \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} + \left\| \partial_x u - \partial_x \tilde{u} \right\|_{s-1} \cdot \left\| D_x \tilde{v} \right\|_{s-1} \\ &\leq C_{s,r} \| u - \tilde{u} \|_s \end{split}$$

for some  $C_{s,r} > 0$  depending on *s* and *r*.

Therefore

$$\|w(t,\cdot)\|_{s+1} + \|D_t w(t,\cdot)\|_{s-1} \le C_{s,r} e^{C'(1+c_r)t} \sqrt{t} \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \|u - \tilde{u}\|_s$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_0]$ , i.e.

$$\left\| \left\| S(u) - S(\tilde{u}) \right\| \right\|_{s-1} \le C_{s,r} e^{C'(1+c_r)t} \sqrt{t} \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \left\| \left\| u - \tilde{u} \right\| \right\|_{s-1}.$$

We now choose  $0 < T^* < T_0$  sufficiently small so that

$$C_{s,r}e^{C'(1+c_r)T^*}\sqrt{T^*} < 1$$

and hence

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T^*]} \left\| \left\| S(u) - S(\tilde{u}) \right\| \right\|_{s-1} \le L \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \left\| \left\| u - \tilde{u} \right\| \right\|_{s-1}$$
(2.14)

for 0 < L < 1. Setting

$$\mathcal{B}_r^* := \Big\{ v \in C([0, T^*]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^1([0, T^*]; H^s) : \sup_{t \in [0, T^*]} \| \|v(t, \cdot)\| \|_s \le r \Big\},\$$

we have that  $S: \mathcal{B}_r^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}_r^*$  is a contraction with the norm  $||| \cdot |||_{s-1}$ .

Defining then recursively  $u_{n+1} = S(u_n)$  we can prove, by the same fixed point arguments used in [4], that  $u_n \to u$  and  $S(u_n) \to S(u)$  in  $C([0, T^*]; H^{s+1}) \cap C^1([0, T^*]; H^{s-1})$ . Moreover,  $u \in C([0, T^*]; H^{s+2}) \cap C^1([0, T^*]; H^s)$  and so the fixed point u = S(u) is a solution of the Cauchy problem (1.3).

Finally, uniqueness follows from (2.14) and the proof is complete.

*Remark 2.1* Assumption (1.2) with  $\varepsilon > 0$  is needed to obtain the energy estimate (2.11) without loss of derivatives. This implies that the map *S* is a contraction (see (2.14)) and hence allows us to apply a fixed point argument.

In the case  $\varepsilon = 0$  the fixed point method fails because of the loss of derivatives. However, this limit case could be probably treated by a different approach, based on the Nash–Moser Theorem in the tame space  $H^{\infty}$  (cf. [7]).

We would like to thank the referee for pointing out this possible future improvement of our results.

## References

- 1. A. Ascanelli, C. Boiti, Well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for *p*-evolution systems of pseudo-differential operators. J. Pseud.-Differ. Oper. Appl. **4**(2), 113–143 (2013)
- A. Ascanelli, C. Boiti, Cauchy problem for higher order *p*-evolution equations. J. Differ. Equ. 255, 2672–2708 (2013)
- 3. A. Ascanelli, C. Boiti, L. Zanghirati, Well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for *p*-evolution equations. J. Differ. Equ. **253**, 2765–2795 (2012)
- 4. A. Ascanelli, C. Boiti, L. Zanghirati, Well-posedness in Sobolev spaces for semi-linear 3evolution equations. Ann. Univ. Ferrara, Sez. 7: Sci. Mat. doi:10.1007/s11565-013-0191-y
- A. Ascanelli, M. Cicognani, F. Colombini, The global Cauchy problem for a vibrating beam equation. J. Differ. Equ. 247, 1440–1451 (2009)
- M. Cicognani, M. Reissig, On Schrödinger type evolution equations with non-Lipschitz coefficients. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 190(4), 645–665 (2011)
- 7. R. Hamilton, The inverse function theorem of Nash and Moser. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 7(1), 65–222 (1982)
- W. Ichinose, Some remarks on the Cauchy problem for Schrödinger type equations. Osaka J. Math. 21, 565–581 (1984)

# **Energy Solutions for Nonlinear Klein–Gordon Equations in de Sitter Spacetime**

Makoto Nakamura

**Abstract** The Cauchy problem for nonlinear Klein–Gordon equations is considered in de Sitter spacetime. The nonlinear terms are power type or exponential type. The local and global solutions are shown in the energy class.

Keywords Klein-Gordon equation · De Sitter spacetime

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35L70 · Secondary 35L15

# **1** Introduction

We report some fundamental results of local and global energy solutions for the Cauchy problem of semi-linear Klein–Gordon equations in de Sitter spacetime. Let  $n \ge 1$ , M > 0, H > 0, c > 0, and let us consider the Cauchy problem given by

$$\begin{cases} \left(\partial_t^2 - c^2 e^{-2Ht} \Delta + M^2\right) u(t, x) + c^2 e^{nHt/2} f\left(e^{-nHt/2} u(t, x)\right) = 0 \\ \text{for } (t, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0, \cdot) = u_0(\cdot) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n), \qquad \partial_t u(0, \cdot) = u_1(\cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where  $u_0, u_1, f$  are real-valued functions,  $\Delta := \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_j^2}, H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denotes the Sobolev space and  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denotes the Lebesgue space.

D'Ancona and Giuseppe have shown in [5] and [6] global classical solutions for  $(\partial_t^2 - a(t)\Delta)u + |u|^{p-1}u = 0$  with some additional conditions on  $a(t) \ge 0$  and p when n = 1, 2, 3. Yagdjian has shown in [19] small global solutions for the first equation in (1.1) when the nonlinear term f is of power type and the norm of initial data  $||u_0||_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} + ||u_1||_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  is sufficiently small for some  $s > n/2 \ge 1$  (see also [20] for the system of the equations). Baskin has shown in [3] small global solution for  $(\Box_g + \lambda)u + f(u) = 0$  when f(u) is a type of  $|u|^{p-1}u$ , p = 1 + 4/(n-1),

M. Nakamura (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Department of Mathematical sciences, Yamagata University, Kojirakawa-machi 1-4-12, Yamagata 990-8560, Japan

e-mail: nakamura@sci.kj.yamagata-u.ac.jp

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_24

 $\lambda > n^2/4$ ,  $(u_0, u_1) \in H^1 \oplus L^2$ , where *g* gives the asymptotic de Sitter spacetime (see also [2] for the cases p = 5 with n = 3, p = 3 with n = 4). Blow-up phenomena are considered in [18]. See also the references in the summary [21] by Yagdjian. The aim of this paper is to give some results for the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem (1.1) with power type nonlinear terms in the energy space, and we also consider exponential type nonlinear terms in two spatial dimensions for the limiting case in terms of Sobolev embeddings.

To denote power type nonlinear terms of order p, we define the following set N(p). We note that the nonlinear terms  $f(u) = \lambda |u|^{p-1}u$  and  $f(u) = \lambda |u|^p$  for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy  $f \in N(p)$ . We remark that in [19–21], the nonlinear terms must be Lipschitz continuous in the Sobolev space  $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  of order s > n/2, which requires additional regularity for initial data (see Condition  $\mathcal{L}$  in the papers).

**Definition 1.1** Let  $p \ge 1$ . We denote by N(p) the set of functions f from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  which satisfies f(0) = 0 and

$$\left| f(u) - f(v) \right| \le C \max_{w = u, v} |w|^{p-1} |u - v|$$
(1.2)

for any *u* and  $v \in \mathbb{R}$ , where C > 0 is a constant independent of *u* and *v*.

For T > 0, we define a function space  $X(T) := \{u : ||u||_{X(T)} < \infty\}$ , where

$$\|u\|_{X(T)} := \max\{M\|u\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T),L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}, \|\partial_{t}u\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T),L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}, \\ c\|e^{-Ht}\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T),L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}, \\ c\sqrt{H}\|e^{-Ht}\nabla u\|_{L^{2}((0,T)\times\mathbb{R}^{n}))}\}.$$
(1.3)

We start from the Cauchy problem for power type nonlinear terms.

**Theorem 1.2** Let *p* satisfy

$$1 \le p \begin{cases} < \infty & \text{if } n = 1, 2\\ \le 1 + \frac{2}{n-2} & \text{if } n \ge 3. \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

Let  $f \in N(p)$ . Then we have the following results.

(1) For any  $u_0$  and  $u_1$ , there exists  $T = T(||u_0||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} + ||u_1||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}) > 0$  such that (1.1) has a unique solution u in  $C([0, T), H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap C^1([0, T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . Here, u satisfies  $u \in X(T)$ , and for any fixed  $p_0$  with  $1 \le p_0 < 1 + 4/n$ , there exists a constant C > 0 dependent on  $p_0$  but independent of  $u_0$  and  $u_1$  such that T can be estimated from below as

$$T \ge C \left\{ \|u_0\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \|u_1\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\}^{-(p-1)/\{1-n(p_0-1)/4\}}.$$

(2) Let  $n \leq 4$ . If  $||u_0||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} + ||u_1||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  is sufficiently small, and  $1 + 4/n \leq p$ , then (1.1) has a unique solution u in  $C([0, \infty), H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap C^1([0, \infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . And u satisfies  $u \in X(\infty)$ .

Theorem 1.2 shows that any growth order p of polynomial type is subcritical for n = 1, 2. When n = 1, we are able to see that any growth order of  $C^1$  type is also subcritical by the embedding  $H^1(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . Namely, for any real-valued function  $g \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$ , the result (1) of Theorem 1.2 is valid even if we replace f(u)with f(u)g(u). This result shows the existence of time local solutions, while the existence of time global solutions for small data, namely (2) of Theorem 1.2 could not be shown for f(u)g(u) since the energy estimates are too weak to treat the nonlinear terms when n = 1. When n = 2, the embedding  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^2) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  does not hold and it is critical embedding. In this case, the next theorem shows that the exponential growth order is also subcritical. We use the following Gagliardo–Nirenberg interpolation inequality with asymptotic.

**Lemma 1.3** Let n = 1, 2. There exist  $\beta > 0$  and  $q_0 \ge 2$  such that

$$\|u\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \beta q^{1/2} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{n(1/2-1/q)} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-n(1/2-1/q)}$$

for any q with  $q_0 \le q < \infty$  and nonconstant u. Here,  $\beta$  can be taken for any number with  $\beta > (8\pi e)^{-1/2}$  when n = 2.

Indeed, this lemma easily follows from the Moser-Trudinger inequality

$$\|u\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \beta q^{1/2} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{n/2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-2/q} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2/q}$$

(see [10, Corollary 1.6], [11, Theorem 1.1] and the references therein) and the interpolation inequality

$$\|u\|_{\dot{H}^{n/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \|u\|_{\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{n/2} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-n/2}.$$

The exponential nonlinear terms have been considered for Schrödinger equations in [4, 14], wave equations in [7, 15], Klein–Gordon equations in [9, 16], heat equations in [8], complex Ginzburg–Landau equations and dissipative wave equations in [13], damped Klein–Gordon equations in [1]. We show the corresponding result for Klein–Gordon equations in de Sitter spacetime. We note that the result (1) in the next theorem is weaker than the aforementioned case for the time local solutions when n = 1, however, we are able to consider time global solutions for small data in (2).

**Theorem 1.4** Let n = 1, 2. Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $0 < \nu \le 2$ ,  $j_0 \ge 0$ . Let  $f(u) = \lambda u(e^{\alpha |u|^{\nu}} - \sum_{0 \le j < j_0} \frac{\alpha^j}{j!} |u|^{\nu j})$  for  $j_0 \ge 1$ , and  $f(u) = \lambda u e^{\alpha |u|^{\nu}}$  for  $j_0 = 0$ . Put  $D := \|u_0\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \|u_1\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ . Then we have the following results.

(1) Let v < 2. For any  $u_0$  and  $u_1$ , there exists T > 0 such that (1.1) has a unique time local solution u in  $C([0, T), H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)) \cap C^1([0, T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Here, u satisfies  $u \in X(T)$ , and for any fixed  $p_0$  with  $j_0 \ge (p_0 - 1)/v$  and  $1 \le p_0 < 1 + 4/n$ , there exists a constant  $C_0$  independent of D such that T can be estimated from below as

$$T \ge \left(2C_0 \sum_{j \ge j_0} p(j)a(j)(2C_0 D)^{p(j)-1}\right)^{-1/\{1-n(p_0-1)/4\}}$$

where  $p(j) := \nu j + 1$ ,  $a(j) := \alpha^j \beta^{p(j)} (2p(j))^{p(j)/2} / j!$ , and  $\beta$  is any real number by which Lemma 1.3 holds.

(2) If  $4/n\nu \leq j_0$  and D is sufficiently small, then (1.1) has a unique time global solution u in  $C([0, \infty), H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)) \cap C^1([0, \infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . And u satisfies  $u \in X(\infty)$ .

*Remark 1.5* The assumption  $v \le 2$  seems to be optimal in the energy class  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$  in view of the Trudinger inequality (see [17]). A typical example for (2) is the case v = 2,  $f(u) = \lambda u (e^{\alpha |u|^2} - 1 - \alpha |u|^2)$  when n = 1,  $f(u) = \lambda u (e^{\alpha |u|^2} - 1)$  when n = 2, where the lower order of f(u) are 5 when n = 1 and 3 when n = 2 which are both critical in  $L^2$  theory.

We have considered the existence of solutions so far. Our solutions have the continuous dependence on the initial data, and they have asymptotic profiles to free solutions as follows.

**Theorem 1.6** Let *u* be the solution obtained in the above theorems for initial data  $u_0$  and  $u_1$ , and let  $0 < T \le \infty$  be the existence time of *u* there.

(1) Let  $v_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $v_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let v be the solution obtained in the above theorems for initial data  $v_0$  and  $v_1$ . If  $v_0$  converges to  $u_0$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $v_1$  converges to  $u_1$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then  $||u - v||_{X(T)}$  tends to zero.

(2) If u is the time global solution given by (2) of Theorems 1.2 and 1.4, then there exist  $v_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $v_1 \in H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left\{ e^{-Ht} \| u(t) - v(t) \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \| \partial_t u(t) - \partial_t v(t) \|_{H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\} = 0,$$

where v is the free solution of  $(\partial_t^2 - c^2 e^{-2Ht} \Delta + M^2)v = 0$ ,  $v(0, \cdot) = v_0(\cdot)$ ,  $\partial_t v(0, \cdot) = v_1(\cdot)$ .

Finally, we consider global solutions for large data when the nonlinear term f in (1.1) has an energy conservative potential function.

**Theorem 1.7** Let  $\lambda \ge 0$ . Let  $u_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $u_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let f(u) be given by the following (1) or (2).

(1) We put  $f(u) = \lambda |u|^{p-1}u$ , where p satisfies

$$1 \le p \begin{cases} < \infty & \text{if } n = 1, 2 \\ \le 1 + \frac{2}{n-2} & \text{if } n \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

(2) Let  $n = 2, 0 < \alpha < \infty, 0 < \nu \le 2, 0 \le j_0 < \infty$ . Let  $f(u) = \lambda u(e^{\alpha |u|^{\nu}} - \sum_{0 \le j < j_0} \frac{\alpha^j}{j!} |u|^{\nu j})$  for  $j_0 \ge 1$ , and  $f(u) = \lambda u e^{\alpha |u|^{\nu}}$  for  $j_0 = 0$ . When  $\nu = 2$ , we assume

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} c^2 |\nabla u_0(x)|^2 + M^2 u_0^2(x) + |u_1(x)|^2 + c^2 \lambda \sum_{j \ge j_0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^j}{j! 2(j+1)} |u_0|^{2(j+1)} dx \le \frac{c^2 \pi}{\alpha}.$$
(1.5)

Then (1.1) has a unique global solution u in  $C([0,\infty), H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap C^1([0,\infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . And u satisfies  $u \in X(\infty)$ .

We refer to [12] for the proofs of the above results.

Acknowledgement The author is thankful to Professors Karen Yagdjian, Michael Reissig, and Fumihiko Hirosawa for the invitation to the session "Qualitative properties of evolution models." He is also thankful to the anonymous referee for the detailed comments on the paper.

#### References

- L. Aloui, S. Ibrahim, K. Nakanishi, Exponential energy decay for damped Klein–Gordon equation with nonlinearities of arbitrary growth. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 36(5), 797– 818 (2011)
- D. Baskin, A Strichartz estimate for de Sitter space, in *The AMSI-ANU Workshop on Spectral Theory and Harmonic Analysis*. Proc. Centre Math. Appl. Austral. Nat. Univ., vol. 44 (Austral. Nat. Univ., Canberra, 2010), pp. 97–104
- 3. D. Baskin, Strichartz estimates on asymptotically de Sitter spaces. Ann. Henri Poincaré **14**(2), 221–252 (2013)
- J. Colliander, S. Ibrahim, M. Majdoub, N. Masmoudi, Energy critical NLS in two space dimensions. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 6(3), 549–575 (2009)
- 5. P. D'Ancona, A note on a theorem of Jörgens. Math. Z. 218(2), 239–252 (1995)
- P. D'Ancona, A. Di Giuseppe, Global existence with large data for a nonlinear weakly hyperbolic equation. Math. Nachr. 231, 5–23 (2001)
- S. Ibrahim, R. Jrad, Strichartz type estimates and the well-posedness of an energy critical 2D wave equation in a bounded domain. J. Differ. Equ. 250(9), 3740–3771 (2011)
- 8. S. Ibrahim, R. Jrad, M. Majdoub, T. Saanouni, Well posedness and unconditional non uniqueness for a 2D semilinear heat equation (preprint)
- S. Ibrahim, M. Majdoub, N. Masmoudi, Global solutions for a semilinear, two-dimensional Klein–Gordon equation with exponential-type nonlinearity. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 59(11), 1639–1658 (2006)

- M. Ishiwata, M. Nakamura, H. Wadade, On the sharp constant for the weighted Trudinger-Moser type inequality of the scaling invariant form (preprint)
- S. Nagayasu, H. Wadade, Characterization of the critical Sobolev space on the optimal singularity at the origin. J. Funct. Anal. 258(11), 3725–3757 (2010)
- M. Nakamura, The Cauchy problem for semi-linear Klein–Gordon equations in de Sitter spacetime. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 410(1), 445–454 (2014)
- M. Nakamura, Small global solutions for nonlinear complex Ginzburg–Landau equations and nonlinear dissipative wave equations in Sobolev spaces. Rev. Math. Phys. 23(8), 903–931 (2011)
- M. Nakamura, T. Ozawa, Nonlinear Schrödinger equations in the Sobolev space of critical order. J. Funct. Anal. 150, 364–380 (1998)
- M. Nakamura, T. Ozawa, Global solutions in the critical Sobolev space for the wave equations with nonlinearity of exponential growth. Math. Z. 231, 479–487 (1999)
- M. Nakamura, T. Ozawa, The Cauchy problem for nonlinear Klein–Gordon equations in the Sobolev spaces. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 37, 255–293 (2001)
- R.S. Strichartz, A note on Trudinger's extension of Sobolev's inequalities. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 21, 841–842 (1971/1972)
- K. Yagdjian, The semilinear Klein–Gordon equation in de Sitter spacetime. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 3(3), 679–696 (2009)
- K. Yagdjian, Global existence of the scalar field in de Sitter spacetime. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 396(1), 323–344 (2012)
- K. Yagdjian, Global solutions of semilinear system of Klein–Gordon equations in de Sitter spacetime, in *Progress in Partial Differential Equations, Springer, Proceedings in Mathemat*ics & Statistics, vol. 44 (2013), pp. 409–444
- 21. K. Yagdjian, Semilinear hyperbolic equations in curved spacetime. arXiv:1305.4404

# A Benefit from the $L^{\infty}$ Smallness of Initial Data for the Semilinear Wave Equation with Structural Damping

Marcello D'Abbicco

**Abstract** In this note, we prove the global existence of small data solutions for a semilinear wave equation with *structural* damping,

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + \mu (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_t = |u|^p,$$

for any  $n \ge 2$  and p > 1 + 2/(n - 1). The damping term allows us to derive linear  $L^{q_1} - L^{q_2}$  estimates, for  $1 \le q_1 \le q_2 \le \infty$ , without loss of regularity, in any space dimension. These estimates provide the basic tool to state our result, in which we assume initial data to be small in  $(L^1 \cap H^1 \cap L^\infty) \times (L^1 \cap L^n)$ .

Keywords Semilinear equations · Global existence · Structural damping · Critical exponent

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 35L71

We study the global existence of small data solutions to

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - \Delta u + \mu(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_t = f(u), \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \\ u_t(0, x) = u_1(x), \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $\mu > 0$ , and  $f(u) = |u|^p$ , or more in general,

$$f(0) = 0, \qquad \left| f(u) - f(v) \right| \lesssim |u - v| \left( |u|^{p-1} + |v|^{p-1} \right), \tag{2}$$

for some p > 1. The linear part of the model in (1), i.e.

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + \mu (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_t = 0,$$
(3)

M. D'Abbicco (🖂)

Deptartment of Mathematics, University of Bari, Via E. Orabona 4, 70125 BARI, Italy e-mail: m.dabbicco@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_25

is frequently used in the determination of lifespan for primary or rechargeable batteries (see [8]). Equation (3) is a special case of a wave equation with *structural* damping:

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + \mu (-\Delta)^{\sigma} u_t = 0, \quad \sigma > 0.$$
<sup>(4)</sup>

Different kind of estimates in Sobolev spaces for (4) with  $\sigma \in (0, 1)$  have been recently studied in [1, 11, 17]. In the limit case  $\sigma = 1$ , the damping is also called *visco-elastic* and it has been studied in [13, 19] and, in abstract setting, in [10, 12]. Smoothing effects for (4) are studied in [9], including the case  $\sigma \ge 1$ . Some  $L^2 - L^2$  estimates have been derived in the case with time-dependent damping  $b(t)(-\Delta)^{\sigma}u_t$  in [14, 18].

The semilinear problem corresponding to (4) has been studied by the author and M. Reissig in [6], for  $\sigma \in (0, 1]$ . In particular, if  $\sigma = 1/2$ , by assuming small initial data in the energy space and in  $L^1$ , we proved global existence of energy solutions for any p > 3 in space dimension n = 2 and for any  $p \in (2, 3]$  in space dimension n = 3. We also proved the optimality of the *critical exponent* 1 + 2/(n - 1). More precisely, for  $\mu = 2$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$  and  $u_1 \ge 0$ , nontrivial, global solutions to (1) cannot exist if 1 (see later, Theorem 2).

In this note, we show how the smallness of initial data in

$$\mathcal{A} := \left( L^1 \cap H^1 \cap L^\infty \right) \times \left( L^1 \cap L^n \right)$$

may be used to prove global existence of small data solutions for any p > 1 + 2/(n-1), in any space dimension  $n \ge 2$ . The case n = 2 has been completely solved in [6]. Indeed, in this case, the  $L^{\infty}$  smallness assumption of  $u_0$  brings no benefit on the range of admissible exponents p.

Our approach takes advantage of the special structure of linear  $L^{q_1} - L^{q_2}$  estimates,  $1 \le q_1 \le q_2 \le \infty$ , which can be obtained for (3). In particular, no loss of regularity appears in high space dimension, a difficulty which occurs, for instance, for the classical damped wave equation [16].

For any  $u \in \mathcal{C}([0,T], H^1) \cap \hat{\mathcal{C}}^1([0,T], L^2)$ , we define its *energy* as

$$\mathcal{E}[u](t) := \|\nabla u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} + \|u_t(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2}.$$

**Theorem 1** Let  $n \ge 2$  and p > 1 + 2/(n-1). Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for any initial data  $(u_0, u_1) \in A$  with

$$\left\| (u_0, u_1) \right\|_{\mathcal{A}} \leq \varepsilon,$$

there exists a  $C([0, \infty), L^1 \cap H^1 \cap L^\infty) \cap C^1([0, \infty), L^2)$  solution to (1). The solution satisfies the estimates

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^q} \le C(1+t)^{1-n(1-1/q)} \|(u_0,u_1)\|_{\mathcal{A}}, \quad \text{for any } q \in [1,\infty],$$
(5)

$$\mathcal{E}[u](t) \le C(1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \| (u_0, u_1) \|_{\mathcal{A}}.$$
(6)

Estimate (5) follows by interpolation, once we prove that

$$\| u(t, \cdot) \|_{L^{1}} \le C(1+t) \| (u_{0}, u_{1}) \|_{\mathcal{A}},$$
$$\| u(t, \cdot) \|_{L^{\infty}} \le C(1+t)^{-(n-1)} \| (u_{0}, u_{1}) \|_{\mathcal{A}}$$

From the linear estimates in [17] for the solution to

$$\begin{cases} v_{tt} - \Delta v + \mu(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} v_t = 0, \\ v(0, x) = v_0(x), \\ v_t(0, x) = v_1(x), \end{cases}$$
(7)

we may derive

$$\left\|v(t,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{q}} \le t^{-n(\frac{1}{q_{0}}-\frac{1}{q})} \|v_{0}\|_{L^{q_{0}}} + t^{1-n(\frac{1}{q_{1}}-\frac{1}{q})} \|v_{1}\|_{L^{q_{1}}},\tag{8}$$

for any  $q_0, q_1 \ge 1$  and  $q \ge \max\{q_0, q_1\}$ . In particular, if q = 1, then (8) gives

$$\left\| v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^{1}} \le \|v_{0}\|_{L^{1}} + t \|v_{1}\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(9)

Let  $q = \infty$ . Taking  $q_0 = \infty$ ,  $q_1 = n$  for any  $t \ge 0$ , from (8) it follows that

$$\left\| v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \| v_0 \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| v_1 \|_{L^n}.$$
(10)

Combining (10) with (8) for  $q_0 = q_1 = 1$  and  $t \ge 1$ , we get

$$\left\| v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le (1+t)^{-(n-1)} \left( \| v_0 \|_{L^1 \cap L^{\infty}} + \| v_1 \|_{L^1 \cap L^n} \right).$$
(11)

The solution to (7) also satisfies the energy estimates (see [6]):

$$\mathcal{E}[v](t) \le (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \left( \|v_0\|_{L^1 \cap H^1} + \|v_1\|_{L^1 \cap L^2} \right),\tag{12}$$

$$\mathcal{E}[v](t) \le \|v_0\|_{H^1} + \|v_1\|_{L^2}.$$
(13)

We are now ready to prove our statement.

*Proof of Theorem 1* For any T > 0, we introduce the space

$$X(T) := \mathcal{C}([0, T], L^{1} \cap H^{1} \cap L^{\infty}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T], L^{2}),$$
(14)

with norm given by

$$\|w\|_{X(T)} := \max_{t \in [0,T]} \left\{ (1+t)^{-1} \|w(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{1}} + (1+t)^{n-1} \|w(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}} + (1+t)^{\frac{n}{2}} \mathcal{E}[w](t) \right\}.$$
 (15)

If  $w \in X(T)$  then we derive that

$$\mathcal{E}[w](t) \le (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \|w\|_{X(T)},\tag{16}$$

and, by interpolation, that

$$\left\|w(t,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{q}} \le (1+t)^{1-n(1-\frac{1}{q})} \|w\|_{X(T)}, \quad \text{for any } q \in [1,\infty].$$
(17)

We consider the operator N defined by

$$Nw := u^{\text{lin}}(t, x) + Gw(t, x), \quad \text{with } Gw := \int_0^t E(t - \tau, x) *_{(x)} f(w) d\tau, \quad (18)$$

where  $u^{\text{lin}}(t, x)$  is the solution to (7) with  $(v_0, v_1) = (u_0, u_1)$ , and E(t, x) is the fundamental solution to (7) for  $v_0 \equiv 0$  and  $v_1 = \delta$ . A function  $w \in X(T)$  is a solution to (1) for any  $t \in [0, T]$  if, and only if, w = Nw in X(T). If we prove that

$$\|Nw\|_{X(T)} \le C_1 \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{A}} + C_2 \|w\|_{X(T)}^p,$$
(19)

$$\|Nw - N\tilde{w}\|_{X(T)} \le C \|w - \tilde{w}\|_{X(T)} \left( \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p-1} + \|\tilde{w}\|_{X(T)}^{p-1} \right), \tag{20}$$

where  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and C do not depend on T, by standard arguments (see, for instance, [5]), we may derive the existence of a unique fixed point of N in X(T), and then the existence of small data global solutions to (1), satisfying

$$\|u\|_{X(T)} \le \tilde{C} \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{\mathcal{A}}, \quad \text{uniformly for any } T > 0.$$
(21)

By (21), estimates (5)-(6) for the solution follow.

Recalling the definition of A and setting  $u_0 = v_0$ ,  $u_1 = v_1$ , in (9), (11) and (12), we immediately derive that

$$||u^{\ln}||_{X(T)} \leq C_1 ||(u_0, u_1)||_{\mathcal{A}},$$

and (19) follows once we prove that

$$\|Gw\|_{X(T)} \le C \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p}.$$
(22)

On the other hand, it is clear that we may rewrite (20) as

$$\|Gw - G\tilde{w}\|_{X(T)} \le C \|w - \tilde{w}\|_{X(T)} \left( \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p-1} + \|\tilde{w}\|_{X(T)}^{p-1} \right).$$
(23)

We first prove (22). Recalling the definition of the operator G in (18), thanks to (9) and (17), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|Gw(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{1}} &\leq C \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau) \|f(w)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{1}} d\tau \\ &\leq C_{1} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau) \|w(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}^{p} d\tau \\ &\leq C_{1} \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)(1+\tau)^{-(n-1)(p-1)+1} d\tau. \end{split}$$

We notice that (n - 1)(p - 1) > 2 if, and only if, p > 1 + 2/(n - 1). Therefore we derive (see, for instance, [15]):

$$\|Gw(t,\cdot)\|_{L^1} \le C(1+t) \|w\|_{X(T)}^p$$
.

In order to deal with the  $L^{\infty}$  norm of  $Gw(t, \cdot)$  we need to modify our approach. We split the interval [0, t] into [0, t/2] and [t/2, t]. In the first interval, we use (11), whereas in the second one we use (10):

$$\begin{split} \|Gw(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}} &\leq C \int_{0}^{t/2} (1+t-\tau)^{-(n-1)} \|f(w)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{1}\cap L^{n}} d\tau \\ &+ C \int_{t/2}^{t} \|f(w)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{n}} d\tau. \end{split}$$

Thanks to (17), and using

$$1 + t - \tau \ge (1 + t)/2$$
 if  $\tau \in [0, t/2]$ ,  $1 + \tau \ge (1 + t)/2$  if  $\tau \in [t/2, t]$ ,

it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left\| Gw(t,\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} &\leq C \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p} (1+t)^{-(n-1)} \int_{0}^{t/2} (1+\tau)^{-(n-1)(p-1)+1} d\tau \\ &+ C \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p} (1+t)^{-(n-1)-(n-1)(p-1)+1} \int_{t/2}^{t} 1 d\tau \\ &\leq C_{1} (1+t)^{-(n-1)} \|w\|_{X(T)}^{p}, \end{split}$$

where we used (n - 1)(p - 1) > 2 to prove the last inequality. Thanks to (12) and (13), we proceed similarly to estimate

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}[w](t) &\leq C \int_0^{t/2} (1+t-\tau)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \left\| f(w)(\tau,\cdot) \right\|_{L^1 \cap L^2} d\tau \\ &+ C \int_{t/2}^t \left\| f(w)(\tau,\cdot) \right\|_{L^2} d\tau \\ &\leq C_1 \|w\|_{X(T)}^p (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \int_0^{t/2} (1+\tau)^{-(n-1)(p-1)+1} d\tau \\ &+ C \|w\|_{X(T)}^p (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}-(n-1)(p-1)+1} \int_{t/2}^t 1 d\tau \\ &\leq C_2 (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \|w\|_{X(T)}^p. \end{split}$$

Therefore we proved (22). To prove (23), it is sufficient to use (2) and Hölder inequality, to estimate

$$\left\|f(w) - f(\tilde{w})\right\|_{L^{q}} \le \|w - \tilde{w}\|_{L^{qp}} \left(\|w\|_{L^{qp}}^{p-1} + \|\tilde{w}\|_{L^{qp}}^{p-1}\right),$$

where needed, then we proceed as in the proof of (22). This concludes the proof of the theorem.  $\hfill \Box$ 

To motivate the sharpness of the *critical exponent* in Theorem 1, we present the following.

**Theorem 2** We consider the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - \Delta u + 2(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_t = u^p, & t \ge 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = 0, & \\ u_t(0, x) = u_1(x). \end{cases}$$
(24)

Let us assume that the data  $u_1 \in L^1_{loc}$  is non-negative. If  $1 , then there exists no global nontrivial <math>L^p_{loc}$  solution to (24).

Theorem 2 has been first proved in Theorem 9 in [6], with stronger assumptions on the data and solution spaces. Our proof is also simpler.

An essential role in the proof of Theorem 2 is played by the fact that any local or global solution to (24) with non-negative initial data  $u_1$ , is non-negative. This property is used to extend the test function method (see, for instance, [4, 7]) to the operator in (24), which contains the nonlocal term  $(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}u_t$ . The requirement of non-negativity of the solution do not appear in the case of a classical damping [20].

*Proof of Theorem 2* We assume by contradiction that  $u \in L^p_{loc}$  is a global solution to (24). Therefore, for any test function  $\psi \in C^{\infty}_c([0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  it holds

$$\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u \left( \psi_{tt} - \Delta \psi - 2(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi_t \right) dx dt$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^p \psi dx dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_1(x) \psi(0, x) dx.$$
(25)

Let  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}([0, \infty))$  be a nontrivial, nonincreasing function, compactly supported in [0, 1], and let  $\ell > p'$ . First, we assume that 1 . For any <math>R > 1, we set  $\psi(t, x) = \phi(t/R)^{\ell} \phi(|x|/R)^{\ell}$  in (25), for some  $\ell > p' = p/(p-1)$ . Recalling that  $\phi, -\phi'$ , and  $u_1$  are nonnegative and that (see [2])

$$(-\Delta)^{\theta}\phi(|x|/R)^{\ell} \le \ell\phi(|x|/R)^{\ell-1}(-\Delta)^{\theta}\phi(|x|/R)$$

for any  $\theta \in (0, 1]$  and  $\ell > 1$ , we may derive

$$I_R := \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^p \psi dx dt \le R^{-2} \ell \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u \psi^{\frac{\ell-1}{\ell}} h(t/R, |x|/R) dx dt,$$
$$h(t, |x|) = (\phi''(t) + (\ell - 1)(\phi')^2(t)/\phi(t))\phi(|x|)$$

$$-\phi(t)\Delta\phi(|x|) - 2\ell\phi'(t)(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi(|x|)$$

We notice that  $\psi^{\epsilon}(t, x)h(t/R, |x|/R)$  is a bounded function with compact support in  $[0, R] \times B_R$ , for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , since *h* is bounded.

Setting  $\epsilon = (\ell - 1)/\ell - \ell/p$ , by Hölder's inequality, we obtain:

$$I_R \lesssim R^{-2} I_R^{\frac{1}{p}} \left( \int_0^R \int_{B_R} \left( \psi^\epsilon \left| h\left( t/R, |x|/R \right) \right| \right)^{p'} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \lesssim R^{-2 + \frac{n+1}{p'}} I_R^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

This gives  $I_R \leq R^{-2p'+n+1}$ , which vanishes as  $R \to \infty$ . By Beppo–Levi convergence theorem, it follows that  $u \equiv 0$ .

Now let  $n \ge 2$  and p = 1 + 2/(n - 1), i.e. 2p' = n + 1. The previous approach only gives a uniform bound for  $I_R$ , that is,  $u^p \psi \in L^1$ . We now fix  $\phi$  such that it also satisfies  $\phi(\rho) = 1$  for any  $\rho \in [0, 1/2]$ , and we define  $\psi(t, x) = \phi(t)^{\ell} \phi(|x|/(\delta R))^{\ell}$ , for some  $\delta > 0$ . Following the reasoning above, we derive, in particular,

$$\begin{split} -\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u\Delta\psi dx dt &= -\int_0^\infty \int_{|x| > \delta R/2} u\Delta\psi dx dt \\ &\lesssim J_R^{\frac{1}{p}} \equiv \left(\int_0^\infty \int_{|x| > \delta R/2} u^p \psi dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \to 0, \quad \text{as } R \to \infty, \end{split}$$

thanks to  $u^p \psi \in L^1$ , for any fixed  $\delta > 0$ .

For the other two terms, we proceed as before, and taking into account of the presence of  $\delta > 0$  in the definition of  $\psi$ , we obtain

$$I_R \lesssim J_R^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\delta^{\frac{n}{p'}} + \delta^{\frac{n}{p'}-1}\right) I_R^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Being  $\delta$  arbitrarily small and n = 2p' - 1 > p', we get again  $u \equiv 0$ .

Some ideas contained in this note have been employed in a forthcoming paper of the author to study the influence of a nonlinear memory on (3), extending the results in [3] for the classical damped wave equation.

## References

- R.C. Charão, C.R. da Luz, R. Ikehata, Sharp decay rates for wave equations with a fractional damping via new method in the Fourier space. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 408(1), 247–255 (2013). doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2013.06.016
- A. Córdoba, D. Córdoba, A maximum principle applied to quasi-geostrophic equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 249, 511–528 (2004). doi:10.1007/s00220-004-1055-1
- M. D'Abbicco, The influence of a nonlinear memory on the damped wave equation. Nonlinear Anal. 95, 130–145 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.na.2013.09.006
- M. D'Abbicco, S. Lucente, A modified test function method for damped wave equations. Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 13, 867–892 (2013)
- M. D'Abbicco, S. Lucente, M. Reissig, Semilinear wave equations with effective damping. Chin. Ann. Math. 34B(3), 345–380 (2013). doi:10.1007/s11401-013-0773-0
- M. D'Abbicco, M. Reissig, Semilinear structural damped waves. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. (2013). doi:10.1002/mma.2913
- L. D'Ambrosio, S. Lucente, Nonlinear Liouville theorems for Grushin and Tricomi operators. J. Differ. Equ. 123, 511–541 (2003)
- F.A.N.G. Daoyuan, L.U. Xiaojun, M. Reissig, High-order energy decay for structural damped systems in the electromagnetical field. Chin. Ann. Math. 31B(2), 237–246 (2010). doi:10. 1007/s11401-008-0185-8
- 9. M. Ghisi, M. Gobbino, A. Haraux, Local and global smoothing effects for some linear hyperbolic equations with a strong dissipation (in preparation)
- 10. R. Ikehata, Asymptotic Profiles for Wave Equations with Strong Damping (preprint) 11 pages
- R. Ikehata, M. Natsume, Energy decay estimates for wave equations with a fractional damping. Differ. Integral Equ. 25(9-10), 939–956 (2012)
- R. Ikehata, G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Wave equations with strong damping in Hilbert spaces. J. Differ. Equ. 254, 3352–3368 (2013)
- T. Kobayashi, Y. Shibata, Remark on the rate of decay of solutions to linearized compressible Navier–Stokes equations. Pac. J. Math. 207(1), 199–234 (2002)
- L.U. Xiaojun, M. Reissig, Rates of decay for structural damped models with decreasing in time coefficients. Int. J. Dyn. Syst. Differ. Equ. 2, 21–55 (2009). doi:10.1504/IJDSDE.2009. 028034
- S. Lucente, G. Ziliotti, A decay estimate for a class of hyperbolic pseudodifferential equations. Math. Appl. 10, 173–190 (1999)
- 16. T. Narazaki,  $L^p L^q$  estimates for damped wave equations and their applications to semilinear problem. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. **56**, 586–626 (2004)
- T. Narazaki, M. Reissig, L<sup>1</sup> estimates for oscillating integrals related to structural damped wave models, in *Studies in Phase Space Analysis with Applications to PDEs*, ed. by M. Cicognani, F. Colombini, D. Del Santo. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2013), pp. 215–258
- M. Reissig, Rates of decay for structural damped models with strictly increasing in time coefficients, in *Israel Mathematical Conference Proceedings, Complex Analysis and Dynamical Systems IV, Part 2, May 18–22, Nahariya, Israel.* Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 554 (2011), pp. 187–206
- 19. Y. Shibata, On the rate of decay of solutions to linear viscoelastic equation. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 23, 203–226 (2000)
- Q.S. Zhang, A blow-up result for a nonlinear wave equation with damping: the critical case. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. 1 Math. 333, 109–114 (2001)

## A Regularity Criterion for the Schrödinger Map

Jishan Fan and Tohru Ozawa

Abstract We prove a regularity criterion

$$\nabla u \in L^2(0, T; BMO(\mathbb{R}^n))$$

with  $2 \le n \le 5$  for the Schrödinger map. Here *BMO* is the space of functions with bounded mean oscillations.

Keywords Landau–Lifshitz · Schrödinger map · Regularity criterion

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35Q05 · Secondary 35Q35

## **1** Introduction

In this paper, we consider the regularity criterion of the Schrödinger map:

$$u_t = u \times \Delta u, \tag{1.1}$$

$$u(\cdot, 0) = u_0(\cdot) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1.2}$$

where  $u : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{S}^2$  is a three-dimensional vector field, representing the magnetization and  $\times$  denotes the cross product in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

By the standard stereographic projection  $\mathbb{S}^2 \to \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ , (1.1) can be rewritten as the derivative Schrödinger equation

J. Fan

T. Ozawa (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Department of Applied Mathematics, Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing 210037, P.R. China e-mail: fanjishan@njfu.edu.cn

Department of Applied Physics, Waseda University, Tokyo 169-8555, Japan e-mail: txozawa@waseda.jp

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_26

$$iw_t + \Delta w + 4\frac{(\nabla w)^2}{1 + |w|^2}\overline{w} = 0,$$

where  $w : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ .

The problem (1.1) and (1.2) has been studied by many authors [1-8, 10-17, 19-25, 27-33]. In [32], Sulem, Sulem, and Bardos proved the well-posedness of local smooth solutions for any  $n \ge 2$ . Guo and Han [10] show a regularity criterion

$$\nabla u \in L^2(0, T; L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n))$$
(1.3)

with n = 2, 3 and  $0 < T < \infty$ .

The aim of this paper is to refine (1.3) further. We will prove

**Theorem 1.1** Let  $2 \le n \le 5$  and let  $u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{S}^2$  satisfy  $\nabla u_0 \in H^3(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let u be a local smooth solution of the problem (1.1) and (1.2). If u satisfies

$$\nabla u \in L^2(0, T; BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)) \tag{1.4}$$

with  $0 < T < \infty$ , then the solution u can be extended beyond T > 0.

*Remark 1.2* It is an open problem to prove (1.4) for  $n \ge 6$ . In (2.10) and (2.11) we need  $n \le 5$ .

#### 2 Proof of Theorem 1.1

We only need to prove a priori estimates.

First, testing (1.1) by  $-\Delta u$  and using  $(a \times b) \cdot b = 0$ , we have the well-known energy equality

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int |\nabla u|^2 dx = 0.$$
(2.1)

Here it should be noted that (2.1) is an equality instead of an inequality because we deal with the local strong solutions.

To prove further estimates, we derive a new equation from (1.1). Applying  $\partial_t$  to (1.1) and using the formula  $a \times (b \times c) = (a \cdot c)b - (a \cdot b)c$ , and |u| = 1, we find that

$$u_{tt} = u_t \times \Delta u + u \times \Delta u_t$$
  
=  $(u \times \Delta u) \times \Delta u + u \times \Delta (u \times \Delta u)$   
=  $-\Delta u \times (u \times \Delta u) + u \times (u \times \Delta^2 u) + 2 \sum_i u \times (\partial_i u \times \partial_i \Delta u)$   
=  $-u |\Delta u|^2 + (u \cdot \Delta u) \Delta u + (u \cdot \Delta^2 u) u - \Delta^2 u$   
+  $2 \sum_i (u \cdot \partial_i \Delta u) \partial_i u.$  (2.2)

Now using |u| = 1 and the formulae

$$u \cdot \Delta u = -|\nabla u|^2,$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial_i \Delta |u|^2 = \partial_i \left( u \Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 \right)$$
(2.3)

$$= u\partial_i\Delta u + \partial_i u\Delta u + 2\sum_j \partial_j u\partial_i\partial_j u, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}\Delta^2 |u|^2 = \sum_i \Delta(u_i \Delta u_i + \nabla u_i \nabla u_i)$$
$$= \sum_i \left[ u_i \Delta^2 u_i + |\Delta u_i|^2 + 4\nabla u_i \nabla \Delta u_i + 2\sum_j (\partial_j \nabla u_i)^2 \right],$$

we obtain

$$u\Delta^2 u = -|\Delta u|^2 - 4\sum_{i,j} \partial_j u_i \partial_j \Delta u_i - 2\sum_{i,j} (\partial_j \partial_i u)^2.$$
(2.5)

Putting (2.3), (2.4) and (2.5) into (2.2), we arrive at:

$$u_{tt} + \Delta^2 u = -2u|\Delta u|^2 - 4u \sum_{i,j} \partial_j u_i \partial_j \Delta u_i - 2u \sum_{i,j} (\partial_j \partial_i u)^2 - |\nabla u|^2 \Delta u - 2 \sum_i (\partial_i u \cdot \Delta u) \partial_i u - 4 \sum_{i,j} (\partial_j u \cdot \partial_i \partial_j u) \partial_i u.$$
(2.6)

The new (2.6) is similar to the biharmonic wave map introduced by the authors [**9**].

In the following calculations, we will use the following bilinear product estimates due to Kato and Ponce [18]:

$$\|\Lambda^{s}(fg)\|_{L^{p}} \leq C(\|\Lambda^{s}f\|_{L^{p_{1}}}\|g\|_{L^{q_{1}}} + \|f\|_{L^{p_{2}}}\|\Lambda^{s}g\|_{L^{q_{2}}})$$
(2.7)

with s > 0,  $\Lambda := (-\Delta)^{1/2}$  and  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q_1} = \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{q_2}$ . We will also use the following formula

$$0 = \Delta^{2}(uu_{t}) = u\Delta^{2}u_{t} + u_{t}\Delta^{2}u + C_{1}Du_{t}D^{3}u + C_{2}D^{2}u_{t}D^{2}u + C_{3}D^{3}u_{t}Du,$$
(2.8)

where  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  are suitable constant tensors. Testing (2.6) by  $\Delta^2 u_t$  and using (2.8), we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int \left(|\Delta u_t|^2 + |\Delta^2 u|^2\right)dx$$
$$= -\int \left[2u|\Delta u|^2 + 2u\sum_{i,j}(\partial_i\partial_j u)^2\right]$$

$$+ |\nabla u|^{2} \Delta u + 2 \sum_{i} (\partial_{i} u \cdot \Delta u) \partial_{i} u + 4 \sum_{i,j} (\partial_{j} u \cdot \partial_{i} \partial_{j} u) \partial_{i} u \Big] \Delta^{2} u_{t} dx$$

$$+ 4 \sum_{i,j} \int \partial_{j} u_{i} \partial_{j} \Delta u_{i} (u_{t} \Delta^{2} u + C_{1} D u_{t} D^{3} u + C_{2} D^{2} u_{t} D^{2} u + C_{3} D^{3} u_{t} D u) dx$$

$$= \int \left( 2|\Delta u|^{2} + 2 \sum_{i,j} |\partial_{i} \partial_{j} u|^{2} \right) (u_{t} \Delta^{2} u + C_{2} D^{2} u_{t} D^{2} u) dx$$

$$- \int 2C_{1} u_{t} D \Big[ D^{3} u \Big( |\Delta u|^{2} + \sum_{i,j} |\partial_{i} \partial_{j} u|^{2} \Big) \Big] dx$$

$$- \int 2C_{3} D^{2} u_{t} D \Big[ D u \Big( |\Delta u|^{2} + \sum_{i,j} |\partial_{i} \partial_{j} u|^{2} \Big) \Big] dx$$

$$- \int \Delta \Big[ |\nabla u|^{2} \Delta u + 2 \sum_{i} (\partial_{i} u \cdot \Delta u) \partial_{i} u + 4 \sum_{i,j} (\partial_{j} u \cdot \partial_{i} \partial_{j} u) \partial_{i} u \Big] \Delta u_{t} dx$$

$$+ 4 \sum_{i,j} \int \partial_{j} u_{i} \partial_{j} \Delta u_{i} (u_{t} \Delta^{2} u + C_{2} D^{2} u_{t} D^{2} u) dx$$

$$- 4C_{1} \sum_{i,j} \int u_{t} D (\partial_{j} u_{i} \partial_{j} \Delta u_{i} D^{3} u) dx$$

$$- 4C_{3} \sum_{i,j} \int D^{2} u_{t} \cdot D (\partial_{j} u_{i} \partial_{j} \Delta u_{i} D u) dx$$

$$=: I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} + I_{4} + I_{5} + I_{6} + I_{7}.$$

$$(2.9)$$

We will use (1.1) to bounded  $u_t$  by  $\Delta u$ , we bound  $I_i$  (i = 1, ..., 7) as follows. We estimate  $I_1$  as

$$|I_{1}| \leq C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{3} \left(\|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}\right)$$
  
$$\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \left(\|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right),$$

where we have used the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality

$$\|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \le C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{\frac{2}{3}} \|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(2.10)

We estimate  $I_2$  as

$$\begin{split} |I_{2}| &\leq C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{3} \|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}} + C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{2} \|D^{3} u\|_{L^{3}}^{2} \\ &\leq C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{3} \|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|\Delta^{2} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used (2.10) and the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality

$$\|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}}^{2} \leq C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}} \leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{\frac{2}{3}} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{4}{3}}.$$
 (2.11)

We use (2.10) and (2.11) to bound

$$\begin{split} |I_{3}| &\leq C \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}} (\|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{3} + C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}}) \\ &\leq C \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} (\|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}), \\ |I_{5}| &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}} (\|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}) \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} (\|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}), \\ |I_{6}| &\leq C \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}}^{2} \|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}}^{2} + C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \\ |I_{7}| &\leq C \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}} (\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{6}} \|D^{3}u\|_{L^{3}}) \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} (\|\Delta^{2}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta u_{t}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}). \end{split}$$

Finally, we use (2.7), (2.10) and (2.11) to bound  $I_4$  as

$$\begin{aligned} |I_4| &\leq C \left( \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \|\Delta^2 u\|_{L^2} + \|\Delta u\|_{L^6} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|D^3 u\|_{L^3} \right) \|\Delta u_t\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \|\Delta^2 u\|_{L^2} \|\Delta u_t\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \left( \|\Delta^2 u\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\Delta u_t\|_{L^2}^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$

Inserting the above estimates into (2.9) and using (2.1) and the logarithmic Sobolev inequality [26]:

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \leq C(1 + \|\nabla u\|_{BMO}^{2} \log(e + \|\nabla u\|_{H^{3}})),$$

we arrive at

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^3)} + \|u_t\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^2)} \le C.$$

This completes the proof.

Acknowledgement J. Fan is partially supported by NSFC (No. 11171154).

#### References

1. I. Bejenaru, Global results for Schrödinger maps in dimensions  $n \ge 3$ . Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. **33**(1-3), 451–477 (2008)

- 2. I. Bejenaru, On Schrödinger maps. Am. J. Math. 130(4), 1033–1065 (2008)
- I. Bejenaru, A.D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, Global existence and uniqueness of Schrödinger maps in dimensions d ≥ 4. Adv. Math. 215(1), 263–291 (2007)
- I. Bejenaru, A.D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, On the stability of certain spin models in 2 + 1 dimensions. J. Geom. Anal. 21(1), 1–39 (2011)
- 5. I. Bejenaru, A.D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, D. Tataru, Global Schrödinger maps in dimensions  $d \ge 2$ : small data in the critical Sobolev spaces. Ann. Math. **173**(3), 1443–1506 (2011)
- I. Bejenaru, A. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, D. Tataru, Equivariant Schrödinger maps in two spatial dimensions. http://arxiv.org/abs/1112.6122
- I. Bejenaru, D. Tataru, Near soliton evolution for equivariant Schrödinger maps in two spatial dimensions. http://arxiv.org/abs/1009.1608
- N.H. Chang, J. Shatah, K. Uhlenbeck, Schrödinger maps. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 53(5), 590–602 (2000)
- 9. J. Fan, T. Ozawa, On regularity criterion for the 2D wave maps and the 4D biharmonic wave maps. GAKUTO international series. Math. Sci. Appl. **32**, 69–83 (2010)
- B. Guo, Y. Han, Global regular solutions for Landau–Lifshitz equation. Front. Math. China 1(4), 538–568 (2006)
- S. Gustafson, K. Kang, T.P. Tsai, Asymptotic stability of harmonic maps under the Schrödinger flow. Duke Math. J. 145(3), 537–583 (2008)
- S. Gustafson, E. Koo, Global well-posedness for 2D radial Schrödinger maps into the sphere. http://arxiv.org/abs/1105.5659
- S. Gustafson, K. Nakanishi, a.T.P. Tsai, Asymptotic stability, concentration, and oscillation in harmonic map heat-flow, Landau–Lifshitz, and Schrödinger maps on R<sup>2</sup>. Commun. Math. Phys. 300(1), 205–242 (2010)
- A.D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, Low-regularity Schrödinger maps. Differ. Integral Equ. 19(11) 1271–1300 (2006)
- 15. A.D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig, Low-regularity Schrödinger maps. II. Global well-posedness in dimensions  $d \ge 3$ . Commun. Math. Phys. **271**(2), 523–559 (2007)
- J. Kato, Existence and uniqueness of the solution to the modified Schrödinger map. Math. Res. Lett. 12(2-3), 171–186 (2005)
- 17. J. Kato, H. Koch, Uniqueness of the modified Schrödinger map in  $H^{3/4+\epsilon}(R^2)$ . Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. **32**(1-3), 415–429 (2007)
- T. Kato, G. Ponce, Commutator estimates and the Euler and Navier–Stokes equations. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 41(7), 891–907 (1988)
- C.E. Kenig, G. Ponce, L. Vega, On the initial value problem for the Ishimori system. Ann. Henri Poincaré 1(2), 341–384 (2000)
- 20. C.E. Kenig, A.R. Nahmod, The Cauchy problem for the hyperbolic-elliptic Ishimori system and Schrödinger maps. Nonlinearity **18**(5), 1987–2009 (2005)
- H. McGahagan, An approximation scheme for Schrödinger maps. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 32(1-3), 375–400 (2007)
- 22. F. Merle, P. Raphaël, I. Rodnianski, Blow up dynamics for smooth data equivariant solutions to the energy critical Schrödinger map problem. http://arxiv.org/abs/1102.4308
- F. Merle, P. Raphaël, I. Rodnianski, Blow up dynamics for smooth equivariant solutions to the energy critical Schrödinger map. C. R. Math. 349(5-6), 279–283 (2011)
- A. Nahmod, J. Shatah, L. Vega, C. Zeng, Schrödinger maps and their associated frame systems. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2007(21) (2007). Artical ID rnm088, 29 pages
- A. Nahmod, A. Stefanov, K. Uhlenbeck, On Schrödinger maps. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 56(1), 114–151 (2003)
- T. Ogawa, Sharp Sobolev inequality of logarithmic type and the limiting regularity condition to the harmonic heat flow. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 34(6), 1318–1330 (2003)
- T. Ozawa, J. Zhai, Global existence of small classical solutions to nonlinear Schrödinger equations. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré 25(2), 303–311 (2008)
- I. Rodnianski, Y.A. Rubinstein, G. Staffilani, On the global well-posedness of the onedimensional Schrödinger map flow. Anal. PDE 2(2), 187–209 (2009)

- 29. I. Rodnianski, J. Sterbenz, On the formation of singularities in the critial  $O(3)\sigma$ -model. Ann. Math. **172**(1), 187–242 (2010)
- 30. P. Smith, Conditional global regularity of Schrödinger maps: sub-threshold dispersed energy. http://arxiv.org/abs/1012.4048
- P. Smith, Global regularity of critical Schrödinger maps: subthreshold dispersedenergy. http:// arxiv.org/abs/1112.0251
- P.L. Sulem, C. Sulem, C. Bardos, On the continous limit for a system of classical spins. Commun. Math. Phys. 107, 431–454 (1986)
- T. Tao, Gauges for the Schrödinger map. http://www.math.ucla.edu/~tao/preprints/Expository/ smap.dvi

# Microlocal Analysis for Hyperbolic Equations in Einstein-de Sitter Spacetime

**Anahit Galstian** 

**Abstract** We consider the waves propagating in the Einstein-de Sitter spacetime, which obey the covariant d'Alembert's equation. We construct the parametrixes in the terms of Fourier integral operators and discuss the propagation and reflection of the singularities phenomena.

Keywords Einstein-de Sitter model · Parametrix · Propagation of singularities

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 35Q75 · 35A21 · 58J47 · Secondary 83C05 · 35S30

### 1 Introduction

The current note is concerned with the wave propagating in the universe modeled by the cosmological models with expansion.

The homogeneous and isotropic cosmological models possess highest symmetry, which makes them more amenable to rigorous study. Among them, Friedmann–Lemaître–Robertson–Walker (FLRW) models are mentioned. The metric of the EdeS universe is a member of the FLRW metrics  $ds^2 = -dt^2 + a^2(t)\left[\frac{dr^2}{1-Kr^2} + r^2 d\Omega^2\right]$ , where K = -1, 0, or +1, for a hyperbolic, flat or spherical spatial geometry, respectively. The time dependence of the function a(t) is determined by the Einstein field equations for gravity  $R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi GT_{\mu\nu}$ . For pressureless matter distributions and vanishing spatial curvature in the EdeS universe the solution to the Einstein field equations is  $a(t) = a_0 t^{2/3}$  [4]. The universe expands, and its expansion decelerates since  $\ddot{a} < 0$ . Even though the EdeS spacetime is conformally flat, its causal structure is quite different from asymptotically flat geometries. In particular, and unlike Minkowski or Schwarzschild, the past particle horizons exist. The EdeS spacetime is a good approximation to the large scale structure of the universe during a matter dominated phase, when the averaged (over space and time)

A. Galstian (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Department of Mathematics, University of Texas-Pan American, Edinburg, TX 78541-2999, USA e-mail: agalstyan@utpa.edu

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_27

energy density evolves adiabatically and pressures are vanishingly small, as, e.g., immediately after inflation [4]. This justifies why such a metric is adopted to model the collapse of overdensity perturbations in the early matter dominated phase that followed inflation.

The solution  $a(t) = a_0 t^{2/3}$  is singular at t = 0: at that moment the scale factor is equal to zero, and the energy density is infinite. This is an example of the cosmological singularity, the moment of Big Bang. The EdeS model of the universe is the simplest non-empty expanding model. It was first proposed jointly by Einstein and de Sitter (the EdeS model) [1]. In the EdeS spacetime the covariant wave equation with the source term f is

$$\psi_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta \psi + 2t^{-1} \psi_t = f, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(1.1)

In this note we give the parametrix for the initial value problem for this equation with  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and the wave front sets  $WF(\psi)$  of the solution.

Equation (1.1) is strictly hyperbolic in the domain with t > 0. It is known that the wave front set  $WF(\psi) \setminus WF(f)$  is contained in the characteristic set  $p^{-1}(0)$ , where  $p = p(t, x; \tau, \xi)$  is the principal symbol,  $p(t, x; \tau, \xi) = \tau^2 - t^{-4/3} |\xi|^2$ ,  $(t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $(\tau, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+n}$ . The set  $WF(\psi) \setminus WF(f)$  is invariant under the flow defined by the Hamiltonian field  $H_p$  of the principal symbol p. On the hypersurface t = 0 its coefficients have singularities that make the study of the initial value problem and the reflection of the singularities difficult.

In [2] have been used the approach suggested in [6], which reduces the problem for (1.1) to the Cauchy problem for the free wave equation in Minkowski spacetime. More precisely, in [2] have been utilized the solution v = v(x, t; b) to the Cauchy problem

$$v_{tt} - \Delta v = 0,$$
  $v(x, 0) = \varphi(x, b),$   $v_t(x, 0) = 0,$   $t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$  (1.2)

with the parameter  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ . Here  $\Delta$  is the Laplace operator on the flat metric,  $\Delta := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2}$ . We denote that solution by  $v_{\varphi} = v_{\varphi}(x, t; b)$ . In the case of function  $\varphi$  independent of parameter, we simply write  $v_{\varphi} = v_{\varphi}(x, t)$ .

The straightforward application of the formulas obtained in [6] to the Cauchy problem for (1.1) decidedly does not work, but it reveals a surprising link to the EdeS spacetime. Indeed, we note that the "principal part" of (1.1) belongs to the family of the Tricomi-type equations  $u_{tt} - t^l \Delta u = 0$ , where  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . According to [6] the solution to the Cauchy problem  $u_{tt} - t^l \Delta u = f(x, t), u(x, 0) = 0, u_t(x, 0) = 0$ , with the smooth functions  $f, \varphi_0$ , and  $\varphi_1$ , can be represented as follows:

$$u(x,t) = 2c_k \int_0^t db \int_0^{\phi(t) - \phi(b)} dr E(r,t;0,b) v_f(x,r;b), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ t > 0,$$

with the kernel E(r, t; 0, b) containing  $F(\gamma, \gamma; 1; \frac{(\phi(t) - \phi(b))^2 - r^2}{(\phi(t) + \phi(b))^2 - r^2})$ , where  $\gamma := \frac{\ell}{2(\ell+2)}$ ,  $\phi(t) := \frac{t^{1+\ell/2}}{1+\ell/2}$ , and  $F(\gamma, \gamma; 1; \zeta)$  is the hypergeometric function. Suppose now that we are looking for the simplest possible kernel E(r, t; 0, b) of the last

integral. In the hierarchy of the hypergeometric functions the simplest one, that is different from the constant, is  $F(-1, -1; 1; \zeta) = 1 + \zeta$ . The parameter *l* leading to  $F(-1, -1; 1; \zeta)$  is exactly the exponent l = -4/3 of the wave equation (and of the metric tensor) in the EdeS spacetime.

Theorem 1.1 [2] shows how the "lower order term" of (1.1) affects the initial value problem. More precisely, the initial conditions can be prescribed as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \psi_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta \psi + 2t^{-1} \psi_t = f(x, t), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0} t \psi(x, t) = \varphi_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0} \left( t \psi_t(x, t) + \psi(x, t) + 3t^{-1/3} \Delta \varphi_0(x) \right) = \varphi_1(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

For the solutions of the problem(1.3) Theorem 1.1 [2] gives representation

$$\psi(x,t) = \frac{3}{2}t^2 \int_0^1 db \int_0^{1-b^{1/3}} ds bv_f(x,3t^{1/3}s;tb)(1+b^{2/3}-s^2) +t^{-1}v_{\varphi_0}(x,3t^{1/3}) - 3t^{-2/3}(\partial_t v_{\varphi_0})(x,3t^{1/3}) +\frac{3}{2}\int_0^1 v_{\varphi_1}(x,3t^{1/3}s)(1-s^2)ds.$$
(1.4)

The initial conditions of (1.3) are the so-called *weighted initial conditions*. Theorem 1.1 [2] has been used to obtain in [2] some important properties of the solutions of the wave equation in E&deS spacetime. In particular, for the initial value problem (1.3) the so-called  $L^p - L^q$  estimates are derived in [2].

In this present paper we supplement the results of [2] with the microlocal analysis, which, in particular, describes the wave front sets of solutions. Denote by  $\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi)$  the Fourier transform of  $\varphi_0(x)$  and by  $\widehat{f}(t,\xi)$  the partial Fourier transform of f(t,x). The main result of the present paper is the following theorem. Denote  $\phi(t,\xi) := 3t^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|$  and set  $n \ge 3$ .

**Theorem 1.1** *The solution of the problem* (1.3) *is given by the Fourier integral operators as follows:* 

$$\begin{split} \psi(t,x) &= \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x\cdot\xi \mp \phi(t,\xi))} \frac{1}{2t} (i\phi(t,\xi) \pm 1) \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) d\xi \\ &+ \sum_{+,-} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{i(x\cdot\xi \mp \phi(t,\xi))} \frac{i}{18t|\xi|^3} (i\phi(t,\xi) \pm 1) \widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi) d\xi \\ &+ \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\cdot\xi} e^{\mp i(\phi(\tau,\xi) - \phi(t,\xi))} \frac{i\tau}{18t|\xi|^3} \\ &\times \left( \mp i \left[ \phi(\tau,\xi) - \phi(t,\xi) \right] - \phi(\tau,\xi) \phi(t,\xi) - 1 \right) \widehat{f}(\tau,\xi) d\xi d\tau. (1.5) \end{split}$$

Thus, the wave front set of the solution,  $WF(\psi)$ , of the waves without source, f = 0, in the E & dS spacetime is the union of the bicharacteristics, that is curves in the Hamilton foliation of zero set of the principal symbol,  $p^{-1}(0)$ , emanating from the wave front sets of the initial data:  $WF(\psi) = \Gamma_{\varphi_0}^+(t) \cup \Gamma_{\varphi_1}^-(t) \cup \Gamma_{\varphi_1}^-(t)$ , where with  $\mu = +, -$ , is denoted  $\Gamma_{\varphi}^{\mu}(t) := \{(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi} \setminus \{0\}); \exists (x_0, \xi_0) \in WF(\varphi), x = x_0 + \mu 3t^{\frac{1}{3}}\xi_0/|\xi_0|, \xi = \xi_0\}$ . To discuss a reflection of singularities we note that the limits  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \psi$  and  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \psi_t$  for the solutions of (1.1), in general, do not exist and we change the formulation of the known reflection of the singularities theorems (see, e.g., [3, Sect. 9 Ch. 2]). Let  $\psi \in C^2((0, T); \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be a solution of the equation of (1.1) without source, f = 0. Then according to Lemma 2.2  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} (t\psi) \in \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} (t\psi_t + \psi + 3t^{-1/3}\Delta \lim_{t\to 0^+} (t\psi)) \in \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  exist. The next theorem shows that the solutions obey the reflection of the singularities phenomena. For  $(x_0, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, \xi_0 \neq 0$ , denote

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^{\mu}(x_0,\xi_0) &:= \left\{ (t,x;\tau,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+2}; x = x_0 + \mu 3t^{\frac{1}{3}} \xi_0 / |\xi_0|, \\ \xi &= \xi_0, \ \tau = \mu t^{-2/3} |\xi|, \ t \in [0,\infty) \right\}, \end{split}$$

 $\mu = +, -$ , the bicharacteristics emanating from the point  $(x_0, \xi_0)$  and lying in the half-space  $t \ge 0$ . It is sufficient to consider the case of point  $x_0 = 0$ .

**Theorem 1.2** Let  $\psi \in C^2((0, T); \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be a solution of (1.1) with  $f \equiv 0$ . If  $WF(\lim_{t\to 0^+}(t\psi)) \cap \Gamma^+(0,\xi_0) = \emptyset$  and  $(0,\xi_0) \notin WF(\lim_{t\to 0^+}(t\psi))$ , or  $(0,\xi_0) \notin WF(\lim_{t\to 0^+}(t\psi_t + \psi + 3t^{-1/3}\Delta \lim_{t\to 0^+}(t\psi)))$  then  $WF(\psi) \cap \Gamma^-(0,\xi_0) = \emptyset$  and for every t > 0 the point  $(-3t^{\frac{1}{3}}\xi_0/|\xi_0|,\xi_0)$  does not belong to  $WF(\psi|_t)$ . Similar statement is true if we permute  $\Gamma^+(0,\xi_0)$  and  $\Gamma^-(0,\xi_0)$ .

The EdeS model recently became a focus of interest for an increasing number of authors. We believe that the microlocal analysis of the solution operators obtained in the present paper fills the gap in the existing literature on the wave equation in the EdeS spacetime. In this note we present only the outline of the proof; the complete proof and further results will be published in the forthcoming paper.

#### 2 The Microlocal Representation Formulas

If we denote  $\mathcal{L} := \partial_t^2 - t^{-\frac{4}{3}} \Delta + 2t^{-1} \partial_t$ ,  $\mathcal{S} := \partial_t^2 - t^{-\frac{4}{3}} \Delta$ , then we can easily check for  $t \neq 0$  the following operator identity  $t^{-1} \circ \mathcal{S} \circ t = \mathcal{L}$ . The last equation suggests a change of unknown function  $\psi$  with u such that  $\psi = t^{-1}u$ . Then the problem for u is as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} u_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta u &= g(x, t), \quad t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0} u(x, t) &= \varphi_0(x), \quad \lim_{t \to 0} \left( u_t(x, t) + 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}} \Delta \varphi_0(x) \right) = \varphi_1(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{aligned}$$
(2.1)

where g(x, t) = tf(x, t). It is enough to consider the solution of the last problem. We consider two cases:  $(\varphi_0, \varphi_1)$  with f = 0; (f) with  $\varphi_0 = \varphi_1 = 0$ .

Consider the ordinary differential equation

$$y'' + t^{\frac{4}{3}} |\xi|^2 y = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

with a parameter  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Set  $\tau = 3t^{1/3}|\xi|$ . The next lemma is an extension to negative  $\gamma$  of the corresponding result from [5].

Lemma 2.1 The functions

$$V_1(t,|\xi|) = e^{-3it^{1/3}|\xi|} (3it^{1/3}|\xi|+1),$$
(2.3)

$$V_2(t,|\xi|) = \sum_{+,-} \frac{i}{18|\xi|^3} e^{\mp 3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|} (3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi| \pm 1), \qquad (2.4)$$

on  $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}$ , form the fundamental system for (2.2) such that

$$V_1(0,|\xi|) = 1, \qquad \lim_{t \to 0^+} \left( V_1'(t,|\xi|) - 3t^{-1/3}|\xi|^2 e^{-3it^{1/3}|\xi|} \right) = 0, \tag{2.5}$$

$$V_2(0, |\xi|) = 0, \qquad \lim_{t \to 0^+} V_2'(t, |\xi|) = 1.$$
 (2.6)

**Case of**  $(\varphi_0, \varphi_1)$  The second relation of (2.5) generates the second initial condition from (2.2) [2]. In fact, any solution of the equation

$$u_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta u = 0, \quad t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
 (2.7)

according to the next lemma has certain asymptotic behavior at t = 0, which allows us to set up a proper weighted initial value problem.

**Lemma 2.2** Let  $u \in C^2((0,T); \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be a solution of the equation of (2.7). Then the  $\lim_{t\to 0} u \in \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  exists. Moreover, if we denote  $u_0 := \lim_{t\to 0} u$ , then  $\lim_{t\to 0} (u_t(x,t) + 3t^{-1/3}\Delta u_0(x)) \in \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  exists as well.

Thus, the following initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta u = 0, & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0^+} u(x, t) = \varphi_0(x), & \lim_{t \to 0^+} \left( u_t(x, t) + 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}} \Delta \varphi_0(x) \right) = \varphi_1(x). \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

has been justified by Lemma 2.2. After partial Fourier transform we obtain

$$\begin{cases} y_{tt}(t,|\xi|) + t^{-4/3}|\xi|^2 y(t,|\xi|) = 0, \quad t > 0, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0^+} y(t,|\xi|) = \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi), \quad \lim_{t \to 0^+} (y_t(t,|\xi|) - 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|^2 \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi)) = \widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi). \end{cases}$$

The solution  $y(t, |\xi|)$  of the last problem can be represented as

$$y(t, |\xi|) = p_{01}(|\xi|)V_1(t, |\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{02}(|\xi|)V_2(t, |\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{11}(|\xi|)V_1(t, |\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi) + p_{12}(|\xi|)V_2(t, |\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi).$$
(2.9)

This allows us to prove the following microlocal representation theorem. The operator  $\mathcal{G}: \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow C^2((0, T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$ , is said to be a *parametrix* of the problem (2.8), if  $\mathcal{G}\{\varphi_0, \varphi_1\} \in C^2((0, T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{SG}\{\varphi_0,\varphi_1\} \in C((0,T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)), \lim_{t \to 0^+} (\mathcal{G}\{\varphi_0,\varphi_1\} - \varphi_0) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \\ \lim_{t \to 0^+} ((\mathcal{G}\{\varphi_0,\varphi_1\})_t + 3t^{-1/3}\Delta\varphi_0 - \varphi_1) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \end{cases}$$

for every  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let  $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be a cut-off function such that  $\chi(\xi) = 0$  if  $|\xi| \le 1$  and  $\chi(\xi) = 1$  if  $|\xi| \ge 2$ .

**Theorem 2.3** The parametrix G of the problem (2.8) is given by the Fourier integral operators as follows:

$$\mathcal{G}\{\varphi_{0},\varphi_{1}\}(t,x) = \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{2} e^{i(x\cdot\xi\mp3t^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|)} \big(3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|\pm 1\big)\chi(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}_{0}(\xi)d\xi + \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{i(x\cdot\xi\mp3t^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|)} \frac{i}{18|\xi|^{3}} \big(3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|\pm 1\big)\chi(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}_{1}(\xi)d\xi.$$

*Proof* From (2.9) and the first initial condition we derive  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} y(t, |\xi|) = p_{01}(|\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{11}(|\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi)$  and obtain for the coefficients  $p_{01}(|\xi|) = 1$ ,  $p_{11}(|\xi|) = 0$ . Consequently,

$$y(t,|\xi|) = V_1(t,|\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{02}(|\xi|)V_2(t,|\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{12}(|\xi|)V_2(t,|\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi).$$

It follows

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \left( y_t(t, |\xi|) - 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}} |\xi|^2 \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) \right)$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \left( \left[ 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}} |\xi|^2 e^{-3it^{\frac{1}{3}} |\xi|} + p_{02}(|\xi|) - 3t^{-\frac{1}{3}} |\xi|^2 \right] \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) + p_{12}(|\xi|) \widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi) \right).$$

We set  $p_{02}(|\xi|) = 9i|\xi|^3$ ,  $p_{12}(|\xi|) = 1$  and obtain

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \left( \left[ 3t^{-1/3} |\xi|^2 e^{-3it^{1/3} |\xi|} + 9i |\xi|^3 - 3t^{-1/3} |\xi|^2 \right] \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi) \right) = 0.$$

Thus,

$$y(t, |\xi|) = \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{2} e^{\mp 3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|} (3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi| \pm 1) \widehat{\varphi}_0(\xi)$$

$$+\sum_{+,-}\frac{i}{18|\xi|^3}e^{\pm 3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|} (3it^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|\pm 1)\widehat{\varphi}_1(\xi).$$

To complete the proof of the theorem we have to prove that the difference between the exact solution  $u_{ext}$  of the problem (2.8) and the function  $u := \mathcal{G}\{\varphi_0, \varphi_1\}$  of (2.10) is the smooth function.

**Corollary 2.4** The wave front set of the solution, WF(u), is the union

$$WF(u(t)) = \Gamma_{\varphi_0}^+(t) \cup \Gamma_{\varphi_0}^-(t) \cup \Gamma_{\varphi_1}^+(t) \cup \Gamma_{\varphi_1}^-(t),$$

where with  $\mu = +, -is$  denoted  $\Gamma_{\varphi}^{\mu}(t) := \{(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi} \setminus \{0\}); \exists (x_0, \xi_0) \in WF(\varphi), \ x = x_0 + \mu 3t^{\frac{1}{3}} \xi_0 / |\xi_0|, \ \xi = \xi_0 \}.$ 

The corollary below shows that the problem obeys the reflection of the singularities phenomena similar to the operators with the regular coefficients. For  $(x_0, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ ,  $\xi_0 \neq 0$ , denote  $\Gamma^{\mu}(x_0, \xi_0) := \{(t, x; \tau, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+2}; x = x_0 + \mu 3t^{\frac{1}{3}}\xi_0/|\xi_0|, \xi = \xi_0, \tau = \mu t^{-2/3}|\xi|, t \in [0, \infty)\}, \mu = +, -$ , the bicharacteristics emanating from the point  $(x_0, \xi_0)$  and lying in the half-space  $t \ge 0$ . It is sufficient to consider the case of point  $x_0 = 0$  only, since the equation is invariant with respect to translations in x.

**Corollary 2.5** Let  $u \in C^2((0,T); \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$  be a solution of (2.7). If  $WF(u) \cap \Gamma^+(0,\xi_0) = \emptyset$  and  $(0,\xi_0) \notin WF(\lim_{t\to 0^+} (u_t + 3t^{-1/3} \Delta \lim_{t\to 0^+} u))$  or  $(0,\xi_0) \notin WF(\lim_{t\to 0^+} u)$ , then  $WF(u) \cap \Gamma^-(0,\xi_0) = \emptyset$  and for every t > 0 the point  $(-3t^{\frac{1}{3}}\xi_0/|\xi_0|,\xi_0)$  does not belong to  $WF(u|_t)$ . Similar statement is true if we permute  $\Gamma^+(0,\xi_0)$  and  $\Gamma^-(0,\xi_0)$ .

**Case of** (f) We look for the solution of the Cauchy problem for the equation with the source term,

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - t^{-4/3} \Delta u = g(x, t), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \lim_{t \to 0^+} u(x, t) = 0, & \lim_{t \to 0^+} u_t(x, t) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

The operator  $\mathcal{G}_s : C((0, T]; \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n)) \longrightarrow C^2((0, T]; \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$ , is said to be a *parametrix* of the problem (2.10), if  $\mathcal{G}_s g \in C^2((0, T]; \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{SG}_s g - g \in C((0,T]; C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)), \\ \lim_{t \to 0^+} \mathcal{G}_s g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), & \lim_{t \to 0^+} (\mathcal{G}_s g)_t \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \end{cases}$$

for every distribution-valued function  $g \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{E}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$ .

**Theorem 2.6** Let  $\phi(t, \xi) = 3t^{\frac{1}{3}}|\xi|$ , then the parametrix  $\mathcal{G}_s$  of the problem (2.10) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{s}g(t,x) &= \sum_{+,-} \frac{\pm 1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{ix\cdot\xi} e^{\mp i(\phi(\tau,\xi) - \phi(t,\xi))} \frac{i}{18|\xi|^{3}} \\ &\times \left(\mp i \left[\phi(\tau,\xi) - \phi(t,\xi)\right] - \phi(\tau,\xi)\phi(t,\xi) - 1\right) \chi\left(|\xi|\right) \widehat{g}(\tau,\xi) d\xi d\tau. \end{aligned}$$

#### References

- 1. A. Einstein, W. de Sitter, On the relation between the expansion and the mean density of the universe, in *Proc. Natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A*, vol. 18 (1932), pp. 213–214
- A. Galstian, T. Kinoshita, K. Yagdjian, A note on wave equation in Einstein & de Sitter spacetime. J. Math. Phys. 51, 052501 (2010)
- L. Nirenberg, Lectures on Linear Partial Differential Equations (American. Math. Soc., Providence, 1973)
- 4. H. Ohanian, R. Ruffini, in *Gravitation and Spacetime* (Norton, New York, 1994)
- 5. K. Taniguchi, Y. Tozaki, A hyperbolic equation with double characteristics which has a solution with branching singularities. Math. Jpn. **25**, 279–300 (1980)
- K. Yagdjian, A note on the fundamental solution for the Tricomi-type equation in the hyperbolic domain. J. Differ. Equ. 206, 227–252 (2004)

# Nonlinear Evolution Equations with Strong Dissipation and Proliferation

Akisato Kubo and Hiroki Hoshino

**Abstract** We investigate the global existence in time and asymptotic profile of the solution of some nonlinear evolution equations with strong dissipation and proliferation arising in mathematical biology. We apply our result to mathematical models of tumour angiogenesis and invasion with proliferation of tumour cells.

Keywords Nonlinear evolution equation · Mathematical biology

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35L53 · Secondary 35K15

### **1** Introduction

In this paper we consider the initial Neumann-boundary value problem of nonlinear evolution equations arising from chemotaxis models with logistic term;

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} = D\nabla^2 u_t + \nabla \cdot \left(\chi\left(u_t, e^{-u}\right)e^{-u}\nabla u\right) + \mu(1-u_t)u_t \\ \text{in } \boldsymbol{\Omega} \times (0, T) \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

$$(NE) \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} u \Big|_{\partial \boldsymbol{\Omega}} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \boldsymbol{\Omega} \times (0, T) \end{array} \right.$$
(1.2)

$$u(x, 0) = u_0(x), \qquad u_t(x, 0) = u_1(x) \text{ in } \Omega$$
 (1.3)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} = \partial_t, \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} = \partial_{x_i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
$$\nabla u = \operatorname{grad}_x u = (\partial_{x_1} u, \dots, \partial_{x_n} u) \tag{1.4}$$

A. Kubo (⊠) · H. Hoshino Fujita Health University, Toyoake, Aichi 470-1192, Japan e-mail: akikubo@fujita-hu.ac.jp

#### H. Hoshino e-mail: hhoshino@fujita-hu.ac.jp

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was supported in part by the Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) 16540176, 19540200, 22540208 and 25400148 from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_28

$$\nabla^2 u = \nabla \cdot \nabla u = \Delta u = \partial_{x_1}^2 u + \dots + \partial_{x_n}^2 u$$

where the coefficient of the non-linear term  $\chi(\cdot, \cdot)$  will be specified later in (A), D is a positive constant,  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\partial \Omega$  is a smooth boundary of  $\Omega$  and  $\nu$  is the outer unit normal vector. We frequently denote different positive constants on the same set of arguments, we use the same letter C.

Our purpose is to establish global in time existence of solutions to (*NE*). However we first consider a special case (*NE*)' where we put  $\mu = 0$  in (*NE*),

$$(NE)' \quad \begin{cases} u_{tt} = D\nabla^2 u_t + \nabla \cdot \left(\chi(u_t, e^{-u})e^{-u}\nabla u\right), \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial v}u\Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x), \qquad u_t(x, 0) = u_1(x). \end{cases}$$

We deal with it in Sect. 2 and after that, applying the result about (NE)', we will get the desired result for (NE) in Sect. 3.

In order to discuss the existence of the solution and its asymptotic behaviour of (NE)' we seek the solution in the form of u(x, t) = a + bt + v(x, t) for positive parameters *a* and *b*. Then (NE)' is rewritten by

$$(RP)' \quad \begin{cases} Q[v] = v_{tt} - D\nabla^2 v_t - \nabla \cdot \left(\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-a-bt-v}\nabla v\right) = 0, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial v}v\Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \\ v(x,0) = v_0(x), \quad v_t(x,0) = v_1(x), \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

where we donote  $\chi(v_t + b, e^{-a-bt-v})$  by  $\chi_{a,b}(v)$ . Levine and Sleeman [9] obtained explicit solutions of the form:  $u = \gamma t + v$  ( $\gamma > 0$ ) of a simplified equation of (1.5) for n = 1 (cf. [11]). In this line the papers [5–8] showed the existence of the solution in the same form as above of a special case of (*NE*)' for any spatial dimensions, which arises from mathematical biology and biomedicine (see [1, 10]).

Let  $B_{r+} = B_r \cap (R \times R_+)$  where  $B_r$  is a ball of radius r at 0 in  $R^2$ . We assume that for a constant r > 0 and  $(s_1, s_2) \in B_{r+}$  there exists a positive constant  $c_r$  such that for any integer  $m \ge \lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 3$ 

(A): 
$$\chi(s_1 + b, s_2) \in C^m(R \times R_+), \quad m \ge [n/2] + 3,$$
  
 $\chi(s_1 + b, s_2) \le c_r(b+1).$ 

*Remark 1.1* In the previous paper [4] additionally we need to assume that  $\chi(s_1 + b, s_2)$  is positive to obtain the global existence theorem in time of (NE)'. In this paper without the additional condition we can get the same result as [4]. For example, this assumption covers the case where  $\chi(s_1, s_2) = s_1^{p_1} s_2^{p_2}$ ,  $p_1$  is a positive integer and  $p_2$  is a positive constant. Even if  $p_1 < 0$ , it is admissible by taking *b* sufficiently large.

Now let us introduce function spaces used in this paper. First,  $H^{l}(\Omega)$  denotes the usual Sobolev space  $W^{l,2}(\Omega)$  of order l on  $\Omega$ . For functions h(x, t) and k(x, t)defined in  $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$ , we put

$$(h,k)(t) = \int_{\Omega} h(x,t)k(x,t)dx, \qquad \|h\|_{l}^{2}(t) = \sum_{|\beta| \le l} \left|\partial_{x}^{\beta}h(\cdot,t)\right|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}(t)$$

and sometimes we write  $||h||_0(t)$  by ||h||(t) for simplicity where  $\beta$  is a multi-index for  $\beta = (\beta_1, \dots, \beta_n)$ .

The eigenvalues of  $-\Delta$  with the homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions are denoted by  $\{\lambda_i \mid i = 0, 1, 2, ...\}$ , which are arranged as  $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \cdots \rightarrow +\infty$  and  $\varphi_i = \varphi_i(x)$  indicates the  $L^2$  normalized eigenfunction corresponding to  $\lambda_i$ . Then we put for h(x),  $k(x) \in H^1(\Omega)$ , if l = 2j, for a non-negative integer l,

$$(h,k)_l = (h,k) + (\Delta^j h, \Delta^j k), \quad |h|_l^2 = (h,h)_l$$

and if l = 2j + 1

$$(h,k)_l = (h,k) + \left( \nabla \cdot \Delta^j h, \nabla \cdot \Delta^j k \right), \quad |h|_l^2 = (h,h)_l$$

We set  $W^{l}(\Omega)$  as a closure of  $\{\varphi_{1}, \varphi_{2}, ..., \varphi_{n}, ...\}$  in the functional space  $H^{l}(\Omega)$ . Taking  $\lambda_{1} > 0$  into account, it is noticed that we have  $\int_{\Omega} h(x) = 0$  for  $h(x) \in W^{l}(\Omega)$ , which enables us to use Poincare's inequality. Since the trace operator  $\gamma$  is continuous from  $H^{1/2}(\Omega)$  to  $L^{2}(\partial \Omega)$ , it holds that  $\gamma(\nabla u) = 0$  for  $u \in W^{m}(\Omega)$  for  $m \geq [n/2] + 2$ . We know the equivalence of norms  $|\cdot|_{l}, ||\cdot||_{l}$  which will be used frequently.

#### 2 Existence and Asymptotic Behaviour of Solutions

We prepare the following lemmas to derive energy estimates of (RP)'. Let  $v \in \bigcap_{i=0}^{2} C^{i}([0,\infty); W^{m+1-i}(\Omega))$  and let  $(v_{t}, e^{-l-v}) \in B_{r+}$  for l = a + bt. Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2 are obtained in [5].

**Lemma 2.1** If u = u(x, t) satisfies the above regularity conditions, then it holds that for  $M \ge \lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1$ 

$$\|u\|_{M}^{2}(t) \leq 4t \|u_{t}\|_{L^{2}((0,\infty); H^{M}(\boldsymbol{\Omega}))}^{2} + 2\|u\|_{M}^{2}(0)$$

for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$ .

**Lemma 2.2** If u = u(x, t) satisfies the above regularity conditions with  $M \ge [n/2] + 1$ , then it holds that

(i)  $||e^{-u}||_M(t) \le C_1 \exp(C_1 \sqrt{t})$ 

(ii) for any constant 0 < b' < b

$$e^{-a-bt-u} < \|e^{-a-bt-u}\|_M(t) \le C_2 e^{-b't}$$

where  $C_2 \rightarrow 0$  as  $a \rightarrow \infty$ .

**Lemma 2.3** Assume that u = u(x, t) satisfies the above inequality conditions. For 0 < b' < b, it holds that for i = 1, 2, ..., n

$$\begin{split} \left\| e^{-b't} u_{x_i} \right\|^2(t) + \int_0^t e^{-2b'\tau} \|u_{x_i}\|^2(\tau) d\tau \\ &\leq C \bigg( \int_0^t e^{-2b'\tau} \|u_{x_i\tau}\|^2(\tau) d\tau + \|u_{x_i}\|^2(0) \bigg). \end{split}$$

*The sketch of proof* In the same way as Lemma 2.1 for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| e^{-b't} u_{x_{i}} \right\|^{2}(t) + 2b' \int_{0}^{t} e^{-2b'\tau} \|u_{x_{i}}\|^{2}(\tau) d\tau \\ &\leq C \bigg( \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-2b'\tau} \|u_{x_{i}\tau}\|^{2}(\tau) + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} e^{-2b'\tau} \|u_{x_{i}}\|^{2}(\tau) d\tau + \|u_{x_{i}}\|^{2}(0) \bigg). \end{split}$$

Taking  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small, we have the desired result.

**Lemma 2.4** (Basic estimate of (RP)') We have a basic energy estimate of (RP)'under the same assumption for v = v(x, t) as above and sufficiently large a.

$$\|v_t\|^2(t) + \int_0^t D \|\nabla v_t\|^2 d\tau \le C E[v](0),$$

where  $E[v] = ||v_t||^2 + ||\nabla v||^2$ .

The sketch of proof We consider  $(Q[v], v_t) = 0$  in order to obtain a basic estimate of (RP)'. Then we have

$$2\big(\partial_t^2 v - D\Delta v_t - \nabla \cdot \big(\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-a-bt-v}\nabla v, v_t\big)\big)$$

by the integration by parts

$$= \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \|v_t\|^2 + 2D \|\nabla v_t\|^2 + 2\left(\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-a-bt-v}\nabla v, \nabla v_t\right) = 0.$$
(2.1)

Since we have for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  by using Dionne [3] for the estimate of nonlinear terms and Lemma 2.2,

$$\int_0^t (\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-a-bt-v}\nabla v, \nabla v_t)d\tau$$
  
$$\leq C \bigg(\varepsilon^{-1}\int_0^t (e^{-2a-2b't}\nabla v, \nabla v)dt + \varepsilon \int_0^t \|\nabla v_{\tau}\|^2 d\tau \bigg),$$

we get by integrating the equality (2.1) over (0, t) and using the above estimate

$$\|v_t\|^2(t) + \int_0^t 2D \|\nabla v_t\|^2(\tau) d\tau$$
  

$$\leq CE[v](0) + C \bigg(\varepsilon^{-1} \int_0^t \big(e^{-2a-2b't} \nabla v, \nabla v\big) d\tau + \varepsilon \int_0^t \|\nabla v_\tau\|^2 d\tau \bigg). \quad (2.2)$$

Since the last term of the right hand side of (2.2) is negligible for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$ , we derive by using Lemma 2.3 for the second term of the right hand side of (2.2)

$$\|v_t\|^2(t) + \int_0^t 2D \|\nabla v_t\|^2(\tau) d\tau \le CE[v](0) + Ce^{-a} \int_0^t \|\nabla v_\tau\|^2 d\tau.$$
(2.3)

Taking *a* sufficiently large the last term of (2.3) can be negligible. Hence we have a basic energy estimate of (RP)'.

**Lemma 2.5** (Higher order estimate for (RP)') Under the same assumption for v = v(x, t) as above we have the result of higher order energy estimate (RP)' for sufficiently large a:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M+1} \left( \left\| \nabla^{j-1} v_t \right\|^2(t) + \int_0^t D \left\| \nabla^j v_t \right\|^2(\tau) d\tau \right) \le C E_M[v](0)$$
(2.4)

where we denote for any non-negative integer  $k \le M \le m$ ,  $E_k[v](t) = E[\nabla^k v]$ .

The sketch of proof Suppose that the estimate (2.4) holds for  $M = k - 1 \ge 0$ . Considering  $\nabla^k v$  instead of v in (2.1), in the same way as in Lemma 2.4 we obtain (2.4) for M = k. In fact, we used the following estimate for l = a + bt and a parameter  $\kappa > 0$ 

$$\left(\nabla^{k+1}\left(\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-l-v}\nabla v\right)-\chi_{a,b}(v)e^{-l-v}\nabla^{k+1}v,\nabla^{k}v_{t}\right)$$

by using the above assumption

$$\leq C\left(\kappa^{-1}\sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \left(e^{-a-b't}\nabla^{j}v_{t}, \nabla^{j}v_{t}\right) + \kappa|v_{t}|_{k}^{2} + E_{k-1}[v](0)\right)$$
(2.5)

where the first and second terms in (2.5) are negligible for sufficiently large *a* and small  $\kappa > 0$  respectively. Hence we obtain (2.4).

Now we state our result for (NE)'.

**Theorem 2.6** Assume that (A) holds and  $(v_0(x), v_1(x)) \in W^{m+1}(\Omega) \times W^m(\Omega)$ for  $v_0(x) = u_0(x) - a$  and  $v_1(x) = u_1(x) - b$ . For sufficiently large a and r, there is a solution  $u(x, t) = a + bt + v(x, t) \in \bigcap_{i=0}^{1} C^i([0, \infty); W^{m-i}(\Omega))$  to (NE)' such that for  $\overline{u}_1 = |\Omega|^{-1} \int_{\Omega} u_1(x) dx$ 

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} \left\| u_t(x,t) - \overline{u}_1 \right\|_{m-1} = 0.$$

*The sketch of proof* The proof is given by the same way as used in [5]. Actually we consider the following iteration scheme and derive the energy estimate of it by using Lemma 2.5,

$$(i+1) \quad \begin{cases} Q_i[v_{i+1}] = \partial_t^2 v_{i+1} - \partial_t \Delta v_{i+1} \\ -\nabla \cdot (e^{-a-bt} \chi(u_{it}, e^{-u_i})e^{-v_i} \nabla v_{i+1}) = 0, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial v} v_{i+1} \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \\ v_{i+1}(x, 0) = v_0(x), \quad v_{i+1t}(x, 0) = v_1(x), \end{cases}$$

where  $v_i = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_{ij}(t)\varphi_j(x)$ ,  $v_0(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h_j\varphi_j(x)$ ,  $v_1(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} h'_j\varphi_j(x)$ . The energy estimate (2.4) guarantees the uniform estimate of each (i + 1) for i = 1, 2, ... We determine  $f_{ij}(t)$  by the solution of the following system of ordinary equations with initial data. For j = 1, 2, ...

$$\begin{cases} \left(Q_i[v_{i+1}], \varphi_j\right) = 0, \\ f_{i+1j}(0) = h_{i+1}, \quad f_{i+1jt}(0) = h'_{i+1}. \end{cases}$$

It is not difficult to assure the local existence in time of  $f_{ij}(t)$  by the theory of ordinary differential equations. Therefore, deriving the energy estimates, the global existence in time of the solution  $\{u_i\}$  satisfying the regularity assumption in Sect. 2 and justification of the limiting process are assured by the standard method. The energy estimate enables us to get the solution by considering  $Q_i[v_{i+1}] - Q_{i-1}[v_i]$  and standard argument of convergence for  $v_{i+1} - v_i = w_i$ .

*Remark* 2.7 We can apply Theorem 2.6 to mathematical models of tumour angiogenesis by Anderson and Chaplain [1] and Othmer and Stevens [10] (see [4–8]).

#### 3 The Case of $\mu \neq 0$

Now let's consider the case of  $\mu \neq 0$  in (1.1). Putting  $u(x, t) = L_a(t) + v(x, t)$  we have in (1.1) for  $\mu \neq 0$ 

Nonlinear Evolution Equations with Strong Dissipation and Proliferation

$$v_{tt} = D\nabla^2 v_t + \nabla \cdot \left(\chi \left(l(t) + v_t, e^{-L_a(t) - v}\right) e^{-L_a(t) - v} \cdot \nabla v\right)$$
$$+ \mu v_t(t) \left(1 - 2l(t) - v_t\right)$$

where  $L_a(t) = \int_0^t l(\tau) d\tau + a$ , *a* is a positive parameter, l(t) satisfies 1 - 2l(0) < 0 and the logistic equation:  $l_t(t) = \mu l(t)(1 - l(t))$ ,  $l(0) = l_0 > 1/2$ , then (*NE*) is rewritten by

$$(RP) \begin{cases} P[v] = v_{tt} - D\nabla^2 v_t - \nabla \cdot (\chi (l(t) + v_t, e^{-L_a(t) - v}) e^{-L_a(t) - v} \cdot \nabla v) \\ -\mu v_t(t) (1 - 2l(t) - v_t) = 0, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial v} v \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \\ v(x, 0) = v_0(x), \quad v_t(x, 0) = v_1(x). \end{cases}$$

In the same way as used in Sect. 2, we obtain the following result of (NE).

**Theorem 3.1** Assume that (A) holds and  $(v_0(x), v_1(x)) \in W^{m+1}(\Omega) \times W^m(\Omega)$ for  $v_0(x) = u_0(x) - a$ ,  $v_1(x) = u_1(x) - l_0$  and  $l_0 > 1/2$ . For sufficiently large a and r, there is a solution  $u(x, t) = L_a(t) + v(x, t) \in \bigcap_{i=0}^{1} C^i([0, \infty); W^{m-i}(\Omega))$ to (NE) such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|u_t(x,t) - l(t)\|_{m-1} = 0.$$

*Remark 3.2* In [5–8] our solution is in the form of u(x, t) = bt + v(x, t) for sufficiently large b > 0, but in the previous paper [4] and Sect. 2 in this paper we can get the solution in more general form u(x, t) = a + bt + v(x, t) for any b > 0, which enables us to deal with (1.1) with proliferation term.

#### 4 Application to a Mathematical Model

The following is a mathematical model of tumour invasion by the Chaplain–Lolas [2].

$$\frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = d_n \frac{\partial^2 n}{\partial x^2} - \gamma \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left( n \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \right) + \mu_1 n (1 - n - f)$$
(4.1)

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} = -\eta m f + \mu_2 f (1 - n - f) \tag{4.2}$$

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = d_m \frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial x^2} + \alpha n - \beta m \tag{4.3}$$

where n := n(x, t) is the density of tumour cells, m := m(x, t) is degradation enzymes concentration and f := f(x, t) is the extra cellular matrix density and  $d_n$ ,  $\gamma$ ,

 $\mu_1$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\mu_2$ ,  $d_m$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are positive constants. In the below we consider only the case of  $\mu_2 = 0$  for our convenience. It is seen in (4.2) that f(x, t) is written by

$$f(x,t) = f_0(x) \cdot \exp\left(-\eta \int_0^t m ds\right). \tag{4.4}$$

Substituting f(x,t) by the right hand side of (4.4) and putting  $\Psi = \int_0^t n ds$  and  $\Phi = \int_0^t m ds$ , from (4.1) and (4.3) it follows that

$$\Psi_{tt} = d_n \partial_x^2 \Psi_t + \gamma \eta \partial_x \left( f_0(x) \Psi_t \Phi_x e^{-\eta \Phi} \right) - \gamma \partial_x \left( f_{0x}(x) \Psi_t e^{-\eta \Phi} \right) + \mu_1 \Psi_t \left( 1 - \Psi_t - f_0(x) e^{-\eta \Phi} \right)$$
(4.5)

and

$$\Phi_{tt} = d_m \partial_x^2 \Phi_t + \alpha \Psi_t - \beta \Phi_t, \qquad (4.6)$$

which are essentially regarded as the same type of equation as (1.1). From (2.4) the energy estimates of (4.5) and (4.6) follow and combining these estimates we obtain the desired estimate with respect to  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$ . Hence applying the same argument as used for Theorem 3.1 to the above mathematical model, we have existence and asymptotic behaviour of the solutions to our mathematical model.

*Remark 4.1* The full proofs of our results obtained in this paper will be published somewhere soon later.

Acknowledgement The authors thank the referee for fruitful suggestions, especially for suggesting the better terms and sentences.

#### References

- A.R.A. Anderson, M.A.J. Chaplain, Continuos and discrete mathematical models of tumourinduced angiogenesis. Bull. Math. Biol. 60, 857–899 (1998)
- M.A.J. Chaplain, G. Lolas, Mathematical modeling of cancer invasion of tissue: dynamic heterogeneity. Netw. Heterog. Media 1(3), 399–439 (2006)
- P. Dionne, Sur les problemes de Cauchy hyperboliques bien poses. J. Anal. Math. 10, 1–90 (1962)
- A. Kubo, Nonlinear evolution equations associated with mathematical models. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 2011, 881–890 (2011), supplement
- A. Kubo, T. Suzuki, Asymptotic behavior of the solution to a parabolic ODE system modeling tumour growth. Differ. Integral Equ. 17(7–8), 721–736 (2004)
- A. Kubo, T. Suzuki, Mathematical models of tumour angiogenesis. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 204, 48–55 (2007)
- A. Kubo, T. Suzuki, H. Hoshino, Asymptotic behavior of the solution to a parabolic ODE system. Math. Sci. Appl. 22, 121–135 (2005)
- A. Kubo, N. Saito, T. Suzuki, H. Hoshino, Mathematical models of tumour angiogenesis and simulations. theory of bio-mathematics and its application. RIMS Kokyuroku 1499, 135–146 (2006)

- 9. H.A. Levine, B.D. Sleeman, A system of reaction and diffusion equations arising in the theory of reinforced random walks. SIAM J. Appl. Math. **57**(3), 683–730 (1997)
- H.G. Othmer, A. Stevens, Aggregation, blowup, and collapse: the ABCs of taxis in reinforced random walks. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 57(4), 1044–1081 (1997)
- B.D. Sleeman, H.A. Levine, Partial differential equations of chemotaxis and angiogenesis. Math. Mech. Appl. Sci. 24, 405–426 (2001)

## A Note on Real Powers of Time Differentiation

#### **Rainer Picard**

**Abstract** A Hilbert space framework for fractional calculus is presented. The utility of the approach is exemplified by applications to abstract ordinary fractional differential equations with or without delay.

**Keywords** Fractional derivatives · Fractional integrals · Fractional calculus · Evolutionary equations · Causality

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 34K37 · Secondary 34A08 · 26A33

#### 1 Introduction

The idea of considering fractional derivatives goes back to the beginnings of calculus and was first raised and discussed in a correspondence between L'Hôpital and Leibniz in 1695. In 1823, Abel was the first to note the connection to a class of integral operators, an observation which dominated the ongoing development of this field, see [9] for a detailed history. This observation also allowed to consider arbitrary real orders of differentiation, so that speaking of fractional, i.e. rational, orders of differentiation actually turns out to be a misnomer. Nevertheless, labels such as "fractional derivatives" and "fractional calculus" are retained in recognition of the historical sources of this flourishing research field. Although there is a vast literature on the topic of fractional derivatives (see for example the monographs [3, 9] and the references therein), this article is largely self-contained, so that there is no much need to refer to classical statements on fractional derivatives to understand the results in this work.

To the best of the author's knowledge it has not been widely noted that  $\partial_0$  can be established as a normal operator, see [5], which then comes with its own standard function calculus via the spectral theorem for such operators, see e.g. [1]. Indeed,

R. Picard (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Institut für Analysis, Fachrichtung Mathematik, Technische Universität Dresden, Germany e-mail: rainer.picard@tu-dresden.de

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_29

it turns out that a unitary variant of the Fourier–Laplace transformation yields a spectral representation for  $\Im m \partial_0 = \frac{1}{2i}(\partial_0 - \partial_0^*)$  and  $\Re e \partial_0$  is just multiplication by a number. This simplifies matters considerably and since we are staying in a Hilbert space setting there is indeed no need to utilize more intricate results of fractional calculus in other spaces. This approach was already successfully used for a large class of evolutionary partial differential equation problems. Here we want to focus on fractional ordinary differential equations, which allows for far more general right-hand sides. The approach relies on an observation discovered in [2].

#### **2** Functional Analytic Framework

#### 2.1 Fractional Calculus and Operator-Valued Functions of Time Differentiation

As indicated in the introduction, we start by establishing time differentiation  $\partial_0$  as a normal operator. We consider the weighted *H*-valued  $L^2$ -type space  $H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , generated by completion of  $\mathring{C}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , the space of smooth *H*-valued functions with compact support, with respect to the inner product  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle_{\rho,0}$  given by the weighted integral

$$(\varphi, \psi) \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \varphi(t) | \psi(t) \rangle_H \exp(-2\rho t) dt,$$

where  $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$  is a parameter. The associated norm will be denoted by  $|\cdot|_{\rho,0}$ . The multiplication operator

$$\mathring{\mathcal{C}}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R},H) \subseteq H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R},H) \to \mathring{\mathcal{C}}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R},H) \subseteq H_{0,0}(\mathbb{R},H) = L^{2}(\mathbb{R},H),$$
$$\varphi \mapsto (t \mapsto \exp(-\rho t)\varphi(t)),$$

clearly has a unitary continuous extension, which we shall denote briefly by  $exp(-\rho m_0)$ . Its inverse (adjoint) is given by

$$H_{0,0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H),$$
$$\varphi \mapsto (t \mapsto \exp(\rho t)\varphi(t)).$$

By taking the closure of the operator

$$\mathring{C}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H) \subseteq H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$$
$$\phi \mapsto \phi',$$

the time-derivative  $\partial_0$  can be established as a normal operator on  $H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  with real part  $\rho$  and so with  $\frac{1}{i}(\partial_0 - \rho)$  as imaginary part. The domain of  $\partial_0$  can be characterized by functions belonging to  $H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , whose weak derivatives also lie in  $H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ . For  $\rho \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  we have the continuous invertibility of  $\partial_0$ . The inverse of the normal operator  $\partial_0$  is continuous and can be described by

$$\left(\partial_0^{-1}f\right)(t) = \begin{cases} \int_{-\infty}^t f(s)ds & \text{if } \rho > 0, \\ & \\ -\int_t^{\infty} f(s)ds & \text{if } \rho < 0 \end{cases}$$

for every  $f \in H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  and almost every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  as a Bochner integral. Henceforth we shall focus on the case  $\rho \in ]0, \infty[$ , which is associated with (forward) causality. The Fourier–Laplace transform  $\mathcal{L}_{\rho} := \mathcal{F} \exp(-\rho m_0) : H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , given as a composition of the (temporal) Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}$  and the unitary weight operator  $\exp(-\rho m_0)$ , is a spectral representation associated with  $\partial_0$ . It is

$$\partial_0 = \mathcal{L}^*_{\rho}(\mathrm{i}m_0 + \rho)\mathcal{L}_{\rho},$$

where  $m_0$  denotes the multiplication-by-argument operator given as the closure of

$$\mathring{C}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}, H) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$$
  
 $\varphi \mapsto m_0 \varphi$ 

with

$$(m_0\varphi)(\lambda) := \lambda\varphi(\lambda)$$
 in *H*

for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . This observation allows us to consistently define an operator function calculus associated with  $\partial_0$  in a standard way, [1]. Clearly, we can even extend this calculus to operator-valued functions by letting

$$M(\partial_0^{-1}) := \mathcal{L}_{\rho}^* M\left(\frac{1}{im_0 + \rho}\right) \mathcal{L}_{\rho}.$$

Here the linear operator  $M(\frac{1}{im_0+\rho}): L^2(\mathbb{R}, H) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$  is determined uniquely via

$$\left(M\left(\frac{1}{im_0+\rho}\right)\varphi\right)(\lambda) := M\left(\frac{1}{i\lambda+\rho}\right)\varphi(\lambda) \quad \text{in } H$$

for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathring{C}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  by an operator-valued function M. For a material law the operator-valued function M needs to be bounded and an analytic function  $z \mapsto M(z)$  in an open ball  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(r, r)$  with some positive radius r centered at r. This is not an artificial assumption, rather a necessary constraint enforced by the requirement of causality, see [7] or [10, Theorem 9.1].

In terms of the associated operator-valued function calculus we also know what

$$\partial_0^{-\alpha}, \quad \alpha \in [0, 1[,$$

means.<sup>1</sup> With this we may define for  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\partial_0^{\gamma} := \partial_0^{\lceil \gamma \rceil} \partial_0^{\gamma - \lceil \gamma \rceil} \tag{2.1}$$

as a natural generalization of differentiation to arbitrary real orders. Here  $\lceil \alpha \rceil$  denotes the smallest integer greater or equal to  $\alpha$ . The fact that  $(\partial_0^{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \mathbb{R}}$  is a family of commuting operators appears to be useful in applications, see e.g. [4] and the quoted literature. In contrast, the variant<sup>2</sup>

$${}_{a}D_{t}^{\gamma} := \partial_{0}^{\gamma}\chi_{]a,\infty[}(m_{0}) = \partial_{0}^{\lceil\gamma\rceil} \big(\partial_{0}^{\gamma-\lceil\gamma\rceil}\chi_{]a,\infty[}(m_{0})\big)$$

with an appropriate choice of domain, known as Riemann–Liouville fractional derivative,  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  a parameter, [3, 9], lacks this property. This is also true for the frequently used alternative fractional derivative, the Caputo fractional derivative, [3, 9]:

$${}_{a}^{C}D_{t}^{\gamma} := \partial_{0}^{\gamma-\lceil\gamma\rceil}\chi_{]a,\infty[}(m_{0})\partial_{0}^{\lceil\gamma\rceil}$$

with a suitable domain. With these fractional derivatives being mere variants of limited usefulness in our context, we shall utilize only the above spectral definition (2.1) for our fractional differentiation/integration.

Let us inspect more closely some properties of  $\partial_0^{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha \in ]0, 1[$ . We recall our first lemma from [6, 8].

**Lemma 2.1** *For*  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$  *we have* 

$$\mathfrak{Re}\,\partial_0^{\alpha} \ge \rho^{\alpha} \tag{2.2}$$

<sup>1</sup>It should be noted that  $\partial_0^{-\alpha}$  is largely independent of the particular choice of  $\rho \in ]0, \infty[$ . Indeed, since

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho}\chi_{]0,\infty[}(m_0)m_0^{\alpha-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{(im+\rho)^{\alpha}}$$

we have for  $\varphi \in \mathring{C}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ 

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\chi_{]0,\infty[}(m_0)m_0^{\alpha-1}*\varphi = \partial_0^{-\alpha}\varphi$$

and

$$\left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\chi_{[0,\infty[}(m_0)m_0^{\alpha-1}*\varphi\right)(t)=\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{-\infty}^t\frac{1}{(t-s)^{1-\alpha}}\varphi(s)ds.$$

From this convolution integral representation we can also read off that  $\partial_0^{-\alpha}$  is causal. <sup>2</sup>In the limit  $a \to -\infty$  the spectral fractional derivative is formally recovered:

$$\partial_0^{\gamma} = -\infty D_t^{\gamma} = -\infty C_t^{\gamma} D_t^{\gamma}.$$

There is, however, a domain issue here. Whereas  $\partial_0^{\gamma}$  is a well-defined closed operator, the operators  $_{-\infty}D_t^{\gamma}$ ,  $_{-\infty}^{C}D_t^{\gamma}$  are usually considered in terms of their integral representation leading to slightly different constraints and different choices of underlying spaces.

and for  $\alpha \in [0, \infty[$ 

$$\left\|\partial_0^{-\alpha}\right\|_{H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R},H)} \le \rho^{-\alpha}.$$
(2.3)

#### 2.2 Sobolev-Chains Associated with $\partial_0$

For  $\rho > 0$  the operator  $\partial_0 : D(\partial_0) \subseteq H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  is a densely defined, normal operator. Moreover, since  $\Re e \partial_0 = \rho$ , we have  $0 \in \rho(\partial_0)$ . Thus, we can define the Sobolev-chain associated with the time-derivative, which is the family of Hilbert spaces  $(H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}, H))_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}}$ , where  $H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  is the completion of  $D(\partial_0^{\alpha})$  with respect to the norm  $|\cdot|_{\rho,\alpha,0}$  induced by the inner product  $\langle u | v \rangle_{\rho,\alpha,0} = \langle \partial_0^{\alpha} u | \partial_0^{\alpha} v \rangle_{\rho,0}, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that for  $\alpha \in [0, \infty[$  the domain  $D(\partial_0^{\alpha})$  is already complete  $D(\partial_0^{\alpha}) = H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , so that the completion process is superfluous. For  $\alpha \in ] -\infty$ , 0[, however, we obtain in this fashion larger spaces extending  $D(\partial_0^{\alpha})$  (extrapolation spaces). For example the Dirac-distribution  $\delta$  which satisfies  $\partial_0^{-1}\delta = \chi_{[0,\infty[} \in H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)]$  lies in  $H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  for  $\alpha \in ] -\infty, -1/2[$ .

The following observations are completely analogous to the integer index case and will therefore be recorded without proof. It is for  $\alpha \leq \beta$ 

$$H_{\rho,\beta}(\mathbb{R},H) \hookrightarrow H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R},H)$$

in the sense of continuous and dense embedding. Indeed, we have in this case with Lemma 2.1

$$|u|_{\rho,\alpha,0} \le \frac{1}{\rho^{\beta-\alpha}} |u|_{\rho,\beta,0} \tag{2.4}$$

for all  $u \in H_{\rho,\beta}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ . If we consider  $\partial_0^{\gamma}$  as a mapping from  $H_{\rho,\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  to  $H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ , i.e. we consider

$$H_{\rho,\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R},H) \to H_{\rho,\alpha}(\mathbb{R},H),$$
$$u \mapsto \partial_0^{\gamma} u,$$

then this mapping is an isometry with dense range extending canonically to a unitary mapping for which we shall retain the notation  $\partial_0^{\gamma}$ . With these observations we have established the basis for a—somewhat surprisingly powerful—solution theory for ordinary differential equations (with or without delay).

#### **3** Abstract Fractional Differential Equations

$$\partial_0^{\alpha} u = f(u) \tag{3.1}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here  $\chi_M$  denotes the characteristic function or indicator function of the set *M*.

Without loss of generality we shall assume that  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . If  $\alpha > 1$  we utilize a variant of the re-formulation of higher order differential equations and consider instead

$$\partial_0^{\alpha/N} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \partial_0^{\alpha/N} u \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \partial_0^{(N-1)\alpha/N} u \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \ddots & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \partial_0^{\alpha/N} u \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \partial_0^{(N-1)\alpha/N} u \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ f(u) \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $N := \lfloor \alpha \rfloor$ . Note that at this point of our general discussion we do not exclude that f(u) is actually of the form  $F(u, \partial_0^{\alpha/N} u, \dots, \partial_0^{(N-1)\alpha/N} u)$ . For equations of the form (3.1) with  $\alpha \in ]0, 1]$  we have the following Picard–Lindelöf type result.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\alpha, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$  and let

$$f: H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$$

be Lipschitz continuous with best Lipschitz constant<sup>4</sup>  $|f|_{\rho,\text{Lip}} < 1$  for all sufficiently large  $\rho \in ]0, \infty[$ . Then (3.1) has a unique solution  $u \in H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ .

*Proof* The result follows the familiar line of reasoning, observing that combining f with the unitary mapping  $\partial_0^{-\alpha} : H_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R},H) \to H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R},H)$  we get a contraction

$$\partial_0^{-\alpha} f : H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H).$$

Indeed,

$$\left|\partial_0^{-\alpha} f(u) - \partial_0^{-\alpha} f(v)\right|_{\rho,\gamma,0} = \left|f(u) - f(v)\right|_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma,0} \le |f|_{\rho,\mathrm{Lip}} |u - v|_{\rho,\gamma,0}$$

for all  $u, v \in H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ . As long as  $\rho \in ]0, \infty[$  is sufficiently large we have the desired contraction property due to the assumption that  $\liminf_{\rho \to \infty} |f|_{\rho, \text{Lip}} < 1$ . The uniquely determined fixed point  $u \in H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  of the contraction  $\partial_0^{-\alpha} f$  satisfies

$$u = \partial_0^{-\alpha} f(u) \tag{3.2}$$

and so, by applying the (inverse)  $\partial_0^{\alpha}$  as a unitary mapping from  $H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  onto  $H_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  we regain

$$\partial_0^\alpha u = f(u),$$

<sup>4</sup>That is

$$|f|_{\rho,\mathrm{Lip}} := \inf \{ L \in ]0, \infty[ \left| \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma,0} \le L|u-v|_{\rho,\gamma,0} \right.$$
  
for all  $u, v \in H_{\rho,\gamma}(\mathbb{R},H) \}.$ 

which is now an equality holding in  $H_{\rho,-\alpha+\gamma}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ . Since (3.1) and (3.2) are equivalent, uniqueness of this solution is also clear.

#### 3.1 Two Simple Application Cases

For illustration purposes, we want to apply the abstract result of Theorem 3.1 to two particular cases.

So, let first  $(\beta_s)_{s=0,...,m} \in [0, 1]^{m+1}$  be a strictly monotone decreasing family of numbers with  $\alpha_0 > \beta_0$  and consider an equation of the form

$$\partial_0^{\alpha_0} u = \sum_{s=0}^m \partial_0^{\beta_s} F_s \circ u,$$

where  $F_s : \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$  are Lipschitz continuous functions and  $u(t) \in H := L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^N)$  for almost every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . As a result  $u \mapsto F_s \circ u$  generates a Lipschitz continuous mapping (of Nemicky type) in  $H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H), \rho \in ]0, \infty[$ , with a uniform Lipschitz constant  $L_s$ . This in turn yields that

$$f(u) := \sum_{s=0}^{m} \partial_0^{\beta_s} F_s(u)$$

induces a Lipschitz continuous mapping  $f: H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,-\beta_0}(\mathbb{R}, H), \epsilon, \rho \in ]0, \infty[$ . Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|_{\rho, -\alpha_0} \\ &\leq \rho^{\beta_0 - \alpha_0} \left| f(u) - f(v) \right|_{\rho, -\beta_0} \\ &\leq \rho^{\beta_0 - \alpha_0} \sum_{s=0}^m \rho^{\beta_s - \beta_0} \left| F_s(u) - F_s(v) \right|_{\rho, 0}, \\ &\leq \rho^{\beta_0 - \alpha_0} \sqrt{(m+1) \sum_{s=0}^m \rho^{2(\beta_s - \beta_0)} L_s^2} |u - v|_{\rho, 0}. \end{split}$$

We have a case of Theorem 3.1 with  $\gamma = 0$ .

As our second example we consider a class of neutral delay differential equations of the form

$$\partial_0^{\alpha_0} u = F\left(\left(\partial_0^{\alpha_k} u\right)_{k=1,\dots,n}, \left(\tau_{-h_k} \partial_0^{\alpha_k} u\right)_{k=0,\dots,n}\right),$$

where now  $(\alpha_k)_{k=0,...,n} \in [0, 1]^{n+1}$  is a strictly monotone decreasing family of numbers and  $(h_k)_{k=0,...,n} \in [0, \infty[^{n+1} \text{ and } F : \mathbb{C}^{N \times n} \times \mathbb{C}^{N \times (n+1)} \to \mathbb{C}^N$  is Lipschitz

continuous with Lipschitz constant  $L \in ]0, \infty[$  in the sense that for the canonical matrix norms

$$|F(U_0, U_1) - F(V_0, V_1)| \le L\sqrt{|U_0 - V_0|^2 + |U_1 - V_1|^2}$$

for all  $U_0, V_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times n}$  and  $U_1, V_1 \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times (n+1)}$ . Observing that

$$\begin{split} \big| \big( \partial_0^{\alpha_k} (u - v) \big)_{k=1,\dots,n} \big|_{\rho,0}^2 + \big| \big( \tau_{-h_k} \partial_0^{\alpha_k} (u - v) \big)_{k=0,\dots,n} \big|_{\rho,0}^2 \\ & \leq \big( \rho^{2(\alpha_1 - \alpha_0)} n + (n+1) \max \big\{ \exp(-2h_k \rho) \ \big| \ k = 0,\dots,n \big\} \big) |u - v|_{\rho,\alpha_0}^2 \end{split}$$

for all  $u, v \in H_{\rho,\alpha_0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$  and  $\rho \in ]0, \infty[$  sufficiently large, we obtain that

$$f(u) := F\left(\left(\partial_0^{\alpha_k} u\right)_{k=1,\dots,n}, \left(\tau_{-h_k} \partial_0^{\alpha_k} u\right)_{k=0,\dots,n}\right)$$

yields a Lipschitz continuous  $f : H_{\rho,\alpha_0}(\mathbb{R}, H) \to H_{\rho,0}(\mathbb{R}, H)$ . Indeed, with  $U_0 := (\partial_0^{\alpha_k} u)_{k=1,\dots,n}, U_1 := (\tau_{-h_k} \partial_0^{\alpha_k} u)_{k=0,\dots,n}, V_0 := (\partial_0^{\alpha_k} v)_{k=1,\dots,n}$  and  $V_1 := (\tau_{-h_k} \partial_0^{\alpha_k} v)_{k=0,\dots,n}$  we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |f(u) - f(v)|_{\rho,0} \\ &= |F(U_0, U_1) - F(V_0, V_1)|_{\rho,0} \\ &\leq L\sqrt{\left(\rho^{2(\alpha_1 - \alpha_0)}n + (n+1)\max\{\exp(-2h_k\rho) \mid k = 0, \dots, n\}\right)} |u - v|_{\rho,\alpha_0}. \end{aligned}$$

So, also in this situation we have an instance of Theorem 3.1 choosing  $\gamma = \alpha_0$ . More general examples can be tailored in analogy of examples treated in [2].

#### References

- N. Dunford, J.T. Schwartz, *Linear Operators. Part II: Spectral Theory, Self Adjoint Operators in Hilbert Space* (Wiley Classics Library, New York, 1988). Repr. of the orig., publ. 1963 by John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Wiley/Interscience, New York
- A. Kalauch, R. Picard, S. Siegmund, S. Trostorff, M. Waurick, A Hilbert Space Perspective on Ordinary Differential Equations with Memory Term. Technical report, TU Dresden (2011), to appear in J. Dyn. Diff. Equ. arXiv:1204.2924v1 (2014)
- K.S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations (Wiley, New York, 1993), xiii, 366 p.
- B. Nolte, S. Kempfle, I. Schäfer, Does a real material behave fractionally? Applications of fractional differential operators to the damped structure borne sound in viscoelastic solids. J. Comput. Acoust. 11(03), 451–489 (2003)
- 5. R.H. Picard, *Hilbert Space Approach to Some Classical Transforms*. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series (Longman, Harlow, 1989)
- 6. R. Picard, On Evolutionary Equations with Fractional Material Laws. To appear in PAMM 2013
- 7. R. Picard, D.F. McGhee, *Partial Differential Equations: a Unified Hilbert Space Approach*. De Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics, vol. 55 (de Gruyter, Berlin, 2011), 518 p.

- R. Picard, S. Trostorff, M. Waurick, On evolutionary equations with material laws containing fractional integrals. Technical Report MATH-AN-05-2013, TU Dresden (2013). Submitted elsewhere. arXiv:1304.7620
- I. Podlubny, Fractional differential equations: an introduction to fractional derivatives, fractional differential equations, to methods of their solution and some of their applications, in *Mathematics in Science and Engineering*, vol. 198 (Academic Press, San Diego, 1999). 340 p.
- 10. E.G.F. Thomas, Vector-valued integration with applications to the operator-valued  $H^{\infty}$  space. IMA J. Math. Control Inf. **14**(2), 109–136 (1997)

## A Stationary Approach to the Scattering on Noncompact Star Graphs Containing Finite Rays

Kiyoshi Mochizuki and Igor Trooshin

**Abstract** In this paper we consider Schrödinger operators on noncompact starshaped graphs including some finite rays. We show that our spectral representation formula provides the time dependent formulation of the scattering theory. The scattering operator S is constructed in the configuration space, and then is related to the scattering matrix  $S(\lambda)$  in the momentum space. Corresponding inverse scattering problem is investigated.

Keywords Star graph · Schrödinger operator · Scattering

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 34L25 · 81Q35

#### **1** Introduction

In this paper we consider Schrödinger operators on non-compact star-shaped graphs including some finite rays. The origin of each ray is identified with the single vertex of the graph. The potential is real valued and satisfies suitable decay conditions on each infinite ray. To guarantee the selfadjointness of the operator we require the Dirichlet condition at each end point of the finite ray and the natural Kirchhoff conditions at the origin.

There are many works which generalize the classical results [1-3] on the half line or the whole line. Among them in [5] is treated the star graph which consists

K. Mochizuki (🖂)

K. Mochizuki Emeritus, Tokyo Metropolitan University, Tokyo, Japan

I. Trooshin

e-mail: trushin@m.tohoku.ac.jp

Department of Mathematics, Chuo University, Kasuga, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 112-8551, Japan e-mail: mochizuk@math.chuo-u.ac.jp

Institute of International Education, Tohoku University, Kawauchi, Aoba, Sendai, Miyagi 980-8576, Japan

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_30

Fig. 1 Star graph

of a finite number of half lines. These results are generalized in [10] to the starshaped graph which contains some finite rays. Note that we need precise low energy estimates of resolvent kernel in this case.

In this paper we present that our spectral representation formula provides the time dependent formulation of the scattering theory. The scattering operator *S* is constructed in the configuration space, and then is related to the scattering matrix  $S(\lambda)$  in the momentum space. Corresponding inverse scattering problem is investigated.

 $S(\lambda)$  is originally defined based on the generalized eigenfunctions. So, it is independent of the time dependent theory. Note that the main concern of [1, 4–7, 11] are the stationary theory for inverse scattering problems, and there are no descriptions of the time dependent theory there. Importance of the time dependent treatment in the scattering theory is claimed by Faddeev [2, 3]. Faddeev's approach is simply and clearly described in [12].

#### 2 Schrödinger Operators on a Star-Shaped Graph

Let  $\Gamma = \gamma_1 \times \cdots \times \gamma_{p_1} \times \gamma_{p_1+1} \cdots \times \gamma_p$  be a star-shaped graph which consists of  $p_1$  semi-infinite rays  $\gamma_j = \mathbf{R}_+ = \{x_j \in (0, \infty)\}$   $(j = 1, \dots, p_1)$  and  $p - p_1$  finite rays  $\gamma_j = \{x_j \in (0, \pi)\}$   $(j = p_1 + 1, \dots, p)$ , with the origin of each ray identified with the single vertex of the graph (Fig. 1).

For each function u(x) on  $x \in \Gamma$ , its restriction to the ray  $e_j$  is denoted by  $u_j(x_j) = u(x)|_{e_j}$ . We identify  $u(x) = (u_j(x_j))_{j=1}^p$ , and consider on  $\Gamma$  the Schrödinger operator

$$Lu = -\frac{d^2u}{dx^2} + q(x)u = \left(-\frac{d^2u_j}{dx_j^2} + q_j(x_j)u_j\right)_{j=1}^p, \quad x_j \in \gamma_j,$$
(2.1)

defined for functions *u* satisfying the natural Kirchhoff boundary conditions on the vertex:

$$u_1(0) = u_2(0) = \dots = u_p(0),$$
 (2.2)

$$u'_{1}(0) + u'_{2}(0) + \dots + u'_{p}(0) = 0,$$
 (2.3)


where  $u'_j = du_j/dx_j$ . These represent the continuity and conservation of flux at the origin. As for functions  $u_j(x_j)$ ,  $j \ge p_1 + 1$ , we further require the Dirichlet boundary conditions on the end point  $x_j = \pi$ :

$$u_{p_1+1}(\pi) = u_{p_1+2}(\pi) = \dots = u_p(\pi) = 0.$$
 (2.4)

Each potential  $q_j(x)$  (j = 1, ..., p) is assumed to be real, continuous on  $\gamma_j$  (hereafter we simply write x for each  $x_j$  since there are no possibility of confusion). Moreover, we require for the first  $p_1$  components

$$\int_{\gamma_j} (1+x) |q_j(x)| dx < \infty \quad (j = 1, \dots, p_1).$$
(2.5)

Let  $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\Gamma)$  be the Hilbert space with norm

$$\|f\|_{\widetilde{\Gamma}} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{p} \|f_{j}\|_{\gamma_{j}}^{2}\right)^{1/2}, \qquad \|f_{j}\|_{\gamma_{j}}^{2} = \int_{\gamma_{j}} |f_{j}(x)|^{2} dx.$$

Under the above conditions on  $q_i(x)$  the operator

$$Lu = \left(-u_j'' + q_j(x)u_j\right)_{j=1}^p$$

restricted to the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(L) = \left\{ u \in \prod_{j=1}^{p} H^2_{\text{loc}}(\overline{\gamma_j}) \text{ satisfying (2.2)-(2.4), } \left( -u_j'' + q_j(x)u \right)_{j=1}^{p} \in \mathcal{H} \right\}$$

forms a lower semi-bounded selfadjoint operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Moreover, we see that the essential spectrum of L fills the nonnegative half line  $[0, \infty)$ .

#### **3** Expression of the Resolvent Kernel

For more study of spectral and scattering problems of L, we shall prepare precise expressions of the resolvent kernel near the spectrum of L. For this aim we consider on  $\Gamma$  the generalized eigenvalue problem

$$-u_{j}'' + \{q_{j}(x) - \lambda^{2}\}u_{j} = 0, \quad x \in \gamma_{j}, \ j = 1, \dots, p,$$
(3.1)

with the Kirchhoff conditions (2.2), (2.3).

Here  $\lambda$  is a complex parameter in  $\overline{\mathbf{C}_+} = \mathbf{C}_+ \cup \mathbf{R}$ .

We put  $\mathbf{P} = \{1, ..., p\}, \mathbf{P}_1 = \{1, ..., p_1\} \text{ and } \mathbf{P}_2 = \{p_1 + 1, ..., p\}.$ 

Let  $\omega_j(x, \lambda)$ ,  $j \in \mathbf{P}$ , be the regular solution  $\omega(x_j, \lambda)$  on  $\gamma_j$ , and a function  $e_j(x, \lambda)$ ,  $j \in \mathbf{P}_1$  be the Jost solution  $e(x_j, \lambda)$  on  $\gamma_j$ . Let  $e_j(x, \lambda)$ ,  $j \in \mathbf{P}_2$ , be the

regular solution of (3.1) satisfying the initial condition  $e_j(\pi, \lambda) = 0$ ,  $e'_j(\pi, \lambda) = 1$  at  $x = \pi$ . Each Jost solution  $e_j(x, \lambda)$  ( $j \in \mathbf{P}_1$ ) of (3.1) is represented in the form

$$e_j(x,\lambda) = e^{i\lambda x} + \int_x^\infty K_j(x,y)e^{i\lambda y}dy$$
(3.2)

where the kernel  $K_j(x, y)$  is a real function of  $0 \le x \le y < \infty$  satisfying the following conditions:

$$K_j(x,x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_x^\infty q_j(y) dy, \quad x > 0.$$
(3.3)

The function  $e_j(0, \lambda)$   $(j \in \mathbf{P}_2)$  has a countable number of simple zeros, a finite number of which is on  $i\mathbf{R}_+$ , and the remainders are on the real line **R**.

Let  $K_e$  and  $K_G$  be the sets defined respectively by

$$K_e = \left\{ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbf{C}_+}; \prod_{j=1}^p e_j(0,\lambda) = 0 \right\}, \qquad K_G = \left\{ \lambda \in \overline{\mathbf{C}_+}; \ G(\lambda) = 0 \right\},$$

where  $G(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{e'_{j}(0,\lambda)}{e_{j}(0,\lambda)}$ .

For each  $\lambda \in \overline{\mathbb{C}_+} \setminus \{K_e \cup K_G\}$  the problem (3.1), (2.2), (2.3) has linearly independent *p* solutions  $\varphi_k(x, \lambda) = (\varphi_{kj}(x, \lambda))_{j=1}^p$  (k = 1, ..., p):

$$\varphi_{kk}(x,\lambda) = \frac{2i\lambda}{e_k(0,\lambda)} \left\{ \omega_k(x,\lambda) - \frac{e_k(x,\lambda)}{e_k(0,\lambda)G(\lambda)} \right\},$$
  

$$\varphi_{kj}(x,\lambda) = \frac{2i\lambda e_j(x,\lambda)}{e_k(0,\lambda)e_j(0,\lambda)G(\lambda)} \quad (j \neq k)$$
(3.4)

**Theorem 3.1** For each  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_+ \setminus \{K_G \cup K_e\}$ , the square  $\lambda^2$  is in the resolvent set of L, and the resolvent  $R(\lambda^2) = (L - \lambda^2)^{-1}$  forms an integral operator with kernel  $R(x, y; \lambda) = (R_{kj}(x, y; \lambda))_{k, j=1}^p$  defined by

$$R_{kk}(x, y; \lambda) = \begin{cases} \frac{e_k(x, \lambda)\varphi_{kk}(y, \lambda)}{-2i\lambda}, & 0 \le y \le x\\ \frac{\varphi_{kk}(x, \lambda)e_k(y, \lambda)}{-2i\lambda}, & 0 \le x \le y, \end{cases}$$
(3.5)  
$$R_{kj}(x, y; \lambda) = \frac{e_k(x, \lambda)\varphi_{kj}(y, \lambda)}{-2i\lambda} \quad (j \ne k).$$

To classify the singular points of the resolvent, we divide  $K_e = K_e(I) \cup K_e(II) \cup K_e(II)$ , where

 $K_e(\mathbf{I}) = \{\lambda; e_j(0, \lambda) = 0 \text{ for at least two } j\text{'s, among which } \sharp\{j \in \mathbf{P}_2\} \le 1\},\$ 

$$K_e(\text{II}) = \{\lambda; e_j(0, \lambda) = 0 \text{ for at least two } j\text{'s, among which } \sharp\{j \in \mathbf{P}_2\} \ge 2\},\$$
$$K_e(\text{III}) = \{\lambda; \exists_1 j \in \mathbf{P} \text{ verifying } e_j(0, \lambda) = 0\}.$$

For  $\mu \in K_e$  we put  $\mathbf{P}^0(\mu) = \{ j \in \mathbf{P}; e_j(0, \mu) = 0 \}.$ 

#### Lemma 3.2

- (i)  $[K_G \cup K_e] \cap \mathbf{C}_+$  is a finite set on upper half-imaginary axis  $i\mathbf{R}_+$ .
- (ii)  $[K_G \cup K_e(\mathbf{I})] \cap \mathbf{R} \subset \{0\}.$
- (iii)  $K_e(II) \cap \mathbf{R}$  is at most a countable set which is symmetric with respect to the origin and has no accumulation points.
- (iv)  $K_e(\text{III})$  has removable singularities of  $R(x, y, \lambda)$ .

In the following we put

$$\mathcal{K}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} K_G \cup K_e(\mathbf{I}) \cup K_e(\mathbf{II}) \end{bmatrix} \cap i\mathbf{R}_+, \qquad \mathcal{K}_2 = K_e(\mathbf{II}) \cap \overline{\mathbf{R}_+},$$
$$\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_1 \cup \mathcal{K}_2.$$

#### Theorem 3.3

- (i) The eigenvalues of L forms the set  $\{\mu^2 : \mu \in \mathcal{K}\}$ .
- (ii) The negative eigenvalues μ<sup>2</sup>, μ ∈ K<sub>1</sub>, are finite, and the dimension of the corresponding eigenspaces are 1 if μ ∈ K<sub>G</sub> and are #P<sup>0</sup>(μ) − 1 if μ ∈ K<sub>e</sub>(I) ∪ K<sub>e</sub>(II).
- (iii) Each μ<sup>2</sup>, μ ∈ K<sub>2</sub>, are eigenvalues contained in the essential spectrum of L. The dimension of the corresponding eigenvalues are #P<sup>0</sup>(μ) − 1 if μ ≠ 0 and are #P<sup>0</sup>(μ) ∩ P<sub>2</sub> − 1 if μ = 0. The support of each eigenfunctions does not exceed the finite rays Γ<sub>2</sub> = γ<sub>p1+1</sub> × · · · × γ<sub>p</sub>.
- (iv) If  $0 \in K_e(I) \cup K_G$ , then L has a resonance at this point: Namely, the equation -u'' + q(x)u = 0 has a non-trivial bounded solution satisfying the Kirchhoff conditions (2.2), (2.3), and the Dirichlet condition (2.4) also. Its multiplicity is  $\sharp \mathbf{P}^0(0) 1$  if  $0 \in K_e(I)$ , and is 1 if  $0 \in K_G$ .

Later on we single out the following negative eigenvalues  $-\lambda_n^2$ ; n = 1, ..., N: { $\mu = i\lambda_n$ ; n = 1, ..., N} = [ $K_G \cup K_e(I) \cup K_e(II_1)$ ]\{0}, where  $K_e(II_1) = {\mu \in K_e(II)}; \mathbf{P}^0(\mu) \cap \mathbf{P}_1 \neq \phi$ }. Such eigenvalues possess eigenfunctions with non-compact support.

#### 4 Spectral Representations of L

We put

$$\Phi_{1}(x,\lambda) = (\varphi_{kj}(x,\lambda)_{k=1,...,p_{1}}^{j=1,...,p_{1}}, 
\Phi_{2}(x,\lambda) = (\varphi_{kj}(x,\lambda))_{k=1,...,p_{1}}^{j=p_{1}+1,...,p_{1}},$$
(4.1)

$$\Psi(x,\lambda) = \left(\Phi_1(x,\lambda) \mid \Phi_2(x,\lambda)\right) = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1(x,\lambda) \\ \cdots \\ \varphi_{p_1}(x,\lambda) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.2)

**Lemma 4.1**  $\mathcal{K}_2$  is of removable singularities of  $\Psi(x, \lambda)$  ( $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$ ), and it is continuously extended to  $\mathbf{R} \setminus \{0\}$ .

*Remark 4.2* The continuity at  $\lambda = 0$  of  $\Psi(x, \lambda)$  is not guaranteed when  $0 \in K_G$ , but we can show its integrability near  $\lambda = 0$ .

The following is a key proposition to obtain the spectral representations.

**Proposition 4.3** *For*  $\lambda \in \mathbf{R} \setminus [\mathcal{K}_2 \cup \{0\}]$  *we have* 

$$R(x, y; \lambda) - R(x, y; -\lambda) = \frac{1}{-2i\lambda} {}^t \overline{\Psi(x, \lambda)} \Psi(y, \lambda).$$
(4.3)

Thus,  $2\lambda \{R(x, y, \lambda) - R(x, y; -\lambda)\}$  is continuous in  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , and is integrable near  $\lambda = 0$ .

Note that each component of the above identity is given by

$$R_{kj}(x, y, \lambda) - R_{kj}(x, y; -\lambda) = \frac{1}{-2i\lambda} \sum_{l=1}^{p_1} \overline{\varphi_{lk}(x, \lambda)} \varphi_{lj}(y, \lambda).$$
(4.4)

Applying the Stone formula with Proposition 4.3, we obtain

#### Theorem 4.4

(i) For each  $f(x) = {}^t(f_1(x_1), \dots, f_p(x_p)) \in \mathcal{H}$ , the spectral representation of *L* is given by

$$f(x) = \sum_{\mu \in \mathcal{K}} \left[ P(\mu) f \right](x) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_0^\infty {}^t \overline{\Psi(x, \pm \lambda)} [\mathcal{F}_{\pm} f](\lambda) d\lambda, \qquad (4.5)$$

where  $P(\mu)$  is the orthogonal projection onto the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\mu^2$ , and

$$[\mathcal{F}_{\pm}f](\lambda) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\Gamma} \Psi(y, \pm \lambda) f(y) dy$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{j=1}^{p} \left( \int_{\gamma_j} \varphi_{1j}(y, \pm \lambda) f_j(y) dy, \dots, \int_{\gamma_j} \varphi_{p_1j}(y, \pm \lambda) f_j(y) dy \right).$$
(4.6)

(ii) Put  $P = \sum_{\mu \in \mathcal{K}} P(\mu)$ . Then

$$\mathcal{F}_{\pm}^* \mathcal{F}_{\pm} = I - P, \qquad \mathcal{F}_{\pm} \mathcal{F}_{\pm}^* = I_{\lambda}. \tag{4.7}$$

Here  $I = I_x$  is the identity in configuration space  $\mathcal{H}$ , and  $I_{\lambda}$  is the identity in the momentum space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_1 = \{h(\lambda) \in [L^2_{\lambda}(\mathbf{R}_+)]^{p_1}\}.$ 

Put  $\Gamma = \Gamma_1 \times \Gamma_2$ ,  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2$ ,  $E(x, \lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} E_1(x, \lambda) & 0\\ 0 & E_2(x, \lambda) \end{pmatrix}$ , where

$$\Gamma_1 = \gamma_1 \times \cdots \times \gamma_{p_1}, \qquad \Gamma_2 = \gamma_{p_1+1} \times \cdots \times \gamma_p,$$
$$\mathcal{H}_1 = L^2(\Gamma_1), \qquad \mathcal{H}_2 = L^2(\Gamma_2),$$
$$E_1(x, \lambda) = \operatorname{diag}(e_j(x, \lambda))_{j=1}^{p_1}, \qquad E_2(x, \lambda) = \operatorname{diag}(e_j(x, \lambda))_{j=p_1+1}^{p}.$$

#### **Proposition 4.5**

(i) For  $\lambda \in \mathbf{R} \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\Phi_1(x, \lambda)$  is rewritten as

$$\Phi_1(x,\lambda) = E_1(x,-\lambda) - S(\lambda)E_1(x,\lambda).$$
(4.8)

Here  $S(\lambda) = (s_{kj}(\lambda))_{k,j=1}^{p_1}$  is given by

$$s_{kk}(\lambda) = \frac{e_k(0,-\lambda)}{e_k(0,\lambda)} - \frac{2i\lambda}{e_k^2(0,\lambda)G(\lambda)},$$
(4.9)

$$s_{kj}(\lambda) = \frac{-2i\lambda}{e_k(0,\lambda)e_j(0,\lambda)G(\lambda)} \quad (j \neq k).$$

(ii)  $S(\lambda)$  is a unitary matrix on  $\mathbb{C}^{p_1}$ , and

$$S(\lambda)^* = \overline{S(\lambda)} = S(-\lambda), \qquad (4.10)$$

$$S(-\lambda)\Psi(x,\lambda) = -\Psi(x,-\lambda). \tag{4.11}$$

(iii) Let  $0 \notin K_G$ . Then  $S(\lambda)$  is continuous on the whole **R** and

$$s_{kj}(0) = -\iota_k \delta_{kj} - \begin{cases} 0, & k \text{ or } j \notin \mathbf{P}^0(0), \text{ or } \mathbf{P}^0(0) \cap \mathbf{P}_2 \neq \phi, \\ \frac{2i}{\dot{e}_k(0,0)\dot{e}_j(0,0)} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbf{P}^0(0)} \frac{e'_j(0,0)}{\dot{e}_j(0,0)}\right)^{-1}, \\ k, j \in \mathbf{P}^0(0) \text{ and } \mathbf{P}^0(0) \cap \mathbf{P}_2 = \phi. \end{cases}$$

where  $\iota_k = 1$  if  $e_k(0, 0) \neq 0$ , and = -1 if  $e_k(0, 0) = 0$ ;  $\dot{e}_j(0, 0) = \frac{\partial e_j(0, \lambda)}{\partial \lambda}|_{\lambda=0}$ .

(iv) Let  $0 \in K_G$ . Then  $S(\lambda)$  is also continuous on the whole line if each  $q_j(x)$  is required to satisfy the stronger condition  $\int_{\gamma_j} (1+x)^2 |q_j(x)| dx < \infty$ , and in this case we have

$$s_{kj}(0) = \delta_{kj} - \frac{2i}{e_k(0,0)e_j(0,0)\dot{G}(0)}, \qquad \dot{G}(0) = \frac{\partial G(\lambda)}{\partial \lambda}\Big|_{\lambda=0}$$

#### 5 Møller's Scattering Operator and Its Expression

Let  $L_0$  be the operator L with  $q(x) \equiv 0$ . Corresponding to  $L_0$ , we staff with superscript 0.

We put  $P = \sum_{\mu \in \mathcal{K}} P(\mu)$ ,  $P^0 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P^0(n)$ . Then

$$\mathcal{F}_{\pm}: (I-P)\mathcal{H} \to \hat{\mathcal{H}}_1, \qquad \mathcal{F}^0: (I-P^0)\mathcal{H} \to \hat{\mathcal{H}}_1$$

are both unitary operators. With these operators, we define the stationary wave and scattering operators as follows:

$$U_{+} = \mathcal{F}_{+}^{*} \mathcal{F}^{0}, \qquad U_{-} = -\mathcal{F}_{-}^{*} S^{0}(\lambda) \mathcal{F}^{0},$$
 (5.1)

$$S = U_{+}^{*}U_{-} = -\mathcal{F}^{0*}\mathcal{F}_{+}\mathcal{F}_{-}^{*}S^{0}(\lambda)\mathcal{F}^{0}, \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $S^{0}(\lambda) = (s_{kj}^{0}(\lambda))_{k,j=1}^{p_{1}}$ .

Now consider the Schrödinger evolution operators  $e^{-itL}$  and  $e^{-itL_0}$ . Choose  $f \in (I - P)\mathcal{H}$ ,  $f^0 \in (I - P^0)\mathcal{H}$ . Then by use of the spectral representation formulae, we have

$$e^{-itL}f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_0^\infty {}^t \overline{\Psi(x,\pm\lambda)} e^{-i\lambda^2 t} [\mathcal{F}_{\pm}f](\lambda) d\lambda, \qquad (5.3)$$

$$e^{-itL_0}f^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_0^\infty {}^t \overline{\Psi^0(x,\lambda)} e^{-i\lambda^2 t} \left[ \mathcal{F}^0 f^0 \right](\lambda) d\lambda.$$
(5.4)

By use of these expressions, we can prove the following theorem

#### Theorem 5.1

(i) The Møller wave operator exists and coincides with  $U_{\pm}$ :

$$s - \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} e^{itL} e^{-itL_0} (I - P^0) = U_{\pm}.$$
 (5.5)

Thus, the Møller scattering operator is given by  $S = U_+^*U_-$ .

(ii) The matrix function  $S(\lambda)$  represents the scattering operator in the momentum space:

$$\left[\mathcal{F}_0 \mathcal{S} \mathcal{F}_0^* \hat{f}\right](\lambda) = S(\lambda) S_0(\lambda) \hat{f}(\lambda) \quad for \ \hat{f}(\lambda) \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_1.$$

#### 6 Inverse Scattering Problem

The triplet of quantities  $\{S(\lambda), -\lambda_n^2, M_1(i\lambda_n) : n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$  with  $M_1(i\lambda_n) = -iE_1^{-1}(x, i\lambda_n)\text{Res}_{\lambda=i\lambda_n}\Phi_1(x, \lambda)$  defines the scattering data for the operator *L*. We investigate the following inverse scattering problem : Given scattering data, recover potential  $q(x), x \in \gamma_j, j \in \mathbf{P}_1$ .

For each  $j \in \mathbf{P}_1$ , let  $K_j(x, y) = K_j(x_j, y_j)$  be the kernel of the transformation operator on  $\gamma_j$  (see (3.2)–(3.3)).

**Theorem 6.1** Each kernel  $K_i(x, y)$  satisfies the following integral equation:

$$F_{j}(x+y) + K_{j}(x,y) + \int_{x}^{\infty} K_{j}(x,z)F_{j}(z+y)dz \quad (0 \le x \le y < \infty)$$
(6.1)

with

$$F_j(x) = \sum_{n=1}^N e^{-\lambda_n x} m_{jj}(i\lambda_n x) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{i\lambda x} \{s_{0,jj}(\lambda) - s_{jj}(\lambda)\} d\lambda.$$
(6.2)

Here  $S_0(\lambda) = (s_{0,kj}(\lambda))_{k,j=1}^{p_1}$  is the scattering matrix corresponding to the operator with  $q(x) \equiv 0$ , and the last integral is understood as the Fourier transform of the  $L^2$ -function.

Let  $F_i(x)$  be constructed by (6.2) in terms of the diagonal entry

$$\left\{s_{jj}(\lambda), -\lambda_n^2, m_{jj}(i\lambda_n)\right\}$$
(6.3)

of the scattering data. Then the Marchenko equation (6.1) has a unique solution  $K_j(x, y)$  for every  $x \ge 0$ , and the potential  $q_j(x)$  is uniquely recovered on  $\gamma_j$  by the formula

$$-2\frac{d}{dx}K_j(x,x) = q_j(x), \quad x \in \gamma_j, \ j \in \mathbf{P}_1.$$
(6.4)

Thus, the knowledge of the scattering data allows us to recover the potential on the infinite rays  $\gamma_j$ ,  $j \in \mathbf{P}_1$ .

*Remark 6.2* Similar inverse scattering problem is investigated in the case of graph which consists of a loop  $\kappa = \{z \mid 0 < z < 2\pi\}$  and N half lines  $\gamma_i = \{x_i \mid 0 < x_i < \infty\}$ , i = 1, ..., N, joined at the points  $\{x_i = 0\} = \{z = \alpha_i\}$ , where  $0 = \alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \cdots < \alpha_N < 2\pi$ . (See [8, 9] for the case N = 1. The case  $N \ge 2$  will be discussed in forthcoming paper.)

Acknowledgement The first author was partly supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (Nos. 22540204, 23540181), Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. The second author was partly supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (No. 23540181), Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

#### References

- 1. Z.S. Agranovich, V.A. Marchenko, *The Inverse Problem of Scattering Problem* (Gordon & Breach, New York, 1963)
- 2. L.D. Faddeev, The inverse problem in the quantum theory of scattering. J. Math. Phys. 4, 72–104 (1963)
- L.D. Faddeev, Inverse problem of quantum scattering theory II. J. Sov. Math. 5(76), 334–396 (1976)
- N.I. Gerasimenko, Inverse scattering problem on a noncompact graphs. Theor. Math. Phys. 75, 460–470 (1988)
- M.S. Harmer, Inverse scattering for the matrix Schrodinger operator and Schrodinger operator on graphs with general self-adjoint boundary conditions. ANZIAM J. 44, 161–168 (2002)
- P. Kurasov, F. Stenberg, On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs. J. Phys. A 35, 101–121 (2002)
- Y. Latushkin, V. Pivovarchik, Scattering in a forked-shaped waveguide. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 61(3), 365–399 (2008)
- V. Marchenko, K. Mochizuki, I. Trooshin, Inverse scattering on a graph containing circle, in Analytic Methods of Analysis and Differential Equations: AMADE 2006 (Camb. Sci. Publ., Cambridge, 2008), pp. 237–243
- 9. K. Mochizuki, I. Trooshin, On the scattering on a loop-shaped graph, in *Evolution Equations* of *Hyperbolic and Schrödinger Type*. Progress in Mathematics, vol. 301 (Springer, Berlin, 2012), pp. 227–245
- 10. K. Mochizuki, I. Trooshin, Spectral problems and scattering on noncompact star shaped graphs containing finite rays, submitted
- 11. V. Pivovarchik, Scattering in a loop-shaped waveguide, in *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.*, vol. 124 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001), pp. 527–543
- 12. D.R. Yafaev, *Mathematical Scattering Theory, Analytic Theory*. Math. Surveys and Monographs, vol. 158 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2009)

## **Integral Transform Approach to the Cauchy Problem for the Evolution Equations**

Karen Yagdjian

**Abstract** In this note we describe some integral transform that allows to write solutions of the Cauchy problem for one partial differential equation via solution of another one. It was suggested by author in J. Differ. Equ. 206:227–252, 2004 in the case when the last equation is a wave equation, and then used in the series of articles (see, e.g., Yagdjian in J. Differ. Equ. 206:227–252, 2004, Yagdjian and Galstian in J. Math. Anal. Appl. 346(2):501–520, 2008, Yagdjian and Galstian in Commun. Math. Phys. 285:293–344, 2009, Yagdjian in Rend. Ist. Mat. Univ. Trieste 42:221–243, 2010, Yagdjian in J. Math. Anal. Appl. 396(1):323–344, 2012, Yagdjian in Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 37(3):447–478, 2012, Yagdjian in Semilinear Hyperbolic Equations in Curved Spacetimepp, pp. 391–415, 2014 and Yagdjian in J. Math. Phys. 54(9):091503, 2013) to investigate several well-known equations such as Tricomi-type equation, the Klein–Gordon equation in the de Sitter and Einstein–de Sitter spacetimes. The generalization given in this note allows us to consider also evolution equations with *x*-dependent coefficients.

Keywords Klein–Gordon Equation  $\cdot$  Representation of Solutions  $\cdot$  Tricomi Equation  $\cdot$  De Sitter Spacetime  $\cdot$  Fundamental Solution

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 47G10 · 35C15 · Secondary 35Q75

#### **1** Introduction

A novel approach to study second order hyperbolic equations with variable coefficients was suggested in [1]. It was used in a series of papers [1-8] to investigate in a unified way several equations such as the linear and semilinear Tricomi and Tricomi-type equations, Gellerstedt equation, the wave equation in Einstein–de Sitter (EdeS) spacetime, the wave and the Klein–Gordon equations in the de Sitter

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

K. Yagdjian (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, University of Texas-Pan American, 1201 W. University Drive, Edinburg, TX 78541-2999, USA e-mail: yagdjian@utpa.edu

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_31

and anti-de Sitter spacetimes. The listed equations play an important role in the gas dynamics, elementary particle physics, quantum field theory in curved spaces, and cosmology. For all above mentioned equations, we have obtained among other things, fundamental solutions, representation formulas for the initial-value problem,  $L^p - L^q$ -estimates, local and global solutions for the semilinear equations, blow up phenomena, sign-changing phenomena, Huygens' principle, self-similar solutions and number of other results.

Consider the solution v = v(x, t; b) to the Cauchy problem

$$v_{tt} - \Delta v = 0, \quad (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+n}, v(x, 0; b) = \varphi(x, b), \quad v_t(x, 0) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(1.1)

with the parameter  $b \in B \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . Denote that solution by  $v_{\varphi} = v_{\varphi}(x, t; b)$ ; if  $\varphi$  is independent of the second variable *b*, then we write  $v_{\varphi}(x, t)$ . There are well-known explicit representation formulas for the solution of the problem (1.1).

The starting point of the approach suggested in [1] is the Duhamel's principle, which is revised in order to prepare the ground for generalization. Our *first observation* is that we obtain the following representation

$$u(x,t) = \int_{t_0}^t db \int_0^{t-b} w_f(x,r;b) dr,$$
 (1.2)

of the solution of the Cauchy problem  $u_{tt} - \Delta u = f(x, t)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , and  $u(x, t_0) = 0$ ,  $u_t(x, t_0) = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where the function  $w_f = w_f(x; t; b)$  is the solution of the problem (1.2).

The second observation is that in (1.2) the upper limit t - b of the inner integral is generated by the propagation phenomena with the speed which equals to one. In fact, that is a distance function.

Our *third observation* is that the solution operator  $\mathcal{G} : f \mapsto u$  can be regarded as a composition of two operators. The first one

$$\mathcal{WE}: f \longmapsto w$$

is a Fourier Integral Operator (FIO), which is a solution operator of the Cauchy problem for wave equation in the Minkowski spacetime. The second operator

$$\mathcal{K}: w \longmapsto u$$

is the integral operator given by (1.2). We regard the variable *b* in (1.2) as a "subsidiary time". Thus,  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{K} \circ \mathcal{WE}$  and we arrive at the first diagram:



Based on the first diagram, we generated in [4] a class of operators for which we obtained explicit representation formulas for the solutions. That means also that we

have obtained representations for the *fundamental solutions of the partial differential operator*. In fact, this diagram brings into a single hierarchy several different partial differential operators. Indeed, if we take into account the propagation cone by introducing the distance function  $\phi(t)$ , and if we provide the integral operator (1.2) with the kernel K(t; r, b) as follows:

$$\mathcal{K}[w](x,t) = 2\int_{t_0}^t db \int_0^{|\phi(t) - \phi(b)|} K(t;r,b)w(x,r;b)dr, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ t > t_0, \ (1.3)$$

then we actually generated new representations for the solutions of different wellknown equations with x-independent coefficients. (See, e.g., [4].)

In the present note we extend the class of the equations by allowing the first mapping be a resolving operator for the Cauchy problem for a wider class of equations, which, of course, includes a wave equation itself, but which is not restricted to it. More precisely, consider the second diagram where  $w = w_{A,\varphi}(x, t; b)$  is a solution to the Cauchy problem

$$v_{tt} - A(x, \partial_x)v = 0, \qquad v(x, 0; b) = \varphi(x, b),$$
  

$$v_t(x, 0) = 0, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(1.4)

with the parameter  $b \in B \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . If we have a resolving operator of the problem (1.4), by applying (1.3) we can generate new representations for the solutions of different equations. Thus,  $\mathcal{G}_A = \mathcal{K} \circ \mathcal{E}\mathcal{E}_A$ . The new class contains operators with *x*-depending coefficients, not necessarily hyperbolic, which allows to obtain more results, especially interesting in the applications.

*Example* (Tricomi-type equations.) This operator is generated by the kernel K(t; r, b) = 2E(0, t; r, b), where the function E(x, t; y, b) [1] is defined by

$$E(x,t; y,b) := c_k \left( \left( \phi(t) + \phi(b) \right)^2 - (x-y)^2 \right)^{-\gamma} \times F\left( \gamma, \gamma; 1; \frac{(\phi(t) - \phi(b))^2 - (x-y)^2}{(\phi(t) + \phi(b))^2 - (x-y)^2} \right),$$
(1.5)

with  $\gamma := k/(2k+2)$ ,  $c_k = (k+1)^{-k/(k+1)}2^{-1/(k+1)}$ ,  $k \neq -1$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{R}$ , and the distance function is  $\phi(t) = t^{k+1}/(k+1)$ , while  $F(a, b; c; \zeta)$  is the Gauss's hypergeometric function. For the simplicity, in (1.5) we use the notation  $x^2 = x \cdot x = |x|^2$  if  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We can prove that for the smooth function f = f(x, t), the function

$$u(x,t) = 2\int_0^t db \int_0^{\phi(t)-\phi(b)} E(0,t;r,b) w_{A,f}(x,r;b) dr, \quad t > 0,$$

solves the Tricomi-type equation  $(\ell = 2k \in \mathbb{N})$ 

$$u_{tt} - t^{\ell} A(x, \partial_x) u = f(x, t) \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ := \{ (x, t) \mid x \in \mathbb{R}^n, t > 0 \},\$$

and takes vanishing initial values

$$u(x, 0) = 0, \qquad u_t(x, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (1.6)

*Example* (The wave equation in the Friedmann–Lemaître–Roberson–Walker models: de Sitter spacetime.) In this example K(t; r, b) = 2E(0, t; r, b), where the function E(x, t; y, b) [3] is defined by

$$E(x,t;y,b) := \left( \left( e^{-b} + e^{-t} \right)^2 - (x-y)^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times F\left( \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; 1; \frac{(e^{-t} - e^{-b})^2 - (x-y)^2}{(e^{-t} + e^{-b})^2 - (x-y)^2} \right),$$
(1.7)

and  $\phi(t) := 1 - e^{-t}$ . We can prove that, defined by the integral transform (1.3) with the kernel (1.7) the function

$$u(x,t) = 2 \int_0^t db \int_0^{e^{-b} - e^{-t}} \left( \left( e^{-b} + e^{-t} \right)^2 - r^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times F\left( \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; 1; \frac{(e^{-t} - e^{-b})^2 - r^2}{(e^{-t} + e^{-b})^2 - r^2} \right) w_{A,f}(x,r;b) dr$$

solves the wave equation in the Friedmann–Lemaître–Roberson–Walker (FLRW) space arising in the de Sitter model of the universe,

$$u_{tt} - e^{-2t}A(x, \partial_x)u = f(x, t)$$

in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ , and takes vanishing initial data (1.6).

*Example* (The wave equation in the FLRW-models: anti-de Sitter spacetime.) The third example we obtain if we set K(t; r, b) = 2E(0, t; r, b), where the function E(x, t; r, b) is defined by (see [2])

$$E(x,t;r,b) := \left( \left( e^b + e^t \right)^2 - (x-r)^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times F\left( \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; 1; \frac{(e^t - e^b)^2 - (x-r)^2}{(e^t + e^b)^2 - (x-r)^2} \right),$$
(1.8)

while the distance function is  $\phi(t) := e^t - 1$ . In that case the function u = u(x, t) produced by the integral transform (1.3) with  $t_0 = 0$  and the kernel (1.8), solves the wave equation in the FLRW space arising in the anti-de Sitter model of the universe,

$$u_{tt} - e^{2t}A(x, \partial_x)u = f(x, t)$$
 in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ .

Moreover, it takes vanishing initial values (1.6).

*Example* (The wave equation in the Einstein–de Sitter spacetime.) If we allow negative  $k \in \mathbb{R}$  in (1.5), then we obtain another way to get new operators of the above described hierarchy. In fact, in the hierarchy of the hypergeometric functions  $F(a, b; c; \zeta)$  the simplest non-constant function is  $F(-1, -1; 1; \zeta) = 1 + \zeta$ . The exponent *l* leading to  $F(-1, -1; 1; \zeta)$  is exactly the exponent l = -4/3 of the *wave equation* (and of the *metric tensor*) in the Einstein–de Sitter spacetime. In that case the kernel is  $K(t; r, b) = \frac{1}{18}(9t^{2/3} + 9b^{2/3} - r^2)$ . Consequently, the function

$$u(x,t) = \int_0^t db \int_0^{3t^{1/3} - 3b^{1/3}} \frac{1}{18} \left( \left( 3t^{1/3} \right)^2 + \left( 3b^{1/3} \right)^2 - r^2 \right) w_{A,f}(x,r;b) dr$$

 $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , t > 0, solves the equation

$$u_{tt} - t^{-4/3} A(x, \partial_x) u = f \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$$

and takes vanishing initial data (1.6) provided that  $w_{A,f} = \mathcal{E}\mathcal{E}_A(f)$ .

#### 2 The Klein–Gordon Equation in the de Sitter Spacetime

We introduce the following notations. First, we define a *chronological future*  $D_+(x_0, t_0)$  and a *chronological past*  $D_-(x_0, t_0)$  of the point  $(x_0, t_0), x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , as follows:  $D_{\pm}(x_0, t_0) := \{(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}; |x - x_0| \le \pm (e^{-t_0} - e^{-t})\}$ . Then, we define for  $(x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$  the function

$$E(x,t;x_0,t_0;M) := 4^{-M} e^{M(t_0+t)} \left( \left( e^{-t} + e^{-t_0} \right)^2 - (x-x_0)^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}+M} \\ \times F\left( \frac{1}{2} - M, \frac{1}{2} - M; 1; \frac{(e^{-t_0} - e^{-t})^2 - (x-x_0)^2}{(e^{-t_0} + e^{-t})^2 - (x-x_0)^2} \right),$$

in  $D_+(x_0, t_0) \cup D_-(x_0, t_0)$ , where  $F(a, b; c; \zeta)$  is the hypergeometric function. The kernels  $K_0(z, t)$ ,  $K_1(z, t)$ ,  $K_0(z, t; M)$ , and  $K_0(z, t; M)$  are defined by

$$\begin{split} &K_0(z,t;M) \\ &:= 4^{-M} e^{tM} \left( \left( 1 + e^{-t} \right)^2 - z^2 \right)^M \frac{1}{\left[ (1 - e^{-t})^2 - z^2 \right] \sqrt{(1 + e^{-t})^2 - z^2}} \\ & \times \left[ \left( e^{-t} - 1 + M \left( e^{-2t} - 1 - z^2 \right) \right) F \left( \frac{1}{2} - M, \frac{1}{2} - M; 1; \frac{(1 - e^{-t})^2 - z^2}{(1 + e^{-t})^2 - z^2} \right) \\ & + \left( 1 - e^{-2t} + z^2 \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} + M \right) F \left( -\frac{1}{2} - M, \frac{1}{2} - M; 1; \frac{(1 - e^{-t})^2 - z^2}{(1 + e^{-t})^2 - z^2} \right) \right], \\ & K_1(z,t;M) := 4^{-M} e^{Mt} \left( (1 + e^{-t})^2 - z^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2} + M} \end{split}$$

$$\times F\left(\frac{1}{2} - M, \frac{1}{2} - M; 1; \frac{(1 - e^{-t})^2 - z^2}{(1 + e^{-t})^2 - z^2}\right).$$

In the following theorem, the equation with mass  $M \in \mathbb{C}$ , in the case of second order elliptic operator A, can be derived from the covariant Klein–Gordon equation by simple change of the unknown function (see, e.g., [3]). In order to avoid more specific description of the order of the operator  $A(x, \partial_x)$  and regularity of its coefficients, the smoothness of all functions in the theorem is set frightfully redundant. In general, it can be relaxed to the necessary smoothness. Let  $\delta_{ik}$  be the Kronecker symbol.

**Theorem 2.1** Assume that  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ ,  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and that the function  $v_{A,f}(x,t;b) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+2}_{++})$  is a solution to the Cauchy problem

$$v_{tt} - A(x, \partial_x)v = 0,$$
  $v(x, 0; b) = f(x, b),$   $v_t(x, 0; b) = 0,$   $t > 0,$ 

while  $v_{A,\varphi_k}(x,t) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ , is a solutions of the problem

$$v_{tt} - A(x, \partial_x)v = 0,$$
  $v(x, 0) = \delta_{0k}\varphi_0(x),$   $v_t(x, 0) = \delta_{1k}\varphi_1(x),$ 

k = 0, 1. Then the function u = u(x, t) given by the integral transform

$$u(x,t) = 2\int_0^t db \int_0^{e^{-b} - e^{-t}} E(0,t;r,b;M) v_{A,f}(x,r;b) dr$$
  
+  $e^{\frac{t}{2}} v_{A,\varphi_0}(x,1-e^{-t}) + 2\int_0^{1-e^{-t}} K_0(s,t;M) v_{A,\varphi_0}(x,s) ds$   
+  $2\int_0^{1-e^{-t}} K_1(s,t;M) v_{A,\varphi_1}(x,s) ds, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ t > 0,$  (2.1)

solves the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - e^{-2t} A(x, \partial_x) u - M^2 u = f,$$
  

$$u(x, 0) = \varphi_0(x), \qquad u_t(x, 0) = \varphi_1(x).$$
(2.2)

*Outline of the proof* The proof Theorem 2.1 is straightforward; we just substitute the function u = u(t, x) of (2.1) into (2.2) and then check the initial conditions. It is straightforward, but not short; the proof contains very long calculations. The full proof of the results presented in the present note will be published soon later.

**Some Applications** We mention here the  $L^p - L^q$  estimates, Strichartz estimates, Huygens' principle, global and local existence theorem for semilinear and quasilinear equations. The applications of the above presented method to the second-order hyperbolic equations with *x*-independent coefficients one can find in [1–8]. Below we give examples of the equations with *x*-dependent coefficients those are amenable to the integral transform method.

268

*Example* The metric g in the Friedmann–Lemaître–Roberson–Walker spacetime  $g_{00} = g^{00} = -1$ ,  $g_{0j} = g^{0j} = 0$ ,  $g_{ij} = a^2(t)\delta_{ij}(x)$ ,  $|g| = a^{2n}(t)|\det \delta(x)|$ ,  $g^{ij} = a^{-2}(t)\delta^{ij}(x)$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, where  $\delta^{ij}(x)\delta_{jk}(x) = \delta_{ik}$ ,  $a(t) = e^t$ . The linear covariant Klein–Gordon equation in the coordinates is

$$\psi_{tt} - \frac{e^{-2t}}{\sqrt{|\det \delta(x)|}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \left( \sqrt{|\det \delta(x)|} \delta^{ij}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} \psi \right)$$
$$+ n\psi_{t} + m^{2}\psi = f.$$

This example includes also equations in the FLRW metric with hyperbolic or spherical spatial geometry.

*Example* The degenerating at t = 0 equation

$$\psi_{tt} + t^{\ell} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} \psi + t^{\ell} \sum_{i=1}^{n} b^i(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \psi = f$$

that is elliptic in the domain with  $t^{\ell} > 0$ . Here  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge 0$ .

Example The Euler-Bernoulli beam equation with the variable coefficients

$$\psi_{tt} + a^2(t) \sum_{i,j=1}^n a^{ij}(x) \partial_{x_i}^2 \partial_{x_j}^2 \psi = f,$$

where a(t) is one of the following functions  $t^{\ell}$ ,  $e^t$ , or  $e^{-t}$ . Here  $\sum_{i,j=1}^n a^{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge 0$ .

#### References

- K. Yagdjian, A note on the fundamental solution for the Tricomi-type equation in the hyperbolic domain. J. Differ. Equ. 206, 227–252 (2004)
- K. Yagdjian, A. Galstian, Fundamental solutions of the wave equation in Robertson–Walker spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 346(2), 501–520 (2008)
- K. Yagdjian, A. Galstian, Fundamental solutions for the Klein–Gordon equation in de Sitter spacetime. Commun. Math. Phys. 285, 293–344 (2009)
- 4. K. Yagdjian, Fundamental solutions for hyperbolic operators with variable coefficients. Rend. Ist. Mat. Univ. Trieste **42**, 221–243 (2010)
- K. Yagdjian, Global existence of the scalar field in de Sitter spacetime. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 396(1), 323–344 (2012)
- K. Yagdjian, On the global solutions of the Higgs boson equation. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 37(3), 447–478 (2012)
- K. Yagdjian, in Semilinear Hyperbolic Equations in Curved Spacetime. Fourier analysis, pseudo-differential operators, time-frequency analysis and partial differential equations. Trends in Mathematics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2014), pp. 391–415
- K. Yagdjian, Huygens' principle for the Klein–Gordon equation in the de Sitter spacetime. J. Math. Phys. 54(9), 091503 (2013)

## Part V Nonlinear PDE and Control Theory

Organizers: Vladimir Georgiev, Tohru Ozawa, Irena Lasiecka, Justin Webster, George Avalos

## On Some Solutions of Certain Versions of "Sigma" Model and Some Skyrme-Like Models

Łukasz T. Stępień

Abstract Some results concerning certain versions of "sigma" model and some Skyrme-like models, are presented.

**Keywords** "Sigma" model  $\cdot O(3)$  model  $\cdot$  Baby Skyrme model  $\cdot$  Skyrme–Faddeev model  $\cdot$  Bogomolny decomposition

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 35Q51 · 37K10 · Secondary 37K40

#### **1** Motivation

The nonlinear "sigma" ( $\sigma$ ) O(3) model was born by an inspiration in the late 50's of the 20th Century, by the development of high-energy physics, [9]. In [47] stable soliton solutions for this model have been found. Some new class of O(3) models was studied in [49]. Its static (time independent) version describes Heisenberg ferromagnet (static Heisenberg model), [50].

Baby Skyrme model is another very interesting model. It is an analogical model on plane, to Skyrme model, which lagrangian includes, apart from the term of nonlinear O(3) sigma model also the quartic term—so-called Skyrme term, it is necessary in order to overcome Derrick–Hobart theorem and the potential. Skyrme model possesses solitonic solutions, useful for describing phenomena in world of baryons, it provides good description of low-energy physics of strong interactions,

Ł.T. Stępień (🖂)

This paper is based on a talk, delivered by the Author at ISAAC 2013 Congress in Kraków, Poland.

The Pedagogical University of Cracow, The Chair of Computer Science and Computational Methods, ul. Podchorążych 2, 30-084 Kraków, Poland e-mail: sfstepie@cyf-kr.edu.pl

Ł.T. Stępień e-mail: lstepien@up.krakow.pl url: http://www.ltstepien.up.krakow.pl

[26]. The target space of Skyrme model is SU(2), [30–32], and the target space of baby Skyrme model is  $S^2$ . In these both models: Skyrme and baby Skyrme, static field configurations can be classified topologically by their winding numbers. The presence of the potential in the case of static field configurations with finite energy, in baby Skyrme model, is necessary. However, the form of this potential-not restricted, its different forms were investigated in [13, 24, 25, 29] and [1, 2, 22]. An application of this model is the description of the quantum Hall efect, [3, 39, 48]. Socalled spinning baby Skyrmions in the restricted baby Skyrme model, were investigated in [19]. In [2, 18], Bogomolny equations have been derived for some special cases of the potential in restricted (without O(3) term) baby Skyrme model (some more general results have been obtained in [40] and [45]). Some other interesting Skyrme-like model is so called Skyrme-Faddeev model, [14, 20] (and other bibliographical entries in [15]). In [15] some exact vortex solutions of  $CP^N$  version of this model have been found. In [16] exact vortex solutions for extended  $CP4^N$  Skyrme-Faddeev model, have been found and investigated. In this paper we present some results concerning the models: extended  $CP^N$  Skyrme–Faddeev, nonlinear "sigma"  $(\sigma) O(3)$  and restricted baby Skyrme one.

#### 2 Decomposition (Non-Bogomolny) Method and Some Solutions

The main idea of this method was published in [43, 44]. Namely, we assume a possibility of a decomposition of an investigated NPDE for several smaller "pieces", which are characterized by **a homogenity of the derivatives** of the unknown function u (if it is possible). Next, we equal them to zero, and try to solve. The exact meaning of the property "homogenity of the derivatives" was explained in [43, 44]. Here we say only that if given NPDE possesses this property, then we can change the problem of solving of NPDE in the problem of solving of some system of nonlinear algebraic equations. In this version of this method, the absence of free term (as a constant term or a function g(u)—not multiplied by these derivatives) is required. We use an ansatz:

$$u(x^{\mu}) \equiv \omega(x^{\mu}) = \beta_1 + f(a_{\mu}x^{\mu} + \beta_2, b_{\mu}x^{\mu} + \beta_3, c_{\mu}x^{\mu} + \beta_4, d_{\mu}x^{\mu} + \beta_5), \quad (2.1)$$

where:  $f \in C^2$  and we work in Minkowski space-time with the signature: (-, +, +, +). The fourth argument of  $f: d_{\mu}x^{\mu} + \beta_5$ , has been absent in [43, 44].

If we seek localized solutions, then we must assume asymptotic boundary conditions:  $\lim_{x\to\pm\infty} f = \text{const}$  and analogical condition for energy density. We wish the function was *arbitrary*. Such solutions are **functionally invariant solutions**. Some methods for obtaining of such solutions and some special classes of them, were published in: [6, 7, 10–12, 17, 27, 28, 33, 34, 41]. The decomposition method, described in [43, 44], is just some method for finding such solutions (they were called there as "classes of solutions"). Also enough general functionally invariant solutions of some nonlinear equations, have been found in [43, 44]. After applying decomposition method to the given equation(s), we have to solve the corresponding algebraic system. The solutions of it, are the values of the coefficients  $a_{\mu}, b_{\mu}, \ldots$  The solutions of this system determine the shape of dependance of the function f on  $x^{\mu}, \mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ .

In [15] and [16], extended Skyrme–Faddeev model, and its  $CP^N$  version (in (3 + 1)-dimensions), correspondingly, have been investigated and so-called vortex solutions, of the form:

$$\omega(x, y, z, t) = f(x + i\varepsilon_1 y, t + \varepsilon_2 z), \quad f \in \mathcal{C}, \ \varepsilon_k = \pm 1$$
(2.2)

have been found and studied. These solutions have been found by solving the equations:  $\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\omega = 0$ ,  $\partial_{\mu}\omega\partial^{\mu}\omega = 0$ ,  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$ , (of course,  $\omega$  is twice differentiable function in complex sense). Owing to it, these solutions are simultaneously the solutions of: "sigma" O(3) model ( $CP^1$  model) and extended  $CP^N$  Skyrme–Faddeev model. Namely, one can see, after looking at the idea of the decomposition method, that it is possible owing to the fact that the field equations of these models are homogeneous with respect to the derivatives of the unknown function u and this is the condition for applying of decomposition method. After applying it, three sets of the functionally invariant solutions of the models: the models: nonlinear "sigma" O(3) ( $CP^1$ ) model and extended Skyrme–Faddeev one, in (3 + 1)-dimensions, have been found. These solutions are established by the values of the coefficients  $a_{\mu}, b_{\mu}, c_{\mu}, d_{\mu}, \mu = 0, ..., 3$ , together with the ansatz (2.1). We present here three sets of the values of the coefficients:

- 1.  $a_0 = a_2$ ,  $a_3 = -ia_1$ ,  $b_0 = b_2$ ,  $b_1 = ib_3$ ,  $c_0 = c_2$ ,  $c_1 = ic_3$  and  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ ,  $b_2$ ,  $b_3$ ,  $c_2$ ,  $c_3$ —arbitrary (these values of the coefficients have been published in [43, 44] (the first paper) and the coefficients  $d_j$ , j = 0, ..., 3, have been absent there),
- 2.  $a_0 = -a_1, a_3 = -ia_2, b_0 = i\frac{b_2d_1}{d_3}, b_1 = -i\frac{b_2d_1}{d_3}, b_3 = -ib_2, c_0 = -c_1, c_2 = ic_3, d_0 = -d_1, d_2 = id_3 \text{ and } a_1, a_2, b_2, c_1, c_3, d_1$  arbitrary and  $d_3 \neq 0$

3. 
$$a_0 = \frac{a_1d_1 + a_2d_2}{\sqrt{d_1^2 + d_2^2}}, a_3 = i\frac{a_1d_2 - a_2d_1}{\sqrt{d_1^2 + d_2^2}}, b_0 = \frac{b_1\sqrt{d_1^2 + d_2^2}}{d_1}, b_2 = \frac{b_1d_2}{d_1}, b_3 = 0, c_0 = \frac{c_1\sqrt{d_1^2 + d_2^2}}{d_1}, c_2 = \frac{c_1d_2}{d_1}, c_3 = 0, d_0 = \sqrt{d_1^2 + d_2^2}, d_3 = 0 \text{ and } a_1, a_2, b_1, c_1, d_2 - a_1bitrary and  $d_1 \neq 0, d_1 \neq \pm id_2.$$$

If we look now at the first set, we can notice that after putting  $a_1 = 0$ ,  $a_2 = 1$ ,  $b_2 = 0$ ,  $b_3 = 1$ ,  $c_2 = 0$ ,  $c_3 = 0$ , we get a special case of the solution, established by the ansatz (2.1) and the first set of the values of the coefficients (of course,  $\beta_k = 0$ , k = 1, ..., 5):

$$\omega(x, y, z, t) = f(t+y, ix+z)$$
(2.3)

Hence, the solutions (2.2), with  $\varepsilon_n = 1$ , n = 1, 2, obtained in [16], possess very similar form to the solutions, which are special case of some solutions found in [43, 44] (the first paper) and presented here in point 1 (for  $a_1 = 0$ ,  $a_2 = 1$ ,  $b_2 = 0$ ,  $b_3 = 1$ ,  $c_2 = 0$ ,  $c_3 = 0$ ,  $\beta_k = 0$ , k = 1, ..., 5).

Besides, if we look at the ansatz (2.1) and at these three sets of the values of the coefficients, we notice that we can talk about superposition of the solutions for the models: nonlinear "sigma" O(3) ( $CP^1$ ) model and extended Skyrme–Faddeev one, in (3 + 1)-dimensions. We can see that there are two kinds of these superpositions:

- 1. I kind-i.e. each component solution is completely independent on the others
- II kind—in this case, by using a coefficient(s) of one of the superposed solutions, we can change the values of independent variables in the others superposed solutions, especially, by putting a zero coefficient in one of superposed solutions, we can make the other solution as time independent.

#### **3** Bogomolny Equations

#### 3.1 Classical Approach

This is well-known fact that Euler–Lagrange equations of many models in physics are nonlinear partial differential equations of second order. However, in [8] Bogomolny derived the equations, called as Bogomolny equations (sometimes also, as Bogomol'nyi equations), although historically, they were derived earlier in [4], for another model—SU(2) Yang–Mills theory. Similar problem was considered by Hosoya in [21], Hosoya's paper was cited in [5]. Bogomolny made it for scalar field theory so-called  $\phi^4$  model, with spontaneous symmetry breaking. The energy functional of this model is  $E = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2}(\frac{d\phi}{dx})^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2}(\phi^2 - \gamma^2)^2)dx$ ,  $\phi(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\lim_{x \to \pm \infty} \phi(x) = \pm \gamma$  and Euler–Lagrange equations for this model are  $\frac{d^2\phi}{dx^2} = 2\lambda\phi(\phi^2 - \gamma^2)$ . Bogomolny showed that by proper writing down the energy functional of this model, one can avoid solving of Euler–Lagrange equations, namely:  $E = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2}(\frac{d\phi}{dx} + \sqrt{\lambda}(\phi^2 - \gamma^2))^2 - \sqrt{\lambda}\frac{d\phi}{dx}(\phi^2 - \gamma^2))dx$ . Next, we integrate the second (non-quadratic) term in this functional and we require reaching the minimum by the functional. Hence, the following equation must be satisfied:  $\frac{d\phi}{dx} = \sqrt{\lambda}(\gamma^2 - \phi^2)$  (Bogomolny equation) and the following inequality (Bogomolny bound) is satisfied  $E \geq \frac{2\sqrt{\lambda}}{3}\gamma^2|Q|$ , where  $Q = \phi(\infty) - \phi(-\infty)$  is a topological charge. The very well-known solution of this Bogomolny equation is so called "kink"  $\phi(x) = \gamma \tanh(\gamma\sqrt{\lambda}(x-x_0))$ , obtained in [8].

#### 3.2 Variational Approach—the Concept of Strong Necessary Conditions

From the extremum principle, applied to the functional  $\Phi[u] = \int_{E^2} F(u, u_{,x}, u_{,t}) dx dt$ , follow the Euler–Lagrange equations

$$F_{,u} - \frac{d}{dx}F_{,u,x} - \frac{d}{dt}F_{,u,t} = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

Instead of (3.1) we consider strong necessary conditions, we call them here shortly as SNC (this method was first time described in [35] and it was developed later in [36, 37])

$$F_{,u} = 0, \qquad F_{,u,t} = 0, \qquad F_{,u,x} = 0,$$
 (3.2)

where  $F_{,u} \equiv \frac{\partial F}{\partial u}$ , etc. Obviously, all solutions of the system of (3.2) satisfy the Euler–Lagrange equation (3.1), but these solutions, if they exist, are very often trivial. We may avoid it by making gauge transformation of the functional  $\Phi[u]$ :

$$\Phi \to \Phi + Inv,$$
 (3.3)

where *Inv* is such functional that its local variation with respect to u(x, t) vanishes:  $\delta Inv \equiv 0 \implies E.-L$ . equations are **invariant** with respect to the gauge transformation (3.3). **Non-invariance** of the SNC (3.2), with respect to the gauge transformation (3.3)  $\implies$  some non-trivial solutions are possible. Now, we apply the SNC (3.2) to the gauged functional:  $\tilde{\Phi} = \Phi + Inv$ . We obtain so called *dual equations*. Some early version of the variational approach for deriving Bogomolny equations was applied in [23]. The application of SNC for deriving Bogomolny equations (decomposition) was later developed in [38, 42, 46].

## 3.2.1 An Example: Bogomolny Decomposition for Ungauged Restricted Baby Skyrme Model in (2 + 0)-Dimensions

We consider the energy functional for restricted baby Skyrme model in (2 + 0)dimensions (the static  $\sigma$  term is absent), of the following form, [2, 45]:  $H = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 x \mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 x (\frac{\beta}{4}(\epsilon_{ij}\partial_i \vec{S} \times \partial_j \vec{S})^2 + \gamma^2 V(\vec{S}))$ , where  $|\vec{S}|^2 = 1$  and we assume **nothing** about the form of the potential *V* (of course,  $V \in C$ ). After making stereographic projection:  $\vec{S} = [\frac{\omega + \omega^*}{1 + \omega \omega^*}, \frac{-i(\omega - \omega^*)}{1 + \omega \omega^*}]$ , where  $\omega = \omega(x, y) \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ , the density of the energy functional *H* has the form, [45]:  $\mathcal{H} = -4\beta \frac{(\omega_{,x}\omega_{,y}^* - \omega_{,y}\omega_{,x}^*)^2}{(1 + \omega \omega^{*4})^4} + V(\omega, \omega^*)$ . Now, we make gauge transformation on the invariants, [45]:  $\sum_{k=1}^{3} I_k$ , where  $I_k$  are the densities of the invariants:  $I_1 = G_1 \cdot (\omega_{,x}\omega_{,y}^* - \omega_{,y}\omega_{,x}^*)$  is the density of topological invariant,  $I_2 = D_x G_2$ ,  $I_3 = D_y G_3$ ,  $D_x \equiv \frac{d}{dx}$ ,  $D_y \equiv \frac{d}{dy}$ ,  $\omega = \omega(x, y)$ ,  $\omega^* = \omega^*(x, y) \in C^2$  and  $G_k = G_k(\omega, \omega^*) \in C^2$  (k = 1, 2, 3), are some functions, which are to be determinated.

If we apply the concept of strong necessary conditions to  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ , we get six dual equations [45]. One can see their form in [45]. We say here only that all these equations include the derivatives of  $\omega$  and  $\omega^*$  with respect to x and y, and additionally, two of them include the derivatives of the potential V, with respect to  $\omega$  and  $\omega^*$  (these last equations, we call here shortly as "A" equations and other dual equations self-consistent is necessary. So, there is the necessity of the reduction of the number of independent equations by an appropriate choice of the functions  $G_k$  (k = 1, 2, 3). Usually, such ansatzes exist only for some special  $V(\omega, \omega^*)$ , i.e. in

most cases of  $V(\omega, \omega^*)$ , for many nonlinear field models, the reduction of the system of corresponding dual equations, to Bogomolny equations, is impossible. The appropriate reduction of this system of dual equations, has been done in [45], for  $G_2(\omega, \omega^*) = \text{const}, G_3(\omega, \omega^*) = \text{const}$ . Hence, after inserting these relations into the "B" equations, we get, [45]:

$$\omega_{,x}\omega_{,y}^{*} - \omega_{,y}\omega_{,x}^{*} = \frac{1}{8\beta}G_{1}(\omega,\omega^{*})(1+\omega\omega^{*})^{4}.$$
(3.4)

Hence, all solutions of (3.4) satisfy the "B" equations. Now, we make the "A" equations, consistent with the other dual equation: after eliminating  $\omega_{,x}$ ,  $\omega_{,y}$ ,  $\omega_{,x}^*$ ,  $\omega_{,y}^*$ , from "A" equations and integrating obtained equations, we get the condition for the potential:

$$V(\omega, \omega^*) = -\frac{1}{16\beta} G_1^2(\omega, \omega^*) (1 + \omega\omega^*)^4 + C, \quad C = \text{const.}$$
(3.5)

This result (without integrating constant *C*) was obtained in [45], but by using Hamilton–Jacobi equation. In this current paper we have not applied Hamilton–Jacobi equation. Then of course,  $G_1 = \frac{4\sqrt{\beta}}{(1+\omega\omega^*)^2}\sqrt{C-V(\omega,\omega^*)}$ . For some simplicity, we put here C = 0. We insert this relation into (3.4) and we obtain Bogomolny decomposition for the given potential  $V(w, w^*)$ , [45]:  $\omega_{,x}\omega_{,y}^* - \omega_{,y}\omega_{,x}^* = \frac{i}{2\sqrt{\beta}}\sqrt{V(\omega,\omega^*)}(1+\omega\omega^*)^2$ . Then, this last equation is Bogomolny decomposition (Bogomolny equation) for restricted baby Skyrme model in (2 + 0) dimensions, for *arbitrary* potential. Because of the limit of number of pages, we present here only the exact form of the solution of this Bogomolny equation, (here  $u = \Re(\omega), v = \Im(\omega)$  and  $F_1(x), F_2(x)$ —are arbitrary functions), which we have found for  $V(u, v) = \frac{1}{(1+u^2+v^2)^4}$ :

$$u(x, y) = F_1(x),$$
  $v(x, y) = -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{\beta}} \frac{y}{\frac{d}{dx}F_1(x)} + F_2(x)$  (3.6)

#### 4 Summary

We have found some exact functionally invariant solutions for the models: "sigma" O(3) and extended  $CP^N$  Skyrme–Faddeev one, in (3 + 1)-dimensions, by applying decomposition (non-Bogomolny) method. One of special cases of the solutions found in [43, 44] (the first paper) and presented also here, are very similar to the vortex solutions, found in (2.2). Hence, one may say that one of the solutions, obtained in this paper, as the special case of the solutions found in [43, 44] (the first paper), are also vortex solutions. Besides, the general form of these solutions satisfies some superposition principles. We can say about two kinds of these superpositions—I kind, when each component solution is quite independent on the others and II kind—in this case, by using a coefficient(s) of one of the superposed solutions, we have an

impact on the values of independent variables in the others superposed solutions, especially, by putting a zero coefficient in one of superposed solutions, we can make the other solution as time independent.

Besides, we have derived for ungauged restricted baby Skyrme model in (2+0)dimensions, the condition for the potential, necessary for exitence of Bogomolny decomposition (Bogomolny equations) for this model, without applying Hamilton– Jacobi equation. We have found also some exact solution of Bogomolny decomposition (Bogomolny equations). Further investigation of obtained results, is in progress.

Acknowledgement The author thanks Dr. hab. A. Wereszczyński for interesting discussions about the restricted baby Skyrme models, carried out in 2010. The author also thanks Dr. Z. Lisowski for some interesting remarks.

The participation of the author, in "ISAAC 2013 Congress", was possible owing to the financial support, provided by The Pedagogical University of Cracow.

The computations were carried out by using Waterloo MAPLE 17 Software on the computer *mars* (No. of grant: MNII/IBM BC HS21/AP/057/2008), in ACK CYFRONET-AGH in Kraków. This research was supported also by PL-Grid Infrastructure.

#### References

- 1. C. Adam, P. Klimas, J. Sanchez-Guillen, A. Wereszczyński, Phys. Rev. D 80, 105013 (2009)
- C. Adam, T. Romańczukiewicz, J. Sanchez-Guillen, A. Wereszczyński, Phys. Rev. D 81, 085007 (2010)
- 3. A.A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov, JETP Lett. 22, 245 (1975)
- 4. A.A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov, A.S. Schwartz, Yu.S. Tyupkin, Phys. Lett. B 59, 85 (1975)
- I. Białynicki-Birula, On the stability of solitons, in Nonlinear Problems of Theoretical Physics (Springer, Berlin, 1979), p. 15
- 6. Yu.A. Bobkov, Differ. Uravn. 45(6), 888 (2009)
- 7. Yu.A. Bobkov, Differ. Equ. 45(6), 907 (2009)
- 8. E.B. Bogomolny, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 24, 861 (1976)
- 9. M.M. Enikova, V.I. Karloukovski, C.I. Velchev, Nucl. Phys. B 151, 172 (1979)
- 10. N. Erouguine, C.R. Doklady, Acad. Sci. URSS (N. S.) 42, 371 (1944) (in French)
- 11. N.P. Erugin, Dokl. Akad. Nauk USSR 42, 371 (1944)
- 12. N.P. Erugin, M.M. Smirnov, Differ. Uravn. 17(5), 853 (1981)
- 13. P. Eslami, M. Sarbishaei, W.J. Zakrzewski, Nonlinearity 13, 1867 (2000)
- 14. L.D. Faddeev, A.J. Niemi, Nature **387**, 58 (1997)
- 15. L.A. Ferreira, P. Klimas, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 008 (2010)
- L.A. Ferreira, P. Klimas, W.J. Zakrzewski, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 098 (2011). arXiv:1111. 2338 [hep-th]
- 17. L.M. Galonen, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 21, 53 (1957)
- 18. T. Gisiger, M.B. Paranjape, Phys. Rev. D 55, 7731 (1997)
- 19. T. Gisiger, M.B. Paranjape, in *Solitons: Properties, Dynamics, Interactions, Applications*, vol. 183, ed. by R. MacKenzie, M.B. Paranjape, W.J. Zakrzewski (Springer, Berlin, 2000)
- 20. J. Hietarinta, P. Salo, Phys. Rev. D 62, 081701 (2000)
- 21. A. Hosoya, Prog. Theor. Phys. 59, 1781 (1978)
- 22. J. Jäykkä, M. Speight, P. Sutcliffe, Proc. R. Soc. A 468, 1085 (2012)
- 23. P.T. Jochym, K. Sokalski, J. Phys. A 26, 3837 (1993)
- 24. M. Karliner, I. Hen, Nonlinearity 21, 399 (2008)
- 25. R.A. Leese, M. Peyrard, W.J. Zakrzewski, Nonlinearity 3, 773 (1990)

- 26. W.G. Makhankov, Yu.P. Rybakov, W.I. Sanyuk, Skyrme Models and Solitons in Physics of Hadrons (1989) (in Russian)
- S.V. Meleshko, Methods for Constructing Exact Solutions of Partial Differential Equations: Mathematical and Analytical Techniques with Applications to Engineering (Springer, Berlin, 2005)
- O.F. Menshikh, M.I. Timoshin, The International Conference MOGRANE 2000. http://www. bth.se/ihn/alga.nsf/attachments/d92MT.pdf/tile/d92MT.pdf
- 29. B.M.A.G. Piette, B.J. Schroers, W.J. Zakrzewski, Chaos Solitons Fractals 5, 2495 (1995)
- 30. T.H.R. Skyrme, Proc. R. Soc. A 260, 127 (1961)
- 31. T.H.R. Skyrme, Nucl. Phys. 31, 556 (1962)
- 32. T.H.R. Skyrme, J. Math. Phys. 12, 1735 (1971)
- 33. S. Sobolev, Travaux Inst. Fiz. Mat. Stekloff, Acad. Sci. USSR, 259 (1934)
- 34. S. Sobolev, Tr. Fiz.-Mat. Inst. Steklova 5, 259 (1934)
- 35. K. Sokalski, Acta Phys. Pol. A 56, 571 (1979)
- 36. K. Sokalski, T. Wietecha, Z. Lisowski, Acta Phys. Pol. B 32, 17 (2001)
- 37. K. Sokalski, T. Wietecha, Z. Lisowski, Acta Phys. Pol. B 32, 2771 (2001)
- 38. K. Sokalski, Ł. Stępień, D. Sokalska, J. Phys. A 35, 6157 (2002)
- 39. S.L. Sondhi, A. Karlhede, S.A. Kivelson, E.H. Rezayi, Phys. Rev. B 47, 16419 (1993)
- 40. J.M. Speight, J. Phys. A 43, 405201 (2010)
- 41. N.T. Stel'mashuk, Ukr. Mat. Zh. 24(1), 115 (1971)
- Ł. Stępień, Bogomolny decomposition in the context of the concept of strong necessary conditions. Ph.D. thesis, Jagiellonian University, Kraków, Poland (2003) (in Polish)
- 43. Ł.T. Stępień, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 233, 1607 (2010)
- 44. Ł.T. Stępień (2012). arXiv:1208.2905
- 45. Ł.T. Stępień, On bogomolny decompositions for the baby skyrme models, in *Geometric Methods in Physics, XXXI Workshop 2012, Trends in Matematics, 229–237, 27 April 2012* (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2013). arXiv:1204.6194v1
- 46. Ł. Stępień, D. Sokalska, K. Sokalski, J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 16, 25 (2009)
- 47. P. Voruganti, Phys. Lett. B 223, 181 (1989)
- 48. N.R. Walet, T. Weidig, Europhys. Lett. 55, 633 (2001)
- 49. A. Wereszczyński, Phys. Lett. B 621, 201 (2005)
- 50. Y. Yang, Solitons in Field Theory and Nonlinear Analysis (Springer, Berlin, 2001)

# Sharp Sobolev–Strichartz Estimates for the Free Schrödinger Propagator

Neal Bez, Chris Jeavons, and Nikolaos Pattakos

**Abstract** We consider gaussian extremisability of sharp linear Sobolev–Strichartz estimates and closely related sharp bilinear Ozawa–Tsutsumi estimates for the free Schrödinger equation.

Keywords Sobolev-Strichartz estimates · Extremisers · Schrödinger equation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35B45 · Secondary 35Q40

#### **1** Introduction

For  $d \ge 1$  and  $s \in [0, \frac{d}{2})$ , it is well-known that the solution  $u : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  of the free Schrödinger equation

$$i\partial_t u + \Delta u = 0, \qquad u(0) = u_0 \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$$
(1.1)

satisfies the global space-time estimate

$$\|u\|_{L^{p(d,s)}} \le \mathbf{S}(d,s) \|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^s} \tag{1.2}$$

for some finite constant  $\mathbf{S}(d, s)$ , which we assume to be the optimal (i.e. smallest) such constant. Here,  $p(d, s) = \frac{2(d+2)}{d-2s}$  and, as usual,  $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  denotes the homogeneous Sobolev space with norm  $\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{s}} = \|(-\Delta)^{s/2}f\|_{L^{2}}$ . This article will be

N. Bez (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Saitama University, Saitama 338-8570, Japan e-mail: nealbez@mail.saitama-u.ac.jp

C. Jeavons · N. Pattakos School of Mathematics, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, UK

C. Jeavons e-mail: jeavonsc@maths.bham.ac.uk

N. Pattakos e-mail: nikolaos.pattakos@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_33 concerned with optimal constants and extremisers, and we note immediately that S(d, s) and the shape of corresponding extremisers are only known in the rather special cases  $(d, s) \in \{(1, 0), (2, 0)\}$  (see Foschi [5] and also Hundertmark–Zharnitsky [6]). In such cases, the isotropic gaussian initial data  $u_0(x) = \exp(-|x|^2)$  is an extremiser.

Very closely related are the sharp bilinear estimates

$$\left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{2-d}{4}} (u\overline{v}) \right\|_{L^2} \le \mathbf{OT}(d) \|u_0\|_{L^2} \|v_0\|_{L^2}$$
(1.3)

due to Ozawa–Tsutsumi [7], where  $d \ge 2$  and

$$\mathbf{OT}(d) = \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} 2^{-\frac{d}{2}} \pi^{\frac{2-d}{4}}.$$

In (1.3), *u* and *v* are solutions of (1.1) with square-integrable initial data  $u_0$  and  $v_0$ . The constant **OT**(*d*) is optimal and  $(u_0, v_0)$  is an extremising pair when  $u_0(x) = v_0(x) = \exp(-|x|^2)$ .

The sharp estimate (1.3) was motivated by the case of one spatial dimension, in which case (1.3) is an identity

$$\left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{4}} (u\overline{v}) \right\|_{L^2} = \mathbf{OT}(1) \|u_0\|_{L^2} \|v_0\|_{L^2}.$$
(1.4)

This basic tool was established and used in [7] to prove local-wellposedness for certain nonlinear Schrödinger equations with nonlinearities including  $\partial(|u|^2)u$  and initial data in  $H^{1/2}$ . Thus, (1.4) gives control on the null gauge form  $\partial(u\overline{v})$  for the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation, and (1.3) gives estimates for the null gauge form in higher dimensions.

We remark that taking d = 2 and  $u_0 = v_0$  in (1.3) immediately yields the optimal constant **S**(2, 0) and its gaussian extremisability (this was not explicitly observed in [7]). The approach in [7] is different to the approaches in [5] and [6], so this provides an alternative derivation of this optimal constant.

As far as we know, for the Sobolev–Strichartz estimate (1.1), no conjecture has been made on the shape of extremising initial data in the case where *s* is *strictly positive*. Extremising initial data certainly exist for all admissible  $d \ge 1$  and  $s \in [0, \frac{d}{2})$  (see, for example, [8]). In this direction, our first observation is the following.

**Theorem 1.1** Only if s = 0 are gaussians  $u_0$  such that

$$\widehat{u}_0(\xi) = \exp(a|\xi|^2 + ib \cdot \xi + c)$$

for some  $a, c \in \mathbb{C}, b \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\operatorname{Re}(a) < 0$ , critical points for the functional

$$u_0 \mapsto \frac{\|e^{it\Delta}u_0\|_{L^{p(d,s)}}}{\|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^s}}.$$
 (1.5)

Theorem 1.1 of course implies that gaussians are not amongst the class of extremisers for (1.2) for any admissible *s* which are *strictly positive*; i.e.  $s \in (0, \frac{d}{2})$ . We find this outcome particularly interesting when measured against the analogous sharp estimates for the wave propagator  $e^{it\sqrt{-\Delta}}$ . Here, it is known that if  $d \ge 2$  and  $s \in [0, \frac{d-1}{2})$  then

$$\|u\|_{L^{p(d-1,s)}} \le \mathbf{W}(d,s) \|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^{s+\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(1.6)

for all solutions of the (pseudo) wave equation

$$i\partial_t u + \sqrt{-\Delta u} = 0,$$
  $u(0) = u_0 \in \dot{H}^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d).$ 

Again, we take W(d, s) to be the optimal constant, which is finite for the given range of parameters (d, s). It is known that initial data  $u_0$  for which

$$\widehat{u}_{0}(\xi) = |\xi|^{-1} \exp(-|\xi|)$$
(1.7)

are extremisers for (1.6) when  $(d, s) \in \{(2, 0), (3, 0), (5, \frac{1}{2})\}$  (uniquely, up to certain transformations). The cases (2, 0) and (3, 0) were established by Foschi [5] and the case  $(5, \frac{1}{2})$  was established in [2]. Thus,  $u_0$  satisfying (1.7) is an extremiser for  $\mathbf{W}(d, s)$  for two distinct values of s. Theorem 1.1 shows that this phenomena does not occur for  $\mathbf{S}(d, s)$  and gaussian  $u_0$ .

The condition s = 0 is, in fact, necessary and sufficient for gaussians to be critical points for the functional in (1.5). The sufficiency part was demonstrated by Hundertmark–Zharnitsky [6]. See also the work of Christ–Quilodrán [3] where a closely related result to Theorem 1.1 was established in the context of adjoint Fourier restriction estimates for the paraboloid; in fact, we prove Theorem 1.1 by making small modifications to their argument.

For the cases  $(d, s) \in \{(1, 0), (2, 0)\}$ , it is known that the isotropic gaussian  $u_0(x) = \exp(-|x|^2)$  is, up to certain transformations, the *only* extremising initial data for (1.1); see [5, 6]. Furthermore, it is conjectured ([5, 6]) that gaussians are the only extremisers for S(d, 0) for all  $d \ge 1$ . Providing a full characterisation of the set of extremisers often requires delicate arguments, and applications of sharp estimates frequently demand that such a characterisation is established. For example, recent work of Duyckaerts–Merle–Roudenko [4] considered extremisers for the global Strichartz norm for solutions of the mass-critical nonlinear Schrödinger equation

$$i\partial_t u + \Delta u + \gamma |u|^{\frac{4}{d}} u = 0, \qquad u(0) = u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

where  $\gamma = 1$  in the focusing case and  $\gamma = -1$  in the defocusing case. In particular, it was shown in [4] that for  $\delta > 0$  sufficiently small,

$$\Im(\delta) := \sup_{\|u_0\|_2 = \delta} \|u\|_{L^{p(d,0)}}$$

is attained for some initial data  $u_0(\delta) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $||u_0(\delta)||_2 = \delta$ . When d = 1, 2 they prove significantly more; it is shown that, as  $\delta \to 0$ ,

$$\mathfrak{I}(\delta) = \mathbf{S}(d,0)\delta + \gamma \Lambda(d)\delta^{1+\frac{4}{d}} + O\left(\delta^{1+\frac{\delta}{d}}\right),$$

where  $\Lambda(d)$  is some positive constant, and that any extremising initial data  $u_0(\delta)$  is, for  $\delta$  sufficiently small and up to certain transformations, close to  $\delta G_0$ , where  $G_0$  is the isotropic centred gaussian which has been  $L^2$ -normalised. For this additional information concerning  $\Im(\delta)$  when d = 1, 2, it was vital to know a full characterisation of the extremisers for  $\mathbf{S}(d, 0)$ .

Our next result establishes a full characterisation of extremisers for the bilinear Sobolev–Strichartz estimate (1.3) of Ozawa–Tsutsumi; this question was left open in [7] and the following theorem says that extremisers for (1.3) must be isotropic centred gaussians, up to certain transformations.

**Theorem 1.2** Let  $d \ge 2$ . We have equality in the estimate (1.3) if and only if there exist  $a, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $b \in \mathbb{C}^d$ , with  $\operatorname{Re}(a) < 0$ , so that

$$u_0(x) = \exp(a|x|^2 + b \cdot x + c), \qquad v_0(x) = \exp(a|x|^2 + b \cdot x + d). \tag{1.8}$$

#### 2 Further Remarks and Proofs

For  $d \ge 1$ ,  $q \in (1, \frac{2(d+1)}{d})$  and  $p = \frac{(d+2)q'}{d}$ , it was shown in [3] that gaussians are critical points for the  $L^q(\mathbb{P}^d, d\sigma) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$  adjoint Fourier restriction estimates associated to the paraboloid

$$\mathbb{P}^{d} = \left\{ \left( \xi, |\xi|^{2} \right) : \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$$

if and only if q = 2. Here,  $d\sigma$  is the measure supported on  $\mathbb{P}^d$  given by  $\int_{\mathbb{P}^d} F \, d\sigma := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} F(\xi, |\xi|^2) \, d\xi$  and  $d\xi$  is Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . A mixed-norm generalisation of this is also established in [3] and we remark that Theorem 1.1 may also be extended by measuring the solution in appropriate  $L_t^r L_x^p(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$  norms.

To prove Theorem 1.1 we make minor modifications to the argument in [3] associated with replacing  $L^q(\mathbb{P}^d, d\sigma)$  by  $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

*Proof of Theorem 1.1* We fix  $d \ge 1$ ,  $s \in (0, \frac{d}{2})$  and let p = p(d, s). If  $\Psi$  is the functional

$$\Psi(u_0) = \frac{\|e^{it\Delta}u_0\|_{L^p}^p}{\|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^s}^p},$$

defined for nonzero  $u_0 \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $u_0$  is a critical point if

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left( \Psi(u_0 + \varepsilon v_0) - \Psi(u_0) \right) = 0$$

for any  $v_0 \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where  $\varepsilon$  is a complex parameter. For brevity, we write  $u(t, \cdot) = e^{it\Delta}u_0$  and  $v(t, \cdot) = e^{it\Delta}v_0$ .

Using Lemma 2.3 of [3], which gives an expansion of  $||F + \varepsilon G||_{L^p}^p$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ ,  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{C}$ , we obtain some constant  $\gamma > 1$  such that

$$\|u + \varepsilon v\|_{L^p}^p = \|u\|_{L^p}^p + p \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d+1}} |u(t,x)|^p \operatorname{Re}\left(\varepsilon \frac{v(t,x)}{u(t,x)}\right) \mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t + O\left(|\varepsilon|^{\gamma}\right)$$

and

$$\|u_0 + \varepsilon v_0\|_{\dot{H}^s}^p = \|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^s}^p + (2\pi)^d p \|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^s}^{p-2} \operatorname{Re}\left(\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \widehat{u}_0(\xi) \overline{\widehat{v}_0(\xi)} |\xi|^{2s} \, \mathrm{d}\xi\right)$$
$$+ O\left(|\varepsilon|^{\gamma}\right)$$

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . It then follows that  $u_0$  is a critical point if and only if there exists  $\lambda > 0$  such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d+1}} |u(t,x)|^{p-2} u(t,x) \exp(-i(x \cdot \xi - t|\xi|^2)) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \lambda |\xi|^{2s} \widehat{u}_0(\xi)$$
(2.1)

for almost all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . For Theorem 1.1, it suffices to show that  $u_0$  is not a critical point, where  $u_0(x) = \exp(-\frac{1}{4}|x|^2)$ . This reduction follows because  $u_0$  such that  $\hat{u}_0(\xi) = \exp(a|\xi|^2 + ib \cdot \xi + c)$ , with  $a, c \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $b \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , can be generated from a centred isotropic gaussian under the action of the group generated by:

- (1) space-time translations:  $u(t, x) \rightarrow u(t + t_0, x + x_0)$  with  $(t_0, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ ;
- (2) *parabolic dilations*:  $u(t, x) \rightarrow u(\mu^2 t, \mu x)$  with  $\mu > 0$ ;
- (3) change of scale:  $u(t, x) \rightarrow \mu u(t, x)$  with  $\mu > 0$ ;
- (4) phase shift:  $u(t, x) \to e^{i\theta}u(t, x)$  with  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The Euler–Lagrange equation (2.1) is invariant under each of the above actions. For  $u_0(x) = \exp(-\frac{1}{4}|x|^2)$  we have  $\widehat{u}_0(\xi) = C_d \exp(-|\xi|^2)$  and

$$u(t,x) = C_d \frac{1}{(1+it)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \exp\left(-\frac{|x|^2}{4(1+it)}\right)$$

for some positive constants  $C_d$  (which may differ). Thus, (2.1) is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{I}(a) = C_{d,s} a^s \tag{2.2}$$

for all  $a \in [0, \infty)$ , where  $C_{d,s}$  is some positive constant,

$$I(a) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{H(t)}{(1+it)^{\frac{d}{4}(p-2)}} \exp\left(a\frac{(p-2)(1+it)}{p-1-it}\right) dt$$

and

$$H(t) := (1 - it)^{-\frac{d}{4}(p-4)}(p - 1 - it)^{-\frac{d}{2}}.$$

A power series expansion of the exponential term leads to

$$\mathbf{I}(a) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(p-2)^{j} \mathbf{I}_{j}}{j!} a^{j},$$
(2.3)

where

$$I_j := \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1+it)^{j - \frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s}} H_j(t) \, dt$$

and

$$H_j(t) = (1 - it)^{-\frac{d}{4}(p-4)}(p-1 - it)^{-\frac{d}{2}-j}.$$

Since  $H_j$  is holomorphic in the upper half-plane and

$$\left|(1+it)^{j-\frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s}}H_j(t)\right| \le C|t|^{-\frac{2d(s+1)}{d-2s}},$$

with  $\frac{2d(s+1)}{d-2s} > 1$ , it follows (using Lemma 4.1 of [3]) that for  $j > \frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s} - 1$  we have

$$I_j = -2\sin(\gamma_j \pi) \int_0^\infty r^{\gamma_j} H_j(i+ir) \,\mathrm{d}r, \qquad (2.4)$$

where  $\gamma_j := j - \frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s}$ . Since  $H_j(i+ir) > 0$  for all  $r \ge 0$ , it is clear that  $I_j = 0$  if and only if  $\gamma_j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

In the case where  $s \in (0, \frac{d}{2}) \cap \mathbb{N}$ , using (2.2), (2.3) and a power series uniqueness argument, it follows that  $I_j = 0$  for all  $j \neq s$  and  $I_j \neq 0$  for j = s. If, additionally,  $\frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s} \notin \mathbb{N}$ , then (2.4) implies  $I_j \neq 0$  for any  $j > \max\{\frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s} - 1, s\}$ , which gives a contradiction. If, instead,  $\frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s} \in \mathbb{N}$ , then for  $j_{\star} = \frac{d(s+1)}{d-2s} - 1$  we may use Cauchy's residue theorem to obtain

$$I_{j_{\star}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1+it)^{-1} H_{j_{\star}}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = 2\pi H_{j_{\star}}(i) \neq 0.$$

Since s > 0 we have  $j_{\star} \neq s$  and so this is also a contradiction.

In the remaining case where  $s \in (0, \frac{d}{2})$  and  $s \notin \mathbb{N}$ , one can see that (2.2) cannot hold for all  $a \in [0, \infty)$  since (2.3) implies that I(a) is k times (right) differentiable at a = 0 for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , whereas  $a \mapsto a^s$  is not.

Regarding Theorem 1.2, we begin with the observation that the proof of (1.3) in [7], involving several well-chosen changes of variables, leads to the representation

$$\left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{2-d}{4}} (u\overline{v}) \right\|_{L^2}^2 = C_d \int_{\mathfrak{M}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \widehat{u}_0 \left( (r-p)\omega - \eta \right) \widehat{\overline{v}}_0(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\Sigma_{\omega,r}(\eta) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\sigma(\omega) \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}p,$$

where  $\mathfrak{M} = \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $d\Sigma_{\omega,r}(\eta) = \delta(r - \omega \cdot \eta) d\eta$ ,  $\delta$  is the Dirac measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  supported at the origin, and  $d\sigma$  is the induced Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ . The constant

 $C_d$  is explicitly computable (and whose value depends on the chosen convention for the Fourier transform).

An application of Cauchy–Schwarz with respect to the measure  $d\Sigma_{r,\omega}$  for each fixed  $(\omega, r, p) \in \mathfrak{M}$  yields (1.3). Using the standard fact that equality holds in the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality precisely when the constituent functions are linearly dependent, we see that if  $(u_0, v_0)$  is an extremising pair, then there exists a scalar function  $\Lambda$  such that

$$\widehat{u}_0((r-p)\omega - \eta) = \Lambda(\omega, r, p)\overline{\overline{v}_0(\eta)}$$
(2.5)

for almost all  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^d$  (with respect to  $d\Sigma_{\omega,r}$ ) in the support of the measure  $d\Sigma_{\omega,r}$ and almost all  $(\omega, r, p) \in \mathfrak{M}$  (with respect to the induced Lebesgue measure). A complete justification that  $(u_0, v_0)$  satisfies the geometric functional equation in (2.5) if and only if  $(u_0, v_0)$  have the gaussian form in (1.8) requires a multiple-stage argument.

The strategy behind the characterisation is to first argue that  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  must be equal (up to non-zero constants), and then establish that  $\hat{u}_0$  must have a certain amount of regularity. In fact, a delicate geometric argument shows that  $\hat{u}_0$  must be at least continuous. Once equipped with this information, and furthermore, that  $\hat{u}_0$  never vanishes, it is possible to solve (2.5) by decomposing  $\hat{u}_0 = fg$  into a product of logarithmically even and odd functions, where

$$f(\eta) = \left(\widehat{u}_0(\eta)\widehat{u}_0(-\eta)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 and  $g(\eta) = \left(\frac{\widehat{u}_0(\eta)}{\widehat{u}_0(-\eta)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

The functional equation inherited by f and g, from  $\hat{u}_0$ , is the classical orthogonal Cauchy functional equation

$$h(\eta_1 + \eta_2) = h(\eta_1)h(\eta_2)$$

whenever  $\eta_1$  and  $\eta_2$  are orthogonal vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . If f and g are normalised so that f(0) = g(0) = 1, this forces  $f(\eta) = \exp(a|\eta|^2)$  and  $g(\eta) = \exp(b \cdot \eta)$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $b \in \mathbb{C}^d$ , and hence  $\hat{u}_0$  has the desired form (1.8).

Full details of this argument can be found in [1] as part of a substantial analysis of sharp bilinear estimates of Ozawa–Tsutsumi type.

#### References

- J. Bennett, N. Bez, C. Jeavons, N. Pattakos, On sharp bilinear Strichartz estimates of Ozawa– Tsutsumi type, preprint
- N. Bez, K.M. Rogers, A sharp Strichartz estimate for the wave equation with data in the energy space. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 15, 805–823 (2013)
- M. Christ, R. Quilodrán, Gaussians rarely extremize adjoint Fourier restriction inequalities for paraboloids. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 142, 887–896 (2014)
- T. Duyckaerts, F. Merle, S. Roudenko, Maximizers for the Strichartz norm for small solutions of mass-critical NLS. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa, Cl. Sci. 10, 427–476 (2011)

- 5. D. Foschi, Maximizers for the Strichartz inequality. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 9, 739–774 (2007)
- D. Hundertmark, V. Zharnitsky, On sharp Strichartz inequalities in low dimensions. Int. Math. Res. Not. (2006). Art. ID 34080, 18 pp.
- 7. T. Ozawa, Y. Tsutsumi, Space-time estimates for null gauge forms and nonlinear Schrödinger equations. Differ. Integral Equ. **11**, 201–222 (1998)
- 8. S. Shao, Maximizers for the Strichartz and the Sobolev–Strichartz inequalities for the Schrödinger equation. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. (3) (2009), 13 pp.

### **Nonlinear PDE as Immersions**

Zhanat Zhunussova

Abstract Investigating of the nonlinear PDE including their geometric nature is one of the topical problems. With geometric point of view the nonlinear PDE are considered as immersions. We consider some aspects of the simplest soliton immersions in multidimensional space in Fokas–Gelfand's sense (Ceyhan et al. in J. Math. Phys. 41:2551–2270, 2000). In (1 + 1)-dimensional case nonlinear PDE are given in compatibility condition some system of linear equations (Lakshmanan and Myrza-kulov in J. Math. Phys. 39:3765–3771, 1998). In this case there is a surface with immersion function. We find the second quadratic form in Fokas–Gelfand's sense associated to one soliton solution of nonlinear Schrödinger equation.

Keywords Immersion · Soliton · Surface · Evolution equation

#### 1 Introduction

Over the last twenty years in the field of mathematical physics a large number of researches is devoted to the study of nonlinear equations. Some nonlinear wave equations can occur in problems of the different physical nature [1, 2]. For example, such equations are the well-known Korteweg de Vries equation, the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, sin-Gordon equation.

Soliton theory is a powerful apparatus for studying nonlinear equations including their geometrical nature. With a geometrical point of view soliton systems are considered as immersion of infinite-dimensional spaces. In other words, the hierarchy of soliton equations considered as a system of defining immersion of a manifold  $V^n$  in space  $V^m$ , where n < m. Connection between theory of solitons and theory of surfaces is set by introducing evolution equations that associated with algebra. The relation (1 + 1)-dimensional soliton equations with the theory of surfaces are given by the Gauss–Codazzi–Mainardi equation. In this case, the soliton equations are considered as some integrable reductions of the Gauss–Codazzi–Mainardi equation.

Z. Zhunussova (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, Al-Farabi avenue, 71, 050040, Almaty, Kazakhstan e-mail: zhzhkh@mail.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_34

In this work, we would like to review the simplest aspects of soliton investments in multi-dimensional space, in Fokas–Gelfand sense [1].

In (1 + 1)-dimensional case nonlinear partial differential equations are given as a condition of zero curvature  $U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0$ , where [U, V] = UV - VU, matrix U is given, and the matrix V is expressed in terms of elements of the matrix U. Also the nonlinear partial differential equation is the compatibility condition the system of linear equations  $\phi_x = U\phi$ ,  $\phi_t = V\phi$ . In this case there is a surface with immersion function P(x, t) defined by the formulas  $\frac{\partial P}{\partial x} = \phi^{-1}X\phi$ ,  $\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = \phi^{-1}Y\phi$ . Surface defined by P(x, t) identified a surface in three-dimensional space defined by the coordinates  $[1] x_j = P_j(x, t)$ , j = 1, 2, 3. Frame on the surface is given by a triple  $[1] \frac{\partial P}{\partial x} = \phi^{-1}X\phi$ ,  $\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = \phi^{-1}Y\phi$ ,  $N = \phi^{-1}J\phi$ , where  $J = \frac{[X,Y]}{[[X,Y]]}$ ,  $|X| = \sqrt{\langle X, X \rangle}$ . Here, by definition,  $\langle X, Y \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(XY)$ , where X, Y are some matrixes. And the first and second quadratic forms of the surface are given by

$$I = \langle X, X \rangle dx^{2} + 2 \langle X, Y \rangle dx dt + \langle Y, Y \rangle dt^{2},$$

$$II = \left\langle \frac{\partial X}{\partial x} + [X, U], J \right\rangle dx^{2} + 2 \left\langle \frac{\partial X}{\partial t} + [X, V], J \right\rangle dx dt$$

$$+ \left\langle \frac{\partial Y}{\partial t} + [Y, V], J \right\rangle dt^{2}.$$
(1.2)

As shown in [1] immersion function *P* can be defined as  $P = \gamma_0 \phi^{-1} \phi_{\lambda} + \phi^{-1} M_1 \phi = \sum_{j=1}^3 P_j f_j$ , where  $M_1$  is a matrix function, which depends on  $\lambda$ , *x*, *t*. Here  $f_j = -\frac{i}{2}\sigma_j$  is basis of the corresponding algebra,  $\sigma_j$  are Pauli matrices and  $[f_i, f_j] = f_k$ . In this case, *X*, *Y* can be written as  $X = \gamma_0 U_{\lambda} + M_{1x} + [M_1, U]$ ,  $Y = \gamma_0 V_{\lambda} + M_{1t} + [M_1, V]$ .

#### **2** Soliton Immersions in (1 + 1)-Dimension

Let the matrixes X, Y, J have the form

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y = \begin{pmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} \\ b_{21} & b_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J = \begin{pmatrix} c_{11} & c_{12} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.1)

In this case, the elements of the matrix J are expressed through the elements of the matrix X and Y in accordance with the formulas

$$c_{11} = \frac{a_{12}b_{21} - b_{12}a_{21}}{|[X,Y]|}, \qquad c_{21} = \frac{a_{21}(b_{11} - b_{22}) + b_{21}(a_{22} - a_{11})}{|[X,Y]|}, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$c_{12} = \frac{b_{12}(a_{11} - a_{22}) + a_{12}(b_{22} - b_{11})}{|[X, Y]|}, \qquad c_{22} = \frac{a_{21}b_{12} - b_{21}a_{12}}{|[X, Y]|}.$$
 (2.3)

Then the first fundamental form (1.1) of two-dimensional surface becomes  $I = Edx^2 + 2Fdxdt + Gdt^2$ , where

$$E = -\frac{1}{2} (a_{11}^2 + 2a_{12}a_{21} + a_{22}^2),$$

$$F = -\frac{1}{2} (a_{11}b_{11} + a_{12}b_{21} + a_{21}b_{12} + a_{22}b_{22}),$$

$$G = -\frac{1}{2} (b_{11}^2 + 2b_{12}b_{21} + b_{22}^2).$$
(2.5)

As an example of a soliton equation that yields such immersion we consider the nonlinear Schrödinger equation  $i\psi_t + \psi_{xx} + 2\beta|\psi|^2\psi = 0$ , where  $\beta = +1$ ,  $\psi$  is complex function. In this case, the matrix U, V have the form [3]

$$U = \frac{\lambda \sigma_3}{2i} + U_0, \quad U_0 = i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{q} \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
  

$$V = \frac{i\lambda^2}{2} \sigma_3 + i|q|^2 \sigma_3 - i\lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{q} \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{q}_x \\ -q_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.6)

The theorem is held.

**Theorem 2.1** Second quadratic form in the sense of Fokas–Gelfand corresponding to soliton solution q of nonlinear Schrödinger equation has the form

$$II = Ldx^2 + 2Mdxdt + Ndt^2, (2.7)$$

where

$$\begin{split} L &= -\frac{1}{2} \Big\{ a_{11x}c_{11} + a_{12x}c_{21} + a_{21x}c_{12} + a_{22x}c_{22} \\ &-\lambda i (a_{21}c_{12} - a_{12}c_{21}) \\ &+ iq (a_{12}c_{11} + a_{22}c_{12} - a_{11}c_{12} - a_{12}c_{22}) \\ &+ i\bar{q} (a_{21}c_{22} + a_{11}c_{21} - a_{22}c_{21} - a_{21}c_{11}) \Big\}, \end{split}$$
(2.8)  
$$\begin{split} M &= -\frac{1}{2} \Big\{ a_{11t}c_{11} + a_{12t}c_{21} + a_{21t}c_{12} + a_{22t}c_{22} \\ &+ i (\lambda^2 + 2|q|^2) (a_{21}c_{12} - a_{12}c_{21}) \\ &+ (q_x + \lambda iq) (a_{11}c_{12} + a_{12}c_{22} - a_{21}c_{11} - a_{22}c_{12}) \\ &+ (\bar{q}_x - \lambda i\bar{q}) (a_{11}c_{21} + a_{21}c_{22} - a_{21}c_{11} - a_{22}c_{21}) \Big\}, \end{split}$$
(2.9)  
$$\begin{split} N &= -\frac{1}{2} \Big\{ b_{11t}c_{11} + b_{12t}c_{21} + b_{21t}c_{12} + b_{22t}c_{22} \\ &+ i (\lambda^2 + 2|q|^2) (b_{21}c_{12} - b_{12}c_{21}) \Big\}, \end{split}$$

+ 
$$(q_x + \lambda i q)(b_{11}c_{12} + b_{12}c_{22} - b_{12}c_{11} - b_{22}c_{12})$$
  
+  $(\bar{q}_x - \lambda i \bar{q})(b_{11}c_{21} + b_{21}c_{22} - b_{21}c_{11} - b_{22}c_{21})$ , (2.10)

*Proof* By direct substitution of the matrix (2.1), (2.6) to (1.2) we obtain (2.7), (2.8)–(2.10). Theorem is proved.

#### **3** One-Soliton Solution of the Nonlinear Schrödinger Equation Corresponding to the Surface

We consider the partial case of immersion at  $\gamma_0 = 1$ ,  $M_1 = 0$ . For this case we have

$$X = U_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2i} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y = V_{\lambda} = -i \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda & \bar{q} \\ q & \lambda \end{pmatrix},$$
$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\bar{q}}{\sqrt{q\bar{q}}} \\ \frac{q}{\sqrt{q\bar{q}}} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.1)

and  $P = \phi^{-1}\phi_{\lambda}$ . To calculate the explicit expressions for the functions of immersion *P* we consider the one-soliton solution of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, which has the form

$$q(x,t) = Q \frac{\exp\{i(\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)t}{4} - \frac{\pi}{2})\}}{\operatorname{ch}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$
(3.2)

where we put  $\lambda = \frac{u+iv}{2}$ , Q is constant.

**Theorem 3.1** (Main Theorem) One-soliton solution of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation corresponds to the surface in the sense of Fokas–Gelfand with the corresponding coefficients of the first and second quadratic form

$$E = \frac{Q^2(u^2 + v^2)}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$

$$F = -\frac{v(u^2 + v^2)Q^2}{2(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$

$$G = \frac{(u^2 + v^2)^2 Q^2}{4(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$

$$L = -\frac{u(u^2 + v^2)}{4(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$
(3.3)
(3.4)
$$M = \frac{uv(u^2 + v^2)}{8(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$

$$N = -\frac{u(u^2 + v^2)}{16(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$
(3.5)

where  $\lambda_1$  is constant.

*Proof* The solution of the linear system we find in the form

$$\psi = \phi e^{-(\frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i}x + \frac{i\lambda^2}{2}\sigma_3 t)}.$$
(3.6)

Taking into account (3.6), apply (2.6) we have

$$\psi_x = \left(\frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i} + U_0\right)\psi - \psi\frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i} = \frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i}\psi - \psi\frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i} + U_0\psi$$
$$= \left[\frac{\lambda\sigma_3}{2i},\psi\right] + U_0\psi. \tag{3.7}$$

We take

$$\psi = I - \frac{\tilde{A}}{\lambda - \lambda_1^*}, \quad \text{where } \tilde{A} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{a} & \tilde{b} \\ \tilde{c} & \tilde{d} \end{pmatrix}, \ I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \lambda_1^* \text{-const.}$$
(3.8)

We substitute (3.8) to (3.7)

$$\psi_{x} = U_{0} - \frac{U_{0}\tilde{A}}{\lambda - \lambda_{1}^{*}} - \frac{1}{2i}[\sigma_{3}, \tilde{A}] - \frac{\lambda_{1}^{*}}{2i(\lambda - \lambda_{1}^{*})}[\sigma_{3}, \tilde{A}].$$
(3.9)

On the other side of (3.8) follows

$$\psi_x = -\frac{\tilde{A}_x}{\lambda - \lambda_1^*}.$$
(3.10)

From (3.9) and (3.10) we have

$$-\frac{\tilde{A}_x}{\lambda-\lambda_1^*} = U_0 - \frac{U_0\tilde{A}}{\lambda-\lambda_1^*} - \frac{1}{2i}[\sigma_3,\tilde{A}] - \frac{\lambda_1^*}{2i(\lambda-\lambda_1^*)}[\sigma_3,\tilde{A}].$$
(3.11)

Thus

$$\tilde{A}_x = U_0 \tilde{A} + \frac{\lambda_1^*}{2i} [\sigma_3, \tilde{A}], \quad U_0 = \frac{1}{2i} [\sigma_3, A].$$
 (3.12)

Note that

$$[\sigma_3, \tilde{A}] = \sigma_3 \tilde{A} - \tilde{A} \sigma_3 = 2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \tilde{b} \\ -\tilde{c} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.13)

Then substituting (3.13) into (3.28), we have

$$U_0 = \frac{1}{i} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \tilde{b} \\ -\tilde{c} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.14)

Substituting (3.13) to (3.12), we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{a}_x & \tilde{b}_x \\ \tilde{c}_x & \tilde{d}_x \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{i} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{b}\tilde{c} & \tilde{b}\tilde{d} \\ -\tilde{c}\tilde{a} & -\tilde{c}\tilde{b} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{\lambda_1^*}{i} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \tilde{b} \\ -\tilde{c} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.15)

From (2.6) and (3.14) we have

$$i\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{q} \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{i}\begin{pmatrix} 0 & b \\ -c & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \begin{cases} i\bar{q} = \frac{1}{i}b \\ iq = -\frac{1}{i}c \end{cases} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \begin{cases} b = -\bar{q} \\ c = q. \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

Thus we have found a matrix  $\tilde{A}$  implicitly, with components (3.15). From (3.15), (3.16) follows  $\tilde{a} = -\frac{i\tilde{c}_x}{c} - \lambda_1^* \Rightarrow \tilde{a} = -\frac{iq_x}{q} - \lambda_1^*$ . Using (3.2) we obtain

$$\tilde{a} = \frac{iu}{2} \operatorname{th} \left\{ \frac{u}{2} (x - vt - x_0) \right\} + \frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^*.$$
(3.17)

From (3.15) follows  $\tilde{a}_x = \frac{1}{i}\tilde{b}\tilde{c} \Rightarrow \tilde{a}_x = \frac{1}{i}(-\bar{q})q, \Rightarrow \tilde{a} = -\frac{1}{i}\int \bar{q}qdx$ . Using (3.2) we obtain

$$\tilde{a} = -\frac{2|Q|^2}{iu} \operatorname{th}\left\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\right\} - \frac{2|Q|^2 c_1}{iu}.$$
(3.18)

From (3.17), (3.18) follows

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{2|Q|^2}{iu} = \frac{iu}{2}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{2|Q|^2}{iu} = -\frac{iu}{2}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad 4|Q|^2 = u^2, \quad \Rightarrow \quad |Q|^2 = \frac{u^2}{4}, \\ \left(\frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^*\right) = -c_1 \frac{2|Q|^2}{iu}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad c_1 = -\frac{iu}{2|Q|^2} \left(\frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^*\right). \end{cases}$$
(3.19)

From (3.15), (3.16) follows

$$\tilde{d} = \frac{ib_x}{\tilde{b}} - \lambda_1^* \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{d} = \frac{i(-\bar{q})_x}{(-\bar{q})} - \lambda_1^* \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{d} = \frac{i\bar{q}_x}{\bar{q}} - \lambda_1^*. \tag{3.20}$$

Using (3.2) we have

$$\tilde{d} = -\frac{iu}{2} \operatorname{th} \left\{ \frac{u}{2} (x - vt - x_0) \right\} + \left( \frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^* \right).$$
(3.21)

From (3.15), (3.16) follows

$$\tilde{d}_x = -\frac{1}{i}\tilde{c}\tilde{b} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{d} = \frac{1}{i}\int q\bar{q}dx \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{d} = -\tilde{a}.$$
(3.22)

294

We denote  $c = c_1 \frac{2|Q|^2}{iu}$ . From (3.21), (3.22) follows

$$\begin{cases} \left(\frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^*\right) = c_1 \frac{2|Q|^2}{iu}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad c_1 = \frac{iu}{2|Q|^2} \left(\frac{v}{2} - \lambda_1^*\right), \\ \frac{2|Q|^2}{iu} = -\frac{iu}{2}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad 4|Q|^2 = u^2, \quad \Rightarrow \quad |Q|^2 = \frac{u^2}{4} \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

Taking into account c, (3.23), we obtain (3.18) in the form

$$\tilde{a} = -\frac{u}{2i} \operatorname{th} \left\{ \frac{u}{2} (x - vt - x_0) \right\} - c.$$
(3.24)

Thus, the matrix  $\tilde{A}$  for one-soliton solution (3.2) of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation takes the form

$$\tilde{A} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{u}{2i} \operatorname{th}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\} - c & -Q \frac{\exp\{-i(\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{\operatorname{ch}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}} \\ Q \frac{\exp\{i(\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{\operatorname{ch}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}} & \frac{u}{2i} \operatorname{th}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\} + c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.25)

Now we take  $\phi = I - \frac{A}{(\lambda - \overline{\lambda_1})^2}$ , where  $\lambda_1$  is constants, then from (3.1) we have

$$P = \phi^{-1}\phi_{\lambda} = \left(I + \frac{\tilde{A}}{\lambda - \lambda_1}\right) \frac{\tilde{A}}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda_1})^2}$$
(3.26)

On the other hand, we obtain

$$P = \sum_{j=1}^{3} P_j f_j = -\frac{i}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{3} P_j \sigma_j = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i}{2} P_3 & -\frac{i}{2} P_1 - \frac{1}{2} P_2 \\ -\frac{i}{2} P_1 + \frac{1}{2} P_2 & \frac{i}{2} P_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.27)

From (3.26), (3.27) by (3.22) we have  $P_3 = \frac{2i\tilde{a}}{(\lambda - \lambda_1)^2}$ . Now with the help of (3.24) we find  $P_3$  explicitly for solution of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation

$$P_3 = -\frac{4|Q|^2 c_1}{u(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2} - \frac{u \operatorname{th}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2}.$$
(3.28)

From (3.26), (3.27) we have  $P_2 = \frac{\tilde{c}-\tilde{b}}{(\lambda-\tilde{\lambda}_1)^2}$ . Thus  $P_1 = \frac{i(\tilde{c}+\tilde{b})}{(\lambda-\tilde{\lambda}_1)^2}$ ,  $P_2 = \frac{(\tilde{c}-\tilde{b})}{(\lambda-\tilde{\lambda}_1)^2}$ ,  $P_3 = \frac{2i\tilde{a}}{(\lambda-\tilde{\lambda}_1)^2}$ . From (3.26), (3.2) using the known formulas

$$\operatorname{sh} \zeta = \frac{e^{\zeta} - e^{-\zeta}}{2}; \qquad \operatorname{ch} \zeta = \frac{e^{\zeta} + e^{-\zeta}}{2}; \qquad (3.29)$$
$$\operatorname{cos} \zeta = \frac{e^{i\zeta} + e^{-i\zeta}}{2}; \qquad \operatorname{sin} \zeta = \frac{e^{i\zeta} - e^{-i\zeta}}{2i},$$

where  $\zeta = (\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})$  we obtain the explicit values of  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $P_3$  matrix P

$$P_{1} = -\frac{2Q\sin(\varphi_{0} + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^{2} - v^{2})}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{1})^{2}\operatorname{ch}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_{0})\}},$$

$$P_{2} = \frac{2Q\cos(\varphi_{0} + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^{2} - v^{2})}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{1})^{2}\operatorname{ch}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_{0})\}},$$

$$P_{3} = -\frac{4|Q|^{2}c_{1}}{u(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{1})^{2}} - \frac{u\operatorname{th}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_{0})\}}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{1})^{2}}.$$
(3.30)
(3.31)

Now we can calculate the coefficients on the first quadratic form i.e.

$$E = P_{1x}^2 + P_{2x}^2 + P_{3x}^2. aga{3.32}$$

For this, we compute  $P_{1x}$ ,  $P_{2x}$ ,  $P_{3x}$ . Now the first derivatives are raised separately to the 2nd power and substitute into (3.32), then

$$E = \frac{Q^2(u^2 + v^2)}{(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}}.$$

Similarly, according to the formulae  $F = P_{1x}P_{1t} + P_{2x}P_{2t} + P_{3x}P_{3t}$ ,  $G = P_{1t}^2 + P_{2t}^2 + P_{3t}^2$  we obtain the values

$$F = -\frac{v(u^2 + v^2)Q^2}{2(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$

$$G = \frac{Q^2(u^2 + v^2)^2}{4(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^2\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}}.$$
(3.33)

Now, using (3.30), (3.31) we calculate coefficients of the second form *L*, *M*, *N*. For this, we have to calculate

$$\mathbf{n} = \frac{\mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_t}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}, \quad \sqrt{\Lambda} = \sqrt{EG - F^2}.$$
(3.34)

Directly substituting the values of (3.30)–(3.31) to (3.34) we calculate the components vector **n**. Here we present the calculation

$$n_1 = -\frac{u^2(u^2 + v^2)Q\sin(\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{4\sqrt{\Lambda}(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^3\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}}.$$
(3.35)

$$n_2 = \frac{u^2(u^2 + v^2)Q\cos(\varphi_0 + \frac{vx}{2} + \frac{(u^2 - v^2)}{4}t - \frac{\pi}{2})}{4\sqrt{\Lambda}(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4 \operatorname{ch}^3\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}},$$
(3.36)

$$n_{3} = -\frac{Q^{2}u(u^{2} + v^{2})\operatorname{sh}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_{0})\}}{2\sqrt{\Lambda}(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{1})^{4}\operatorname{ch}^{3}\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_{0})\}}.$$
(3.37)

We calculate with the help of (3.33)

$$\sqrt{\Lambda} = \left(EG - F^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left\{\frac{Q^4(u^2 + v^2)^2 u^2}{4(\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^8 \operatorname{ch}^4\{\frac{u}{2}(x - vt - x_0)\}}\right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.38)

Now we find  $P_{1xx}$ ,  $P_{2xx}$ ,  $P_{3xx}$ . Then we can find *L*. By the similar way we calculate *M*, *N*. Now, using (3.38), (3.34) Gaussian and mean curvature *K* and *H* can be calculated

$$K = \frac{1}{4u^2} (1 - v^2) (\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^4, \qquad H = \frac{1}{2u^3} (v^2 - u^2 - 1) (\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_1)^2.$$
(3.39)

Now, from (2.4), (2.5) using (3.1) for the case  $\gamma_0$ ,  $M_1 = 0$  we have coefficients of the first fundamental form corresponding to (3.2) as  $E = \frac{1}{4}$ ,  $F = -\frac{\lambda}{2}$ ,  $G = \lambda^2 + \bar{q}q$ . Respectively, from (2.8)–(2.10) using (3.1), we have coefficients of the second quadratic form. Now we can calculate  $\Lambda = EG - F^2 = \frac{1}{4}\bar{q}q$ . Theorem is proved.  $\Box$ 

#### 4 Conclusion

Thus, we have examined the soliton immersion in (1 + 1)-dimension and obtained the corresponding formulae. As an example of such immersion we consider (1 + 1)dimensional nonlinear Schrödinger equation. It is found integrable surface corresponding to the one-soliton solution of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation given by the first and second quadratic forms with coefficients (3.3)–(3.5). We have calculated the Gaussian and mean curvature of found surface. We see, that the geometric equation describing the *n*-curvilinear coordinate systems in flat Euclidean and pseudo-Euclidean space allow some integrable reductions. In addition, we have assumed that immersion 3- and 4-dimensional manifolds arbitrarily embedded in  $R^{\mu}$ admit integrable cases.

#### References

- O. Ceyhan, A.S. Fokas, M. Gurses, Deformations of surfaces associated with integrable Gauss– Mainardi–Codazzi equations. J. Math. Phys. 41, 2251–2270 (2000)
- 2. M. Lakshmanan, R. Myrzakulov, et al., Motion of curves and surfaces and nonlinear evolution equations in (2 + 1)-dimensions. J. Math. Phys. **39**, 3765–3771 (1998)
- C.S. Gardner, J.M. Greene, M.D. Kruskal, R.M. Miura, Method for solving the Korteweg–de Vries equation. Phys. Rev. Lett. 19, 1095–1097 (1967)

# Blow-Up for Nonlinear Inequalities with Singularities on Unbounded Sets

**Evgeny Galakhov and Olga Salieva** 

**Abstract** Many physical phenomena are described by nonlinear equations and inequalities with singular coefficients, for which blow-up situation occurs. In this paper we establish sufficient conditions of blow-up situation for some classes of nonlinear differential inequalities with singularities on unbounded sets.

Keywords Nonlinear differential inequality · Blow-up · Singularity

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35J60 · Secondary 35K55

#### 1 Introduction

A blow-up situation is growth of a solution of a differential equation or inequality towards infinity in the neighborhood of finite values of the argument. The theory of blow-up of solutions to nonlinear differential equations is used for prediction of many disastrous events in physics and technology, such as crash of buildings [1] and phase transitions in the Ginzburg–Landau–Allen–Cahn model [2].

Most known results in the blow-up theory have to do with differential equations of the second order. A method for investigating blow-up for a wider class of problems by using asymptotic a priori estimates was developed by S. Pohozaev and E. Mitidieri [1, 3].

In this paper we obtain sufficient conditions for a blow-up situation to occur for several classes of equations and inequalities that have singular coefficients on unbounded sets, such as lines, planes, smooth curves and surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

E. Galakhov (🖂)

O. Salieva

Moscow State Technological University "Stankin", Vadkovsky pereulok 1, 127994 Moscow, Russia

e-mail: olga.a.salieva@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was partially supported by grants RFBR 11-01-00348-a, RFBR 11-01-12018-ofi-m-2011, and NSh-6431.2012.1.

Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, Ul. Miklukho-Maklaya 6, 117198 Moscow, Russia e-mail: galakhov@rambler.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_35

#### 2 Main Results

Let  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a closed unbounded set.

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Denote  $\rho(x) = \text{dist}(x, S)$  and  $S^{\varepsilon} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \rho(x, S) < \varepsilon\}$ . Suppose that there exists a family of functions  $\xi_R \in C_0^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; [0, 1])$  such that

$$\xi_R(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \left(x \in S^{\frac{1}{2R}} \cup \left(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S^{2R}\right)\right), \\ 1 & \left(x \in S^R \setminus S^{\frac{1}{R}}\right) \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

and there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\left| D^{\alpha} \xi_{R}(x) \right| \le c \rho^{-|\alpha|} \quad \left( x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \right).$$
(2.2)

*Example* As the set *S* we can consider a hyperplane  $S = \Pi_n = \{x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : x_n = 0\}$ . In that case we can choose  $\xi_R(x) = \tilde{\xi}_R(x_n)$ , where

$$\tilde{\xi}_{\frac{1}{R}}(x_n) = \begin{cases} 0 & \left( |x_n| \le \frac{1}{2R} \text{ or } |x_n| \ge 2R \right), \\ 1 & \left( \frac{1}{R} \le |x_n| \le R \right). \end{cases}$$

For definiteness, we formulate our results in special cases, namely for inequalities

$$(-\Delta)^{k} u \ge u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus S),$$
(2.3)

$$(-\Delta)^{k} u \ge |Du|^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \quad \left(x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus S\right)$$
(2.4)

with some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $q, \beta > 0$ .

Our main results for problems (2.3)–(2.4) can be formulated as follows.

**Theorem 2.1** Let q > 1 and  $n + \frac{|\alpha - 2kq| - \beta}{q} \le 0$ . Then problem (2.3) has no nonnegative nontrivial solutions  $u \in L^q_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S)$ .

**Theorem 2.2** Let q > 1 and  $n + \frac{|\alpha - (2k-1)q| - \beta}{q} \le 0$ . Then problem (2.4) has no nontrivial solutions  $u \in W^{1,q}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S)$ .

A nonexistence result also takes place for an evolution inequality

$$u_t - (-\Delta)^k u \ge u^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \quad \left(x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; t \in \mathbb{R}_+\right)$$
(2.5)

with an initial condition

$$u(x,0) = u_0(x) \ge 0 \quad \left(x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S\right).$$
(2.6)

We assume that the initial function  $u_0 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S)$ .

A typical result for problem (2.5), (2.6) can be formulated as follows.

**Theorem 2.3** Let q > 1,  $\alpha > 2kq$  and  $n + 2k + \frac{\alpha - 2kq - \beta}{q} \le 0$ .

Then problem (2.5), (2.6) has no nonnegative nontrivial solutions  $u \in L^q_{loc}((\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S) \times [0, T])$  for any T > 0.

*Remark 2.4* Nonexistence of solutions to (2.5), (2.6) is called *instantaneous blow-up*.

#### 3 Proof of Theorem 2.1

We introduce a family of test functions  $\varphi = \varphi_R \in C_0^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; [0, 1])$  of the form

$$\varphi_R(x) = \xi_R^{\kappa}(x) \psi_R^{\kappa}(x)$$

with  $\kappa > 2kq'$ ,  $\xi_R \in C_0^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; [0, 1])$  that satisfy (2.1) and (2.2), and  $\psi_R \in C_0^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^n; [0, 1])$  such that

$$\psi_R(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & (|x| \le R), \\ 0 & (|x| \ge 2R), \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

such that for some constant c > 0 one has

$$\left| D^{\alpha} \psi_{R}(x) \right| \le c R^{-|\alpha|} \quad \left( x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \right)$$
(3.2)

for all multi-indices  $\alpha$  with  $0 \le |\alpha| \le 2k$ .

The structure of these test functions allows to get rid of singularities both on *S* and at infinity.

Now suppose that a solution u of (2.3) does exist. Multiplying both sides of (2.3) by  $\varphi_R$  and integrating by parts 2k times, we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} \, dx \\ &\leq \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} u(-\Delta)^{k} \varphi_{R} \, dx \leq \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} u \left| \Delta^{k} \varphi_{R} \right| dx \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \cdot \left( \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| \Delta^{k} \varphi_{R} \right|^{q'} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q'}}, \end{split}$$

whence

$$\int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_R} u^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \varphi_R \, dx \leq \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_R} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| \Delta^k \varphi_R \right|^{q'} \varphi_R^{1-q'} \, dx.$$

Denote  $A_R = (S^R \setminus S^{\frac{1}{R}}) \cap B_R(0)$ . Due to the choice of  $\varphi_R$ , we can restrict the domains of integration on both sides of the inequality:

$$\int_{A_R} u^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \varphi_R \, dx \le \int_{A_{2R}} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| \Delta^k \varphi_R \right|^{q'} \varphi_R^{1-q'} \, dx.$$

Note that  $\varphi_R \equiv 1$  in the whole domain of integration on the left-hand side. Using conditions (2.2) and (3.2), we obtain

$$\int_{A_R} u^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \, dx \le c R^{n + \frac{|\alpha - 2kq| - \beta}{q}},$$

which leads to a contradiction as  $R \to \infty$ , if the exponent on the right-hand side is negative. The case of a zero exponent is considered in a standard way (see [1]).

*Remark 3.1* This result can be extended to a wider class of stationary higher order differential operators with constant or variable coefficients, including systems of the form

$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^k u \ge v^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta & (x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S), \\ (-\Delta)^l v \ge u^p \rho^{-\gamma} |x|^\delta & (x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S) \end{cases}$$

with appropriate parameters  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}, p, q > 1, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 4 Proof of Theorem 2.2

To prove Theorem 2.2, we take  $\varphi = \varphi_R \in C_0^{2k-1}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; [0, 1])$  of the same form as in the previous section, with  $\kappa > (2k-1)q'$ ,  $\xi_R \in C_0^{2k-1}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus S; [0, 1])$ , which satisfy (2.1) and (2.2), and  $\psi_R \in C_0^{2k-1}(\mathbb{R}^n; [0, 1])$ , which satisfy (3.1) and (3.2). It suffices that estimates (2.2) and (3.2) hold for  $0 \le |\alpha| \le 2k - 1$ .

Assume that a nontrivial (not constant a.e.) solution u of (2.4) does exist. Multiplying both sides of (2.4) by  $\varphi_R$  and integrating by parts 2k - 1 times, we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} |Du|^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} dx \\ &\leq \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} \left( Du, D\left( (-\Delta)^{k-1} \varphi_{R} \right) \right) dx \\ &\leq \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} |Du| \cdot \left| D\left( \Delta^{k-1} \varphi_{R} \right) \right| dx \leq \left( \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} |Du|^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\times \left( \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_{R}} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| D\left( \Delta^{k-1} \varphi_{R} \right) \right|^{q'} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q'}}, \end{split}$$

whence

$$\int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_R} |Du|^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \varphi_R \, dx \le \int_{\operatorname{supp}\varphi_R} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| D\left(\Delta^{k-1}\varphi_R\right) \right|^{q'} \varphi_R^{1-q'} \, dx.$$

Due to the choice of  $\varphi_R$ , we can restrict the domains of integration on both sides of the inequality:

$$\int_{A_R} |Du|^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \varphi_R \, dx \le \int_{A_{2R}} \rho^{\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{-\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \left| D\left(\Delta^{k-1} \varphi_R\right) \right|^{q'} \varphi_R^{1-q'} \, dx.$$

Note that  $\varphi_R \equiv 1$  in the whole domain of integration on the left-hand side. Using conditions (2.2) and (3.2), we obtain

$$\int_{A_R} |Du|^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \, dx \le c R^{n + \frac{|\alpha - (2k-1)q| - \beta}{q}},$$

which leads to a contradiction as  $R \to \infty$ , if the exponent on the right-hand side is negative. The case of a zero exponent is considered in a standard way.

*Remark 4.1* This result can be extended to a wider class of stationary higher order differential operators with constant or variable coefficients, including systems of the form

$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^k u \ge |Dv|^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta & (x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S), \\ (-\Delta)^l v \ge |Du|^p \rho^{-\gamma} |x|^\delta & (x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S) \end{cases}$$

with appropriate parameters  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}, p, q > 1, \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 5 Proof of Theorem 2.3

For the Cauchy problem (2.5), (2.6) we introduce two families of test functions, namely  $\varphi_R(x)$  in space variables and  $T_{\tau}(t)$  in time. Here  $\varphi_R(x)$  is defined as in the previous sections, and  $T_{\tau} \in C^1([0, \tau]; [0, 1])$  with  $\tau > 0$  are such that

$$T_{\tau}(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & (0 \le t \le \tau/2), \\ 0 & (3\tau/4 \le t \le \tau) \end{cases}$$

and, moreover,

$$\int_{\tau/2}^{3\tau/4} \frac{|T_{\tau}'|^{q'}}{|T_{\tau}|^{q'-1}} dt \le c\tau^{1-q'}$$
(5.1)

with some constant c > 0.

Multiplying both sides of (2.5) by  $\varphi_R(x)T_\tau(t)$  and integrating by parts, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_+} T_\tau dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^q \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^\beta \varphi_R dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_0 \varphi_R dx$$

E. Galakhov and O. Salieva

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} T_{\tau} dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u(-\Delta)^{k} \varphi_{R} dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} T_{\tau}' dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u \varphi_{R} dx$$
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} T_{\tau} dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u |\Delta^{k} \varphi_{R}| dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} |T_{\tau}'| dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u \varphi_{R} dx.$$

Applying the parametric Young inequality to both terms on the right, we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} T_{\tau} dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u_{0} \varphi_{R} dx$$

$$\leq c_{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} T_{\tau} dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \Delta^{k} \varphi_{R} \right|^{q'} \rho^{-\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} dx$$

$$+ c_{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \left| T_{\tau}' \right|^{q'} T_{\tau}^{1-q'} dt \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \rho^{-\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} dx$$

with some constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$ .

Due to the choice of  $\varphi_R(x)$  and  $T_\tau(t)$ , we can restrict domains of integration on both sides of the inequality:

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{2\tau} T_{\tau} dt \int_{A_{R}} u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} \varphi_{R} dx + \int_{A_{R}} u_{0} \varphi_{R} dx$$
  
$$\leq c_{1} \int_{0}^{2\tau} T_{\tau} dt \int_{A_{2R}} \left| \Delta^{k} \varphi_{R} \right|^{q'} \rho^{-\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} dx$$
  
$$+ c_{2} \int_{\tau}^{2\tau} \left| T_{\tau}' \right|^{q'} T_{\tau}^{1-q'} dt \int_{A_{2R}} \rho^{-\frac{\alpha q'}{q}} |x|^{\frac{\beta q'}{q}} \varphi_{R}^{1-q'} dx.$$

Note that the second term on the left-hand side of the inequality is nonnegative and  $\varphi_R(x) \equiv 1$  in the whole domain of integration. Using conditions (2.2) and (5.1), we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{2\tau} T_{\tau} dt \int_{A_{R}} u^{q} \rho^{-\alpha} |x|^{\beta} dx \le c R^{n + \frac{\beta - \alpha}{q - 1}} \tau \left( \tau^{-\frac{q}{q - 1}} + R^{\frac{2kq}{q - 1}} \right).$$
(5.2)

It is easily seen that the right-hand side of (5.2) attains its minimum at

$$\tau = cR^{-2k}.\tag{5.3}$$

Substituting (5.3) into (5.2) and taking  $R \to \infty$ , we reach a contradiction.

#### **6** Conclusion

We have proven the main results formulated in Sect. 2 on blow-up conditions for stationary and evolutional semilinear differential inequalities of higher order with

respect to the space variables, as well as for quasilinear elliptic differential inequalities of the second order.

Similarly we can obtain blow-up conditions for other classes of differential inequalities, such as:

- Semilinear and quasilinear elliptic systems.
- Elliptic inequalities with gradient terms.
- More general evolutional differential inequalities, etc.

#### References

- 1. S. Pohozaev, Critical nonlinearities in partial differential equations. Milan J. Math. 9, 127–150 (2009)
- V.O. Savin, B. Sciunzi, E. Valdinoci, Flat level set regularity of p-Laplace phase transition. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 182, 1–144 (2006)
- 3. E. Mitidieri, S. Pohozaev, A priori estimates and nonexistence of solutions of nonlinear partial differential equations and inequalities. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. **234**, 1–383 (2001)

# Well-Posedness and Stability of a Mindlin–Timoshenko Plate Model with Damping and Sources

Pei Pei, Mohammad A. Rammaha, and Daniel Toundykov

**Abstract** This note gives a concise summary of results concerning the wellposedness and long-time behavior of (Reissner)–Mindlin–Timoshenko plate equations as presented in Pei et al. (Local and global well-posedness for semilinear Reissner–Mindlin–Timoshenko plate equations, 2013 and Global well-posedness and stability of semilinear Mindlin–Timoshenko system, 2013). The main feature of the considered model is the interplay between nonlinear viscous interior damping and nonlinear source terms. The results include Hadamard local well-posedness, global existence, blow-up theorems, as well as estimates on the uniform energy decay rates.

Keywords Plate · Mindlin–Timoshenko · Reissner–Mindlin · Source · Damping · Local existence · Global existence · Blow-up · Potential well · Stability · Stability · Energy decay

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 35L71 · Secondary 74K20 · 35A01 · 35B44 · 35B35

## **1** Introduction

The classical Euler–Bernoulli beam theory and its Kirchhoff–Love plate counterpart are of limited accuracy when describing high-frequency vibrations or when the deflections are relatively large with respect to the thickness of the plate. A linear refinement on the beam model was developed around 1920 by Timoshenko (see e.g.

e-mail: s-ppei1@math.unl.edu

M.A. Rammaha e-mail: mrammaha1@unl.edu

D. Toundykov e-mail: dtoundykov@unl.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_36

P. Pei (🖂) · M.A. Rammaha · D. Toundykov

Department of Mathematics, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, P.O. 880130, Lincoln, NE 68588, USA

[11]) and accounts for shear deformations. About thirty years later Mindlin [5] derived a generalization for plate models (an analogous though somewhat different theory had also been proposed earlier by Reissner [10] in 1945). A large body of research literature has been devoted to Reissner–Mindlin–Timoshenko (RMT) plates (e.g. see [1, 2, 6] and the many references therein); however, the study of interaction between nonlinear sources and damping, rather common to the research on wave problems, has not been addressed so thoroughly in the context of the RMT plates. These questions were recently investigated in [8, 9] and the purpose of this note is to provide a concise summary of the new results.

#### 1.1 The Model

Let the open bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  of class  $C^2$  represent the mid-surface of a plate in the state of an equilibrium. The deformation is quantified by vector  $u = (w, \psi, \phi)$  dependent on the coordinate  $\mathbf{x} = (x, y) \in \Omega$  and time  $t \ge 0$ . The component  $w = w(t, \mathbf{x})$  represents the out-of-plane displacement, whereas  $\psi = \psi(t, \mathbf{x})$ and  $\phi = \phi(t, \mathbf{x})$  quantify shear deformations and are proportional to the angles of the linearized filaments. At the principal level, the model is comprised of a scalar wave equation for w and a 2D system of elasticity for  $(\psi, \phi)$  (see e.g. [4, pp. 25– 26]):

$$\begin{cases} \rho h w_{tt} - D\Delta w - K(\psi_x + \phi_y) + g_1(w_t) = f_1(w, \psi, \phi), \\ \text{in } Q_T := \Omega \times (0, T), \\ \rho h \psi_{tt} - D\left(\psi_{xx} + \frac{1 - \mu}{2}\psi_{yy} + \frac{1 + \mu}{2}\phi_{xy}\right) + K(\psi + w_x) + g_2(\psi_t) \\ = f_2(w, \psi, \phi), \quad \text{in } Q_T, \\ \rho h \phi_{tt} - D\left(\frac{1 - \mu}{2}\phi_{xx} + \phi_{yy} + \frac{1 + \mu}{2}\psi_{xy}\right) + K(\phi + w_y) + g_3(\phi_t) \\ = f_3(w, \psi, \phi), \quad \text{in } Q_T, \\ w = \psi = \phi = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma \times (0, T), \quad \text{where } 0 < \mu < 1/2. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

The initial data  $(u(0), u_t(0))$  comes from the associated *finite energy space* described later. The positive constants  $\rho$ , h, D, and K depend on the material of the plate. We will set these parameters to 1 throughout the paper as their magnitude does not affect the well-posedness analysis. The parameter  $0 < \mu < 1/2$  stands for the Poisson's ratio and its value will not be normalized since it plays a central role in the positivity of the associated stress operator. The scalar feedback maps  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$ ,  $f_3$  represent the source terms, while feedbacks  $g_1$ ,  $g_2$ ,  $g_3$  could be regarded as viscous damping or stabilizing interior controls.

#### **1.2 Function Spaces and Solutions**

For scalar-valued functions on  $\Omega$  we will use the following norms and inner products:

$$||w||_{s} := ||w||_{L^{s}(\Omega)}, \quad (v, w)_{\Omega} := (v, w)_{L^{2}(\Omega)}.$$

Similarly, for  $u = (w, \psi, \phi)$  and  $\tilde{u} = (\tilde{w}, \tilde{\psi}, \tilde{\phi})$  we will employ the notation:

$$(u, \tilde{u})_{\Omega} := (w, \tilde{w})_{\Omega} + (\psi, \tilde{\psi})_{\Omega} + (\phi, \tilde{\phi})_{\Omega},$$
$$\|u\|_{s} := \left(\|w\|_{s}^{s} + \|\psi\|_{s}^{s} + \|\phi\|_{s}^{s}\right)^{\frac{1}{s}}.$$

Let

$$V := (H_0^1(\Omega))^3$$
 and  $\mathbb{H} := V \times (L^2(\Omega))^3$ .

As a consequence of Korn's inequality the space V is a Hilbert space equipped with an with an equivalent inner product (e.g. see [9])

$$(u, \tilde{u})_{V} = \int_{\Omega} \left( (1 - \mu)(\psi_{x}\tilde{\psi}_{x} + \phi_{y}\tilde{\phi}_{y}) + \mu(\psi_{x} + \phi_{y})(\tilde{\psi}_{x} + \tilde{\phi}_{y}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1 - \mu}{2}(\psi_{y} + \phi_{x})(\tilde{\psi}_{y} + \tilde{\phi}_{x}) \right) d\mathbf{x} + (w_{x} + \psi, \tilde{w}_{x} + \tilde{\psi})_{\Omega} \\ \left. + (w_{y} + \phi, \tilde{w}_{y} + \tilde{\phi})_{\Omega}.$$
(1.2)

We equip the *finite energy space*  $\mathbb{H}$  with the corresponding graph norm and inner product. In addition, define:

$$\mathscr{G}(u_t) = (g_1(w_t), g_2(\psi_t), g_3(\phi_t)), \qquad \mathscr{F}(u) = (f_1(u), f_2(u), f_3(u)).$$
(1.3)

We will also make use of the following concept:

**Definition 1.1** (Linearly bounded) A function  $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  will be said to be *linearly bounded near the origin* if there exist  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$c_1|s| \le |\gamma(s)| \le c_2|s| \quad \text{for all } |s| < 1.$$

$$(1.4)$$

Now we are ready to formulate the notion of a weak solution to our problem:

**Definition 1.2** (Weak solution) A function  $u \in H^1(0, T; V)$  is said to be a weak solution of (1.1) on [0, T] if:

•  $(u, u_t) \in C([0, T]; \mathbb{H})$  and

$$u_t \in L^{m+1}(Q_T) \times L^{r+1}(Q_T) \times L^{q+1}(Q_T);$$

• in addition *u* satisfies

$$(u_t(t), \theta(t))_{\Omega} - (u_t(0), \theta(0))_{\Omega} + \int_0^t (-(u_t(\tau), \theta_t(\tau))_{\Omega} + (u(\tau), \theta(\tau))_V) d\tau + \int_0^t (\mathscr{G}(u_t), \theta)_{\Omega} d\tau = \int_0^t (\mathscr{F}(u), \theta)_{\Omega} d\tau,$$
(1.5)

for all  $t \in [0, T]$  and all test functions  $\theta$  in the space

$$\Theta := \left\{ \theta \in C([0,T]; V), \ \theta_t \in L^1(0,T; \left[L^2(\Omega)\right]^3) \right\}.$$

#### 2 Assumptions and Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Properties of the Nonlinear Terms

Assumption 2.1 (Well-posedness assumptions)

• **Damping:**  $g_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2, 3$ , are continuous, monotone increasing functions with  $g_i(0) = 0$ . In addition, there exist positive constants  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  such that for all  $|s| \ge 1$ ,

$$\alpha |s|^{p_i+1} \le g_i(s)s \le \beta |s|^{p_i+1}, \tag{2.1}$$

with  $p_i \ge 1$  where  $p_1 = m$ ,  $p_2 = r$ ,  $p_3 = q$ .

• Sources:  $f_j \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , j = 1, 2, 3, and there are constants C > 0,  $p \ge 1$  such that for all  $(w, \psi, \phi) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ 

$$|\nabla f_j(w,\psi,\phi)| \le C(|w|^{p-1} + |\psi|^{p-1} + |\phi|^{p-1} + 1).$$

Assumption 2.2 (Additional conditions for blow-up results) Suppose there exists a nonnegative function  $F(w, \psi, \phi) \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  such that for some  $\alpha_0 > 0$ ,  $c_1 > 2$  and all  $u = (w, \psi, \phi) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ ,

$$f_{1}(u) = \partial_{w} F(u), \qquad f_{2}(u) = \partial_{\psi} F(u), \qquad f_{3}(u) = \partial_{\phi} F(u),$$
  

$$F(u) \ge \alpha_{0} (|w|^{p+1} + |\psi|^{p+1} + |\phi|^{p+1}), \qquad (2.2)$$
  

$$u \cdot \nabla F(u) \ge c_{1} F(u).$$

*Remark 2.3* There is a large class of functions satisfying Assumption 2.2. For instance, those of the form

$$F(w,\psi,\phi) = a|w+\psi|^{p+1} + b|w\psi|^{\frac{p+1}{2}} + c|\phi|^{p+1},$$
(2.3)

where a, b, c are positive constants and  $p \ge 3$ .

#### 2.2 Potential Well

Here, we introduce the *potential energy functional J* and highlight its connections with system (1.1) and the Mountain Pass Theorem. The potential well theory of Payne and Sattinger [7] will then be formulated for the problem in question.

Assumption 2.4 (Potential well solutions) There exists a nonnegative function  $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  that satisfies (2.2) and furthermore is homogeneous of order p + 1, i.e.,

$$F(\lambda u) = \lambda^{p+1} F(u), \text{ for all } \lambda > 0, \ u \in \mathbb{R}^3$$

*Remark 2.5* The function in (2.3) would be an example of such an *F*.

Define the **potential energy** functional  $J: V \to \mathbb{R}$  as

$$J(u) := \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{V}^{2} - \int_{\Omega} F(u) d\mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.4)

The *total energy* of the system (1.1) will be defined as follows

$$\mathscr{E}(t) := \frac{1}{2} \left( \|u\|_{V}^{2} + \|u_{t}\|_{2}^{2} \right) - \int_{\Omega} F(u(t)) d\mathbf{x},$$
(2.5)

and so,  $\mathscr{E}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \|u_t(t)\|_2^2 + J(u(t))$ . As [8] demonstrates, the Fréchet derivative of J at  $u \in V$  is given by:  $D_u J(\theta) = (u, \theta)_V - \int_{\Omega} \mathscr{F}(u) \cdot \theta d\mathbf{x}$ , for all  $\theta \in V$ , (where  $\mathscr{F}$  is given in (1.3)), which implies that the critical points of the functional J are the weak solutions to the elliptic problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta w - (\psi_x + \phi_y) = f_1(w, \psi, \phi), & \text{in } Q_T, \\ -\left(\psi_{xx} + \frac{1-\mu}{2}\psi_{yy}\right) - \frac{1+\mu}{2}\phi_{xy} + (\psi + w_x) = f_2(w, \psi, \phi), & \text{in } Q_T, \\ -\left(\frac{1-\mu}{2}\phi_{xx} + \phi_{yy}\right) - \frac{1+\mu}{2}\psi_{xy} + (\phi + w_y) = f_3(w, \psi, \phi), & \text{in } Q_T. \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

Associated with the functional J is the Nehari manifold

$$\mathcal{N} := \left\{ u \in V \setminus \{0\} : D_u J(u) = 0 \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ u \in V \setminus \{0\} : \|u\|_V^2 = (p+1) \int_{\Omega} F(u) d\mathbf{x} \right\}$$

It follows from [3, Lemma 4.2.1] that *J* fulfills the hypothesis of the Mountain Pass Theorem, moreover, the *mountain pass level d* :=  $\inf_{u \in \mathcal{N}} J(u)$  satisfies:

**Lemma 2.6** In addition to Assumptions 2.1 and 2.4, further assume that p > 1 then

$$d := \inf_{u \in \mathscr{N}} J(u) = \inf_{u \in V \setminus \{0\}} \sup_{\lambda \ge 0} J(\lambda u) > 0.$$

We also introduce the following sets:

$$\mathcal{W} := \left\{ u \in V : J(u) < d \right\};$$
  
$$\mathcal{W}_1 := \left\{ u \in \mathcal{W} : \left\| u \right\|_V^2 > (p+1) \int_{\Omega} F(u) d\mathbf{x} \right\} \cup \{0\};$$
  
$$\mathcal{W}_2 := \left\{ u \in \mathcal{W} : \left\| u \right\|_V^2 < (p+1) \int_{\Omega} F(u) d\mathbf{x} \right\}.$$
  
(2.7)

Clearly,  $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 = \emptyset$ , and  $\mathscr{W}_1 \cup \mathscr{W}_2 = \mathscr{W}$ . We refer to  $\mathscr{W}$  as the **potential well** and *d* as the *depth* of the well. The set  $\mathscr{W}_1$  can be formally regarded as the "good" part of the well, as it will be shown that every weak solution starting therein exists globally provided initial energy is under the level *d*. On the other hand, if the initial data are taken from  $\mathscr{W}_2$  and the source exponents dominate those of the damping, then solutions with nonnegative initial energy  $\mathscr{E}(0)$  may blow up in finite time.

Due to some technicalities in the proofs, the following approximation of the "good" part of the potential well is useful. Let  $\mathcal{G}(s) := \frac{1}{2}s^2 - MRs^{p+1}$ , where the constant M > 0 only depends on F from Assumption 2.4. If p > 1, a straightforward calculation shows that  $\mathcal{G}$  attains its absolute maximum on  $[0, \infty)$  at the unique critical point:  $s_0 = ((p+1)MR)^{1/(1-p)}$ . For sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ , we can define a closed subset of  $\mathcal{W}_1$ , given by

$$\tilde{\mathscr{W}}_{1}^{\delta} := \{ u \in V : \|u\|_{V} \le s_{0} - \delta, J(u) \le \mathcal{G}(s_{0} - \delta) \}.$$
(2.8)

#### **3** Theorems

**Theorem 3.1** (Local well-posedness [9]) Suppose Assumption 2.1 holds, then for any initial condition  $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathbb{H}$ , there exists a **unique local** weak solution u to (1.1) defined on [0, T], for some T > 0 dependent on the initial quadratic energy E(0) which is defined via  $E(t) := \frac{1}{2}(||u||_V^2 + ||u_t||_2^2) = \frac{1}{2}||(u, u_t)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2$ . The solution u satisfies the following energy identity for all  $t \in [0, T]$ :

$$E(t) + \int_0^t \left( \mathscr{G}(u_t), u_t \right)_{\Omega} d\tau = E(0) + \int_0^t \left( \mathscr{F}(u), u_t \right)_{\Omega} d\tau.$$
(3.1)

Furthermore, weak solutions depend continuously in  $C([0, T]; \mathbb{H})$  on the initial data in  $\mathbb{H}$ .

**Theorem 3.2** (Global solution [9]) Assume the validity of Assumption 2.1. If, in addition,  $p \le \min\{m, r, q\}$ , then the said solution u in Theorem 3.1 is global in the sense that T can be chosen arbitrarily large.

**Theorem 3.3** (Blow-up in finite time [9]) Suppose Assumptions 2.1 and 2.2 hold. If  $p > \max\{m, r, q\}$  and  $\mathscr{E}(0) < 0$ , then any weak solution u to (1.1) furnished by Theorem 3.1 blows up in finite time in the sense that  $\limsup_{t\to T^-} E(t) = \infty$  for some  $T < \infty$ . **Theorem 3.4** (Global potential well Solutions [8]) In addition to Assumption 2.1 and Assumption 2.4, further assume  $u(0) \in \mathcal{W}_1$  and  $\mathcal{E}(0) < d$ . If p > 1, then the unique weak solution u provided by Theorem 3.1 is a global solution. Furthermore, if  $\rho = \frac{p+1}{p-1}$ , then for all  $t \ge 0$  we have:

- (i)  $J(u(t)) \le \mathscr{E}(t) \le \mathscr{E}(0)$ (ii)  $u(t) \in \mathscr{W}_1$
- (iii)  $E(t) < d \cdot \rho$
- (iv)  $\rho^{-1}E(t) \le \mathscr{E}(t) \le E(t)$

**Theorem 3.5** (Potential well blow-up [8]) Suppose Assumptions 2.1, 2.2, and 2.4 hold. Further assume  $p > \max\{m, r, q\}, 0 \le \mathscr{E}(0) < d$ , and  $u(0) \in \mathscr{W}_2$ , then any weak solution u blows up in finite time.

**Theorem 3.6** (Uniform stabilization rates [8]) In addition to Assumptions 2.1, 2.4 suppose that  $p > 1, u_0 \in L^{m+1}(\Omega) \times L^{r+1}(\Omega) \times L^{q+1}(\Omega), u_0 \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_1^{\delta}$ , as defined in (2.8), and  $\mathscr{E}(0) < \mathcal{G}(s_0 - \delta)$  for some  $\delta > 0$ . Let  $\varphi_j : [0, \infty) \mapsto [0, \infty)$  be continuous strictly increasing concave functions vanishing at the origin such that

$$\varphi_j(g_j(s)s) \ge |g_j(s)|^2 + s^2 \quad \text{for } |s| < 1, \ j = 1, 2, 3.$$

Define

$$\Phi(s) := \varphi_1(s) + \varphi_2(s) + \varphi_3(s) + s, \quad s \ge 0.$$
(3.2)

Then, for any T > 0 there exists a concave increasing map  $H = (I + \tilde{C}\Phi)^{-1}$ , where  $\tilde{C} = \tilde{C}(T, \mathscr{E}(0))$  (instead of dependence on  $\mathscr{E}(0)$  one may use dependence on  $d \cdot \rho$ ) such that  $\rho^{-1}E(t) \leq \mathscr{E}(t) \leq S(T^{-1}t - 1)$  for all  $t \geq T$ , where scalar function S satisfies the nonlinear monotone *ODE* 

$$S'(t) + H(S(t)) = 0, \quad S(0) = \mathscr{E}(0).$$
 (3.3)

Here are some explicit examples of these energy decay rates:

**Corollary 3.7** (Exponential decay [8]) Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3.6, if  $g_1, g_2, and g_3$  are linearly bounded near the origin, then  $H(s) = \omega s$  for some  $\omega = \omega(T, \mathcal{E}(0)) > 0$  and the total energy  $\mathcal{E}(t)$  and quadratic energy E(t) decay exponentially:

$$\rho^{-1}E(t) \le \mathscr{E}(t) \le C\mathscr{E}(0)e^{-(\omega/T)t}, \quad \text{for some } C > 0 \text{ and all } t \ge 0.$$
(3.4)

Here  $\omega = [1 + C_2(1 + \mathcal{E}(0)^{p-1})]^{-1}$  with  $C, C_2 > 0$  independent of  $\mathcal{E}(0)$ .

**Corollary 3.8** (Algebraic decay [8]) Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3.6, if at least one of the feedback mapping  $g_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 is not linearly bounded near the

origin and instead for |s| < 1 is bounded above and below by functions of the form  $c_i |s|^{\gamma_i}$  some  $c_i > 0$ ,  $\gamma_i > 0$ , then there exists  $t_0 > 0$  such that

$$E(t) \le \left(\mathscr{E}(0)^{-1/b} + Ct\right)^{-b}, \text{ for some } C, b > 0 \text{ and all } t \ge t_0,$$
 (3.5)

where *b* is independent of  $\mathscr{E}(0)$ , while  $C = \left(\frac{C_3}{1+\mathscr{E}(0)^{p-1}}\right)^{\frac{b+1}{b}}$ 

#### References

- G. Avalos, D. Toundykov, Boundary stabilization of structural acoustic interactions with interface on a Reissner–Mindlin plate. Nonlinear Anal., Real World Appl. 12, 2985–3013 (2011)
- M. Grobbelaar-Van Dalsen, Strong stabilization of models incorporating the thermoelastic Reissner–Mindlin plate equations with second sound. Appl. Anal. 90, 1419–1449 (2011)
- Y. Guo, Systems of Nonlinear Wave Equations with Damping and Supercritical Sources (Pro-Quest LLC, Ann Arbor, 2012). Ph.D. Thesis, The University of Nebraska-Lincoln
- J.E. Lagnese, *Boundary Stabilization of Thin Plates*. SIAM Studies in Applied Mathematics, vol. 10 (SIAM, Philadelphia, 1989)
- R.D. Mindlin, Thickness-shear and flexural vibrations of crystal plates. J. Appl. Phys. 22, 316–323 (1951)
- R. Paroni, P. Podio-Guidugli, G. Tomassetti, A justification of the Reissner–Mindline plate theory through variational convergence. Anal. Appl. 5, 165–182 (2007)
- L.E. Payne, D.H. Sattinger, Saddle points and instability of nonlinear hyperbolic equations. Isr. J. Math. 22, 273–303 (1975)
- P. Pei, M.A. Rammaha, D. Toundykov, Global well-posedness and stability of semilinear Mindlin–Timoshenko system (2013, preprint)
- 9. P. Pei, M.A. Rammaha, D. Toundykov, Local and global well-posedness for semilinear Reissner–Mindlin–Timoshenko plate equations (2013, preprint)
- E. Reissner, The effect of transverse shear deformation on the bending of elastic plates. J. Appl. Mech. 12, 69–77 (1945)
- S.P. Timoshenko, *The Collected Papers of Stephen P. Timoshenko* (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953)

# **On Deterministic and Stochastic Linear Quadratic Control Problems**

Tijana Levajković and Hermann Mena

**Abstract** The numerical treatment of linear quadratic regulator (LQR), linear quadratic Gaussian (LQG) design and stochastic control problems of certain type require solving Riccati equations. In the finite time horizon case, the Riccati differential equation (RDE) arises. We show that within a Galerkin projection framework the solutions of the finite-dimensional RDEs converge in the strong operator topology to the solutions of the infinite-dimensional RDEs. A discussion about LQG design in the context of receding horizon control for nonlinear problems as well as a brief discussion about stochastic control is also addressed. Numerical experiments validate the proposed convergence result.

Keywords LQR · LQG · Stochastic control · RDEs · SRDEs

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 34H05 · 95B40 · 49J55 · 15A24

## **1** Introduction

We consider optimal control problems for parabolic diffusion-convection and diffusion-reaction systems which can be linearized. The variational formulation leads to an abstract Cauchy problem for a linear evolution equation of the form

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{x}(t) + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{u}(t), \quad \mathbf{x}(0) = \mathbf{x}_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \ t \in [0, T]$$
(1.1)

for linear operators  $\mathbf{A} : \text{dom}(\mathbf{A}) \subset \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{B} : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{C} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{Y}$ , where the state space  $\mathcal{H}$ , the observation space  $\mathcal{Y}$ , and the control space  $\mathcal{U}$  are assumed to be

T. Levajković (🖂)

H. Mena

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

The researcher at University of Belgrade was supported by the project TR36047, financed by the Ministry of Science, Republic of Serbia.

Faculty of Traffic and Transport Engineering, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia e-mail: t.levajkovic@sf.bg.ac.rs

Department of Mathematics, University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria e-mail: hermann.mena@uibk.ac.at

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_37

separable Hilbert spaces. Additionally,  $\mathcal{U}$  is assumed to be finite-dimensional, i.e., there is only a finite number of independent control inputs. Here, C maps the states of the system into its outputs and  $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{x}$  for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{H}$ . Moreover we consider the cost functional to be given in a quadratic form

$$\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u}) = \int_0^T \left\{ \langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{x} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} + \langle \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{R} \mathbf{u} \rangle_{\mathcal{U}} \right\} dt + \langle \mathbf{x}_T, \mathbf{G} \mathbf{x}_T \rangle_{\mathcal{H}},$$
(1.2)

where **Q**, **G** are self-adjoint operators on the state space  $\mathcal{H}$ , **R** is a self-adjoint positive definitive operator on the control space  $\mathcal{U}$ . We denote  $\mathbf{x}_T = \mathbf{x}(T)$  for fixed  $0 \le T < \infty$ . Usually, only a few measurements of the state are available as the outputs of the system. We assumed that operators  $\mathbf{Q} := \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{C}$  and **G** are in general positive semidefinite. If **A** is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup  $\mathbf{T}(t)$ , **B**, **C** are linear bounded operators and for every initial value there exists an admissible control  $\mathbf{u} \in L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{U})$  hold, then the solution of the abstract LQR problem can be obtained, analogously to the finite-dimensional case, as a *feed-back control* 

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = -\mathbf{R}^{-1}\mathbf{B}^*\Pi(t)\mathbf{x}(t), \qquad (1.3)$$

where  $\Pi(t)$  represents the unique nonnegative solution of the operator Riccati differential equation

$$\dot{\Pi}(t) = -\left(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{A}^* \Pi(t) + \Pi(t)\mathbf{A} - \Pi(t)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{R}^{-1}\mathbf{B}^* \Pi(t)\right)$$
(1.4)

with the terminal condition  $\Pi(T) = \mathbf{G}$ . Some of the required conditions, particularly the restrictive assumption that **B** is bounded, can be weakened [8, 11, 12].

In this paper we present an approximation framework for the computation of the Riccati operators (1.4), Sect. 2. Moreover, in Sect. 3 we consider nonlinear optimal control problems in which LQG design is applied. There, linear problems have to be solved in subintervals of the time horizon. These are the so called receding horizon (RHC) and model predictive control (MPC) approaches. A brief discussion about stochastic control is also addressed. A numerical example for a nonlinear control problem is shown in Sect. 4.

#### 2 Convergence Result

Numerical schemes for Riccati equations in infinite-dimensional spaces as well as convergence rates for some types of control problems have been proposed in recent years [3, 8, 10, 12, 13]. An approximation scheme in terms of differential Riccati equations follows from the abstract theory developed by Gibson [8], and from the ideas for the infinite-time horizon case presented in [3]. These results as well as novel numerical methods for large-scale RDEs are proposed in [5]. We summarize these results here and discuss the suboptimality behavior of the solution.

We consider a control system in  $\mathcal{H}$  given by (1.1) and the cost functional (1.2). As in [7, 12], we assume that (1.1) has a unique solution. Moreover,  $\mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{G} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ ,  $\mathbf{R} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U})$  are self-adjoint with  $\mathbf{R} > 0$ ,  $\mathbf{G} \ge 0$ . A function  $\mathbf{u} \in L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{U})$  is an admissible control for the initial state  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  if  $J(\mathbf{x}_0, \mathbf{u})$  in (1.2) is finite.

Note that any solution of (1.4) is self-adjoint, and that  $\Pi$ (.) is nonnegative operator as long as **G** is nonnegative. In order to solve numerically the operator Riccati differential equation for practical problems, we have to find suitable finitedimension approximations of its solution. Therefore, let  $\mathcal{H}^N$ , N = 1, 2, ..., be a sequence of finite-dimensional linear subspaces of  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $P^N : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}^N$  be the canonical orthogonal projections. Assume that  $T^N(t)$  is a sequence of strongly continuous semigroups on  $\mathcal{H}^N$  with infinitesimal generator  $A^N \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^N)$ . Given operators  $B^N \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{H}^N)$ ,  $G^N, Q^N \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^N)$ ,  $G^N \ge 0$ , we consider the family of linear-quadratic regulator problems on  $\mathcal{H}^N$ , denoted by  $(\mathcal{R}^N)$ , associated to the cost functional:

$$J_N(x_0^N, \mathbf{u}) := \int_0^T \{ \langle x^N, Q^N x^N \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^N} + \langle \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{R} \mathbf{u} \rangle_{\mathcal{U}} \} dt + \langle x_T^N, G^N x_T^N \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^N}$$

and the state equation:

$$\dot{x}^N(t) = A^N x^N(t) + B^N \mathbf{u}(t), \quad x^N(0) = x_0^N := P^N \mathbf{x}_0, \ t \in [0, T].$$

 $(\mathcal{R}^N)$  is a linear regulator problem in the finite-dimensional state space  $\mathcal{H}^N$ . If  $Q^N \ge 0$ ,  $\mathbf{R} > 0$ , then the optimal control for  $(\mathcal{R}^N)$  is given in a feedback form by

$$u(t)^N = -\mathbf{R}^{-1}B^{N*}\Pi^N(t)x^N(t),$$

where  $x^{N}(t)$  is the corresponding solution of the state equation with  $\mathbf{u}(t) = u(t)^{N}$ and  $\Pi^{N}(t) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^{N})$  is the unique nonnegative self-adjoint solution of the Riccati differential equation, see [1],

$$\dot{\Pi}^{N}(t) = -\left(Q^{N} + A^{N*}\Pi^{N}(t) + \Pi^{N}(t)A^{N} - \Pi^{N}(t)B^{N}\mathbf{R}^{-1}B^{N*}\Pi^{N}(t)\right),$$
  
$$\Pi^{N}(T) = G^{N}.$$
(2.1)

Similar to [3, (H2)], we assume for  $N \to \infty$ :

- (i) For all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$  it holds that  $T^N(t)P^N\varphi \to \mathbf{T}(t)\varphi$  uniformly on any bounded subinterval of [0, T].
- (ii) For all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$  it holds that  $T^N(t)^* P^N \phi \to \mathbf{T}(t)^* \varphi$  uniformly on any bounded subinterval of [0, T].
- (iii) For all  $v \in \mathcal{U}$  it holds  $B^N v \to \mathbf{B}v$  and for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$  it holds (H) that  $B^{N*}P^N\varphi \to \mathbf{B}^*\varphi$ .
- (iv) For all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$  it holds that  $Q^N P^N \varphi \to \mathbf{Q} \varphi$ .
- (v) For all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$  it holds that  $\widetilde{G}^N P^N \varphi \to \widetilde{\mathbf{G}} \varphi$ .

Assumption (ii) implies that  $P^N \varphi \to \varphi$  for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ , in this sense the subspaces  $\mathcal{H}^N$  approximate  $\mathcal{H}$ .

**Theorem 2.1** Let (*H*) hold, then for  $N \to \infty$  the sequences  $u^N \to \mathbf{u}$ , uniformly on  $[0, T], x^N \to \mathbf{x}$  uniformly on [0, T], and for  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\Pi^{N}(t)P^{N}\varphi \to \Pi(t)\varphi \quad uniformly \text{ in } t \in [0, T].$$
(2.2)

Here  $u^N$ ,  $\mathbf{u}$ ,  $x^N$ ,  $\mathbf{x}$  denote optimal controls and trajectories of the problems ( $\mathcal{R}^N$ ) and the infinite dimensional problem, respectively.

The proof follows from of the result proposed in [8, Theorem 5.1, p. 560]. This theorem can be extended for approximating schemes where  $\mathcal{H}^N \nsubseteq \mathcal{H}$ , e.g., if boundary elements are applied. Moreover, the result can be extended to the non-autonomous case, for a detail explanation see [5]. This is particularly useful for solving nonlinear problems in model predictive control and receding horizon context. There the LQG approach is applied to a linearization around a reference trajectory. This requires the solution of RDEs, in which the coefficient matrices are time dependent. We will briefly review the later in next section.

Note that the solution of the RDE is suboptimal in terms of the optimal cost which is of interest in applications. The optimal cost for the infinite and finite dimensional control problems, can be found, respectively, as

$$\bar{\mathbf{J}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u}) = {\mathbf{x}_0}^* \Pi(0) {\mathbf{x}_0}, \qquad \bar{J}_N(x, \mathbf{u}) = {x_0^N}^* \Pi^N(0) {x_0^N}.$$
(2.3)

#### **3 LQG Design and Stochastic Control Problems**

One of the most important classes of stochastic control problems is a class of LQG problems. This approach represents an extension of the LQR which allows Gaussian noise, see for instance [15]. We consider a nonlinear stochastic control system

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t)) + Bu(t) + Fv(t), \quad x(0) = x_0 + \eta_0, \tag{3.1}$$

where v(t) is an unknown Gaussian disturbance process and  $\eta_0$  denotes the noise in the initial condition. The observation process y(t) = Cx(t) + w(t) provides partial observations of the state x(t), where w(t) is a measurement noise process which is assumed to be Gaussian. If we linearize f around a reference trajectory  $x^*(t)$  we obtain the time-varying system

$$\dot{z}(t) = A(t)z(t) + B\tilde{u}(t) + Fv(t), \quad z(0) = \eta_0,$$

where  $z(t) = x(t) - x^*(t)$ ,  $A(t) = A(x^*(t)) = f'(x^*(t))$  and  $\tilde{u}(t) = u(t) - u^*(t)$ and  $u^*$  is the associated control to  $x^*$ .

Let  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  denote a positive definite matrix and consider the tracking problem for the pair  $(x^*, u^*)$ , with the functional cost

$$J(z_0, \tilde{u}) = \int_0^T \left\{ z(t)^T C^T Q C z(t) + \tilde{u}(t)^T R \tilde{u}(t) \right\} dt + z(T)^T G z(T)$$

and the state and the output equations

$$\dot{z}(t) = A(t)z(t) + B\tilde{u}(t) + Fv(t), \quad z(0) = \eta_0;$$
  
 $y(t) = Cx(t) + w(t), \quad t \in [0, T].$ 

For the feedback law we use an estimated state of the process which is based on the measured output  $\tilde{y}$ , i.e.,  $\tilde{u}(t) = -K(t)\hat{z}(t)$ , where  $\hat{z}(t)$  denotes the estimated state of the system. Applying a Kalman filter, [6], the estimated state  $\hat{z}(t)$  is given by

$$\hat{z}(t) = A(t)\hat{z}(t) + B\tilde{u}(t) + L(t)(y(t) - C\hat{x}(t))$$

The feedback law can be represented as  $u(t) = u_*(t) + K(t)^T (\hat{x}(t) - x^*(t))$ , where K(t) is the feedback matrix defined as  $K(t) = -X_*(t)BR^{-1}$  and  $X_*(t)$  is the unique nonnegative self-adjoint solution of the RDE

$$\dot{X}(t) = -(C^T Q C + A(t)^T X(t) + X(t)A(t) - X(t)BR^{-1}B^T X(t)).$$
(3.2)

Moreover, the filter gain matrix L(t) is given by  $L(t) = \Sigma_*(t)C^T W^{-1}$  and  $\Sigma_*(t)$  is the symmetric solution of the filter RDE

$$\dot{\Sigma}(t) = F^T V F + A(t) \Sigma(t) + \Sigma(t) A(t)^T - \Sigma(t) C^T W^{-1} C \Sigma(t).$$
(3.3)

For a detail explanation we refer the reader to [15] and references therein.

The solution on [0, T] is obtained by concatenation of the solutions on  $[T_i, T_{i+1}]$  for i = 0, 1, ... The optimal control for the problem on  $[T_i, T_{i+1}]$  is computed via LQG applying (3.2) and (3.3). A similar to Theorem 2.1 is proved in [9].

We consider now an abstract stochastic Cauchy problem in a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  given by an Itô stochastic differential equation

$$d\mathbf{x}(t) = \left[\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x}(t) + \mathbf{B}u(t) + \mathbf{b}\right]dt + \left[\mathbf{C}\mathbf{x}(t) + \mathbf{D}u(t) + \mathbf{d}\right]dW(t),$$
$$\mathbf{x}(0) = \mathbf{x}_0 \in \mathcal{H},$$

for  $t \in [0, T]$ , where **A** is a linear closed operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathbf{d} \in \mathcal{L}([0, T], \mathcal{H})$ , operators **B**, **C**, **D**, **b** are linear and bounded and { $W(t), t \in [0, T]$ } is an one dimensional standard Brownian motion defined on a complete probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  over  $t \in [0, T]$ , with W(0) = 0 a.e. and { $\mathcal{F}_t, t \in [0, T]$ } is the filtration of the process { $W(t), t \in [0, T]$ }. The aim of the stochastic linear quadratic problem (SLQ) is to minimize the cost functional represented in terms of the mathematical expectation with respect to the measure  $\mathbb{P}$ 

$$\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{u}) = E\left[\int_0^T \left\{ \langle \mathbf{x}, Q\mathbf{x} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} + \langle \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{R}\mathbf{u} \rangle_{\mathcal{U}} \right\} dt + \langle \mathbf{x}_T, \mathbf{G}\mathbf{x}_T \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \right],$$

over a set of square integrable controls  $\mathbf{u} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{U})$  which are adapted in the filtration  $\mathcal{F}_t$ . The operators  $\mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{G}$  are self adjoint on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Following [2, 4, 17] one can state and prove a theorem similar to Theorem 2.1 for stochastic case. Denote

 $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{D}^* \mathbf{P} \mathbf{D}$  and  $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{P} \mathbf{B}^* + \mathbf{C}^* \mathbf{P} \mathbf{D}$ . Let  $\mathbf{A}$  be the generator of an exponentially bounded semigroup in  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\overline{dom \mathbf{A}} = \mathcal{H}$ . If we assume that  $\mathbf{R} > 0$ ,  $\mathbf{D} > 0$ ,  $\mathbf{Q} > 0$  and  $\mathbf{M} > 0$  and  $\mathbf{M}$  has inverse a.e., then there exists a feedback control  $\mathbf{u}_*(t) = -\mathbf{M}^{-1}(\mathbf{B}^*\phi + \mathbf{D}^*\mathbf{P}\mathbf{d})(\mathbf{x}(t) + 1)$  where  $\mathbf{P}$  represents the unique nonnegative solution to the stochastic Riccati differential equation

$$\dot{\mathbf{P}} = -(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{A}^*\mathbf{P} + \mathbf{P}\mathbf{A}^* + \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{P}^*\mathbf{C} - \mathbf{F}\mathbf{M}^{-1}\mathbf{F}^*),$$
$$\mathbf{P}(T) = \mathbf{G} \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T]$$

and  $\phi$  is the solution of the backward SDE

$$\dot{\phi} + (\mathbf{A}^* - \mathbf{F}\mathbf{M}^{-1}\mathbf{B}^*)\phi + (\mathbf{C}^* - \mathbf{F}\mathbf{M}^{-1}\mathbf{D}^*)\mathbf{P}\mathbf{d} + \mathbf{P}\mathbf{b} = 0,$$
  
 $\phi(T) = 0 \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$ 

If  $\mathbf{D} = 0$  then SRDE reduces to the deterministic one. In order to find numerically the solution of the SRDE one needs also to consider the sequence of finite dimensional subspaces of a Hilbert space of random variables  $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{H})$ , i.e., the finite dimensional Wiener chaos spaces  $\mathcal{H}_k$ ,  $k \ge 0$ , [14]. Note that all the coefficients appearing are not random. Assumption  $\mathbf{M} > 0$  ensures the existence of a solution of finite-dimensional SRDE [2, 17]. Due to the presence of the control in the diffusion term, some of SLQ problems could be well-posed even when  $\mathbf{R}$  is negative definite for almost all  $t \in [0, T]$ , which makes SLQ problem more difficult to solve than deterministic ones. A convergence result for the SLQ problem, similar to Theorem 2.1, as well as other types of stochastic control problems will be reported somewhere else.

#### **4** Numerical Results

We consider the Burgers equation which is used as a model for description of basic phenomena of flow problems

$$x_{t}(t,\xi) = v x_{\xi\xi}(t,\xi) - x(t,\xi) x_{\xi}(t,\xi) + B(\xi)u(t) + F(\xi)v(t),$$
  

$$x(t,0) = x(t,1) = 0, \quad t > 0,$$
  

$$x(0,\xi) = x_{0}(\xi) + \eta_{0}(\xi), \quad \xi \in ]0, 1[$$
(4.1)

where t is the variable in time,  $\xi$  the variable in space, and v is a viscosity parameter, and the observation process  $y(t, \xi) = Cx(t, \xi) + w(t, \xi)$ . The aim is to control the state to 0. The initial condition is given in terms of *sine* function and parameters are defined as in [16]. The state is shown in Fig. 1 as well as a plot of the convergence of the cost functional (2.3) over the mesh size. This let us visualize the convergence result, Theorem 2.1.



Fig. 1 Burgers equation with noise in the initial condition (a) state for refined mesh and (b) functional cost for different mesh sizes

#### References

- 1. H. Abou-Kandil, G. Freiling, V. Ionescu, G. Jank, *Matrix Riccati Equations in Control and Systems Theory* (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2003)
- M. Ait Rami, X. Chen, X. Zhou, Discrete-time indefinite LQ control with state and control dependent noises. J. Glob. Optim. 23, 245–265 (2002)
- 3. H.T. Banks, K. Kunisch, The linear regulator problem for parabolic systems. SIAM J. Control Optim. **22**, 684–698 (1984)
- P. Benner, H. Mena, BDF methods for large-scale differential Riccati equations, in *Proc. of Mathematical Theory of Network and Systems, MTNS 2004*, ed. by B. De Moor, B. Motmans, J. Willems, P. Van Dooren, V. Blondel (2004)
- P. Benner, H. Mena, Numerical solution of the infinite-dimensional LQR-problem and the associated differential Riccati equations (2012). Technical Report MPIMD/12-13, MPI Magdeburg Preprint
- R.S. Bucy, R.E. Kalman, New results in linear filtering and prediction theory. Trans. ASME, Ser. D 83, 95–108 (1961)
- 7. R.F. Curtain, H. Zwart, *An Introduction to Infinite-Dimensional Linear System Theory*. Texts in Applied Mathematics (Springer, Berlin, 1995)
- J.S. Gibson, The Riccati integral equation for optimal control problems in Hilbert spaces. SIAM J. Control Optim. 17(4), 537–565 (1979)
- S. Hein, MPC/LQG-Based Optimal Control of Nonlinear Parabolic PDEs. Ph.D. thesis, TU Chemnitz (2010)
- M. Kroller, K. Kunisch, Convergence rates for the feedback operators arising in the linear quadratic regulator problem governed by parabolic equations. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 28(5), 1350–1385 (1991)
- I. Lasiecka, R. Triggiani, Differential and Algebraic Riccati Equations with Application to Boundary/Point Control Problems: Continuous Theory and Approximation Theory. Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences, vol. 164 (Springer, Berlin, 1991)
- I. Lasiecka, R. Triggiani, Control Theory for Partial Differential Equations: Continuous and Approximation Theories I. Abstract Parabolic Systems (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000)
- 13. I. Lasiecka, R. Triggiani, Control Theory for Partial Differential Equations: Continuous and Approximation Theories II. Abstract Hyperbolic-Like Systems over a Finite Time Horizon (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000)

- T. Levajković, Malliavin Calculus for Chaos Expansions of Generalized Stochastic Processes with Applications to Some Classes of Differential Equations. Ph.D. thesis, University of Novi Sad (2012)
- 15. A. Locatelli, Optimal Control (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001)
- H. Mena, Numerical Solution of Differential Riccati Equations Arising in Optimal Control Problems for Parabolic Partial Differential Equations. Ph.D. thesis, Escuela Politecnica Nacional (2007)
- J. Yong, X.Y. Zhou, Stochastic Controls—Hamiltonian Systems and HJB Equations. Applications of Mathematics, Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability, vol. 43 (Springer, New York, 1999)

# Part VI Topological and Geometrical Methods

Organizers: Anatoly Prykarpatskyi, Yurii Zelinskyi, Kamal Soltanov, Alexander Schmitt

# **Ergodic Theory, Boole Type Transformations, Dynamical Systems Theory**

Anatolij K. Prykarpatski

**Abstract** The arithmetic properties of generalized one-dimensional ergodic Boole type transformations are studied in the framework of the operator-theoretic approach. Some invariant measure statements and ergodicity conjectures concerning generalized multi-dimensional Boole-type transformations are formulated.

**Keywords** Generalized Boole type transformations · Arithmetic properties · Ergodic dynamical systems · Invariant measures · Frobenius–Perron operator

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 34A30 · 34B05 · 34B15 · Secondary 35D35 · 35J60 · 35Q82

## **1** Introduction

With its origins, going back several centuries, discrete analysis becomes now an increasingly central methodology for many mathematical problems related to discrete dynamical systems and algorithms, widely applied in modern science. Our theme, being related with studying ergodic aspects and the related arithmetic properties of discrete Boole type dynamical systems [3, 7], is of deep interest in many branches of modern science and technology [6, 19], especially in discrete mathematics, numerical analysis, statistics and probability theory as well as in electrical and electronic engineering. But the important viewpoint is that this topic belongs to a much more general realm of mathematics, namely, to calculus, differential equations and differential geometry, because of the remarkable analogy of the subject especially to these branches of mathematics. Nonetheless, although the topic is discrete, our approach to treating ergodicity and the related arithmetic properties of the generalized Boole type discrete dynamical systems will be completely analytical.

e-mail: pryk.anat@ua.fm

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_38

Supported by 110T558-project of TUBITAK.

A.K. Prykarpatski (🖂)

Department of Applied Mathematics, AGH University of Science and Technology, Kraków 30-059, Poland

The generalized Boole transformation looks as

$$\mathbb{R} \ni x \to \varphi(x) := \alpha x + a - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_j}{x - b_j} \in \mathbb{R},$$
(1.1)

where *a* and  $b_j \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $j = \overline{1, N}$ , are some real and  $\alpha, \beta_j \in \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $j = \overline{1, N}$ , and was analyzed in [3, 15]. It generalizes that classical [7] Boole transformation

$$\mathbb{R} \ni x \to \phi(x) := x - 1/x \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{1.2}$$

which appeared to be ergodic [5] with respect to the invariant standard infinite Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ . This, in particular, means that the following Boole's [7] equalities

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x-1/x)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x)dx,$$
(1.3)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(\phi^n x)}{\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} g(\phi^n x)} = \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x) dx}{\int_{\mathbb{R}} g(x) dx}$$
(1.4)

hold for any  $f \in L_1(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R})$  and  $g \in L_1(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}_+)$ . In the case  $\alpha = 1$ , a = 0, a similar ergodicity result was proved in [1–3] making use of a specially devised inner function method. The related spectral aspects of the mapping (1.1) were in part studied also in [3]. In spite of these results the case  $\alpha \neq 1$  still persists to be challenging as the only relating result [4] concerns the following special case of (1.1):

$$\mathbb{R} \ni x \to \varphi(x) := \alpha x + a - \frac{\beta}{x - b} \in \mathbb{R}$$
(1.5)

for  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , and arbitrary  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . The ergodicity of the Boole type mapping (1.5) can be easily enough stated. Really, concerning a general nonsingular mapping  $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ , the problem of constructing the measure preserving ergodic measures was analyzed [4, 12, 14] by means of studying the spectral properties of the adjoint Frobenius–Perron operator  $\hat{T}_{\varphi}\rho : L_2(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{R}) \to L_2(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{R})$ , where, by definition,

$$\hat{T}_{\varphi}\rho(x) := \sum_{y \in \{\varphi^{-1}(x)\}} \rho(y) J_{\varphi}^{-1}(y)$$
(1.6)

for any  $\rho \in L_2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}_+)$  and  $J_{\varphi}^{-1}(y) := |\frac{d\varphi(y)}{dy}|$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then, if  $\hat{T}_{\varphi}\rho = \rho$ ,  $\rho \in L_2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}_+)$ , then the expression  $d\mu(x) := \rho(x)dx$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , will be invariant, in general infinite, measure with respect to the mapping  $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Another way to finding a general algorithm for finding such an invariant measure was devised in [15–17], making use of the generating measure function method. (1.5) at  $\alpha = 1/2$  and  $b = 2a \in \mathbb{R}$  appears to be measure preserving and ergodic. Namely, the following propositions [15] hold.

**Proposition 1.1** *The Boole type transformation* (1.5) *at*  $\alpha = 1/2$  *and*  $b = 2a \in \mathbb{R}$  *is measure preserving and ergodic with respect to the measure* 

$$d\mu(x) := \frac{|\gamma| dx}{\pi[(x - 2a)^2 + \gamma^2]},\tag{1.7}$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\gamma^2 = 2\beta \in \mathbb{R}_+$ .

*Proof* (*Sketch*) A proof follows easily from the fact that the function

$$\rho(x) := \frac{\gamma}{\pi[(x - 2a)^2 + \gamma^2]}$$
(1.8)

satisfies for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  the determining condition (1.6):

$$\hat{T}_{\varphi}\rho(x) := \sum_{I} \rho(y_{\pm}) |y'_{\pm}(x)|, \qquad (1.9)$$

where, by definition,  $\varphi(y_{\pm}(x)) := x$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . The relationship (1.9) is, evidently, equivalent to the next infinitesimal invariance condition

$$\sum_{\pm} d\mu \left( y_{\pm}(x), y_{\pm}(x) + dy \right) = d\mu(x) := \mu(x, x + dx)$$
(1.10)

for any infinitesimal subset  $[x, x + dx) \subset \mathbb{R}$ .

**Proposition 1.2** *The measure* (1.7) *is ergodic with respect to the Boole type transformation* (1.5) *at*  $\alpha = 1/2$  *and*  $b = 2a \in \mathbb{R}$  *as it is equivalent to the canonical ergodic mapping*  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \ni s :\to \psi(s) := 2s \pmod{\mathbb{Z}} \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  *with respect to the standard Lebesgue measure on*  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof* (*Sketch*) Put, by definition,  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \ni s :\to \xi(s) = y \in \mathbb{R}$ , where

$$\xi(s) := \gamma \cot \pi s + 2a, \tag{1.11}$$

Then transformation (1.5) at  $\alpha = 1/2$ ,  $b = 2a \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\gamma^2 := 2\beta \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , owing to the mapping (1.11), yields

$$\varphi(y) = \varphi(\xi(s)) = \frac{\gamma}{2} \cot \pi s + 2a - \frac{\gamma}{2} \tan \pi s$$
$$= \frac{\gamma(\cos^2 \pi s - \sin^2 \pi s)}{2 \sin \pi s \cos \pi s} + 2a = \gamma \frac{\cos 2\pi s}{\sin 2\pi s} + 2a$$
$$= \gamma \cot 2\pi s + 2a := \xi(2s)$$
(1.12)

for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . The result (1.12) means that the transformation (1.5) is conjugated [3, 12] to the transformation

$$\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \ni s :\to \psi(s) = 2s \mod 1 \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}, \tag{1.13}$$

 $\square$ 

that is the following diagram is commutative:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\psi} \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \\ \xi \downarrow & \downarrow \xi \\ \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathbb{R} \end{array}$$
(1.14)

that is  $\xi \cdot \psi = \varphi \cdot \xi$ , where  $\xi : \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$  is the conjugation mapping defined by (1.11). It is easy now to check that the measure (1.7) under the conjugation (1.11) transforms into the standard normalized Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ :

$$d\mu(x)|_{x=\gamma \cot \pi s+2a} = \frac{ds\gamma^2 |d(\cot \pi s)/ds|}{(\gamma^2 \cot^2 \pi s + \gamma^2)}$$
$$= \frac{\sin^2 \pi s \cdot \sin^{-2} \pi s ds}{\cos^2 \pi s + \sin^2 \pi s} = ds, \qquad (1.15)$$

where  $s \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . The infinitesimal measure ds on  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  as well as the infinitesimal measure (1.7) on  $\mathbb{R}$  are normalized, being thus probabilistic. Now it is enough to make use of the fact that the measure ds on  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  on the interval  $[0, 1) \simeq \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  is ergodic [4, 12] with respect to the mapping  $\psi : \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

It is important to mention that in the framework of the theory of inner functions in [4] there was stated that there exists an invariant measure  $d\mu(x)$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , on the axis  $\mathbb{R}$ , such that the generalized Boole type transformation (1.1) for any N > 1,  $\alpha = 1$  and a = 0 is ergodic. If  $\alpha = 1$  and  $a \neq 0$ , the transformation (1.1) appears to be not ergodic, being totally dissipative, that is the wandering set  $\mathcal{D}(\varphi) := \bigcup \mathcal{W}(\varphi) = \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\mathcal{W}(\varphi) \subset \mathbb{R}$  are such subsets that all sets  $\varphi^{-n}(\mathcal{W})$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , are disjoint. Similar the above statement can be also [1, 4] formulated for the mostly generalized Boole type transformation

$$\mathbb{R} \ni x \to \varphi(x) := \alpha x + a + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\nu(s)}{s - x} \in \mathbb{R},$$
(1.16)

where  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and a measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  has the compact support supp  $\nu \subset \mathbb{R}$ , being such that the following natural conditions

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\nu(s)}{1+s^2} = a, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\nu(s) < \infty, \tag{1.17}$$

hold.

Below we will analyze the related arithmetic aspects of the generalized ergodic Boole type transformation (1.1), making use of the approaches recently initiated in [8, 11, 13, 20–22] concerning the old general Baudet arithmetic progression conjecture.

## **2** The Generalized Boole Type Ergodic Transformations and Their Arithmetic Properties

Consider the generalized Boole type transformation (1.1) and its right orbit  $Or(\varphi; x_0) := \{\varphi^j(x_0) \in \mathbb{R} : x_0 \in \mathbb{R}, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  for an arbitrary  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{\alpha \in \mathbb{R} : \varphi(\alpha) = \alpha\}$ . Owing to the ergodicity of the mapping (1.1), one easily obtains that the closure  $Or(\varphi; x_0) = \mathbb{R}$ . Thus, for any point  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  one can find a convergent subsequence  $\{\varphi^{n_j}(x_0) \in \mathbb{R} : n_j := n_j(\alpha) \in \mathbb{Z}_+, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\} \subset Or(\varphi; x_0)$ , such that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \varphi^{n_j}(x_0) = \alpha. \tag{2.1}$$

The corresponding integer subsequence

$$A(\alpha) := \left\{ n_1(\alpha), n_2(\alpha), \dots, n_j(\alpha), \dots \right\} \subset \mathbb{Z}_+,$$
(2.2)

owing to the condition (2.1), *a priori* possesses, owing to the Weil theorem [9, 12, 14] the following upper density property:

$$\bar{d}(A(\alpha)) := \overline{\lim_{m \to \infty}} \sharp (A(\alpha) \cap \{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}) / (m+1) > 0.$$
(2.3)

Consider now the left shift mapping

$$\theta: l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R}) \ni (c_0, c_1, \dots, c_n, \dots) \to (c_1, \dots, c_n, \dots) \in l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R})$$
(2.4)

and put, by definition, the set

$$\mathcal{A}(\alpha) := \overline{\left\{\theta^n \mathbf{1}_{A(\alpha)} \in l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R}) : n \in \mathbb{Z}_+\right\}},\tag{2.5}$$

the closure with respect to the weak  $\sigma^*$ -topology of  $l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R})$ . The constructed set (2.5) is, by definition,  $\theta$ -invariant and  $\sigma^*$ -weakly compact in  $l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R})$ . Its subset

$$\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha) := \{ (c_0, c_1, \dots, c_n, \dots) \in \mathcal{A}(\alpha) : c_0 := 1 \},$$
(2.6)

as well as its preimages  $\theta^{-j}(\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)), j \in \mathbb{N}$ , are open-closed subsets of  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ . It is easy to observe the following characteristic [8, 10] property of the set  $\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)$ :

$$n \in A(\alpha)$$
 iff  $\theta^n \mathbf{1}_{A(\alpha)} \in \mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)$ . (2.7)

Following the classical Furstenberg scheme [10] one can construct an invariant probabilistic measure  $\nu$  on the compact set  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ . Namely, owing to the condition (2.3) one can chose an infinite subsequence  $\{m_j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , such that there exists the limit

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_j + 1} \sum_{k=0}^{m_j} \delta_k (A(\alpha)) = \bar{d} (A(\alpha)).$$
(2.8)

Now making use of the property (2.8) one can define an infinite sequence of probability measures  $\{v_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  on  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ 

$$\nu_{j}(\mathcal{B}) := \frac{1}{m_{j}+1} \sum_{k=0}^{m_{j}} \delta_{\{\theta^{k} 1_{A(\alpha)}\}}(\mathcal{B})$$
(2.9)

for any Borel subsets of  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ . In particular, one has

$$\nu_j \left( \mathcal{A}_0(\alpha) \right) := \frac{1}{m_j + 1} \sum_{k=0}^{m_j} \delta_{\{\theta^k \mathbf{1}_{A(\alpha)}\}}(\mathcal{B}) \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \bar{d} \left( A(\alpha) \right).$$
(2.10)

Based on the Banach–Alaoglu theorem and on the metrisability of the set  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha) \subset l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R})$  with respect to the weak  $\sigma^*$ -topology one obtains that there exists a convergent subsequence of measures (2.10) to some probability measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ , which can be re-denoted as  $\{\nu_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$ . It is important that the obtained above measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$  is  $\theta$ -invariant:

$$\nu(\mathcal{B}) - \nu(\theta^{-1}\mathcal{B})$$

$$= \lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_j + 1} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{m_j} \delta_{\{\theta^{k_1}A(\alpha)\}}(\mathcal{B}) - \delta_{\{\theta^{k+1}A(\alpha)\}}(\mathcal{B}) \right)$$

$$= \lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_j + 1} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{m_j} \delta_{\{1_A(\alpha)\}}(\mathcal{B}) - \delta_{\{\theta^{m_j}A(\alpha)\}}(\mathcal{B}) \right) = 0 \quad (2.11)$$

for any Borel subset of  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ , as  $m_j \to \infty$  if  $j \to \infty$ . Thus, the constructed measure-theoretic dynamical system  $(\mathcal{A}(\alpha), \theta; \nu)$  is characterized by the condition  $\nu(\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)) = \overline{d}(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)) > 0$ . Moreover, taking into account that the ergodic measures are extreme points [9, 12, 14] of the set of invariant measures on  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ , one can choose this limiting invariant measure  $\nu$  on the set  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(\alpha)$  to be ergodic.

Define now for the mapping (1.1) a linear operator  $T_{\varphi} : L_2^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R}) \to L_2^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R})$ , which satisfies for any  $f \in L_2^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R})$  the shift property  $T_{\theta}f(c) := f(\theta(c)), c \in \mathcal{A}$ . Based on the existence of the invariant and ergodic measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ , one can state the following characteristic proposition.

**Proposition 2.1** If the set  $A(\alpha) \subset \mathbb{Z}_+$  possesses a positive upper density  $\overline{d}(A(\alpha)) > 0$ , then for any strongly positive function  $f \in L_2^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L_{\infty}^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R}_+)$  and for arbitrary ergodic measure  $\nu$  on the set  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(\alpha)$  there holds the following strong inequality:

$$\overline{\lim}_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N+1} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{A}} \left( \prod_{j=0}^{N} T_{\theta}^{n_j} f \right) d\nu > 0.$$
(2.12)

And conversely, if for a chosen subsequence  $A = \{n_1, n_2, ..., n_j, ...\} \subset \mathbb{Z}_+$  and any strongly positive function  $f \in L_2^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L_\infty^{(\nu)}(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{R}_+)$  on a compact set  $\mathcal{A}$  there holds the strong inequality (2.12), then the upper density  $\bar{d}(A) > 0$  and there exists such a point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and a real value  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  that there exists the limit  $\lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi^{n_j}(x_0) = \alpha$ . Moreover, the corresponding sets  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  coincide.

*Proof* (*Sketch*) We can easily observe, taking into account (2.7) that the following one-to-one mapping holds between the sets  $A(\alpha)$  and the subset  $\{\theta^{n_1} 1_{A(\alpha)}, \theta^{n_2} 1_{A(\alpha)}, \dots, \theta^{n_j} 1_{A(\alpha)}, \dots\} \subset \mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)$ . Thus, since each set  $\theta^{-j}(\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)) \subset \mathcal{A}(\alpha)$  is open and the points  $\theta^n 1_{A(\alpha)}, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , are dense in  $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ , one finds that the set  $A(\alpha)$  is in one-to-one correspondence to the condition that  $\bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+} \theta^{-n_j}(\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)) \neq \emptyset$ . The latter easily reduces to the relationship  $\prod_{j=0}^N T_{\theta}^{n_j} 1_{\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha)} \neq 0$  for any  $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , which allows to formulate a sufficient integral condition [10] in the form (2.12), thus proving the first part of the proposition. Having followed back by the reasonings above, one can state that for every ergodic measure  $\nu$  on a chosen weakly  $\sigma^*$ -compact set  $\mathcal{A} \subset l_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R})$  one can find a subset of integers  $A := \{n_j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ : j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  with a nonzero upper density  $\overline{d}(A) > 0$ , for which there exists the standard representation

$$\mathcal{A} := \overline{\left\{\theta^n \mathbf{1}_A \in l_\infty(\mathbb{Z}_+; \mathbb{R}) : n \in \mathbb{Z}_+\right\}}.$$
(2.13)

Moreover, for the open subset

$$\mathcal{A}_0 := \{ (c_0, c_1, \dots, c_n, \dots) \in \mathcal{A} : c_0 := 1 \}$$
(2.14)

there holds the equality  $\bar{d}(A) = \nu(\mathcal{A}_0)$ . Now making use of the condition  $\prod_{j=0}^{N} T_{\theta}^{n_j} 1_{\mathcal{A}_0} \neq 0, N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , one can find such a point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  that the corresponding iterations  $\{\varphi^{n_j}(x_0) \in \mathbb{R} : n_j \in A, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  are convergent to some real value  $\alpha := \lim_{j \to \infty} \varphi^{n_j}(x_0)$  and, simultaneously, the whole orbit  $\{\varphi^n(x_0) \in \mathbb{R} : n \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  is dense on the axis  $\mathbb{R}$ . The letter proves the second part of the proposition.  $\Box$ 

#### **3** Conclusion

Recently in [18] there was proposed a set of multi-dimensional Boole type transformations  $\varphi_{\sigma|\eta} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ , where

$$\varphi_{\sigma|\eta}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$$
  
:=  $(x_{\eta(1)} - 1/x_{\sigma(1)}, x_{\eta(2)} - 1/x_{\sigma(2)}, \dots, x_{\eta(n)} - 1/x_{\sigma(n)})$  (3.1)

for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and arbitrary permutations  $\sigma$  and  $\eta \in S_n$ . For the case n = 2 one obtains the following two-dimensional Boole type mappings:

$$\varphi_{1|1}(x, y) := (x - 1/x, y - 1/y), \tag{3.2}$$

$$\varphi_{2|2}(x, y) := (y - 1/y, x - 1/x), \tag{3.3}$$
and

$$\varphi_{1|2}(x, y) := (x - 1/y, y - 1/x), \tag{3.4}$$

$$\varphi_{2|1}(x, y) := (y - 1/x, x - 1/y) \tag{3.5}$$

for all  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0, 0\}$ . It is easy to observe that the infinitesimal measure  $d\mu(x, y) := dxdy$  on the plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is, by the Fubini theorem, invariant subject to the mapping (3.2) as the tensor product of two one-dimensional measures dx and dy, every one of which is invariant with respect to the corresponding true Boole transformation. The latter entails right away that the generalized Boole type transformation (3.2) is also ergodic. In the case of the generalized two-dimensional transformation (3.4) the infinitesimal invariance property of the measure  $d\mu(x, y) := dxdy$  holds owing to the following lemma, stated in [18].

**Lemma 3.1** The mapping (3.4) subject to the measure  $d\mu(x, y)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  satisfies the following infinitesimal invariance property:

$$\mu(\psi_{1|2}^{-1}([x, x + dx] \times [y, y + dy]))$$
  
=  $dxdy = \mu([x, x + dx] \times [y, y + dy])$  (3.6)

for all  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0, 0\}$ .

It is easy to check that a similar statement and the infinitesimal invariance property like (3.6) hold also in the case of the two-dimensional Boole type transformations (3.3), (3.4) and (3.5). As the problem of ergodicity of the mappings (3.3)–(3.5) is of great interest, we formulate the following conjecture, generalizing that from [18].

The constructed above mappings (3.2)–(3.5) are ergodic with respect to the invariant infinitesimal measure  $d\mu(x, y) := dxdy$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the infinitesimal measure  $d\mu(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) := \prod_{j=1}^n dx_j$  is invariant and ergodic with respect to generalized multi-dimensional Boole type transformations (3.1) for arbitrary chosen permutations  $\sigma$  and  $\eta \in S_n$ .

Acknowledgements The author is cordially appreciated to professor D. Blackmore (NJ, USA) for valuable discussions of the ergodic measure properties related with generalized Boole transformations.

## References

- 1. J. Aaronson, Ergodic theory for inner functions of the upper half plane. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré **BXIV**, 233–253 (1978)
- 2. J. Aaronson, A remark on this existence of inner functions. J. LMS 23, 469–474 (1981)
- 3. J. Aaronson, The eigenvalues of nonsingular transformations. Isr. J. Math. 45, 297–312 (1983)
- 4. J. Aaronson, An Introduction to Infinite Ergodic Theory, vol. 50 (AMS, Providence, 1997)

- R. Adler, B. Weiss, The ergodic, infinite measure preserving transformation of Bool. Isr. J. Math. 16, 263–278 (1973)
- D. Blackmore, A. Prykarpatsky, V. Samoylenko, Nonlinear Dynamical Systems of Mathematical Physics: Spectral and Differential-Geometric Integrability Analysis (World Scientific, Singapore, 2012)
- G. Boole, On the comparison of transcendents with certain applications to the theory of definite integrals. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. 147, 745–803 (1857)
- T. Eisner, R. Nagel, Arithmetic progressions—an operator theoretic view. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., Ser. S 6(3), 657–667 (2013)
- 9. T. Eisner, B. Farkas, M. Haase, R. Nagel, *Operator Theoretic Aspects of Ergodic Theory*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics (Springer, Berlin, 2013)
- H. Furstenberg, Ergodic behavior of diagonal measures and a theorem of Szemer edi on arithmetic progressions. Anal. Math. 31, 204–256 (1977)
- B. Green, T. Tao, The primes contain arbitrarily long arithmetic progressions. Ann. Math. 167, 481–547 (2008)
- 12. A. Katok, B. Hasselblatt, Introduction to the Modern Theory of Dynamical Systems (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999)
- E.T. Linear, Sequences and Weighted Ergodic Theorems. Abstract and Applied Analysis (Hindawi Publishing Corporation, New York, 2013). Article ID 815726, 5 pages
- M. Pollycott, M. Yuri, *Dynamical Systems and Ergodic Theory*. London Math. Society, vol. 40 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998). Student Texts
- A.K. Prykarpatsky, On invariant measure structure of a class of ergodic discrete dynamical systems. Nonlinear Oscil. 3(1), 78–83 (2000)
- A.K. Prykarpatsky, S. Brzychczy, On invariant measure structure of a class of ergodic discrete dynamical systems, in *Proceedings of the International Conference SCAN 2000/Interval 2000,* September 19–22, Karlsruhe, Germany (2000)
- A.K. Prykarpatsky, J. Feldman, On the ergodic and special properties of generalized Boole transformations, in *Proc. of Intern.* Conference "Difference Equations, Special Functions and Orthogonal Polynomials", 25–30 July 2005, Munich, Germany (2005), pp. 527–536
- Y.A. Prykarpatsky, D. Blackmore, Y. Goilenia, A.K. Prykarpatski, Invariant measures for discrete dynamical systems and ergodic properties of generalized Boole type transformations. Ukr. Math. J. 65(1), 44–57 (2013)
- A.M. Samoilenko et al., A geometrical approach to quantum holonomic computing algorithms. Math. Comput. Simul. 66, 1–20 (2004)
- T. Tao, The dichotomy between structure and randomness, arithmetic progressions, and the primes, in *International Congress of Mathematicians*, *I* (Eur. Math. Soc., Zurich, 2007), pp. 581–608
- 21. T. Tao, *Topics in Ergodic Theory* (2008). http://terrytao.wordpress.com/category/254aergodic-theory/
- T. Tao, The van der Corput trick, and equidistribution on nilmanifolds, in *Topics in Ergodic Theory* (2008). http://terrytao.wordpress.com/2008/06/14/the-van-der-corputs-trick-and-equidistribution-on-nilmanifolds

# **Fixed Points Theorems for Multivalued Mappings**

Yuri Zelinskii

**Abstract** In this article we discuss the solvability of some class of multivalued inclusions in Euclidean spaces based on a generalization of the "conditions of an acute angle". As corollary we receive fixed-point theorems for multivalued mappings (continuous and non continuous).

**Keywords** Multivalued mappings · Multivalued inclusions · Fixed-point · Conditions of acute angle

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 54H25 · 54C60 · Secondary 47H10

# 1 Introduction

We consider theorems on the existence of solutions of multivalued inclusions in Euclidean spaces, including fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings, based on some generalization of the "conditions of an acute angle" [1]. This approach appeared in K.N. Soltanov's papers [2–4], where he proposed to use the above method for study of the fixed points for discontinuous mappings. Specificity of a discontinuity of mappings is a reason why to use traditional technique of mapping degree is impossible (cf., e.g., [5]).

Let  $E^n$  be *n*-dimensional Euclidean (real or complex) space,  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be a scalar product in  $E^n$ ,  $\operatorname{conv}(A)$  be a convex hull of a set A,  $\overline{A}$  be a closure of A. If  $\overline{A}$  is a closed domain of the Euclidean space  $E^n$  then we will say that  $\overline{A}$  is a domain.

For any z in the complex plane by Re(z) we mean its real part, if z belongs to the field of real numbers then Re(z) = z.

We will consider multivalued (continuous and non continuous) mappings of subsets of Euclidean space. If  $F_1: X \to Y$  and  $F_2: X \to Y$  be two multivalued mappings we will say that  $F_2$  is a *restriction* of  $F_1$  to the set  $K \subset X$  and denote

Y. Zelinskii (🖂)

Institute of mathematics NAS of Ukraine, Tereshchenkivska str. 3, Kyiv 01601, Ukraine e-mail: zel@imath.kiev.ua

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_39

 $F_2 = F_1|_K$  if and only if  $F_1(x) \supset F_2(x)$  for every  $x \in K$  ( $F_2(x)$  can be empty for some *x*).

We say that a mapping *F* satisfied *conditions of (strong) acute angle* if and only if  $\text{Re}(\langle x, y \rangle)(>) \ge 0$  for every pair  $(x, y), x \in X, y \in F(x)$ . We denote

G = Id - F if and only if  $G(x) = \{x - y : x \in F(x)\}.$ 

# 2 Main Results

By using the geometrical form of the Hahn–Banach theorems we prove the next results (cf., e.g., [6]).

**Theorem 2.1** Let D be a domain in Euclidean space  $E^n$  containing the origin 0. Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the closure of this domain and K has the following property ( $\alpha$ ): any ray, emanating from the origin, contains at least one point belonging to K. Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of multivalued mapping  $F: \overline{D} \to E^n$  satisfies the "acute angle condition" and conv(F(K)) is a compact set. If conv(F(K))  $\subset F(\overline{D})$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

It follows the following corollaries from Theorem 2.1.

**Corollary 2.2** Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the domain  $\overline{D}$  and K has the property ( $\alpha$ ). Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of the multivalued mapping  $F: \overline{D} \to E^n$  has a restriction  $F_1 \neq \emptyset$  and  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$  is a compact set. Let  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K)) \subset F(\overline{D})$ . If  $0 \notin F(\overline{D})$  then there exists a pair of points  $(x, y), x \in K, y \in F(x)$ , such that  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle x, y \rangle) < 0$ .

**Corollary 2.3** Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the domain  $\overline{D}$  and K has the property ( $\alpha$ ). Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of the multivalued mapping  $F: \overline{D} \to E^n$  has a restriction  $F_1$  which satisfies the "condition of acute angle" and conv $(F_1(K))$  is a compact. If  $F(\overline{D}) \supset \text{conv}(F_1(K))$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

**Corollary 2.4** Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the domain  $\overline{D}$  and K has the property  $(\alpha)$ . Suppose that the restriction  $G|_K$  of the multivalued mapping  $G = Id - F : \overline{D} \to E^n$  has a restriction  $G_1$  satisfied the "condition of acute angle" and  $\operatorname{conv}(G_1(K))$  is a compact. If  $G(\overline{D}) \supset \operatorname{conv}(G_1(K))$  then the mapping F has a fixed point  $x \in F(x)$ .

**Theorem 2.5** Let D be a domain in Euclidean space  $E^n$  containing the origin 0. Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of  $\overline{D}$  and K has the property ( $\alpha$ ). Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of the multivalued mapping  $F : \overline{D} \to E^n$  satisfying the "strict acute angle condition". If  $\operatorname{conv}(F(K)) \subset F(\overline{D})$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

**Corollary 2.6** Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the domain  $\overline{D}$  and K has the property ( $\alpha$ ). Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of multivalued mapping  $F: \overline{D} \to E^n$  has the

*restriction*  $F_1 \neq \emptyset$  *and*  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K)) \subset F(\overline{D})$ . *If*  $0 \notin F(\overline{D})$  *then there exists a pair of points*  $(x, y), x \in K, y \in F(x)$  *such, that*  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle x, y \rangle) \leq 0$ .

Let  $Y^*$  be dual (conjugated) space to the space Y. We say that a mapping F satisfies the *condition of (strong) coacute angle* if and only if for every point  $y^* \in Y^*$ ,  $y^* \neq 0$ , there exists a point  $x \in X$  such, that  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle y, y^* \rangle) \ge 0$  ( $\operatorname{Re}(\langle y, y^* \rangle) > 0$ ) for every point  $y \in F(x)$ .

**Theorem 2.7** Let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the domain  $\overline{D} \subset E^n$ . Suppose that the restriction  $F|_K$  of multivalued mapping  $F: \overline{D} \to E^n$  has a restriction  $F_1$  satisfying the "condition of coacute angle" and  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$  is a compact. If  $F(\overline{D}) \supset \operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

*Proof* We suppose that  $0 \notin F(\overline{D})$  then  $0 \notin \operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$ . By the geometrical form of the Hahn–Banach theorem, obtain that there exists a hyperplane *L* which separates the origin 0 and  $F_1(K)$ . We chose the ray *l*, emanating from the origin, and perpendicular to the hyperplane *L*, which directed in the opposite side to  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$ . For the Euclidean space a duality mapping  $\mathfrak{I}: Y \to Y^*$  is a bijection. Fix any point  $y^* \in l$ . From the one hand,  $y^* \notin \operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$ , but from the another one, according to the condition of the coacute angle, there exists a point  $x \in K$ , which image  $F_1(x)$ must be in the same hyperspace as the point  $y^*$  with respect to the hyperplane *L*. This contradiction completed the proof.

*Remark 1* If in previous results  $K \subset D$  (the subset K lies in the interior of the domain D), that all stated results remain true if we replace the considered mapping to a mapping of an open domain.

*Remark 2* For the validity of the previous results it is enough an existence in the space invariant for considered mappings F subspace  $E^n$  (i.e.  $F(T) \subset T$ ) for the restriction  $F|_T$  on which conditions of the corresponding statements are fulfilled.

**Theorem 2.8** Let D be a domain in Euclidean space  $X = E^n$  and let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the closure  $\overline{D}$  of D. Suppose that there exists a restriction  $F_1$  of multivalued mapping  $F : \overline{D} \to E^n = Y$  to the subset K which satisfies the condition of a strong coacute angle. If  $F(\overline{D}) \supset \operatorname{conv} F_1(K)$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

*Proof* We suppose that  $0 \notin F(\overline{D})$  then  $0 \notin \operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$ . The interior  $\operatorname{Int}(\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K)))$  is an open convex set which does not contain the origin 0. If  $\operatorname{Int}(\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))) = \emptyset$  then the dimension of the set  $\operatorname{conv} F_1(K)$  is not greater than n-1. Thus, this set is a subset of some hyperplane. If  $\operatorname{Int}(\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))) \neq \emptyset$  then there exists a hyperplane L, which passes through the origin and does not intersect the set  $\operatorname{Int}(\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K)))$ . In both cases, the set  $\operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$  is a subset of the proof of the theorem completed by similar statements as in the proof of the previous theorem.  $\Box$ 

It is possible to intensify the obtained above results if to require performing conditions of the type of the acute angle only for some directions chosen in a specific way.

Consider *conditions of a (strong) acute*  $\varepsilon$ *-angle:* 

 $\operatorname{Re}(\langle x, y \rangle)(>) \ge \varepsilon ||x|| ||y||$  for every pair  $(x, y), x \in X, y \in F(x)$ .

Conditions of a (strong) coacute  $\varepsilon$ -angle means, that for every point  $y^* \in S^n$  exists a pair (x, y) of points  $x \in E^n$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such, that  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle y, y^* \rangle) \ge (>)\varepsilon ||y||$ .

*Remark 3* Analogs of Theorems 2.1, 2.5, 2.8 are true, if in formulations of similar statements to Theorems 2.1, 2.5 to require only, for any ray, emanating from the origin, an existence a ray which crosses the set *K* such, that an angle between these two rays did not exceed then  $\varepsilon/2$ . In Theorem 2.8 it is sufficiently to require only the validity of the inequality  $\text{Re}(\langle y, y^* \rangle) \ge 0$  for some  $\varepsilon$ -net on a sphere.

**Theorem 2.9** Let D be a domain in Euclidean space  $X = E^n$  and let  $K \subset \overline{D}$  be a subset of the closure of D. Suppose that there exists the restriction  $F_1$  of multivalued mapping  $F : \overline{D} \to E^n = Y$  on the subset K which satisfied conditions of a coacute  $\varepsilon$ -angle for some  $\delta/2$ -net  $\Sigma$  on the sphere  $S^* = \{y^* \in Y^* : ||y^*|| = 1\}$  in  $Y^*, \delta > \varepsilon/2$ . If  $F(\overline{D}) \supset \operatorname{conv}(F_1(K))$  then  $0 \in F(\overline{D})$ .

*Proof* Let  $y_1^* \in S^* \subset Y^*$  be arbitrary points. By conditions of the theorem there exist points  $y^* \in \Sigma \subset S^* \subset Y^*$ ,  $||y^* - y_1^*|| < \varepsilon/2$  and  $x \in X$  such, that the following relations  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle y, y^* \rangle) = \cos(\angle y 0y^*) ||y|| > \sin \delta ||y|| > \varepsilon ||y||/2$  are true for all points  $y \in F_1(x)$ . Then,  $\operatorname{Re}(\langle \frac{y}{||y||}, y_1^*)) = \operatorname{Re}(\langle \frac{y}{||y||}, y^*\rangle) + \operatorname{Re}(\langle \frac{y}{||y||}, y_1^* - y^*\rangle) > \varepsilon/2 - ||y_1^* - y^*|| > 0$ .

Now the proof of the theorem is completed by virtue of Theorem 2.8.

*Example* Let  $f: B^2 \to B^2$ ,  $\partial B^2 = S^1 = \{z = e^{i\varphi}, 0 \le \varphi < 2\pi\}$ , be a non continuous mapping of the unit ball, which expressed by the formula

$$f(e^{i\varphi}) = \begin{cases} e^{i(\varphi - \pi/2)}, & 0 \le \varphi \le \pi/2, \\ e^{i(\varphi + \pi/2)}, & \pi/2 < \varphi \le \pi, \\ e^{i\varphi}, & \pi < \varphi < 2\pi \end{cases}$$

Let the mapping f on the interior of B be an arbitrary homeomorphism of  $Int(B^2)$  on the open half ball

$$B_{-}^{2} = \{z \in \operatorname{Int} B^{2}, \operatorname{Im} z < 0\}$$

Obviously, that image  $f(B^2)$  coincides with the convex hull of the set  $f(S^1)$  but  $0 \notin f(B^2)$ .

This example shows an importance of the restrictions on mappings made in quoted theorems.

**Acknowledgement** These results is partially supported by the research work grant NAS Ukraine—Tubitek (Turkey), No. 110T558. The author is grateful to Professor Kamal Soltanov for his valuable suggestion in studying a fixed point behavior in a non continuous case and to my students Bogdan Klishchuk and Maxim Tkachuk for active discussions of all proposed results.

## References

- 1. M.A. Krasnoselskii, *Topological Method in Theory of Nonlinear Integral Equations*, (1956). Moscow, Gostekhizdat (Russian), 392 pp.
- K.N. Soltanov, On nonlinear mappings and solvability of nonlinear integral equations. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 289(6), 1318–1323 (1986) (Russian)
- 3. K.N. Soltanov, Remarks on separation of convex sets, fixed-point theorem and applications in theory of linear operators, in *Fixed Point Theory and Applications* (2007), 14 p.
- K.N. Soltanov, On semi-continuous mappings, equations and inclusions in the Banach space. Hacet. J. Math. Stat. 37, 9–24 (2008)
- 5. Yu.B. Zelinskii, *Multivalued Mappigs in Analysis* (1993). Kyiv, Naukova dumka (Russian), 264 pp.
- Y. Zelinskii, M. Tkachuk, B. Klishchuk, Fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings. Zb. Prats Inst. Mat. NAN Ukr. (Transactions of the Institute of Mathematics of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine) 9(2), 175–179 (2012) (Russian)

# Parametric Continuity of Choquet and Sugeno Integrals

Ion Chiţescu

**Abstract** For a probabilistic space  $(T, \mathcal{T}, \mu)$ , a fixed measurable set *A* and a fixed positive measurable function *f*, the continuity with respect to the real parameter  $\lambda$  of the Choquet or Sugeno integral  $\int_A dm(\lambda, \mu)$  is proved. Here  $m(\lambda, \mu)$  are all possible  $\lambda$ -Sugeno measures generated by  $\mu$ . Asymptotical properties are studied too.

Keywords Classical and generalized probability  $\cdot$  Sugeno measure  $\cdot$  Choquet integral  $\cdot$  Sugeno integral

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 28A25 · 28E10 · Secondary 26E50

# 1 Introduction

Classical measure theory deals with additive measures. In the last period, generalized measure theory, dealing with (possibly) non-additive measures, became more and more important and a huge number of research papers and monographs pertaining to it appeared. The explanation of this phenomen is double, in our opinion: on one hand appears the scientific tentation of a new theory, on the other hand appears the objective fact that many aspects of concrete life or of science are better modelated by this new theory. A natural companion of the theory of non-additive measures is the theory of the integrals built with these measures—the non-linear integrals, especially the Choquet and Sugeno integrals.

From historical and scientifical point of view, the most important contribution to the theory of non-additive measures and non-linear integrals is the work of the distinguished Japanese scholar M. Sugeno who, in his Ph.D. Thesis [5] introduced the concept of  $\lambda$ -additive measures or fuzzy measures (we call these last measures *Sugeno measures*), together with his fuzzy integral (we call this integral *Sugeno* 

I. Chiţescu (🖂)

University of Bucharest, Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, Str. Academiei 14, 010014, Bucharest, Romania e-mail: ionchitescu@yahoo.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_40

*integral*). For the sake of completeness, let us recall that a  $\lambda$ -additive measure ( $\lambda$  real, subject to some restrictions) is a measure  $\mu$  having the property that

$$\mu(A \cup B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B) + \lambda \mu(A)\mu(B),$$

for any disjoint sets A, B. The Sugeno measures are special normalized  $\lambda$ -additive measures.

Subsequent developments are due to Z. Wang who showed (see [6]) that any Sugeno measure *m* has the form  $m(\lambda, \mu) = h_{\lambda} \circ \mu$ , where  $\mu$  is a classical probability and  $h_{\lambda}$  is the canonical *T*-function (see the preliminary Part) and to D. Schmeidler who formally introduced the Choquet integral using [1] (see [4]).

In the present paper we show that for any fixed A, f,  $\mu$ , the function  $\lambda \mapsto \int_A f dm(\lambda, \mu)$  is continuous (here the integral is either Choquet or Sugeno, see the Preliminary Part). Besides, because  $\lambda \in (-1, \infty)$ , we study the marginal measures  $m(-1, \mu)$ ,  $m(\infty, \mu)$  and the asymptotic behaviour of the integral (with respect to the marginal measures).

The main theoretical tool used throughout the paper is the monograph [7]. For classical measure theory, see [2] and [3].

**Note** Because of the restricted volume of these Proceedings, proofs presented in the present paper are short. Extended proofs will appear elsewhere.

## 2 Preliminary Part

Throughout the paper  $\mathbb{R}$  = the real numbers,  $\mathbb{R}_+$  = the positive real numbers,  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  =  $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ ,  $\mathbb{N}$  = the natural numbers.

We shall consider a fixed probabilistic space  $(T.\mathcal{T}, \mu)$ , where: T is a nonempty set,  $\mathcal{T}$  is a  $\sigma$ -algebra of subsets of T and  $\mu : \mathcal{T} \to [0, \infty)$  is a ( $\sigma$ -additive) probability. For any  $\mathcal{T}$ -measurable function  $f : T \to \mathbb{R}_+$  and any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , we define

$$F_{\alpha}(f) = \left\{ t \in T \mid f(t) \ge \alpha \right\} \in \mathcal{T}.$$

A generalized probability is a function  $m : \mathcal{T} \to [0, 1]$  such that  $m(\phi) = 0$ , m(T) = 1, *m* is increasing (i.e.  $m(A) \le m(B)$  whenever *A*, *B* are in  $\mathcal{T}, A \subset B$ ). For any  $\lambda \in (-1, \infty)$ , the  $\lambda$ -Sugeno measure generated by  $\mu$  is the generalized probability  $m(\lambda, \mu) = h_{\lambda} \circ \mu$ , where  $h_{\lambda} : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  is the canonical *T*-function given via

$$h_{\lambda}(t) = \begin{cases} t, & \text{if } \lambda = 0\\ \frac{(\lambda+1)^t - 1}{\lambda}, & \text{if } \lambda \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

(one knows that  $h_{\lambda}(0) = 0$ ,  $h_{\lambda}(1) = 1$ ,  $h_{\lambda}$  is strictly increasing and continuous).

Supplementarily, it follows that  $m(\lambda, \mu)$  is *continuous* (i.e.  $m(\lambda, \mu)(\lim_n A_n) = \lim_n m(\lambda, \mu)(A_n)$ , whenever  $(A_n)_n \subset \mathcal{T}$  is a monotone sequence).

Let  $f: T \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  be  $\mathcal{T}$ -measurable,  $A \in \mathcal{T}$  and  $m: \mathcal{T} \to [0, 1]$  a generalized probability. We define (write  $F_{\alpha}$  instead of  $F_{\alpha}(f)$ )

(a) The Choquet integral of f over A with respect to m (generalization of standard integral), namely

$$(C)\int_{A}fdm=\int m(F_{\alpha}\cap A)dL(\alpha)\in\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}$$

where *L* is the Lebesgue measure on  $[0, \infty)$  (the function  $\alpha \mapsto m(F_{\alpha} \cap A)$  is decreasing!).

(b) The Sugeno integral of f over A with respect to m, namely

$$(S)\int_{A} f dm = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_{+}} \alpha \wedge m(F_{\alpha} \cap A) \in [0, 1].$$

In case A = T we write  $(C) \int f dm$  and  $(S) \int f dm$ . If  $(C) \int f dm < \infty$  we say that f is *Choquet integrable*.

#### **3** Results

**Lemma 3.1** (Elementary fact) Let  $0 \le m \le 1$ . Define  $\varphi : (-1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ , via

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \begin{cases} m, & \text{if } \lambda = 0\\ \frac{(\lambda+1)^m - 1}{\lambda}, & \text{if } \lambda \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Then  $\varphi$  is continuously differentiable and decreasing. In case m = 0 or m = 1,  $\varphi$  is constant. In case 0 < m < 1,  $\varphi'(\lambda) < 0$  and  $0 < \varphi(\lambda) < 1$  for any  $\lambda \in [-1, \infty)$ .

In the sequel we shall always write  $F_{\alpha}$  instead of  $F_{\alpha}(f)$ . We shall also use the fact that we always have  $(C) \int_{A} f dm = (C) \int f \varphi_{A} dm$  and  $(S) \int_{A} f dm = (S) \int f \varphi_{A} dm$ , where  $\varphi_{A}$  is the characteristic (indicator) function of A.

**Proposition 3.2** Assume  $f: T \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is  $\mu$ -integrable. Then:

- 1. The function f is Choquet integrable with respect to  $m(\lambda, \mu)$  for any  $\lambda \in (-1, \infty)$ .
- 2. For any  $A \in \mathcal{T}$ , the function  $V : (-1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ , given via

$$V(\lambda) = (C) \int_{A} f dm(\lambda, \mu)$$

is continuous.

*Proof* 1. Working in the non trivial cases  $\lambda \neq 0$  and  $\mu(F_{\alpha}) > 0$  for any  $\alpha \geq 0$ , we apply Cauchy's integral criterion to the monotone function  $\alpha \mapsto (\lambda + 1)^{\mu(F_{\alpha})} - 1$  and use the hypothesis.

2. One can work for A = T. Fixing  $\lambda_0 \in (-1, \infty)$ , we must show that  $\lim_{\lambda \to \lambda_0} (C) \int f dm(\lambda, \mu) = (C) \int f dm(\lambda_0, \mu)$ . The idea is to prove that the function  $W : (-1, \infty) \to \mathcal{L}^1(L)$ , given via  $W(\lambda) = h(\lambda)$  is continuous and to use the continuous linear functional  $H : (-1, \infty) \to \mathcal{L}^1(L)$ ,  $H(\varphi) = \int \varphi dL$ . Here  $\mathcal{L}^1$  is seminormed as usual with the seminorm  $||f||_1 = \int |f| dL$  and  $h(\lambda)(\alpha) = m(\lambda, \mu)(F_\alpha)$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ .

The proof is done separately for  $\lambda_0 \neq 0$  and  $\lambda_0 = 0$ .

**Case**  $\lambda_0 \neq 0$  For arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$  we get  $\delta > 0$  such that if  $|\lambda - \lambda_0| < \delta$  one has  $||h(\lambda) - h(\lambda_0)||_1 < \varepsilon$ . This can be done imposing some preliminary conditions on  $\delta$  and using the Mac Laurin expansion of the functions  $x \mapsto (\lambda + 1)^x = \exp(x \ln(\lambda + 1))$  and  $x \mapsto (\lambda_0 + 1)^x = \exp(x \ln(\lambda_0 + 1))$ , for  $x = \mu(F_\alpha)$  followed by term by term integration.

**Case**  $\lambda_0 = 0$  For any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and  $\lambda \in (-1, 1)$ , one expands  $\lambda \mapsto (\lambda + 1)^{\mu(F_{\alpha})}$  as a binomial series and, after some other computations (especially term by term integration) we get an evaluation (for  $0 \neq \lambda \in (-1, 1)$ ) of the form

$$\left| m(\lambda,\mu)(F_{\alpha}) - \mu(F_{\alpha}) \right| \leq \mu(F_{\alpha}) \sum_{p=2}^{\infty} |\lambda|^{p-1} = \mu(F_{\alpha}) \frac{|\lambda|}{1 - |\lambda|}.$$

This leads to

$$\|h(\lambda) - h(0)\|_1 \le \frac{|\lambda|}{1 - |\lambda|} \int f d\mu \xrightarrow[\lambda \to 0]{} 0.$$

**Proposition 3.3** For any  $A \in \mathcal{T}$ , the function  $V(-1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}_+$  given via

$$V(\lambda) = (S) \int_{A} f dm(\lambda, \mu)$$

is continuous.

*Proof* Again we can work for A = T. Let us fix  $\lambda_0 \in (-1, \infty)$  and take a strictly monotone sequence of numbers  $(\lambda_n)_n$  with  $\lambda_0 \neq \lambda_n \xrightarrow[]{n} \lambda_0$ . According to the Transformation Theorem (Theorem 9.13 from [7]) we have the equalities:

$$(S) \int f dm(\lambda_n, \mu) = (S) \int h_n dL$$
$$(S) \int f dm(\lambda_0, \mu) = (S) \int h dL,$$

where  $h_n : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $h_n(\alpha) = m(\lambda_n, \mu)(F_\alpha)$  and  $h : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $h(\alpha) = m(\lambda_0, \mu)(F_\alpha)$ . We must prove that

$$\lim_{n} (S) \int h_n dL = (S) \int h dL.$$
(3.1)

In case  $\lambda_n > \lambda_0$  (( $\lambda_n$ )<sub>n</sub> strictly decreasing), we use Lemma 3.1 to deduce that  $(h_n)_n$  is increasing with pointwise limit *h*. Equality (3.1) follows from Theorem 9.5 from [7].

In case  $\lambda_n < \lambda_0$  (( $\lambda_n$ )<sub>n</sub> strictly increasing), Lemma 3.1 says that ( $h_n$ )<sub>n</sub> is decreasing with pointwise limit *h*. We have

$$C = \int h dL \le 1 < \infty.$$

Define, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$A_n = \left\{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+ \mid h(\alpha) > C \right\}$$

According to the same Theorem 9.5 from [7], a sufficient condition for the valability of (3.1) consists in the existence of  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $L(A_{n_0}) < \infty$ . We shall prove that this in the case.

Actually, we shall prove a stronger assertion, namely that  $L(A_n) < \infty$  for any *n*. Indeed, assuming the existence of some *n* such that  $L(A_n) = \infty$ , we shall arrive at a contradiction, as follows. Firstly,  $A_n$  is an interval with extremity 0, hence  $A_n = \mathbb{R}_+$ , which implies the fact that  $m(\lambda_n, \mu)(F_\alpha) > C$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Using a strictly increasing  $(\alpha_p)_p$  such that  $\alpha_p \xrightarrow{p} \infty$  and the fact that  $\mu$  is continuous, we infer that all  $m(\lambda_n, \mu)$  are continuous and get, for any n:

$$\lim_{p} m(\lambda_{n}, \mu)(F_{\alpha_{p}}) = m(\lambda_{n}, \mu)\left(\bigcap_{p} F_{\alpha_{p}}\right) \geq C,$$

contradiction, because  $\bigcap_p F_{\alpha_p} = \emptyset$  (*f* is finite).

The remainder of our paper will be concerned with the asymptotic behaviour. The pointwise limit measures of  $m(\lambda, \mu)$  when  $\lambda \to -1$  or  $\lambda \to \infty$  exist:

**Proposition 3.4** The marginal generalized probabilities  $m(-1, \mu) : \mathcal{T} \to [0, 1]$ and  $m(\infty, \mu) : \mathcal{T} \to [0, 1]$  exist. They are defined pointwise, for any  $A \in \mathcal{T}$ , as follows:

$$m(-1,\mu)(A) = \lim_{\lambda \to -1} m(\lambda,\mu)(A) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \mu(A) = 0\\ 1, & \text{if } \mu(A) > 0. \end{cases}$$
$$m(\infty,\mu)(A) = \lim_{\lambda \to -1} m(\lambda,\mu)(A) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \mu(A) < 1\\ 1, & \text{if } \mu(A) = 1. \end{cases}$$

Supplementarily:  $m(-1, \mu)$  is countably subadditive and  $m(\infty, \mu)$  is countably superadditive.

The "continuity" of the functions  $\lambda \mapsto (C) \int_A f dm(\lambda, \mu)$ ,  $\lambda \mapsto (S) \int_A f dm(\lambda, \mu)$  can be "extended" at the points -1 and  $\infty$ , as the following results shows:

#### **Proposition 3.5** *Let* $A \in \mathcal{T}$ *.*

1. Assume  $f: T \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  is  $\mu$ -integrable. Then one has

$$\lim_{\lambda \to -1} (C) \int_A dm(\lambda, \mu) = (C) \int_A f dm(-1, \mu)$$
$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (C) \int_A f d(\lambda, \mu) = (C) \int_A f dm(\infty, \mu).$$

2. One has

$$\lim_{\lambda \to -1} (S) \int_A f dm(\lambda, \mu) = (S) \int_A f dm(-1, \mu)$$
$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (S) \int_A f dm(\lambda, \mu) = (S) \int_A f dm(\infty, \mu).$$

*Proof* 1. We use Beppo Levi's theorem or Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, taking monotone sequences  $\lambda_n \xrightarrow[n]{\rightarrow} \lambda_0$ .

2. We use the fact that for two non empty sets and for a bounded from below function  $g: A \times B \to \mathbb{R}$ , one has

$$\sup_{a \in A} \sup_{b \in B} g(a, b) = \sup_{b \in B} \sup_{a \in A} g(a, b) = \sup_{(a,b) \in A \times B} g(a, b)$$
$$\sup_{a \in A} \inf_{b \in B} g(a, b) = \inf_{b \in B} \sup_{a \in A} g(a, b).$$

Acknowledgement The author expresses his gratitude to professor Anatolij Prykarpatski for the most valuable suggestion to study the asymptotic behaviour.

#### References

- 1. G. Choquet, Theory of capacities. Ann. Inst. Fourier 5, 131-295 (1953-1954)
- 2. N. Dinculeanu, Vector Measures (VEB, Berlin, 1966)
- 3. P.R. Halmos, Measure Theory (Van Nostrand, Princeton, 1950)
- 4. D. Schmeidler, Integral representation without additivity. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. **97**, 255–261 (1986)
- 5. M. Sugeno, Theory of Fuzzy Integrals with Applications. Ph. D. dissertation, Tokyo Institute of Technology (1974)
- 6. Z. Wang, Une classe de mesures floues—les quasi-mesures. BUSEFAL 6, 28–37 (1981)
- Z. Wang, G.J. Klir, *Generalized Measure Theory*. IFSR International Series on Systems Science and Engineering, vol. 25 (Springer, Berlin, 2009)

# Nonlinear Operators, Fixed-Point Theorems, Nonlinear Equations

Kamal N. Soltanov

**Abstract** In this article we discuss the solvability of some class of fully nonlinear equations, and equations with *p*-Laplacian in more general conditions by using a new approach given by Soltanov in Nonlinear Anal. 72:164–175, 2010 for studying the nonlinear continuous operator. Moreover we reduce certain general results for the continuous operators acting on Banach spaces, and investigate their image. Here we also consider the existence of a fixed-point of the continuous operators under various conditions.

Keywords Nonlinear continuous operator  $\cdot$  Closed image  $\cdot$  Fixed-point  $\cdot$  Solvability theorem  $\cdot$  Nonlinear BVP

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 46T20 · 47H10 · 47J05 · Secondary 35D35 · 35J60 · 35Q82

# **1** Introduction

In the present paper we consider the boundary-value problem for the fully nonlinear equation of the second order

$$F(x, u, Du, \Delta u) = h(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$
(1.1)

and also for the nonlinear equations with *p*-Laplacian that depend upon the parameters  $\lambda$  and  $\rho$ 

$$-\nabla \left( |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u \right) + G(x, u, Du, \lambda, \rho) = h(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$
(1.2)

on the smooth bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$   $(n \ge 1)$ , where  $F(x, \xi, \eta, \zeta)$  and  $G(x, \xi, \eta, \lambda, \rho)$  are Caratheodory functions. We deal with the properties of the nonlinear operators generated by the posed problems and study the solvability of these

K.N. Soltanov (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Supported by 110T558-projekt of TUBITAK.

Dep. Math. Fac. Sci., Hacettepe University, Beytepe, Ankara 06800, Turkey e-mail: soltanov@hacettepe.edu.tr

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_41

problems by using the general results of such type as in [1]. It should be noted that equations of such type arise in the diffusion processes, reaction-diffusion processes etc., in the steady-state case (see, for example [2-13] and their references). Furthermore we discuss of some nonlinear continuous mappings acting on Banach spaces and an equation (inclusion) with mappings of such type. The problems of such type were studied earlier under various conditions in the semilinear ([2, 3, 7-11, 13])etc.) and in the fully nonlinear cases ([4, 12, 14] etc.). In the mentioned articles, the known general results having such conditions that cannot be applicable to the problems considered here, were used, whereas in this article we want to investigate these problems under more general conditions. Indeed, under here assumed conditions not is possible to use a methods that require of the compactness of the operators generated by the studied problems, since these operators here only are continuous. Therefore we need to use a general result that will be applicable to the considered problems here and consequently, the conditions of the general result differ from the conditions of the known results. The results of [1] and the general results adduced here allow us to study the imposed problem in more general conditions.

So for our goal we lead to a fixed-point theorem for nonlinear continuous mappings acting on Banach spaces and also a solvability theorem for nonlinear equations involving continuous operators. These general results allow us to study various nonlinear mappings and also nonlinear problems under more general conditions. That is demonstrated under study of the boundary value problems (BVP) for the nonlinear differential equations of reduced here. Moreover we obtain the existence of the fixed point for the operator associated with imposed problem. We would like also to note that Theorem 2.1 of present article is a result of the type of Lax–Milgram theorem.

#### **2** Some General Results on Solvability

Let *X*, *Y* be reflexive Banach spaces and  $X^*$ ,  $Y^*$  be their dual spaces, moreover let *Y* be reflexive with strictly convex norm together with  $Y^*$  (this condition is not complementary condition; see, for example, [15]) and  $f : D(f) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  be an operator.

So, we will conduct here the special case of the main result of [1]. Consider the following conditions. Let the closed ball  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$  of *X* is contained in D(f), i.e.  $B_{r_0}^X(0) \subseteq D(f) \subset X$  and on  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$  are fulfilled the conditions:

(i)  $f: B_{r_0}^X(0) \subseteq D(f) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  be a continuous operator that bounded on  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$ , i.e.

$$\|f(x)\|_{Y} \le \mu(\|x\|_{X}), \quad \forall x \in B_{r_{0}}^{X}(0);$$

(ii) there is a mapping  $g: D(g) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y^*$  such that  $D(f) \subseteq D(g)$ , and for any  $S_r^X(0) \subset B_{r_0}^X(0), 0 < r \le r_0, \operatorname{cl} g(S_r^X(0)) = \overline{g(S_r^X(0))} \equiv S_r^{Y^*}(0), S_r^X(0) \subseteq g^{-1}(S_r^{Y^*}(0))$ 

$$\langle f(x), g(x) \rangle \ge \nu (\|x\|_X) \|x\|_X$$
, a.e. $x \in B_{r_0}^X(0) \& \nu(r_0) \ge \delta_0 > 0$  (2.1)

holds,<sup>1</sup> where  $\mu : R^1_+ \longrightarrow R^1_+$  and  $\nu : R^1_+ \longrightarrow R^1$  are continuous functions  $(\mu, \nu \in C^0)$ , moreover  $\nu$  is the nondecreasing function for  $\tau \ge \tau_0$ ,  $r_0 \ge \tau_0 \ge 0$ ;  $\tau_0, \delta_0 > 0$  are constants;

(iii) almost each  $\tilde{x} \in int B_{r_0}^X(0)$  possesses a neighborhood  $V_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{x}), \varepsilon \ge \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that the following inequality

$$\left\|f(x_2) - f(x_1)\right\|_{Y} \ge \Phi\left(\|x_2 - x_1\|_{X}, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon\right),\tag{2.2}$$

holds for any  $\forall x_1, x_2 \in V_{\varepsilon}(\widetilde{x}) \cap B_{r_0}^X(0)$ , where  $\Phi(\tau, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon) \ge 0$  is a continuous function at  $\tau$  and  $\Phi(\tau, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \tau = 0$  (in particular,  $\widetilde{x} = 0, \varepsilon = \varepsilon_0 = r_0$  and  $V_{\varepsilon}(\widetilde{x}) = V_{r_0}(0) \equiv B_{r_0}^X(0)$ , consequently  $\Phi(\tau, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon) \equiv \Phi(\tau, 0, r_0)$  on  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$ ),

**Theorem 2.1** (Main Theorem) Let X, Y be Banach spaces such as above and f:  $D(f) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  be an operator. Assume that on the closed ball  $B_{r_0}^X(0) \subseteq D(f) \subset X$  the conditions (i) and (ii) are fulfilled then the image  $f(B_{r_0}^X(0))$  of the ball  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$  contains an everywhere dense subset of M that has the form

$$M \equiv \left\{ y \in Y \mid \langle y, g(x) \rangle \le \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle, \ \forall x \in S_{r_0}^X(0) \right\}.$$

Furthermore if in addition the image  $f(B_{r_0}^X(0))$  of the ball  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$  is closed or the condition (iii) is fulfilled then the image  $f(B_{r_0}^X(0))$  is a bodily subset of Y, moreover  $f(B_{r_0}^X(0))$  contains the above bodily subset M.

The proof of this theorem is obtained from general result that was proven in [14] (see also, [1]). (Theorem 2.1 is the generalization of theorem of such type from [11].)

*Remark 2.2* **1.** It is easy to see that the condition  $B_{r_0}^X(0) \subseteq D(f)$  is not essential, because if D(f) comprises a bounded closed subset  $U(x_0) \subseteq X$  of some element  $x_0 \in D(f)$  such that  $U(x_0)$  is topologically equivalent to  $B_1^X(0)$  and  $U(x_0) \subseteq D(f) \cap D(g)$ , then we can formulate the conditions and statement of this theorem analogously, i.e. for this we determine the operator  $\tilde{f}(x) = f(x) - f(x_0)$  and assume that

$$\left\|\widetilde{f}(x)\right\|_{X^*} \le \mu \left(\|x - x_0\|_X\right),$$

holds for any  $x \in U(x_0)$  and

$$\langle \tilde{f}(x), g(x-x_0) \rangle \ge \nu (\|x-x_0\|_X) \|x-x_0\|_X$$
 (2.3)

holds for almost all  $x \in U(x_0)$ . Moreover  $\nu(||x - x_0||_X) \ge \delta_0 > 0$  for any  $x \in \partial U(x_0)$ , where  $g : D(g) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y^*$  such that  $D(f) \subseteq D(g)$  and g satisfies a claim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In particular, the mapping g can be a linear bounded operator as  $g \equiv L : X \longrightarrow Y^*$  that satisfy the conditions of (ii).

analogously of the condition (ii) respect to  $U(x_0)$ . In this case, we define subset  $\widetilde{M}_{x_0}$  in the form

$$\widetilde{M}_{x_0} \equiv \left\{ y \in Y \mid 0 \le \left( f(x) - y, g(x - x_0) \right), \ \forall x \in \partial U(x_0) \right\}$$
(2.4)

**2.** In the formulation of Theorem 2.1 we use the equality  $||g(x)||_{Y^*} \equiv ||x||_X$  that can be determined by the known way, i.e.  $g'(x) \equiv \frac{||x||_X}{||g(x)||_{Y^*}}g(x)$  for any  $x \in D(g) \subseteq X$ .

Condition (iii) of Theorem 2.1 can be generalized, for example, as in the following proposition.

**Corollary 2.3** Let all conditions of Theorem 2.1 be fulfilled except inequality (2.2), and instead of that, let the following inequality

$$\left\|f(x_2) - f(x_1)\right\|_{Y} \ge \Phi\left(\|x_2 - x_1\|_{X}, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon\right) + \psi\left(\|x_1 - x_2\|_{Z}, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon\right), \tag{2.5}$$

be fulfilled for any  $x_1, x_2 \in V_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{x}) \cap B_{r_0}^X(0)$ , where  $\Phi(\tau, \tilde{x}, \varepsilon)$  is a function such as in the condition (iii), Z is a Banach space and the inclusion  $X \subset Z$  is compact, and  $\psi(\cdot, \tilde{x}, \varepsilon) : R^1_+ \longrightarrow R^1$  is a continuous function at  $\tau$  and  $\psi(0, \tilde{x}, \varepsilon) = 0$ . Then the statement of Theorem 2.1 is correct.

**Note** It should be noted that this result is a generalization of the known Lax–Milgram theorem [16] to the nonlinear case in the class of Banach spaces when all conditions of this theorem are fulfilled on whole space. Indeed, we can formulate the Lax–Milgram theorem for the linear operator T acting on the real Hilbert space X in the form:

(a) There exists a positive constant  $\gamma$  such that

$$|(Tx, y)| \le \gamma ||x||_X \cdot ||y||_X, \quad \forall (x, y) \in X \times X;$$

that is equivalent to boundedness of operator  $T: X \longrightarrow X$ .

(b) there exists a positive constant  $\delta$  such that

$$(Tx, x) \ge \delta \|x\|_X^2;$$

that is equivalent to the coerciveness of  $T : X \longrightarrow X$ , i.e. T satisfies the condition (ii) for the special case ( $g \equiv id$ ).

Then equation Tx = y is solvable for any  $y \in X$ .

From the condition b, it follows that

$$||T(x_1-x_2)||_X \ge \delta ||x_1-x_2||_X;$$

i.e. inequality (2.2) holds for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$ .

**Theorem 2.4** (Fixed-Point Theorem) Let X be a reflexive separable Banach space and  $f_1 : D(f_1) \subseteq X \longrightarrow X$  be a bounded continuous operator. Moreover, let on a closed ball  $B_{r_0}^X(x_0) \subseteq D(f_1)$ , where  $x_0 \in D(f_1)$ , operator  $f \equiv Id - f_1$  satisfy the following conditions

$$\left\| f_1(x) - f_1(x_0) \right\|_X \le \mu \left( \|x - x_0\|_X \right), \quad \forall x \in B_{r_0}^X(x_0),$$

$$\left\langle f(x) - f(x_0), g(x - x_0) \right\rangle \ge \nu \left( \|x - x_0\|_X \right) \|x - x_0\|_X, \quad \forall x \in B_{r_0}^X(x_0),$$

$$(2.6)$$

and almost each  $\tilde{x} \in int B_{r_0}^X(x_0)$  possesses a neighborhood  $V_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{x}), \varepsilon \geq \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that the following inequality

$$\left\| f(x_2) - f(x_1) \right\|_{X} \ge \varphi \left( \|x_2 - x_1\|_{X}, \widetilde{x}, \varepsilon \right),$$

holds for any  $x_1, x_2 \in V_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{x}) \cap B_{r_0}^X(x_0)$ , where  $g : D(g) \subseteq X \longrightarrow X^*$  such that  $B_{r_0}^X(0) \subseteq D(g)$  and g satisfies condition (ii),  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are such functions as in Theorem 2.1, function  $\varphi(\tau, \tilde{x}, \varepsilon)$  has such a form as the right hand side of inequality  $(2.3)^2$  Then the operator  $f_1$  possesses a fixed-point on the ball  $B_{r_0}^X(x_0)$ .

**Definition 2.5** We call that an operator  $f : D(f) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  possesses the Pproperty iff any precompact subset M of Y from Im f has a (general) subsequence  $M_0 \subset M$  such that there exists a precompact subset G of X that satisfies the inclusions  $f^{-1}(M_0) \subseteq G$  and  $f(G \cap D(f)) \supseteq M_0$ .

*Remark 2.6* We can take the following condition instead of condition (iii) of Theorem 2.1: f possesses the P-property on the ball  $B_{r_0}^X(0)$ . It should be noted that an operator  $f: D(f) \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$  possesses of the P-property if  $f^{-1}$  is a lower or upper semi-continuous mapping (cf. A-property [8]).

In the above results for the completeness of the image (Im f) of the imposed operator f, the condition (iii) and P-property (and also the generalizations of the conditions (iii)) are used. But there are some other types of the complementary conditions on f under which Im f will be a closed subset. These types of conditions are described in [1, 12, 14]. Therefore we do not conduct them here again.

#### **3** Fully Nonlinear Equations of Second Order

Now, we study some nonlinear BVP with using the general results. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$   $(n \ge 1)$  be an open bounded domain with sufficiently smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$ . Consider the following problem

$$f(u) \equiv -\Delta u + F(x, u, Du, \Delta u) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega, \ u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \tag{3.1}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In particular,  $g \equiv J : X \longrightarrow X^*$ , i.e. g be a duality mapping.

where  $F(x, \xi, \eta, \zeta)$  is a Caratheodory function on  $\Omega \times R^2 \times R^n$  as  $F: \Omega \times R^2 \times R^n \longrightarrow R^1$ ,  $D \equiv (D_1, D_2, \dots, D_n)$ ,  $\Delta \equiv \sum_{i=1}^n D_i^2$  (is Laplacian),  $D_i \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ . Let the following conditions be fulfilled

(i) there are Caratheodory functions  $F_0(x,\xi)$ ,  $F_1(x,\xi,\eta)$ ,  $F_2(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta)$ :  $F_0, F_1$ ,  $F_2: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{n+2} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^1$  such that  $F(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta) = F_0(x,\xi) + F_1(x,\xi,\eta) + F_2(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta)$  for any  $(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^1$ , moreover

(a) there exist a Caratheodory function  $a_1(x,\xi)$  and numbers  $m_0, \nu \ge 0$ ,  $\mu, M > 0, \mu + 2 > 2\nu$  such that

$$F_{0}(x,\xi) \equiv M|\xi|^{\mu}\xi + a_{1}(x,\xi),$$
  

$$|a_{1}(x,\xi)| \le m_{0}|\xi|^{\nu} + \psi(x), \quad \psi \in L_{p}(\Omega), \ p > 2$$
(3.2)

hold for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^1$ , and

(b) there exist a number  $2 \ge \rho \ge 0$  and a nonnegative Caratheodory function  $m_1(x, \xi, \eta) \ge 0$  such that

$$|F_1(x,\xi,\eta)| \le m_1(x,\xi,\eta)|\eta|^{\rho} + k(x),$$
 (3.3)

 $\forall (x, \xi, \eta) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{R}^n$  holds, where  $m_1(x, \xi, \eta) \leq M_1(x)$ , and  $2(\widehat{C}(\mu, \rho, n) \times \|M_1\|_{\infty}^2)^2 \leq M$ ,  $k \in L_{p_1}(\Omega)$ ,  $p_1 > 2$ ,  $\widehat{C}(\mu, \rho, n)$  is the coefficient of Gagliardo–Nirenberg–Sobolev (G-N-S) inequality (see, [16]).

(c) there exist a Caratheodory function,  $c(x, \xi, \eta, \zeta)$ ,  $\tilde{F}_2(x, \xi, \eta)$  and continuous function  $k(\zeta)$  such that the following inequalities

$$\left|F_2(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta) - F_2(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta_1)\right| \le c\left(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta(\zeta,\zeta_1)\right)|\zeta - \zeta_1|, \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\left|F_{2}(x,\xi,\eta,\zeta) - F_{2}(x,\xi_{1},\eta_{1},\zeta)\right| \le k(\zeta) \left|\widetilde{F}_{2}(x,\xi,\eta) - \widetilde{F}_{2}(x,\xi_{1},\eta_{1})\right|$$
(3.5)

hold for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and any  $(\xi, \eta), (\xi_1, \eta_1) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \forall \zeta, \zeta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^1$ , and  $F_2(x, \xi, \eta, 0) = 0$ , moreover there exists a function  $\psi_1 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that  $\psi_1(x) \ge 0, c(x, \xi, \eta, \zeta) \le \psi_1(x)$  hold for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and any  $(\xi, \eta, \zeta) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , here  $\|\psi_1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \equiv \|\psi_1\|_{\infty} \le 4^{-1}$ .

Assume the following denotations:  $||u||_{L_p(\Omega)} \equiv ||u||_p$  for any  $p \in [1, \infty]$ , and  $||u||_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)} \equiv ||u||_{l,p}$ , for  $u \in W^{l,p}(\Omega)$ ,  $l \ge 1$ . So, we consider the operator f:  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$ , which is generated by the imposed problem.

**Theorem 3.1** Let conditions (i), (a), (b), (c) be fulfilled and parameters  $\rho_0$  and  $\rho$  satisfy the following relations

$$1 < \rho_0 \le \frac{4}{n-4} \quad \text{if } n \ge 5 \qquad \& \qquad 1 < \rho_0 < \infty \quad \text{if } n = 2, 3, 4,$$
  
$$\rho \ge \frac{(\rho_0 + 2)n}{2(n+\rho_0)} \qquad \& \qquad \rho \le 1 + \min\left\{\frac{\rho_0 + 2}{n+\rho_0}; \frac{2}{n-2}; \frac{\rho_0}{\rho_0 + 2}\right\}.$$

Then problem (3.1) is solvable in  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,2}_0(\Omega)$ .

*Proof* For the proof, it is enough to show that operator  $f: W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$  fulfills all conditions of Theorem 2.1. For this, we will estimate the following dual form

$$\langle f(u), g(u) \rangle = \langle -\Delta u + F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \rangle$$

where the operator g is determined in the form  $g \equiv -\Delta : W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$ , then we have

$$\langle -\Delta u + F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \rangle = \|\Delta u\|_2^2 + \langle F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \rangle,$$

consequently we need to estimate the second term of this equation, i.e. the dual form:  $\langle F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \rangle$ .

Thus using conditions (i), (a), (b), (c) we obtain

$$\left\langle F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \right\rangle$$

$$= -\left\langle F_0(x, u), \Delta u \right\rangle - \left\langle F_1(x, u, Du), \Delta u \right\rangle$$

$$- \left\langle F_2(x, u, Du, \Delta u), \Delta u \right\rangle = -\left\langle M | u |^{\mu} u + a_1(x, u), \Delta u \right\rangle$$

$$- \left\langle F_1(x, u, Du), \Delta u \right\rangle - \left\langle F_2(x, u, Du, \Delta u), \Delta u \right\rangle$$

$$\geq \left\langle M(\mu+1) | u |^{\mu} \nabla u, \nabla u \right\rangle$$

$$- \left\| m_0 | u |^{\nu} + \psi \right\|_2 \| \Delta u \|_2 - \| m_1(x, u, Du) | \nabla u |^{\rho} + k(x) \|_2 \| \Delta u \|_2$$

$$- \| c(x, u, Du, \Delta u) | \Delta u | \|_2 \| \Delta u \|_2 \geq M(\mu+1) \| | u |^{\frac{\mu}{2}} \nabla u \|_2^2$$

$$- \varepsilon_1 \| | u |^{\frac{\mu+2}{2}} \|_2 - \| M_1 \|_{\infty}^2 \| | \nabla u |^{\rho} \|_2^2 - (\varepsilon + 4^{-1} + \| \psi_1 \|_{\infty}) \| \Delta u \|_2^2$$

$$- C(\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1, m_0, \| \psi \|_p, \| k \|_p), \quad \varepsilon, \varepsilon_1 \in (0, 1).$$

$$(3.6)$$

Hence we need to estimate the term  $\||\nabla u|^{\rho}\|_{2}^{2}$  with using  $\||u|^{\frac{\mu}{2}}u\|_{1,2}^{2}$  and  $\|u\|_{2,2}^{2}$  for which we will use the known inequality (G-N-S). Using that we get

$$\begin{split} \left\langle F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \right\rangle \\ &\geq \left\langle M(\varepsilon_1)(\mu+1)|u|^{\mu} \nabla u, \nabla u \right\rangle - \left(\varepsilon + 2^{-1}\right) \|\Delta u\|_2^2 \\ &\quad - \widehat{C}(\mu, \rho, n) \|M_1\|_{\infty}^2 \|\Delta u\|_2^{\theta\rho} \|u\|_{\frac{(\mu+2)n}{n-2}}^{(1-\theta)\rho} - C\left(\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1, m_0, \|\psi\|_p, \|k\|_p\right), \end{split}$$

where  $\theta = [2\rho(n+\mu) - (\mu+2)n] \cdot [4\rho(\mu+1) - \rho\mu n]^{-1}$  for the considered case, and here  $\widehat{C}(\mu, \rho, n)$  is the coefficient of the inequality G-N-S.

From here we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left\langle F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \right\rangle \\ & \geq \left\langle M_{\varepsilon_1}(\mu+1) | u |^{\mu} \nabla u, \nabla u \right\rangle - \left(\varepsilon + \frac{3}{4}\right) \|\Delta u\|_2^2 \end{split}$$

$$-\left(\widehat{C}(\mu,\rho,n)\|M_1\|_{\infty}^2\right)^2\|u\|_{\frac{(\mu+2)n}{n-2}}^{\mu+2}-C(\varepsilon,\varepsilon_1,m_0,\|\psi\|_p,\|k\|_p),\qquad(3.7)$$

where  $(\widehat{C}(\mu, \rho, n) \|M_1\|_{\infty}^2)^2 < M$  by the condition (b). Now taking account (3.6) in (3.7) we get

$$\langle f(u), g(u) \rangle = \langle -\Delta u + F(x, u, Du, \Delta u), -\Delta u \rangle \ge \left(\frac{1}{4} - \varepsilon\right) \|\Delta u\|_2^2$$
  
 
$$+ \widetilde{M}(\mu + 1) \|\|u\|_2^{\frac{\mu}{2}} \nabla u\|_2^2 - C\left(\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1, m_0, \|\psi\|_p, \|k\|_p\right).$$
(3.8)

So, condition (i) is fulfilled as the operator  $f: W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$  is bounded that can be seen easily from its expression and the conditions of this theorem.

Thus it follows that problem (3.1) is densely solvable in  $L_2(\Omega)$ . Consequently, it is remained to show that image  $f(W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega))$  of mapping f is closed in the space  $L_2(\Omega)$ .

Let  $h_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$  then there is a sequence  $\{h_m\} \subset \text{Im } f \subseteq L_2(\Omega)$  that converges to the given  $h_0$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$ , as cl Im  $f \equiv L_2(\Omega)$ . For any  $h_m$  we have the subset  $f^{-1}(h_m)$ and as  $\{h_m\}$  is a bounded subset in  $L_2(\Omega)$  then there is a bounded subset G of  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  such that  $G \cap f^{-1}(h_m) \neq \emptyset$ . Then we can choose a sequence  $\{u_m\} \subset G$  such that  $f(u_m) = h_m$  which belongs to the bounded subset G. From here using the reflexivity of the space  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  we can select a subsequence  $\{u_{m_k}\} \subseteq \{u_m\}$  that is a weakly convergent sequence in  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$ , i.e. there is an element  $u_0$  such that  $u_{m_k} \rightarrow u_0$  in  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  (may be after the choice of a subsequence of  $\{u_{m_k}\}$ ), and consequently  $u_{m_k} \longrightarrow u_0$  in  $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ ,  $1 \le p < 2^*$ .

Thus we get  $F_0(x, u_{m_k}) \longrightarrow F_0(x, u_0)$ ,  $F_1(x, u_{m_k}, Du_{m_k}) \longrightarrow F_1(x, u_0, Du_0)$ in  $L_2(\Omega)$  by the conditions of Theorem 3.1 that  $F_i : W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$ , i = 0, 1, are continuous operators.

On the other hand for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist  $m_k, m_l \ge m_k(\varepsilon) \ge 1$  such that the inequality

$$\varepsilon > \|h_{m_{k}} - h_{m_{l}}\|_{2} \equiv \|f(u_{m_{k}}) - f(u_{m_{l}})\|_{2}$$

$$\geq \frac{3}{4} \|\Delta(u_{m_{k}} - u_{m_{l}})\|_{2} + \widehat{M} \|u_{m_{k}} - u_{m_{l}}\|_{2(\mu+1)}^{\mu+1}$$

$$- \|F_{0}(x, u_{m_{k}}) - F_{0}(x, u_{m_{l}})\|_{2} - \|F_{1}(x, u_{m_{k}}, Du_{m_{k}}) - F_{1}(x, u_{m_{l}}, Du_{m_{l}})\|_{2}$$

$$- k(\|\Delta u_{0}\|_{2}) \|\widetilde{F}_{2}(x, u_{m_{k}}, Du_{m_{k}}) - \widetilde{F}_{2}(x, u_{m_{l}}, Du_{m_{l}})\|_{2}$$
(3.9)

holds, where  $u_{m_k} \longrightarrow u_0$  in  $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ ,  $1 \le p < 2^*$  and  $u_{m_k} \rightharpoonup u_0$  in  $W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ . Hence we obtain that the last terms of (3.9) converge to zero under  $m_k \nearrow \infty$ , then we get

$$\|\Delta(u_{m_k}-u_{m_l})\|_2 \searrow 0 \quad \text{if } m_k, m_l \nearrow \infty.$$

Consequently  $\Delta u_{m_k} \longrightarrow \Delta u_0$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$ ,  $F_2(x, u_{m_k}, Du_{m_k}, \Delta u_{m_k}) \longrightarrow F_2(x, u_0, Du_0, \Delta u_0)$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$  and from the equality

$$\langle -\Delta u_{m_k} + F(x, u_{m_k}, Du_{m_k}, \Delta u_{m_k}), v \rangle$$

$$= \langle -\Delta u_{m_k}, v \rangle + \langle F_0(x, u_{m_k}), v \rangle$$

$$- \langle F_1(x, u_{m_k}, Du_{m_k}), v \rangle - \langle F_2(x, u_{m_k}, Du_{m_k}, \Delta u_{m_k}), v \rangle$$

$$= \langle h_{m_k}, v \rangle, \quad \forall v \in L_2(\Omega) \& \forall k \ge 1$$

we obtain that

$$\langle -\Delta u_0 + F(x, u_0, Du_0, \Delta u_0), v \rangle = \langle h_0, v \rangle, \quad \forall v \in L_2(\Omega).$$

Hence it follows  $h_0 \in \text{Im } f$ , i.e.  $\text{Im } f \equiv f(W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)) \equiv L_2(\Omega)$ .

*Remark 3.2* The result of this theorem shows that we can consider the following problem

$$-\Delta u + M|u|^{\mu}u = -a_1(x, u) - F_1(x, u, Du) - F_2(x, u, Du, \Delta u)$$

let the operators  $G_0: W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$  and  $G_1: W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L_2(\Omega)$  be defined by the expressions

$$G_0(u) \equiv -\Delta u + M|u|^{\mu}u,$$
  

$$G_1(u) \equiv -a_1(x, u) - F_1(x, u, Du) - F_2(x, u, Du, \Delta u)$$

respectively, then as known  $G_0^{-1} : L_2(\Omega) \longrightarrow W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  exists and is a bounded continuous operator. Now we determine the operator  $G(u) \equiv (G_0^{-1} \circ G_1)(u)$  that acts from  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  to  $W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and is bounded continuous operator under the conditions of Theorem 3.1. Hence we obtain, that the operator *G* possesses a fixed point by virtue of Theorem 2.4, which allows us to impose the problem  $G_0(u) = \lambda G_1(u)$  on the existence of the eigenvalue of operator  $G_0$  respective of operator  $G_1$ . But in this case we can only conclude that  $\lambda$  will be dependent of *u*.

*Remark 3.3* From the proof of this theorem it follows that the result of such type is true in the following case: let in problem (3.1) operator  $F(x, u, Du, \Delta u)$  be independent of  $\Delta u$ , i.e. it has the representation  $F(x, \xi, \eta, \zeta) \equiv F(x, \xi, \eta) \equiv F_0(x, \xi) + F_1(x, \xi, \eta)$  for  $(x, \xi, \eta) \in \Omega \times \Re^{n+1}$ .

# 4 Nonlinear Equation with *p*-Laplacian

On the open bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with sufficiently smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$  consider the following problem

$$f(u) \equiv -\nabla \left( |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u \right) + G(x, u, Du, \lambda, \rho) = h(x), \quad x \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(4.1)

$$u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \quad n \ge 1, \quad \Omega \in Lip, \quad h \in W^{-1,q}(\Omega).$$
 (4.2)

Assume that

$$G(x,\xi,\eta,\lambda) = \rho G_0(x,\xi) + \lambda G_1(x,\xi,\eta), \tag{4.3}$$

holds for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and any  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , where  $G_1(x, \xi, \eta)$  and  $G_0(x, \xi)$  are some Caratheodory functions,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mu \ge 0$  are some parameters.

## 4.1 Dense Solvability

Let the following conditions

$$G_{0}(x,\xi) \cdot \xi \geq a_{0}(x)|\xi|^{p_{0}} - a_{1}(x), \quad a_{0}(x) \geq A_{0} > 0;$$

$$\left|G_{0}(x,\xi)\right| \leq \widetilde{a}_{0}(x)|\xi|^{p_{0}-1} + \widetilde{a}_{1}(x), \quad \widetilde{a}_{0}(x), \widetilde{a}_{1}(x) \geq 0,$$

$$\left|G_{1}(x,\xi,\eta)\right| \leq b_{0}(x)|\eta|^{p_{1}} + b_{1}(x)|\xi|^{p_{2}} + b_{2}(x),$$

$$b_{j}(x) \geq 0, \quad j = 0, 1, 2,$$

$$(4.4)$$

hold for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and any  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  where  $p_0, p_1, p_2 \ge 0$ , p > 1 are some numbers,  $a_k(x)$ ,  $\tilde{a}_k(x)$  and  $b_j(x)$  are some functions, k = 0, 1 and j = 0, 1, 2.

Here we study the solvability of problem (4.1)–(4.2) in the generalized sense, i.e. a function  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  is called a solution of the problem (4.1), (4.2) if *u* satisfies the equation

$$\langle f(u), v \rangle = \langle h, v \rangle, \quad v \in W_0^{1, p}(\Omega),$$

for any  $v \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

**Theorem 4.1** Let conditions (4.3)–(4.5) be fulfilled and  $p_0 - 1 \ge p_2 \ge 0$ , p > 1,  $p > p_1 \ge 0$ . Moreover, let  $a_k(x)$ ,  $\tilde{a}_k(x)$ ,  $b_j(x)$  be such functions that  $a_0$ ,  $\tilde{a}_0 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ ,  $a_1$ ,  $\tilde{a}_1 \in L^q(\Omega)$  and  $b_0$ ,  $b_1 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ ,  $b_2 \in L^q(\Omega)$ . If  $p_1$ ,  $p_0$  satisfy the inequalities  $p_1 \le p - \frac{p}{p_0}$ ,  $p_0 \le p^* \equiv \frac{pn}{n-p}$ , then there exist a subset  $\mathcal{M} \subseteq W^{-1,q}(\Omega)$  and some numbers  $\mu_0 > 0$ ,  $C_0 > 0$  such that  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}^{W^{-1,q}} \equiv W^{-1,q}(\Omega)$ ,  $q = \frac{p}{p-1} \equiv p'$ , and  $\rho \ge \mu_0 > 0$ ,  $\lambda : |\lambda| \le C_0$ , problem (4.1)–(4.2) is solvable in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  for

any  $h \in \mathcal{M}$ ; moreover if  $\tilde{p} = p_0$  or  $p_2 + 1 = p_0$  then  $C_0 \equiv C_0(A_0, b_0, b_1, \rho)$  is sufficiently small number.

*Proof* Let  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega)$  and consider the dual form

$$\langle f(u), u \rangle \equiv \|\nabla u\|_p^p + \langle G(x, u, Du, \lambda), u \rangle$$
  
=  $\|\nabla u\|_p^p + \langle \rho G_0(x, u), u \rangle + \lambda \langle G_1(x, u, Du), u \rangle,$ 

then by using conditions (4.4) and (4.5), we get

$$\langle f(u), u \rangle \geq \|\nabla u\|_{p}^{p} + \rho \langle a_{0}(x)|u|^{p_{0}-2}u, u \rangle - \rho \|a_{1}\|_{1} - |\lambda| \langle b_{0}(x)|\nabla u|^{p_{1}}, |u| \rangle - |\lambda| \langle b_{1}(x)|u|^{p_{2}}, |u| \rangle - |\lambda| \langle b_{2}(x), |u| \rangle,$$

or

$$\langle f(u), u \rangle \geq \|\nabla u\|_{p}^{p} + \rho A_{0}\|u\|_{p_{0}}^{p_{0}} - \rho \|a_{1}\|_{1}$$

$$- |\lambda| \int_{\Omega} b_{0}(x) |\nabla u|^{p_{1}} |u| dx - |\lambda| \int_{\Omega} b_{1}(x) |u|^{p_{2}+1} dx$$

$$- |\lambda| \int_{\Omega} b_{2}(x) |u| dx.$$

$$(4.6)$$

Since  $b_j \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , j = 0, 1, it is enough to estimate first integral of the right side of inequality (4.6). For this, we have

$$|\lambda| \int_{\Omega} b_0(x) |\nabla u|^{p_1} |u| dx \le |\lambda| ||b_0||_{\infty} \Big[ \varepsilon \big\| |\nabla u| \big\|_p^p + c(\varepsilon) ||u| \big\|_{\widetilde{p}}^p \Big].$$

By using the last inequality in (4.6) and taking into account the condition on  $p_1$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\langle f(u), u \right\rangle &\geq \left( 1 - \varepsilon |\lambda| \|b_0\|_{\infty} \right) \left\| |\nabla u| \right\|_p^p + (\rho A_0 - \varepsilon_1) \|u\|_{p_0}^{p_0} \\ &- c(\varepsilon) |\lambda| \|b_0\|_{\infty} \|u\|_{\widetilde{p}}^{\widetilde{p}} - |\lambda| \int_{\Omega} b_1(x) |u|^{p_2 + 1} dx \\ &- C_{\varepsilon_1} (|\lambda|, \rho, \|a_1\|_q, \|b_2\|_q). \end{split}$$

since  $p_1 \le p(1 - p_0^{-1})$  by the conditions  $\tilde{p} \le p_0$ . Hence either of these cases take place:  $\tilde{p} < p_0$  and  $p_2 + 1 < p_0$  or one of equations  $\tilde{p} = p_0$  or  $p_2 + 1 = p_0$  holds, if  $\tilde{p} < p_0$  and  $p_2 + 1 < p_0$  then we can estimate it by second term from right side of the previous inequality with using Young inequality, and if  $\tilde{p} = p_0$  or  $p_2 + 1 = p_0$  then it is enough to choose number  $|\lambda|$  sufficiently small. Thus we obtain the following inequality:

$$\left\langle f(u), u \right\rangle \ge \left( 1 - \varepsilon |\lambda| \|b_0\|_{\infty} \right) \left\| |\nabla u| \right\|_p^p + (\rho A_0 - \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2) \|u\|_{p_0}^{p_0} - C_{\varepsilon_1} \left( |\lambda|, \rho, \varepsilon_2, \|a_1\|, \|b_1\|, \|b_2\| \right).$$

Consequently, inequality (2.1) of Theorem 2.1 is fulfilled,  $|\lambda|$  must be sufficiently small, i.e. the statement of Theorem 4.1 is true since the operator

$$f: W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega) \longrightarrow W^{-1,q}(\Omega) + L^{q_0}(\Omega), \ q_0 = \frac{p_0}{p_0 - 1},$$

is bounded by virtue of the obtained estimations here.

# 4.2 Everywhere Solvability

Now we reduce the conditions under which imposed problem (4.1)-(4.2) is everywhere solvable. Let conditions (4.3)-(4.5) be fulfilled and consider the following conditions

$$\begin{aligned} \left| G_0(x,\xi) - G_0(x,\xi_1) \right| &\le c_0(x,\widetilde{\xi}) |\xi - \xi_1|, \\ \left| G_1(x,\xi,\eta) - G_1(x,\xi_1,\eta_1) \right| &\le c_1(x,\widetilde{\xi},\widetilde{\eta}) |\eta - \eta_1|, \end{aligned}$$
(4.7)

hold for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$ , and any  $(\xi, \eta)$ ,  $(\xi_1, \eta_1) \in \Re \times \Re^n$ , where  $c_0(x, \xi)$ ,  $c_1(x, \xi, \eta)$ are some Caratheodory functions such that  $\tilde{\xi} = \tilde{\xi}(\xi, \xi_1)$ ,  $\tilde{\eta} = \tilde{\eta}(\eta, \eta_1)$  are continuous functions, and moreover  $c_1(x, v, \nabla v)$ ,  $c_0(x, v)$  are bounded operators such that if v(x) belongs to a bounded subset D of  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega)$ , i.e. if  $\|v\|_{W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega)} \leq K_0$ , then

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| c_1(x, v, \nabla v) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} &\leq K_1, \\ \left\| c_0(x, v) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} &\leq K_2, \end{aligned}$$

for some numbers  $K_0$ ,  $K_1$ ,  $K_2 > 0$ , i.e.

$$c_j(x,\cdot,\cdot): W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L_{p_0}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^{\infty}(\Omega), \quad j = 0, 1,$$
(4.8)

are bounded operators.

Then

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left( G_1(x, u, \nabla u) - G_1(x, v, \nabla v), u - v \right) \right\| \\ & \leq \left\| c_1 \left( x, \widetilde{u}(u, v), \nabla \widetilde{u}(\nabla u, \nabla v) \right) \right\|_{\infty} \| \nabla u - \nabla v \|_p \| u - v \|_q, \end{split}$$

holds for any  $u, v \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega)$ . Hence we get

$$\begin{split} \left\langle f(u) - f(v), u - v \right\rangle \\ &\equiv \left\langle |\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u - |\nabla v|^{p-2} \nabla v, \nabla(u - v) \right\rangle \\ &+ \rho \left\langle G_0(x, u) - G_0(x, v), u - v \right\rangle + \lambda \left\langle G_1(x, u, Du) - G_1(x, v, Dv), u - v \right\rangle \\ &\geq \widehat{C}_0 \left\| \nabla(u - v) \right\|_p^p + \rho \left\langle a(x) \left( |u|^{p_0-2}u - |v|^{p_0-2}v \right), u - v \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

and we obtain the following inequality by using conditions (4.4), (4.7) and (4.8)

$$\begin{split} \left\langle f(u) - f(v), u - v \right\rangle \\ &\geq \widehat{C} \left\| \nabla (u - v) \right\|_{p}^{p} + \widehat{A}_{0} \|u - v\|_{p_{0}}^{p_{0}} \\ &- \left\| c_{1}(x, u, \nabla u, v, \nabla v) \right\|_{\infty} \| \nabla u - \nabla v\|_{p} \|u - v\|_{q}. \end{split}$$

Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| f(u) - f(v) \right\|_{W_q^{-1}(\Omega)} \cdot \left\| \nabla(u - v) \right\|_p \\ &\geq \widehat{C} \left\| \nabla(u - v) \right\|_p^p + \widehat{A}_0 \|u - v\|_{p_0}^{p_0} \\ &- \left\| c_1(x, u, \nabla u, v, \nabla v) \right\|_{\infty} \Big[ \varepsilon \left\| \nabla(u - v) \right\|_p^p + c(\varepsilon) \|u - v\|_q^q \Big], \end{split}$$

or

$$\begin{split} \left\| f(u) - f(v) \right\|_{W_{q}^{-1}(\Omega)} \cdot \left\| \nabla (u - v) \right\|_{p} \\ &\geq \widehat{C}_{1} \left\| \nabla (u - v) \right\|_{p}^{p-1} + \widehat{A}_{0} \| u - v \|_{p_{0}}^{p_{0}} - c(\varepsilon) \| u - v \|_{q}^{q}. \end{split}$$

Thus we get that the conditions of Corollary 2.3 are fulfilled, i.e. if we continue this proof as in Sect. 3 then we obtain that the following result is true.

**Theorem 4.2** Let conditions (4.3)–(4.5), (4.7) and (4.8) be fulfilled and the numbers  $\lambda$ ,  $\rho$  satisfy the conditions of Theorem 4.1, then problem (4.1)–(4.2) is solvable in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_0}(\Omega)$  for any  $h \in W^{-1,q}(\Omega)$ .

*Remark 4.3* It should be noted that a remark similar to Remark 3.2 takes place for the problem investigated here. Moreover, we can obtain the same conclusion for the considered general case. Therefore, for the investigation of the spectrum of the nonlinear operators by using the fixed-point theorem mentioned above, we need to consider some particular cases of these problems.

## References

1. K.N. Soltanov, Perturbation of the mapping and solvability theorems in the Banach space. Nonlinear Anal. **72**, 164–175 (2010)

- C.S. Barroso, Semilinear elliptic equations and fixed points. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 133, 745– 749 (2004)
- 3. M. Chipot, F. Weissler, On the elliptic problem  $\Delta u |\nabla u|^q + \lambda u^p = 0$ , nonlinear diffusion equations and their equilibrium states, I, in *Proceedings of a Microprogram* Math Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 12 (Springer, New York, 1986), pp. 237–243
- 4. G. Infante, J.R.L. Webb, Nonlinear non-local boundary-value problems and perturbed Hammerstein integral equations. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. **49**, 637–656 (2006)
- F. Li, Zh. Liang, Q. Zhang, Existence of solutions to a class of nonlinear second order twopoint boundary value problems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 312, 357–373 (2005)
- J. Mawhin, Boundary value problems for nonlinear perturbations of some *p*-Laplacians, in *Fixed Point Theory and Its Applications*. Banach Center Publ., vol. 77 (Polish Acad. Sci, Warsaw, 2007), pp. 201–214
- M. Montenegro, M. Montenegro, Existence and nonexistence of solutions for quasilinear elliptic equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 245, 303–316 (2000)
- 8. W.V. Petryshyn, *Generalized Topological Degree and Semilinear Equations* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995), x+240 pp.
- Q.-J. Tan, Z.-J. Leng, The method of upper and lower solutions for diffraction problems of quasilinear elliptic reaction–diffusion systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 380, 363–376 (2011)
- D. Ruiz, A priori estimates and existence of positive solutions for strongly nonlinear problems. J. Differ. Equ. 199, 96–114 (2004)
- K.N. Soltanov, On equations with continuous mappings in Banach spaces. Funct. Anal. Appl. 33, 76–81 (1999)
- 12. K.N. Soltanov, Some Applications of Nonlinear Analysis to Differential Equations (2002), Baku, ELM (Russian), iii+292 pp.
- E. Zeidler, Nolinear Functional Analysis and Its Applications II/B: Nonlinaer Monotone Operators (Springer, Berlin, 1990), viii+733 pp.
- K.N. Soltanov, On semi-continuous mappings, equations and inclusions in the Banach space. Hacet. J. Math. Stat. 37, 9–24 (2008)
- H. Brezis, Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations (Springer, New York, 2011), xiv+599 pp.
- 16. K. Yosida, Functional Analysis, vol. 123 (Springer, Berlin, 1980), xii+501 pp.

# Some Remarks About Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of Ruled Threefolds

#### Julien Keller

Abstract Given a rank 2 holomorphic vector bundle E over a projective surface, we explain some relationships between the Gieseker stability of E and the Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of the polarized ruled manifold  $\mathbb{P}E$  with respect to polarizations that make fibres sufficiently small.

Keywords Ruled manifold  $\cdot$  Projective bundle  $\cdot$  K-stability  $\cdot$  Chow stability  $\cdot$  Hilbert stability  $\cdot$  Mumford stability  $\cdot$  Gieseker stability  $\cdot$  G.I.T

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 14L24 · Secondary 14J60

In this paper, we pursue our study of the stability in the sense of Geometric Invariant Theory (G.I.T in short) of ruled manifolds given as projectivisation of rank 2 vector bundles over projective surfaces. The purpose of this note is to observe that the notion of Gieseker stability for the underlying vector bundle plays a key role in the Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of the associated ruled threefold when the first Chern class of the base is proportional to the considered polarization. This has to be compared with the simpler case of ruled manifolds over a curve where the notion of Mumford stability is central, and we refer to [1, 3] on this topic. We want to point that checking stability algebraically is a difficult problem. Our proofs rely mainly on two ingredients. One is coming from geometric analysis with the connection between existence of canonical Kähler metrics (namely Kähler metrics with constant scalar curvature) and stability notions. The other one is a brute force computation of the G.I.T weights for certain test configurations associated to the deformation to the normal cone of the projectivisation of a subbundle. These ingredients have appeared in [11] but in this paper we are carrying the computations to a greater extent and draw some simple and natural consequences from them. In particular we provide

J. Keller (🖂)

e-mail: julien.keller@univ-amu.fr

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was completed with the support of the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche—ANR project MNGNK (ANR-10-BLAN-0118).

I2M, Aix-Marseille University, Centre Mathématiques et Informatique, 39 rue F. Joliot-Curie, 13453 Marseille Cedex 13, France

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_42

some new examples of asymptotically Hilbert or Chow semistable polarizations that are not asymptotically Hilbert or Chow stable.

#### 1 About Chow Stability, Hilbert Stability and K-Stability

In this section, we recall briefly some well known facts about Chow stability and K-stability of a polarized scheme. We refer to [6, 7, 16, 21] for details and examples.

Consider (X, L) a polarized subscheme of complex dimension n and  $X \subset \mathbb{P}H^0(X, L^k)^* = \mathbb{P}V$  the closed immersion associated to the complete linear system  $|L^k|$ . Let  $Z_X = \{P \in Gr(V, n-1) : P \cap X \neq \emptyset\}$  which is a divisor of degree  $d = \deg L$  in the Grassmannian  $\mathcal{G} = Gr(V, n-1)$ . Thus there exists  $s_{X,V} \in H^0(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{G}}(d))$ , such that one has  $Z_X = \{s_{X,V} = 0\}$  and this induces a Chow point

$$\operatorname{Chow}(X) = [s_{X,V}] \in \mathbb{P}H^0(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{G}}(d))$$

on which one can consider the action of SL(V). The polarized scheme  $(X, L^k)$  is said to be Chow stable (resp. Chow semistable) if the Chow point Chow(X) is G.I.T stable (resp. G.I.T semistable).

We say that it is asymptotically Chow stable (resp. asymptotically Chow semistable) if  $(X, L^k)$  is Chow stable (resp. Chow semistable) for  $k \gg 1$ .

Let us discuss now Hilbert stability. For  $X \subset \mathbb{P}V$  a closed subscheme such that the restriction map

$$\rho: H^0(\mathbb{P}V, \mathcal{O}(m)) \to H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(m))$$

is surjective, one sets

$$W_m = \bigwedge^{h^0(X,\mathcal{O}(m))} H^0(\mathbb{P}V,\mathcal{O}(m))^{\vee}.$$

Thus, from the map  $\rho$  and taking the wedge product, one can consider the *m*-Hilbert point

$$[X]_m = \left[\bigwedge^{h^0(X,\mathcal{O}(m))} H^0(\mathbb{P}V,\mathcal{O}(m)) \to \bigwedge^{h^0(X,\mathcal{O}(m))} H^0(X,\mathcal{O}(m))\right] \in \mathbb{P}(W_m).$$

Now, the polarized scheme (X, L) is said to be Hilbert stable (resp. Hilbert semistable) if the induced *m*-Hilbert points  $[X]_m$  defined by the closed immersion associated to the complete linear system  $|L^m|$  are all G.I.T semistable (resp. G.I.T stable) for  $m \gg 1$ .

The polarized scheme (X, L) is said to be asymptotically Hilbert stable (resp. asymptotically Hilbert semistable) if  $(X, L^k)$  is Hilbert stable (resp. Hilbert semistable) for  $k \gg 1$ .

We recall now the notion of test configuration [5, 6].

**Definition 1.1** A test configuration for a polarized scheme (X, L) is a polarized scheme  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$  with:

- a C<sup>×</sup> action and a proper flat morphism π : X → C which is C<sup>×</sup> equivariant for the usual action on C,
- a C<sup>×</sup> equivariant line bundle L → X which is ample over all fibers of π such that for z ≠ 0, (X, L<sup>s</sup>) is isomorphic to (X<sub>z</sub>, L<sub>X<sub>z</sub></sub>) for some positive integer s, called the exponent.

A product test configuration is a test configuration with  $\mathcal{X} \simeq X \times \mathbb{C}$ . A test configuration is trivial in codimension 2 if it is  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ -equivariantly isomorphic to a product test configuration  $X \times \mathbb{C}$ , with trivial  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ -action, away from a closed subscheme of codimension at least 2.

From [18], we know that there is a correspondence between the data of a test configuration  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$  of exponent *s* and the data of a 1-parameter subgroup of  $GL(H^0(X, L^s))$ . Thus using the Hilbert–Mumford criterion, it is sufficient to consider the weights of the  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$  action to check the stability of (X, L). More precisely, let us call w(Ks) the total weight of the induced action on  $\pi_*\mathcal{L}_{|0}^K = H^0_{\mathcal{X}_0}(\mathcal{L}^K)$  for  $K \gg 0$ , for a test configuration associated to  $(X, L^{Ks})$ . Remark that w(Ks) is a polynomial of degree n + 1 in the k = Ks variable. Let us denote  $P(k) = \dim H^0(X, L^k)$  which is equal to the Hilbert polynomial  $\chi(X, L^k)$  for k large. The normalized weight after taking the sP(s)-th power of the  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$  action on  $\pi_*\mathcal{L}_{|0}^K$  is

$$\tilde{w}(s,k) = w(k)sP(s) - w(s)kP(k)$$
(1.1)

which is a polynomial of degree n + 1 in the *k* variable. It is the Hilbert weight of  $(X, L^s)$  and thus (X, L) is asymptotically Hilbert stable (resp. asymptotically Hilbert semistable) if and only if  $\tilde{w}(s, k) > 0$  (resp.  $\tilde{w}(s, k) \ge 0$ ) for all  $k \gg 1$  ( $k > k_0(s)$  large enough),  $s \gg 1$ .

One can decompose  $\tilde{w}(s, k)$  as

$$\tilde{w}(s,k) = \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} e_i k^i$$
 (1.2)

where  $e_i = \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} e_{i,j} s^j$  are polynomials of degree n+1 in the *s* variable with  $e_{n+1,n+1} = 0$  due to the normalisation.

We refer to [16, Lemma 2.11] and [18, Theorem 3.9] for a proof of the next result.

**Lemma 1.1** The coefficient  $e_{n+1}(s)s^{n+1}(n + 1)!$  is the Chow weight of  $X \subset \mathbb{P}H^0(X, L^s)$ . In particular, (X, L) is asymptotically Chow stable (resp. asymptotically Chow semistable) if and only if  $e_{n+1}(s) > 0$  (resp.  $\geq 0$ ) for all  $s \gg 1$ . (X, L) is asymptotically Chow polystable if it is asymptotically Chow semistable and any not strictly stable test configuration is a product test configuration.

The following definition is a refinement of Donaldson's definition of K-stability [6] and is due to Stoppa [20].

**Definition 1.2** The polarized variety (X, L) is K-stable (resp. K-semistable) if for any test configuration which is non trivial in codimension 2, the leading coefficient  $e_{n+1,n}$  of  $e_{n+1}(s)$  is positive (resp.  $\geq 0$ ). It is said to be K-polystable if it is K-semistable and any not strictly stable test configuration is a product test configuration.

Let us finish this section by recalling certain well-known relationships between the various notions of stability that we shall use later (see [13, 21]):

Asymptotic Chow stability

- ⇔ Asymptotic Hilbert stability
- $\Rightarrow$  Asymptotic Hilbert semistability
- $\Rightarrow$  Asymptotic Chow semistability
- $\Rightarrow$  K-semistability.

# 2 Rank 2 Vector Bundles over Surfaces and the Stability of Their Projectivisation

Let us fix *B* a projective surface polarized by *L* and  $\pi : E \to B$  an indecomposable holomorphic vector bundle on *B*. We shall compute in our setting the Donaldson– Futaki invariant  $F_1(\mathcal{T})$  induced by the degeneration  $\mathcal{T}$  to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}(F)$ where *F* is a subbundle of *E* and with respect to the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$ . Let us give now some explanations on this computation (we refer to [11, 17] for details of the test configuration we construct).

We consider the family of bundles  $\mathcal{E} \to B \times \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  with general fibre E and central fibre  $F \oplus G$  over  $0 \in \mathbb{C}$  where G is the quotient bundle. Then  $\mathcal{E}$  admits a  $\mathbb{C}^*$  action that covers the usual action on the base  $\mathbb{C}$ , and whose restriction to  $F \oplus G$  scales the fibres of F with weight 1 and acts trivially on G. Setting  $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathbb{C}$  and

$$\mathcal{L}_{r,m} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E})}(r) \otimes \pi^* L^m$$

with (r, m) such that  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is ample, we obtain a flat family of polarized varieties with  $\mathbb{C}^*$  action whose general fibre is the polarized ruled manifold  $(\mathbb{P}E, \mathcal{L}_{r,m})$ . It is a non trivial test configuration that we shall denote by  $\mathcal{T}$ .

**Conventions** If  $\pi : E \to B$  is a vector bundle then  $\pi : \mathbb{P}(E) \to B$  shall denote the space of complex *hyperplanes* in the fibres of *E*. Thus  $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r) = S^r E$  for  $r \ge 0$ .

**Notation 1** For *L* a line bundle (not necessarily ample) and  $\mathcal{F}$  a coherent subsheaf over *B*, one can define the slope of  $\mathcal{F}$  by the normalised degree of  $\mathcal{F}$ , i.e.

$$\mu_L(\mathcal{F}) = \frac{\deg_L(\mathcal{F})}{rk(\mathcal{F})} = \frac{c_1(L)c_1(\mathcal{F})}{rk(\mathcal{F})},$$

and the normalised Hilbert polynomial by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{F}}(k) = \frac{\chi(\mathcal{F} \otimes L^k)}{rk(\mathcal{F})}$$

We recall some well known definitions about stability of bundles.

**Definition 2.1** Let *L* be an ample line bundle on the projective manifold *B*. A vector bundle *E* is said to be *L*-Mumford–Takemoto stable if for any proper coherent subsheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  of *E* one has the slope inequality  $\mu_L(\mathcal{F}) < \mu_L(E)$ .

We say that *E* is Gieseker stable (resp Gieseker semistable) with respect to *L* if for all proper coherent subsheaves  $F \subset E$  one has the following inequality for the normalized Hilbert polynomials

$$\mathcal{P}_F(k) < \mathcal{P}_E(k) \quad \text{for } k \gg 0 \text{ (resp.  $\leq)},$$$

and strictly Gieseker semistability E is Gieseker semistable but not Gieseker stable. A Gieseker semistable bundle is said to be Gieseker polystable if it is a direct sum of Gieseker stable bundles with respect to the same polarization.

These stability notions are related; using that  $\mu_L(F)$  is the leading order term in k of  $\mathcal{P}_F(k)$  one sees immediately that

 $\begin{array}{rcl} \text{Mumford} \\ \text{stable} \end{array} \Rightarrow \begin{array}{rcl} \text{Gieseker} \\ \text{stable} \end{array} \Rightarrow \begin{array}{rcl} \text{Gieseker} \\ \text{semistable} \end{array} \Rightarrow \begin{array}{rcl} \text{Mumford} \\ \text{semistable} \end{array}$ 

For simplicity we will work in the sequel of the paper with rank 2 vector bundles over surfaces.

**Notation 2** Let us assume that the vector bundle E has rank rk(E) = 2 and B is a surface. We set

$$\delta_L = \mu_L(E) - \mu_L(F)$$
$$\Delta = \frac{\operatorname{ch}_2(E)}{2} - \operatorname{ch}_2(F) + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{K_B^*}$$

so that one can write  $\mathcal{P}_E(k) - \mathcal{P}_F(k) = k\delta_L + \Delta$ .

In the following proposition, we express the Donaldson–Futaki invariant for the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  associated to the test configuration we have just described.

**Proposition 2.1** The Donaldson–Futaki invariant of the test configuration  $\mathcal{T}$  for a rank 2 vector bundle *E* over a polarized surface (*B*, *L*) induced by the deformation to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}F$  where *F* is a subbundle of *E* is given by

$$F_1(\mathcal{T}) = \frac{r^6}{36} (\delta_{K_B^*})^2 - \frac{r^4}{72} \Gamma_1 \delta_{K_B^*} + \frac{r^3}{24} \Gamma_2(m\delta_L + r\Delta),$$

with

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_1 &= r^2 \big( c_1(E)^2 - 4c_1(F)^2 \big) + 3c_1 \big( F^r \otimes L^m \big)^2 + 4r^2 \Delta + 12rm\delta_L \\ &- 3rc_1(B)c_1 \big( F^r \otimes L^m \big), \\ \Gamma_2 &= \big( rc_1(E) + 2mc_1(L) \big)^2 - 2rc_1 \big( F^r \otimes L^m \big) c_1(B). \end{split}$$

*Proof* The proposition is a consequence of [11, Proposition 19–Corollary 21] where it is proved by a direct computation that

$$e_{4,3}(\mathcal{T}) = F_1(\mathcal{T}) = C_1 r^3 m^3 + C_2 r^4 m^2 + C_3 r^5 m + C_4 r^6$$
(2.1)

where

$$\begin{split} C_1(E,F) &= \frac{c_1(L)^2}{6} \big( \mu_L(E) - \mu_L(F) \big), \\ C_2(E,F) &= \frac{c_1(L)^2}{48} \big( c_1(E) - 2c_1(F) \big) c_1(B) \\ &\quad + \frac{c_1(L)^2}{12} \big( ch_2(E) - 2 ch_2(F) \big) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{12} \big( 2c_1(E)c_1(L) - c_1(B)c_1(L) \big) \big( \mu_L(E) - \mu_L(F) \big), \\ C_3(E,F) &= -\frac{1}{12} \deg_L(E)c_1(F)^2 + \frac{1}{12} \deg_L(E) ch_2(E) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{48} \deg_L(E)c_1(E)^2 - \frac{1}{24} \deg_L(F)c_1(E)^2 \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{24} c_1(L)c_1(B) \cdot c_1(F)^2 - \frac{1}{24} c_1(L)c_1(B) \cdot ch_2(E) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{24} \deg_L(F)c_1(E)c_1(B) - \frac{1}{24} \deg_L(E)c_1(B)c_1(F), \\ C_4(E,F) &= \frac{1}{288} c_1(E)^2 \cdot c_1(B)c_1(E) - \frac{1}{144} c_1(E)^2 \cdot c_1(B)c_1(F) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{48} c_1(F)^2 \cdot c_1(E)c_1(B) \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{72} \big( c_1(B)c_1(F) + c_1(E)c_1(B) \big) ch_2(E) \end{split}$$

Some Remarks About Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of Ruled Threefolds

+ 
$$\frac{1}{48}c_1(E)^2(\operatorname{ch}_2(E) - c_1(F)^2).$$

By a simple algebraic manipulation one obtains from (2.1) the expected result.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 2.2** In the same setting as in Proposition 2.1 and with Notations 2, the Chow weight associated to the test configuration T is given by

Chow<sub>s</sub>(
$$\mathcal{T}$$
) =  $e_4(s) = \frac{sr^4(rs-1)(rs+1)}{36} {\delta_{K_B^*}}^2 - \frac{sr^2(rs+1)}{72} A_1 {\delta_{K_B^*}} + \frac{sr^2(rs+1)}{24} A_2(m\delta_L + r\Delta)$ 

with

$$A_1 = sr \Gamma_1 - A'_1$$
$$A_2 = s\Gamma_2 - 4r \operatorname{Todd}_2(B),$$

where we set

$$A'_1 = \Gamma_1 + 3c_1 \left( F^r \otimes L^m \right)^2 + 3rc_1(B)c_1 \left( F^r \otimes L^m \right) + 6 \operatorname{Todd}_2(B).$$

Moreover,

$$Chow_s = s^3 F_1(\mathcal{T}) + s^2 F_2(\mathcal{T}) + s F_3(\mathcal{T})$$

with higher Futaki invariants  $F_2(\mathcal{T})$ ,  $F_3(\mathcal{T})$  given by

$$F_{2}(\mathcal{T}) = \left(\frac{1}{r}F_{1}(\mathcal{T}) + rF_{3}(\mathcal{T})\right),$$
  

$$F_{3}(\mathcal{T}) = -\frac{1}{36}r^{4}\delta_{K_{B}^{*}}^{2} + \frac{1}{72}r^{2}A_{1}'\delta_{K_{B}^{*}} - \frac{1}{6}r^{3}\operatorname{Todd}_{2}(B)(m\delta_{L} + r\Delta),$$

with  $\text{Todd}_2(B)$  the second Todd class of B.

*Proof* Writing the weight of the action as  $w(s) = \sum_{l=0}^{n+1} b_l s^{n+1-l}$  and

$$P(s) = \dim H^0(\mathbb{P}E, \mathcal{L}^s_{r,m}) = \sum_{l=0}^n a_l s^{n-l}$$

with n = 3 and s large enough (see Sect. 1), we get

$$e_4(s) = \sum_{l=1}^{3} (b_0 a_l - a_0 b_l) s^{4-l} - a_0 b_4.$$

In the case we are considering, we have

$$a_{0} = \frac{1}{2}rm^{2}c_{1}(L)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}mr^{2}\deg_{L}(E) + \frac{1}{6}r^{3}\operatorname{ch}_{2}(E) + \frac{1}{12}r^{3}c_{1}(E)^{2},$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{r^{2}}{4}c_{1}(E)c_{1}(B) + \frac{m^{2}}{2}c_{1}(L)^{2} + \frac{rm}{2}(c_{1}(L)c_{1}(B) + \deg_{L}(E)) + \frac{r^{2}}{2}\operatorname{ch}_{2}(E),$$

$$a_{2} = -\frac{r}{12}c_{1}(E)^{2} + r\operatorname{Todd}_{2}(B) + \frac{r}{4}c_{1}(E)c_{1}(B) + \frac{m}{2}c_{1}(L)c_{1}(B) + \frac{r}{3}\operatorname{ch}_{2}(E),$$

$$a_{3} = \operatorname{Todd}_{2}(B),$$

and

$$\begin{split} b_0 &= \frac{r^4}{24} c_1(E)^2 + \frac{r^4}{12} c_1(F)^2 + \frac{m^2 r^2}{4} c_1(L)^2 + \frac{mr^3}{6} \left( \deg_L(E) + \deg_L(F) \right), \\ b_1 &= \frac{r^3}{4} c_1(F)^2 + \frac{r^3}{12} c_1(F) c_1(B) + \frac{r^3}{12} c_1(E) c_1(B) + \frac{rm^2}{4} c_1(L)^2 \\ &\quad + \frac{mr^2}{4} \left( c_1(L) c_1(B) + 2 \deg_L(F) \right), \\ b_2 &= \frac{r^2}{2} \operatorname{Todd}_2(B) + \frac{r^2}{6} c_1(F)^2 - \frac{r^2}{24} c_1(E)^2 + \frac{r^2}{4} c_1(F) c_1(B) \\ &\quad + \frac{rm}{3} \deg_L(F) - \frac{rm}{6} \deg_L(E) + \frac{rm}{4} c_1(L) c_1(B), \\ b_3 &= \frac{r}{2} \operatorname{Todd}_2(B) + \frac{r}{6} c_1(F) c_1(B) - \frac{r}{12} c_1(E) c_1(B), \\ b_4 &= 0. \end{split}$$

We refer to [11, Proposition 20] and [3] for the details of computing the terms  $a_l$ ,  $b_l$  where most of them have been explicitly identified using Hirzebruch–Riemann–Roch theorem.

We dress now some easy consequences of the two previous results. We get the following theorem which strengthens [11, Proposition 21].

**Theorem 2.1** Consider E an irreducible rank 2 holomorphic vector bundle on a polarized surface (B, L) with  $c_1(B)$  proportional to  $c_1(L)$ .

- 1. Assume that *E* is strictly Gieseker semistable and *F* is a subbundle of *E* with  $\mathcal{P}_F = \mathcal{P}_E$  with respect to *L*. Then all the tensor powers of the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  are not Chow polystable,  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is not asymptotically Chow polystable and not *K*-polystable.
- 2. Assume that *E* is not Gieseker semistable and *F* is a destabilizing subbundle. Then  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is not *K*-semistable and thus not asymptotically Chow semistable for  $m \gg 0$ .

3. If  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is K-stable (resp. K-polystable, resp. K-semistable) for all  $m \gg 0$  then E is Gieseker stable (resp. Gieseker polystable, resp. strictly Gieseker semistable) with respect to L.

*Proof* For (1), we consider the test configuration  $\mathcal{T}$  of the deformation to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}F$  described as before. From our assumption of Gieseker semistability we have  $\delta_L = \Delta = 0$  while the assumption on the first Chern class gives  $\delta_{K_B^*} = 0$  since  $c_1(B) = 0$  or  $c_1(B) = \lambda c_1(L)$ . Therefore from Propositions 2.1 and 2.2, one has  $F_1(\mathcal{T}) = \text{Chow}_s(\mathcal{T}) = 0$  while the test configuration  $\mathcal{T}$  is not a product test configuration. The point (2) can be treated in a similar way using the proof of Proposition 2.1. Actually the destabilizing subbundle leads to  $C_1 = 0$  and  $C_2 < 0$  or  $C_1 < 0$  and thus  $F_1(\mathcal{T}) < 0$ . Remark that (2) strengthens a result of [17, Theorem 5.12] where it is shown that if E is not Mumford stable then  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is not K-semistable.

Note that under the assumptions of (1) or (2), there is no Kähler metric with constant scalar curvature in the class  $c_1(\mathcal{L}_{r,m})$  as a consequence of [4, 14, 19].

Now let us assume that  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is K-stable. Then  $C_1 \ge 0$  in the proof of Proposition 2.1 for all subbundles F of E. If the inequality is strict for any subbundle then E is Mumford stable. Actually, for a rank 2 bundle over a surface, it is sufficient to test stability with respect to subbundles. For any rank 1 torsion free subsheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  of E,  $\mathcal{F}^{**}$  is a reflexive rank 1 sheaf on the surface B and thus a line bundle. Now, if  $C_1 = 0$  for a subbundle F of E, one has necessarily  $C_2 \ge 0$ . If  $C_2 > 0$  then  $\mathcal{P}_E > \mathcal{P}_F$ . Now given  $\mathcal{F}$  rank 1 torsion free subsheaf of E, one has  $\mathcal{F} = F \otimes \mathcal{I}$  where F is a line bundle and  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal sheaf with 0-dimensional support, the inequality  $\mathcal{P}_E > \mathcal{P}_F$  only improves if F is replaced by  $\mathcal{F}$  since  $c_2(\mathcal{F})$  is the length of the support of  $\mathcal{I}$  and thus is non-negative. Eventually if the inequality  $C_2 > 0$  holds for all subbundles of E, then we have obtained that E is Gieseker stable. Consider now that  $C_2 = 0$ . Then we have  $\delta_L = \delta_{K_B^*} = \Delta = 0$  and by Proposition 2.1,  $F_1(\mathcal{T})$  vanishes. But the test configuration is not trivial so this leads to a contradiction. Therefore one has necessarily  $C_2 > 0$  and we obtain Gieseker stability. The case of K-semistability is obtained by contraposition of (2).

In the case of K-polystability, the only case for which  $C_2 = 0$  is when the rank 2 bundle *E* splits as a direct sum of two line bundles of same slope so is necessarily Mumford polystable. Since  $C_3 \ge 0$ , one has moreover Gieseker semistability.

Remark that the case of K-unstability in (3) cannot be included since the base manifold *B* may be K-unstable which would induce a destabilizing test configuration for the projectivisation  $\mathbb{P}E$ .

Non simple semi-homogeneous rank 2 vector bundles over an abelian surface are Gieseker semistable and thus provide concrete examples of applications of our theorem, see [15, Sect. 6].

**Conjecture 1** Consider E an irreducible rank 2 holomorphic vector bundle on a *K*-stable polarized surface (B, L) with  $c_1(B)$  proportional to  $c_1(L)$ . For  $m \gg 0$ , the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  is *K*-stable (resp. *K*-polystable, resp. *K*-semistable) if and only *E* is Gieseker stable (resp. Gieseker polystable, resp. Gieseker semistable).
The conjecture is wrong if one removes the assumption on the first Chern class of *B*: in [11] it is constructed an example of a Gieseker stable bundle with  $\mathcal{L}_{1,m}$  not K-semistable for  $m \gg 0$ . The hard sense of the conjecture is true under stronger assumption: on a surface with a constant scalar curvature Kähler metric and no non trivial holomorphic vector field, a Mumford stable bundle gives rise to a polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  that admits a constant scalar curvature Kähler metric and thus is K-stable, see [8–10].

One can now wonder when the Futaki invariant as computed in Proposition 2.1 may vanish. We cannot say much for a fixed couple (r, m) but at the fiber or base limit we obtain the following result.

**Proposition 2.3** Let (B, L) be a polarized surface such that its first Chern class satisfies  $c_1(B) = 0$  or  $c_1(B)c_1(L) \neq 0$  and E a rank 2 holomorphic vector bundle on B. Then, for the test configuration as in Proposition 2.1,

- the Futaki invariant F<sub>1</sub>(T) vanishes for all m ≫ 0 (or all r ≫ 0) if and only if the Chow weight Chow<sub>s</sub>(T) vanishes for all m ≫ 0 and any fixed s > 0 (or all r ≫ 0 and s ≫ 0).
- the Futaki invariant F<sub>1</sub>(T) is positive for all m ≫ 0 if and only if the Chow weight Chow<sub>s</sub>(T) is positive for all m ≫ 0 and s ≫ 0.

*Proof* This comes from the computations of the Futaki invariant and Chow weight. Imposing  $C_1 = C_2 = C_3 = 0$  in Proposition 2.1 implies firstly that  $\delta_L = 0$ , then  $\Delta = \frac{1}{4} \delta_{K_B^*}$  and finally  $\delta_{K_B^*} c_1(L) c_1(B) = 0$ . Under our assumptions one gets in all the cases

$$\delta_L = \delta_{K_p^*} = \Delta = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

This forces obviously the Chow weight to vanish, see Proposition 2.2.

Conversely, if the Chow weight vanishes seen as a polynomial in the variables *m*, one gets from Proposition 2.2 that  $\Delta = \frac{kr-2}{4kr} \delta_{K_B^*}$  and  $\delta_{K_B^*}c_1(L)c_1(B) = 0$  and thus (2.2) holds which implies the vanishing of the Futaki invariant. Computations in the variables *r* are similar but slightly more involved. The second part of the result is using the same reasoning.

Next we compute the Hilbert weight for the test configuration  $\mathcal{T}$  for the deformation to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}F$  where *F* is a subbundle of *E*. We remark that the Hilbert weight has a similar expression to the Chow weight and the Futaki invariant.

**Proposition 2.4** In the same setting as in Proposition 2.1 and with Notations 2, the Hilbert weight associated to the test configuration T is given by

$$\text{Hilb}_{s,k}(\mathcal{T}) = \frac{r(rs-1)(rk+1)}{36}\beta_1(s,r)\delta_{K_B^*}^2 + \frac{1}{72}(\beta_1(s,r)B_1 - \beta_2(s,r)A_1)\delta_{K_B^*}$$

Some Remarks About Chow, Hilbert and K-stability of Ruled Threefolds

$$+\left(\frac{\beta_2(s,r)}{24}A_2 - \frac{(rk+2)\beta_1(s,r)}{6}\operatorname{Todd}_2(B)\right)(m\delta_L + r\Delta)$$

with  $\beta_1(s, r) = rks(rs + 1)(k - s)(rk + 1), \beta_2(s, r) = rs^3(rs + 1)^2(k - s), and$ 

$$B_{1} = kr^{2} (c_{1}(E)^{2} + 2c_{1}(F)^{2} + 4\Delta + 6 \operatorname{Todd}_{2}(B))$$
  
+  $6krm \deg_{L}(E) + 6km^{2}c_{1}(L)^{2}$   
+  $r (-c_{1}(E)^{2} + 6 \operatorname{Todd}_{2}(B) + 8\Delta + 6c_{1}(F)c_{1}(B) + 4c_{1}(F)^{2})$   
+  $6mc_{1}(L)c_{1}(B)$ 

*Proof* The result is obtained by a computation of the weight  $\text{Hilb}_{s,k}(\mathcal{T}) = \tilde{w}(s,k)$  using (1.1) and the computations of  $a_i, b_i$  in Proposition 2.2.

Proposition 2.3 can also be extended to Hilbert weights. We have also another obvious consequence.

**Proposition 2.5** In the same setting as in Proposition 2.1, let us assume that  $c_1(B) = 0$ . Then the Chow weight  $\text{Chow}_s(\mathcal{T})$  and the Hilbert weight  $\text{Hilb}_{s,k}$  are proportional to the Futaki invariant  $F_1(\mathcal{T})$ , and have same sign when one takes k, s > 0 large enough.

*Proof* This comes from the fact that when  $c_1(B) = 0$  one has  $\delta_{K_B^*} = 0$  and both quantities  $\Gamma_2$  and  $A_2$  do not depend on the bundle *F*.

#### **3** Strictly Semistable Examples

Inspired from [2], we construct a new example of a threefold which is Asymptotically Chow semistable and not Asymptotically Chow stable.

Let (B, L) be a polarized surface such that  $c_1(L)$  admits a Kähler metric with constant scalar curvature and  $Aut(B, L)/\mathbb{C}^{\times}$  is trivial and assume that the torus  $\operatorname{Pic}^0(B) = H^1(B, \mathcal{O})/H^1(B, \mathbb{Z})$  parametrizing line bundles with trivial first Chern class is not trivial. Consider  $E_0 = G_1 \oplus G_2$  a direct sum of two line bundles with  $c_1(G_1) = c_1(G_2)$  over *B*. Then  $E_0$  is Mumford polystable. On the polarized ruled manifold

$$(X_0, \mathcal{L}^0_{r,m}) = (\mathbb{P}E_0, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}E_0}(r) \otimes \pi_0^* L^m)$$

there exists under our assumptions a Kähler metric with constant scalar curvature for all  $m \gg 0$ . Actually, the Futaki character associated to the Lie algebra  $Lie(Aut(E_0)/\mathbb{C}^{\times})$  vanishes thanks to Proposition 2.1, and one can apply [9, Corollary B]. Therefore,  $(X_0, \mathcal{L}_{r,m}^0)$  is K-polystable for all  $m \gg 0$  from the work of Donaldson, Stoppa and Mabuchi [4, 14, 19]. Next, we do a small deformation of the trivial line bundle  $T_0 = \mathbb{C} \times B$  in order to obtain a line bundle *T* over *B* such that  $T^2$  is non trivial. We can consider the following induced extension

$$0 \to G_1 \otimes T \to E \to G_2 \otimes T^* \to 0. \tag{3.1}$$

Using Riemann–Roch formula we have  $h^0(B, G_1 \otimes G_2^* \otimes T^2) - h^1(B, G_1 \otimes G_2^* \otimes T^2) + h^2(B, G_1 \otimes G_2^* \otimes T^2) = \text{Todd}_2(B)$  since  $c_1(G_1) = c_1(G_2)$ . Now, if we assume  $\text{Todd}_2(B) < 0$ , the space  $Ext^1(G_2 \otimes T^*, G_1 \otimes T) = H^1(B, G_1 \otimes G_2^* \otimes T^2)$  has positive dimension and our extension (3.1) does not split. The ruled manifold

$$(X, \mathcal{L}_{r,m}) = (\mathbb{P}E, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}E}(r) \otimes \pi^* L^m)$$

is not K-polystable for  $m \gg 0$ . Actually for the choice  $F = G_1 \otimes T$  one checks that the Futaki invariant  $F_1(\mathcal{T})$  associated to the test configuration to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}F$  vanishes for  $m \gg 0$ . Furthermore one obtains  $\delta_L = \delta_{K_B^*} = \Delta = 0$ . These relationships impose that the Chow weight Chow<sub>s</sub> vanishes by Proposition 2.2. Therefore,  $(X, \mathcal{L}_{r,m})$  cannot be asymptotically Chow stable.

On another hand, from the fact that all the higher Futaki invariants  $F_2(\mathcal{T})$ ,  $F_3(\mathcal{T})$  vanish simultaneously we can apply Mabuchi's main result in [12] (see also [3, Proposition 3.2, Theorem 3.5]). One concludes that  $(X_0, \mathcal{L}_{r,m}^0)$  is asymptotically Chow polystable. By openness of the semistability condition in G.I.T, its small deformations are asymptotically Chow semistable and consequently  $(X, \mathcal{L}_{r,m})$  is asymptotically Chow semistable.

Finally, in order to construct base manifolds that satisfy the assumptions as above, it is sufficient to consider for *B* a ruled surface as the projectivisation of a rank 2 Mumford stable bundle over a curve of genus > 1, see [11]. We have proved the following result.

**Corollary 3.1** There are some ruled threefolds (projectivisation of rank 2 bundles over a surface endowed with a constant scalar curvature Kähler metric) that are asymptotically Chow semistable, but not asymptotically Chow stable.

One can also compare Corollary 3.1 with [22, Sect. 5] where other examples of non asymptotically Chow stable threefolds are discussed.

Since  $(X_0, \mathcal{L}_{r,m}^0)$  is asymptotically Chow polystable, for the test configurations that have positive Chow weight asymptotically, the main result of [13] shows that they have also positive Hilbert weight asymptotically. Thanks to our assumptions on *B*, the product test configurations that have vanishing Chow weight Chow<sub>s</sub> for  $s \gg 0$  are associated to the splitting of  $E_0$  and the deformation to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}G_1$  or  $\mathbb{P}G_2$ . Thus one gets in both case for  $m \gg 0$  that  $\delta_L = \Delta = \delta_{K_B^*} = 0$ . Proposition 2.4 shows that the Hilbert weight also vanishes. Consequently,  $(X_0, \mathcal{L}_{r,m}^0)$  is also asymptotically Hilbert polystable and thus its small deformation  $(X, \mathcal{L}_{r,m})$  is also asymptotically Hilbert semistable. On another hand, considering the subbundle  $F = G_1 \otimes T$  of *E*, one has for the test configuration associated to the deformation to the normal cone of  $\mathbb{P}F$  that  $\delta_L = \delta_{K_B^*} = \Delta = 0$  and so  $\operatorname{Hilb}_{s,k} = 0$  for all s, k. Finally,  $(X, \mathcal{L}_{r,m})$  for  $m \gg 0$  cannot be asymptotically Hilbert stable since  $\mathcal{T}$  is not a product test configuration.

**Corollary 3.2** There are some ruled threefolds (projectivisation of rank 2 bundles over a surface endowed with a constant scalar curvature Kähler metric) that are asymptotically Hilbert semistable, but not asymptotically Hilbert stable.

Note that using [3, Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 4.4] our reasoning could also be applied to the case of Mumford semistable vector bundle over a curve of genus  $\geq 2$  to produce other similar examples to Corollaries 3.1 and 3.2. This will be discussed in more details in a forthcoming paper since one can be a little bit more precise in dimension one. For instance the following conjecture is true if the base manifold is a curve of genus g > 1.

**Conjecture 2** Consider *E* a holomorphic vector bundle on a base manifold *B* polarized by *L* with  $c_1(B) = 0$  or  $c_1(B)c_1(L) \neq 0$ . Then for  $m \gg 0$ , the following assertions are equivalent:

- the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  on  $\mathbb{P}E$  is asymptotically Hilbert semistable,
- the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  on  $\mathbb{P}E$  is asymptotically Chow semistable,
- the polarization  $\mathcal{L}_{r,m}$  on  $\mathbb{P}E$  is K-semistable.

Acknowledgements I want to thank J. Ross, R. Seyyedali, J. Stoppa and X. Wang for interesting conversations on the subject throughout the years. I am also grateful to Professor Alexander Schmitt and the organizers of International ISAAC Congress for their invitation and hospitality.

#### References

- V. Apostolov, D.M.J. Calderbank, P. Gauduchon, C.W. Tønnesen-Friedman, Extremal Kähler metrics on ruled manifolds and stability, in *Géométrie Différentielle, Physique Mathématique, Mathématiques et Société. II.* Astérisque, vol. 322 (2008), pp. 93–150
- D. Burns, P. De Bartolomeis, Stability of vector bundles and extremal metrics. Invent. Math. 92(2), 403–407 (1988)
- A. Della Vedova, F. Zuddas, Scalar curvature and asymptotic Chow stability of projective bundles and blowups. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 364(12), 6495–6511 (2012)
- S.K. Donaldson, Scalar curvature and projective embeddings. I. J. Differ. Geom. 59(3), 479– 522 (2001)
- S.K. Donaldson, Scalar curvature and stability of toric varieties. J. Differ. Geom. 62(2), 289– 349 (2002)
- S.K. Donaldson, Lower bounds on the Calabi functional. J. Differ. Geom. 70(3), 453–472 (2005)
- A. Futaki, Asymptotic Chow polystability in Kähler geometry, in *Fifth International Congress* of Chinese Mathematicians. Part 1, 2, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math., 51, pt. 1, vol. 2 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2012), pp. 139–153
- Y.-J. Hong, Constant Hermitian scalar curvature equations on ruled manifolds. J. Differ. Geom. 53(3), 465–516 (1999)

- 9. Y.-J. Hong, Gauge-fixing constant scalar curvature equations on ruled manifolds and the futaki invariants. J. Differ. Geom. **60**, 389–453 (2002)
- Y.-J. Hong, Stability and existence of critical Kaehler metrics on ruled manifolds. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. 60(1), 265–290 (2008)
- J. Keller, J. Ross, A note on Chow stability of the projectivisation of Gieseker stable bundles. J. Geom. Anal. (2012). doi:10.1007/s12220-012-9384-3
- T. Mabuchi, An energy-theoretic approach to the Hitchin–Kobayashi correspondence for manifolds. I. Invent. Math. 159(2), 225–243 (2005)
- T. Mabuchi, Chow-stability and Hilbert-stability in Mumford's geometric invariant theory. Osaka J. Math. 45(3), 833–846 (2008)
- 14. T. Mabuchi, K-stability of constant scalar curvature polarization (2008). arXiv:0812.4093
- S. Mukai, Semi-homogeneous vector bundles on an Abelian variety. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 18(2), 239–272 (1978)
- 16. D. Mumford, Stability of projective varieties, in *L'Enseignement Mathématique*, Lectures given at the "Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques", Bures-sur-Yvette, Geneva March–April 1976, Monographie de l'Enseignement Mathématique, vol. 24 (1977)
- J. Ross, R. Thomas, An obstruction to the existence of constant scalar curvature K\u00e4hler metrics. J. Differ. Geom. 72(3), 429–466 (2006)
- J. Ross, R. Thomas, A study of the Hilbert–Mumford criterion for the stability of projective varieties. J. Algeb. Geom. 16(2), 201–255 (2007)
- J. Stoppa, K-stability of constant scalar curvature Kähler manifolds. Adv. Math. 221(4), 1397– 1408 (2009)
- 20. J. Stoppa, A note on the definition of K-stability (2011). arXiv:1111.5826
- R.P. Thomas, Notes on GIT and symplectic reduction for bundles and varieties, in *Surveys in Differential Geometry. Vol. X.* Surv. Differ. Geom., vol. 10 (International Press, Somerville, 2006), pp. 221–273
- X. Wang, Moment map, Futaki invariant and stability of projective manifolds. Commun. Anal. Geom. 12(5), 1009–1037 (2004)

### **Atiyah Classes of Lie Algebroids**

#### Francesco Bottacin

**Abstract** Given a smooth morphism of analytic spaces  $\pi : X \to Y$ , we introduce the notion of a relative Lie algebroid  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$  over X. By replacing the relative tangent sheaf  $\mathcal{T}_{X/Y}$  with the Lie algebroid  $\mathcal{A}$ , we define the notion of a relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ connection on a quasi-coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module  $\mathcal{E}$ . Then, we define the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  as the obstruction to the existence of a holomorphic  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$ . Many results of the classical theory of connections can be restated in the more general setting of Lie algebroid connections. As an application we prove the following result.

Let X be a complex manifold and  $(A, \sharp)$  a Lie algebroid over X. For any quasicoherent sheaf of commutative  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras  $\mathcal{F}$ , let us write  $\mathfrak{g}_i = H^{i-1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$ . The  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of A yields maps  $\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes \mathfrak{g}_j \to \mathfrak{g}_{i+j}$ . These maps define a graded Lie algebra structure on the graded vector space  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_i \mathfrak{g}_i$ . In a similar way, for any holomorphic vector bundle *E* over *X*, let us write  $V_j = H^{j-1}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F})$ . Then, for any *i* and *j*, the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of *E* yields a map  $\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes V_j \to V_{i+j}$ , and these maps define a structure of graded module on the graded vector space  $V^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_j V_j$ , over the graded Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet}$ . This generalizes a similar result proved by Kapranov in Compos. Math. 115:71–113, 1999. Similar results have been obtained by Chen, Stiénon and Xu in From Atiyah classes to homotopy Leibniz algebras 2012, by using different techniques.

Keywords Atiyah classes · Connections · Differential forms · Jets · Lie algebroids

## **Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 53B15 · Secondary 53C05 · 32C38

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

F. Bottacin  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Padova, Via Trieste, 63, 35121 Padova, Italy

e-mail: bottacin@math.unipd.it

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_43

#### 1 Introduction

The theory of connections is a central topic in differential geometry. A rather natural generalization of the classical notion of connection on a vector or principal bundle over a differentiable manifold X is obtained by replacing the tangent bundle of X with a Lie algebroid  $(A, \sharp)$  over X; this leads to the notion of a *Lie algebroid connection*.

Most of the results of the classical theory of connections (e.g., the Chern–Weil theory of characteristic classes) extend to Lie algebroid connections. We refer to [10] for an introduction to Lie algebroids and to [5] for a detailed account on Lie algebroid connections.

While Lie algebroid connections on a smooth vector bundle over a differentiable manifold *X* always exist (this is a consequence of the existence of partitions of unity on *X*), when *X* is a complex manifold there is an obstruction to the existence of a global holomorphic Lie algebroid connection on a holomorphic vector bundle *E* over *X*. This obstruction is given by a cohomology class that is the analogue of the Atiyah class of *E*; we call it the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of *E*. As a special case, if we take E = A, we may look at the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of *A* itself.

As happens for their classical counterparts, the new Atiyah classes arising from Lie algebroid connections present very interesting features.

In the classical case, i.e., when the Lie algebroid  $(A, \sharp)$  is the tangent bundle of a complex manifold X, M. Kapranov [8] (inspired by ideas of M. Kontsevich) discovered the fundamental role played by the Atiyah class of  $T_X$  in the construction of the topological invariants of 3-dimensional manifolds, previously introduced by L. Rozansky and E. Witten. One of the main results contained in Kapranov's paper may be restated as follows. Let  $T_X[-1]$  denotes the shifted tangent sheaf of X, considered as an object in the derived category  $D^+(X)$  of bounded below complexes of sheaves of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules with coherent cohomology. Then the Atiyah class of the tangent bundle of X determines a map  $T_X[-1] \otimes T_X[-1] \to T_X[-1]$ , which makes  $T_X[-1]$  into a Lie algebra object in  $D^+(X)$ .

As an application of the general theory of Lie algebroid connections, we prove that similar results hold if we replace the tangent bundle of a complex manifold X with a Lie algebroid A over X. In this case the role of the Atiyah class of  $T_X$  is played by the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of A.

More precisely, we prove that, given a Lie algebroid  $(A, \sharp)$  over X and a quasicoherent sheaf of commutative  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras  $\mathcal{F}$ , there is a map

$$H^{i}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^{j}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j+1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

obtained by composing the cup-product of two cohomology classes with the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of A. If we set  $\mathfrak{g}_i = H^{i-1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$ , the collection of maps  $\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes \mathfrak{g}_j \rightarrow \mathfrak{g}_{i+j}$  defines a graded Lie algebra structure on the graded vector space  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_j \mathfrak{g}_i$ .

In a similar way, for any holomorphic vector bundle E over X, we can define a map

$$H^{i}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^{j}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j+1}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F}),$$

by using the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of E. If we write  $V_j = H^{j-1}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F})$ , we get a collection of maps  $\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes V_j \to V_{i+j}$ , for any i and j, defining a structure of graded module on the graded vector space  $V^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_i V_j$ , over the graded Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet}$ .

We remark that, in a recent paper, Z. Chen, M. Stiénon and P. Xu [4] developed a general theory of Atiyah classes relative to pairs consisting of a Lie algebroid A over X and a Lie subalgebroid of A, over the same base manifold. They also proved a generalization of Kapranov's results by using different techniques.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 1 we develop the basic theory of holomorphic Lie algebroids and Lie algebroid connections in a relative setting. More precisely, we introduce the notion of a relative Lie algebroid over X, where  $\pi : X \to Y$  is a smooth morphism of analytic spaces. Then we define relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connections on a quasi-coherent sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules  $\mathcal{E}$  and study their basic properties.

In Sect. 2 we introduce the sheaf of first  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets of  $\mathcal{E}$  and define the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  as the obstruction to the existence of a global holomorphic  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ connection on  $\mathcal{E}$ . We also prove that the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{A}$  is symmetric.

In Sects. 3 and 4 we define the sheaves of higher  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets and the sheaf of  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -differential operators. Then, in Sect. 5, we prove a version of the so-called 'cohomological Bianchi identity,' originally proved in [8] for the usual Atiyah class of a vector bundle.

Finally, in the last section, we show how Kapranov's results can be generalized to the framework of Lie algebroid connections. The proofs are obtained by following Kapranov's original argument, with suitable modifications. Note that the basic tool needed for proving that the composition with the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of A defines a graded Lie algebra structure on the graded vector space  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{i} H^{i-1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$  is precisely the cohomological Bianchi identity, which implies the graded Jacobi identity for the graded Lie bracket.

#### 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Connections

Let  $\pi: X \to Y$  be a smooth morphism of analytic spaces (or a smooth morphism of schemes, defined over a field of characteristic 0). We denote by  $\mathcal{T}_{X/Y} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\Omega^1_{X/Y}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  the relative tangent sheaf (which is locally free, since  $\pi$  is smooth).

**Definition 2.1** A *relative Lie algebroid* over *X* is a locally free sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules  $\mathcal{A}$ , with a  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -linear morphism  $[\cdot, \cdot]: \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  which defines a Lie algebra structure on the spaces of sections, together with a homomorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules  $\sharp: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{T}_{X/Y}$ , called the *anchor map*, such that the induced map on the spaces of sections  $\sharp: \Gamma(\mathcal{A}) \to \Gamma(\mathcal{T}_{X/Y})$  is a homomorphism of Lie algebras,

and for any sections  $a_1, a_2 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{A})$  and  $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_X)$ , the following Leibniz identity holds:

$$[a_1, fa_2] = f[a_1, a_2] + \sharp a_1(f)a_2.$$
(2.1)

*Remark* 2.2 Let us denote by  $X_y$  the fiber of  $\pi : X \to Y$  over a point  $y \in Y$ . If  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$  is a relative Lie algebroid over X we shall denote by  $\mathcal{A}_y$  the restriction of  $\mathcal{A}$  to  $X_y$  and by  $\sharp_y : \mathcal{A}_y \to \mathcal{T}_{X_y}$  the map induced by  $\sharp$ . The previous definition implies that, for any  $y \in Y$ ,  $(\mathcal{A}_y, \sharp_y)$  is a Lie algebroid over  $X_y$ . Thus a relative Lie algebroid over X may be thought as a family of Lie algebroids over the fibers  $X_y$ , parametrized by the points  $y \in Y$ .

Let  $\flat : \Omega^1_{X/Y} \to \mathcal{A}^* = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  be the dual of the anchor map, and let  $d_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{A}^*$  be the  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -derivation defined by  $d_{\mathcal{A}} = \flat \circ d_{X/Y}$ 



where  $d_{X/Y}: \mathcal{O}_X \to \Omega^1_{X/Y}$  is the usual relative differential.

Let now  $\mathcal{E}$  be a quasi-coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module.

**Definition 2.3** A relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$  is a  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -linear morphism

 $\nabla\colon \mathcal{E}\to \mathcal{E}\otimes \mathcal{A}^*$ 

such that

$$\nabla(fs) = f\nabla(s) + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}(f),$$

for any local sections s of  $\mathcal{E}$  and f of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ .

For any section  $a \in \Gamma(\mathcal{A})$ , we define

$$\nabla_a : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$$

by setting  $\nabla_a(s) = \langle \nabla s, a \rangle$ . The map  $\nabla_a$  is  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -linear and satisfies the following identity:

$$\nabla_a(fs) = f\nabla_a(s) + \sharp a(f)s.$$

We also have

$$\nabla_{f_1 a_1 + f_2 a_2} = f_1 \nabla_{a_1} + f_2 \nabla_{a_2}.$$

*Remark* 2.4 If  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla'$  are two relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connections on  $\mathcal{E}$ , their difference  $\nabla' - \nabla$  is  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -linear, hence  $\nabla' - \nabla \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ . It follows that the space  $\operatorname{Conn}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$  of relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connections on  $\mathcal{E}$  is an affine space modeled on the vector space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ .

#### 2.2 Extension of a Relative (A, #)-Connection

We can extend the  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -derivation  $d_{\mathcal{A}} \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{A}^*$  to an operator

$$d_{\mathcal{A}} \colon \wedge^{p} \mathcal{A}^{*} \to \wedge^{p+1} \mathcal{A}^{*}$$

by setting, for any section  $\alpha$  of  $\wedge^p \mathcal{A}^*$ ,

$$(d_{\mathcal{A}}\alpha)(a_1,\ldots,a_{p+1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{p+1} (-1)^{i+1} \sharp a_i \alpha(a_1,\ldots,\hat{a}_i,\ldots,a_{p+1}) + \sum_{i$$

where  $[\cdot, \cdot]$ :  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  is the Lie bracket of the relative Lie algebroid  $\mathcal{A}$  (the Leibniz identity (2.1) implies that  $d_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha)$  is actually a section of  $\wedge^{p+1}\mathcal{A}^*$ ).

The fact that  $\sharp: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{T}_{X/Y}$  induces a homomorphism of Lie algebras, together with the Jacobi identity for the Lie bracket on  $\mathcal{A}$ , imply that  $d_{\mathcal{A}} \circ d_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$ , hence we have a complex

 $0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{d_A} \mathcal{A}^* \xrightarrow{d_A} \wedge^2 \mathcal{A}^* \xrightarrow{d_A} \cdots$  (2.2)

called the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -de Rham complex.

Let now  $\nabla \colon \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$  be a  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$ . As in the classical case, we shall extend  $\nabla$  to an operator

$$\nabla \colon \mathcal{E} \otimes \wedge^p \mathcal{A}^* \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \wedge^{p+1} \mathcal{A}^*$$

by requiring that

$$\nabla(s \otimes \alpha) = (\nabla s) \wedge \alpha + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha),$$

for any sections *s* of  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\alpha$  of  $\wedge^p \mathcal{A}^*$ .

Then we can define the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -curvature of  $\nabla$  by setting

$$R = \nabla \circ \nabla \colon \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \wedge^2 \mathcal{A}^*.$$

It is immediate to check that *R* is  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -linear, hence it is a section of  $\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E}) \otimes \wedge^2 \mathcal{A}^*$ . A  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection is called *flat* if its  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -curvature vanishes. The  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -curvature *R* satisfies an analogue of the classical Bianchi identity.

#### 3 $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Jets and Atiyah Classes

For a quasi-coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module  $\mathcal{E}$  let us consider the standard 1-jet exact sequence (also called Atiyah sequence)

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E} \otimes \Omega^1_{X/Y} \longrightarrow J^1_{X/Y}(\mathcal{E}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow 0$$
(3.1)

(which is split as a sequence of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules but not, in general, as a sequence of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules).

We can define the sheaf of first  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets of  $\mathcal{E}$  by pushing forward the previous exact sequence via the map  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}} \otimes \flat : \mathcal{E} \otimes \Omega^1_{X/Y} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$ . Hence, by definition, we have a commutative diagram (morphism of extensions)

Note that the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \longrightarrow J^1_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow 0$$
(3.3)

is split as a sequence of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules but not, in general, as a sequence of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules.

*Remark 3.1* As sheaves of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules, we have

$$J^{1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{E} \oplus \big(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{*}\big).$$

Note that  $J^1_{(A \not t)}(\mathcal{E})$  has two structures of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module: one is given by

$$f \cdot (s, \sigma) = (fs, f\sigma),$$

for sections  $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_X)$ ,  $s \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E})$  and  $\sigma \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ ; we shall call this the *left*  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module structure.

The other one is defined by setting

$$(s,\sigma) \cdot f = (fs, f\sigma + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}f),$$

and is called the *right*  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module structure.

Unless otherwise stated, we shall always consider  $J^1_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$  as an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module with its right module structure.

It is well known that the data of a relative connection on  $\mathcal{E}$  is equivalent to a splitting of the exact sequence (3.1). A similar result holds for relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connections:

**Lemma 3.2** A splitting of the sequence (3.3) is equivalent to a relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ connection on  $\mathcal{E}$ .

*Proof* As sheaves of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules, we have

$$J^{1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{E} \oplus \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{*}\right),$$

hence a splitting of (3.3) is given by a homomorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules

$$\phi \colon \mathcal{E} \to J^1_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}), \quad s \mapsto \phi(s) = (s, \nabla(s)),$$

for some map  $\nabla \colon \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$ . Since  $\phi$  is  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -linear, we have  $\phi(fs) = \phi(s)f$ , for sections  $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_X)$  and  $s \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E})$ . But  $\phi(fs) = (fs, \nabla(fs))$  and  $\phi(s)f = (s, \nabla(s))f = (fs, f\nabla(s) + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}(f))$ , hence the map  $\nabla$  must satisfy the identity

$$\nabla(fs) = f\nabla(s) + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}(f).$$

So, requiring that  $\phi$  be a homomorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules is equivalent to requiring that  $\nabla$  be a  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$ .

**Definition 3.3** The  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  is the class

$$a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$$

corresponding to the extension (3.3).

From Lemma 3.2 we obtain the following result:

**Corollary 3.4** A relative  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$  exists if and only if the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  vanishes.

*Remark 3.5* The construction of the relative Atiyah class, and its relation with the usual notion of a relative connection, can be found in [7], where it is discussed in great generality.

Let us now compare the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  with its usual Atiyah class. The usual Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  is the class  $a(\mathcal{E}) \in \text{Ext}^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \Omega^1_{X/Y})$  corresponding to the extension (3.1). The morphism of extensions (3.2) induces a morphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \Omega^{1}_{X/Y}) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes A^{*}).$$

It is now immediate to verify that the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $\mathcal{E}$  is the image of the usual Atiyah class  $a(\mathcal{E})$  under the previous map.

*Remark 3.6* Exactly as the usual Atiyah class can be used to define the Chern classes of  $\mathcal{E}$ , we could use the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class to define what we may call  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Chern classes.

If we consider the morphism  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \Omega^{1}_{X/Y}) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{*})$ , induced by the map  $\flat \colon \Omega^{1}_{X/Y} \to \mathcal{A}^{*}$ , and we apply the trace maps, we obtain a commutative diagram

Since the first Chern class of  $\mathcal{E}$  is given by  $c_1(\mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{tr}(a(\mathcal{E}))$ , we find that  $\flat(c_1(\mathcal{E})) = \operatorname{tr}(a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}))$  (and a similar statement holds for all higher Chern classes). It follows that the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Chern classes that we could define using a  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$  are not particularly interesting because they are the image of the usual Chern classes of  $\mathcal{E}$  under the maps  $H^i(X, \Omega^i_{X/Y}) \to H^i(X, \wedge^i \mathcal{A}^*)$  induced by the morphism  $\flat: \Omega^1_{X/Y} \to \mathcal{A}^*$ .

*Remark* 3.7 As we mentioned in the introduction, in [4] the authors introduced a notion of Atiyah class of a vector bundle *E* over a smooth manifold *M*, relative to a pair consisting of a Lie algebroid *L* over *M* and a Lie subalgebroid  $A \subset L$ . More precisely, given a pair (L, A) as above, we say that *E* is a vector bundle over (L, A) if *E* is a vector bundle over *M* endowed with an *A*-module structure. Under these assumptions, Chen, Stiénon and Xu defined the notion of a Lie algebroid connection on *E*, relative to the Lie algebroid pair (L, A). When A = 0 this definition coincides with the definition of a Lie algebroid connection we gave in Sect. 2.1.

The construction of the Atiyah class of *E*, relative to the pair (*L*, *A*), is carried out as follows. Let  $\nabla$  be any smooth *L*-connection on *E* that extends the action of *A* on *E* (*E* is assumed to be an *A*-module, as before). The curvature of such a connection defines a section  $R \in \Gamma(A^* \otimes A^{\perp} \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(E))$ . This is a 1-cocycle for the Lie algebroid *A* with values in the *A*-module  $A^{\perp} \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(E)$ . The cohomology class of this cocycle in  $H^1(A; A^{\perp} \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(E))$  is the Atiyah class of the *A*-module *E*. When A = 0 the Atiyah class of *E* defined in this way coincides with the one we have introduced in Sect. 3, computed by using the Dolbeault model for cohomology.

#### 3.1 $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Connections on $\mathcal{A}$

Let us consider now the special case  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\nabla \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$  be a  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ connection on  $\mathcal{A}$ .

For any section  $a \in \Gamma(\mathcal{A})$  we define the derivation  $\nabla_a : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  by setting

$$\nabla_a(b) = \langle \nabla b, a \rangle.$$

Then we define the  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -torsion of  $\nabla$  by setting

$$T(a,b) = \nabla_a(b) - \nabla_b(a) - [a,b],$$

for sections *a*, *b* of  $\mathcal{A}$ . It is easy to see that  $T \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\wedge^2 \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ . A  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ connection on  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be *torsion-free* if its  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -torsion vanishes.

The following result, proved in [8], carries over into this more general setting (with a similar proof).

**Theorem 3.8** Let  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$  be a relative Lie algebroid over X and let

$$a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{*}) = \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$$

be its  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class. Then  $a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$  is symmetric, i.e., it belongs to  $\text{Ext}^1(S^2\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ .

*Proof* Let  $Conn_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$  be the sheaf whose sections over  $U \subset X$  are the holomorphic  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connections defined on  $\mathcal{A}|_U$ . As seen in Remark 2.4, this is an affine space over  $\Gamma(U, \mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ . Then  $Conn_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$  is a sheaf of torsors over  $\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$ . Sheaves of torsors over  $\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$  are classified by elements of  $H^1(X, \mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathcal{A}^*) = \operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ , and  $a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$  is precisely the element that classifies  $Conn_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$ .

Similarly, let  $\operatorname{Conn}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\mathrm{tf}}(\mathcal{A})$  be the sheaf whose sections over  $U \subset X$  are the torsion free  $(\mathcal{A},\sharp)$ -connections on  $\mathcal{A}|_U$ . Then  $\operatorname{Conn}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\mathrm{tf}}(\mathcal{A})$  is a sheaf of torsors over  $S^2(\mathcal{A}^*) \otimes \mathcal{A}$ . Since the sheaf of torsors  $\operatorname{Conn}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A})$  is obtained from  $\operatorname{Conn}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\mathrm{tf}}(\mathcal{A})$  by "change of scalars" (i.e., from  $S^2(\mathcal{A}^*) \otimes \mathcal{A}$  to  $\mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A}$ ), it follows that the classifying element  $a_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{A}) \in H^1(X, \mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A})$  actually belongs to the summand  $H^1(X, S^2(\mathcal{A}^*) \otimes \mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Ext}^1(S^2\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ .

#### 4 Higher $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Jets

In this section we shall briefly describe how it is possible to define sheaves of higher order  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets.

For a quasi-coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module  $\mathcal{E}$  we have already seen that  $J^1_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{E} \oplus (\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$ , with the structure of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module (on the right) given by

$$(s,\sigma) \cdot f = (fs, f\sigma + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}f).$$

We can now define the sheaf of 2nd  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets of  $\mathcal{E}$  by setting

$$J^{2}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) = J^{1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \oplus \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathsf{S}^{2}\mathcal{A}^{*}\right) = \mathcal{E} \oplus \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{*}\right) \oplus \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathsf{S}^{2}\mathcal{A}^{*}\right),$$

as  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules, where  $S^2\mathcal{A}^*$  denotes the symmetric square of  $\mathcal{A}^*$ .

.....

Let  $d_{X/Y}^{(2)}: \mathcal{O}_X \to S^2 \Omega_{X/Y}^1$  be the quadratic differential expressed, in suitable local coordinates  $z_i$ , by

$$d_{X/Y}^{(2)}f = \frac{1}{2!}\sum_{i,j}\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} dz_i \odot dz_j,$$

where  $\odot$  denotes the symmetric product.

Let us define the quadratic derivation  $d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} : \mathcal{O}_X \to S^2 \mathcal{A}^*$  as the composition  $d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = (\flat \odot \flat) \circ d_{X/Y}^{(2)}$ 



The structure of (right)  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module on  $J^2_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$  is defined by setting

$$(s,\sigma,\tau)\cdot f = (fs, f\sigma + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}f, f\tau + \sigma \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}f + s \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}f),$$

for sections  $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_X)$ ,  $s \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E})$ ,  $\sigma \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^*)$  and  $\tau \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E} \otimes S^2 \mathcal{A}^*)$  (here, by  $\sigma \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}} f$  we mean the image of  $\sigma \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}} f \in \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A}^*$  in  $\mathcal{E} \otimes S^2 \mathcal{A}^*$  under the symmetrization map  $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \otimes \mathcal{A}^* \to \mathcal{E} \otimes S^2 \mathcal{A}^*$ ).

There is an exact sequence of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathsf{S}^2 \mathcal{A}^* \to J^2_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \to J^1_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \to 0 \tag{4.1}$$

(which is split as a sequence of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules but not, in general, as a sequence of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules).

More generally, for any  $r \ge 1$  we can define inductively the sheaf of r-th  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -jets of  $\mathcal{E}$  by setting

$$J^{r}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) = J^{r-1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \oplus \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathsf{S}^{r}\mathcal{A}^{*}\right) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{r} \left(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathsf{S}^{i}\mathcal{A}^{*}\right),$$

as  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules, where  $S^i\mathcal{A}^*$  denotes the *i*-th symmetric power of  $\mathcal{A}^*$ . The (right)  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module structure of  $J^r_{(\mathcal{A}, \dagger)}(\mathcal{E})$  is defined as follows. For any  $j \ge 0$ , let

 $d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(j)} : \mathcal{O}_X \to S^j \mathcal{A}^*$  be the composition  $d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(j)} = (S^j \flat) \circ d_{X/Y}^{(j)}$ 



where  $d_{X/Y}^{(j)} \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to S^j \Omega^1_{X/Y}$  is given locally by

$$d_{X/Y}^{(j)}f = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_j} \frac{\partial^J f}{\partial z_{i_1} \cdots \partial z_{i_j}} dz_{i_1} \odot \cdots \odot dz_{i_j}.$$

Let  $(s_0, s_1, \ldots, s_r)$  be a section of  $J^r_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$ , with  $s_i \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E} \otimes S^i \mathcal{A}^*)$ . Then, for any  $f \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_X)$ , we set  $(s_0, s_1, \ldots, s_r) \cdot f = (t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_r)$  where, for each  $h = 0, \ldots, r$ , the section  $t_h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E} \otimes S^h \mathcal{A}^*)$  is given by the following expression:

$$t_h = \sum_{j=0}^h s_j \otimes d_{\mathcal{A}}^{(h-j)} f.$$

There is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathbf{S}^{r} \mathcal{A}^{*} \to J^{r}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \to J^{r-1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E}) \to 0$$

$$(4.2)$$

(which is split as a sequence of  $\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y$ -modules but not, in general, as a sequence of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules).

Finally, note that, for any r, there is a homomorphism of sheaves of abelian groups

$$d^r_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp),\mathcal{E}} \colon \mathcal{E} \to J^r_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$$

that is  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -linear for the *right*  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module structure of  $J^r_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{E})$ . All the verifications are left as exercises.

#### 5 $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -Differential Operators

Let us recall that  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_{X/Y}$ , the sheaf of rings of finite-order (holomorphic) differential operators on X over Y, is generated, as an algebra, by  $\mathcal{O}_X$  and by  $\mathcal{T}_{X/Y}$ .

In a similar way, we define  $\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}$  to be the algebra generated by  $\mathcal{O}_X$  and  $\mathcal{A}$ , with the commutation relations given by

$$af = \sharp(a)(f) + fa$$
 and  $a_1a_2 = a_2a_1 + [a_1, a_2],$  (5.1)

where  $a, a_1, a_2$  are sections of  $\mathcal{A}$  and f is a section of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ .

The sheaf of non-commutative rings  $\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}$  is endowed with a filtration

$$0 \subset \mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq 0} \subset \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq 1} \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r} \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}$$

such that

$$\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)} = \bigcup_{r \ge 0} \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\le r},$$

where, for each *r*, the  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module  $\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r}$  is the dual of the sheaf of *r*-th  $(\mathcal{A},\sharp)$ -jets  $J_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^r(\mathcal{O}_X)$ ,

$$\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X} \big( J_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^r(\mathcal{O}_X), \mathcal{O}_X \big).$$

If  $\mathcal{D}$  is the usual ring of differential operators on *X* over *Y*, the anchor map  $\sharp : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{T}_{X/Y}$  induces a homomorphism of filtered rings

$$\sharp\colon \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}\to \mathcal{D}.$$

The map  $\sigma : \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r} \to S^r \mathcal{A}$ , that associates to a  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -differential operator its highest order term, is well defined and is called the *principal symbol* map. For every r > 0, there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r-1} \to \mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}^{\leq r} \to \mathbb{S}^r \mathcal{A} \to 0$$

which is the dual of

$$0 \to \mathsf{S}^{r}\mathcal{A}^{*} \to J^{r}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{O}_{X}) \to J^{r-1}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}(\mathcal{O}_{X}) \to 0.$$

The associated graded ring of the filtered ring  $\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}$  is isomorphic to the symmetric algebra over  $\mathcal{A}$ 

$$\operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)})\cong \operatorname{S}^{\cdot}(\mathcal{A}).$$

Let us recall that a relative flat connection on a coherent sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules  $\mathcal{E}$  is equivalent to a structure of  $\mathcal{D}$ -module on  $\mathcal{E}$ . In a similar way it is easy to prove that a relative flat  $(\mathcal{A}, \sharp)$ -connection on  $\mathcal{E}$  is equivalent to a structure of  $\mathcal{D}_{(\mathcal{A},\sharp)}$ -module on  $\mathcal{E}$ .

To end this section let us recall that if X is a complex manifold (or a smooth algebraic variety defined over a field of characteristic zero) and  $\mathcal{E}$  is a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module endowed with a (usual) connection, then it is well known that  $\mathcal{E}$  is actually locally free, hence it is the sheaf of sections of a vector bundle *E* over *X*. This was proved in [9], under the assumption that the connection is flat, and in [1] in general.

For Lie algebroid connections a similar result holds under the assumption that the anchor map is surjective, as we shall now explain. The proof can be obtained by an easy adaptation of the proof of Theorem 1.4.10 in [6]. For the reader's convenience we shall report the argument here.

**Theorem 5.1** Let X be a complex manifold,  $(A, \sharp)$  be a Lie algebroid over X and let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a coherent  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module endowed with a  $(A, \sharp)$ -connection  $\nabla$ . Let us assume that the anchor map  $\sharp: A \to T_X$  is surjective. Then  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free.

*Proof* Since  $\mathcal{E}$  is coherent, to prove that it is locally free it is enough to show that the stalk  $\mathcal{E}_x$  is a free  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -module, for any  $x \in X$ .

Let us choose local coordinates  $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  in X, so that the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  of the local ring  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$  is generated by  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$ . From Nakayama's lemma it follows that there exist elements  $s_1, \ldots, s_m \in \mathcal{E}_x$  such that  $\mathcal{E}_x$  is generated by  $s_1, \ldots, s_m$  as an  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -module and  $\overline{s}_1, \ldots, \overline{s}_m \in \mathcal{E}_x/\mathfrak{m}\mathcal{E}_x$  are free generators of the vector space  $\mathcal{E}_x/\mathfrak{m}\mathcal{E}_x$  over  $\mathbb{C} = \mathcal{O}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m}$ .

We shall now prove that  $\{s_1, \ldots, s_m\}$  is a free set of generators of the  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -module  $\mathcal{E}_x$ .

Let us assume that there exists a non-trivial relation  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} f_i s_i = 0$ , for some  $f_i \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ . We define the order of  $f_i$  at  $x \in X$  by setting

$$\operatorname{ord}(f_i) = \max\{h \mid f_i \in \mathfrak{m}^h\}.$$

For each j = 1, ..., n let us set  $\partial_j = \partial/\partial x_j$  and choose a local section  $a_j \in A$  such that  $\sharp a_j = \partial_j \in T_X$  (this is possible because we are assuming  $\sharp \colon A \to T_X$  to be surjective). Now let us apply  $\nabla_{a_j}$  to the above relation. We obtain a new relation

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (\partial_j f_i) s_i + \sum_{i=1}^{m} f_i \nabla_{a_j} s_i = \sum_{i=1}^{m} g_i s_i,$$

for some  $g_i \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ .

Applying the operator  $\partial_j$  to  $f_i$  has the effect of lowering the order of  $f_i$  at x, hence we can choose a suitable j such that

$$\min\{\operatorname{ord}(f_i) \mid i = 1, \dots, m\} > \min\{\operatorname{ord}(g_i) \mid i = 1, \dots, m\}.$$

By repeating this procedure, after a finite number of steps we obtain a non-trivial relation  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} h_i s_i = 0$ , with some  $h_i \notin \mathfrak{m}$ . It follows that we get a non-trivial relation  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \bar{h}_i \bar{s}_i = 0$ , with  $\bar{h}_i \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m} = \mathbb{C}$ , but this contradicts the choice of  $s_1, \ldots, s_m$ .

#### 6 Kapranov's 'Cohomological Bianchi Identity'

In this section we shall generalize the so-called 'cohomological Bianchi identity,' proved by Kapranov in [8], to the setting of Lie algebroid connections.

Let *X* be a complex manifold,  $(A, \sharp)$  a Lie algebroid over *X*, and  $\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}$  the sheaf of rings of  $(A, \sharp)$ -differential operators.

*Remark 6.1* Let *E* be a vector bundle over *X* and  $E^*$  its dual bundle. The exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E^* \otimes A^* \longrightarrow J^1_{(A,\sharp)}(E^*) \longrightarrow E^* \longrightarrow 0$$

computes the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of  $E^*$ ,  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E^*) = -a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)$ .

By dualizing, we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 1}(E) \longrightarrow E \otimes A \longrightarrow 0, \tag{6.1}$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 1}(E) = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 1} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} E$ , that also computes the class

$$-a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E \otimes A, E) = \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E, E \otimes A^{*}).$$

Let *M* be a locally free left  $\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}$ -module, endowed with a good filtration  $M_i$  by vector bundles. The  $\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}$ -module structure on *M* is equivalent to a flat  $(A, \sharp)$ connection  $\nabla \colon M \to M \otimes A^*$ . It follows that, for any *j*, we have an induced map  $\nabla_j \colon M_j \to M_{j+1} \otimes A^*$ .

The following result is a generalization of a similar statement, proved in [2]:

**Lemma 6.2** ([2], (4.1.2.3)) *Let M be as before. Then:* 

(a) The class  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(M_i)$  is given by the following composition of maps

$$M_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} M_i / M_{i-1} \xrightarrow{\nabla_i} (M_{i+1} / M_i) \otimes A^* \xrightarrow{\alpha_i \otimes 1_{A^*}} M_i \otimes A^*[1]$$

where  $\pi_i \colon M_i \to M_i/M_{i-1}$  is the projection,  $\nabla_i \colon M_i/M_{i-1} \to (M_{i+1}/M_i) \otimes A^*$  is induced by the  $(A, \sharp)$ -connection  $\nabla$ , and  $\alpha_i \in \text{Ext}^1(M_{i+1}/M_i, M_i)$  is the element that corresponds to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_i \longrightarrow M_{i+1} \longrightarrow M_{i+1}/M_i \longrightarrow 0.$$

(b) The class  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(M_i/M_{i-1})$  is equal to the difference between the composition of morphisms

$$M_i/M_{i-1} \xrightarrow{\nabla_i} (M_{i+1}/M_i) \otimes A^* \xrightarrow{\alpha_i \otimes 1_{A^*}} M_i \otimes A^*[1] \xrightarrow{\pi_i[1]} (M_i/M_{i-1}) \otimes A^*[1],$$

and the composition

$$M_i/M_{i-1} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{i-1}} M_{i-1}[1] \xrightarrow{\pi_{i-1}[1]} (M_{i-1}/M_{i-2})[1] \xrightarrow{\nabla_{i-1}[1]} (M_i/M_{i-1}) \otimes A^*[1].$$

*Proof* The proof is the same as in [2], since it follows from purely formal properties of extension classes.  $\Box$ 

*Remark 6.3* The map  $\nabla_j \colon M_j/M_{j-1} \to M_{j+1}/M_j \otimes A^*$  induced by the  $(A, \sharp)$ -connection  $\nabla$  on M, corresponds to the so-called "symbol multiplication map"

$$\mu_j \colon A \otimes M_j / M_{j-1} \to M_{j+1} / M_j.$$

If we denote by  $f_i \in \text{Ext}^1(M_{i+1}/M_i, M_i/M_{i-1})$  the composition

$$M_{i+1}/M_i \xrightarrow{\alpha_i} M_i[1] \xrightarrow{\pi_i[1]} (M_i/M_{i-1})[1],$$

then part (b) of the previous lemma can be restated by saying that the class  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(M_i/M_{i-1})$  is given by the difference between the following two compositions of morphisms:

$$A \otimes M_i/M_{i-1} \xrightarrow{\mu_i} M_{i+1}/M_i \xrightarrow{f_i} (M_i/M_{i-1})[1],$$

and

$$A \otimes M_i/M_{i-1} \xrightarrow{1_A \otimes f_{i-1}} A \otimes (M_{i-1}/M_{i-2})[1] \xrightarrow{\mu_{i-1}[1]} (M_i/M_{i-1})[1],$$

i.e., we can write

$$-a_{(A,\sharp)}(M_i/M_{i-1}) = f_i \circ \mu_i - \mu_{i-1}[1] \circ (1_A \otimes f_{i-1}).$$
(6.2)

If *E* is a vector bundle over *X*, we can consider the  $\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}$ -module  $M = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} E$ , with the filtration given by  $M_i = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq i} \otimes E$ . The exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{M_1}{M_0} \longrightarrow \frac{M_2}{M_0} \longrightarrow \frac{M_2}{M_1} \longrightarrow 0$$

becomes

$$0 \longrightarrow A \otimes E \longrightarrow \frac{\mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 2} \otimes E}{E} \longrightarrow S^{2}(A) \otimes E \longrightarrow 0.$$

Let us denote by  $\xi \in \text{Ext}^1(S^2(A) \otimes E, A \otimes E)$  the corresponding extension class. Let  $\sigma : A \otimes A \to S^2(A)$  be the symmetrization map. From Lemma 6.2 and the subsequent remark, it follows that:

Lemma 6.4 With the above notations, we have

$$a_{(A,\sharp)}(A\otimes E) = -\xi \circ (\sigma \otimes 1) - 1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E).$$

*Proof* Since  $M_i = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq i} \otimes E$ , we have  $M_1/M_0 = A \otimes E$  and  $M_2/M_1 = S^2(A) \otimes E$ . From (6.2) we know that  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(M_1/M_0) = -a_{(A,\sharp)}(A \otimes E)$  is the difference between the following composition of morphisms:

$$A \otimes A \otimes E \xrightarrow{\sigma \otimes 1_E} S^2(A) \otimes E \xrightarrow{\xi} A \otimes E[1]$$

and

$$A \otimes A \otimes E \xrightarrow{1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)} A \otimes E[1] \xrightarrow{-\operatorname{id}} A \otimes E[1].$$

Hence  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(A \otimes E) = \xi \circ (\sigma \otimes 1) + 1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E).$ 

Now we introduce some notation in order to state the main result. Let  $a, b \in H^1(X, End(E) \otimes A^*)$ . Their cup-product is

$$a \smile b \in H^2(X, \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes A^* \otimes A^*).$$

Consider the map

$$\mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes A^* \otimes A^* \to \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes \mathsf{S}^2(A^*)$$
$$\phi \otimes \psi \otimes \alpha \otimes \beta \mapsto [\phi, \psi] \otimes (\alpha \odot \beta)$$

We denote by  $[a \smile b] \in H^2(X, \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes S^2(A^*))$  the image of  $a \smile b$  under the induced map in cohomology.

Let  $a \in H^1(X, \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes A^*) = \operatorname{Ext}^1(E, E \otimes A^*) = \operatorname{Ext}^1(A \otimes E, E)$ , and let  $c \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(A \otimes A, A)$ . Let us consider the composition

$$S^{2}(A) \otimes E \hookrightarrow A \otimes A \otimes E \xrightarrow{c \otimes 1} A \otimes E[1] \xrightarrow{a} E[2]$$

We denote by

$$a * c \in \operatorname{Hom}(S^{2}(A) \otimes E, E[2]) = \operatorname{Ext}^{2}(S^{2}(A) \otimes E, E)$$
$$= H^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes S^{2}(A^{*}))$$

the corresponding element.

**Theorem 6.5** (Cohomological Bianchi identity) Let  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(E, E \otimes A^*) = H^1(X, \operatorname{End}(E) \otimes A^*)$  be the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of a vector bundle E. Let  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(A, A \otimes A^*) = H^1(X, \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes A^*)$  be the  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of A. Then we have the identity

$$2\left[a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \sim a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)\right] + a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) * a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) = 0$$

in  $H^2(X, \mathcal{E}nd(E) \otimes S^2(A^*))$ .

*Proof* Let  $M = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)} \otimes E$ , with the filtration

$$0 \subset M_0 = E \subset M_1 = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 1} \otimes E \subset M_2 = \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 2} \otimes E \subset \dots$$

The exact sequence  $0 \rightarrow M_0 \rightarrow M_1 \rightarrow M_1/M_0 \rightarrow 0$  is

$$0 \to E \to \mathcal{D}_{(A,\sharp)}^{\leq 1} \otimes E \to A \otimes E \to 0,$$

whose extension class is  $-a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \in \text{Ext}^1(A \otimes E, A)$ . The next exact sequence  $0 \to M_1/M_0 \to M_2/M_0 \to M_2/M_1 \to 0$  is

$$0 \to A \otimes E \to M_2/M_0 \to S^2(A) \otimes E \to 0,$$

whose extension class we have denoted by  $\xi$ .

Standard results (cf., for instance, [3]) tell us that the composition (Yoneda product) of these two extensions is zero:  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \circ \xi = 0$ 

$$S^{2}(A) \otimes E \xrightarrow{\xi} A \otimes E[1] \xrightarrow{a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)} E[2].$$

From Lemma 6.4 we have

$$a_{(A,\sharp)}(A \otimes E) = -\xi \circ (\sigma \otimes 1) - 1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E).$$

The  $(A, \sharp)$ -Atiyah class of a tensor product of vector bundles is given by

$$a_{(A,\sharp)}(A \otimes E) = a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E),$$

hence

$$2(1 \otimes a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)) + a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \otimes 1 = -\xi \circ (\sigma \otimes 1).$$

Now we take the Yoneda product of the previous expression with  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)$  (on the left), and we recall that  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \circ \xi = 0$ .

We get

$$2[a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \sim a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)] + a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) * a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) = 0.$$

#### 7 The Lie Algebra Structure

Let *X* and  $(A, \sharp)$  be as before, and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a quasi-coherent sheaf of commutative  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras. We consider the composition of the following maps: first we take the cup-product

$$H^{i}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^{j}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes A \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

followed by the map

$$H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes A \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes A \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

induced by the commutative multiplication  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}$ . Then we take the Yoneda product with  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \in H^1(X, \operatorname{Hom}(S^2(A), A))$ :

$$H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j+1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}).$$

So, for any *i* and *j*, we obtain maps

$$H^{i}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^{j}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j+1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}).$$

Let us set  $\mathfrak{g}_i = H^{i-1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$ . Then we can rewrite the previous maps as follows:

$$\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes \mathfrak{g}_j \to \mathfrak{g}_{i+j}.$$

**Theorem 7.1** *The maps above define a graded Lie algebra structure on the graded vector space*  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{i} \mathfrak{g}_{i}$ .

*Proof* Let  $\alpha_i \in \mathfrak{g}_i, \alpha_j \in \mathfrak{g}_j$ , and let us denote the bracket by  $[\alpha_i, \alpha_j] \in \mathfrak{g}_{i+j}$ . The bilinearity of the bracket is obvious. The (graded) antisymmetry is given by the following expression:

$$[\alpha_i, \alpha_i] = -(-1)^{ij} [\alpha_i, \alpha_j].$$

This follows immediately from the graded commutativity of the cup-product. It remains only to prove the (graded) Jacobi identity:

$$(-1)^{ik} \left[ \alpha_i, \left[ \alpha_j, \alpha_k \right] \right] + (-1)^{ij} \left[ \alpha_j, \left[ \alpha_k, \alpha_i \right] \right] + (-1)^{jk} \left[ \alpha_k, \left[ \alpha_i, \alpha_j \right] \right] = 0.$$

Let us denote the left-hand side by  $\theta(\alpha_i, \alpha_j, \alpha_k)$ . This defines an element  $\theta \in \text{Hom}(\wedge^3 \mathfrak{g}^{\bullet}, \mathfrak{g}^{\bullet})$ , and we can check that  $\theta(\alpha_i, \alpha_j, \alpha_k)$  is obtained by taking the cupproduct

$$\alpha_i \smile \alpha_j \smile \alpha_k \in H^{i+j+k-3}(X, A \otimes A \otimes A \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

followed by the composition with an element of  $H^2(X, Hom(S^3(A), A))$ . This element turns out to be the symmetrization of

$$\left[a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \sim a_{(A,\sharp)}(A)\right] \in H^2\left(X, \mathcal{H}om\left(A \otimes \mathsf{S}^2(A), A\right)\right).$$

Now we use the cohomological Bianchi identity (for E = A):

$$2[a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \sim a_{(A,\sharp)}(A)] + a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) * a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) = 0.$$

From the definition, it follows that the symmetrization of  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) * a_{(A,\sharp)}(A)$  is 0, hence the same is true for the symmetrization of  $[a_{(A,\sharp)}(A) \smile a_{(A,\sharp)}(A)]$ . This finally means that  $\theta = 0$ , which proves the Jacobi identity.

Let X,  $(A, \sharp)$ ,  $\mathcal{F}$  be as before, and let E be a holomorphic vector bundle over X. We consider now the composition of the following maps: first we take the cupproduct

$$H^{i}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^{j}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes E \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

(where we have used the multiplication  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}$ , as before). Then we take the Yoneda product with  $a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \in H^1(X, \operatorname{Hom}(A \otimes E, E))$ :

$$H^{i+j}(X, A \otimes E \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to H^{i+j+1}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F}).$$

If we set  $\mathfrak{g}_i = H^{i-1}(X, A \otimes \mathcal{F})$  and  $V_j = H^{j-1}(X, E \otimes \mathcal{F})$ , for any *i* and *j*, we have maps  $\mathfrak{g}_i \otimes V_j \to V_{i+j}$ . We can now prove the following result:

**Theorem 7.2** The maps above define a structure of graded module on the graded vector space  $V^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{i} V_{j}$ , over the graded Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\bullet}$ .

*Proof* Let  $\alpha_i \in \mathfrak{g}_i, \alpha_j \in \mathfrak{g}_j$  and  $v_k \in V_k$ . We must prove that

$$[\alpha_i, \alpha_j]v_k - \alpha_i(\alpha_j v_k) + (-1)^{ij}\alpha_j(\alpha_i v_k) = 0.$$

The left-hand side defines an element  $\phi \in \text{Hom}(\wedge^2 \mathfrak{g}^{\bullet} \otimes V^{\bullet}, V^{\bullet})$ , and we can check that  $\phi$  is obtained by taking the cup-product

$$\alpha_i \smile \alpha_j \smile v_k \in H^{i+j+k-3}(X, A \otimes A \otimes E \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

followed by the Yoneda composition with an element of  $H^2(X, Hom(S^2(A) \otimes E, E))$ . This element is precisely

$$2[a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) \smile a_{(A,\sharp)}(E)] + a_{(A,\sharp)}(E) * a_{(A,\sharp)}(A),$$

which vanishes by the cohomological Bianchi identity.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank the referee for some useful remarks and suggestions.

#### References

- Y. André, Différentielles non commutatives et théorie de Galois différentielle ou aux différences. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Super. 34, 685–739 (2001)
- B. Angéniol, M. Lejeune-Jalabert, Le théorème de Riemann-Roch singulier pour les Dmodules. Astérisque 130, 130–160 (1985)
- 3. M. Barakat, B. Bremer, Higher extension modules and the Yoneda product. arXiv:0802.3179
- Z. Chen, M. Stiénon, P. Xu, From Atiyah classes to homotopy Leibniz algebras. arXiv:1204. 1075v2
- R.L. Fernandes, Lie algebroids, holonomy and characteristic classes. Adv. Math. 170, 119– 179 (2002)
- 6. R. Hotta, K. Takeuchi, T. Tanisaki, *D-Modules, Perverse Sheaves, and Representation Theory.* Progress in Mathematics, vol. 236 (Birkhäuser, Boston, 2008)
- 7. L. Illusie, *Complexe Cotangent et déformations I*. Lect. Notes in Math., vol. 239 (Springer, Berlin, 1971)
- M. Kapranov, Rozansky–Witten invariants via Atiyah classes. Compos. Math. 115, 71–113 (1999)
- N.M. Katz, Nilpotent connections and the monodromy theorem: applications of a result of Turritin. Publ. Math. IHÉS 39, 175–232 (1970)
- K. Mackenzie, *Lie Groupoids and Lie Algebroids in Differential Geometry*. London Math. Soc. Lect. Notes Series, vol. 124 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1987)

# Kähler Metrics with Cone Singularities and Uniqueness Problem

Kai Zheng

**Abstract** The Kähler metric with cone singularities has been the main subject which is being studied recently. In this expository note, we focus on the modular space of the Kähler metric with cone singularities. We first summary our work on the construction of the geodesic of the cone singularities. Then we apply the cone geodesic to obtain a uniqueness theorem of the constant scalar curvature Kähler metrics with cone singularities.

Keywords Kähler cone metrics

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 32Q15 · Secondary 53C55

#### 1 Introduction

Let X be a smooth *n*-dimensional compact Kähler manifold without boundary and  $\Omega$  be a Kähler class on X. We denote by  $\omega_0$  a smooth Kähler metric in X, and by  $\mathcal{H}$  the space of Kähler metrics in  $\Omega$ . In  $\mathcal{H}$ , the famous  $L^2$  metric was defined independently by Mabuchi [23], Donaldson [17] and Semmes [24]. Under which,  $\mathcal{H}$  becomes a non-positive curved infinite-dimensional symmetric space. Semmes [24] pointed out that the geodesic equation in  $\mathcal{H}$  is a homogeneous complex Monge–Ampère (HCMA) equation,

$$\begin{cases} \left(\Omega_0 + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \Psi\right)^{n+1} = 0 & \text{in } X \times R, \\ \sum_{1 \le i, j \le n} \left(\Omega_0 + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \Psi\right)_{i\bar{j}} dz^i \wedge dz^{\bar{j}} > 0 & \text{in } X \times \{z^{n+1}\}; \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

here *R* is a cylinder with boundary, and  $\Omega_0$  is the pull-back metric of  $\omega_0$  under the natural projection to *X*.

K. Zheng (🖂)

Institut für Differentialgeometrie, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Welfengarten 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany e-mail: zheng@math.uni-hannover.de

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_44

Geodesics are basic geometric objects in modular space  $\mathcal{H}$ . The intensive relation between the geodesics of  $\mathcal{H}$  and the existence and the uniqueness of the constant scalar curvature Kähler (cscK) metrics or the extremal Kähler metrics in general, was pointed out by Donaldson [17]. In the same paper, he conjectured that  $\mathcal{H}$  endowed with the  $L^2$  metric is geodesically convex and is a metric space. The geodesic equation (1.1) is solved in Chen [13] under smooth Dirichlet conditions, then the existence of  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic segments (of bounded mixed derivatives) is established. Thus he verified that the space of Kähler metrics is a metric space. Later in [11], Chen and Tian improved the partial regularity of the  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic, then proved the uniqueness of the extremal metrics. In general, a  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic does not need to be smooth that was showed by Donaldson [18], Darvas–Lempert [15] and Lempert–Vivas [22].

The Kähler metrics with cone singularities (Kähler cone metrics for short) have been extensively studied recently. They are the main objects in Donaldson's programme [19], in which a new continuity method is invented. The cone angle is used as parameter of deforming the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics to the smooth ones. There are many beautiful works around the Kähler cone metrics, while many new articles are also coming out, it is impossible to make the list of the references of this topic complete, however more references could be found in our paper [10].

In this expository paper, we focus on the geometry of the space of Kähler cone metrics and the uniqueness problem of the cscK cone metrics. We will summary the results in Calamai–Zheng [10], where we constructed the geodesics with cone singularity in a proper subspace of the space of the Kähler cone metrics and further proved that it is a metric space. Then we will apply the cone geodesic to prove a uniqueness theorem of the cscK metrics with cone singularity.

#### 2 Preliminary

In the local holomorphic coordinates  $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_n)$ , the Kähler form  $\omega_0$  is written as

$$\omega_0 = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (g_0)_{i\bar{j}} dz^i \wedge dz^{\bar{j}}.$$

The Riemannian metric corresponding to  $\omega$  is given by  $g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (g_0)_{i\bar{j}} dz^i \otimes dz^{\bar{j}}$  on  $T^{\mathbb{C}}(M)$ . Written in this form, the metric  $g_0$  is Kähler if and only if

$$(g_0)_{ij} = (g_0)_{\overline{i}\,\overline{j}} = 0$$
 and  $\frac{\partial (g_0)_{i\,\overline{j}}}{\partial z^k} = \frac{\partial (g_0)_{k\,\overline{j}}}{\partial z^i}.$ 

The volume form is the (n, n) form

$$dV = \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!} = \left(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\right)^n \det\left((g_0)_{i\bar{j}}\right) dz^1 \wedge dz^{\bar{1}} \wedge \dots \wedge dz^n \wedge dz^{\bar{n}}.$$

The volume of M with respect different Kähler metrics within a fixed Kähler class is a topological invariant. For each  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the corresponding Ricci form

$$Ric = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} R_{i\bar{j}} dz^{i} \wedge dz^{\bar{j}} = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \bar{\partial} \partial \log \det(g_{0})$$

is a closed form. The first Chern class is  $C_1(M) = \frac{[Ric]}{\pi}$ . The scalar curvature is the contraction of the Ricci curvature

$$S = g_0^{ij} R_{i\bar{j}}.$$

Furthermore, from the formulae

$$S\omega_0^n = nRic \wedge \omega_0^{n-1},$$

we obtain that the average of the scalar curvature is

$$\underline{S} = \frac{\int_M SdV}{V} = \frac{1}{(n-1)!V} \int_M Ric \wedge \omega_0^{n-1} = \frac{Ric \cdot \Omega^{n-1}}{n \cdot \Omega^n} = \frac{\pi C_1(M)\Omega^{n-1}}{n \cdot \Omega^n}.$$

Thus <u>S</u> is also a topological invariant. According to the  $\partial \bar{\partial}$  lemma, the space of Kähler potentials is formulated as

$$\mathcal{H} = \left\{ \varphi \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}) \mid \omega_0 + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \varphi > 0 \right\} / \mathbb{R}.$$

In [8, 9], Calabi suggest minimizing the  $L^2$ -norm of the scalar curvature in  $\mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\int_M S^2 \omega_0^n,$$

which is now known as Calabi functional. Its critical points are called the extremal Kähler metrics which contain both the Kähler–Einstein metrics

$$Ric = l\omega$$
,

in which, the constant l is the sign of the first Chern class and more general, the constant scalar curvature Kähler (cscK) metrics

$$S = \underline{S}.$$

In  $\mathcal{H}$ , a Riemannian metric is defined in Donaldson [17], Mabuchi [23] and Semmes [24] as

$$\frac{1}{n!} \int_M f_1 f_2 \omega_{\varphi}^n \tag{2.1}$$

for any  $f_1, f_2 \in T_{\varphi}\mathcal{H}$ . Under this metric,  $\mathcal{H}$  becomes a non-positive curved infinite dimensional symmetric space. The  $C^{1,1}$  geodesics with respect to this  $L^2$  metric are constructed by Chen [13].

**Theorem 2.1** (Chen [13]) Any two points in  $\mathcal{H}$  can be connected by a unique  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic and  $\mathcal{H}$  is a metric space.

#### **3** Space of Kähler Cone Metric

Let us detail now the concept of Kähler cone metric. Let

$$D = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (1 - \beta_i) V_i$$

be a normal crossing, effective smooth divisor of *X* with  $0 < \beta_i \le 1$  for  $1 \le i \le m$ , where  $V_i \subset X$  are irreducible smooth hypersurfaces. Set  $\beta := (\beta_1, ..., \beta_m)$  and call the  $\beta_i$ 's the *cone angles*.

**Definition 3.1** Given a point p in D, label a local chart  $(U_p, z^i)$  centered at p as *local cone chart* when  $z^1, \ldots, z^k$  are the local defining functions of the hypersurfaces where p locates. A *Kähler cone metric*  $\omega$  of cone angle  $2\pi\beta_i$  along  $V_i$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$ , is a closed positive (1, 1)-current and a smooth Kähler metric on the regular part  $M := X \setminus D$ . In a local cone chart  $U_p$  its Kähler form is quasi-isometric to the cone flat metric, which is

$$\omega_{cone} := \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i^2 |z^i|^{2(\beta_i - 1)} dz^i \wedge dz^{\bar{i}} + \sum_{k+1 \le j \le n} dz^j \wedge dz^{\bar{j}}.$$
 (3.1)

Let  $\mathcal{H}_{\beta}$  be the space of Kähler cone metrics of cone angle  $2\pi\beta_i$  along  $V_i$  in the cohomology class  $\Omega$ . An example of the Kähler cone metric in  $\mathcal{H}_{\beta}$  is constructed in Donaldson [20] as following. Let *s* be a global meromorphic section of [*D*]. Let *h* be an Hermitian metric on [*D*]. It is shown in [20] that, for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ ,

$$\omega = \omega_0 + \delta \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} |s_i|_{h_A}^{2\beta_i}$$
(3.2)

is a Kähler cone metric. Moreover,  $\omega$  is independent of the choices of  $\omega_0$ ,  $h_A$ ,  $\delta$  up to quasi-isometry. We call it model metric in this paper.

We denote  $\mathcal{H}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}$  be the space of  $C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}$   $\omega_0$ -psh-functions (see next section for details). In  $\mathcal{H}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}$ , we could also first define the  $L^2$  Riemannian metric like (2.1). The delicate part is to verify the integral is well-defined by the integration by part. Then we could compute the Levi–Civita connection and the geodesic equation.

$$\varphi'' - \left(\partial \varphi', \partial \varphi'\right)_{g_{\varphi}} = 0 \quad \text{on } M.$$
(3.3)

This part has been done in Calamai–Zheng [10].

Let  $R = [0, 1] \times S^1$  be a cylinder and let  $z^{n+1} = t + \sqrt{-1}y^{n+1}$  be the coordinate on *R*. We extend the functions on *X* to the product manifold  $X \times R$ ,

$$\varphi(z', z^{n+1}) = \varphi(z^1, \dots, z^n, t).$$

Let  $\pi$  be the natural projection form  $X \times R$  to X and  $\Omega_0$  and  $\Omega$  be the pulling-back metrics of  $\omega_0$  and  $\omega$  respectively. We also denote

$$\Psi = \varphi(z^1, \dots, z^n, z^{n+1}) - |z^{n+1}|^2.$$

Using the definition of the determinant, one could show that a path  $\varphi(t)$  with endpoints  $\varphi_0$ ,  $\varphi_1$  satisfies the geodesic equation (3.3) on X if and only if  $\Psi$  satisfies the following Dirichlet problem of a degenerate complex Monge–Ampère equation

$$\begin{cases} \det(\Omega_{i\bar{j}} + \Psi_{i\bar{j}}) = 0 & \text{in } M \times R, \\ \Psi(z) = \Psi_0 & \text{on } X \times \partial R, \\ \sum_{1 \le i, j \le n} (\Omega_{i\bar{j}} + \Psi_{i\bar{j}}) dz^i dz^{\bar{j}} > 0 & \text{in } X \times \{z^{n+1}\}. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4)$$

#### 4 Weighted Hölder Spaces

Let  $U_p$  a local cone chart as in Definition 3.1. Let  $W: U_p \setminus D \to U_p \setminus D$  be the quasi-isometric mapping given by

$$W(z^{1},...,z^{n}) := (w^{1} = |z^{1}|^{\beta_{1}-1}z^{1},...,w^{k} = |z^{k}|^{\beta_{k}-1}z^{k},z^{k+1},...,z^{n}).$$
(4.1)

We also denote

$$\varepsilon_{i} := dr_{i} + \sqrt{-1}\beta_{i}r_{i}d\theta_{i} = \beta_{i} |w^{i}|^{1-\mu_{i}} (w^{i})^{-1}dz^{i}$$
$$= \beta_{i} \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{\mu_{i}}{2} \right) |w^{i}| (w^{i})^{-1}dw^{i} + \frac{\mu_{i}}{2} |w^{i}|^{-1}w^{i}dw^{\overline{i}} \right]$$

and notice that it is not a holomorphic 1-form. The weighted Hölder spaces  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  is introduced in Donaldson [20]. We need more preparation before this space is defined. A function is said to be in  $C_{\beta}^{\alpha}$  if it is Hölder continuous with respect to a Kähler cone metric. While,  $C_{\beta,0}^{\alpha}$  denotes the subspace of  $C_{\beta}^{\alpha}$  for which the limit of functions is zero along each component  $V_i$  for any  $1 \le i \le m$ . The Hölder continuous (1, 0)-forms, in the local cone chart  $U_p$ , is of the shape

$$\xi = f_i \varepsilon_i + f_j dz^j, \tag{4.2}$$

where  $f_i \in C_0^{\alpha}$  and  $f_j \in C^{\alpha}$ . Meanwhile, a Hölder (1, 1)-form  $\eta$  in the local cone chart  $U_p$  is expressed as

$$\eta = f_{i_1 \bar{i_2}} \varepsilon_{i_1} \varepsilon_{\bar{i_2}} + f_{i_{\bar{j}}} \varepsilon_i dz^{\bar{j}} + f_{\bar{i}_{\bar{j}}} \varepsilon_{\bar{i}} dz^j + f_{j_1 \bar{j_2}} dz^{j_1} dz^{\bar{j_2}};$$
(4.3)

here the coefficients satisfy  $f_{i\bar{j}}, f_{\bar{i}j} \in C_0^{\alpha}$  and  $f_{i_1\bar{i}_2}, f_{j_1\bar{j}_2} \in C^{\alpha}$ .

**Definition 4.1** (Donaldson [20]) The Hölder space  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  is defined by

$$C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha} = \left\{ f \mid f, \, \partial f, \, \partial \bar{\partial} f \in C_{\beta}^{\alpha} \right\}$$

Note that the  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  space, since it concerns only the mixed derivatives, is different from the usual  $C^{2,\alpha}$  space. The definitions of the higher order space  $C_{\beta}^{k,\alpha}$  require the covariant derivatives of the background metrics which result in the restriction of the cone angle. In order to overcome this difficulty, in Calamai–Zheng [10], we choose the flat cone metric  $\omega_{cone}$  (3.1) to define  $C_{\beta}^{k,\alpha}$ . Notice that under the quasi-isometric mapping W,  $\partial \bar{\partial} f \in C_{\beta}^{\alpha}$  is equivalent to  $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial w^i \partial w^j} \in C^{\alpha}$  for any  $1 \le i, j \le n$  under the coordinate  $\{w^i\}$ . So a nature way define the third derivative of a function belongs to  $C_{\beta}^{\alpha}$  is to require

$$\frac{\partial^3}{\partial w^k \partial w^i \partial w^{\bar{j}}} f \in C^{\alpha}$$

for any  $1 \le i, j, k \le n$ . In particular,

**Definition 4.2** (Calamai–Zheng [10]) The Hölder space  $C^3$  is defined by

$$C_{\beta}^{3} = \{ f \mid f \in C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha} \text{ and the third derivative of } f \text{ w.r.t } \omega_{cone} \text{ is bounded} \}.$$

Following the same spirit, the higher order spaces are defined by induction on the index k.

In order to solve the geodesic equation (3.4), we need a weighted Hölder space on the whole product manifold  $\mathfrak{X} = X \times R$ . In the interior of  $\mathfrak{X}$ , we could define the same as the ones above. On the boundary of the product manifold, it is sufficient to defined a weighted Hölder space in the cone coordinates which contain the points of the divisor. We first note that the solution of geodesic equation is independent of the variable  $y^{n+1}$ , so the partial derivative on the variable  $x^{n+1}$  is the same to the one on the variable  $z^{n+1}$ . Next, the quasi-isometric mapping W is still well defined in  $U_p^+$  as follows,

$$W(z^1,\ldots,z^{n+1}) := (w^1 = |z^1|^{\beta_1-1}z^1,\ldots,w^k = |z^k|^{\beta_k-1}z^k,z^{k+1},\ldots,z^{n+1})$$

So we could define the Hölder space  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta}(U^+_p)$  to be the set of functions which are Hölder continuous under  $\{z^i\}_{i=1}^{n+1}$  with respect to a Kähler cone metric. Also,  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta,0}(U^+_p)$  denotes the subspace of those functions in  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta}(U^+_p)$  for which their limit is zero along  $V_i$  for any  $1 \le i \le m$ . The Hölder continuous (1, 0)-forms, in local boundary cone coordinates  $U^+_p$ , can be expressed as (4.2), in which the coefficients  $f_i \in C^{\alpha}_0(U^+_p)$  and  $f_j \in C^{\alpha}(U^+_p)$ . Meanwhile, a Hölder (1, 1)-form  $\eta$  in local boundary cone coordinates  $U^+_p$  is of the shape as (4.3) with the coefficients satisfying  $f_{i\bar{j}}, f_{\bar{i}j} \in C_0^{\alpha}(U_p^+)$  and  $f_{i_1\bar{i_2}}, f_{j_1\bar{j_2}} \in C^{\alpha}(U_p^+)$ . The Hölder space  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}(U_p^+)$  is parallelly defined by

$$C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}(U^+_p) = \{ f \mid f, \partial f, \partial \bar{\partial} f \in C^{\alpha}_{\beta}(U^+_p) \}.$$

Then we use the flat cone metric  $\omega_{cone}$  (3.1) to define the higher order space  $C_{\beta}^{k,\alpha}(U_p^+)$ . The boundary  $C_{\beta}^3$  space is defined in the same manner.

**Definition 4.3** (Calamai–Zheng [10]) The Hölder space  $C^3_\beta(U^+_p)$  is defined by

$$C^{3}_{\beta}(U^{+}_{p}) = \{ f \mid f \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}(U^{+}_{p}) \text{ and the 3nd derivative of } f \text{ w.r.t } \omega_{cone} \text{ is bounded} \}.$$

Thus the higher order spaces are also defined by induction on the index k in the same way.

#### **5** Geodesics with Cone Singularities

When the  $\omega_0$ -plurisubharmonic potentials of the geodesic equation are not smooth, which are merely bounded. The weak solution was constructed by Berndtsson.

**Theorem 5.1** (Berndtsson [3]) *Given two bounded*  $\omega_0$ *-plurisubharmonic potentials, there is a bounded geodesic connecting them.* 

The cone geodesic we construct in Calamai–Zheng [10] has more regularity across the divisor in a subspace  $\mathcal{H}_C$  (see the Definition 5.3 below) which still contains the critical metrics. The regularity of the cone geodesic across the divisor are not only important to prove the metric structure, but also to our further application on existence and uniqueness of cscK cone metrics.

We first explain the construct of the background metric and its geometric properties. Let  $\tilde{\Psi}_0 = t\varphi_1 + (1-t)\varphi_0$  be the linear combination of the two boundary potentials. After choosing a sufficient convex function  $\Phi$  which depends only on  $z^{n+1}$  and vanishing on the end point, we denote

$$\Psi_1 := \tilde{\Psi}_0 + m\Phi.$$

It is verified directly that the corresponding Kähler metric

$$\Omega_1 := \Omega + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n+1} \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \Psi_1$$

is a Kähler cone metric with the same cone angle to  $\Omega$  on the product manifold  $\mathfrak{X}$ . In general, the Kähler cone metrics do not have bounded geometry. The following estimates are computed in Calamai–Zheng [10]. Proposition 5.2 (Calamai–Zheng [10]) The following estimates hold.

- The connection of  $\omega$  is bounded for  $0 < \beta < \frac{2}{3}$  under the coordinate chart  $\{w^i\}$ . So is the connection of  $\Omega$ .
- When  $0 < \beta < \frac{2}{3}$  and  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in C^3_\beta$ , the connection of  $\Omega_1$  is bounded.
- Suppose that  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in C^3_\beta$  have curvature lower (upper) bound. Then  $\Omega_1$  has also curvature lower (resp. upper) bound.
- Suppose that  $0 < \beta < \frac{2}{3}$ ,  $\varphi_0, \varphi_1 \in C^3_\beta$  and their Ricci curvature have lower (upper) bound. Then the Ricci curvature of  $\Omega_1$  also has lower (resp. upper) bound.

**Definition 5.3** (Calamai–Zheng [10]) Assume *D* are disjoint smooth hypersurfaces and the cone angles  $\beta$  belong to the interval  $(0, \frac{1}{2})$ . Then, we denote as  $\mathcal{H}^3_\beta$  the space of  $C^3_\beta \omega_0$ -plurisubharmonic potentials. Moreover, we label as  $\mathcal{H}_C \subset \mathcal{H}^3_\beta$  one of the following spaces;

$$\mathfrak{I}_{1} = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\beta}^{3} \text{ such that } \sup Ric(\omega_{\varphi}) \text{ is bounded} \right\};$$
$$\mathfrak{I}_{2} = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\beta}^{3} \text{ such that } \inf Ric(\omega_{\varphi}) \text{ is bounded} \right\}.$$

In particular, when the cone angle is 1, i.e., the potentials are smooth. The geometric conditions of the endpoints of the geodesic which we require is the Ricci curvature. That improved Chen's theorem, where the uniform  $C^{1,1}$  norm of the geodesic depends on the lower bound of the bisectional curvature of the endpoints (c.f. [5, 13, 14]). This advantage makes  $\mathcal{H}_C$  contain more critical metrics with cone singularities. For example, the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics with cone angle less than  $\frac{1}{2}$  are included in  $\mathcal{H}_C$ . This is specified in the last section.

In general, we could approximate the geodesic equation (3.4) by replacing the right hand side by a function  $F(\epsilon)$  with a parameter  $\epsilon$  and  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} F(\epsilon) = 0$ . We denote

$$\tilde{\Psi} = \Psi - \Psi_1$$

In Calamai–Zheng [10], we considered the family of equations with parameter  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  as

$$\begin{cases} \det(\Omega_{1i\bar{j}} + \tilde{\Psi}_{i\bar{j}}) = \epsilon \cdot e^{a\tilde{\Psi}} \det(\Omega_{1i\bar{j}}) & \text{in } \mathfrak{M}, \\ \tilde{\Psi}(z) = 0 & \text{on } \partial \mathfrak{X}. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

We solved the approximation equation (5.1) with the boundary potentials in  $\mathcal{H}_C$ . In the following proposition we still use the particular family considered by Chen [13] with a = 0.

**Proposition 5.4** (Calamai–Zheng [10]) Let  $\mathcal{H}_C \subset \mathcal{H}_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  be as in Definition 5.3. Also, let  $C_i := \varphi_i(s) : [0, 1] \to \mathcal{H}_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$ , for i = 1, 2, be two smooth curves. Then, for a small enough  $\epsilon_0$ , there is a two-parameter family of curves

$$C(s,\epsilon): \varphi(t,s,\epsilon): [0,1] \times [0,1] \times (0,\epsilon_0] \to \mathcal{H}$$

such that the following properties hold:

- 1. Fixed  $s, \epsilon$ , then  $C(s, \epsilon) \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}$  is an  $\epsilon$ -approximate geodesic from  $\varphi_1(s)$  to  $\varphi_2(s)$ .
- 2. There exists a uniform constant C such that

$$|\varphi| + \left|\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t}\right| + \left|\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial s}\right| < C; \qquad 0 \le \frac{\partial^2\varphi}{\partial t^2} < C; \qquad \frac{\partial^2\varphi}{\partial s^2} < C$$

- 3. Fixed any *s*, the limit in  $C_{\beta}^{1,1}$  of  $C(s, \epsilon)$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$  is the unique geodesic arc from  $\varphi_1(s)$  to  $\varphi_2(s)$ .
- 4. There exists an uniform constant C such that, about the energy  $E(t, s, \epsilon)$  along the curve  $C(s, \epsilon)$ , there holds

$$\sup_{t,s} \left| \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} \right| \leq \epsilon \cdot C \cdot Vol.$$

In which, E is the energy defined by  $E := \int_0^1 \int_M |\varphi'(t)|^2 \omega_{\varphi(t)}^n dt$ .

**Theorem 5.5** (Calamai–Zheng [10]) Any two Kähler cone metrics in  $\mathcal{H}_C$  are connected by a unique  $C_{\beta}^{1,1}$  cone geodesic. More precisely, it is the limit under the  $C_{\beta}^{1,1}$ -norm by a sequence of  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  approximate geodesics.

As an application, we prove the following structure theorem of  $\mathcal{H}_C$ .

**Theorem 5.6** (Calamai–Zheng [10])  $\mathcal{H}_C$  is a metric space.

#### 6 Uniqueness of the cscK Metrics with Cone Singularities

In the smooth situation, Calabi [7] first proved the uniqueness of the Kähler–Einstein metrics when  $C_1(X) < 0$  or = 0. When  $C_1(X) > 0$ , Bando–Mabuchi [1] proved that the Kähler–Einstein metrics are unique up to holomorphic diffeomorphisms.

On Fano manifold, a generalization of the Kähler–Einstein metric is the Kähler– Ricci soliton. A Kähler metric  $\omega$  is called Kähler–Ricci soliton, if there is a holomorphic vector field X such that

$$L_X \omega = Ric - \omega. \tag{6.1}$$

Bando–Mabuchi's method was generalized to prove the uniqueness of Kähler–Ricci soliton.

**Theorem 6.1** (Tian–Zhu [26]) If  $(\omega, X)$  and  $(\omega', X')$  are two Kähler–Ricci solitons, then there is a holomorphic transformation group  $\sigma \in Aut_0(M)$  such that  $\omega = \sigma^* \omega'$  and  $X = \sigma_*^{-1} X'$ .

In a general Kähler class, the (modified) *K*-energy plays an important role. It is discovered in Donaldson [17] that if there is a smooth geodesic between two extremal Kähler metrics, the convexity of the modified *K*-energy along this geodesic implies the uniqueness of the extremal Kähler metrics. Chen's  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic is not enough for the computation of the convexity of the modified *K*-energy. After improving the partial regularity of the  $C^{1,1}$  geodesic, Chen–Tian [11] prove the uniqueness of the extremal metric.

**Theorem 6.2** (Chen–Tian [11]) There is at most one extremal Kähler metric with Kähler class  $\Omega$  modulo holomorphic transformations. Namely, if  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  are two extremal Kähler metrics with the same Kähler class, then there is a holomorphic transformation  $\sigma$  such that  $\omega_1 = \sigma^* \omega_2$ .

Now we turn to the Kähler cone metrics. A Kähler–Einstein cone metric is defined to be a Kähler cone metric which satisfies

$$Ric(\omega) = \lambda \omega + 2\pi [D],$$

for a real number  $\lambda$ . In which, [D] is the current defined by the divisor D. Let  $L_D$  be the associated line bundle of D. The necessary topological condition is

$$2\pi\lambda (C_1(X) - C_1(L_D)) > 0.$$

When  $\lambda < 0$ , the uniqueness of the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics are proved by Jeffres [21] by using the maximum principle for the Kähler cone metrics.

In the canonical Kähler class, Ding [16] defined a functional which is the Euler– Lagrangian function of the Kähler–Einstein equation. Compared with the *K*-energy, the Ding functional requires less regularity of the Kähler potentials. Moreover, Berndtsson [4] observed that the Ding functional is convex along the bounded geodesic. This is used to prove the uniqueness of twisted Kähler–Einstein metrics including the Kähler–Ricci solitons (Theorem 6.1) and also the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics. Berndtsson's method was further generalized to Kähler–Einstein metrics on a *Q*-Fano variety with log terminal singularities in Berman–Boucksom– Eyssidieux–Guedj–Zeriahi [2].

Generally, the uniqueness of the cscK cone metrics is not well understood yet. We considered this problem by using the convexity of the *K*-energy of the Kähler cone metrics. So we constructed the geodesic segment with cone singularities and applied it to obtain the uniqueness of the cscK cone metrics. From the following definition of the cscK cone metrics, we see that the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics are also included. Unaware of Berndtsson's method, we developed the cone geodesic to study the uniqueness problem of the Kähler–Einstein cone metrics. However, it would be more interesting to understand how to apply Berndtsson's method to the cscK cone metrics. Now we explain a natural definition of the cscK metrics with cone singularities and apply our cone geodesic to obtain a uniqueness theorem.

**Definition 6.3** A Kähler cone metric in  $\mathcal{H}_{\beta}$  is called a cscK metric with cone angle  $2\pi\beta$  if its scalar curvature  $S(\omega) = const$  outside *D*.

The constant appearing in the definition could be computed explicitly and depends on the Kähler class and the divisor, i.e.

$$\underline{S}_{\beta} = \underline{S} - \frac{Vol(D)}{Vol(X)}.$$

The Futaki invariant and the *K*-energy for the Kähler cone metrics were both introduced in Donaldson [20]. Assume *X* carries a circle action. Let *H* be the Hamiltonian of the circle action and *D* is invariant under the circle action. The Futaki invariant for the Kähler cone metrics is defined to be

$$Fut(X, D) = Fut(X) + \int_D H\omega^{n-1} - \frac{Vol(D)}{Vol(X)} \int_X H\omega^n.$$

While, the corresponding K-energy is its integral

$$\nu(\varphi) = E_{\omega}(\varphi) + \underline{S}_{\beta} \cdot D_{\omega}(\varphi) + j_{\omega}(\varphi) + \frac{n}{V} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{D} \dot{\varphi} \omega_{\varphi}^{n-1} dt$$

Here we use the decomposition formulae of the K-energy, which was discovered in [12, 25] in smooth case. In which, the first functional is the entropy of the Kähler metrics

$$E_{\omega}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} \log \frac{\omega_{\varphi}^{n}}{\omega^{n}} \omega_{\varphi}^{n}.$$

Recall Aubin's J-functional

$$J_{\omega}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{V} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{i+1}{n+1} \int_{X} \partial \varphi \wedge \bar{\partial} \varphi \wedge \omega^{i} \wedge \omega_{\varphi}^{n-1-i}.$$

Then the second term is the Lagrangian functional of the Monge–Ampère operator which was defined in Ding [16],

$$D_{\omega}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} \varphi \omega^{n} - J_{\omega}(\varphi)$$

The third term is the *j*-functional given by

$$j_{\omega}(\varphi) = -\frac{1}{V} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{n!}{(i+1)!(n-i-1)!} \int_{X} \varphi Ric(\omega) \wedge \omega^{n-1-i} \wedge \left(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \varphi\right)^{i}.$$

The appropriate asymptotic behavior of the Kähler cone metrics is required to make all these formulas well-defined. In particular, we could choose  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\beta}^{1,1}$  with appropriate  $Ric(\omega)$ . Meanwhile, when applying our cone geodesic, we also need to specify the appropriate asymptotic behavior of the ending points of the cone geodesic. This is our space  $\mathcal{H}_C$ . Here we restrict ourself to a special situation in order to illustrate the mechanism. **Theorem 6.4** Suppose that the divisor is disjoint smooth hypersurfaces and the cone angle stay in  $(0, \frac{1}{2})$ . When  $C_1(X) = C_1(L_D)$ , the  $C_{\beta}^{\alpha}$  cscK cone metrics (if exist) is unique.

*Proof* The proof is divided into five steps.

Step 1: We first need to prove the asymptotic behavior of the  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta}$  cscK cone metrics. We decompose the equation of the cscK cone metrics into a second order system,

$$\begin{cases} \det \omega_{\varphi} = e^{P} \det \omega, \\ \\ \triangle_{\varphi} P = g_{\varphi}^{i\bar{j}} R_{i\bar{j}}(\omega) - \underline{S}_{\beta} \end{cases}$$

From the second equation, applying Donaldson's Schauder estimate (Theorem 1 in [20]), we obtain that *P* belongs to  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$ . Then we use the first equation to prove that  $\varphi \in C_{\beta}^{3,\alpha}$  and have bounded Riemannian curvature, then thus it lies in  $\mathcal{H}_C$ . The proof follows close to the argument in Brendle [6]. The estimate of the tangent direction holds by differentiating the first equation directly and using Theorem 1 in [20] repeatedly. The estimate along the normal direction follows from differentiating the equation in this direction and using the tangent estimates.

Step 2: Assume that  $\varphi_0$  and  $\varphi_1$  are two  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  cscK cone potentials. According to the Step 1, we apply Theorem 5.5 and connect them by our cone geodesic. Thus we have a family of the  $C_{\beta}^{2,\alpha}$  approximation geodesic from Lemma 5.4. We also need to know the asymptotic behavior of this approximation geodesic. That is used in the computation of the convexity of the *K*-energy in the next step. Recall the approximation equation

$$\begin{cases} \det(\Omega_{1i\bar{j}} + \tilde{\Psi}_{i\bar{j}}) = \epsilon \det(\Omega_{1i\bar{j}}) & \text{in } \mathfrak{M}, \\ \tilde{\Psi}(z) = 0 & \text{on } \partial \mathfrak{X}. \end{cases}$$

The proof of the asymptotic behavior in the interior of  $X \times R$  follows the same line to the first equation in Step 1. The boundary asymptotic behavior need Proposition 5.18 from Calamai–Zheng [10].

Step 3: According to Brendle [6], there exists a Ricci flat Kähler cone metrics when *D* is disjoint smooth and  $0 < \beta < \frac{1}{2}$ . Choose  $h_{i\bar{j}}$  be the Ricci flat Kähler cone metric, so from its equation

$$Ric(h) = [D]$$

we simplify the third term  $j_{\omega}(\varphi) = -\frac{n}{V} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{D} \dot{\varphi} \omega_{\varphi}^{n-1} dt$  which cancels the last term in the formula of the *K*-energy. With the asymptotic behavior in the second step, using a lemma of the integration by part (Lemma 2.1 in Calamai–Zheng [10]), we could write down the second derivative of the *K*-energy along the approximation geodesic.

$$\nu'' = \int_X \left| \mathcal{D}\varphi' \right|^2 \omega_{\varphi}^n - \int_X S(\varphi'' - \left| \partial \varphi' \right|^2) \omega_{\varphi}^n + \frac{\underline{S}_{\beta}}{V} \int_X (\varphi'' - \left| \partial \varphi' \right|^2) \omega_{\varphi}^n.$$
Here the operator  $\mathcal{D}$  is defined by  $\mathcal{D}u = u_{,ij}$  in the local holomorphic coordinate. Step 4: Let  $f = \varphi'' - |\partial \varphi'|^2$ , the second term becomes by integration by part

$$\int_X \left( |\partial \log f|^2 - g^{i\bar{j}} Ric(h)_{i\bar{j}} \right) f \, \omega_{\varphi}^n.$$

Since  $h_{i\bar{j}}$  is the Ricci flat Kähler cone metric, so the second term vanishes as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Then integrating along the geodesic, using the fact that the end points of the cone geodesic are cscK cone metrics and taking  $\epsilon \to 0$ , we arrive at

$$\int_0^1 \int_X \left( \left| \mathcal{D}\varphi' \right|^2 + \left| \partial f \right|^2 f^{-1} \right) \omega_\varphi^n dt = 0.$$

That implies that  $g_{\varphi}^{i\bar{j}}\partial_{\bar{j}}\varphi'\partial_i$  is a holomorphic vector field on *M*. We remark that the local formula of  $\mathcal{D}$  involves the gradient of the  $g_{\varphi}$  which is bounded w.r.t itself by Step 2.

Step 5: We need to prove when  $C_1(X) = C_1(L_D)$ , there exists only trivial holomorphic vector field. We first choose a  $\epsilon$ -neighborhood  $D_{\epsilon}$  of D and let  $M_{\epsilon} = X \setminus D_{\epsilon}$ . On  $M_{\epsilon}$ , we have the Ricci identity,

$$\varphi'_{ij\bar{i}} = \varphi'_{i\bar{i}j} + R(h)_{j\bar{i}}\varphi'_i.$$

Since *h* is a Ricci flat Kähler cone metric, the second term on the right hand side vanishes. Multiplying the both sides of the formula above with  $\varphi'_{\overline{j}}$ , we have by integration by part

$$-\int_{M_{\epsilon}}\left|\varphi_{ij}'\right|^{2}+\int_{\partial M_{\epsilon}}\varphi_{ij}'\varphi_{\bar{j}}'=-\int_{M_{\epsilon}}\left|\varphi_{i\bar{j}}'\right|^{2}+\int_{\partial M_{\epsilon}}\varphi_{i\bar{i}}'\varphi_{\bar{j}}'.$$

Then from Step 2, we have  $\varphi' \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}$ , therefore, both the boundary terms vanish when  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Furthermore, from Step 4, the first term on the left hand side also vanishes. This forces  $\varphi'$  to be zero.

Acknowledgement The author would like to thank Professor Alexander Schmitt and the organizers of International ISAAC Congress for their invitation and hospitality.

### References

- S. Bando, T. Mabuchi, Uniqueness of Einstein Kähler metrics modulo connected group actions, in *Algebraic Geometry, Sendai, 1985*. Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 10 (North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987), pp. 11–40
- R.J. Berman, S. Boucksom, P. Eyssidieux, V. Guedj, A. Zeriahi, Kähler–Einstein metrics and the Kähler–Ricci flow on log Fano varieties, vol. 11 (2011). arXiv:1111.7158v2
- 3. B. Berndtsson, Curvature of vector bundles associated to holomorphic fibrations. Ann. Math. **169**(2), 531–560 (2009)

- B. Berndtsson, A Brunn–Minkowski type inequality for Fano manifolds and the Bando– Mabuchi uniqueness theorem, vol. 03 (2011). arXiv:1103.0923
- 5. Z. Blocki, On geodesics in the space of Kähler metrics, in *Advances in Geometric Analysis*. Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), vol. 21 (International Press, Somerville, 2012), pp. 3–19
- S. Brendle, Ricci flat K\u00e4hler metrics with edge singularities. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2013(24), 5727–5766
- 7. E. Calabi, The variation of Kähler metrics ii. a minimum problem, in *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc* (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1954), p. 168
- E. Calabi, Extremal K\u00e4hler metrics, in Seminar on Differential Geometry. Ann. of Math. Stud., vol. 102 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1982), pp. 259–290
- 9. E. Calabi, Extremal Kähler metrics. II, in *Differential Geometry and Complex Analysis* (Springer, Berlin, 1985), pp. 95–114
- S. Calamai, K. Zheng, Geodesics in the space of Kähler cone metrics, vol. 05 (2012). arXiv: 1205.0056v4
- X. Chen, G. Tian, Geometry of Kähler metrics and foliations by holomorphic discs. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 107, 1–107 (2008)
- X. Chen, On the lower bound of the Mabuchi energy and its application. Int. Math. Res. Not. 12, 607–623 (2000)
- 13. X. Chen, The space of Kähler metrics. J. Differ. Geom. 56(2), 189-234 (2000)
- X. Chen, Space of Kähler metrics. III. On the lower bound of the Calabi energy and geodesic distance. Invent. Math. 175(3), 453–503 (2009)
- T. Darvas, L. Lempert, Weak geodesics in the space of Kähler metrics. Math. Res. Lett. 19(5), 1127–1135 (2012)
- W.Y. Ding, Remarks on the existence problem of positive Kähler–Einstein metrics. Math. Ann. 282(3), 463–471 (1988)
- S. Donaldson, Symmetric spaces, K\u00e4hler geometry and Hamiltonian dynamics, in *Northern California Symplectic Geometry Seminar*. Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 196 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1999), pp. 13–33
- S. Donaldson, Holomorphic discs and the complex Monge–Ampère equation. J. Symplectic Geom. 1(2), 171–196 (2002)
- 19. S. Donaldson, Discussion of the Kähler–Einstein problem (2009)
- S. Donaldson, K\u00e4hler metrics with cone singularities along a divisor, in *Essays in Mathematics* and Its Applications (Springer, Heidelberg, 2012), pp. 49–79
- 21. T.D. Jeffres, Uniqueness of Kähler–Einstein cone metrics. Publ. Mat. 44(2), 437–448 (2000)
- L. Lempert, L. Vivas, Geodesics in the space of Kähler metrics. Duke Math. J. 162(7), 1369– 1381 (2013)
- M. Toshiki, Some symplectic geometry on compact Kähler manifolds. I. Osaka J. Math. 24(2), 227–252 (1987)
- S. Semmes, Complex Monge–Ampère and symplectic manifolds. Am. J. Math. 114(3), 495– 550 (1992)
- 25. G. Tian, *Canonical Metrics in Kähler Geometry*. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich. (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000). Notes taken by Meike Akveld
- G. Tian, X. Zhu, A new holomorphic invariant and uniqueness of Kähler–Ricci solitons. Comment. Math. Helv. 77(2), 297–325 (2002)

# Part VII Didactics and Education

Organizers: Ewa Swoboda, Vladimir Mityushev

## **Teaching of Mathematics in Vocational Schools Upon 1951 Reorganisation**

Ryszard Ślęczka

**Abstract** The radical reform in 1951 of organisation and policy in the vocational schooling in Poland is analyzed. The conclusive points for such a deep transformation of the vocational schooling were political and economical reasons discussed in the paper.

The radical reform of organisation and policy in the vocational schooling in Poland was conducted in 1951. It was prepared and carried out by Central Department of Professional Training which had been established in 1949. Solutions assumed in that time outlasted almost half a century, until the early nineties.<sup>1</sup> The conclusive points for such a deep transformation of the vocational schooling were political and economical reasons. Deep changes in many realms of life started when Polish Labour Party and Polish Socialist Party took over power in 1948. In the vocational schooling pre-war organisational structure, i.e. continuation and elementary schools (lower schools, professional junior high schools and professional secondary schools) and professional training schools, was abandoned. The new organisation included only three types of schools: six-month professional training schools, two-year elementary vocational schools and mostly three-year vocational technical colleges.<sup>2</sup> New solution was to base qualified workers education (elementary vocational schools) and technicians (vocational technical colleges) on programme fundamentals of sevenyear primary school. Dynamical industrial development and new industry branches extorted shortening of the education cycle for the period between six months and three years. It was a time of great demand for high qualified employees. Professional education, by preparing adequate staff, was supposed to play significant role

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Polish vocational schooling based on two acts: *Statute on Education System* of 7th of September 1991 (Journal of Laws of the Republic of Poland 1991, No. 95, Ref. 425) and *Regulations Introducing School System Reform* of 08/01/1991 (Journal of Laws of the Republic of Poland 1999, No. 12, Ref. 96).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Resolution of the Government Presiding Board of 23rd of June 1951 On Vocational Schooling System (Official Journal of the Republic of Poland 1951, No. A-59, Ref. 776).

R. Ślęczka (🖂)

Pedagogical Department, Pedagogical University, ul. Podchorazych 2, Krakow 30-084, Poland e-mail: ryszardsleczka@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_45

No.	Subjects	Weeks		Total number of hours
		1-14	15-27	
		Number of hours		
1.	Practicals	32	40	968
2.	Information on Production	8	4	164
3.	Study on Poland	2	2	54
4.	Polish Language	4	2	82
5.	Physical Education	2	0	28
6.	Total	48	48	1296
7.	Optionally			
8.	Sports	2	2	54

**Table 1** One year learning plan in the 6.5-month professional training school. Source: Appendixto the President of the Central Department of Professional Training of 25th of February 1952 [in:]Zbiór przepisów prawnych, p. 223

in industrialisation of the country, modernisation of agriculture and communication system building.

Discussion on other vocational schooling solutions, especially on its programmes, started however much earlier. Ministry of Education and 3rd Department of Vocational Schooling started working on the new form of vocational school organisation in March 1945. Their proposals assumed creating of a common programme and organisation base for all schools in order to provide unobstructed system of professional education. The Section for the Vocational Schools of Polish Teaching Society took significant part in a discussion on the future of the vocational schooling as well. The opinions of its members were diversified: some of them were for existent solutions, while the group with Jerzy Witkowski considered that the necessary solution was to establish three-year elementary vocational schools for all comprehensive school graduates. The conclusions of The Comission for the Vocational Schools in the frame of The Polish Education Convention in March 1945 in Łódź were of the most importance for the future of Polish vocational schooling. The Comission proposed organisational and programme unification of eight-class elementary school for the three-, four-, and five-year vocational schools which were supposed to prepare pupils to the future employment and enable them to learn in higher schools. The vocational schooling network basing on such standards was expected to take into consideration industrial and craft development needs as well as to facilitate each pupil to change the course of their education.<sup>3</sup>

In the professional training schools teaching plan subjects as: Practicals, Information on Production, Study on Poland, Polish Language, Physical Education and optionally Sports were introduced (see Tables 1 and 2).<sup>4</sup> In these plans mathematics

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Polish Education Convention, Łódź, 18th–22nd of June 1945, Warsaw 1945, pp. 173–195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Appendix to the President of the Central Department of Professional Training of 25th of February 1952 [in:] Zbiór przepisów prawnych obowiązujących w szkolnictwie zawodowym w zakre-

Subjects	Classes		Total	Total	
	Ι	II			
A. Practicals	18	21	39		
B. Professional and supporting				_	
Professional Technology	3	4	7	_	
Study on Material	2	0	2	_	
Professional Design	2	2	4		
Physics	2	2	4	_	
Mathematics	4	2	6	_	
Total B	13	10	23		
C. Comprehensive				_	
Polish Language	3	3	6		
Study on Poland and Contemporary World	2	2	4		
Russian Language	2	2	4		
Physical Education	2	2	4		
Total C	9	9	18		
D. Religious Study	1	1	2		
Total	41	41	82		

 Table 2
 Frame teaching plan for elementary vocational schools. Source: C. Siwiński, Zmiany strukturalno-organizacyjne w szkolnictwie zawodowym PRL, p. 107

as a distinct subject was not taken into account. Elementary mathematical contents related with physics, chemistry, geography and natural science were introduced in the frame of Information on Production.

For the elementary vocational school unified frame teaching plans were prepared at the beginning of 1952. It was considered as a model while creating teaching plans for various professional courses and specializations.<sup>5</sup> All of the subjects were divided into three groups: practicals, professional and supporting subjects and comprehensive subjects. Religious study was an optional subject.

In the frame teaching plan for elementary vocational schools 39 hours were devoted to practicals. Professional and supporting subjects, among which there was mathematics, were taught for 23 hours. It was presumed that 4 hours in the first and 2 in the second class would be sufficient. It is worth to emphasize that professional and supporting subjects were free of propaganda content according to practical and utilitary principles, as knowledge gained during the lesson was supposed to be used by performing some production assignments. The aim of teaching mathematics was

sie organizacji i administracji szkolnictwa zawodowego, organizacji wychowania i nauczania w szkolnictwie zawodowym oraz stosunków służbowych nauczycieli, J. Wójcie (ed.), Warszawa 1953, p. 223.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>C. Siwiński, Zmiany strukturalno-organizacyjne w szkolnictwie zawodowym PRL, Poznań 1981, p. 107.

to broaden and deepen information gained in primary school. Integers, decimal fractions, proportions, percentage, involutions, fractions and equations were taught. Depending on the teaching profile, mathematics was deliberately oriented. In economic schools the greatest attention was paid to proficient counting, addition, subtracting and the simple mathematics operations as well as cash register accounting, striking a day-, month- and year-balance. An integral part of mathematics was geometry with information on lines, triangles, squares, rectangles and figures. Accountancy exercises on calculating of figures area were also important part of teaching.<sup>6</sup>

New programmes and teaching plans for the technical colleges were introduced in the school year 1951/1952. In the teaching plans, in the elementary vocational schools likewise, all subjects were divided into three groups: professional and supporting subjects, comprehensive and optional subjects. In those schools the programme basis were professional and supporting subjects which had the crucial influence on the type of education. In economical technical colleges for instance such subjects were as follows: trade organisation and technique, commodity competence, planning, accountancy, political economy, construction organisation and economics, legal aspects of building industry. In this group of subjects, apart from Russian language, chemistry and physics, mathematics was also mentioned.<sup>7</sup> The fact that mathematics did not belong to the group of comprehensive subjects led in effect to the lowering of its meaning in the whole process of education in the technical colleges of different profiles and specialisations. The numbers of teaching hours of this subject was also diversified, for instance in the technical colleges there were 15 hours total per week and construction schools—18 hours total per week. Transferring mathematics from one group of subjects to another was also a common practice. In the teaching plans for the technical colleges for example mathematics belonged to the group of supporting, not professional subjects. Mathematics, the other teaching subjects alike, was strongly embedded in current social and political issues. Its role was to provide pupils with knowledge and skills which would allow them to understand organisation and techniques of work in an enterprise as well as to recognize modern industrial technologies. Mathematics content, as an universal matter, played a significant role during qualifying exams, as they allowed to verify various knowledge.

Analysis of the vocational schools teaching plans and programmes from 1951 to 1955 shows that mathematics was not included to the main teaching subjects at that time.<sup>8</sup> In the elementary vocational schools teaching was concentrated on practical skills. It emerged from the development of specialisation of production and diversification of production plants. For that reason education should have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Instruction on applying of the teaching hours plans and programmes in elementary vocational schools in the school year 1952/53, No. VIII PT, 4062/52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Schedule No. 445 from 1951, submitted and introduced by the Central Department of Professional Training.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Conclusions based on analysis of the vocational schools teaching programmes and plans from 1951 to 1955.

strongly connected with narrow professional specialisation and oriented to practical knowledge. The principle of unobstructed education system which could have been supported by mathematics teaching however was forgotten. Similar situation was observed in the technical colleges. Teaching content was connected with social, political and economical reality. Great importance was attached to the detailed assignments which led new profiles and professional specialisations come into being. A number of the new teaching subjects was singled out and mathematics role was being decreased. In the teaching plans of different specialisations there were over thirty subjects. The professional profile of the graduate was more important than their education. In the technical colleges where the medium level technical staff was educated, mathematics had lower importance in the process of education. Great attention was paid to the professional subjects and practical training necessary for work in the fields of industry, trade and services, according to the education profile. The aim of technical college education in that period was not to prepare to academic level study but to precipitate education of the medium technical supervising staff according to the current economical needs.

## Arithmetic in Polish Parish Schools in the Period of the Commission of National Education

Ryszard Ślęczka and Jan Ryś

**Abstract** The paper is devoted to historical description and analysis of the Polish primers in 16th–18th centuries and arithmetic in Polish primers until 1795. Conceptions of various schools and famous educators are discussed.

## 1 Introduction

The purpose of school education and preparation of the pupil acknowledged by the Commission of National Education was so as to he was well and was well with him. Education was about to make the ward happy and useful for others. This could be done through practical preparation for life and by providing knowledge appropriate for each state. It could not therefore lack in school teaching mathematical and natural sciences among which mathematics was in the first place. Members of the Commission of Education unanimously emphasized that learning this subject is needed at all levels of education, due to its usability and capacity of developing reasoning. Everyone agreed that it must be taught in a way so that the theory is closely associated with the practice. The Commission paid particular attention to the study of mathematics in secondary schools for which special textbook was developed. The subject was not neglected in parochial schools either where it was taught as arithmetic. This was reflected in the legislation of the Commission of National Education. The problem of teaching arithmetic was already widely reflected in the Teacher's duties of G. Piramowicz which became the official guide for parochial school teachers. Piramowicz advised teachers of arithmetic to start reckoning from things belonging to senses and express it in signs afterwards. He was supposed to use examples taken from rural or urban life. Studies should be conducted systematically and thoroughly. The teacher should not move to the new party of material if students have not mastered the current material. Teaching should avoid formalism and should be done in a manner so that the student comprehends in *rational* 

J. Ryś e-mail: ryslen@up.krakow.pl

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

R. Ślęczka (⊠) · J. Ryś

Pedagogical Department, Pedagogical University, ul. Podchorazych 2, Krakow 30-084, Poland e-mail: ryszardsleczka@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_46

*way* and *notices the relationship between one truth and another*. He also warned a teacher against ambitions and desire to teach mathematics at a higher level than is intended for parochial schools.<sup>1</sup> The second document regulating the teaching of arithmetic in the parish schools were *Acts* of the Commission from 1783.<sup>2</sup> Chapter XXII contains a record that the programs of parochial schools should include *accounts, introduction to the sizes with the information on measures, weights and coins*.

Acts of Commission officially carried into effect what had already been practised in the Polish school. That included teaching arithmetic at the elementary level. Its scope and methodological solutions found place in Primer for the national parochial schools (1775) based on which we will present the substantive scope of teaching this subject and methodological solutions which were applied in it.

### 2 Polish Primers 16th–18th Century

Documented origins of Polish primers date back to the end of the first half of the 16th century. Several prints containing teaching reading have survived from this period which however does not exclude the possibility of existence the earlier period works of similar content. The first preserved Polish "primer" is considered to be the work of the Lutheran theologian John Seklucjan *Catechism is the finest teaching and necessary for salvation about the Christian faith* released in Königsberg in 1547. The title itself suggests that little work of Seklucjan was used to study the truths of faith and at the occasion reading as well to which the author devoted a few cards only. In the next edition of the Catechism already in the title there was a reference to the attached guidance on reading which indicates that the purpose of his was twofold.<sup>3</sup> Seklucjan joined these hints to his works of theological content in order to propagate the art of reading at least among his co-religionists.<sup>4</sup> Relatively late information about primers we get from the center of Polish science and education which in the 16th century was Krakow. However there are reasonable suspicions that such prints could have come out here in the early 16th century.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>G. Piramowicz, *Duties of the teacher in parish schools and methods of their completion. /in:/G. Piramowicz. Duties of the teacher and selection of speeches and letters*, coll. and introduction K. Mrozowska, Wrocław 1959, 77–78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Acts of the Commission of National Education written for academic state and for schools in Polish Republic, /in:/Commission of National Education (Commission writings and about the Commission) coll. S. Tync, Wrocław 1954, 700.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>J. Seklucjan, Catechismus..., Who needs short Writing and Reading course, Königsberg 1549.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>J. Seklucjan, *First Part of the New Testament*, Königsberg 1551; J. Seklucjan, *New Testament Complete*, Königsberg 1553; J. Seklucjan, *Holy Gospel of Jesus Christ according to Saint Matthew*, Königsberg 1555.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>J. Pirożyński, About Poznan's printer Peter Sextilis of Oborzyck and Polish primers from 16th century, Historical Studies, XXVIII, nr 1, 8.

Noteworthy is the fact that in 1549 Hungarian<sup>6</sup> primer was released in Krakow. In 1550 Polish-Latin Primer appeared preserved unfortunately only in a few cards likewise Short learning towards reading Polish handwriting released at about the same time. Primer entirely preserved to our times entitled *Teaching toddlers how to* read Polish handwriting was released in Poznan in 1556.<sup>7</sup> It is small because only a four-page little book containing patterns of different typeface. Noteworthy is the primer of Krakow's printer and publisher Maciej Wirzbięta which was issued in his own print shop.<sup>8</sup> This bilingual primer was also used for religious education as evidenced by its extensive part of the catechism. The last Polish primer from the 16th century is Learning to reading published in Lviv with some interesting woodcuts of the content of the Bible.<sup>9</sup> The same content and layout has a primer released at the beginning of the 17th century in Krakow. It is however more diligent and graphically more elaborated.<sup>10</sup> The 17th century also brought several Polish–German primers.<sup>11</sup> Also Vilnius<sup>12</sup> got its first primer and interestingly appeared a primer for girls which unfortunately has not survived to our times.<sup>13</sup> The turning point in the history of education was the appearance of the work of J.A. Komeński JanuaLinguarumreserata and Orbissensualiumpictus.<sup>14</sup> These works as well as minor part of his writings had a great influence on the development of European teaching.<sup>15</sup>

In the first half of the 18th century primers were pressed in Poland only ten times. The most common primer was at that time *Elementapuerilis* issued four times.<sup>16</sup> This manual was used to teach reading in Polish and Latin. In the second half of this century, there are also bilingual Polish–German and Polish–French primers.<sup>17</sup> The most perfect work in the history of Polish primers to the end of the 18th cen-

<sup>12</sup>For little children teaching Polish writing, Wilno 1633.

<sup>13</sup>Studies to read Polish writing for young girls, Kraków 1657.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>F. Pilarczyk, *Elementarze polskie od ich XVI—wiecznych początków do II wojny światowej*, Zielona Góra 2003, s. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See. J. Pirożyński, op. cit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>M. Wirzbięta, *Elementaria institutio latini sermonis et pietatis Christianae*, Cracoviae 1575.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Learning reading Polish writing with figures. Are applied devotional prayers and psalms, Lviv 1599.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>For little children teaching Polish writing, Kraków 1611.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>P. Glodius, Catechism is a summa of Christian faith shortly in German and Polish collected for the exercise of young children, Wrocław 1605, 167, 1615.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Works of Komeński were printed very often. The first edition of Janua... was in Leszno in 1631. During Komeński lifetime it was issued approximately 100 times similarly as *Orbissensualium*..., first edition in Nuremberg in 1658.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See. Last edition: A. Fijałkowski, *Tradition and novelty in Orbissensualiumpictus of Jan Amos Komeński*, Warszawa 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Elementa puerilis institutionis oluribus in locis reformata piisque orationibus Ac doctrina Christiana recenteraucta, Cracoviae 1713.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>New book to syllabify and read in Polish and German. NeuesBuchstabier Und Lesebuchleinpolnischunddeutsch. Warszawa 1770; New book to syllabify and read in Polish and French, Warszawa 1770.

tury was already mentioned *Primer for the national parochial schools* containing: *I Teaching reading and writing; II Catechism; III Citizen Science; IV Teaching accounts*, Kraków 1875. Work was created under the patronage and at the request of the Commission of National Education. To the end of the Republic had eight releases. It was collective elaboration in which the teaching of reading expounded Onufry Kopczyński, Andrze Gawroński expounded bills, and the other two parts were the work of Gregory Piramowicz. On the background of contemporary teaching it was the work at European level.

One of the most entertaining elaborations from the end of the period which interests us should be mentioned the work of F. Paprocki, *Primer for male laid in a new useful way* (Łowicz 1777). The author, a follower of physiocratism, posted in his work outside of teaching reading a number of practical information useful in human life. In the same year appeared in Krakow work of M.D. Krajewski *Games of sciences for children*. Although this handbook contained a lot of interesting methodological solutions did not found wider recognition and went into oblivion. In contrast a reference to the sixteenth-century primers was *Primer bialoggowski or information for learners to read the catechism of prayers for femalechildren* (Łowicz 1789). More progressive and innovative was the primer of S. Stawski designed for St. Elizabeth Secondary School in Wroclaw.<sup>18</sup> The primer contains a lot of practical information and a number of moralizing stories. The final primer issued prior to the third partition of Poland was primer of A.M. Prokopowicz.<sup>19</sup> The novelty in this work was to fit methodological guidelines for female teachers.

#### **3** Arithmetic in Polish Primers Until 1795

Elementary school, regardless the historical period was supposed to teach how to read, write and count. This program was usually accompanied by religion classes. In the period of antiquity and the early Middle Ages the study of reading was taking place on literary texts which teacher had. In the course of time in school practice special school textbooks—primers (Latin.*elementarius*-initial) appeared. Primers were written mainly for purpose of teaching reading. Reading did not have to be related to the art of writing hence the first primers contained only typefaces. The closer to our time the more often there were tips in primers on how to write correctly. Even exercise books to learn calligraphy were introduced. Most primers also functioned as a catechism and a small prayer book hence the religious texts were occupying the greater part of the printing and could be used as material for exercises in reading. Nevertheless first primers lack tips in terms of arithmetic. We know certainly that the subject was taught from the beginning since schools existed. It was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>S. Stawski, Booklet to syllabify and read for Polish class in St. Elizabeth Secondary School in Wroclaw, Wrocław 1790.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>A.M. Prokopowicz, *The new easiest way to write and read together for the girls with footnotes for female teachers*, Kraków 1790.

taught in Greek schools and Plato made it the basis of teaching in the ideal state. It was taught in Rome where in the 3rd century BC appeared special teacher of the subject-calculator. It was taught in medieval schools often under the name komputu understood as bills and the art of Church calendar calculation.<sup>20</sup> The level of teaching this subject was variant. Italian schools usually hired a second teacher of mathematics called abbachista or maestro d'abbaco.<sup>21</sup> In Polish medieval schools arithmetic was often ignored or reduced to four mathematical operations.<sup>22</sup> We do not know what learning of arithmetic in Polish medieval schools looked like. We do not have information on whether teachers used some methodological materials, whether apart from traditional abacus and blackboard other teaching aids were used. It seems that they based on their own creativity and knowledge. This may be shown by the fact that none of mentioned primers published until the end of 17th century included guidance on teaching arithmetic. J.A. Komeński didn't post it either in Janua Linguarum. In Orbis Sensualium Pictus in part LXXIII he confined himself to the calculation of the benefits of learning arithmetic and geometry. Only in released in 1710 in Königsberg Primer or the beginnings of science there were Latin and Arabic numbers on the last card. The same solution contains Elementa puerilis Institutionum from 1713. Whereas mentioned Polish German and Polish French primers contain multiplication table on the last page.<sup>23</sup> Modest chapter About the number included F. Paprocki in his primer but given information does not go beyond the four basic operations. Dymitr M. Krajewski identified small chapter (13 pages) in his primer—Arithmetic games. The substantive scope of the subject also does not go beyond the four basic operations. Krajewski most of the chapter devoted to the reflection on ways of enjoyable learning. Learning arithmetic has to be fun. He therefore proposes to engrave arithmetic letters (numbers) on the ankles and assemble numbers from them creating rows of unity tens, hundreds and thousands.

Teaching of arithmetic was only treated wider by A.M. Prokopowicz<sup>24</sup> who certainly knew *Primer for national parochial schools* and adopted solutions. In his primer of arithmetic he devoted a chapter *Accounting for the ladies*. It starts with an explanation of *accounting science thus numerical* reaching into Greek word *arithmein*—count. Then shows record of numbers in Arabic and Roman system and the method of reading numbers consisting of several digits. Devotes separate place to each of four mathematical operations. Addition and subtraction in written system is supported by simple writing exercises in the form of word problems. In multiplication he distinguishes *multiplicand, multiplier and ratio*. He explains multiplication on the example of adding as it was explained in the primer for the national parochial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>O. Kanfer, *Teaching accounts in collegiate and convent schools /*in:/Report of Private Secondary E. Orzeszkowa School in Brody for 1930/1931, 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>P.F. Grendler, *Schooling in Renaissance Italy, Literacy and Learning 1300–1600*, Baltimore 1989, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>J. Ryś, Parish education in the cities of Little Poland in the 15th century, Warszawa 1995, 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>See. Footnote 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>See. Footnote 17.

schools. After examples of written multiplication he goes to *the Pythagoras plate* so multiplication table. In division he distinguishes *dividend, divisor and quotient*. He publishes a table of division until the number 1118, much more difficult to use than multiplication. On the occasion of division he also discusses fractions arising as a result of division sharing with the remainder going further than it was in the aforementioned primer of the Commission of National Education. Closing the mathematical part of the primer is the discussion over *the rule of three* or *the golden rule* which was introduced to the practice of merchants in Europe between 15th and 16th century.

### 4 Arithmetic in Primer for National Parochial Schools

Primer issued under the patronage of the Commission of National Education was one of the best Polish primers therefore some more attention should be paid to him. Primer in the section of reading was based on analytic-synthetic method which in elementary education has been popularized by J.H. Pestalozzi. The fourth part of the primer on arithmetic by A. Gawroński is most extensive and consists of six chapters relating respectively to counting, addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, and the rule of three. The chapter on counting has been divided into four formulas. Formula I for counting is based on the principle of sight. The author recommended the use of peas, cereals and other items in counting. Students also had sets of dots from 1–9 in the primer. Under each set the appropriate digit was given. When they mastered the art of counting to nine the teacher walked to the formula II and introduced ten units of the order explaining that if each of the numbers will add up "circle" to the right then its value will increase ten times. Students should understand it using the tens of peas or corn. Subsequently the teacher discussed the mechanism of number formation consisting of tens and units based on illustrative material and writing numbers on the board. Further mathematic formulas relate to the creation of hundreds and thousands of rows and their multiplication. Chapters about adding and subtracting numbers are constructed similarly. Understanding the nature of these activities was based on the use in teaching already mentioned peas or corn. After the appropriate recording exercises the teacher walked to the written action, first using complex numbers consisting of tens later on adding units. In the following formulas he introduced a record of adding a few numbers composed of units, tens, hundreds and thousands. The next chapter concerns the multiplication of numbers. Explanation of the whole mechanism of multiplication is based on the addition. The teacher had to provide a written record of adding the same number, e.g. 5+5+5+5 and then explain that this is equivalent to multiplying number five four times and immediately present it in written way. Once the basics of multiplication are mastered they are followed by the examples of written multiplication where the number of multiplying is initially in the form of unit then it takes more complex form. Gawroński does not use the term multiplier and multiplicand but only the number of multiplying and ratio. Also publishes a simple multiplication table

in the text. At the end of the chapter provides a number of practical information on the various systems of weights, measures and currency. Chapter V about dividing the number is more complicated. Division is explained by subtraction that is what is happening by subtracting one number from another as many times as may be *deducted*. Next the author explains that in order to understand how many times the smaller number is located in the greater one we would have to subtract it as many times as possible. This would be a very bothersome and lengthy process and therefore the action of division was introduced. As in the case of multiplication sharing plate with a detailed description on how to use it is provided. Further examples concerned the division of more complex numbers after which students had to move to "share with the remainder" and write the remainder of the division created using a *numerical mark* or fraction number line. The author however does not introduce the concept of fractions. The last chapter was devoted to the rule of three and is very short. The rule of three, as Gawroñski explains, is the ability to search fourth number out of three obvious numbers. As he says: Judgement of human nature itself gave way to conduct yourself in this action.<sup>25</sup> He explains the method for calculating the proportion on practical examples from real life.

Primer as a whole met with positive response of the Commission and G. Piramowicz emphasized its practicality and affordability which was supposed to be aimed at the true enlightenment of the people and help them realize their obligations towards lords, peasants and themselves. As for arithmetic part he emphasized its clarity and accessibility for children by selecting appropriate formula<sup>26</sup> to their level. In Polish literature this work is not explicitly evaluated. Favorable opinions about it were expressed by M. Baraniecki, the author of several successful textbooks in mathematics in the 19th century.<sup>27</sup> It was negatively assessed by Z. Iwaszkiewiczowa<sup>28</sup> and T. Mizia.<sup>29</sup> However, as rightly pointed Cz. Majorek Primer has good and bad sides and its assessment should be centered.<sup>30</sup> Reservations can be aroused by graphic side of the study. An example might be the first chapter in which a small space has accumulated too many characters and images to organize for the child easily and accordingly.<sup>31</sup> In this case the transfer of individual images on the school board which was suggested by Gawroñski was necessary and could facilitate the pupils to master the material. Primer was also written with a view of a teacher and was supposed to suggest him some methodological solutions. Whereas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Primer for national parochial schools, 118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>G. Piramowicz, *Mowy miane w Towarzystwie do Ksiąg Elementarnych...*, wyd. W. Wisłocki, Kraków 1889, 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>M. Baraniecki, Arithmetic, Warszawa 1884.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Z. Iwaszkiewiczowa, *Teaching arithmetic in schools of the Commission of National Education, /in:/The great reform epoch*, edited by S. Łempicki, Lviv 1923, 53–55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>T. Mizia, *Parish education in the times of the Commission of National Education*, Wrocław 1964, 126–129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Cz. Majorek, School books of the Commission of National Education, Warszawa 1975, 152–153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Cz. Majorek, School books..., Warszawa 1975, 152–153.

students used it mainly as homework. It is not known whether it is typesetter's or Gawroński's fault that in case of unity multiplication unities are not under unities and tens are not under tens. Also the chapter about division is chaotically arranged and the rule of three is not supported by any examples of specific solutions. It is worth emphasizing the visual method, grading difficulties and Gawroński's aspirations to eliminate formalizing from arithmetic studies as well as rules avoidance and basing it instead on the natural rational child premises. The positive side of this part of the *Primer* was also an appropriate choice of tasks that involved the practice of everyday life and thus had to encourage children to learn arithmetic as extremely useful science in every area of life.

### 5 Conclusion

Above presented substantive range and ways of teaching elementary arithmetic during the times of the Commission of National Education are based on the *Primer*... and are rather visionary. We cannot say anything closer on school practice in this regard. Inspectors' reports are extremely scarce and conventional. Parochial schools were on the margin of CNE's activities although *Acts*... confirmed its authority over all the schools. Because of lack of funds they stayed under superiority and maintenance of Church. Introduction of Ordinal Commissions in 1789 did not change anything here as they were focusing on quantitative development of parochial schools instead of improving their educational level. Taking into account the fact that level of teaching mathematics in secondary schools especially in the early years of CNE was not the best, we cannot be too optimistic about the teaching of this subject in elementary schools. On the other hand if we consider the attempts to give the teaching useful form and elementary arithmetic knowledge, which did not require any special preparation to be taught, we can draw a conclusion about universality of teaching this subject in the Polish parochial schools.

## Life as an Example. S.M. Nikolskij

#### **Alexandr Rusakov**

**Abstract** This paper is devoted to the outstanding Russian mathematician Sergey Mikhailovich Nikolskij. His biography and his famous results are outlined. A list of his pupils with last known positions is given.

Keywords Sergey Mikhailovich Nikolskij

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 99Z99 · Secondary 00A00

Sergey Mikhailovich was born in Zavod Talitsa of Perm Governorate (now, the district center Talitsa of Yekaterinburg Oblast) 30 April 1905. His father, Mikhail Dmitrievich Nikolskij was a forester, a member of the Russian forest nomenclature. By bureaucratic report card, forester is a court counselor. In 1906 M.D. Nikolskij got a boost; he was nominated by a forester of Schebro-Olshansky forestry of Suwalki Province on the border with Prussia (now it belongs to Poland) where Sergei spent his childhood.

At age 14, S.M. Nikolskij and his family moved to the Voronezh region and he had to work. At the same time, he continued his education under the guidance of his father, who taught him mathematics, physics and natural sciences.

In 1921, the family of S.M. Nikolskij returned to Chernigov, where S.M. Nikolskij worked in Gubpolitprosvet and studied in college.

In 1925, he entered Ekaterynoslavsky University of Education at the Faculty of Mathematics and Physics. Soon, having went to come to a technical university considered more prestigious, he was so imbued creative atmosphere at the faculty that unconditionally decided to become a mathematician.

After graduation of the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics of the Ekaterinoslavskij University of National Education in 1930, Sergey Nikolskij got the assistant position. As the best lecturer, since 1932 he was the Head of the Department of Mathematics of the Transport Institute. He also worked in the Mine, pharmaceutical Institutions of Dnepropetrovsk.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_47

A. Rusakov (🖂)

Moscow, Russia

e-mail: vmkafedra@yandex.ru

Andrei Nikolaevich Kolmogorov<sup>1</sup> involved Sergey Nikolskij into the scientific work. A.N. Kolmogorov came from Moscow to give lectures with Academician Pavel Sergeevich Alexandrov and Ivan Georgievich Petrovsky. Sergey Nikolskij was a PhD student at Moscow State University named after M.V. Lomonosov in 1934–1935 (MGU) and defended his thesis titled "Linear equations in Banach spaces".

In 1940, S.M. Nikolskij entered the doctoral study of the Steklov Institute of Mathematics of the USSR Academy of Sciences and at the beginning of 1942 successfully defended his doctoral thesis (habilitation) on the theory of approximation of functions by polynomials. After, he was a senior fellow of the Institute of Mathematics. In 1947 he became a professor in the Department of Mathematics at the same institute, and from 1950 to 1954 he was the Head of the Department. From 1953 to 1961, he was deputy Head and from 1961 to 1989 Head of the Department of the theory of functions. In 1968, S.M. Nikolskij was elected a corresponding member of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, and a full member in 1972.

The first studies of S.M. Nikolskij on the theory of linear operators (criterion discrete and continuous spectra, conditions for the Fredholm alternative, singular integral equations) were made at that time when the functional analysis of the Soviet Union only started to develop.

He established criteria for discrete and continuous spectra of the linear operator through the expansion of the resolvent operator corresponding to the sum of invertible and completely continuous operator, proved the presentation of such sums as a sum of the reversible and finite operators, found the necessary and sufficient conditions for the Fredholm alternative of the resolvent operator. These results due to Nikolskij had significant applications in the theory of singular integral equations, and subsequently served as the basis for the development of a branch of functional analysis for many other authors.

The Rector of MGU Academician V.A. Sadovnichij said in his report at the conference devoted to the 100th anniversary of Sergei Mikhailovich, that he completed a series of studies (which began back in the PhD thesis) related to linear equations in Banach spaces. Nikolskij generalized the theory of Banach equation  $X - \lambda BX = Y$ to completely continuous linear operators. Banach's theory is a generalization of the theory for continuous functions due to Riesz (1918) to arbitrary Banach spaces.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Great Scientist of Russia, one of the greatest mathematicians of the twentieth century, recognized by almost all reputable scientific communities of the world, member of the US National Academy of Sciences and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, a member of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences and the Academy of Finland, member of the French Academy of Sciences and the German Academy of Naturalists "Leopoldina", member of the International Academy of the History of Sciences and the National Academy of Romania, Hungary and Poland, an honorary member of the Royal Statistical Society of Great Britain and the London Mathematical Society, an honorary member of the International Statistical Institute and the Mathematical Society; winner of the most respected science prizes: Prize Chebyshev and N.I. Lobachevskij of the USSR Academy of Sciences, the International Balzan Prize Foundation International Award and the Wolf Foundation, as well as State and Lenin prizes, awarded seven Orders of Lenin and the Gold Medal of the Hero of Socialist Labor, Academician Andrei Nikolaevich Kolmogorov himself simply called professor at Moscow University.

S.M. Nikolskij set himself the task to carry out such a transfer from the space C in the framework of the theory due to Radon to the Banach spaces. It was done immediately when a space has a basis. These results were included in his PhD thesis. An analogous proof met difficulties when a space has no basis. S.M. Nikolskij overcame these difficulties later in 1940. Because of the World War II these results were published in 1943.

It is easily proved that every compact linear operator V in the Banach space with basis can be approximated by the norm with an arbitrary accuracy by a finite-rank operator K. This yields the representation

$$A + V = A' + K, \tag{0.1}$$

where A and A' are linear invertible operators.

Sergey Mikhailovich had masterly removed the additional condition about the basis and proved that any sum of the operators A + V, where A is invertible and V is compact, can be represented in the form (0.1). This Nikolskij's theorem (about Fredholm type operators) was published in Izvestia Akademii Nauk SSSR in 1943 in time of the World War II. Subtlety and significance of this result can be confirmed by a counterexample due to Per Enflo (live goose award in 1972) that there exists a compact operator not approximated by a limit of finite-rank operators. Nikolskij's theorem has a lucky continuation. It yielded a new approach on generalized Fredholm elements in operator rings in functional analysis (F.V. Atkinson and I.C. Gokhberg) and in the structural theory of rings with applications in the theory of elasticity.

Nikolskij's theorem took its place in handbooks on functional analysis. In 1959, L.V. Kantorovich and G.P. Akilov includes it in the handbook "Functional analysis in normed spaces" and after in "Functional analysis", Moscow, Nauka, 1977. Nikolskij's theorem beautifies modern courses on functional analysis (see for example A.Ya. Khelemskij "Lectures on functional analysis", Moscow, MCNMO, 2004).

Other cycle of the deep works by Nikolskij on the theory of approximations (from forties to the present time) contains solution to difficult problems concerning asymptotic exact estimations for function approximations by trigonometric and algebraic polynomials.

The third cycle of his works is addressed to the theory of differentiable functions of several variables and their applications to partial differential equations. S.M. Nikolskij was first who obtained exact direct and inverse embedding theorems.

S.M. Nikolskij justified the variational method to solve the first boundary value problem for a class of equations generalizing (hypo) elliptic type equations. He had created the best quadrature formulas for some classes of functions and obtained exact estimations in certain cases.

S.M. Nikolskij also found conditions to continue continuously differentiable functions from sets to the whole space. Many such results were summarised in his monograph "Approximation of functions of several variables and imbedding theorems" Nauka, Moscow, 1969. The second edition was in 1975 and it was translated by Springer.



Fig. 1 Nikolskij's book from the series "Heritage of national sciences of the 20th century"

In recognition of the outstanding contributions to mathematics by S.M. Nikolskij (see Figs. 1–2 and works [1–5]), its objects, studied them, named after him. Mathematics all over the world are exploring space and inequality by Nikolskij.

In 2006, the three volumes of works by Nikolskij were published by the Academy of Sciences in the series "Heritage of national sciences of the 20th century". The most significant his results in the fundamental mathematics are selected in his three monographs "Approximations theory" (2006), "Functional spaces" (2007) and "Equations in functional spaces" (2009).

S.M. Nikolskij "There are theorems, people said that Nikolskij proved them. I remember that an idea how to prove it flashed during a ski trip or near Dnepr, or on the island where I swum, rested and thought."

S.M. Nikolskij prepared about fifty candidates physical and mathematical sciences, fifteen of his pupils became the doctor of physical and mathematical sciences (habilitation). Among his students there are such famous scientists as Corresponding Member of the Russian Academy of Sciences (RAS), member of the European Academy of Sciences O.V. Besov; Corresponding Member of the RAS, full member of the European Academy of Sciences L.D. Kudryavtsev, who was nominated in his 30 years by the Head of the Department of Mathematics of the leading university of the country, MFTI, due to the bold decision of his teacher justified by Kudryavtsev's seminal works (The example of Kudryavtsev demonstrates the power of the scientific school by S.M. Nikolskij); Prof. A.F. Timman, Corresponding Member of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR; V.K. Dzyadyk, NAS academician; N.P. Kornejchuk, Corresponding Member of NAS; V.P. Motornyj, Corresponding Member of the Academy of Sciences of the Kazakh SSR; T.I. Omanov, Professor S.V. Uspenskij; Professor V.I. Burenkov; emeritus professor of the Moscow State University, M.K. Potapov and others.

**Fig. 2** Academician S.M. Nikolskij



#### PUPILS

of the Adviser of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Chief Scientific Researcher of the Mathematical Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences Academician Sergey Nikolskij

Valentina Alkhimova, Dr., Dnepropetrovskiy gosuniversitet

Tyuleubay Amanov, Corresponding Member of the Academy of Sciences Kazakhstan, Dr., Professor of Institute of Mathematics and Mechanics, Semipalatinsk Andrey Bezlyudnyy, Dr., associate professor of the Dnepropetrovsk Technology University

Oleg Besov, Corresponding Member of RAN, Head of the Theory of Functions division of the Mathematical Institute named after V.A. Steklov of the RAN Yuriy Bessonov, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Aviation University Bugavets, Dr., Dnepropetrovsk University

Yakov Bugrov, Dr., Professor of the Moscow University of Electronic Technology Viktor Burenkov, Dr., Professor of the L.N. Gumilyov Eurasian National University

Aleksandr Vasharin, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Physical-Technical Institute

Verbitskiy, Dr., Dnepropetrovskiy University

A. Vol'pert, Dr., associate professor of the Slavic Pedagogical University

A. Gazar'yants, Dr., associate professor of the Baku University

I. Ginzburg, Dr., associate professor of the Dnepropetrovskiy University

I. Globenko, Dr., Novosibirsk

Gurevich, Dr., Moscow Automobile University

Vladislav Dzyadyk, Dr., Corresponding Member of the NAS of Ukraine, Head of the Institute of Mathematics of the NAS

Yuriy Doronin, Dr., associate professor of the Dnepropetrovsk Building University

Yuriy Kashchenko, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Power Engineering University

Kiselev, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow University of Railway Engineers A. Konyushkov, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Engineering Physics University

Vladimir Kopchenov, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Forestry University Nicholas Kornejchuk, Dr., Prof., Academician of the NAS of Ukraine, Kiev

Lev Kudryavtsev, Corresponding Member of RAS

Ivan Matveev, Dr., associate professor of Moscow State University

Nina Mozzherova, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Engineering Physics University

Vitaly Motor, Dr., Professor of Dnepropetrovsk State University

Kabduzh Nazryzbaev, Dr., Professor, Almaty

Victor Olovyanishnikov, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Automobile and Road University

Petr Pilika, Dr., Head of Department at the University of Albania

V. Pinkevich, Dr., associate professor of Dnepropetrovsk State University

Mikhail Potapov, Dr., Professor of Moscow State University

Yusif Salmanov, Dr., Professor of Baku Pedagogical Institute

S. Selivanova, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Engineering Physics University

Alexander Timman, Dr., Prof. Dnepropetrovsk State University

Stanislav Uspenskij, Dr., Prof., Head of the Moscow State University of Environmental Engineering

Alexander Foht Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Physical-Technical Institute

Vladimir Fufaev, Dr., associate Professor of the Moscow Physical-Technical Institute

Vladimir Shan'kov, Dr., associate professor of the Moscow Physical-Technical Institute

Shcherbin Alexander, Dr., Head of Dnepropetrovsk Medical University Vladimir Yanchak, Dr., associate professor of the Lviv State University

Scientific achievements and activity of S.M. Nikolskij were highly recognised by the state. He was awarded orders and medals and state awards. S.M. Nikolskij was awarded by a gold medal named after Vinoradov of the USSR Academy of Sciences (1991), by the Chebyshev Prize of the USSR (1972), by Kolmogorov Prize of the



Fig. 3 School handbooks by S.M. Nikolskij

RAS (2000), by Gold Medal of the Bolzano Czech Academy of Sciences (1978), Medal, by Copernicus Polish Academy of Sciences (1992), by the Ostrogradskij Prize of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine (2000). He was a foreign member of the Hungarian and Polish Academy of Sciences, Honorary Member of the Moscow Mathematical and Kiev Mathematical Societies, professor emeritus of the MGU, professor emeritus of the Moscow Physical-Technical Institute.

Sergei Mikhailovich Nikolskij payed great interest in the problems of school education in mathematics and informatics. Last years, S.M. Nikolskij was actively engaged into development of school teaching. Great discussions took place after his talk at the International mathematical Congress on Mathematical Education in 2004 in Copenhagen.

Sergei Mikhailovich believed that good mathematics in schools can be based only on a solid foundation of freely use of arithmetic; that arithmetic is the basic of the logical science, and that its proper study forms not only to calculate, but also the ability to think logically, and thus gives perspective to other disciplines, algebra and geometry.

His is an author of many handbooks for secondary and high school (see Fig. 3).

It was unexpected to hear the words: "April 30, 2005 Sergei Mikhailovich has 100 years." In his congratulatory speech devoted to Sergei Mikhailovich, the President of the Polish Academy of Sciences Andrzej B. Legocki said: "You, in particular, supported new ideas developed by Stefan Banach, and had the opportunity to meet with him until his death. It was lucky that you played a remarkable role in the creation of an International Center in Warsaw named after Stefan Banach, well-known today in the world mathematics. It was also your personal achievement. You were undoubtedly many years a central figure in the Scientific Council of the Centre Banach. I can assure you that the Polish Academy of Sciences is proud that you are its foreign member. Hundredth anniversary of the birth, this is quite an exceptional event, the privilege of those who, like you enthralls environment unprecedented vigor, cheerfulness and kindness. Sure, it's a big celebration not only for you, I assure you, that also for our Academy. We are happy that you are a foreign member of our Academy. We are well aware of your scientific achievements in mathematical analysis and its applications. On the occasion of your hundredth anniversary of the birth we want to stress your contribution to the teaching of mathematics in recent years. Teaching for you is so important as research."

Accuracy and commitment in his work were motor force of Sergei Mikhailovich, which give freedom and freshness of his thoughts. His organization, allow him to

carry out clear and accurate generalization. It should be added that the S.M. Nikolskij was a man with a strong character; the power of his spirit never leaves him. His characteristic feature was ability to give himself to the affair that he intended and performed.

We touch here few events of the century way of life of Sergei Mikhailovich. We always astonished his active life position, unbending character, personal charm.

With him, we were much younger.

#### References

- V.K. Dzyadyk, A.N. Kolmogorov, L.D. Kudryavtsev, S.L. Sobolev, Sergei Mikhailovich Nikolskij (on the 80th anniversary of his birth). UMN 40, 268–278 (1985)
- A.A. Rusakov, S.M. Nikolskij, mathematician and educator, in *Chebyshev Collection*, vol. 6 (2005), pp. 5–10
- 3. S.M. Nikolskij, A.A. Rusakov, Selected Problems of Mathematical Theorems and Analysis, LIC MSU (MV University, Moscow, 2008)
- 4. L.D. Kudryavtsev, V.M. Monakov, A.A. Rusakov, V.N. Chubarikov, *Modern Problems of Teaching Mathematics and Computer Science* (Fazis, Moscow, 2005)
- 5. A.A. Rusakov, Life as an example, in *Abstracts of the 9th International ISAAC Congress* (2013), in Krakow, Poland, Gliwice, 9–10

## The Area Method and Proving Plane Geometry Theorems

**Martin Billich** 

**Abstract** The process of proving, deriving and discovering theorems is important in mathematics investigation. In this paper, we will use the elimination technique which is based on the theory of the area method. The main idea of this method will be illustrated through an example from plane geometry. In addition, we look at the application possibilities of using GCLC geometry system with built-in theorem prover in verification and proving constructive geometric statements.

Keywords Area method · Theorem proving · Geometric constructions

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 03F99 · Secondary 97N80

## 1 Introduction

The unique feature that sets mathematics apart from other sciences, from philosophy, and indeed from all other forms of intellectual discourse, is the use of rigorous proof. It is the proof concept that makes the subject coheres, and that gives it its timelessness. There is relatively clear definition of what a proof is. A proof of a theorem is a finite sequence of claims, each claim being derived logically (i.e. by substituting in some tautology) from the previous claims, as well as theorems whose truth has been already established. The last claim in the sequence is the statement of the theorem, or a statement that clearly implies the theorem (see for example [2]).

In this paper we will look at the application possibilities of the area method, an efficient synthetic (semi-algebraic) method for a fragment of Euclidean geometry in proving of constructive geometric statements.

## 2 The Area Method and Constructive Geometric Statements

The area method for plane geometry was developed by Chou, Gao, and Zhang [1]. The basic idea of the method is to express hypotheses of a theorem using a set of

M. Billich (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Catholic University in Ružomberok, Hrabovská cesta 1, 034 01 Ružomberok, Slovakia e-mail: billich@ku.sk

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_48

Table 1     notions	Common geometric	Properties	Formalizations
		Points A, B, C are collinear	$\ ABC\  = 0$
		AB is parallel to CD	$\ ACD\  = \ BCD\ $
		M is the midpoint of $AB$	$  ABC   = 0 \land \frac{  AB  }{  AM  } = 2$
		Points A, B, C, D are harmonic	$\frac{\ AC\ }{\ CB\ } = \frac{\ DA\ }{\ DB\ }$

constructive statements, each of them introducing a new point (as intersection of lines, etc.), and to express a conclusion by an equality of arithmetic expressions, without considering Cartesian coordinates, using only three geometric quantities: *the ratio of directed segments, the signed area of a triangle* and *the Pythagoras difference* (for details see [5, 6]). In the rest of the paper, we denote by ||AB|| *the signed length* of a segment *AB* (the length |AB|, endowed by the sign + or -, i.e. ||AB|| = -||BA||) and we denote by ||ABC|| *the signed area*<sup>1</sup> of a triangle *ABC*. Expressing some common geometric notions using ratios and signed area is given in Table 1.

## 2.1 Geometric Constructions

The area method is used for proving constructive geometry conjectures, i.e. for statements about properties of objects constructed by some fixed set of elementary constructions, which have a specific form  $(C_1, C_2, ..., C_m; G)$ , where  $C_i$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$ , are elementary construction steps, and the conclusion *G* of statements is of the form  $E_1 = E_2$ , where  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  are arithmetical expressions containing only geometric quantities (signed areas and ratios) [6]. For each constructed point there is some construction  $C_i$  stating how it has been constructed.

Then the proof is based on eliminating (in reverse order) the points introduced before from the goal using a set of appropriate *elimination lemmas*. After eliminating all introduced points (and changing the goal into an expression containing only *independent* geometric quantities), the current goal becomes a trivial equality that can be simply tested for validity.

### 2.2 Basic Lemmas

Here we present only two lemmas those are the base for the area method and will be used in the next section of the paper (see, for instance, [1, 6] for a survey).

**Lemma 2.1** Let A, B, and C be three collinear points such that ||AB|| = r ||AC|| $(r \in \mathbb{R})$ . Then for any point P, we have ||PAB|| = r ||PAC||.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The signed area of a triangle is the area of a triangle with a sign depending on its orientation in the plane. We have anticlockwise, positive sign, and clockwise, negative sign.

*Remark* The signed area of a quadrilateral *ABCD* can be defined in the following way:

$$||ABCD|| = ||ABC|| + ||ACD||.$$

**Lemma 2.2** (The Co-side Theorem) Let M be the intersection of two non-parallel lines AB and PQ and  $M \neq Q$ . Then it holds that

$$\frac{\|PM\|}{\|QM\|} = \frac{\|PAB\|}{\|QAB\|}; \qquad \frac{\|PM\|}{\|PQ\|} = \frac{\|PAB\|}{\|PAQB\|}.$$
 (EL1)

The Co-side Theorem is one of the most important elimination lemmas for the area method. From (EL1) it follows that the point M can by eliminated by the substitution from the ratio of directed parallel segments by ratio of two signed areas, not involving M.

#### **3** Computer Proof Checking

There is a range of geometry software tools, covering different geometries and geometry problems. Dynamic geometry software (DGS) visualizes geometric objects and link formal, axiomatic nature of geometry with its standard models (e.g., Cartesian model) and corresponding illustrations. Ones can use it to construct geometric objects, observe their changes by moving free points or applying Euclidean transformations, and then discover some conjectures. We can see with our own eyes that this or that geometrical theorem is true.

Some DGS provide proof feature by combining with automated geometry theorem proving (AGTP), allow users to verify conjectures. They relies on several efficient automatic proof methods, such as *Gröbner bases method*, *Wu's method*, *Area method* and *Full-angles method* (see [1, 4, 7]). The first two ones are algebraic methods which use polynomials to solve problems, that is, they first transform geometric properties into equations in coordinates of the related points and then deal with these equations. The last two ones can produce human-readable proofs, that is, each step of the generated proof has clear geometric meanings.

We will not give an overview of AGTP here, instead we present only some informations of the GCLC system as a tool for visualizing geometrical (and not only geometrical) objects and notions, and for producing traditional proofs with the geometry theorem prover (*GCLCprover*) which is built in GCLC and based on the area method. For more details about the prover and GCLC system, see [3, 5].

#### 3.1 GCLC System

GCLC is a tool for visualizing objects and notions of geometry. GCLC uses the specific GC language for describing figures. GC language consists of the following groups of commands: *definitions, basic constructions, transformations, drawing* 

commands, marking and printing commands, low level commands, Cartesian commands, commands for describing animations, commands for the geometry theorem prover. These descriptions are compiled by the processor and can be exported to different output formats. There is also support for symbolic expressions, for parametric curves and surfaces, for drawing functions, graphs, and trees.

## 3.2 GCLCprover

The GCLC prover, as an integral part of GCLC system, can be very useful in testing conjectures. This means that one can use the prover to reason about objects introduced in GCLC construction, without changing for verification, i.e. we need to add only the conclusion that will be proved.

The theorem prover can prove any geometry theorem expressed in terms of geometry quantities, and involving only points introduced by using the commands: point, line, intersec, midpoint, med, perp, foot, parallel, translate, towards, online.

#### 4 Worked Example

In this section we give a detailed description of how the elimination technique for area method works on the following example:

*Example* Show that the line joining the point of intersection of the extension of the non-parallel sides of a trapezoid to the point of intersection of its diagonals bisects the base of the trapezoid.

**Construction** Let ABCD be a trapezoid with the parallel sides AB and CD (Fig. 1). The points A, B, and C are free points (points not defined by construction steps) and D is the point on the line passing through C and parallel to AB. The point P is the intersection of the extension of sides BC and AD and Q is the intersection of AC and BD. Let M be the intersection of the line PQ with the side AB. The GCLC code for our construction is shown in Fig. 2. We need to show that M is the midpoint of AB, that is equivalent to the condition

$$\frac{\|AM\|}{\|BM\|} = -1. \tag{4.1}$$

*Proof* We can eliminate the constructed points P, Q and M (in reverse order), using for that purpose the properties of the geometric quantities, until an equality in only

Fig. 1 Trapezoid ABCD



the points A, B, C, and D is reached. We first eliminate M using the co-side theorem (Lemma 2.2):

$$\frac{\|AM\|}{\|BM\|} = \frac{\|APQ\|}{\|BPQ\|}.$$

By the same theorem, we can eliminate the point *Q*:

$$\frac{\|APQ\|}{\|APC\|} = \frac{\|AQ\|}{\|AC\|} = \frac{\|ABD\|}{\|ABCD\|}$$
$$\Rightarrow \|APQ\| = \frac{\|APC\| \cdot \|ABD\|}{\|ABCD\|}$$

and

$$\frac{\|BPQ\|}{\|BPD\|} = \frac{\|BQ\|}{\|BD\|} = \frac{\|BCA\|}{\|BCDA\|} = \frac{\|ABC\|}{\|ABCD\|}$$
$$\Rightarrow \|BPQ\| = \frac{\|BPD\| \cdot \|ABC\|}{\|ABCD\|}.$$

The new goal is

$$\frac{\|AM\|}{\|BM\|} = \frac{\|APC\|}{\|BPD\|} \cdot \frac{\|ABD\|}{\|ABC\|}$$

Applying Lemma 2.1, we can eliminate *P*:

$$\frac{\|APC\|}{\|ADC\|} = \frac{\|AP\|}{\|AD\|} = \frac{\|BP\|}{\|BC\|} = \frac{\|BPD\|}{\|BCD\|}$$
$$\Rightarrow \frac{\|APC\|}{\|BPD\|} = \frac{\|ADC\|}{\|BCD\|}.$$

It obvious, that ||ABD|| = ||ABC|| (from AB||CD) and ||ADC|| = -||BCD||, and we have the goal in the form

$$\frac{\|AM\|}{\|BM\|} = \frac{-\|BCD\|}{\|BCD\|} \cdot \frac{\|ABC\|}{\|ABC\|} = -1$$

and the proof is completed.

Fig. 2 GCLC code for the	point A 10 10	cmark_lt D
example with trapezoid	point B 60 10	cmark_t P
	point C 40 30	cmark_lb Q
	towards X A B 0.6	cmark_b M
	translate D B X C	drawsegment A B
	intersection P A D B C	drawsegment B P
	intersection Q A C B D	drawsegment C D
	intersection M A B P Q	drawsegment P A
	oment lb A	drawsegment A C
	CMARK_ID A	drawsegment B D
	cmark_rb B	drawsegment P M
	Cmark_rt C	•

**Theorem Prover** It can be checked (with GCLCprover) that M is the midpoint of AB. This statement can be given to the prover by adding line

prove { equal { sratio A M B M } {-1} }

to the code given in Fig. 2. The prover produced a short report of information on number of steps performed, on CPU time spent and whether or not the conjecture has been proved (Fig. 3).

The prover generate also proof in LaTEX form and in XML format. We can control the level of details given in generated proof. The proof consists of proof steps. For each step, there is an explanation and its semantic counterpart. This semantic information is calculated for concrete points used in the construction. In addition, at the end of the main proof all non-degenerative conditions are listed.

## 5 Conclusion

Theorems with their proofs are at the core of mathematics and play an important role in the working of mathematicians. The area method is a synthetic method providing short and human-readable proofs for one class of geometry statements. This method works for constructive geometric statements and is one of the most successful methods for automated geometry theorem proving. We presented some advantages of the area method and GC language for explicit describing construction in Euclidean plane. The theorem prover which is implemented in GCLC system, can

> The theorem prover based on the area method used. Number of elimination proof steps: 10 Number of geometric proof steps: 19 Number of algebraic proof steps: 68 Total number of proof steps: 97 Time spent by the prover: 0.002 seconds The conjecture successfully proved. The prover output is written in the file trapezoid.tex.

Fig. 3 Report for the example with trapezoid

automatically prove a number of geometry theorems in plane geometry. This system provides an environment for modern ways of studying and teaching geometry.

## References

- S. Chou, X.S. Gao, J.Z. Zhang, Machine Proofs in Geometry—Automated Production of Readable Proofs for Geometry Theorems (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994)
- J. Gunčaga, Regulated functions and integrability, in 70 Annales Universitatis Paedagogicae Cracoviensis: Studia Mathematica VIII, vol. 8 (2009), pp. 43–56
- P. Janičić, P. Quaresma, System description: GCLCprover + GeoThms, in *International Joint* Conference on Automated Reasoning. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence (Springer, Berlin, 2006), pp. 145–150
- 4. D. Kapur, On the decision problem and the mechanization of theorem proving in elementary geometry. J. Symb. Comput. **2**(4), 399–408 (1986)
- 5. P. Quaresma, P. Janičić, Framework for the constructive geometry. Technical Report TR2006/001, Center for Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra (2006)
- P. Quaresma, P. Janičić, The area method, rigorous proofs of lemmas in Hilbert's style axioms systems. Technical Report TR2009/001, Center for Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra (2009)
- 7. W.T. Wu, Using Gröbner bases to reason about geometry problems. Sci. Sin. 21, 157–179 (1978)

# Part VIII Clifford, Quaternion and Wavelet Analysis

**Organizers:** Keiko Fujita, Akira Morimoto, Swanhild Bernstein, Uwe Kahler, Irene Sabadini, Frank Sommen

## **Redundant Multiscale Haar Wavelet Transforms**

#### Kensuke Fujinoki

**Abstract** We consider a redundant lifting scheme for Haar wavelet transform that does not use the polyphase decomposition. We also extend the method to a twodimensional triangular lattice, and define a nonseparable two-dimensional redundant Haar wavelet transform on the lattice.

Keywords Wavelets · Lifting scheme · Redundant transform

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 42C40 · Secondary 65T00

## 1 Introduction

The lifting scheme of Sweldens [1, 2] has been widely used in a range of applications, as it can provide a particularly easy way to construct perfect reconstruction filters that are defined even on general domains such as irregular grids over arbitrary surfaces [3, 4]. In particular, any discrete wavelet transform with finite impulse response filters can be decomposed into a finite sequence of simple lifting steps [5]. The computation of the wavelet decomposition or reconstruction implemented via the lifting is efficient and thus fast, because it uses the polyphase decomposition that divides a one-dimensional discrete signal into even and odd components, which is also called decimation or downsampling by a factor of two [6]. However, due to the nature of the polyphase decomposition, this leads to a large number of artifacts when the signal is reconstructed after modification of its wavelet coefficients. In this paper, we consider a redundant lifting scheme for Haar wavelet transform that does not use the polyphase decomposition in both one and two dimensions.

### 2 Haar Wavelet Transform with Lifting

For a discrete one-dimensional signal  $c_j[k]$ ,  $k, j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with a resolution level  $j \ge 0$ , the lifting first splits the signal into even indexed samples  $c_j[2k]$  and odd indexed

K. Fujinoki (🖂)

4-1-1 Kitakaname, Hiratsuka, Kanagawa 259-1292, Japan e-mail: fujinoki@tokai-u.jp

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_49

samples  $c_j[2k + 1]$ , which are completely disjoint components each other. The odd indexed component  $c_j[2k + 1]$  is predicted by the constant prediction that only uses the even indexed component  $c_j[2k]$ , and  $c_j[2k+1]$  is replaced as a detail component  $d_{j+1}[k]$  which is the error of the prediction:

$$c_j[2k+1] \to d_{j+1}[k] = c_j[2k+1] - c_j[2k].$$
 (2.1)

Then the even indexed component  $c_j[2k]$  is updated to a coarse component  $c_{j+1}[k]$  by using  $c_j[2k]$  and results of the prediction  $d_{j+1}[k]$ :

$$c_j[2k] \to c_{j+1}[k] = c_j[2k] + \frac{d_{j+1}[k]}{2}.$$
 (2.2)

Finally the outputs  $c_{j+1}[k]$  and  $d_{j+1}[k]$  are rescaled by  $\sqrt{2}$  and  $1/\sqrt{2}$  respectively, if we need the energy normalization of the coefficients  $||c_j||^2 = ||c_{j+1}||^2 + ||d_{j+1}||^2$ .

These lifting steps are easily inverted by undoing each update and predict step with flipping the sign:

$$c_{j}[2k] = c_{j+1}[k] - \frac{d_{j+1}[k]}{2},$$

$$c_{j}[2k+1] = d_{j+1}[k] + c_{j}[2k].$$
(2.3)

One can see the efficiency of the lifting against the direct implementation by the Mallat algorithm [7],

$$c_{j+1}[k] = \sum_{l} h[l-2k]c_{j}[l],$$

$$d_{j+1}[k] = \sum_{l} g[l-2k]c_{j}[l],$$
(2.4)

$$c_{j}[k] = \sum_{l} \left( \tilde{h}[k-2l]c_{j+1}[l] + \tilde{g}[k-2l]d_{j+1}[l] \right),$$
(2.5)

with filters  $h[k] = \tilde{h}[k] = \{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}$  and  $g[k] = \tilde{g}[k] = \{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\}.$ 

## **3 Redundant Haar Lifting**

The redundant lifting scheme that we consider here does not use the split step, which means that there is no distinction between even and odd indexed components. In our redundant scheme, the  $c_j[k]$  is treated as an even-like component and  $c_j[k + 2^j]$  as an odd-like component, in stead of the even  $c_j[2k]$  and the odd  $c_j[2k + 1]$ . The redundant version of the constant prediction (2.1) now becomes simply

$$d_{j+1}[k] = c_j[k+2^j] - c_j[k], \qquad (3.1)$$



where *j* starts from 0. Note that the index of the odd component  $c_j[k + 2^j]$  varies depending on the resolution level *j*. A similar setting that we use here for the odd component  $c_j[k + 2^j]$  can also be seen in the à trous algorithm [8, 9] that realizes the undecimated Mallat transform. The redundant lilting described here is different from that of [10], which apply twice the step of predict and update to implement the redundant transform.

The update step (2.2) is then written as

$$c_{j+1}[k] = c_j[k] + \frac{d_{j+1}[k]}{2}.$$
(3.2)

In the case of the normal lifting, undoing each lifting step (2.3) yields the original signal of  $c_j[2k]$  and  $c_j[2k+1]$ . However, in the redundant case, since the even-like component  $c_j[k]$  also contains the odd-like component  $c_j[k+2^j]$ , we can recover the original signal  $c_j[k]$  only reverting the update step:

$$c_{j}[k] = c_{j+1}[k] - \frac{d_{j+1}[k]}{2},$$
(3.3)

which implies that we have a higher degree of freedom when designing the synthesis filters.

Figure 1 shows the redundant lifting for the constant prediction compared with the standard lifting. Unlike in the standard prediction, one can recognize that the resolution of each decomposed signal  $c_{j+1}[k]$  and  $d_{j+1}[k]$  is maintained in the redundant lifting. Furthermore, this redundancy enables to build the discrete wavelet transform with translation-invariant property. It also makes the reconstruction robust to the ringing artifact, which can be very important in some applications such as feature analysis [11].

#### 4 Haar Lifting on the Triangular Lattice

The triangular wavelets [12, 13] are defined on a triangular lattice  $\Lambda$  generated by a linear combination of two vectors  $\mathbf{t}_1 = (1 \ 0)^T$  and  $\mathbf{t}_2 = (-\frac{1}{2} \ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2})^T$ . The reciprocal lattice  $\Lambda$  that corresponds to the Fourier domain is similarly generated with vectors  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 = (0 \ \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}})^T$  and  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 = (1 \ \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}})^T$ . We also define  $\mathbf{t}_0 = \mathbf{0}$ ,  $\mathbf{t}_3 = -\mathbf{t}_1 - \mathbf{t}_2$ , and  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_3 = \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2$  for notational convenience.

A discrete signal,  $c_j[t], t \in \Lambda$  defined on the lattice, is represented with its four polyphase components in the Fourier domain as

$$\hat{c}_{m,j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{t} \in \Lambda} c_j [2\boldsymbol{t} + \boldsymbol{t}_m] e^{-i\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{t}}, \quad m = 0, 1, 2, 3, \ \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

This implies that we have one even component  $c_j[2t]$  and three odd components  $c_j[2t + t_k]$ , k = 1, 2, 3. Note that in one dimension there only exist one even  $c_j[2k]$  and one odd  $c_j[2k + 1]$  components.

Correspondingly, a straightforward generalization of the wavelet transform shows that a signal  $c_j[t]$  is decomposed into a coarse component  $c_{j+1}[t]$  and three detail components  $d_{k,j+1}[t]$ , k = 1, 2, 3, of half a resolution. This can be written via the lifting form generalized to two dimension; in the Haar case, three detail components are obtained using three constant predictions for each direction  $t_k$ :

$$d_{k,j+1}[t] = c_j[2t+t_k] - c_j[2t], \quad k = 1, 2, 3,$$
(4.1)

and a coarse component is given by using the results of each prediction:

$$c_{j+1}[t] = c_j[2t] + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} d_{k,j+1}[t], \qquad (4.2)$$

which preserves the average of a two-dimensional signal. Finally the normalization steps are applied for energy normalization. Repeating the procedures of the predict (4.1) and the update (4.2) steps up to a resolution level L > j produces the following multiscale coefficients

$$c_j[t] \rightarrow \{d_{k,j+1}[t], d_{k,j+2}[t], \dots, d_{k,L}[t], c_L[t]\}, k = 1, 2, 3.$$

Analogous to the one-dimensional case, we can also build the update and predict for the inverse transform, which can be written respectively as

$$c_j[2t] = c_{j+1}[t] - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} d_{k,j+1}[t],$$

and

$$c_i[2t + t_k] = d_{k,i+1}[t] + c_i[2t], \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$
This lifting representation of the two-dimensional wavelet decomposition on the lattice  $\Lambda$  corresponds to the Mallat algorithm (2.4) and (2.5) generalized to two dimension, which is the convolutions with four filters followed by downsampling:

$$c_{j+1}[t] = \sum_{s \in \Lambda} h[s - 2t]c_j[s],$$
$$d_{k,j+1}[t] = \sum_{s \in \Lambda} g_k[s - 2t]c_j[s].$$

The reconstruction of the signal is

$$c_{j}[t] = \sum_{s \in \Lambda} \left( \tilde{h}[t-2s]c_{j+1}[s] + \sum_{k=1}^{3} \tilde{g}_{k}[t-2s]d_{k,j+1}[s] \right),$$

where the filter coefficients of the system  $(h, g_k, \tilde{h}, \tilde{g}_k), k = 1, 2, 3$  are given in [12].

#### **5** Redundant Haar Lifting on the Lattice

The original lifting on the lattice, which is described before, uses the polyphase decomposition that classifies a signal  $c_j[t]$  into even  $c_j[2t]$  and three odd components  $c_j[2t + t_k]$ , k = 1, 2, 3. As a result, each polyphase component has half a resolution compared with the original signal. As we see in one dimension, the redundant lifting does not use the polyphase decomposition, or decimation. We now define an even-like component  $c_j[t]$  and three odd-like components  $c_j[t + 2^j t_k]$ , k = 1, 2, 3, in a similar manner to the one dimensional case. Thus, in the case of the two-dimensional redundant Haar transform on the lattice  $\Lambda$ , which uses the constant prediction, the steps can be rewritten in a straightforward way:

$$d_{k,j+1}[t] = c_j[t+2^j t_k] - c_j[t], \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.1)

The update is similarly written as

$$c_{j+1}[t] = c_j[t] + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} d_{k,j+1}[t].$$
(5.2)

In the one-dimensional redundant lifting, the nature of the lifting has not changed without dropping the split operation that decomposes a signal into even and odd components. Due to the redundancy, the reconstruction of the signal becomes much more easier as in (3.3). Thus, we can still build the inverse transform in two dimension by undoing the update lifting steps:

$$c_j[t] = c_{j+1}[t] - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} d_{k,j+1}[t].$$

Here we describe how the redundant lifting decomposes an image. Note that the original squared sampled image data has been mapped to the triangular lattice  $\Lambda$  by



**Fig. 2** Decomposed images of Cameraman with the redundant Haar lifting on the triangular lattice  $\Lambda$ . From the left, detail components  $d_{1,j}$ ,  $d_{2,j}$ , and  $d_{3,j}$  are shown. Images on the *upper row* have resolution level j + 1, and *middle* and *lower ones* have j + 2 and j + 3, respectively, while all of the images have the same resolution density

using the half-shift pixel method [14]. By the redundant lifting, the original image has been decomposed into a coarse approximation  $c_{j+1}[t]$  and three oriented detail components  $d_{k,j+1}[t]$ , k = 1, 2, 3 at each resolution level. Due to the nature of the redundant transform, all the decomposed images have the same resolution density. This redundancy would offer several advantages against the conventional wavelet decomposition for some applications such as edge detection or feature analysis of an image, where translation-invariant property plays a key role (Fig. 2).

### References

1. W. Sweldens, The lifting scheme: a custom-design construction of biorthogonal wavelets. Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. **3**(2), 186–200 (1996)

- W. Sweldens, The lifting scheme: a construction of second generation wavelets. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 29(2), 511–546 (1997)
- 3. P. Schröder, W. Sweldens, Spherical wavelets: efficiently representing functions on the sphere, in *Computer Graphics Proceedings (SIGGRAPH95)* (1995), pp. 161–172
- A. Khodakovsky, P. Schröder, W. Sweldens, Progressive geometry compression, in *Computer Graphics Proceedings (SIGGRAPH 2000)* (2000), pp. 271–278
- I. Daubechies, W. Sweldens, Factoring wavelet transforms into lifting steps. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 4(3), 247–269 (1998)
- W. Sweldens, P. Schröder, Building your own wavelets at home, in ACM SIGGRAPH Course Notes (1996)
- S. Mallat, A Wavelet Tour of Signal Processing: The Sparse Way, 3rd edn. (Academic Press, San Diego, 2008)
- 8. M.J. Shensa, Discrete wavelet transforms: wedding the à trous and Mallat algorithms. IEEE Trans. Signal Process. **40**, 2464–2482 (1992)
- 9. M. Holschneider, R. Kronland-Martinet, J. Morlet, P. Tchamichian, A real-time algorithm for signal analysis with the help of the wavelet transform, in *Wavelets, Time-Frequency Methods and Phase Space* (1989)
- R. Claypoole, R. Baraniuk, R. Nowak, Adaptive wavelet transform via lifting. ECE TR 9304 (1999)
- D.G. Lowe, Distinctive image features from scale-invariant keypoints. Int. J. Comput. Vis. 60(2), 91–110 (2004)
- K. Fujinoki, O.V. Vasilyev, Triangular wavelets: an isotropic image representation with hexagonal symmetry. Int. J. Image Video Process. 2009, 248581 (2009). 16 pp.
- 13. S. Sakakibara, O.V. Vasilyev, Construction of triangular biorthogonal wavelet filters for isotropic image processing, in *EUSIPCO2006, Florence, Italy, September* (2006)
- A. Laine, S. Schuler, Hexagonal wavelet processing of digital mammography, in *Proceedings* of SPIE, vol. 1898 (1993)

# Gabor Transform of Analytic Functional on the Sphere

Keiko Fujita

**Abstract** We studied the Fourier–Borel transform of analytic functional on the complex sphere. In this paper, we will consider the Gabor transformation which is a windowed Fourier transformation whose window function is the Gaussian function. Following our previous results we will represent the Gabor transform of analytic functional on the sphere using a series expansion by means of the Bessel functions.

**Keywords** Series expansion · Analytic functional on the sphere · Gabor transformation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 41A58 · Secondary 46F15

### **1** Introduction

We denote by  $L^2(X)$  the space of square integrable functions on X. The Fourier transform of  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$  is defined by

$$\hat{f}(\omega) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} e^{-ix\cdot\omega} \overline{f(x)} dx,$$

where  $x \cdot y = x_1y_1 + \cdots + x_{n+1}y_{n+1}$  for  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . Let w be a window function on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ ; that is,  $w(t), tw(t), \omega \hat{w}(\omega) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ . The windowed Fourier transform with respect to w is defined by

$$\mathcal{WF}f(y,\omega) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} w(x-y)e^{-ix\cdot\omega}\overline{f(x)}dx.$$

This work was partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers (C)23540146.

K. Fujita (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, University of Toyama, Toyama 930-8555, Japan e-mail: keiko@sci.u-toyama.ac.jp

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_50

We denote by  $x^2 = x \cdot x$ . Take  $w(x) = e^{-x^2/2}$ , then we call

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F} f(y, \omega) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} e^{-(x-y)^2/2} e^{-ix \cdot \omega} \overline{f(x)} dx$$

the Gabor transform of f.

Let  $\mathbf{R}_+ = \{x \in \mathbf{R}; x > 0\}$ . Put  $G_{\omega_0}(x) = e^{-x^2/2}e^{-ix\cdot\omega_0}$  for  $\omega_0 \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$ . For  $a \in \mathbf{R}_+$ , we define the Gabor wavelet transform by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}f(y,a) = a^{-(n+1)/2} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{n+1}} G_{\omega_0}\left(\frac{x-y}{a}\right) \overline{f(x)} dx$$

Let  $S^n$  be the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . For  $f \in L^2(S^n)$ , we define the Fourier transform by

$$\mathcal{F}f(\omega) = \int_{S^n} e^{-ix\cdot\omega} \overline{f(x)} d\Omega,$$

where  $d\Omega$  is the normalized invariant measure on  $S^n$ , and define the Gabor transform by

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F} f(y, \omega) = \int_{S^n} e^{-(x-y)^2/2} e^{-ix \cdot \omega} \overline{f(x)} d\Omega.$$

Similarly we define the Gabor wavelet transform of  $f \in L^2(S^n)$  by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}f(y,a) = a^{-n/2} \int_{S^n} G_{\omega_0}\left(\frac{x-y}{a}\right) \overline{f(x)} d\Omega.$$

We remark that in [2], for a wavelet function g, which is a summable function on  $(0, \infty)$  and satisfies

$$\int_0^\infty g(t)dt = 0, \qquad \int_0^\infty \left| g(t) \log t \right| dt < \infty,$$

the "spherical" wavelet transform of f generated by g is defined by

$$\mathcal{W}f(y,a) = \frac{2^{(1-n/2)}}{a} \int_{S^n} (1-y \cdot x)^{(1-n/2)} g\left(\frac{1-y \cdot x}{a}\right) f(x) dx.$$

In this paper, we will represent  $W_G \mathcal{F} f(y, \omega)$  or  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0} f(y, a)$  using a series expansion by means of the Bessel functions following our previous results summarized in the book [1], and references can be found in [1].

### 2 Gabor Transform of Analytic Functional on the Sphere

We denote by  $\mathcal{A}(S^n)$  the space of real analytic functions on  $S^n$ , by  $\mathcal{A}'(S^n)$  the space of analytic functionals (or hyperfunctions) on  $S^n$ . Let  $\langle T, g \rangle$  be the canonical

bilinear form of duality on  $\mathcal{A}'(S^n) \times \mathcal{A}(S^n)$ . For continuous functions f and g on  $S^n$ , we define a sesquilinear form  $(g, f)_{S^n}$  by

$$(g, f)_{S^n} \equiv \int_{S^n} g(\omega) \overline{f(\omega)} d\Omega.$$

We know the volume of  $S^n$ ;  $vol(S^n) = 2\pi^{(n+1)/2} / \Gamma((n+1)/2)$ , where  $\Gamma(\cdot)$  is the Gamma function.

From now on,  $L^2(S^n)$  denotes the space of square integrable functions on  $S^n$  with the inner product  $(f, g)_{L^2(S^n)} = (f, g)_{S^n}$  and we introduce the norm by  $\|f\|_{L^2(S^n)} = \sqrt{(f, f)_{S^n}}$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}(S^n) \subset L^2(S^n) \subset \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ , for  $f \in L^2(S^n)$  we define  $T_f \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$  by

$$\langle T_f, g \rangle = (g, f)_{S^n} = \int_{S^n} g(x) \overline{f(x)} d\Omega, \quad g \in \mathcal{A}(S^n).$$
 (2.1)

Note the mapping  $f \mapsto T_f$  is a continuous antilinear injection.

### 2.1 Gabor Transformation

Let  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ . We will define the Fourier–Borel transform of T by

$$\mathcal{F}T(\omega) = \langle T_x, \exp(-ix \cdot \omega) \rangle, \quad \omega \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}.$$

Note that we defined  $\mathcal{F}T(\omega) = \langle T_x, \exp(x \cdot \omega) \rangle$  in [1].

For  $\omega, \tau \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ , we define the Gabor transformation  $\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}$  by

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}: T \mapsto \mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau, \omega) = \langle T_x, \exp(-(x-\tau)^2/2) \exp(-ix \cdot \omega) \rangle.$$

Since  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ ,

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega) = \exp\left(\left(-1-\tau^2\right)/2\right) \langle T_x, \exp\left(x \cdot (\tau-i\omega)\right) \rangle$$
(2.2)

$$= \exp((-1-\tau^2)/2) \langle e^{x \cdot \tau} T_x, \exp(-ix \cdot \omega) \rangle.$$
(2.3)

As a function in  $\omega$ ,  $\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau, \omega)$  satisfies the following differential equation:

$$(\Delta_{\omega} + 1)\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau, \omega) = 0,$$

where  $\Delta_z = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_1^2} + \dots + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_{n+1}^2}$  for  $z = (z_1, \dots, z_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  is the complex Laplacian. Similarly, as a function in  $\tau$ ,

$$(\Delta_{\tau} - 1) \left( e^{(1+\tau^2)/2} \mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F} T(\tau, \omega) \right) = 0.$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{F}_{S}^{-1}$  (resp.,  $(\mathcal{W}_{G}\mathcal{F})_{S}^{-1}$ ) the inverse mapping of  $\mathcal{F}$  (resp.,  $\mathcal{W}_{G}\mathcal{F}$ ) for  $\mathcal{A}'(S^{n})$ . Then we have

$$e^{(1+\tau^2)/2}\mathcal{F}_S^{-1}\big(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega)\big)(x)=e^{x\cdot\tau}T_x.$$

Therefore we have

$$(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F})_S^{-1}\big(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega)\big)(x) = e^{-x\cdot\tau + (1+\tau^2)/2}\mathcal{F}_S^{-1}\big(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega)\big)(x).$$

That is, the inverse Gabor transformation on  $S^n$  is given by

$$(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F})_S^{-1}:\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega)\mapsto e^{-x\cdot\tau+(1+\tau^2)/2}\big(\mathcal{F}_S^{-1}\big(\mathcal{W}_G\mathcal{F}T(\tau,\cdot)\big)(x)\big),\quad x\in S^n.$$

### **3** Expansion Formula

Let  $P_{k,n}(t)$  be the Legendre polynomial of degree k and of dimension n + 1:

$$P_{k,n}(t) = \left(\frac{-1}{2}\right)^2 \frac{\Gamma(n/2)}{\Gamma(k+n/2)} \left(1-t^2\right)^{(2-n)/2} \frac{d^k}{dt^k} \left(1-t^2\right)^{k+(n-2)/2}$$

Note that  $P_{k,1}(t) = \cos(k \cos^{-1} t)$  is the Chebyshev polynomial of degree *k*.

We define the extended Legendre polynomial by

$$P_{k,n}(z,w) = \left(\sqrt{z^2}\right)^k \left(\sqrt{w^2}\right)^k P_{k,n}\left(\frac{z}{\sqrt{z^2}} \cdot \frac{w}{\sqrt{w^2}}\right), \quad z,w \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}.$$

 $P_{k,n}(z, w)$  is a homogeneous harmonic polynomial of degree k in z and in w. Thus  $\Delta_z P_{k,n}(z, w) = \Delta_w P_{k,n}(z, w) = 0$ . The dimension N(k, n) of the space of k-homogeneous harmonic polynomials is given by

$$N(k,n) = \frac{(2k+n-1)(k+n-2)!}{k!(n-1)!}$$

For  $f \in L^2(S^n)$ , define

$$f_k(x) = N(k, n) \int_{S^n} f(\omega) P_{k, n}(\omega, x) d\omega.$$
(3.1)

Then we have

$$f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k(x),$$
 (3.2)

in the sense of  $L^2(S^n)$ . If  $f \in \mathcal{A}(S^n)$ , then the convergence of the right-hand side of (3.2) is in the sense of  $\mathcal{A}(S^n)$ .

Let  $g \in \mathcal{A}(S^n)$  and define  $g_k$  of g by (3.1). For  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$  we consider

$$\langle T, g \rangle = \left\langle T, \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} g_k \right\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \langle T, g_k \rangle.$$
 (3.3)

By (3.1), we have

$$\langle T, g_k \rangle = \left\langle T_{\zeta}, N(k, n) \int_{S^n} g(\omega) P_{k,n}(\omega, \zeta) d\omega \right\rangle$$
  
=  $N(k, n) \int_{S^n} \langle T_{\zeta}, P_{k,n}(\omega, \zeta) \rangle g(\omega) d\Omega$   
=  $\int_{S^n} g(\omega) \overline{S_k(T; \omega)} d\Omega,$  (3.4)

where we put

$$S_k(T;\omega) = N(k,n) \overline{\langle T_{\zeta}, P_{k,n}(\omega,\zeta) \rangle}.$$

For  $f \in L^2(S^n)$ , by (2.1) we have

$$S_k(T_f;\omega) = N(k,n) \int_{S^n} P_{k,n}(\omega,x) \overline{f(x)} d\Omega$$
$$= N(k,n) \int_{S^n} P_{k,n}(\omega,x) f(x) d\Omega = f_k(\omega).$$

Note that  $\overline{S_k(T; \omega)}$  is a homogeneous harmonic polynomial of degree k. By (3.3) and (3.4), we have

$$\langle T,g\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{S^n} g(\omega) \overline{S_k(T;\omega)} d\Omega;$$

that is,

$$T_{\omega} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} S_k(T; \omega) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} N(k, n) \overline{\langle T_{\zeta}, P_{k,n}(\omega, \zeta) \rangle}$$

in the sense of  $\mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ .

# 3.1 Expansion Formula of the Exponential Function

For  $\nu \neq -1, -2, \ldots$ , we define the Bessel function of order  $\nu$  by

$$J_{\nu}(t) = \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{\nu} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l! \Gamma(\nu+l+1)} \left(\frac{it}{2}\right)^{2l}.$$

We put

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_{\nu}(t) &= \Gamma(\nu+1) \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{-\nu} J_{\nu}(t), \qquad \tilde{j}_{k}(t) = \tilde{J}_{k+(n-1)/2}(t), \\ C(k,n) &= \frac{\Gamma(\frac{n+1}{2})}{2^{k} \Gamma(k+\frac{n+1}{2})}. \end{split}$$

Using these notation we have

$$\exp(z \cdot w) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k, n) N(k, n) \tilde{j}_k \left( i \sqrt{z^2} \sqrt{w^2} \right) P_{k, n}(z, w).$$
(3.5)

Thus for  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{F}T(\omega) = \langle T_x, \exp(-ix \cdot \omega) \rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k, n) (-i)^k \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{\omega^2}\right) \overline{S_k(T; \omega)}.$$
 (3.6)

# 3.2 Expansion Formula of Gabor Transform

By (2.3) and (3.6), for  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$  we have

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega) = e^{(-1-\tau^2)/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k,n)(-i)^k \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{\omega^2}\right) \overline{S_k(e^{x\cdot\tau}T;\omega)}.$$
 (3.7)

On the other hand, by (2.2) and (3.5), we also have

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T(\tau,\omega) = e^{\frac{-1-\tau^2}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k,n)(-i)^k \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{(\tau-i\omega)^2}\right) \overline{S_k(T;\tau-i\omega)}.$$
 (3.8)

For  $f \in L^2(S^n)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F} T_f(\tau, \omega) = e^{\frac{-1-\tau^2}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k, n) (-i)^k \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{(\tau - i\omega)^2}\right) \overline{f_k}(\tau - i\omega).$$
(3.9)

Put

$$\left(e^{x\cdot\tau}\overline{f}(x)\right)_k(\omega) = N(k,n)\int_{S^n}e^{x\cdot\tau}\overline{f(x)}P_{k,n}(\omega,x)d\Omega$$

Then we also have

$$\mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F} T_f(\tau,\omega) = e^{\frac{-1-\tau^2}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k,n)(-i)^k \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{\omega^2}\right) \left(e^{x\cdot\tau} \overline{f}(x)\right)_k(\omega).$$
(3.10)

Thus (3.7)–(3.10) give series expansions of Gabor transform of analytic functional on  $S^n$  by means of the Bessel functions.

For example, consider the case that  $f_{\zeta_0}(x) = e^{ix \cdot \zeta_0} \in L^2(S^n)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}T_{f_{\zeta_0}}(\omega) \\ &= \int_{S^n} \exp(-ix \cdot \omega) \overline{\exp(ix \cdot \zeta_0)} d\Omega \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k,n)^2 (-1)^k N(k,n) \tilde{j}_k \left(\sqrt{\omega^2}\right) \overline{\tilde{j}_k} \left(\sqrt{\zeta_0^2}\right) P_{k,n}(\overline{\zeta_0},\omega), \\ \mathcal{W}_G \mathcal{F}T_{f_{\zeta_0}}(\tau,\omega) \\ &= e^{(-1-\tau^2)/2} \int_{S^n} \exp(x \cdot \omega) \exp(x \cdot \tau) \overline{\exp(x \cdot \zeta_0)} d\Omega \\ &= e^{\frac{-1-\tau^2}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} C(k,n)^2 N(k,n) \tilde{j}_k \left(i\sqrt{\omega^2}\right) \tilde{j}_k \left(i\sqrt{\tau + \overline{\zeta_0}^2}\right) P_{k,n}(\tau + \overline{\zeta_0},\omega). \end{aligned}$$

## 3.3 Gabor Wavelet Transformation and Expansion Formula

Let  $\omega_0 \neq 0 \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1}$  be fixed. For  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{R}_+$  and  $\tau \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1}$ , we define a modified Gabor transformation  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}$  by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}: T \mapsto \mathcal{G}_{\omega_0} T(\tau, a)$$

$$= \left\langle T_x, a^{-\frac{n}{2}} G_{\omega_0} \left( \frac{x - \tau}{a} \right) \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle T_x, a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left( -i\omega_0 \cdot \frac{x - \tau}{a} \right) \exp\left( -\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{x - \tau}{a} \right)^2 \right) \right\rangle.$$

Since  $T \in \mathcal{A}'(S^n)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}T(\tau,a) = a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1+\tau^2 - 2ai\tau \cdot \omega_0}{2a^2}\right) \left\langle T_x, \exp\left(\frac{x}{a} \cdot \frac{\tau - ai\omega_0}{a}\right) \right\rangle$$
$$= a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{\tau^2 - 2ai\tau \cdot \omega_0 + 1}{2a^2}\right) \left\langle \exp\left(\frac{x}{a} \cdot \frac{\tau}{a}\right) T_x, \exp\left(\frac{-ix \cdot \omega_0}{a}\right) \right\rangle.$$

By (3.5), we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0}T(a,\tau) = a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1+\tau^2 - 2ai\tau \cdot \omega_0}{2a^2}\right)$$
$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^k C(k,n)}{a^k} \tilde{j}_k\left(\frac{\sqrt{\omega_0^2}}{a^2}\right) \overline{S_k\left(e^{x\cdot\tau/a^2}T_x;\omega_0\right)}$$

$$= a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1+\tau^2-2ai\tau\cdot\omega_0}{2a^2}\right)$$
$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{C(k,n)}{a^{2k}} \tilde{j}_k \left(\frac{i\sqrt{(\tau-ai\omega_0)^2}}{a^2}\right) \overline{S_k(T_x;\tau-ia\omega_0)}.$$

For  $f \in L^2(S^n)$ , we call

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0} T_f(\tau, a) = a^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-(1+\tau^2 - 2ai\tau \cdot \omega_0)/(2a^2)} \int_{S^n} \exp\left(\frac{x}{a} \cdot \frac{\tau - ai\omega_0}{a}\right) \overline{f(x)} d\Omega$$

the Gabor wavelet transform of f. Then we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\omega_0} T_f(a,\tau) = a^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1+\tau^2 - 2ai\tau \cdot \omega_0}{2a^2}\right)$$
$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{C(k,n)}{a^{2k}} \tilde{j}_k \left(\frac{i\sqrt{(\tau - ai\omega_0)^2}}{a^2}\right) \overline{f_k} (\tau - ia\omega_0).$$

This is the series expansions of the Gabor wavelet transform of  $f \in L^2(S^n)$  by means of the Bessel functions.

## References

- M. Morimoto, Analytic Functionals on the Sphere. Translation of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 178 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1998)
- 2. B. Rubin, *Fractional Integrals and Potentials*. Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 82 (Longman, Harlow, 1996)

# On the Interpolation of Orthonormal Wavelets with Compact Support

Naohiro Fukuda and Tamotu Kinoshita

**Abstract** The *N*-th order Daubechies wavelet is obtained with the spectral decomposition method from modulus of associated low-pass filters  $M(\xi) = |m_0(\xi)|^2$ . Meanwhile, we can denote  $M(\xi)$  with the integration. In this paper, we focus on integrands and construct some wavelets by changing them. Moreover, we construct some kind of fractional order wavelets and give regularity estimates of them.

Keywords Wavelets · B-splines · Fractional order

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 65T60

### 1 Introduction

The wavelet theory is applied in many areas such as signal or image processing. Completion of the multiresolution analysis (MRA) makes the construction of wavelets easy and yields wavelets with good properties.

The compact support property of wavelets is very important for some applications. If a wavelet  $\psi$  has a compact support (i.e., associated filter  $\{h_n\}_n$  is finite), we can perform computations with high accuracy. The simplest type of such a wavelet is the Haar wavelet. Ingrid Daubechies [1] constructed a family of compactly supported wavelets  $\psi_n^D$ , which are called the Daubechies wavelets and have *n* vanishing moments. A wavelet whose scaling function also has vanishing moments is called coiflet.

There are two approaches for constructing orthonormal wavelets: start with a low-pass filter  $m_0$ , or start with a scaling function  $\varphi$ . In particular, the Daubechies family (including coiflet or symlet) is constructed from  $M(\xi) = |m_0(\xi)|^2$ , and  $m_0(\xi)$ 

N. Fukuda (🖾) · T. Kinoshita

Institute of Mathematics, University of Tsukuba, 1-1-1 Tennodai, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8571, Japan

e-mail: naohiro-f@math.tsukuba.ac.jp

T. Kinoshita e-mail: kinosita@math.tsukuba.ac.jp

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_51

are derived from  $M(\xi)$  by using the spectral decomposition. In the case when *N*-th order Daubechies wavelet,  $M(\xi) = M_N(\xi)$  is given by

$$M_N(\xi) = \left(\cos^2\frac{\xi}{2}\right)^N L_N(\xi),\tag{1.1}$$

where  $L_N(\xi) = P_N(\sin^2 \xi/2)$  with

$$P_N(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} {N-1+k \choose k} y^k.$$

There are several ways for the spectral decomposition to get a low-pass filter  $m_0$ . Especially, Daubechies wavelets have minimum-phase filters. In this paper, we treat another expression of  $M(\xi)$  and construct various wavelets.

### **2** Construction Through the Integration

For the construction of Daubechies wavelets, (1.1) has the simpler form

$$M_N(\xi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} (1-t^2)^{N-1} dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} (1-t^2)^{N-1} dt}.$$
(2.1)

Now we shall deal with a more general form. We set function  $M(\xi)$  with a real-valued function  $p(t) \in L^1(-1, 1)$  by

$$M(\xi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} p(t)dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} p(t)dt}.$$
(2.2)

Then, the next proposition shows that  $M(\xi)$  is a "good candidate" for a low-pass filter  $m_0$  such that  $|m_0(\xi)|^2 = M(\xi)$ .

**Proposition 2.1**  $M(\xi)$  defined by (2.2) with a real-valued even function  $p \in L^1(-1, 1)$  satisfies

$$M(0) = 1$$
 (2.3)

and

$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + \pi) = 1.$$
(2.4)

*Proof* Equation (2.3) is obvious. Noting that p(t) is even, we see that

$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + \pi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} p(t)dt + \int_{-1}^{-\cos\xi} p(t)dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} p(t)dt}$$
$$= \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} p(t)dt + \int_{\cos\xi}^{1} p(t)dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} p(t)dt} = 1.$$

Proposition 2.1 means that a function  $m_0$  such that  $|m_0(\xi)|^2 = M(\xi)$  satisfies  $|m_0(0)| = 1$  and  $|m_0(\xi)|^2 + |m_0(\xi + \pi)|^2 = 1$  which are necessary conditions for an orthonormal wavelet. To construct an orthonormal wavelet,  $m_0(\xi)$  should satisfy an additional condition as the next lemma [5].

**Lemma 2.2** Assume that  $m_0(\xi) \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic function and satisfies  $m_0(0) = 1$  and  $|m_0(\xi)|^2 + |m_0(\xi + \pi)|^2 = 1$ . If  $m_0(\xi) \neq 0$  for all  $\xi \in [-\pi/3, \pi/3]$ , then  $m_0$  is a low-pass filter for an orthonormal wavelet.

For instance, in the case when  $\int_{-1}^{1} p(t)dt > 0$ , if  $p(t) \ge 0$  for all  $t \in [1/2, 1]$ ,  $M(\xi)$  satisfies all the conditions of Lemma 2.2.

*Example 1* The simplest choice p(t) = 1 gives the Haar wavelet. This corresponds to first order Daubechies wavelet (i.e., N = 1 in (2.1)).

*Example 2* Let us set  $p(t) = \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}t)$ . We then obtain  $M(\xi) = \cos^2(\frac{\pi}{2}\sin^2\frac{\xi}{2})$ . Resulting low-pass filter  $m_0(\xi) = \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}\sin^2\frac{\xi}{2})$  is a low-pass filter for an orthonormal wavelet. Reference [3] derived this wavelet by another idea.

### **3** Fractional Order Wavelets

Let  $p_1, p_2 \in L^1(-1, 1)$  be integrands for  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ , respectively, i.e., we put

$$M_1(\xi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} p_1(t)dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} p_1(t)dt} \quad \text{and} \quad M_2(\xi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} p_2(t)dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} p_2(t)dt}.$$

It is easy to check that for  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $a + b \neq 0$ ,  $M(\xi) = \frac{aM_1(\xi) + bM_2(\xi)}{a+b}$  also satisfies (2.3) and (2.4). Putting  $a = 1 - \alpha$  and  $b = \alpha$  for  $0 < \alpha < 1$  and define

$$M = (1 - \alpha)M_1 + \alpha M_2.$$
 (3.1)

In some sense, M can be regarded to divide internally  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  in ratio  $\alpha : 1 - \alpha$ .

### 3.1 Fractional Order Daubechies Wavelets

As we already noted that the integrand  $p(t) = (1 - t)^{N-1}$  gives the Daubechies wavelet of order N. We therefore define for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $0 < \alpha < 1$ 

$$M_{N+\alpha}^{\rm D}(\xi) = (1-\alpha) \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} (1-t^2)^{N-1} dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} (1-t^2)^{N-1} dt} + \alpha \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} (1-t^2)^N dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} (1-t^2)^N dt}.$$





Similarly as the standard Daubechies wavelets,  $M_{N+\alpha}^{\rm D}(\xi)$  is a finite-degree polynomial of  $\cos \xi$ . This means that it is possible to apply the Riesz lemma for the spectral decomposition. In the same way as the standard Daubechies wavelets, we obtain an appropriate low-pass filter and call it the low-pass filter associated with the  $(N + \alpha)$ -th fractional order Daubechies wavelet.

Generally, the order of vanishing moments of a wavelet  $\psi$  can be calculated from its low-pass filter  $m_0$ . If  $m_0(\xi + \pi) = \mathcal{O}(\xi^n)$ , then  $\psi$  has *n* vanishing moments. Since  $\frac{d}{d\xi} \int_{-1}^{\cos(\xi+\pi)} (1-t^2)^{N-1} dt = \sin^{2N-2}\xi$ ,  $(N + \alpha)$ -th fractional order Daubechies wavelet has *N* vanishing moments. In addition,  $M(\xi)$  is a (2N + 1)-th degree polynomial of  $\cos \xi$  and thus the support of the scaling function is equal to [0, 2N + 1]. We show the graphs of fractional order Daubechies scaling functions in Fig. 1.

### 3.2 Fractional Order B-Splines

B-spline functions having simple structures are often applied to numerical analysis. Let us denote  $N_n$  the *n*-th order B-spline, i.e.,  $N_1 = \chi_{[0,1)}$  and  $N_m = N_{m-1} * N_1$  for  $m \ge 2$ . They have many good properties such as the convolution property  $N_{k_1} * N_{k_2} = N_{k_1+k_2}, k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ , compact support, and positivity  $(N_m(x) \ge 0$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}, x \in \mathbb{R}$ ).

Uncer et al. [6] generalized the conventional B-splines  $N_n$  and constructed fractional order B-splines  $\phi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  for  $\alpha \ge 1$ . They succeeded to keep the convolution property, i.e., it holds that  $\phi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}} * \phi_{\beta}^{\text{B-sp}} = \phi_{\alpha+\beta}^{\text{B-sp}}$  for  $\alpha, \beta \ge 1$ . Meanwhile,  $\phi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$ ,  $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$  does not have a compact support and positivity. In this section, we introduce another version of fractional order B-spline functions by using (3.1).

For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the low-pass filter corresponding to the *n*-th order B-spline  $N_n$  is given by  $m_0(\xi) = (\frac{1+e^{-i\xi}}{2})^n$  and therefore  $M_n(\xi) = |m_0(\xi)|^2 = (\frac{1+\cos\xi}{2})^n$ . This leads to the definition of  $M_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  by

$$M_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}(\xi) = (1-\alpha)M_N(\xi) + \alpha M_{N+1}(\xi)$$
$$= \left(\frac{1+\cos\xi}{2}\right)^N \left(1-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{\alpha}{2}\cos\xi\right)$$



By using Riesz lemma, we obtain a low-pass filter

$$m_0(\xi) = \left(\frac{1+\sqrt{1-\alpha}}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1+e^{-i\xi}}{2}\right)^N \left(1+\frac{2-\alpha-2\sqrt{1-\alpha}}{\alpha}e^{-i\xi}\right).$$
 (3.2)

We call resulting scaling function  $\varphi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  defined by  $\widehat{\varphi}_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}(\xi) = \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} m_0(2^{-j}\xi)$  $(N + \alpha)$ -th order fractional order B-spline function. The graphs of fractional order B-spline function  $\varphi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  with  $1 \le N + \alpha \le 5$  are shown in Fig. 2.

*Remark 3.1* The integral expression of *n*-th order B-spline  $N_n$  is given by

$$M_n(\xi) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{\cos\xi} (1+t)^{n-1} dt}{\int_{-1}^{1} (1+t)^{n-1} dt}.$$

In this case, since  $N_n$  is not an orthonormal scaling function, the integrand  $(1+t)^{n-1}$  is not an even function and  $M_n$  does not satisfy (2.4).

Here we note that fractional order B-splines of our scheme do not keep the convolution property. However, for all  $N + \alpha$ ,  $\varphi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  has a compact support with support size N + 1 for  $\alpha \neq 0$ . Moreover, the positivity is also valid, since all filter coefficients corresponding to  $\varphi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  are positive (see (3.2)) and  $\varphi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  is the limit function of the cascade algorithm. Fractional order B-splines  $\phi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  in [6] are in the opposite situation;  $\phi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  has the convolution property, but fails to have a compact support and the positivity.

There are a few types of wavelets derived from B-splines  $\varphi_n = N_n$ . Setting a dual scaling function  $\tilde{\varphi}_n$  as

$$\widehat{\tilde{\varphi}_n}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{\varphi}_n(\xi)}{\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{\varphi}_n(\xi + 2k\pi)|^2}$$

forms a semi-orthogonal wavelet, and

$$\widehat{\phi_n^{\text{BT}}}(\xi) = \frac{\widehat{\varphi}_n(\xi)}{\sqrt{\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |\widehat{\varphi}_n(\xi + 2k\pi)|^2}}$$



Fig. 3 Fractional order Battle–Lemarié (a) and Strömberg scaling (b) scaling functions  $(1 \le N + \alpha \le 5)$ 

gives an orthonormal (Battle–Lemarié) wavelet. Moreover, by a suitable choice of  $A(\xi)$  such that  $|A_n(\xi)|^2 = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{\varphi}_n(\xi + 2k\pi)|^2$ , we are able to get the *n*-th order Strömberg scaling function  $\phi_n^{\text{St}}$  as

$$\widehat{\phi_n^{\text{St}}}(\xi) = \frac{\widehat{\varphi}_n(\xi)}{A_n(\xi)}.$$

For the choice of  $A(\xi)$ , refer to [4].

With a natural generalization, we can define fractional order semi-orthogonal wavelets, Battle–Lemarié wavelets  $\phi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{BL}}$  and Strömberg wavelets  $\phi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{St}}$  in a uniform manner. We show in Fig. 3 fractional order Battle–Lemarié and Strömberg scaling functions.

### **4** Regularity Estimate of Fractional Order Wavelets

There are some wavelet families with an order parameter *n*. In most cases, the smoothness of resulting wavelet increases with increasing *n*. It is well-known that Daubechies wavelets and Battle–Lemarié wavelets converge to the Shannon wavelet as order *n* tends to infinity. Daubechies [2] derived that *n*-th order Daubechies wavelet  $\psi_n^{\text{D}}$  belongs to  $C^{0.2n}$ , asymptotically. Moreover, sharp regularity estimates give  $\psi_1^{\text{D}} \in C^{0.5500}$ ,  $\psi_2^{\text{D}} \in C^{1.0878}$ ,  $\psi_3^{\text{D}} \in C^{1.6179}$ , and so on. These regularity estimate methods can also be applied to the case of fractional order wavelets. Figure 4(a) shows the regularity estimates for fractional order Daubechies wavelets. Additionally, in the case of fractional order B-splines, it is possible to obtain the Hölder exponents for any  $1 \le N + \alpha$ ;  $\varphi_{N+\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$  has the Hölder exponents  $N - 1 - \log_2(1 + \sqrt{1-\alpha})$  (see Fig. 4(b)).

### **5** Conclusion

In this paper, we introduced the construction of wavelets with integral expressions. If we set an integrand p(t) as a polynomial, resulting scaling function and wavelet



**Fig. 4** Regularity of  $(N + \alpha)$ -th order scaling functions

have a compact support. Moreover, by changing p(t), various types of wavelets are constructed. By interpolating two functions  $M_1$  and  $M_2$ , and using the spectral decomposition, we can construct fractional order wavelets. As an example, we treated fractional order Daubechies wavelets and B-spline wavelets. In the same way as conventional B-splines, from fractional order B-spline  $\varphi_{\alpha}^{\text{B-sp}}$ , we can also obtain dual, Battle–Lemarié, Strömberg scaling functions. Furthermore, we have seen that the smoothness of fractional order wavelets interpolates that of standard wavelets.

From these observations, we ensure that new wavelets are also useful for applications.

### References

- I. Daubechies, Orthonormal bases of compactly supported wavelets. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 41(7), 909–996 (1988)
- 2. I. Daubechies, *Ten Lectures on Wavelets* (Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, 1992)
- N. Fukuda, T. Kinoshita, On the construction of new families of wavelets. Jpn. J. Ind. Appl. Math. 29(1), 63–82 (2012)
- N. Fukuda, T. Kinoshita, On non-symmetric orthogonal spline wavelets. Southeast Asian Bull. Math. 36(3), 319–341 (2012)
- 5. E. Hernández, G. Weiss, First Course on Wavelets (CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1996)
- 6. M. Unser, T. Blu, Fractional splines and wavelets. SIAM Rev. 4(1), 43-67 (2000)

# An Estimation Method of Shift Parameters in Image Separation Problem

Ryuichi Ashino, Takeshi Mandai, and Akira Morimoto

**Abstract** The simplest spatio-temporal mixing model of blind source separation for images is discussed. Shift parameters are estimated by total correlation functions of continuous wavelet transforms. An image separation algorithm using an annular sector multiwavelet is proposed.

Keywords Image separation  $\cdot$  Continuous multiwavelet transform  $\cdot$  Shift parameter

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 42C40 · Secondary 65T60

# **1** Introduction

The cocktail party effect [1] is a challenging problem in auditory perception, it is also called blind source separation in engineering. A mathematical background for the blind source separation by the quotient signal decomposition was discussed in [2]. Generalizations of the quotient signal decomposition for speech signals and for images were given in [3] and [4, 5], respectively. We dealt with the simplest spatio-temporal mixing model of blind source separation for speech signals in [6].

R. Ashino (🖂)

T. Mandai

Department of Engineering Science, Osaka Electro-Communication University, Neyagawa, Osaka 572-8530, Japan e-mail: mandai@isc.osakac.ac.jp

A. Morimoto

This work was partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers (C)25400202, (C)24540197, (C)23540135.

Mathematical Sciences, Osaka Kyoiku University, Kashiwara, Osaka 582-8582, Japan e-mail: ashino@cc.osaka-kyoiku.ac.jp

Information Science, Osaka Kyoiku University, Kashiwara, Osaka 582-8582, Japan e-mail: morimoto@cc.osaka-kyoiku.ac.jp





In this paper, we consider the simplest spatio-temporal mixing model of blind source separation for images. Images are supposed to be real-valued square integrable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Let *N* be the number of sources and *J*,  $J \ge N$ , be the number of observed images. In the simplest spatio-temporal mixing model, we assume that observed images  $x_j(t)$ , j = 1, ..., J, are the following mixtures of original source images  $s_n(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , n = 1, ..., N:

$$x_j(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} d_{j,n} s_n(t - c_{j,n}), \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $d_{j,n} \in \mathbb{R}$  are mixing coefficients and  $c_{j,n} \in \mathbb{R}^2$  are shift parameters. An example of observed images is illustrated in Fig. 1. In this paper, we focus on a new estimating method of shift parameters.

### **2** Estimation by Total Correlation Functions

We use an annular sector multiwavelet  $\Psi = (\psi_1, \dots, \psi_P)^T \in (L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))^P$ ,  $P \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $P \ge 2$ , generated by annular sector tiling in the Fourier domain [4]. We illustrate  $\widehat{\psi}_p(a\xi)$  in the middle column of Fig. 2. A continuous wavelet transform  $W_{\psi_p} f(b, a)$  of an image  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  with respect to wavelet functions  $\psi_p(t)$ ,  $p = 1, \dots, P$  is



**Fig. 2** An example of annular sector multiwavelet transform (P = 20). Top left: image f, bottom left: the Fourier transform  $\hat{f}$ . Top middle:  $a\overline{\psi}_2(a\xi)$ , a = 1, bottom middle:  $a\overline{\psi}_3(a\xi)$ , a = 1.5. Top right:  $W_{\psi_2} f(b, 1)$ , bottom right:  $W_{\psi_3} f(b, 1.5)$ 

defined by

$$\begin{split} W_{\psi_p} f(b,a) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(t) a^{-1} \overline{\psi_p\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)} dt \\ &= (2\pi)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{f}(\xi) a \overline{\widehat{\psi_p}(a\xi)} e^{-ib\cdot\xi} d\xi = \mathcal{F}_{\xi \to b}^{-1} \Big[ \widehat{f}(\xi) a \overline{\widehat{\psi_p}(a\xi)} \Big](b), \end{split}$$

where  $b \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}_+ := \{a \in \mathbb{R} \mid a > 0\}$  are called position and scale parameters, respectively. An example of  $W_{\psi_p} f(b, a)$  is sketched in the right column of Fig. 2.

For simplicity, the continuous wavelet transforms of an observed image  $x_j(t)$ and the original image  $s_n(t)$  with respect to a wavelet function  $\psi_p(t)$  are denoted by

$$X_{i}^{p}(t,a) = W_{\psi_{p}} x_{j}(t,a), \qquad S_{n}^{p}(t,a) = W_{\psi_{p}} s_{n}(t,a),$$

respectively. Since a continuous wavelet transform is linear and commutes with a translation operator, from the model equation (1.1), we have

$$X_j^p(t,a) = \sum_{n=1}^N d_{j,n} S_n^p(t-c_{j,n},a), \quad j = 1, \dots, J.$$

For fixed *j* and *k*, we define the complex-valued correlation function  $R_{j,k}^p(y, a)$  between  $x_j(t)$  and  $x_k(t)$  with respect to  $\psi_p$  by

$$R_{j,k}^{p}(y,a) = \frac{1}{\|X_{j}^{p}(\cdot,a)\| \|X_{k}^{p}(\cdot,a)\|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} X_{j}^{p}(t,a) \overline{X_{k}^{p}(t-y,a)} dt.$$

Fix a scale parameter *a*. In order to calculate  $R_{j,k}^p(y, a)$  numerically, let us calculate the correlation function  $R_{j,k}^p(y, a)$  in the Fourier domain. By Parseval's theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} R_{j,k}^{p}(\mathbf{y},a) &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2} \|X_{j}^{p}(\cdot,a)\| \|X_{k}^{p}(\cdot,a)\|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{X_{j}^{p}}(\xi,a) \widehat{X_{k}^{p}}(\xi,a) e^{-i\mathbf{y}\cdot\xi} d\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2} \|X_{j}^{p}(\cdot,a)\| \|X_{k}^{p}(\cdot,a)\|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{x_{j}}(\xi) a \overline{\widehat{\psi_{p}}(a\xi)} \overline{\widehat{x_{k}}(\xi)} a \overline{\widehat{\psi_{p}}(a\xi)} e^{-i\mathbf{y}\cdot\xi} d\xi \\ &= \frac{a^{2}}{(2\pi)^{2} \|X_{j}^{p}(\cdot,a)\| \|X_{k}^{p}(\cdot,a)\|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{x_{j}}(\xi) \overline{\widehat{x_{k}}(\xi)} |\widehat{\psi_{p}}(a\xi)|^{2} e^{i\mathbf{y}\cdot\xi} d\xi \\ &= \frac{a^{2}}{\|X_{j}^{p}(\cdot,a)\| \|X_{k}^{p}(\cdot,a)\|} \mathcal{F}^{-1} [\widehat{x_{j}}(\xi) \overline{\widehat{x_{k}}(\xi)} |\widehat{\psi_{p}}(a\xi)|^{2} ](\mathbf{y}). \end{split}$$

Recall that the observed images  $x_i(t)$  and  $x_k(t - y)$  are

$$x_{j}(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} d_{j,n} s_{n}(t - c_{j,n}),$$
$$x_{k}(t - y) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} d_{k,n} s_{n}(t - y - c_{k,n}).$$

If we choose  $y = c_{j,q} - c_{k,q}$ , then the shift parameter of the original image  $s_q$  in  $x_k(t - y)$  coincides with the shift parameter  $c_{j,q}$  of  $s_q$  in  $x_j(t)$ . Moreover, if the original image  $s_q$  contains edges which can be accessed by a wavelet  $\psi_p$  with a scale *a*, then  $|R_{j,k}^p(y, a)|$  is large. Let us discretize *a* and denote by *A* the set of discretized scales. For fixed *j* and *k*, we define the total correlation function  $R_{j,k}(y)$  by

$$R_{j,k}(y) = \sum_{a \in A} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{\left|R_{j,k}^{p}(y,a)\right|}.$$
(2.1)

Here we take the square root of  $|R_{j,k}^p(y,a)|$  in (2.1) to enhance the sensitivity. For P = 20 and  $A = \{2^{-1/2}, 1, 2^{1/2}\}$ , we illustrate total correlation functions  $R_{1,2}(y)$ ,  $R_{2,3}(y)$ ,  $R_{3,4}(y)$  and  $R_{4,1}(y)$  in Fig. 3. Note that the square roots enhance contrast of peaks.



**Fig. 3** Total correlation functions of the observed images in Fig. 1. *Top left:*  $R_{1,2}$ , *top right:*  $R_{2,3}$ , *bottom left:*  $R_{3,4}$ , *bottom right:*  $R_{4,1}$ . P = 20,  $A = \{2^{-1/2}, 1, 2^{1/2}\}$ 

We estimate the number of sources,  $\tilde{N}$ , by the number of peaks in Fig. 3. Then, we have  $\tilde{N} = 4$ . The coordinates where  $R_{j,k}(y)$  attain peaks correspond to relative shift parameters  $\{c_{j,q} - c_{k,q}\}_{q=1,\dots,4}$ .

### **3** Image Separation Algorithm

We propose Algorithm 3.1 with the annular sector multiwavelets [4].

Algorithm 3.1 We estimate model parameters using the following five steps.

- 1. Illustrate total correlation functions  $R_{j,j+1}(y)$ , j = 1, ..., J 1 and  $R_{J,1}(y)$ . The number of sources, N, is estimated by the number of peaks,  $\tilde{N}$ , in each total correlation function.
- 2. Take sets of coordinates where  $R_{j,j+1}(y)$  and  $R_{J,1}(y)$  attain peaks. These coordinates correspond to relative shift parameters

$$V_{j} = \left\{ v_{j}^{q} \approx c_{j,q} - c_{j+1,q} \right\}_{q=1,...,\widetilde{N}}, \quad j = 1,..., J-1,$$
$$V_{J} = \left\{ v_{J}^{q} \approx c_{J,q} - c_{1,q} \right\}_{q=1,...,\widetilde{N}}.$$

3. Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{J-1} (c_{j,q} - c_{j+1,q}) + (c_{J,q} - c_{1,q}) = 0$ , select the vector of relative shift parameters associated with each source image  $\tilde{s}_q$ 

$$\left\{ \vec{v}_q := \left( v_1^q, \dots, v_J^q \right) \in V_1 \times \dots \times V_J \mid \sum_{j=1}^J v_j^q = 0 \right\}_{q=1,\dots,\tilde{N}}$$

4. It is enough to estimate the relative shift parameters  $c_{j+1,q} - c_{1,q}$  with respect to the source image  $\tilde{s}_q$  by

$$\widetilde{c}_{j+1,q} = -\sum_{k=1}^{j} v_k^q, \quad j = 1, \dots, J-1, \ q = 1, \dots, \widetilde{N},$$

where  $\tilde{c}_{j+1,q} \approx c_{j+1,q} - c_{1,q}$ . Set  $\tilde{c}_{1,q} = (0,0), q = 1, \dots, \tilde{N}$ . 5. For the set of shifted observed images

$$\left\{x_1(t+\widetilde{c}_{1,q}), x_2(t+\widetilde{c}_{2,q}), \ldots, x_J(t+\widetilde{c}_{J,q})\right\},\$$

use the algorithm [4, Algorithm 12, §6] and take the *J*-dimensional vector,  $(\tilde{d}_{1,q}, \ldots, \tilde{d}_{J,q})^T$ , corresponding to the highest peak. Estimate the mixing matrix by  $\tilde{D} = (\tilde{d}_{j,q})_{1 \le j \le J, 1 \le q \le \tilde{N}}$ .

In the step 5 of Algorithm 3.1, the source image  $\tilde{s}_q$  lies in the same position in each shifted observed image of

$$\left\{x_1(t+\widetilde{c}_{1,q}), x_2(t+\widetilde{c}_{2,q}), \dots, x_J(t+\widetilde{c}_{J,q})\right\}.$$

Therefore, we can apply the algorithm [4, Algorithm 12, §6], which solves the blind source separation problem with temporal mixing model, that is, all  $c_{j,n} = 0$ , to the set of shifted observed images.

After estimating all model parameters, we have

$$x_j(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\widetilde{N}} \widetilde{d}_{j,n} \widetilde{s}_n(t - \widetilde{c}_{j,n}), \quad j = 1, \dots, J.$$
(3.1)

Taking the Fourier transform of (3.1), we have the following linear system:

$$\vec{\hat{x}}(\xi) = D(\xi)\vec{\hat{s}}(\xi), \qquad (3.2)$$

where

$$\vec{\hat{x}}(\xi) = \left(\widehat{x}_1(\xi), \dots, \widehat{x}_J(\xi)\right)^T,$$
$$\vec{\hat{s}}(\xi) = \left(\widehat{s}_1(\xi), \dots, \widehat{s}_{\widetilde{N}}(\xi)\right)^T,$$
$$D(\xi) = \left(\widetilde{d}_{j,n} e^{-i\widetilde{c}_{j,n} \cdot \xi}\right)_{j=1,\dots,J, n=1,\dots,\widetilde{N}}$$

When  $D(\xi)$  is invertible for each  $\xi$ , we can solve (3.2) for each  $\xi$ . Taking the inverse Fourier transform of  $\vec{s}(\xi)$ , we have estimated original images. We separate the observed images in Fig. 1 into the estimated source images in Fig. 4.

**Fig. 4** The estimated original images



# References

- 1. S. Haykin, Z. Chen, The cocktail party problem. Neural Comput. 17, 1875–1902 (2005)
- R. Ashino, C.A. Berenstein, K. Fujita, A. Morimoto, M. Morimoto, D. Napoletani, Y. Takei, Mathematical background for a method on quotient signal decomposition. Appl. Anal. 86, 577– 609 (2007)
- R. Ashino, K. Fujita, T. Mandai, A. Morimoto, K. Nishihara, Blind source separation using time-frequency information matrix given by several wavelet transforms. Information 10, 555– 568 (2007)
- 4. R. Ashino, S. Kataoka, T. Mandai, A. Morimoto, Blind image source separations by wavelet analysis. Appl. Anal. **91**, 617–644 (2012)
- R. Ashino, T. Mandai, A. Morimoto, Multistage blind source separations by wavelet analysis. Int. J. Wavelets Multiresolut. Inf. Process. 12, 1460004 (2014). doi:10.1142/ S0219691314600042
- R. Ashino, T. Mandai, A. Morimoto, F. Sasaki, Blind source separation of spatio-temporal mixed signals using time-frequency analysis. Appl. Anal. 88, 425–456 (2009)

# **Slice Functional Calculus in Quaternionic Hilbert Spaces**

R. Ghiloni, V. Moretti, and A. Perotti

**Abstract** We propose a continuous functional calculus in quaternionic Hilbert spaces. The class of continuous functions considered is the one of slice quaternionic functions. Slice functions generalize the concept of slice regular function, which comprises power series with quaternionic coefficients on one side and that can be seen a generalization to quaternions of holomorphic functions of one complex variable. The notion of slice function allows to introduce suitable classes of real, complex and quaternionic  $C^*$ -algebras and to define, on each of these  $C^*$ -algebras, a functional calculus for quaternionic normal operators.

**Keywords** Quaternionic Hilbert space · Functional calculus · Slice functions · Spectral map theorem

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 46S10 · Secondary 47A60 · 47C15 · 30G35 · 32A30 · 81R15

# 1 Introduction

We start from basic issues regarding the general notion of *spherical spectrum* of an operator on a (right) quaternionic Hilbert space. For the definition of the spectrum we follow the viewpoint adopted in [3] for quaternionic Banach modules. A pivotal tool in our investigation is the notion of *slice function* [8]. That notion allows one to introduce suitable classes of real, complex and quaternionic  $C^*$ -algebras of functions and to define, on each of these  $C^*$ -algebras, a functional calculus for normal

V. Moretti e-mail: moretti@science.unitn.it

Work partially supported by GNSAGA and GNFM of INdAM.

R. Ghiloni (🖂) · V. Moretti · A. Perotti

Department of Mathematics, University of Trento, Via Sommarive 14, 38123 Trento, Italy e-mail: <a href="mailto:ghiloni@science.unitn.it">ghiloni@science.unitn.it</a>

A. Perotti e-mail: perotti@science.unitn.it

operators. In particular, we establish several versions of the *spectral map theorem*. For quaternionic Hilbert spaces, a formulation of the spectral theorem already exists [9] without any systematic investigation of the continuous functional calculus. We also show that our continuous functional calculus, when restricted to slice regular functions, coincides with the functional calculus developed in [3] as a generalization of the classical holomorphic functional calculus. We refer to [6] for complete proofs of the stated result.

### 2 Quaternionic Hilbert Spaces

We recall some basic notions about quaternionic Hilbert spaces (see e.g. [1]). Let  $\mathbb{H}$  denote the skew field of quaternions. Let H be a *right*  $\mathbb{H}$ -module. H is called a *quaternionic pre-Hilbert space* if there exists a Hermitian quaternionic scalar product  $H \times H \ni (u, v) \mapsto \langle u | v \rangle \in \mathbb{H}$  satisfying the following three properties:

- *Right linearity*:  $\langle u|vp + wq \rangle = \langle u|v \rangle p + \langle u|w \rangle q$  if  $p, q \in \mathbb{H}$  and  $u, v, w \in H$ .
- *Quaternionic Hermiticity*:  $\langle u | v \rangle = \langle v | u \rangle$  if  $u, v \in H$ .
- *Positivity*: If  $u \in H$ , then  $\langle u | u \rangle \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and u = 0 if  $\langle u | u \rangle = 0$ .

We can define the *quaternionic norm* by setting

$$||u|| := \sqrt{\langle u|u \rangle} \in \mathbb{R}^+ \text{ if } u \in \mathsf{H}.$$

**Definition 2.1** A quaternionic pre-Hilbert space H is said to be a *quaternionic Hilbert space* if it is complete with respect to its natural distance d(u, v) := ||u - v||.

*Example* The space  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with scalar product  $\langle u, v \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{u}_i v_i$  is a finite-dimensional quaternionic Hilbert space.

**Definition 2.2** A *right*  $\mathbb{H}$ *-linear operator* is a map  $T : D(T) \longrightarrow H$  such that:

$$T(ua + vb) = (Tu)a + (Tv)b$$
 if  $u, v \in D(T)$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{H}$ ,

where the *domain* D(T) of T is a (not necessarily closed) right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear subspace of H.

It can be shown that an operator  $T : D(T) \longrightarrow H$  is continuous if and only if it is bounded, i.e. there exists  $K \ge 0$  such that

$$||Tu|| \le K ||u||$$
 for each  $u \in D(T)$ .

The set  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$  of all bounded operators  $T : \mathsf{H} \longrightarrow \mathsf{H}$  is a complete metric space w.r.t. the metric D(T, S) := ||T - S||, where  $||T|| := \sup_{u \in D(T) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{||Tu||}{||u||} = \inf\{K \in \mathbb{R} \mid ||Tu|| \le K ||u|| \forall u \in D(T)\}.$ 

Many assertions that are valid in the complex Hilbert spaces case, continue to hold for quaternionic operators. We mention the uniform boundedness principle, the open map theorem, the closed graph theorem, the Riesz representation theorem and the polar decomposition of operators.

**Left Scalar Multiplications** It is possible to equip a (right) quaternionic Hilbert space H with a *left* multiplication by quaternions. It is a non-canonical operation relying upon a choice of a preferred Hilbert basis. So, pick out a Hilbert basis  $\mathcal{N}$  of H and define the *left scalar multiplication of* H *induced by*  $\mathcal{N}$  as the map  $\mathbb{H} \times H \ni (q, u) \mapsto qu \in H$  given by

$$qu := \sum_{z \in \mathcal{N}} zq \langle z | u \rangle$$
 if  $u \in \mathsf{H}$  and  $q \in \mathbb{H}$ .

For every  $q \in \mathbb{H}$ , the map  $L_q : u \mapsto qu$  belongs to  $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ . Moreover, the map  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{N}} : \mathbb{H} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{B}(H)$ , defined by setting  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{N}}(q) := L_q$  is a norm-preserving real algebra homomorphism.

The set  $\mathfrak{B}(H)$  is always a *real Banach*  $C^*$ -algebra with unity. It suffices to consider the right scalar multiplication (Tr)(u) = T(u)r for real r and the adjunction  $T \mapsto T^*$  as \*-involution. By means of a left scalar multiplication, it can be given the richer structure of *quaternionic Banach*  $C^*$ -algebra.

**Theorem 2.1** Let H be a quaternionic Hilbert space equipped with a left scalar multiplication. Then the set  $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ , equipped with the pointwise sum, with the scalar multiplications defined by

$$(qT)u := q(Tu)$$
 and  $(Tq)(u) := T(qu)$ ,

with the composition as product, with  $T \mapsto T^*$  as \*-involution, is a quaternionic two-sided Banach *C*\*-algebra with unity.

Observe that the map  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{N}}$  gives a \*-representation of  $\mathbb{H}$  in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$ .

### **3** Resolvent and Spectrum

It is not clear how to extend the definitions of spectrum and resolvent in quaternionic Hilbert spaces. Let us focus on the simpler case of eigenvalues of a bounded right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear operator *T*. Without fixing any left scalar multiplication of H, the equation determining the eigenvalues reads as follows:

$$Tu = uq$$
.

Here a drawback arises: if  $q \in \mathbb{H} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  is fixed, the map  $u \mapsto uq$  is not right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear. Consequently, the eigenspace of q cannot be a right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear subspace. Indeed, if  $\lambda \neq 0$ ,  $u\lambda$  is an eigenvector of  $\lambda^{-1}q\lambda$  instead of q itself. As a second guess, one could decide to deal with quaternionic Hilbert spaces equipped with a left scalar multiplication and require that

$$Tu = qu$$
.

Now both sides are right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear. However, this approach is not suitable for physical applications, where self-adjoint operators should have real spectrum. We come back to the former approach and accept that each eigenvalue q brings a whole conjugation class of the quaternions, the *eigensphere* 

$$\mathbb{S}_q := \left\{ \lambda^{-1} q \lambda \in \mathbb{H} \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{H} \setminus \{0\} \right\}.$$

We adopt the viewpoint introduced in [3] for quaternionic two-sided Banach modules. Given an operator  $T: D(T) \longrightarrow H$  and  $q \in \mathbb{H}$ , let

$$\Delta_q(T) := T^2 - T(q + \overline{q}) + \mathbf{I}|q|^2.$$

**Definition 3.1** The *spherical resolvent set* of *T* is the set  $\rho_S(T)$  of  $q \in \mathbb{H}$  such that:

(a) Ker(Δ<sub>q</sub>(T)) = {0}.
(b) Range(Δ<sub>q</sub>(T)) is dense in H.
(c) Δ<sub>q</sub>(T)<sup>-1</sup>: Range(Δ<sub>q</sub>(T)) → D(T<sup>2</sup>) is bounded.

The *spherical spectrum*  $\sigma_S(T)$  of T is defined by  $\sigma_S(T) := \mathbb{H} \setminus \rho_S(T)$ . It decomposes into three disjoint *circular* (i.e. invariant by conjugation) subsets:

(i) The *spherical point spectrum* of *T* (the set of *eigenvalues*):

$$\sigma_{pS}(T) := \left\{ q \in \mathbb{H} \mid Ker(\Delta_q(T)) \neq \{0\} \right\}$$

(ii) The spherical residual spectrum of T:

$$\sigma_{rS}(T) := \left\{ q \in \mathbb{H} \mid Ker(\Delta_q(T)) = \{0\}, \ \overline{Range(\Delta_q(T))} \neq \mathsf{H} \right\}.$$

(iii) The spherical continuous spectrum of T:

 $\sigma_{cS}(T) := \{ q \in \mathbb{H} \mid \Delta_q(T)^{-1} \text{ is densely defined but not bounded} \}.$ 

The spherical spectral radius of T is defined as

$$r_S(T) := \sup\{|q| \mid q \in \sigma_S(T)\} \in \mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{+\infty\}.$$

In our context, the subspace  $Ker(\Delta_q(T))$  has the role of an "eigenspace". In particular,  $Ker(\Delta_q(T)) \neq \{0\}$  if and only if  $\mathbb{S}_q$  is an eigensphere of T.

### 3.1 Spectral Properties

The spherical resolvent and the spherical spectrum can be defined for bounded right  $\mathbb{H}$ -linear operators on quaternionic two-sided Banach modules in a form similar to that introduced above (see [3]). Several spectral properties of bounded operators on complex Banach or Hilbert spaces remain valid in that general context. Here we recall some of these properties in the quaternionic Hilbert setting.

**Theorem 3.1** Let H be a quaternionic Hilbert space and let  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$ . Then

- (a)  $r_S(T) \le ||T||$ .
- (b)  $\sigma_S(T)$  is a non-empty compact subset of  $\mathbb{H}$ .
- (c) Let  $P \in \mathbb{R}[X]$ . Then, if T is self-adjoint, the following spectral map property *holds*:

$$\sigma_S(P(T)) = P(\sigma_S(T)).$$

(d) Gelfand's spectral radius formula holds:

$$r_S(T) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left\| T^n \right\|^{1/n}$$

In particular, if T is normal (i.e.  $TT^* = T^*T$ ), then  $r_S(T) = ||T||$ .

Regardless different definitions with respect to the complex Hilbert space case, the notions of spherical spectrum and resolvent set enjoy some properties which are quite similar to those for complex Hilbert spaces. Other features, conversely, are proper to the quaternionic Hilbert space case. First of all, it turns out that the spherical point spectrum coincides with the set of eigenvalues of T.

**Proposition 3.2** Let H be a quaternionic Hilbert space and let  $T : D(T) \longrightarrow H$  be an operator. Then  $\sigma_{pS}(T)$  coincides with the set of all eigenvalues of T.

**Theorem 3.2** Let *T* be an operator with dense domain on a quaternionic Hilbert space H.

- (a)  $\sigma_S(T) = \sigma_S(T^*)$ . (b) If  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$  is normal, then
  - (i)  $\sigma_{pS}(T) = \sigma_{pS}(T^*)$ .

(ii) 
$$\sigma_{rS}(T) = \sigma_{rS}(T^*) = \emptyset$$
.

- (iii)  $\sigma_{cS}(T) = \sigma_{cS}(T^*)$ .
- (c) If T is self-adjoint, then  $\sigma_S(T) \subset \mathbb{R}$  and  $\sigma_{rS}(T)$  is empty.
- (d) If T is anti self-adjoint, then  $\sigma_S(T) \subset \text{Im}(\mathbb{H})$  and  $\sigma_{rS}(T)$  is empty.
- (e) If  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$  is unitary, then  $\sigma_S(T) \subset \{q \in \mathbb{H} \mid |q| = 1\}$ .
- (f) If  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$  is anti self-adjoint and unitary, then  $\sigma_S(T) = \sigma_{pS}(T) = \mathbb{S}$  (the sphere of quaternionic imaginary units).

It can be shown that, differently from operators on complex Hilbert spaces, a normal operator T on a quaternionic space is unitarily equivalent to  $T^*$ .

### 4 Slice Functions

The concept of *slice regularity* has been introduced by Gentili and Struppa [4, 5] for functions of one quaternionic variable and then extended to other real \*-algebras (e.g. Clifford algebras [2] and alternative \*-algebras [7, 8]). This function theory comprises polynomials and power series with quaternionic coefficients on one side. At the base of the definition there is the "slice" character of  $\mathbb{H}$ :

The original definition requires that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{S}$ , the restriction  $f_{|\mathbb{C}_j|}$  is holomorphic with respect to the complex structures given by left multiplication by *j*. Another approach (see [7, 8]) starts from the embedding of the space of slice regular functions into a larger class, that of continuous *slice functions*. Given  $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{C}$ , consider the *circular set*  $\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}$  defined by

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{K}} = \{ \alpha + j\beta \in \mathbb{H} \mid \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}, \, \alpha + i\beta \in \mathcal{K}, \, j \in \mathbb{S} \}.$$

Let  $\mathbb{H} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \{x + iy \mid x, y \in \mathbb{H}\}$ , with complex conjugation  $w = x + iy \mapsto \overline{w} =$ x - iy. A function  $F : \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow \mathbb{H} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  satisfying  $F(\overline{z}) = F(z)$  for every  $z \in \mathcal{K}$ , is called a stem function on  $\mathcal{K}$ . Any stem function induces a (left) slice function  $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_{\mathcal{K}} \to \mathbb{H}$ : if  $q = \alpha + \jmath \beta \in \Omega_{\mathcal{K}} \cap \mathbb{C}_{J}$ , with  $j \in \mathbb{S}$ , we set

$$f(q) := F_1(\alpha + i\beta) + jF_2(\alpha + i\beta)$$

where  $F_1, F_2$  are the two  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued components of F. A quaternionic function f turns out to be *slice regular* if and only if it is the slice function induced by a *holomorphic* stem function F.

### 4.1 C\*-Algebras of Slice Functions

Given two slice functions  $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$  and  $g = \mathcal{I}(G)$  on  $\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}$ , their pointwise product is not necessarily a slice function. However, we can define their *slice product* by means of the multiplication in  $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ :

$$f \cdot g = \mathcal{I}(FG) = \mathcal{I}((F_1G_1 - F_2G_2) + i(F_1G_2 + F_2G_1)).$$

**Theorem 4.1** The set  $\mathcal{S}(\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}, \mathbb{H})$  of continuous slice functions on  $\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}$  is a quaternionic two-sided Banach C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra with unity the constant function  $1_{\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}}$  w.r.t. the slice product, the \*-involution defined by  $f^* := \mathcal{I}(\overline{F_1} - i\overline{F_2})$  and the supremum norm.

*Remark 4.1* The scalar multiplications on  $S(\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}, \mathbb{H})$  are defined by  $f \cdot q := f \cdot c_q$ and  $q \cdot f := c_q \cdot f$ , where  $c_q$  denotes the constant slice function with value q on  $\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}$ .  $f \cdot q$  coincides with the pointwise scalar multiplication fq for every  $q \in \mathbb{H}$ . If  $q \in \mathbb{R}$ , then also  $q \cdot f$  is equal to the pointwise scalar multiplication qf. Otherwise, qf is not, in general, a slice function and hence is different from  $q \cdot f$ .

### **5** Slice Functional Calculus

### 5.1 Slice Nature of Normal Operators

The definition of a continuous slice function of a normal operator on a quaternionic Hilbert space is based on the "operatorial" counterpart of the slice character of  $\mathbb{H}$ .

**Theorem 5.1** *Given any normal operator*  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$ *, there exist three operators*  $A, B, J \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$  *such that:* 

- (i) T = A + JB.
- (ii) A is self-adjoint and B is positive.
- (iii) J is anti self-adjoint and unitary.
- (iv) A, B and J commute mutually.

Furthermore, it holds:

- A and B are uniquely determined by  $T: A = (T + T^*)\frac{1}{2}$  and  $B = |T T^*|\frac{1}{2}$ .
- J is uniquely determined by T on  $Ker(T T^*)^{\perp}$ .

(where for  $S \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$ , |S| denotes the operator defined as the square root of the positive operator  $S^*S$ ).

This parallelism suggests a natural way to define the operator f(T) for the class of  $\mathbb{H}$ -*intrinsic* continuous slice functions, i.e. functions satisfying  $f(\bar{q}) = \overline{f(q)}$ for every  $q \in \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}$  or, equivalently,  $f(\Omega_{\mathcal{K}} \cap \mathbb{C}_J) \subset \mathbb{C}_J \ \forall J \in \mathbb{S}$ . If  $f = \mathcal{I}(F) = \mathcal{I}(F_1 + iF_2)$  is a *polynomial* slice function, with components  $F_1, F_2 \in \mathbb{R}[X, Y]$ , we define the normal operator  $f(T) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$  by setting

$$f(T) := F_1(A, B) + JF_2(A, B)$$

and then extend the definition to  $\mathbb{H}$ -intrinsic *continuous* slice functions on  $\sigma_S(T)$  by density.

### Remark 5.1

- (i) f is  $\mathbb{H}$ -intrinsic if and only if the components  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$  of the stem function F are real valued.
- (ii) Even when J is not uniquely determined, f(T) does *not* depend on the choice of the operator J.

Continuous Slice Functional Calculus for Normal Operators: The  $\mathbb{H}$ -Intrinsic Functions Case Consider the commutative real Banach  $C^*$ -subalgebra  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{R}}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$  of  $\mathcal{S}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$  consisting of  $\mathbb{H}$ -intrinsic slice functions. The functional calculus  $f \mapsto f(T)$  defined above has the following properties.

**Theorem 5.2** The mapping  $f \mapsto f(T)$  is the unique continuous \*-homomorphism

 $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}: \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{R}}(\sigma_{S}(T),\mathbb{H}) \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$ 

of real Banach unital  $C^*$ -algebras such that:

- (i)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}$  is unity-preserving; that is,  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}(1_{\sigma_S(T)}) = I$ .
- (ii)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}(id) = T$ .

Moreover, the following facts hold true:

- (a) f(T) is normal.
- (b)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}$  is isometric:  $||f(T)|| = ||f||_{\infty}$  for every  $f \in S_{\mathbb{R}}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ .
- (c) The spectral map property  $\sigma_S(f(T)) = f(\sigma_S(T))$  holds.

**Continuous Slice Functional Calculus for Normal Operators: The**  $\mathbb{C}_J$ -**Slice Functions Case** The definition of f(T) can be extended to other classes of continuous slice functions. The set  $S_{\mathbb{C}_J}(\Omega_K, \mathbb{H})$  of functions which leave only *one* slice  $\mathbb{C}_J$  invariant is a commutative  $\mathbb{C}_J$ -Banach unital  $C^*$ -subalgebra of  $S(\Omega_K, \mathbb{H})$ . The space  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{H})$  has a similar structure of complex  $C^*$ -algebra depending on the choice of the anti self-adjoint operator J such that T = A + JB and J commutes with  $T, T^*$ .

**Theorem 5.3** There exists a unique continuous \*-homomorphism

 $\Psi_{\mathbb{C}_{I},T}: \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}_{I}}(\sigma_{S}(T),\mathbb{H}) \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$ 

of  $\mathbb{C}_1$ -Banach C\*-algebras such that

- (i)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{C}_1,T}$  is unity-preserving; that is,  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}(1_{\sigma_S(T)}) = I$ .
- (ii)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{C}_1,T}(id) = T$ .

Moreover, the following facts hold true:

- (a) f(T) is normal.
- (b) For every  $f \in S_{\mathbb{C}_j}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ , the following  $\mathbb{C}_j$ -slice spectral map property holds:

$$\sigma_S(f(T)) = \Omega_{f(\sigma_S(T) \cap \mathbb{C}^+_t)}.$$

(c)  $\Psi_{\mathbb{C}_j,T}$  is norm decreasing:  $||f(T)|| \le ||f||_{\infty}$  if  $f \in S_{\mathbb{C}_j}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ . More precisely, it holds:

$$\|f(T)\| = \|f|_{\sigma_{\mathcal{S}}(T) \cap \mathbb{C}^+_t}\|_{\infty}$$

for every  $f \in S_{\mathbb{C}_1}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ .

**Continuous Slice Functional Calculus for Normal Operators: The Circular Case** Fix an anti self-adjoint and unitary operator  $J \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$  such that T = A + JBand J commutes with  $T, T^*$ . Choose  $J \in \mathbb{S}$  and a left scalar multiplication  $q \mapsto L_q$ with  $L_J = J$  and  $L_q A = AL_q$  and  $L_q B = BL_q$  for each  $q \in \mathbb{H}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{B}(H)$  get a structure of quaternionic two-sided Banach unital  $C^*$ -algebra.

The set  $S_c(\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}, \mathbb{H})$  of *circular* slice functions, those which satisfy the condition  $f(\bar{q}) = f(q)$  for every q, is a non-commutative quaternionic Banach  $C^*$ -subalgebra of  $S(\Omega_{\mathcal{K}}, \mathbb{H})$ .

**Theorem 5.4** There exists a unique continuous (isometric) \*-homomorphism

 $\Psi_{c,T}: \mathcal{S}_c(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H}) \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathsf{H})$ 

of quaternionic Banach C\*-algebras such that

(i)  $\Psi_{c,T}$  is unity-preserving; that is,  $\Psi_{\mathbb{R},T}(1_{\sigma_S(T)}) = I$ .

(ii)  $\Psi_{c,T}(id) = T$ .

**Continuous Slice Functional Calculus for Normal Operators: The General Case** The previous definitions of f(T) can be extended to a generic continuous slice function  $f \in S(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ . We get a map  $f \mapsto f(T)$  that is  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear and continuous: there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|f(T)\| \le C \|f\|_{\infty}$$

for every  $f \in S(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ . In the general case the \*-homomorphism property is necessarily lost. However, if e.g.  $f \in S_{\mathbb{C}_j}(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$  or  $g \in S_c(\sigma_S(T), \mathbb{H})$ , then the multiplicative property

$$(f \cdot g)(T) = f(T)g(T)$$

remains true.

### 5.2 The Slice Regular Case

A functional calculus for slice regular functions of a bounded operator T on a quaternionic two-sided Banach module V has been developed in [3] as a generalization of the holomorphic functional calculus. Let  $S_L^{-1}(s, x)$  denote the *Cauchy kernel* for slice regular functions (cf. [3] or [8]).

**Definition 5.2** [3, Definition 4.10.4] Let f be slice regular on  $\Omega_D \supset \sigma_S(T)$ . Fix any  $j \in \mathbb{S}$  and define

$$f(T)_{reg} := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial(U \cap \mathbb{C}_J)} S_L^{-1}(s, T) ds_J^{-1} f(s) \in \mathfrak{B}(V).$$

It can be shown that on slice regular functions our continuous calculus for normal operators on a quaternionic Hulbert space H coincides with the one defined by means of the Cauchy integral.

**Proposition 5.3** Let  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(H)$  be normal and let  $f : U \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}$  be a slice regular function defined on a circular open neighborhood of  $\sigma_S(T)$  in  $\mathbb{H}$ . Then  $f(T)_{reg} = f|_{\sigma_S(T)}(T)$ , that is, the two functional calculi coincide if T is normal and f is slice regular.

### References

- F. Brackx, R. Delanghe, F. Sommen, *Clifford Analysis*. Research Notes in Mathematics, vol. 76 (Pitman, Boston, 1982)
- F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, D.C. Struppa, Slice monogenic functions. Isr. J. Math. 171, 385–403 (2009)
- F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, D.C. Struppa, Noncommutative Functional Calculus. Progress in Mathematics, vol. 289 (Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011)
- G. Gentili, D.C. Struppa, A new approach to Cullen-regular functions of a quaternionic variable. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 342(10), 741–744 (2006)
- G. Gentili, D.C. Struppa, A new theory of regular functions of a quaternionic variable. Adv. Math. 216(1), 279–301 (2007)
- R. Ghiloni, V. Moretti, A. Perotti, Continuous slice functional calculus in quaternionic Hilbert spaces. Rev. Math. Phys. 25, 4 (2013), 1350006, 83
- R. Ghiloni, A. Perotti, A new approach to slice regularity on real algebras, in *Hypercomplex* Analysis and Its Applications Trends Math. (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2011), pp. 109–124
- R. Ghiloni, A. Perotti, Slice regular functions on real alternative algebras. Adv. Math. 226(2), 1662–1691 (2011)
- K. Viswanath, Normal operations on quaternionic Hilbert spaces. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 162, 337–350 (1971)

# **Recent Progress on Spheroidal Monogenic Functions**

Hung Manh Nguyen

**Abstract** Monogenic function theories are considered as generalizations of the holomorphic function theory in the complex plane to higher dimensions and are refinements of the harmonic analysis based on the Laplace operator's factorizations. The construction of spherical monogenic functions has been studied for decades with different methods. Recently, orthogonal monogenic bases are developed for spheroidal reference domains, first by J. Morais and later by others. This survey will go through the construction of spheroidal monogenic functions and discuss up-to-date results.

**Keywords** Harmonic functions · Monogenic functions · Quaternion analysis · Spheroidal functions

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 30G35 · 42C05 · 33E10

### 1 Introduction

The theory of harmonic functions plays an important role in many fields, both in pure and applied aspects. It can be seen, for example, in gravitational potential problems or approximation of the Earth's gravity and magnetic fields (see [18, 23, 31]). Spherical harmonic functions are used frequently because of their simple form and easy calculation. It is preferred for (almost) symmetric geometries. For asymmetric cases, it is inappropriate as shown in [31]. Simple generalizations of spherical domains are ellipsoidal domains. Garabedian introduced in [14] sets of orthogonal harmonic polynomials over prolate and oblate spheroids taken in several different norms. It is the root of the construction of orthogonal spheroidal monogenic functions, since monogenic functions can be obtained by applying the hypercomplex derivative to harmonic functions. The construction of Green's function for the Laplace equation on an ellipsoid of revolution has been studied by means of

H.M. Nguyen (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Inst. f. Math. u. Phys., Coudraystr. 13B, 99423 Weimar, Germany e-mail: hung.manh.nguyen@uni-weimar.de

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_54
ellipsoidal harmonic functions in several articles (see [12, 22]). As refinements of harmonic functions, these spheroidal monogenic functions could play a role to solve some Dirichlet problems in spheroids.

There are several methods to construct a complete system of monogenic functions. Fueter variables  $z_i = x_i - x_0 \mathbf{e}_i$  (i = 1, ..., n), named after R. Fueter [13], were introduced as an idea to construct bases of homogeneous monogenic polynomials (see [6, 15, 21]). The construction is completely independent of endowed inner products. In general, the obtained sets of monogenic functions are not orthogonal. For spherical domains, one can obtain a complete orthogonal system of monogenic functions by the Gelfand-Tsetlin procedure which calculates functions by induction and then it costs time and memory. More information about the method can be found in [5, 20]. The harmonic function approach was developed based on factorizations of the Laplace operator in terms of Cauchy-Riemann or Dirac operators. To the best of our knowledge, I. Cação firstly used it to construct orthogonal bases for  $L_2$ -spaces of reduced quaternion ( $\mathcal{A}$ )—or quaternion ( $\mathbb{H}$ )-valued monogenic functions which are solutions of Riesz or Moisil-Theodorescu systems on the unit ball (cf. [7, 9]). The hypercomplex derivative and the monogenic primitive are also studied in [8, 10, 11]. Later on, S. Bock modified the H-valued elements of the basis with respect to the Riesz system to obtain the Appell property. This property was introduced by Appell [1] by generalizing  $\frac{d}{dx}x^n = nx^{n-1}$  to more general polynomial systems. Also, S. Bock proved recurrence formulae, an explicit representation formula for polynomials [2-4] and applied it to solve a boundary value problem for the equations of linear elasticity in spherical domains. A-valued solutions of the Riesz system were also researched by J. Morais in the quaternionic setting in a similar way. Properties were investigated such as real part theorems, Bohr's type theorem and local mapping properties by means of spherical monogenic functions (cf. [16, 17, 24]).

The aim of this paper is to give a brief survey about the construction of complete orthogonal monogenic systems on spheroidal domains. In Sect. 3, inner prolate and oblate spheroidal monogenic functions will be revisited. The recurrence formulae and the explicit presentation will be discussed therein. In applications, we also need information on the exterior domain. That is the reason why in Sect. 4, outer spheroidal monogenic functions in the exterior domain of a prolate spheroid are described. Conclusions will be given in the last section.

### 2 Preliminaries

Let  $\mathbb{H}$  be the algebra of real quaternions generated by the basis  $\{1, e_1, e_2, e_3\}$  subjected to the multiplication rules

$$e_i e_j + e_j e_i = -2\delta_{ij}, \quad i, j = 1, 2, 3; \qquad e_1 e_2 = e_3.$$

Each quaternion can be represented in the form  $q = q_0 + q_1\mathbf{e_1} + q_2\mathbf{e_2} + q_3\mathbf{e_3}$ where  $q_j$  (j = 0, ..., 3) are real numbers. Like in the complex case, the conjugate of q is  $\overline{q} = q_0 - q_1\mathbf{e}_1 - q_2\mathbf{e}_2 - q_3\mathbf{e}_3$  and the norm |q| of q is defined by  $|q|^2 = q\overline{q} = \overline{q}q = \sum_{j=0}^3 (q_j)^2$ . The real vector space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  will be embedded in  $\mathbb{H}$  by identifying the element  $x = (x_0, x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^3$  with the reduced quaternion  $x := x_0 + x_1\mathbf{e}_1 + x_2\mathbf{e}_2$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{A}$  the real space of all reduced quaternions. The operator  $\overline{\partial} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} + \mathbf{e}_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \mathbf{e}_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}$  is called generalized Cauchy–Riemann (C–R) operator. Given a domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , a function  $\mathbf{f}$  is called monogenic in  $\Omega$  if satisfying  $\overline{\partial} \mathbf{f}(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ . The hypercomplex derivative is simply denoted by  $\frac{1}{2}\partial$ , where  $\partial$  is the conjugate C–R operator.  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega, \mathcal{A})$  and  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega, \mathbb{H})$  stand for the Hilbert spaces of square integrable  $\mathcal{A}$ —or  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued monogenics in  $\Omega$  respectively, endowed with the inner products

$$\langle \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})} = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{Sc}(\overline{\mathbf{f}} \mathbf{g}) dV,$$
  
$$\langle \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega; \mathbb{H})} = \int_{\Omega} \overline{\mathbf{f}} \mathbf{g} dV.$$
  
(2.1)

The induced norm is in both cases  $\|\mathbf{f}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \langle \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{f} \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . In this paper, let  $\Gamma$  be a spheroid with  $x_0$ -axis as the symmetry axis. The equation of  $\Gamma$  is given by

$$\frac{x_0^2}{a^2} + \frac{x_1^2 + x_2^2}{b^2} = 1,$$

where  $a = c \cosh \mu_0$ ,  $b = c \sinh \mu_0$  (prolate spheroid) or  $a = c \sinh \mu_0$ ,  $b = c \cosh \mu_0$  (oblate spheroid). For the sake of simplicity, it is assumed that c = 1. We adopt the notations  $\Omega^+$  and  $\Omega^-$  for the interior and exterior domains of  $\Gamma$ , respectively. In particular,  $x \in \Omega^-$  can be given by the spheroidal coordinate

 $x_0 = \cosh \mu \cos \theta$ ,  $x_1 = \sinh \mu \sin \theta \cos \varphi$ ,  $x_2 = \sinh \mu \sin \theta \sin \varphi$ ,

for prolate cases or

$$x_0 = \sinh \mu \cos \theta, \qquad x_1 = \cosh \mu \sin \theta \cos \varphi, \qquad x_2 = \cosh \mu \sin \theta \sin \varphi,$$

for oblate cases, with  $\mu \in (\mu_0, \infty), \theta \in [0, \pi), \varphi \in [0, 2\pi)$ .

#### **3** Inner Spheroidal Monogenics Revisited

Since 2010, J. Morais has intensively investigated sets of prolate spheroidal monogenic functions which play a role for constructing bases in  $L_2$ -spaces of monogenic functions in a prolate spheroid over  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{H}$  in [25, 26] with applications in [19, 27, 28]. An analogous monogenic system can be constructed for oblate spheroids as shown in [30]. In general, spheroidal monogenic functions have the structure as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} X_{n,m} &= \frac{n+m+1}{2} A_{n,m}(\mu,\theta) \cos(m\varphi) \\ &+ \frac{\delta}{4(n-m+1)} A_{n,m+1}(\mu,\theta) \{ \cos[(m+1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_1} + \sin[(m+1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_2} \} \\ &- \frac{\delta(n+m+1)(n+m)(n-m+2)}{4} A_{n,m-1}(\mu,\theta) \\ &\times \{ \cos[(m-1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_1} - \sin[(m-1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_2} \} \\ Y_{n,m} &= \frac{(n+m+1)}{2} A_{n,m}(\mu,\theta) \sin(m\varphi) \\ &+ \frac{\delta}{4(n-m+1)} A_{n,m+1}(\mu,\theta) \{ \sin[(m+1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_1} - \cos[(m+1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_2} \} \\ &- \frac{\delta(n+m+1)(n+m)(n-m+2)}{4} A_{n,m-1}(\mu,\theta) \\ &\times \{ \sin[(m-1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_1} + \cos[(m-1)\varphi] \mathbf{e_2} \} \end{aligned}$$

where

$$A_{n,m}(\mu,\theta) = \sum_{k=0}^{\left[(n-m)/2\right]} \delta^{k+1} \frac{(2n+1-4k)(n+m-2k+1)_{2k}}{(n-m-2k+1)_{2k+1}} U_{n-2k,m},$$

with

$$A_{n,-1}(\mu,\theta) := \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{n(n+1)^2(n+2)} A_{n,1}(\mu,\theta), & n = 1, 2, \dots \\ 0, & n = 0, \end{cases}$$

m = 0, ..., n + 1 and  $(a)_r = a(a + 1)(a + 2) ... (a + r - 1)$  with  $(a)_0 = 1$ , denotes the Pochhammer symbol. The notations  $\delta$  and  $U_{n-2k,m}$  take values  $\delta = 1$ ,  $U_{n-2k,m} = P_{n-2k}^m (\cosh \mu) P_{n-2k}^m (\cos \theta)$  in cases of prolate monogenic functions and  $\delta = -1, U_{n-2k,m} = \mathbf{i}^{n-2k-m} P_{n-2k}^m (\mathbf{i} \sinh \mu) P_{n-2k}^m (\cos \theta)$  in cases of oblate monogenic functions. The first were studied in [25, 26] and the second were studied in [30]. Spheroidal monogenic functions  $X_{n,m}$  and  $Y_{n,m}$  are  $\mathcal{A}$ -valued and they form a complete orthogonal system in the space  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^+, \mathcal{A})$ . A complete orthogonal system of the space  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^+, \mathbb{H})$  of  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued monogenic functions can be constructed by functions of the form

$$\Phi_n^m := X_{n,m} - Y_{n,m} \mathbf{e_3}$$

with m = 0, ..., n and n = 0, 1, ... That is similar to the spherical case, investigated by I. Cação [8] and then by S. Bock [3].

A common property of those functions is that they are inhomogenous polynomials. That fact can be seen in [30] as well as in the underlying theorems. That makes it difficult to calculate them numerically. In [30], the authors found several recurrence formulae and their explicit representation in terms of spherical monogenic polynomials. Precisely, one has the following theorems.

**Theorem 3.1** The four-step recurrence formula for  $\Phi_n^m$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \varPhi_{n+1}^{m} &= -\frac{2n+3}{2(n-m+2)(n-m+1)} \Big[ (2n+3)x + (2n+1)\overline{x} \Big] \varPhi_{n}^{m} \\ &- \frac{(2n+3)(2n+1)(n+m+1)}{(n-m+2)(n-m+1)^{2}} \overline{x} x \varPhi_{n-1}^{m} \\ &+ \frac{(2n+1)(n+m+1)}{2(n-m+2)(n-m+1)^{2}} \Big[ 2n+3 + \frac{(2m+1)^{2}}{2n-1} \Big] \varPhi_{n-1}^{m} \\ &+ \frac{(2n+3)(n+m+1)(n+m)}{2(n-m+2)(n-m+1)^{2}(n-m)} \Big[ (2n+1)\overline{x} + (2n-1)x \Big] \varPhi_{n-2}^{m} \\ &- \frac{(2n+3)(n+m+1)(n+m)^{2}(n+m-1)}{(2n-1)(n-m+2)(n-m+1)^{2}(n-m)} \varPhi_{n-3}^{m}. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 3.2** The relation between  $\{\Phi_n^m\}$  and  $\{\widetilde{A}_n^m\}$  can be described as follows:

$$\Phi_{n+k}^{n} = (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor k/2 \rfloor} \frac{(2n+k-2j+1)!(2n+1)!!}{2^{n+j} \cdot (k+1)! j!(n+k-2j)!} a_{k,j}^{n} \widetilde{A}_{n+k-2j}^{n},$$

where

$$a_{k,j}^{n} := \frac{(2n+2)_{2k-2j}}{2^{k-j}(n+1)_{k-j}} \cdot (2n+k+2-2j)_{2j}.$$

and  $\{\widetilde{A}_n^m\}$  is the Appell system in [3].

Notice that the Appell functions for spherical domains  $\{\widetilde{A}_n^m\}$  are homogeneous polynomials and they satisfy the two step recurrence formula (cf. [3])

$$\widetilde{A}_{n+1}^{l} = \frac{n+1}{2(n-l+1)(n+l+2)} \Big[ \big( (2n+3)x + (2n+1)\overline{x} \big) \widetilde{A}_{n}^{l} - 2nx\overline{x} \widetilde{A}_{n-1}^{l} \Big],$$

with initial polynomials

$$\widetilde{A}_{l+1}^{l} = \frac{1}{4} \big[ (2l+3)x + (2l+1)\overline{x} \big] \widetilde{A}_{l}^{l}; \quad \widetilde{A}_{l}^{l} = (x_{1} - x_{2}\mathbf{e_{3}})^{l}.$$

Theorem 3.1 shows the analogy between spherical and spheroidal cases. The other terms in the formula express the asymmetry of oblate spheroids. These results help to reduce computational time for those functions. Especially, it is shown in [30] that there does not exist a complete system for spheroidal domains with respect to the standard inner product satisfying both orthogonal and Appell properties.

### **4** Outer Prolate Spheroidal Monogenics

Initially, inner spheroidal monogenic functions were described by means of associated Legendre functions of the first kind. With the help of associated Legendre functions of the second kind, J. Morais tried to construct a complete orthogonal system for the exterior domain of a prolate spheroid. This work becomes more complicated since the latter contains logarithmic functions so that a simple substitution is not enough. In [4], the Kelvin transform was applied for the construction of  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued outer spherical monogenic functions from inner spherical monogenic functions. That keeps properties such as orthogonality invariant. However for  $\mathcal{A}$ -valued functions in a spheroid, the Kelvin transform is not directly applicable. The method, based on the decomposition of a function space into subspaces of homogeneous functions to prove the completeness of a function system (see [2, 24]), fails because of the appearance of logarithmic functions. To this end, we firstly pay attention to the asymptotic behavior of the constructed functions compared with spherical cases. The extra term in the coefficient function is dealt with to prove the orthogonal property which will be discussed later. Finally, by using the harmonic extension to the outer domain of a function defined on the boundary of a prolate spheroid, one can prove the completeness of such a system. This research can be found in [29]. Here it is summarized briefly.

### 4.1 A System of Outer Prolate Spheroidal Monogenics

A system of outer prolate spheroidal monogenic functions is obtained by applying  $\frac{1}{2}\partial$  to outer spheroidal harmonic functions

$$V_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)\cos(l\varphi), \qquad V_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)\sin(l\varphi),$$

where  $V_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) := Q_n^l(\cosh\mu)P_n^l(\cos\theta), (n = 0, 1, ...; l = 0, ..., n)$ . Denote  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n-1,l}} := \frac{1}{2}\partial[V_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)\cos(l\varphi)]$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n-1,l}} := \frac{1}{2}\partial[V_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)\sin(l\varphi)]$ , one gets

$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{-1,0}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := \frac{-\sinh\mu\cos\theta + \cosh\mu\sin\theta(\cos\varphi\mathbf{e_1} + \sin\varphi\mathbf{e_2})}{\sinh\mu(\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu)},\tag{4.1}$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{0,0}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := \frac{1}{4} \ln\left(\frac{\cosh\mu + 1}{\cosh\mu - 1}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\cosh\mu}{\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sin\theta\cos\theta}{\sinh\mu(\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu)} (\cos\varphi \mathbf{e_1} + \sin\varphi \mathbf{e_2}), \tag{4.2}$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n,l}}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := \frac{(n+l+1)}{2} B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) \cos(l\varphi) + \frac{1}{4(n-l+1)} B_{n,l+1}(\mu,\theta) \Big[ \cos\big((l+1)\varphi\big) \mathbf{e_1} + \sin\big((l+1)\varphi\big) \mathbf{e_2} \Big]$$

$$+\frac{1}{4}(n+1+l)(n+l)(n-l+2)B_{n,l-1}(\mu,\theta)$$

$$\times \left[-\cos((l-1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_1} + \sin((l-1)\phi)\mathbf{e_2}\right], \tag{4.3}$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n,l}}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := \frac{(n+l+1)}{B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)}B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta)\sin(l\varphi)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n,l} (\mu, \sigma, \varphi) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n,l+1} (\mu, \sigma) \operatorname{sin}(\varphi) + \frac{1}{4(n-l+1)} B_{n,l+1}(\mu, \sigma) [\sin((l+1)\phi)\mathbf{e_1} - \cos((l+1)\phi)\mathbf{e_2}] - \frac{1}{4}(n+1+l)(n+l)(n-l+2)B_{n,l-1}(\mu, \sigma) [\sin((l-1)\phi)\mathbf{e_1} + \cos((l-1)\phi)\mathbf{e_2}],$$
(4.4)

(for l = 0, ..., n; n = 1, 2, ...)

$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{n,n+1}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := (n+1)B_{n,n+1}(\mu,\theta)\cos((n+1)\varphi) - \frac{\cosh\mu P_{n+2}^{n+2}(\cos\theta)Q_{n+1}^{n+2}(\cosh\mu)}{4(2n+3)(\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu)} \times \left[\cos((n+2)\phi)\mathbf{e}_1 + \sin((n+2)\varphi)\mathbf{e}_2\right] + \frac{(2n+2)(2n+1)}{4}B_{n,n}(\mu,\theta)\left[-\cos(n\varphi)\mathbf{e}_1 + \sin(n\phi)\mathbf{e}_2\right],$$
(4.5)

$$\mathcal{F}_{n,n+1}(\mu,\theta,\varphi) := (n+1)B_{n,n+1}(\mu,\theta)\sin((n+1)\varphi) - \frac{\cosh\mu P_{n+2}^{n+2}(\cos\theta)Q_{n+1}^{n+2}(\cosh\mu)}{4(2n+3)(\sin^2\theta+\sinh^2\mu)} \times \left[\sin((n+2)\phi)\mathbf{e}_1 - \cos((n+2)\varphi)\mathbf{e}_2\right] - \frac{(2n+2)(2n+1)}{4}B_{n,n}(\mu,\theta)\left[\sin(n\varphi)\mathbf{e}_1 + \cos(n\phi)\mathbf{e}_2\right],$$
(4.6)

(for n = 0, 1, ...). The coefficients are given by

$$B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) := \frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta + \sinh^2 \mu} \left[ \cosh \mu P_n^l(\cos \theta) Q_{n+1}^l(\cosh \mu) - \cos \theta P_{n+1}^l(\cos \theta) Q_n^l(\cosh \mu) \right], \tag{4.7}$$

where

$$B_{n,-1}(\mu,\theta) := -\frac{1}{n(n+1)^2(n+2)} B_{n,1}(\mu,\theta) \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

It can be proved that  $B_{n,l}(\mu, \theta)$  has the explicit presentation

$$B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n-l}{2} \rfloor - 1} \frac{(2n+1-4k)(n+l-2k+1)_{2k}}{(n-l-2k+1)_{2k+1}} P_{n-2k}^{l}(\cos\theta) Q_{n-2k}^{l}(\cosh\mu) + \begin{cases} \frac{(2l+1)_{n-l}}{(n-l+1)!} B_{l,l}(\mu,\theta) & \text{if } n-l \text{ even} \\ \frac{2(2l+2)_{n-l-1}}{(n-l+1)!} B_{l+1,l}(\mu,\theta) & \text{if } n-l \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

Because the terms  $Q_{n+1}^l(\cosh \mu)$  contain logarithmic functions, the question of their behavior at infinity arises and we will see that they are completely similar to the outer spherical monogenic functions.

### 4.2 Outer Spherical Monogenics Revisited

To compare, we firstly revisit the spherical case. The construction of outer spherical monogenic functions has been studied in parallel with the construction of inner spherical monogenics. In [6], they are constructed based on the Cauchy kernel function and its derivatives. Spherical monogenics can be obtained also by applying the Kelvin transform as in [4]. Different methods we apply, different representations we get. For  $\mathcal{A}$ -valued monogenic functions, these methods do not lead directly to what we need. Hence, the harmonic function approach is again used together with spherical harmonic functions. Let  $\mathbb{B}(R)$  be a ball with radius R > 0. Denote by  $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, -(n+1))$  the space of real-valued homogeneous harmonic functions of degree -(n + 1) in  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}$  with  $n \ge 0$ . A basis of  $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, -(n + 1))$  is given by

$$\left\{\frac{1}{r^{n+1}}P_n(\cos\theta), \frac{1}{r^{n+1}}P_n^m(\cos\theta)\cos(m\varphi), \frac{1}{r^{n+1}}P_n^m(\cos\theta)\sin(m\varphi)\right\}$$

where m = 1, ..., n. By applying the hypercomplex derivative  $\frac{1}{2}\partial$ , one obtains a system of monogenic functions defined in  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} X^{0}_{-(n+2)} &= -\frac{n+1}{2} \frac{P_{n+1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{P_{n+1}^{1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} [\cos\varphi \mathbf{e_{1}} + \sin\varphi \mathbf{e_{2}}] \\ X^{m}_{-(n+2)} &= -\frac{n-m+1}{2} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} \cos(m\varphi) \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{4} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m+1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} [\cos((m+1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_{1}} + \sin((m+1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_{2}}] \\ &\quad + \frac{(n-m+1)(n-m+2)}{4} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m-1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} \\ &\quad \times \left[ \cos((m-1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_{1}} - \sin((m-1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_{2}} \right] \end{split}$$

$$Y_{-(n+2)}^{m} = -\frac{n-m+1}{2} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} \sin(m\varphi) -\frac{1}{4} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m+1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} \left[ \sin((m+1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_1} - \cos((m+1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_2} \right] +\frac{(n-m+1)(n-m+2)}{4} \frac{P_{n+1}^{m-1}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+2}} \times \left[ \sin((m-1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_1} + \cos((m-1)\varphi)\mathbf{e_2} \right].$$

- 111

Note that  $\frac{1}{2}\partial$  establishes an isomorphism between  $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, -(n+1))$  and  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, \mathcal{A}, -(n+2))$ . The latter consists of all homogeneous monogenic polynomials of degree -(n+2). Due to the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, \mathcal{A}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, \mathcal{A}, -(n+2)),$$

the system  $\{X_{-(n+2)}^0, X_{-(n+2)}^m, Y_{-(n+2)}^m\}_{n=0,1,\dots;m=1,\dots,n}$  forms an orthogonal basis of  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}(R)}, \mathcal{A})$ .

### 4.3 Asymptotic Behavior

The behavior at infinity of outer spheroidal monogenic functions is related closely to the behavior of  $Q_n^l(z)$ . When z tends to infinity

$$Q_n^l(z) = \frac{(n+l)!}{(2n+1)!!} \frac{1}{z^{n+1}} + O\left(\frac{1}{z^{n+3}}\right).$$

Now let  $z = \cosh \mu \simeq \sinh \mu \simeq r = |x|$  if  $\mu$  is large enough, it leads to

$$B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) = -\frac{(n-l+2)(n+l)!}{(2n+3)!!} \frac{P_{n+2}^{l}(\cos\theta)}{r^{n+3}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{n+5}}\right).$$

As a result, we obtain the asymptotic behavior of  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{n,l}$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{n,l}$  for l = 0, ..., n + 1; n = 0, 1, ...

$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n,l}} = \frac{(n+l+1)!}{(2n+3)!!} X_{-(n+3)}^{l} + O\left(\frac{1}{|x|^{n+5}}\right),$$
$$\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n,l}} = \frac{(n+l+1)!}{(2n+3)!!} Y_{-(n+3)}^{l} + O\left(\frac{1}{|x|^{n+5}}\right).$$

Particularly, when  $|x| \rightarrow \infty$ 

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{-1,0}} = -\frac{\overline{x}}{|x|^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{|x|^4}\right),$$

and it behaves like the Cauchy kernel in a neighborhood of infinity.

# 4.4 Orthogonality

It could be easy to see that each following pair of functions is orthogonal with respect to the inner product (2.1) whenever  $l_1 \neq l_2$ 

- $\{\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n_1,l_1}},\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n_2,l_2}}\}.$
- $\{\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n_1,l_1}},\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n_2,l_2}}\}.$
- $\{\widehat{\mathcal{E}_{n_1,l_1}},\widehat{\mathcal{F}_{n_2,l_2}}\}.$

The assertion is based on the orthogonalities of  $\sin(l\varphi)$  and  $\cos(k\varphi)$  on  $[0, 2\pi]$ . In the other cases, one can decompose coefficient functions  $B_{n,l}(\mu, \theta)$  into summands of the form

$$Q_{n-2k}^{l}(\cosh\mu)P_{n-2k}^{l}(\cos\theta), \qquad (4.8)$$

except one extra term

$$\frac{\cosh\mu P_l^l(\cos\theta)Q_{l-1}^l(\cosh\mu)}{\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu} \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{\cos\theta P_l^l(\cos\theta)Q_{l-1}^l(\cosh\mu)}{\sin^2\theta + \sinh^2\mu}.$$
(4.9)

Consequently, orthogonality holds for the terms of the form (4.8) according to equalities

$$\int_0^{\pi} P_n^l(\cos\theta) P_s^l(\cos\theta) \sin\theta d\theta = 0,$$
$$\int_0^{\pi} P_{n+1}^l(\cos\theta) \cos\theta P_s^l(\cos\theta) \sin\theta d\theta = 0$$

for s < n. Besides, we can prove by induction the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.1** Let  $B_{n,l}(\mu, \theta)$  be functions as in (4.7), then with l = 0, 1, ... the following equalities hold when n, k are equal to l or l + 1

$$\int_0^{\pi} B_{n,l}(\mu,\theta) P_k^l(\cos\theta) \sin\theta d\theta = 0.$$

The proposition is applied to deal with the extra term (4.9) in expansions of  $B_{n,l}(\mu, \theta)$  and it results in the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.2** The constructed functions (4.1)–(4.6) form an orthogonal system in  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^-, \mathcal{A})$  with respect to the inner product (2.1).

The proof can be found in [29].

### 4.5 Completeness

Any function  $\mathbf{f} \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega^-, \mathcal{A})$  has a Fourier series expansion related to the function system (4.1)–(4.6). The question is whether the Fourier series expansion converges to  $\mathbf{f}$  in  $L_2$ -norm. In order to find the answer, one needs the following result.

**Theorem 4.3** Let  $\mathbf{f}$  be a function in  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^-, \mathcal{A}) \cap C^1(\Omega^- \cup \Gamma)$ . Then the Fourier series expansion of  $\mathbf{f}$  converges to  $\mathbf{f}$  in the sense of the  $L^2(\Omega^-)$ -norm.

Notice that Theorem 4.3 considers only the case of smooth functions in  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^-, \mathcal{A})$ . For the  $L_2$ -case, the analogous result is obtained by applying the following corollary.

Corollary 4.4 Any outer spherical monogenic functions

 $\{X^{0}_{-(n+2)}, X^{m}_{-(n+2)}, Y^{m}_{-(n+2)}\}_{n \ge 0; m=1,...,n}$ 

can be presented by its Fourier series expansion with respect to the system (4.1)-(4.6).

To this end, we give the completeness theorem.

**Theorem 4.5** The function system (4.1)–(4.6) forms a complete orthogonal system of the space  $\mathcal{M}(\Omega^-, \mathcal{A})$  with respect to the inner product (2.1) in the exterior domain  $\Omega^-$ .

Details can be found in [29].

### 5 Conclusion

Ellipsoidal harmonic functions have attracted the attention of several researchers and shown their importance in many fields. By means of the hypercomplex derivative, ellipsoidal monogenic functions are currently being developed. In accordance with advantages of Clifford analysis, it will become a helpful tool for solving problems in ellipsoidal domains. Further applications of such systems hopefully will be announced in the near future.

Acknowledgements The author acknowledges the financial support of MOET-Vietnam & DAAD and Prof. K. Gürlebeck and Dr. J. Morais for the valuable discussions.

### References

1. P. Appell, Sur une classe de polynômes. Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Super. 9, 119-144 (1880)

- 2. S. Bock, Über funktionentheoretische Methoden in der räumlichen Elastizitätstheorie. PhD thesis, Bauhau–Universität Weimar (2009)
- 3. S. Bock, On a three-dimensional analogue to the holomorphic *z*-powers: power series and recurrence formulae. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. **57**, 1349–1370 (2011)
- 4. S. Bock, On a three-dimensional analogue to the holomorphic *z*-powers: Laurent series expansions. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. **57**, 1271–1287 (2011)
- S. Bock, K. Gürlebeck, R. Lávička, V. Souček, Gelfand–Tsetlin bases for spherical monogenics in dimension 3. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 28, 1165–1192 (2012)
- 6. F. Brackx, R. Delanghe, F. Sommen, Clifford Analysis (Pitman, London, 1982)
- I. Cação, K. Gürlebeck, H. Malonek, Special monogenic polynomials and L<sub>2</sub>-approximation. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebras 11, 47–60 (2001)
- 8. I. Cação, Constructive approximation by monogenic polynomials. PhD thesis, Universidade de Aveiro, Departamento de Matemática (2004)
- I. Cação, K. Gürlebeck, S. Bock, Complete orthonormal systems of spherical monogenics a constructive approach, in *Proceedings of ICAM Hanoi 2004*, ed. by L.H. Son, W. Tutschke, S. Jain. Methods of Complex and Clifford Analysis (SAS International Publications, Delhi, 2004)
- I. Cação, K. Gürlebeck, S. Bock, On derivatives of spherical monogenics. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 51, 847–869 (2006)
- I. Cação, K. Gürlebeck, On monogenic primitives of monogenic functions. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 52, 1081–1100 (2006)
- G. Dassios, Directional dependent Green's function and Kelvin images. Arch. Appl. Mech. 82, 1325–1335 (2012)
- R. Fueter, Functions of a Hyper Complex Variable, Lecture Notes Written and Supplemented by E. Bareiss (Math. Inst. Univ., Zürich, 1948/1949)
- 14. P. Garabedian, Orthogonal harmonic polynomials. Pac. J. Math. 3, 585-603 (1953)
- K. Gürlebeck, K. Habetha, W. Sprößig, Holomorphic Functions in the Plane and n-Dimensional Space (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008)
- K. Gürlebeck, J. Morais, P. Cerejeiras, Borel–Carathéodory type theorem for monogenic functions. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 3, 99–112 (2009)
- K. Gürlebeck, J. Morais, On mapping properties of monogenic functions. CUBO 11, 73–100 (2009)
- 18. M. Hvŏzdara, I. Kohút, Gravity field due to a homogeneous oblate spheroid: simple solution form and numerical calculations. Contrib. Geophys. Geod. **41**, 307–327 (2011)
- 19. K.I. Kou, J. Morais, Y. Zhang, Generalized prolate spheroidal wave functions for offset linear canonical transform in Clifford analysis. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. **36**, 1028–1041 (2013)
- 20. R. Lávička, *Hypercomplex Analysis: Selected Topics–Habilitation Thesis* (Charles University, Prague, 2011)
- 21. H. Malonek, Power series representation for monogenic functions in  $\mathbb{R}^{m+1}$  based on a permutational product. Complex Var. Theory Appl. **15**, 181–191 (1990)
- Z. Martinec, E.W. Grafarend, Construction of Green's function to the external Dirichlet boundary-value problem for the Laplace equation on an ellipsoid of revolution. J. Geod. 71, 562–570 (1997)
- S. Maus, An ellipsoidal harmonic representation of Earth's lithospheric magnetic field to degree and order 720. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 11, Q06015 (2010), 12 pp. doi:10.1029/2010GC003026
- 24. J. Morais, Approximation by homogeneous polynomial solutions of the Riesz system in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . PhD thesis, Bauhaus-Universität Weimar (2009)
- J. Morais, A complete orthogonal system of spheroidal monogenics. J. Numer. Anal. Ind. Appl. Math. 6(3–4), 105–119 (2011)
- 26. J. Morais, An orthogonal system of monogenic polynomials over prolate spheroids in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Math. Comput. Model. 57, 425–434 (2013)
- J. Morais, K.I. Kou, W. Sprössig, Generalized holomorphic Szegö kernel in 3D spheroids. Comput. Math. Appl. 65, 576–588 (2013)

- J. Morais, S. Georgiev, K.I. Kou, On convergence properties of 3D spheroidal monogenics. Int. J. Wavelets Multiresolut. Inf. Process. 11, 1350024 (2013)
- J. Morais, K. Gürlebeck, H.M. Nguyen, On orthogonal 3D prolate spheroidal monogenics, preprint on http://webuser.uni-weimar.de/~guerlebe/Article.pdf
- H.M. Nguyen, K. Gürlebeck, J. Morais, S. Bock, On orthogonal monogenics in oblate spheroidal domains and recurrence formulae. Integral Transforms Spec. Funct. (2014). doi:10.1080/10652469.2014.885963
- 31. G. Romain, B. Jean-Pierre, Ellipsoidal harmonic expansions of the gravitational potential: theory and application. Celest. Mech. Dyn. Astron. **79**, 235–275 (2001)

# Clifford Algebras with Induced (Semi)-Riemannian Structures and Their Compactifications

Craig A. Nolder and John A. Emanuello

**Abstract** Identifying the Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{r,s}$  with the semi-Riemannian manifold  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$ , one is afforded an opportunity to examine the conformal geometry of the associated compact manifold, in a manner similar to the case of the Riemann sphere in complex analysis. In this work we consider some low-dimensional examples and provide conjectures to inspire further research.

Keywords Clifford analysis · Conformal mappings

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 30G35 · 30C20

### 1 Introduction

In 1878, famed geometer William Kingdon Clifford introduced *geometric algebras*, which are special cases of what are now called Clifford algebras [3]. In many ways, Clifford algebras may be thought as higher dimensional analogues of the complex numbers.

A great deal of work has been done to develop a theory of functions of a Clifford variable. However, there is still much to be done to fully generalize the results of many analogues from complex analysis.

One of the great results from complex variables is the development of the Riemann sphere, which proved to have some advantages as a domain for functions of a complex variable. As a compact space, it possesses some desirable topological properties. In terms of the analysis, one finds that many nice results are true on the sphere which are not true in the plane. For example the class of meromorphic functions on the sphere are merely the rational functions, while in the plane the

C.A. Nolder (🖾) · J.A. Emanuello

Department of Mathematics, The Florida State University, 208 Love Building, 1017 Academic Way, Tallahassee, FL 32306-4510, USA e-mail: nolder@math.fsu.edu

J.A. Emanuello e-mail: jemanuel@math.fsu.edu

meromorphic functions are a larger class of functions. Also, the sphere has a rich conformal geometry.

A natural question arises: Can these ideas be extended to the general Clifford case? The literature demonstrates that this question may be answered in the affirmative, at least in low dimensions, [4-6, 9-12]. In this paper, we provide some explanation of the literature and motivating examples which we believe will inspire further research in this area.

### 2 Induced (Semi)-Riemannian Structure on a Clifford Algebra

We write  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$  for the quadratic space with (the possibly definite) semi-Riemannian metric  $g^{p,q}$ , which is defined at each  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{p+q}$  and  $X, Y \in T_a \mathbb{R}^{p+q}$  by

$$g^{p,q}(X,Y) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} X_i Y_i - \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+q} X_i Y_i.$$

We shall denote the corresponding quadratic form by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{p,q} = \sum_{i=1}^{p} x_i^2 - \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+q} x_i^2$ .

Some attention has been paid toward compactifying  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$  and their conformal mappings. In particular, Schottenloher describes the following compactification.

First, we embed  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$  in projective space:

$$\phi : \mathbb{R}^{p,q} \to \mathbb{P}_{p+q+1}(\mathbb{R})$$
$$\zeta = (x_1, \dots, x_{p+q}) \mapsto \left(\frac{1 - \langle \zeta, \zeta \rangle_{p,q}}{2} : x_1 : \dots : x_{p+q} : \frac{1 + \langle \zeta, \zeta \rangle_{p,q}}{2}\right).$$

It is easy to check that  $\phi$  is a conformal mapping.

To borrow notation from Schottenloher, we define the compactification of  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$  by

$$N^{p,q} := \overline{\phi(\mathbb{R}^{p,q})}.$$

It is important to note that the product of spheres  $S^p \times S^q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{p+1,q+1}$  is a 2-to-1 covering of  $N^{p,q}$ , whose covering map is the restriction of quotient map  $\pi : \mathbb{R}^{p+q+2} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}_{p+q+1}(\mathbb{R})$  [12].

We consider the real Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{r,s}$ . We write n = r + s. This is an associative algebra of dimension  $2^n$  generated over  $\mathbb{R}$  by  $\{1, e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n\}$  and is subject to relations

$$e_j^2 = 1$$
 if  $j = 1, ..., r$  and  $e_j^2 = -1$  if  $j = r + 1, ..., r$   
 $e_i e_j + e_j e_i = 2\delta_{i,j}$ .

In general elements of the algebra are of the form

$$\zeta = \sum_A x_A e_A,$$

where  $A = \{i_1, ..., i_k\} \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  and  $e_A = e_{i_1} e_{i_2} \cdots e_{i_k}$ . By convention  $e_0 = 1$ .

A conjugation is defined by  $\overline{e_0} = e_0$ ,  $\overline{e_j} = -e_j$ , j = 1, ..., n. We define an involution which is an analogue of complex conjugation:

$$\overline{\zeta} = x_0 + \sum_{A \neq 0} x_A \overline{e_A}.$$

Here  $\overline{e_A e_B} = \overline{e_B e_A}$ .

We are now interested in classifying the Möbius transformations on a compactification of  $C\ell_{r,s}$  (that is compositions of dilations, translations, rotations, and reflections) as in the complex case. We assume throughout the rest of this section that  $r + s \leq 2$ . Then the product  $\zeta \bar{\zeta}$  defines a quadratic form with corresponding bilinear form  $\zeta \bar{\omega}$ . Identifying  $C\ell_{r,s}$  with  $\mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ , this bilinear form is the standard bilinear form of signature (p, q), where  $p + q = 2^n$ .

Passing this form to the tangent spaces of the manifold  $\mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ , means we can then identify  $C\ell_{r,s}$  with the semi-Riemannian manifold  $\mathbb{R}^{p,q}$ . In the course of our investigation we have strong evidence to suggest the following.

**Conjecture 2.1** In the case that  $r + s \le 2$ , the group of orientation preserving Möbius transformations on  $C\ell_{r,s}$  is isomorphic to  $SO_o(p + 1, q + 1)$ , which is the connected component containing the identity of the Lie group SO(p + 1, q + 1).

This conjecture is supported by results appearing in the literature, see [1, 5, 6]. Finding Lie group homomorphisms is usually a non-trivial task. The associated Lie algebras tend to be easier objects to understand. Under certain circumstances, a Lie algebra isomorphism determines an isomorphism between the associated Lie groups [7].

In the next section we shall provide examples where the conjecture is true.

### **3** Examples

#### 3.1 Example 1: The Real Line

By convention, the Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{0,0}$  is identified with the real line  $\mathbb{R}$ . Using the standard Riemannian structure we think of  $\mathbb{R}$  as  $\mathbb{R}^{1,0}$ .

We know that  $S^1 \times S^0 = S^1 \times \{-1, 1\}$  forms a 2-to-1 cover of  $N^{1,0}$ . Of course, this means that  $N^{1,0}$  is homeomorphic to  $S^1$ , which is the one point compactification of  $\mathbb{R}$ . The conformal mappings here are the diffeomorphisms of the circle.

An important subclass of these mappings are the real Möbius transformations

$$x \mapsto \frac{ax+b}{cx+d},$$

which can be described as  $PGL(2, \mathbb{R})$  acting on  $\mathbb{R}$ . If we consider the Möbius transformations induced by  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ , we find that we see that Conjecture 2.1 is true for  $\mathbb{R}$ :

$$PSL(2,\mathbb{R}) \cong SO_o(2,1),$$

see [1]. Incidentally, we have the isomorphism of Lie algebras [8]:

$$\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})\cong\mathfrak{so}(2,1).$$

### 3.2 Example 2: The Complex Plane

Recall, that the Riemann sphere was our motivating example. It is prudent to check that our construction coincides with the Riemann sphere.

The complex plane is identified with the Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{0,1}$ . Of course the bilinear form on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is the one induced from  $\zeta \overline{\omega}$  as above. Hence we identify  $\mathbb{C} \sim \mathbb{R}^{2,0}$ . Si

ince 
$$S^2 \times \{-1, 1\}$$
 is a double cover of  $N^{2,0}$ , we know that

$$N^{2,0} \cong S^2,$$

which is the Riemann sphere.

Results from complex analysis tell us that the conformal mappings  $S^2 \rightarrow S^2$  are the usual orientation preserving Möbius transformations

$$z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$

where ad - bc = 1.

The orientation preserving transformations are isomorphic to  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ . It so happens that

$$PSL(2, \mathbb{C}) \cong SO_o(3, 1),$$

as needed [1]. Again, the associated Lie algebras are isomorphic [8]:

$$\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})\cong\mathfrak{so}(3,1).$$

### 3.3 Example 3: The Minkowski Plane

The case of the Minkowski plane is considered in our previous work, whose bibliography contains several resources outlining the historical significance of this semi-Riemannian manifold [4].

The Clifford algebra we consider in this case is  $C\ell_{1,0}$ , which we also refer to as the *split complex numbers* and is associated with the quadratic space  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$ . Unlike  $\mathbb{C}$ , this algebra has zero divisors.

In our previous work, we show that Möbius transformations

$$\zeta \mapsto \frac{a\zeta + b}{c\zeta + d},$$

where  $a, b, c, d \in C\ell_{1,0}$  and ad - bc is an invertible element, form a subclass of the conformal mappings on  $N^{1,1}$ . For reasons made clear in our paper, the Möbius transformations are isomorphic to  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  [4]. In this case we have

 $PSL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times PSL(2, \mathbb{R}) \cong SO_o(2, 1) \times SO_o(2, 1) \cong SO_o(2, 2).$ 

Moreover,  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \times \mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \cong \mathfrak{so}(2, 2)$  [8].

### 3.4 Example 4: Quaternions

The quaternions  $\mathbb{H}$  are the Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{0,2}$ . The corresponding quadratic space is  $\mathbb{R}^{4,0}$  which is embedded as above into  $S^4 \times S^0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{5,1}$ . The Lie algebra here is  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{H})$  consisting of  $2 \times 2$  traceless matrices with entries from  $\mathbb{H}$ . By considering the fundamental representation of this Lie algebra as real linear operators on  $\mathbb{H}^2$  one finds that  $PSL(2,\mathbb{H})$  is isomorphic to  $SO_0(5,1)$ . See [1, 5, 6].

### 3.5 Example 5: Split Quaternions

The Clifford algebra  $C\ell_{1,1}$ , often referred to as the split quaternions, induce the semi-Riemannian structure  $\mathbb{R}^{2,2}$ . Here  $SL(2, C\ell_{1,1})$  is isomorphic to  $SL(4, \mathbb{R})$ , see [5, 6]. We have the local isomorphism  $\mathfrak{sl}(4, \mathbb{R}) \cong \mathfrak{so}(3, 3)$  [8]. As such it is likely that  $PSL(4, \mathbb{R})$  is isomorphic to  $SO_0(3, 3)$ . We remark that  $C\ell_{2,0}$  is isomorphic to  $C\ell_{1,1}$ .

### 3.6 Example 6: Cl<sub>0,3</sub>

This Clifford algebra is generated over  $\mathbb{R}$  by generators  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$  with a basis  $\{e_0, e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4, e_5, e_6, e_7\}$  satisfying the relations

$$e_0e_i = e_ie_0 = e_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, 7,$$
  
 $e_1e_2 = e_4, \quad e_1e_3 = e_5, \quad e_2e_3 = e_6, \quad e_1e_6 = e_7$ 

$$e_i^2 = -e_0, \qquad e_7^2 = e_0, \quad i = 1, \dots, 6,$$
  
 $e_i e_j + e_j e_i = 0, \quad i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, 6, \ i + j \neq 7,$   
 $e_i e_j = e_j e_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, 7, \ i \neq j, \ i + j = 7.$ 

Here  $\zeta = \sum_{i=0}^{7} x_i e_i$  with conjugate  $\overline{\zeta} = x_0 e_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{6} x_i e_i + x_7 e_7$ . Hence in this case  $\zeta \overline{\zeta} = (\sum_{i=0}^{7} x_i^2) e_0 + (x_0 x_7 - x_1 x_6 + x_2 x_5 - x_3 x_4) e_7$  which is an element of  $C\ell_{1,0}$ . For more details in this case, see [2].

### References

- 1. J.C. Baez, Octonions. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 39(2), 145-205 (2002)
- 2. I. Burdujan, Clifford-Kähler manifolds. Balk. J. Geom. Appl. 13(2), 12-23 (2008)
- R. Delanghe, Clifford analysis: history and perspective. Comput. Methods Funct. Theory 1, 17–153 (2001)
- 4. J.A. Emanuello, C.A. Nolder, Projective compactification of  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$  and its Möbius geometry. Preprint
- I. Frenkel, M. Libine, Quaternionic analysis, representation theory and physics. Adv. Math. 218, 1806–1877 (2008)
- 6. I. Frenkel, M. Libine, Split quaternionic analysis and the separation of the series for *SL*(2, ℝ) and *SL*(2, ℂ)/*SL*(2, ℝ). Adv. Math. **228**, 678–763 (2011)
- J. Gallier, Notes on Differential Geometry and Lie Groups (University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia, 2010)
- 8. S. Helgason, *Differential Geometry, Lie Groups, and Symmetric Spaces* (Academic Press, New York, 1978)
- 9. V.V. Kisil, Analysis in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$  and the principal function theory. Complex Var. Theory Appl. **40**(2), 93–118 (1999)
- V.V. Kisil, Two-dimensional conformal models of space-time and their compactification. J. Math. Phys. 48(7), 073506 (2007)
- 11. V.V. Kisil, *Geometry of Möbius Transformations: Elliptic, Parabolic and Hyperbolic Actions of SL*<sub>2</sub>(ℝ) (Imperial College Press, London, 2012)
- M. Schottenloher, A Mathematical Introduction to Conformal Field Theory (Springer, Berlin, 2008)

# Part IX Integral Transforms and Reproducing Kernels

Organizers: Saburou Saitoh, Juri Rappoport

# **Generalized Shift Operators Generated by Convolutions of Integral Transforms**

Lyubov Y. Britvina

**Abstract** In this work we discuss a problem of the equivalence of two main approaches to introducing of generalized convolution operators. The first of them is based on the constructing of a generalized shift operator. The idea of the second approach is based on the works by Valentin Kakichev. On this problem we demonstrate on the examples of classical and nonclassical convolution constructions of integral transforms. In particular, we consider the shift operators defined by the convolutions for Hankel integral transform with the function  $j_{\nu}(xt) = (2xt)^{\nu} \Gamma(\nu + 1) J_{\nu}(xt)$  in the kernel. Here  $J_{\nu}(xt)$  is the Bessel function of the first kind of order  $\nu$ , Re  $\nu > -1/2$ .

**Keywords** Shift (translation) operator  $\cdot$  Convolution  $\cdot$  Fourier integral transform  $\cdot$  Hankel integral transform

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 44A35 · Secondary 42B10

### **1** Convolutions and Generalized Shift Operators

Nowadays, there are two main approaches to the constructing and generalizing of convolutions for integral transforms.

The first of them is based on the constructing of a generalized shift operator (also called generalized translation operator, or generalized displacement operator). Then the classical translation operator (ordinary translation) into convolution is replaced on the generalized shift operator, and we get a generalized convolution. Usually, the generalized translation operators of the Delsarte–Levitan–Povzner type are used in these constructions.

In 1938 Jean Delsarte [1] (see also [2, 3]) formulated an entirely new generalization of the notion of translation operator. He had been interested in finding a formal

L.Y. Britvina (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was completed with the support of the Strategic Development Program of Novgorod State University.

Novgorod State University, ul. B. St. Petersburgskaya, 41, 173003 Veliky Novgorod, Russia e-mail: Lyubov.Britvina@novsu.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_56

generalization of the Taylor expansion formula. This research allowed him to obtain the first results in the theory of generalized translation operator.

Generalized translation in the sense of Jean Delsarte has later been considered from various points of view by many authors. An important step in the direction of the Delsarte's works has been made by Aleksandr Povzner [4]. He determined the translation operators by the Riemann's method for solving the hyperbolic equation. It makes possible to define the translation operators over a very large family of functions.

The main results in the theory of generalized translation operators belong to Boris Levitan [5, 6]. He gave an axiomatic definition of generalized translation operators, studied their structure, considered the application of spectral analysis of generalized translation operators. The operators associating with Sturm–Liouville differential operators have been studied by him in detail.

Later S. Bochner, N. Weinberger, I.I. Hirschman, N. Leblanc, N. Dunford and J.T. Schwartz, V. Hutson and J.S. Pym, B. Fishel and others authors have discussed generalized translation operators.

The idea of the second approach is based on the works by Valentin Kakichev [7]. In 1967 he introduced the definition of polyconvolution, or generalized convolution.

**Definition 1.1** Let  $A_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 be linear operators mapping linear spaces  $U_i(T_i)$  to an algebra W(X). The polyconvolution (generalized convolution) of function f(t) and g(t) generated by these operators with weighted function  $\alpha(x)$ , is the function h(t) denoted by  $(f_{A_1} \stackrel{\alpha}{*} g_{A_2})_{A_3}(t)$  for which the following factorization property is valid:

$$(A_3h)(x) = A_3 \Big[ (f_{A_1} * g_{A_2})_{A_3} \Big](x) = \alpha(x) \cdot (A_1 f)(x) \cdot (A_2 g)(x).$$
(1.1)

Here the sympol "." denotes a multiplication in the algebra W(X).

Using this definition we can construct the polyconvolutions generated by various linear operators, in particular we can construct the convolutions for integral transforms. And these convolutions define translation operators.

Now we discuss a problem of the equivalence of these approaches to introducing of generalized convolution operators. We take the Levitan's definition of generalized translation operator (see his paper [5, 6]).

We will deal throughout the paper with weighted Lebesgue spaces  $L_p(\mathbb{R}_+; \omega(t)dt), 1 \le p < \infty$  with respect to a positive measure  $\omega(t)dt$  equipped with the norm for which

$$\|f\|_{\omega} = \left(\int_0^{\infty} \left|f(t)\right|^p \omega(t) dt\right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

Let  $T^{\tau}$  be a family of operators depending on the parametre  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_+$ .

Thus, to every function  $f(t) \subset L_p(\mathbb{R}_+; \omega(t)dt)$  there corresponds a function  $T_t^{\tau} f(t)$  of two variable points.

Denote by  $\tilde{T}_t^{\tau} f(t)$  the adjoined operator which is defined by the relation

$$\int T_t^{\tau} f(t) \overline{g(t)} \omega(t) dt = \int f(t) \overline{\widetilde{T}_t^{\tau} g(t)} \omega(t) dt.$$

**Definition 1.2** Let then the operators  $T^{\tau}$  satisfy the following conditions, which we will call the conditions of generalized translation:

I. Linearity:

$$T_t^{\tau} \left[ af(t) + bg(t) \right] = a T_t^{\tau} f(t) + b T_t^{\tau} g(t),$$

a, b are real numbers.

II. The single element  $e \in \mathbb{R}_+$  exists such that

$$T_t^e f(t) = f(t), \qquad T_e^\tau f(t) = f(\tau).$$

III. Associativity:

$$T_s^{\tau} T_t^s f(t) = T_t^s T_t^{\tau} f(t).$$

IV. Boundedness:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \int |T_t^{\tau} f(t)|^p \omega(t) dt \end{bmatrix}^{1/p} \leq A_p(\tau) \begin{bmatrix} \int |f(t)|^p \omega(t) dt \end{bmatrix}^{1/p}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \int |\tilde{T}_t^{\tau} f(t)|^p \omega(t) dt \end{bmatrix}^{1/p} \leq A_p^*(\tau) \begin{bmatrix} \int |f(t)|^p \omega(t) dt \end{bmatrix}^{1/p},$$

where  $A_p(\tau), A_p^*(\tau)$  are positive functions bounded on every compact set  $T \subset \mathbb{R}_+$ .

V. Continuity: if  $f(t) \subset L_p$  then for each  $\epsilon > 0$  there is the neighborhood U such that if  $s, r \in U$  then

$$\int \left| T_t^s f(t) - T_t^r f(t) \right|^p \omega(t) dt < \epsilon^p, \qquad \int \left| \tilde{T}_t^s f(t) - \tilde{T}_t^r f(t) \right|^p \omega(t) dt < \epsilon^p.$$

In the next section we consider certain convolution operators and translation operators which are generated by them.

### 2 Examples of Convolutions and Generalized Shift Operators

### 2.1 The Convolutions of the Fourier Cosine and Sine Transforms

Polyconvolutions which are associated with the Fourier cosine and sine transformations are well studied. It is widely known, that the Fourier transform is well-defined on the space  $L_1(\mathbb{R}_+; dt)$ 

$$V_{\{s\}}[f](x) = \int_0^\infty f(t) \left\{ \frac{\cos xt}{\sin xt} \right\} dt, \quad f(t) \in L_1(\mathbb{R}_+).$$
(2.1)

Moreover, if  $g(x) = (F_c f)(x) \in L_1(\mathbb{R}_+; dx)$  we have the reciprocal inversion formula  $f(x) = (F_c g)(x)$ .

In the case of  $L_2(\mathbb{R}_+; dt)$ -space we should define the cosine Fourier transform in the mean-square convergence sense, namely

$$V_{{s}^{c}_{s}}[f](x) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{1/N}^{N} f(t) \begin{cases} \cos xt \\ \sin xt \end{cases} dt, \quad f(t) \in L_{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}),$$
(2.2)

and familiar Plancherel's theorem says that  $F_c: L_2(\mathbb{R}_+; dt) \to L_2(\mathbb{R}_+; dt)$  is an isometric isomorphism and Parseval's equality

$$\|F_c f\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}_+;dt)} = \|f\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}_+;dt)}.$$
(2.3)

In these function spaces we can introduce various convolutions which are generated by the Fourier cosine and sine transforms. For example, the following constructions without weight functions [8-10]

$$(f_c * g_c)_c(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty f(\tau) \big[ g(t+\tau) + g\big(|t-\tau|\big) \big] d\tau,$$
(2.4)

$$V_{c}[(f_{c} * g_{c})_{c}(t)](x) = V_{c}[f](x)V_{c}[g](x);$$
(2.5)

$$(f_c * g_s)_s(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty g(\tau) [f(|t - \tau|) - f(t + \tau)] d\tau$$
(2.6)

$$=\frac{1}{2}\int_0^\infty f(\tau) \big[g(t+\tau) + \operatorname{sign}(t-\tau)g\big(|t-\tau|\big)\big]d\tau, \qquad (2.7)$$

$$V_{s}[(f_{c} * g_{s})_{s}(t)](x) = V_{c}[f](x)V_{s}[g](x);$$
(2.8)

$$(f_s * g_s)_c(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty f(\tau) \big[ g(t+\tau) - \operatorname{sign}(t-\tau) g\big(|t-\tau|\big) \big] d\tau, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$V_{c}[(f_{s} * g_{s})_{c}(t)](x) = V_{s}[f](x)V_{s}[g](x).$$
(2.10)

The convolutions (2.4), (2.6), (2.7) and (2.9) generate the following translation operators:

$${}_{1}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[ f(t+\tau) + f\big(|t-\tau|\big) \Big],$$

$${}_{1}T_{t}^{0}f(t) = f(t), \qquad {}_{1}T_{0}^{\tau}f(t) = f(\tau),$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\tau} {}_{1}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} = {}_{3}T_{t}^{0}f'(t) = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} {}_{1}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{t=0} = {}_{2}\tilde{T}_{0}^{\tau}f'(t) = 0,$$

$$(2.11)$$

1

$$\begin{split} {}_{2}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ f \big( |t-\tau| \big) - f(t+\tau) \Big], \\ {}_{2}T_{t}^{0}f(t) &= 0, \\ {}_{2}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= -{}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{0}f'(t) = -f'(t), \\ {}_{\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}}{}_{2}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= -{}_{3}T_{0}^{\tau}f'(t) = -f'(\tau), \end{split}$$
(2.12)  
$$\begin{split} {}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{\tau}f(t) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ f(t+\tau) + \operatorname{sign}(t-\tau)f\big( |t-\tau| \big) \Big], \\ {}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{0}f(t) &= f(t), \\ {}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{0}f(t) &= f(t), \\ {}_{\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}}{}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= -{}_{2}T_{0}^{0}f'(t) = 0, \\ \\ {}_{\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}}{}_{2}\tilde{T}_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= {}_{1}T_{0}^{\tau}f'(t) = f'(\tau), \\ {}_{3}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ f(t+\tau) - \operatorname{sign}(t-\tau)f\big( |t-\tau| \big) \Big], \\ {}_{3}T_{t}^{0}f(t) &= 0, \\ \\ {}_{\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}}{}_{3}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= {}_{1}T_{0}^{\tau}f'(t) = f(\tau), \\ \\ {}_{\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}}{}_{3}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) \Big|_{\tau=0} &= {}_{1}T_{0}^{\tau}f'(t) = 0. \end{split}$$
(2.14)

The translation operator (2.11) is well known. It is the operator of the Levitan's type. The other operators (2.12)–(2.14) and polyconvolutions with weight functions for the Fourier cosine and sine transforms are not the operators of Levitan's type because they do not satisfy the conditions II and III, in particular.

# 2.2 The Convolutions of the Hankel Transform

The Hankel integral transform is defined by

$$h_{\nu}(f)(s) = \tilde{f}(s) = \int_0^\infty f(t) j_{\nu}(st) t^{2\nu+1} dt, \quad \nu > -1/2, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the function

$$j_{\nu}(st) = \frac{2^{\nu} \Gamma(\nu+1)}{(st)^{\nu}} J_{\nu}(st) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(\nu+1)(st)^{2m}}{2^{2m} m! \Gamma(m+\nu+1)}$$
(2.16)

is associated with the Bessel function  $J_{\nu}$  of the first kind of order  $\nu$ .

The function  $j_{\nu}(st)$  is the solution of the equation

$$\frac{d^2y}{dt^2} + \frac{2\nu+1}{t}\frac{dy}{dt} + s^2t = 0$$
(2.17)

under conditions y(0) = 1 and y'(0) = 0.

The inversion formula for (2.15) is given by

$$h_{\nu}^{-1}(\tilde{f})(t) = f(t) = \left[2^{2\nu}\Gamma^2(\nu+1)\right]^{-1} \int_0^\infty \tilde{f}(s)j_{\nu}(st)s^{2\nu+1}ds.$$
(2.18)

The classical convolution for the Hankel transform (2.15) is well studied and is defined by

$$(f_{\nu} * g_{\nu})_{\nu}(t) = \frac{\Gamma(\nu+1)}{\Gamma(\nu+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \int_{0}^{\pi} \sin^{2\nu}\varphi$$
$$\times \int_{0}^{\infty} f(\tau)g\left(\sqrt{t^{2}+\tau^{2}-2t\tau\cos\varphi}\right)\tau^{2\nu+1}d\tau d\varphi.$$
(2.19)

This convolution can be rewritten as

$$(f_{\nu} * g_{\nu})_{\nu}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f(\tau)_{0} T_{t}^{\tau} g(t) \tau^{2\nu+1} d\tau$$
(2.20)

if we introduce the translation operator:

$${}_{0}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) = \frac{\Gamma(\nu+1)}{\Gamma(\nu+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \int_{0}^{\pi} f\left(\sqrt{t^{2}+\tau^{2}-2t\tau\cos\varphi}\right)\sin^{2\nu}\varphi d\varphi,$$
  
$${}_{0}T_{t}^{0}f(t) = f(t), \qquad {}_{0}T_{0}^{\tau}f(t) = f(\tau).$$
(2.21)

This translation operator is the generalized translation operator of the Levitan's type. It was first introduced and studied by B.M. Levitan in 1949 [5] (see also [11]). In 1955 Ya.I. Zhitomirskii [12] constructed the convolution for the Hankel transform using the translation operator and its properties. Also this classical convolution and corresponding translation operator were introduced and investigated by I.I. Hirschman, D.T. Haimo, F.M. Cholowinski, V.A. Kakichev, Vu Kim Tuan and Megumi Saigo [7, 13–16].

The Kakichev's approach allows us to introduce some convolutions for the Hankel transform. For example, we can construct the following convolution

$$(f_{\nu+m} * g_{\nu})_{\nu+m}(t) = \frac{2^{2\nu-1}m!\Gamma(\nu+1)\Gamma(\nu)}{\pi\Gamma(2\nu+m)t^m} \int_0^{\pi} C_m^{\nu}(\cos\varphi)\sin^{2\nu}\varphi \\ \times \int_0^{\infty} f(\tau)g(\sqrt{t^2 + \tau^2 - 2t\tau\cos\varphi})\tau^{2\nu+m+1}d\tau d\varphi$$
(2.22)

which generate the translation operator

$${}_{m}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t) = \frac{c_{\nu,m}}{(t\tau)^{m}} \int_{0}^{\pi} f\left(\sqrt{t^{2} + \tau^{2} - 2t\tau\cos\varphi}\right) C_{m}^{\nu}(\cos\varphi)\sin^{2\nu}\varphi d\varphi,$$
  
$$\tau^{m}{}_{m}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t)\big|_{\tau=0} = 0, \quad m > 0, \qquad t^{m}{}_{m}T_{t}^{\tau}f(t)\big|_{t=0} = 0, \quad m > 0, \quad (2.23)$$

where

$$c_{\nu,m} = \frac{2^{2(\nu+m)-1}m!\Gamma^2(\nu+m+1)\Gamma(\nu)}{\pi\Gamma(2\nu+m)\Gamma(\nu+1)}.$$
(2.24)

The convolution (2.22) can be rewritten as

$$(f_{\nu+m} * g_{\nu})_{\nu+m}(t) = \frac{\Gamma^2(\nu+1)}{2^{2m}\Gamma^2(\nu+m+1)} \int_0^\infty f(\tau)_m T_t^{\tau} g(t) \tau^{2(\nu+m)+1} d\tau.$$
(2.25)

If m = 0 then we get the classical convolution (2.19) and the corresponding translation operator.

The translation operator (2.23) is not the operator of the Levitan's type.

If we will consider the other polyconvolutions for integral transforms, for example, the various convolution constructions for Hankel transform [17–20] then only convolutions generated by one linear operator without weight function can get the translation operators of the Levitan's type.

The presented examples show us that these two approaches are not equivalent if we use the Levitan's notion for translation operator.

### References

- 1. J. Delsarte, Sur une extensions de la formule de Taylor. J. Math. Pures Appl. **17**(3), 213–231 (1938)
- J. Delsarte, Une extension nouvelle de la theorie de foncion periodiques de Bohr. Acta Math. 69, 259–317 (1939)
- 3. J. Delsarte, Hypergroupes et operateuers de permutation et de transmutation, in *Colloques Internat., Nancy*, (1956), pp. 29–44
- 4. A. Povzner, On differential equations of Sturm–Liouville type on a half-axis. Mat. Sb. **23**(65), 1 (1948), 3–52 (in Russian). Translation no. 5, Am. Math. Soc. (1950)
- B.M. Levitan, The application of generalized displacement operators to linear differential equations of the second order. Usp. Mat. Nauk 4, 1 (1949), 3–112 (in Russian). Translation no. 59, Am. Math. Soc. (1950)
- 6. B.M. Levitan, *Generalized Translation Operators and Some of Their Applications* (Nauka, Moscow, 1962) (in Russian)
- V.A. Kakichev, On the convolutions for integral transforms. Vescì Akad. Navuk BSSR, Ser. Fiz.-Mat. Navuk 22, 48–57 (1967) (in Russian)
- 8. R.V. Churchill, *Fourier Series and Boundary Value Problems* (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1941)
- 9. X.T. Nguyen, N.T. Hai, *Convolution for Integral Transforms and Their Applications* (Computer Center of the Russian Academy, Moscow, 1997)

- X.T. Nguyen, V.A. Kakichev, V. Kim Tuan, On the generalized convolutions for Fourier cosine and sine transform. East-West J. Math. 1(1), 85–90 (1998)
- B.M. Levitan, Expansion in Fourier series and integrals with Bessel functions. Usp. Mat. Nauk 6:2(42), 102–143 (1951)
- 12. Ya.I. Zhitomirskii, The Cauchy problem for systems of linear partial differential equations with differential operators of Bessel type. Math. USSR Sb. **36**(2), 299–310 (1955)
- I.I. Hirschman Jr., Variation diminishing Hankel transforms. J. Anal. Math. 8, 307–336 (1960/1961)
- D.T. Haimo, Integral equations associated with Hankel convolutions. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 116, 330–375 (1965)
- F.M. Cholewinski, A Hankel convolution complex inversion theory. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 58, 67 (1965)
- V.K. Tuan, M. Saigo, Convolutions of Hankel transform and its application to an integral involving Bessel function of first kind. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 18(2), 545–550 (1995)
- 17. L.E. Britvina, On polyconvolutions generated by the Hankel transform. Math. Notes **76**(1), 18–24 (2004)
- L.E. Britvina, A generalized convolution for Hankel transform with Gegenbauer's polynomial in the kernel. Vestn. NovSU 30, 48–51 (2005) (in Russian)
- L.E. Britvina, Generalized convolutions for the Hankel transform and related integral operators. Math. Nachr. 280(9-10), 962–970 (2007)
- L.E. Britvina, Integral operators related to generalized convolutions for Hankel transform. Integral Transforms Spec. Funct. 20(10), 785–796 (2009)

# An Approach for Developing Fourier Convolutions and Applications

Nguyen Minh Tuan

**Abstract** Based on the papers published recently, this talk presents a concept of convolution so-called pair-convolution which is a generalization of known convolutions, and considers applications for solving integral equations.

**Keywords** Generalized convolution · Integral equation of convolution type · Banach algebra

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 42A85 · 45E10 · Secondary 44A20 · 46J10

## **1** Introduction

It is well-known that the transform

$$(f *_{\mathcal{F}} g)(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x - y)g(y)dy$$
(1.1)

is called the Fourier convolution of two functions g and f, and the following factorization identity holds

$$\mathcal{F}(f *_{\mathcal{F}} g)(x) = (\mathcal{F}f)(x)(\mathcal{F}g)(x).$$

The above-mentioned convolution was found most early, and nowadays it has been applying widely in both theoretical and practical problems.

We can say that many convolutions, generalized convolutions, and polyconvolutions of the well-known integral transforms as Fourier's, Hankel's, Mellin's,

N.M. Tuan (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, College of Education, Ha Noi National University, G7, 144 Xuan Thuy str., Cau Giay dist., Hanoi, Vietnam e-mail: tuannm@hus.edu.yn

N.M. Tuan e-mail: nguyentuan@vnu.edu.vn

Laplace's and their applications have been published. Loosely speaking, the theory of convolutions has been strongly developing and vigorously discussing in many research groups (see [1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 10, 11, 14, 15], and references therein).

In fact, convolutions are considered as a powerful tool in many fields of mathematics such as numerical computing, digital, image and signal processing, partialdifferential equations, and other fields of mathematics (see [3, 6-16, 20]). Other reason for which the theory of convolutions attracts attention of many mathematicians is that each of convolutions is a new integral transform, therefore it could be a new object of study.

### 1.1 Present Studies of Convolution Operators

It is easy to show a long list of authors and their works concerning convolution operators such as: A. Böttcher, L.E. Britvina, Yu. Brychkov, L. Castro, I. Feldman, H.J. Glaeske, I. Gohberg, N. Krupnik, O.I. Marichev, S. Saitoh, B. Silbermann, H.M. Srivastava, V.K. Tuan, S.B. Yakubovich... Among those listed, there are many mathematicians leading the potential and strong groups in the worldwide, they have been creating significant discoveries, namely: A. Böttcher (Germany), L.E. Britvina (Ukraina), Yu. Brychkov (Russia), L. Castro and S. Saitoh (Aveiro-Portugal and Gunma-Japan), I. Gohberg (Israel), B. Silbermann (Germany), H.M. Srivastava (Canada), V.K. Tuan (USA), S.B. Yakubovich (Porto, Portugal).

### 2 An Approach to Developing Convolutions

The nice idea of convolution focuses on the factorization identity. We now deal with the concept of convolutions. Let  $U_1$ ,  $U_2$ ,  $U_3$  be the linear spaces on the field of scalars  $\mathcal{K}$ , and let V be a commutative algebra on  $\mathcal{K}$ . Suppose that  $K_1 \in L(U_1, V)$ ,  $K_2 \in L(U_2, V)$ ,  $K_3 \in L(U_3, V)$  are linear operators from  $U_1$ ,  $U_2$ ,  $U_3$  to V respectively. Let  $\delta$  denote an element in algebra V. We recall the definition of convolutions.

**Definition 2.1** (see also [4]) A bilinear map  $*: U_1 \times U_2 : \longrightarrow U_3$  is called a convolution associated with  $K_3$ ,  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$  (in that order) if the following identity holds

$$K_3(*(f,g)) = \delta K_1(f) K_2(g),$$

for any  $f \in U_1$ ,  $g \in U_2$ . Above identity is called the factorization identity of the convolution.

We now deal with several approaches to developing convolutions.

# 2.1 Using Eigenfunctions

Let  $\Phi_{\alpha}$  denote the Hermite function (see [14]).

**Theorem 2.2** ([18, 19]) *The following transform defines a convolution* 

$$(f \stackrel{\phi_{\alpha}}{\mathcal{F}} g)(x) = \frac{i^{|\alpha|}}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(u)g(v)\Phi_{\alpha}(x-u-v)dudv.$$

Let  $r_0 \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$  be given, and let

$$\Psi(x) = \sum_{|\alpha| = r_0 \pmod{4}} a_\alpha \Phi_\alpha(x) \quad (a_\alpha \in \mathbb{C})$$
(2.1)

be a finite linear combination of the Hermite functions  $(|\alpha| \le N \text{ for some } N \in \mathbb{N})$ . The following theorem is an immediate consequence of Theorem 2.2.

**Theorem 2.3** The following transform defines a convolution

$$(f \stackrel{\Psi}{*} g)(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(u)g(v)\Psi(x-u-v)dudv.$$

### 2.2 Trigonometric Weight Functions

Let  $T_c, T_s$  denote the Fourier-cosine and Fourier-sine integral transforms. Let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^d$  be fixed. Put  $\theta_1(x) = \cos xh := \cos(\langle x, h \rangle), \ \theta_2(x) = \sin xh := \sin(\langle x, h \rangle)$  as there is no danger of confusion.

**Theorem 2.4** (see [9, 18, 19]) *Each of the integral transforms* (2.2)–(2.5) *below defines a convolution*:

$$(f_{T_c}^{\theta_1}g)(x) = \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ f(x-u+h) + f(x-u-h) + f(x+u+h) + f(x+u-h) \right] g(u) du,$$
(2.2)

$$(f \overset{\theta_1}{\underset{T_c,T_s,T_s}{}}g)(x) = \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ -f(x-u+h) - f(x-u-h) + f(x+u+h) + f(x+u-h) \right] g(u) du,$$
(2.3)

$$(f \overset{\theta_2}{\underset{T_c,T_s,T_c}{*}}g)(x) = \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ f(x-u+h) - f(x-u-h) + f(x+u+h) - f(x+u-h) \right] g(u) du,$$
(2.4)

$$(f \overset{\theta_2}{\underset{T_c, T_c, T_s}{\ast}} g)(x) = \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ f(x-u+h) - f(x-u-h) - f(x+u+h) + f(x+u-h) \right] g(u) du.$$
(2.5)

**Comparison 2.5** Different from the convolutions presented by other authors, what above does not require the invertibility of associated transforms. Indeed, according to our point of view as showed in Definition 2.1 the condition about the invertibility of transforms is not needed for constructing convolutions; namely, three operators  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$ ,  $K_3$  may be un-injective. As we know that the Fourier-cosine and Fourier-sine transforms  $T_c$  and  $T_s$  are not injective, but there are still many infinitely many convolutions associated with them as presented in [9, 17–19]. In our point of view, that is a main reason why no convolution for un-invertible transforms appears until this moment. Most of convolution multiplications published are not commutative and not associative.

## **3** New Concept: Pair-Convolution

In this section we propose a new concept so-called *pair-convolution* which is a considerable generalization of convolution and generalized convolutions.

For any given multi-index  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$ , consider the transform

$$D_1(f,g)(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi_\alpha(x+u+v) f(u)g(v) du dv.$$

Using the convolutions in [18] we get

• The case  $|\alpha| = 0 \pmod{4}$ :

$$T_c (D_1(f,g))(x) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x) ((T_c f)(x)(T_c g)(x) - (T_s f)(x)(T_s g)(x)),$$
  
$$T_s (D_1(f,g))(x) = -\Phi_{\alpha}(x) ((T_c f)(x)(T_s g)(x) + (T_s f)(x)(T_c g)(x)).$$

• The case  $|\alpha| = 1 \pmod{4}$ :

$$T_{c}(D_{1}(f,g))(x) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{c}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x) + (T_{s}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x)),$$
  
$$T_{s}(D_{1}(f,g))(x) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{c}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x) - (T_{s}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x)).$$

• The case  $|\alpha| = 2 \pmod{4}$ :

$$T_{c}(D_{1}(f,g)(x)) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{s}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x) - (T_{c}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x)),$$
  
$$T_{s}(D_{1}(f,g))(x) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{c}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x) + (T_{s}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x)).$$

• The case  $|\alpha| = 3 \pmod{4}$ :

$$T_{c}(D_{1}(f,g))(x) = -\Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{c}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x) + (T_{s}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x)),$$
  
$$T_{s}(D_{1}(f,g))(x) = \Phi_{\alpha}(x)((T_{s}f)(x)(T_{s}g)(x) - (T_{c}f)(x)(T_{c}g)(x)).$$

Motivated by the operational identities above, we introduce the following concept. Let U be a linear space, and let V be a commutative algebra on the complex field  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $T_1, T_2 \in L(U, V)$  be the linear operators from U to V.

**Definition 3.1** A bilinear map  $*: U \times U :\longrightarrow U$  is called a *pair-convolution* associated with  $T_1, T_2$ , if there exist eight elements  $\delta_k \in V, k = 1, ..., 8$  so that the following identities hold for any  $f, g \in U$ :

$$T_1(*(f,g)) = \delta_1 T_1 f T_1 g + \delta_2 T_1 f T_2 g + \delta_3 T_2 f T_1 g + \delta_4 T_2 f T_2 g,$$
  
$$T_2(*(f,g)) = \delta_5 T_1 f T_1 g + \delta_6 T_1 f T_2 g + \delta_7 T_2 f T_1 g + \delta_8 T_2 f T_2 g.$$

*Example 3.2* The above-mentioned bilinear transform  $D_1(, )$  is the pair-convolution for  $T_c, T_s$ . Note that this transform is not the generalized convolution associated with  $T_c, T_s$ .

Example 3.3 Consider the transform

$$D_2(f,g)(x) := \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ a\Phi_\alpha(x+u+v) + b\Phi_\beta(x+u-v) + c\Phi_\gamma(x-u+v) + d\Phi_\delta(x-u-v) \right] f(u)g(v) du dv,$$

where  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ , and  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$  are the multi-indexes. As (2.2),  $D_2(, )$  is a pairconvolution associated with  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}^{-1}$ .

*Example 3.4* Let  $\Psi$  be the Hermite-type function as defined by (2.1). Write

$$\Psi(x) := \sum_{|\alpha|=0 \pmod{4}} a_{\alpha} \Phi_{\alpha}(x) + \sum_{|\alpha|=1 \pmod{4}} a_{\alpha} \Phi_{\alpha}(x) + \sum_{|\alpha|=2 \pmod{4}} a_{\alpha} \Phi_{\alpha}(x) + \sum_{|\alpha|=3 \pmod{4}} a_{\alpha} \Phi_{\alpha}(x).$$
(3.1)

Using the operational identities of  $D_1(, )$ , we can prove that the transform

$$D_{3}(f,g)(x) := \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \Psi(x \pm u \pm v) f(u)g(v) du dv$$
(3.2)

is a pair-convolution associated with  $T_c$ ,  $T_s$ .

*Example 3.5* Suppose that  $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4$  are any complex numbers. By Theorem 2.4 we can prove that the transform

$$D_4(f,g)(x) := \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ a_1 f(x-u+h) + a_2 f(x-u-h) + a_3 f(x+u+h) + a_4 f(x+u-h) \right] g(u) du$$

defines a pair-convolution associated with the transforms  $T_c$ ,  $T_s$ .

We now consider the general integral equation

$$\lambda\varphi(x) + \int_E K(x, y)\varphi(y)dy = f(x).$$
(3.3)

We suppose that, by way of decomposing the kernel as

$$K(x, y) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} k_n(x, y)$$
(3.4)

such that each one of the transforms

$$(K_n\varphi)(x) = \int_E k_n(x, y)\varphi(y)dy$$
(3.5)

is a pair-convolution for specific operators  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , then (3.3) may be solved by convolution approach. The main key of this approach is that we can reduce integral equations to a linear algebraic system of functional equations, and then apply an inverse transform of the transform  $aT_1 + bT_2$  for some  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$ . Thanks to pairconvolutions this approach could be more flexible, and realizable for a larger class of equations.

### 4 Final Remarks

To summary Sect. 3, we can interpret in other words as: the generalized convolution transforms, and the pair-convolution transforms might be called the *factorisable integrals, and pair-factorisable integrals* respectively by means of two specific transforms.

**Problems for Further Studying** Construct more pair-convolutions for the well-known integral transforms such as Hilbert, Mellin, Laplace, ..., and look for their applications.

Finally, since the set of all Hermite functions is a normally orthogonal basic of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and thanks to the infinitely many pair-convolutions concerning the Hermite functions as presented, we propose the following conjecture.

**Conjecture 4.1** For any function  $k \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , there exists a function  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  sufficiently closed to k such that each one of the transforms

$$\int_E \int_E k(x \pm u \pm v) f(u)g(v) du dv$$

is either convolution or pair-convolution for specific operators  $K_1, K_2$ .

An Approach for Developing Convolutions...

If this fact would be proved, we would have an approximately solvable manner called convolution one which could be different from that of the Galerkin method for Fredholm integral equations.

Acknowledgements This talk is based on the works joint with P.K. Anh, L.P. Castro, B.T. Giang, N.T.T. Huyen, S. Saitoh, P.T. Thao, and P.D. Tuan. This work was supported partially by the Viet Nam National Foundation for Science and Technology Development.

### References

- F. Al-Musallam, V.K. Tuan, A class of convolution transforms. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 3, 303–314 (2000)
- P.K. Anh, N.M. Tuan, P.D. Tuan, The finite Hartley new convolutions and solvability of the integral equations with Toeplitz plus Hankel kernels. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 397, 537–549 (2013)
- D. Bing, T. Ran, W. Yue, Convolution theorems for the linear canonical transform and their applications. Sci. China, Ser. F 49(5), 592–603 (2006)
- L.E. Britvina, Generalized convolutions for the Hankel transform and related integral operators. Math. Nachr. 280, 962–970 (2007)
- 5. J.W. Brown, R.V. Churchill, *Fourier Series and Boundary Value Problems* (McGraw-Hill, New York, 2006)
- L.P. Castro, S. Saitoh, N.M. Tuan, Convolutions, integral transforms and integral equations by means of the theory of reproducing kernels. Opusc. Math. 32, 651–664 (2012)
- V. Didenko, B. Silbermann, Approximation of Additive Convolution-Like Operators. Real C\*-Algebra Approach. Frontiers in Mathematics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008)
- B.T. Giang, N.V. Mau, N.M. Tuan, Operational properties of two integral transforms of Fourier type and their convolutions. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 65, 363–386 (2009)
- B.T. Giang, N.V. Mau, N.M. Tuan, Convolutions for the Fourier transforms with geometric variables and applications. Math. Nachr. 283, 1758–1770 (2010)
- 10. H. Hochstadt, Integral Equations (Wiley, New York, 1973)
- T. Matsuura, S. Saitoh, Analytical and numerical inversion formulas in the Gaussian convolution by using the Paley–Wiener spaces. Appl. Anal. 85, 901–915 (2006)
- 12. M.A. Naimark, Normed Rings (1959). Groningen, Netherlands
- K.J. Olejniczak, The Hartley transform, in *The Transforms and Applications Handbook*, ed. by A.D. Poularikas. The Electrical Engineering Handbook Series 2nd edn. (CRC Press/IEEE Press, Florida, 2000)
- 14. W. Rudin, Functional Analysis (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1991)
- S. Saitoh, V.K. Tuan, M. Yamamoto, Reverse convolution inequalities and applications to inverse heat source problems. J. Inequal. Pure Appl. Math. 3 (2002). 11 pp. (electronic)
- A.K. Singh, R. Saxena, On convolution and product theorems for FRFT. Wirel. Pers. Commun. 65(1), 189–201 (2012)
- 17. N.M. Tuan, Generalized convolutions of the integral transform of Fourier type and applications, in *Progress in Analysis; Proc. of the 8th Congress of ISAAC, Moscow* (2011), pp. 331–338. ISBN 978-5-209-04582-3
- N.M. Tuan, N.T.T. Huyen, The solvability and explicit solutions of two integral equations via generalized convolutions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 369, 712–718 (2010)
- N.M. Tuan, N.T.T. Huyen, The Hermite functions related to infinite series of generalized convolutions and applications. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 6, 219–236 (2012)
- D. Wei, Q. Ran, Y. Li, J. Ma, L. Tan, A convolution and product theorem for the linear canonical transform. IEEE Signal Process. Lett. 16(10), 853–856 (2009)

# Whittaker Differential Equation Associated to the Initial Heat Problem

M.M. Rodrigues and S. Saitoh

**Abstract** In this paper, by using the theory of reproducing kernels, we investigate integral transforms with kernels related to the solutions of the initial Whittaker heat problem.

**Keywords** Integral transform · Isometric mapping · Inversion formula · Initial value problem · Linear integral equation · Regularization · Eigenfunction · Eigenvalue · Reproducing kernel · Whittaker function

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 42A38 · Secondary 32A30 · 4E22

### **1** Introduction

The Whittaker functions are closely related to the confluent hypergeometric functions which play an important role in various branches of applied mathematics and theoretical physics, for instance, fluid mechanics scalar and electromagnetic diffraction theory, atomic structure theory, input–output situations and storage consumption situations in economic problems, and so on. Moreover, they have acquired an ever increasing significance due to their frequent use in applications of mathematics to physical and technical problems [3, 4]. This justifies the continuous effort in studying properties of these functions and in gathering information about them.

Let consider the general method given in [6] for the existence and construction of the solution of the following initial problem

$$(\partial_t + L_x)u_f(t, x) = 0, \quad t > 0$$
(1.1)

M.M. Rodrigues (🖂) · S. Saitoh

Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications, Department of Mathematics, University of Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal e-mail: mrodrigues@ua.pt

S. Saitoh e-mail: saburou.saitoh@gmail.com

satisfying the initial value condition

$$u_f(0,x) = f(x), (1.2)$$

for some general linear operator  $L_x$  on some function space, and on some domain, by using the theory of reproducing kernels.

We shall investigate the integral transforms with kernels related to the solutions of the equations by using the theory of reproducing kernels, for the Whittaker heat equations.

The Whittaker functions denoted by  $M_{\mu,\nu}(x)$ ,  $W_{\mu,\nu}(x)$  arise as solutions to the Whittaker differential equation, i.e., they are solutions of the linear homogeneous ordinary differential equation of the second order

$$\frac{d^2W}{dx^2} + \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\mu}{x} + \frac{\frac{1}{4} - \nu^2}{x^2}\right)W = 0.$$
 (1.3)

Here, we will deal with the Whittaker function  $W_{i\tau,k-1/2}$  which is an eigenfunction of a second order differential operator

$$A_x W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x) = \tau W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x)$$
(1.4)

with an eigenvalue  $\tau$ , and where

$$A_x = ix\frac{d^2}{dx^2} - \frac{ix}{4} - \frac{i(k^2 - k)}{4x}.$$
(1.5)

We shall consider the case that  $\tau$  are reals and positive, and then the functions

$$\exp(-\tau t)W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x) \tag{1.6}$$

are the solutions of the operator equation

$$(\partial_t + A_x)u(t, x) = 0. \tag{1.7}$$

We shall consider some general solutions of (1.7) by a suitable sum of the solutions (1.6). In order to consider a fully general sum, we shall consider the kernel form for a nonnegative continuous function  $\rho$ ,

$$\mathcal{K}_t(x, y; \rho) = \int_0^{+\infty} \exp\{-\tau t\} W_{i\tau, k-1/2}(x) \overline{W_{i\tau, k-1/2}(y)} \rho(\tau) d\tau.$$
(1.8)

Of course, here, we are considering the integral with absolutely convergence for the kernel form.

The fully general solutions of (1.7) may be represented in the integral form

$$u(t,x) = \int_0^{+\infty} \exp\{-\tau t\} W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x) F(\tau) \rho(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.9)$$
for the functions F satisfying

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \exp\{-\tau t\} \left| F(\tau) \right|^{2} \rho(\tau) d\tau < \infty.$$
(1.10)

Then, the solution u(t, x) of (1.7) satisfying the initial condition

$$u(0, x) = F(x)$$
(1.11)

will be obtained by  $t \rightarrow 0$  in (1.9) with a natural meaning. However, this point will be very delicate and we will need to consider some deep and beautiful structure. Here, (1.8) is a reproducing kernel and in order to analyze the logic above, we will need the theory of reproducing kernels, essentially and beautiful ways. Indeed, in order to construct natural solutions (1.8) we will need a new framework and function space.

### 2 Main Results

In order to analyze the integral transform (1.9), we will need the essence of the theory of reproducing kernels. We are interesting in the integral transforms (1.9) in the framework of Hilbert spaces. Of course, we are interesting in the characterization of the image functions, the isometric identity like the Parseval identity and the inversion formula, basically. For these general and fundamental problems, we have a unified and fundamental method and concept in the general situation in [8–10], where we can find the general theory for linear mappings in the framework of Hilbert spaces.

Moreover, recently, we obtained a very general image identification method and inversion formula based on the Aveiro Discretization Method in Mathematics [5] by using the ultimate realization of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces. Following the general theory, we shall build our results.

We form the reproducing kernel

$$\mathcal{K}(x,y;\rho) = \int_0^{+\infty} W_{i\tau,k-\frac{1}{2}}(x) \overline{W_{i\tau,k-\frac{1}{2}}(y)}\rho(\tau)d\tau, \quad t > 0,$$
(2.1)

and consider the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)$  admitting the kernel  $\mathcal{K}(x, y; \rho)$ . In particular, note that

$$\mathcal{K}_t(x, y; \rho) \in H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+), \quad y > 0.$$

Then, we obtain the main theorem in this paper:

**Theorem 2.1** (Main Theorem) For any member  $f \in H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ , the solution  $u_f(t, x)$  of the initial value problem, for t > 0

$$(\partial_t + A_x)u_f(t, x) = 0 \tag{2.2}$$

satisfying the initial value condition

$$u_f(0,x) = f(x),$$
 (2.3)

exists and it is given by

$$u_f(t,x) = \left(f(\cdot), \mathcal{K}_t(\cdot, x; \rho)\right)_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)}.$$
(2.4)

Here, the meaning of the initial value (2.3) is given by

$$\lim_{t \to +0} u_f(t, x) = \lim_{t \to +0} \left( f(\cdot), \mathcal{K}_t(\cdot, x; \rho) \right)_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)}$$
$$= \left( f(\cdot), \mathcal{K}(\cdot, x; \rho) \right)_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)}$$
$$= f(x), \tag{2.5}$$

whose existence is, in general, ensured and the limit is the uniformly convergence on any subset of  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $\mathcal{K}(x, x; \rho)$  is bounded.

The uniqueness property of the initial value problem is valid.

In our theorem, the complete property of the solutions  $u_f(t, x)$  of (2.2) and (2.3) satisfying the initial value f may be derived by the reproducing kernel Hilbert space admitting the kernel

$$k(x,t;y,\tau;\rho) := \left(\mathcal{K}_{\tau}(\cdot,y;\rho), \mathcal{K}_{t}(\cdot,x;\rho)\right)_{\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^{+})}.$$
(2.6)

In our method, we see that the existence problem of the initial value problem is based on the eigenfunctions and we are constructing the desired solution satisfying the desired initial condition. For a larger knowledge for the eigenfunctions we can consider a more general initial value problem.

Furthermore, by considering the linear mapping of (2.4) with various situations, we will be able to obtain various inverse problems looking for the initial values f from the various out put data of  $u_f(t, x)$ .

### **3** Proof of the Main Theorem

The first, note that the kernel  $\mathcal{K}_t(x, y; \rho)$  satisfies the operator equation (2.2) for any fixed *y*, because the functions

$$\exp(-\tau t)W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x)$$

satisfy the operator equation and it is the summation. Similarly, the function  $u_f(t, x)$  defined by (2.4) is the solution of the operator equation (2.2).

In order to see the initial value problem, we note the important general properties

$$\mathcal{K}_t(x, y; \rho) \ll \mathcal{K}(x, y; \rho); \tag{3.1}$$

that is,  $\mathcal{K}(x, y; \rho) - \mathcal{K}_t(x, y; \rho)$  is a positive definite quadratic form function and we have

$$H_{\mathcal{K}_t(\rho)} \subset H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)$$

and for any function  $f \in H_{\mathcal{K}_t(\rho)}$ 

$$||f||_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)} = \lim_{t \to +0} ||f||_{H_{\mathcal{K}_t(\rho)}}$$

in the sense of non-decreasing norm convergence [2]. In order to see the crucial point in (2.5), note that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathcal{K}(x, y; \rho) - \mathcal{K}_{t}(x, y; \rho) \right\|_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^{+})}^{2} \\ &= \mathcal{K}(y, y; \rho) - 2\mathcal{K}_{t}(y, y; \rho) + \left\| \mathcal{K}_{t}(x, y; \rho) \right\|_{H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^{+})}^{2} \\ &\leq \mathcal{K}(y, y; \rho) - 2\mathcal{K}_{t}(y, y; \rho) + \left\| \mathcal{K}_{t}(x, y; \rho) \right\|_{H_{\mathcal{K}_{t}(\rho)}}^{2} \\ &= \mathcal{K}(y, y; \rho) - \mathcal{K}_{t}(y, y; \rho), \end{split}$$

that converses to zero as  $t \to +0$ . We thus obtain the desired limit property in the theorem.

The uniqueness property of the initial value problem follows from (2.4) easily, by using the below completeness Theorem 4.2.

In the main theorem, the realization of the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_{\mathcal{K}(\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^+)$  is a crucial point, for this purpose, we are interested in the calculation of the kernel  $\mathcal{K}(x, y; \rho)$ .

## 4 Realizations of the Reproducing Kernel Hilbert Spaces

As the theory of reproducing kernels, their realizations will give interesting research topics that are requested separate papers. So, here, we shall discuss the following concrete form of the reproducing kernels. From [3], we have

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \left| \Gamma(k+i\tau) \right|^{2} W_{i\tau,k-\frac{1}{2}}(x) \overline{W_{i\tau,k-\frac{1}{2}}(y)} d\tau$$
$$= \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(2k)(xy)^{k} (x+y)^{-2k+1} K_{2k-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{x+y}{2}\right), \tag{4.1}$$

where  $K_{2k-\frac{1}{2}}(z)$  denotes the modified Bessel function. For the realization of the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_K$  admitting the kernel (4.1), we can use the

following representations for the modified Bessel function:

$$K_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1/2)} \left(\frac{x}{2}\right)^{\alpha} \int_{1}^{+\infty} e^{-xt} (t^2 - 1)^{\alpha-1/2} dt, \quad x > 0,$$
(4.2)

$$K_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{2^{\alpha} \Gamma(\alpha + 1/2)}{x^{\alpha} \sqrt{\pi}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{\cos xt}{(1+t^2)^{\alpha + 1/2}} dt, \quad x > 0, \; \alpha > -\frac{1}{2}, \quad (4.3)$$

and

$$K_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{x}{2}\right)^{\alpha} \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-t - x^{2}/(4t)} t^{-\alpha - 1} dt, \quad |\arg x| < \frac{\pi}{4}.$$
 (4.4)

See [1], pp. 236–347, for example. By using the structure theorems and techniques of reproducing kernels, we can realize the space  $H_K$ , however, in this case, the realizations are not so simple. See, [9].

However, we can apply quite general formula by the Aveiro discretization method in the sense of numerical in [5]. In the method, numerical experiments were also given.

**Proposition 4.1** (Ultimate realization of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces) In our general situation and for a uniqueness set  $\{p_j\}$  for the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_K$  of the set E satisfying the linearly independence of  $K(\cdot, p_j)$  for any finite number of the points  $p_j$ , we obtain

$$\|f\|_{H_K}^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{j'=1}^n f(p_j) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} \overline{f(p_{j'})}.$$
(4.5)

Here,  $\widetilde{a_{jj'}}$  is the element of the complex conjugate inverse of the positive definite Hermitian matrix formed by

$$a_{jj'} = K(p_j, p_{j'}).$$

For applying Proposition 4.1, we need only—see [5] for the details:

**Theorem 4.2** In the integral transform induced from (4.1),

$$\left\{W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x); x \in \mathbb{R}^+\right\}$$

is complete in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, |\Gamma(k+i\tau)|^2 d\tau)$ . For any different points  $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^n (x_j > 0)$ ,

$$\{W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x_j)\}_{j=1}^n$$

are linearly independent.

First we recall the identity for the Whittaker function

$$W_{k,m}(x) = \frac{e^{-x/2}x^k}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k + m)} \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-t} t^{-k - (1/2) + m} (1 + t/x)^{k - (1/2) + m} dt$$

for

$$\Re(k - (1/2) + m) < 0, \quad x > 0$$

([1], p. 197, (4.4.3)). By the transform  $t/x = \xi$  and in our notation, we have

$$W_{i\tau,k-1/2}(x) = \frac{e^{-x/2}x^k}{\Gamma(-i\tau+k)} \\ \times \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-x\xi} \xi^{i\tau+k-1} (1+\xi)^{i\tau+k-1} d\xi.$$

By using this formula, we can derive the completeness.

Meanwhile, by using the asymptotic expansion

$$W_{\lambda,\mu}(z) \sim -\left(\frac{4z}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} e^{-\lambda+\lambda\log\lambda} \left(\sin 2\sqrt{\lambda z} - \lambda \pi - \frac{\pi}{4}\right)$$

([7], p. 1075), we can see the linearly independence.

In Proposition 4.1, for the uniqueness set of the space, if the reproducing kernel is analytical as in the present case, then, the criteria will be very simple by the *identity theorem of analytic functions*. For the Sobolev space cases, we have to consider some dense subset of E for the uniqueness set. Meanwhile, the linearly independence will be easily derived from the integral representations of the kernels.

We can realize the important reproducing kernel Hilbert space concretely and analytically. Meanwhile, we are also interested in the kernel forms  $\mathcal{K}_t$  and k. These calculations will create a new and large field in integral formulas.

Acknowledgements The authors were supported by *FEDER* funds through *COMPETE*— Operational Programme Factors of Competitiveness ("Programa Operacional Factores de Competitividade") and by Portuguese funds through the *Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications* (University of Aveiro) and the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology ("FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia"), within project PEst-C/MAT/UI4106/2011 with COMPETE number FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-022690. The second author is supported in part by the Grant-in-Aid for the Scientific Research (C)(2) (No. 24540113).

### References

- G.E. Andrews, R. Askey, R. Roy, *Special Functions*. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 71 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009)
- 2. N. Aronszajn, Theory of reproducing kernels. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 68, 337-404 (1950)
- 3. H. Buchholz, *The Confluent Hypergeometric Function with Special Emphasis on Its Applications* (Springer, Berlin, 1969)
- A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, F.G. Tricomi, *Tables of Integral Transforms—Vols. I, II. Bateman Manuscript Project* (California Institute of Technology/McGraw-Hill, New York, 1954)
- L.P. Castro, H. Fujiwara, M.M. Rodrigues, S. Saitoh, V.K. Tuan, Aveiro discretization method in mathematics: a new discretization principle, in *Mathematics Without Boundaries: Surveys* in *Pure Mathematics*, ed. by P. Pardalos, T.M. Rassias (Springer, New York, 2014). 52 pp.

- 6. L.P. Castro, M.M. Rodrigues, S. Saitoh, A fundamental theorem on linear operator equations using the theory of reproducing kernels. Submitted. doi:10.1007/s11785-014-0375-1
- 7. I.S. Gradshlein, I.M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series, and Products*, 7th edn. (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2007)
- S. Saitoh, Hilbert spaces induced by Hilbert space valued functions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 89, 74–78 (1983)
- 9. S. Saitoh, *Integral Transforms, Reproducing Kernels and Their Applications*. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, vol. 369 (Addison-Wesley/Longman, Harlow, 1997)
- S. Saitoh, Theory of Reproducing Kernels: Applications to Approximate Solutions of Bounded Linear Operator Functions on Hilbert Spaces. Am. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser., vol. 230 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2010)

# **Recovery of Holomorphic Functions and Taylor Coefficients by Sampling**

Vu Kim Tuan and Amin Boumenir

**Abstract** We introduce an interpolation formula for holomorphic functions and prove its convergence pointwise under very general condition. We obtain also a recovery formula for Taylor coefficients from discrete samples.

### 1 Problems

Let f be a holomorphic function on a connected domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$ , and  $z_0 \in \Omega$ . Then if  $\mathbb{D}_{z_0} \subset \Omega$  is a disk with center at  $z_0$ , then f(z) has a Taylor series

$$f(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_m (z - z_0)^m,$$

that converges, at least inside  $\mathbb{D}_{z_0}$ . Let  $\{z_n\}_1^{\infty}$  be a sequence of distinct points in  $\Omega$  that converges to some  $w_0 \in \mathbb{D}_{z_0}$ . The classical interior uniqueness theorem for holomorphic functions says that f is uniquely determined by its values at  $\{z_n\}_1^{\infty}$ . However, to our best knowledge, in the general case there is no formula to recover f(z) from  $\{f(z_n)\}_1^{\infty}$ . Also, no practical formula to determine the Taylor coefficients  $\{F_m\}_0^{\infty}$  from  $\{f(z_n)\}_1^{\infty}$  is known. For recovery of holomorphic functions from special sampling sequences see [1, 4, 5]. In this paper we introduce a formula, that recovers f(z) from  $\{f(z_n)\}_1^{\infty}$ , and another formula that determines its Taylor coefficients  $\{F_m\}_0^{\infty}$  from  $\{f(z_n)\}_1^{\infty}$ . We will discuss also the problem what would be a necessary and sufficient condition on a sequence of complex pairs  $\{(z_k, u_k)\}_1^{\infty}$  such that there exists a holomorphic function f with  $f(z_k) = u_k$  for any  $k \ge 1$ . The tools to be used here are the Hardy space and the reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces.

V.K. Tuan (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, University of West Georgia, 1601 Maple Street, Carrollton, GA 30118, USA e-mail: vu@westga.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_59

# **2** Interpolation Formula in Hardy Space $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$

The Hardy space  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  is defined as the space of all holomorphic functions f in the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C}, |z| < 1\}$  for which the norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^2} = \sup_{0 \le r < 1} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{it})|^2 dt}$$

is finite. Consider the MacLaurin series for f

$$f(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_m z^m, \quad z \in \mathbb{D},$$

it is well-known that  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  if, and only if, the sequence of its MacLaurin coefficients  $\{F_m\}_0^\infty$  belongs to the space of square summable sequences  $l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$ 

$$\mathcal{F} := \{F_m\}_0^\infty \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0) \text{ if } \|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2} = \sqrt{\sum_{m=0}^\infty |F_m|^2} < \infty.$$

With the endowed inner product

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_m \overline{G}_m, \quad g(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} G_m z^m \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D}),$$

 $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  becomes a Hilbert space and the transform  $L: l^2(\mathbb{N}_0) \to \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  defined by

$$L(\mathcal{F}) = f(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_m z^m$$

is a linear inner product preserving isomorphism.  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  is also a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS) with the reproducing kernel

$$K(z,w) = \frac{1}{1 - \overline{w}z}.$$

We recall the following general result for interpolation in RKHS, [2].

**Theorem 2.1** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a RKHS on X with reproducing kernel, K, and let  $\Gamma = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset X$  be distinct. If the matrix  $(K(x_i, x_j))$  is invertible, then for any  $\{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n\} \subset \mathbb{C}$  there exists a function interpolating these values, and the unique interpolating function of minimum norm is given by the formula  $g(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j K(x, x_j)$ , where  $w = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)^T$  is given by  $w = (K(x_i, x_j))^{-1}v$ , with  $v = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)^T$ .

Let  $\{z_k\}_{k=1}^n$  be *n* arbitrary distinct complex points in  $\mathbb{D}$ . The following theorem is a practical interpolation formula for functions in  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ .

#### Theorem 2.2 Let

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n \frac{\prod_{j=1}^n [(1 - z_k \overline{z}_j)(1 - \overline{z}_l z_j)]}{(1 - z_k \overline{z}_l) \prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^n (z_k - z_j) \prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^n (\overline{z}_l - \overline{z}_j)} \frac{f(z_k)}{1 - z\overline{z}_l}.$$
 (2.1)

Then  $f_n(z) \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $f_n(z_k) = f(z_k)$  for k = 1, ..., n. Moreover, the function  $f_n(z)$  is the minimal approximation of f(z) in the sense that among all functions in the Hardy space  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  that take the values  $f(z_k)$  at  $z_k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., n, it has the minimal norm in  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ .

Proof Let

$$\tilde{a}_{lk} = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(1 - z_k \overline{z}_j)(1 - \overline{z}_l z_j)]}{(1 - z_k \overline{z}_l) \prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (z_k - z_j) \prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (\overline{z}_l - \overline{z}_j)}.$$
(2.2)

Then formula (2.1) can be rewritten in the form

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \frac{\tilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z\bar{z}_l}.$$
 (2.3)

Let A be the matrix

$$A = (a_{kl})_{n \times n} := \left(\frac{1}{1 - z_k \overline{z}_l}\right)_{n \times n}.$$

Since  $K(z, w) = \frac{1}{1-\overline{w}z}$  is the reproducing kernel of the RKHS  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $a_{kl} = K(p_k, p_l)$ , then the matrix *A* is positive definite. Since  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{z}_l} \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then  $f_n(z)$ , as a linear combination of functions  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{z}_l}$  from  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , belongs to  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ .

Now we prove that  $B = (\tilde{a}_{kl})_{n \times n}$  with  $\tilde{a}_{lk}$  being defined by (2.2) is the inverse of A. Consider the matrix  $C = (c_{kl})_{n \times n} = (\frac{1}{1 - x_k y_l})_{n \times n}$ . It is well-known that (see [3], Problem 1.9)

$$\det(C) = \det\left(\frac{1}{1 - x_k y_l}\right)_{n \times n} = \frac{\prod_{1 \le j < i \le n} [(x_i - x_j)(y_i - y_j)]}{\prod_{1 \le i, j \le n} (1 - x_i y_j)}.$$
 (2.4)

Moreover, the entry  $\tilde{c}_{kl}$  of the inverse matrix  $C^{-1} = (\tilde{c}_{kl})_{n \times n}$  of C is defined by

$$\tilde{c}_{kl} = (-1)^{k+l} \frac{\det(C_{lk})}{\det(C)},\tag{2.5}$$

here  $C_{lk}$  is the  $(n-1) \times (n-1)$  submatrix of A obtained by deleting the *l*th row and the *k*th column of A. Since  $C_{lk}$  has the same structure as C, we have

$$\det(C_{lk}) = \frac{\prod_{\substack{1 \le j < i \le n \\ i, j \ne l}} (x_i - x_j) \prod_{\substack{1 \le j < i \le n \\ i, j \ne k}} (y_i - y_j)}{\prod_{\substack{1 \le j < i \le n \\ i \ne l, j \ne k}} (1 - x_i y_j)}.$$
(2.6)

Consequently, from (2.4), (2.5) and (2.6) we obtain

$$\tilde{c}_{kl} = \frac{(-1)^{k+l} \prod_{j=1}^{n} (1 - x_l y_j) \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 - x_i y_k)}{(1 - x_l y_k) \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} (x_l - x_j) \prod_{i=l+1}^{n} (x_i - x_l) \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} (y_k - y_j) \prod_{i=k+1}^{n} (y_i - y_k)} \\ = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(1 - x_l y_j) (1 - x_j y_k)]}{(1 - x_l y_k) \prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (x_l - x_j) \prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (y_k - y_j)}.$$
(2.7)

Let  $x_k = \overline{y}_k = z_k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., n. Then C = A, and comparing (2.7) with (2.2) we see  $\tilde{c}_{kl} = \tilde{a}_{kl}$ . Hence,  $A^{-1} = (\tilde{a}_{kl})_{n \times n}$ . In particular,

$$\sum_{l=1}^{n} \widetilde{a}_{lk} a_{jl} = \delta_{kj},$$

where  $\delta_{kj} = 0$  if  $k \neq j$ , and  $\delta_{kj} = 1$  if k = j. We have

$$f_n(z_j) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \frac{\widetilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z_j \overline{z}_l} = \sum_{k=1}^n f(z_k) \sum_{l=1}^n \frac{\widetilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z_j \overline{z}_l}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^n f(z_k) \sum_{l=1}^n \widetilde{a}_{lk} a_{jl} = \sum_{k=1}^n f(z_k) \delta_{kj} = f(z_j).$$
(2.8)

Hence,  $f_n(z)$  interpolates f(z) at  $z_1, z_2, ..., z_n$ . From RKHS theory (see Corollary 4.5 from [2]) it follows that  $f_n(z)$  is the orthogonal projection of f on the subspace spanned by the functions  $\{\frac{1}{1-z\overline{z_1}}, ..., \frac{1}{1-z\overline{z_n}}\}$ , and therefore, is the unique interpolation function of minimum norm. Theorem is proved.

### **3** Convergence

The following theorem deals with the convergence of the interpolation formula.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\{z_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of distinct complex numbers on  $\mathbb{D}$ , that converges to  $w_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ . Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(z) = f(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{D},$$
(3.1)

where the convergence is both pointwise and in  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  norm.

*Proof* Let  $\mathcal{F} = \{F_m\}_0^\infty$  be the sequence of MacLaurin coefficients of f(z). Denote

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \{F_{n,m}\}_{m=0}^{\infty}, \quad \text{where } F_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \widetilde{a}_{lk} \overline{z}_l^m.$$
(3.2)

Then

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_{n,m} z^m = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \widetilde{a}_{lk} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} z^m \overline{z}_l^m$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \frac{\widetilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z\overline{z}_l} = f_n(z).$$
(3.3)

Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is the sequence of MacLaurin coefficients of  $f_n(z)$  and so

$$\|f_n(z)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2} = \|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2}$$

Since function  $f_n(z)$  is the minimal approximation of f(z) in the sense that among functions of the space  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  that interpolates f(z) at  $z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n$ ,  $f_n(z)$  has the minimal norm in  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then the sequence  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is the minimal approximation of the sequence  $\mathcal{F}$  in the sense that among sequences of the space  $l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$  whose Ltransform is  $f(z_k)$  at  $z_k$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ , it has the minimal norm in  $l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$ . As both  $\mathcal{F}_k$  with k > n > 0 and  $\mathcal{F}$  also have L transforms  $f(z_k)$  at  $z_k$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ , the minimal norm property of  $\mathcal{F}_n$  yields

$$\|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2} \le \|\mathcal{F}_k\|_{l^2}, \quad \text{if } 0 < n < k,$$

and

$$\|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2} \le \|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}, \quad \text{if } n > 0.$$

The sequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is uniformly bounded in norm by  $\|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}$  in the Hilbert space  $l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$ , therefore, there exists a subsequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  that converges weakly to some  $\mathcal{F}^* \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$  and  $\|\mathcal{F}^*\|_{l^2} \leq \liminf_{j\to\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2}$ . Let

$$\mathcal{G}_z = \left\{\overline{z}^m\right\}_{m=0}^\infty, \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{G}_z \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$ , and the weak convergence yields

$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \langle \mathcal{F}_{n_j}, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle = \langle \mathcal{F}^*, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle,$$

for any  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . We have

$$\langle \mathcal{F}_n, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_{n,m} z^m = f_n(z).$$

Denote  $f^*(z) = \langle \mathcal{F}^*, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle$ , then  $f^* \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and

$$f^*(z) = \lim_{j \to \infty} f_{n_j}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

In particular, since  $f_{n_j}(z_k) = f(z_k)$  when  $n_j \ge k$ , we have

$$f^*(z_k) = \lim_{j \to \infty} f_{n_j}(z_k) = f(z_k), \quad k > 0.$$

If the sequence  $\{z_k\}$  has a limit  $w_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ , then by the classical interior uniqueness theorem  $f^*(z) = f(z)$ .

The sequence  $\{\|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  is monotone increasing, and bounded above by  $\|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}$ , hence,

$$\|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2} = \|\mathcal{F}^*\|_{l^2} \le \liminf_{j \to \infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2} \le \|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}.$$

Consequently,

$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2} = \|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}$$

The sequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  converges weakly to  $\mathcal{F}$ , and the sequence of their norms  $\{\|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  converges to  $\|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2}$ , therefore, the subsequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  converges strongly to  $\mathcal{F}$ .

We claim now that the whole sequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  converges strongly to  $\mathcal{F}$ . If not, there would exist an  $\epsilon > 0$  and a subsequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_s}\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{F} - \mathcal{F}_{n_s}\|_{l^2} \ge \epsilon, \quad s > 0.$$

By the same techniques as above, from the sequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_s}\}_{s=0}^{\infty}$  one can choose a subsequence convergent strongly to  $\mathcal{F}$ , that is a contradiction. Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_n$  converges in norm to  $\mathcal{F}$ , and therefore,  $f_n$  converges in norm to f. Moreover,  $\mathcal{F}_n$  converges weakly to  $\mathcal{F}$ , then  $f_n(z)$ , as inner product of  $\mathcal{F}_n$  with  $\mathcal{G}_z$ , converges pointwise to f(z) in  $\mathbb{D}$ .

**Theorem 3.2** The MacLaurin coefficients  $F_m$  of f(z) can be determined from  $\{f(z_k)\}_1^{\infty}$  by formula

$$F_m = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k) \widetilde{a}_{lk} \overline{z}_l^m, \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

*Proof* In fact, as  $n \to \infty$ 

$$\left|F_m - \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(z_k)\widetilde{a}_{lk}\overline{z}_l^m\right| = |F_m - F_{n,m}|$$
$$\leq \sqrt{\sum_{j=0}^\infty |F_j - F_{n,j}|^2} = \|\mathcal{F} - \mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2} \to 0.$$

## 4 General Case

Let h(w) be a holomorphic function in the domain  $\Omega$ , and  $\{p_n\}_1^{\infty}$  be a sequence in  $\Omega$  that has a limit point  $p_0 \in \Omega$ . We will explain how to recover h(w) from  $\{h(p_n)\}_1^{\infty}$ . Let  $\mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$  be a disc inside  $\Omega$ , that contains  $p_0$ 

$$p_0 \in \mathbb{D}_R(w_0) = \left\{ w, |w - w_0| < R \right\} \subset \Omega.$$

The Taylor series

$$h(w) := \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} H_m (w - w_0)^m$$

converges in  $\mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$ , therefore, for any  $0 < R_1 < R$ ,

$$|H_m|R_1^m \to 0$$
, as  $m \to \infty$ .

Consequently,

$$\left\{H_m r^m\right\}_0^\infty \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0) \quad \text{for } 0 < r < R_1 < R.$$

Thus,

$$f(z) := \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (H_m r^m) z^m \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D}), \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Let  $\{w_k\}_1^\infty$  be a subsequence of  $\{p_n\}_1^\infty$ , that is inside  $\mathbb{D}_r(w_0)$  and convergent to  $p_0$ . Then

$$f(z) = h(w),$$
  $f(z_k) = h(w_k),$   $z = \frac{w - w_0}{r},$   $z_k = \frac{w_k - w_0}{r}.$ 

Consequently, the function

$$h_{n}(w) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \frac{h(w_{k})}{r^{2} - (w - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})} \\ \times \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{j} - \overline{w}_{0}))(r^{2} - (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})(w_{j} - w_{0}))]}{(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0}))\prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (w_{k} - w_{j})\prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{j})},$$
(4.1)

converges pointwise to h(w) for any  $w \in \mathbb{D}_r(w_0)$ . Its Taylor coefficients  $H_m$  at  $w_0$  can be found by formula for m = 0, 1, ...,

$$H_{m} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \frac{h(w_{k})}{r^{2m+2}} (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})^{m} \\ \times \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{j} - \overline{w}_{0}))(r^{2} - (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})(w_{j} - w_{0}))]}{(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0}))\prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (w_{k} - w_{j})\prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{j})}.$$
(4.2)

Let w' be any point of  $\Omega$  at which we want to determine the value of h, as well as its Taylor coefficients. Since  $\Omega$  is connected, there is a chain of disks  $\mathbb{D}_1, \mathbb{D}_2, \ldots, \mathbb{D}_t$ , with the following properties:

- (a) All  $\mathbb{D}_j$ , j = 1, ..., t, are inside  $\Omega$ .
- (b) Two consecutive discs have no empty intersection  $\mathbb{D}_i \cap \mathbb{D}_{i+1} \neq \emptyset$ .
- (c)  $\mathbb{D}_1$  contains  $p_0$ .
- (d)  $\mathbb{D}_k$  is centered at w'.

Function *h* is given on a sequence in  $\mathbb{D}_1$ , therefore, *h* can be determined in the whole disc  $\mathbb{D}_1$ . In particular, *h* can be recovered at a sequence of points in  $\mathbb{D}_1 \cap \mathbb{D}_2 \subset \mathbb{D}_2$ , that is convergent inside  $\mathbb{D}_2$ . Once *h* is found at a convergent sequence in  $\mathbb{D}_2$ , it can be found on a convergent sequence in  $\mathbb{D}_3$ . By the end we can recover the function and its Taylor coefficients in  $\mathbb{D}_t$ , in particular, at *w'*.

### **5** Characterization of the Holomorphic Functions

It is well-known (Sect. 2) that to determine whether a function belongs to the Hardy space  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  or not, we need the values of the function in the whole disc  $\mathbb{D}$ , or all its MacLaurin coefficients. In this section first we will determine whether a function belongs to the Hardy space  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  based on its values at a sequence of points. Let  $\{z_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of distinct complex numbers on  $\mathbb{D}$ , that converges to  $w_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ , and let  $\{u_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of complex numbers. The following theorem answers the question under which conditions there exists a Hardy function  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  such that  $f(z_k) = u_k$  for any k = 1, 2, ...

**Theorem 5.1** The necessary and sufficient condition for existence of a Hardy function  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  such that  $f(z_k) = u_k$  for any k = 1, 2, ..., is

$$\sup_{n\geq 1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} u_k \widetilde{a}_{lk} \overline{z}_l^m \right|^2 < \infty.$$
(5.1)

*Proof* Let condition (5.1) hold. Denote

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n u_k \frac{\tilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z\bar{z}_l}.$$
 (5.2)

Since  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{z}_l} \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then  $f_n(z)$ , defined by (5.2), is a linear combination of functions  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{z}_l}$  from  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and therefore belongs to  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ . We have

$$f_n(z_j) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n u_k \frac{\tilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z_j \bar{z}_l} = \sum_{k=1}^n u_k \sum_{l=1}^n \frac{\tilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z_j \bar{z}_l}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^n u_k \sum_{l=1}^n \tilde{a}_{lk} a_{jl} = \sum_{k=1}^n u_k \delta_{kj} = u_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.3)

Denote

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \{F_{n,m}\}_{m=0}^{\infty}, \quad \text{where } F_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^n u_k \widetilde{a}_{lk} \overline{z}_l^m.$$
(5.4)

The condition (5.1) yields that the sequence  $\{\|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is bounded. Moreover,

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_{n,m} z^m = \sum_{k,l=1}^n u_k \widetilde{a}_{lk} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} z^m \overline{z}_l^m$$
$$= \sum_{k,l=1}^n u_k \frac{\widetilde{a}_{lk}}{1 - z\overline{z}_l} = f_n(z).$$
(5.5)

Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is the sequence of MacLaurin coefficients of  $f_n(z)$  and so

$$\|f_n(z)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2} = \|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2}.$$

Since the sequence  $\{\|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is bounded, therefore, there exists a subsequence  $\{\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  that converges weakly to some  $\mathcal{F} \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$  and  $\|\mathcal{F}\|_{l^2} \leq \liminf_{j\to\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{n_j}\|_{l^2}$ . Let

$$\mathcal{G}_z = \left\{\overline{z}^m\right\}_{m=0}^\infty, \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{G}_z \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0)$ , and the weak convergence yields

$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \langle \mathcal{F}_{n_j}, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle = \langle \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle,$$

for any  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . We have

$$\langle \mathcal{F}_n, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F_{n,m} z^m = f_n(z).$$

Denote  $f(z) = \langle \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}_z \rangle$ , then  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and

$$f(z) = \lim_{j \to \infty} f_{n_j}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

In particular, since  $f_{n_j}(z_k) = u_k$  when  $n_j \ge k$ , we have

$$f(z_k) = \lim_{j \to \infty} f_{n_j}(z_k) = u_k, \quad k > 0.$$

Conversely, suppose there exists a function  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$  such that  $f(z_k) = u_k$  for any k = 1, 2, ... Then  $\{\|f_n\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is bounded, therefore,  $\{\|\mathcal{F}_n\|_{l^2}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is bounded, that is equivalent to (5.1). The theorem is proved.

Now we consider the general case. Let  $\{p_n\}_1^\infty$  be a sequence of distinct complex numbers in the disc  $\mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$  that has a limit point  $p_0 \in \mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$ , and let  $\{u_n\}_1^\infty$  be a sequence of complex numbers. Denote

$$R_2 = \sup_{n \ge 1} |p_n - w_0|$$

then  $0 < R_2 < R$ . Suppose there exists a function h(w) holomorphic in the disc  $\mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$ , such that  $h(p_n) = u_n$  for all  $n \ge 1$ . Then, for  $R_2 < r < R$ , the sequence of Taylor coefficients  $\{H_m\}_0^\infty$  satisfies the condition

$$\left\{H_m r^m\right\}_0^\infty \in l^2(\mathbb{N}_0),\tag{5.6}$$

where  $H_m$  is defined by, for m = 0, 1, ...,

$$H_{m} = \lim_{n \to \infty} H_{n,m}, \text{ where}$$

$$H_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \frac{u_{k}}{r^{2m+2}} (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})^{m}$$

$$\times \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{j} - \overline{w}_{0}))(r^{2} - (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0})(w_{j} - w_{0}))]}{(r^{2} - (w_{k} - w_{0})(\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{0}))\prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (w_{k} - w_{j})\prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (\overline{w}_{l} - \overline{w}_{j})}$$
(5.7)

Condition (5.6) can be rewritten in the form, for  $0 < R_2 < r < R$ ,

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \frac{u_k}{r^m} (\overline{w}_l - \overline{w}_0)^m \right| \\ \times \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} [(r^2 - (w_k - w_0)(\overline{w}_j - \overline{w}_0))(r^2 - (\overline{w}_l - \overline{w}_0)(w_j - w_0))]}{(r^2 - (w_k - w_0)(\overline{w}_l - \overline{w}_0)) \prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (w_k - w_j) \prod_{j=1, j \neq l}^{n} (\overline{w}_l - \overline{w}_j)} \right|^2 < \infty.$$
(5.8)

Thus, the necessary and sufficient condition for existence of a holomorphic function h in  $\mathbb{D}_R(w_0)$  with  $h(p_n) = u_n$  for all  $n \ge 1$  is (5.8) for an arbitrary, but fixed r on the interval  $(R_2, R)$ .

### 6 Special Cases

For certain choices of the sequence  $z_k$ , we can simplify the sums in (2.1) to obtain computable approximations for the interpolated function. Recall that as  $n \to \infty$ ,  $f_n(z)$  converges to f(z) for any  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ , and also its MacLaurin coefficients  $F_{n,m}$ converges to  $F_m$  for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . *Example 1* Let  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $z_k = q^k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., 0 < q < 1. Using the *q*-Pochhammer symbol

$$(a;q)_n = \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} (1 - aq^j),$$

we obtain

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f(q^k) \frac{q^{(k+l)n+k(k+1)/2+l(l+1)/2}(q^{k+1};q)_n(q^{l+1};q)_n}{(1-q^{k+l})(q;q)_{k-1}(q;q)_{n-k}(q;q)_{l-1}(q;q)_{n-l}} \frac{(-1)^{k+l}}{1-zq^l}$$

and

$$F_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} f\left(q^{k}\right) \frac{(-1)^{k+l} q^{(k+l)n+k(k+1)/2+l(l+1)/2+lm} (q^{k+1};q)_{n} (q^{l+1};q)_{n}}{(1-q^{k+l})(q;q)_{k-1}(q;q)_{n-k}(q;q)_{l-1}(q;q)_{n-l}}.$$
(6.1)

*Example 2* Let  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $z_k = \frac{1}{k+1}$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \dots$  Using the Pochhammer symbol

$$[a]_n = \prod_{j=1}^n (a+j-1),$$

we obtain

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f\left(\frac{1}{k+1}\right) \frac{(-1)^{k+l}(k+1)^{n-1}(l+1)^{n-1}\left[\frac{k+2}{k+1}\right]_n \left[\frac{l+2}{l+1}\right]_n}{(kl+k+l)(k-1)!(n-k)!(l-1)!(n-l)!} \frac{1}{1-\frac{z}{l+1}},$$
(6.2)

and

$$F_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} f\left(\frac{1}{k+1}\right) \frac{(-1)^{k+l}(k+1)^{n-1}(l+1)^{n-1}\left[\frac{k+2}{k+1}\right]_{n}\left[\frac{l+2}{l+1}\right]_{n}}{(kl+k+l)(k-1)!(n-k)!(l-1)!(n-l)!} \frac{1}{(l+1)^{m}}.$$
(6.3)

*Example 3* Let  $f \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $z_k = a + \frac{b}{k}$ , k = 1, 2, ... where  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$  and |a| + |b| < 1, so all  $z_k \in \mathbb{D}$ . If we denote the product

$$p(k,n) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left[ kj - (ak+b)(\overline{a}j+\overline{b}) \right]$$

then

$$f_n(z) = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f\left(a + \frac{b}{k}\right) \frac{(-1)^{k+l} p(k,n) p(l,n) kl}{(kl - (ak+b)(\overline{a}l + \overline{b})) l! k! (n-l)! (n-k)!} \frac{l}{l - (\overline{a}l + \overline{b}) z},$$
  
$$F_{n,m} = \sum_{k,l=1}^n f\left(a + \frac{b}{k}\right) \frac{(-1)^{k+l} p(k,n) p(l,n) kl}{(kl - (ak+b)(\overline{a}l + \overline{b})) l! k! (n-l)! (n-k)!} \left(\overline{a} + \frac{\overline{b}}{k}\right)^m.$$

#### **Numerical Tests:**

On the numerical side we can use formula (6.2) to interpolate few values of the holomorphic function

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{4+z^2}.$$

Observe that since  $f_n(x)$  is a finite sum, it can be computed in an exact manner, with no round off error. In what follows, we use = to mean exact and  $\simeq$  to mean approximation.

We first check the interpolation formula (6.2) at the interpolation point x = 1/30. The formula  $f_n(1/30)$  should give us the exact value f(1/30) = 900/3601, for  $n \ge k = 29$  since there is no interpolation in (6.2). For example the interpolated values are

> $f_{10}(1/30) \simeq 0.2499305748402793976$   $f_{28}(1/30) \simeq 0.2499305748403221327$   $f_{29}(1/30) = 900/3601$  $f_{35}(1/30) = 900/3601.$

The values  $f_{10}(1/30)$  and  $f_{28}(1/30)$  cannot be exact because they are extrapolations. Note that  $f_{29}(1/30)$  and  $f_{35}(1/30)$  the series terminates and contains only 29 terms and so the values are exact as expected.

Next we check the formula outside sampling points, and so the series in (6.2) does not terminates before the *n*th term. We use formula (6.2) to interpolate the values  $f(0) = \frac{1}{4}$ ,  $f(\frac{i}{2})$ ,  $f(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{i}{2})$  where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$ 

Next

which compares well with the exact values

$$\frac{16}{65} = 0.246153\overline{846153}$$
 and  $\frac{2}{65} = 0.3\overline{076923}$ .

As for the Taylor coefficients we have for

$$F_{20,6} \simeq -0.003906250000007548185$$

and similarly

$$F_{20.8} \simeq 0.00097656249974880250533.$$

The exact values are

$$\frac{1}{6!}f^{(6)}(0) = \frac{-1}{256} = -0.003\ 906\ 250$$
$$\frac{1}{8!}f^{(8)}(0) = \frac{1}{1024} = 0.000\ 976\ 562\ 500.000$$

Note that because the formula (6.2) mainly uses integers, the results shown above are free from roundoff error.

### References

- I. Ali, V.K. Tuan, Application of basic hypergeometric series to stable analytic continuation. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 118(1–2), 193–202 (2000)
- V.I. Paulsen, An Introduction to the Theory of Reproducing Kernel Hilbert Spaces. Lecture Notes for a Course on Reproducing Kernel Hilbert Spaces Given at the University of Houston (Springer, Berlin, 2006). Website: www.math.uh.edu/~vern/rkhs.pdf
- V.V. Prasolov, *Problems and Theorems in Linear Algebra*. Translations of Mathematical Monographs Series, vol. 134 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1994)
- V.K. Tuan, Stable analytic continuation using hypergeometric summation. Inverse Problems 16, 75–87 (2000)
- V.K. Tuan, M.Z. Nashed, Stable recovery of analytic functions using basic hypergeometric series. J. Comput. Anal. Appl. 3(1), 33–52 (2001)

# **On Approximation of Lebedev Type Transforms**

#### Juri Rappoport

Abstract New modification of KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV and LEBEDEV-SKAL-SKAYA integral transforms was introduced by YAKUBOVICH. These transforms contain modified BESSEL functions  $K_{\frac{1}{4}+i\tau}(x)$  and  $K_{\frac{3}{4}+i\tau}(x)$  and their real and imaginary parts as kernels. The vector Tau method approach is used for the approximation and calculation of these functions. This approach is based on the general Tau method's computational scheme and canonical vector-polynomial notion. We obtain the system of two differential equations and then the system of two Volterra integral equations for the determination of the polynomial approximation of the kernels. These results may be used for the application of YAKUBOVICH transforms to the solution of boundary value problems of mathematical physics.

Keywords KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV integral transform . LEBEDEV-SKALSKAYA integral transform · Modified BESSEL function · Tau method · CHEBYSHEV polynomial

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 44A15 · Secondary 33C10 · 45E99

# **1** Some Properties of the Functions Re $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$ and Im $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$

It is possible to write the modified BESSEL functions in the form Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \frac{K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)+K_{\alpha-i\beta}(x)}{2}$  and Im  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \frac{K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)-K_{\alpha-i\beta}(x)}{2i}$ , where  $K_{\nu}(x)$  is the modified BESSEL function of the second kind (also called MACDONALD function).

J. Rappoport (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was partially supported by Thematic Programme on Inverse Problems in Imaging of the FIELDS Institute.

Institute for Computer Aided Design, Russian Academy of Sciences, Vlasov street Building 27 Apt. 8, Moscow 117335, Russia e-mail: jmrap@landau.ac.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_60

The functions  $K_{i\beta}(x)$ , Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  and Im  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  have integral representations [1, 2]

$$K_{i\beta}(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-x\cosh t} \cos(\beta t) dt,$$
  
Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-x\cosh t} \cosh(\alpha t) \cos(\beta t) dt,$  (1.1)

$$\operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-x\cosh t} \sinh(\alpha t) \sin(\beta t) dt.$$
(1.2)

It follows from (1.1)–(1.2) that it is possible to write Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  in the form of the FOURIER cosinus-transform

$$\operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} F_C \left[ e^{-x \cosh t} \cosh(\alpha t); t \to \beta \right], \tag{1.3}$$

and Im  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  in the form of the FOURIER sinus-transform

$$\operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} F_{S}\left[e^{-x\cosh t}\sinh(\alpha t); t \to \beta\right].$$
(1.4)

The inversion formulas have the respective forms

$$F_{C}\left[\operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x); \beta \to t\right] = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x\cosh t} \cosh(\alpha t),$$

$$F_{S}\left[\operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x); \beta \to t\right] = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x\cosh t} \sinh(\alpha t)$$
(1.5)

or, in integral form,

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)\cos(t\beta)d\beta = \frac{\pi}{2}e^{-x\cosh t}\cosh(\alpha t), \qquad (1.6)$$

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) \sin(t\beta) d\beta = \frac{\pi}{2} e^{-x \cosh t} \sinh(\alpha t).$$
(1.7)

For the computation of certain integrals of the functions  $\operatorname{Re} K_{\frac{1}{2}+i\beta}(x)$  and  $\operatorname{Im} K_{\frac{1}{2}+i\beta}(x)$  integral identities are useful which reduce this problem to the computation of some other integrals over elementary functions.

**Proposition 1.1** If f is absolutely integrable on  $[0, \infty)$ , then the following identities hold,

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) f(\beta) d\beta = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_0^\infty e^{-x \cosh t} \cosh(\alpha t) F_C(t) dt, \quad (1.8)$$

On Approximation of Lebedev Type Transforms

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) f(\beta) d\beta = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_0^\infty e^{-x \cosh t} \sinh(\alpha t) F_S(t) dt, \quad (1.9)$$

where  $F_C(t)$  is the FOURIER cosinus-transform of  $f(\beta)$ , and  $F_S(t)$  the FOURIER sinus-transform of  $f(\beta)$ .

**Proposition 1.2** If f is absolutely integrable on  $[0, \infty)$ , then the following identities hold

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) F_C(\beta) d\beta = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_0^\infty e^{-x\cosh t} \cosh(\alpha t) f(t) dt, \quad (1.10)$$

$$\int_0^\infty \operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) F_S(\beta) d\beta = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_0^\infty e^{-x \cosh t} \sinh(\alpha t) f(t) dt. \quad (1.11)$$

Equations (1.8)–(1.11) are useful for the simplification and the calculation of different integrals containing Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  and Im  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$ .

It follows from (1.1) that for all  $\beta \in [0, \infty)$ 

$$\left|\operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)\right| \le K_{\alpha}(x), \qquad \left|\operatorname{Re} K_{\frac{1}{2}+i\beta}(x)\right| \le K_{\frac{1}{2}}(x) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2x}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x}, \quad (1.12)$$

and it follows from (1.2) that for all  $\beta \in [0, \infty)$ 

$$\left|\operatorname{Im} K_{\frac{1}{2}+i\beta}(x)\right| \le \int_0^\infty e^{-x\cosh t} \sinh \frac{t}{2} dt = \left(\frac{\pi}{2x}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^x \left[1 - \phi\left((2x)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)\right] \le B \frac{e^{-x}}{x},$$
(1.13)

where *B* is some positive constant.

## 2 Yakubovich Integral Transforms

Integral transforms containing integration with respect to the index of the BESSEL function play an important role for the solution of some classes of the problems in mathematical physics [3–5]. In particular, for the solution of mixed boundary value problems for the HELMHOLTZ equation in wedge-shaped and conic domains, the KONTOROVITCH–LEBEDEV and LEBEDEV–SKALSKAYA transforms [1, 2] are used.

The proofs of the inversion formulas and PARSEVAL equalities for these transforms are investigated by the author in [6-11]. The problem of the evaluation of the KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV integral transforms is simplified by means of their decompositions in the form of compositions of simpler integral transformations, in particular, FOURIER and LAPLACE transforms.

The KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV integral transforms may be expressed in terms of general MEYER integral transforms of special index and argument.

YAKUBOVICH [12] considered the LEBEDEV type integral transforms with arbitrary complex order, i.e. with Re  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  and Im  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  in the kernel. The inversion formulas were obtained for the general case. But they have the more simplest form for the case  $\alpha = \frac{1}{4}$ . Let's rewrite these formulas for the real parts [12]

$$F_{\frac{1}{4}+}(\beta) = \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Re} K_{\frac{1}{4}+i\beta}(x) f(x) dx,$$
  
$$f(x) = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \left[\cosh(\pi\beta) \operatorname{Re} \left(K_{\frac{3}{4}+i\beta}(x) - K_{\frac{1}{4}+i\beta}(x)\right) + \sinh(\pi\beta) \operatorname{Im} \left(K_{\frac{3}{4}+i\beta}(x) + K_{\frac{1}{4}+i\beta}(x)\right)\right] F_{\frac{1}{4}+}(\beta) d\beta.$$

### **3** Tau Method Approximation

The questions of the approximation of the solutions of the linear differential equations with polynomial coefficients by means of polynomials and construction of approximations of the KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV integral transforms kernels are considered.

The numerical scheme of the Tau method application is proposed for the solution of the second order linear differential equations systems with the second order polynomial coefficients of the following kind:

$$(a_0^{(j)}y^2 + a_1^{(j)}y)v_j''(y) + \sum_{i=1}^k [(a_{3i-1}^{(j)}y - a_{3i}^{(j)})v_i'(y) + a_{3i+1}^{(j)}v_i(y)] = 0,$$
  
$$v_j(0) = a_{3k+2}^{(j)}, \quad j = 1, \dots, k, \ y \in [0, 1],$$

in the unknown vector-function  $v(y) = (v_1(y), ..., v_k(y))$ . It is assumed to have only one solution. Integrating twice and carrying an addition in the right part in the kind of the vector-polynomial  $P_n(y)$ , we derive for the determination of the *n*-th approximation of the solution  $v(y) = (v_1(y), ..., v_k(y))$  the system of Volterra integral equations with polynomial kernels

$$(b_0^{(j)}y^2 + b_1^{(j)}y)v_j(y) = \int_0^y \left[\sum_{i=1}^k (b_{3i-1}^{(j)}x + b_{3i}^{(j)}y + b_{3i+1}^{(j)})v_i(x)\right] dx + P_{jn+2}(y),$$
  
 
$$j = 1, \dots, k,$$

where coefficients  $b_i^{(j)}$  and  $a_i^{(j)}$ , i = 0, ..., 3k + 2 and j = 1, ..., k, are connected in definite way and  $P_{jn+2}(y)$ , j = 1, ..., k - n + 2-th degree polynomials. The different variables of the vector residue choice and its minimization are analyzed. The recurrent formulas for the canonical vector-polynomials coefficients convenient for calculations are given.

Consider the system of two second order differential equations (k = 2) in more detail. This case contain differential equations with complex coefficients.

The scheme of the integral form of the Tau Method described in this paper can be used for deriving polynomial approximations of hypergeometric and confluent hypergeometric functions of the first kind with complex parameters.

We find it necessary to compute  $\operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  and  $\operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  to use YAKUBOVICH transform in practice. Therefore we consider the second kind modified BESSEL function  $K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x)$  in more detail.

We have a system of two second order differential equations

$$y^{2}v_{1}'' + 2(y+1)v_{1}' + \left(\frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}\right)v_{1} + 2\alpha\beta v_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$y^{2}v_{2}'' + 2(y+1)v_{2}' - 2\alpha\beta v_{1} + \left(\frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}\right)v_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$v_{1}(0) = 1, v_{2}(0) = 0,$$

or the system of VOLTERRA integral equations

$$y^{2}v_{1}(y) = \int_{0}^{y} \left( \left( \frac{9}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) x - \left( 2 + \left( \frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) y \right) \right) v_{1}(x) dx$$
  
+  $2\alpha\beta \int_{0}^{y} (x - y)v_{2}(x) dx + 2y,$   
 $y^{2}v_{2}(y) = 2\alpha\beta \int_{0}^{y} (y - x)v_{1}(x) dx$   
+  $\int_{0}^{y} \left( \left( \frac{9}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) x - \left( 2 + \left( \frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) y \right) \right) v_{2}(x) dx.$   
 $K_{\alpha + i\beta}(x) = \left( \pi/(2x) \right)^{1/2} e^{-x} \left( v_{1}(1/x) + iv_{2}(1/x) \right), \quad x \ge 1.$ 

By means of computations is shown that the choice of the residue in the form  $P_{jn+2}(y) = \tau_{jn+2}T_{n+2}[(1 - \alpha_{n+2})y + \alpha_{n+2}], j = 1, 2$ , is optimal as compared with other known variants in this case too. Here  $\alpha_{n+2} = \sin^2(\pi/(4(n+2)))$ —the most left root of the shifted Chebyshev polynomial of the n + 2-th degree  $T_{n+2}^*(y)$  in the interval [0, 1],  $\tau_{n+2}$ -undefined coefficient.

Application of the integral form of the Tau method for the construction of the approximate solution of the system consists in the following: We seek *n*-th approximation of the solution in the form of pair of polynomials *n*-th degree  $v_{1n}(y)$  and

 $v_{2n}(y)$ , which are the solutions of (3.1)

$$\begin{cases} y^{2}v_{1}(y) = \int_{0}^{y} \left( \left( \frac{9}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) x - \left( 2 + \left( \frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) y \right) \right) v_{1}(x) dx \\ + 2\alpha\beta \int_{0}^{y} (x - y)v_{2}(x) dx \\ + 2y + \tau_{1}T_{n+1}^{*}(y) + \tau_{2}T_{n+2}^{*}(y), \\ y^{2}v_{2}(y) = 2\alpha\beta \int_{0}^{y} (y - x)v_{1}(x) dx \\ + \int_{0}^{y} \left( \left( \frac{9}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) x - \left( 2 + \left( \frac{1}{4} - \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \right) y \right) \right) v_{2}(x) dx \\ + \tau_{3}T_{n+1}^{*}(y) + \tau_{4}T_{n+2}^{*}(y), \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

 $T_{n+i}^*(y)$ , i = 1, 2—shifted CHEBYSHEV polynomials n + i-th degree,  $\tau_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ —undefined coefficients.

The use of canonical polynomials may lead in this case to additional computational difficulties connected with renormalization of big and small values. So let's describe the methods based on the direct solution (3.1).

Let's explain the process of the determination of  $v_{1n}(y)$  and  $v_{2n}(y)$ . Method of undefined coefficients is used for the determination of undefined coefficients by means of substitution into the system (3.1)  $v_{1n}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{1k}y^k$ ,  $v_{2n}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{2k}y^k$  and equating coefficients under the identical degrees y. We obtain the system from n + 3 pair of equations according 2n + 6 unknowns

 $a_{1k}, k = 0, \dots, n, a_{2k}, k = 0, \dots, n, \tau_i, i = 1, \dots, 4.$ 

We find from the last pair of equations

$$\tau_1 = -\frac{c(0, n+2)}{c(0, n+1)}\tau_2 = \tau_2,$$
  
$$\tau_3 = -\frac{c(0, n+2)}{c(0, n+1)}\tau_4 = \tau_4$$

and substitute derived expression in all other equations.

We find consequently  $a_{1k}$ ,  $a_{2k}$ , k = n, ..., 0 in the form of linear combinations and recurrent relations. It's possible to obtain that for every fixed  $\beta$  the number N exists that for n > N denominator's values are different from zero. Conducted computations show that denominators are different from zero for  $0.1 \le \beta \le 10$ , n = 16. Further by formulas (3.1) we find values  $a_{1k}$ ,  $a_{2k}$ , k = 0, ..., n, and by GORNER scheme compute expressions

$$v_{1n}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{1k} y^{k},$$
$$v_{2n}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{2k} y^{k}.$$

We obtain on the interval  $(1 \le x < \infty)$  convenient for computations for small  $\beta$  expansions

$$\operatorname{Re} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2x}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x} \left(\sum_{m=0}^{n} a_{1m} \left(\frac{1}{x}\right)^{m} + R_{1n}\right),$$
$$\operatorname{Im} K_{\alpha+i\beta}(x) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2x}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x} \left(\sum_{m=0}^{n} a_{2m} \left(\frac{1}{x}\right)^{m} + R_{2n}\right),$$

where  $R_{1n}$  and  $R_{2n}$ —reminder terms.

The applications for the solution of mixed boundary value problems in wedge domains, dual integral equations, numerical algorithms, approximation and computation of the kernels of the modified LEBEDEV type integral transforms are described in [13–17].

### References

- N.N. Lebedev, I.P. Skalskaya, Some integral transforms related to Kontorovitch–Lebedev transforms, in *The Questions of the Mathematical Physics, Leningrad, Nauka* (1976), pp. 68– 79 (in Russian)
- N.N. Lebedev, I.P. Skalskaya, The dual integral equations connected with the Kontorovitch– Lebedev transform. Prikl. Mat. Meh. 38(6), 1090–1097 (1974) (in Russian)
- S. Saitoh, Integral Transforms, Reproducing Kernels and Their Applications. Pitman Res. Notes in Math. Series, vol. 369 (Addison-Wesley/Longman, Reading/Harlow, 1997)
- A.A. Kilbas, M. Saigo, *H-Transform. Theory and Applications* (Chapman & Hall/CRC Press, London/Boca Raton, 2004)
- 5. S.B. Yakubovich, Index Transforms (World Scientific, Singapore, 1996)
- V.B. Poruchikov, J.M. Rappoport, Inversion formulas for modified Kontorovitch–Lebedev transforms. Differ. Uravn. (Minsk) 20(3), 542–546 (1984) (in Russian)
- J.M. Rapppoport, Some properties of modified Kontorovitch–Lebedev integral transforms. Differ. Uravn. (Minsk) 21(4), 724–727 (1985) (in Russian)
- J.M. Rappoport, Some results for modified Kontorovitch–Lebedev integral transforms, in *Proceedings of the 7th International Colloquium on Finite or Infinite Dimensional Complex Analysis* (Dekker, New York, 2000), pp. 473–477
- 9. J.M. Rappoport, The properties, inequalities and numerical approximation of modified Bessel function. Electron. Trans. Numer. Anal. **25**, 454–466 (2006)

- J.M. Rappoport, About modified KONTOROVITCH-LEBEDEV integral transforms and their kernels, Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, Department of Mathematics, London, 2009, preprint 09P/001, 31 pp.
- J.M. Rappoport, Some integral equations with modified Bessel function, in *Proceedings of* the 5th ISAAC Congress. More Progresses in Analysis (World Scientific, Singapore, 2009), pp. 269–278
- S.B. Yakubovich, Beurling's theorems and inversion formulas for certain index transforms. Opusc. Math. 29(1), 93–110 (2009)
- 13. J.M. Rappoport, The canonical vector-polynomials at computation of the Bessel functions of the complex order. Comput. Math. Appl. **41**(), 399–406 (2001)
- J.M. Rappoport, Some numerical quadrature algorithms for the computation of the Macdonald function, in *Proceedings of the Third ISAAC Congress. Progress in Analysis*, vol. 2 (World Scientific, Singapore, 2003), pp. 1223–1230
- B.R. Fabijonas, D.L. Lozier, J.M. Rappoport, Algorithms and codes for the Macdonald function: recent progress and comparisons. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 161(1), 179–192 (2003)
- J.M. Rappoport, Dual integral equations for some mixed boundary value problems, in *Proceedings of the 4th ISAAC Congress. Advances in Analysis* (World Scientific, Singapore, 2005), pp. 167–176
- J.M. Rappoport, CHEBYSHEV polynomial approximations for some hypergeometric systems, Isaac Newton Institute of Mathematical Sciences, Cambridge, 2009, preprint NI09059-DIS, 8 pp.

# **Reproducing Kernels and Discretization**

### L.P. Castro, H. Fujiwara, M.M. Rodrigues, S. Saitoh, and V.K. Tuan

**Abstract** We give a short survey of a general discretization method based on the theory of reproducing kernels. We believe our method will become the next generation method for solving analytical problems by computers. For example, for solving linear PDEs with general boundary or initial value conditions, independently of the domains. Furthermore, we give an ultimate sampling formula and a realization of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces.

**Keywords** Reproducing kernel · Aveiro discretization · Linear operator equation · Approximate solution · Numerical problem

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 30C40 · 44A05 · Secondary 44A15 · 35K05

# 1 The Inverse by Using a Finite Number of Data

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert (possibly finite-dimensional) space, and consider E to be an abstract set and **h** a Hilbert  $\mathcal{H}$ -valued function on E. Then, we consider the linear

M.M. Rodrigues e-mail: mrodrigues@ua.pt

S. Saitoh e-mail: saburou.saitoh@gmail.com

V.K. Tuan Department of Mathematics, University of West Georgia, 1601 Maple Street, Carrollton, GA 30118, USA e-mail: vu@westga.edu

L.P. Castro (🖂) · M.M. Rodrigues · S. Saitoh

CIDMA, Dep. of Mathematics, University of Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal e-mail: castro@ua.pt

H. Fujiwara Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University, 606-8501 Kyoto, Japan e-mail: fujiwara@acs.i.kyoto-u.ac.jp

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_61

transform

$$f(p) = \left(\mathbf{f}, \mathbf{h}(p)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \mathbf{f} \in \mathcal{H},$$
(1.1)

from  $\mathcal{H}$  into the linear space  $\mathcal{F}(E)$  comprising all the complex valued functions on *E*. We form a positive definite quadratic form function K(p,q) on  $E \times E$  defined by

$$K(p,q) = (\mathbf{h}(q), \mathbf{h}(p))_{\mathcal{H}} \quad \text{on } E \times E.$$
(1.2)

#### **Proposition 1.1**

- (I) The range of the linear mapping (1.1) on  $\mathcal{H}$  is characterized as the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_K$  admitting the reproducing kernel K(p,q).
- (II) In general, we have the inequality  $||f||_{H_K} \leq ||\mathbf{f}||_{\mathcal{H}}$ . Here, for any member f of  $H_K$  there exists a uniquely determined  $\mathbf{f}^* \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfying  $f(p) = (\mathbf{f}^*, \mathbf{h}(p))_{\mathcal{H}}$  on E and

$$\|f\|_{H_K} = \|\mathbf{f}^*\|_{\mathcal{H}}.$$
(1.3)

(III) In general, we have the inversion formula in (1.1) in the form

$$f \mapsto \mathbf{f}^* \tag{1.4}$$

in (II) by using the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_K$ .

The typical ill-posed problem (1.1) in  $\mathcal{H}$  will become a well-posed problem in  $H_K$ , see the details [7–9].

Our idea is based on the approximate realization of the abstract Hilbert space  $H_K$  by taking a finite number of points of E. This is done because, in general, the reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $H_K$  has a complicated structure.

By taking a finite number of points  $\{p_j\}_{j=1}^n$ , we set

$$K(p_j, p_{j'}) := a_{jj'}.$$
 (1.5)

Then, if the matrix  $A_n := ||a_{jj'}||$  is positive definite, then, the corresponding norm in  $H_{A_n}$  comprising the vectors  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)^T$  is determined by  $||\mathbf{x}||^2_{H_{A_n}} = \mathbf{x}^* \widetilde{A_n} \mathbf{x}$ , where  $\widetilde{A_n} = \overline{A_n^{-1}} = ||\widetilde{a_{jj'}}||$  (see [8], p. 250).

Proposition 1.2 In the linear mapping

$$f(p) = \left(\mathbf{f}, \mathbf{h}(p)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \mathbf{f} \in \mathcal{H}$$
(1.6)

for  $A_n$ , the minimum norm inverse  $\mathbf{f}_{A_n}^*$  satisfying

$$f(p_j) = \left(\mathbf{f}, \mathbf{h}(p_j)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \mathbf{f} \in \mathcal{H}$$
(1.7)

is given by

$$\mathbf{f}_{A_n}^* = \sum_j \sum_{j'} f(p_j) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} \mathbf{h}(p_{j'}), \qquad (1.8)$$

where  $\widetilde{a_{jj'}}$  are assumed the elements of the complex conjugate inverse of the positive definite Hermitian matrix  $A_n$  constituted by the elements  $a_{jj'} = (\mathbf{h}(p_{j'}), \mathbf{h}(p_j))_{\mathcal{H}}$ . Here, the positive definiteness of  $A_n$  is a basic assumption.

### 2 Convergence of the Approximate Inverses

The following proposition deals with the convergence of our approximate inverses in Proposition 1.2. See [1, 2] for the details.

**Proposition 2.1** Let  $\{p_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of distinct points on E, that is the positive definiteness of  $A_n$  for any n and a uniqueness set for the space  $H_K$ . Then, in the space  $\mathcal{H}$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{f}_{A_n}^* = \mathbf{f}^*. \tag{2.1}$$

**Proposition 2.2** (Ultimate realization of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces) In our general situation and for a uniqueness set  $\{p_j\}$  of the set *E* satisfying the linearly independence in Proposition 1.2, we obtain

$$\|f\|_{H_{K}}^{2} = \|\mathbf{f}^{*}\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j} \sum_{j'} f(p_{j}) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} \overline{f(p_{j'})}.$$
 (2.2)

**Proposition 2.3** (Ultimate sampling theory) In our general situation and for a uniqueness set  $\{p_j\}$  of the set E satisfying the linearly independence, we obtain

$$f(p) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (\mathbf{f}_{A_n}^*, \mathbf{h}(p))_{\mathcal{H}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \sum_j \sum_{j'} f(p_j) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} \mathbf{h}(p_{j'}), \mathbf{h}(p) \right)_{\mathcal{H}}$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_j \sum_{j'} f(p_j) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} K(p, p_{j'}).$$
(2.3)

## **3** Ordinary Linear Differential Equations

In view to have a concrete exemplification of the method, let us consider a prototype differential operator

$$Ly := \alpha y'' + \beta y' + \gamma y. \tag{3.1}$$

Here, we shall consider a very general situation that the coefficients are arbitrary functions (no continuity requirement) and on a general interval I. We wish to construct some natural solution of

$$Ly = g \tag{3.2}$$

for a very general function g on a general interval I.

**Proposition 3.1** ([1, 3]) Let us fix a positive number h and take a finite number of points  $\{t_j\}_{j=1}^n$  of I such that  $|\alpha(t_j)|^2 + |\beta(t_j)|^2 + |\gamma(t_j)|^2 \neq 0$  for each j. Then, the optimal solution  $y_h^{A_n}$  of (3.2) is given by

$$y_h^{A_n}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi/h}^{\pi/h} F_h^{A_n}(\xi) e^{-it\xi} d\xi$$

in terms of the function  $F_h^{A_n} \in L_2(-\pi/h, +\pi/h)$  in the sense that  $F_h^{A_n}$  has the minimum norm in  $L_2(-\pi/h, +\pi/h)$  among the functions  $F \in L_2(-\pi/h, +\pi/h)$  satisfying, for the characteristic function  $\chi_h(t)$  of the interval  $(-\pi/h, +\pi/h)$ :

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(\xi) \big[ \alpha(t) \big( -\xi^2 \big) + \beta(t) (-i\xi) + \gamma(t) \big] \chi_h(\xi) \exp(-it\xi) d\xi = g(t) \quad (3.3)$$

for all  $t = t_j$  and for the function space  $L_2(-\pi/h, +\pi/h)$ .

The minimal norm function  $F_h^{A_n}$  is given by

$$F_{h}^{A_{n}}(\xi) = \sum_{j,j'=1}^{n} g(t_{j}) \widetilde{a_{jj'}} \overline{\left(\alpha(t_{j'})\left(-\xi^{2}\right) + \beta(t_{j'})(-i\xi) + \gamma(t_{j'})\right)} \exp(it_{j'}\xi).$$

*Here, the matrix*  $A_n = \{a_{jj'}\}_{j,j'=1}^n$  *formed by the elements*  $a_{jj'} = K_{hh}(t_j, t_{j'})$  *with* 

$$K_{hh}(t,t') = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \alpha(t) \left( -\xi^2 \right) + \beta(t) (-i\xi) + \gamma(t) \right] \overline{\left[ \alpha(t') \left( -\xi^2 \right) + \beta(t') (-i\xi) + \gamma(t') \right]} \\ \times \chi_h(\xi) \exp\left( -i \left( t - t' \right) \xi \right) d\xi$$

is positive definite and the  $\widetilde{a_{jj'}}$  are the elements of the inverse of  $\overline{A_n}$  (the complex conjugate of  $A_n$ ).

The minimal norm solution  $y_h^{A_n}$  of (3.2) is given by

$$y_{h}^{A_{n}}(t) = \sum_{j,j'=1}^{n} g(t_{j}) \widehat{a_{jj'}} \frac{1}{2\pi} \bigg[ -\overline{\alpha(t_{j'})} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{h}}^{\frac{\pi}{h}} \xi^{2} e^{-i(t-t_{j'})\xi} d\xi + i\overline{\beta(t_{j'})} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{h}}^{\frac{\pi}{h}} \xi e^{-i(t-t_{j'})\xi} d\xi + \overline{\gamma(t_{j'})} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{h}}^{\frac{\pi}{h}} e^{-i(t-t_{j'})\xi} d\xi \bigg].$$



As about general linear operator equations, we consider the equations in some reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces. These spaces can be considered as the images of some Hilbert spaces as in Proposition 1.1 (see [8, 9]). Then, the linear operator

of some Hilbert spaces as in Proposition 1.1 (see [8, 9]). Then, the linear operator equation may be reduced to Proposition 1.2 by *the backward transformation* as in Proposition 3.1. So, we will be able to consider our method as *a fundamental theory for linear operator equations in the framework of Hilbert spaces*.

### **4** Numerical Examples

We set h = 1; we seek our solution in the Paley–Wiener space  $W(\pi)$  with equispaced collocation points.

*Example* We consider an initial value problem

$$t^{3}y''(t) + ty'(t) = -25t^{3}\sin(5t) + 5t\cos(5t) \quad (-1 < t \le 1),$$
  
y(-1) = sin(5), y'(-1) = 5 cos(5),

and we set collocation points to  $t_j = -1 + 2j/(n-2), j = 1, 2, ..., n-2$ .

Numerical results shown in Fig. 1 have a good coincide with the exact solution  $y(t) = \sin(5t)$ .

*Example* We consider an initial value problem

$$y''(t) = g(t)$$
  $(-1 < t \le 1),$   $y(-1) = y'(-1) = 0,$ 

where

$$g(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 0; \\ t, & t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$





Fig. 2 Numerical results by 500 decimal digits precision, h = 1

We know that there exists a unique solution

$$y(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 0; \\ \frac{t^3}{6}, & t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

The proposed method assumes that the solution belongs to the Paley–Wiener space  $W(\frac{\pi}{h})$ , where *h* is an approximation parameter. Our numerical results (Figs. 2–3) imply that the Paley–Wiener space seems to show the need of application of suitable Sobolev spaces as basic approximate function spaces.

In our new discretization method we will need the precision in some deep way and huge computer resources. However, these both requirements were prepared by Fujiwara already (e.g., recall the case of the inverse Laplace transform). See [4–6] for the details.

We are looking for some optimal solutions satisfying the differential equations at the given discrete points and so, we are free from important restrictions on the domains which occur on ordinary methods. For instance, this is not the case of the *Finite Element Method* and the *Difference Method* which are depending seriously on the domains. In our case, we can consider the problems on any domains. See [1, 2] for the details.

Anyhow, error estimates for our approximate solutions are entirely new open problems.



Fig. 3 Numerical results by 500 decimal digits precision, n = 20

Acknowledgements This work was supported in part by the *CIDMA—Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications* and the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, within project PEst-C/MAT/UI4106/2011 with COMPETE number FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-022690, as well as by the Grant-in-Aid for the Scientific Research (C)(2) (No. 24540113).

### References

- L.P. Castro, H. Fujiwara, M.M. Rodrigues, S. Saitoh, V.K. Tuan, Aveiro discretization method in mathematics: a new discretization principle, in *Mathematics Without Boundaries: Surveys in Pure Mathematics*, ed. by P. Pardalos, T.M. Rassias (Springer, New York, to appear). 52 pp.
- L.P. Castro, H. Fujiwara, T. Qian, S. Saitoh, How to catch smoothing properties and analyticity of functions by computers? in *Mathematics Without Boundaries: Surveys in Pure Mathematics*, ed. by P. Pardalos, T.M. Rassias (Springer, New York, to appear). 15 pp.
- 3. L.P. Castro, S. Saitoh, Y. Sawano, N.M. Tuan, Approximate solutions of arbitrary linear ordinary differential equations (submitted for publication)
- H. Fujiwara, Applications of reproducing kernel spaces to real inversions of the Laplace transform. RIMS Kokyuroku 1618, 188–209 (2008)
- H. Fujiwara, T. Matsuura, S. Saitoh, Y. Sawano, Numerical real inversion of the Laplace transform by using a high-accuracy numerical method, in *Further Progress in Analysis* (World Scientific, Hackensack, 2009), pp. 574–583
- H. Fujiwara, Numerical real inversion of the Laplace transform by reproducing kernel and multiple-precision arithmetric, in *Proceedings of the 7th International ISAAC Congress*. Progress in Analysis and Its Applications (World Scientific, Singapore, 2010), pp. 289–295
- S. Saitoh, Hilbert spaces induced by Hilbert space valued functions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 89, 74–78 (1983)
- S. Saitoh, Integral Transforms, Reproducing Kernels and Their Applications. Pitman Res. Notes in Math. Series, vol. 369 (Addison-Wesley/Longman, Reading/Harlow, 1997)
- S. Saitoh, Theory of reproducing kernels: applications to approximate solutions of bounded linear operator functions on Hilbert spaces, in *Am. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser.* 2, vol. 230 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2010), pp. 107–134

# Dirichlet's Problem by Using Computers with the Theory of Reproducing Kernels

**Tsutomu Matsuura and Saburo Saitoh** 

**Abstract** In this paper we shall give practical and numerical solutions of the Laplace equation on multidimensional spaces and show their numerical experiments by using computers. Our method is based on the Dirichlet principle by combinations with generalized inverses, Tikhonov's regularization and the theory of reproducing kernels.

**Keywords** Laplace equation · Dirichlet problem · Reproducing kernel · Inverse problem · Tikhonov regularization

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 30C40 · 31A05 · 35J05

## **1** Introduction

Depending on the power of computers, we shall propose a new algorithm for constructing of approximate solutions for the Laplace equation

$$\Delta u = 0 \tag{1.1}$$

on a regular domain D on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying a boundary condition on  $\partial D$  in the class of the functions of the *s* order Sobolev Hilbert space  $H^s$  on the whole real space  $\mathbb{R}^n$   $(n \ge 1, s \ge 2, s > n/2)$ . Our method and approach are new and general concepts, but we are interested in numerical experiments by using computers and so, we shall restrict our problems to this prototype case as the first step.

T. Matsuura (🖂)

Division of Mechanical Science and Technology, Gunma University, 1-5-1 Tenjincho, Kiryu, Gunma, Japan

S. Saitoh

e-mail: matsuura@gunma-u.ac.jp

Department of Mathematics, University of Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal e-mail: saburou.saitoh@gmail.com

We shall use the *m* order Sobolev Hilbert space  $H^m$  comprising functions *F* on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the norm

$$\|F\|_{H^m}^2 = \sum_{\nu=0}^m {}_m C_\nu \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n \ge 0}^\nu \frac{\nu!}{r_1! r_2! \cdots r_n!} \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \left( \frac{\partial^\nu F(x)}{\partial x_1^{r_1} \partial x_2^{r_2} \cdots \partial x_n^{r_n}} \right)^2 dx.$$
(1.2)

Here, of course,  $r_1 + r_2 + \cdots + r_n = v$ .

This Hilbert space admits the reproducing kernel

$$K(x, y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|\xi|^2)^m} e^{i(x-y)\cdot\xi} d\xi$$
(1.3)

as we see easily by using Fourier's transform (cf. [3], p. 58).

We shall recall the Dirichlet principle that the harmonic function u(x) satisfying the boundary condition

$$u(x) = g(x) \quad \text{on } \partial D \tag{1.4}$$

is the extremal function minimizing the Dirichlet integral on D among a class of functions on D satisfying the boundary condition (1.4). Here, the famous historical fact is the existence problem of the extremal function. Now, we would like to clear the Dirichlet principle by modifying and simplifying it from the viewpoint of numerical analysis as follows:

In order to use the theory of Hilbert spaces, as a function space we shall use the Sobolev Hilbert space  $H^s$  and we shall consider the extremal problem

$$\inf_{F \in H^s} \int_D |\Delta F|^2 dx, \tag{1.5}$$

satisfying the boundary condition (1.4).

Intuitively, we can see that the harmonic function u(x) satisfying the boundary condition (1.4) will be the extremal function of this extremal problem.

We wish to discuss clearly and simply the existence of the extremal functions and furthermore, we wish to obtain some good representation of the extremal functions when they exist. For this purpose, we shall apply the Tikhonov regularization and the theory of reproducing kernels based on the recent methods in [1, 2, 4] as follows:

We shall consider the extremal problem, for fixed  $\lambda > 0$  and for any  $g \in L_2(\partial D)$ 

$$\inf_{F \in H^s} \left\{ \lambda \|F\|_{H^s}^2 + \|\Delta F\|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^n)}^2 + \|F - g\|_{L_2(\partial D)}^2 \right\}.$$
(1.6)

In order to simplify the problem, we consider here as follows:

(1) As a function space, we use the Sobolev Hilbert space on the whole space; in this case the space admits the reproducing kernel (1.3). In the extremal problem, for the flexibility of the Sobolev space, we will be able to use the Sobolev space. In this case the reproducing kernel which is used essentially in our method is extremely simple.
(2) For the integral of the ΔF, we shall consider it on the whole space, not on the domain D. Then, the extremal problem will become very simple. Furthermore, by this setting we can consider the inner Dirichlet problem on D and the outer Dirichlet problem on D
<sup>c</sup> at the same time.

For these simplifications, we see that the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}(x, y)$  of the Hilbert space  $H_{K_{\lambda}}$  with the norm square

$$\lambda \|F\|_{H^s}^2 + \|\Delta F\|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^n)}^2$$
(1.7)

is given by

$$K_{\lambda}(x, y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \frac{e^{ip \cdot (x-y)}}{\lambda (|p|^2 + 1)^s + |p|^4} dp.$$
(1.8)

#### 2 Boundary Conditions

Our strategy is first to represent the extremal function  $F_{s,\lambda,g}^*(x)$  in (1.6) in an explicit form and second to consider the limit of this extremal function as  $\lambda \to 0$ . Exactly, these procedures are given as follows:

We look for the reproducing kernel  $K_{s,\lambda,\Delta}(x, y)$  for the Hilbert space  $H_{K_{s,\lambda,\Delta}}$ with the norm square, for  $F \in H^s$ 

$$\{\lambda \|F\|_{H^{s}}^{2} + \|\Delta F\|_{L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n})}^{2} + \|F\|_{L_{2}(\partial D)}^{2}\}.$$
(2.1)

The reproducing kernel  $K_{s,\lambda,\Delta}(x, y)$  is determined by the functional equation

$$K_{\lambda}(x, y) = (\lambda I + L^*L) K_{s,\lambda,\Delta}(x, y), \qquad (2.2)$$

where *L* is the bounded linear operator from  $H_{K_{\lambda}}$  into  $L_2(\partial D)$  and  $L^*$  is its adjoint operator.

In this case, the functional equation is the Fredholm integral equation of the second kind containing the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}(x, y)$ . Then the extremal function is represented by *g* directly as follows [1, 2, 4]:

$$F_{s,\lambda,g}^*(x) = \left(g, LK_{s,\lambda,\Delta}(\cdot, x)\right)_{L_2(\partial D)}.$$
(2.3)

Indeed, in general, if the functional equation of type (2.2) may be solved effectively, then we can solve many problems in our situation.

Later, we let  $\lambda$  tend to zero, and so, we cannot apply the Neumann expansion for the equation, because we need the assumption  $||L^*L|| < \lambda$  in the Neumann expansion.

When the operator L is compact, we apply the spectral theory to solve the functional equation (2.2) and we must look for singular values and singular functions of the operator  $L^*L$ .

They will be abstract in a sense for a general domain D. So, in this paper, we would like to propose a new approach for the present problem based on the power of computers.

### 3 New Algorithm

In order to consider the boundary value problem in (1.4), we shall consider it in (1.6) as follows:

For any fixed points  $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^N$  of the boundary  $\partial D$  and for any given values  $\{A_j\}_{j=1}^N$ , we consider the extremal problem, for any fixed  $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N$   $(\lambda_j > 0)$ 

$$\inf_{F \in H^{s}} \left\{ \lambda \|F\|_{H^{s}}^{2} + \|\Delta F\|_{L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n})}^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_{j} |F(x_{j}) - A_{j}|^{2} \right\};$$
(3.1)

that is, we approximate the integral in (1.6) by the summation.

This translation will be reasonable in the sense:  $||F - g||^2_{L_2(\partial D)}$  is replaced by  $\sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j |F(x_j) - A_j|^2$ .

Then, the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda_j}(x, y)$  of the Hilbert space  $H_{K_{\lambda_j}}$  with the norm square

$$\lambda \|F\|_{H^{s}}^{2} + \|\Delta F\|_{L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n})}^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_{j} |F(x_{j})|^{2}$$
(3.2)

is given in terms of  $K_{\lambda}(x, y)$  as follows:

$$K_{\lambda_{j}}(x, y) = K_{\lambda}(x, y) - \sum_{j, j'=1}^{N} \lambda_{j} K_{\lambda}(x, x_{j}) A_{jj'} K_{\lambda}(x_{j'}, y), \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $||A_{jj'}||$  is the inverse of the positive matrix  $||\delta_{jj'} + \lambda_j K_{\lambda}(x_{j'}, x_j)||$  [3].

For this direct representation of the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda_j}(x, y)$  which we need, for many points  $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^N$  of the boundary  $\partial D$ , the size of the matrix  $||A_{jj'}||$  is a large one and so, this direct representation will not be effective.

In order to overcome this difficulty, we shall propose a new approach.

First we shall start with one point.

The reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x, y)$  of the Hilbert space with the norm square

$$\lambda \|F\|_{H^{s}}^{2} + \|\Delta F\|_{L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n})}^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{1} \lambda_{j} |F(x_{j})|^{2}$$
(3.4)

is given by

$$K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x, y) = K_{\lambda}(x, y) - \frac{\lambda_1 K_{\lambda}(x, x_1) K_{\lambda}(x_1, y)}{1 + \lambda_1 K_{\lambda}(x_1, x_1)}.$$
(3.5)

For two points  $x_1, x_2$ , the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}^{(2)}(x, y)$  of the Hilbert space with the norm square

$$\lambda \|F\|_{H^s}^2 + \|\Delta F\|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^n)}^2 + \sum_{j=1}^2 \lambda_j |F(x_j)|^2$$
(3.6)

is given by

$$K_{\lambda}^{(2)}(x, y) = K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x, y) - \frac{\lambda_2 K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x, x_2) K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x_2, y)}{1 + \lambda_2 K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x_2, x_2)}$$
(3.7)

by using the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x, y)$ .

In this way, we can proceed many steps, by the similar calculation. For this procedure, to write the computer program is very easy

$$\lambda \|F\|_{H^s}^2 + \|\Delta F\|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^n)}^2 + \sum_{j=1}^k \lambda_j |F(x_j)|^2$$
(3.8)

is given by

$$K_{\lambda}^{(k)}(x, y) = K_{\lambda}^{(k-1)}(x, y) - \frac{\lambda_k K_{\lambda}^{(k-1)}(x, x_k) K_{\lambda}^{(k-1)}(x_k, y)}{1 + \lambda_k K_{\lambda}^{(k-1)}(x_k, x_k)}$$
(3.9)

by using the reproducing kernel  $K_{\lambda}^{(k-1)}(x, y)$ .

When we have the *N*-th kernel  $K_{\lambda}^{(N)}(x, y)$ , it is the reproducing kernel of the Hilbert space with the norm square (3.2) and it coincides with  $K_{\lambda_i}(x, y)$ .

The extremal function in the minimum problem in (3.1) is given by

$$F_{\lambda,s,x_j,A_j}^*(x) = \sum_{j=1}^N A_j \lambda_j K_{\lambda}^{(N)}(x,x_j).$$
(3.10)

By taking a small  $\lambda$ , we will be able to obtain the approximate solution of the problem:

$$\Delta u \sim 0, \tag{3.11}$$

and

$$u(x_j) \sim A_j \quad j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, N.$$
 (3.12)

Letting  $\lambda$  tend to zero, we obtain mathematically the solution *u* of the problem:

$$\Delta u = 0 \tag{3.13}$$

and

$$u(x_j) = A_j \quad j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, N,$$
 (3.14)

for any finite points  $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^N$  and for any values  $\{A_j\}_{j=1}^N$ .

We considered a general extremal problem in (3.1) by considering a general weight  $\{\lambda_j\}$ . This means that for a larger  $\lambda_{j_0}$ , the speed of the convergence  $u(x_{j_0}) \rightarrow A_{j_0}$  is higher.

If the power of our computers is great, then our algorithm seems to be effective and we will be able to solve many concrete problems by using computers by our algorithm.

Note that analytical theory depends seriously on the domain D—for example, recall the Poisson integral formula—however, our method does essentially not depend on the domain D.

#### **4** Numerical Experiments

At first we calculate the kernel  $K_{\lambda}(x, y)$  in (1.8) for n = 2 and s = 2. It is a function in x - y and so we set y = 0 and further we set  $x_2 = 0$ . Then, by integrating (1.8) in  $p_2$  we obtain

$$K_{\lambda}(x_1, 0; 0, 0) = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{\lambda}\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left(\frac{1+\lambda}{p_1^2 + \lambda(1+p_1^2)^2}\right)^{1/4} \cos(p_1 x_1)$$
$$\cdot \sin\left(\frac{1}{2}\arctan\left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{(\lambda+1)p_1^2 + \lambda}\right)\right) dp_1. \tag{4.1}$$

In the following numerical experiments in Figs. 1(b)–(f), we calculate in (3.10) on the boundary of the square  $[-1, 1] \times [-1, 1]$  with 0.05 span.

For the 160 points of the boundary of the square, first, we put the numbers from 0 to 159 from the point (1, 0) to (1, -0.05) in a counterclockwise direction on the boundary with span 0.05.

Then, in order to take the boundary points uniformly over the boundary, we take the sequence of the points  $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^{160}$  in (3.14) as follows:

0, 80, 40, 120, 20, 60, 100, 140, 10, 30, 50, 70, 90, 110, 130, 150, 5, 15, 25, 35, 45, 55, 65, 75, 85, 95, 105, 115, 125, 135, 145, 155, 2, 7, 12, 17, 22, 27, 32, 37, 42, 47, 52, 57, 62, 67, 72, 77, 82, 87, 92, 97, 102, 107, 112, 117, 122, 127, 132, 137, 142, 147, 152, 157, 1, 3, 6, 8, 11, 13, 16, 18, 21, 23, 26, 28, 31, 33, 36, 38, 41, 43, 46, 48, 51, 53, 56, 58, 61, 63, 66, 68, 71, 73, 76, 78, 81, 83, 86, 88, 91, 93, 96, 98, 101, 103, 106, 108, 111, 113, 116, 118, 121, 123, 126, 128, 131, 133, 136, 138, 141, 143, 146, 148, 151, 153, 156, 158, 4, 9, 14, 19, 24, 29, 34, 39, 44, 49, 54, 59, 64, 69, 74, 79, 84, 89, 94, 99, 104, 109, 114, 119, 124, 129, 134, 139, 144, 149, 154, 159.

From these numerical experiments, we see that in order to adjust the boundary conditions, to take large weights  $\lambda_i$  is very effective for a small  $\lambda$ .

In these calculations we used  $2825761(=41^4)$  data for each kernel on  $[-1, 1]^4$  with 0.05 span. Therefore, for a large domain or a domain in a higher dimensional space, we need a computer with a great power.

However, we hope we will be able to have such supper computers, soon. Then, may we say that we can solve the Dirichlet problem using computers?



Fig. 1 For  $g(x_1, x_2) = \cosh(2x_1x_2)\sin(x_1^2 - x_2^2)$  on the boundary of  $\chi_{[-1,1]}(x_1) \times \chi_{[-1,1]}(x_2)$ in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ 

### References

 M. Asaduzzaman, T. Matsuura, S. Saitoh, Constructions of approximate solutions for linear differential equations by reproducing kernels and inverse problems, in *4th ISAAC Congress Proceedings, Advances in Analysis* (2005), pp. 335–343

- T. Matsuura, S. Saitoh, D.D. Trong, Numerical solutions of the Poisson equation. Appl. Anal. 83, 1037–1051 (2004)
- S. Saitoh, Integral Transforms, Reproducing Kernels and Their Applications. Pitman Res. Notes in Math. Series, vol. 369 (Addison-Wesley/Longman, Reading/Harlow, 1997)
- 4. S. Saitoh, Approximate real inversion formulas of the Gaussian convolution. Appl. Anal. 83, 727–733 (2004)

# Part X Toeplitz Operators and Their Applications

Organizers: Sergei Grudsky, Nikolai Vasilevski

## *C*\*-Algebras of Two-Dimensional Singular Integral Operators with Shifts

Y.I. Karlovich and V.A. Mozel

**Abstract** We construct a Fredholm symbol calculus for the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{B}$  generated by the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}$  of two-dimensional singular integral operators with continuous coefficients on a bounded closed simply connected domain  $\overline{U} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with Liapunov boundary and by all unitary shift operators  $W_g$  where g runs through a discrete solvable group  $G = F \rtimes H$  of diffeomorphisms of  $\overline{U}$  onto itself, where Fis a commutative group of conformal mappings,  $H = \{e, \gamma\}$  and  $\gamma$  is similar to the shift  $z \mapsto \overline{z}$ . As a result, we establish a Fredholm criterion for the operators  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$ .

**Keywords** Two-dimensional singular integral operator  $\cdot$  Shift operator  $\cdot$  Solvable group  $\cdot C^*$ -algebra  $\cdot$  Representation  $\cdot$  Fredholmness

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 47G10 · Secondary 31A10 · 47A53 · 47A67 · 47B33

## 1 Introduction

Given a domain  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , let  $\mathcal{B} := \mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$  be the  $C^*$ -algebra of all bounded linear operators on the Hilbert space  $L^2(U)$  with Lebesgue area measure dA(z) = dxdy, let  $\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{K}(L^2(U))$  be the closed two-sided ideal of all compact operators in  $\mathcal{B}$ , and let  $\mathcal{B}^{\pi} := \mathcal{B}/\mathcal{K}$  denote the quotient  $C^*$ -algebra consisting of the cosets  $A^{\pi} := A + \mathcal{K}$   $(A \in \mathcal{B})$ .

Y.I. Karlovich (🖂)

Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, Av. Universidad 1001, Col. Chamilpa, 62209 Cuernavaca, Morelos, México e-mail: karlovich@uaem.mx

V.A. Mozel

The first author was partially supported by the SEP-CONACYT Project No. 168104 and by PROMEP via "Proyecto de Redes" (México).

Marine Hydrophysical Institute, Preobrazhenskaya Str. 3, 65082 Odessa, Ukraine e-mail: mozel@ukr.net

Suppose now that U is a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$ ,  $\overline{U} = U \cup \Gamma$ ,  $G = F \rtimes H$  is a solvable group of diffeomorphisms  $g: \overline{U} \to \overline{U}$ , which is the semidirect product of F and H, where F is a commutative group of conformal mappings similar, respectively, to elliptic, hyperbolic or parabolic maps of the closed unit disc  $\overline{\mathbb{D}} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$  onto itself,  $H = \{e, \gamma\}, e \text{ is the unit of } G, \gamma \text{ is similar to the shift } z \mapsto \overline{z}, \text{ and } (g_1h_1)(g_2h_2) =$  $(g_1(h_1g_2h_1^{-1}))(h_1h_2)$  for all  $g_1, g_2 \in F$  and all  $h_1, h_2 \in H$ , where  $\gamma \circ g \circ \gamma = g^{-1}$ for all  $g \in F$  and  $g_1g_2 = g_2 \circ g_1$  for all  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ . By the Kellogg–Warschawski theorem (see, e.g., [10, Theorem 3.6]), for all  $g \in G$  the partial derivatives

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial z} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial g}{\partial x} - i \frac{\partial g}{\partial y} \right), \qquad \frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{z}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial g}{\partial x} + i \frac{\partial g}{\partial y} \right)$$

satisfy a Hölder condition on  $\overline{U}$ . Such group G acts on  $\overline{U}$  topologically freely (see Sect. 3), and the set  $\Phi_g$  of all fixed points of g on  $\overline{U}$  has empty interior for every shift  $g \in G \setminus \{e\}$ . With every  $g \in G$  we associate a unitary weighted shift operator  $W_g$  acting on the Lebesgue space  $L^2(U)$  by

$$W_g f = |J_g|^{1/2} (f \circ g)$$
 for all  $f \in L^2(U)$ , (1.1)

where  $J_g(z) = |\frac{\partial g}{\partial z}|^2 - |\frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{z}}|^2$  is the Jacobian of g. Let  $S_U$ ,  $S_U^*$  be the two-dimensional singular integral operators given by

$$(S_U f)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_U \frac{f(w)}{(w-z)^2} dA(w), \qquad \left(S_U^* f\right)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_U \frac{f(w)}{(\overline{w}-\overline{z})^2} dA(w)$$

for all  $z \in U$  and bounded on the space  $L^2(U)$ . We denote by

$$\mathfrak{A} := \operatorname{alg}\left\{cI, S_U, S_U^* : c \in C(\overline{U})\right\}$$
(1.2)

the C<sup>\*</sup>-subalgebra of  $\mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$  generated by all multiplication operators cI with  $c \in C(\overline{U})$  and by the operators  $S_U$  and  $S_U^*$ .

The aim of this paper is to study the Fredholmness of operators B (equivalently, the invertibility of cosets  $B^{\pi} = B + \mathcal{K}$ ) in the C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra

$$\mathfrak{B} := C^*(\mathfrak{A}, W_G) \subset \mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$$
(1.3)

generated by all operators  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$  and all shift operators  $W_g$  ( $g \in G$ ). By [8, Lemma 2.6], which remains valid for arbitrary domains  $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ , the C<sup>\*</sup>-algebras  $\mathfrak{A}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}$  contain the ideal  $\mathcal{K}$  of all compact operators in  $\mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$ .

Applying results of [6], where the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{B}$  was studied for discrete amenable groups of quasiconformal shifts  $g: \overline{U} \to \overline{U}$ , and using the local-trajectory method elaborated in [4, 5], in the present paper we construct a Fredholm symbol calculus for the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{B}$  and establish a Fredholm criterion for the operators  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$  provided that  $G = F \rtimes H$  is a solvable group containing analytic and antianalytic shifts, and F consists, respectively, of elliptic, hyperbolic and parabolic conformal maps  $g: \overline{U} \to \overline{U}$ .

## **2** Solvable Groups of Shifts on $\overline{U}$

As is known (see, e.g., [2, Chap. 2]), any non-identical conformal map of the extended complex plane onto itself has two fixed points different or coincident. Consider now conformal mappings of the open unit disc  $\mathbb{D}$  onto itself. They have the form

$$w = \theta \frac{z - z_0}{1 - \overline{z_0} z} \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{C},$$
(2.1)

where  $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ ,  $\theta \in \mathbb{T}$ , and  $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$  is the unit circle. If  $z_1, z_2$  are fixed points of the conformal map (2.1), then either  $z_0 = 0$  and then  $z_1 = 0$  and  $z_2 = \infty$ , or  $z_0 \neq 0$  and then

$$z_1 + z_2 = (1 - \theta)/\overline{z_0}, \qquad z_1 z_2 = -\theta z_0/\overline{z_0}.$$
 (2.2)

In the latter case  $|z_1z_2| = 1$ . Thus, either  $|z_1| < 1 < |z_2|$  or  $|z_1| = |z_2| = 1$ .

Consider the shift  $\lambda : \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  given by  $\lambda(z) = \overline{z}$  for all  $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ .

Given a bounded simply connected domain U in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma = \partial U$ , we now define three solvable groups of the form  $G = F \rtimes H$  mentioned in the introduction.

Let  $F_1$  be the group of conformal mappings of the closed domain  $\overline{U}$  onto itself with a common fixed point  $z_1 \in U$ . Fix a conformal mapping  $\varphi_1 : \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{U}$  such that  $\varphi_1(0) = z_1$ . Then any  $g \in F_1$  is of the form  $g = \varphi_1 \circ f_\theta \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$  where  $\theta \in \mathbb{T}$  and  $f_\theta(z) = \theta z$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . Rotations  $f_\theta$  are elliptic maps of  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  onto itself. Thus  $F_1$  is a commutative one-parameter group that is similar to the group of rotations  $f_\theta$  of the closed unit disc  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ .

Let  $F_2$  be the group of conformal mappings of the closed domain  $\overline{U}$  onto itself with two different common fixed point  $z_1, z_2 \in \Gamma$ . Fix a conformal mapping  $\varphi_2$ :  $\overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{U}$  such that  $\varphi_2(i) = z_1$  and  $\varphi_2(-i) = z_2$ . Hence for any  $g \in F_2$  the conformal map  $\varphi_2^{-1} \circ g \circ \varphi_2$ :  $\overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$  has two fixed points  $\pm i \in \mathbb{T}$ . Then from (2.2) it follows that  $\theta = 1$  and  $z_0 = -\overline{z_0}$ . Hence any  $g \in F_2$  is of the form  $g = \varphi_2 \circ f_x \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$  where  $x \in (-1, 1) \subset \mathbb{R}$  and  $f_x$  is a hyperbolic map of  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  onto itself given by  $f_x(z) = (z - ix)/(1 + ixz)$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . It is easily seen [7] that for every  $x, y \in (-1, 1)$  we have  $f_x \circ f_y = f_y \circ f_x = f_{x \circ y}$  where

$$x \circ y = (x + y)/(1 + xy)$$
 (2.3)

is a group operation on the interval (-1, 1). Hence (-1, 1) becomes a commutative group with operation (2.3), unit 0 and the inverse -x for  $x \in (-1, 1)$ . Thus  $F_2$  is a commutative one-parameter group that is similar to the group of hyperbolic maps  $f_x$  of the closed unit disc  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  onto itself.

Let  $F_3$  be the group of conformal mappings of the closed domain  $\overline{U}$  onto itself with a common double fixed point  $z_1 \in \Gamma$ . Fix a conformal mapping  $\varphi_3 : \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{U}$ such that  $\varphi_3(1) = z_1$ . Hence for any  $g \in F_3$  the conformal map  $\varphi_3^{-1} \circ g \circ \varphi_3 : \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ has the double fixed point  $1 \in \mathbb{T}$ . Writing this map in the form (2.1), we infer from (2.2) that 1 is a double fixed point of this map if and only if  $\overline{z_0} = (1 - \theta)/2$ . Since  $|\overline{z_0}| < 1$ , we need to exclude  $\theta = -1$ . For every  $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$ , we consider parabolic maps  $\psi_{\theta}$  of  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  onto itself given by

$$\psi_{\theta}(z) = \theta \frac{z - (1 - \overline{\theta})/2}{1 - z(1 - \theta)/2} = \frac{2\theta z + 1 - \theta}{2 - (1 - \theta)z} \quad \text{for } z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}.$$
 (2.4)

On the set  $\mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$  we introduce the new multiplication (see [7]) by

$$\theta \circ \vartheta = \theta \vartheta \frac{4 - (1 - \overline{\theta})(1 - \overline{\vartheta})}{4 - (1 - \theta)(1 - \vartheta)} \quad \text{for } \theta, \vartheta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}.$$
(2.5)

Then  $\mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$  becomes a commutative group with operation (2.5), unit 1 and the inverse  $\theta^{-1} = \overline{\theta}$  for  $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$ , and

$$\psi_{\theta} \circ \psi_{\vartheta} = \psi_{\vartheta} \circ \psi_{\theta} = \psi_{\theta \circ \vartheta}$$
 for every  $\theta, \vartheta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$ .

Thus any  $g \in F_3$  is of the form  $g = \varphi_3 \circ \psi_\theta \circ \varphi_3^{-1}$  where  $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{-1\}$  and  $\psi_\theta$  is a parabolic map of the form (2.4). Hence  $F_3$  is a commutative one-parameter group that is similar to the group of parabolic maps  $\psi_\theta$  of the closed unit disc  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  onto itself.

For every j = 1, 2, 3, let  $H_j = \{e, \gamma_j\}$ , where  $\gamma_j = \varphi_j \circ \lambda \circ \varphi_j^{-1}$  and  $\lambda(z) = \overline{z}$  for all  $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . Consider the solvable groups  $G_j = F_j \rtimes H_j$  being the semidirect product of groups  $F_j$  and  $H_j$ . Then  $G_j = \{g, g\gamma_j : g \in F_j\}$  and  $\gamma_j g = g^{-1}\gamma_j$  for all  $g \in F_j$  and all j = 1, 2, 3.

Let  $\Phi_g$  be the set of all fixed points for the shift g on  $\overline{U}$ . Then  $\Phi_g = \{z_1\}$  if  $g \in F_1 \setminus \{e\}$ ,  $\Phi_{\gamma_1} = \varphi_1([-1, 1])$  and  $\Phi_{g\gamma_1} = \{z_1\}$  for  $g \in F_1 \setminus \{e\}$ ;  $\Phi_g = \{z_1, z_2\}$  if  $g \in F_2 \setminus \{e\}$ ,  $\Phi_{\gamma_2} = \varphi_2([-1, 1])$  and  $\Phi_{g\gamma_2} = \emptyset$  for  $g \in F_2 \setminus \{e\}$ ;  $\Phi_g = \{z_1\}$  if  $g \in F_3 \setminus \{e\}$ ,  $\Phi_{\gamma_3} = \varphi_3([-1, 1])$  and  $\Phi_{g\gamma_3} = \{z_1\}$  for  $g \in F_3 \setminus \{e\}$ . Thus, for each j = 1, 2, 3 and each  $g \in G_j \setminus \{e\}$  the set  $\Phi_g$  has empty interior.

Let  $G \in \{G_j : j = 1, 2, 3\}$  and let  $\gamma \in G$  mean that  $\gamma = \gamma_j$  if  $G = G_j$ .

For every  $g \in G$  we consider unitary weighted shift operators  $W_g \in \mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$ defined by (1.1). Observe that if  $g \in G$  is a conformal map of U onto itself, then  $J_g = |g'|^2$ , while  $J_{g\gamma} = -|g'|^2$ .

**Lemma 2.1** If U is a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$ ,  $G \in \{G_j : j = 1, 2, 3\}$  and  $g \in G$  is a conformal mapping of U onto itself, then the operators

$$W_g S_U W_g^{-1} - (\overline{g'}/g') S_U, \qquad W_g S_U^* W_g^{-1} - (g'/\overline{g'}) S_U^*,$$
 (2.6)

$$W_{g\gamma}S_UW_{g\gamma}^{-1} - \left(g'/\overline{g'}\right)S_U^*, \qquad W_{g\gamma}S_U^*W_{g\gamma}^{-1} - \left(\overline{g'}/g'\right)S_U \tag{2.7}$$

are compact on the space  $L^2(U)$ .

*Proof* The compactness of operators (2.6) follows from [6, Corollary 4.2 and Remark 4.3]. Consider the operator  $W_{\lambda} : L^2(\mathbb{D}) \to L^2(\mathbb{D})$  given by  $W_{\lambda}f = f \circ \lambda$ ,

where  $\lambda(z) = \overline{z}$  for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . Since  $W_{\lambda}S_{\mathbb{D}}W_{\lambda}^{-1} = S_{\mathbb{D}}^*$  and  $W_{\lambda}S_{\mathbb{D}}^*W_{\lambda}^{-1} = S_{\mathbb{D}}$ , we infer from [6, Corollary 4.2] that the operators

$$W_{\gamma} S_U W_{\gamma}^{-1} - S_U^*, \qquad W_{\gamma} S_U^* W_{\gamma}^{-1} - S_U$$
(2.8)

are compact on the space  $L^2(U)$ . Applying then (2.8) and (2.6), we obtain the compactness of operators (2.7) on the space  $L^2(U)$ .

#### **3** The Local-Trajectory Method

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a unital  $C^*$ -algebra,  $\mathcal{Z}$  a central  $C^*$ -subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$  with the same unit I, G a discrete group with unit  $e, U : g \mapsto U_g$  a homomorphism of the group G onto a group  $U_G = \{U_g : g \in G\}$  of unitary elements such that  $U_{g_1g_2} = U_{g_1}U_{g_2}$  and  $U_e = I$ . Suppose  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $U_G$  are contained in a  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{D}$  and assume that

- (A1) for every  $g \in G$  the mappings  $\alpha_g : a \mapsto U_g a U_g^*$  are \*-automorphisms of the  $C^*$ -algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{Z}$ ;
- (A2) G is an amenable [3, § 1.2] discrete group.

Let  $\mathcal{B} := C^*(\mathcal{A}, U_G)$  be the minimal  $C^*$ -subalgebra of  $\mathcal{D}$  containing the unital  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  and the group  $U_G$ . Let  $M := M(\mathcal{Z})$  be the maximal ideal space of the (commutative)  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{Z}$ . Under assumption (A1), identifying characters  $\varphi_m$  of the algebra  $\mathcal{Z} \cong C(M)$  and the maximal ideals  $m = \text{Ker } \varphi_m \in M$ , we obtain the homomorphism  $g \mapsto \beta_g(\cdot)$  of the group G into the homeomorphism group of M according to the rule

$$z(\beta_g(m)) = (\alpha_g(z))(m), \quad z \in \mathcal{Z}, \ m \in M, \ g \in G,$$
(3.1)

where  $z(\cdot) \in C(M)$  is the Gelfand transform of the element  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Let  $P_A$  be the set of all pure states [9] on the  $C^*$ -algebra A equipped with the induced weak\* topology, and let the following version of *topologically free* action of the group G hold (see [1, 5]):

(A3) there is a set  $M_0 \subset M$  such that for every finite set  $G_0 \subset G \setminus \{e\}$  and every nonempty open set  $V \subset P_A$  there exists a state  $v \in V$  such that  $\beta_g(m_v) \neq m_v$ for all  $g \in G_0$ , where the point  $m_v := Z \cap \text{Ker } v \in M$  belongs to the G-orbit  $G(M_0) := \{\beta_g(m) : g \in G, m \in M_0\}$  of  $M_0$ .

For every  $m \in M$ , let  $J_m$  be the closed two-sided ideal of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  generated by the maximal ideal m of the algebra  $\mathcal{Z}$ , and let  $\mathcal{H}_m$  be the Hilbert space of an isometric representation  $\tilde{\pi}_m : \mathcal{A}/J_m \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_m)$ . We also consider the canonical \*-homomorphism  $\varrho_m : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/J_m$  and the representation

$$\pi'_m : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_m), \qquad a \mapsto (\widetilde{\pi}_m \circ \varrho_m)(a),$$

Since  $\alpha_g(J_{\beta_g(m)}) = J_m$  for all  $g \in G$  and all  $m \in M$  in view of (A1), the quotient algebras  $\mathcal{A}/J_{\beta_g(m)}$  and  $\mathcal{A}/J_m$  are \*-isomorphic. Then the spaces  $\mathcal{H}_{\beta_g(m)}$  can be chosen equal for all  $g \in G$ .

Given  $X \subset M$ , let  $\Omega(X)$  be the set of *G*-orbits of all points  $m \in X$ , let  $H_{\omega} = \mathcal{H}_m$ where  $m = m_{\omega}$  is any point of an orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $\Omega = \Omega(M)$ , and let  $l^2(G, H_{\omega})$ be the Hilbert space of all functions  $f : G \mapsto H_{\omega}$  such that  $f(g) \neq 0$  for at most countable set of  $g \in G$  and  $\sum ||f(g)||_{H_{\omega}}^2 < \infty$ . For every  $\omega \in \Omega$  we consider the representation  $\pi_{\omega} : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}(l^2(G, H_{\omega}))$  defined by

$$\left[\pi_{\omega}(a)f\right](g) = \pi'_{m}\left(\alpha_{g}(a)\right)f(g), \qquad \left[\pi_{\omega}(U_{h})f\right](g) = f(gh) \qquad (3.2)$$

for all  $a \in A$ , all  $g, h \in G$ , and all  $f \in l^2(G, H_\omega)$ .

**Theorem 3.1** [5, Theorem 4.1] If assumptions (A1)–(A3) are satisfied, then an element  $b \in \mathcal{B}$  is invertible in  $\mathcal{B}$  if and only if for every orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  the operator  $\pi_{\omega}(b)$  is invertible on the space  $l^2(G, H_{\omega})$  and, for infinite  $\Omega$ ,

$$\sup\left\{\left\|\left(\pi_{\omega}(b)\right)^{-1}\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(l^{2}(G,H_{\omega}))}:\omega\in\Omega\right\}<\infty.$$
(3.3)

The next result following from [5, Theorems 4.8, 4.2] gives a sufficient condition that allows us to remove the uniform boundedness condition (3.3) for norms of inverse operators. Let  $\overline{\omega}$  be the closure of an orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$ , and let  $\omega'$  be the set of all limit points of  $\omega$ .

**Theorem 3.2** [6, Theorem 2.2] If conditions (A1)–(A3) are satisfied, the C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{Z}$  is separable, and  $\bigcap_{m \in \omega} J_m = \bigcap_{m \in \overline{\omega}} J_m$  for every G-orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  such that  $\overline{\omega} = \omega'$ , then an element  $b \in \mathcal{B}$  is invertible in  $\mathcal{B}$  if and only if for every orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  the operator  $\pi_{\omega}(b)$  is invertible on the space  $l^2(G, H_{\omega})$ .

## 4 *C\**-Algebra 乳 of Two-Dimensional Singular Integral Operators

Given a  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{S}$ , let  $\widehat{\mathfrak{S}}$  be the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{S}$ , i.e., the compact topological space of all unitary equivalence classes of non-zero irreducible representations of  $\mathfrak{S}$  in Hilbert spaces (see, e.g., [9, Sect. 5.4]).

Consider the orthogonal projection  $P = (I + S_T)/2$  on the Lebesgue space  $L^2(T)$ , where *I* is the identity operator and  $S_T$  is the Cauchy singular integral operator on the unit circle T,

$$(S_{\mathbb{T}}\varphi)(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\{z \in \mathbb{T} : |z-t| \ge \varepsilon\}} \frac{f(\tau)}{\tau - t} d\tau, \quad t \in \mathbb{T}.$$

As is well known, the Toeplitz operators  $T_a := PaP$  with symbols  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  are bounded on the Hilbert space  $H^2(\mathbb{T}) := PL^2(\mathbb{T})$ .

Below we use the following result from [11, Theorem 5] (cf. also [6, Theorem 5.7]). In our notations it says

**Theorem 4.1** Let U be a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$ . Then the spectrum  $\widehat{\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}}$  of the quotient  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$  can be parameterized by the points  $(w, z) \in (\overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}) \cup (\Gamma \times \{\pm 2\})$  where the one-dimensional non-zero irreducible representations  $\pi_{w,z} : \mathfrak{A}^{\pi} \to \mathbb{C}$  for every  $(w, z) \in \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}$  and infinite dimensional non-zero irreducible representations  $\pi_{w,z} : \mathfrak{A}^{\pi} \to \mathcal{B}(H^2(\mathbb{T}))$ for every  $(w, z) \in \Gamma \times \{\pm 2\}$  are given on the generators of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$  by

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{w,z}\big([cI]^{\pi}\big) &= c(w), & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U]^{\pi}\big) = z, & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U^*]^{\pi}\big) = \overline{z} \\ & \text{if } (w,z) \in \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}, \\ \pi_{w,z}\big([cI]^{\pi}\big) &= c(w)I, & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U]^{\pi}\big) = T_z, & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U^*]^{\pi}\big) = T_{\overline{z}} \\ & \text{if } (w,z) \in \Gamma \times \{2\}, \\ \pi_{w,z}\big([cI]^{\pi}\big) &= c(w)I, & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U]^{\pi}\big) = T_{\overline{z}}, & \pi_{w,z}\big([S_U^*]^{\pi}\big) = T_z \\ & \text{if } (w,z) \in \Gamma \times \{-2\}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $T_z$  and  $T_{\overline{z}}$  are Toeplitz operators with symbols z and  $\overline{z}$  on  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ .

Identifying numbers  $b \in \mathbb{C}$  with multiplication operators bI acting on the Hilbert space  $H = \mathbb{C}$  and using Theorem 4.1, we obtain the continuity of the functions

$$\eta_A: \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}, \qquad (w, z) \mapsto \pi_{w, z} (A^{\pi}), \tag{4.1}$$

$$\eta_A^{\pm}: \Gamma \to \mathcal{B}\big(H^2(\mathbb{T})\big), \qquad w \mapsto \pi_{w,\pm 2}\big(A^{\pi}\big), \tag{4.2}$$

for every  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$ , where  $\eta_A(w, z) = \pi_{w,z}(A^{\pi})$ ,

$$\pi_{w,2}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_A(w, T_z) = T_{\eta_A(w,z)} + K_1,$$
  
$$\pi_{w,-2}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_A(w, T_{\overline{z}}) = T_{\eta_A(w,\overline{z})} + K_2,$$
  
(4.3)

and  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$  are compact operators on the space  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ .

## 5 $C^*$ -Algebra $\mathfrak{B} := C^*(\mathfrak{A}, W_G)$

Let *U* be a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$ , and let  $G \in \{G_j : j = 1, 2, 3\}$  be a discrete solvable (and therefore amenable) group of diffeomorphisms  $g : \overline{U} \to \overline{U}$ , with  $G_j = \{g, g\gamma : g \in F_j\}$ .

Consider the  $C^*$ -subalgebra  $\mathfrak{B} := C^*(\mathfrak{A}, W_G)$  of  $\mathcal{B}(L^2(U))$  generated by all operators  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$  and all operators  $W_g$  ( $g \in G$ ) given by (1.1), where the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}$  is defined by (1.2). Then  $\mathcal{Z}^{\pi} = \{cI + \mathcal{K} : c \in C(\overline{U})\}$  is a central subalgebra of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi} = \mathfrak{A}/\mathcal{K}$ , and  $M(\mathcal{Z}^{\pi}) = C(\overline{U})$ .

By Lemma 2.1, for every  $g \in G$  the mappings  $\alpha_g : A \mapsto W_g A W_g^*$  are \*-automorphisms of the C\*-algebras  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$  and  $\mathcal{Z}^{\pi}$ . Thus, assumptions (A1) and (A2)

of Sect. 3 are satisfied. The set  $P_{\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}}$  of all pure states of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$  consists of all functionals  $\pi_{w,z}(A^{\pi})$  for  $(w, z) \in \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}$  (these functionals simultaneously are one-dimensional representations of  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$ ) and all vector states  $(\pi_{w,z}(A^{\pi})\xi,\xi)$  for  $(w, z) \in \Gamma \times \{\pm 2\}$  where  $\xi \in H^2(\mathbb{T})$  are vectors of norm 1.

Since the interior of each set  $\Phi_g$   $(g \in G \setminus \{e\})$  is empty, we infer from the continuity of the functions  $\eta_A : \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}$  given by (4.1) that for every finite set  $G_0 \subset G \setminus \{e\}$  and every open neighborhood  $V_{w_0,z_0} \subset \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}$  of any point  $(w_0,z_0) \in$  $(\bigcup_{g \in G_0} \Phi_g) \times \mathbb{T}$  there exists a point  $(w, z_0) \in V_{w_0,z_0}$  such that  $g(w) \neq w$  for all  $g \in G_0$ . In that case  $M_0 = \overline{U}$ , and for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , every  $(w_0, z_0) \in (\bigcup_{g \in G_0} \Phi_g) \times \mathbb{T}$ and every  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$  there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$|\pi_{w,z_0}(A^{\pi}) - \pi_{w_0,z_0}(A^{\pi})| = |\eta_A(w,z_0) - \eta_A(w_0,z_0)| < \varepsilon \quad \text{if } |w - w_0| < \delta.$$

On the other hand, from the continuity of functions  $\eta_A^{\pm} : \Gamma \to \mathcal{B}(H^2(\mathbb{T}))$  given by (4.2) it follows that for every finite set  $G_0 \subset G \setminus \{e\}$  and every open neighborhood  $V_{w_0} \subset \Gamma$  of any point  $w_0 \in \bigcup_{g \in G_0} \Phi_g$  there exists a point  $w \in V_{w_0}$  such that  $g(w) \neq w$  for all  $g \in G_0$ . In that case again  $M_0 = \overline{U}$ , and for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , every  $w_0 \in \bigcup_{g \in G_0} \Phi_g$  and every  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$  there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that for any vector  $\xi \in H^2(\mathbb{T})$ of norm 1,

$$\left| \left( \pi_{w,2} (A^{\pi}) \xi, \xi \right) - \left( \pi_{w_0,2} (A^{\pi}) \xi, \xi \right) \right| \le \left\| \eta_A(w, T_z) - \eta_A(w_0, T_z) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(H^2(\mathbb{T}))} < \varepsilon,$$
  
$$\left| \left( \pi_{w,-2} (A^{\pi}) \xi, \xi \right) - \left( \pi_{w_0,-2} (A^{\pi}) \xi, \xi \right) \right| \le \left\| \eta_A(w, T_{\overline{z}}) - \eta_A(w_0, T_{\overline{z}}) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(H^2(\mathbb{T}))} < \varepsilon$$

if  $|w - w_0| < \delta$ . Thus, condition (A3) is also fulfilled along with (A1)–(A2).

Hence, we can obtain an invertibility criterion for the cosets  $B^{\pi} \in \mathfrak{B}^{\pi}$  on the basis of Theorem 3.1.

Since  $\mathbb{Z}^{\pi} \cong C(\overline{U})$ , we conclude from (3.1) that  $\beta_g = g$  for every  $g \in G$ . With each point  $w \in \overline{U}$  we associate its *G*-orbit  $G(w) = \{g(w) : g \in G\} \subset \overline{U}$ . Consider the representations  $\pi'_w := \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \pi_{w,z} : \mathfrak{A}^{\pi} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_w)$  for  $w \in U$  and  $\pi'_w := (\bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \pi_{w,z}) \oplus \pi_{w,2} \oplus \pi_{w,-2} : \mathfrak{A}^{\pi} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_w)$  for  $w \in \Gamma$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_w = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \mathbb{C}$  if  $w \in U$ , and  $\mathcal{H}_w = (\bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \mathbb{C}) \oplus H^2(\mathbb{T}) \oplus H^2(\mathbb{T})$  if  $w \in \Gamma$ .

Let  $\Omega := \Omega(\overline{U})$  be the set of all *G*-orbits of points  $w \in \overline{U}$ . Fix a point  $w = w_{\omega}$ on every *G*-orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  and put  $H_{\omega} = \mathcal{H}_w$ . For every  $\omega \in \Omega$  we consider the representation  $\pi_{\omega} : \mathfrak{B} \to \mathcal{B}(l^2(G, H_{\omega}))$  defined in view of (3.2) by

$$\left[\pi_{\omega}\left(A^{\pi}\right)f\right](g) = \pi'_{w}\left(\left[\alpha_{g}(A)\right]^{\pi}\right)f(g), \qquad \left[\pi_{\omega}\left(\left[W_{h}\right]^{\pi}\right)f\right](g) = f(gh) \quad (5.1)$$

for all  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$ , all  $g, h \in G$ , and all  $f \in l^2(G, H_\omega)$ . We infer from Lemma 2.1 that

$$\begin{split} & \left[\alpha_g(aI)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[a\left(g(w)\right)I\right]_w^{\pi}, \qquad \left[\alpha_{g\gamma}(aI)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[a\left((g\gamma)(w)\right)I\right]_w^{\pi} \quad \left(a \in C(\overline{U})\right), \\ & \left[\alpha_g(S_U)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[\left(\overline{g'(w)}/g'(w)\right)S_U\right]_w^{\pi}, \qquad \left[\alpha_{g\gamma}(S_U)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[\left(g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)}\right)S_U^*\right]_w^{\pi}, \\ & \left[\alpha_g\left(S_U^*\right)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[\left(g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)}\right)S_U^*\right]_w^{\pi}, \qquad \left[\alpha_{g\gamma}\left(S_U^*\right)\right]_w^{\pi} = \left[\left(\overline{g'(w)}/g'(w)\right)S_U\right]_w^{\pi}, \end{split}$$

where  $g \in F$ . Hence, setting

$$\sigma_{g}(w, z) := (\overline{g'(w)}/g'(w))z, \qquad \sigma_{g}(w, T_{z}) := (\overline{g'(w)}/g'(w))T_{z},$$
  

$$\sigma_{g\gamma}(w, z) := (g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)})\overline{z}, \qquad \sigma_{g\gamma}(w, T_{z}) := (g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)})T_{\overline{z}},$$
(5.2)

we conclude from (5.2) that

$$\sigma_{g\gamma}(w,z) = \left(g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)}\right)\overline{z} = \overline{\sigma_g(w,z)},$$
  
$$\sigma_{g\gamma}(w,T_z) = \left(g'(w)/\overline{g'(w)}\right)T_{\overline{z}} = \left[\sigma_g(w,T_z)\right]^*,$$

and therefore, taking into account (4.1) and (4.3), for all  $g \in G$  we obtain

$$\pi_{w,z}([\alpha_g(A)]^{\pi}) = \eta_A(g(w), \sigma_g(w, z)) \quad \text{if } (w, z) \in \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}, \tag{5.3}$$

$$\pi_{w,2}([\alpha_g(A)]^{\pi}) = \eta_A(g(w), \sigma_g(w, T_z)) \quad \text{if } w \in \Gamma,$$
(5.4)

$$\pi_{w,-2}\left(\left[\alpha_g(A)\right]^{\pi}\right) = \eta_A\left(g(w), \left[\sigma_g(w, T_z)\right]^*\right) \quad \text{if } w \in \Gamma.$$
(5.5)

Thus every \*-automorphism  $\alpha_g$  ( $g \in G$ ) of the C\*-algebra  $\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}$  induces the homeomorphism  $\lambda_g$  of the compact  $\overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}$  onto itself by the rule:

$$\lambda_g(w, z) = (g(w), \sigma_g(w, z)) \text{ for all } (w, z) \in \overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}.$$

It is easily seen that if *G* acts topologically freely on  $M = \overline{U}$ , then the group  $\{\lambda_g : g \in G\}$  acts topologically freely on  $\overline{U} \times \mathbb{T}$ .

Setting  $\Omega_U := \{G(w) : w \in U\}$ ,  $\Omega_{\Gamma} := \{G(w) : w \in \Gamma\}$ , taking points  $w = w_{\omega}$ on each *G*-orbit  $\omega \in \Omega$  and representing the spaces  $l^2(G, H_{\omega})$  (to within isometric isomorphisms) as  $l^2(G, H_{\omega}) = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} l^2(G)$  if  $\omega \in \Omega_U$ , and

$$l^{2}(G, H_{\omega}) = \left(\bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} l^{2}(G)\right) \oplus l^{2}(G, H^{2}(\mathbb{T})) \oplus l^{2}(G, H^{2}(\mathbb{T})) \quad \text{if } \omega \in \Omega_{\Gamma},$$

we infer from (5.1) that the representation  $\pi_{\omega} : \mathfrak{B}^{\pi} \to \mathcal{B}(l^2(G, H_{\omega}))$  can be given by  $\pi_{\omega} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega, z}$  if  $\omega \subset U$ , and

$$\pi_{\omega} = \left(\bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{T}} \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega, z}\right) \oplus \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega, 2} \oplus \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega, -2} \quad \text{if } \omega \subset \Gamma,$$

where the representations  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z} : \mathfrak{B}^{\pi} \to l^2(G)$  for  $\omega \subset \overline{U}$  and  $z \in \mathbb{T}$  are defined for all  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$ , all  $g, h \in G$  and all  $f \in l^2(G)$  in view of (5.3) by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z} (A^{\pi}) f \end{bmatrix} (g) = \pi_{w,z} (\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_g(A) \end{bmatrix}^{\pi}) f(g) = \eta_A (g(w), \sigma_g(w, z)) f(g), \\ \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z} (\llbracket W_h \rrbracket^{\pi}) f \end{bmatrix} (g) = f(gh);$$
(5.6)

and the representations  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}: \mathfrak{B}^{\pi} \to l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))$  for  $\omega \subset \Gamma$  are defined for all  $A \in \mathfrak{A}$ , all  $g, h \in G$  and all  $f \in l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))$  in view of (5.4)–(5.5) by

$$\begin{split} & \left[\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,2}\left(A^{\pi}\right)f\right](g) = \pi_{w,2}\left(\left[\alpha_{g}(A)\right]^{\pi}\right)f(g) = \eta_{A}\left(g(w),\sigma_{g}(w,T_{z})\right)f(g), \\ & \left[\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,-2}\left(A^{\pi}\right)f\right](g) = \pi_{w,-2}\left(\left[\alpha_{g}(A)\right]^{\pi}\right)f(g) = \eta_{A}\left(g(w),\left[\sigma_{g}(w,T_{z})\right]^{*}\right)f(g), \\ & \left[\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm2}\left(\left[W_{h}\right]^{\pi}\right)f\right](g) = f(gh). \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\tag{5.7}$$

**Theorem 5.1** Let U be a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$  and let  $G \in \{G_j : j = 1, 2, 3\}$ . Then an operator  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$  is Fredholm on the space  $L^2(U)$  if and only if for every  $(\omega, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{T}$  the operators  $\tilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})$ are invertible on the space  $l^2(G)$ , for every  $\omega \in \Omega_{\Gamma}$  the operators  $\tilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}(B^{\pi})$  are invertible on the space  $l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))$ , and

$$\sup_{\substack{(\omega,z)\in\Omega\times\mathbb{T}\\ (\omega,z)\in\Omega_{\Gamma}\times\{\pm 2\}}} \|\left(\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})\right)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{B}(l^{2}(G))} < \infty,$$
$$\sup_{\substack{(\omega,z)\in\Omega_{\Gamma}\times\{\pm 2\}}} \|\left(\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})\right)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{B}(l^{2}(G,H^{2}(\mathbb{T})))} < \infty$$

Note that Theorem 5.1 remains valid under the replacement of  $\Omega \times \mathbb{T}$  by  $\Omega_U \times \mathbb{T}$ . Indeed, for every  $(w, z) \in \Gamma \times \mathbb{T}$ , the maps

$$v_{w,z}^{+}: \pi_{w,2}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_{A}(w, T_{z}) \mapsto \pi_{w,z}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_{A}(w, z),$$
  
$$v_{w,z}^{-}: \pi_{w,-2}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_{A}(w, T_{\overline{z}}) \mapsto \pi_{w,z}(A^{\pi}) = \eta_{A}(w, z)$$

are  $C^*$ -algebra homomorphisms of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\pi_{w,\pm 2}(\mathfrak{A}^{\pi}) \subset \mathcal{B}(H^2(\mathbb{T}))$  onto  $\mathbb{C}$ , respectively. Consequently, for every  $(\omega, z) \in \Omega_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{T}$ , the maps

$$\mu_{\omega,z}^{\pm} : \mathcal{B}(l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))) \to \mathcal{B}(l^2(G)), \qquad \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}(B^{\pi}) \mapsto \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})$$

are \*-homomorphisms of the C\*-algebra  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}(\mathfrak{B}^{\pi}) \subset \mathcal{B}(l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T})))$  onto the C\*-algebra  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(\mathfrak{B}^{\pi}) \subset \mathcal{B}(l^2(G))$ , whence the invertibility of operators  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}(\mathfrak{B}^{\pi})$  on the space  $l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega_{\Gamma}$  implies the invertibility of operators  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})$  on the space  $l^2(G)$  for all  $(\omega, z) \in \Omega_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{T}$ .

Taking this into account and since  $\overline{\omega} \cap \mathbb{T} = \emptyset$  for every  $G_1$ -orbit  $\omega \in \Omega_U$ , we infer the following from Theorem 3.2 by analogy with [6, Theorem 6.1].

**Theorem 5.2** Let U be a bounded simply connected domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  with Liapunov boundary  $\Gamma$  and let  $G = G_1$ . Then an operator  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$  is Fredholm on the space  $L^2(U)$  if and only if for every  $\omega \in \Omega_U$  and every  $z \in \mathbb{T}$  the operators  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}(B^{\pi})$  are invertible on the space  $l^2(G)$  and for every  $\omega \in \Omega_{\Gamma}$  the operators  $\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,\pm 2}(B^{\pi})$  are invertible on the space  $l^2(G, H^2(\mathbb{T}))$ . By Theorem 5.1, the operator function  $\widetilde{\Psi}(B) : (\omega, z) \mapsto \widetilde{\pi}_{\omega, z}(B^{\pi})$  given for  $(\omega, z) \in (\Omega \times \mathbb{T}) \cup (\Omega_{\Gamma} \times \{\pm 2\})$  by (5.6)–(5.7) and equipped with the norm

$$\max\left\{\sup_{(\omega,z)\in\Omega\times\mathbb{T}}\left\|\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}\left(B^{\pi}\right)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(l^{2}(G))}, \sup_{(\omega,z)\in\Omega_{\Gamma}\times\{\pm 2\}}\left\|\widetilde{\pi}_{\omega,z}\left(B^{\pi}\right)\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(l^{2}(G,H^{2}(\mathbb{T})))}\right\}$$

can be considered as a Fredholm symbol for operators  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Thus, the map  $\widetilde{\Psi} : \mathfrak{B} \to \widetilde{\Psi}(\mathfrak{B})$  gives a Fredholm symbol calculus for the *C*\*-algebra  $\mathfrak{B}$  defined by (1.3), because the Fredholmness of an operator  $B \in \mathfrak{B}$  is equivalent to the invertibility of its Fredholm symbol.

#### References

- M.A. Bastos, C.A. Fernandes, Yu.I. Karlovich, Spectral measures in C\*-algebras of singular integral operators with shifts. J. Funct. Anal. 242, 86–126 (2007)
- 2. H. Cohn, Conformal Mapping on Riemann Surfaces (Dover, New York, 1980)
- 3. F.P. Greenleaf, *Invariant Means on Topological Groups and Their Representations* (Van Nostrand-Reinhold, New York, 1969)
- 4. Yu.I. Karlovich, The local-trajectory method of studying invertibility in *C*\*-algebras of operators with discrete groups of shifts. Sov. Math. Dokl. **37**, 407–411 (1988)
- 5. Yu.I. Karlovich, A local-trajectory method and isomorphism theorems for nonlocal  $C^*$ -algebras. Oper. Theory, Adv. Appl. 170, 137–166 (2007)
- Yu.I. Karlovich, V.A. Mozel, On nonlocal C\*-algebras of two-dimensional singular integral operators, in *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*, vol. 220 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2012), pp. 115–135
- Yu.I. Karlovich, V.A. Mozel, C\*-algebras of Bergman type operators with piecewise continuous coefficients and shifts. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 57(7–8), 841–865 (2012)
- Yu.I. Karlovich, L. Pessoa, Algebras generated by Bergman and anti-Bergman projections and by multiplications by piecewise continuous coefficients. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 52, 219–270 (2005)
- 9. G.J. Murphy, C\*-Algebras and Operator Theory (Academic Press, Boston, 1990)
- 10. Ch. Pommerenke, Boundary Behaviour of Conformal Maps (Springer, Berlin, 1992)
- N.L. Vasilevski, On an algebra generated by two-dimensional singular integral operators in plane domains. Complex Var. 26, 79–91 (1994)

## **Uncertainty and Analyticity**

Vladimir V. Kisil

**Abstract** We describe a connection between minimal uncertainty states and holomorphy-type conditions on the images of the respective wavelet transforms. The most familiar example is the Fock–Segal–Bargmann transform generated by the Gaussian, however, this also occurs under more general assumptions.

Keywords Quantum mechanics  $\cdot$  Classical mechanics  $\cdot$  Heisenberg commutation relations  $\cdot$  Observables  $\cdot$  Heisenberg group  $\cdot$  Fock–Segal–Bargmann space  $\cdot$  SU(1, 1)  $\cdot$  Hardy space

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 81P05 · Secondary 22E27

## 1 Introduction

There are two and a half main examples of reproducing kernel spaces of analytic function. One is the Fock–Segal–Bargmann (FSB) space and others (one and a half)—the Bergman and Hardy spaces. The first space is generated by the Heisenberg group [2, § 1.6; 5, § 7.3], two others—by the group SU(1, 1) [5, § 4.2] (this explains our way of counting).

Those spaces have the following properties, which make their study particularly pleasant and fruitful:

- i. There is a group, which acts transitively on functions' domain.
- ii. There is a reproducing kernel.
- iii. The space consists of holomorphic functions.

Furthermore, for FSB space there is the following property:

iv. The reproducing kernel is generated by a function, which minimises the uncertainty for coordinate and momentum observables.

On leave from Odessa University.

V.V. Kisil (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

School of Mathematics, University of Leeds, Leeds LS2 9JT, England, UK e-mail: kisilv@maths.leeds.ac.uk url: http://www.maths.leeds.ac.uk/~kisilv/

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_64

It is known, that a transformation group is responsible for the appearance of the reproducing kernel [1, Theorem 8.1.3]. This paper shows that the last two properties are equivalent and connected to the group as well.

#### 2 The Uncertainty Relation

In quantum mechanics [2, § 1.1], an observable (self-adjoint operator on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ ) A produces the expectation value  $\bar{A}$  on a state (a unit vector)  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$  by  $\bar{A} = \langle A\phi, \phi \rangle$ . Then, the dispersion is evaluated as follow:

$$\Delta_{\phi}^2(A) = \left\langle (A - \bar{A})^2 \phi, \phi \right\rangle = \left\langle (A - \bar{A})\phi, (A - \bar{A})\phi \right\rangle = \left\| (A - \bar{A})\phi \right\|^2.$$
(1)

The next theorem links obstructions of exact simultaneous measurements with noncommutativity of observables.

**Theorem 1** (The uncertainty relation) If A and B are self-adjoint operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , then

$$\|(A-a)u\|\|(B-b)u\| \ge \frac{1}{2} |\langle (AB-BA)u, u \rangle|,$$
 (2)

for any  $u \in \mathcal{H}$  from the domains of AB and BA and a,  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ . Equality holds precisely when u is a solution of ((A - a) + ir(B - b))u = 0 for some real r.

*Proof* The proof is well-known [2, § 1.3], but it is short, instructive and relevant for the following discussion, thus we include it in full. We start from simple algebraic transformations:

$$\langle (AB - BA)u, u \rangle = \langle (A - a)(B - b) - (B - b)(A - a)u, u \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle (B - b)u, (A - a)u \rangle - \langle (A - a)u, (B - b)u \rangle$   
=  $2i\Im \langle (B - b)u, (A - a)u \rangle.$  (3)

Then by the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality:

$$\frac{1}{2}\left\langle (AB - BA)u, u \right\rangle \le \left| \left\langle (B - b)u, (A - a)u \right\rangle \right| \le \left\| (B - b)u \right\| \left\| (A - a)u \right\|.$$

The equality holds if and only if (B - b)u and (A - a)u are proportional by a *purely imaginary* scalar.

The famous application of the above theorem is the following fundamental relation in quantum mechanics. Recall [2, § 1.2], that the one-dimensional Heisenberg group  $\mathbb{H}^1$  consists of points  $(s, x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , with the group law:

$$(s, x, y) * (s', x', y') = \left(s + s' + \frac{1}{2}(xy' - x'y), x + x', y + y'\right).$$
(4)

This is a nilpotent step two Lie group. By the Stone–von Neumann theorem [2, § 1.5], any infinite-dimensional unitary irreducible representation of  $\mathbb{H}^1$  is unitary equivalent to the Schrödinger representation  $\rho_{\hbar}$  in  $\mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{R})$  parametrised by the Planck constant  $\hbar \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ . A physically consistent form of  $\rho_{\hbar}$  is [6, (3.5)]:

$$\left[\rho_{\hbar}(s,x,y)f\right](q) = e^{-2\pi i\hbar(s+xy/2) - 2\pi ixq} f(q+\hbar y).$$
(5)

Elements of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ , corresponding to the infinitesimal generators *X* and *Y* of one-parameters subgroups  $(0, t/(2\pi), 0)$  and (0, 0, t) in  $\mathbb{H}^1$ , are represented in (5) by the (unbounded) operators *M* and *D* on  $\mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{R})$ :

$$M = -iq$$
,  $D = \hbar \frac{d}{dq}$ , with the commutator  $[M, D] = i\hbar I$ . (6)

In the Schrödinger model of quantum mechanics,  $f(q) \in \mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{R})$  is interpreted as a wave function (a state) of a particle, with *M* and *D* are the observables of its coordinate and momentum.

**Corollary 2** (Heisenberg–Kennard uncertainty relation) *For the coordinate M and momentum D observables we have the* Heisenberg–Kennard uncertainty *relation*:

$$\Delta_{\phi}(M) \cdot \Delta_{\phi}(D) \ge \frac{h}{2}.$$
(7)

The equality holds if and only if  $\phi(q) = e^{-cq^2}$ ,  $c \in \mathbb{R}_+$  is the vacuum state in the Schrödinger model.

*Proof* The relation follows from the commutator  $[M, D] = i\hbar I$ , which, in turn, is the representation of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}_1$  of the Heisenberg group. The minimal uncertainty state in the Schrödinger representation is a solution of the differential equation:  $(M - ir D)\phi = 0$  for some  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , or, explicitly:

$$(M - \mathrm{i}r D)\phi = -\mathrm{i}\left(q + r\hbar \frac{d}{dq}\right)\phi(q) = 0. \tag{8}$$

The solution is the Gaussian  $\phi(q) = e^{-cq^2}$ ,  $c = \frac{1}{2r\hbar}$ . For c > 0, this function is in the state space  $\mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{R})$ .

It is common to say that the Gaussian  $\phi(q) = e^{-cq^2}$  represents the ground state, which minimises the uncertainty of coordinate and momentum.

#### **3** Wavelet Transform and Analyticity

#### 3.1 Induced Wavelet Transform

The following object is common in quantum mechanics [4], signal processing, harmonic analysis [8], operator theory [7, 9] and many other areas [5]. Therefore, it has various names [1]: coherent states, wavelets, matrix coefficients, etc. In the most fundamental situation [1, Chap. 8], we start from an irreducible unitary representation  $\rho$  of a Lie group *G* in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . For a vector  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  (called mother wavelet, vacuum state, etc.), we define the map  $\mathcal{W}_f$  from  $\mathcal{H}$  to a space of functions on *G* by:

$$[\mathcal{W}_f v](g) = \tilde{v}(g) := \langle v, \rho(g) f \rangle.$$
(9)

Under the above assumptions,  $\tilde{v}(g)$  is a bounded continuous function on *G*. The map  $W_f$  intertwines  $\rho(g)$  with the left shifts on *G*:

$$\mathcal{W}_f \circ \rho(g) = \Lambda(g) \circ \mathcal{W}_f, \quad \text{where } \Lambda(g) : \tilde{v}(g') \mapsto \tilde{v}(g^{-1}g').$$
(10)

Thus, the image  $W_f \mathcal{H}$  is invariant under the left shifts on *G*. If  $\rho$  is square integrable and *f* is admissible [1, § 8.1], then  $\tilde{v}(g)$  is square-integrable with respect to the Haar measure on *G*. At this point, none of admissible vectors has an advantage over others.

It is common [5, § 5.1], that there exists a closed subgroup  $H \subset G$  and a respective  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $\rho(h)f = \chi(h)f$  for some character  $\chi$  of H. In this case, it is enough to know values of  $\tilde{v}(s(x))$ , for any continuous section s from the homogeneous space X = G/H to G. The map  $v \mapsto \tilde{v}(x) = \tilde{v}(s(x))$  intertwines  $\rho$  with the representation  $\rho_{\chi}$  in a certain function space on X induced by the character  $\chi$  of H [3, § 13.2]. We call the map  $\mathcal{W}_f : v \mapsto \tilde{v}(x)$  the *induced wavelet transform* [5, § 5.1].

For example, if  $G = \mathbb{H}^1$ ,  $H = \{(s, 0, 0) \in \mathbb{H}^1 : s \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and its character  $\chi_{\hbar}(s, 0, 0) = e^{2\pi i \hbar s}$ , then any vector  $f \in \mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies  $\rho_{\hbar}(s, 0, 0) f = \chi_{\hbar}(s) f$  for the representation (5). Thus, we still do not have a reason to prefer any admissible vector to others.

#### 3.2 Right Shifts and Analyticity

To discover some preferable mother wavelets, we use the following a general result from [5, § 5]. Let *G* be a locally compact group and  $\rho$  be its representation in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $[\mathcal{W}_f v](g) = \langle v, \rho(g) f \rangle$  be the wavelet transform defined by a vacuum state  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then, the right shift  $R(g) : [\mathcal{W}_f v](g') \mapsto [\mathcal{W}_f v](g'g)$  for  $g \in G$  coincides with the wavelet transform  $[\mathcal{W}_{fg}v](g') = \langle v, \rho(g')f_g \rangle$  defined by the vacuum state  $f_g = \rho(g) f$ . In other words, the covariant transform intertwines right shifts on the group G with the associated action  $\rho$  on vacuum states, cf. (10):

$$R(g) \circ \mathcal{W}_f = \mathcal{W}_{\rho(g)f}.$$
(11)

Although, the above observation is almost trivial, applications of the following corollary are not.

**Corollary 3** (Analyticity of the wavelet transform,  $[5, \S 5]$ ) Let *G* be a group and dg be a measure on *G*. Let  $\rho$  be a unitary representation of *G*, which can be extended by integration to a vector space *V* of functions or distributions on *G*. Let a mother wavelet  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfy the equation

$$\int_G a(g)\rho(g)f\,dg = 0,$$

for a fixed distribution  $a(g) \in V$ . Then any wavelet transform  $\tilde{v}(g) = \langle v, \rho(g) f \rangle$  obeys the condition:

$$D\tilde{v} = 0, \quad \text{where } D = \int_{G} \bar{a}(g)R(g)dg,$$
 (12)

with R being the right regular representation of G.

Some applications (including discrete one) produced by the ax + b group can be found in [8, § 6]. We turn to the Heisenberg group now.

*Example 4* (Gaussian and FSB transform) The Gaussian  $\phi(x) = e^{-cq^2/2}$  is a null-solution of the operator  $\hbar c M - iD$ . For the centre  $Z = \{(s, 0, 0) : s \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \mathbb{H}^1$ , we define the section  $s : \mathbb{H}^1/Z \to \mathbb{H}^1$  by s(x, y) = (0, x, y). Then, the corresponding induced wavelet transform is:

$$\tilde{v}(x, y) = \langle v, \rho(\mathbf{s}(x, y)) f \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} v(q) e^{\pi i \hbar x y - 2\pi i x q} e^{-c(q + \hbar y)^2/2} dq.$$
(13)

The infinitesimal generators X and Y of one-parameters subgroups  $(0, t/(2\pi), 0)$  and (0, 0, t) are represented through the right shift in (4) by

$$R_*(X) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} y \partial_s + \frac{1}{2\pi} \partial_x, \qquad R_*(Y) = \frac{1}{2} x \partial_s + \partial_y.$$

For the representation induced by the character  $\chi_{\hbar}(s, 0, 0) = e^{2\pi i\hbar s}$  we have  $\partial_s = 2\pi i\hbar I$ . Corollary 3 ensures that the operator

$$\hbar c \cdot R_*(X) + \mathbf{i} \cdot R_*(Y) = -\frac{\hbar}{2}(2\pi x + \mathbf{i}\hbar c y) + \frac{\hbar c}{2\pi}\partial_x + \mathbf{i}\partial_y \tag{14}$$

annihilate any  $\tilde{v}(x, y)$  from (13). The integral (13) is known as Fock–Segal–Bargmann (FSB) transform and in the most common case the values  $\hbar = 1$  and

 $c = 2\pi$  are used. For these, operator (14) becomes  $-\pi (x + iy) + (\partial_x + i\partial_y) = -\pi z + 2\partial_{\bar{z}}$  with z = x + iy. Then the function  $V(z) = e^{\pi z \bar{z}/2} \tilde{v}(z) = e^{\pi (x^2 + y^2)/2} \tilde{v}(x, y)$  satisfies the Cauchy–Riemann equation  $\partial_{\bar{z}} V(z) = 0$ .

This example shows, that the Gaussian is a preferred vacuum state (as producing analytic functions through FSB transform) exactly for the same reason as being the minimal uncertainty state: the both are derived from the identity  $(\hbar c M + iD)e^{-cq^2/2} = 0.$ 

#### 3.3 Uncertainty and Analyticity

The main result of this paper is a generalisation of the previous observation, which bridges together Corollary 3 and Theorem 1. Let G, H,  $\rho$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  be as before. Assume, that the homogeneous space X = G/H has a (quasi-)invariant measure  $d\mu(x)$  [3, § 13.2]. Then, for a function (or a suitable distribution) k on X we can define the integrated representation:

$$\rho(k) = \int_X k(x)\rho(\mathbf{s}(x))d\mu(x), \qquad (15)$$

which is (possibly, unbounded) operators on (possibly, dense subspace of)  $\mathcal{H}$ . In particular, R(k) denotes the integrated right shifts, for  $H = \{e\}$ .

**Theorem 5** Let  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  be two distributions on X with the respective integrated representations  $\rho(k_1)$  and  $\rho(k_2)$ . The following are equivalent:

i. A vector  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfies the identity

$$\Delta_f(\rho(k_1)) \cdot \Delta_f(\rho(k_2)) = \left| \left\langle \left[ \rho(k_1), \rho(k_1) \right] f, f \right\rangle \right|.$$

ii. The image of the wavelet transform W<sub>f</sub> : v → ṽ(g) = ⟨v, ρ(g) f⟩ consists of functions satisfying the equation R(k<sub>1</sub> + irk<sub>2</sub>)ṽ = 0 for some r ∈ ℝ, where R is the integrated form (15) of the right regular representation on G.

*Proof* This is an immediate consequence of a combination of Theorem 1 and Corollary 3.  $\Box$ 

Example 4 is a particular case of this theorem with  $k_1(x, y) = \delta'_x(x, y)$  and  $k_2(x, y) = \delta'_y(x, y)$  (partial derivatives of the delta function), which represent vectors X and Y from the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}_1$ . The next example will be of this type as well.

#### 3.4 Hardy Space

Let SU(1, 1) be the group of 2 × 2 complex matrices of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$  with the unit determinant  $|\alpha|^2 - |\beta|^2 = 1$ . A standard basis in the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{su}_{1,1}$  is

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\mathbf{i} \\ \mathbf{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Z = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{i} & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The respective one-dimensional subgroups consist of matrices:

$$e^{tA} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\frac{t}{2} & -i\sinh\frac{t}{2} \\ i\sinh\frac{t}{2} & \cosh\frac{t}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{tB} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\frac{t}{2} & \sinh\frac{t}{2} \\ \sinh\frac{t}{2} & \cosh\frac{t}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{tZ} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{it} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-it} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The last subgroup—the maximal compact subgroup of SU(1, 1)—is usually denoted by *K*. The commutators of the  $\mathfrak{su}_{1,1}$  basis elements are

$$[Z, A] = 2B, \qquad [Z, B] = -2A, \qquad [A, B] = -\frac{1}{2}Z.$$
 (16)

Let  $\mathbb{T}$  denote the unit circle in  $\mathbb{C}$  with the rotation-invariant measure. The mock discrete representation of SU(1, 1) [10, § VI.6] acts on  $\mathcal{L}_2(\mathbb{T})$  by unitary transformations

$$\left[\rho_1(g)f\right](z) = \frac{1}{(\bar{\beta}z + \bar{\alpha})} f\left(\frac{\alpha z + \beta}{\bar{\beta}z + \bar{\alpha}}\right), \qquad g^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta\\ \bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (17)

The respective derived representation  $\rho_{1*}$  of the  $\mathfrak{su}_{1,1}$  basis is:

$$\rho_{1*}^{A} = \frac{i}{2} (z + (z^{2} + 1)\partial_{z}), \qquad \rho_{1*}^{B} = \frac{1}{2} (z + (z^{2} - 1)\partial_{z}), \qquad \rho_{1*}^{Z} = -iI - 2iz\partial_{z}.$$

Thus,  $\rho_{1*}^{B+iA} = -\partial_z$  and the function  $f_+(z) \equiv 1$  satisfies  $\rho_{1*}^{B+iA} f_+ = 0$ . Recalling the commutator  $[A, B] = -\frac{1}{2}Z$  we note that  $\rho_1(e^{tZ}) f_+ = e^{it} f_+$ . Therefore, there is the following identity for dispersions on this state:

$$\Delta_{f_+}(\rho_{1*}^A) \cdot \Delta_{f_+}(\rho_{1*}^B) = \frac{1}{2}$$

with the minimal value of uncertainty among all eigenvectors of the operator  $\rho_1(e^{tZ})$ .

Furthermore, the vacuum state  $f_+$  generates the induced wavelet transform for the subgroup  $K = \{e^{tZ} \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ . We identify SU(1, 1)/K with the open unit disk  $D = \{w \in \mathbb{C} \mid |w| < 1\}$  [5, § 5.5; 9]. The map s :  $SU(1, 1)/K \to SU(1, 1)$  is defined as  $s(w) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-|w|^2}} {1 \choose w}$ . Then, the induced wavelet transform is:

$$\tilde{v}(w) = \langle v, \rho_1(\mathbf{s}(w)) f_+ \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{1-|w|^2}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{v(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta})d\theta}{1-we^{-\mathbf{i}\theta}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi\mathbf{i}\sqrt{1-|w|^2}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{v(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta})de^{\mathbf{i}\theta}}{e^{\mathbf{i}\theta}-w}$$

Clearly, this is the Cauchy integral up to the factor  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-|w|^2}}$ , which presents the conformal metric on the unit disk. Similarly, we can consider the operator  $\rho_{1*}^{B-iA} = z + z^2 \partial_z$  and the function  $f_-(z) = \frac{1}{z}$  simultaneously solving the equations  $\rho_{1*}^{B-iA} f_- = 0$  and  $\rho_1(e^{tZ}) f_- = e^{-it} f_-$ . It produces the integral with the conjugated Cauchy kernel.

Finally, we can calculate the operator (12) annihilating the image of the wavelet transform. In the coordinates  $(w, t) \in (SU(1, 1)/K) \times K$ , the restriction to the induced subrepresentation is, cf. [10, § IX.5]:

$$\mathfrak{L}^{B-\mathrm{i}A} = e^{2\mathrm{i}t} \left( -\frac{1}{2}w + \left(1 - |w|^2\right)\partial_{\bar{w}} \right).$$

Furthermore, if  $\mathfrak{L}^{B-iA}\tilde{v}(w) = 0$ , then  $\partial_{\bar{w}}(\sqrt{1-w\bar{w}}\cdot\tilde{v}(w)) = 0$ . That is,  $V(w) = \sqrt{1-w\bar{w}}\cdot\tilde{v}(w)$  is a holomorphic function on the unit disk.

Similarly, we can treat representations of SU(1, 1) in the space of square integrable functions on the unit disk. The irreducible components of this representation are isometrically isomorphic [5, § 4–5] to the weighted Bergman spaces of (purely poly-)analytic functions on the unit, cf. [11].

#### References

- 1. S.T. Ali, J.-P. Antoine, J.-P. Gazeau, *Coherent States, Wavelets and Their Generalizations*. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics (Springer, New York, 2000). MR2002m:81092
- G.B. Folland, *Harmonic Analysis in Phase Space*. Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 122 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1989). MR92k:22017
- A.A. Kirillov, *Elements of the Theory of Representations* (Springer, Berlin, 1976). Translated from the Russian by Edwin Hewitt, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 220. MR54#447
- V.V. Kisil, *p*-Mechanics as a physical theory: an introduction. J. Phys. A **37**(1), 183–204 (2004). E-print: arXiv:quant-ph/0212101, On-line. Zbl # 1045.81032. MR2044764 (2005c:81078)
- V.V. Kisil, Erlangen programme at large: an overview, in *Advances in Applied Analysis*, ed. by S.V. Rogosin, A.A. Koroleva (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2012), pp. 1–94. E-print: arXiv:1106.1686
- V.V. Kisil, Hypercomplex representations of the Heisenberg group and mechanics. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 51(3), 964–984 (2012). E-print: arXiv:1005.5057. Zbl # 1247.81232. MR2892069
- V.V. Kisil, Operator covariant transform and local principle. J. Phys. A, Math. Theor. 45, 244022 (2012). E-print: arXiv:1201.1749. On-line
- V.V. Kisil, The real and complex techniques in harmonic analysis from the covariant transform (2012). E-print: arXiv:1209.5072
- V.V. Kisil, Calculus of operators: covariant transform and relative convolutions. Banach J. Math. Anal. 8(2) (2014). E-print: arXiv:1304.2792
- S. Lang, SL<sub>2</sub>(**R**). Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 105 (Springer, New York, 1985). Reprint of the 1975 edition. MR803508 (86j:22018)
- N.L. Vasilevski, On the structure of Bergman and poly-Bergman spaces. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 33(4), 471–488 (1999). MR1682807 (2000g:46032)

## **Toeplitz Operators on the Harmonic Bergman Space with Pseudodifferential Defining Symbols**

Maribel Loaiza and Nikolai Vasilevski

**Abstract** We study the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  generated by Toeplitz operators acting on the harmonic Bergman space on the unit disk whose pseudodifferential defining symbols belong to the algebra  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ . The algebra  $\mathcal{R}$  is generated by the multiplication operators aI, where  $a \in C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ , and the following two operators

$$S_{\mathbb{D}}(\varphi)(z) = \frac{-1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\zeta - z)^2} d\nu(\zeta) \quad \text{and} \quad S_{\mathbb{D}}^*(\varphi)(z) = \frac{-1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\overline{\zeta} - \overline{z})^2} d\nu(\zeta).$$

We describe the Fredholm symbol algebra of  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  and the index formula for its Fredholm elements.

**Keywords** Harmonic function · Bergman space · Bergman projection · Anti-Bergman projection · Algebras of Toeplitz operators

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 31A05 · 32A36 · 32A99 · 47L80

### 1 Introduction

Denote by  $\mathbb{D}$  the complex unit disk with the area measure dv(z) = dxdy, z = x + iy. As usual,  $L_2(\mathbb{D})$  denotes the space of all measurable and square integrable functions defined in  $\mathbb{D}$ . The harmonic Bergman space  $b^2(\mathbb{D})$  is the closed subspace of  $L_2(\mathbb{D})$  consisting of all complex-valued functions f(z) = u(z) + iv(z), such that u(z), v(z) are real-valued harmonic functions. The harmonic Bergman space is the (non direct)

M. Loaiza (🖂) · N. Vasilevski

Cinvestav, Av. Instituto Politecnico Nacional 2508, San Pedro Zacatenco, Mexico D.F. 07360, Mexico

e-mail: mloaiza@math.cinvestav.mx

N. Vasilevski e-mail: nvasilev@math.cinvestav.mx

This work was partially supported by Conacyt, project 102800.

sum of the Bergman and the anti-Bergman spaces. The orthogonal projection from  $L_2(\mathbb{D})$  onto  $b^2(\mathbb{D})$ , denoted by Q, has the form

$$Q = B_{\mathbb{D}} + \widetilde{B}_{\mathbb{D}} + K,$$

where  $B_{\mathbb{D}}$  is the Bergman projection,  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathbb{D}}$  is the anti-Bergman projection, and K is a one-dimensional operator.

Toeplitz operators, acting on  $b^2(\mathbb{D})$ , have some properties that are just analogous to those for the Bergman space case. For example, the Calkin algebra of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$ , generated by Toeplitz operators with continuous symbols, is isomorphic to  $C(\mathbb{T})$ , where  $\mathbb{T}$  is the boundary of  $\mathbb{D}$ . At the same time every Fredholm Toeplitz operator with continuous symbol has index zero (see [3] for details). Moreover, M. Loaiza and C. Lozano proved [5] that Fredholm Toeplitz operators with piecewise continuous symbols also have index zero.

Another substantial difference between Toeplitz operators acting on the Bergman space and Toeplitz operators acting on the harmonic Bergman space is that the spectrum of a Toeplitz operator with piecewise constant symbol, acting on the Bergman space, is always connected and it does not depend on the angles related to this discontinuity (see [11] for details) while for Toeplitz operators acting on the harmonic Bergman space the spectrum of such kind of operators is not necessarily connected, and it does depend on the angles between the curves supporting the symbol discontinuities (see [5]).

Denote by  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$  the  $C^*$ -algebra which is generated by the multiplication operators a(z)I, where  $a(z) \in C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ , and the following two singular integral (pseudodifferential) operators

$$(S_{\mathbb{D}}\varphi)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\zeta-z)^2} d\nu(\zeta) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(S_{\mathbb{D}}^*\varphi\right)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\overline{\zeta}-\overline{z})^2} d\nu(\zeta),$$
(1.1)

and let  $\mathcal{T}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$  be the  $C^*$ -algebra generated by Toeplitz operators  $T_a$  with defining symbols  $a(z) \in C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ .

A. Sánchez-Nungaray and N. Vasilevski studied [7] the  $C^*$ -algebra generated by Toeplitz operators acting on the Bergman over the unit disk, whose pseudodifferential defining symbols belong to  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ , and showed that both algebras  $\mathcal{T}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$  and  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$ , which is generated by Toeplitz operators  $T_A$  with defining symbols  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ , are, in fact, the same; and that the Fredholm symbol algebra for both of them is isomorphic and isometric to  $C(\mathbb{T})$ .

In this paper we show that, for the harmonic Bergman space, the  $C^*$ -algebra generated by Toeplitz operators  $\widehat{T}_A$  with  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$  is not anymore isomorphic to the algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators with symbol in  $C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ . We give a complete characterization of this algebra as well as the index formula for its Fredholm operators.

#### 2 Preliminaries

Let  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$  be the  $C^*$ -algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators with continuous symbols acting on the harmonic Bergman space, and denote by  $\mathcal{K}$  the closed ideal of all compact operators on the space  $L^2(\mathbb{D})$ . It is known [3] that the quotient algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))/\mathcal{K}$  is \*-isometrically isomorphic to  $C(\mathbb{T})$ , and that this isomorphism is given by  $T_{\phi} + K \mapsto \phi|_{\mathbb{T}}$ .

Recall also that the singular integral operators

$$(S_{\mathbb{D}}\varphi)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\zeta-z)^2} d\nu(\zeta) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(S_{\mathbb{D}}^*\varphi\right)(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\varphi(\zeta)}{(\overline{\zeta}-\overline{z})^2} d\nu(\zeta)$$

are bounded on  $L_2(\mathbb{D})$  and mutually adjoint. It is known as well that, for each  $a(z) \in C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ , both commutators  $[S_{\mathbb{D}}, a(z)I]$  and  $[S_{\mathbb{D}}^*, a(z)I]$  are compact, and being considered in the whole complex plane, these operators obey the relation  $S_{\mathbb{C}}^* = S_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}$ .

The description of the Fredholm symbol (Calkin) algebra  $\operatorname{Sym} \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)/\mathcal{K}$  of the algebra  $\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$  is well known. Following [7] we recall here this description.

Denote by  $\mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T}))$  the  $C^*$ -algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators  $T_a$ ,  $a \in C(\mathbb{T})$ , acting on the Hardy space  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Let  $\mathcal{M} = \overline{\mathbb{D}} \times \mathbb{T} \sqcup \mathbb{T} \times \{0, \infty\}$ , and denote by  $\mathfrak{S}$  the set of all vector functions  $\sigma$ , continuous on  $\mathcal{M}$  and having the form

$$\sigma(m) = \begin{cases} c(z,t) \in \mathbb{C}, & \text{if } m = (z,t) \in \overline{\mathbb{D}} \times \mathbb{T}, \\ T_{c(z,t)} + K_0(z) \in \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})), & \text{if } m = (z,0) \in \mathbb{T} \times \{0,\infty\}, \\ T_{c(z,\overline{t})} + K_{\infty}(z) \in \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})), & \text{if } m = (z,\infty) \in \mathbb{T} \times \{0,\infty\}, \end{cases}$$

where  $K_0$  and  $K_\infty$  are compact operators.

**Theorem 2.1** The Fredholm symbol algebra  $\text{Sym}\mathcal{R}$  of the algebra  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$  is isomorphic and isometric to the algebra  $\mathfrak{S}$ . Under their identification, the symbol homomorphism

$$\operatorname{sym}: \mathcal{R} \to \operatorname{Sym} \mathcal{R} = \mathfrak{S}$$

is generated by the following mapping: if  $A = a_1(z)I + a_2(z)S_{\mathbb{D}} + a_3(z)S_{\mathbb{D}}^*$  and  $c(z,t) = a_1(z) + a_2(z)t + a_3(z)\overline{t}$ , then

$$(\operatorname{sym} A)(m) = \begin{cases} c(z,t) \in \mathbb{C}, & \text{if } m = (z,t) \in \overline{\mathbb{D}} \times \mathbb{T}, \\ T_{c(z,t)} \in \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})), & \text{if } m = (z,0) \in \mathbb{T} \times \{0,\infty\}, \\ T_{c(z,\overline{t})}(z) \in \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})), & \text{if } m = (z,\infty) \in \mathbb{T} \times \{0,\infty\} \end{cases}$$

## **3** The Bergman Type Spaces on the Upper Half Plane and the Action of the Operators $S_{\Pi}$ and $S_{\Pi}^*$

Denote by  $\Pi$  the upper half plane with the area measure dv(z) = dxdy, z = x + iy, and denote by  $L_2(\Pi)$  the space of all measurable and square integrable functions defined in  $\Pi$ . The Bergman space  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$  is the closed subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  consisting of all analytic functions. The orthogonal Bergman projection  $B_{\Pi}$  from  $L_2(\Pi)$ onto  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$  has the following integral form

$$B_{\Pi} f(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Pi} \frac{f(w)}{(z - \bar{w})^2} d\nu(w).$$

The anti-Bergman space is the closed subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$ , denoted by  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ , consisting of all measurable and anti-analytic functions. The orthogonal projection from  $L_2(\Pi)$  onto  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  is called the anti-Bergman projection, is denoted by  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}$ , and its integral form is as follows

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}f(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\Pi}\frac{f(w)}{(\overline{z}-w)^2}d\nu(w).$$

The space  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_n^2(\Pi)$  of *n*-anti-analytic functions is the subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  consisting of all functions  $\varphi(z, \overline{z}) = \varphi(x, y)$ , which satisfy the equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right)^n \varphi = \frac{1}{2^n} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} - i\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^n \varphi = 0.$$

The space  $\mathcal{A}_n^2(\Pi)$  of *n*-analytic functions is the subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  consisting of all functions  $\varphi(z, \overline{z}) = \varphi(x, y)$ , which satisfy the equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}}\right)^n \varphi = \frac{1}{2^n} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + i\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^n \varphi = 0.$$

The space  $\mathcal{A}^2_{(n)}(\Pi)$  of true-*n*-analytic functions is the subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  consisting of all functions in the set

$$\mathcal{A}^2_{(n)}(\Pi) = \mathcal{A}^2_n(\Pi) \ominus \mathcal{A}^2_{n-1}(\Pi), \quad \text{for } n > 1, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^2_{(1)}(\Pi) = \mathcal{A}^2_1(\Pi).$$

Analogously, the space of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2_{(n)}(\Pi)$  of true-*n*-anti-analytic functions is the subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  consisting of all functions in the set

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{(n)}^2(\Pi) = \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_n^2(\Pi) \ominus \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{n-1}^2(\Pi), \quad \text{for } n > 1, \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{(1)}^2(\Pi) = \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1^2(\Pi).$$

It is well known, see for example [9], that the Hilbert space  $L_2(\Pi)$  admits the following direct sum decomposition

$$L_2(\Pi) = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}^2_{(k)}(\Pi) \oplus \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2_{(k)}(\Pi).$$

**Theorem 3.1** ([4, 10]) For all admissible indexes, we have

$$\begin{split} (S_{\Pi})^{k} \big|_{\mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi)} &: \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi) \to \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n+k)}(\Pi), \\ (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k} \big|_{\mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi)} &: \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi) \to \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(n-k)}(\Pi), \\ (S_{\Pi})^{k} \big|_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi)} &: \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n-k)}(\Pi), \\ (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k} \big|_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi)} &: \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n)}(\Pi) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(n+k)}(\Pi). \end{split}$$

These operators are unitary and the corresponding adjoint operators are the restrictions of the adjoint operators to the corresponding spaces. Besides  $(S_{\Pi})^k (\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2_{(j)}) = \{0\}, (S^*_{\Pi})^k (\mathcal{A}^2_{(j)}) = \{0\} \text{ if } k \ge j$ . Furthermore, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$(S_{\Pi})^n \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n (S_{\Pi})^n = (S_{\Pi})^n \quad and \quad \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n (S_{\Pi})^n \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n = \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n.$$

The relations between the Bergman projection, anti-Bergman projection, and the powers of the singular integral operators  $S_{\Pi}$  and  $S_{\Pi}^*$  are given in the next corollary.

**Corollary 3.2** For  $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  we have

$$B_{\Pi} \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n} B_{\Pi} = \begin{cases} B_{\Pi}, & \text{if } m = n, \\ 0, & \text{if } m \neq n, \end{cases}$$

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \begin{cases} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}, & \text{if } m = n, \\ 0, & \text{if } m \neq n, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.1)$$

while for  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $B_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^m (S_{\Pi}^*)^n B_{\Pi} = 0$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi}^*)^m (S_{\Pi})^n \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0$ . Furthermore, for  $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ 

1. 
$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^m \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n B_{\Pi} = 0,$$
  
2.  $B_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^m \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^n \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0,$   
3.  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^m (S_{\Pi})^n B_{\Pi} = 0,$   
4.  $B_{\Pi} \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^m (S_{\Pi})^n \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0.$ 

*Proof* To prove (3.1) we use Theorem 3.1 and the representation  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = I - S_{\Pi}^* S_{\Pi}$ . Then, for n > 0:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n} \left( I - S_{\Pi}^{*} S_{\Pi} \right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left( \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n} - \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n-1} S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^{*} S_{\Pi} \right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left( \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n} - \left( S_{\Pi}^{*} \right)^{m} \left( S_{\Pi} \right)^{n-1} S_{\Pi} \right) = 0.$$

If n = 0 and m > 0, we have

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi}^*)^m \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = (I - S_{\Pi}^* S_{\Pi}) (S_{\Pi}^*)^m \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = ((S_{\Pi}^*)^m - S_{\Pi}^* S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^* (S_{\Pi}^*)^{m-1}) \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0.$$

On the other hand if m > n

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m-n} (S_{\Pi})^{n} \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}.$$

According to Theorem 3.1,  $(S_{\Pi})^n (S_{\Pi}^*)^n = I$  when it is restricted to  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ . Then,

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m-n} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m-n} \left(I - S_{\Pi}^{*}S_{\Pi}\right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left((S_{\Pi})^{m-n} - (S_{\Pi})^{m-n-1} S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^{*} S_{\Pi}\right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \left((S_{\Pi})^{m-n} - (S_{\Pi})^{m-n-1} S_{\Pi}\right) = 0.$$

If m = n, then  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^n (S_{\Pi}^*)^n \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} I \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}$ .

The proofs of (1), (2), (3) and (4) are quite similar. We prove here only (1). To do so we use Theorem 3.1 and the representations  $B_{\Pi} = I - S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^*$ ,  $\tilde{B}_{\Pi} = I - S_{\Pi}^* S_{\Pi}$  to get, in the case n > 0:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} B_{\Pi} = \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} \left(I - S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} - \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n-1} S_{\Pi}^{*} S_{\Pi} S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)$$
$$= \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}(S_{\Pi})^{m} \left(\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n} - \left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n}\right) = 0.$$

For n = 0 it is enough to observe that the image of the operator  $(S_{\Pi})^m B_{\Pi}$  is contained in  $\mathcal{A}^2_{(m+1)}(\Pi)$ , which is orthogonal to  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ .

## 4 Toeplitz Operators on the Harmonic Bergman Space on the Upper Half Plane

The harmonic Bergman space  $b^2(\Pi)$  is the closed subspace of  $L_2(\Pi)$  which consists of all complex-valued functions f(z) = u(z) + iv(z), with u and v being real-valued harmonic functions.

Since  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$  and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  are mutually orthogonal spaces, we have that  $b^2(\Pi) = \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi) \oplus \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  (see [6] for details), and that the orthogonal projection Q from  $L_2(\Pi)$  onto  $b^2(\Pi)$  is of the form

$$Q = B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}.$$

A Toeplitz operator  $\widehat{T}_A$ , with symbol  $A \in \mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ , is defined on  $b^2(\Pi)$  by the standard formula,

$$\widehat{T}_A = Q_\Pi A Q_\Pi = (B_\Pi + \widetilde{B}_\Pi) A (B_\Pi + \widetilde{B}_\Pi).$$

Thus, with respect to the decomposition  $b^2(\Pi) = \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi) \oplus \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ , it has the following matrix form

$$\widehat{T}_A = \begin{pmatrix} B_{\Pi} A B_{\Pi} & B_{\Pi} A B_{\Pi} \\ \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} A B_{\Pi} & \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} A \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \end{pmatrix}.$$

## 4.1 Toeplitz Operators on the Harmonic Bergman Space on the Upper Half Plane with Defining Symbol in $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$

In this section we analyze the interaction between  $S_{\Pi}$ ,  $S_{\Pi}^*$  and the harmonic Bergman space on the upper half plane.

**Lemma 4.1** Given  $k_1, \ldots, k_N, n_1, \ldots, n_N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} n_i \le \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_i \quad for \ m = 1, \dots, N-1,$$
(4.1)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N} k_i, \tag{4.2}$$

then

1. *there exists*  $s \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  *such that* 

$$\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n_{N}}\left(S_{\Pi}\right)^{k_{N}}\ldots\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{n_{1}}\left(S_{\Pi}\right)^{k_{1}}=\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{s}\left(S_{\Pi}\right)^{s},$$

2. *there exists*  $s \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  *such that* 

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_N} \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^{k_N} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_1} \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^{k_1} = (S_{\Pi})^s \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^s.$$

*Proof* The proof of (1) was already done in [7]. To prove (2) observe that, for  $n_1, \ldots, n_N$  and  $k_1, \ldots, k_N$  such that (4.1) and (4.2) hold, there exists  $j \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$  such that

(a)  $k_j \ge n_j$  and  $k_{j+1} \ge n_j$  or (b)  $n_j \ge k_{j+1}$  and  $n_{j+1} \ge k_{j+1}$ .

If (a) holds then

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j+1}}$$

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_{j}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j+1}-n_{j}}$$

$$(S_{\Pi}^{*})^{n_{j}} (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{n_{j}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j}-n_{j}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j+1}+k_{j}-n_{j}}$$

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_{j-1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j-1}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}.$$

If (b) holds then

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}-k_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi})^{k_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi})^{k_{j+1}}$$

$$(S_{\Pi})^{n_{j}-k_{j+1}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}$$

$$= (S_{\Pi})^{n_{N}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{N}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{j+1}+n_{j}-k_{j+1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{j}} \dots (S_{\Pi})^{n_{1}} (S_{\Pi}^{*})^{k_{1}}.$$

Observe that in both cases, (a) and (b), we can apply the above argument inductively N - 1 times. In each step we use the new family of indexes gotten in the preceding step.

Given a multi-index  $J = (n_1, k_1, ..., n_N, k_N)$ , where  $n_i, k_i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , the non-commutative monomial  $m_J(x, y)$  is defined by

$$m_J(x, y) = y^{n_N} x^{k_N} \dots y^{n_1} x^{k_1},$$

and set its degree by

$$\deg m_J = |J| = n_N + k_N + \dots + n_1 + k_1.$$

Denote by  $I_{0,0}$  the set of indexes  $J = (n_1, k_1, ..., n_N, k_N)$  that satisfy conditions (4.1) and (4.2) and such that the monomial  $m_J(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$  starts with  $S_{\Pi}$ . Denote by  $I_{0,0}^*$  the set of indexes  $J = (n_1, k_1, ..., n_N, k_N)$  that satisfy conditions (4.1) and (4.2) and such that the monomial  $m_J(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$  starts with  $S_{\Pi}^*$ .

**Corollary 4.2** Let  $m_J(x, y)$  be a non-commutative monomial, then

$$B_{\Pi}m_{J}(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^{*})B_{\Pi} = \begin{cases} B_{\Pi}, & \text{if } J \in I_{0,0}^{*}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi}m_{J}(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^{*})\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \begin{cases} \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}, & \text{if } J \in I_{0,0}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore,

$$B_{\Pi}m_J(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0, \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}m_J(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)B_{\Pi} = 0.$$

*Proof* Follows from Lemma 4.1 and Corollary 3.2.

The following lemma is an immediate consequence of last corollary.

**Lemma 4.3** Let P(x, y) be a non-commutative polynomial of degree k

$$P(x, y) = \sum_{|J| \le k} a_J m_J(x, y),$$

where  $a_J \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then

$$B_{\Pi}P(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^*)B_{\Pi}=b_pB_{\Pi},$$

where  $b_p = \sum_{|J| \le k, J \in I_{0,0}^*} a_J$ . Analogously,

$$\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*) \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = \widetilde{b}_p \widetilde{B}_{\Pi},$$

where  $\widetilde{b}_p = \sum_{|J| \le k, J \in I_{0,0}} a_J$ . Furthermore,

$$B_{\Pi} P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*) \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = 0, \qquad \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*) B_{\Pi} = 0.$$

**Theorem 4.4** Let A be an element of  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ . Then the Toeplitz operator  $\widehat{T}_A$ , acting on  $b^2(\Pi)$ , is equal to

$$b_A B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{b}_A \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}$$

where  $b_A = \langle Af_0, f_0 \rangle$ ,  $\widetilde{b}_A = \langle Af_1, f_1 \rangle$ , and  $f_0 \in \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$ ,  $f_1 \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  are such that  $||f_0|| = ||f_1|| = 1$ .

*Proof* The set of noncommutative polynomials  $P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$  is dense in the algebra  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{T}_{P(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*})} &= (B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}) P\left(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*}\right) (B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}) \\ &= B_{\Pi} P\left(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*}\right) B_{\Pi} + B_{\Pi} P\left(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*}\right) \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} \\ &+ \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} P\left(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*}\right) \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} P\left(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^{*}\right) B_{\Pi}. \end{aligned}$$

Using Lemma 4.3 we get

$$\widehat{T}_{P(S_{\Pi},S_{\Pi}^*)} = b_p B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{b}_p \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}.$$

On the other hand

$$b_{p} = \langle b_{p} B_{\Pi} f_{0}, f_{0} \rangle = \langle T_{P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^{*})} f_{0}, f_{0} \rangle = \langle B_{\Pi} P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^{*}) B_{\Pi} f_{0}, f_{0} \rangle$$
$$= \langle P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^{*}) f_{0}, f_{0} \rangle.$$

Analogously,

$$\widetilde{b}_p = \langle P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*) f_1, f_1 \rangle.$$

Since the functionals

$$A \longmapsto \langle Af_0, f_0 \rangle$$
 and  $A \longmapsto \langle Af_1, f_1 \rangle$ 

are continuous on  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ , the result follows.

The next theorem is the main result of this section.

**Theorem 4.5** Given a symbol  $A \in \mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ , the Toeplitz operator  $\widehat{T}_A$ , acting on the harmonic Bergman space  $b^2(\Pi)$ , is represented, with respect to the decomposition  $b^2(\Pi) = \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi) \oplus \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ , by the diagonal operator

$$\widehat{T}_A = \begin{pmatrix} T_A & 0 \\ 0 & \widetilde{T}_A \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} b_A I & 0 \\ 0 & \widetilde{b}_A I \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here  $T_A : \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi) \to \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$  is the Toeplitz operator with pseudodifferential symbol A and  $\widetilde{T}_A : \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  is the corresponding Toeplitz operator acting on the anti-Bergman space  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ .

*Proof* Recall that the harmonic Bergman projection has the form  $Q_{\Pi} = B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}$ , thus

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{T}_A &= Q_{\Pi} A Q_{\Pi} = (B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}) A (B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi}) \\ &= B_{\Pi} A B_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} A \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} + B_{\Pi} A \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} + \widetilde{B}_{\Pi} A B_{\Pi} \end{aligned}$$

Using Corollary 3.2, we get the result for every polynomial  $P(S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ . For a general case we only need to approximate each element in  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$  by noncommutative polynomials.

**Corollary 4.6** The  $C^*$ -algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*))$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}$  with the isomorphism defined on the generators by:

$$\widehat{T}_A \to (b_A, \widetilde{b}_A).$$

To give alternative, to those of Theorem 4.4, formulas for  $b_A$  and  $\tilde{b}_A$  we proceed as follows. Theorems 3.1, 3.2, and Remark 3.3 of [10] stay that both operators  $S_{\Pi}$ and  $S_{\Pi}^*$  are unitary equivalent to the direct sum of two unilateral shifts, forward and backward, both taken with the infinite multiplicity. This implies [1] the isometric isomorphism of the next  $C^*$ -algebras

$$\kappa: \mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})) \oplus \mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T})),$$

which is generated by the following assignment

$$\kappa(S_{\Pi}) = (T_t, T_{\overline{t}}), \qquad \kappa(S_{\Pi}^*) = (T_{\overline{t}}, T_t).$$
Recall, that  $\mathcal{T}(C(\mathbb{T}))$  denotes the *C*\*-algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators  $T_a$  with continuous defining symbols  $a(t) \in C(\mathbb{T})$  and acting on the Hardy space  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ . We use the standard normalized measure on  $\mathbb{T}$ , so that the system of functions  $\{t^k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$  forms an orthonormal basis in  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ .

The Bergman projection  $B_{\Pi} = I - S_{\Pi}S_{\Pi}^*$  and the anti-Bergman projection  $\widetilde{B}_{\Pi} = I - S_{\Pi}^*S_{\Pi}$  belong to the algebra  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{C}, S_{\Pi}, S_{\Pi}^*)$ , and

$$\kappa(B_{\Pi}) = (I - T_t T_{\overline{t}}, 0), \qquad \kappa(B_{\Pi}) = (0, I - T_t T_{\overline{t}}),$$

with  $I - T_t T_{\overline{t}}$  being the one-dimensional projection of  $H^2(\mathbb{T})$  onto the subspace generated by 1. The next alternative formulas for  $b_A$  and  $\tilde{b}_A$  thus follow

$$b_A = \langle \sigma_0(A)1, 1 \rangle, \qquad \widetilde{b}_A = \langle \sigma_\infty(A)1, 1 \rangle$$

where  $(\sigma_0(A), \sigma_\infty(A)) = \kappa(A)$ .

## 5 The Algebra $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}); S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$

Consider now the  $C^*$ -algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  generated by Toeplitz operators  $\widehat{T}_A$ , with  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ , and acting on the harmonic Bergman space  $b^2(\mathbb{D})$  on the unit disk.

Given an operator  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ , consider its Fredholm symbol (see Theorem 2.1)

$$\operatorname{sym} A = \begin{cases} c(z,t) \in \mathbb{C}, & (z,t) \in \overline{\mathbb{D}} \times S^1, \\ \sigma_0(A,z) = T_{c(z,t)} + K_0(z) \in \mathcal{T}(C(S^1)), & (z,0) \in S^1 \times \{0,\infty\}, \\ \sigma_\infty(A,z) = T_{c(z,\overline{t})} + K_\infty(z) \in \mathcal{T}(C(S^1)), & (z,\infty) \in S^1 \times \{0,\infty\}. \end{cases}$$

**Theorem 5.1** The Fredholm symbol algebra

$$\operatorname{Sym}\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)) = \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))/\mathcal{K}$$

of the algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  is isomorphic and isometric to  $C(\mathbb{T}) \oplus C(\mathbb{T})$ . The isomorphism is given on the generators by the following formula: for any  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ ,

$$\operatorname{sym} \widehat{T}_{A} = \left( b_{A}(z), \widetilde{b}_{A}(z) \right)$$
$$= \left( \left\langle \sigma_{0}(A, z) 1, 1 \right\rangle_{H^{2}(\mathbb{T})}, \left\langle \sigma_{\infty}(A, z) 1, 1 \right\rangle_{H^{2}(\mathbb{T})} \right).$$
(5.1)

*Proof* The algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  contains the ideal  $\mathcal{K}$  of all compact operators. To describe its Calkin algebra we use the standard Douglas–Varela local principle [2, 8] with  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))/\mathcal{K} \cong C(\mathbb{T})$  as a central commutative subalgebra of

 $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))/\mathcal{K}$ . We localize thus by points  $z_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ . Given  $z_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ , introduce the unitary operator  $V_{z_0} : L_2(\Pi) \to L_2(\mathbb{D})$ ,

$$(V_{z_0}\varphi)(z) = \frac{2iz_0}{(z_0+z)^2}\varphi\bigg(i\frac{z_0-z}{z_0+z}\bigg).$$

It is easy to check that

$$V_{z_0}^{-1} S_{\mathbb{D}} V_{z_0} = (i\overline{z_0})^2 S_{\Pi} h(w) I, \qquad V_{z_0}^{-1} S_{\mathbb{D}}^* V_{z_0} = (iz_0)^2 \overline{h(w)} S_{\Pi}^*,$$

where  $h(w) = \frac{(i+w)^4}{|i+w|^4}$ . As h(0) = 1 we have that  $V_{z_0}^{-1}S_{\mathbb{D}}V_{z_0}$  is locally equivalent at the point 0 to  $(i\overline{z_0})^2S_{\Pi}$  and  $V_{z_0}^{-1}S_{\mathbb{D}}^*V_{z_0}$  is locally equivalent at the point 0 to  $(iz_0)^2S_{\Pi}^*$ . The operator  $V_{z_0}^{-1}a(z)V_{z_0}$  is locally equivalent at the point 0, to the operator  $a(z_0)I$ . By Corollary 2.3 of [7] the operators  $(i\overline{z_0})^2S_{\Pi}$  and  $(iz_0)^2S_{\Pi}^*$  are also unitary equivalent to the direct sum of two unilateral shifts, forward and backward, both taken with the infinite multiplicity. Thus the arguments of the last part of the previous section imply the theorem assertion.

Let *T* be an arbitrary operator from  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$ , and let sym *T* =  $(b(z), \widetilde{b}(z)) \in C(\mathbb{T}) \oplus C(\mathbb{T})$  be its Fredholm symbol. In particular, if  $T = \widehat{T}_A$  for some  $A \in \mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*)$ , then its Fredholm symbol is given by (5.1). We extend then the functions b(z) and  $\widetilde{b}(z)$ , being continuous on  $\mathbb{T}$ , to functions  $b^{\#}(z)$  and  $\widetilde{b}^{\#}(z)$  that are continuous on the closed unit disk  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . Then, with respect to the representation  $b^2(\mathbb{D}) = \mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D}) + \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , we have

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} T_{b^{\#}} & 0\\ 0 & \widetilde{T}_{\widetilde{b}^{\#}} \end{pmatrix} + K,$$

where K is a compact operator.

**Corollary 5.2** With respect to the representation  $b^2(\mathbb{D}) = \mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D}) + \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , the algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  coincides with the next matrix algebra

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{T}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})) & \mathcal{K}_{1,2} \\ \mathcal{K}_{2,1} & \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})) \end{pmatrix}$$

Here  $\mathcal{T}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$  denotes the C\*-algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators with continuous symbol acting on  $\mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D})$ ,  $\mathcal{T}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$  denotes the C\*-algebra generated by all Toeplitz operators with continuous symbol acting on  $\mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D})$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_{1,2}$  is a set of compact operators from  $\mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D})$  to  $\mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D})$ , and  $\mathcal{K}_{2,1}$  is a set of compact operators from  $\mathcal{A}^2(\mathbb{D})$ .

The proof of the next corollary follows from the formula for the index of a Fredholm Toeplitz operator acting on the Bergman space and from the fact that every Fredholm Toeplitz operator with continuous symbol, acting on the harmonic Bergman space, has index equal to zero.

**Corollary 5.3** An operator  $T \in \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{R}(C(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), S_{\mathbb{D}}, S_{\mathbb{D}}^*))$  is Fredholm if and only if its Fredholm symbol sym  $T = (b(z), \widetilde{b}(z))$  does not vanish, i.e.,  $b(z) \neq 0, \widetilde{b}(z) \neq 0$ , for all  $z \in \mathbb{T}$ . The index of a Fredholm operator T is given by

Ind 
$$T = \frac{1}{2\pi} \arg\left\{\frac{\widetilde{b}(z)}{b(z)}\right\}_{\mathbb{T}}$$
.

### References

- 1. L.A. Coburn, The C\*-algebra generated by an isometry. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. **73**, 722–726 (1967)
- R.G. Douglas, Banach Algebra Techniques in Operator Theory (Academic Press, San Diego, 1972)
- K. Guo, D. Zheng, Toeplitz algebra and Hankel algebra on the harmonic Bergman space. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 276, 213–230 (2002)
- 4. Yu.I. Karlovich, L. Pessoa, *C*\*-algebras of Bergman type operators with piecewise continuous coefficients. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory **57**, 521–565 (2007)
- M. Loaiza, C. Lozano, On C\*-algebras of Toeplitz operators on the harmonic Bergman space. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 76, 105–130 (2013)
- W. Ramey, H. Yi, Harmonic Bergman functions on half-spaces. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 348, 633–660 (1996)
- A. Sánchez-Nungaray, N. Vasilevski, Toeplitz operators on the Bergman spaces with pseudodifferential defining symbols. Oper. Theory, Adv. Appl. 228, 355–374 (2013)
- 8. J. Varela, Duality of C\*-algebras. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 148, 97–108 (1974)
- 9. N. Vasilevski, On the structure of Bergman and poly-Bergman spaces. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory **33**, 471–488 (1999)
- N. Vasilevski, Poly-Bergman spaces and two-dimensional integral operators, in *The Extended Field of Operator Theory*. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 171 (2007), pp. 349–359
- N. Vasilevski, Commutative Algebras of Toeplitz Operators on the Bergman Space. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 185 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008)

# **Theorems of Paley–Wiener Type for Spaces of Polyanalytic Functions**

Luís V. Pessoa and Ana Moura Santos

**Abstract** We prove Paley–Wiener theorems for the true poly-Bergman and poly-Bergman spaces based on properties of the compression of the Beurling–Ahlfors transform to the upper half-plane. An isometric isomorphism between j copies of the Hardy space and the poly-Bergman space of order j is constructed.

**Keywords** Beurling–Ahlfors transform  $\cdot$  Paley–Wiener theorems  $\cdot$  Polyanalytic functions  $\cdot$  Poly-Bergman space

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 46E22 · 32A25 · Secondary 31A10

## **1** Introduction

The so-called classical Paley–Wiener Theorem states that the complex Fourier transform defines an isometric isomorphism between the  $L^2$  Lebesgue space on the positive real line  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  and the Hardy space over the upper half-plane. N. Vasilevski in [11, Theorem 2.4] proved a Paley–Wiener type theorem for the Bergman space by showing that the composition of the complex Fourier transform and the multiplication operator by the square root defined on  $\mathbb{R}^+$  gives a unitary operator from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ onto the Bergman space over the upper half-plane. More recently, in [2, Theorem 1] P. Duren et al. proved a Paley–Wiener theorem for weighted Bergman spaces, and L. Abreu in [1] showed that the poly-Bergman space of order *j* over the upper halfplane is isometrically isomorphic to *j* copies of the Hardy space. This last result could be easily obtained from [11, Theorem 4.5], even if the fruitful techniques of this paper were not applied to construct isometric isomorphisms between  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ and true poly-Bergman or poly-Bergman spaces.

L.V. Pessoa (🖂) · A.M. Santos

Departamento de Matemática, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, Av. Rovisco Pais, 1049 001 Lisboa, Portugal e-mail: luis.pessoa@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

A.M. Santos e-mail: ana.moura.santos@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_66

In the present paper, we will establish Paley–Wiener theorems for the true poly-Bergman and poly-Bergman spaces based on properties of the compression  $S_{\Pi}$  of the Beurling–Ahlfors transform to the upper half-plane. We will prove that the action of the singular integral operator  $S_{\Pi}$  on the Bergman space coincides with a differential operator. This allows us to construct an isometric isomorphism from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  onto the true poly-Bergman and onto the poly-Bergman spaces, where its images can be represented as sums of both  $y^k$  and Laguerre polynomials  $L_k(y)$ , for y := Im z and  $k = 0, 1, \ldots$ , with analytic coefficients given in terms of the complex Fourier transform. From the classical Paley–Wiener theorem it then follows that the poly-Bergman space of order j is isometrically isomorphic to j copies of the Hardy space.

#### 2 The Paley–Wiener Theorem for Bergman Spaces

The Hardy space over the upper half-plane  $\Pi := \{z : \text{Im } z > 0\}$  is a Hilbert space of functions denoted here by  $\mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi)$ , that consists of those analytic functions on  $\Pi$  which have finite norm given by

$$\|f\|_{\partial}^{2} = \sup_{y>0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left|f(x+iy)\right|^{2} dx.$$

The classical isomorphism between the one-dimensional Lebesgue space and the Hardy space over  $\Pi$  is given by the complex Fourier transform

$$F^{c}: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}, dt) \to \mathcal{A}^{2}_{\partial}(\Pi), \qquad F^{c}f(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} f(t)e^{izt}dt.$$
(2.1)

Here,  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt)$  or simpler  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  denote the one-dimensional Lebesgue space on the positive real line  $\mathbb{R}^+$ . The unitary character of the operator in (2.1) is usually known as the Paley–Wiener theorem for Hardy spaces.

The Bergman space  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi, dA_\alpha)$  consists of those analytic functions on  $\Pi$  which also belong to the Lebesgue space  $L^2(\Pi, dA_\alpha)$  endowed with the weighted measure  $dA_\alpha(z) := y^\alpha dA(z)$ , where z := x + iy are Cartesian coordinates and dA(z) := dxdy denotes the area Lebesgue measure. In the case  $\alpha = 0$ , the unweighted Bergman space is usually denoted by  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$ . In this paper, the space  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$  represents the unweighted anti-Bergman space of integrable anti-analytic functions on  $\Pi$ . It is well known that  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi, dA_\alpha)$ , for  $\alpha > -1$ , is a Hilbert space endowed with the inner product induced by that of  $L^2(\Pi, dA_\alpha)$ . The following result can be called a Paley–Wiener type theorem for the weighted Bergman space.

**Theorem 2.1** [2, Theorem 1] For  $\alpha > -1$ , the complex Fourier transform

$$F_{\alpha}^{c}f(z) = \frac{2^{\alpha/2}}{\sqrt{\pi \Gamma(\alpha+1)}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} f(t)e^{izt}dt, \quad z \in \Pi,$$

defines an isometric isomorphism from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt/t^{\alpha+1})$  onto  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi, dA_{\alpha})$ .

It is clear that the following operator is a unitary operator

$$T: L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt/t), \qquad Tg(t) = \sqrt{t}g(t).$$

Hence, from this fact and Theorem 2.1, we prove that two related operators, one for the Bergman (see, also [11, Theorem 2.4]) and the other for the anti-Bergman case, are unitary.

**Theorem 2.2** (see, also [11, Theorem 2.4]) *The following operators are unitary operators* 

$$R: L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt) \to \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi), \qquad Rf(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^{+\infty} \sqrt{t} f(t) e^{izt} dt, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\widetilde{R}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt) \to \overline{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi), \qquad \widetilde{R}f(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^{+\infty} \sqrt{t} f(t) e^{-i\overline{z}t} dt.$$
(2.3)

*Proof* It is clear that  $R = F_0^c T$ . Then the fact that the operator (2.2) is unitary follows straightforward. On the other hand, observe that the unitary operator

$$V: L^{2}(\Pi) \to L^{2}(\Pi), \qquad Vf(z) = f(-\overline{z})$$
(2.4)

transforms  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$  onto  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi)$ . Since  $\widetilde{R} = VR$ , this concludes the proof.

#### **3** A Paley–Wiener Theorem for the True Poly-Bergman Space

Let *j* be a nonzero integer. Then a complex smooth function *f* defined on a domain  $U \subset \mathbb{C}$  (non-empty, bounded and connected) and satisfying

$$\partial_{\overline{z}}^{J} f = 0, \quad j > 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \partial_{\overline{z}}^{-J} f = 0, \quad j < 0,$$

respectively, is said to be a *j*-analytic function on *U*. The poly-Bergman space  $\mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(U)$  consists of *j*-analytic functions on *U* which also belong to the Lebesgue space  $L^{2}(U, dA)$ . It is clear that  $f \in \mathcal{A}_{-j}^{2}(U)$  if and only if  $\overline{f} \in \mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(U)$ . Therefore, the space  $\mathcal{A}_{-j}^{2}(U)$  will also here be denoted by  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{j}^{2}(U)$ . It is known that evaluation functionals on  $\mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(U)$  are uniformly bounded within *U* (see, e.g. [5, 7]). Then, it easily follows that poly-Bergman spaces are Hilbert spaces. Moreover, based on [7, Proposition 2.3] we know that, for  $n, m = 0, 1, \ldots$  and  $z \in U$ , one has

$$\left|\partial_{z}^{n}\partial_{\overline{z}}^{m}f(z)\right| \leq \frac{M}{d_{z}^{n+m+1}} \|f\|, \quad f \in \mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(U),$$

$$(3.1)$$

where M > 0 is a constant only depending on n, m and j, and  $d_z$  is defined as the distance  $d_z = \text{dist}(z, \partial U)$ .

Let *S* denote the (unitary) Beurling–Ahlfors transform (see, e.g. [6]), i.e. *S* is defined to be the following two-dimensional singular integral operator

$$Sf(z) := -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{C}} \frac{f(w)}{(w-z)^2} dA(w), \quad f \in L^2(\mathbb{C}).$$

The compression of the Beurling–Ahlfors transform to  $L^2(\Pi)$  is denoted by  $S_{\Pi}$ , i.e.  $S_{\Pi} := \chi_{\Pi} S \chi_{\Pi} I$ , where  $\chi_{\Pi} I$  is the multiplication operator by the characteristic function  $\chi_{\Pi}$  of  $\Pi$ . It is known that the poly-Bergman projection, which is defined to be the orthogonal projection of  $L^2(\Pi)$  onto  $\mathcal{A}_j^2(\Pi)$ , is related to the singular integral operator  $S_{\Pi}$  through the so-called Dzhuraev's formulas. More precisely, if *j* is a positive integer, then we know (see [8] and [12]) that  $(S_{\Pi})^j$  is a partial isometry with initial and final spaces given by the orthogonal spaces of  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_j^2(\Pi)$  and of  $\mathcal{A}_j^2(\Pi)$ , respectively. Based on this fact, the following result (see Theorem 3.1 below) on unitary operators acting between the Bergman and the true poly-Bergman spaces was established in [3] by the first author jointly with Yu.I. Karlovich. N. Vasilevski gave a different proof in [12] based on methods that can be found in [11] (see also [10]). The true poly-Bergman spaces  $\mathcal{A}_{(j)}^2(\Pi)$  were introduced by N. Vasilevski in [11] and are defined by

$$\mathcal{A}^2_{(\pm 1)}(\Pi) := \mathcal{A}^2_{\pm 1}(\Pi) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}^2_{(j)}(\Pi) := \mathcal{A}^2_j(\Pi) \ominus \mathcal{A}^2_{j-\operatorname{sgn} j}(\Pi), \quad |j| > 1.$$

Clearly  $f \in \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(-j)}(U)$  if and only if  $\overline{f} \in \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(j)}(U)$ . Hence, as for the poly-Bergman space, the space  $\mathcal{A}^{2}_{(-i)}(U)$  will also here be denoted by  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}^{2}_{(i)}(U)$ .

**Theorem 3.1** [3, Theorem 2.4] (see also [12, Theorem 3.5] and [13]) Let *j* be a positive integer. Then the following operators are isometric isomorphisms

$$(S_{\Pi})^{j-1}: \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi) \to \mathcal{A}^2_{(j)}(\Pi) \quad and \quad \left(S^*_{\Pi}\right)^{j-1}: \bar{\mathcal{A}}^2(\Pi) \to \bar{\mathcal{A}}^2_{(j)}(\Pi).$$

In the following result we will prove that the natural powers of  $S_{\Pi}$  acting on the Bergman space coincide with a nice differential operator. For this propose we will use a special property of  $\Pi$  according to which the iterations of  $S_{\Pi}$  can be given as a singular integral operator with an explicit kernel. For a domain  $U \subset \mathbb{C}$  and for a nonzero integer *j*, we consider the following two-dimensional singular integral operator acting on  $L^2(U, dA)$ 

$$S_{U,j}f(z) := \frac{(-1)^{j}|j|}{\pi} \int_{U} \frac{(w-z)^{j-1}}{(\overline{w}-\overline{z})^{j+1}} f(w) dA(w).$$

From [8] (see also [4, Corollary 2.4]) we know that:

$$S_{\Pi,j} = (S_{\Pi}^*)^j$$
 and  $S_{\Pi,-j} = (S_{\Pi})^j$   $(j = 1, 2, ...).$  (3.2)

**Lemma 3.2** The set of functions which satisfy the following conditions

$$\psi \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Pi}) \cap \mathcal{A}^{2}(\Pi) \quad and \quad \psi(z) = \mathcal{O}(1/|z|^{2}), \quad as \ |z| \to +\infty$$
 (3.3)

is dense in  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$ , where  $\overline{\Pi}$  denotes the closure of the upper half-plane  $\Pi$ .

*Proof* Nonzero analytic functions do not admit a zero set with cluster points within  $\Pi$ . From the reproducing property of the Bergman kernel function  $K_{\Pi}(z, w)$  it follows that the orthogonal space to the set  $\{K_{\Pi,iy} : y > 1\}$  is the trivial space. Hence, its linear span is dense in  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$ . Since

$$K_{\Pi,w}(z) := K_{\Pi}(z,w) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{(z-\overline{w})^2},$$

for y > 1, the functions  $K_{\Pi,iy}(z)$  satisfy the conditions in (3.3).

**Theorem 3.3** Let *j* be a positive integer. Then it holds that

$$(S_{\Pi})^{j-1}\psi(z) = \frac{\partial_z^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}\psi(z)]}{(j-1)!}, \quad \psi \in \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi),$$
(3.4)

$$\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{j-1}\psi(z) = \frac{\partial_{\bar{z}}^{j-1}[(z-\bar{z})^{j-1}\psi(z)]}{(j-1)!}, \quad \psi \in \bar{\mathcal{A}}^{2}(\Pi).$$
(3.5)

*Proof* If j = 1, then the assertions are evident. Then, first we assume that j = 2, ... and that  $\psi \in A^2(\Pi)$  satisfies conditions (3.3). Let us define

$$D(z,r,\epsilon) := D(z,r) \setminus \overline{D}(z,\epsilon)$$
 and  $\Pi(z,r) := \Pi \cap D(z,r,1/r),$ 

where  $0 < \epsilon < r$  and D(z, r) denotes the disc centered at  $z \in \Pi$  with radius r > 0. It is easily seen that the following equalities hold:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{|z-w|=\epsilon} \frac{(\overline{w}-\overline{z})^{j-1}}{(w-z)^j} \psi(w) dw = \lim_{r \to +\infty} \int_{\Pi \cap \partial D(z,r)} \frac{(\overline{w}-\overline{z})^{j-1}}{(w-z)^j} \psi(w) dw = 0.$$

Hence, from (3.2) together with the well known Green's formula

$$\int_{U} \partial_{\overline{w}} u(w) dA(w) = \frac{1}{2i} \int_{\partial U} u(w) dw, \quad u \in C^{1}(\overline{U}),$$

where U is a bounded finitely connected domain with piecewise smooth boundary, we obtain

$$(S_{\Pi})^{j-1}\psi(z) = \frac{(-1)^{j-1}}{\pi} \lim_{r \to +\infty} \int_{\Pi(z,r)} \partial_{\overline{w}} \left[ \frac{(\overline{w} - \overline{z})^{j-1}\psi(w)}{(w-z)^j} \right] dA(w)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{(\overline{z} - t)^{j-1}\psi(t)}{(t-z)^j} dt = \frac{\partial_z^{j-1}[(\overline{z} - z)^{j-1}\psi(z)]}{(j-1)!}.$$
(3.6)

Let now  $\psi \in A^2(\Pi)$  be arbitrary. From Lemma 3.2 we know that there exists a sequence of functions  $\psi_n \in A^2(\Pi)$  that satisfy conditions (3.3) and such that  $\psi_n$  converges in the norm of  $L^2(\Pi)$  to  $\psi$ . Convergence in the norm implies weak convergence, and by (3.1) we know that the latter implies the uniform convergence of

all derivatives within  $\Pi$ . Now, we just apply the last equality in (3.6) to the sequence of functions  $\psi_n$ , and easily obtain that

$$(S_{\Pi})^{j-1}\psi(z) = \lim_{n} (S_{\Pi})^{j-1}\psi_{n}(z) = \lim_{n} \frac{\partial_{z}^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}\psi_{n}(z)]}{(j-1)!}$$
$$= \frac{\partial_{z}^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}\psi(z)]}{(j-1)!}.$$

We have proved (3.4). For the remaining part we note the following relations

$$\left(S_{\Pi}^{*}\right)^{j-1} = V(S_{\Pi})^{j-1}V$$
 and  $\partial_{z}^{j-1}V\varphi = (-1)^{j-1}V\partial_{\overline{z}}^{j-1}\varphi$ ,

where *V* is the unitary operator defined by (2.4) and  $\varphi$  is a smooth function. Since, the operator *V* transforms  $\overline{A}^2(\Pi)$  onto  $\mathcal{A}^2(\Pi)$ , then (3.5) follows straightforwardly from (3.4) and the above relations.

In the next result we state a Paley–Wiener theorem for the true poly-Bergman spaces. In essence we will show that the operators

$$R_{(j)} := (S_{\Pi})^{j-1} R$$
 and  $\widetilde{R}_{(j)} := (S_{\Pi}^*)^{j-1} \widetilde{R}$   $(j = 1, 2, ...)$ 

are unitary operators from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  onto  $\mathcal{A}^2_{(j)}(\Pi)$  and onto  $\bar{\mathcal{A}}^2_{(j)}(\Pi)$ , respectively. We will manage this with the help of the Laguerre polynomials

$$L_n(z) := \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} z^k, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

**Theorem 3.4** Let *j* be a positive integer. Then the following operators

$$R_{(j)}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^+) \to \mathcal{A}^2_{(j)}(\Pi), \qquad R_{(j)}f(z) = \frac{\partial_z^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}Rf(z)]}{(j-1)!}, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$\widetilde{R}_{(j)}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^+) \to \overline{\mathcal{A}}_{(j)}^2(\Pi), \qquad \widetilde{R}_{(j)}f(z) = \frac{\partial_{\overline{z}}^{j-1}[(z-\overline{z})^{j-1}\widetilde{R}f(z)]}{(j-1)!}$$
(3.8)

are isometric isomorphisms. Furthermore, if  $y := (z - \overline{z})/(2i)$  then

$$R_{(j)}f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} y^k \varphi_k(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} L_k(y) \phi_k(z),$$
(3.9)

$$\widetilde{R}_{(j)}f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} y^k \varphi_k(-\overline{z}) = \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} L_k(y) \phi_k(-\overline{z}),$$
(3.10)

where the analytic components  $\varphi_k$  and  $\varphi_k$  satisfy the following conditions

$$\varphi_k = F_{2k}^c f_k \in \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi, dA_{2k}) \quad and \quad \phi_k = F_{2j-2}^c h_k \in \mathcal{A}^2(\Pi, dA_{2j-2}), \quad (3.11)$$

and, for k = 0, ..., j - 1, the functions  $f_k$  and  $h_k$  are respectively given by

$$f_k(t) := (-1)^{j-1+k} {j-1 \choose k} \frac{\sqrt{(2k)!}}{k!} \sqrt{t^{2k+1}} f(t), \qquad (3.12)$$

$$h_k(t) := (-1)^k \binom{j-1}{k} \sqrt{(2j-2)!} \sqrt{t^{2k+1}} (t-1/2)^{j-1-k} f(t).$$
(3.13)

*Proof* The assertion that the operators defined by (3.7) and (3.8) are unitary operators follows from Theorems 2.2, 3.1 and 3.3. Moreover, from (3.7), (2.2) and the derivative of the parametric integral, we obtain

$$R_{(j)}f(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^{+\infty} \sqrt{t} f(t) \frac{\partial_z^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}e^{izt}]}{(j-1)!} dt.$$
(3.14)

Then, since we can compute straightforwardly

$$\frac{\partial_{z}^{j-1}[(\overline{z}-z)^{j-1}e^{izt}]}{(j-1)!} = e^{izt} \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} {j-1 \choose k} \frac{(-1)^{j+k-1}}{k!} [it(\overline{z}-z)]^k$$
(3.15)

$$= (-1)^{j-1} e^{izt} L_{j-1} (it(\overline{z} - z)), \qquad (3.16)$$

where  $L_{j-1}$  is the Laguerre polynomial of degree j-1, the first equality at (3.9), the relations on the left of (3.11) and (3.12) follow from (3.15) together with (3.14). Moreover, based on the following special case of generating relations for Laguerre polynomials (see, e.g. [9, Chap. 12])

$$L_n(\lambda z) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} (1-\lambda)^{n-k} \lambda^k L_k(z), \quad \lambda \neq 0,$$

we can conclude that the second equality at (3.9), the relations on the right of (3.11) and (3.13) follow from (3.16) together with (3.14). The case when *j* is negative follows from the above and from the following operator equalities

$$\widetilde{R}_{(j)} = \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^{j-1} \widetilde{R} = \left(S_{\Pi}^*\right)^{j-1} V R = V(S_{\Pi})^{j-1} R = V R_{(j)}.$$

## 4 Paley–Wiener Type Theorems for the Poly-Bergman Space

Let *j* be a positive integer,  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space and  $[\mathcal{H}]_j$  denote the Hilbert space of all  $j \times 1$  matrices  $(f_k)_k$  with entries in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Since the poly-Bergman space coincides

with the direct sum of its true poly-Bergman spaces, i.e.

$$\mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(\Pi) = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{j} \mathcal{A}_{(k)}^{2}(\Pi) \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{j}^{2}(\Pi) = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{j} \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{(k)}^{2}(\Pi),$$

then the next result is a straightforward consequence of Theorem 3.4.

**Theorem 4.1** For j = 1, 2, ..., the following operators are unitary operators

$$R_{j}: [L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+})]_{j} \to \mathcal{A}_{j}^{2}(\Pi), \qquad R_{j}(f_{k})_{k}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{J} R_{(k)} f_{k}(z),$$
$$\widetilde{R}_{j}: [L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+})]_{j} \to \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{j}^{2}(\Pi), \qquad \widetilde{R}_{j}(f_{k})_{k}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{j} \widetilde{R}_{(k)} f_{k}(z).$$

It is well known that a function defined in  $\mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi)$  admits non-tangential limits almost at every point  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , i.e. the following function of real variable

 $f(t) := \lim_{z \to t} f(z)$  whenever  $\Pi \ni z \to t \in \mathbb{R}$  nontangentially

is well defined, for almost every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $f(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Moreover, the real Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{B}(L^2(\mathbb{R}))$  defined in the following way

$$\mathcal{F}f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(t)e^{-ixt}dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

is isometric from  $\mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi)$  onto  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ , i.e. the following operator is unitary

$$\mathcal{F}: \mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^+).$$

Thus, from Theorem 4.1 we can conclude the following result.

**Theorem 4.2** For j = 1, 2, ..., the following operators are unitary operators

$$\begin{split} W_j : \left[\mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi)\right]_j &\to \mathcal{A}^2_j(\Pi), \qquad W_j(f_k)_k(z) = \sum_{k=1}^j R_{(k)} \mathcal{F} f_k(z), \\ \widetilde{W}_j : \left[\mathcal{A}^2_{\partial}(\Pi)\right]_j &\to \bar{\mathcal{A}}^2_j(\Pi), \qquad \widetilde{W}_j(f_k)_k(z) = \sum_{k=1}^j \widetilde{R}_{(k)} \mathcal{F} f_k(z). \end{split}$$

## References

 L.D. Abreu, Super-wavelets versus poly-Bergman spaces. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 73, 177– 193 (2012)

- P. Duren, E.A. Gallardo-Guitíerrez, A. Montes-Rodrígues, A Paley–Wiener theorem for Bergman spaces with application to invariant subspaces. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 39, 459–466 (2007)
- Yu.I. Karlovich, L.V. Pessoa, C\*-algebras of Bergman type operators with piecewise continuous coefficients. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 57, 521–565 (2007)
- Yu.I. Karlovich, L.V. Pessoa, Poly-Bergman projections and orthogonal decompositions of L<sup>2</sup>-spaces over bounded domains. Oper. Theory, Adv. Appl. 181, 263–282 (2008)
- A.D. Koshelev, On the kernel function of the Hilbert space of functions polyanalytic in a disc. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 232, 277–279 (1977). Translation
- 6. S.G. Mikhlin, S. Prössdorf, Singular Integral Operators (Springer, Berlin, 1986)
- L.V. Pessoa, Dzhuraev's formulas and poly-Bergman kernels on domains Möbius equivalent to a disk. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 7, 193–220 (2013)
- L.V. Pessoa, The method of variation of the domain for poly-Bergman spaces. Math. Nachr. 17–18, 1850–1862 (2013)
- 9. E.D. Rainville, Special Functions (Macmillan Co., New York, 1960)
- J. Ramírez, I.M. Spitkovsky, On the algebra generated by the poly-Bergman projection and a composition operator, in *Proceedings of the Conference in Honour of Professor Georgii Litvinchuk*. Factorization Singular Operators and Related Problems Series (Kluwer, Dordrecht, 2003), pp. 273–289
- N.L. Vasilevski, On the structure of Bergman and poly-Bergman spaces. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 33, 471–488 (1999)
- N.L. Vasilevski, Poly-Bergman spaces and two-dimensional singular integral operators. Oper. Theory, Adv. Appl. 171, 349–359 (2006)
- N.L. Vasilevski, in Commutative Algebras of Toeplitz Operators on the Bergman Space. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 185 (2008)

# Fredholm Theory of Pseudodifferential Operators Acting in Variable Exponent Spaces of Bessel Potentials on Smooth Manifolds

Vladimir Rabinovich

**Abstract** The paper is devoted to the of Fredholm property of pseudodifferential operators acting in the spaces of Bessel potentials connected with variable exponent Lebesgue spaces on smooth compact manifolds and non compact manifolds with conical structure at infinity.

### 1 Introduction

The paper is devoted to an overview of some results of the papers [10, 11] concerning the local and global Fredholmness of pseudodifferential operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  acting in the spaces of Bessel potentials connected with variable exponent Lebesgue spaces, and applications of these results to the investigation of the Fredholm property of pseudodifferential operators acting in the spaces of Bessel potentials with variable exponents on smooth compact and noncompact manifolds.

It should be noted that the last decade there arose a big interest to investigations of the classical operators of the analysis: singular and maximal operators, Hardy operators, pseudodifferential operators in the variable exponent Lebesgue spaces. See for instance the book [3], papers [4–7] and references cited there. See also the paper [10] devoted to boundedness and compactness of pseudodifferential operators in the L. Hörmander class  $OPS_{1,0}^0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and their Fredholm properties in weighted variable exponent Lebesgue spaces  $L_w^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  where w is an exponential weight, and the paper [11] where the results of [10] where applied to investigations of the Fredholm property of singular integral operators on composed Carleson curves  $\Gamma$ acting in weighted variable exponent Lebesgue spaces  $L_w^{p(\cdot)}(\Gamma)$ .

Our aim here is to show that the Fredholm theory of pseudodifferential operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  obtained in [10] can be extended on pseudodifferential operators acting in Bessel potential spaces  $H^{s, p(\cdot)}(M)$  where M are compact smooth manifolds or a non compact smooth manifolds of conical structure at infinity.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V. Rabinovich (🖂)

National Polytechnic Institute, Av. Ipn, Esime Zacatenco, 07738 Mexico, D.F., Mexico e-mail: vladimir.rabinovich@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_67

### 2 Pseudodifferential Operators

We will use the standard notations: C<sup>∞</sup>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) ⊃ C<sup>∞</sup><sub>b</sub>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) ⊃ S(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) ⊃ C<sup>∞</sup><sub>0</sub>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) for spaces of infinitely differentiable functions, infinitely differentiable functions bounded with all derivatives, infinitely differentiable functions decreasing at infinitely differentiable functions with all derivatives, and for infinitely differentiable functions with compact supports on ℝ<sup>n</sup>, respectively. We denote by SO<sup>∞</sup>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) the subspace of C<sup>∞</sup><sub>b</sub>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) of slowly oscillating functions, that is functions u ∈ C<sup>∞</sup><sub>b</sub>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) such that

$$\lim_{x\to\infty}\partial_{x_j}u(x)=0, \quad j=1,\ldots,n.$$

- If *X*, *Y* are Banach spaces, we denote by  $\mathcal{B}(X, Y)$  the space of all bounded linear operators acting from *X* into *Y*, and by  $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$  the subspace of  $\mathcal{B}(X, Y)$  of all compact operators. If *X* = *Y* we will write  $\mathcal{B}(X)$ ,  $\mathcal{K}(X)$ , respectively.
- We say that a function *a* is a symbol in the L. Hörmander class  $S_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_x \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\varepsilon})$ , and

$$|a|_{r,t} = \max_{|\alpha| \le r, |\beta| \le t} \sup_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} \left| \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{x}^{\beta} a(x,\xi) \right| \langle \xi \rangle^{-(m-|\alpha|)} < \infty$$
(1)

for all  $r, t \in \mathbb{N} \cup 0$ . As usual, we associate with a symbol  $a \in S_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  a pseudodifferential operator defined on the space  $C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by the formula

$$Op(a)u(x) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} d\xi \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x,\xi)u(y)e^{i(x-y,\xi)}dy$$
(2)

and we denote the class of such operators by  $OPS_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . For the standard property of pseudodifferential operators see for instance the book [12].

• A symbol  $a \in S_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is called slowly oscillating at infinity if for all multiindeces  $\alpha, \beta$ 

$$\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{x}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right| \le C_{\alpha\beta}(x)\langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\alpha|},\tag{3}$$

where  $\lim_{x\to\infty} C_{\alpha\beta}(x) = 0$  for every  $\alpha$  and  $\beta \neq 0$ . We denote by  $SO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the class of slowly oscillating symbols, and by  $\mathring{S}_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the class of symbols for which conditions (3) hold for all multiindices  $\alpha, \beta$ . We use the notations  $OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $OP\mathring{S}_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for the classes of operators with symbols in  $SO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\mathring{S}_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , respectively.

• Let p be a measurable function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $p : \mathbb{R}^n \to (1, \infty)$ . The generalized Lebesgue space with variable exponent is defined via the modular

$$I^{p}(f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| f(x) \right|^{p(x)} dx \tag{4}$$

by the norm

$$||f||_{p(\cdot)} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: I^p\left(\frac{f}{\lambda}\right) \le 1\right\}.$$

In what follows we assume that p satisfies the conditions

$$1 < p_{-} := \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} p(x) \le \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} p(x) =: p_{+} < \infty,$$
  
$$\left| p(x) - p(y) \right| \le \frac{A}{\log \frac{1}{|x-y|}}, \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \ |x-y| \le \frac{1}{2},$$
  
$$\left| p(x) - p(\infty) \right| \le \frac{A}{\log \frac{1}{1+|x|}}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

The class of  $p(\cdot)$  satisfying these properties is denoted by  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and we set  $p'(x) = \frac{p(x)}{p(x)-1}$ .

**Definition 1** We say that a distribution  $u \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  belongs to  $H^{s, p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if

$$\|u\|_{H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|\langle D \rangle^s u\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty,$$

where  $\langle D \rangle^s = Op(\langle \xi \rangle^s), \langle \xi \rangle = (1 + |\xi|^2)^{1/2}.$ 

There are other definitions of the space  $H^{s, p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see for instance the book [3], and the papers [1, 2]).

**Theorem 2** [10] Let  $p \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then: (i) An operator  $Op(a) \in OPS_{1,0}^m$  is bounded from  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; (ii) An operator  $Op(a) \in OP\mathring{S}_{1,0}^{m-\varepsilon}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  is a compact operator from  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

## **3** Local and Global Fredholm Property of Operators in $OPS_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ Acting at the Spaces $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

## 3.1 Local Fredholmness

- Let U be a neighborhood of the point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We say that  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a smooth characteristic function of a neighborhood U, if there exists a neighbourhood U' of the point  $x_0$  such that  $\overline{U}' \subset U$ ,  $0 \le \phi(x) \le 1$ , and  $\phi(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in \overline{U}'$ .
- We say that an operator  $A \in \mathcal{B}(H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n), H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is locally Fredholm at the point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  if there exists a neighborhood  $U_{x_0}$  of the point  $x_0$ , a smooth characteristic function  $\phi$  of a neighborhood  $U_{x_0}$  and operators  $\mathcal{R}_{x_0}, \mathcal{L}_{x_0} \in \mathcal{B}(H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n), H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{x_0} A \phi I = \phi I + T'_{x_0}, \qquad \phi A \mathcal{R}_{x_0} = \phi I + T''_{x_0}, \tag{5}$$

where  $T'_{x_0} \in \mathcal{K}(H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)), T''_{x_0} \in \mathcal{K}(H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)).$ 

**Theorem 3** An operator  $Op(a) \in OPS_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  acting from  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally Fredhom at the point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  if and only if

$$\liminf_{\xi \to \infty} \left| a(x_0, \xi) \right| \langle \xi \rangle^{-m} > 0.$$
(6)

• We denote by  $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  the compactification of the space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  obtained by joining an infinitely distant point  $\eta_\omega$  to every ray  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : x = t\omega, t > 0, \omega \in S^{n-1}\}$ . The fundamental system of neighborhoods at an infinitely distant point  $\eta_\omega$  forms the conical neighborhoods

$$U_{\eta_{\omega}} = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : x = r\theta : r > a > 0, \theta \in \Omega_{\omega} \right\}$$
(7)

where  $\Omega_{\omega}$  is a neighborhood of the point  $\omega$  on the unit sphere. We denote by  $\mathfrak{M} = \tilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \setminus \mathbb{R}^n$  the set of all infinitely distant point of  $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ .

Let U<sub>ηω</sub> be a neighborhood of the infinitely distant point η<sub>ω</sub>. We say that φ ∈ C<sup>∞</sup><sub>b</sub>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>) is a smooth characteristic function of a neighborhood U<sub>ηω</sub>, if there exists a neighborhood U'<sub>ηω</sub> of the point η<sub>ω</sub> such that Ū'<sub>ηω</sub> ⊂ U<sub>ηω</sub>, 0 ≤ φ(x) ≤ 1, and φ(x) = 1 for all x ∈ Ū'. As above we define the local Fredholmness of the operator A ∈ B(H<sup>s,p(·)</sup>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>), H<sup>s-m,p(·)</sup>(ℝ<sup>n</sup>)) at the infinitely distant point η<sub>ω</sub>.

**Theorem 4** An operator  $Op(a) \in OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  acting from  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally Fredholm at infinitly distant point  $\eta_{\omega}$  if and only if

$$\liminf_{x \to \eta_{\omega}} \inf_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} |a(x,\xi)| \langle \xi \rangle^{-m} > 0.$$
(8)

The main result on the Fredholmness of pseudodifferential operators in the class  $OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  on the variable exponent Bessel potential spaces is:

**Theorem 5** Let  $Op(a) \in OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then  $Op(a): H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a Fredholm operator if and only if:

- (i) for every point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  condition (6) holds;
- (ii) for every point  $\eta_{\omega} \in \mathfrak{M}$  condition (8) holds.

If conditions (6), (8) hold then

$$\ker\left(Op(a): H^{s, p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to H^{s-m, p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right) \subset S(\mathbb{R}^n),\tag{9}$$

$$\ker\left(Op(a)^*: H^{-s, p'(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to H^{-s-m, p'(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right) \subset S(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(10)

Hence the Fredholm index  $Op(a) : H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  coincides with a Fredholm index of  $Op(a) : H^{s,2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to H^{s-m,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Remark* 6 Let  $Op(a) \in OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be a differential operator and conditions (6), (8) hold. Then the functions  $u \in \ker(Op(a))$  have subexponential decreasing at in-

finity, that is, for every  $\delta > 0$ ,  $r \in (0, 1)$ , and for every multiindex  $\alpha$ 

 $\left|\partial^{\alpha} u(x)\right| \leq C_{\alpha} \exp\left(-\delta |x|^{r}\right).$ 

#### 4 Pseudodifferential Operators on Smooth Manifolds

### 4.1 Compact Manifolds

Let *M* be a  $C^{\infty}$  compact closed *n*-dimensional manifold. We denote by  $C^{\infty}(M)$ ,  $C_0^{\infty}(M)$  the spaces of all smooth functions on *M* and a subspace of all smooth functions with compact supports. If *X* is some chart in *M* and  $\varkappa : X \to X' \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is a diffeomorphism then  $\varkappa^* : C_0^{\infty}(X') \to C_0^{\infty}(X), \, \varkappa^* : C^{\infty}(X') \to C^{\infty}(X)$  are blow-up of the diffeomorphism  $\varkappa$ . We introduce also the operators of the natural embedding  $i_X : C_0^{\infty}(X) \to C_0^{\infty}(M)$  and natural restrictions  $r_X : C^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(X)$ .

An operator  $A: C_0^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(M)$  is called a pseudodifferential operator of the class  $OPS_{1,0}^m(M)$  if for every *chart* diffeomorphism  $\varkappa : X \to X'(X$  is not necessary connected set) the operator  $\varkappa^{*-1}r_XAi_X\varkappa^*: C_0^{\infty}(X') \to C^{\infty}(X')$  is a restriction on X' by a pseudodifferential operator in the class  $OPS_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see for instance [12], p. 36). The theorem of the change of variable for pseudodifferential operators allows to define the main symbol  $\sigma_A$  of  $A \in OPS_{1,0}^m(M)$  as a function on the cotangent bundle  $T^*(M)$ . Let  $\{\eta_j\}_{j=1}^N$  be a partition of unity on M corresponding to a covering of M by the system  $\{X_j\}_{j=1}^N$  of charts  $\varkappa_j : X_j \to X'_j \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . By means of the partition of unity  $\{\eta_j\}_{j=1}^N, \eta_j \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$  on M one can introduce the spaces  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(M)$ :

$$||u||_{H^{s,p(\cdot)}(M)} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} ||(\eta_{j}u) \circ \varkappa_{j}^{-1}||_{H^{s,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty.$$

Note that the different partitions of unity lead to equivalent norms.

**Theorem 7** An operator  $A \in OPS_{1,0}^m(M)$  is Fredholm from  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(M)$  into  $H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(M)$  if and only if

$$\sigma_A(x,\xi) \neq 0 \quad \text{for all } (x,\xi) \in T^*(M) \setminus (M \times \{0\}).$$

If the previous condition holds, then

$$\ker \left( A : H^{s, p(\cdot)}(M) \to H^{s-m, p(\cdot)}(M) \right) \subset C^{\infty}(M),$$
$$\ker \left( A^* : H^{-s, p'(\cdot)}(M) \to H^{-s-m, p'(\cdot)}(M) \right) \subset C^{\infty}(M).$$

Hence the classical theory of pseudodifferential operators on compact smooth manifolds is transferred on pseudodifferential operators acting in  $H^{s,p(\cdot)}(M)$ .

The proof of Theorem 7 is based on a finite partition of unity, coordinate diffeomorphisms, and the local Fredholmness condition given in Theorem 3.

### 4.2 Non Compact Manifolds

Non compact manifolds and pseudodifferential operators on them considered below were introduced in [8] (see also [9]) where their Fredhom theory in the spaces  $H^{s,p}$ ,  $p \in (1, \infty)$  has been constructed.

- We say that a C<sup>∞</sup> manifold M belongs to the class N(n) if M admits a compactification M̃ = M ∪ M<sub>∞</sub> by a set M<sub>∞</sub> of infinitely distant points. We suppose that a fundamental system of neighborhoods of an infinitely distant point ζ ∈ M<sub>∞</sub> is given by open sets Ũ ⊂ M̃ such that there exists a homeomorphism ×: Ũ → Ũ' where U' is an open conical set (U' = {x ∈ ℝ<sup>n</sup> : x = tω, t > R > 0, ω ∈ Ω}), Ω is an open set on the unit sphere S<sup>n</sup> ⊂ ℝ<sup>n+1</sup>, and Ũ' is the closure of U′ in ℝ̃<sup>n</sup>.
- We say that a homeomorphism  $\tilde{\varkappa}: \tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}' \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is an  $M_{\infty}$ -chart if  $\tilde{X} \cap M_{\infty} \neq \emptyset$ , and  $\tilde{X}'$  is a closure of an open conic set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\tilde{\varkappa}|_X = \varkappa: X \to X'$  are diffeomorphisms with the following property: if  $\varkappa_1: X_1 \to X'_1, \varkappa_2: X_2 \to X'_2$ , where  $X'_1 \cap X'_2 \neq \emptyset$  then

$$d(\varkappa_{1} \circ \varkappa_{2}^{-1}) \in SO^{\infty}(X'_{1} \cap X'_{2}) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{n}),$$
  
$$d(\varkappa_{2} \circ \varkappa_{1}^{-1}) \in SO^{\infty}(X'_{1} \cap X'_{2}) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$
 (11)

One can see that  $\tilde{M}$  is a Hausdorf compact space. By the definition of the manifolds  $M \in \mathfrak{N}(n)$  there exists a finite covering of  $\tilde{M}$  by charts of two types: (i)  $\varkappa : X \to X'$ , where  $X' \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is a bounded open set; (ii)  $\varkappa : X \to X'$ , where X' is an open conical set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (not necessary connected).

A typical example of such manifold is a smooth *n*-dimensional surface  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ with a conical structure at infinity, that is such that  $M \cap \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : |x| > R > 0\} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : x = t\omega, t > R, \omega \in \Omega\}$  for some R > 0, where  $\Omega$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  closed n - 1dimensional surface on the unit sphere  $S^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

**Definition 8** We say that *A* is a pseudodifferential operator of the class  $OPSO_{1,0}^m(M), M \in \mathfrak{N}(n)$  if for every above defined charts  $\varkappa : X \to X'$  the operator  $\varkappa^{*-1}r_XAi_X\varkappa^* : C_0^{\infty}(X') \to C^{\infty}(X')$  is a restriction on X' of a pseudodifferential operator in the class  $OPSO_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Theorem 9** Let  $A \in OPSO_{1,0}^m(M)$ . Then  $A : H^{s,p(\cdot)}(M) \to H^{s-m,p(\cdot)}(M)$  is a Fredholm operator if and only if:

(i) The main symbol  $\sigma_A(x,\xi) \neq 0$  for every points  $(x,\xi) \in T^*(M) \setminus (M \times \{0\});$ 

(ii) Let  $\zeta \in M_{\infty}$ ,  $\tilde{X}$  be a coordinate neighborhood of  $\zeta$ ,  $\tilde{\varkappa} : \tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}'$  be a coordinate homomorphism,  $\tilde{\varkappa}(\zeta) = \eta \in \tilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , and

$$\varkappa^{*-1} r_X A i_X \varkappa^* = O p(a_{\varkappa}),$$

 $a_{\varkappa} \in SO_{1,0}^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$ Then for every point  $\zeta \in M_{\infty}$ 

$$\liminf_{x \to \eta} \inf_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left| a_{\varkappa}(x,\xi) \right| > 0.$$
(12)

*Remark 10* One can proof that condition (12) independent of a choice of the chart.

The proof of Theorem 9 is based on the finite partition of unity and the local Fredholmness criteria of Theorems 3, 4.

*Remark 11* Of course the results of Theorems 7, 9 are extended on pseudodifferential operators acting in sections of smooth vector bundles belonging to the variable exponent spaces of Bessel potentials over manifolds M.

#### References

- A. Almeida, P. Hästö, Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. J. Funct. Anal. 258(5), 1628–1655 (2010)
- A. Almeida, S. Samko, Characterization of Riez and Bessel potentials on variable Lebesgue spaces. J. Funct. Spaces Appl. 4(2), 113–144 (2006)
- L. Diening, P. Harjulehto, P. Hästö, M. Růžička, Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces with Variable Exponents. Springer Lecture Notes, vol. 2017 (Springer, Berlin, 2011)
- O. Kováčik, J. Rákosník, On spaces L<sup>p(.)</sup> and W<sup>1</sup>, p(.). Czechoslov. Math. J. 41(116), 592–618 (1991)
- 5. V. Kokilashvili, S. Samko, Singular integral equations in the Lebesgue spaces with variable exponent, in *Proceedings of A. Razmadze Math. Inst.*, vol. 131 (2003), pp. 61–78
- V. Kokilashvili, S. Samko, Weighted boundedness in Lebesgue spaces with variable exponents of classical operators on Carleson curves, in *Proc. A. Razmadze Math. Inst.*, vol. 138 (2005), pp. 106–110
- V. Kokilashvili, S. Samko, The maximal operator in weighted variable exponent spaces on metric spaces. Georgian Math. J. 15(4), 683–712 (2008)
- V.S. Rabinovich, Pseudodifferential operators on a class of non compact manifolds. Sb. Math. 89(131), 47–60 (1971), No. 1. English translation: Math. USSR Sb. 18, 45–59 (1972), No. 1
- V.S. Rabinovich, Fredholmness of the boundary value problems on non compact manifolds and limit operators. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 325, 237–241 (1992), No. 2. English translation: Russ. Akad. Sci. Dokl. Math. 46 (1993), No. 153-58
- V. Rabinovich, S. Samko, Boundedness and Fredholmness of pseudodifferential operators in variable exponent spaces, in *Integr. Equat. Oper. Theory*, vol. 60 (Birkhäuser, Switzerland, 2008), pp. 507–537, No. 4. doi:10.1007/s00020-008-1566-9
- V. Rabinovich, S. Samko, Pseudodifferential operators approach to singular integral operators in weighted variable exponent Lebesgue spaces on Carleson curves. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 69, 405–444 (2011)
- M.A. Shubin, *Pseudodifferential Operators and Spectral Theory*, 2nd edn. (Springer, Berlin, 2001)

# Part XI Differential and Difference Equations with Applications

Organizers: Leonid Berezansky, Josef Diblik, Agacik Zafer, Miroslawa Zima

# **Boundary Value Problems for the Radiative Transfer Equation with Reflection and Refraction Conditions**

A.A. Amosov

**Abstract** The paper contains a brief description of some new results about the boundary value problems for the radiative transfer equation with the reflection and refraction conditions.

Keywords Radiative transfer equation · Reflection and refraction conditions

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 35Q60 · Secondary 35Q20

## 1 Introduction

We consider the monochromatic radiative transfer in the system  $G = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} G_j$  of semitransparent bodies  $G_j$  separated by the vacuum. Each body  $G_j$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with boundary  $\partial G_j \in C^1$ . We assume that  $G_i$  and  $G_j$  are pairwise disjoint, whereas their boundaries can intersect for some  $i \neq j$ . Let  $\Omega = \{\omega \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |\omega| = 1\}$  be a sphere of directions. The sought function  $I(\omega, x)$  is defined on the set  $D = \Omega \times G$  and is interpreted as the radiation intensity at a point  $x \in G$  when the radiation propagates along the direction  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Assume that each  $G_j$  is occupied by a medium with constant absorption  $\varkappa_j > 0$  and scattering  $s_j \ge 0$  coefficients and the refraction exponent  $k_j > 1$ . We set  $\varkappa(x) = \varkappa_j$ ,  $s(x) = s_j$  and  $k(x) = k_j$  for  $x \in G_j$ . To describe the radiation propagation in G, we use the radiative transfer equation

$$\omega \cdot \nabla I + (\varkappa + s)I = s\mathcal{S}(I) + k^2 F, \quad (\omega, x) \in D,$$

where  $\omega \cdot \nabla I$  denotes the derivative of a function I along the direction  $\omega$  and S denotes the scattering operator

$$\mathcal{S}(I)(\omega, x) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\Omega} \theta_j (\omega \cdot \omega') I(\omega', x) d\omega', \quad (\omega, x) \in D_j = \Omega \times G_j, \ 1 \le j \le m,$$

A.A. Amosov (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work is supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (grant No. 13-01-00201).

Moscow Power Engineering Institute, National Research University,

<sup>14,</sup> Krasnokazarmennaya St., Moscow 111250, Russia

e-mail: AmosovAA@mpei.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_68

with the scattering indicatrix possessing the following properties:

$$\theta_j \in L^1(-1, 1), \ \theta_j \ge 0, \quad \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^1 \theta_j(\mu) d\mu = 1.$$

The mathematical properties of the radiative transfer equation were studied by many authors; see for example [1-3]. The most studied problems in this relation are boundary value problems for this equation with the continuity condition for the radiation intensity imposed on the interface between media with different optic properties. In this case, the radiation passes through the interface without changing direction and intensity. In some applications (for example, the theory of neutron transfer), such conditions are justified from the physical point of view. However, in many applications (for example, optics, tomography, thermal physics), the reflection and refraction of radiation at the interface between media should be taken into account. The boundary value problems for the radiative transfer equation with the reflection and refraction conditions are still studied unsatisfactory, in spite of their importance. Some problems of such type were treated in [2, 4]. Problems for the radiative transfer equation with the reflection and refraction with the reflection and refraction studied in [5, 6].

This paper contains a brief description of some new results [7–9] about the boundary value problems for the radiative transfer equation with the reflection and refraction conditions.

#### 2 Notations and Function Spaces

Let  $x \cdot y = \sum_{i=1}^{3} x_i y_i$  be the inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and let  $n_j$  be the outward normal to the boundary  $\partial G_j$  of the domain  $G_j$ . We set

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma = \Omega \times \partial G = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma_{j}, \quad \Gamma_{j} = \Omega \times \partial G_{j}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ &\Gamma^{-} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma_{j}^{-}, \quad \Gamma_{j}^{-} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j} \mid \omega \cdot n_{j}(x) < 0 \right\}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ &\Gamma^{+} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \quad \Gamma_{j}^{+} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j} \mid \omega \cdot n_{j}(x) > 0 \right\}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m. \end{split}$$

Assume that the measure  $d\Gamma(\omega, x) = d\omega d\sigma(x)$  is introduced on  $\Gamma$ . Here  $d\omega$  and  $d\sigma(x)$  are the measures induced by the Lebesgue measure in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  on  $\Omega$  and  $\partial G$  respectively.

Let  $1 \le p \le \infty$  and  $E^{\pm}$  be a subset of  $\Gamma^{\pm}$ , measurable with respect to the measure  $d\Gamma$ . We denote by  $\widehat{L}^p(E^{\pm})$  and  $\widehat{L}^{1,p}(E^{\pm})$  the Banach spaces of functions g

defined on  $E^{\pm}$ , measurable with respect to the measure  $d\Gamma$  and (after extending them by zero to  $\Gamma^{\pm} \setminus E^{\pm}$ ) possess the finite norms

$$\|g\|_{\widehat{L}^{p}(E^{\pm})} = \begin{cases} (\sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{\Gamma_{j}^{\pm}} |g(\omega, x)|^{p} |\omega \cdot n_{j}(x)| d\omega d\sigma(x))^{1/p}, & 1 \le p < \infty, \\ ess \sup_{(\omega, x) \in E} |g(\omega, x)|, & p = \infty, \end{cases}$$
$$\|g\|_{\widehat{L}^{1,p}(E^{\pm})} = \begin{cases} (\sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{\partial G_{j}} [\int_{\Omega_{j}^{\pm}(x)} |g(\omega, x)| |\omega \cdot n_{j}(x)| d\omega]^{p} d\sigma(x))^{1/p}, \\ 1 \le p < \infty, \\ \max_{1 \le j \le m} ess \sup_{x \in \partial G_{j}} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{\pm}(x)} |g(\omega, x)| |\omega \cdot n_{j}(x)| d\omega, \\ p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Hereinafter,

$$\Omega_j^+(x) = \big\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \omega \cdot n_j(x) > 0 \big\}, \qquad \Omega_j^-(x) = \big\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \omega \cdot n_j(x) < 0 \big\}.$$

We denote by  $L^p(D)$  the Banach space of functions f defined on D and measurable with respect to the measure  $d\omega dx$  with the finite norm

$$\|f\|_{L^p(D)} = \begin{cases} (\int_D |f(\omega, x)|^p d\omega dx)^{1/p}, & 1 \le p < \infty, \\ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(\omega, x) \in D} |f(\omega, x)|, & p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

We denote by  $W^p(D)$  the Banach space of functions  $f \in L^p(D)$  possessing the weak derivative  $\omega \cdot \nabla f \in L^p(D)$  equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{W}^{p}(D)} = \begin{cases} (\|f\|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p} + \|\omega \cdot \nabla f\|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p})^{1/p}, & 1 \le p < \infty, \\ \max\{\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}, \|\omega \cdot \nabla f\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}\}, & p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

We will denote by  $f|_{\Gamma^{\pm}}$  and  $f|_{\Gamma_{j}^{\pm}}$  the traces of function  $f \in W^{p}(D)$  on  $\Gamma^{\pm}$  and  $\Gamma_{j}^{\pm}$  respectively. It is known that the traces  $f|_{\Gamma^{\pm}}$  of a function  $f \in W^{p}(D)$  with  $1 \le p < \infty$  do not necessarily belong to  $\widehat{L}^{p}(\Gamma^{\pm})$ . We introduce

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}^p(D) = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{W}^p(D) \mid f|_{\Gamma^-} \in \widehat{L}^p(\Gamma^-), \ f|_{\Gamma^+} \in \widehat{L}^p(\Gamma^+) \right\}.$$

## **3** Boundary Value Problem for the Radiative Transfer Equation with Specular Reflection and Refraction Conditions in Accordance with the Fresnel Laws

### 3.1 Reflection and Refraction Laws

Remind that under our assumption, each body  $G_j$  is occupied by a homogeneous material with refraction exponent  $k_j > 1$ . We assume that the radiation is nonpolarized. We denote by  $J(\omega', x)$  the intensity of radiation propagating in the vacuum

and falling to a point x of the surface  $\partial G_j$  in the direction  $\omega'$  under the incidence angle  $\varphi'$  with  $\cos \varphi' = \mu'_j = \omega' \cdot n_j(x) < 0$ . The incident radiation is partially mirror reflected by the surface  $\partial G_j$  in the direction

$$\omega = \omega' - 2\mu'_{j}n_{j}(x) \tag{3.1}$$

under reflection angle  $\varphi$  with  $\cos \varphi = \mu_j = \omega \cdot n_j(x) = -\mu'_j$  and is partially refracted, entering the body  $G_j$  in the direction

$$\widehat{\omega} = \widehat{\mu}_j n_j(x) + \frac{1}{k_j} \left( \omega' - \mu'_j n_j(x) \right)$$
(3.2)

under the reflection angle  $\psi$  with  $\cos \psi = \widehat{\mu}_j = \widehat{\omega} \cdot n_j(x) = -\nu_j^-(\mu'_j)$ , where  $\nu_j^-(\mu'_j) = \sqrt{1 - k_j^{-2}(1 - (\mu'_j)^2)}$ . Note that  $-1 \le \widehat{\mu}_j \le \widehat{\mu}_{j,\lim} = \sqrt{1 - 1/k_j^2}$ .

The reflected radiation has intensity  $r_j^+(\mu_j)J(\omega', x)$ , whereas the refracted radiation has intensity  $(1 - r_j^+(\mu_j))k_j^2 J(\omega', x)$ . Here,  $r_j^+$  and  $r_j^-$  are coefficients of the outer and inner reflections connected by

$$r_{j}^{-}(\widehat{\mu}_{j}) = r_{j}^{+}(\nu_{j}^{+}(\mu_{j})), \quad r_{j}^{+}(\mu_{j}) = r_{j}^{-}(-\nu_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})),$$

where  $v_j^+(\widehat{\mu}_j) = \sqrt{1 - k_j^2 (1 - (\widehat{\mu}_j)^2)}$ .

In the classical geometric optics, according to the Fresnel formulas, the coefficient of the outer reflection for nonpolarized radiation has the form

$$r_{j}^{+}(\mu_{j}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( \frac{\mu_{j} - k_{j} v_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})}{\mu_{j} + k_{j} v_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})} \right) + \left( \frac{k_{j} \mu_{j} - v_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})}{k_{j} \mu_{j} + v_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})} \right) \right], \quad 0 \le \mu_{j} \le 1.$$

From (3.1) we can find the value  $\omega' = \omega - 2\mu_j n_j(x)$  for the direction of the incident radiation from the vacuum which is reflected in a given direction  $\omega$ . From (3.2), where the direction of the refracted radiation is denoted by  $\omega$ , we obtain the formula  $\omega_{\mathcal{P}_j^-}(\omega, x) = -\nu_j^+(\mu_j)n_j(x) + k_j(\omega - \mu_j n_j(x))$  for the direction  $\omega'$  of the incident radiation which is refracted in a prescribed direction  $\omega$ .

Let  $I|_{\Gamma_j^+}(\omega', x)$  be an intensity of the radiation propagating inside the domain  $G_j$  and falling to a point  $x \in \partial G_j$  in the direction  $\omega'$  under the incidence angle  $\varphi'$  with  $\cos \varphi' = \mu'_j = \omega' \cdot n_j(x) > 0$ . If  $\mu'_j \leq \hat{\mu}_{j,\text{lim}}$ , then the effect of complete inner reflection holds: the radiation is completely reflected and propagates in the direction (3.1) under the reflection angle  $\varphi$  with  $\cos \varphi = \mu_j = \omega \cdot n_j(x) = -\mu_j < 0$ . If  $\hat{\mu}_{\text{lim},j} < \mu'_j$ , then the radiation is partially reflected by the surface in the direction (3.1) and is partially refracted and goes from the body  $G_j$  to the vacuum along the direction

$$\widehat{\omega} = \widehat{\mu}_j n_j(x) + k_j \left( \omega' - \mu'_j n_j(x) \right)$$
(3.3)

under the refraction angle  $\psi$  with  $\cos \psi = \hat{\mu}_j = \hat{\omega} \cdot n_j(x) = v_j^+(\mu'_j)$  The intensity of the reflected radiation is equal to  $r_j^-(\mu_j)I|_{\Gamma_i^+}(\omega', x)$ , whereas the intensity of the refracted radiation is equal to  $(1 - r_j^-(\mu_j))\frac{1}{k_j^2}I|_{\Gamma_j^+}(\omega', x)$ . From (3.1) we find the value  $\omega' = \omega - \mu_j n_j(x)$  for the direction of the incident radiation which is reflected in a given direction  $\omega$ . From (3.3), where the direction of the refracted radiation is denoted by  $\omega$ , we have the direction  $\omega_{\mathcal{P}_j^+}(\omega, x) = v_j^-(\mu_j)n_j(x) + \frac{1}{k_j}(\omega - \mu_j n_j(x))$  of the incident radiation refracted in a prescribed direction  $\omega$ .

## 3.2 Boundary Operators

Let  $\mu_j = \omega \cdot n_j(x)$  for  $(\omega, x) \in \Gamma_j$ ,  $1 \le j \le m$ . We introduce the sets

$$\widehat{\Gamma}_{j}^{-} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j}^{-} \mid -\widehat{\mu}_{j, \lim} \leq \mu_{j} < 0 \right\},\$$
$$\stackrel{\vee}{\Gamma}_{j}^{-} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j}^{-} \mid \mu_{j} < -\widehat{\mu}_{j, \lim} \right\}$$

and define the operators  $\mathcal{R}^-$  and  $\mathcal{R}^+$  of outer and inner reflections by

$$\mathcal{R}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}})(\omega, x) = r_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j})I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega - 2\mu_{j}n_{j}(x), x), \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j}^{-}, \ 1 \le j \le m,$$
$$\mathcal{R}^{+}(J)(\omega, x) = r_{j}^{+}(\mu_{j})J(\omega - 2\mu_{j}n_{j}(x), x), \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \ 1 \le j \le m.$$

Note that  $r_j^-(\mu_j) = 1$  for  $(\omega, x) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_j^-$  and, consequently,

$$\mathcal{R}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}})(\omega, x) = I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}} \big( \omega - 2\mu_{j} n_{j}(x), x \big), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{j}^{-}, \ 1 \le j \le m.$$

We introduce the refraction operators  $\mathcal{P}^-$  and  $\mathcal{P}^+$  inside G and outside G by the formulas

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{P}^{-}(J)(\omega, x) &= \begin{cases} (1 - r_{j}^{-}(\mu_{j}))k_{j}^{2}J(\omega_{\mathcal{P}_{j}^{-}}(\omega, x), x), & (\omega, x) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{j}^{-}, \\ 0, & (\omega, x) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{j}^{-}, \end{cases} & 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ \mathcal{P}^{+}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}})(\omega, x) &= (1 - r_{j}^{+}(\mu_{j}))\frac{1}{k_{j}^{2}}I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega_{\mathcal{P}_{j}^{+}}(\omega, x), x), \\ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m. \end{aligned}$$

Introduce the sets

$$S_j^- = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_j^- \mid x \in \partial G_j \setminus \bigcup_{i \neq j} \partial G_i \right\}, \quad S^- = \bigcup_{j=1}^m S_j^-,$$
  
$$s_j^{*-} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in S_j^- \mid \{x - t\omega \mid t > 0\} \cap \overline{G} = \emptyset \right\}, \quad s_j^{*-} = \bigcup_{j=1}^m s_j^{*-},$$

$$\widetilde{S}^{-} = \left\{ (\omega, x) \in S^{-} \setminus \overset{*}{S}^{-} \mid (\omega, X^{-}(\omega, x)) \in \Gamma^{+} \right\},\$$

where  $X^{-}(\omega, x) = x - \tau^{-}(\omega, x)\omega$ ,  $\tau^{-}(\omega, x) = \inf\{t > 0 \mid x - t\omega \in \overline{G}\}$ .

We define the translation operator T by the formula

$$T\varphi(\omega, x) = \varphi(\omega, X^{-}(\omega, x)), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^{-}.$$

Let  $\partial G_j \cap \partial G_j \neq \emptyset$  for some  $i \neq j$ . We introduce  $\Gamma_{ij}^- = \Gamma_i^- \cap \Gamma_j^+$  and define the operators  $\mathcal{R}_{ij}^-$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{ij}^-$  by the formulas

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}})(\omega,x) &= r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_{i})I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}} \left(\omega - 2\mu_{i}n_{i}(x),x\right), \quad (\omega,x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-}, \\ \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}})(\omega,x) &= \begin{cases} (1 - r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_{i}))\frac{k_{i}^{2}}{k_{j}^{2}}I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega_{\mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}}(\omega,x),x), & (\omega,x) \in \widetilde{\Gamma_{i}^{-}} \cap \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \\ 0, & (\omega,x) \in \widehat{\Gamma_{i}^{-}} \cap \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\omega_{\mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}}(\omega, x) = -\nu_{ij}^{+}(\mu_{i})n_{i}(x) + \frac{k_{i}}{k_{j}}(\omega - \mu_{i}n_{i}(x)),$$
$$\nu_{ij}^{+}(\mu_{i}) = \sqrt{1 - k_{i}^{2}/k_{j}^{2}(1 - \mu_{i}^{2})}.$$

If the surfaces  $\partial G_i$  and  $\partial G_j$  are separated by an infinitely thin vacuum layer at the points of tangency, then

$$r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_i) = \begin{cases} \frac{r_i^{-}(\mu_i) + r_j^{+}(\nu_i^{+}(\mu_i)) - 2r_i^{-}(\mu_i)r_j^{+}(\nu_i^{+}(\mu_i))}{1 - r_i^{-}(\mu_i)r_j^{+}(\nu_i^{+}(\mu_i))}, & -1 \le \mu_i < -\widehat{\mu}_{i,\lim} \\ 1, & -\widehat{\mu}_{i,\lim} \le \mu_i \le 0. \end{cases}$$

In the general case, it is assumed that the reflection coefficients  $r_{ij}^-$  are continuous functions on [-1, 0] possessing the following properties:

$$\begin{aligned} r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_{i}) &= 1 \quad \text{for } -\widehat{\mu}_{i,\text{lim}} \leq \mu_{i} \leq 0, \qquad 0 \leq r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_{i}) < 1 \quad \text{for } -1 \leq \mu_{i} < -\widehat{\mu}_{i,\text{lim}}, \\ r_{ji}^{-}(-\eta_{ij}^{+}(\mu_{i})) &= r_{ij}^{-}(\mu_{i}) \quad \text{for } \mu_{i} \in [-1, -\widehat{\mu}_{i,\text{lim}}]. \end{aligned}$$

### 3.3 Statement of the Boundary Conditions

For  $(\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-$  the radiation *J* falling on  $\partial G$  from the vacuum goes from a point  $X^-(\omega, x) \in \partial G$ . This radiation is composed of the reflected and refracted radiations at the point  $X^-(\omega, x)$ :

$$J = T\mathcal{R}^+(J) + T\mathcal{P}^+(I|_{\Gamma^+}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-.$$

630

For  $(\omega, x) \in \overset{*}{S^{-}}$  the radiation J goes from outside, and we can assume that it is prescribed:

$$J = J_*, \quad (\omega, x) \in \overset{*}{S}^-$$

For  $(\omega, x) \in S^-$  the radiation  $I|_{\Gamma^-}$  entering the body *G* is composed of the reflected and refracted radiations:

$$I|_{\Gamma^-} = \mathcal{R}^-(I|_{\Gamma^+}) + \mathcal{P}^-(J), \quad (\omega, x) \in S^-.$$

Finally, for  $(\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^-$  the following condition is imposed:

$$I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{-}} = \mathcal{R}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}}) + \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-}.$$

#### 3.4 Main Results

We consider the boundary value problem

$$\omega \cdot \nabla I + (\varkappa + s)I = s\mathcal{S}(I) + \varkappa k^2 F, \quad (\omega, x) \in D,$$
(3.4)

$$I|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \mathcal{R}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}}) + \mathcal{P}^{-}(J), \quad (\omega, x) \in S^{-},$$
(3.5)

$$I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{-}} = \mathcal{R}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}}) + \mathcal{P}_{ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-}, \ i \neq j,$$
(3.6)

$$J = T\mathcal{R}^+(J) + T\mathcal{P}^+(I|_{\Gamma^+}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-,$$
(3.7)

$$J = J_*, \quad (\omega, x) \in \overset{*}{S}^-,$$
 (3.8)

describing the radiative transfer in the system of semitransparent bodies with taking into account reflection and refraction on their boundaries.

By a solution to the problem (3.4)–(3.8) we mean a function  $I \in W^1(D)$  that satisfies (3.4) almost everywhere (a.e.) on D and the conditions (3.5), (3.6) a.e. on  $S^-$ ,  $\bigcup_{i \neq j} \Gamma_{ij}^-$  respectively. Moreover, the function J such that  $(1 - r^+)J \in \widehat{L}^1(S^-)$  satisfies the conditions (3.7) and (3.8) a.e. on  $\widetilde{S}^-$  and  $\overset{*}{S}^-$  respectively.

**Theorem 3.1** [7] Let  $F \in L^p(D)$ ,  $J_* \in \widehat{L}^p(\overset{*}{S^-})$  with some  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . Then the problem (3.4)–(3.8) has a unique solution  $I \in W^p(D)$ . Moreover, the solution satisfies the estimates (where 1/q = 1 - 1/p)

$$\| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{-2/q} I \|_{L^{p}(D)} \leq \left( \| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{2/p} F \|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p} + \| J_{*} \|_{\widehat{L}^{p}(\overset{*}{S}^{-})}^{p} \right)^{1/p},$$
$$\| \varkappa^{-1/q} k^{-2/q} \omega \cdot \nabla I \|_{L^{p}(D)} \leq \frac{2}{1 - \varpi_{\max}} \left( \| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{2/p} F \|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p} + \| J_{*} \|_{\widehat{L}^{p}(\overset{*}{S}^{-})}^{p} \right)^{1/p}$$

*for*  $1 \le p < \infty$  *and the estimates* 

$$\|k^{-2}I\|_{L^{\infty}(D)} \le \max\{\|F\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}, \|J_{*}\|_{L^{\infty}(S^{-})}^{*}\},\$$
$$\|\varkappa^{-1}k^{-2}\omega \cdot \nabla I\|_{L^{\infty}(D)} \le \frac{2}{1-\varpi_{\max}}\max\{\|F\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}, \|J_{*}\|_{L^{\infty}(S^{-})}^{*}\}$$

for  $p = \infty$ . Here  $\varpi_{\max} = \max_{1 \le j \le m} \frac{s_j}{\varkappa_j + s_j}$ .

The result about continuous dependence in  $W^1(D)$  norm of solutions of the problem (3.4)–(3.8) on the data is proved in [9]. Moreover it is shown that if  $k \to 1$  then the solutions of the problem (3.4)–(3.8) tend to the solution of the following problem with "shooting conditions":

$$\begin{split} \omega \cdot \nabla I + (\varkappa + s)I &= s\mathcal{S}(I) + \varkappa F, \quad (\omega, x) \in D, \\ I|_{\Gamma^{-}} &= T(I|_{\Gamma^{+}}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^{-}, \\ I|_{\Gamma^{-}} &= J_{*}, \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^{-}, \\ I|_{\Gamma^{-}_{i}} &= I|_{\Gamma^{+}_{j}}, \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma^{-}_{ij}, \ i \neq j. \end{split}$$

## **4** Boundary Value Problem for the Radiation Transfer Equation with Diffuse Reflection and Refraction Conditions

## 4.1 Diffuse Reflection and Diffuse Refraction Laws. Boundary Operators

Let  $J(\omega', x)$  be the intensity of the radiation propagating in the vacuum and falling on the surface  $\partial G_j$  at a point x in a direction  $\omega' \in \Omega_j^-$ . This radiation is partially diffusely reflected (i.e., it has the same intensity in all directions  $\omega \in \Omega_j^+(x)$ ) by the surface and partially diffusely refracted (i.e., it has the same intensity in all directions  $\omega \in \Omega_j^-(x)$ ), entering the body  $G_j$ . The intensities of reflected and refracted radiations are independent of the propagation direction and are equal, respectively,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{d}^{+}(J)(\omega, x) &\equiv \frac{\rho_{j}^{+}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{-}(x)} J(\omega', x) \big| \omega' \cdot n_{j}(x) \big| d\omega, \\ (\omega, x) &\in \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ \mathcal{P}_{d}^{-}(J)(\omega, x) &\equiv \frac{1 - \rho_{j}^{+}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{-}(x)} J(\omega', x) \big| \omega' \cdot n_{j}(x) \big| d\omega, \\ (\omega, x) &\in \Gamma_{j}^{-}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\rho_j^+ > 0$  is the reflective ability of the surface  $\partial G_j$ . We assume that  $\rho_j^+ \in L_{\infty}(\partial G_j)$  and  $\|\rho_j^+\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial G_j)} < 1$  for all  $1 \le j \le m$ .

Let  $I|_{\Gamma_j^+}(\omega', x)$  be an intensity of the radiation propagating in  $G_j$  and falling on the surface  $\partial G_j$  at a point x in a direction  $\omega' \in \Omega_j^+(x)$ . This radiation is partially diffusely reflected (i.e., it has the same intensity in all directions  $\omega \in \Omega_j^-(x)$ ) and partially diffusely refracted (i.e., it has the same intensity in all directions  $\omega \in \Omega_j^+(x)$ ), going out from the body to the vacuum. The intensities of the reflected and refracted radiations are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{d}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}})(\omega, x) &\equiv \frac{\rho_{j}^{-}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{+}(x)} I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega', x)\omega' \cdot n_{j}(x)d\omega, \\ (\omega, x) &\in \Gamma_{j}^{-}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ \mathcal{P}_{d}^{+}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}})(\omega, x) &\equiv \frac{1 - \rho_{j}^{-}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{+}(x)} I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega', x)\omega' \cdot n_{j}(x)d\omega, \\ (\omega, x) &\in \Gamma_{j}^{+}, \ 1 \leq j \leq m. \end{aligned}$$

Here,  $\rho_j^-(x) = 1 - \frac{1}{k_j^2}(1 - \rho_j^+(x)).$ 

Let x be a point of tangency of  $\partial G_i$  and  $\partial G_j$  for some  $i \neq j$ . Let  $I|_{\Gamma_i^-}$  be the intensity of the radiation entering into  $G_i$  in a direction  $\omega \in \Omega_i^-(x)$ . This radiation is composed of diffusely reflected and refracted radiations:

$$I|_{\Gamma_i^-}(\omega, x) = \mathcal{R}_{d,ij}^-(I|_{\Gamma_i^+})(\omega, x) + \mathcal{P}_{d,ij}^-(I|_{\Gamma_j^+})(\omega, x),$$
(4.1)

where

$$\mathcal{R}_{d,ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}})(\omega, x) = \frac{\rho_{ij}^{-}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{i}^{+}(x)} I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}}(\omega', x) \omega \cdot n_{i}(x) d\omega, \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-},$$
  
$$\mathcal{P}_{d,ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}})(\omega, x) = \frac{1 - \rho_{ij}^{-}(x)}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_{j}^{+}(x)} I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}(\omega', x) \omega \cdot n_{j}(x) d\omega, \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-},$$
  
$$\rho_{ij}^{-}(x) = 1 - \frac{(1 - \rho_{i}^{-}(x))(1 - \rho_{j}^{+}(x))}{1 - \rho_{i}^{+}(x)\rho_{j}^{+}(x)}.$$

### 4.2 Statement of the Boundary Conditions

For  $(\omega, x) \in S^-$  the radiation entering into *G* is composed of the diffusely reflected and diffusely refracted radiations:

$$I|_{\Gamma^-} = \mathcal{R}^-_d(I|_{\Gamma^+}) + \mathcal{P}^-_d(J), \quad (\omega, x) \in S^-.$$

For  $(\omega, x) \in \overset{*}{S^{-}}$  the radiation J goes from outside, and we can assume that it is prescribed:

$$J = J_*, \quad (\omega, x) \in \overset{*}{S}^-.$$

For  $(\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-$  the radiation J falling on  $\partial G$  from the vacuum comes from a point  $X^-(\omega, x) \in \partial G$ . It is composed of the diffusely reflected and diffusely refracted radiations:

$$J = T\mathcal{R}^+_d(J) + T\mathcal{P}^+_d(I|_{\Gamma^+}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-.$$

Finally, for  $(\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ii}^{-}$  the following condition is imposed:

$$I|_{\Gamma_i^-} = \mathcal{R}_{d,ij}^-(I|_{\Gamma_i^-}) + \mathcal{P}_{d,ij}^-(I|_{\Gamma_j^-}).$$
(4.2)

### 4.3 Main Results

We consider the boundary value problem

$$\omega \cdot \nabla I + (\varkappa + s)I = s\mathcal{S}(I) + \varkappa k^2 F, \quad (\omega, x) \in D,$$
(4.3)

$$I|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \mathcal{R}_{d}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma^{+}}) + \mathcal{P}_{d}^{-}(J), \quad (\omega, x) \in S^{-},$$
(4.4)

$$I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{-}} = \mathcal{R}_{d,ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{i}^{+}}) + \mathcal{P}_{d,ij}^{-}(I|_{\Gamma_{j}^{+}}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \Gamma_{ij}^{-},$$
(4.5)

$$J = T\mathcal{R}_d^+(J) + T\mathcal{P}_d^+(I|_{\Gamma^+}), \quad (\omega, x) \in \widetilde{S}^-,$$
(4.6)

$$J = J_*, \quad (\omega, x) \in \hat{S}^-,$$
 (4.7)

describing the radiation transfer in the system of semitransparent bodies with taking into account diffuse reflection and diffuse refraction on their boundaries.

By a solution to the problem (4.3)–(4.7) we mean a function  $I \in \widehat{\mathcal{W}}^1(D)$  that satisfies (4.3) a.e. on D and the conditions (4.4), (4.5) a.e. on  $S^-$ ,  $\prod_{i \neq j_{ij}} \Gamma^-$  respectively. Moreover, the function  $J \in \widehat{L}^1(S^-)$  satisfies the conditions (4.6) and (4.7) a.e. on  $\widetilde{S}^-$  and  $\widetilde{S}^-$  respectively.

**Theorem 4.1** [8] Let  $F \in L^{\infty}(D)$ ,  $J_* \in \widehat{L}^{1,\infty}(\overset{*}{S}^{-})$ . Then the problem (4.3)–(4.7) has a unique solution  $I \in \mathcal{W}^{\infty}(D)$  Moreover, it satisfies the estimates

$$\|k^{-2}I\|_{L^{\infty}(D)} \le \max\{\|F\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}, \|J_{*}\|_{\widehat{L}^{1,\infty}(S^{-})}\},\$$
$$\|\varkappa^{-1}k^{-2}\omega \cdot \nabla I\|_{L^{\infty}(D)} \le \frac{2}{1-\varpi_{\max}}\max\{\|F\|_{L^{\infty}(D)}, \|J_{*}\|_{\widehat{L}^{1,\infty}(S^{-})}\}.$$

**Theorem 4.2** [8] Let  $\partial G_j \in C^{1+\lambda}$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq m$  with some  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Suppose that  $F \in L^p(D)$  and  $J_* \in L^{1,p}(\overset{*}{S})$ , where  $p \in (1 + (2\lambda)^{-1}, \infty)$ . Then the problem (4.3)–(4.7) has a unique solution  $I \in \widehat{W}^p(D)$ . Moreover, it satisfies the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{-2/q} I \right\|_{L^{p}(D)} &\leq \left( \left\| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{2/p} F \right\|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p} + \left\| J_{*} \right\|_{\widehat{L}^{1,p}(S^{-})}^{p} \right)^{1/p}, \\ \left\| \varkappa^{-1/q} k^{-2/q} \omega \cdot \nabla I \right\|_{L^{p}(D)} &\leq \frac{2}{1 - \varpi_{\max}} \left( \left\| \varkappa^{1/p} k^{2/p} F \right\|_{L^{p}(D)}^{p} + \left\| J_{*} \right\|_{\widehat{L}^{1,p}(S^{-})}^{p} \right)^{1/p}. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 4.2 does not cover the case p = 1. We note that this case is mathematically difficult, but is important from the physical point of view. We consider this case under two additional assumptions.

**Theorem 4.3** [8] Let meas $(\partial G_i \cap \partial G_j; d\sigma) = 0$  for all  $i \neq j$  and there exists  $\overline{\alpha} \in [0, 1)$  such that  $\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Omega_i^-(x)} \chi_{\widetilde{S}^-}(\omega, x) |\omega \cdot n(x)| d\omega \leq \overline{\alpha}$  for a.e.  $x \in \partial G_j$  and all  $1 \leq j \leq m$ , where  $\chi_{\widetilde{S}^-}$  is the characteristic function of the set  $\widetilde{S}^-$ .

Let  $F \in L^p(D)$ ,  $J_* \in \widehat{L}^{1,p}(\overset{*}{S^-})$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ . Then the problem (4.3)–(4.7) has a unique solution  $I \in \widehat{W}^p(D)$ . Moreover, it satisfies the same estimates as in Theorem 4.2.

### References

- 1. V.S. Vladimirov, Mathematical problems in the theory of single-velocity particle transfer. Tr. MIAN SSSR **61**, 3–158 (1961) (in Russian)
- T.A. Germogenova, Local Properties of Solutions of the Transport Equation (Nauka, Moscow, 1986) (in Russian)
- V.I. Agoshkov, Boundary Value Problems for Transport Equations: Functional Spaces, Variational Statements, Regularity of Solutions (Birkhäuser, Basel, 1998)
- T.A. Germogenova, Generalized solutions of boundary value problems for the transfer equation. USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 9(3), 139–166 (1971)
- 5. I.V. Prokhorov, Boundary value problem of radiation transfer in an inhomogeneous medium with reflection conditions on the boundary. Differ. Equ. **36**(6), 943–948 (2000)
- I.V. Prokhorov, On the solvability of a boundary value problem in radiation transfer theory with generalized conjugation conditions at the interface between media. Izv. Math. 67(6), 1243–1266 (2003)
- A.A. Amosov, Boundary value problem for the radiation transfer equation with reflection and refraction conditions. J. Math. Sci. 191(2), 101–149 (2013)
- A.A. Amosov, Boundary value problem for the radiation transfer equation with diffuse reflection and refraction conditions. J. Math. Sci. 193(2), 151–176 (2013)
- A.A. Amosov, The radiation transfer equation with reflection and refraction conditions. Continuous dependence of solutions on the data and limit passage to the problem with "shooting conditions". J. Math. Sci. 195(5), 569–608 (2013)

# Asymptotic Approximations of a Thin Elastic Beam with Auxiliary Coupled 1D System due to Robin Boundary Condition

Z. Bare, J. Orlik, and G. Panasenko

**Abstract** In Bare et al. (Appl. Anal., 2013, doi:10.1080/00036811.2013.823481), the dimension of a 3D linear elasticity boundary value problem with Robin boundary condition is asymptotically reduced. Assumption 1.4 in Bare et al. (Appl. Anal., 2013, doi:10.1080/00036811.2013.823481), leads to a 1D system in which the bending and tensile components are decoupled. With a generalization in this contribution, we obtain a coupled 1D system. We prove that the asymptotic error estimate in Bare et al. (Appl. Anal., 2013, doi:10.1080/00036811.2013.823481) remains true and illustrate the influence of the tension and torsion on the bending by a numerical example.

**Keywords** Asymptotic dimension reduction · Elasticity · Robin boundary condition · Coupled ordinary differential equations for beams · Solvability

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 41A60 · 35J25 · 74K10

## **1** Introduction

This work is an extension of [2]. In [2], the dimension of a 3D linear elasticity boundary value problem with Robin boundary condition in a thin beam was asymptotically reduced with respect to the relative thickness of the beam  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . The error between the truncated asymptotic expansion  $u^{K}$  and the exact 3D solution  $u^{\varepsilon}$ 

Z. Bare (🖂) · J. Orlik

G. Panasenko Institut Camille Jordan UMR CNRS 5208, Universite de Lyon/University Jean Monnet, 23 rue P. Michelon, 42023 Saint-Etienne, France e-mail: grigory.panasenko@univ-st-etienne.fr

Department SYS, ITWM-Fraunhofer, Fraunhofer Platz 1, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany e-mail: bare@itwm.fhg.de

J. Orlik e-mail: orlik@itwm.fhg.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_69

was estimated as

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{u}^{K}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega^{\varepsilon})} \leq C\varepsilon^{K+1}\sqrt{|\Omega^{\varepsilon}|}, \qquad (1.1)$$

for a constant C > 0 independent of  $\varepsilon$ . The construction of  $u^K$  deals with a recursive chain of 1D limit systems of equations and with a recursive chain of boundary value problems in dilated domains, independent of  $\varepsilon$ . In [2], the Robin parameters and the Robin boundary condition were assumed in such a way that the recursive 1D limit consisted of decoupled problems, up to a unilateral coupling of the angle of twist and the bending, tangential to Robin condition surface. In this contribution, we show that with an alternative scaling we obtain a coupled 1D limit, generalizing certain assumptions in [2] (see I–II). We prove that the estimate (1.1) remains true. The main effort in this proof is to show that the coupled limit 1D problem is solvable. For a coupled 1D limit due to large deformations, non-symmetric cross-sections or anisotropic materials we refer the reader to [6].

We construct the asymptotic approximation for the following 3D problem: Find  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in (H^1(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \partial \Omega^{\varepsilon}_U))^3 := \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega^{\varepsilon}))^3 : \boldsymbol{v}|_{\partial \Omega^{\varepsilon}_U} = 0 \}$  s.t.  $\forall \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \partial \Omega^{\varepsilon}_U))^3$ 

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \int_{\Omega^{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{A}_{ij} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial x_{i}} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \sum_{k=1}^{3} s_{k}^{\varepsilon} \int_{S_{C}^{\varepsilon}} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}_{k} v_{k} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \int_{\Omega^{\varepsilon}} \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (1.2)$$

with  $s_1^{\varepsilon} = s_1 \ge 0$ ,  $s_j^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^2 s_j \ge 0$ , j = 2, 3, see [2, 3],  $\mathcal{A} = (a_{ij}^{kl})_{i,j,k,l=1,2,3}$  and  $a_{ij}^{kl} = (\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} + \delta_{il}\delta_{jk})\mu + \lambda(\delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}), \lambda, \mu > 0$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{\Psi}^{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{\Phi}\left(\frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}, \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}\right) \boldsymbol{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad (1.3)$$

let  $f^{\varepsilon} = (f_1, \varepsilon^2 f_2, \varepsilon^2 f_3, f_4)^T$ ,  $f_i \in \mathbb{R}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, be constants

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}\left(\frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}, \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -(\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p)^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}}\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & (\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p)^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$I_p = \int_{\omega} \left( \left(\frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \right) d\left(\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

 $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^2$  is an open, connected and symmetric (in the  $x_2, x_3$ -axes) polygon with non zero measure whose boundary  $\partial \omega$  decomposes into two disjoint subsets,  $\partial \omega =$  $\partial \omega_N \cup \partial \omega_R$ , where  $\partial \omega_R = \{\frac{\tilde{x}}{\varepsilon} \in \partial \omega : \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon} = \min_{\frac{\tilde{x}}{\varepsilon} \in \partial \omega} \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}\}$  is a segment. Let the beam be given by  $\Omega^{\varepsilon} = \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \tilde{\mathbf{x}} \in \varepsilon \omega, x_1 \in (0, 1)\}, \varepsilon > 0$  denotes the relative thickness of  $\Omega^{\varepsilon}$ . The beam is fixed on  $\partial \Omega_U^{\varepsilon} = \{\mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 = 0\}$  and the Robin boundary is denoted as  $S_C^{\varepsilon} = \{\mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 \in [1 - \varepsilon, 1], \frac{\tilde{x}}{\varepsilon} \in \partial \omega_R\}$ . The free boundary is denoted by  $\partial \Omega_N^{\varepsilon} = \partial \Omega^{\varepsilon} \setminus (S_C^{\varepsilon} \cup \partial \Omega_U^{\varepsilon})$ , the coordinate system is chosen in such a way,





that on  $S_C^{\varepsilon}$  the outward unit normal  $\mathbf{v} = (n_1, n_2, n_3)^T$  takes the form  $\mathbf{v} = -\mathbf{e}_3$  (see Fig. 1).

In [2], we considered another scaling corresponding to  $\Pi^{\varepsilon}$  replaced by *Id* in (1.3), with an additional assumption, [2, Assumption 1.4], that either

I  $s_1 = 0$ , or II  $S_C^{\varepsilon} = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 = 1, \frac{\tilde{x}}{\varepsilon} \in \omega \}$ , i.e. the Robin boundary condition is at the right extremity of the beam.

Then, estimate (1.1) was proven. In the present paper, we drop these assumptions and point out the modifications in the procedure of construction of the asymptotic expansion. Namely, now we seek an asymptotic solution in the form of the ansatz similar to [1, 2, 5], differing to the ansatz in [2] by the factor  $\Pi^{\varepsilon}$  below

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{K} = \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}})\boldsymbol{u}(x_{1}) + \sum_{k+s=1}^{K+1} \varepsilon^{k+s} N_{k,s}(\boldsymbol{y}) \frac{\partial^{k} \boldsymbol{u}(x_{1})}{\partial x_{1}^{k}} + \hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\left(0, \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\varepsilon}\right) (1-x_{1})\boldsymbol{\rho}_{K+1}(x_{1})$$
(1.4)

$$\boldsymbol{u}(x_1) = \boldsymbol{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \sum_{i=0}^{K} \varepsilon^i \boldsymbol{\overline{u}}^i(x_1), \tag{1.5}$$

with  $\mathbf{y} = (\frac{x_1}{\varepsilon}, \frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}, \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}), \quad \tilde{\mathbf{y}} = (\frac{x_2}{\varepsilon}, \frac{x_3}{\varepsilon}), \quad \overline{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{y} + (\frac{1}{\varepsilon}, 0, 0), \quad N_{k,s}(\mathbf{y}) = N_{k,s}^{inner}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}) + \chi(x_1)N_{k,s}^+(\overline{\mathbf{y}}) + \chi(1 - x_1)N_{k,s}^-(\mathbf{y}), \quad N_{k,s}^{inner}, N_{k,s}^{\pm}, \text{ are matrix valued functions with values in } \mathbb{R}^{3\times4}$  (vanishing by convention if s or k is negative) and  $N_{k,s}^{inner}, N_{k,s}^{\pm} = 0$  for  $s \neq 0, \ \chi \in C^{K+2}([0,1])$  is a cut-off function  $\chi(x_1) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } x_1 \in [0, \frac{1}{3}] \\ 0 \text{ if } x_1 \in [\frac{2}{3}, 1] \end{cases}$ , see  $[2, 3]. \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}(0, \tilde{\mathbf{y}})(1 - x_1)\boldsymbol{\rho}_{K+1}(x_1)$  is a remainder that guarantees that  $\boldsymbol{u}^K \in (H^1(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \partial \Omega_U^{\varepsilon}))^3. \quad \hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}(\mathbf{y}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 0 0 & 0 & -y_2 - y_3 \\ 0 1 0 - (\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p)^{-\frac{1}{2}}y_3 & y_1 & 0 \\ 0 0 1 & (\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p)^{-\frac{1}{2}}y_2 & 0 & y_1 \end{pmatrix}$  is the extended matrix of rigid displacements, see  $[5, \mathbf{p}, 66] = \boldsymbol{\rho}_{K+1}(X_1) = \end{cases}$ 

guarantees that  $\boldsymbol{u}^{K} \in (H^{1}(\Omega^{\varepsilon}, \partial \Omega_{U}^{\varepsilon}))^{3}$ .  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & -y_{2} - y_{3} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 - (\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_{p})^{-\frac{1}{2}}y_{3} & y_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & (\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_{p})^{-\frac{1}{2}}y_{2} & 0 & y_{1} \end{pmatrix}$  is the extended matrix of rigid displacements, see [5, p. 66],  $\boldsymbol{\rho}_{K+1}(x_{1}) = \sum_{l=K+1}^{2K+1} \varepsilon^{l} \sum_{0 \leq i \leq K, i+k=l, 0 \leq k \leq K+1} \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,0}^{+}} \frac{\partial^{k} \boldsymbol{\overline{u}}^{i}}{\partial x_{1}^{k}}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,0}^{+}}$  are standard  $\mathbb{R}^{6\times 4}$  matrices which can be computed as in [5]. It is reminded that a scaling of the tensile force and the bending forces  $f_{i}^{\varepsilon}$ , i = 2, 3, as in (1.3) and the corresponding scaling of the tensile and bending components of the ansatz (1.5) is also chosen in [6, p. 517].

We obtain a recursive chain of coupled 1D problems in [0, 1], for the components of the functions  $\overline{u}^i$ , (1.5), following [2, 5]. We briefly remind that an important step of the construction of the recursive problems is the following requirement.

Requirement 1 (Key of the procedure) For

$$H^{(\cdot_{k,s})} = -\sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} \left( \mathcal{A}_{ij} \frac{\partial \cdot_{k,s}}{\partial y_j} \right) - \sum_{i=1}^{3} (\mathcal{A}_{i1} + \mathcal{A}_{1i}) \frac{\partial \cdot_{k-1,s}}{\partial y_i} - \mathcal{A}_{11\cdot k-2,s},$$
$$G^{(\cdot_{k,s})} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left( \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathcal{A}_{ji} \frac{\partial \cdot_{k,s}}{\partial y_i} \right) n_j + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathcal{A}_{i1} (\cdot_{k-1,s}) n_i,$$

require  $\boldsymbol{H}^{N_{k,s}^{inner}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}})\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{inner}}$  in  $\omega$ ,  $N_{k,s}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}(0, \tilde{\boldsymbol{y}})\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{+}}$  on  $\{+0\} \times \omega$ ,  $\boldsymbol{G}^{N_{k,s}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}(0, \tilde{\boldsymbol{y}})\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{-}}$  on  $\{-0\} \times \omega$ ,  $\boldsymbol{H}^{N_{k,s}^{\pm}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = 0$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $\boldsymbol{G}^{N_{k,s}^{inner}}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}) = 0$  on  $\partial \omega$ ,  $\boldsymbol{G}^{N_{k,s}^{+}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = 0$  on  $(((-\infty, 0) \cup (0, \infty)) \times \partial \omega)$ ,  $\boldsymbol{G}^{N_{k,s}^{-}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = 0$  on  $(((-\infty, 0) \cup (0, \infty)) \times \partial \omega), \boldsymbol{S}_{C}, \boldsymbol{G}^{N_{k,s}^{-}}(\boldsymbol{y}) + \boldsymbol{S}_{0}N_{k,s-1}(\boldsymbol{y}) + \boldsymbol{S}_{2}N_{k,s-3}(\boldsymbol{y}) = 0$  on  $S_{C}$ , where  $S_{1} = \operatorname{diag}(s_{1}, 0, 0), S_{2} = \operatorname{diag}(0, s_{2}, s_{3})$  and  $\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{inner}} \in \mathbb{R}^{4 \times 4}, \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{+}}, \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k,s}^{-}} \in \mathbb{R}^{6 \times 4}$ are constant matrices.

The recursive chain of coupled 1D problems is obtained substituting the ansatz (1.4) into the problem (1.2) and calculating  $\boldsymbol{h}_{k,s}^{N_{k,s}^{imner}}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{h}_{k,s}^{N_{k,s}}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{h}_{k,s}^{N_{k,s}}$  from solvability and decay conditions in auxiliary problems for  $N_{k,s}^{imner}$ ,  $N_{k,s}^{\pm}$  resulting from Requirement 1. The problem for the fourth component, the angle of twist  $\overline{u}_4^i$ , can be solved independently from the other components, then it enters the right hand side of the problem for  $\overline{u}_2^i$ , see [2, Theorem 1.6]. At the left end of the interval [0, 1] all the four components satisfy generally non-homogeneous Dirichlet conditions. For the variational formulation of these 1D problems, as usual we subtract the right handside and change the unknown functions  $\overline{u}^k$  for  $z^k$ 

$$z_i^k = \overline{u}_i^k + g_{i2}^{\text{rec}(k)} \quad i = 1, 4$$
(1.6)

$$z_{j}^{k} = \overline{u}_{j}^{k} + x_{1}g_{j3}^{\operatorname{rec}(k)} + g_{j4}^{\operatorname{rec}(k)} \quad j = 2, 3,$$
(1.7)

where

$$g_{i2}^{\text{rec}(k)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l,0}^{+}} \frac{\partial^{k-l} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{k-l}} \right)_{i} \Big|_{x_{1}=0},$$

$$g_{j3}^{\text{rec}(k)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l,0}^{+}} \frac{\partial^{k-l} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{k-l}} \right)_{j} \Big|_{x_{1}=0},$$

$$g_{j4}^{\text{rec}(k)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l+1,0}^{+}} \frac{\partial^{k-l+1} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{k-l+1}} \right)_{j+3} \Big|_{x_{1}=0}, \quad \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)} = \left( z_{1}^{l}, z_{2}^{l}, z_{3}^{l}, z_{4}^{l} \right)^{T}.$$

The variational formulation of the recursive coupled 1D system is, find  $z_4^k \in \mathcal{V} := \{u \in H^1((0,1)) : u(0) = 0\}$  and  $z^k \in \mathcal{H} := \{u = (u_1, u_2, u_3)^T : u_1 \in \mathcal{V}, u_j \in \mathcal{W}, j = 2, 3\}, \mathcal{W} = \{z \in H^2((0,1)) : z(0) = \frac{\partial z(0)}{\partial x_1} = 0\}$ , s.t.  $\forall v_4 \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $\forall v \in \mathcal{H}$ 

$$a_4(z_4^k, v_4) = \ell_4^k(v_4), \tag{1.8}$$

$$a_{1D}(\boldsymbol{z}^k, \boldsymbol{v}) = \ell^k(\boldsymbol{v}), \qquad (1.9)$$

where  $a_4(\cdot, \cdot) = \mu J \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \cdot}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial \cdot}{\partial x_1} dx_1$ ,  $\ell_4^k(v_4) = \int_0^1 (\hat{f}_4 - \hat{f}_4^{\text{rec}(k)}) v_4 dx_1 - \hat{g}_4^{\text{rec}(k)} v_4|_{x_1=1}$ ,  $J = (A - \int_{\omega} (\frac{\partial (n_{1,0}^{\text{inner}})^{14}(\tilde{y})}{\partial y_2})^2 + (\frac{\partial (n_{1,0}^{\text{inner}})^{14}(\tilde{y})}{\partial y_3})^2 d\tilde{y}$  is the torsional constant, where  $A = |\omega|$  and the warping function or St. Venants function  $(n_{1,0}^{\text{inner}})^{14}$  satisfies

$$-\Delta \left(n_{1,0}^{inner}\right)^{14}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}) = 0 \quad \text{in } \omega$$

$$\frac{\partial (n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}})}{\partial \tilde{\mathbf{v}}} = \left(\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} y_2 n_3 - \left(\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} y_3 n_2 \quad \text{on } \partial \omega, \qquad (1.10)$$

$$\int_{\omega} \left(n_{1,0}^{inner}\right)^{14} d\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = 0.$$

$$f_4^{\text{rec}(k)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left(\boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l+2,0}^{inner}} \frac{\partial^{k-l+2}\boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_1^{k-l+2}}\right)_4$$

and

$$g_{41}^{\operatorname{rec}(k)} = \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \sum_{i+j=k-l+1}^{k-l+1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\operatorname{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{4} \Big|_{x_{1}=1},$$

 $\hat{f}_i$ ,  $\hat{g}_{\alpha\beta}$ ,  $\hat{s}_i$  denote normalized values  $|\omega|f_i$ ,  $|\omega|g_{\alpha\beta}$ ,  $|\omega|s_i$ ,  $a_{1D}(\boldsymbol{z}^k, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{i=1}^3 a_i(z_i^k, v_i) + \sum_{i=1}^3 b_i(z_i^k, v_i) + c(z_3^k, v_1) + c(v_3, z_1^k)$  with

$$a_{1}(z_{1}^{k}, v_{1}) := \int_{0}^{1} EA \frac{\partial z_{1}^{k}}{\partial x_{1}} \frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial x_{1}} dx_{1}, \qquad a_{j}(z_{j}^{k}, v_{j}) := \int_{0}^{1} EI_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} z_{j}^{k}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{j}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} dx_{1},$$
(1.11)

$$b_1(z_1^k, v_1) := \hat{s}_1 \frac{|S_C|}{|\omega|} z_1^k v_1|_{x_1=1}, \qquad c(z_3^k, v_1) := -\hat{s}_1 \frac{1}{|\omega|} \int_{S_C} y_3 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_y \frac{\partial z_3^k}{\partial x_1} v_1\Big|_{x_1=1},$$
(1.12)

$$b_j(z_j^k, v_j) := \hat{s}_j \frac{|S_C|}{|\omega|} z_j^k v_j|_{x_1=1} + s_1 \int_{S_C} y_j^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_y \frac{\partial z_j^k}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_1} \bigg|_{x_1=1}, \tag{1.13}$$
$$I_j = \int_{\omega} y_j^2 d\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \ j = 2, 3, \ E = \mu \frac{3\lambda + 2\mu}{\lambda + \mu}, \ S_C = [-1, 0] \times \partial \omega_R$$
 and

$$\ell^{k}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \left( \hat{f}_{i} - \hat{f}_{i}^{\operatorname{rec}(k)} \right) v_{i} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} - \hat{g}_{i1}^{\operatorname{rec}(k)} v_{i}|_{x_{1}=1} \right)$$
(1.14)

$$+ s_1 \sum_{q=2}^{3} \int_{S_C} y_q \left( n_{1,0}^{inner} \right)^{14} \mathrm{d}\sigma_y \frac{\partial v_q}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial z_4^k}{\partial x_1} \bigg|_{x_1=1} - I_q g_{q2}^{\mathrm{rec}(k)} \frac{\partial v_q}{\partial x_1} \bigg|_{x_1=1}$$
(1.15)

$$+ \hat{s}_2 \left(\frac{1}{|\omega|} I_p\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{|\omega|} \int_{S_C} y_3 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_y z_4^k v_2|_{x_1=1}, \qquad (1.16)$$

with

$$\begin{split} f_{1}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l+2,0}^{\text{inner}}} \frac{\partial^{k-l+2} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{k-l+2}} \right)_{1}, \\ f_{j}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{k-l+4,0}^{\text{inner}}} \frac{\partial^{k-l+4} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i-l+4}} \right)_{j}, \\ g_{11}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \sum_{i+j=k-l+1}^{k-l+1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{1} \Big|_{x_{1}=1} \\ &+ \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \sum_{i+j=k-l+2}^{k-l+2} \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{1} \Big|_{x_{1}=1}, \\ g_{21}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \sum_{i+j=k-l+3}^{k-l+3} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{j} \Big|_{x_{1}=1}, \\ g_{32}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \sum_{i+j=k-l+1}^{k-l+1} \left( \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{6} \Big|_{x_{1}=1}, \\ g_{22}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \sum_{i+j=k-l+2}^{k-l+2} \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{6} \Big|_{x_{1}=1}, \\ g_{22}^{\text{rec}(k)} &= \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \left( \sum_{i+j=k-l+2}^{k-l+2} \boldsymbol{h}^{N_{i,j}^{-}} \frac{\partial^{i} \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{rec}(l)}}{\partial x_{1}^{i}} \right)_{6} \Big|_{x_{1}=1}, \end{split}$$

 $j = 2, 3, \, \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\text{rec}(i)} = (0, z_2^i, z_3^i, z_4^i)^T \text{ and } \check{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\text{rec}(i)} = (z_1^i, 0, 0, 0)^T.$ 

#### 2 Statement of the Results

**Theorem 2.1** Let  $u^{\varepsilon}$  be the exact solution to the 3D problem (1.2) and let  $z_i^k$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, be solutions to (1.8)–(1.9) and let  $N_{k,s}$  be computed from the recursive problems deduced from Requirement 1. Then the estimate (1.1) holds.

Let us note, that the exact solution,  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , converges to the leading term of the series (1.4)–(1.5), for  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , in the sense

$$\left\| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}) \boldsymbol{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \overline{\boldsymbol{u}}^{0}(\boldsymbol{x}_{1}) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega^{\varepsilon})} \leq C \varepsilon \sqrt{\left| \Omega^{\varepsilon} \right|}, \tag{2.1}$$

for a constant C > 0 independent of  $\varepsilon$ . The 1D system for  $\overline{u}^0$ , is stated in (4.2)–(4.8), Sect. 4 (in the interval  $(-1, 0) \cup (0, 1)$ , with Robin boundary condition at  $x_1 = 0$ ). The proof of Theorem 2.1 is analogous to the proof of [2, Proposition 3.2] and (2.1) follows from an analog on of the proof of [2, Theorem 1.7]. The step that needs to be revisited, is the solvability of the coupled 1D system (1.9). The solvability of (1.8) is clear, since the angle of twist  $z_4^k$  is independent of the other components.

**Proposition 2.2** Let (1.8) be solved for  $k \in [0, K]$ . Then for  $k \in [0, K]$  the recursive problem (1.9) has a unique solution.

#### **3** Proof of the Results

The proof of Theorem 2.1 is a consequence of [2, Proposition 3.2] and Proposition 2.2. The proof of Proposition 2.2 is based on the fact that the coupled recursive 1D system has constant right handsides and we can seek polynomial solutions. This permits us to obtain a linear algebraic system that is equivalent to (1.9). We show that the matrix in that system is regular.

Since the load  $f_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, is constant, see Sect. 1, following [2, p. 14], potential solutions z to (1.9) have a polynomial form, second order for  $z_1$  and fourth order for  $z_i$ , i = 2, 3. Since  $z \in \mathcal{H}$  we can write

$$z_1(x_1) = az_1 x_1^2 + bz_1 x_1 \tag{3.1}$$

$$z_i(x_1) = az_i x_1^4 + bz_i x_1^3 + cz_i x_1^2$$
(3.2)

or

$$z = M\eta_{z}, \tag{3.3}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_{z} = (az_{1}, bz_{1}, az_{2}, bz_{2}, cz_{2}, az_{3}, bz_{3}, cz_{3})^{T}, \boldsymbol{M} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{1}^{2} x_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & x_{1}^{4} x_{1}^{3} x_{1}^{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & x_{1}^{4} x_{1}^{3} x_{1}^{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Lemma 3.1** (On the stiffness matrix) Let  $z = M\eta_z$  and  $v = M\eta_v$  with M as in (3.3). Then the bilinear form  $a_{1D}(z, v)$  can be written as

$$a_{1D}(\boldsymbol{z},\boldsymbol{v}) = \boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{z}}^{T} \boldsymbol{K} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{v}}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\mathbf{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{8 \times 8}$ ,  $\mathbf{K} = \begin{pmatrix} K_{11} & \mathbf{0}_{2,3} & K_{13} \\ \mathbf{0}_{3,2} & K_{22} & \mathbf{0}_{3,3} \\ K_{31} & \mathbf{0}_{3,3} & K_{33} \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $\mathbf{0}_{i,j} = (0)_{l=1..i,k=1..j}$  and

$$K_{11} = EA \begin{pmatrix} \frac{4}{3} & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + s_1 |S_C| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.5)  
$$K_{22} = EI_2 \begin{pmatrix} \frac{144}{5} & 18 & 8\\ 18 & 12 & 6\\ 8 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix} + s_2 |S_C| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + s_1 \int_{S_C} y_2^2 d\sigma_y \begin{pmatrix} 16 & 12 & 8\\ 12 & 9 & 6\\ 8 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.6)  
$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{144}{5} & 18 & 8\\ 2 & 9 & 6\\ 8 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.6)

$$K_{33} = EI_3 \begin{pmatrix} \frac{144}{5} & 18 & 8\\ 18 & 12 & 6\\ 8 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix} + s_3 |S_C| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + s_1 \int_{S_C} y_3^2 d\sigma_y \begin{pmatrix} 16 & 12 & 8\\ 12 & 9 & 6\\ 8 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.7)

$$\boldsymbol{K}_{13} = s_1 \left| \int_{S_C} y_3 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_y \right| \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 3 & 2 \\ 4 & 3 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{K}_{31} = \boldsymbol{K}_{31}^T. \tag{3.8}$$

*Proof* Following (3.3), substitute  $z = M\eta_z$  and  $v = M\eta_v$  into  $a_{1D}(z, v)$ , then a straight forward computation yields (3.4).

**Lemma 3.2** (On the symmetry and regularity of the stiffness matrix) *The matrix K form Lemma* 3.1 *is symmetric and regular.* 

*Proof* From Lemma 3.1, we know that  $K_{ii}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, are symmetric and that  $K_{31} = K_{13}^T$ , obviously  $\mathbf{0}_{3,2} = \mathbf{0}_{3,2}^T$ , hence  $K = K^T$ . A direct computation gives

$$\det(\mathbf{K}) = \frac{16}{75} E^4 A I_3 \left( 12 E A s_1 \int_{S_C} y_3^2 d\sigma_y |S_C| I_3 + A s_1 \int_{S_C} y_3^2 d\sigma_y |S_C|^2 s_3 \right)$$

$$+ 12 E^2 A I_3^2 + 4 E A I_3 s_3 |S_C| + 12 E s_1 |S_C| I_3^2 + 4 s_1 |S_C|^2 I_3 s_3 \right) factor,$$
(3.10)

 $factor = I_2(12s_1 \int_{S_C} y_2^2 d\sigma_y E I_2 + s_1 \int_{S_C} y_2^2 d\sigma_y s_2 |S_C| + 12E^2 I_2^2 + 4EI_2 s_2 |S_C|).$ Since all the summands in det(**K**) are positive and E, A, I\_2, I\_3 are strictly positive det(**K**) is strictly positive.

Note, that for the classical case  $s_i = 0, i = 1, 2, 3$ , we get  $det(\mathbf{K}) = \frac{768}{25} E^8 A^2 I_2^3 I_3^3$ .

**Lemma 3.3** (On an equivalent linear algebraic system) *Problem* (1.9) *is equivalent to the linear system* 

$$\boldsymbol{K}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{z} = \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{k}, \qquad (3.11)$$

where  $\mathbf{\Lambda}^k \in \mathbb{R}^8$  is known.

*Proof* Substitute  $z = M\eta_z$  and  $v = M\eta_v$  into  $a_{1D}(z, v)$ , then with Lemma 3.1 (1.9) reads as

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_{z}^{T}\boldsymbol{K}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{v} = \boldsymbol{\chi}^{k}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{v}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\eta}_{v} \in \mathbb{R}^{8},$$
(3.12)

 $\boldsymbol{\chi}^k \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times 8}$  is obtained from the factorization of  $\ell^k$ . Since by Lemma 3.2, K is symmetric (3.12) is equivalent to

$$\boldsymbol{K}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{z} = \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{k}, \qquad (3.13)$$

with  $\boldsymbol{\Lambda}^k = (\boldsymbol{\chi}^k)^T$ .

*Proof of Proposition* 2.2 By Lemmata 3.1 and 3.2, (1.9) is equivalent to a linear algebraic system with regular matrix.

*Proof* With Proposition 2.2, the proof of Theorem 2.1 is analogous to the proof of [2, Proposition 3.2].  $\Box$ 

#### 4 Numerical Example

We illustrate the coupling in the 1D system by a numerical example. We compare the leading term of the series (1.4), to a solution  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  to the 3D problem (1.2), for a fixed small  $\varepsilon$ . Following [5, Sect. 2.3.5], [2, Remark 2, p. 4] we adapt the results of the previous sections to the geometry  $\Omega^{\varepsilon} = \{\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 \in (-1, 0) \cup (0, 1), \tilde{\boldsymbol{x}} \in \varepsilon \omega\}$ (see Fig. 2). The beam is fixed on  $\partial \Omega_U^{\varepsilon} = \{\boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 = -1\}$  and the Robin condition surface is denoted as  $S_C^{\varepsilon} = \{\boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 \in [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon], \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\varepsilon} \in \partial \omega_R\}$ .  $\Sigma^{\varepsilon} = \{\boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}^{\varepsilon} : x_1 = 0, \tilde{\boldsymbol{x}} \in \varepsilon \overline{\omega} \setminus \partial \omega_R\}$  denotes an interface and  $\partial \Omega_N^{\varepsilon} = \partial \Omega^{\varepsilon} \setminus (S_C^{\varepsilon} \cup \partial \Omega_U^{\varepsilon})$  denotes a free boundary. To compute the leading term of the series (1.4),

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\text{Lead}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon \overline{u}_{1}^{0}(x_{1}) - x_{2} \frac{\partial \overline{u}_{2}^{0}}{\partial x_{1}} - x_{3} \frac{\partial \overline{u}_{3}^{0}}{\partial x_{1}} + \varepsilon (n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14} (\frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}}{\varepsilon}) \frac{\partial \overline{u}_{4}^{0}}{\partial x_{1}} \\ \overline{u}_{2}^{0} - \frac{x_{3}}{\varepsilon} (\frac{1}{|\omega|} I_{p})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \overline{u}_{4}^{0} \\ \overline{u}_{3}^{0} + \frac{x_{2}}{\varepsilon} (\frac{1}{|\omega|} I_{p})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \overline{u}_{4}^{0} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.1)$$



we need to solve only the 1D system for k = 0 in the recursion (1.8)–(1.9). In particular, for k = 0,  $z_i^0 = \overline{u}_i^0$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4. Adapted to the geometry of this section, (1.8)–(1.9) read as find  $\overline{u}_4^0 \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $(\overline{u}_1^0, \overline{u}_2^0, \overline{u}_3^0)^T \in \mathcal{H}$ , s.t.  $\forall v_4 \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $\forall v \in \mathcal{H}$ 

$$a_4(\overline{u}_4^0, v_4) = \ell_4^0(v_4), \tag{4.2}$$

$$a_{1D}\left(\left(\overline{u}_{1}^{0}, \overline{u}_{2}^{0}, \overline{u}_{3}^{0}\right)^{T}, \boldsymbol{v}\right) = \ell^{0}(\boldsymbol{v}),$$

$$(4.3)$$

where  $a_4(\cdot, \cdot) = \mu J \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{\partial \cdot}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial \cdot}{\partial x_1} dx_1, \ell_4^0(v_4) = \int_{-1}^{1} \hat{f}_4 v_4 dx_1, a_{1D}((\overline{u}_1^0, \overline{u}_2^0, \overline{u}_3^0)^T, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} a_i(\overline{u}_i^0, v_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{3} b_i(\overline{u}_i^0, v_i) + c(\overline{u}_3^0, v_1) + c(v_3, \overline{u}_1^0),$ 

$$a_1(\overline{u}_1^0, v_1) = \int_{-1}^1 EA \frac{\partial \overline{u}_1^0}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial x_1} dx_1, \qquad a_j(\overline{u}_j^0, v_j) = \int_{-1}^1 EI_j \frac{\partial^2 \overline{u}_j^0}{\partial x_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 v_j}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1,$$
(4.4)

$$b_1(\overline{u}_1^0, v_1) = \hat{s}_1 \frac{|S_C|}{|\omega|} \overline{u}_1^0 v_1|_{x_1=0}, \qquad c(\overline{u}_3^0, v_1) = -\hat{s}_1 \frac{1}{|\omega|} \int_{S_C} y_3 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_y \frac{\partial \overline{u}_3^0}{\partial x_1} v_1\Big|_{x_1=0}, \tag{4.5}$$

$$b_j(\overline{u}_j^0, v_j) = \hat{s}_j \frac{|S_C|}{|\omega|} \overline{u}_j^0 v_j|_{x_1=1} + s_1 \int_{S_C} y_j^2 d\sigma_y \frac{\partial \overline{u}_j^0}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_1} \bigg|_{x_1=0},$$
(4.6)

$$\ell^{0}(\mathbf{v}) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \int_{-1}^{1} \hat{f}_{i} v_{i} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} + s_{1} \sum_{q=2}^{3} \int_{S_{C}} y_{q} \left( n_{1,0}^{inner} \right)^{14} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{y} \frac{\partial v_{q}}{\partial x_{1}} \frac{\partial \overline{u}_{4}^{0}}{\partial x_{1}} \bigg|_{x_{1}=0}$$
(4.7)

$$+ \hat{s}_2 \left(\frac{1}{|\omega|} I_p\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{|\omega|} \int_{S_C} y_3 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_y \overline{u}_4^0 v_2|_{x_1=0}, \quad j = 2, 3.$$
(4.8)

Let  $\omega = (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})^2$ , then the explicit geometric constants read as  $|S_C| = 2$ ,  $\int_{S_C} y_3 d\sigma_y = -1$ ,  $I_j = \frac{1}{12}$ , j = 2, 3,  $I_p = \frac{1}{6}$ , A = 1,  $\int_{S_C} y_3^2 d\sigma_y = \frac{1}{2}$ . Following



**Fig. 3** 3D–1D comparison along the edge  $(x_1, -\frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \frac{\varepsilon}{2}), \varepsilon = 0.001$ 

[4, pp. 311–312], we approximate  $(n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14}$  as

$$(n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14}$$

$$\approx \left(\frac{1}{|\omega|}I_p\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(-y_2 y_3 + 4b^2 \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^3 \sum_{k=0}^{10} \frac{(-1)^k}{(2k+1)^3} \right) \\ \times \sin\left(\frac{(2k+1)\pi}{2b}y_3\right) \frac{\sinh(\frac{(2k+1)\pi}{2b}y_2)}{\cosh(\frac{(2k+1)\pi a}{2b})},$$

$$(4.10)$$

 $a = b = \frac{1}{2}, \text{ with } (4.10) \text{ we get } J \approx 0.14057 \cdot 6, \int_{S_C} y_2^2 d\sigma_y = 2I_2, \\ \int_{S_C} y_2(n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}) d\sigma_y \approx 0.01598, \\ \int_{S_C} y_3(n_{1,0}^{inner})^{14}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}}) d\sigma_y = 0. \\ \text{For } \varepsilon = 0.001, \\ E = 2 \cdot 10^5, \\ \frac{\lambda}{2(\lambda+\mu)} = 0.33, \\ f_4 = -9.86, \\ f_1 = 7.86, \\ f_2 = f_3 = 0 \\ \text{and } s_i = 10^7, \\ i = 1, 2, 3, \\ \text{the relative error } \frac{\|u^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\tilde{\mathbf{y}})\boldsymbol{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \overline{u}^0(x_1)\|_{L^2(\Omega^{\varepsilon})}}{\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega^{\varepsilon})}} \\ \text{is smaller than } 10^{-4}. \\ \text{The components of } \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{Lead}} \text{ and } \boldsymbol{u}^{0.001} \\ \text{are plotted against each other along the edge } (x_1, -\frac{0.001}{2}, \frac{0.001}{2}) \\ \text{ in Fig. 3. We see numerically that the 3D problem does not decouple in the limit and that a tensile force } f_1 \\ \text{ and a torsional moment } f_4 \\ \text{ cause bending in } x_3 - \\ \text{ and } x_2 - \\ \text{direction respectively, even if no bending forces } f_i, \\ i = 2, 3, \\ \text{act.} \\ \end{array}$ 

Acknowledgement The collaboration was financially supported by the French–German grant PROCOPE EGIDE 28481WB "Homogenization based optimization for elasticity on the network of beams".

#### References

- N. Bakhvalov, Averaging of partial differential equations with rapidly oscillating coefficients. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 224(2), 351–355 (1975)
- D.Z. Bare, J. Orlik, G. Panasenko, Asymptotic dimension reduction of a Robin-type elasticity boundary value problem in thin beams. Appl. Anal. (2013). doi:10.1080/00036811.2013. 823481
- 3. Z. Bare, J. Orlik, Tensile-bending coupling in the limitting 1D beam equations resulting from the frictional contact. Proc. Appl. Math. Mech. **13**, 365–366 (2013)
- 4. A.E.H. Love, A Treatise on the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity, 4th edn. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1927). Also (Dover, 1944)
- 5. G. Panasenko, Multi-Scale Modelling for Structures and Composites (Springer, Berlin, 2005)
- L. Trabucho, J.M. Viaño, Mathematical modelling of rods, in *Handbook of Numerical Analysis*, vol. IV (1996)

# Smooth Solution of an Initial Value Problem for a Mixed-Type Differential Difference Equation

Valentina Iakovleva and Judith Vanegas

**Abstract** In this paper, we show the construction of the solution to the mixed type differential difference equation:

$$x'(t) = Ax(t+a) + Bx(t-a) + Cx(t),$$

where  $A, B, C \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}, a > 0$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . We use a step derivative method and a certain condition on the initial function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}[-a, a]$  to assure the existence, uniqueness and smoothness of the solution in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Keywords Differential difference equations · Initial value problems

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 34A12 · Secondary 34K05

# 1 Goal of This Article

Mixed functional differential equations (MFDE) are a class of functional differential equations where the time derivative depends on both past and future values of the variable. They are also known as forward-backward equations. At the end of the eighties appeared interesting papers on applications of these equations, such as the work of H. Chi et al. in nerve conduction [5], and the works of A. Rustichini in the context of optimal control problems [14] and economic dynamics [15]. These works helped to increase the study of these equations. From the beginning of this century, other applications of MFDE in Physics [1, 4] and Economy [11] and the study of other problems [3, 6–8, 12] have been developed. Topics like controllability [10, 13] and spectral analysis [9] on MFDE have been treated in this decade.

V. Iakovleva (⊠) · J. Vanegas

Departamento de Matemáticas Puras y Aplicadas, Universidad Simón Bolívar, P.O. Box 89000, 1080 Caracas, Venezuela e-mail: romanova@usb.ve

J. Vanegas e-mail: cvanegas@usb.ve

MFDE are, in general, ill-posed as initial value problems (see for example [7, 14]), but there are also cases [6, 8, 12] where a unique solution exists.

In this work we show the construction of the solution to the mixed type differential difference equation:

$$x'(t) = Ax(t+a) + Bx(t-a) + Cx(t),$$
(1.1)

where  $A, B, C \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}, a > 0$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

We use a step derivative method (an analog to the step integration method [2]) so that the following condition

$$\varphi^{(n+1)}(0) = A\varphi^{(n)}(a) + B\varphi^{(n)}(-a) + C\varphi^{(n)}(0), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

on the initial function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}[-a, a]$  assures the existence, uniqueness and smoothness of the solution of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

#### 2 Construction of the Solution

In this section we construct the solution of the differential difference equation (1.1), using the step derivative method.

We start rewriting (1.1) in the form:

$$x(t+a) = \frac{1}{A}x'(t) - \frac{B}{A}x(t-a) - \frac{C}{A}x(t).$$
 (2.1)

Taking  $t + a =: \tau$ , then from (2.1) we get

$$x(\tau) = \frac{1}{A}x'(\tau - a) - \frac{B}{A}x(\tau - 2a) - \frac{C}{A}x(\tau - a).$$
(2.2)

Now we follow an induction process to construct the solution of (1.1) on the interval  $[a, na], n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For n = 2, if  $\tau \in [a, 2a]$ , then  $(\tau - a) \in [0, a]$  and  $(\tau - 2a) \in [-a, 0]$ . On the interval [-a, a] the function x(t) is known. In (2.2) the right side is determined uniquely for  $\tau \in [a, 2a]$ . Therefore the values of x(t) are found for  $\tau \in [a, 2a]$ . Now suppose that we know  $x(\tau)$  on [a, ma], for an arbitrary fixed number  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then in (2.2) the right side is determined for  $\tau \in [ma, (m + 1)a]$ . Hence the values of  $x(\tau)$  are determined on the interval [a, (m + 1)a]. Therefore the function x(t) is determined for all  $\tau \ge a$  starting from the function  $\varphi = x|_{[-a,a]}$ .

Similarly, we rewrite (1.1) as

$$x(t-a) = \frac{1}{B}x'(t) - \frac{A}{B}x(t+a) - \frac{C}{B}x(t)$$
(2.3)

and changing the variable s := t - a we obtain

$$x(s) = \frac{1}{B}x'(s+a) - \frac{A}{B}x(s+2a) - \frac{C}{B}x(s+a).$$
 (2.4)

Applying the above procedure to (2.4) we construct the function x(s) for all  $s \le -a$ , starting from the function  $\varphi = x|_{[-a,a]}$ .

Therefore the function  $x \in C^{\infty}(ma, (m + 1)a), m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , is constructed satisfying (1.1), i.e., we have constructed the smooth solution of (1.1) only in each open interval  $(ma, (m + 1)a), m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . However in the points  $t = ka, k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ , the function x(t) and its derivatives can be discontinuous.

Since the solution constructed by this method contains the linear combination of the initial function and its derivatives, then the solution is unique in the intervals  $(ma, (m + 1)a), m \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

#### **3** The Smoothness of the Solution

In this section we give necessary and sufficient conditions to assure the smoothness of the solution of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}$  with the function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}[-a, a]$  as initial condition.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}[-a, a]$ . The solution x(t) of (1.1) satisfying the initial condition  $x|_{[-a,a]} = \varphi$  and constructed using the former step derivative method, belongs to  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if the following condition

$$\varphi^{(n+1)}(0) = A\varphi^{(n)}(a) + B\varphi^{(n)}(-a) + C\varphi^{(n)}(0), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.1)

is satisfied.

*Proof* The necessary condition: Let  $x \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  be the solution of (1.1) and  $x(t) = \varphi(t)$  for  $t \in [-a, a]$ . Taking the derivative of order *n* of (1.1) in t = 0, we obtain

$$x^{(n+1)}(0) = Ax^{(n)}(a) + Bx^{(n)}(-a) + Cx^{(n)}(0).$$
(3.2)

Since  $x|_{[-a,a]} = \varphi$ , (3.2) is exactly the condition (3.1).

The sufficient condition: We assume that (3.1) is satisfied. From (2.2) it follows

$$x^{(n)}(\tau) = \frac{1}{A}x^{(n+1)}(\tau-a) - \frac{B}{A}x^{(n)}(\tau-2a) - \frac{C}{A}x^{(n)}(\tau-a)$$
(3.3)

or equivalently

$$x^{(n)}(a^{+}) = \frac{1}{A}\varphi^{(n+1)}(0) - \frac{B}{A}\varphi^{(n)}(-a) - \frac{C}{A}\varphi^{(n)}(0), \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $x^{(n)}(a^{\pm}) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0, \varepsilon > 0} x^{(n)}(a \pm \varepsilon)$ . Hence the equality  $x^{(n)}(a^{+}) = \varphi^{(n)}(a)$  follows from (3.4) and condition (3.1). On the other hand,  $x^{(n)}(a^{-}) = \varphi^{(n)}(a)$  because *x* coincides with  $\varphi$  on [-a, a]. Therefore, we have the continuity condition  $x^{(n)}(a^{+}) = x^{(n)}(a^{-})$ . Similarly from (2.4) the continuity of  $x^{(n)}(t)$  in t = -a is given.

We finish the proof using mathematical induction on k. Suppose that for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  the identities  $x^{(n)}(ka^+) = x^{(n)}(ka^-)$  are true for  $k = \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots, \pm m$ . Then for (3.3) for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we have

$$x^{(n)}((m+1)a^{+}) = \frac{1}{A}x^{(n+1)}(ma^{+}) - \frac{B}{A}x^{(n)}((m-1)a^{+}) - \frac{C}{A}x^{(n)}(ma) \quad (3.5)$$

and also

$$x^{(n)}((m+1)a^{-}) = \frac{1}{A}x^{(n+1)}(ma^{-}) - \frac{B}{A}x^{(n)}((m-1)a^{-}) - \frac{C}{A}x^{(n)}(ma).$$
 (3.6)

From the induction hypothesis  $x^{(n+1)}(ma^+) = x^{(n+1)}(ma^-)$  and  $x^{(n)}((m-1)a^+) = x^{(n)}((m-1)a^-)$ . Hence the right sides of (3.5) and (3.6) are the same. Then  $x^{(n)}((m+1)a^+) = x^{(n)}((m+1)a^-)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

Similarly from (2.4), we have  $x^{(n)}(-(m+1)a^{-}) = x^{(n)}(-(m+1)a^{+})$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

Therefore, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the equality  $x^{(n)}(ka^+) = x^{(n)}(ka^-)$  is also correct for  $k = \pm (m + 1)$ . It means that  $x^{(n)}(ka^+) = x^{(n)}(ka^-)$  is correct for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then it is proved that x(t) and all of its derivatives are continuous in all  $t = ka, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence,  $x \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ .

*Remark 3.2* Theorem 3.1 and the step derivative method applied in the former section give the existence and uniqueness of the solution of (1.1) with the initial condition  $\varphi$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

*Remark 3.3* The functions  $x_{\lambda}(t) = e^{\lambda t}$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  are the solutions of (1.1) if and only if  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , where

$$\Lambda = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda = Ae^{\lambda a} + Be^{-\lambda a} + C \right\}.$$
(3.7)

#### **4** Outlook to Further Results

We might expect more general equations than (1.1) to be studied. We can suppose the coefficients A, B and C in (1.1) to be piecewise smooth and find conditions for the existence of the solution. Also a spectral theory, controllability theory or numerical solutions could be researched for these type of equations.

Mathematical models containing these equations could be used to study the effect of drugs as therapies. Radioactive therapies could also be modeled.

#### References

 K. Abell, C. Elmer, A. Humphries, E. Vleck, Computation of mixed type functional differential boundary value problems. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 4(3), 755–781 (2005)

- R. Bellman, K.L. Cooke, *Differential-Difference Equations*. A Series of Monographs and Textbooks (Academic Press, San Diego, 1963)
- A. Buica, V.A. Ilea, Periodic solutions for functional differential equations of mixed type. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 330, 576–583 (2007)
- E. Buksman, J. De Luca, Two-degree-of-freedom Hamiltonian for the time-symmetric twobody problem of the relativistic action-at-a-distance electrodynamics. Phys. Rev. E 67, 026219 (2003)
- H. Chi, J. Bell, B. Hassard, Numerical solution of a nonlinear advance-delay-differential equation from nerve conduction theory. J. Math. Biol. 24, 583–601 (1986)
- N.J. Ford, P.M. Lumb, Mixed-type functional differential equations: a numerical approach. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 229(2), 471–479 (2009)
- J. Harterich, B. Sandstede, A. Scheel, *Exponential Dichotomies for Linear Nonautonomous Functional Differential Equations of Mixed-Type*, vol. 51 (Indiana University, Bloomington, 2002), pp. 94–101
- V. Iakovleva, C.J. Vanegas, On the solution of differential equations with delayed and advanced arguments. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 13, 57–63 (2005)
- V. Iakovleva, C.J. Vanegas, Spectral analysis of the semigroup associated to a mixed functional differential equation. Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 72(4), 491–499 (2011)
- V. Iakovleva, R. Manzanilla, L.G. Mármol, C.J. Vanegas, Solutions and constrained-null controllability for a differential-difference equation. Math. Slovaca (2013). To appear
- A. Kaddar, H. Talibi Alaoui, Fluctuations in a mixed IS-LM business cycle model. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 134, 1–9 (2008)
- J. Mallet-Paret, S.M. Verduyn Lunel, Mixed-type functional differential equations, holomorphic factorization and applications, in *Proc. of Equadiff 2003, Inter. Conf. on Diff. Equations.* HASSELT 2003 (World Scientific, Singapore, 2005), pp. 73–89
- R. Manzanilla, L.G. Mármol, C.J. Vanegas, On the controllability of a differential equation with delayed and advanced arguments. Abstr. Appl. Anal. (2010). doi:10.1155/2010/307409
- A. Rustichini, Functional differential equations of mixed type: the linear autonomous case. J. Dyn. Differ. Equ. 1(2), 121–143 (1989)
- A. Rustichini, Hopf bifurcation of functional differential equations of mixed type. J. Dyn. Differ. Equ. 1(2), 145–177 (1989)

# **On the Classical Lorenz System**

Valery A. Gaiko

**Abstract** The classical Lorenz system is considered. For many years, this system has been the subject of study by numerous authors. However, until now the structure of the Lorenz attractor is not clear completely yet, and the most important question at present is to understand the bifurcation scenario of chaos transition in this system. Using some numerical results and our bifurcational geometric approach, we present a new scenario of chaos transition in the classical Lorenz system.

Keywords Lorenz system · Bifurcation · Singular point · Limit cycle · Chaos

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 34C28 · Secondary 37D45 · 37G35

#### 1 Introduction

We consider a three-dimensional dynamical system

$$\dot{x} = \sigma(y - x), \qquad \dot{y} = x(r - z) - y, \qquad \dot{z} = xy - bz \tag{1}$$

known as the Lorenz system. Historically, (1) was the first dynamical system for which the existence of an irregular attractor (chaos) was proved for  $\sigma = 10$ , b = 8/3, and 24,06 < r < 28. For many years, the Lorenz system has been the subject of study by numerous authors; see, e.g., [1–8]. However, until now the structure of the Lorenz attractor is not clear completely yet, and the most important question at present is to understand the bifurcation scenario of chaos transition in system (1).

In Sect. 2 of this paper, we recall a relatively new scenario of chaos transition in the Lorenz system (1) proposed by N.A. Magnitskii and S.V. Sidorov [6]. In Sect. 3,

V.A. Gaiko (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

This work was supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) and the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD).

United Institute of Informatics Problems, National Academy of Sciences of Belarus, Surganov Str. 6, Minsk 220012, Belarus e-mail: valery.gaiko@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_71

we revise this scenario and present a different bifurcation scenario of chaos transition in system (1), where  $\sigma = 10$ , b = 8/3, and r > 0, using numerical results of [6] and our bifurcational geometric approach to the global qualitative analysis of threedimensional dynamical systems which we applied earlier in the planar case [9–15].

#### 2 The Magnitskii–Sidorov Scenario

There exists a contemporary point of view on the structure of the Lorenz attractor and chaos transition in system (1); see [1–8]. However, in [6], it is shown that absolutely another scenario of chaos transition is realized in the Lorenz system (1). It turns out that all cycles from infinite family of unstable cycles, generating the Lorenz attractor [6], have crossing with an one-dimensional unstable not invariant manifold  $V^u$  of the origin of system (1) (do not confuse with the invariant unstable manifold  $W^u$  of this point). This result follows from the theory of dynamical chaos stated in [6]. After the derivation of analytic formulas for the manifold  $V^u$ , it becomes possible to reduce the problem of establishing and proving the existence of unstable cycles in the Lorenz system to the one-dimensional case, namely, to finding stable points of the one-dimensional first return mapping defined on the unstable manifold [6]. By this method, it is shown that some items of the classical scenario of chaos transition in the Lorenz system (1) are invalid, while other require a more detailed investigation. The Magnitskii–Sidorov scenario is the following.

1. The Lorenz system (1) is dissipative and symmetric with respect to the *z*-axis. The origin O(0, 0, 0) is a singular point of system (1) for any  $\sigma$ , *b*, and *r*. It is a stable node for r < 1. For r = 1, the origin becomes a triple singular point, and then, for r > 1, there are two more singular points in the system:  $O_1(\sqrt{b(r-1)}, \sqrt{b(r-1)}, r-1)$  and  $O_2(-\sqrt{b(r-1)}, -\sqrt{b(r-1)}, r-1)$  which are stable up to the parameter value  $r_a = \sigma(\sigma + b + 3)/(\sigma - b - 1)$  ( $r_a \approx 24,74$  for  $\sigma = 10$  and b = 8/3). For all r > 1, the point *O* is a saddle-node. It has a two-dimensional stable manifold  $W^s$  and a one-dimensional unstable manifold  $W^u$ . If  $1 < r < r_1 \approx 13,9$ , then separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  issuing from the point *O* along its one-dimensional unstable manifold  $W^u$  are attracted by their nearest stable points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively.

2. If  $r = r_1 \approx 13.9$ , then the separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  do not form two separate homoclinic loops. Here we have a bifurcation with the generation of a single closed contour surrounding both stationary points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ ; the end of the separatrix  $\Gamma_1$ enters the beginning of the separatrix  $\Gamma_2$ , and vice versa, the end of  $\Gamma_2$  enters the beginning of  $\Gamma_1$ . As r grows, from this contour, a closed cycle  $C_0$  appears there first. It is an eight-shaped figure surrounding both points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ .

3. If  $r_1 < r < r_2 \approx 24,06$ , then cycles  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  surrounding the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively, do not appear; but with further growth of r, pairs of cycles  $C_n^+, C_n^-, n = 0, 1, ...$ , are successively generated. They determine the generation of the Lorenz attractor. The cycle  $C_n^+$  makes n complete rotations in the half-space containing the point  $O_1$  and one incomplete rotation around the point  $O_2$ .

Conversely, the cycle  $C_n^-$  makes *n* complete rotations around the point  $O_2$  and one incomplete rotation around the point  $O_1$ .

For each r,  $r_1 < r < r_2$ , there exists the number n(r)  $(n(r) \rightarrow \infty \text{ as } r \rightarrow r_2)$ such that in the phase-space of (1), there are unstable cycles  $C_0, C_k^+, C_k^-, k =$  $0, \ldots, n$ , and cycles  $C_{km}^+, C_{km}^-, k, m < n$ , which make k rotations around the point  $O_1$  and m rotations around the point  $O_2$  and are various combinations of the cycles  $C_n^+$  and  $C_n^-$ , and many other cycles generated by bifurcations of the cycles  $C_n^+$ and  $C_n^-$  [6]. Points of intersection of all these cycles with the manifold  $V_u$  have the following arrangement on the curve  $V_u$  for  $0 \le z_{min} \le z \le z_{max} < r - 1$ . The point  $z_{min}$  corresponds to the right large single loop of the cycle  $C_n^-$ . This loop is the larger face of the right truncated cone of the set S. Further, the trajectory of the cycle passes into the left half-plane and makes n clockwise rotations around the point  $O_2$ . The smallest first loop around the point  $O_2$  is the smaller face of the truncated cone of the set S. The point  $z_{max}$  corresponds to the smallest loop of the cycle  $C_n^+$  around the point  $O_1$ . This loop is the smaller face of the right truncated cone. Further, the trajectory of this cycle makes n rotations around the point  $O_1$  clockwise, passes into the left half-plane, and makes one large rotation around the point  $O_2$ . This rotation is the larger face of the left truncated cone. Between the points  $z_{min}$  and  $z_{max}$  there is a point  $z_0$  corresponding to the main cycle  $C_0$ .

Boundaries of the attraction domains of the stable points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are given by the smallest loops of the cycles  $C_n^+$  and  $C_n^-$ , whose size decay as r grows. Therefore, for some  $r = r_m$ , the attraction domain of the set B no longer intersects the attraction domains of points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , and the set B becomes an attractor. Therefore, in the Lorenz system (a = 10, b = 8/3), metastable chaos exists only in the interval  $r_1 < r < r_m$ , and in the interval  $r_m < r < r_2$ , the system has three stable limit sets, namely,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  and the Lorenz attractor.

If  $r \to r_2$ , then the eye size decreases as the number of rotations of the cycles  $C_n^+$ and  $C_n^-$  around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively, grows. The value  $z_{max}$  grows, and  $z_{min}$  decays; moreover,  $z_{min} \to 0$  as  $r \to r_2$ . The lengths of generatrices of truncated cones grow, since additional rotations are added to the cone vertex and diminish the size of the smaller face. Conversely, the larger face grows. If  $r = r_2$ , then  $z_{min} = 0$ , but  $z_{max} < r - 1$ ; thus, the larger face of each cone achieves its maximal size, while the smaller face is not contracted into a point, the cone vertex. The following bifurcation takes place. In the limit as  $n \to \infty$ , each set of cycles  $C_n^+$ (respectively,  $C_n^-$ ) forms a point-cycle heteroclinic structure consisting of two separatrix contours of the point O. The first contour consists of a separatrix issuing from the point O along its unstable manifold and spinning on the appearing (only for  $r = r_2$ ) saddle cycle  $L_1$  (respectively,  $L_2$ ) of the point  $O_1$  (respectively,  $O_1$ ). The second contour consists of the separatrix spinning out from the saddle cycle  $L_1$ (respectively,  $L_2$ ) and entering the point O along its stable manifold.

As mentioned above, the described bifurcation does not lead to generation of the Lorenz attractor for  $r = r_2$ . It is more correct to say that it is only a prerequisite of destruction of the attractor as *r* decays. The attractor itself, existing in the system for  $r = r_2$ , is formed from finitely many stable cycles  $C_k^{\pm}$ , k = 0, ..., l, for r < 313. It

contains neither separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  of the point *O* nor infinitely many unstable cycles  $C_n^{\pm}$  existing in the neighborhood of the point-cycle heteroclinic structure.

If  $r_2 < r < r_3 = r_a$ , then points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are still stable, and their attraction domains are bound by the appearing limit cycles  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  contracting to points as  $r \rightarrow r_3$ . But the Lorenz attractor B is not a set of integral curves going from  $L_1$ to  $L_2$  and back, and separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  of the saddle point O do not belong to the attractor. Cycles  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  have already made their job at  $r = r_2$  and no longer have anything to do with the attractor. If  $r_2 < r < r_3$ , then, just as in the case of  $r_1 < r < r_2$ , the cycles  $C_n^+$  and  $C_n^-$  appear again from separatrix contours. The attractor is determined by finitely many such cycles [6].

4. For  $r = r_3 = r_a \approx 24,74$ , the saddle cycles  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  disappear. In the system, there is a unique limit set, namely, the Lorenz attractor.

5. There exist one more important value of the parameter r which affects the formation of the Lorenz attractor. This is a point  $r_4 \approx 30,485$ . If r grows from  $r_3$  to  $r_4$ , then the number of rotations of the cycles  $C_n^+$  and  $C_n^-$  first rapidly decays, then grows again. In this case, eyes by separatrices of the point O are much smaller than attractor eyes and begin to grow as r increases. Therefore, almost heteroclinic and almost homoclinic contours exist in system (1) at the point  $r_4$ .

The process of generation of the Lorenz attractor in system (1) as r decays from the value 313 up to  $r_4$  is referred to as the incomplete double homoclinic cascade [6]. The complete cascade occurs if the *r*-axis passes exactly through the point of existence of two homoclinic contours. Note that in systems with a single homoclinic contour, there can be a simple complete or incomplete homoclinic cascade of bifurcations of transition to chaos, and in [6], a detailed description of transition to chaos through the double homoclinic (complete or incomplete) cascade of bifurcations is given. Just as in item 6 of the classical scenario, if r > 313, then in the system, there exists a unique stable limit cycle  $C_0$  surrounding both points. If  $r \approx 313$ , then the cycle  $C_0$  becomes unstable and generates two stable cycles  $C_0^+$  and  $C_0^-$  which also surround the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  but have deflections in the direction of corresponding halves of the unstable manifold  $V^{u}$  of the point O. This is the point where the double homoclinic cascade of bifurcations really begins. In case of an incomplete cascade, it consists of finitely many stages of appearance of stable cycles  $C_k^{\pm}$ ,  $k = 0, \dots, l$ , and their infinitely many further bifurcations. But in case of a complete cascade, the number of stages is infinite, and at the limit of  $l \rightarrow \infty$ , cycles tend to homoclinic contours of the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively. At the k-th stage of the cascade, originally stable cycles  $C_k^{\pm}$  undergo a subharmonic cascade of bifurcations and form two band-form attractors that consist of infinitely many unstable limit cycles intersecting the respective domains of the unstable manifold  $V^{u}$  of the point O. Then these two bands merge and form a single attractor surrounding both the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , after which there is a cascade of bifurcations of cycles generated as a result of the merger and making rotations separately around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  and simultaneously around both the points. The last cascade of bifurcations has the property of self-organization, since it is characterized by simplification of the structure of cycles and the generation of new stable cycles with a smaller number of rotations around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  as r decays. Each cycle of the cascade of self-organization bifurcations undergoes its own subharmonic cascade of bifurcations, after which all cycles formed during infinitely many bifurcations of all subharmonic cascades and cascades of self-organization bifurcations of cycles become unstable and form some set  $B_k$ . After an incomplete homoclinic cascade of bifurcations, we obtain a set  $B = \bigcup B_k$  consisting of infinitely many possible unstable cycles appearing at all stages of the cascade. These cycles generate an incomplete double homoclinic attractor, that is the classical Lorenz attractor.

6. If r > 313, then the unique stable limit cycle is an attractor in system (1).

#### **3** The Bifurcational Geometric Scenario

Revising the above scenario, we present a new scenario of chaos transition in the Lorenz system (1) for  $\sigma = 10$ , b = 8/3, and r > 0.

1. If r < 1, the unique singular point O of system (1) is a stable node. For r = 1, it becomes a triple singular point, and then, for r > 1, there are two more singular points in the system:  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  which are stable up to the parameter value  $r_a \approx 24,74$ . For all r > 1, the point O is a saddle-node. It has a two-dimensional stable manifold  $W^s$  and an one-dimensional unstable manifold  $W^u$ . If  $1 < r < r_l = r_1 \approx 13,9$ , then the separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  issuing from the point O along its one-dimensional unstable manifold  $W^u$  are attracted by their nearest stable points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively.

2. If  $r = r_l$ , then each of the separatrices  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  becomes a closed homoclinic loop. In this case, two unstable homoclinic loops,  $C_0^+$  and  $C_0^-$ , are formed around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , respectively. They are tangent to each other and the *z*-axis at the point O and form together a homoclinic butterfly.

3. If  $r_l < r < r_a \approx 24,74$ , then, unfortunately, neither the classical scenario nor the Magnitskii-Sidorov scenario can be realized. The reason is that, in both cases, trajectories of system (1) should intersect the two-dimensional stable manifold  $W^s$ of the point O. Since this is impossible, the only way to overcome the contradiction is to suppose that a cascade of period-doubling bifurcations [6] will begin immediately in each of the half-spaces with respect to the manifold  $W^s$ , when  $r > r_l$ . In this case, each of the homoclinic loops  $C_0^+$  and  $C_0^-$  generates an unstable limit cycle of period 2 which makes one rotation around the point  $O_1$  and one rotation around the point  $O_2$  but in the corresponding half-spaces containing the points  $O_1$ and  $O_2$ , respectively, and a stable limit cycle of period 1 lying between the coils of the cycle of period 2. With further growth of r, each of the cycles of period 2 generates an unstable limit cycle of period 4 with a stable limit cycle of period 3 inside of it and each of the cycles of period 1 generates a stable limit cycle of period 2 with an unstable limit cycle of period 1 inside of it. Then, after next doubling, we will have in each of the half-spaces an unstable limit cycle of period 8 with an inserted stable limit cycle of period 7 and a stable limit cycle of period 6 with an inserted unstable limit cycle of period 5, and a stable limit cycle of period 4 with an inserted unstable limit cycle of period 3, and an unstable limit cycle of period 2 with an inserted stable limit cycle of period 1. Continuing this process further, we will obtain limit cycles of all periods from one to infinity, and the space between these cycles will be filled by spirals issuing from unstable limit cycles and tending to stable limit cycles as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ . These cycles are inserted into each other, they make various combinations of rotation around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  in the corresponding half-spaces containing these points and form geometric constructions (limit periodic sets) which look globally like very flat truncated cones described in item 3 of the Magnitskii–Sidorov scenario [6].

4. For  $r = r_a \approx 24,74$ , the biggest unstable limit cycles of infinite period disappear through the Andronov–Shilnikiv bifurcation [4, 5] in each of the half-spaces containing the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  (the cone vertices are at these points), and these points become unstable saddle-foci.

5. If  $r_a < r < +\infty$ , then a cascade of period-halving bifurcations [6] occurs in each of the half-spaces with respect to the manifold  $W^s$ . We have got again two symmetric with respect to the *z*-axis limit periodic sets consisting of limit cycles of all periods which are inserted into each other and make various combinations of rotation around the points  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  in the corresponding half-spaces containing these points, and the space between the cycles is filled by spirals issuing from unstable limit cycles and tending to stable limit cycles as  $t \to +\infty$ . The biggest limit cycles of these sets are stable now, and with further growth of *r*, the periodhalving process makes them and the whole limit periodic sets more and more flat. The obtained geometric constructions are the only stable limit sets of system (1). The spirals of the unstable saddle-foci  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  and the trajectories issuing from infinity tend to these limit periodic sets (more precisely, to their stable limit cycles) as  $t \to +\infty$ . Just these stable limit periodic sets form two symmetric parts of the so-called Lorenz attractor, and this really looks very chaotic.

6. If  $r \to +\infty$  (numerically, when r > 313), then the period-halving process will be finishing and system (1) will have two stable limit cycles in two phase half-spaces containing the unstable saddle-foci  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  of (1). This completes our scenario of chaos transition in the Lorenz system (1).

#### References

- 1. C. Sparrou, *The Lorenz Equations: Bifurcations, Chaos and Strange Attractors* (Springer, New York, 1982)
- 2. S. Smale, Mathematical problems for the next century. Math. Intell. 20, 7–15 (1998)
- 3. L.P. Shilnikov et al., *Methods of Qualitative Theory in Nonlinear Dynamics. Part I* (World Scientific, New Jarsey, 1998)
- 4. L.P. Shilnikov et al., *Methods of Qualitative Theory in Nonlinear Dynamics. Part II* (World Scientific, New Jarsey, 2001)
- 5. Yu.A. Kuznetsov, Elements of Applied Bifurcation Theory (Springer, New York, 2004)
- N.A. Magnitskii, S.V. Sidorov, New Methods for Chaotic Dynamics (World Scientific, Singapore, 2006)
- 7. H.W. Broer, F. Takens, Dynamical Systems and Chaos (Springer, New York, 2011)
- E.J. Doedel, B. Krauskopf, H.M. Osinga, Global invariant manifolds in the transition to preturbulence in the Lorenz system. Indag. Math. 22, 222–240 (2011)

- 9. V.A. Gaiko, *Global Bifurcation Theory and Hilbert's Sixteenth Problem* (Kluwer Academic, Boston, 2003)
- 10. V.A. Gaiko, Limit cycles of quadratic systems. Nonlinear Anal. 69, 2150–2157 (2008)
- V.A. Gaiko, A quadratic system with two parallel straight-line-isoclines. Nonlinear Anal. 71, 5860–5865 (2009)
- 12. V.A. Gaiko, On the geometry of polynomial dynamical systems. J. Math. Sci. **157**, 400–412 (2009)
- V.A. Gaiko, On limit cycles surrounding a singular point. Differ. Equ. Dyn. Syst. 20, 329–337 (2012)
- V.A. Gaiko, The applied geometry of a general Liénard polynomial system. Appl. Math. Lett. 25, 2327–2331 (2012)
- 15. V.A. Gaiko, Limit cycle bifurcations of a general Liénard system with polynomial restoring and damping functions. Int. J. Dyn. Syst. Differ. Equ. 4, 242–254 (2012)

# **Discrete Singular Integrals in a Half-Space**

Alexander V. Vasilyev and Vladimir B. Vasilyev

**Abstract** We consider Calderon–Zygmund singular integral in the discrete halfspace  $h\mathbf{Z}_{+}^{m}$ , where  $\mathbf{Z}^{m}$  is entire lattice (h > 0) in  $\mathbf{R}^{m}$ , and prove, that the discrete singular integral operator is invertible in  $L_2(h\mathbf{Z}_{+}^{m})$  iff such is its continual analogue. The key point for this consideration takes solvability theory of so-called periodic Riemann boundary problem, which is constructed by authors.

Keywords Calderon–Zygmund kernel · Discrete singular integral · Symbol

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 42A50 · Secondary 42A85

#### 1 Introduction

We consider simplest Calderon-Zygmund operators of convolution type

$$v.p.\int_{\mathbf{R}^m} K(x-y)u(y)dy = \lim_{\substack{\varepsilon \to 0 \\ N \to +\infty}} \int_{\varepsilon < |x-y| < N} K(x-y)u(y)dy,$$

where the kernel K(x) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $K(tx) = t^{-m}K(x), \forall x \neq 0, t > 0;$
- (2)  $\int_{S^{m-1}} K(\theta) d\theta = 0$ ,  $S^{m-1}$  is unit sphere in  $\mathbf{R}^m$ ;
- (3) K(x) is differentiable on  $\mathbf{R}^m \setminus \{0\}$ .

A.V. Vasilyev (⊠) Department of Mathematical Analysis, Belgorod State University, Studencheskaya 14/1, Belgorod 308007, Russia e-mail: alexvassel@gmail.com

V.B. Vasilyev Chair of Pure Mathematics, Lipetsk State Technical University, Moskovskaya 30, Lipetsk 398600, Russia e-mail: vladimir.b.vasilyev@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_72

This work was completed when the second author was a DAAD stipendiat and hosted in Institute of Analysis and Algebra, Technical University of Braunschweig.

Let us consider a discrete operator generated by the Calderon–Zygmund kernel K(x), and defined on functions  $u_h(\tilde{x})$ ,  $\tilde{x} \in h\mathbb{Z}^m$ , where  $\mathbb{Z}^m$  is entire lattice (h > 0) in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and the corresponding equation

$$au_h(\tilde{x}) + \sum_{\tilde{y} \in h\mathbf{Z}^m_+} K(\tilde{x} - \tilde{y})u_h(\tilde{y})h^m = v_h(\tilde{x}), \quad \tilde{x} \in h\mathbf{Z}^m_+,$$
(1.1)

*a* is certain constant, in the discrete half-space  $h\mathbf{Z}_{+}^{m} = \{\tilde{x} \in h\mathbf{Z}^{m} : \tilde{x_{m}} > 0\}, u_{h}, v_{h} \in L_{2}(h\mathbf{Z}_{+}^{m}).$ 

By definition we put K(0) = 0, and for the operator

$$u_h(\tilde{x}) \mapsto au(\tilde{x}) + \sum_{\tilde{y} \in h\mathbf{Z}^m} K(\tilde{x} - \tilde{y})u_h(\tilde{y})h^m, \quad \tilde{x} \in h\mathbf{Z}^m,$$

we introduce its symbol by the formula

$$\sigma_h(\xi) = a + \sum_{\tilde{x} \in h\mathbf{Z}^m} e^{-i\xi\tilde{x}} K(\tilde{x}) h^m;$$

it is periodic function with basic cube period  $[-\pi h^{-1}; \pi h^{-1}]^m$ .

The sum for  $\sigma_h(\xi)$  is defined as a limit of partial sums over cubes  $Q_N$ 

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{\tilde{x} \in Q_N} e^{-i\xi \tilde{x}} K(\tilde{x}) h^m,$$
$$Q_N = \left\{ \tilde{x} \in h \mathbf{Z}^m : |\tilde{x}| \le N, \ |\tilde{x}| = \max_{1 \le k \le m} |\tilde{x}_k| \right\}.$$

It is very similar classical symbol of Calderon–Zygmund operator [4], which is defined as Fourier transform of the kernel K(x) in principal value sense

$$\sigma(\xi) = \lim_{\substack{N \to \infty \\ \varepsilon \to 0}} \int_{\varepsilon < |x| < N} K(x) e^{i\xi x} dx.$$

Key point of our study is theorem proved in [6], asserting that images of  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma_h$  are the same.

We also introduce continual equation in a half-space

$$au(x) + \int_{\mathbf{R}^m_+} K(x-y)u(y)dy = v(x), \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^m_+,$$
 (1.2)

and we'll prove, that (1.1) and (1.2) are uniquely solvable or unsolvable simultaneously for all h > 0 in corresponding spaces.

# 2 Discrete Calderon–Zygmund Operators

#### 2.1 Symbol Properties

We recall some properties of symbols  $\sigma(\xi)$  and  $\sigma_h(\xi)$ , which are needed for us [6].

**Lemma 2.1**  $\lim_{h\to 0} \sigma_h(\xi) = \sigma(\xi), \forall \xi \neq 0.$ 

*Proof* Indeed, if we fix  $\xi \neq 0$ , then by definition of integral as a limit of integral sums, we finish the proof.

**Lemma 2.2**  $\sigma_h(\xi) = \sigma_1(h\xi), \forall h > 0, \xi \in [-\pi h^{-1}, \pi h^{-1}]^m$ .

Proof

$$\sigma_{h}(\xi) = \sum_{\tilde{x} \in h \mathbf{Z}^{m}} K(\tilde{x}) e^{-i\tilde{x} \cdot \xi} h^{m}$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{\tilde{y} \in \mathbf{Z}^{m}} K(h\tilde{y}) e^{-i\tilde{y} \cdot h\xi} h^{m} = \sum_{\tilde{y} \in \mathbf{Z}^{m}} K(\tilde{y}) e^{-i\tilde{y} \cdot h\xi} = \sigma_{1}(h\xi).$$

**Lemma 2.3** The images of  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma_h$  are the same, and their values are constant for any ray from origin.

*Proof* It follows from previous lemmas immediately, because if we fix  $\xi$ , then  $\sigma_1(0) = \sigma(\xi) \Longrightarrow \sigma_h(0) = \sigma(\xi)$ .

#### 2.2 Symbols and Operators

We consider more general in whole space  $\mathbf{R}^m$ 

$$(M_1P_+ + M_2P_-)U = V,$$

taking into account that  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$  are operators of type (1.2), and  $P_+$ ,  $P_-$  are restriction operators on  $\mathbf{R}^m_{\pm} = \{x = (x_1, \dots, x_m), \pm x_m > 0\}$ . It is easily verified that (1.2) is a special case for such equation, when  $M_2 \equiv I$ , I is identity operator.

If we'll denote the Fourier transform by letter *F*, and use the notations [3]

$$FP_{+} = Q_{\xi'}F, \qquad FP_{-} = P_{\xi'}F,$$
$$P_{\xi'} = 1/2(I + H_{\xi'}), \qquad Q_{\xi'} = 1/2(I - H_{\xi'})$$

where  $H_{\xi'}$  is Hilbert transform on variable  $\xi_m$  for fixed  $\xi' = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{m-1})$  [1]:

$$(H_{\xi'}u)(\xi',\xi_m) \equiv \frac{1}{\pi i}v.p.\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{u(\xi',\tau)}{\tau-\xi_m}d\tau,$$

then the equation mentioned after applying the Fourier transform will be the following equation with the parameter  $\xi'$ :

$$\frac{\sigma_{M_1}(\xi',\xi_m) + \sigma_{M_2}(\xi',\xi_m)}{2} \tilde{U}(\xi) + \frac{\sigma_{M_1}(\xi',\xi_m) - \sigma_{M_2}(\xi',\xi_m)}{2\pi i} v.p. \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\tilde{U}(\xi',\eta)}{\eta - \xi_m} d\eta = \tilde{V}(\xi)$$

(~ denotes the Fourier transform).

This equation is closely related to boundary Riemann problem with the parameter  $\xi'$  with coefficient [2, 5]

$$G(\xi',\xi_m) = \sigma_{M_1}(\xi',\xi_m)\sigma_{M_2}^{-1}(\xi',\xi_m).$$

#### **3** Periodic Riemann Boundary Problem

The theory of periodic Riemann boundary problem was constructed by authors [8] (see also forthcoming paper with the same name in *Differential Equations*) with full details, and now we will use its general consequences.

Let's denote  $\mathbf{Z}_+ = 0, 1, 2, \dots, \mathbf{Z}_- = \mathbf{R} \setminus \mathbf{Z}_+$ . The Fourier transform for function of discrete variable is the series

$$(Fu)(\xi) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} u(k)e^{-ik\xi}, \quad \xi \in [-\pi, \pi].$$
(3.1)

Let's consider the Fourier transform (3.1) for the indicator of  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ :

$$\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{+}}(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \in \mathbf{Z}_{+} \\ 0, & x \notin \mathbf{Z}_{+}. \end{cases}$$

For summable functions their product transforms to convolution of their Fourier images on the segment  $[-\pi, \pi]$  but for our case  $F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_+} \cdot u)$  one of functions  $\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_+}$  is not summable. Thus, first we introduce some regularizing multiplier and evaluate the following Fourier transform

$$F(e^{-\tau k} \cdot \chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{+}})(\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}_{+}} e^{-\tau k} e^{-ik\xi} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}_{+}} e^{-\tau k - ik\xi} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}_{+}} e^{-ik(\xi + i\tau)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}_{+}} e^{-ikz}, \quad \tau \to 0, \ z = \xi + i\tau, \ \tau > 0.$$

Discrete Singular Integrals

The Fourier transform for the function u(n) we'll denote  $\hat{u}(\xi)$ , it is left to find the sum for  $e^{-ikz}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}_+} e^{-ikz} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( 1 + e^{-iz} + e^{-2iz} + \cdots \right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-iz}}.$$

After some transformations:

$$F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{+}} \cdot u)(\xi) = \lim_{\tau \to 0+} \left( \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{z-t}{2} dt \right), \quad z = \xi + i\tau.$$

According to Sokhotskii formulas (these are almost same for periodic kernel cot(x)) (see also classical books [2, 5])

$$F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{+}} \cdot u)(\xi) = \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{\xi - t}{2} dt + \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{2} dt$$

If we introduce the function  $\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{-}}(x)$  and consider the Fourier transform for the product  $F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{-}} \cdot u)$  with preliminary regularization, then we have

$$F(e^{-\tau k} \cdot \chi_{Z_{-}}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{-\infty}^{-1} e^{\tau k} e^{-ik\xi} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{-\infty}^{-1} e^{\tau k - ik\xi}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{-\infty}^{-1} e^{-ik(\xi + i\tau)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{-\infty}^{-1} e^{-ikz}, \quad \tau \to 0, \ z = \xi + i\tau, \ \tau < 0.$$

Further,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}\sum_{-\infty}^{-1}e^{-ikz} = \frac{1}{2\pi}\left(-1 + 1 + e^{iz} + e^{2iz} + \cdots\right) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\frac{1}{1 - e^{iz}}.$$

With the help of some elementary calculations:

$$F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{-}} \cdot u) =_{n \to \xi} \lim_{\tau \to 0} \left( -\frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} - \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{z-t}{2} dt \right), \quad z = \xi + i\tau.$$

Applying Sokhotskii formulas, we have:

$$F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{-}} \cdot u)(\xi) = \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{\xi - t}{2} dt + \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{2}$$

To verify one can find the sum for  $F(\chi_{\mathbb{Z}_{+}} \cdot u)$ ,  $F(\chi_{\mathbb{Z}_{-}} \cdot u)$  and obtain:

$$F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{+}} \cdot u) + F(\chi_{\mathbf{Z}_{-}} \cdot u) = \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{\xi - t}{2} dt + \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{2} - \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{4\pi} - \frac{1}{4\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \hat{u}(t) \cot \frac{\xi - t}{2} dt + \frac{\hat{u}(\xi)}{2} = \hat{u}(\xi).$$

These calculations lead to certain periodic Riemann boundary value problem, for which the solvability conditions are defined by the index of its coefficient. The problem is formulated as following way: finding two functions  $\Phi^{\pm}(t)$  which admit an analytical continuation into upper and lower half-strip in the complex plane **C**, real part is the segment  $[-\pi, \pi]$ , and their boundary values satisfy the relation

$$\Phi^{+}(t) = G(t)\Phi^{-}(t) + g(t), \quad t \in [-\pi, \pi],$$

G(t), g(t) are given functions on  $[-\pi, \pi]$ , and such that  $G(-\pi) = G(\pi)$ ,  $g(-\pi) = g(\pi)$ .

Index for such problem is called the integer number

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\arg G(t).$$

#### **4** Solvability Conditions

Here we suppose additionally, that the symbol  $\sigma(\xi', \xi_m)$  satisfies the condition

$$\sigma(0,\ldots,0,-1) = \sigma(0,\ldots,0,+1).$$

**Theorem 4.1** (Main Theorem) Equations (1.1) and (1.2) are uniquely solvable or unsolvable simultaneously for all h > 0.

*Proof* We need to look our symbols  $\sigma(\xi)$  and  $\sigma_h(\xi)$  more exactly. We'll illustrate our consideration with the help of Fig. 1.

If we fix  $\xi'$  in the cube  $[-\pi, \pi]^m$ , then under varying  $\xi_m$  on  $[-\pi, \pi]$  the argument of  $\sigma_1(\xi)$  will vary along the curve on cubical surface of  $[-\pi, \pi]^m$ , which unites the points  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  (for the case  $m \ge 3$  all such curves are homotopic, and for the case m = 2 there are two curves left and right one).

This varying corresponds to the varying of the argument of function  $\sigma(\xi)$  along the curve from point  $A_1$  to point  $A_2$  on the unit sphere. Further, if we consider the symbol  $\sigma_h(\xi)$  now on the cube  $[-h^{-1}\pi, h^{-1}\pi]^m$ , then according to Lemma 2.2  $h\xi_m$  will be varied on  $[-\pi, \pi]$  also under fixed  $h\xi'$ . In other words, the argument of  $\sigma_h(\xi)$  for fixed  $\xi'$  (we consider small h > 0) will be varied along curve on cubical surface of  $[-h^{-1}\pi, h^{-1}\pi]^m$ , which unites the points  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ . It corresponds to varying argument of function  $\sigma(\xi)$  from point  $B_1$  to point  $B_2$  on unit sphere. Obviously, under decreasing h the sequence  $A_1, B_1, \ldots$  will be convergent to south pole of the unit sphere  $(0, \ldots, 0, -1)$ , and the sequence  $A_2, B_2, \ldots$  to north pole  $(0, \ldots, 0, +1)$ . Thus, because the variation of argument of  $\sigma_h(\xi)$  on  $\xi_m$  under fixed  $\xi'$  is  $2\pi k$  ( $\sigma_h$  is periodic function), then under additional assumption

$$\sigma(0, \ldots, 0, -1) = \sigma(0, \ldots, 0, +1)$$

Discrete Singular Integrals

**Fig. 1** Illustration to the proof of Theorem 4.1



(this property is usually called the transmission property) we'll obtain that variation of argument for the function  $\sigma(\xi)$  under varying  $\xi_m$  from  $-\infty$  to  $+\infty$  under fixed  $\xi'$ (this variation of  $\sigma(\xi)$  moves along the arc of big half-circumference on unit sphere) is also  $2\pi k$ . According to our assumptions on continuity of  $\sigma(\xi)$  on the unit sphere, it will be the same number  $2\pi k, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \int_{-\pi h^{-1}}^{\pi h^{-1}} d\arg \sigma_h(\xi', \xi_m) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\arg \sigma(\xi', \xi_m), \quad \forall \xi' \neq 0$$

So, both for (1.1) and (1.2) the uniquely solvability condition is defined by the same number. This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

### 5 Conclusion

We see that both continual and discrete equations are solvable or unsolvable simultaneously, and then we need to find good finite approximation for infinite system of linear algebraic equations for computer calculations. First steps in this direction were done in the paper [7], where the authors suggested to use fast Fourier transform.

Acknowledgement Many thanks to DAAD and Herr Prof. Dr. Volker Bach for their support.

## References

- 1. G. Eskin, Boundary Value Problems for Elliptic Pseudodifferential Equations (AMS, Providence, 1981)
- 2. F.D. Gakhov, Boundary Value Problems (Dover, New York, 1990)
- 3. I. Gokhberg, N. Krupnik, One-Dimensional Linear Singular Integral Equations. I. Introduction (Birkhäuser, Basel, 1992)
- 4. S.G. Mikhlin, S. Prössdorf, Singular Integral Operators (Springer, Berlin, 1986)
- 5. N.I. Muskhelishvili, Singular Integral Equations (Dover, New York, 2008)
- 6. V.B. Vasilyev, *Elliptic Boundary Value Problems in Non-smooth Domains*. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications. V., vol. 213 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2011), pp. 105–121
- A.V. Vasilyev, V.B. Vasilyev, On numerical solution for some singular integral equations. Neural Parallel Sci. Comput. 20, 313–326 (2012)
- A.V. Vasilyev, V.B. Vasilyev, On some discrete singular integral equations in a half-space. Azerb. J. Math. 3, 117–123 (2013)

# **Geometrical Features of the Soliton Solution**

#### Zhanat Zhunussova

Abstract It is well known, that integrable equations are solvable by the inverse scattering method (Ablowitz and Clarkson in Solitons, Non-linear Evolution Equations and Inverse Scattering, 1992). Investigating of the integrable spin equations in (1 + 1), (2 + 1) dimensions are topical both from the mathematical and physical points of view (Lakshmanan and Myrzakulov in J. Math. Phys. 39:3765–3771, 1998; Gardner et al. in Phys. Rev. Lett. 19(19):1095–1097, 1967). Integrable equations admit different kinds of physically interesting solutions as solitons, vortices, dromions etc. We consider an integrable spin M-I equation (Myrzakulov and Vijayalakshmi in Phys. Lett. A 233:391–396, 1997). There is a corresponding Lax representation. And the equation allows an infinite number of integrals of motion. We construct a surface corresponding to soliton solution of the equation. Further, we investigate some geometrical features of the surface.

Keywords Surface · Soliton · Nonlinear equation

## **1** Introduction

We consider the connection between the surface and the soliton equation M-I which has the form [2],

$$\mathbf{S}_t = (\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{S}_y + u\mathbf{S})_x, \tag{1.1}$$

$$u_x = -(\mathbf{S}, (\mathbf{S}_x \times \mathbf{S}_y)), \tag{1.2}$$

where **S** is spin vector,  $S_1^2 + S_2^2 + S_3^2 = 1$ , × is vector product, *u* is a scalar function. We identify the spin vector **S** and vector  $\mathbf{r}_x$  according to [2]

$$\mathbf{S} \equiv \mathbf{r}_x. \tag{1.3}$$

Z. Zhunussova (🖂)

Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, Al-Farabi avenue, 71, 050040 Almaty, Kazakhstan e-mail: zhzhkh@mail.ru

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_73

Then (1.1), (1.2) take the form

$$\mathbf{r}_{xt} = (\mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_{xy} + u\mathbf{r}_x)_x, \tag{1.4}$$

$$u_x = -(\mathbf{r}_x, (\mathbf{r}_{xx} \times \mathbf{r}_{xy})). \tag{1.5}$$

If we integrate (1.4) by *x*, then it takes the form

$$\mathbf{r}_t = \mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_{xy} + u\mathbf{r}_x. \tag{1.6}$$

Taking into account Gauss–Weingarten equation and  $E = \mathbf{r}_x^2 = 1$  the system is defined as

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \left(u + \frac{MF}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\right)\mathbf{r}_{x} - \frac{M}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\mathbf{r}_{y} + \Gamma_{12}^{2}\sqrt{\Lambda}\mathbf{n}, \qquad (1.7)$$

$$u_x = \sqrt{\Lambda} \left( L \Gamma_{12}^2 - M \Gamma_{11}^2 \right), \tag{1.8}$$

where

$$\Gamma_{11}^{2} = \frac{2EF_{x} - EE_{t} - FE_{x}}{2\Lambda},$$
(1.9)

$$\Gamma_{12}^2 = \frac{EG_x - FE_t}{2\Lambda},\tag{1.10}$$

 $\Lambda = EG - F^2$ . M-I equation is integrable equation and has soliton solutions.

# 2 Construction of Surface Corresponding to Soliton Solution

Here we present the one-soliton solution of (1.1), (1.2) [2],

$$S_3(x, y, t) = 1 - \frac{2\eta^2}{\eta^2 + \xi^2} \operatorname{sech}^2(\chi_{1R}), \qquad (2.1)$$

$$S^{+}(x, y, t) = \frac{2\eta}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}} \left[ i\xi - \eta t h(\chi_{1R}) \right] \operatorname{sech}(\chi_{1R}),$$
(2.2)

$$\chi_1 = \chi_{1R} + i \chi_{1I}, \qquad \lambda_1 = \eta + i\xi,$$
 (2.3)

$$m_1 = m_{1R}(\rho) + im_{1I}(\rho), \quad m_j(y,t) = m_j(\rho),$$
 (2.4)

$$\chi_{1R} = \eta x + m_{1R}(\rho) + c_{1R}, \quad \rho = y + i\lambda_j t,$$
 (2.5)

$$\chi_{1I} = \xi x + m_{1I}(\rho) + c_{1I}, \quad c = \ln(2\eta/\lambda_1^*),$$
 (2.6)

$$m_{1R}(\rho) = \text{Re}[m_1(\rho)], \qquad m_{1I}(\rho) = \text{Im}[m_1(\rho)], \qquad (2.7)$$

which we use in the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.1** (Main Theorem) One-soliton solution (2.1)–(2.7) of the spin system *M-I* can be represented as components of the vector  $\mathbf{r}_x$ , where

$$r_1 = \frac{2\eta}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch\chi_{1R}} + c_1, \tag{2.8}$$

$$r_2 = \frac{2\xi}{\eta^2 + \xi^2} \operatorname{arctg}(sh\chi_{1R}) + c_2, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$r_3 = x - \frac{2\eta}{\eta^2 + \xi^2} th \chi_{1R} + c_3, \qquad (2.10)$$

 $c_1$ ,  $c_2$ ,  $c_3$  are constants. Solution of the form (2.8)–(2.10) corresponds to the surface with the following coefficients of the first and second fundamental forms

$$E = 1, \qquad G = \frac{4m_{1Ry}^2}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}},$$
(2.11)

$$F = \frac{2\eta m_{1Ry}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}}, \qquad L = \frac{4\eta^3\xi m_{1Ry}}{\sqrt{g}(\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2ch^4\chi_{1R}}, \qquad (2.12)$$

$$M = \frac{4\eta^2 \xi m_{1Ry}^2}{\sqrt{g}(\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4 \chi_{1R}}, \qquad N = \frac{4\eta \xi m_{1Ry}^3}{\sqrt{g}(\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4 \chi_{1R}}.$$
 (2.13)

*Proof* From (1.3) we have

$$(S_1, S_2, S_3) = (r_{1x}, r_{2x}, r_{3x}), (2.14)$$

i.e.

$$r_{1x} = S_1, \qquad r_{2x} = S_2, \qquad r_{3x} = S_3.$$
 (2.15)

Hence

$$r_1 = \int S_1 dx + c_1, \tag{2.16}$$

$$r_2 = \int S_2 dx + c_2, \tag{2.17}$$

$$r_3 = \int S_3 dx + c_3, \tag{2.18}$$

where  $c_1, c_2, c_3$  are constants of integration. Note

$$S^+ = S_1 + i S_2 = r_x^+, (2.19)$$

then

$$r^{+} = r_{1} + ir_{2} = \int S^{+} dx + c^{+}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where  $c^+$  is constant of integration. Substituting (2.1) in (2.18), we have

$$r_{3} = \int S_{3}dx + c_{3} = \int \left[ 1 - \frac{2\eta^{2}}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}} \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\chi_{1R}) \right] dx + c_{3}$$
$$= x - \frac{2\eta}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})} th(\chi_{1R}) + c_{3}^{*}, \qquad (2.21)$$

where  $c_3^* = c_3 + c_3'$ .  $c_3 \equiv c_3^*$ , then

$$r_3 = x - \frac{2\eta}{(\eta^2 + xi^2)} th(\chi_{1R}) + c_3.$$
(2.22)

Substituting (2.2) into (2.20) we have

$$r^{+} = r_{1} + ir_{2} = \int S^{+} dx + c^{+}$$
  
=  $\int \frac{2\eta}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}} [i\xi - \eta th(\chi_{1R})] \operatorname{sech}(\chi_{1R}) dx + c^{+}$   
=  $\frac{2i\xi}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}} \operatorname{arctg}(sh\chi_{1R}) + \frac{2\eta}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}} \frac{1}{ch\chi_{1R}} + c'' + c^{+} + c'''.$  (2.23)

We denote  $c_1 = c'', c_2 = c^+ + c'''$ , then

$$r^{+} = \frac{2\eta}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})ch\chi_{1R}} + c_{1} + i\left(\frac{2\xi}{\eta^{2} + \xi^{2}}\operatorname{arctg}(sh\chi_{1R}) + c_{2}\right), \qquad (2.24)$$

i.e. we have obtained

$$r_1 = \frac{2\eta}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch\chi_{1R}} + c_1, \qquad r_2 = \frac{2\xi}{\eta^2 + \xi^2} \operatorname{arctg}(sh\chi_{1R}) + c_2.$$
(2.25)

Thus, (2.22), (2.25) give us (2.8)–(2.10).

We proceed to prove the second part of the theorem. From (2.22) and (2.25) we have

$$r_{1x} = -\frac{2\eta^2 sh\chi_{1R}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}}, \qquad r_{2x} = \frac{2\eta\xi}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch\chi_{1R}}, \qquad (2.26)$$

$$r_{3x} = 1 - \frac{2\eta^2}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}}, \qquad r_{1y} = -\frac{2\eta sh\chi_{1R}m_{1Ry}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}}, \tag{2.27}$$

$$r_{2y} = \frac{2\xi m_{1Ry}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch\chi_{1Ry}}, \qquad r_{3y} = -\frac{2\eta m_{1Ry}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1Ry}}.$$
 (2.28)

Then we can calculate

$$E = \mathbf{r}_{x}^{2} = r_{1x}^{2} + r_{2x}^{2} + r_{3x}^{2}$$

$$= \frac{4\eta^{4}sh^{2}\chi_{1R}}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})^{2}ch^{4}\chi_{1R}} + \frac{4\eta^{2}\xi^{2}}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})^{2}ch^{2}\chi_{1R}}$$

$$+ 1 - \frac{4\eta^{2}}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})ch^{2}\chi_{1R}} + \frac{4\eta^{4}}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})^{2}ch^{4}\chi_{1R}} \equiv 1.$$
(2.29)

Similarly, using (2.25) and (2.28) we obtain

$$G = \mathbf{r}_{y}^{2} = r_{1y}^{2} + r_{2y}^{2} + r_{3y}^{2} = \frac{4m_{1Ry}^{2}}{(\eta^{2} + \xi^{2})ch^{2}\chi_{1R}} \equiv 1,$$
 (2.30)

$$F = (\mathbf{r}_x, \mathbf{r}_y) = r_{1x}r_{1y} + r_{2x}r_{2y} + r_{3x}r_{3y} = \frac{2\eta m_{1Ry}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2\chi_{1R}}.$$
 (2.31)

Formulas (2.29)–(2.31) give us the first three equations (2.11)–(2.13). Using (2.29)–(2.31) we compute

$$\Lambda = EG - F^2 = \frac{4m_{1Ry}^2(\eta^2 sh^2\chi_{1R} + \xi^2 ch^2\chi_{1R})}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4\chi_{1R}}.$$
 (2.32)

We calculate the components of the vector **n** 

$$\mathbf{n} = \frac{\mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_y}{|\mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_y|} = \frac{\mathbf{r}_x \times \mathbf{r}_y}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}(n_1, n_2, n_3),$$
(2.33)

$$n_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} (r_{2x} r_{3y} - r_{3x} r_{2y}) = -\frac{2\xi m_{1Ry}}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2) ch \chi_{1R}}.$$
 (2.34)

Similarly, for the components

$$n_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} (r_{3x} r_{1y} - r_{1x} r_{3y}) = -\frac{2\eta sh \chi_{1R} m_{1Ry}}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2) ch^2 \chi_{1R}},$$
 (2.35)

$$n_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} (r_{1x} r_{2y} - r_{2x} r_{1y}) = 0.$$
 (2.36)

Now, from (2.26), (2.28) we have

$$r_{1xx} = -\frac{2\eta^3 ch\chi_{1R}(ch^2\chi_{1R} - 2sh^2\chi_{1R})}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^4\chi_{1R}} = -\frac{2\eta^3(1 - sh^2\chi_{1R})}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^3\chi_{1R}},$$
 (2.37)

$$r_{2xx} = -\frac{2\eta^2 \xi sh \chi_{1R}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^2 \chi_{1R}},$$
(2.38)

$$r_{3xx} = \frac{4\eta^3 s h \chi_{1R}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2) c h^3 \chi_{1R}}.$$
(2.39)

Thus, using (2.34)–(2.39) we can compute

$$r_{3xx} = \frac{4\eta^3 sh\chi_{1R}}{(\eta^2 + \xi^2)ch^3\chi_{1R}}.$$
(2.40)

Taking into account, that  $n_3 = 0$ ,

$$L = \frac{4\eta^3 \xi m_{1Ry}}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 c h^4 \chi_{1R}}.$$
 (2.41)

Similarly, we calculate

$$M = \frac{4\eta^2 \xi m_{1Ry}^2}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 c h^4 \chi_{1R}},$$
(2.42)

$$N = \frac{4\eta \xi m_{1Ry}^3}{\sqrt{\Lambda}(\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4 \chi_{1R}}.$$
(2.43)

The formulas (2.41)–(2.43) give us the last three equations (2.11)–(2.13). Using (2.11)–(2.13), for example, the Gaussian curvature can be calculated

$$K = \frac{LN - M^2}{\Lambda}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Lambda} \left( \frac{4\eta^3 \xi m_{1Ry}}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4 \chi_{1R}} \frac{4\eta \xi m_{1Ry}^3}{\sqrt{\Lambda} (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^2 ch^4 \chi_{1R}} - \frac{16\eta^4 \xi^2 m_{1Ry}^4}{\Lambda (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^4 ch^8 \chi_{1R}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Lambda} \left( \frac{16\eta^4 \xi^2 m_{1Ry}^4}{\Lambda (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^4 ch^8 \chi_{1R}} - \frac{16\eta^4 \xi^2 m_{1Ry}^4}{\Lambda (\eta^2 + \xi^2)^4 ch^8 \chi_{1R}} \right) \equiv 0.$$
(2.44)

We see that for the surface Gaussian curvature is equal to zero. Theorem is proved.  $\Box$ 

## **3** Conclusion

Based on the results of work [2], where Gauss–Codazzi–Mainardi equation considered in multidimensional space, we have studied equation M-I and built the surface corresponding to soliton solution. Thus, this work fully reveals the meaning of the geometric approach [2] in (2 + 1)-dimensions.

## References

1. M.J. Ablowitz, P.A. Clarkson, *Solitons, Non-linear Evolution Equations and Inverse Scattering* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992)

- R. Myrzakulov, S. Vijayalakshmi et al., A (2+1)-dimensional integrable spin model: geometrical and gauge equivalent counterparts, solitons and localized coherent structures. Phys. Lett. A 233, 391–396 (1997)
- 3. M. Lakshmanan, R. Myrzakulov et al., Motion of curves and surfaces and nonlinear evolution equations in 2 + 1-dimensions. J. Math. Phys. **39**, 3765–3771 (1998)
- 4. C.S. Gardner, J.M. Greene, M.D. Kruskal, R.M. Miura, Method for solving the Korteweg-de Vries equation. Phys. Rev. Lett. **19**(19), 1095–1097 (1967)

# Part XII M-Frame Constructions

Organizers: Krzysztof Rudol, Anna Grybos, Darian Onchis

# **Approximate Dual M-Frames Constructions: The Gabor Case**

**Darian M. Onchis and Anna Grybos** 

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to provide an efficient method to realize constructively approximate duals of Gabor frames with multivariate atoms. The proposed method is independent of the number of atoms needed and it is applicable also in the case of non-separable atoms. Due to the small number of atoms used in the construction the method is computationally inexpensive.

**Keywords** Frames · Approximate dual constructions · Multivariate atoms · Gabor frames

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 42C15 · Secondary 65D99

## 1 Introduction

Gabor analysis is concerned with the representation of signals using series of timefrequency shifted copies of a given atom. If the set of shifts used to build the Gabor family is a lattice  $\Lambda$ , one can use the so-called canonical dual Gabor atom (with respect to the same lattice  $\Lambda$ ) in order to find the coefficients for such non-orthogonal expansions. Classically mostly separable Gabor lattices are used, which are described by a time shift a and a frequency shift b (resp. the number of channels). In contrast to this classical setting the general non-separable case has found only little attention in the literature.

In the paper [4], the authors have proposed a method to compute good approximations to the dual Gabor atom, using only a few neighbours from an adjoint lattice  $\Lambda^{\circ}$ . In the current contribution we are extending that method to M-frames constructed using multivariate atoms.

D.M. Onchis (🖂)

A. Grybos

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_74

West University of Timisoara, Blvd. V. Parvan 4, Timisoara 300223, Romania e-mail: donchis@hpc.uvt.ro

AGH University of Science and Technology, Al. Mickiewicza 30, Krakow 30-059, Poland e-mail: grybos@agh.edu.pl
Existing work on approximating the inverse frame operator can be found in [2]. The frame operator has in general no bounded inverse. It is however possible to find a subspace, such that the projection is boundedly invertible.

The proposed computational procedure is intended to be used in applications when the signal must be reconstructed from the coefficients.

Frames  $(g_i)_{i \in I}$  generalize the idea of a basis in a Hilbert space H and consist of the indexed families such that the so-called **frame operator** *S* 

$$Sf = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, g_i \rangle g_i \tag{1}$$

is invertible. Hence every element  $f \in H$  has an expansion of the form [2]:

$$f = SS^{-1}f = \sum_{i \in I} \langle S^{-1}f, g_i \rangle g_i = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, S^{-1}g_i \rangle g_i.$$
 (2)

The family  $(\tilde{g}_i)_{i \in I} = (S^{-1}g_i)_{i \in I}$  is again a frame and is called the **canonical dual frame**. It is not the only dual frame unless the frame is a basis. In general, any frame  $(\gamma_i)_{i \in I}$  that allows the expansion of any  $f \in H$  as follow:

$$f = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, g_i \rangle \gamma_i = \sum_{i \in I} \langle f, \gamma_i \rangle g_i$$
(3)

is called a **dual frame**. However, the canonical dual  $(\tilde{g}_i)_{i \in I}$  provides the coefficients  $(\langle f, \tilde{g}_i \rangle)_{i \in I}$  of minimal  $l^2$ -norm.

The main tool for time-frequency analysis is the **Short-Time Fourier Trans**form, defined for functions  $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  at  $\lambda = (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$  by

$$V_g f(\lambda) = V_g f(\alpha, \beta) = \langle f, M_\beta T_\alpha g \rangle = \langle f, \pi(\lambda)g \rangle$$
(4)

where  $T_{\alpha} f(t) = f(t - \alpha)$  is the translation (time shift) and  $M_{\beta} f(t) = e^{2\pi i \beta \cdot t} f(t)$  is the modulation (frequency shift). The operators  $\pi(\lambda) := M_{\beta} T_{\alpha}$  are called **time-frequency shifts** and the set  $\Lambda = \{\lambda; \lambda = (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \widehat{\mathbb{R}}^d\}$  is a **lattice**.

A sequence  $(h_i)_{i \in I}$  in a separable Hilbert space H is a **Riesz basic sequence** (**RBS**) resp. **Riesz basis for its closed linear span** if there are two constants  $0 < C \le D < \infty$  with

$$C \|c\|_{l^{2}}^{2} \leq \left\|\sum_{i} c_{i} h_{i}\right\|_{H}^{2} \leq D \|c\|_{l^{2}}^{2}, \quad \forall c \in l^{2}(I).$$
(5)

The **Gabor system**  $\mathcal{G}(g, \Lambda) = \{\pi(\lambda)g; \lambda \in \Lambda\}$  over the lattice  $\Lambda$  consisting of the translated and modulated versions of one atom g, is a **frame** for the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , if and only if there exist  $0 < A \leq B < \infty$  (**frame bounds**) with

$$A \|f\|^{2} \leq \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \left| \left\langle f, \pi(\lambda)g \right\rangle \right|^{2} \leq B \|f\|^{2} \quad \text{for every } f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(6)

**Theorem 1.1** (Dual Gabor Frames [5]) If  $\mathcal{G}(g, \Lambda)$  is a Gabor frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for some lattice  $\Lambda \triangleleft \mathbb{R}^d \times \widehat{\mathbb{R}}^d$ , then the canonical dual frame takes the form  $\mathcal{G}(\gamma, \Lambda)$  for  $\gamma = S^{-1}g$ .

The frame  $\mathcal{G}(\tilde{g}, \Lambda)$  for  $\tilde{g} = S^{-1}g$  is again a Gabor frame with respect to the same lattice.

For two Gabor systems we can write the frame operator (1) in the generalized form:

$$S_{g,\gamma,\Lambda}f := \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \langle f, \pi(\lambda)g \rangle \pi(\lambda)\gamma.$$
<sup>(7)</sup>

In particular, if  $\mathcal{G}(g, \Lambda)$  is a frame and  $\mathcal{G}(\tilde{g}, \Lambda)$  is its canonical dual frame, then  $S_{g,\tilde{g},\Lambda}$  is an identity operator. Note that then  $S = S_{g,g,\Lambda}$  and  $S^{-1} = S_{\tilde{g},\tilde{g},\Lambda}$ .

## 2 Multivariate M-Frames

We recall that Lyubarskii [6] and Seip and Wallstén [8] have proven that:

**Proposition 2.1** Let  $g_1(x) = 2^{1/4}e^{-\pi x^2}$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\Lambda_{ab} = a\mathbb{Z} \times b\mathbb{Z}$ . Then the Gabor system  $\mathcal{G}(g_1, \Lambda_{ab})$  is a frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if ab < 1.

In order to construct M-frames, we need the following extension of Proposition 2.1, due to Bourouihiya [1]:

**Lemma 2.2** Let  $g = g_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes g_1$  (*d* factors) and  $\Lambda_{ab} = (a_1 \mathbb{Z} \times \cdots \times a_d \mathbb{Z}) \times (b_1 \mathbb{Z} \times \cdots \times b_d \mathbb{Z})$ . Then  $\mathcal{G}(g, \Lambda_{ab})$  is a frame if and only if  $a_j b_j < 1$  for  $1 \le j \le d$ .

The proof of this extension is straightforward using tensor products of Gabor systems.

Based on this result, another extension to non-separable lattices of the form  $N\Lambda_{a,b}$  is possible [7], which besides a multi-variate sampling in each dimension, gives us a better packing of the time-frequency plane by using a (non-separable) hexagonal lattice that matches with the circular contour lines of the Gaussian. The representation of the non-separable lattice is based on the rectangular lattice via a shear operation denoted by N.

To construct multivariate M-frames, we will use generalized Gaussians.

Let M = X + iY be a complex symmetric matrix of size d, we assume that  $X = \operatorname{Re} M$  is positive-definite (hence M is invertible). We define the generalized Gaussian  $g_M^{\gamma} = g_{X,Y}^{\gamma}$  by

$$g_M^{\gamma}(x) = 2^{d/4} e^{\gamma} (\det X)^{1/4} e^{-\pi \langle Mx, x \rangle};$$
(8)

where  $\gamma$  is an arbitrary (real) phase. The function  $g_M^{\gamma}$  is normalized:  $||g_M^{\gamma}||_{L^2} = 1$ . When *M* is the identity matrix and  $\gamma = 0$  one gets the standard (normalized) Gaussian

$$g_I^0(x) = 2^{d/4} e^{-\pi |x|^2}.$$
(9)

The theoretical results open the way for numerical constructions far beyond the standard Gabor processing on regular lattices. They gives us the freedom of generalizing both the lattice and the Gaussian window in a multi-variate way. The added flexibility will allow to find the most appropriate representation in the Gabor domain for different features identifications (e.g. 3D plane waves).

The numerical construction of multivariate Gaussian Gabor systems for multiple dimensions is possible as an extension of the 1D case. Using tensor products, it is well understood the potential of Gabor frames for analyzing nD-objects but also the numerical hurdles coming with their numerical implementation made it less feasible in practice.

In order to overcome these numerical hurdles, we will use the local construction of the dual system and we will extend it to the multidimensional setting. Basically, we apply the computationally inexpensive procedure in each dimension and then as a tensor product it gives the final approximate dual.

In these conditions it is feasible to perform a Gabor analysis followed by a Gabor synthesis at level of the constituting vectors, and therefore reducing the case of applying nD matrices to the fast case of applying the transform over each dimension. In this way, once we have the transform coefficients, we can approximate the nD object via the dual Gabor frame recovery.

## **3** Approximate Dual Gabor Frames

For the non-separable case we could still use the Janssen representation of the frame operator [5]:

$$S_{g,\Lambda} = C_{\Lambda} \sum_{\lambda^{\circ} \in \Lambda^{\circ}} V_{g}g(\lambda^{\circ})\pi(\lambda^{\circ}),$$

where  $\Lambda^{\circ}$  is the adjoint group (a symplectic variant of the orthogonal group).

As a consequence, for the M-frames constructions proposed in this contribution, we could use a sufficient condition given in [3]:

**Theorem 3.1** A pair  $(g, \Lambda)$  with  $g \in S_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$  or  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $g \neq 0$  is a frame if the following Janssen-like condition is satisfied:

$$s_{2} := \|g\|_{2}^{-1} \sum_{\lambda^{\circ} \in \Lambda^{\circ}} |V_{g}g(\lambda^{0})| \le 2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0.$$
 (10)

The state of the art for the calculation of the dual Gabor frames is that there exist many efficient algorithms for dual Gabor atoms in the separable case, already implemented and available in toolboxes. However, in the non-separable case the existing solutions are very time-consuming, hence an extension to multivariate atoms is necessary. The local approximation of the canonical dual atom for the Gabor frame relies on the following theorem and its consequences:

**Theorem 3.2** (Wexler–Raz Identity) Let  $\Lambda$  be a lattice in  $\mathbb{R} \times \widehat{\mathbb{R}}$  with adjoint lattice  $\Lambda^{\circ}$  and a pair  $(g, \gamma)$  in  $L^2 \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume that the synthesis operator  $c \mapsto \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} c_{\lambda} \pi(\lambda) g$  and  $c \mapsto \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} c_{\lambda} \pi(\lambda) \gamma$  are bounded on  $\ell^2(\Lambda)$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(i)

$$S_{g,\gamma,\Lambda}f = S_{\gamma,g,\Lambda} = Id$$
 on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

(ii)

$$\langle \gamma, \pi(\lambda^{\circ})g \rangle = red(\Lambda)\delta_{\lambda^{\circ},0} \quad for \ \lambda^{\circ} \in \Lambda^{\circ}.$$

We introduce the following notation [4]: let  $(h_i)_{i \in I}$  be a Riesz basic sequence in a Hilbert space H with the biorthogonal family  $(\tilde{h}_i)_{i \in I}$ . For  $J \subseteq I$ , we write  $(h_i^J)_{i \in J}$  for the **local Riesz basis** which spans the closed subspace  $H^J$ . We denote by  $(\tilde{h}_i^J)_{i \in J}$  the **local biorthogonal family** to the local Riesz basis  $(h_i^J)_{i \in J}$ . It is obtained by forming linear combinations of the vectors in  $(h_i)_{i \in J}$ , using as coefficients the entries of the *i*-th column of the inverse **local Gramian matrix**  $G_J = (\langle h_j, h_{j'} \rangle)_{j,j' \in J}$ .

**Theorem 3.3** ([4]) Assume that a symmetric resp. Hermitian matrix  $G = (g_{i,j})_{i,j \in I}$ satisfying  $g_{i,i} = 1$  for all  $i \in I$  is diagonal dominant, i.e.:

$$\sup_{i \in I} \sum_{j \neq i} |g_{i,j}| \le s_1 < 1.$$
(11)

Additionally, for any subset  $J \subseteq I$  let  $V_J$  denotes the pseudo-inverse of the matrix obtained from G by setting all the rows and columns with indices from  $I \setminus J$  to zero, or equivalently by inverting the submatrix  $G_J = (g_{j,j'})_{j,j' \in J}$ .

Then G is invertible and the inverse can be approximated by local inverse matrices  $V_J$  as  $J \nearrow I$  in the sense that for each fixed index  $i \in I$  the columns of  $V_J$  converge to the corresponding column of  $V_I = G^{-1}$  in the norm of  $\ell^1(I)$ .

The simulations presented in [4] show a good rate of approximation of the canonical dual atom by only a few elements of the adjoint Riesz basis. In order to define the subregions  $J \subseteq I$  in the lattice  $\Lambda^{\circ}$  the masks of the square block shape were considered in the tests. In the examples (Figs. 1 and 2) the size of the block changed from  $3 \times 3$ ,  $5 \times 5$  to  $7 \times 7$ , hence the number of used elements of the frame *G* increased from 9, 25, to 49 (see Fig. 1). In the case of a Gabor frame generated by a Gaussian window *g* of length n = 240 and time-frequency parameters (a, b) = (12, 12), it constituted 2.25 %, 6.25 %, 12.25 % of all frame elements.







## 4 Conclusions

The computational efficiency of the new approach is based on the Wexler–Raz identity transferring the problem to the adjoint lattice and the convergence of Neumann series corresponding to the small Gramians  $G_J$ . Thus, the proposed procedure uses only a reduced number of time-frequency shifted atoms from the adjoint lattice to approximate the dual atom.

The proposed method is independent of the number of atoms and works in the multivariate case. It is applicable in the non-separable case (e.g. quincunx lattice)

and it is computationally inexpensive due to the small number of atoms used. For the further developments the idea of intrinsic localization of the frame is necessary.

Acknowledgements The work of the first author of the article has been partially supported by the European Commission grant no. FP7-REGPOT-CT-2011-284595 (HOST). The second author has been partially supported by the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education.

## References

- 1. A. Bourouihiya, The tensor product of frames. Sampl. Theory Signal Image Process., Int. J. 7(1), 65–76 (2008)
- 2. O. Christensen, *An Introduction to Frames and Riesz Bases*. Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis (Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003)
- 3. M.A. de Gosson, D. Onchis, Multivariate symplectic Gabor frames with Gaussian windows. Preprint (2013)
- 4. H.G. Feichtinger, A. Grybos, D. Onchis, Fast approximation of dual Gabor atoms by masking the adjoint lattice. Preprint
- 5. K. Gröchenig, *Foundations of Time-Frequency Analysis*. Appl. Numer. Harmon. Anal. (Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001)
- 6. Yu.I. Lyubarskii, Frames in the Bargmann space of entire functions, in *Entire and Subharmonic Functions* (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1992), pp. 167–180
- 7. D. Onchis, Optimized frames and multi-dimensional challenges in time-frequency analysis. Adv. Comput. Math. (2014). doi:10.1007/s10444-013-9332-1
- K. Seip, R. Wallstén, Density theorems for sampling and interpolation in the Bargmann–Fock space. II. J. Reine Angew. Math. 429, 107–113 (1992)

# **Matrices of Operators on Some Function Spaces**

## Wojciech Mikołajczyk and Krzysztof Rudol

**Abstract** Some matrix representations for Hilbert space operators are considered. The corresponding matrices are related to frames and appear in a quite natural way especially in the case of reproducing kernel spaces. The membership in Schatten classes is discussed in terms of a discrete set of points, where the corresponding symbols are evaluated.

Keywords Schatten classes · Frames · Reproducing kernel · Berezin symbol

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 47A05 · Secondary 47B10 · 42C15

## **1** Matrices with Respect to Frames

In order to study properties of frames in a Hilbert space *H* one needs to apply some operator theory. Even the very definition can be phrased as a statement concerning two basic operators of analysis and synthesis. Namely, a sequence  $\mathcal{G} = (g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  in *H* defines the *analysis operator*  $C = C_{\mathcal{G}}$  assigning to  $x \in H$  the sequence  $(\langle x, g_j \rangle)$ . Its range space will be denoted by  $\mathcal{R}(C)$ .

**Definition 1.1** We say that the above sequence is

- a Bessel sequence if C maps boundedly H into  $\ell^2$ , i.e.  $||C|| < \infty$ ;
- a *frame* if  $||C|| < \infty$  and  $C^{-1} : \mathcal{R}(C) \to H$  is bounded in  $\ell^2$ -norm.

W. Mikołajczyk (🖂)

K. Rudol

Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, Jagiellonian University, ul. prof. St. Łojasiewicza 6, 30-348 Kraków, Poland e-mail: wesoly.woj@gmail.com

Faculty of Applied Mathematics, AGH University of Science and Technology, Al. Mickiewicza 30, 30-059 Kraków, Poland e-mail: grrudol@cyfronet.pl

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_75

The synthesis operator  $D = D_{\mathcal{G}} := C_{\mathcal{G}}^* : \ell^2 \to H$  sends scalar, square summable sequences  $(\lambda_j)$  to  $\sum_j \lambda_j g_j$ . The constants  $\kappa_2 = \|C\|^2$ ,  $\kappa_1 = \|(C|_{\mathcal{R}(C)})^{-1}\|^{-2}$ —are the upper (= Bessel), resp. lower *frame bounds* are optimal in the following frame condition, usually taken as the definition of a frame:

$$\kappa_1 \|x\|^2 \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\langle x, g_j \rangle|^2 \le \kappa_2 \|x\|^2, \quad x \in H.$$
(1.1)

The *canonical dual frame*,  $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}} = (\widetilde{g_j})$  is defined by  $\widetilde{g}_j = (DC)^{-1}g_j$  and it appears in the reconstruction formulae:  $x = \sum_j \langle x, \widetilde{g}_j \rangle g_j$  and  $x = \sum_j \langle x, g_j \rangle \widetilde{g_j}$ .

Basic operator theory is also involved in several frame constructions. It was quite recently that a converse attitude has been taken to apply frames (instead of orthonormal bases) in matrix representation of operators.

In [2] Peter Balazs has considered a pair of frames  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$  in Hilbert spaces  $H_1, H_2$  and defined the matrix  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}}(T) = \operatorname{Matr}^{\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}}(T)$  corresponding in the following natural way to a bounded linear operator  $T : H_1 \to H_2$ :

**Definition 1.2** Let  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G},\mathcal{H}}(T) = C_{\mathcal{G}} \circ T \circ D_{\mathcal{H}}$ —which as an operator on  $\ell^2$  is the matrix with entries  $(T_{mn})$  given by the inner products:

$$T_{nm} = \langle Th_m, g_n \rangle$$
 if  $\mathcal{G} = (g_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$ ,  $\mathcal{H} = (h_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ 

Conversely, the operator  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathcal{G},\mathcal{H}}(A) = D_{\mathcal{G}} \circ A \circ C_{\mathcal{H}}$  associated to an infinite matrix  $A = (a_{jn})$  bounded as an operator on  $\ell^2$  is given by

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mathcal{G},\mathcal{H}}(A)x = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{jn} \langle x, h_n \rangle g_j, \quad x \in H$$

with the sum absolutely convergent.

If  $H_1 = H_2 = H$  and  $\mathcal{H} = \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$  is the canonical dual (its frame bounds being  $\kappa_2^{-1}, \kappa_1^{-1}$ , its dual  $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}} = \mathcal{G}$ ), some regularity is achieved for the functor  $\mathcal{M}(\cdot) := \mathcal{M}^{G,\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}(\cdot)$ —it becomes a Banach algebra homomorphism: it depends on  $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$  in both linear and multiplicative manner. The operator norms satisfy  $||\mathcal{M}(T)|| \leq (\kappa_1^{-1}\kappa_2)^{\frac{1}{2}}||T||$  and similarly, the norm of  $||\mathcal{O}^{\mathcal{G},\mathcal{H}}(A)||$  is estimated by ||A|| times the geometric mean of the respective Bessel bounds. Analogous results hold for the Schatten–von-Neumann classes  $\mathfrak{S}_p$  and their norms. The Reconstruction Formula holds only in one direction—in the form  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathcal{G},\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{M}^{\widetilde{\mathcal{G}},\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}}(T)) = T$ . But although  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathcal{G},\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}(I_{\ell^2}) = I_H, \mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G},\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}$  sends the identity operator  $I_H$  to the Gram matrix of  $\mathcal{G}$ , which is noninvertible for frames that fail to be Riesz bases. These results of [2] were extended in [1], where it was shown that  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G},\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}$  preserves the hermitian conjugation iff the frame G is tight, i.e.  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G},\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}(T^*)$  is the adjoint for  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G},\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}(T)$  for any

 $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$  iff  $\kappa_1 = \kappa_2$ . Analysis of the spectrum of  $M := \mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{G}, \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}(T)$  (and its parts) in terms of the spectrum of *T*, carried in [1] resulted in the following

**Theorem 1.3** *The nonzero parts of the spectra*:  $\sigma(T) \setminus \{0\}$  *and*  $\sigma(M) \setminus \{0\}$  *are equal. The same is true for the point spectra*:  $\sigma_p(T) \setminus \{0\} = \sigma_p(M) \setminus \{0\}$ .

For the continuous spectrum  $\sigma_c(T) := \{\lambda \in \sigma(T) \setminus \sigma_p(T) : \bar{\lambda} \notin \sigma_p(T^*)\}$  and for  $\lambda \neq 0$  we have  $\lambda \in \sigma_c(T)$  iff

$$\lambda \notin \sigma_p(M), \quad \mathcal{R}(M - \lambda I) \not\supseteq \mathcal{R}(C) \quad and \quad \overline{\mathcal{R}(M - \lambda I)} \supset \mathcal{R}(C)$$

the essential spectra can be described using the orthogonal differences of the ranges and nullspaces (with  $\tilde{D}$  denoting the adjoint of the analysis operator  $\tilde{C}$  for  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ ) as follows:  $\lambda \notin \sigma_{ess}(T) \cup \{0\}$  iff the range of  $M - \lambda I$  is closed and dim(ker $(M - \lambda I) \ominus$ ker $(\tilde{D})) < \infty$  and dim $(\mathcal{R}(C) \ominus \mathcal{R}(M - \lambda I)) < \infty$ .

## 2 Frames from Reproducing Kernels

One instance when frames appear in a quite natural way is the case of *reproduc*ing kernel Hilbert spaces (RKH spaces—for short). Then H is a function space over some domain  $\Omega$ , where for any  $z \in \Omega$  there exists  $K_z \in H$  representing the functional of evaluation at the point z so that  $f(z) = \langle f, K_z \rangle$  for any  $f \in H$ . Then  $K(z, w) := K_z(w)$  is called the kernel function and  $k_z := K_z K(z, z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  is the normalised reproducing kernel at z, since  $||k_z|| = 1$ . These normalised kernels span a dense subspace in H and in most RKH spaces there are natural conditions (in terms of the Bergman metrics) for lattices  $\Gamma = \{\gamma_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  of points in  $\Omega$ , under which the sequence  $\mathcal{G} = \{k_{\gamma_n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  of normalised kernels forms a frame in H. We call such sequences sampling sequences for H. In [6] a general atomic decomposition is given in Theorem 8.2 (not only for Hilbert, but for the associated scale of Banach spaces, which for p = 2 give frames). In the case of Bergman spaces Chap. 5 of [5] seems the best source. The Segal-Bargmann space  $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$  of entire functions on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  square—integrable w.r. to the Gaussian measure  $d\mu_{\alpha}(z) = (\frac{\alpha}{\pi})^n \exp(-\alpha |z|^2) dm(z)$ , where dm is the Lebesgue measure is also called the Fock space. Here frames were constructed by Grossman with Daubechies, Lyubarski and Seip, using the normalised kernels  $k_z(w) = \exp(\alpha \bar{z}w - \frac{\alpha}{2}|z|^2)$ . In particular, the Euclidean metric lattices of sufficient density work. A recent treatment can be found in the book [8] by Kehe Zhu in the chapter on sampling sequences.

**Definition 2.1** The Berezin symbol for a bounded linear operator  $T : H \to H$  on a RKHS *H* is the function

$$\widetilde{T}(z,w) = \langle T\kappa_z, \kappa_w \rangle, \quad z, w \in \Omega$$

Its diagonal restriction is defined as  $\widetilde{T}(z) = \widetilde{T}(z, z)$ .

In [7] the following corollary is obtained in the case when p = 2.

**Proposition 2.2** The matrix of T w.r. to the frame  $\kappa_{z_n}$  has entries equal to Berezin symbol's values at the lattice points:  $T_{n,j} = \tilde{T}(z_j, z_n)$ . Moreover,  $T \in \mathfrak{S}_p(H)$  iff this infinite matrix as an operator on  $\ell^2$  belongs to the Schatten class  $\mathfrak{S}_p(\ell^2)$ . If  $0 the latter holds if <math>\sum_{n,j} |\tilde{T}(z_j, z_n)|^p < \infty$ .

*Proof* The first statement comes as a direct consequence of the definitions. The equivalence for the  $\mathfrak{S}_p$ -condition for an operator and its matrix in any frame is established in [1], Corollary 4.1. Its proof can actually avoid the assumption that  $\mathcal{G}$  be a tight frame (in which case the matrix functor  $\mathcal{M}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{M}(|T|^{\frac{p}{2}}) = |\mathcal{M}(T)|^{\frac{p}{2}}$ ). Indeed, it follows directly from the ideal property of  $\mathfrak{S}_p$ , since  $\mathcal{M}(T) = C_{\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}} \circ T \circ D_{\mathcal{G}}$ . It is in some contrast with the results of [3], showing the dependence of the summability of  $||Tf_n||^p$  (and the related quantities) on the choice of the frame sequence ( $f_n$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ ). The last claim follows from Lemma 11 and Theorem 17 in [3].

*Remark 2.3* Note that for nonnegative selfadjoint operators the latter condition is satisfied if  $\sum_{n} |\tilde{T}(z_n)|^p < \infty$ . Indeed, then the Berezin symbol is a positive definite kernel and Schwarz inequality applies.

For p > 2 a similar sufficient condition requires the summability of *p*-th powers—but with respect to all orthonormal bases, or all frames, not just the considered ones. A partial remedy is provided by the following result in [4].

Let  $\partial_H \Omega$  be the set of these boundary points  $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$  for which the normalised kernels  $\kappa_z$  weakly tend to zero as  $z \to z_0, z \in \Omega$ .

**Theorem 2.4** Assume that  $\partial_H \Omega$  is nonempty. (i) For a bounded linear  $T : H \to H$ its compactness is then equivalent to the Berezin transform  $U^{-1}TU(z)$  tending to zero as z tends to an arbitrary (equivalently, for some) point  $z_0 \in \partial_H \Omega$  for any unitary operator U on H.

(ii) If  $p \ge 1$  and T is a compact operator on a RKHS H, then it belongs to the ideal  $\mathfrak{S}_p$  iff for some point  $z_0 \in \partial_H \Omega$  there exists a sequence  $(z_n)$  in  $\Omega$  converging to  $z_0$  and such that for all unitary operators  $U : H \to H$  the sequence of values  $U^{-1}TU(z_n)$  is in  $\ell^p$ . The supremum of the  $\ell^p$ -norms taken over all unitaries U is equivalent to the  $\mathfrak{S}_p$  norm of T.

## References

- 1. Z. Ambrozinski, K. Rudol, Matrices defined by frames. Opusc. Math. 29, 365–375 (2009)
- P. Balazs, Matrix representation of operators using frames. Sampl. Theory Signal Image Process., Int. J. 7(1), 39–54 (2008)
- 3. H. Bingyang, L.H. Khoi, K. Zhu, Frames and operators in Schatten classes. Houst. J. Math. (to appear). arXiv:1302.2490

- I. Chalendar, E. Fricain, M. Gürdal, M.T. Karaev, Compactness and Berezin symbols. Acta Sci. Math. 78, 315–329 (2012)
- 5. H. Hedenmalm, B. Korenblum, K. Zhu, Theory of Bergman Spaces (Springer, New York, 2000)
- S. Janson, J. Peetre, R. Rochberg, Hankel forms and the Fock space. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 3, 61–138 (1987)
- 7. K. Rudol, Matrices related to some Fock space operators. Opusc. Math. 31, 289–296 (2011)
- 8. K. Zhu, Analysis on Fock Spaces (Springer, New York, 2012)

# **Rank-M Frame Multipliers and Optimality Criterions for Density Operators of Rank M**

**Daniel Lantzberg** 

**Abstract** Ever since the introduction of frames in Duffin and Schaeffer (Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 72:341–366, 1952), the connection between frame theory and decompositions of certain operators, particularly the identity operator, into rank-ones began to be elaborated. Abandoning the idea of restricting to tight frame-like expansions, with respect to systems arising from a single template function, one is led to the concept of resolutions of the identity, with respect to more general systems than the usual rank-one expansions of the identity.

In this study, we will investigate various notions of possible generalizations of optimality criterions for rank-M frames and corresponding multipliers. Explicitly, we will lay stress on continuous M-frames, arising from irreducible group representations of locally compact groups, have a look at its connection to time-frequency analysis and comment on adequate notions of optimality.

**Keywords** Frames · Multipliers · Operator approximation · Locally compact groups

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 47A05 · Secondary 42C15 · 47A58 · 43A22

## **1** Introduction

When considering rank-one expansions of the identity, one usually considers framelike sets of vectors as well as corresponding duals in order to decompose the identity operator into (usually non-orthogonal) projections onto one-dimensional subspaces. By replacing the arising rank-ones, indexed by some measure space  $(X, \mu)$ , with

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

D. Lantzberg (🖂)

Aschaffenburg University of Applied Sciences, Würzburger Str. 45, 63743 Aschaffenburg, Germany

e-mail: daniel.lantzberg@h-ab.de

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_76

suitable positive rank-M operators over the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of the form

$$P_{x} := \sum_{i=1}^{M} \lambda_{i} \langle \bullet, \varphi_{x}^{i} \rangle \varphi_{x}^{i}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{M}, \ x \in X \text{ and } \varphi_{x}^{i} \in \mathcal{H}, \ \forall i, x,$$

which still retains the (weak) decomposition property of the identity,  $\int_X P_x d\mu(x) = \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{H}}$ , we gain more flexibility regarding operator decompositions, without loosing too much of the well-established theory.

We will investigate the connection of frame-like families of rank-M operators to multipliers of the form

$$f \mapsto \int_X m(x) P_x f d\mu(x)$$
, with  $P_x f = \sum_{i=1}^M \lambda_i \langle f, \varphi_x^i \rangle \varphi_x^i$  as above,

where we will concentrate on measure spaces  $(X, \mu)$ , arising from locally compact groups.

At first, we will sum up some mathematical preliminaries needed, in order to follow our arguments below. Afterwards, we'll introduce the not-so-standard topic of group multipliers before moving to our definition of a "Q-multiplier". In order to keep things on a fairly concrete level, we will conclude with a concretization to time-frequency analysis and make a brief comment on optimality criterions.

## 2 Notation and Preliminaries

**Operators, Tensors and Its Relatives** We'll denote the tensor product  $(f, g) \in V \times W$  by  $f \otimes g \in V \otimes W$  and represent the—unique—dual element of  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ , via Riesz' representation theorem, by

$$f^*: g \mapsto f^*(g) := \langle g, f \rangle, \quad f, g \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Consequently, rank-one operators  $\mathcal{H}_1 \to \mathcal{H}_2$  are written as  $f \otimes g^* \in \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_1^*$ , where  $f \otimes g^* : h \mapsto f \langle h, g \rangle$ . On the operator level,  $S \otimes T^*$  is an action on the left resp. right factor, i.e.,  $S \otimes T^*(f \otimes g^*) = (Sf) \otimes (Tg)^*$ . For compact operators, this amounts to a composition from the left and right, i.e.,  $(S \otimes T^*)O := S \circ O \circ T^*$ , with  $T^*$  denoting the adjoint to T.

 $\mathcal{HS}(V)$  will be the Hilbert–Schmidt operators over V and  $tr[\cdot]$  will denote the trace functional. Moreover,  $\mathbf{1}_X$ ,  $\delta_G$  and  $\chi_E$  will be the identity on X, the Dirac distribution on G and the indicator function of the set E, respectively.  $\mathcal{H}$  will always denote a Hilbert space and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  an inner product.

**Groups, Representations and Co.** Let us be given a—not necessarily unimodular—locally compact group (LCG)  $(G, \mu)$ , with left Haar measure  $\mu$ , modular function  $\Delta_G$ , left resp. right regular representation

$$(\lambda(x)f)(y) = f(x^{-1}y)$$
 and  $(\rho(x)f)(y) = \Delta_G^{1/2}(x)f(yx)$ ,  
 $x, y \in G, f \in L^2(G, \mu),$ 

convolution being indicated by \* and its unitary dual  $\hat{G}$ , consisting of (equivalence classes of) unitary and *irreducible* representations (UIR). We will not make use of this unitary dual in general, we rather restrict ourselfs to a single equivalence class and work with some arbitrary representative of it. Denoting this representative by  $\pi$ , acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , we may employ the (strongly) continuous map  $G \ni x \mapsto \pi(x)\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , for some arbitrary *cyclic* vector  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , to assemble *frames* for  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ . Recall that

**Recall 2.1** (Cyclicity [8]) A vector  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$  is cyclic for  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  iff the closure of the linear span of its orbit under the group action is all of  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , i.e., if

$$\operatorname{span} \{ \pi(x) \varphi \mid x \in G \}$$
 is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ .

**Recall 2.2** (Frame [1]) With  $0 < A \le B < \infty$ , the family of vectors  $\{\varphi_i \mid i \in I\} \subseteq V$  is called a frame for the vector space V iff

$$A||f|| \le \sum_{i \in I} |\langle f, \varphi_i \rangle|^2 \le B||f||, \quad for \ all \ f \in V.$$

And moreover that

**Recall 2.3** (Irreducibility [8]) A representation  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  is irreducible, iff the only non-trivial subspace that is invariant under  $\pi$  is  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ .

Concerning UIRs, there's a neverending list of theorems and lemmata, one of which is the following, stated in a way that fits our needs the best.

**Lemma 2.4** (Schur's Lemma) Let  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  be an UIR of the LCG  $(G, \mu)$ , then its commutant is trivial, i.e., consists only of multiples of the identity

$$\pi(G)' := \{ c \cdot \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}} \mid c \in \mathbb{C} \}.$$

We'll further denote (the inverse square-root of) the Duflo–Moore operator [5, 9] on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , which is unbounded, but densely defined and has densely defined inverses, by  $K_{\pi}$  and make *excessive* use of the shorthand  $\varphi_x := \pi(x)K_{\pi}^{-1}\varphi$ . As the family  $\{\varphi_x \mid x \in G\}$  is a proper subset of  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , we may define the inner product  $\langle f, \varphi_x \rangle$ , which is well defined for arbitrary  $f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$  and  $x \in G$ . Consequently, the map

$$x \mapsto \langle f, \varphi_x \rangle =: (V_{\varphi} f)(x), \quad x \in G, \ f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi},$$

is a bounded function on the group.

**Definition 2.5** With  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$ ,  $(G, \mu)$ ,  $K_{\pi}$  as before, the map  $V_{\varphi} : f \mapsto \langle f, \varphi_{\bullet} \rangle$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , is the  $\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}$ -multiple of an isometry and can therefore be inverted on its range by its adjoint

$$V_{\varphi}^*: F \longmapsto \int_G F(x)\varphi_x d\mu(x), \quad F \in L^2(G,\mu).$$

The *generalized wavelet transform* above—as well as its inverse—may be lifted to the operator level.

**Definition 2.6** Let  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$ ,  $(G, \mu)$  and  $K_{\pi}$  be as before, then the *integrated representation* 

$$F \longmapsto \int_G F(x)\pi(x)K_\pi^{-1}d\mu(x) =: \Pi(F), \quad F \in L^1(G,\mu),$$
(2.1)

is an \*-algebra representation of  $L^1(G, \mu)$ , may be extended to an *isometry*  $L^2(G, \mu) \rightarrow \mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  by continuity and thus its inverse, *a.k.a. the spreading map*  $\eta$ , is given by its adjoint and maps  $\mathcal{HS}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  to  $L^2(G, \mu)$ .

*Remark* 2.7 Note that from this it follows that (i)  $V_{\varphi}^*F = \Pi(F)\varphi$  and  $V_{\varphi}f = \eta(f \otimes \varphi^*)$ , (ii)  $\eta(T) = \operatorname{tr}[T \ \pi^*(\cdot)]$  and (iii) composition of UIRs from the left resp. right are intertwined with left resp. right regular representations on *G* and vice versa, i.e.,

$$\Pi \circ (\lambda \times \rho) \circ \eta = (\pi \otimes \pi^*).$$

Let now all  $\varphi_{\bullet}$  be normalized, i.e.,  $\|\varphi_x\| = 1$ , for all  $x \in G$ , then, the family of rank-one projectors  $\{\varphi_x \otimes \varphi_x^* \mid x \in G\}$  induce an integral operator of the very familiar form

$$Sf = \int_G \langle f, \varphi_x \rangle \varphi_x d\mu(x).$$

Unfortunately, by now, it is not even clear whether this integral converges with respect to any interesting topology and may thus not by defined at all. However, since  $\pi(y)S = S\pi(y)$ , it follows—by Schur's lemma above—that *S* is a multiple of the identity, *S* may—using the definitions above—be factorized into  $S := V_{\varphi}^* V_{\varphi}$  and, with  $A \leq \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}^2 \leq B$ , we find that

$$A \| f \|^2 \le \langle Sf, f \rangle = \int_G |\langle f, \varphi_x \rangle|^2 d\mu(x) \le B \| f \|^2, \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}.$$

Thus, the family  $\{\varphi_x \mid x \in G\}$  can be interpreted as a "continuous frame" [10], indexed by the measure space  $(G, \mu)$ . We take this one step further and define

**Definition 2.8** With  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$ ,  $(G, \mu)$ , *A* and *B* as before, a family of normalized and cyclic vectors  $\{\varphi^i \mid i \in I\}$  and corresponding weights  $\{\lambda_i \ge 0 \mid i \in I\}$ , with |I| := M and  $\sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i = 1$ , we *define* a (continuous and normalized) *rank M-frame*  $\{(\lambda_i, \varphi_x^i) \mid i \in I, x \in G\}$  by

$$A \| f \|^2 \le \int_G \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i \left| \left\langle f, \varphi_x^i \right\rangle \right|^2 d\mu(x) \le B \| f \|^2, \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}.$$

$$(2.2)$$

Writing  $Q := \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i (\varphi^i \otimes (\varphi^i)^*)$  and  $Q_x = (\pi \otimes \pi^*)(x)Q$ , the above may be rephrased as

$$A \|f\|^{2} \leq \int_{G} \langle Q_{x} f, f \rangle d\mu(x) \leq B \|f\|^{2}, \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi},$$

which is a notation, we will frequently make use of.

## **3** Group Multipliers of Rank M

Having the above in mind, one is confronted with the possibility to put a "weight" on the generalized wavelet transform, before resynthesizing the transform, in complete analogy to the well-known Fourier multipliers, i.e., the bounded operators on  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  that are diagonalized by the Fourier transform.

**Theorem 3.1** With  $(\pi, \mathcal{H}_{\pi})$  and  $(G, \mu)$  as before and the multiplication operator  $M_{\mathfrak{m}}: F \mapsto \mathfrak{m} \cdot F$ , the group multiplier  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}$ , defined by the integral

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}f := \left(V_{\varphi}^*M_{\mathfrak{m}}V_{\varphi}\right)f = \int_{G}\mathfrak{m}(x)\langle f,\varphi_{X}\rangle\varphi_{X}d\mu(x), \quad f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$$

converges

- (i) w.r.t. norm topology, with  $\|\mathcal{M}_{m,\varphi}\|_{OP} \leq \|\mathfrak{m}\|_{L^1(G,\mu)} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\sigma}}^2$ , iff  $\mathfrak{m} \in L^1(G,\mu)$ ,
- (ii) only weakly, whenever  $\mathfrak{m} \in L^{\infty}(G, \mu)$ .

*Moreover, it is* trace-class if  $\mathfrak{m} \in L^1(G, \mu)$ .

*Proof* (i) Dividing  $\|\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}f\| \leq \int_{G} |\mathfrak{m}(x)| \|f\| \|\varphi_x\|^2 d\mu$  by  $\|f\|$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , taking supremum, using the unitarity of  $\pi$  and the claim follows. The proof of (ii) follows from  $|\langle \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}f,g\rangle| \leq ||\mathfrak{m}||_{L^{\infty}} \int_{G} |V_{\varphi}f\overline{V_{\varphi}g}|d\mu$ ,  $f,g \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , the isometrical property of  $V_{\varphi}$  and Cauchy–Schwarz's inequality. And lastly,  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}$  is trace-class, because  $|\mathfrak{tr}[\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}]| \leq ||\mathfrak{m}||_{L^1(G,\mu)} ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}^2$ .

**Corollary 3.2** *From* Theorem 3.1, *and in the notation thereof, we find that for the* Q-Multiplier

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\mathcal{Q}}f := \int_{G} \mathfrak{m}(x) \mathcal{Q}_{x} f d\mu(x), \quad f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi},$$

the obvious analogues of (i) and (ii) of Theorem 3.1, as well as its traceability, hold, too.

*Proof* The proofs carry over almost unaltered, as soon as one realizes that linearity supplies us with

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\mathcal{Q}} = \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi^i}.$$

(i) From  $\|\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q}\|_{OP} \leq \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i \|\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi^i}\|_{OP}$ , the arguments above and the inequality  $\sum_i \lambda_i \|\varphi^i\| \leq \sup_{i \in I} \|\varphi^i\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}^2$ , the proof follows. (ii) The proof of *Theorem* 3.1 and the arguments of *i* show that  $|\langle \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q}f,g\rangle| \leq ||\mathfrak{m}||_{L^{\infty}} ||f|| ||g|| \times$  $\sup_{i \in I} \|\varphi^i\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}^2$ . Finally, it is traceable since  $|\operatorname{tr}[\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},\varphi}]| \leq ||\mathfrak{m}||_{L^1(G,\mu)} \times$  $\sup_{i \in I} \|\varphi^i\|_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}^2$ .

We will henceforth concentrate on Q-Multipliers only, since in the very special case of "classical" rank-one multiplier, that is,  $Q = \varphi \otimes \varphi^*$ , the results carry over immediately.

**Theorem 3.3** In the notation above, whenever we can find a—not necessarily bounded or compact—operator  $\mathcal{P}$ , such that  $\operatorname{tr}[\mathcal{P}_x \mathcal{P}_y^*] = \delta_G(x^{-1}y)$  (to be interpreted in the sense of distributions), where  $\mathcal{P}_x = (\pi \otimes \pi^*)(x)\mathcal{P}$ , we may introduce the invertible map,

$$\sigma: T \mapsto \mathfrak{tr}[T\mathcal{P}^*_{\bullet}] =: \sigma(T), \tag{3.1}$$

which assigns to each operator T its symbol  $\sigma(T)$ . The inverse map,  $\Phi$ , is defined by the weakly converging integral

$$\Phi:\mathfrak{s}\longmapsto \int_{G}\mathfrak{s}(x)\mathcal{P}_{x}d\mu_{G}(x). \tag{3.2}$$

**Corollary 3.4** With all notations as before, we conclude this section with the following implications.

- (i)  $\sigma(\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q})(y) = (\mathfrak{m} * \sigma(Q))(y), y \in G, and thus \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q} = \Phi(\mathfrak{m} * \sigma(Q)).$
- (ii) Combining Definition 2.6 and Theorem 3.3 we end up with a useful connection between a symbol and the spreading function of an operator, namely, (η ∘ Φ), formally given by

$$(\eta \circ \Phi)(\mathfrak{s}) = \int_G \mathfrak{s}(x)(\lambda \times \rho)(x)\eta(P)d\mu_G(x),$$

and mapping an operator's symbol to its spreading function, as well as its inverse,  $(\sigma \circ \Pi)$ , defined by the integral operator

$$(\sigma \circ \Pi)(F) = \int_G F(x)(\lambda \times \rho)(x)\overline{\eta(P)}d\mu_G(x).$$

## 4 Concrete Examples of Group Multipliers of Rank M

Although examples of rank M group multipliers of locally compact groups other than the (reduced) Heisenberg group exist, we will stick to the time-frequency case. More general examples, e.g. for the affine "ax + b"-group, will be presented elsewhere.

**The Reduced Heisenberg Group** Introducing the *symmetric* time-frequency shift operator

$$(\widetilde{\pi}_{s}(t,\omega)\varphi)(x) := e^{i\pi\langle\omega,t\rangle} e^{i2\pi\langle\omega,x\rangle} \varphi(x-t), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \ (t,\omega) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

as well as the *asymmetric* one,  $\tilde{\pi}_a(t, \omega) := e^{-i\pi \langle \omega, t \rangle} \tilde{\pi}_s(t, \omega)$ , we find that the composition of two such time-frequency shifts lead to another one, along with a certain phaseshift. Thus, one needs to introduce another *toral* parameter, say,  $\tau \in \mathbb{T}$ , in order for the shifts to constitute a group (representation). The underlying group structures of the emerging representations,  $\pi_s(t, \omega, \tau) := \tau \cdot \tilde{\pi}_s(t, \omega)$  and  $\pi_a(t, \omega, \tau) := \tau \cdot \tilde{\pi}_a(t, \omega)$ , are usually called the *reduced* resp. *reduced and polarized* Heisenberg group, which will be our starting point for concrete realizations of (3.1) and (3.2).

*Remark 4.1* The reader should be aware of the fact that—at least for the symbolto-operator correspondences, we are considering—the Heisenberg group constitutes a very special case. Its unique role arises from one very simple but consequential equality, namely

$$(\lambda \times \rho)(t, \omega, \tau) F(x, y) = e^{i2\pi (\langle \omega, x \rangle - \langle t, y \rangle)} F(x, y),$$
  
(x, y)  $\in \mathbb{R}^{2n}, (t, \omega, \tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1},$  (4.1)

that is, conjugation, with both the reduced as well as the reduced and polarized group, boils down to a phase-shift (a "symplectic homomorphism",  $\mathbb{R}^{2n} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{T}$ , to be more precise)—note the absence of  $\tau$  on the RHS!—and thus the conjugation action on functions,  $(\lambda \times \rho)$ , as well as operators,  $(\pi \otimes \pi^*)$ , may both be interpreted as a (unitary and irreducible) representation of the locally compact and *abelian* group  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  (and as such we will henceforth refrain from referring to the toral parameter  $\tau$ ).

**Definition 4.2** There are two well-known symbol to operator correspondences, both related to time-frequency analysis as well as pseudodifferential theory ( $\mathcal{F}_s$  denotes the *symplectic* Fourier transform).

• The Wigner–Weyl correspondence,  $\Phi_w$ , weakly defined by

$$\langle \Phi_w(\mathfrak{s})f, f \rangle := \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathfrak{s}(t, \omega) \overline{\mathfrak{W}_f(t, \omega)} d\omega dt, \text{ for all } f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi},$$

with  $\mathfrak{W}_f(t,\omega) := \langle f, P_{(t,\omega)}^w f \rangle = \mathcal{F}_s(\langle f, \widetilde{\pi}_s(t,\omega) f \rangle)$  denoting Wigner's distribution.

• The Kohn–Nirenberg correspondence,  $\Phi_{kn}$ , weakly defined by

$$\langle \Phi_{kn}(\mathfrak{s})f,f\rangle := \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathfrak{s}(t,\omega)\overline{\mathfrak{R}_f(t,\omega)}d\omega dt, \text{ for all } f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi},$$

with  $\Re_f(t,\omega) := \langle f, P_{(t,\omega)}^{kn} f \rangle = \mathcal{F}_s(\langle f, \widetilde{\pi}_a(t,\omega) f \rangle)$  being Rihaczek's distribution.

**Lemma 4.3** With all notations as above, we summarize that, as far as timefrequency analysis is concerned, we have (i)  $(\eta \circ \Phi)$  as well as  $(\sigma \circ \Pi)$  each boil down to a symplectic Fourier transform, that is,

$$(\eta \circ \Phi)(\mathfrak{s}) = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathfrak{s}(t, \omega) \ (\lambda \times \rho)(t, \omega) d\omega dt = \widehat{\mathfrak{s}} \quad and \quad (\sigma \circ \Pi)(F) := \widehat{F},$$
(4.2)

and (ii) a rank M time-frequency multiplier  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q}$  is best described via its spreading representation

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q} = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \underbrace{\widehat{\mathfrak{m}}(t,\omega)\eta(Q)(t,\omega)}_{\eta(\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m},Q})(t,\omega)} \widetilde{\pi}_a(t,\omega)d\omega dt$$
(4.3)

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathfrak{m}}(t,\omega) \left( \sum_i \lambda_i V_{\varphi^i} \varphi^i(t,\omega) \right) \widetilde{\pi}_a(t,\omega) d\omega dt$$
(4.4)

*Proof* (i) follows from (3.2) and (4.1) (see also Remark 2.7), and (ii) from utilizing (4.2), Corollary 3.4 and the fact that (abelian) convolution is diagonalized by the (symplectic) Fourier transform.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.4** An operator, T, can be represented properly as a Q-Multiplier, whenever there exists a Q with  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta(T)) \subset \operatorname{supp}(\eta(Q))$  and may only be approximated, if  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta(T)) \not\subset \operatorname{supp}(\eta(Q))$ .

*Proof* We will indicate the support-sets of spreading functions by  $|\eta(T)|$  and  $|\eta(Q)|$  and  $F|_E$  is the restriction of a function to a subset  $E \subset Dom(F)$ . If  $|\eta(T)| \subset |\eta(Q)|$ , then

$$T = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \eta(T)(t,\omega) \chi_{|\eta(T)|}(t,\omega) \chi_{|\eta(Q)|}(t,\omega) \pi(t,\omega) d\omega dt$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \eta(T)(t,\omega) \chi_{|\eta(T)|}(t,\omega) \frac{\eta(Q)(t,\omega)}{|t|} = \pi(t,\omega) d\omega dt$$
(4.5)

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{\eta(T)(t,\omega)\chi_{|\eta(T)|}(t,\omega)}{\eta(Q)(t,\omega)}\Big|_{|\eta(Q)|} \frac{\eta(t,\omega)d\omega dt}{\eta(Q)(t,\omega)}\Big|_{|\eta(Q)|}$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{\eta(T)(t,\omega)}{\eta(Q)(t,\omega)}\Big|_{|\eta(T)|} \chi_{|\eta(T)|}(t,\omega)\eta(Q)(t,\omega)\pi(t,\omega)d\omega dt \qquad (4.6)$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathfrak{m}(t', \omega') Q_{(t', \omega')} d\omega' dt', \qquad (4.7)$$

where  $\widehat{\mathfrak{m}} = \frac{\eta(T)}{\eta(Q)} \cdot \chi_{|\eta(T)|}$ . The above calculation is valid, since (4.5) follows from  $\eta(T) = \eta(T) \cdot \chi_{|\eta(T)|}$  and  $|\eta(T)| \subset |\eta(Q)|$ , (4.6) holds as  $\eta(Q)$  is non-zero on  $|\eta(T)|$  and finally (4.7) is due to Lemma 4.3.

If  $|\eta(T)| \not\subset |\eta(Q)|$  the conditions are not as convenient as before, since one is constrained to restrict the support of  $\eta(T)$  to  $|\eta(Q)|$ , that is,

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{m}}_{appr} = \frac{\eta(T)}{\eta(Q)} \cdot \chi_{|\eta(Q)|},$$

which clearly purges information and thus entails an operator,  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m}_{appr},Q}$ , approximating *T* only up to a certain degree.

*Remark 4.5* It is worth noting that, in the special case of time-frequency analysis, we have

- (i) whenever T can only be *approximated*, that is,  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta(Q)) \not\subset \operatorname{supp}(\eta(T))$ , this is related to (multi-window) spline-type spaces [7], via finding Q and its "dual", and in general to Wiener's Tauberian Theorem, a.k.a. the invertibility problem;
- (ii) although in the time-frequency case, this in essence overlaps with the theory of coadjoint orbits [11], this does not hold in general, i.e., is not an alternative approach to Kirillov's orbit method;
- (iii) this is connected to the approach of operator approximation by multiple Gabor multiplier [3] and related approaches to "*C*-frames of subspaces"—with different emphasis—is taken in [6];
- (iv) another approach to find  $\mathfrak{m}_{appr}$  for the operator T would be to minimize

$$\arg\min_{\mathfrak{m}_{appr}} \|T - \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{m}_{appr},Q}\|_{L^p}$$

subject to some adequate constraint;

(v) the symbol-to-operator correspondences referred to in Definition 4.2 are two very special cases, since, in fact, there is a continuously  $\mathbb{R}$ -indexed family of correspondences. The majority of scientific investigations, however, only deals with the ones stated above and so did we.

**Comment 4.6** (Optimality Criterions) *It is clear that there is no* definite optimum, *considering the various areas of application. One needs to find the most adequate one, when fixing the application. Nonetheless, there are a few basic criterions which in the majority of cases should lead to nice results.* 

The more localized the symbol of Q, the least "smeared", the information about T becomes, since σ(Q) is the convolution kernel, mapping the multiplier symbol m to σ(T). Localization could be measured via L<sup>1</sup> norm, ||σ(Q)||<sub>1</sub>, via a second-moment, "variance-like" uncertainty of the form

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} (t^2 + \omega^2) \sigma(Q)(t, \omega) d\omega = \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i \left( \|xg_i\|_2^2 + \|x\widehat{g}_i\|_2^2 \right)$$

or minimal essential support of  $\sigma(Q)$  in the sense of Donoho and Stark [2], among others.

Or, optimality in the sense of a minimal number of non-zero λ<sub>i</sub>, while still representing T properly, since this will most likely lead to faster algorithms (as well as easier calculations).

## 5 Summary

With the notion of a rank-M group multiplier, we have introduced a generalization of multiple Gabor multiplier to other locally compact groups, without the need to combine several individual Gabor multiplier into a MGM—when doing timefrequency analysis—but with the convenient feature of having to deal with only one operator Q, and as such constructing an MGM-like operator from a rank-M frame, considered as a collective of operators  $\{Q_x | x \in G\}$ .

For numerical reasons, the connection to the individual frames must not be lost and for that very reason, a decomposition into a set of ( $\lambda_i$ -weighted) "classical" multiplier is available at any time. This is worth striving for, especially when fast numerical algorithms are needed and are already available for the individual frames, making up the rank-M frame as a whole.

And finally, for the sake of classification, we have listed connections, parallels and differences to other publications as well as pointed towards desirable criterions, in order to assist the fellow researches in its quest for optimality.

Acknowledgement The author gratefully acknowledges the suggested improvements by the referee. This research has been (partially) supported by EU FET Open grant UNLocX (255931).

## References

- 1. O. Christensen, An Introduction to Frames and Riesz Bases. Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis (Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003)
- D.L. Donoho, P.B. Stark, Uncertainty principles and signal recovery. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 48(3), 906–931 (1989)
- M. Dörfler, B. Torrésani, Spreading function representation of operators and Gabor multiplier approximation, in *Proceedings of SAMPTA 07, Thessaloniki* (2007)
- R.J. Duffin, A.C. Schaeffer, A class of nonharmonic Fourier series. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 72, 341–366 (1952)
- 5. M. Duflo, C.C. Moore, On the regular representation of a nonunimodular locally compact group. J. Funct. Anal. **21**, 209–243 (1976)
- M.H. Faroughi, R. Ahmadi, Z. Afsar, Some properties of *c*-frames of subspaces. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 1, 155–168 (2008)
- H.G. Feichtinger, Spline-type spaces in Gabor analysis, in Wavelet Analysis: Twenty Years Developments Proceedings of the International Conference of Computational Harmonic Analysis, Hong Kong, China, June 4–8, 2001, ed. by D.X. Zhou. Ser. Anal., vol. 1 (World Scientific, River Edge, 2002), pp. 100–122
- G.B. Folland, A Course in Abstract Harmonic Analysis. Studies in Advanced Mathematics (CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995)
- H. Führ, Abstract Harmonic Analysis of Continuous Wavelet Transforms. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1863 (Springer, Berlin, 2005)
- 10. G. Kaiser, A Friendly Guide to Wavelets (Birkhäuser, Boston, 1994)
- 11. A.A. Kirillov, *Elements of the Theory of Representations* (Springer, Berlin, 1976). Translated from the Russian by Edwin Hewitt

# **Audio Inpainting Using M-Frames**

## **Florian Lieb**

**Abstract** Classical short-time Fourier constructions lead to a signal decomposition with a fixed time-frequency resolution. However, having signals with varying features, such time-frequency decompositions are very restrictive. A more flexible and adaptive sampling of the time-frequency plane is achieved by the nonstationary Gabor transform. Here, the resolution can evolve over time or frequency, respectively, by using different windows for the different sampling positions in the time or frequency domain (Multiwindow-frames). This adaptivity in the time-frequency plane leads to a sparser signal representation.

In terms of audio inpainting, i.e., filling in blanks of a depleted audio signal, sparsity in some representation space profoundly influences the quality of the reconstructed signal. We will compare this quality using different nonstationary Gabor transforms and the regular Gabor transform with different types of audio signals.

Keywords Audio inpainting  $\cdot$  Convex optimization  $\cdot$  Nonstationary Gabor frames  $\cdot$  ERBlet Transform  $\cdot$  Constant-Q transform

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 42C15 · Secondary 42C40 · 65K10 · 94A12

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Audio Inpainting

Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  be an audio signal, which is depleted by a degradation matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ , randomly setting values of *x* to zero (e.g. 66 %), such that the resulting depleted audio signal is b = Ax. Audio inpainting can then be considered as the

F. Lieb (🖂)

Hochschule Aschaffenburg, Aschaffenburg University of Applied Sciences, Würzburger Str. 45, 63743 Aschaffenburg, Germany e-mail: florian.lieb@h-ab.de

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_77

following optimization problem

$$\arg\min_{x} \|Ax - b\|_{2}^{2} + \tau \|\Psi(x)\|_{1}, \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is a regularization parameter for the L1-norm of some sparse signal representation of x and  $\Psi$  a linear operator, transforming x to such a sparse representation.

This sparse representation is crucial to the performance of the optimization problem. The recently introduced concept of nonstationary Gabor frames provide an even sparser time frequency representation than regular Gabor frames. Hence, the question arises, if these nonstationary Gabor frames have an advantage over regular Gabor frames when doing audio inpainting. In the following we will consider the operator  $\Psi$  to be either a regular Gabor transform or a nonstationary Gabor transform (Wavelet transform, ERBlet Transform or Constant-Q transform).

The optimization problem is then solved using the Douglas–Rachford algorithm from [3], which is implemented in the UNLocBox [1].

### **1.2** Nonstationary Gabor Frames

Given a unique window function g, the regular Gabor transform of a signal f is given by the inner product  $\langle f, g_{\tau,\omega} \rangle$  of f with time-frequency atoms  $g_{\tau,\omega}(t) = g(t-\tau)e^{2\pi i t\omega}$ , yielding a fixed time-frequency resolution. In a discrete setting, the set of time frequency shifts of g, i.e.,

$$g_{m,n}(t) = g(t-mb)e^{2\pi i tan}$$
  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

and parameters a, b > 0, is called a Gabor frame if it satisfies the frame condition, i.e., the lower and upper frame bounds A, B > 0 exist

$$A\|f\|^{2} \leq \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\langle f,g_{m,n}\rangle\right|^{2} \leq B\|f\|^{2} \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}).$$

$$(1.2)$$

The following definitions for nonstationary frames are extracted from [2].

**Definition 1.1** Let  $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be a set of window functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , which are well localized and centered around time points  $b_m$ . With  $a_m \in \mathbb{R}$  the frequency sampling step for the corresponding window  $g_m$ , the frame elements of a nonstationary Gabor frame are defined as

$$g_{m,n}(t) = g_m(t)e^{2\pi i n a_m t},$$
 (1.3)

for  $(m,n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . Then, the analysis coefficients may then be written as  $c_{m,n} = \langle f, g_{m,n} \rangle$ .

**Fig. 1** Irregular sampling of the time-frequency plane



This allows to vary the window functions at each time sampling point mb. An example of such an irregular sampling grid can be seen in Fig. 1, where the analysis window, and hence, the resolution, changes over time.

**Definition 1.2** Analogously, one can define a nonstationary Gabor frame where the resolution changes over frequency, i.e.,

$$h_{m,n}(t) = h_n(t - mb_n),$$
 (1.4)

for a set of functions  $\{h_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (with center frequencies  $a_n$ ) and for  $(m, n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

This construction is a generalization of regular Gabor frames and if certain conditions of  $g_{m,n}(t)$  or  $h_{m,n}(t)$  are satisfied, perfect and efficient reconstruction is possible:

**Definition 1.3** The frame operator

$$Sf = \sum_{m} \sum_{n} \langle f, g_{m,n} \rangle g_{m,n}, \qquad (1.5)$$

is bounded and invertible if the following conditions are satisfied (cf. [2]):

- compactly supported windows  $g_m$ ,
- sufficiently dense frequency sampling points for each  $g_m$ ,
- controlled overlap of adjacent windows.

The equivalent holds for  $h_{m,n}$ .

The concept of nonstationary Gabor frames allows implementations of wavelet, constant-Q, ERBlet as well as regular Gabor transforms.

#### 1.2.1 Wavelet Transform

Frame elements for a wavelet transform in a discrete subset of the upper half-plane are defined as

$$\psi_{m,n}(t) = \alpha^{-n/2} \psi \left( \alpha^{-n} (t - m\beta) \right) \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(1.6)

with some parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta > 0$ . To obtain a nonstationary Gabor frame with resolution changing over frequency as in (1.4) we set  $h_n(t) = \alpha^{-n/2} \psi(\alpha^{-n}t)$  and  $b_n = \alpha^{-n}\beta$ .

Considering a logarithmic frequency scaling, the dilates of the mother wavelet, which is in our case a exponentially warped Hanning window, will turn into translates in the frequency domain. Hence, the controlled overlap of wavelets can be controlled by the dilation parameter. We have chosen the mother wavelet because it is closely related to the uncertainty minimizer for the affine group mentioned in [4], but still has compact support.

#### 1.2.2 Constant-Q Transform

The constant-Q transform provides a frequency resolution that depends on the center frequencies of the analysis windows. In particular, the ratio of center frequency to bandwidth of each analysis window is constant, hence the name constant-Q transform. This will lead to a finer frequency resolution at low frequencies and a better time resolution at higher frequencies. In [6] Dörfler et al. developed an algorithm for an invertible constant-Q transform based on nonstationary Gabor frames. The window function we used for the signal decomposition is a plain Hanning window.

#### 1.2.3 ERBlet Transform

The ERB (equivalent rectangular bandwidth) frequency scale is adapted to human auditory perception, which is somehow linear in low frequencies and logarithmic in high frequencies (cf. [5]). The bandwidth of the filter centered at frequency F satisfies

$$\text{ERB}(F) = 24.7 + \frac{F}{9.265}.$$
 (1.7)

If the center frequencies of the analysis windows (again, we used a Hanning window) are well chosen, they constitute a nonstationary Gabor frame, with resolution changing over frequency.

### 2 Problem

We will consider several different audio signals x (noisy, synthetic, speech,...) and randomly set 66 % of their coefficients to zero. Using (1.1) to reconstruct the original signal from the depleted versions, we will compare the signal-to-noise ratio



20

15

(gp) 10

Fig. 2 Gabor and ERBlet transform of the glockenspiel signal





0

$$SNR_{dB} = 20 \times \log_{10} \frac{\sigma(x)}{\sigma(x_{rec} - x)},$$
(2.1)

10<sup>-4</sup>

10<sup>-3</sup> τ

10<sup>-2</sup>

10<sup>-1</sup>

10<sup>0</sup>

where  $\sigma$  is the standard deviation and  $x_{rec}$  the reconstructed audio signal. For each of the transforms the SNR is plotted against the constraint parameter  $\tau$  in (1.1), ranging from 10<sup>-5</sup> to 1.

*Remark 2.1* Steadily increasing the parameter  $\tau$  in (1.1) will eventually result in a point where the Douglas–Rachford algorithm simply does not converge anymore. In this case the output of the algorithm is equal to its input, which can be observed in some cases in the following results where the SNR suddenly drops to a low value.

CQ ERBlet Wavelet

Gabo



Fig. 4 Gabor and ERBlet transform of the speech signal





## **3** Results

### 3.1 Audio Signal

The first audio signal is the famous glockenspiel, which has a wide range of transient frequencies, but no prominent features in low frequencies as can be seen by its Gabor transform and its ERBlet transform in Fig. 2. The noise level is relatively low.

Solving the inpainting problem will result in the signal-to-noise ratios plotted in Fig. 3. It can be seen, that all of the nonstationary frame implementations yield slightly better results than the regular Gabor transform. Of course, in the range of  $\tau$ , where the algorithm converges.



Fig. 6 Gabor and ERBlet transform of the noisy helicopter signal





## 3.2 Speech Signal

The speech signal is a native British speaker saying: "*The cocktail party effect refers to the ability to focus on a single talker among a mixture of conversations in back-ground noises*", which was recorded at an anechoic environment and is therefore almost free of noise. Figure 4 shows its Gabor and ERBlet transform.

Nevertheless, when doing inpainting the regular Gabor transform yields the best SNR, as can be seen in Fig. 5.

## 3.3 Helicopter Sound with Noise

The following signal is a recording of a helicopter with a relative high level of background noise, which can easily be verified from its time-frequency representations in Fig. 6.

Due to the high noise level, the SNR values are relatively low compared to the rest of the test signals (cf. Figure 7). All of the nonstationary frame approaches yield



Fig. 8 Gabor and ERBlet transform of a synthetically generated RPM raise





better reconstructed results than doing the inpainting with a fixed time-frequency resolution.

## 3.4 Synthetic Signal

The last test audio signal consists of a synthetic generated signal, inspired by an exponential RPM raise of an engine with 10 harmonics.

The ERBlet transform also gives the highest SNR directly followed by the regular Gabor transform, whereas the other two nonstationary approaches are significantly worse (Figs. 8–9).

## 4 Summary

Apart from the recorded voice signal, the nonstationary Gabor frame approaches yield the better reconstruction results, and hence, a better (sparser) time-frequency

representation of the above test signals. For the speech signal it seems, that the old-fashioned time-frequency representation is still the best choice in terms of the inpainting problem. A generalization to other speech signals can, of course, not be made without further research.

Furthermore, it seems nonstationary Gabor frames bring out the important features better, even if the signal has a high level of noise (see helicopter example). For the synthetic RPM Raise the nonstationary frames give even a better time-frequency resolution at low frequencies during the first seconds.

Acknowledgements This research has been (partially) supported by EU FET Open grant UN-LocX (255931).

## References

- 1. http://unlocbox.sourceforge.net
- P. Balazs, M. Dörfler, F. Jaillet, N. Holighaus, G.A. Velasco, Theory, implementation and applications of nonstationary Gabor frames. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 236(6), 1481–1496 (2011)
- P. Combettes, J.-C. Pesquet, A Douglas–Rachford splitting approach to nonsmooth convex variational signal recovery. IEEE J. Sel. Top. Signal Process. 1(4), 564–574 (2007)
- R. Levie, H.-G. Stark, F. Lieb, N. Sochen, Adjoint translation, adjoint observable and uncertainty principles. Adv. Comput. Math. 40(3), 609–627 (2014)
- T. Necciari, P. Balazs, N. Holighaus, P. Sondergaard, The ERBlet transform: an auditorybased time-frequency representation with perfect reconstruction, in *Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP 2013)* (2013), pp. 498–502
- G.A. Velasco, N. Holighaus, M. Dörfler, T. Grill, Constructing an invertible constant-Q transform with non-stationary Gabor frames, in *Proceedings of DAFX11* (2011)

# Wavelet Frames to Optimally Learn Functions on Diffusion Measure Spaces

**Martin Ehler and Frank Filbir** 

**Abstract** Based on the theory of wavelets on data defined manifolds we study the Kolmogorov metric entropy and related measures of complexity of certain function spaces. We also develop constructive algorithms to represent those functions within a prescribed accuracy that is asymptotically optimal up to a logarithmic factor.

Keywords Data-defined manifold · Diffusion measure space

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 41A46 · Secondary 42C40

## **1** Introduction

A common problem in computational mathematics is the approximation of functions from few sample values under certain smoothness assumptions. In other words, we aim to learn a function from few observations. Accuracy does not only depend on the sampling set in general but also on the complexity of the underlying smoothness space. In the present note we shall study the metric entropy [5, 9] as a measure of complexity of function spaces on manifolds. We shall also consider related measures of complexity, so-called *n*-widths [4], which were studied for some classical function spaces in [7, 8]. Both concepts, metric entropy and *n*-widths, are important complexity measures for the analysis of functions on high-dimensional datasets occurring in biology, medicine, and related areas.

M. Ehler (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, University of Vienna, Oskar-Morgenstern-Platz 1, 1090 Vienna, Austria

e-mail: martin.ehler@univie.ac.at

F. Filbir

Faculty of Mathematics, Technische Universität München, Boltzmannstrasse 3, 85748 Garching, Germany

e-mail: filbir@helmholtz-muenchen.de

F. Filbir Helmholtz Zentrum München, Ingolstädter Landstrasse 1, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_78

The metric entropy and *n*-widths can be considered as optimality criteria for approximation schemes. We will use wavelet frame expansions for approximation and observe that our scheme is asymptotically optimal up to a logarithmic factor in the sense of the metric entropy. The approximation error is measured in the  $L_p$  norm,  $1 , so that the presented results generalize findings in [3], where <math>p = \infty$  was considered exclusively. We refer to [2] for an extended version of the present manuscript including proofs and further results.

### 2 Sobolev Spaces and Their Metric Entropy and *n*-Widths

## 2.1 Diffusion Measure Space

Let  $(\mathbb{X}, \rho)$  be a quasi-metric space endowed with a Borel probability measure  $\mu$ . The system  $\{\varphi_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \subset L_2(\mathbb{X}, \mu)$  is supposed to be an orthonormal basis of continuous functions with  $\varphi_0 \equiv 1$  and our results also involve a sequence of nondecreasing real numbers  $\{\lambda_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  such that  $\lambda_0 = 0$  and  $\lambda_k \to \infty$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Let *N* be a positive integer and we shall restrict us to  $N = 2^n$ , where *n* is some nonnegative integer. The space of *diffusion polynomials* up to degree *N* is  $\Pi_N := \text{span}\{\varphi_k : \lambda_k \leq N\}$ . We assume that the *strong product assumption* holds, i.e., there is a constant a > 0 such that  $P \cdot Q \in \Pi_{aN}$  for all  $P, Q \in \Pi_N$ . Moreover, we make use of the *generalized heat kernel* 

$$G_t(x, y) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\lambda_k^2 t\right) \varphi_k(x) \varphi_k(y), \quad t > 0.$$
(2.1)

Let us write  $\leq$  if the left-hand-side is bounded by a generic constant times the righthand-side, and if both hold,  $\leq$  and  $\geq$ , then we write  $\asymp$ . Recall that a quasi-metric satisfies the standard requirements of a metric but the triangle inequality only needs to hold up to a constant factor. We also summarize the technical assumptions that are related to so-called upper and lower Gaussian bounds on the generalized heat kernel:

**Definition 2.1** ([1]) Under the above notation, a quasi-metric space X is called a *diffusion measure space* if each of the following properties is satisfied:

(i) For each  $x \in \mathbb{X}$  and t > 0, the closed ball  $B_t(x)$  of radius t at x is compact, and there is  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\mu(B_t(x)) \lesssim t^{\alpha}, \quad x \in \mathbb{X}, \ t > 0.$$

(ii) There is c > 0 such that

$$\left|G_t(x, y)\right| \lesssim t^{-\alpha/2} \exp\left(-c \frac{\rho(x, y)^2}{t}\right), \quad x, y \in \mathbb{X}, \ 0 < t \le 1.$$

(iii) We have  $t^{-\alpha/2} \lesssim G_t(x, x), x \in \mathbb{X}, 0 < t < 1$ .

From here on, we suppose that X is a diffusion measure space throughout the present paper. Given an arbitrary normed space X and a subset  $Y \subset X$ , we define, for  $f \in X$ ,

$$E(f, Y, X) := \inf_{g \in Y} \|f - g\|_X.$$
(2.2)

We can now introduce some function spaces. For a nontrivial ball  $B \subset X$  and  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , the *Sobolev space* of order s > 0 is

$$W^{s}(L_{p}(B)) = \{ f \in L_{p}(B) : ||f||_{W^{s}(L_{p}(B))} < \infty \},$$
(2.3)

where the Sobolev norm is given by

$$||f||_{W^{s}(L_{p}(B))} := ||f||_{L_{p}(B)} + \sup_{N \ge 1} N^{s} E(f, \Pi_{N}, L_{p}(B)).$$

The ball of radius r > 0 in  $W^{s}(L_{p}(B))$  is denoted by

$$\overline{W_r^s}(L_p(B)) := \left\{ f \in L_p(B) : \|f\|_{W^s(L_p(B))} \le r \right\}.$$
(2.4)

## 2.2 Kolmogorov Metric Entropy and n-Widths

Let *Y* be a compact subset of a metric space  $(X, \varrho)$  and, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , let  $N_{\varepsilon}(Y)$  be the  $\varepsilon$ -covering number of *Y* in *X*. Then

$$H_{\varepsilon}(Y,X) := \log_2(N_{\varepsilon}(Y)) \tag{2.5}$$

is called the *metric entropy* of *Y* in *X* and is the minimal number of bits necessary to represent any *f* with precision  $\varepsilon$ , cf. [5]. Let us also introduce some alternative notions of complexity. Let *Y* be a subset of a linear normed space  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  and let  $n \ge 1$  be an integer.

(i) The Kolmogorov n-width of Y in X is

$$\mathscr{K}_n(Y,X) := \inf_{L_n} \sup_{y \in Y} \inf_{x \in L_n} \|x - y\|,$$

where the infimum is taken over all *n*-dimensional linear subspaces  $L_n$  in X. (ii) The *linear n-width of Y in X* is

$$\mathscr{L}_n(Y,X) := \inf_{F_n} \sup_{x \in Y} \|x - F_n(x)\|,$$

where the infimum is taken over all bounded linear operators  $F_n$  on X whose range is of dimension at most n.

(iii) The Gelfand n-width of Y in X is

$$\mathscr{G}_n(Y,X) := \inf_{\mathcal{L}_n} \sup_{x \in Y \cap \mathcal{L}_n} \|x\|,$$

where the infimum is taken over all closed subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_n$  of X of codimension at most *n*.

(iv) The Bernstein n-width of Y in X is

$$\mathscr{B}_n(Y,X) := \sup_{X_{n+1}} \sup\{\lambda \ge 0 : \lambda \overline{X_{n+1}} \subset Y\}$$

where the supremum is taken over all subspaces  $X_{n+1}$  of X of dimension at least n + 1 and  $\overline{X_{n+1}}$  denotes the unit ball in  $X_{n+1}$ .

The following result extends findings in [6] from the sphere to balls in diffusion measure spaces:

**Theorem 2.2** If s > 0 is fixed, B is a nontrivial ball in X, and  $0 < \varepsilon \le r$ , then

$$H_{\varepsilon}(\overline{W_r^s}(L_p(B)), L_p(B)) \asymp (r/\varepsilon)^{\alpha/s}$$
(2.6)

holds, where the generic constants neither depend on  $\varepsilon$  nor on r, and  $\alpha$  is the constant in Definition 2.1.

We also determine the *n*-widths for the global Sobolev space:

**Theorem 2.3** The *n*-widths of  $\overline{W_r^s}(L_p(\mathbb{X}))$  in  $L_p(\mathbb{X})$  satisfy

$$rn^{-s/\alpha} \asymp \mathscr{K}_n \asymp \mathscr{L}_n \asymp \mathscr{G}_n \asymp \mathscr{B}_n.$$

## **3** Approximation Schemes Using Scattered Data

This section is dedicated to introduce our approximation scheme. A signed Borel measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{X}$  is called a *quadrature measure* of order N if

$$\int_{\mathbb{X}} P(x) d\mu(x) = \int_{\mathbb{X}} P(x) d\nu(x), \quad \text{for all } P \in \Pi_{aN}.$$

For fixed  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , a signed Borel measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{X}$  is called a *Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund measure* of order N if the  $L_p$ -norm  $||P||_{|\nu|, L_p(\mathbb{X})}$  of P with respect to  $|\nu|$  satisfies

$$\|P\|_{|\nu|,L_p(\mathbb{X})} \asymp \|P\|_{L_p(\mathbb{X})}, \quad \text{for all } P \in \Pi_{aN}, \tag{3.1}$$

and |v| denotes the total variation measure of v. A signed Borel measure is called a *Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund quadrature measure* of order N if it is both, a quadrature and a Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund measure of order N.

For fixed  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , a family  $(\nu_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  of Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund (quadrature) measures, each of order *N*, respectively, is called *uniform* if the generic constants in (3.1) can be chosen independently of *N*.

**Definition 3.1** We call an infinitely often differentiable function  $H : \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to \mathbb{R}$  a *low-pass filter* if it is non-increasing and H(t) = 1 for  $t \leq 1/2$  and H(t) = 0 for  $t \geq 1$ .

For some signed Borel measure  $\nu$  on X and  $f \in L_1(X, |\nu|)$ , we can define, for  $N = 2^n$ , n = 0, 1, 2, ...,

$$\sigma_N(f,\nu) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} H\left(\frac{\lambda_k}{N}\right) \int_{\mathbb{X}} f(y)\varphi_k^*(y)d\nu(y)\varphi_k.$$
(3.2)

### **4** Bit Representation in Global Sobolev Spaces

This section is dedicated to verify that linear quantization of the approximation scheme  $\sigma_N(f, \mu_N)$  enables bit representations matching the optimality bounds derived in Theorem 2.2 up to a logarithmic factor. First, we recall the formula (3.2),

$$\sigma_N(f,\mu_N) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} H\left(\frac{\lambda_k}{N}\right) \int_{\mathbb{X}} f(y)\varphi_k^*(y)d\mu_N(y)\varphi_k,$$

where  $(\mu_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  is a uniform family of Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund quadrature measures, each of order *N*, respectively, provided that  $p = \infty$ . Again, if  $1 \le p < \infty$ , then we choose  $\mu_N = \mu$ ,  $N = 1, 2, 4, \ldots$  Since H(t) = 1, for  $t \in [0, 1/2]$  and H(t) = 0, for t > 1, we observe that  $H(\frac{\lambda_k}{N})H(\frac{\lambda_k}{2N}) = H(\frac{\lambda_k}{N})$ . If  $(\nu_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  is a family of quadrature measures of order *N*, respectively, then a straight-forward calculation using the strong product assumption yields

$$\sigma_N(f,\mu_N) = \int_{\mathbb{X}} \sigma_N(f,\mu_N,y) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} H\left(\frac{\lambda_k}{2N}\right) \varphi_k^*(y) d\nu_N(y) \varphi_k.$$
(4.1)

Hence, the scheme (4.1) involves the quadrature measure  $\nu_N$  and the Marcinkiewicz–Zygmund quadrature measure  $\mu_N$ . To design the final approximation scheme, we fix some S > 1 and apply the quantization

$$I_N(f,\mu_N,y) = \lfloor N^S \sigma_N(f,\mu_N,y) \rfloor, \qquad (4.2)$$

and define the actual approximation by

$$\sigma_N^{\circ}(f,\mu_N,\nu_N) := N^{-S} \int_{\mathbb{X}} I_N(f,\mu_N,y) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} H\left(\frac{\lambda_k}{2N}\right) \varphi_k^*(y) d\nu_N(y) \varphi_k.$$
(4.3)

In other words, we replace  $\sigma_N(f, \mu_N, y)$  in (4.1) with a number on the grid  $\frac{1}{N^S}\mathbb{Z}$ .

We have the following result for the ball  $\overline{W_r^s}(L_p(\mathbb{X}))$  of radius *r* of the global Sobolev space given by (2.3). It extends results in [3] from compact Riemannian manifolds and  $p = \infty$  to diffusion measure spaces and to the entire range  $1 \le p \le \infty$ :

**Theorem 4.1** Suppose that  $(\mu_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  is a uniform family of Marcinkiewicz– Zygmund quadrature measures, each of order N, respectively, provided that  $p = \infty$ . For  $1 \le p < \infty$  we choose  $\mu_N = \mu$ ,  $N = 1, 2, 4, \ldots$  Assume further that H is a low-pass filter as defined above. We also suppose that  $(v_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  are Marcinkiewicz– Zygmund quadrature measures with  $\# \operatorname{supp}(v_N) \lesssim N^{\alpha}$ . For fixed s > 0 and S > $\max(1, s)$ , we apply the discretizations (4.2) and (4.3). Then there is a constant c > 0 such that, for all  $f \in \overline{W_s^r}(L_p, \mathbb{X})$ ,

$$\left\| f - \sigma_N^{\circ}(f, \mu_N, \nu_N) \right\|_{L_p(\mathbb{X})} \le crN^{-s}$$

$$\tag{4.4}$$

holds. For  $cr N^{-s} = \varepsilon \le 1$  and  $\varepsilon \le r$ , the number of bits needed to represent all integers  $\{I_N(f, \mu_N, y) : y \in \text{supp}(v_N)\}$  does not exceed a positive constant (independent of  $\varepsilon$  and r) times

$$(r/\varepsilon)^{\alpha/s} (1 + \log_2(r/\varepsilon)). \tag{4.5}$$

For proofs and an extended version of the present paper, we refer to [2], where also approximation schemes for local smoothness spaces are studied.

Acknowledgements M.E. has been funded by the Vienna Science and Technology Fund (WWTF) through project VRG12-009. The authors also thank H.N. Mhaskar for many fruitful discussions.

## References

- C.K. Chui, H.N. Mhaskar, Smooth function extension based on high dimensional unstructured data. Math. Comput. 83, 2865–2891 (2014)
- M. Ehler, F. Filbir, Metric entropy and n-widths of function spaces on data defined manifolds and quasi-metric measure spaces (2013). arXiv:1311.1393
- M. Ehler, F. Filbir, ε-coverings of Hölder–Zygmund type spaces on data-defined manifolds. Abstr. Appl. Anal. 2014, 402918 (2014). doi:10.1155/2014/402918
- A.N. Kolmogorov, V.M. Tihomirov, ε-entropy and ε-capacity of sets in function spaces. Usp. Mat. Nauk 14, 3–86 (1959). English transl. in Transl. Am. Math. Soc. 17, 277–364. MR0112032 (22:2890)
- H.N. Mhaskar, On the representation of smooth functions on the sphere using finitely many bits. Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 18(3), 215–233 (2005)
- 7. A. Pinkus, *n*-Widths in Approximation Theory (Springer, New York, 1985)
- 8. A. Pinkus, *n*-widths of Sobolev spaces in  $L^p$ . Constr. Approx. 1, 15–62 (1985)
- 9. A.G. Vitushkin, *Theory of the Transmission and Processing of Information* (Pergamon, Elmsford, 1961)
# Part XIII Applications of Queueing Theory in Modelling and Performance Evaluation of Computer Networks

Organizer: Krzysztof Grochla

# A Study on Ateb Transform as a Generalization of Fourier Transform

Ivanna Dronjuk and Maria Nazarkevich

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to construct the Ateb transforms based on Atebfunctions as a generalization of orthogonal Fourier transform. It was proved that these transforms satisfy the properties of linearity, symmetry and similarity. The Hartley transform is a real linear operator, and symmetric and self-inverse properties for Hartley Ateb-transform were proved. The one-dimensional discrete and two-dimensional discrete Ateb transforms were represented. Discrete transforms were used for construction digital watermark for the information security aim in the computer networks.

Keywords Ateb-transform · Fourier transform · Ateb-function · Digital watermark

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 42B10 · Secondary 94A08

# 1 Introduction

Methods, based on mathematical apparatus of orthogonal trigonometric transforms, are widely used while designing and developing the digital signal processing and the information protection systems [1]. On the other hand, methods of wavelet transforms as modern and advanced methods of data processing also are widely used [2]. Unlike conventional spectral transform, wavelet analysis provides approximation with the same accuracy both for smooth functions, as well as for functions of the rapid changes in slope. Different types of wavelets are considered. Among them wavelets, which are described analytically, comprise a short list. However, most types of wavelets, which are used in data processing problems, have no analytical description in the form of a formula, and are described like iterative expressions,

I. Dronjuk (🖂) · M. Nazarkevich

Institute of Computer Science and Information Technology, Bandery Str. 28A, Lviv 79013, Ukraine e-mail: idronjuk@polynet.edu.ua

M. Nazarkevich e-mail: nazarkevych@polynet.edu.ua

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_79 which are easily calculated by computers. Daubechies wavelets are examples of such functions, one of which (db4) is built into Mathcad [3].

The method of orthogonal transforms based on periodic Ateb-functions was proposed. Wel call it orthogonal Ateb-transform (OAT). The ability to build an OAT is based on the following provisions. First, in [4] it was shown that the Ateb-functions are a generalized case of the ordinary trigonometric functions. Second, in the work [5] orthonormality of system of periodic Ateb-functions is proved. In the work [6] methods and algorithms for computing Ateb-functions, depending on the parameter, that allows to successful using the proposed OAT method, similar to the functions of Daubechies, were developed.

#### 2 Trigonometric Orthogonal Transforms

Denote  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and suppose that x(t) is a real function. Then its Fourier transform is written as

$$V(\omega) = A(\omega) - i B(\omega), \qquad (2.1)$$

(see [1]), where

$$A(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \cos(\omega t) dt, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$B(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \sin(\omega t) dt.$$
 (2.3)

Consider the function of the form

$$cas(t) = \cos(t) + \sin(t), \qquad (2.4)$$

then the Hartley transform is given by

$$H(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) cas(\omega t) dt, \qquad (2.5)$$

(see [1]). It is known [4] that the Ateb-functions are generalizations of the usual trigonometric functions. Therefore, similarly to the formulas (2.1)–(2.5), we introduce construction of the transform, based on the periodic Ateb-functions.

#### **3** Construction of the Orthogonal Ateb-Transforms

#### 3.1 OAT with a Single Parameter

We introduce the Ateb-sine and cosine functions [4] depending on the one parameter and having the form sa(n, 1, t) and ca(1, n, t). Suppose that x(t) is a real function, then its Ateb-transform is written as

$$X(n,\omega) = A(n,\omega) - iB(n,\omega), \qquad (3.1)$$

where

$$A(n,\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) ca(1,n,\omega t) dt, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$B(n,\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) s a^n(n, 1, \omega t) dt.$$
(3.3)

Since the Ateb-sine and Ateb-cosine are odd even functions, respectively, we write the inverse Ateb-transform

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{\Pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( A(n,\omega) ca(1,n,\omega t) - B(n,\omega) sa(n,1,\omega t) \right) d\omega, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\Pi(1, n)$  is the period of the Ateb-functions. The right side of formula (3.4) depends on the parameter *n*. For each value of *n* the graph of the function x(t) will be different. Nature, i.e. the steepness, of the period of Ateb-functions ca(1, n, t) and sa(n, 1, t) will vary from *n*. Dependence of Ateb-function on the parameter *n* makes it possible to choose the appropriate x(t) form of ca(1, n, t) and sa(n, 1, t), that fits the computation algorithms.

We introduce the function casa(1, n, t) as follows

$$casa(1, n, t) = ca(1, n, t) + sa^{n}(n, 1, t).$$
(3.5)

We introduce the direct and inverse Hartley Ateb-transforms using formulas

$$H(n,\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) casa(1,n,\omega t) dt, \qquad (3.6)$$

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{\Pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(n,\omega) casa(1,n,\omega t) d\omega.$$
(3.7)

When n = 1 Ateb-transforms introduced by formulas (3.1)–(3.4), (3.6), (3.7) will be known like the orthogonal Fourier and Hartley transforms. For the existence of Ateb-transform of function x(t), it is sufficient to perform the same conditions which are sufficient for the existence of orthogonal Fourier transform.

# 3.2 OAT with Two Parameters

Let Ateb-functions depend on two parameters. Suppose that x(t) is a real function, then the analog of the Fourier transform [1], an Ateb-transform, is written as

$$X(m, n, \omega) = A(m, n, \omega) - iB(n, m, \omega)$$
(3.8)

where

$$A(m, n, \omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) c a^m(m, n, \omega t) dt, \qquad (3.9)$$

$$B(n,m,\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) s a^n(n,m,\omega t) dt$$
(3.10)

where  $ca(m, n, \omega)$  is the Ateb-cosine function,  $sa(n, m, \omega)$  the Ateb-sine function. Taking into account the identity  $ca^{m+1}(m, n, \omega) + sa^{n+1}(n, m, \omega) = 1$  [4], we obtain an expression for the inverse transform:

$$x(m,n,t) = \frac{1}{\Pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (A(m,n,\omega)ca(m,n,\omega t) + B(n,m,\omega)sa(n,m,\omega t)) d\omega,$$
(3.11)

where  $\Pi(m, n)$  is the period of the Ateb-functions. Let us introduce

$$casa(m, n, t) = ca^{m}(m, n, t) + sa^{n}(n, m, t).$$
 (3.12)

Then, according to formula (2.5), the direct Hartley Ateb-transform can be written as

$$H(m, n, \omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) casa(m, n, \omega t) dt.$$
(3.13)

When n = 1, m = 1, Ateb-transforms introduced by formulas (3.8)–(3.11), (3.13) are known as the orthogonal Fourier and Hartley transforms [1]. The validity of linearity, symmetry and similarity are proved: which are similar to the properties of the trigonometric Fourier and Hartley transforms.

#### 3.3 Properties of Orthogonal Ateb-Transforms

Similarly to the properties presented for Fourier and Hartley transforms we derive some properties of orthogonal Ateb-transforms.

1. Linearity. Let a function x(t) be a linear combination of any two functions  $x(t) = ax_1(t) + bx_2(t)$ . Then

$$X(m, n, \omega) = aX_1(m, n, \omega) + bX_2(m, n, \omega)$$
(3.14)

where  $X(m, n, \omega)$  is the image of this function x(t) and  $X_1(m, n, \omega)$ ,  $X_2(m, n, \omega)$ —are the images of the functions  $x_1(t)$  and  $x_2(t)$ , respectively constructed according to formula (3.8). The proof follows directly from the linearity of the integral.

A similar property holds for the Hartley Ateb-transform

$$H(m, n, \omega) = aH_1(m, n, \omega) + bH_2(m, n, \omega),$$
 (3.15)

where  $H(m, n, \omega)$  is the image of the function x(t), and  $H_1(m, n, \omega)$ ,  $H_2(m, n, \omega)$  are the images of the functions  $x_1(t)$ ,  $x_2(t)$ , respectively, for the Hartley Atebtransform, constructed according to formula (3.13).

2. Symmetry. The image of the function x(-t) is  $X(n, -\omega)$  and  $H(n, -\omega)$ , respectively.

The proof follows from the fact that the Ateb-sine and Ateb-cosine are odd even functions, respectively [4].

3. Similarity. Consider the function  $x(\frac{t}{T})$ . Then the image of this function is  $|T| \cdot H(m, n, T\omega)$ .

#### 3.4 Orthogonal Trigonometric Transform for Ateb-Functions

For identification and reproduction of information mathematical apparatus of orthogonal trigonometric transforms, including Fourier transform is widely used. To solve the problem of identification information, which is protected with Atebfunctions, we use orthogonal trigonometric Fourier transform.

Considering the fact that the Ateb-sine  $sa(n, m, \omega)$  is the odd function, it can be represented as the direct Fourier sine-transform B(n, m, x) [2]

$$B(n, m, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} sa(n, m, \omega t) \sin(x, \omega) d\omega.$$
(3.16)

Then Ateb-sine is represented like the inverse Fourier sine-transform by the formula

$$sa(n,m,\omega) = \frac{1}{\Pi} \int_0^\infty B(n,m,x) \sin(x\omega) dx.$$
(3.17)

Using the fact that Ateb-cosine  $ca(m, n, \omega)$  is even function, we represent it as a direct cosine Fourier transform A(m, n, x)

$$A(m, n, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ca(m, n, \omega) \cos(x\omega) d\omega.$$
(3.18)

Then the Ateb-cosine is represented like the inverse Fourier cosine-transform by the formula

$$ca(m, n, \omega) = \frac{1}{\Pi} \int_0^\infty A(m, n, x) \cos(x\omega) dx.$$
(3.19)

The cosine and sine Fourier transforms are used for continuous functions. Formulas (3.16), (3.18) are used to construct a continuous spectrum of Fourier-images of functions. However, for problems which are associated with information technology more expedient is the usage of discrete functions and transforms. In this case, the discrete Fourier transform is applied.

#### 4 Constructing of Discrete Ateb-Transform

# 4.1 One-Dimensional DAT

Introduce the discrete Ateb-transform (DAT). Let a signal be given in the form of a discrete sequence S(p). We introduce the functions A(m, n, k) and B(n, m, k) by the formulas

$$A(m,n,k) = \sum_{p=1}^{N-1} S(p) c a^m \left( m, n, -i \frac{2\Pi p k}{N} \right), \quad k = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.1)

$$B(n,m,k) = \sum_{p=1}^{N-1} S(p) s a^n \left(n,m,-i\frac{2\Pi pk}{N}\right), \quad k = 1,\dots,N,$$
(4.2)

where *p* is the number of harmonics, *N* the sample size,  $ca(m, n, \omega)$  the Ateb-cosine function,  $sa(n, m, \omega)$  the Ateb-sine function.

Then direct DAT is defined by the formula

$$X(m, n, k) = A(m, n, k) - iB(n, m, k).$$
(4.3)

Hence we obtain an expression for the inverse transform as

$$S(m, n, p) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \left\{ A(m, n, k) ca^{m} \left( m, n, -i \frac{2\Pi pk}{N} \right) + B(n, m, k) sa^{n} \left( n, m, -i \frac{2\Pi pk}{N} \right) \right\}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N.$$
(4.4)

The input signal S(p) is formally under the action of the direct and inverse DAT transformed into the signal S(m, n, p). However, for fixed values of the parameters m, n the value of the signal S(p) can be reproduced. This representation allows for using the proposed transforms for creating a digital watermark (DWM) and personalized security in electronic documents.

#### 4.2 Two-Dimensional DAT

Introduce the two-dimensional discrete Ateb-transform. Consider the document set as a two-dimensional discrete sequence S(p,q) where (p,q) is the running pixel image of size  $N \times N$ . We introduce the functions A(m,n,k,g) and B(m,n,k,g) by the formulas

$$A(m, n, k, g) = \sum_{p=1}^{N-1} \sum_{q=1}^{N-1} S(p, q) ca^{m} \left( n, m, -i \frac{2\Pi pk}{N}, -i \frac{2\Pi gq}{N} \right),$$
  

$$k, g = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.5)

A Study on Ateb Transform as a Generalization of Fourier Transform

$$B(n,m,k,g) = \sum_{p=1}^{N-1} \sum_{q=1}^{N-1} S(p,q) sa^n \left(m,n,-i\frac{2\Pi pk}{N},-i\frac{2\Pi gq}{N}\right),$$
  

$$k,g = 1,\dots,N,$$
(4.6)

where p, q are the numbers of harmonics, ca() the Ateb-cosine function, sa() the Ateb-sine function,  $\Pi()$  the period of the Ateb-function.

Direct DAT can be defined by the formula

$$X(m, n, k, g) = A(m, n, k, g) - iB(n, m, k, g).$$
(4.7)

We will obtain an expression for the inverse transform as

$$S(m, n, p, q) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \sum_{g=1}^{N-1} \left\{ A(m, n, k, g) ca^{m} \left( m, n, -i \frac{2\Pi pk}{N}, -i \frac{2\Pi gq}{N} \right) + B(n, m, k, g) sa^{n} \left( n, m, -i \frac{2\Pi pk}{N}, -i \frac{2\Pi gq}{N} \right) \right\}, \quad p, q = 1, \dots, N.$$
(4.8)

The input image of the document in the form of a matrix S(p,q) formally under the action of direct and inverse DAT is transformed into a matrix S(m, n, p, q). The parameters m, n of the Ateb-functions can be used to personalize documents. For fixed values of the parameters m, n a pixel value of image S(p,q) can be reproduced. This representation allows for using the proposed transforms for creation of embedded hidden messages and personalized protection of the documents.

#### 5 The Digital Watermark Embedding

Consider the digital image Z. We transform this image with formula (4.8) to  $Z^p$ . For the digital watermark embedding we used the formula (5.1) for r maximum values in  $Z^p$ 

$$Z^{wp} = Z^p + \alpha w, \tag{5.1}$$

where  $Z^{wp}$  is the image transformed with watermark,  $Z^p$  is the transformed image,  $\alpha$  is the embedding coefficient, w is the watermark of size r.

Figure 1 represents embedding watermark algorithm. It is impossible to detect watermark visually as images with a watermark and without the one look identical. For detecting a watermark specific methods of image processing have to be used. In particular we use a correlation criterion K, calculated according to formula

$$K = \frac{1}{r-1} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{(c_i^w - \bar{c}_i^w)(w_i - \bar{w})}{\sigma_c \sigma_w}$$
(5.2)

**Fig. 1** Embedding and detecting watermark algorithm



where  $c_i^w$  is an image element number *i*,  $w_i$  is a watermark element number *i*,  $\bar{c}_i^w$  is an image element average value,  $\bar{w}$  is a watermark average value,  $\sigma_c$  is an image with watermark standard deviation,  $\sigma_w$  is a watermark standard deviation. If calculated criterion *K* is greater than given critical criterial value  $K_{kr}$ , we decided that watermark is detected.

## 6 Conclusions

The method of generalized trigonometric transforms based on periodic Atebfunctions was proposed. Properties of orthogonal Ateb-transforms Fourier and Hartley were introduced and proved. Properties of linearity, symmetry and similarity of the introduced orthogonal Ateb-transform were proved. The one-dimensional and two-dimensional discret Ateb-transforms are constructed. The algorithm of embedding a digital watermark into the image was implemented. Formulas of discrete Ateb transforms shall be applied to the image. For the transformed image, the well-known additive algorithm of embedding the digital watermark in the frequency domain shall be applied.

## References

- 1. The Scientist and Engineer's Guide to Digital Signal Processing Steven W. Smith. Hard Cover (1997). 640 pp.
- M. Pinsky, Introduction to Fourier Analysis and Wavelets. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 102 (2002). Brooks/Cole, 376 pp.
- Mathcad Users Guide Book. http://claymore.engineer.gvsu.edu/~jackh/eod/courses/egr345/ media/mathcad.pdf
- 4. R. Rosenberg, The Ateb(h)—functions and their properties. Q. Appl. Math. 21(1), 37–47 (1963)
- 5. B.I. Sokil, Non-linear oscillation in mechanical systems and the analytical methods for its investigations, National University "Lviv polytechnic", Lviv (2001). 36 pp. (in Ukrainian)
- V. Hrytsyk, M. Nazarkevych, Mathematical models of algorithms and implementation Atebfunctions, in *Reports of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, in August* (2007), pp. 37– 43 (in Ukrainian)

# **Queue-Size Distribution in Energy-Saving Model Based on Multiple Vacation Policy**

Wojciech M. Kempa

Abstract An energy-saving model based on the M/G/1/N-type finite-buffer queue with independent and generally distributed repeated vacations is considered. Using the formula of total probability and the idea of embedded Markov chain, a system of integral equations for conditional transient queue-size distributions is found. A closed-form representation for the solution of the corresponding system built for Laplace transforms is obtained. Numerical example is attached as well.

Keywords Energy saving  $\cdot$  Finite-buffer queue  $\cdot$  Multiple vacation policy  $\cdot$  Queue-size  $\cdot$  Transient distribution

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 60K25 · Secondary 90B22

# **1** Introduction

The problems of power saving and minimization of energy consumption are fundamental ones in wireless sensor networks (WSNs) or mobile stations of WiMAX. Typically, majority of sensor nodes are equipped with non-rechargeable batteries. So, in practice, for elongation the lifetime of the battery, a mechanism based on cyclic succession of sleep and listening modes of the node radio adapter/receiver is being usually implemented. The IEEE 802.16e standard of mobile WiMAX defines three different classes of power-saving mechanisms (see e.g. [3, 12]). Since, during the sleep-mode operation, the energy consumption is much smaller than in the listening mode, the key problem is the efficient reduction the wake mode duration. In the literature different solutions are being proposed for this issue. In [4] a thresholdtype discipline is considered in which the accumulation of N packets in the buffer queue is necessary to activate the radio (server) after the idle period (N-policy). An infinite-buffer M/G/1-type queue with repeated (multiple) server vacations is

W.M. Kempa (🖂)

Institute of Mathematics, Silesian University of Technology, 23 Kaszubska Str., 44-100 Gliwice, Poland

e-mail: wojciech.kempa@polsl.pl

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_80

proposed in [11] as a model of Type I power-saving mode in IEEE 802.16e standard, and some performance measures are derived there.

In the article we investigate the transient queue-size distribution in the model of power saving mechanism based on the M/G/1/N-type finite-buffer queue with multiple vacation policy. After each busy period (listening mode) of the system (every time when the system empties) the server takes successive (repeated) independent and generally distributed vacations until, at the end of one of them, the buffer queue contains at least one packet waiting for service (sleep mode). Then, after completion of this vacation, a new busy period (listening mode) begins immediately, during which the queue empties and so on. In [5] and [6] a similar model but with infinite buffer capacity is being considered, and the formulae for transforms of the queue-size distribution and departure process are obtained there, respectively.

In the next Sect. 2, after the mathematical description of the model, for the transient queue-size distributions conditioned by the numbers of packets present in the buffer queue initially (at the opening of the system), we build a system of integral equations, by virtue of the idea of embedded Markov chain and the formula of total probability. Using the approach introduced in [10] (applied also e.g. in [7–9]), we obtain in Sect. 3 the general solution of the corresponding system written for Laplace transforms in a compact form. The last Sect. 4 contains numerical example.

#### **2** System of Equations for Conditional Queue-Size Distributions

Consider the M/G/1/N-type queuing model in which packets arrive according to a Poisson process with intensity  $\lambda$  and are being served with a distribution function (d.f.)  $F(\cdot)$ . The maximal system capacity equals N i.e. we have N - 1 places in the buffer queue and one place for service. Every time when the system becomes empty the server begins a multiple vacation period (MVP), consisting of a number of independent single vacations, generally distributed with a d.f.  $G(\cdot)$ .

Denote by X(t) the number of packets present in the system at time t, and introduce the conditional transient queue-size distribution as follows:

$$P_n(t,m) = \mathbf{P}\{X(t) = m \mid X(0) = n\}, \quad t > 0, \ 0 \le m, n \le N.$$
(2.1)

Assume firstly that the system is empty before the opening and starts its operation at time t = 0 with a MVP. The formula of total probability gives

$$P_{0}(t,m) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \int_{u=0}^{t} dG^{i*}(u) \int_{y=u}^{t} \lambda e^{-\lambda y} dy$$

$$\times \left\{ \int_{v=y-u}^{t-u} \left[ \sum_{k=0}^{N-2} \frac{[\lambda(u+v-y)]^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda(u+v-y)} P_{k+1}(t-u-v,m) + P_{N}(t-u-v,m) \sum_{k=N-1}^{\infty} \frac{[\lambda(u+v-y)]^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda(u+v-y)} \right] dG(v)$$

Queue-Size in Energy-Saving Model with Multiple Vacations

$$+ I\{1 \le m \le N-1\} \frac{[\lambda(t-y)]^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} e^{-\lambda(t-y)} \overline{G}(t-u)$$
$$+ \delta_{m,N} \sum_{k=N-1}^{\infty} \frac{[\lambda(t-y)]^k}{k!} e^{-\lambda(t-y)} \overline{G}(t-u) \bigg\} + \delta_{m,0} e^{-\lambda t}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $\delta_{i,j}$  is the Kronecker delta function and the notation  $\overline{H}(\cdot)$  stands for the tail of arbitrary d.f.  $H(\cdot)$ . Indeed, if the MVP ends before t and during it the buffer does not become saturated (1st summand on the right side of (2.2)), then at the completion epoch of the MVP (at the time u + v) the system starts the operation with the number of packets which have arrived during the server vacation. If the buffer becomes saturated before the MVP completion epoch (2nd summand), the service begins with N packets present, exactly. If the MVP ends after t and at least one arrival occurs before t, then X(t) = m if and only if the number of arrivals till t equals m, if only  $m \le N - 1$  (3rd summand on the right side of (2.2)), or equals at least N if m = N (4th summand). If the first packet arrives after time t, then the random event {X(t) = m} is equivalent to {m = 0} (5th summand).

As it is well known, service completion epochs in the M/G/1-type queue are Markov moments (see e.g. [2]). If X(0) = n, where  $1 \le n \le N$ , then, applying the formula of total probability with respect to the first service completion epoch after t = 0, we obtain

$$P_{n}(t,m) = \int_{0}^{t} \left[ \sum_{k=0}^{N-n-1} \frac{(\lambda y)^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda y} P_{n+k-1}(t-y,m) + P_{N-1}(t-y,m) \sum_{k=N-n}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda y)^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda y} \right] dF(y) + \left( I\{n \le m \le N-1\} \frac{(\lambda t)^{m-n}}{(m-n)!} + \delta_{m,N} \sum_{k=N-n}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k}}{k!} \right) e^{-\lambda t} \overline{F}(t),$$
(2.3)

where  $I\{\mathbb{A}\}$  is the indicator of the random event  $\mathbb{A}$ . The interpretation of the right side of (2.3) is similar to that in (2.2).

Introduce the Laplace transform of  $P_n(t, m)$  as

$$\widehat{P}_n(s,m) = \int_0^\infty e^{-st} P_n(t,m) dt, \quad \operatorname{Re}(s) > 0,$$
(2.4)

and define the following functions:

$$a_k(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-(s+\lambda)y} \frac{(\lambda y)^k}{k!} dF(y), \qquad (2.5)$$

$$b_k(s) = \left(1 - g(s + \lambda)\right)^{-1} \int_0^\infty e^{-(s + \lambda)y} \frac{(\lambda y)^k}{k!} dG(y), \tag{2.6}$$

$$d(s,m) = (1 - g(s + \lambda))^{-1} \left( I\{1 \le m \le N - 1\} \varphi_{G,m}(s) + \delta_{m,N} \sum_{k=N-1}^{\infty} \varphi_{G,k+1} \right) (s),$$

$$h_k(s,m) = I\{k \le m \le N - 1\} \varphi_{F,m-k}(s)$$
(2.7)

$$(s,m) = I\{k \le m \le N - 1\}\varphi_{F,m-k}(s) + \delta_{m,N} \sum_{i=N-k}^{\infty} \varphi_{F,i}(s),$$
(2.8)

where

$$\varphi_{H,k}(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-(s+\lambda)t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!} \overline{H}(t) dt$$
(2.9)

for any distribution function  $H(\cdot)$  and  $g(\cdot)$  stands for the Laplace–Stieltjes transform of the d.f.  $G(\cdot)$ .

Now, the system (2.2)–(2.3) can be rewritten in the following form:

$$\widehat{P}_{0}(s,m) = \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{k}(s) \widehat{P}_{k}(s,m) + \widehat{P}_{N}(s,m) \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} b_{k}(s) + d(s,m) + \frac{\delta_{m,0}}{s+\lambda} \quad (2.10)$$

and

$$\widehat{P}_{n}(s,m) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-n-1} a_{k}(s) \widehat{P}_{n+k-1}(s,m) + \widehat{P}_{N-1}(s,m) \sum_{k=N-n}^{\infty} a_{k}(s) + h_{n}(s,m),$$
(2.11)

where  $1 \le n \le N$ .

Applying, additionally, to (2.10)–(2.11) the following substitution:

$$\widehat{Q}_n(s,m) = \widehat{P}_{N-n}(s,m), \quad 0 \le n \le N,$$
(2.12)

we obtain

$$\sum_{k=-1}^{n} a_{k+1}(s)\widehat{Q}_{n-k}(s,m) - \widehat{Q}_n(s,m) = \psi_n(s,m), \quad 0 \le n \le N-1, \quad (2.13)$$

and

$$\widehat{Q}_{N}(s,m) = \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{k}(s) \widehat{Q}_{N-k}(s,m) + \widehat{Q}_{0}(s,m) \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} b_{k}(s) + d(s,m) + \frac{\delta_{m,0}}{s+\lambda},$$
(2.14)

where

$$\psi_n(s,m) = a_{n+1}(s)\widehat{Q}_0(s,m) - \widehat{Q}_1(s,m)\sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} a_k(s) - h_{N-n}(s,m).$$
(2.15)

## 3 Main Result

In this section we prove the following main theorem:

**Theorem 3.1** In the M/G/1/N-type system with multiple vacation policy the representation for the Laplace transform  $\widehat{P}_n(s,m)$  of the conditional transient queue-size distribution is following:

$$P_{n}(s,m) = \Phi_{N-n}(s,m) + \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{N-k}(s)\Phi_{k}(s,m) + d(s,m) + \delta_{m,0}(s+\lambda)^{-1} - \Phi_{N}(s,m)}{\Theta_{N}(s) - \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{N-k}(s)\Theta_{k}(s) - \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} b_{k}(s)} \Theta_{N-n}(s),$$
(3.1)

where

$$\Theta_n(s) = a_0(s)R_{n+1}(s) + \sum_{k=0}^n R_{n-k}(s) \left( a_{k+1}(s) - f^{-1}(s) \sum_{i=k+1}^\infty a_i(s) \right), \quad (3.2)$$

$$\Phi_n(s,m) = \sum_{k=0}^n R_{n-k}(s) \left( h_N(s,m) f^{-1}(s) \sum_{i=k+1}^\infty a_i(s) - h_{N-k}(s,m) \right), \quad (3.3)$$

the formulae for  $a_k(s)$ ,  $b_k(s)$ , d(s, m),  $h_k(s, m)$  are given in (2.5), (2.6), (2.7), (2.8), respectively, and the sequence ( $R_k(s)$ ) is defined recursively as follows:

$$R_{0}(s) = 0, \qquad R_{1}(s) = \frac{1}{a_{0}(s)},$$

$$R_{k+1}(s) = R_{1}(s) \left( R_{k}(s) - \sum_{i=0}^{k} a_{i+1}(s) R_{k-i}(s) \right),$$
(3.4)

where  $k \geq 1$ .

*Proof* There is proved in [10] that each solution of the infinite-sized system of type (2.13), written for  $n \ge 0$ , can be stated as

$$\widehat{Q}_n(s,m) = C(s,m)R_{n+1}(s) + \sum_{k=0}^n R_{n-k}(s)\psi_k(s,m), \quad n \ge 0,$$
(3.5)

where C(s, m) is independent on *n*. Since (2.13) has finite number of equations, then the formula (2.14) can be treated as a boundary condition which allows for finding C(s, m) explicitly. Indeed, substituting n = 0 into (3.5) we get

$$C(s,m) = a_0(s)\hat{Q}_0(s,m).$$
 (3.6)

Similarly, substituting n = 0 into (2.13), we obtain

$$a_0(s)\widehat{Q}_1(s,m) + a_1(s)\widehat{Q}_0(s,m) - \widehat{Q}_0(s,m) = \psi_0(s,m).$$
(3.7)

Hence, since  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k(s) = f(s)$ , we have

$$\widehat{Q}_{1}(s,m) = \frac{\widehat{Q}_{0}(s,m) - h_{N}(s,m)}{f(s)}.$$
(3.8)

Substituting now (3.6) and (3.7) into (3.5) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{Q}_{n}(s,m) &= a_{0}(s)R_{n+1}(s)\widehat{Q}_{0}(s,m) \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{n} R_{n-k}(s) \bigg[ a_{k+1}(s)\widehat{Q}_{0}(s,m) - \widehat{Q}_{1}(s,m) \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} a_{i}(s) - h_{N-k}(s,m) \bigg] \\ &= \widehat{Q}_{0}(s,m)\Theta_{n}(s) + \Phi_{n}(s,m), \end{aligned}$$
(3.9)

where  $\Theta_n(s)$  and  $\Phi_n(s, m)$  are defined in (3.2) and (3.3), respectively.

Now we must find the representation for  $\widehat{Q}_0(s,m)$  to derive  $\widehat{Q}_1(s,m)$  and C(s,m).

After substituting (3.9) into (2.14), we eliminate  $\widehat{Q}_0(s, m)$  as follows:

$$\widehat{Q}_0(s,m) = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{n-k}(s) \Phi_k(s) + d(s,m) + \delta_{m,0}(s+\lambda)^{-1} - \Phi_N(s,m)}{\Theta_N(s) - \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} b_{N-k}(s) \Theta_k(s) - \sum_{k=N}^{\infty} b_k(s)}.$$
 (3.10)

Now, (3.9) and (3.10), after taking into consideration (2.12), lead to (3.1).

# 4 Numerical Example

Let packets of average sizes 100 B arrive at the node of the WSN with intensity 400 kb/s, and let the throughput of the output link equals 480 kb/s, so the link utilization is  $\rho = 0.833$ . Assuming that the arrival stream is described by the Poisson process, we have  $\lambda = 500$  packets/s. Similarly, comparing to the given transmission rate, the service time can be described by the following 2-order hyperexponential distribution function:

$$F(t) = 0.5(2 - e^{-500t} - e^{-750t}), \quad t > 0.$$



Moreover, assume that the energy-saving mechanism of the node is described by the multiple vacation policy in which successive single vacations have exponential distributions with means 0.002 [s]. Let us investigate the behavior of transient conditional distributions  $\mathbf{P}{X(t) = 1 | X(0) = n}$  in dependence on the initial buffer state for n = 0, 5 and 10, where the maximal system capacity equals N = 10. To obtain the results we use directly the formula (3.1) for m = 1 and n = 0, 5 and 10 to obtain explicit representations for Laplace transforms of conditional queue-size distributions. Next we use the algorithm of numerical Laplace transform inversion, based on the Bromwich integral and Euler's summation formula, proposed by Abate et al. in [1]. The results are visualized in Fig. 1. As one can observe the relaxation time (time of reaching the stationary state) equals approximately 0.05 [s]. In Fig. 2 we present results for the low input stream intensity, namely for the flow of packets arriving with speed 200 kb/s (that gives  $\lambda = 250$  packets/s and  $\rho = 0.417$ ) and the remaining traffic characteristic being the same.

#### 5 Conclusion

In the paper an energy-saving model based on the M/G/1/N-type finite-buffer queue with multiple vacation policy is investigated. The explicit representation for

the Laplace transform of the conditional queue-size distribution is obtained via the approach using the formula of total probability, the idea of embedded Markov chain and the solution of a specific-type system of linear equations. Applicability of theoretical formulae is illustrated by numerical examples motivated by real-life IP traffic in wireless sensor networks.

Acknowledgement The project was financed with subsidies from the National Science Centre in Poland, granted by virtue of the decision number DEC-2012/07/B/ST6/01201.

#### References

- J. Abate, G.L. Choudhury, W. Whitt, An introduction to numerical transform inversion and its application to probability models, in *Computational Probability*, ed. by W. Grassmann (Kluwer Academic, Boston, 2000), pp. 257–323
- 2. J.W. Cohen, The Single Server Queue (North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1982)
- N.T. Dinh, A power efficiency based delay constraint mechanism for mobile WiMAX systems, in *Computers, Networks, Systems & Industrial Engineering*, ed. by R. Lee. SCI, vol. 265 (2011), pp. 181–191
- F.-C. Jiang, D.-C. Huang, Ch.-T. Yang, F.-Y. Leu, Lifetime elongation for wireless sensor network using queue-based approaches. J. Supercomput. 59, 1312–1335 (2012)
- 5. W.M. Kempa, The transient analysis of the queue-length distribution in the batch arrival system with *N*-policy, multiple vacations and setup times. AIP Conf. Proc. **1293**, 235–242 (2010)
- W.M. Kempa, Analysis of departure process in batch arrival queue with multiple vacations and exhaustive service. Commun. Stat., Theory Methods 40(16), 2856–2865 (2011)
- 7. W.M. Kempa, Departure process in finite-buffer queue with batch arrivals. Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. 6751, 1–13 (2011)
- 8. W.M. Kempa, The virtual waiting time in a finite-buffer queue with a single vacation policy. Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. **7314**, 47–60 (2012)
- W.M. Kempa, Transient analysis of the output process in the *GI/M*/1-type queue with finite buffer. AIP Conf. Proc. **1487**, 193–200 (2012)
- V.S. Korolyuk, Boundary-Value Problems for Compound Poisson Processes (Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1975) (in Russian)
- V. Mancuso, S. Alouf, Analysis of power saving with continuous connectivity. Comput. Netw. 56, 2481–2493 (2012)
- 12. http://standards.ieee.org/getieee802/download/802.16e-2005.pdf

# Automobile System Safety Based on the Model for Stochastic Networks with Dependent Service Times

Vladimir Vishnevsky and Vladimir Rykov

**Abstract** Broadband wireless data transmission network for providing of automobile transport system safety is considered. The network operates under IEEE802.11n-2012 protocol that guarantees high-speed transmission of multimedia information from stationary and mobile automatic systems of traffic control. The model of stochastic network with dependent service time and processor sharing discipline for the problem solution is used. Product-form representation for the model steady-state probabilities is presented.

#### **1** Introduction and Motivation

The Stochastic Networks (SN) have a wide spectrum of applications, including computer, data transmission and telecommunication network. Nowadays telecommunication technologies give extremely wide possibilities for information interchange. However exponentially growth of the number of Internet users and local and corporative networks create the problems of needed quality of service (QoS) providing. To guarantee it in the networks it is necessary to rationalize the using of the network resources, which need to invoke the mathematical models and methods.

Most of really applicable network characteristics are macro-state characteristics such as queue length in buffers, mean time message transmission etc. are usually represented in terms of its steady-state probabilities (SSP). Therefore their calculation is one of very important problems in this topic. Network decomposition and the product form representation of the SSP is a real way for the problem solution.

V. Vishnevsky (🖂)

#### V. Rykov

The paper have been supported by RFBR grants number 13-07-00737.

Research and Development Company "Information and Networking Technologies (R&D "INNET")", Moscow, Russia e-mail: vishn@inbox.ru

Gubkin Russian State Oil and Gas University, Moscow, Russia e-mail: vladimir\_rykov@mail.ru

There are vast bibliography devoted to both precision and approximate methods of decomposition.

The first strong result that have been proposed by J. Jackson deals with open exponential networks. It was shown in the papers [1, 2] that the equilibrium probabilities for these kind of networks have a product form. For the closed networks analogous result have been obtained by Gordon and Newell [3]. Baskett et al. [4] spread out Jackson's results to the network, which service times cumulative distribution functions (c.d.f.) have fractional rational Laplace–Stiltjes transform. Kelly [5, 6] introduce new principle of routing and propose the general concept for product form representation of the network steady state probability distributions. Latest generalizations and other aspects of queueing networks analysis one can find in reviews [7, 8] and special monographs of R. Boucherie [9] and N. van Dijk [10]. The results of these investigations have been summarized in an excellent book of R. Serfozo [11]. For applications of SN to data transmission systems see [12].

However in most of all these publications it is assumed that the service times in different nodes are independent random variables (r.v.). But, this assumption is not adequate for real data transmission systems such as tele- and computercommunication networks. Indeed, the same message (call) during its transmission through the network has the same size (work requirement, workload), but may be transmitted with different rates by different channels. It is necessary to take into account that in data transmission and telecommunication networks the role of nodes (service stations) usually play the links, while the stations (terminals) are usually considered as buffers. That is, the service times in different nodes of the message route must be dependent.

The models with invariable service times along the route was considered in [13, 14], and the models with generally dependent service times but for the special case of infinity servers nodes have been presented in [15]. Product form of steady state probabilities for network with regenerative service mechanism and Kelly's service disciplines, which are determined by some collection of service rates in nodes was obtained in [16]. Product form for equilibrium probabilities of the open hierarchical networks with dependent service times was obtained in [17]. In [18] another approach to decomposition of the complex hierarchical stochastic networks was proposed. In the paper [19] it was shown that the macro-state stationary probabilities for the network with Poisson input, infinite-servers nodes and processor sharing discipline have a product form. These results has been generalized for open and closed queueing networks with dependent service times in [20–22] that includes and generalize almost all previously considered models where waist bibliography has been also presented.

In this paper this approach will be used for investigation of the broadband wireless data transmission network aimed automobile transport system safety. The paper is organized as follows. In the next section a special model of the automobile transport system safety will be proposed. In the third section an appropriate mathematical model will be propose and analyzed. The paper closes with conclusion and the bibliography.



Fig. 1 A system of automatic RRV fixing and transmission

#### 2 The Problem Setting

Accidents on roads is one of serious problems over all the world. Accordingly to the International Public Health Service Organization about 1.2 mln peoples died at the roads over all the world (including 27000 in Russia). It looks like a war in the piece time.

As a fighting tools against accidents at the roads the Automobile System Safety (ASS) is usually used (see, for example, [23]). It represents a system of automatic fixing the Road Rules Violation (RRV) and the information transmission to the appropriate Police Center as it is shown in Fig. 1.

It consists of fixing system located on Stationary or/and Mobile Modules an appropriate transmission system. The last one is a broadband wireless data transmission network along the road. The system usually uses a radar tool for the velocity measuring and optic camera for the vehicle sign fixing. However, this system has two defects:

- Impossibility of recognition of too dirty signs, and
- Too long transmission of the information to the Central Police Office (CPO)

that decrease the system efficiency up to 40 %. In the another approach the RFIDtechnology that uses special Radio Fixing Identification Marc at the vehicle sign is applied.

#### 3 The Model

The system is modelled as a tandem-type network with r nodes of infinity-size buffers and processor sharing discipline as it is presented in Fig. 2. This means that

Fig. 2 The model of automobile safety system

 $\begin{array}{c|c} \lambda_1 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_k & \lambda_r \\ \hline & & \bullet & \bullet & \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \\ \hline & & \bullet \\ \end{array}$ 

all calls are served simultaneously and transferred from k-th node to the k + 1-th one, and from the last node they go out of the system.

Over all the paper the following assumption and notations will be used:

 $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \dots, n_k, \dots, n_r)$  is the system state vectors, where  $n_k$  is number of calls at the *k*-th node;

 $\lambda_k$  is the intensity of input Poisson flow to the *k*-th node from the outside and therefore the summary flow to *k*-th node is

$$\Lambda_k = \lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_k;$$

The sizes of all calls are independent r.vs. Y with the same c.d.f.

$$G(y) = \mathbf{P}\{Y \le y\}$$

and they are the same along all the system;

 $c_k$  is the capacity of k-th channel, and the service discipline is supposed to be processor sharing discipline, which allows to be served all calls simultaneously with the rate  $\frac{c_k}{n_k}$  for k-th node.

Therefore the conditional c.d.fs. of service times on each stage of service given call volume *y* are

$$B_k(x|y) = \mathbf{P}\{X_k \le x \mid Y = y\} = \Theta\left(x - \frac{yn_k}{c_k}\right) \quad (k = \overline{1, r}).$$

This means that the unconditional service time c.d.f. is

$$B_{k}(x) = \mathbf{P}\{X_{k} \le x\} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \Theta\left(x - \frac{yn_{k}}{c_{k}}\right) dG(y)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \Theta\left(\frac{c_{k}x}{n_{k}} - y\right) dG(y) = G\left(\frac{c_{k}x}{n_{k}}\right) \quad (k = \overline{1, r}), \tag{3.1}$$

and therefore the joint service times c.p.d. for the calls are

$$B(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{P}\{X_k \le x_k, \ k = \overline{1, r}\} = \prod_{1 \le k \le r} G\left(\frac{c_k x}{n_k}\right).$$

#### 4 The Model Investigation

Consider the stochastic process

$$\mathbf{Z}(t) = \left\{ \mathbf{N}(t), \ \mathbf{X}_k(t), \ \mathbf{Y}_k(t); \ k = 1, r \right\}$$

744

under the set space for  $t \ge 0$ 

$$\mathcal{E} = \left\{ 0 \le x_{k,i_k} \le y_{k,i_k} < \infty \ (i_k = \overline{1, n_k}, k = \overline{1, r}) \right\},\$$

where

 $\mathbf{N}(t) = (N_1, \dots, N_k(t), \dots, N_r(t))$  is the random vector of calls at each node;  $\mathbf{X}_k(t) = (X_{k,1}, \dots, X_{k,n_k})$  is the vector of remained service times of calls at the *k*-th node ( $k = \overline{1, r}$ );  $\mathbf{Y}_k(t) = (Y_{k,1}, \dots, Y_{k,n_k})$  is the vector of initial service times of calls at the *k*-th

 $\mathbf{T}_{k}(t) = (T_{k,1}, \dots, T_{k,n_k})$  is the vector of initial service times of cans at the *k*-th node (k = 1, r - 1) arranged in the same order as vector  $\mathbf{X}_{k}(t)$ .

Denote by

 $\pi(t; \mathbf{z}) = \pi(t; \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$  the probability density function (p.d.f.) of the process  $\mathbf{Z}(t)$ ,  $\mathbf{e}_k = (0, \dots, 0, 1, 0, \dots, 0)$  the vector, which *k*-th component equals 1, while others equal 0,

 $\mathbf{x}_{k,i} = (x_{k,1}, \dots, x_{k,i-1}, x_{k,i+1}, \dots, x_{k,n})$  the vector, in which *i*-th component is eliminated,

 $\mathbf{x}_i(k, y) = (x_{k,1}, \dots, x_{k,i-1}, y, x_{k,i+1}, \dots, x_{k,n})$  the vector, to which additional value *y* is added at *i*-th place, while others move at the next positions,

and introduce operators  $A_{(k,i)}$ ,  $T_{(k,i,j)}$ ,  $D_{(i)}$  in the system state space corresponding to

arrival of call at *i*-th position of the *k*-th node,

service completions of call, being in i-th position at the k-th node and its transmission to the j-th position of the next one, and

service completions of call from *i*-th position of the last node and its leaving the system.

Formally these operators can be represented by the following relations:

$$A_{(k,i)}\mathbf{z}(y) = (\mathbf{n} + \mathbf{e}_k, \mathbf{x}_{k,i}(y), \mathbf{y}_{k,i}(y));$$
  

$$T_{(k,i,j)}\mathbf{z} = (\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{e}_k + \mathbf{e}_{k+1}, \mathbf{x}_{k,i}^-, \mathbf{x}_{k+1,j}(y_{k,i}), \mathbf{y}_{k+1,i}^-(y_{k,i}));$$
  

$$D_{(i)}\mathbf{z} = (\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{e}_r, \mathbf{x}_{r,i}^-).$$

**Theorem 1** If the p.d.fs.  $\pi(t; \mathbf{z}) = \pi(t; \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$  of the process  $\mathbf{Z}(t)$  are differentiable with respect to all its arguments in the set  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{E}$  for  $t \ge 0$ , then they satisfies to the following Kolmogorov system of differential equations

$$\frac{\partial \pi(t, \mathbf{z})}{\partial t} - \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r, \\ 1 \le i_k \le n_k}} \frac{1}{n_k} \frac{\partial \pi(t, \mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{k, i_k}} + \Lambda \pi(t, \mathbf{z})$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r, \\ 1 \le i_k \le n_k}} \frac{\Lambda_k}{n_k} \pi\left(t; A_{(k, i_k)}^{-1} \mathbf{z}\right) + \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r-1, \\ 1 \le i_k \le n_k, \\ 1 \le i_k + 1 \le n_{k+1} + 1}} \frac{1}{n_k(n_{k+1} + 1)} \pi\left(t, T_{(k, i_k, i_{k+1})}^{-1} \mathbf{z}\right)$$

V. Vishnevsky and V. Rykov

$$+\frac{1}{n_r+1}\sum_{1\le i_r\le n_r}\pi(t, D_{(r,i)}^{-1}\mathbf{z})$$
(4.1)

while the initial conditions in terms of Dirac  $\delta$ -function are

$$\pi(0; \mathbf{z}) \equiv \pi\left(0; (\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})\right) = \delta_{(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{0})}(t)\delta(\mathbf{x})\delta(\mathbf{y}) \quad (\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{E}).$$
(4.2)

*Proof* The proof uses the usual argumentations based on complete probability formulae, Markov property of the process and connection of the process p.d.f. in times t and t + h for small h, when it tends to zero.

For the Harris irreducible process [24] the following corollary holds.

**Corollary 2** If the process  $\mathbf{Z}(t)$  is Harris irreducible one, then these equations have a unique solution that with  $t \to \infty$  converges to the solution of stationary regime, which p.d.fs. for  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{E}$  satisfy the following system of equations

$$\Lambda \pi(\mathbf{z}) - \frac{1}{n_r + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_r \le n_r}} \pi \left( D_{(r,i)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right) \\
= \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r, \\ 1 \le i_k \le n_k}} \frac{1}{n_k} \frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{k,i_k}} + \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r}} \frac{\Lambda_k}{n_k} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_k \le n_k}} \pi \left( A_{(k,i_k)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right) \\
+ \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le r - 1, \\ 1 \le i_k \le n_{k+1}}} \frac{1}{n_k (n_{k+1} + 1)} \pi \left( T_{(k,i_k,i_{k+1})}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right).$$
(4.3)

By the simple substitution the following theorem is proved

**Theorem 3** The functions

$$\pi(\mathbf{z}) = C \prod_{1 \le k \le r-1} \Lambda_k^{n_k} \prod_{1 \le i \le n_k} \Theta(y_{k,i} - x_{k,i}) b_k(y_{k,i}) \times \lambda_r^{n_r} \prod_{1 \le i \le n_r} \left(1 - B_r(x_{r,i})\right)$$

$$(4.4)$$

with some constant C are the solution of Eq. (4.3) and therefore represent an invariant measure of the process  $\mathbf{Z}(t)$ .

At last integration with respect to all admissible continuous variables and calculation of the constant C gives in terms of calls size the final macro-states distribution.

**Corollary 4** The macro-states distribution of the process has the product form

$$\pi(\mathbf{n}) = \prod_{1 \le k \le r} (1 - \rho_k) \rho_k^{n_k}$$
(4.5)

with  $\rho_k = \frac{A_k m}{r c_k}$  and  $m = \mathbf{E}V = \int (1 - G(x)) dx$ .

# **5** Proof the Theorem

In order to omit the long and cumbersome calculation we prove the theorem only for the case of simple tandem system for r = 2. In this case the system is described by the stochastic process  $\mathbf{Z}(t) = {\mathbf{N}(t), \mathbf{X}_k(t), \mathbf{Y}_k(t); k = 1, 2}$  for  $t \ge 0$  under the set space

$$\mathcal{E} = \left\{ 0 \le x_{1,i_1} \le y_{i_1} < \infty \ (i_1 = \overline{1, n_1}), 0 \le x_{2,i_1} < \infty \ (i_2 = \overline{1, n_2}) \right\}$$

and Eqs. (4.1) take the form

$$\frac{\partial \pi(t; \mathbf{z})}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{n_1} \sum_{1 \le i_1 \le n_1} \frac{\partial \pi(t; \mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{1, i_1}} - \frac{1}{n_2} \sum_{1 \le i_2 \le n_2} \frac{\partial \pi(t; \mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{2, i_2}} + \lambda \pi(\mathbf{z})$$

$$= \frac{1}{n_1} \sum_{1 \le i_1 \le n_1} \lambda \pi(t; A_{(i_1)}^{-1} \mathbf{z}(y_{i_1})) + \frac{1}{n_2(n_1 + 1)} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le i_2 \le n_2}} \pi(t; T_{(i_1, i_2)}^{-1} \mathbf{z})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{n_2 + 1} \sum_{1 \le i_2 \le n_2} \pi(D_{(i_2)}^{-1} t; \mathbf{z})$$
(5.1)

while Eqs. (4.3) for the stationary regime are

$$-\frac{1}{n_{1}}\sum_{1\leq i_{1}\leq n_{1}}\frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{1,i_{1}}} - \frac{1}{n_{2}}\sum_{1\leq i_{2}\leq n_{2}}\frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{2,i_{2}}} + \lambda \pi(\mathbf{z})$$

$$=\frac{1}{n_{1}}\sum_{1\leq i_{1}\leq n_{1}}\lambda \pi(t; A_{(i_{1})}^{-1}\mathbf{z}(y_{i_{1}})) + \frac{1}{n_{2}(n_{1}+1)}\sum_{\substack{1\leq i_{1}\leq n_{1}+1, \\ 1\leq i_{2}\leq n_{2}}}\pi(t; T_{(i_{1},i_{2})}^{-1}\mathbf{z})$$

$$+\frac{1}{n_{2}+1}\sum_{1\leq i_{2}\leq n_{2}}\pi(D_{(i_{2})}^{-1}t; \mathbf{z}).$$
(5.2)

By the simple substitution the following theorem is proved.

**Theorem 5** *The functions* 

$$\pi(\mathbf{z}) = C\lambda^n \prod_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le i_2 \le n_2}} \Theta(y_{i_1} - x_{1,i_1}) b_1(y_{i_1}) (1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2}))$$
(5.3)

with some constant C are the solution of Eq. (5.2) and therefore represent an invariant measure of the process  $\mathbf{Z}(t)$ .

*Proof* In order to simplify the proof rewrite the last equation in the form

$$\lambda \pi(\mathbf{z}) - \frac{1}{n_2 + 1} \sum_{1 \le i_2 \le n_2 + 1} \pi \left( D_{(i_2)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{n_1} \sum_{1 \le i_1 \le n_1} \left[ \frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{1,i_1}} + \lambda \pi \left( A_{(i_1)}^{-1} \mathbf{z}(y_{i_1}) \right) \right]$   
+  $\frac{1}{n_2} \sum_{1 \le i_2 \le n_2} \left[ \frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{2,i_2}} + \frac{1}{n_1 + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1, \\ 1 \le i_2 \le n_2}} \pi \left( T_{(i_1,i_2)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right) \right].$  (5.4)

Now each part of this equation equals zero, that shows that for the system some kind of partial balance takes place.

Indeed, the substitution of the functions (5.3) to the left side of Eq. (5.4) gives

$$\lambda \pi(\mathbf{z}) - \frac{C\lambda^{n+1}}{n_2 + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_2 \le n_2 + 1 \\ 1 \le j \ne i_2 \le n_2 + 1}} \prod_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le j \ne i_2 \le n_2 + 1}} \Theta(y_{i_1} - x_{1,i_1}) b_1(y_{i_1}) (1 - B_2(x_{2,j}))$$
$$= \lambda \pi(\mathbf{z}) - \lambda \pi(\mathbf{z}) \frac{1}{n_2 + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_2 \le n_2 + 1 \\ 1 \le i_2 \le n_2 + 1}} 1 = 0.$$

For first summand on the right side of Eq. (5.4) consider expression in brackets

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{1,i_1}} + \lambda \pi \left( t; A_{(i_1)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right) b_1(y_{i_1}) \\ &= -C\lambda^n \delta(y_{i_1} - x_{1,i_1}) b_1(y_{i_1}) \prod_{\substack{1 \le j_1 \ne i_1 \le n_1 - 1, \\ 1 \le j_2 \le n_2}} \mathcal{O}(y_{j_1} - x_{1,j_1}) \left( 1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2}) \right) \\ &+ \lambda C\lambda^{n-1} \prod_{\substack{1 \le j_1 \ne i_1 \le n_1 - 1 \\ 1 \le j_2 \le n_2}} \mathcal{O}(y_{j_1} - x_{1,j_1}) b_1(y_{j_1}) \delta(y_{i_1} - x_{1,i_1}) \left( 1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2}) \right) \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

At last for the last expression it is true

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \pi(\mathbf{z})}{\partial x_{2,i_2}} + \frac{1}{n_1 + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 0 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 1 \le j_1 \le n_1 \le n_1 \le n_1 \le n_1 \le n_1}} \pi \left( T_{(i_1, i_2)}^{-1} \mathbf{z} \right) \\ &= -C\lambda^n \frac{b_2(x_{2,i_2})}{1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2})} \prod_{\substack{1 \le j_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le j_2 \ne i_2 \le n_2 \\ 0 \le n_2 \le n_2}} \Theta(y_{j_1} - x_{1,j_1}) b_1(y_{j_1}) \left( 1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2}) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{n_1 + 1} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 0 \le n_1 \le n_1 + 1 \\ 0 \le n_1 \le n_$$

Automobile System Safety Based on the Model for Stochastic Networks

$$\times \prod_{\substack{1 \le j_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le j_2 \le n_2}} \Theta(y_{j_1} - x_{1,j_1}) b_1(y_{j_1}) (1 - B_2(x_{2,i_2}))$$
  
=  $-\beta_2(x_{2,i_2}) \pi(\mathbf{z}) + \Theta(y_{j_1} - x_{1,j_1}) \beta_2(y_{i_2}) \frac{\pi(\mathbf{z})}{n_1 + 1} \sum_{1 \le i_1 \le n_1 + 1} 1 = 0.$ 

**Corollary 6** Substitution to the formulae (5.3) the expression (3.1) of calls service time distribution in terms of their size gives

$$\pi(\mathbf{z}) = C\lambda^n \prod_{\substack{1 \le i_1 \le n_1, \\ 1 \le i_2 \le n_2}} \Theta(y_{i_1} - x_{1,i_1}) b_1(y_{i_1}) \frac{n_1}{c_1} \left( 1 - G_2\left(\frac{n_2 x_{2,i_2}}{c_2}\right) \right) g_1\left(\frac{n_1 y_{i_1}}{c_1}\right).$$
(5.5)

**Corollary 7** Integration of the previous expression over all admissible values of continuous variables and the constant C calculation gives the macro-state probability distribution

$$\pi(\mathbf{n}) = (1 - \rho_1)(1 - \rho_2)\rho_1^{n_1}\rho_2^{n_2}$$
(5.6)

with

$$\rho_i = \frac{\lambda m}{c_i} (i = \{1, 2\}) \quad and \quad m = \mathbf{E}V = \int (1 - G(x)) dx.$$

## 6 Conclusion

As a model for investigation of the broadband wireless data transmission network aimed automobile transport system safety a tandem-type network with nodes of infinity buffers and processor sharing discipline is proposed. The product-form representation for the steady-state probabilities of the model is found.

The algorithms for the numerical investigations of the model are needed, their computer realization should be done and applied to different concrete situations.

The authors are very grateful to anonymous reviewers, whose remarks was very helpful and promote for the text improvement.

#### References

- 1. J.R. Jackson, Networks of waiting lines. Oper. Res. 5, 518–521 (1957). No. 4
- 2. J.R.J. Job, Shop-like queueing systems. Manag. Sci. 10, 131-142 (1963). No. 1
- 3. W.J. Gordon, G.F. Newell, Closed queueing systems with exponential servers. Oper. Res. 15(2), 254–265 (1967)
- F. Baskett, K.H. Chandy, R.R. Muntz, F.G. Palacios, Open, closed and mixed networks of queues with different classes of customers. J. ACM 22(22), 248–260 (1975)

- 5. F.P. Kelly, Network of queues. Adv. Appl. Probab. 8, 416–432 (1976). No. 2
- 6. F.P. Kelly, Reversibility and Stochastic Networks (Wiley, Chichester, 1979)
- G.P. Basharin, A.L. Tolmachev, Queueing networks theory and their applications to the analysis of computer communication systems, in *Itogi Nauki Techniki. Teoria Veroatn. Matem. Statist. Techn. Kibern. M.: VINITI*, vol. 21 (1983), pp. 3–120
- M.Ya. Kelbert, Yu.M. Sukhov, Mathematical problems of the network theory with queues, in *Itogi Nauki Techniki. Teoria Veroatn. Matem. Statist. Techn. Kibern. M.: VINITI*, vol. 26 (1988), pp. 3–96
- 9. R.J. Boucherie, Product Form in Queueing Networks (Thesis Publishers, Amsterdam, 1992)
- 10. N.M. van Dijk, *Queueing Networks and Product Forms. A System Approach* (Wiley, New York, 1993)
- 11. R. Serfozo, Introduction to Stochastic Networks (Springer, New York, 1999). 300 pp.
- 12. V. Vishnevsky, Encyclopedia of WiMAX. Way to 4G (Technospera, Moscow, 2009). 472 pp.
- R.L. Dobrushin, Yu.M. Sukhov, Asymptotic investigation of star-type networks with message commutation and large number of lines. Probl. Inf. Transm. 12, 70–94 (1976). No. 1
- M.Ya. Kelbert, Yu.M. Sukhov, On a class of star-type communication networks with package commutation. Probl. Inf. Transm. 15, 53–72 (1979). No. 4
- J.M. Harrison, A.J. Lemoin, Note on networks on infinity server queues. J. Appl. Probab. 18, 561–567 (1981). No. 2
- A.L. Tolmachev, Queueing network with regenerative service mechanism. Probl. Inf. Transm. 22, 59–68 (1986). No. 2 (in Russian)
- V.V. Rykov, Two approach to decomposition of the complex hierarchical stochastic systems. Continuously interacting subsystems. Autom. Remote Control 10, 91–104 (1997)
- V.V. Rykov, Two approach to decomposition of the complex hierarchical stochastic systems. Aggregative interacting systems. Autom. Remote Control 12, 140–149 (1997)
- V.V. Rykov, On decomposition of hierarchical computer communication network. Appl. Math. Inform. 2, 110–125 (1996)
- A.V. Pechinkin, V.V. Rykov, On product form for open queuing systems with dependent service times, in *Proceedings of the International Workshop* (IPPI, Moscow, 1998), pp. 34–48
- A.V. Pechinkin, V.V. Rykov, On decomposition of closed networks with dependent service times. Autom. Remote Control 60, 1568–1576 (1999). No. 11
- A.V. Pechinkin, V.V. Rykov, Product form for open queueing networks with dependent service times, in *Proceedings of the International Conference: Distributed Computer Communication Networks.* Theory and Applications (Institute for Information Transmission Problems RAS, Moscow, 1997), pp. 171–178
- V.M. Vishnevsky, A new generation of safety systems on roads and their applications in intellectual transport systems. Inf. Technol. Comput. Syst. 4, 17–26 (2013) (in Russian)
- 24. D. Revuz, Markov Chains (North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984)

# Part XIV Applied Mathematics

Organizer: Siarhei Bosiakov

# Damage Prediction of the Femur with Postresection Defect

S. Bosiakov, D. Alekseev, and I. Shpileuski

**Abstract** The aim of this study is to develop an approach to assessing the strength of the femur after sectoral resection in cases of benign bone tumors, tumor-like and metastatic lesions. The proposed approach is based on the finite element calculation of dangerous volumes in the area of bone defect. Load is static and equivalent to average human weight. Model of the femur is based on tomographic data. Postresection defect is localized in the middle third of the lateral side of the femur. As a conditions for the selection of dangerous volume fracture criterion Coulomb–Mohr is used. The analysis of damage near the concentrators of the bone defect is carried out for different loads. The domain of the bone defect with the largest damage is determined. For concentrators of the postresection hole the emergence and growth of crack is considered as a change of the dangerous volume with taking account the removal of the damaged finite elements. The ranges of the load corresponding to the various cases of damage development are determined. Three options to compensate for bone strength and the prevention the pathological bone fracture after sectoral resection are suggested.

**Keywords** Femur · Benign bone tumors · Tumor-like lesions · Metastatic lesion · Sectoral resection · Failure criterion · Damage prediction · Finite element modeling

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 99Z99 · Secondary 00A00

S. Bosiakov (⊠) · D. Alekseev Belarusian State University, Nezavisimosti ave. 4, 220030 Minsk, Belarus e-mail: bosiakov@bsu.by

D. Alekseev e-mail: onardeon@gmail.com

I. Shpileuski

State Institution "Republican Scientific and Practical Centre for Traumatology and Orthopedics", Kizhevatova str., 60/4, 220024 Minsk, Belarus e-mail: ihar760@gmail.com



**Fig. 1** Scheme of sectoral resection: (**a**) is the fragment of cortical bone before resection (1 is the lesion, 2 is the line of excision of the bone); (**b**) is the fragment of cortical bone after resection (3 is the postresection defect)

## **1** Introduction

The leading method of treatment of the benign bone tumors, tumor-like and metastatic lesions in tubular bones is the surgical removal of the pathological focus within intact bone. Thus there is formed a sectoral bone defect that leads to a reduction its strength. Figure 1 shows a schematic diagram of sectoral bone resection.

Functional capabilities of the limb and quality of life after the operation are reduced significantly because there is a risk of pathologic bone fracture on the level of the resection. A review of research on the development of criteria for predicting of fractures of the bone with defects and of intact bone, shows that for this purpose finite element modeling, X-ray computed tomography or routine radiography are used. In particular, on basis a retrospective analysis of radiographs of patients with a high probability of pathological fracture and with actually fracture an approach for predicting fractures in trochanteric region of femur with metastatic lesion is suggested [1]. In a study [2] on the basis of subject-specific finite element analysis the torsional stiffness and strain energy density for femora the ratio for the torque at which the fracture occurs in the vicinity of the defect or post-resection of metastatic lesions is determined. In [3] it was proposed to predict fractures in the neighborhood of metastatic lesions on the basis of plastic strains. The method of predicting of pathologic fracture after sectoral resection based on the direct use of quantitative computed tomography is presented in study [4]. When predicting the pathologic fractures of long bones with post-resection defects and other lesions much attention is paid to the principal and the equivalent (von Mises) stresses. Results obtained in this direction are presented in [5, 6]. In [7] the use the factors of safety is proposed. They are defined as the ratio of the allowable to the computed stress or strain according to a particular failure theory, were computed for each element using several failure theories. Values of safety factors are determined for each of the finite elements. The coefficient of less than one indicates the damage of the corresponding



element and allows to predict the location and nature of the fracture. Direct measurement of the volume of damaged finite elements for assessing the strength of the distal radius and proximal femur is proposed in [8–10]. In these studies, the element is considered damaged if certain strength criteria are not carried out. The advantage of this approach is not only the ability to predict occurrence of cracks or fracture, but also the possibility of determining the location and nature of the fracture. This study develops this topical direction. The aim is to research on the basis the finite element method the damage femur with postresection defect localized in the middle third.

#### 2 Modeling

Computed tomography of the femur is performed on the spiral X-ray CT Siemens Somatom Emotion 16, step of slice is 2 mm. Development of three-dimensional solid model of the femur carried out using a computer system processing of medical images ScanIP (Simpleware Ltd., UK). STL-model converted into a solid model using CAD-package CATIA V5 (Dassault Systémes, France). Postresection defect is constructed after importing model in ANSYS 14.0 (ANSYS Inc., USA). Hole is localized in the middle third of the femur and is positioned on its medial surface. Defect length along the axis of the bone is 2d (d is a diameter of the median surface of the bone at the level of the defect). The angular size of the defect is equals to  $180^{\circ}$ .

Static load is directed along the biomechanical axis if the femur extending from the upper pole of the femoral head to the middle of the segment between the extreme points of the articular surfaces of the femoral condyles. Load zone corresponds to a contact region of the femoral head with the roof of the acetabulum. The lower regions of the femoral condyles (contact areas with the condyles of the tibia and meniscus) are rigidly fixed. The application of the load, its direction and embedded region of the femur condyles are shown in Fig. 2. Bone tissue modeled by homogeneous isotropic medium. The elastic modulus is 13.7 GPa, Poisson's ratio is 0.3 (the constants of elasticity correspond to compact bone [11]).

#### **3** Definition of Damage

According to the model of the body with a dangerous volume the damage is determined by the volume of the material with a critical level of stresses therein [12]. As a criterion for limiting the dangerous volume in region of postresection hole Coulomb–Mohr failure theory has been used [10, 13]:

$$\frac{\sigma_1 - \sigma_3}{\sigma_{vc}} \ge 1,$$

where  $\sigma_1 \ge \sigma_2 \ge \sigma_3$  are principal stresses;  $\sigma_{yc} = E\varepsilon_{yc}$  is limit of strength for compressed compact bone tissue;  $\varepsilon_{yc}$  is the limit compressive deformation (for compact bone  $\varepsilon_{yc} = 0.0154$  [10]).

#### 4 Assessment of Damage

Analysis of the damage in the region of bone defect is carried out under a load of 0.55 kN to 1.0 kN. Finite element calculation of the stress-strain state was performed in several stages, to trace the development of dangerous volumes. At the first stage determined the  $\psi = \frac{(\sigma_1 - \sigma_3)}{\sigma_{yc}}$  value for the four concentrators of postresection hole. The next step of calculating is removing the finite elements, for which inequality  $\psi \ge 1$  is performed. After that the finite element calculation of model is carried out under the same boundary conditions, and dangerous volumes are determined in the vicinity of each concentrator. Dangerous volumes are removed again, and finite element calculation is repeated. Discrete model of femur with designations of concentrators, as well as the visualization of dangerous volumes at various steps of the calculation are shown in Fig. 3.

We note that the finite-element partition has been carried out in semi-automatic mode. The finite element mesh is tetrahedral, the maximum size of finite element edge is 5 mm (see Fig. 3a). The number of elements in the model is 101246, number of nodes is 146290, the element type is Solid187. In the neighborhood of concentrators 1–4 maximum of the edge finite element is 0.5 mm (see Fig. 3a). Figure 4 shows the change of the dangerous volumes under various loads for five consistent stages of the finite element calculation.

Figure 4 also shows that at the first stage of the calculation the largest dangerous volumes are observed in the vicinity of the first, second and fourth hubs. At subsequent stages of calculation the dangerous volume to a greater extent increases near of the concentrator 4 as compared with the concentrators 1, 2 and 3. This allows to conclude that the fracture in the femur, primarily occurs in the concentrator 4 of

Damage Prediction of the Femur



the bone defect. In descending order of magnitudes of dangerous volumes after concentrator 4 follows concentrators 1 or 2 (depending on the step of the finite element calculation). Smallest dangerous volume at any load observed near the third concentrator. Taking this into account it can be concluded that the fracture will propagate in a direction away from the concentrator 4 to the concentrator 1.

## 4.1 Discussion and Conclusions

At various stages of the finite element calculation the dangerous volumes are changed differently depending on the load (see, for example, Figs. 3a and 3d). Figure 3a shows that the dangerous volume decreases with sequential removal of elements for which an inequality  $\psi \ge 1$  is carried out. A similar behavior of dangerous volume is observed at the load of 600 N and 650 N. At a load of 550 N the dangerous volumes are not occurs. With increase of the load (750 N to 1000 N) the dangerous volumes increase for all concentrators at each stage of the finite element calculation.

Nature of the change dangerous volumes at various stages of the finite element calculation suggests three variants of behavior femur with postresection defect and three variants of recommendations for the patient. If in the neighborhood concentrators do not appear the dangerous volumes from routine human activity in region of the defect don't occur—the fracture will not happen. In this case, unloading regime should be the recommended for the patient. Else, if defect arise near the concentrators of bone the dangerous volumes, but the magnitudes of the volume are decreased at following stages of the calculation with the removal of elements with



**Fig. 4** Dangerous volumes at various stages of the finite-element calculation at the area of bone defect by the action of a static load: (**a**) for 700 N; (**b**) for 800 N; (**c**) for 900 N; (**d**) for 1000 N. The number of concentrator defect is indicated on the *horizontal axis*. The bar chart corresponding to the first step of the calculation is shown on the foreground; the bar chart for the fifth step of the calculation is shown on the background

critical values of  $\psi$ , there is a damage of the femur in the neighborhood of concentrators. Development of damage can be stopped if certain preventive measures are undertake. In this case, the use of means of external immobilization (plaster cast) should be recommended the patient. With increasing of dangerous volumes in the successive stages of the calculation, we assume that the damage will develop even in static position and fracture will arise. In this case, the mandatory bone reinforcement ("preventive osteosynthesis") should be applied to the bone.

Acknowledgement The study was supported the State Committee on Science and Technology of the Republic of Belarus (the project "Development of a mathematical model and the calculation program of strength characteristics of human long bones when performing of sectoral resection").

#### References

- 1. P.D.S. Dijkstra, M. Oudkerk, T. Wiggers, Prediction of pathological subtrochanteric fractures due to metastatic lesions. Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. **116**, 221–224 (1997)
- S. Spruijt, J.C. van der Linden, P.D.S. Dijkstra, T. Wiggers, M. Oudkerk, C.J. Snijders, F. van Keulen, J.A.N. Verhaar, H. Weinans, B.A. Swierstra, Prediction of torsional failure in 22 cadaver femora with and without simulated subtrochanteric metastatic defects. Acta Orthop. Scand. **77**, 474–481 (2006)

- E. Tanck, J.B. van Aken, Y.M. van der Linden, H.W.B. Schreuder, M. Binkowski, H. Huizenga, N. Verdonschot, Pathological fracture prediction in patients with metastatic lesions can be improved with quantitative computed tomography based computer models. Bone 45, 777–783 (2009)
- 4. T. Lee, Predicting failure load of the femur with simulated osteolytic defects using noninvasive imaging technique in a simplified load case. Ann. Biomed. Eng. **35**, 642–650 (2007)
- J.J. Elias, F.J. Frassica, E.Y.S. Chao, The open section effect in a long bone with a longitudinal defect a theoretical modeling study. J. Biomech. 33, 1517–1522 (2000)
- E. Schileo, F. Taddei, L. Cristofolini, M. Viceconti, Subject-specific finite element models implementing a maximum principal strain criterion are able to estimate failure risk and fracture location on human femurs tested in vitro. J. Biomech. 41, 356–367 (2008)
- J.H. Keyak, S.A. Rossi, Prediction of femoral fracture load using finite element models: an examination of stress- and strain-based failure theories. J. Biomech. 33, 209–214 (2000)
- W. Pistoia, B. van Rietbergen, E.-M. Lochmüller, C.A. Lill, F. Eckstein, P. Rüegsegger, Estimation of distal radius failure load with micro-finite element analysis models based on threedimensional peripheral quantitative computed tomography images. Bone 30, 842–848 (2002)
- J.H. Keyak, S.A. Rossi, K.A. Jones, H.B. Skinner, Prediction of femoral fracture load using automated finite element modeling. J. Biomech. 31, 125–133 (1998)
- W.B. Edwards, K.L. Troy, Finite element prediction of surface strain and fracture strength at the distal radius. Med. Eng. Phys. 34, 290–298 (2012)
- K. Tanne, M. Sakuda, Biomechanical and clinical changes of the craniofacial complex from orthopedic maxillary protraction. Angle Orthod. 61, 145–152 (1991)
- 12. L.A. Sosnovskiy, Tribo-Fatigue. Wear-Fatigue Damage and Its Prediction (Foundations of Engineering Mechanics) (Springer, Berlin, 2004)
- M. Doblaré, J.M. Garñía, M.J. Gómez, Modelling bone tissue fracture and healing: a review. Eng. Fract. Mech. 71, 1809–1840 (2004)
## **Representative Elements for Polydispersed Composites**

Natalia Rylko

**Abstract** Effective properties of random 2D composites are discussed in the framework of the representative volume element (RVE) theory proposed by Mityushev (Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 51:1033–1045 2006). This theory is extended to 2D fiber composites with sections perpendicular to fibers of different radii. The RVE theory is applied to the mixture problem arisen in technological processes.

Keywords Representative volume element · Random composite

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 74Q99

#### 1 Introduction

The physical properties of composites can be determined by measurement of macroscopic properties of testing specimen. Analogous to experimental investigations computational methods are used in theoretical study of the specimen which represent the entire material. If inclusions or pores are distributed statistically homogeneous in the bulk material, the effective properties are described by constant tensors [1]. The macroscopic tensors do not depend on the size, shape of the chosen specimen or on boundary conditions [2, 9]. These tensors can be determined via solution of the periodic problem when the periodicity cell represents the material under consideration. This concerns also statistically homogeneous media when a cell represents the macroscopic properties of the random media not necessary periodic [7, 9, 18]. Such media constitute a subclass of heterogeneous fields discussed in [11, 15, 17] and functionally gradient materials [8].

Statistically homogeneous media defined in [7, 9, 18] can be represented by a cell which is called by the representative volume element (RVE). Statistical methods to construct RVEs have been described in details in [10] and have been developing in many recent papers, see for instance [16] and works cited therein. The statistical

N. Rylko (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Department of Technology, Pedagogical University, ul. Podchorazych 2, Krakow 30-084, Poland e-mail: nrylko@up.krakow.pl

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_83

methods are based on the overall testing process. For dispersed two phase composites with identical inclusions, the number of particles contained in a sample is increased and the effective constants can be computed by numerically [19]. The process of increasing is stopped when the fluctuations of the effective constants become sufficiently small. The number of particles 64 per cell frequently arises in literature [19] as a sufficiently large number for the non-overlapping uniform distribution of inclusions. Analytical and numerical results [4, 5] rigorously confirm this fact.

Numerical methods [19] are restricted by special distributions of inclusions. The properties of constitutes are also given numerically. These difficulties were overcame in [13] where a rigorous and constructive theory of the RVE for plane composites with identical circular inclusions was described. The RVE theory for identical disks [13] is based on the representation of the effective conductivity tensor [3] and [12] in the form of a double series on the concentration of inclusions and on "basic elements" which depend only on the locations of the inclusions. These basic elements are written in terms of the Eisenstein series. Coefficients in the double series depend on the physical properties of constitutes. Two composites were defined as equivalent if they have the same basic elements. Therefore, the set of the composites with circular identical inclusions into classes of equivalence determined only by geometrical structure of the composite. In each class of equivalence a composite having the minimal size cell is chosen. This cell is called the representative cell [13] of equivalent composite materials. A constructive algorithm to determine the representative cell for any distribution of inclusions using only pure geometrical parameters was described in [13]. Examples presented in [13] yield quick transformations from cells to the representative cell of small size. This can be used in optimal computations of the macroscopic properties by applications of the numerical and analytical methods.

In the present paper, we extend the RVE theory [13] to 2D polydispersed composites with circular inclusions. The results can be applied to the mixture problem which can be outlined as follows. Take many particles, put them in a vessel and stir. There are the original and final locations of particles in the vessel. The mixture problem consists in the process to reach the required mixture. Here, we arrive at the questions how to measure the macroscopic thermal and mechanical properties of the mixture during the process. It can be done by expensive experiments. The RVE theory yields a simple method to solve this mixture problem.

#### 2 2D RVE Theory

Following [13] we develop the RVE theory to disks of different radii. Consider 2D two-component composite made from a collection of non-overlapping disks embedded in an otherwise matrix. It is assumed that the distribution  $\mathcal{R}$  of the radii of the disks  $r_k$  is given and it does not depend on the locations of the disks. The centers of disks satisfies a distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  corresponding to a non-overlapping disks distribution on the plane. The distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  formally does not depend on the radii

**Fig. 1** Section of the polydispersed fibrous composite



distribution  $\mathcal{R}$ . But the choice of the distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  is restricted by  $\mathcal{R}$ . This situation can be demonstrated by the following observation. For identical disks of radius r the distance between any two centers must exceed 2r.

It is assumed that the distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  generates a random homogeneous field [7, 9, 18] for which the macroscopic properties are correctly defined. One of the most important distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  is the non-overlapping uniform distribution  $\mathcal{U}$  which corresponds to the perfect mixture of inclusions. The distribution  $\mathcal{U}$  can be realized by the sequence location method or by random walks described in [4]. Other distributions are described in the book [17] in terms of the correlation functions. In the present paper, we do not discuss the question of the statistical generation of the theoretical distributions and assume that realizations of  $\mathcal{A}$  are given in the form of the pares ( $\mathbf{a}_k, r_k$ ) where  $\mathbf{a}_k = (x_k, y_k)$  denotes the center and  $r_k$  the radius of the *k*th inclusion. Further, it will be convenient to identify  $\mathbf{a}_k$  to the complex number  $a_k = x_k + iy_k$  (see Fig. 1).

According to the homogenization theory there exist a periodicity cell with a finite number of inclusions representing the composite. First, we describe parameters of this cell. Consider a lattice Q on the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  which is defined by two fundamental translation vectors  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$ . Without loss of generality we assume that  $\omega_1 > 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im} \omega_2 > 0$  where Im stands for the imaginary part. Introduce the zero-th cell  $Q_0 := \{z \in \mathbb{C} : z = t_1\omega_1 + t_2\omega_2 - 1/2 < t_{1,2} < 1/2\}$ . The lattice Q is generated by the cells  $Q_m := \{z \in \mathbb{C} : z - m_1\omega_1 - m_2\omega_2 \in Q_0\}$  where  $m = m_1 + im_2$  denote complex numbers with integers  $m_1$  and  $m_2$ .

Let  $C_N$  denote the set of the elements  $(a_k, r_k)$ , k = 1, 2, ..., N, where the radii  $r_k$  satisfies the distribution  $\mathcal{R}$  and the centers  $a_k$  correspond to the non-overlapping uniformly distributed disks in a cell  $Q_0$ . Introduce the set  $\mathcal{C} = \bigcup_{N=N_0}^{\infty} C_N$  with suf-

ficiently large  $N_0$ . Actually, the number  $N_0$  gives the size of the minimal representative set  $C_{N_0}$ . The set C consists of all the configurations of mutually disjoint disks uniformly distributed on the plane whose radii satisfy the distribution  $\mathcal{R}$ . It is worth noting that C describes random locations of disks on the plane. In practical measurements, we observe finite fragments of C. If these fragments represent the considered material, it is possible to statistically recover the distributions  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$ . The radii distribution  $\mathcal{R}$  can be easily constructed since it describes a 1D random variable. The 2D distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  is theoretically described by correlation functions [17]. But we do not follow [17] and consider  $\mathcal{A}$  as a set of the given center coordinates  $a_k$ (measured and statistically presented). In particular, the 2D concentration of inclusions  $\phi_2$  can be measured. Theoretically, the 2D concentration  $\phi_2$  can be considered as the mean value

$$\phi_2 = \frac{1}{|Q|} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \pi r_k^2, \qquad (2.1)$$

where |Q| stands for the area of the domain Q.

According to the theory [13] we have to compare two different representative elements of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Consider a large fundamental region Q' constructed by the fundamental translation vectors  $\omega'_1$  and  $\omega'_2$ . Let Q' contains N' non-overlapping circular disks  $D'_k$  of radius  $r'_k$  with the centers  $a'_k \in Q'$  (k = 1, 2, ..., N') representing the distributions  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\widehat{A'}$  be the effective tensor of the composite represented by the region Q' with inclusions  $D'_k$ . Let the cell Q' corresponds to another small cell Q which contains inclusions  $D_k = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - a_k| < r_k\}$  (k = 1, 2, ..., N) also representing the distributions  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  such that an effective tensor  $\widehat{A}$  close to  $\widehat{A'}$ . Closeness is defined by the concentration accuracy  $O(\phi_2^{L+1})$  for the difference  $\Delta \widehat{A} = \widehat{A} - \widehat{A'}$  with prescribed L. According to [13] the cell Q is a representative cell for the region Q' with the accuracy  $O(\phi_2^{L+1})$  if

$$\Delta \widehat{\Lambda} = O\left(\phi_2^{L+1}\right). \tag{2.2}$$

Let a representative cell Q has the minimal possible area from all the representative cells equivalent to Q'. This cell is called the RVE [13]. The existence of the RVE is evident since in the worst case one can take Q = Q'. The numerical statistical methods [10] are also based on the relation (2.2). Since  $\phi_2$  is fixed in numerical computations, (2.2) becomes  $\Delta \widehat{\Lambda} \approx 0$ .

Instead of (2.2) Mityushev [13] proposed to compare the basic elements of the expansion of the effective tensor. These basic elements are introduced as follows. Let a cell Q contains N inclusions with centers  $a_k$ . Let  $E_m(z)$  denote the Eisenstein function of order m (see for instance Appendix A to [4]). Let C denote the operator of complex conjugation which is identical for even q, i.e.,  $\mathbf{C}^q z = z$  and  $\mathbf{C}^q z = \mathbf{C} z = \overline{z}$  for odd q.

The following sum of multi-order  $(m_1, \ldots, m_q)$  were introduced by Mityushev [13]

$$e_{m_1\dots m_q} := \left(\frac{\pi}{\phi_2}\right)^{[1+\frac{1}{2}(m_1+\dots+m_q)]} \sum_{k_0k_1\dots k_q} r_{k_0}^2 r_{k_1}^{2t_1} \dots r_{k_q}^{2t_q} E_{m_1}(a_{k_0}-a_{k_1})$$
$$\times \overline{E_{m_2}(a_{k_1}-a_{k_2})} \dots \mathbf{C}^q E_{m_q}(a_{k_{q-1}}-a_{k_q}), \tag{2.3}$$

where  $k_s = 1, 2, ..., N$  (s = 0, 1, ..., q),  $t_0 = 1$  and  $t_s = m_s - t_{s-1}$ . We call<sup>1</sup> (2.3) by *M*-sum of order ( $m_1, ..., m_q$ ). For instance, the *M*-sum of order (2, 2) has the form

$$e_{22} := \left(\frac{\pi}{\phi_2}\right)^3 \sum_{k_0, k_1, k_2} r_{k_0}^2 r_{k_1}^2 r_{k_2}^2 E_2(a_{k_0} - a_{k_1}) \overline{E_2(a_{k_1} - a_{k_2})}.$$
 (2.4)

It is justified in [13] that the effective conductivity tensor for 2D composites can be presented in the form of the power series on the total concentration  $\phi_2$  with coefficients linearly depending on  $e_{m_1...m_q}$ . In order to obtain the effective elastic tensor one has to add to the *M*-sums analogous sums when the Eisenstein functions are replaced by quasi-elliptic functions introduced in Appendix 2 of the book [6]. However, the quasi-elliptic functions are expressed via the Eisenstein functions by algebraic equations [6]. Therefore, it is sufficient to consider only the *M*-sums (2.3) for elastic media. Not all the *M*-sums participate in the effective tensor. For instance, the effective conductivity up to  $O(\phi_2^5)$  contains eight *M*-sums:  $e_2$ ,  $e_{22}$ ,  $e_{33}$ ,  $e_{222}$ ,  $e_{44}$ ,  $e_{322}$ ,  $e_{223}$ ,  $e_{2222}$ . For macroscopically isotropic composites  $e_2 = \pi$  and many other *M*-sums are dependent [14]. This reduces the number of the basic elements to achieve the accuracy  $O(\phi_2^4)$  to the following four *M*-sums:

$$e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{2222}, e_{44}.$$
 (2.5)

The *M*-sum (2, 2) can be calculated by (2.4). Explicit form of other *M*-sums (2.5) is given by the following formulae

$$e_{33} = \left(\frac{\pi}{\phi_2}\right)^4 \sum_{k_0, k_1, k_2} r_{k_0}^2 r_{k_1}^4 r_{k_2}^2 E_3(a_{k_0} - a_{k_1}) \overline{E_3(a_{k_1} - a_{k_2})}, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$e_{2222} = \left(\frac{1}{\phi_2}\right) \sum_{k_0, k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4} r_{k_0}^2 r_{k_1}^2 r_{k_2}^2 r_{k_3}^2 r_{k_4}^2 \times E_2(a_{k_0} - a_{k_1}) \overline{E_2(a_{k_1} - a_{k_2})} E_2(a_{k_2} - a_{k_3}) \overline{E_2(a_{k_3} - a_{k_4})}, \quad (2.7)$$

$$e_{44} = \left(\frac{\pi}{\phi_2}\right)^5 \sum_{k_0, k_1, k_2} r_{k_0}^2 r_{k_1}^6 r_{k_2}^2 E_4(a_{k_0} - a_{k_1}) \overline{E_4(a_{k_1} - a_{k_2})}.$$
 (2.8)

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>M$ -sum is short for Mityushev's sum.

*Remark* The *M*-sums (2.3), in particular (2.5), can be considered as the moments of the correlation functions [17]. Hence, the RVE theory [13] implicitly uses the correlation functions and do not requires their explicit computations.

#### **3** Conclusion

In the present paper, we extend the RVE theory [13] to 2D composites with different circular inclusions. This theory can be applied to solution of the mixture problem. Namely, one can check, whether the M-sums (2.5) coincide with the theoretical ones computed in [4, 5]. If they do coincide with an appropriate accuracy, one can say that the inclusions are well stirred in the host.

One can investigate by the same method composites with inclusions having other shapes and compare the obtained M-sums with the corresponding theoretical M-sums which can be computed by methods presented in [4, 5]. This idea was presented and justified in [13].

#### References

- P.M. Adler, J.-F. Thovert, V.V. Mouvzenko, *Fractured Porous Media* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2012)
- N.S. Bakhvalov, G.P. Panasenko, *Homogenization: Averaging Processes in Periodic Media* (Nauka, Moscow, 1989) (in Russian); English transl. (Kluwer, Dordrecht/Boston/London, 1984)
- L. Berlyand, V. Mityushev, Generalized Clausius–Mossotti formula for random composite with circular fibers. J. Stat. Phys. 102, 115–145 (2001)
- 4. R. Czapla, W. Nawalaniec, V. Mityushev, Effective conductivity of random two-dimensional composites with circular non-overlapping inclusions. Comput. Mater. Sci. 63, 118–126 (2012)
- R. Czapla, W. Nawalaniec, V. Mityushev, Simulation of representative volume elements for random 2D composites with circular non-overlapping inclusions. Theor. Appl. Inform. 24, 227–242 (2012)
- 6. E.I. Grigolyuk, L.A. Filshtinsky, *Periodical Piece-Homogeneous Elastic Structures* (Nauka, Moscow, 1991) (in Russian)
- K. Golden, G. Papanicolaou, Bounds for effective parameters of heterogeneous media by analytic continuation. Commun. Math. Phys. 90, 473–491 (1983)
- 8. D. Gross, T. Seelig, *Fracture Mechanics. With an Introduction to Micromechanics*, 2nd edn. (Springer, Berlin, 2011)
- 9. V.V. Jikov, S.M. Kozlov, O.A. Olejnik, *Homogenization of Differential Operators and Integral Functionals* (Springer, Berlin, 1994)
- T. Kanit, S. Forest, I. Galliet, V. Mounoury, D. Jeulin, Determination of the size of the representative volume element for random composites: statistical and numerical approach. Int. J. Solids Struct. 40, 3647–3679 (2003)
- V. Mityushev, Transport properties of two-dimensional composite materials with circular inclusions. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A, Math. Phys. Sci. 455, 2513–2528 (1999)
- V. Mityushev, Transport properties of doubly periodic arrays of circular cylinders and optimal design problems. Appl. Math. Optim. 44, 17–31 (2001)
- V. Mityushev, Representative cell in mechanics of composites and generalized Eisenstein– Rayleigh sums. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 51, 1033–1045 (2006)

- V. Mityushev, N. Rylko, Optimal distribution of the non-overlapping conducting disks. Multiscale Model. Simul. 10, 180–190 (2012)
- V. Mityushev, N. Rylko, Maxwell's approach to effective conductivity and its limitations. Q. J. Mech. Appl. Math. (2013). doi:10.1093/qjmam/hbt003
- M. Ostoja-Starzewski, Stochastic finite elements: where is the physics? Theor. Appl. Mech. 38, 379–396 (2011)
- 17. S. Torquato, Random Heterogeneous Materials: Microstructure and Macroscopic Properties (Springer, New York, 2002)
- J.J. Telega, Stochastic homogenization: convexity and nonconvexity, in *Nonlinear Homogenization and Its Applications to Composites, Polycrystals and Smart Materials*, ed. by P.P. Castañeda, J.J. Telega, B. Gambin. NATO Science Series (Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2004), pp. 305–346
- 19. T.I. Zohdi, P. Wriggers, *An Introduction to Computational Micromechanics*, 2nd printing edn. (Springer, Berlin, 2008)

### **Random Non-overlapping Walks of Disks on the Plane**

Wojciech Nawalaniec

**Abstract** The initial locations of disks on the plane form regular lattice. Random non-overlapping walks of disks approach to the uniform non-overlapping distribution of disks on the plane. The basic *e*-sums are computed in time to describe such a dynamic process within random walks.

**Keywords** *e*-Sums · Representative volume element · Composite material

#### 1 Introduction

Consider two-dimensional two-component periodic composite made from a collection of non-overlapping, identical, circular disks, embedded in a matrix. In accordance with a theory of the representative cells (representative volume elements, RVE), the effective conductivity of disks is expressed in terms of the *e*-sums (see below formula (2.8)). It was established in [4] that the effective conductivity tensor  $\Lambda_e$  of the considered composites has the form of double series on the concentration of inclusions and on "basic elements" which depend only on locations of the inclusions. These basic elements are written in terms of the Eisenstein series. Coefficients in the double series depend on conductivity of constitutes. Two composites are equivalent if expansions of their  $\Lambda_e$  have the same basic elements. Therefore, the set of the composites with circular identical inclusions is divided onto classes of equivalence determined only by geometrical structure of the composite. Each composite is represented by a periodicity cell. In each class of equivalence a composite having the minimal size cell is chosen. This cell is called the representative cell of the considered class of equivalent composites.

This approach was used in [2] to simulate representative volume elements for random 2D composites with circular non-overlapping inclusions. A method of random walks to simulate random locations of inclusions with high concentrations was applied. The initial locations of disks were fixed in various periodical nodes: square,

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

W. Nawalaniec (🖂)

Department of Computer Sciences and Computer Methods, Pedagogical University, ul. Podchorazych 2, Krakow 30-084, Poland e-mail: wnawalaniec@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_84

hexagonal and rectangular. The results showed that lower order *e*-sums which essentially impact on the effective conductivity tensor do not depend on the choice of the original location. But some higher order *e*-sums "remember" the initial location. This yield the hypothesis that the original regular location of inclusions can be restored for dispersed composites produced by stirring. This observation can be explained by the different scales of convergence of the *e*-sums when time of random walks tends to infinity. In the present paper, we consider particular *e*-sums as functions depending on *time* of random walk of disks in plane. Our considerations show the strong relation of *e*-sums to the geometrical structure of composites.

#### 2 General Theory of *e*-Sums

Following [3, 4] we present constructive formulae for the Eisenstein–Rayleigh sums  $S_m$  and the Eisenstein functions  $E_m(z)$  corresponding to lattice Q. Let  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  be the fundamental pair of periods on the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  such that  $\operatorname{Im} \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1} > 0$ . The fundamental parallelogram Q is defined by its vertices  $\pm \frac{\omega_1}{2}$  and  $\pm \frac{\omega_2}{2}$ . Without loss of generality the area of Q can be normalized to one. The points  $m_1\omega_1 + m_2\omega_2$   $(m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z})$  generates a doubly periodic lattice Q. Here,  $\mathbb{Z}$  stands for the set of integer numbers.

The Eisenstein–Rayleigh lattice sums  $S_m$  can be easily calculated through the rapidly convergent series

$$S_2 = \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega_1}\right)^2 \left(\frac{1}{3} - 8\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{mq^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}}\right), \quad \text{where } q = \exp\left(\pi i \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1}\right), \tag{2.1}$$

$$S_4 = 60 \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega_1}\right)^4 \left(\frac{4}{3} + 320 \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{m^3 q^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}}\right),\tag{2.2}$$

$$S_6 = 1400 \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega_1}\right)^6 \left(\frac{8}{27} - \frac{448}{3} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{m^5 q^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}}\right).$$
(2.3)

 $S_{2n}$  ( $n \ge 4$ ) can be calculated by the recurrent formula

$$S_{2n} = \frac{3}{(2n+1)(2n-1)(n-3)} \sum_{m=2}^{n-2} (2m-1)(2n-2m-1)S_{2m}S_{2(n-m)}.$$
 (2.4)

The rest sums vanish.

The Eisenstein functions [5] are related to the Weierstrass function  $\wp(z)$  [1] by the identities

$$E_2(z) = \wp(z) + S_2, \qquad E_m(z) = \frac{(-1)^m}{(m-1)!} \frac{d^{m-2}\wp(z)}{dz^{m-2}}, \quad m = 3, 4, \dots$$
 (2.5)

Every function (2.5) is doubly periodic and has a pole of order *m* at z = 0. The Eisenstein functions of the even order  $E_{2m}(z)$  can be presented in the form of the series [5]

$$E_{2m}(z) = \frac{1}{z^{2m}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sigma_k^{(m)} z^{2(k-1)},$$
(2.6)

where

$$\sigma_k^{(m)} = \frac{(2m+2k-3)!}{(2m-1)!(2k-2)!} S_{2(m+k-1)}.$$
(2.7)

We follow [4] to introduce *e*-sums. Let  $a_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., N) be a set of points. Let *q* be a positive integer;  $k_t$  runs over 1 to N;  $m_j = 2, 3, ...$  Let **C** be the operator of complex conjugation. Introduce the following sum of multi-index ( $m_1, ..., m_a$ )

$$e_{m_1\dots m_q} := N^{-[1+\frac{1}{2}(m_1+\dots+m_q)]} \sum_{k_0k_1\dots k_q} E_{m_1}(a_{k_0}-a_{k_1})$$
$$\times \overline{E_{m_2}(a_{k_1}-a_{k_2})}\dots \mathbb{C}^q E_{m_q}(a_{k_{q-1}}-a_{k_q}).$$
(2.8)

Here, it is assumed for convenience that

$$E_m(0) := S_m.$$
 (2.9)

According to (2.8)–(2.9),  $e_m$  becomes the classical *e*-sum  $S_m$  in the case N = 1. The sums (2.8) constitute the basic elements to calculate the effective conductivity [2, 3] dependent only on the locations of inclusion.

#### **3 Random Walk Model**

Consider *N* non-overlapping circular disks  $D_k$  of radius *r* with the centres  $a_k \in Q$  (see Fig. 1). Let  $D_0$  be the complement of all closure disks  $|z - a_k| \le r$  to the domain *Q*. We study conductivity of the doubly periodic composite when the host  $\bigcup_{m_1,m_2} (D_0 + m_1\omega_1 + m_2\omega_2)$  and the inclusions  $D_k + m_1\omega_1 + m_2\omega_2$  are occupied by conducting materials. It is assumed that inclusions are occupied by a perfect conductor.

The concentration of the inclusions has the form  $v = N\pi r^2$ . The centres  $a_k$  are considered as random variables distributed in such a way that the disks  $D_k = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - a_k| < r\}$  generate a set of uniformly distributed non-overlapping disks. Theoretically this distribution denoted below as  $\mathcal{U}$  can be introduced as the distribution of the variable  $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_N) \in Q^N$  with the restrictions  $|a_m - a_k| > 2r$  for  $m \neq k$   $(m, k = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ . According to [2],  $0 \le v \le \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{12}}$  where  $\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{12}}$  is the maximal concentration attained for the hexagonal array. It is worth noting that the disks  $D_k$  belong to Q in the torus topology when the opposite sides of Q are identified.

A constructive description of the distribution  $\mathcal{U}$  for high concentrations is based on random walks. Put the centres  $a_k$  onto the nodes of a regular array. Take a positive



**Fig. 1** Doubly periodic composite with inclusions  $D_k + m_1\omega_1 + m_2\omega_2$  where  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

number *d* less than  $\min_{k \neq m} |a_k - a_m| - 2r$ . Let each  $a_k$  moves in a randomly chosen direction  $\phi_k \in [0, 2\pi)$  (i.e. program calculates range of possible move to avoid collisions) in the torus topology of *Q*. Then, each center obtain new complex coordinate  $a'_k = a_k + de^{i\phi_k}$ .

After sufficiently large number of the walks the obtained location of the centres can be considered as a statistical realization of the distribution  $\mathcal{U}$ . This method can be applied for arbitrary concentrations satisfying  $0 \le \nu \le \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{12}}$ .

If every center  $a_k$  move to  $a'_k$  with a randomly chosen direction, for all k = 1, 2, ..., N, we say that a cycle is performed. As a result, we have one ultimate location  $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, a_2, ..., a_N)$ . The time T of random walk is measured in number of cycles performed from the start.

Particular *e*-sums are considered as functions on *T* (i.e. numerical values of *e*-sums are calculated for every performed cycle). All computations are based on the fast algorithm presented in [2]. Below, the numerical computations are performed for the *square* and *hexagonal-like* lattices in Fig. 2, both in the square cell (i.e.  $\omega_1 = 1$  and  $\omega_2 = i$ , where *i* denote the imaginary unit). The positions of inclusions at time *T* = 1500 of random walk are presented in Fig. 3.

#### 4 Computation of *e*-Sums and Examples of Their Convergence

The *hexagonal-like* and square lattices are considered (see Fig. 2) with the concentration v = 0.7 as initial locations of the points  $a_k$  and further random walks



Fig. 2 Considered lattices for N = 64. The hexagonal-like lattice is obtained from square lattice by translating disks of every second row by vector  $\tilde{v} = [\frac{\omega_1}{2\sqrt{N}}, 0]$ 



Fig. 3 Considered lattices for N = 64 and T = 1500. Square lattice is on the left; hexagonal-like lattice is on the right

described in Sect. 3. Both lattices contains N = 64 inclusions and are placed within the square cell. The values of the considered *e*-sums are calculated for positions of disks at each time T (T = 0, 1, 2, ..., 1500). The results are presented in Fig. 4. It is clear that beginning from the special value  $T_0 = 100$ , the considered *e*-sums are oscillating near the same value for both lattices. One can see (Figs. 5 and 6) that their values are different for T less about 100.

#### 5 Discussion and Conclusion

One can consider the set  $\{e_{m_1...m_q}, m_j = 2, 3, ...\}$  as a basis in the space of the deterministic or random locations of inclusions. This observation was used in [4] to



**Fig. 4** Sums  $e_{4,4}$  and  $e_{6,6}$  as the functions of time of random walk *T*. *Black dots*—square lattice; *grey dots*—hexagonal-like lattice



create a constructive theory of RVEs and in [2] to simulate the RVEs for random 2D composites with circular non-overlapping inclusions. The convergence of *e*-sums reflects the *geometrical convergence* of cells to the one class of equivalent composites.

#### References

- 1. N.I. Akhiezer, *Elements of Theory of Elliptic Functions* (Nauka, Moscow, 1970) (in Russian); Engl. transl. AMS (1990)
- R. Czapla, W. Nawalaniec, V. Mityushev, Simulations of representative volume elements for random 2D composites with circular non-overlapping inclusion. Theor. Appl. Inform. 24(3), 227–242 (2012)
- V. Mityushev, P.M. Adler, Longitudinal permeability of a doubly periodic rectangular array of circular cylinders, I. Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 82(5), 335–345 (2002)
- V. Mityushev, Representative cell in mechanics of composites and generalized Eisenstein– Rayleigh sums. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 51(8–11), 1033–1045 (2006)
- 5. A. Weil, Elliptic Functions According to Eisenstein and Kronecker (Springer, Berlin, 1976)

# Symbolic Computation of Conformal Mappings onto Slit Domains

**Roman Czapla** 

**Abstract** A present paper, the symbolic implementation of conformal mappings of arbitrary circular multiply connected domains onto the complex plane with slits of prescribed inclinations is applied to examine of distribution of lengths of slits.

Keywords Riemann–Hilbert problem  $\cdot$  Multiply connected domain  $\cdot$  Complex plane with slits

#### 1 Introduction

The study of the conformal mappings between multiply connected domains becomes more convenient by introducing the canonical domains and to study conformal mappings of arbitrary domains onto these canonical domains. Multiply connected domains on the extended complex plane whose boundaries consist of mutually disjoint circles form one of the most important class of the canonical domains. Domains bounded by mutually disjoint arbitrarily oriented slits are important in fracture mechanics. The method of Riemann–Hilbert problems [1] was used to unify and to simplify construction of conformal mappings of multiply connected domains. Authors derived the conformal mappings of arbitrary circular multiply connected domains onto the complex plane with slits of prescribed inclinations in terms of uniformly convergent Poincaré series (see below (3.7)). The method of successive approximations was applied to obtain the iterative formula (3.8). In the present paper, the symbolic implementation of (3.8) is presented. As an application, we examine the distribution of lengths of slits obtained in particular example.

#### 2 Riemann–Hilbert and R-Linear Problems

Let z = x + iy denote a complex variable on the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . Consider nonoverlapping disks  $\mathbb{D}_k = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - a_k| < r_k\}, k = 1, 2, ..., n$ . Let the boundary

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

R. Czapla (🖂)

Department of Computer Sciences and Computer Methods, Pedagogical University, ul. Podchorazych 2, Krakow 30-084, Poland e-mail: romanczapla85@gmail.com

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_85

of  $\mathbb{D}_k$ , the circle  $\partial \mathbb{D}_k$ , is oriented in counterclockwise direction and *D* denote the complement of the closed disks  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$  in the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Consider the second complex variable  $\zeta = u + iv$  on the complex plane with slits  $\Gamma_k$  lying on the lines

$$-\sin\alpha_k u + \cos\alpha_k v = c_k, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $c_k$  are real constants. Let D' denote the complement of all the segments  $\Gamma_k$  to  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . Let  $\zeta = \varphi(z)$  be a conformal mapping of the circular multiply connected domain D onto D', which transforms the circle  $|z - a_k| = r_k$  to the slit  $\Gamma_k$ . For definiteness, it is assumed that  $\varphi(z)$  satisfies the hydrodynamic normalisation at infinity

$$\varphi(z) = z + \varphi_0 + \frac{\varphi_1}{z} + \frac{\varphi_2}{z^2} + \cdots$$
 (2.2)

Such a conformal mapping always exists and unique up to an arbitrary additive constant for the given inclinations  $\alpha_k$  [3]. It follows from (2.1) that  $\varphi(z)$  satisfies the following Riemann–Hilbert problem [4]

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[e^{-i\alpha_{k}}\varphi(t)\right] = c_{k}, \quad |t - a_{k}| = r_{k}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(2.3)

where  $c_k$  are undetermined constants, Im stands for the imaginary part. The problem (2.3) with  $c_k = 0$  in classes of meromorphic functions were investigated in [6].

One can prove the following lemma [1].

**Lemma 2.1** *The problem* (2.2)–(2.3) *has a unique solution up to an arbitrary additive constant.* 

*Remark 2.2* One can see that Lemma 2.1 is valid for an arbitrary multiply connected *D* with smooth boundary.

The problem (2.3) can be reduced to the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem [5]

$$\varphi(t) = \varphi_k(t) + e^{2i\alpha_k} \overline{\varphi_k(t)} + i e^{i\alpha_k} c_k, \quad |t - a_k| = r_k, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(2.4)

where  $\varphi_k(z)$  is analytic in  $|z - a_k| < r_k$  and continuously differentiable in  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$ . Transforming (2.4) we obtain

$$\psi(t) = \psi_k(t) - e^{2i\alpha_k} \left(\frac{r_k}{t - a_k}\right)^2 \overline{\psi_k(t)}, \quad |t - a_k| = r_k, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad (2.5)$$

where  $\psi(z) = \varphi'(z)$  and  $\psi_k(z) = \varphi'_k(z)$ .

## **3** Functional Equations and Method of Successive Approximations

The  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear problem (2.5) can be reduced to functional equations. Following [4, 5] introduce the function

$$\Phi(z) := \begin{cases} \psi_k(z) + \sum_{m \neq k} e^{2i\alpha_m} (\frac{r_m}{z - a_m})^2 \overline{\psi_m(z^*_{(m)})}, & |z - a_k| \le r_k, \\ \psi(z) + \sum_{m=1}^n e^{2i\alpha_m} (\frac{r_m}{z - a_m})^2 \overline{\psi_m(z^*_{(m)})}, & z \in D, \end{cases}$$

analytic in the domains  $\mathbb{D}_k$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n) and D, where  $z_{(m)}^* = \frac{r_m^2}{z - a_m} + a_m$  denote the inversion with respect to the circle  $|t - a_m| = r_m$ .

Calculate the jump across the circle  $|t - a_k| = r_k$ 

$$\Delta_k := \Phi^+(t) - \Phi^-(t), \quad |t - a_k| = r_k,$$

where  $\Phi^+(t) := \lim_{z \to tz \in D} \Phi(z)$ ,  $\Phi^-(t) := \lim_{z \to tz \in D_k} \Phi(z)$ . Using (2.5) we get  $\Delta_k = 0$ . It follows from the principle of analytic continuation that  $\Phi(z)$  is analytic in the extended complex plane. Moreover,  $\psi(\infty) = \varphi'(\infty) = 1$  yields  $\Phi(\infty) = 1$ . Then Liouville's theorem implies that  $\Phi(z) \equiv 1$ . The definition of  $\Phi(z)$  in  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$  yields the following system of functional equations

$$\psi_{k}(z) = -\sum_{m \neq k} e^{2i\alpha_{m}} \left(\frac{r_{m}}{z - a_{m}}\right)^{2} \overline{\psi_{m}(z^{*}_{(m)})} + 1,$$
  
$$|z - a_{k}| \le r_{k}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(3.1)

Let  $\psi_k(z)$  (k = 1, 2, ..., n) be a solution of (3.1). Then the function  $\psi(z)$  can be found from the definition of  $\Phi(z)$  in *D* 

$$\psi(z) = -\sum_{m=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha_m} \left(\frac{r_m}{z - a_m}\right)^2 \overline{\psi_m(z^*_{(m)})} + 1, \quad z \in D \cup \partial D.$$
(3.2)

Was proved in [1] that there is convergence of the method of successive approximations applied to the system (3.1).

Let  $\psi_k(z)$  be a solution to the system of functional equations (3.1). Let  $w \in D$  be a fixed point not equal to infinity. Introduce the functions

$$\phi_m(z) = \int_{w_{(m)}^*}^z \psi_m(t) dt + \phi_m(w_{(m)}^*), \quad |z - a_m| \le r_m, \ m = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad (3.3)$$

and

$$\omega(z) = \sum_{m=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha_m} \left[ \overline{\phi_m(z^*_{(m)})} - \overline{\phi_m(w^*_{(m)})} \right].$$
(3.4)

One can prove, inter alia by Lemma 2.1, that the required conformal mapping has the form

$$\varphi(z) = z + \omega(z) + constant, \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $\omega(z)$  is calculated by (3.4). Application of the method of successive approximations to (3.1) and integration terms by terms of the obtained uniformly convergent series yields the exact formula

$$\varphi_{k}(z) = q_{k} + z + \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} e^{2i\alpha_{k_{1}}} \left(\overline{z_{(k_{1})}^{*} - w_{(k_{1})}^{*}}\right) + \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} e^{2i(\alpha_{k_{1}} - \alpha_{k_{2}})} \left(\overline{z_{(k_{2}k_{1})}^{*} - w_{(k_{2}k_{1})}^{*}}\right) + \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} \sum_{k_{3} \neq k_{2}} e^{2i(\alpha_{k_{1}} - \alpha_{k_{2}} + \alpha_{k_{3}})} \left(\overline{z_{(k_{3}k_{2}k_{1})}^{*} - w_{(k_{3}k_{2}k_{1})}^{*}}\right) + \cdots, |z - a_{k}| \leq r_{k}.$$
(3.6)

Using (3.4) and (3.6) we write the function (3.5) up to an arbitrary additive constant in the form

$$\varphi(z) = z + \sum_{k=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha_{k}} \left( \overline{z_{(k)}^{*} - w_{(k)}^{*}} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}})} \left( z_{(k_{1}k)}^{*} - w_{(k_{1}k)}^{*} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k_{1} \neq k} \sum_{k_{2} \neq k_{1}} e^{2i(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k_{1}} + \alpha_{k_{2}})} \left( \overline{z_{(k_{2}k_{1}k)}^{*} - w_{(k_{2}k_{1}k)}^{*}} \right) + \cdots$$
(3.7)

We use another implementation based on the functional equations (3.1). The method of successive approximations is applied to (3.1). We start with the initial guess,  $\psi_k^{(0)} = 1, k = 1, 2, ..., n$ . The iteration is then given by

$$\psi_k^{(\text{it+1})}(z) = -\sum_{m \neq k} e^{2i\alpha_m} \left(\frac{r_m}{z - a_m}\right)^2 \overline{\psi_m^{(\text{it})}(z_{(m)}^*)} + 1, \qquad (3.8)$$

for  $|z - a_k| \le r_k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., n. The approximations converge uniformly for any location of non-overlapping disks. Further, the function  $\psi(z)$  is constructed by (3.2). The conformal mapping  $\varphi(z)$  is constructed by integration of  $\psi(z)$ .

Table 1         Considered random           centers an inclinations         Image: Constraint of the second se	$a_k$	$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_k$
	-0.1435 - 0.0946i	-0.8843
	0.1519+0.2254 <i>i</i>	1.1627
	0.2586-0.2910i	-1.3488
	-0.3058 + 0.2416i	0.3787

Now, we implement the iterative formula (3.8) in *Mathematica*<sup>®</sup>:

 $\psi$ [Step\_Integer?Positive, k\_Integer, R\_, z\_,  $\alpha$ , A\_] :=  $\left(\psi$ [Step, k, R, z,  $\alpha$ , A] =

$$1 - \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 0 & m = k \\ 1 - \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left\{ e^{2i\alpha[m]} \left( \frac{R[m]}{(z-A[m])} \right)^{2} \psi[\text{Step - 1, m, R, Inv[m, R, z, A], \alpha, A]^{*} & \text{True} \end{array} \right\} /; 0 < k \le n$$

$$\Psi 1[\text{Step}, R_, z_, \alpha_, A_] := \Psi 1[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] = -\sum_{m=1}^{n} e^{2i\alpha[m]} \left( \frac{R[m]}{(z-A[m])} \right)^{2} \psi[\text{Step, m, R, Inv[m, R, z, A], \alpha, A]^{*} + 1;$$

$$\Psi [\text{Step}, R_, z_, \alpha_, A_] := \Psi [\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] = If [MT[z, R, A] < 0, 0, \Psi 1[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] :$$

$$\Psi 3[\text{Step}, R_, z_, \alpha_, A_] := \Psi 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] = If [MT[\Psi 1][\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] / N] // Chop$$

$$I\Psi 3[\text{Step}, R, w, \alpha, A_] := I\Psi 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] = \left[ \Psi 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] + 1 \right] \left[ \Psi 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] + 1 \right] = H 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] = 1 \left[ \Psi 3[\text{Step, R, z, \alpha, A}] + 1 \right] = 1 \left[ \Psi 3[\text{S$$

$$I\Psi A[Step_, K_, W_, \alpha_, A_] := I\Psi A[Step, K, Z, \alpha, A] = \int \Psi A[Step, K, Z, \alpha, A] dZ / Z \rightarrow W$$
$$def[rN_, \alpha N_, B_, \{it_\}] := Module[\{\}, Clear[f]; f[it][z_] = I\Psi A[it, rN, z, \alpha N, B];]$$

For example, let  $a_k$  and  $\alpha_k$  be defined by Table 1, formula (3.8) takes the following form (3.9).

$$\begin{split} \varphi(z) &= z - \frac{0.0287442 + 0.0136743i}{1.z - (0.258645 - 0.291009i)} - \frac{0.00035354 - 0.003626i}{z - (0.246426 - 0.2319i)} \\ &- \frac{0.000424771 + 0.00162785i}{z - (0.228812 - 0.26286i)} + \frac{0.00133436 + 0.00487988i}{z - (0.194735 - 0.259791i)} \\ &+ \frac{0.00239752 - 0.00274351i}{z - (0.164111 + 0.166303i)} - \frac{0.0218029 - 0.0231915i}{z - (0.151891 + 0.225414i)} \\ &- \frac{0.00458698 - 0.00273962i}{z - (0.102315 + 0.171702i)} - \frac{0.000354363 + 0.00481762i}{z - (0.0824317 + 0.227868i)} \\ &- \frac{0.00625544 + 0.0312103i}{z + (0.0795605 + 0.125805i)} + \frac{0.00409164 + 0.0034358i}{z + (0.0938938 + 0.040876i)} \\ &- \frac{0.000327288 + 0.00481953i}{z + (0.236346 - 0.239127i)} - \frac{0.00697891 + 0.00203792i}{z + (0.268727 - 0.164798i)} \\ &+ \frac{0.00061054 - 0.0015677i}{z + (0.275972 - 0.213432i)} + \frac{0.0231302 + 0.0218679i}{z + (0.305805 - 0.241581i)} \end{split}$$

Fig. 1 Unit square with randomly distributed inclusions



**Fig. 2** Plane with slits of the inclinations randomly chosen on  $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ 



#### **4** Numerical Example

Let *Q* be the unit square (Fig. 1). Consider 100 non-overlapping circular disks  $D_k$  of radius r = 0.0356825 randomly distributed in *Q* (see the Method I described in Chap. 2 of [2]).

Conformal mapping of the exterior of considered disks onto the plane with slits of the inclinations randomly chosen on  $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$  is presented in Fig. 2.

The histogram in Fig. 3 presents the distribution of lengths of obtained slits. The values seem to be normally distributed. Note that the lengths of the slits are greater than 2r.



#### 5 Conclusion

In this symbolic implementation (3.8), the cost of each iteration increases rapidly as the number of iterations increases. A preliminary numerical method, similar to [7, Sect. 12.4], has been implemented in MATLAB. It is much faster than the symbolic calculation, but does not yield analytic formulas like (3.9).

#### References

- D. Czapla, V. Mityushev, N. Rylko, Conformal mapping of circular multiply connected domains onto slit domains. Electron. Trans. Numer. Anal. 39, 286–297 (2012)
- D. Czapla, V. Mityushev, W. Nawalaniec, Effective conductivity of random two-dimensional composites with circular non-overlapping inclusions. Comput. Mater. Sci. 63, 118–126 (2012)
- G.M. Golusin, Geometric Theory of Functions of a Complex Variable (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1969)
- V.V. Mityushev, S.V. Rogosin, Constructive Methods for Linear and Non-linear Boundary Value Problems of the Analytic Function. Theory and Applications (Chapman & Hall/CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2000)
- V.V. Mityushev, Riemann–Hilbert problems for multiply connected domains and circular slit maps. Comput. Methods Funct. Theory 11, 575–590 (2011)
- 6. N.I. Vekua, Generalized Analytic Functions (Pergamon, London, 1992)
- R. Wegmann, Methods for numerical conformal mapping, in *Handbook of Complex Analysis:* Geometric Function Theory (Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2005), pp. 351–477

## On One Approach to the Simulation of the Periodontal Ligament Takes into Account Its Viscoelastic Properties

K. Yurkevich and S. Bosiakov

**Abstract** The mathematical model of the viscoelastic periodontal ligament is presented. The relaxation kernel corresponds to the Maxwell model. Model describes the viscoelastic deformations of the periodontal membrane and the tooth movements. Analysis of premolar root movements in the form of an elliptical hyperboloid under the vertical load is performed.

**Keywords** Viscoelastic periodontal ligament · Elliptical hyperboloid · Tooth root displacements · Maxwell's kernel

#### 1 Introduction

Periodontal ligament is a thin membrane that holds the tooth root in the alveolar bone, absorbs and distributes the occlusal forces on the tooth by the collagen fibers. Under normal conditions the contact between the tooth root and the bone tissue is absent. The load acting on the crown of the tooth is transferred to the alveolar bone through the periodontal ligament. Short-term (initial) and long-term (orthodontic) tooth displacements are regulated by strains and stresses of the periodontal ligament, because teeth and alveolar bone are considered almost completely rigid [1–5].

Adequately describe the function of the periodontal tissues without using of simple or too complex mathematical models allow the viscoelastic equations [6, 7]. In particular, the viscoelastic model allows to avoid differences between the physiological and calculated stresses in periodontal tissues. Also this model allows to explain the dependence of the physiological response of the periodontal tissue to the action of the load on the time and to combine movement of unsteady viscous liquid phase with deformation of rigid body [8, 9].

Known existing viscoelastic model are based on the use of single Maxwell's element [10], Kelvin–Voight model (parallel connected springs and shock absorber)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_86

K. Yurkevich (⊠) · S. Bosiakov

Nezavisimosti ave, 4, 220030 Minsk, Republic of Belarus e-mail: kirill.bsu@gmail.com

S. Bosiakov e-mail: bosiakov@bsu.by

[11, 12], nonlinear springs with three parameters [13]. Attempts to run the simulation of the periodontal ligament using a linear viscoelastic law are undertaken in the studies [14, 15]. Nevertheless, in [16] it is shown that the simulation of the periodontium nonlinear properties provides a more accurate and reliable calculation of stresses and strains in a wide range of the tooth movements. Some authors demonstrated the viscoelastic behavior of human and primate periodontal ligaments, but not offered a quantitative description [17–20]. The enhanced approach to the study of the mechanical behavior of the periodontium based on the quasi-linear viscoelastic phenomenological model is proposed in [21]. However the results obtained here been challenged since the nonlinear behavior of periodontium may not be well described by a quasi-linear viscoelastic theory which is usually used to describe the biomechanics of tissue [22]. The most important results related to the finite element calculation of viscoelastic models of the "tooth root—periodontal ligament" are represented in [23–26].

A review of the results concerning the use of viscoelastic model for describing the periodontal ligament's behavior shows that precise information about relationships between the viscoelastic response and periodontium structure, as well as uniform approach to the description of the periodontal ligament properties are absent. A lot of studies on the properties and behavior of the periodontal membrane still interprets its as linear elastic material. The aim of this work is the formulation of the motion equations of the viscoelastic periodontal ligament in the shape of elliptic hyperboloid.

#### 2 Material and Methods

Let us assume that external and internal periodontal surfaces are defined by equations of the elliptical hyperboloids  $F_0(x_1, x_2, x_3)$  and  $F(x_1, x_2, x_3)$ , respectively:

$$F_0(x_1, x_2, x_3) = F(x_1, x_2, x_3) + h_0 = 0,$$
(2.1)

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = x_3 - \frac{H}{\sqrt{1+p^2} - p} \left( \sqrt{\frac{x_1^2}{a^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^2}} + p^2 - p \right) = 0, \quad (2.2)$$

where *H* is the height of the root; *p* is the parameter characterizing the rounding of the root; *a* and *b* are semiaxes of the ellipse in the cross-section of the tooth root near the alveolar crest;  $h_0$  is the parameter characterizing the thickness of periodontal ligament; the surface  $F_0(x_1, x_2, x_3)$  restricts the periodontal surface from the alveolar bone; the surface  $F(x_1, x_2, x_3)$  limits the surface of the periodontal ligament from the side of tooth root (see Fig. 1).

Any displacement of the root (and points on the internal surface of the periodontal ligament) can be described as a combination of a translation of the apex and a rotation around the apex of the root. The displacements of points on the external surface of the periodontal ligament are equal to zero, because the periodontium Simulation of the Periodontal Ligament

**Fig. 1** The geometrical parameters of the tooth root



is rigidly fixed in alveolar bone. Taking this into account the displacements of the periodontal ligament are represented as follows:

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{h_0} \big( F(x_1, x_2, x_3) + h_0 \big) \big( \mathbf{u}^{(0)}(t) + \boldsymbol{\varphi}(t) \times \mathbf{r} \big).$$
(2.3)

Here  $\mathbf{u}^{(0)}(t)$  is the translational displacement vector of tooth root;  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)$  is the rotational angle vector of tooth root;  $\mathbf{r} = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$  is the radius-vector. Geometric parameters of tooth root and the coordinate system are shown in Fig. 1.

The relationship between stresses and strains for the periodontal membrane takes into account their viscoelastic properties written as follows:

$$\sigma_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) = 2G\left(e_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) - \int_0^t K(t-\tau)e_{ij}(\mathbf{r},\tau)d\tau + \frac{\nu\delta_{ij}}{1-2\nu}\left(\sum_{k=1}^3 e_{kk}(\mathbf{r},t) - \int_0^t K(t-\tau)\sum_{k=1}^3 e_{kk}(\mathbf{r},\tau)d\tau\right)\right), \quad i,j=\overline{1,3},$$
(2.4)

where G is the shear modulus; v is Poisson's ratio; K(t) is the relaxation kernel for volume and shear stresses;  $\delta_{ij}$  is Kronecker delta.

The components of the strain tensor have the following form:

$$e_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial u_i(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial x_i} \right), \quad i, j = \overline{1,3}.$$
(2.5)

Let's substitute the relations (2.5) to (2.4), and then insert the resulting expressions in the equations of motion:

$$\iint_{F} \left( \mathbf{n} \cdot \sigma(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) dF + M \frac{d^{2} \mathbf{u}^{(0)}(t)}{dt^{2}} - \mathbf{P} = 0,$$

$$\iint_{F} \mathbf{r} \times \left( \mathbf{n} \cdot \sigma(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) dF + J \frac{d^{2} \boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)}{dt^{2}} - \mathbf{m} = 0,$$
(2.6)

where  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2, m_3)$  is the principal moment of the external forces;  $\mathbf{P} = (P_1, P_2, P_3)$  is the principal vector of the external forces;  $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, n_2, n_3)$  is the unit normal vector to the surface  $F(x_1, x_2, x_3)$ ;  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, t)$  is the stress tensor whose components defined by the expressions (2.4); *M* is the mass of the tooth; *J* is the axial moment of inertia of the tooth.

#### **3** Tooth Translation (Extrusion)

Let's consider one of the clinical cases of orthodontic movements of tooth, when the tooth displacement is only vertical, in particular by extrusion. During translation along the vertical axis under the force  $P = P_3$  from system (2.6) we have  $(P_1 = P_2 = 0$ , the translational displacements  $u_1^{(0)}$  and  $u_2^{(0)}$ , as well as all rotation angles are equal to zero):

$$c_{3}\left(u_{3}^{(0)}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} K(t-\tau)u_{3}^{(0)}(\tau)d\tau\right) + M\frac{d^{2}u_{3}^{(0)}(t)}{dt^{2}} = P,$$

$$c_{3} = \frac{2aG\pi(b^{2}H^{2} + a^{2}(H^{2} + 2\gamma r_{1}b^{2}) - H^{2}p^{2}r_{2}(a^{2} + b^{2}))}{4a^{2}bh_{0}r_{1}},$$

$$r_{1} = \left(\sqrt{1+p^{2}} - p\right)^{2}, r_{2} = \ln\left(\frac{1}{p^{2}} + 1\right), \gamma = \frac{2(1-\nu)}{1-2\nu},$$
(3.1)

where  $c_3$  is the stiffness of the periodontal ligament.

Let's find the solution of (3.1) for Maxwell's kernel  $K(t) = A \exp^{-bt}$ , (A > 0, b > 0) with the initial conditions corresponding to the absence of initial velocity. The initial displacement was determined in accordance with the previously developed linear elastic model of the periodontal ligament [27]. As a result one obtains:

$$u_{3}^{(0)}(t) = \frac{Pb}{c_{3}(b-A)} + \frac{PA}{c_{3}m(A-b)} \left( \frac{\exp(p_{1}t)(c_{z} + Mp_{1}(b+p_{1}))}{(p_{1} - p_{2})(p_{1} - p_{3})} + \frac{\exp(p_{2}t)(c_{3} + Mp_{2}(b+p_{2}))}{(p_{2} - p_{1})(p_{2} - p_{3})} + \frac{\exp(p_{3}t)(c_{3} + Mp_{3}(b+p_{3}))}{(p_{3} - p_{1})(p_{3} - p_{2})} \right),$$
$$p_{1} = -\frac{b}{3} + \alpha + \beta, \ p_{2} = -\frac{b}{3} - \frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta) + \frac{i\sqrt{3}}{2}(\alpha - \beta),$$



Relaxation kernel parameters are defined based on results of the clinical observations of the periodontal membrane deformations. It is assumed that the absolute maximum deformation of the periodontal ligament under constant force is  $h_1 \approx 2h_0/3$  ( $h_0$  is the thickness of the periodontal ligament at the apex). If the thickness  $h_0$  is 0.25 mm [28] then displacement  $h_1$  of the tooth root approximately is 0.17 mm. The calculation of the kernel parameters based on the solution of (3.2) for a premolar (a = 5 mm, b = 3.5 mm, H = 14.3 mm, p = 0.4) under vertical load P = 100 N shows that A = 23.80 1/s, b = 24.48 1/s. Elasticity modulus of the periodontal ligament is 10 MPa, Poisson's ratio is 0.45 [29]. The stiffness  $c_3$  is 22.4 MN/m and the mass of premolar is 1 gram. Figure 2 shows the dependence of the premolar's root movement in the periodontal ligament from time for given geometrical, physical and mechanical properties, the time variable varies from 0 to 5 seconds.

As shown in Fig. 2, with further change of time translational movement takes almost constant value approximately is 0.16 mm. Using found values for the parameters of relaxation kernel the dependence of stresses from time can be determined.

#### References

- C. Bourauel, D. Vollmer, A. Jäger, Application of bone remodeling theories in the simulation of orthodontic tooth movements. J. Orofac. Orthop. 61, 266–279 (2000)
- A.N. Wilson, J. Middleton, M.L. Jones, The role of the periodontal ligament in bone remodeling, in *Recent Advances in Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering* (Books and Journals International, Swansea, 1992), pp. 150–158
- S.C. Cowin, D.M. Hegedus, Bone remodeling I: a theory of adaptive elasticity. J. Elast. 6, 313–325 (1976)

- M.G. Mullender, R. Huiskes, H.J. Weinans, A physiological approach to the simulation of bone remodeling as a self-organisational control process. J. Biomech. 27, 1389–1394 (1994)
- H.J. Weinans, R. Huiskes, H.J. Grootenboer, The behavior of adaptive bone-remodeling simulation models. J. Biomech. 25, 1425–1441 (1992)
- B.J. Moxham, B.K.B. Berkovitz, The effects of external forces on the periodontal ligament, in *The Periodontal Ligament in Health and Disease*, ed. by B.J. Moxham, H.N. Newman (Mosby-Wolfe, London, 1995)
- T.S. Fill, R.W. Toogood, P.W. Major, J.P. Carey, Analytically determined mechanical properties of, and models for the periodontal ligament: critical review of literature. J. Biomech. 45, 9–16 (2012)
- 8. K. Komatsu, Mechanical strength and viscoelastic response of the periodontal ligament in relation to structure. J. Dent. Biomech. 1, 1–18 (2010)
- M. Ferrari, R. Sorrentino, F. Zarone, D. Apicella, R. Aversa, A. Apicella, Non-linear viscoelastic finite element analysis of the effect of the length of glass fiber posts on the biomechanical behaviour of directly restored incisors and surrounding alveolar bone. Dent. Mater. 27, 485– 498 (2008)
- S.M. Bien, Fluid dynamic mechanisms which regulate tooth movement, in *Advances in Oral Biology*, vol. 2, ed. by E.H. Staple (1966), pp. 173–201
- D.C. Picton, D.J. Wills, Viscoelastic properties of the periodontal ligament and mucous membrane. J. Prosthet. Dent. 40, 263–272 (1978)
- D.J. Wills, D.C. Picton, W.I. Davies, An investigation of the viscoelastic properties of the periodontium in monkeys. J. Periodontal Res. 7, 42–51 (1972)
- G.G. Ross, C.S. Lear, R. De Cou, Modeling the lateral movement of teeth. J. Biomech. 9, 723–734 (1976)
- J.R. Funk, G.W. Hall, J.R. Grandall, W.D. Pilkey, Linear and quasi-linear viscoelastic characterization of ankle ligaments. J. Biomech. Eng. 122, 15–22 (2000)
- J. Middleton, M.L. Jones, A.N. Wilson, Three-dimensional analysis of orthodontic tooth movement. J. Biomed. Eng. 12, 319–327 (1990)
- M. Pini, P. Zysset, J. Botsis, R. Contro, Tensile and compressive behavior of the bovine periodontal ligament. J. Biomech. 37, 111–119 (2004)
- 17. H. Körber, Electronic registration of tooth movements. Int. Dent. J. 21, 466–477 (1971)
- H.R. Mühlemann, Tooth mobility: a review of clinical aspects and research findings. J. Periodontol. 38, 686–713 (1967)
- D.C. Picton, Extrusive mobility of teeth in adult monkeys (Macaca fascicularis). Arch. Oral Biol. 31, 369–372 (1986)
- 20. D.C. Picton, Tooth mobility—an update. Eur. J. Orthod. 12, 109–115 (1990)
- S.R. Toms, G.J. Dakin, J.E. Lemons, A.W. Eberhardt, Quasi-linear viscoelastic behavior of the human periodontal ligament. J. Biomech. 35, 1411–1415 (2002)
- J. Hazrati, F. Ghalichi, B. Mirzakouchaki, Strain dependent stress relaxation behavior of periodontal ligament. J. Biomech. 41(1), S471 (2008)
- F. Maceri, M. Marino, G. Vairo, Mechanical behaviour of endodontic restorations with multiple prefabricated posts: a finite-element approach. J. Biomech. 40, 2386–2398 (2007)
- A.N. Natali, E.L. Carniel, P.G. Pavan, C. Bourauel, A. Ziegler, L. Keilig, Experimentalnumerical analysis of minipig's multi-rooted teeth. J. Biomech. 40, 1701–1708 (2007)
- E. Peña, B. Calvo, M.A. Martinez, M. Doblaré, An anisotropic viscohyperelastic model for ligaments at finite strains. Formulation and computational aspects. Int. J. Solids Struct. 44, 760–778 (2007)
- E. Peña, J.A. Peña, M. Doblaré, On modeling nonlinear viscoelastic effects in ligaments. J. Biomech. 41, 2659–2666 (2008)
- S.M. Bosiakov, K.S. Yurkevich, Mathematical modelling of initial tooth root displacements in bone tissue under action of instant static loading. Rus. J. Biomech. 15, 22–29 (2011)

- 28. S.R. Toms, A.W. Eberhardt, A nonlinear finite element analysis of the periodontal ligament under orthodontic tooth loading. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. **123**, 657–665 (2003)
- M. Poppe, C. Bourauel, A. Jäger, Determination of the elasticity parameters of the human periodontal ligament and the location of the center of resistance of single-rooted teeth. A study of autopsy specimens and their conversion into finite element models. J. Orofac. Orthop. 63, 358–370 (2002)

## Biomechanical Effects of Maxillary Expansion in Cross-Bite Patients During Orthodontic Treatment with Hyrax Screw

#### S. Bosiakov, A. Vinokurova, and A. Dosta

Abstract The aim of this study was finite element analysis of stress-strain state of the human maxillary complex with and without cleft palate. Loading the skull is carried out by activating orthodontic device HYRAX. Model of the skull and supporting teeth of upper jaw obtained on the basis of tomographic data for dry intact skull of an adult. Design of orthodontic device differ position of screws and rods relative to the palate. Equivalent stresses in the bones of the craniofacial complex are assessed. It is shown that large stresses occur in the maxillary complex, if the screw and rods of orthodontic devices are located in a horizontal plane for skull with and without cleft. Also in the intact skull big stresses appear in the bone of the upper jaw with location of the screw and rods of orthodontic device in a horizontal plane. In the rest of the skull bones stresses are insignificant. By moving the device screw to the palate the values of maximum stresses are reduced, but the region of big stresses displaced to the pterygoid plate and pharyngeal tubercle. In the skull with cleft for different positions of screws and rods orthodontic device the upper jaw is loaded fragmentary. High stresses are observed in the region of the maxilla near the zygomatic arches and along the edges of eye-sockets. When placing screw of orthodontic device close to palate the stresses decreases, but are observed in most part of the zygomatic arches.

**Keywords** Maxillary expansion · Orthodontic device Hyrax · Craniofacial complex · Cross-bite · Palate cleft · Finite-element modeling

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 99Z99 · Secondary 00A00

A. Vinokurova e-mail: janeraven@mail.ru

A. Dosta

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_87

S. Bosiakov (🖂) · A. Vinokurova

Belarusian State University, Nezavisimosti ave. 4, 220030 Minsk, Belarus e-mail: bosiakov@bsu.by

Belarusian State Medical University, Dzerzhinskogo ave. 83, 220116 Minsk, Belarus e-mail: dostatom75@mail.ru

#### 1 Introduction

Correction of cross-bite, usually performed using transverse forces that create a fixed or removable orthodontic appliances [1]. It allows to increase the maxillary transverse dimension, but is sufficiently a complicated procedure that causes significant side effects, in particular dislocation of the supporting teeth, fenestration of the cortical plate, root resorption and gingival recession [2]. The maxillary expansion may be associated with a pressure in the various areas of its joint, for example in the zygomatic bones and bridge of the nose, and may also be accompanied by complications [3]. To better understand the effects of the rapid expansion of the maxillary complex was carried out a lot of finite-element studies [4-14]. At the same time, in most of these studies don't considered the real design of the orthodontic appliance. Loading is performed through the application of the transversal concentrated forces to the teeth in particular the molars and premolars (from 1 N to 300 N) [4, 5, 9, 10, 12], or by displacement of teeth by a distance corresponding some number of revolutions of orthodontic screw (from 0.2 mm to 5.0 mm) [7, 10, 11, 13, 14]. Such simplified approaches do not represent real situation and give inaccurate results in the simulation of the maxillary expansion [6]. The aim of this paper is to analyze the influence of design of the orthodontic appliance HYRAX on the stressstrain state of the intact human skull and skull with unilateral cleft, which occurs after the activation of the device.

#### 2 Model the Skull and Orthodontic Device

Stereolithography model format of the skull was obtained using the program for medical imaging MIMICS 14.12 (Materialise's Interactive Medical Image Control Systems, Materialise BV, Leuven, Belgium) on the basis of 210 tomographic images of the dried cadaveric intact skull of an adult. Note that for the development of the skull model enough tomography data obtained from of dry human skull [9-11]. In addition, under the action of orthodontic forces the initial reaction of dry skull and skull in vivo are similar [15]. Step tomographic slices is equal to 1 mm. Finite element model is obtained after processing model in MIMICS 3-matic 6.1. Teeth of the maxilla (first and second premolars, permanent molars), on which established orthodontic device were removed when generating stereolithographic format. Discrete model of the skull contains 26445 nodes and 91731 elements like Solid72. Finite element partition of is performed automatically. Simulation of the periodontal ligament was not carried out, as it has virtually no effect on the stress distribution in the bones of the maxillofacial complex under the action of loads of different types [16]. Sutures in the craniofacial complex also not taken into account in the finite element model. This is because in the adult the skull sutures partially or fully are ossified [7].

Solid models premolar and first molar of the upper dental row also obtained on the basis of tomographic data of the human skull. For this SolidWorks 2010



Fig. 1 Distribution of equivalent stresses in the intact skull (frontal view): (a) is skull with horizontal position of the orthodontic device; (b) is skull with screw higher on 8 mm of the horizontal position

(SolidWorks Corporation, USA) is used. Model orthodontic device HYRAX using graphical primitives of this package is constructed. Crowns device are installed on the first permanent molars and premolars. The length and width of the plates in a model orthodontic device is 4.0 mm and 10.0 mm respectively, the radius of the cross section is 1.0 mm rods, thickness of crown is 0.2 mm.

Boundary conditions correspond to anchorage of nodes near the foramen magnum [4, 6]. Displacement of each plate is 0.25 mm (corresponding to the activation screw of orthodontic device a half turn [5, 12]) and transversally is directed (in the direction of the axis 0x). Modulus of elasticity material plates and rods of the orthodontic device is 200 GPa, Poisson's ratio is 0.3. The elastic modulus of cortical bone and teeth equal to 15 GPa and 20 GPa, Poisson's ratio for the cortical bone and teeth equal to 0.3. Finite element analysis of the stress-strain state of a skull with orthodontic appliances is carried out for different locations of the screw and rods. In one design, the screw and rod of the device were located in a horizontal plane. In other configurations, the screw of device was located on the 0.5, 1, 2 and 8 mm above relative to the horizontal construction of the orthodontic appliance. Geometric dimensions of orthodontic appliances, except for the lengths of rods, are not changed. Rods lengths between the plates and crowns on the first premolars is vary from 8.15 mm to 12.20 mm, length of rods between the plates and the molars is changes from 11.05 mm to 16.45 mm.

#### 3 Stress-Strain State of the Intact Skull

Figures 1 and 2 show the distribution of the equivalent stresses in the front part and in the base of the skull respectively for two different designs of orthodontic device. Here and further, the case a corresponds to the design of the device with horizontal position of screw and rods; case b meets the construction in which the screw is shifted by 8 mm closer to the palate relative to first case.



Fig. 2 Distribution of equivalent stresses in the intact skull (bottom view): (a) is skull with horizontal position of the orthodontic device; (b) is skull with screw higher on 8 mm of the horizontal position

From distributions of stress is seen (see Figs. 1a and 2a) that significant stresses occur mainly in the maxilla, the maximum equivalent stress is equal  $\approx$ 74.3 MPa. Also high stresses are observed in the middle and lower part of nasal concha. Stresses are present at the bottom of the left orbit. Figure 1b shows that when installing the screw device in the palate, the maxilla is loaded fragmentary, and most equivalent stress is  $\approx$ 20.12 MPa. In particular, the stresses are observed in the frontal area and the alveolar processes region of the maxilla and also in the frontonasal suture. Insignificant stresses arise in the sphenoid and occipital bones.

As Fig. 2b shows, the palatal suture loaded slightly. Thus for rapid expansion of the palatal suture the case a is more preferable than case b. Note that the maximum stresses in the case of a and b occur in the bone tissue around teeth on which the orthodontic device is installed. This is confirmed by the distribution of equivalent stress at the base of the skull (see Figs. 2a, b). At the same time, the skull bone differently are loaded in cases a and b. In case a, large stresses occur in incisal bone (33.02 MPa), the maxilla and the palatal bone (8.26–33.02 MPa). In case b, stress in the maxilla (6.71 MPa) is less than stress in the occipital bone, particularly in the region of the foramen magnum (11.18 MPa). Besides, in the case b the non-zero stress in the zygomatic arcs is observed, as well as in the pterygoid plate.

#### 4 Stress-Strain State of Maxilla with Cleft Palate

Figures 3 and 4 shows the distribution of equivalent stresses in the front part (see Figs. 3a and 4a) and in the base (see Figs. 3b and 4b) of the skull with a cleft for two different designs orthodontic device.

Figures 3 and 4 show that the maximum stresses in the skull with palate cleft are occur when placing of the screw and rod in a horizontal plane. At the same time, maximum stresses in the skull with a cleft ( $\approx$ 69.1 MPa, see Figs. 3, 4a) is less than



**Fig. 3** Distribution of equivalent stresses in the skull with cleft palate (frontal view): (**a**) is skull with horizontal position of the orthodontic device; (**b**) is skull with screw higher on 8 mm of the horizontal position



**Fig. 4** Distribution of equivalent stresses in the skull with cleft palate (frontal view): (**a**) is skull with horizontal position of the orthodontic device; (**b**) is skull with screw higher on 8 mm of the horizontal position

the maximum stress in the intact skull ( $\approx$ 74.3 MPa, see Figs. 1, 2a). Conversely, in the case b for skull with cleft the maximum stress increases ( $\approx$ 37.0 MPa compared to  $\approx$ 20.1 MPa, see Figs. 1–4b). Like for the intact skull, the maximum stresses in the skull with palate cleft are observed in the bone tissue of maxilla adjacent to the supporting teeth. Along with the change of stresses can observe significant qualitative differences in the distribution of stresses in cases a and b for the intact skull and skull with cleft. In particular, in the skull with a cleft palate the region of the median palatal suture practically is not loaded during activating the orthodontic device (see Figs. 4a, b). In the case a (see Fig. 4a) can be observed insignificant stresses (less than 15.4 MPa) in pterygoid plate. More great stresses appear in the eye-sockets and in the zygomatic arches (less than 46.1 MPa). In case b the region of stress in the skull base shifts from pterygoid plate aside large pharyngeal tubercle (stresses reach  $\approx$ 24.7 MPa). Stresses (less than  $\approx$ 23.0 MPa) are observed along the entire length of the zygomatic arches (see Figs. 3b and 4b).

#### 5 Conclusions

- When installing screws and rods of the orthodontic device in the horizontal plane significant stresses appear in the upper jaw and the lower part of the nasal cavity of a human skull. By moving the screw of orthodontic device to the palate the stresses redistributed and maxilla slightly is loading. The stress state is observed around the nasal cavity, in the region of fronto-nasal suture, as well as in the pterygoid plate and pharyngeal tubercle. Therefore, in the case a of the installation of orthodontic device on an intact skull expediently carry out osteotomy median palatal suture. In case b, we can recommend an osteotomy, which will prevent the loading of the skull base.
- During expansion upper jaw with a cleft palate advisable to carry out an osteotomy to separate the maxilla and pterygoid plate in region of pterygoid process regardless of orthodontic device design. When installing screw of orthodontic device near the palate in the skull with cleft also advisable to carry out an osteotomy of the zygomatic arches.

Acknowledgement Study was supported the State Program of Scientific Researches "Convergence" (on the instructions 8.1.01).

#### References

- S.J. Chaconas, A.A. Caputo, Observation of orthopedic force distribution produced by maxillary orthodontic appliances. Am. J. Orthod. 82, 492–501 (1982)
- C.A. Landes, K. Laudermann, O. Petruchin, M.G. Mack, S. Kopp, B. Ludwig, R.A. Sader, O. Seitz, Comparison of bipartite versus tripartite osteotomy for maxillary transversal expansion using 3-dimensional preoperative and postexpansion computed tomography data. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 67, 2287–2301 (2009)
- J.F. Zimring, R.J. Isaacson, Forces produced by rapid maxillary expansion III. Forces present during retention. Angle Orthod. 35, 178–186 (1965)
- C. Provatidis, B. Georgiopoulos, A. Kotinas, J.P. McDonald, On the FEM modeling of craniofacial changes during rapid maxillary expansion. Med. Eng. Phys. 29, 566–579 (2007)
- D. Wang, L. Cheng, C. Wang, Y. Qian, X. Pan, Biomechanical effects of rapid maxillary expansion on the craniofacial skeleton, studied by the finite element method. Eur. J. Orthod. 20, 347–356 (1998)
- B. Ludwig, S. Baumgaertel, B. Zorkun, L. Bonitz, B. Glasl, B. Wilmes, J. Lisson, Application of a new viscoelastic finite element method model and analysis of miniscrew-supported hybrid hyrax treatment. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 143, 426–435 (2013)
- A. Boryor, M. Geigera, A. Hohmann, A. Wunderlich, C. Sander, F.M. Sander, F.G. Sander, Stress distribution and displacement analysis during an intermaxillary disjunction a threedimensional FEM study of a human skull. J. Biomech. 41, 376–382 (2008)
- F.L. Capelozza, A.M. De Almeida, W.J. Ursi, Rapid maxillary expansion in cleft lip and palate patients. J. Clin. Orthod. 28, 34–39 (1994)

- P. Gautam, A. Valiathan, R. Adhikari, Stress and displacement patterns in the craniofacial skeleton with rapid maxillary expansion: a finite element method study. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 132, 5.e1–5.e11 (2007)
- C. Holberg, N. Holberg, K. Schwenzer, A. Wichelhaus, I. Rudzki-Janson, Biomechanical analysis of maxillary expansion in CLP patients. Angle Orthod. 77, 280–287 (2007)
- H. Lee, K. Ting, M. Nelson, N. Sun, S.J. Sung, Maxillary expansion in customized finite element method models. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 136, 367–374 (2009)
- X. Pan, Y. Qian, J. Yu, D. Wang, Y. Tang, G. Shen, Biomechanical effects of rapid palatal expansion on the craniofacial skeleton with cleft palate: a three-dimensional finite element analysis. Cleft Palate-Craniofac. J. 44, 149–154 (2007)
- H.S. Yu, H.S. Baik, S.J. Sung, K.D. Kim, Y.S. Cho, Three-dimensional finite-element analysis of maxillary protraction with and without rapid palatal expansion. Eur. J. Orthod. 29, 118–125 (2007)
- K. Tanne, J. Hiraga, K. Kakiuchi, Y. Yamagata, M. Sakuda, Biomechanical effect of anteriorly directed extraoral forces on the craniofacial complex: a study using the finite element method. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 95, 200–207 (1989)
- G. Kragt, H.S. Duterloo, J.J. Ten Bosch, The initial reaction of a macerated human skull caused by orthodontic cervical traction determined by laser metrology. Am. J. Orthod. 81, 49–56 (1982)
- S.A. Wood, D.S. Strait, E.R. Dumont, C.F. Ross, I.R. Grosse, The effects of modeling simplifications on craniofacial finite element models: the alveoli (tooth sockets) and periodontal ligaments. J. Biomech. 44, 1831–1838 (2011)

## Part XV Others

**Organizers:** Vladimir Mityushev, Michael Ruzhansky, Erdal Karapınar, Michael Oberguggenberger, Stevan Pilipovic
# On the Solvability of a Nonlinear Optimal Control Problem for the Thermal Processes Described by Fredholm Integro-Differential Equations

#### **Akylbek Kerimbekov**

**Abstract** The problem of nonlinear optimal control of the thermal process described by Fredholm integro-differential equation was investigated. The concept of a weak generalized solution of the boundary problem was introduced and the algorithm for its construction was indicated. It was established that the optimal control is defined as a solution of a nonlinear integral equation satisfying the additional condition in the form of inequality. Sufficient conditions for unique solvability of nonlinear optimization were found and the algorithm for constructing approximate solutions was developed. The convergence of approximate solutions with respect to control, optimal process and functional was investigated.

**Keywords** Boundary value problem  $\cdot$  Weak generalized solution  $\cdot$  Functional  $\cdot$  The maximum principle  $\cdot$  The optimality condition  $\cdot$  Integral equation  $\cdot$  Approximate solution  $\cdot$  Convergence

# 1 Introduction

Many applied problems are described by integro-differential equations [5, 7]. As it was noticed in [3, Introduction] in many applications mathematical models which contain integro-differentional operators haven't been studied or have been studied not enough because of controlled system's difficulty. Problems of control processes described by integro-differential equations, in the case in which control functions enter the equations non-linearly, were almost not studied. In this paper, the solvability of control problem with the quadratic quality criterion was investigated. Using the maximum principle in the case in which the controlled process is described by a Fredholm integro-differential equation, the optimality condition was obtained in the form of a nonlinear integral equation and differential inequality, i.e. optimal control is defined as a solution of the specific problem that is new in the theory of integral equations. By applying the method of [2] sufficient conditions were found for unique solvability of this problem and the algorithm was indicated for constructing

A. Kerimbekov (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Kyrgyz-Russian Slavic University, Bishkek, Kyrgyz Republic e-mail: akl7@rambler.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_88

solutions of nonlinear optimization problems with arbitrary precision in the form of a triplet  $(u^0(t), v^0(t, x), J[u^0(t)])$ , where  $u^0(t)$  is the optimal control,  $v^0(t, x)$  is the optimal process,  $J[u^0(t)]$  is the minimal value of the functional.

#### **2** Boundary Value Problem of the Controlled Process

Let the state of a thermal process be described by a scalar function v(t, x), which in the region  $Q_T = Q \times (0, T]$ , where Q is a region of the space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  bounded by a piecewise smooth curve  $\gamma$ , satisfies the integral-differential equation [5, 7]

$$v_t - Av = \lambda \int_0^T K(t, \tau) v(\tau, x) d\tau + g(t, x) f[t, u(t)],$$
  

$$x \in Q \subset R_n, \ 0 < t \le T$$
(2.1)

and on the boundary of Q satisfies the initial condition

$$v(0,x) = \psi(x), \quad x \in Q \tag{2.2}$$

and the boundary condition

$$\Gamma v(t, x) \equiv \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x) v_{x_j}(t, x) \cos(\delta, x_i) + a(x) v(t, x) = 0,$$
  

$$x \in q, \ 0 < t \le T.$$
(2.3)

Here *A* is the elliptic operator defined by the formula:

$$Av(t, x) \equiv \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} (a_{ij}(x)v_{x_j}(t, x))_{x_i} - c(x)v(t, x),$$
$$a_{ij}(x) = a_{ji}(x), \quad \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x)a_ia_j \ge a_0 \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i^2, \quad a_0 > 0;$$

 $\delta$  is a normal vector, outgoing from the point  $x \in q$ ; *T* is a fixed moment of time,  $K(t, \tau)$  is a given function defined in the region  $D = (0 \le t \le 1, 0 \le \tau \le 1)$  and satisfying the condition

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(t,\tau) d\tau dt = K_{0} < \infty,$$
(2.4)

i.e.  $K(t, \tau)$  is an element of the Hilbert space  $H(D) \equiv L_2(D)$ ;

$$g(t, x) \in H(Q), \qquad \psi(x) \in H(0, 1), \qquad f[t, u(t)] \in H(0, T), f_u[t, u(t)] \neq 0, \quad \forall t \in (0, T),$$
(2.5)

are given functions;  $a(x) \ge 0$ ,  $c(x) \ge 0$  are known measurable functions;  $u(t) \in H(0, T)$  is a control function,  $\lambda$  is a parameter and  $\alpha > 0$  is a constant.

As is known, under conditions (2.5) problem (2.1)–(2.3) has no classical solutions. Therefore, we will use the notion of a weak generalized solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3).

The solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3) we will seek in the form:

$$v(t,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_n(t) z_n(x),$$

$$v_n(t) = \langle v(t,x), z_n(x) \rangle = \int_Q v(t,x) z_n(x) dx,$$
(2.6)

where  $z_n(x)$ , n = 1, 2, 3, ... are eigenfunction function of the boundary value problem

$$Az(x) = -\lambda^2 z(x), \quad x \in Q,$$
  

$$\Gamma z(x) = 0, \quad x \in q,$$

which form a complete orthonormal system in the Hilbert space H(Q), and the corresponding eigenvalues  $\lambda_n$  satisfy the following conditions

$$\lambda_n \leq \lambda_{n+1} \leq \cdots, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n = \infty$$

**Definition 2.1** A weak generalized solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3) is a function  $v(t, x) \in H(Q)$  that satisfies the initial condition in a weak sense, i.e. for any function  $\phi_0(x) \in H(Q)$  we have the equality:

$$\lim_{t \to +0} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} v(t, x) \phi_0(x) dx = \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \psi(x) \phi_0(x) dx,$$

and the Fourier coefficients  $v_n(t)$  satisfy the linear Fredholm integral equation of the second type

$$v_n(t) = \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_n^2(t-\tau)} \left( \lambda \int_0^T K(\tau, s) v_n(s) ds + g_n(\tau) f[\tau, u(\tau)] \right) d\tau$$
$$+ e^{-\lambda_n^2 t} \psi_n, \qquad (2.7)$$

where  $\psi_n$  and  $g_n(t)$  are the Fourier coefficients of the functions  $\psi(x)$ , g(t, x) respectively.

To determine the Fourier coefficients  $v_n(t)$  (2.7) can be rewritten as

$$v_n(t) = \lambda \int_0^T K_n(t,s) v_n(s) ds + \alpha_n(t), \qquad (2.8)$$

where

$$K_n(t,s) = \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_n^2(t-\tau)} K(\tau,s) d\tau, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\alpha_n(t) = e^{-\lambda_n^2 t} \psi_n + \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_n^2(t-\tau)} g_n(\tau) f[\tau, u(\tau)] d\tau$$
(2.10)

The solution of integral equation (2.8) we find by the formula [1]:

$$v_n(t) = \lambda \int_0^T R_n(t, s, \lambda) \alpha_n(s) ds + \alpha_n(t), \qquad (2.11)$$

where

$$R_n(t, s, \lambda) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda^{i-1} K_{n,i}(t, s), \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$
(2.12)

is the resolvent  $K_{n,1}(t,s) \equiv K_n(t,s)$ , and the iterated kernels  $K_{n,i}(t,s)$  are defined by the formula [1]

$$K_{n,i+1}(t,s) = \int_0^T K_n(t,\eta) K_{n,i}(\eta,s) d\eta, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$
(2.13)

for each n = 1, 2, 3, ... We investigate the convergence of Neumann series (2.12). According to (2.9) and (2.13) by direct calculation the following estimates are established

$$\left|K_{n,i}(t,s)\right|^{2} \leq \frac{(K_{0}T)^{i-1}}{(2\lambda_{n}^{2})^{i}} \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(\eta,s) d\eta, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
(2.14)

Neumann series (2.12) is dominated by the numerical series

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \lambda^{i-1} K_{n,i}(t,s) &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\lambda|^{i-1} \left| K_{n,i}(t,s) \right| \\ &\leq \left( \int_0^T K^2(\eta,s) d\eta \right)^{1/2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_n^2}} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( |\lambda| \frac{\sqrt{K_0 T}}{\sqrt{2\lambda_n^2}} \right)^{i-1}, \end{split}$$

which converges for every n = 1, 2, 3, ... for the values of the parameter  $\lambda$  that satisfy the inequality

$$|\lambda| \frac{\sqrt{K_0 T}}{\sqrt{2\lambda_n^2}} < 1.$$

Note that

$$|\lambda| < \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{K_0 T}} \lambda_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \infty,$$

806

i.e. the radius of convergence increases when *n* is growing. However, the Neumann series, for the parameter values  $\lambda$  that satisfy the condition

$$|\lambda| < \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{K_0 T}} \lambda_1, \quad \lambda \neq 0 \tag{2.15}$$

converges absolutely for any n = 1, 2, 3, ... In this case the resolvent as the sum of an absolutely convergent series is a continuous function and satisfies the following estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \left| R_{n}(t,s,\lambda) \right| &\leq \left( \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(\eta,s) d\eta \right)^{1/2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_{n}^{2}}} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \left| \lambda \right| \frac{\sqrt{K_{0}T}}{\sqrt{2\lambda_{n}^{2}}} \right)^{i-1} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - \left| \lambda \right| \sqrt{K_{0}T}} \left( \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(\eta,s) d\eta \right)^{1/2}, \\ \int_{0}^{T} R_{n}^{2}(t,s,\lambda) ds &\leq \frac{1}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - \left| \lambda \right| \sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(\eta,s) d\eta ds \\ &= \frac{K_{0}}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - \left| \lambda \right| \sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.16)

Thus, the solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3) we find by (2.6), where  $v_n(t)$  is defined by formula (2.11) as the unique solution of integral equation (2.8). It is easy to verify that this solution satisfies initial condition (2.2).

Now we show that this solution is an element of the space  $H(Q_T)$ . Taking into account (2.9) and (2.10) by direct calculation it is easy to show that the following inequality holds

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^T \int_Q v^2(t,x) dx dt \\ &\leq \int_0^T \int_Q \left( \sum_{n=1}^\infty v(t) z_n(x) \right)^2 dx dt = \int_0^T \sum_{n=1}^\infty v_n^2(t) dt \\ &\leq \int_0^T \sum_{n=1}^\infty \left( \lambda \int_0^T R_n(t,s,\lambda) \alpha_n(s) ds + \alpha_n(t) \right)^2 dt \\ &\leq 2 \int_0^T \sum_{n=1}^\infty \left( \lambda^2 \int_0^T R_n^2(t,s,\lambda) ds \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds + \alpha_n^2(t) \right) dt \\ &\leq 2 \left( \frac{\lambda^2 K_0 T}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds + \int_0^T \sum_{n=1}^\infty \alpha_n^2(t) dt \right) \end{split}$$

A. Kerimbekov

$$\leq 2 \left( \frac{2\lambda^2 K_0 T}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2} + 1 \right) \\ \times 2T \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi_n^2 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_0^T g_n^2(\tau) d\tau \int_0^T f^2[\tau, u(\tau)] d\tau \right) \\ = 4T \left( \frac{\lambda^2 K_0 T}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2} + 1 \right) \\ \times \left\{ \|\psi(x)\|_H^2 + \left( \|g(t, x)\|_H^2 \|f[t, u(t)]\|_H^2 \right) \right\}.$$

From this inequality it follows that  $v(t, x) \in H(Q_T)$ . When the functions  $v_n(t)$ , n = 1, 2, 3, ..., are determined by formulas (2.11)–(2.12), it is not always possible to find the exact resolvent  $R_n(t, s, \lambda)$ . In practice, the approximations of the resolvent are considered most often. The truncated series of the form

$$R_n^m(t,s,\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda^{i-1} K_{n,i}(t,s), \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$
(2.17)

is called *m*th approximation of the resolvent  $R_n(t, s, \lambda)$  for each fixed n = 1, 2, 3, ...

The function  $v_n^m(t)$  defined by the formula

$$v_n^m(t) = \lambda \int_0^T R_n^m(t, s, \lambda) \alpha_n(s) ds + \alpha_n(t), \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$
(2.18)

is called the *m*th approximation of the function  $v_n(t)$  for each fixed n = 1, 2, 3, ...

According to the formula (2.6), the *m*th approximation of the solution v(t, x) of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3) we find from the formula

$$v^{(m)}(t,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_n^m(t) z_n(x), \qquad (2.19)$$

where  $v_n^m(t)$  have the form (2.18). We show that the approximate solution  $v_n^m(t, x)$  of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3) converges to the exact solution v(t, x) with respect to the norm of the space  $H(Q_T)$ . Taking into account (2.12), (2.14), (2.15), (2.17), (2.18) and the inequality

$$\sum_{i=m+1}^{\infty} \alpha^{i} \le \alpha^{m+1} + \int_{m+1}^{\infty} \alpha^{x} dx = \alpha^{m+1} + \frac{1}{\ln \alpha} \alpha^{x} \Big|_{m+1}^{\infty} = \alpha^{m+1} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\ln \alpha} \right),$$
  
0 < \alpha < 1,

by direct computation we find that

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_n(t) - v_n^m(t) \end{bmatrix}^2 = \left(\lambda \int_0^T \left[R_n(t, s, \lambda) - R_n^m(t, s, \lambda)\right] \alpha_n(s) ds\right)^2$$
  

$$\leq \lambda^2 \int_0^T \left[R_n(t, s, \lambda) - R_n^m(t, s, \lambda)\right]^2 ds \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds$$
  

$$\leq \lambda^2 \int_0^T \left(\sum_{i=m+1}^\infty |\lambda|^{i-1} |K_{n,i}(t, s)|\right)^2 ds \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds$$
  

$$\leq \lambda^2 \frac{K_0}{2\lambda_n^2} \left(\sum_{i=m+1}^\infty \left(|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}\right)^{i-1}\right)^2 \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds$$
  

$$\leq \frac{\lambda^2 K_0}{2\lambda_n^2} \left(|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}\right)^{2m} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\ln|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}}\right)^2$$
  

$$\times \int_0^T \alpha_n^2(s) ds \leq C_n(\lambda) \left(|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}\right)^{2m}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where

$$C_{n}(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0}}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\ln |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}}} \right)^{2} \times \left( \psi_{n}^{2}(x) + \int_{0}^{T} g_{n}^{2}(\tau) d\tau \| f[t, u(t)] \|_{H}^{2} \right).$$
(2.21)

Note that, because the parameter  $\lambda$  satisfies (2.15), we have the inequality

$$0 < 1 - \frac{1}{\ln|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}} < \infty.$$
(2.22)

The convergence of the approximate solutions of boundary-value problem follows from

$$\begin{aligned} \|v(t,x) - v^{m}(t,x)\|_{H}^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [v_{n}(t) - v_{n}^{m}(t)] z_{n}(x) \right)^{2} dx dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [v_{n}(t) - v_{n}^{m}(t)]^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} C_{n}(\lambda) \left( |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}} \right)^{2m} dt \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0}}{\lambda_{1}^{2}} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\ln |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}}} \right)^{2} \\ \times \left( \psi_{n}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} g_{n}^{2}(\tau) d\tau \| f[t, u(t)] \|_{n}^{2} \right) \left( |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}} \right)^{2m} dt \\ \leq \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0}T}{\lambda_{1}^{2}} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\ln |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}}} \right)^{2} \\ \times \left( \| \psi(x) \|_{H}^{2} + \| g(t, x) \|_{H}^{2} \| f[t, u(t)] \|_{H}^{2} \right) \left( |\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}} \right)^{2m} \xrightarrow{m \to \infty} 0.$$

# **3** Formulation of Optimal Control Problem and Conditions of Optimality

Consider the optimization problem in which it is required to minimize the integral functional

$$J[u(t)] = \int_{Q} \left[ v(T, x) - \xi(x) \right]^2 dx + 2\beta \int_{0}^{T} M[t, u(t)] dt, \quad \beta > 0,$$
(3.1)

where  $\xi(x) \in H(Q)$ ,  $M_u[t, u(t)] \in H(0, T)$ —are given functions on the set of solutions of problem (2.1)–(2.3), i.e. we need to find the control  $u^0(t) \in H(0, T)$  which together with the corresponding solution  $v^0(t, x)$  of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3) gives the smallest possible value of functional (3.1). In this case  $u^0(t)$  is called the optimal control, and  $v^0(t, x)$  the optimal process.

Since by condition (2.5) each control u(t) uniquely defines the controlled process v(t, x), the solution of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3) of the form  $v(t, x) + \Delta v(t, x)$  corresponds to the control  $u(t) + \Delta u(t)$ , where  $\Delta v(t, x)$  is the increment corresponding to the increment  $\Delta u(t)$ . According to the procedure of application of the maximum principle [3, 4, 6], the increment of the functional (3.1) can be written as

$$\Delta J[u] = J[u + \Delta u] - J[u]$$
  
=  $-\int_0^T \Delta \Pi [t, v(t, x), \omega(t, x), u(t)] dt + \int_Q \Delta v^2(T, x) dx,$  (3.2)

where

$$\Delta \Pi(t, v, \omega, u) = \Pi(t, v(t, x), \omega(t, x), u(t) + \Delta u(t)) - \Pi(t, v(t, x), \omega(t, x), u(t)),$$

$$\Pi(t, v(t, x), \omega(t, x), u(t)) = \int_{Q} g(t, x)\omega(t, x)dxf[t, u(t)] - 2\beta M[t, u(t)],$$
(3.3)

and the function  $\omega(t, x)$  is a solution of the adjoint boundary value problem

$$\omega_t + A\omega + \int_0^T K(\tau, t)\omega(\tau, x)d\tau = 0, \quad x \in Q, \ 0 \le t < T,$$
  

$$\omega(T, x) + 2[v(T, x) - \xi(x)] = 0, \quad x \in Q,$$
  

$$\Gamma\omega(t, x) = 0, \quad x \in q.$$
(3.4)

According to the maximum principle for systems with distributed parameters [6], the optimal control is determined by the relations

$$2\beta M_u[t, u(t)] f_u^{-1}[t, u(t)] = \int_Q g(t, x) \omega(t, x) dx, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$f_{u}[t, u(t)] \left(\frac{M_{u}[t, u(t)]}{f_{u}[t, u(t)]}\right)_{u} > 0,$$
(3.6)

which are called the optimality conditions.

## 4 Solution of the Adjoint Boundary-Value Problem

We are looking for solution of boundary value problem (3.4) in the form of the series

$$\omega(t,x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \omega_n(t) z_n(x).$$
(4.1)

It is easy to verify that the Fourier coefficients  $\omega(t, x)$  for each fixed  $n = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$ , satisfy the conditions

$$\omega'_n(t) - \lambda_n^2 \omega_n(t) = -\lambda \int_0^T K(\tau, t) \omega_n(\tau) d\tau,$$
$$\omega_n(T) + 2 \big[ v_n(T) - \xi_n \big] = 0,$$

which can be converted to the linear non-homogeneous Fredholm integral equation of the second type

$$\omega_n(t) = \lambda \int_0^T B_n(s,t)\omega_n(s)ds - 2e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} \big[v_n(T) - \xi_n\big], \tag{4.2}$$

where the kernel

$$B_n(s,t) = \int_t^T e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} K(s,\tau) d\tau \quad \text{and} \quad B_n(s,T) = 0.$$
(4.3)

The solution of (4.2) we find by the formula [1]

$$\omega_n(t) = -2 \big[ v_n(T) - \xi_n \big] \bigg( e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} + \lambda \int_0^T P_n(s, t, \lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-s)} ds \bigg), \quad (4.4)$$

where the resolvent  $P_n(s, t, \lambda)$  of the kernel  $B_n(s, t)$  is given by

$$P_n(s, t, \lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \lambda^{i-1} B_{n,i}(s, t),$$
  
$$B_{n,i+1}(s, t) = \int_0^T B_n(\eta, t) B_{n,i}(s, \eta) d\eta, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$

and by the condition (2.14) it is a continuous function, and satisfies the inequality

$$|P_n(s,t,\lambda)| \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda|\sqrt{K_0T}} \left(\int_0^T K^2(\eta,s)d\eta\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (4.5)

It is easy to verify that  $\omega(t, x)$  is an element of the space H(Q). This follows from the inequality

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} \omega^{2}(t, x) dx dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \omega_{n}(t) z_{n}(x) \right)^{2} dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \omega_{n}^{2}(t) dt \\ &\leq 8 \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [v_{n}(T) - \xi_{n}]^{2} \\ &\times \left( e^{-2\lambda_{n}^{2}(T-t)} + \lambda^{2} \int_{0}^{T} P_{n}^{2}(s, t, \lambda) ds \int_{0}^{T} e^{-2\lambda_{n}^{2}(T-s)} ds \right) dt \\ &\leq 8 \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [v_{n}(T) - \xi_{n}]^{2} \\ &\times \left( 1 + \lambda^{2} \frac{1}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} K^{2}(s, \eta) d\eta ds \frac{1}{2\lambda_{1}^{n}} \right) dt \end{split}$$

On the Solvability of a Nonlinear Optimal Control Problem

$$\leq 16T \left(1 + \frac{\lambda^2 K_0}{(2\lambda_1^2 \sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(v_n^2(T) - \xi_n^2\right) < \infty,$$

which holds by the following relations

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_n^2(T) < \infty \text{ and } \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \xi_n^2 = \|\xi(x)\|_H^2.$$

# **5** Nonlinear Integral Equation of Optimal Control

We find the optimal control according to optimality conditions (3.5) and (3.6). We substitute in (3.5) the solution of adjoint boundary value problem (3.4) defined by (4.1) and (4.4). First, we calculate the integral

$$\int_{Q} g(t,x)\omega(t,x)dx = \int_{Q} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n(t)z_n(x) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \omega_k(t)z_k(x)dx = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n(t)\omega_n(t)$$

and rewrite equality (3.5) in the form

$$\beta M_u[t, u(t)] f_u^{-1}[t, u(t)] \\= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n(t) [v_n(T) - \xi_n] \bigg( e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} + \lambda \int_0^T P_n(s, t, \lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-s)} ds \bigg).$$

According to (2.6), we reduce this equality to the form

$$\beta M_u[t, u(t)] f_u^{-1}[t, u(t)] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_n(t, \lambda) \int_0^T G_n(s, \lambda) f[s, u(s)] ds$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_n(t, \lambda) h_n,$$
(5.1)

where

$$L_n(t,\lambda) = g_n(t) \bigg[ e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} + \lambda \int_0^T P_n(\tau,t,\lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-\tau)} d\tau \bigg], \qquad (5.2)$$

$$G_n(t,\lambda) = g_n(t) \bigg[ e^{-\lambda_n^2(T-t)} + \lambda \int_t^T R_n(T,\tau,\lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(\tau-t)} d\tau \bigg], \qquad (5.3)$$

$$h_n = \xi_n - \psi_n \bigg[ e^{-\lambda_n^2 T} + \lambda \int_0^T R_n(T, \tau, \lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2 \tau} d\tau \bigg].$$
 (5.4)

Thus, the optimal control is defined as the solution of nonlinear integral equation (5.1), and here we must have condition (3.6). Condition (3.6) restricts the class of functions of external actions f[t, u(t)]. Therefore, we assume that the function f[t, u(t)] satisfies (3.6) for any control  $u(t) \in H(0, T)$ .

Nonlinear integral equation (5.1) is solved according to the procedure of work [7]. We set

$$\beta M_u[t, u(t)] f_u^{-1}[t, u(t)] = p(t).$$
(5.5)

**Lemma 5.1** The function p(t) is an element of space H(0, T).

*Proof* By (2.5), we have the estimate

$$\left|f_{u}^{-1}\left[t,u(t)\right]\right| \leq M_{0}, \quad \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Since  $u(t) \in H(0, T)$ , the statement of the lemma follows by the inequality

$$\int_0^T p^2(t)dt \le \beta^2 \int_0^T |f_u^{-1}[t, u(t)]|^2 |M_u[t, u(t)]|^2 dt$$
$$\le \beta^2 M_0^2 \int_0^T M_u^2[t, u(t)](t)dt < \infty.$$

According to (3.6), the control u(t) is uniquely determined by equality (5.5), i.e. there is a function  $\varphi$  such that

$$u(t) = \varphi(t, p(t), \beta).$$
(5.6)

By (5.5) and (5.6) we rewrite (5.1) in the form

$$p(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_n(t,\lambda) \int_0^T G_n(s,\lambda) f[s,\varphi(s,p(s),\beta)] ds = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_n(t,\lambda) h_n, \quad (5.7)$$

or in the operator form

$$p(t) = G[p(t)], \tag{5.8}$$

where

$$G[p(t)] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_n(t,\lambda) \left[ h_n - \int_0^T G_n(s,\lambda) f[s,\varphi(s,p(s),\beta)] ds \right].$$
(5.9)

Now we turn to the problem of unique solvability of operator equation (5.8).

**Lemma 5.2** The operator G maps the space H(0, T) into itself, i.e. G[p(t)] is an element of the space H(0, T).

*Proof* By direct calculation we have the inequality

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} G^{2}[p(t)]dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_{n}(t,\lambda) \Big[ h_{n} - \int_{0}^{T} G_{n}(s,\lambda) f \big[ s, \varphi(s,p(s),\beta) \big] ds \Big] \right)^{2} dt \\ &\leq 2 \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} L_{n}^{2}(t,\lambda) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Big[ h_{n}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} G_{n}^{2}(s,\lambda) ds \int_{0}^{T} f^{2} \big[ s, \varphi(s,p(s),\beta) \big] ds \Big] dt \\ &\leq 2 \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2 g_{n}^{2}(t) \Big[ e^{-2\lambda_{n}^{2}(T-t)} \\ &+ \lambda^{2} \int_{0}^{T} P_{n}^{2}(\tau,t,\lambda) d\tau \int_{0}^{T} e^{-2\lambda_{n}^{2}(T-\tau)} d\tau \Big] \Big\{ 2 \Big[ \|\xi(x)\|_{H}^{2} \\ &+ 2 \Big( 1 + \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0}}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \frac{1}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} \Big) \|\psi(x)\|_{H}^{2} \Big] \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2 g_{n}^{2}(t) \Big( 1 + \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0} T}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \Big) \|f[s,\varphi(s,p(s),\beta)]\|_{H}^{2} \Big\} dt \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_{n}^{2}(t) dt < \infty, \end{split}$$

from which the statement of the lemma follows.

Lemma 5.3 Suppose conditions

$$\left\|f\left[t,u(t)\right] - f\left[t,\overline{u}(t)\right]\right\|_{H} \le f_{0}\left\|u(t) - \overline{u}(t)\right\|_{H}, \quad f_{0} > 0$$
(5.10)

and

$$\left\|\varphi\left[t,\,p(t),\,\beta\right] - \varphi\left[t,\,\overline{p}(t),\,\beta\right]\right\|_{H} \le \varphi_{0}(\beta)\left\|p(t) - \overline{p}(t)\right\|_{H}, \quad \varphi_{0}(\beta) > 0 \quad (5.11)$$

are satisfied. Then if the condition

$$\gamma = 2 \left\| g(t,x) \right\|_{H}^{2} \left( 1 + \frac{a_{0}^{2} K_{0}}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - a_{0}\sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \right) f_{0}\varphi_{0}(\beta) < 1,$$
(5.12)

is met, where  $\alpha_0$  is a positive constant satisfying the inequality

$$|\lambda| \le a_0 < \frac{\sqrt{2\lambda_1}}{\sqrt{K_0 T}},\tag{5.13}$$

then the operator G is contractive.

*Proof* By direct calculations, we have the inequality

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^T \left| G[p] - G[\overline{p}] \right|^2 dt \\ &= \int_0^T \left( \sum_{n=1}^\infty L_n(t,\lambda) \int_0^T G_n(s,\lambda) \right. \\ &\times \left( f\left[ s, \varphi\left( s, p(s), \beta \right) \right] - f\left[ s, \varphi\left( s, \overline{p}(s), \beta \right) \right] \right) ds \right)^2 dt \\ &\leq \int_0^T \sum_{n=1}^\infty L_n^2(t,\lambda) \sum_{n=1}^\infty \int_0^T G_n^2(s,\lambda) ds \int_0^T \left( f\left[ s, \varphi\left( s, p(s), \beta \right) \right] \right. \\ &- f\left[ s, \varphi\left( s, \overline{p}(s), \beta \right) \right] \right)^2 ds dt \\ &\leq \left[ 2 \left\| g(t,x) \right\|_H^2 \left( 1 + \frac{\lambda^2 K_0}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2} \right) f_0 \varphi_0(\beta) \left\| p(s) - \overline{p}(s) \right\|_H \right]^2, \end{split}$$

from which we find that

$$\begin{split} \left\| G[p] - G[\overline{p}] \right\|_{H} \\ &\leq 2 \left\| g(t,x) \right\|_{H}^{2} \left( 1 + \frac{\lambda^{2} K_{0}}{(\sqrt{2\lambda_{1}^{2}} - |\lambda|\sqrt{K_{0}T})^{2}} \right) f_{0} \varphi_{0}(\beta) \left\| p(t) - \overline{p}(t) \right\|_{H}. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 5.4** Suppose that conditions (2.4)–(2.5), (3.6), (4.5), (5.10)–(5.13) are satisfied. Then operator equation (5.8) has a unique solution in the space H(0, T).

*Proof* According to Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2, operator equation (5.8) can be considered in the space H(0, T). According to Lemma 5.3 operator *G* is contractive. Since the Hilbert space H(0, T) is a complete metric space, by the theorem on contraction mappings the operator *G* has a unique fixed point, i.e. operator equation (5.8) has a unique solution.

The solution of operator equation (5.8) can be found by the method of successive approximations, i.e. *n*th approximation of the solution is found by the formula

$$p_n(t) = G[p_{n-1}(t)], \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots,$$

where  $p_0(t)$  is an arbitrary element of the space H(0, T), and we have the estimate

$$\left\|\overline{p}(t) - p_n(t)\right\| \le \frac{\gamma^n}{1 - \gamma} \left\|G\left[p_0(t)\right] - p_0(t)\right\|_H,$$
 (5.14)

where  $0 < \gamma < 1$  is the construction constant. The exact solution can be found as the limit of the approximate solutions, i.e.

$$\overline{p}(t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} p_n(t).$$

Substituting this solution in (5.6) we find the required optimal control

$$u^{0}(t) = \varphi \left[ t, \overline{p}(t), \beta \right].$$
(5.15)

The optimal process  $v^0(t, x)$ , i.e. the solution of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.5) corresponding to the optimal control  $u^0(t)$ , according to (2.6) and (2.7) we find from the formula

$$v^{0}(t,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \lambda \int_{0}^{T} R_{n}(t,s,\lambda) a_{n}(s) ds - a_{n}(t) \right) z_{n}(x)$$
  
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \psi_{n} \left( e^{-\lambda_{n}^{2}t} + \lambda \int_{0}^{T} R_{n}(t,s,\lambda) e^{-\lambda_{n}^{2}s} \right) ds + \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda_{n}^{2}(t-\tau)} g_{n}(\tau) f[\tau, u^{0}(\tau)] d\tau + \lambda \int_{0}^{T} R_{n}(t,s,\lambda) \int_{0}^{s} e^{-\lambda_{n}^{2}(s-\eta)} g_{n}(\eta) f[\eta, u^{0}(\eta)] d\eta ds \right] z_{n}(x). \quad (5.16)$$

The minimum value of the functional (3.2) is calculated by the formula

$$J[u^{0}(t)] = \int_{0}^{1} [v^{0}(T, x) - \xi(x)]^{2} dx + \beta \int_{0}^{T} M[t, u^{0}(t)] dt.$$
(5.17)

The found triple  $(u^0(t), v^0(t, x), J[u^0(t)])$  is a solution of the nonlinear optimization problem.

#### 6 An Approximate Solution of the Optimization Problem

In practice, it is not always possible to find the exact solution of (5.8), i.e. the limit function  $\overline{p}(t)$ . Therefore, in most of the cases only approximate solutions  $p_k(t)$  of (5.8) are looked for, where the number k is determined by the inequality

$$\left\|\overline{p}(t) - p_k(t)\right\|_H \le \frac{\gamma^k}{1 - \gamma} \left\|G\left[p_0(t)\right] - p_0(t)\right\|_H < \varepsilon$$
(6.1)

for given  $\varepsilon > 0$ . By substituting the approximate solution  $p_k(t)$  in (5.6) we find the *k*th approximation of optimal control

$$u_k(t) = \varphi[t, p_k(t), \beta].$$
(6.2)

**Lemma 6.1** Let the function  $\varphi[t, \vartheta(t), \beta]$  satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to the functional variable  $\vartheta(t)$ , i.e.

$$\left\| \varphi \left[ t, \vartheta_1(t), \beta \right] - \varphi \left[ t, \vartheta_2(t), \beta \right] \right\|_H \le \varphi_0(\beta) \left\| \left( \vartheta_1(t) - \vartheta_2(t) \right\| \right)_H,$$
  
$$\varphi_0(\beta) > 0.$$
 (6.3)

Then the kth approximate controls converge to the optimal control  $u^0(t)$  in the norm of the Hilbert space H(Q) as  $k \to \infty$ .

Proof Lemma's assertion follows from the inequality

$$\|u^{0}(t) - u_{k}(t)\|_{H} = \|\varphi[t, p^{0}(t), \beta] - \varphi[t, p_{k}(t), \beta]\|_{H}$$
  

$$\leq \varphi_{0}(\beta) \|p^{0}(t) - p_{k}(t)\|_{H}$$
  

$$\leq \varphi_{0}(\beta) \frac{\gamma^{k}}{1 - \gamma} \|G[p_{0}(t)] - p_{0}(t)\|_{H} \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} 0.$$
(6.4)

**Lemma 6.2** Let the function f[t, u(t)] satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to the functional variable u(t), i.e.

$$\left\| f[t, u_1(t)] - f[t, u_2(t)] \right\|_H \le f_0 \left\| u_1(t) - u_2(t) \right\|_H$$
(6.5)

and we have (6.3). Then m, kth approximations of the solution  $v_k^m(t, x)$  of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3) converge to the exact solution v(t, x) in the norm of the Hilbert space H(Q) as  $m, k \to \infty$ .

*Proof* Approximations of the optimal process  $v^0(t, x)$  are determined by two indices k and m and have the form

$$v_k^m(t,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \psi_n \left( e^{-\lambda_n^2 t} + \lambda \int_0^T R_n^m(t,s,\lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2 s} ds \right) \right. \\ \left. + \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_n^2(t-\tau)} g_n(\tau) f\left[\tau, u_k(\tau)\right] d\tau \right. \\ \left. + \lambda \int_0^T g_n(\tau) \int_0^T R_n^m(t,s,\lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(s-\tau)} ds f\left[\tau, u_k(\tau)\right] d\tau \right\} z_n(x).$$
(6.6)

Since

$$v^{0}(t,x) - v_{k}^{m}(t,x)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \psi_{n} \lambda \int_{0}^{T} \left[ R_{n}(t,s,\lambda) - R_{n}^{m}(t,s,\lambda) \right] e^{-\lambda_{n}^{2}s} \right\} ds$$

On the Solvability of a Nonlinear Optimal Control Problem

$$+ \int_0^T e^{-\lambda_n^2(t-\tau)} g_n(\tau) \Big[ f\big(\tau, u^0(\tau)\big) - f\big(\tau, u_k(\tau)\big) \Big] d\tau + \lambda \int_0^T g_n(\tau) \int_{\tau}^T \Big[ R_n(t, s, \lambda) - R_n^m(t, s, \lambda) \Big] e^{-\lambda_n^2(s-\tau)} ds f \Big[\tau, u^0(\tau)\Big] d\tau + \lambda \int_0^T g_n(\tau) \int_{\tau}^T R_n^m(t, s, \lambda) e^{-\lambda_n^2(s-\tau)} ds \times \Big[ f\big(\tau, u^0(\tau)\big) - f\big(\tau, u_k(\tau)\big) \Big] d\tau z_n(x),$$

by calculations, used to prove the convergence of the approximate solutions of boundary value problem (2.1)–(2.3), we get the relation

$$\left\|v^{0}(t,x)-v_{k}^{m}(t,x)\right\|_{H}^{2} \leq C_{1}(\lambda)\left(|\lambda|\sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}}\right)^{2m}+C_{2}(\lambda)\left(\frac{\gamma^{k}}{1-\gamma}\right)^{2}\xrightarrow[m,k\to\infty]{}0,$$

where

$$\begin{split} C_1(\lambda) &= \left( \left\| \psi(x) \right\|_H^2 + \left\| f[t, u(t)] \right\|_H^2 \cdot \left\| g(t, x) \right\|_H^2 \right) \frac{\lambda^2 K_0 T}{4} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\ln|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_0 T}{2\lambda_1^2}}} \right), \\ C_2(\lambda) &= 4 \left( 1 + \frac{\lambda^2 K_0}{2\lambda_1^2 (\sqrt{2\lambda_1^2} - |\lambda| \sqrt{K_0 T})^2} \right) \end{split}$$

$$\times T \|g(t,x)\|_{H}^{2} f_{0}^{2} \varphi_{0}^{2}(\beta) \|G[p_{0}(t)] - p_{0}(t)\|_{H}^{2},$$

by which assertion of the lemma follows.

**Lemma 6.3** The *m*, *k*th approximations  $J_m[u_k(t)]$  of the minimum value of the functional  $J[u^0(t)]$  converges to the exact value as  $m, k \to \infty$ .

Proof Since

$$J[u^{0}(t)] = \int_{Q} [v^{0}(T, x) - \xi(x)]^{2} dx + \beta \int_{0}^{T} M[t, u^{0}(t)] dt,$$
  
$$J_{m}[u_{k}(t)] = \int_{Q} [v_{k}^{m}(T, x) - \xi(x)]^{2} dx + \beta \int_{0}^{T} M[t, u_{k}(t)] dt,$$

it is not difficult to obtain the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left| J [u^{0}(t)] - J_{m} [u_{k}(t)] \right| \\ &= \int_{Q} \left\{ \left[ v^{0}(T, x) - \xi(x) \right]^{2} - \left[ v_{k}^{m}(T, x) - \xi(x) \right]^{2} \right\} dx \\ &+ 2\beta \int_{0}^{T} \left( M [t, u^{0}(t)] - M [t, u_{k}(t)] \right) dt \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \left\| v^{0}(T,x) + v_{k}^{m}(T,x) - 2\xi(x) \right\|_{H} \left\| v^{0}(T,x) - v_{k}^{m}(T,x) \right\|_{H} + 2\beta\sqrt{T} \left\| M[t,u^{0}(t)] - M[t,u_{k}(t)] \right\|_{H} \leq \left\| v^{0}(T,x) + v_{k}^{m}(T,x) - 2\xi(x) \right\|_{H} \left\| v^{0}(T,x) - v_{k}^{m}(T,x) \right\|_{H} + 2\beta\sqrt{T}m_{0} \left\| u^{0}(t) - u_{k}(t) \right\|_{H}.$$

By Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2, and in view of the fact that

$$\begin{split} u^0(t) &\in H(0,T), \qquad v(T,x) \in H(0,1), \\ \xi(x) &\in H(0,1), \qquad f \big[ t, u(t) \big] \in H(0,T), \end{split}$$

we obtain the relation

$$\begin{split} \left|J\left[u^{0}(t)\right] - J_{m}\left[u_{k}(t)\right]\right| &\leq C_{0}(\lambda) \left[C_{1}(\lambda) \left(|\lambda| \sqrt{\frac{K_{0}T}{2\lambda_{1}^{2}}}\right)^{2m} + C_{2}(\lambda) \left(\frac{\gamma^{k}}{1-\gamma}\right)^{2}\right]^{1/2} \\ &+ 2\beta \sqrt{T}\varphi_{0}(\beta) \left\|G\left[p_{0}(t)\right] - p_{0}(t)\right\|_{H} \frac{\gamma^{k}}{1-\gamma} \xrightarrow[m,k\to\infty]{} 0, \end{split}$$

where

$$C_0(\lambda) \ge \|v^0(T, x) + v_m^k(T, x) - 2\xi(x)\|_{H^1}$$

by which the statement of the lemma follows.

Thus, by Lemmas 6.1–6.3 it is proved that the approximate solutions  $(u^k(t), v_m^k(t, x), J[u^k(t)])$  of the problem of the nonlinear optimization converge to the exact solution  $(u^0(t), v^0(t, x), J[u^0(t)])$  with respect to control, optimal process and functional.

## 7 Conclusion

The obtained results are theoretical and can be used to develop methods for studying optimal control of systems with nonlinear by distributed parameter and constructive methods for solving them. They can be applied to solving applied problems.

#### References

- 1. R. Frédéric, S.-N. Béla, Leçons d'analyse fonctionnelle, (1953), Budapest
- A.K. Kerimbekov, On solvability of the nonlinear optimal control problem for processes described by the semi-linear parabolic equations, in *Proceedings World Congress on Engineering* 2011, London, UK, 6–8 July, vol. 1 (2011), pp. 270–275

- 3. J.L. Lions, *Contrôle optimal de systèmes gouvernés par des equations aux derives partielles* (Dunod/Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1968)
- 4. K. Rectorys, Variational Methods in Mathematics, Science and Engineering (Reidel, Dordrecht, 1980)
- 5. R.D. Richtmyer *Principles of Advanced Mathematical Physics*, vol. 1 (Springer, New York, 1978)
- 6. K. Vadim, Optimal Control Theory for the Damping of Vibrations of Simple Elastic Systems (Springer, Berlin, 1972)
- V.S. Vladimirov, Mathematical problems of single speed theory of particle transport, in *Proceedings of the Mathematical Institute of the USSR Academy of Sciences*, vol. 61 (1961), pp. 3–158

# Exact Null-Controllability of Evolution Equations by Smooth Controls and Applications to Controllability of Interconnected Systems

#### **B.** Shklyar

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to establish exact null-controllability conditions for a linear evolution equation in the class of smooth controls. Applications to the controllability of system consisting of two serially connected abstract control systems are considered.

**Keywords** Controllability by smooth controls · Interconnected evolution equations · Strongly minimal families

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 93B05 · Secondary 93B28

## **1** Introduction and Problem Statement

Let X be a separable Hilbert space, and let A be an infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup S(t) in X of the class  $C_0$  [5].

Consider the control evolution equation [5] with scalar control<sup>1</sup>

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + bv(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$
(1.1)

where  $x(t), x_0, b \in X, v(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 2 Preliminaries

We assume that the operator A has the following properties.

1. The operator A has the purely point spectrums  $\sigma$  with no finite limit points. Since we use scalar controls we assume the geometrical multiplicity<sup>2</sup> of eigenvalues of the operator A to be equal to 1.

B. Shklyar (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Scalar controls will be considered only for the sake of the simplicity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The geometric multiplicity is the number of Jordan blocks corresponding to  $\lambda_j \in \sigma_1$ . Throughout in the paper it is equal to 1.

Golomb str. 42, P.O. Box 305, 58102 Holon, Israel e-mail: shk\_b@hit.ac.il

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_89

2. The sequence of all eigenvectors of the operators *A* produces a Riesz basis in their linear span.

Let the eigenvalues  $\lambda_j \in \sigma$ , j = 1, 2, ..., be enumerated in the order of nondecreasing absolute values, let  $\alpha_j$  be the algebraic multiplicities of  $\lambda_j \in \sigma$  correspondingly, let  $\varphi_{jk}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k = 1, 2, ..., \alpha_j$  be the generalized eigenvectors of the operator A,  $A\varphi_{j\alpha_j} = \lambda_j\varphi_{j\alpha_j}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $\psi_{jk}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k = 1, 2, ..., \alpha_j$ , be the generalized eigenvectors of the adjoint operator  $A^*$ ,  $A^*\psi_{j\alpha_j} = \overline{\lambda}_j\psi_{j\alpha_j}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , chosen such that  $(\varphi_{s\alpha_s-l+1}, \psi_{jk}) = \delta_{sj}\delta_{lk}$ ,  $s, j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $l = 1, ..., \alpha_s$ ,  $k = 1, ..., \alpha_j$ .

We use the following notations:<sup>3</sup>  $x(t, x^0, v(\cdot))$  is a mild solution of (1.1) with initial condition  $x(0) = x^0$ , generated by the control v(t),  $x_{jk}(t) = (x(t), \psi_{jk})$ ,  $x_{jk}^0 = (x_0, \psi_{jk}), b_{jk} = (b, \psi_{jk}), j \in \mathbb{N}, k = 1, 2, ..., \alpha_j$ ,

$$g_{jk}(-t) = e^{-\lambda_j t} \sum_{l=0}^{\alpha_j - k} b_{jk+l} \frac{(-t)^l}{l!}, \quad t \in [0, t_1], \ j \in \mathbb{N}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, \alpha_j.$$
(2.1)

For the simplicity of the exposition we assume below that all the eigenvalues of the operator *A* are simple. In this case the eigenvector of the operator *A*, corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_j$ , can be denoted by  $\psi_j$ ,  $b_j = (b, \psi_j)$ , j = 1, 2, ..., and the family of generalized exponents (2.1) can be written by exponents  $\{g_j(-t) = b_j e^{-\lambda_j t}, j = 1, 2, ...\}$ . If  $0 \in \sigma$ , then according to our assumption  $\lambda_0 = 0$  is a simple eigenvalue, and  $\sigma = \{\lambda_j, j = 0, 1, 2, ...\}$ . Otherwise  $\sigma = \{\lambda_j, j = 1, 2, ...\}$ . In both cases  $\lambda_j \neq 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., and  $\{g_j(-t) = b_j e^{-\lambda_j t}, j = 0, 1, 2, ...\}$ .

The following property of sequences  $\{x_j \in X, j = 1, 2, ...\}$  is very significant throughout in this paper.

**Definition 2.1** The sequence  $\{x_j \in X, j = 1, 2, ...\}$  is said to be strongly minimal, if there exists a positive number  $\gamma > 0$  such that  $\gamma \sum_{k=1}^{n} |c_k|^2 \le \|\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k x_k\|^2$ , n = 1, 2, ..., where  $\gamma = \lim_{n \to \infty} \min_{\substack{c_1, ..., c_n:\\ \sum_{k=1}^{n} |c_k|^2 = 1}} \|\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_k x_k\|^2$ .

#### **3** Controllability of (1.1) by Smooth Controls

Various types of controllability by **square integrable** and **pointwise** controls, investigated by the method of moments, and solvability conditions for the moments problem, are widely investigated in the literature (see, for example, the books of [1, 8] and references therein). Below exact null-controllability conditions for (1.1) in the class of **smooth** controls are presented. These results are also obtained by the method of moments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>If  $0 \in \sigma$ , we denote  $\lambda_0 = 0$  and we will use  $j \in 0 \cup \mathbb{N}$ .

Denote:  $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{m-1}), \beta = (\beta_0, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_{m-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^m, m \in \mathbb{N},$ 

$$H^m_{\alpha\beta}[0,t_1] = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} v^{(k)}(\cdot) \in C^{(m-k-1)}[0,t_1], k = 0, 1, \dots, m-2, m \ge 2; \\ v^{(m-1)}(\cdot) \in AC[0,t_1], v^{(m)}(\cdot) \in L_2[0,t_1], \\ v^{(k)}(0) = a_k, v^{(k)}(t_1) = \beta_k, k = 0, 1, \dots, m-1. \end{array} \right\}.$$

**Definition 3.1** Equation (1.1) is said to be exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$  by *m*-smooth controls  $v(\cdot) \in H^m_{a0}[0, t_1]$ , if for any  $x_0 \in X$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m$  there exists a control  $v(\cdot) \in H^m_{\alpha 0}[0, t_1]$ , such that  $x(t_1, x_0, v(\cdot)) = 0$ .

**Theorem 3.2** Equation (1.1) is exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$  by m-smooth controls  $v(\cdot) \in H_{a0}^m[0, t_1]$ , if and only if either  $0 \notin \sigma$  or  $0 \in \sigma$  and  $b_0 \neq 0$ , and the family

$$\left\{1, t, \dots, t^{m-1}, \frac{b_j}{\lambda_j^m} e^{-\lambda_{1j}t}, j = 1, 2, \dots\right\}$$
(3.1)

us strongly minimal.

The theorem is proved by reducing the original system to the composite system with respect to the pair (x(t), w(t)), where x(t) is a solution of equation  $w(t) = (v(t), v'(t), \dots, v^{(m-1)}(t))$ . Then eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the obtained system are investigated. The proof is finished by using solvability conditions for moments problem [3, 9], which are exactly equivalent to the strong minimality of the family (3.1) of generalized exponentials.

# 4 Applications. Controllability Conditions of Interconnected Equations by Distributed Controls

The results obtained in the previous sections may be applied to the controllability of interconnected systems.

Let  $X_1, X_2$  be separable Hilbert spaces. Consider the control evolution equation [5] with scalar control

$$\dot{x}_1(t) = A_1 x_1(t) + b_1 v(t), \quad x_1(0) = x_1^0,$$
(4.1)

$$v(t) = (c, x_2(t)), \quad 0 \le t < +\infty,$$
(4.2)

^

where  $x_1(t)$  is a mild solution of (4.1) with initial condition  $x_1(0) = x_1^0$ , and  $x_2(t)$  is a mild solution of the another control equation of the form

$$\dot{x}_2(t) = A_2 x_2(t) + b_2 u(t), \quad 0 \le t < +\infty, \ x_2(0) = x_2^0.$$
 (4.3)

Here  $x_1(t)$ ,  $x_1^0$ ,  $b_1 \in X_1$ , where  $X_1$  is the state space of (4.1),  $v(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x_2(t)$ ,  $x_2^0$ , c,  $b_2 \in X_2$ , where  $X_2$  is the state space of (4.3),  $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ , and the linear operators  $A_1$ 

and  $A_2$  generate strongly continuous  $C_0$ -semigroups  $S_1(t)$  in  $X_1$  and  $S_2(t)$  in  $X_2$  correspondingly [5].

Equation (4.1) is governed by control u(t) of (4.3) via the output (4.2) of (4.3).

**Definition 4.1** Interconnected system (4.1)–(4.3) is said to be exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$  if for any  $x_1^0 \in X_1$  there exists a scalar control  $u(\cdot) \in L_2[0, t_1]$ , such that a mild solution  $x_1(t, x_1^0, v(\cdot))$  of (1.1) with a control v(t) defined by (4.2) satisfies the condition  $x_1(t, x_1^0, v(\cdot)) = 0$ .

We know nothing about differential properties of a generalized solution  $x_2(t)$ , generated by control  $u(\cdot) \in L_2[0, t_1]$ , but in accordance with the definition of a generalized solution of (4.3) the function  $v(t) = (c, x_2(t))$  defined by (4.2) is absolutely continuous for any  $c \in D(A_2^*)$  [2]. In order to keep the control object in the equilibrium state, we will turn off the control v(t) at the end of the control process, i.e.  $v(t) \equiv 0, t \ge t_1$ .

The equation

$$v(t) - (c, x_2^0) = (c, x_2(t)) = \int_0^t (c, S_2(t - \tau)b_2)u(\tau)d\tau$$
(4.4)

is the Volterra integral equation of the first kind with the kernel  $K(t, \tau) = (c, S_2(t - \tau)b_2)$ . So the exact controllability conditions of interconnected system (4.1)–(4.3) is obtained by joining of exact null controllability conditions established in Theorem 3.2 for m = 1 and the solvability conditions of Volterra integral equation (4.4) of the first kind with absolutely continuous function  $v(\cdot)$  in the space of square integrable controls  $u(\cdot)$ .

#### 4.1 Regular Case

#### Theorem 4.2 If

- the family of exponents  $\{1, \frac{b_j}{\lambda_j}e^{-\lambda_1 jt}, j = 1, 2, ...\}$  is strongly minimal,
- $c \in D(A_2^*)$  and  $(c, b_2) \neq 0$ ,

then interconnected equation (4.1)–(4.3) is exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$ .

#### 4.2 Singular Case

If  $(c, b_2) = 0$ , then it turns out that the proof of theorem can be used, if everywhere in the proof to replace the vector  $c \in D(A_2^*)$  by the vector  $A_2^*c \in D(A_2^*)$ , provided that the function v(t) is continuously differentiable,  $\dot{v}(\cdot)$  is absolutely continuous and  $\ddot{v}(\cdot) \in L_2[0, t_1]$ . So the exact controllability conditions of interconnected system (4.1)–(4.3) is obtained by joining of exact null controllability conditions established in Theorem 3.2 for m = 2 and the solvability conditions of Volterra integral equation  $\dot{v}(t) = \int_0^t (c, A_2 S_2(t-\tau)b_2)u(\tau)d\tau$  of the first kind with absolutely continuous function  $\dot{v}(t)$  in the space of square integrable controls  $u(\cdot)$ .

#### Theorem 4.3 If

- the family of exponents  $\{1, t, \frac{b_{1j}}{\lambda_i^2}e^{-\lambda_{1j}t}, j = 1, 2, ...\}$  is strongly minimal,
- $c \in D(A_2^{*^2}), (c, b_2) = 0 \text{ and } (A_2^{*}c, b_2) \neq 0,$

then interconnected equation (4.1)–(4.3) is exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$ .

*Remark 4.4* The same approach can be used, if  $c \in D(A_2^{*^m})$ ,  $(A_2^{*^k}c, b_2) = 0$ , k = 0, 1, ..., m - 2,  $(A_2^{*^{m-1}}c, b_2) \neq 0$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $m \ge 2$ .

#### 4.3 Strong Minimality of Real Exponentials

A direct proof of the strong minimality for a given sequence of exponents sometimes can be tough. Below we present two lemmas which substantially facilitate the establishment of the strong minimality for real exponential families.

**Lemma 4.5** If (i)  $0 < \mu_1 < \mu_2 < \cdots$ , (ii)  $\inf\{\mu_n - \mu_{n-1}\} > 0$ ,  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , (iii) the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\mu_n}$  converges, (iv)  $\beta_n \neq 0$ ,  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , and the Dirichlet series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\mu_n \alpha}}{\beta_n}$  converges for some  $\alpha > 0$ , then the family of real exponentials  $\{\beta_n e^{\mu_n t}, n = 1, 2, \ldots, t \in [0, t_1], \forall t_1 > 0\}$  is strongly minimal.

**Lemma 4.6** If conditions of Lemma 4.5 hold, then the sequence  $\{1, \beta_n e^{\mu_n t}, n = 1, 2, \dots, t \in [0, t_1], \forall t_1 > 0\}$  is strongly minimal.

The proofs of both lemmas are based on results of [4] and [7].

# 5 Examples. Exact Null Controllability of Interconnected Heat Equation and Wave Equation by Distributed Control

Let  $H^2[0,\pi]$ ,  $H_0^1[0,\pi]$  be Sobolev spaces (see [6] for definitions of the spaces  $H^m[a,b]$ ,  $H_0^m[a,b]$ ,  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ ).

We consider the heat equation with distributed control

$$y'_t = y''_{xx} + b_1(x)v(t), \quad 0 \le t \le t_1, \ 0 \le x \le \pi,$$
(5.1)

$$y(0,t) = y(\pi,t) = 0, \quad 0 \le t \le t_1,$$
(5.2)

$$y(x,0) = \varphi(x), \quad 0 \le x \le \pi, \tag{5.3}$$

governed by a control  $u(\cdot)$  of the wave equation

$$z_{tt}'' - z_{xx}'' = b_2(x)u(t), \quad 0 \le t \le t_1, \ 0 \le x \le \pi,$$
(5.4)

$$z(0,t) = z(\pi,t) = 0, \quad 0 \le t \le t_1,$$
(5.5)

$$z(x,0) = \psi_0(x), \quad z'_t(x,0) = \psi_1(x), \ 0 \le x \le \pi,$$
 (5.6)

via the observation

$$v(t) = \int_0^{\pi} \left( c_1'(x) z_x'(x, t) + c_2(x) z_t'(x, t) \right) dx,$$
  

$$0 \le t \le t_1 \pi, \ c_2(\cdot) \in L_2[0, \pi]$$
(5.7)

of wave equation (5.4)–(5.6), where  $c(\cdot) = (c_1(\cdot), c_2(\cdot)) \in H_0^1[0, \pi] \times L_2[0, \pi]$  and  $\varphi, \psi_0, \psi_1, b_1, b_2 \in L_2[0, \pi]$ .

#### 5.1 Controllability Conditions

Denote  $b_{1n} = \int_0^{\pi} b_1(x) \sin nx$ , n = 1, 2, ...

**Theorem 5.1** If the Dirichlet series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^2}{b_{1n}} e^{-n^2 \alpha}$  converges for some  $\alpha > 0$ , then (5.1)–(5.3) is exact null-controllable on  $[0, t_1]$ ,  $\forall t_1 > 0$ , by smooth controls.

#### Theorem 5.2 If

1. the Dirichlet series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^2}{b_{1n}} e^{-n^2 \alpha}$  converges for some  $\alpha > 0$ , 2.  $b_2(\cdot), c_2(\cdot) \in L_2[0, \pi]$ , 3.  $\int_0^{\pi} c_2(x) b_2(x) dx \neq 0$ ,

then system equation (5.1)–(5.3), (5.4)–(5.6), interconnected by (5.7) is exact nullcontrollable on  $[0, t_1]$ ,  $\forall t_1 > 0$ .

For example, conditions of Theorem 5.2 hold true for  $b_1(x) = b_2(x) = x$ ,  $c_2(x) = 1, x \in [0, \pi]$ .

#### 6 Conclusion

Exact null-controllability conditions for abstract control equation (1.1) in the class of smooth controls is established.

One of applications of these results is the exact null-controllability conditions for two interconnected abstract control equations (4.1)–(4.3) governed by a scalar distributed control u(t) of (4.3).

Of course, these results can be extended for series of a number interconnected equations, governed by a control of the last one.

The mutual independence of two exact null-controllability conditions for interconnected systems allow us to use the abstract approach developed in the paper for investigation of various control problems for interconnected systems contained equations of a different nature. For example, (4.1) may be a parabolic control equation, governed by distributed control, and (4.3) may be a linear differential control system with delays. The singular case does not seem to be essential (in our opinion), because there are a lot of practical situations, for which (1.1) and (4.3) are given, and need to decide, how to connect them. It means, that if the case  $(c, b_2) = 0$  occurs, one can always choose other vector c, slightly different from the first one, such that  $(c, b_2) \neq 0$ .

The exact null-controllability for interconnected heat-wave equations is considered as illustrative example only.

The unifying abstract approach for the controllability problem of abstract evolution equations by smooth boundary controls will be considered later.

#### References

- 1. A. Avdonin, S. Ivanov, *Families of Exponentials* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995)
- 2. A. Balakrishnan, Applied Functional Analysis (Springer, New York, 1978)
- 3. R. Boas, A general moment problem. Am. J. Math. 63, 361–370 (1941)
- 4. H. Fattorini, D. Russel, Uniform bounds on biorthogonal functions for real exponents with an application to the control theory of parabolic equations. Q. Appl. Math. **32**, 45–69 (1974)
- 5. E. Hille, R. Philips, Functional Analysis and Semi-Groups (AMS, Providence, 1957)
- V. Hutson, J. Pum, Application of Functional Analysis and Operator Theory (Academic Press, San Diego, 1980)
- S. Kaczmarz, H. Steinhaus, *Theory of Orthogonal Series*. Monographs Mat., vol. 6 (PWN, Warsaw, 1958)
- 8. V. Komornik, P. Loreti, Fourier Series in Control Theory (Springer, New York, 2005)
- 9. R. Young, On a class of Riesz-Fisher sequences. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 126, 1139–1142 (1998)

# On the Sum of Contractive Type of Mappings I: Maps on the Same Class

J.R. Morales and E.M. Rojas

**Abstract** In this paper, we will show that under some conditions the sum of two mappings belonging to a contractive class of maps is a mapping on the same class (but with different contractive parameters).

Keywords Banach space · Fixed point · Contractive mapping

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 47H09 · 47H10 · Secondary 54E50

## **1** Motivation and Preliminaries

Many real world applications are modeled by equations whose corresponding operators can be decompose as the sum of two or more well known operators. For instance, many concrete problems have recently appeared in mathematical physics such as *boundary-transmission problems for the Helmholtz equation* which arises within the context of the analysis of problems of wave diffraction by wedges, that can be reduced to equations characterized by Wiener–Hopf plus Hankel operators [3–6, 12]. This is also the case of some problems in *mechanics* and *control theory, electro-magnetic fluid dynamic* and *reformulation of boundary value problems with a nonlinear boundary condition* which are modeled by Volterra–Fredholm– Hammerstein integral equations [1, 2] and *neural networks* and *spread of diseases* studied by integro-differential equations [16, 21].

On the other hand, the metric theory of fixed points is a very important tool in the study of solvability of equations, giving conditions under which maps have solutions. However, despite that if we consider equations whose related operators have

J.R. Morales  $(\boxtimes)$ 

E.M. Rojas

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad de Los Andes, Mérida 5101, Venezuela e-mail: moralesj@ula.ve

Departamento de Matemáticas, Pontificia Universidad Javeriana, Bogotá, Colombia e-mail: edixon.rojas@javeriana.edu.co

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_90

well-developed fixed point's existence conditions, e.g. Volterra or Fredholm second kind integral operators and, in general, mapping of contractive type, the conditions for the existence and uniqueness of fixed points for linear combinations of these operators is not clear (and therefore the solvability conditions of the associated equation).

Thus, this paper is devoted to study conditions under which the sum of two mappings with fixed point also has a fixed point. For this aim, we will consider some classical classes of contractive type mappings, for which we will prove that under some conditions the sum of two mappings on each one of these classes belongs to the same class but with different contractive parameters. To attain our goals, we are going to assume that a Diaz–Metcalf type inequality is hold.

**Proposition 1.1** (Diaz and Metcalf, 1968, [10]) If  $F : X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a linear functional of a unit norm defined on the normed linear space X endowed with the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  and the vectors  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$  satisfy the condition

$$0 \le r \le F(x_i) \quad i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

then

$$r\sum_{i=1}^n \|x_i\| \le \left\|\sum_{i=1}^n x_i\right\|,$$

where equality holds if and only if both

$$F\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) = r \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_i\| \quad and \quad F\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) = \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right\|.$$

In this paper we are going to consider mappings satisfying the next classical result.

**Theorem 1.2** Let (M, d) be a complete metric space and  $T : M \longrightarrow M$  a map. Then T has a fixed point in M if it satisfies any of the following conditions:

**BC**( $\alpha$ ) (Banach, 1922, see [15]) *T* is an  $\alpha$ -contraction or Banach contraction, this is:

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \alpha d(x, y) \quad \forall x, y \in M, \ 0 \le \alpha < 1.$$

**KA**( $\alpha$ ) (Kannan, 1969, 1971, [17, 18]) T satisfies: there is  $\alpha \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$  such that

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \alpha \big( d(x, Tx) + d(y, Ty) \big) \quad \forall x, y \in M.$$

**CH**( $\alpha$ ) (*Chatterge*, 1972, [7]) *T* satisfies the following condition: there is  $\alpha \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$  such that

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \alpha \big( d(x, Ty) + d(y, Tx) \big) \quad \forall x, y \in M.$$

**RE**(**a**<sub>1</sub>, **a**<sub>2</sub>, **a**<sub>3</sub>) (*Reich*, 1971, [24, 25]) *T* satisfies:

 $d(Tx, Ty) \le a_1 d(x, y) + a_2 d(x, Tx) + a_3 d(y, Ty),$ 

for all  $x, y \in M$ , with  $0 \le a_1 + a_2 + a_3 < 1$ . **RH**( $a_1, a_2, a_3$ ) (*B.E. Rhoades*, 1977, [26] or see [19]) *T* satisfies:

 $d(Tx, Ty) \le a_1 d(x, y) + a_2 d(x, Ty) + a_3 d(y, Tx),$ 

for all  $x, y \in M, 0 \le a_1 + a_2 + a_3 < 1$ .

**HR**( $\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2, \mathbf{a}_3, \mathbf{a}_4, \mathbf{a}_5$ ) (Hardy and Rogers, 1973, [14] or see [13, 20] for instance)  $\forall x, y \in M, T \text{ satisfies: there are } a_i \ge 0 \text{ such that } A = \sum_{i=1}^{5} a_i < 1 \text{ and}$ 

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le a_1 d(x, y) + a_2 d(x, Tx) + a_3 d(y, Ty) + a_4 d(x, Ty) + a_5 d(y, Tx).$$

**D**(**a**, **b**) (*L. Nova*, 1986, [23] or see [8, 9] for instance)  $K \subset M$  closed and  $T: K \longrightarrow K$  an arbitrary operator that satisfies the following condition, for  $a, b \ge 0$  and any  $x, y \in K$ 

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le ad(x, y) + b \left[ d(x, Tx) + d(y, Ty) \right].$$

We shall say *T* belong or is of class  $BC(\alpha)$  (respectively  $KA(\alpha)$ ,  $CH(\alpha)$ ,  $RE(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ ,  $RH(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ ,  $HR(a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5)$ , D(a, b)) when *T* satisfies the condition  $BC(\alpha)$  (respectively  $KA(\alpha)$ ,  $CH(\alpha)$ ,  $RE(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ ,  $RH(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ ,  $HR(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ ,  $RH(a_1, a_3)$ 

Examples showing that the above conditions are independent among each other we can be found in [22]. Also, in [22] the following result was proved.

**Theorem 1.3** Let X be a strictly convex Banach space, and let  $S, T : B_X \longrightarrow B_X$ , where  $B_X$  is the open unit ball of X. If the following conditions hold

(i) S, T ∈ D(a, b).
(ii) x − Tx = r(x − Sx) for any scalar r and every x ∈ B<sub>X</sub>.

Then  $S + T \in D(a, b)$  for a + b sufficiently small.

In the next section we will show analogous results for the classes of mappings consider in the theorem above.

# 2 Main Results

As was established in the introduction, our principal objective is the existence of a fixed point for the map resulting of the sum of two contractive type of mappings. For this reason, we are going to consider the contractive parameters on each one of

the classes considered sufficiently small such that the uniqueness of the fixed point can be guarantee for the mappings on each class (Theorem 1.2).

Let  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  be a Banach space and  $T, S: X \longrightarrow X$  be two mappings. To establish our results we are going to assume that the Diaz–Metcalf's Theorem is satisfies for (I - T)x and (I - S)x for each  $x \in X$ . I.e.,

$$\begin{cases} 0 < r \le F(x - Tx) \\ 0 < r \le F(x - Sx), \end{cases} \quad \text{for all } x \in X. \tag{1}$$

We would like to point out that the case when 0 = r = F(Tx - x) = F(Sx - x) corresponds to the case when *x* in the common fixed point for the pair (*T*, *S*) which or is unique nor exists. This fact justify that in our results we consider only the case r > 0.

First, notice that the closeness under sum for Banach contraction mappings can be assure without any extra assumption.

**Proposition 2.1** Let X be a Banach space, and  $T, S : X \longrightarrow X$  be of classes  $BC(\alpha_1)$ , and  $BC(\alpha_2)$  respectively, then  $T + S \in BC(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)$ .

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in X$  and  $T, S : X \longrightarrow X$ 

$$\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \| \le \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\|$$
  
 
$$\le \alpha_1 \|x - y\| + \alpha_2 \|x - y\| = (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \|x - y\|.$$

**Theorem 2.2** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $T, S : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ , where  $B_X(r)$  is the ball of X with radius  $r \in (0, 1]$ . If the following conditions hold

- (i)  $T \in KA(\alpha_1), S \in KA(\alpha_2)$ .
- (ii) For each  $x \in X$ , the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in KA(\mu^*)$ , where  $\mu^* = \max(\alpha_1/r, \alpha_2/r)$ .

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in B_X(r)$ 

$$\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \|$$
  

$$\leq \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\|$$
  

$$\leq \alpha_1 (\|x - Tx\| + \|y - Ty\|) + \alpha_2 (\|x - Sx\| + \|y - Sy\|)$$
  

$$\leq \mu (\|x - Tx\| + \|y - Ty\| + \|x - Sx\| + \|y - Sy\|)$$

where  $\mu = \max(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$ .

Sum of Contractive Type of Mappings I

Condition (ii) implies that  $||x - Tx|| + ||x - Sx|| \le \frac{1}{r} ||2x - (T + S)x||$ , thus, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| 2x - (T+S)x \right\| + \left\| 2y - (T+S)y \right\| \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| x \right\| + \left\| x - (T+S)x \right\| + \left\| y \right\| + \left\| y - (T+S)y \right\| \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| x - (T+S)x \right\| + \left\| y - (T+S)y \right\| \Big] + 2\mu. \end{split}$$
(2)

Since we are considering contractive parameters  $\mu$  sufficiently small, in particular we choose it such that the next inequality is fulfilled

$$\|(T+S)x - (T+S)y\| \le \mu^* [\|x - (T+S)x\| + \|y - (T+S)y\|].$$
(3)

Hence  $T + S \in KA(\mu^*)$ , where  $\mu^* = \max(\alpha_1/r, \alpha_2/r)$ .

*Remark 1* We would like to point out that the value of  $\mu^*$  is not unique. For instance, if we assume

$$\mu \leq \inf_{x, y \in B_X(r)} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\beta r} \left[ \left\| x - (T+S)x \right\| + \left\| y - (T+S)y \right\| \right] \right\},\$$

where  $\beta > 0$ , then from the inequality (2), the inequality (3) holds for  $\mu^* = \frac{1}{r}(\mu + \frac{1}{\beta})$ .

In a similar way, different assumptions on the contractive parameters of each one of the classes of mappings in consideration here, gives different values for the contractive parameters on the resulting class.

**Theorem 2.3** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $T, S : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ . If the following conditions hold

- (i)  $T \in CH(\alpha_1), S \in CH(\alpha_2)$ .
- (ii) For each  $x \in X$ , the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in CH(\mu^*)$ , where  $\mu^* = \max(\alpha_1/r, \alpha_2/r)$ .

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in B_X(r)$ 

$$\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \|$$
  

$$\leq \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\|$$
  

$$\leq \alpha_1 (\|x - Ty\| + \|y - Tx\|) + \alpha_2 (\|x - Sy\| + \|y - Sx\|)$$
  

$$\leq \mu (\|x - Ty\| + \|y - Tx\| + \|x - Sy\| + \|y - Sx\|)$$

where  $\mu = \max(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$ .

The Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) implies that  $||x - Ty|| + ||x - Sy|| \le \frac{1}{r}||2x - (T + S)y||$ . Therefore

$$\begin{split} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| 2x - (T+S)y \right\| + \left\| 2y - (T+S)x \right\| \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| x \right\| + \left\| x - (T+S)y \right\| + \left\| y \right\| + \left\| y - (T+S)x \right\| \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{r} \Big[ \left\| x - (T+S)y \right\| + \left\| y - (T+S)x \right\| \Big] + 2\mu. \end{split}$$

As before, from here we get

$$\|(T+S)x - (T+S)y\| \le \mu^* [\|x - (T+S)y\| + \|y - (T+S)x\|].$$

Hence  $T + S \in KA(\mu^*)$ , where  $\mu^* = \max(\alpha_1/r, \alpha_2/r)$ .

**Theorem 2.4** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $T, S : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ . If the following conditions hold

(i) *T* ∈ *RE*(*a*<sub>1</sub>, *a*<sub>2</sub>, *a*<sub>3</sub>), *S* ∈ *RE*(*b*<sub>1</sub>, *b*<sub>2</sub>, *b*<sub>3</sub>).
(ii) For each *x* ∈ *X*, the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in RE(\mu_1, \mu_2^*, \mu_3^*)$ , where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1$ ,  $\mu_2^* = \max(a_2/r, b_2/r)$ ,  $\mu_3^* = \max(a_3/r, b_3/r)$ .

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in B_X(r)$ 

$$\begin{split} \|(T+S)x - (T+S)y\| &\leq \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\| \\ &\leq a_1 \|x - y\| + a_2 \|x - Tx\| + a_3 \|y - Ty\| \\ &+ b_1 |x - y\| + b_2 \|x - Sx\| + b_3 \|y - Sy\| \\ &= \mu_1 \|x - y\| + a_2 \|x - Tx\| + a_3 \|y - Ty\| \\ &+ b_2 \|x - Sx\| + b_3 \|y - Sy\| \\ &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2 [\|x - Tx\| + \|x - Sx\|] \\ &+ \mu_3 [\|y - Ty\| + \|y - Sy\|], \end{split}$$

where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + a_2$ ,  $\mu_2 = \max(a_2, b_2)$  and  $\mu_3 = \max(a_3, b_3)$ . Again condition (ii) implies that

$$||x - Tx|| + ||x - Sx|| \le \frac{1}{r} ||2x - (T + S)x||,$$

then we obtain

$$\|(T+S)x - (T+S)y\| \le \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \frac{\mu_2}{r} \|2x - (T+S)x\| + \frac{\mu_3}{r} \|2y - (T+S)y\|$$

$$\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \frac{\mu_2}{r} [\|x\| + \|x - (T + S)x\|] \\ + \frac{\mu_3}{r} [\|y\| + \|y - (T + S)y\|] \\ \leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \frac{\mu_2}{r} [\|x - (T + S)x\|] \\ + \frac{\mu_3}{r} [\|y - (T + S)y\|] + \mu_2 + \mu_3.$$

Since,  $\mu_2 + \mu_3$  can be as small as we please, we have

$$\left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| \le \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2^* \|x - (T+S)x\| + \mu_3^* \|y - (T+S)y\|.$$

So,  $T + S \in RE(\mu_1, \mu_2^*, \mu_3^*)$ , where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1$ ,  $\mu_2^* = \max(a_2/r, b_2/r)$ ,  $\mu_3^* = \max(a_3/r, b_3/r)$ .

**Theorem 2.5** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $T, S : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ . If the following conditions hold

- (i)  $T \in RH(a_1, a_2, a_3), S \in RH(b_1, b_2, b_3).$
- (ii) For each  $x \in X$ , the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in RH(\mu_1, \mu_2^*, \mu_3^*)$ , where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1$ ,  $\mu_2^* = \max(a_2/r, b_2/r)$ ,  $\mu_3^* = \max(a_3/r, b_3/r)$ .

*Proof* This theorem can be proved as the previous theorem. In this case the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) guarantee that the following inequality holds

$$||x - Ty|| + ||x - Sy|| \le \frac{1}{r} ||2x - (T + S)y||.$$

From here the proof runs analogously to Theorem 2.4.

**Theorem 2.6** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $T, S : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ . If the following conditions hold

- (i)  $T \in HR(a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5), S \in HR(b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5).$
- (ii) For each  $x \in X$ , the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in HR(\mu_1, \mu_2^*, \mu_3^*, \mu_4^*, \mu_5^*)$ , where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1, \mu_i^* = \max(a_i/r, b_i/r)$ , i = 2, ..., 5.

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in B_X(r)$ 

$$\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \|$$
  

$$\leq \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\|$$
  

$$\leq a_1 \|x - y\| + a_2 \|x - Tx\| + a_3 \|y - Ty\| + a_4 \|x - Ty\|$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ a_5 \|y - Tx\| + b_1 |x - y\| + b_2 \|x - Sx\| + b_3 \|y - Sy\| \\ &+ b_4 \|x - Sy\| + b_5 \|y - Sx\| \\ &= \mu_1 \|x - y\| + a_2 \|x - Tx\| + a_3 \|y - Ty\| + a_4 \|x - Ty\| \\ &+ a_5 \|y - Tx\| + b_2 \|x - Sx\| + b_3 \|y - Sy\| \\ &+ b_4 \|x - Sy\| + b_5 \|y - Sx\|, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1$ , therefore we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| \\ &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2 \big[ \|x - Tx\| + \|x - Sx\| \big] \\ &+ \mu_3 \big[ \|y - Ty\| + \|y - Sy\| \big] + \mu_4 \big[ \|x - Ty\| \|x - Sy\| \big] \\ &+ \mu_5 \big[ \|y - Tx\| + \|y - Sx\| \big] \end{aligned}$$

here,  $\mu_i = \max(a_i, b_i)$ , i = 2, ..., 5. From The Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) we conclude that

$$||x - Ty|| + ||x - Sy|| \le \frac{1}{r} ||2x - (T + S)y||.$$

So, we obtain the following estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| \\ &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \frac{\mu_2}{r} \|2x - (T+S)x\| + \frac{\mu_3}{r} \|2y - (T+S)y\| \\ &+ \frac{\mu_4}{r} \|2x - (T+S)y\| + \frac{\mu_5}{r} \|2y - (T+S)x\|. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $\mu_i^* = \frac{\mu_i}{r}$ , i = 2, ..., 5. Then

$$\begin{split} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2^* \big[ \|x\| + \|x - (T+S)x\| \big] \\ &+ \mu_3^* \big[ \|y\| + \|y - (T+S)y\| \big] \\ &+ \mu_4^* \big[ \|x\| + \|x - (T+S)y\| \big] \\ &+ \mu_5^* \big[ \|y\| + \|y - (T+S)x\| \big] \\ &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2^* \|x - (T+S)x\| + \mu_3^* \|y - (T+S)y\| \\ &+ \mu_4^* \|x - (T+S)y\| + \mu_5^* \|y - (T+S)x\| \\ &+ \mu_2 + \mu_3 + \mu_4 + \mu_5. \end{split}$$

Again,  $\sum_{i=2}^{5} \mu_i$ , can be as small as we please and just like Theorems before, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| (T+S)x - (T+S)y \right\| &\leq \mu_1 \|x - y\| + \mu_2^* \|x - (T+S)x\| + \mu_3^* \|y - (T+S)y\| \\ &+ \mu_4^* \|x - (T+S)y\| + \mu_5^* \|y - (T+S)x\|. \end{split}$$

Thus we conclude that,  $T + S \in HR(\mu_1, \mu_2^*, \mu_3^*, \mu_4^*, \mu_5^*)$ , where  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1$ ,  $\mu_i^* = \max(a_i/r, b_i/r), i = 2, ..., 5$ .

**Theorem 2.7** Let X be a Banach space, and let  $S, T : B_X(r) \longrightarrow B_X(r)$ . If the following conditions hold

- (i)  $S, T \in D(a, b)$ .
- (ii) For each  $x \in X$ , the Diaz–Metcalf's condition (1) holds.

Then  $S + T \in D(a, b/r)$  for ar + b sufficiently small.

*Proof* Let  $x, y \in B_X(r)$ 

$$\|Tx - Ty\| \le a\|x - y\| + b[\|x - Tx\| + \|y - Ty\|]$$
$$\|Sx - Sy\| \le a\|x - y\| + b[\|x - Sx\| + \|y - Sy\|].$$

Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tx - Ty\| + \|Sx - Sy\| &\leq 2a\|x - y\| \\ &+ b \big[ \|x - Tx\| + \|y - Ty\| + \|x - Sx\| + \|y - Sy\| \big] \\ \|(S + T)x - (S + T)y\| &\leq 2a\|x - y\| \\ &+ b \big[ \|x - Tx\| + \|y - Ty\| + \|x - Sx\| + \|y - Sy\| \big]. \end{aligned}$$

The condition (ii) gives us the estimate  $||x - Tx|| + ||x - Sx|| \le \frac{1}{r} ||2x - (T + S)x||$ . From which we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| (S+T)x - (S+T)y \right\| \\ &\leq 2a \|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} \Big[ \|2x - Tx - Sx\| + \|2y - Ty - Sy\| \Big] \\ &= 2a \|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} \Big[ \|2x - (T+S)x\| + \|2y - (S+T)y\| \Big] \\ &\leq 2a \|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} \Big[ \|x - (S+T)x\| + \|x\| + \|y - (S+T)y\| + \|y\| \Big] \\ &= 2a \|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} \Big[ \|x - (S+T)x\| + \|y - (S+T)y\| \Big] + \frac{b}{r} \big( \|x\| + \|y\| \big) \\ &\leq a \|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} \Big[ \|x - (S+T)x\| + \|y - (S+T)y\| \Big] + 2(ar+b). \end{split}$$

Since ar + b can be as small as we please, we have

$$\|(S+T)x - (S+T)y\| \le a\|x - y\| + \frac{b}{r} [\|x - (S+T)x\| + \|y - (S+T)y\|].$$
  
Hence  $S + T \in D(a, b/r).$ 

Hence  $S + T \in D(a, b/r)$ .

#### **3** Remarks

Notice that in our results we consider the radius r of the ball  $B_X(r)$  the same that the Diaz–Metcalf parameter in (1). However we can relax such dependence by considering the unit ball on X,  $B_X(1)$ , and taking the contractive parameters on each class of mappings sufficiently smaller than the Diaz-Metcalf parameter r. For instance, if in Theorem 2.2 we assume that the contractive parameters satisfy  $0 < \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \ll r$ , then the conclusion is maintained and the proof runs analogously with obvious changes.

Also, we would like to point out that there are several inequalities of the type Diaz-Metcalf that can replace the condition (ii) in our results. These alternatives include the consideration of more that one linear functional, as well as the explicit construction of such functional for the case Hilbert spaces, see [11].

If we consider mappings acting into  $B_X(1)$ , where X is a strictly convex Banach space, as in [22], we can replace the Diaz–Metcalf condition (condition (ii) in our results) for the more suitable one:

$$Tx - x = k(x - Sx)$$
 for any scalar k and every  $x \in B_X(1)$ 

and the conclusions of our results are still valid.

Even more, if in Theorems 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 we define the mappings on X instead of  $B_X(1)$ , then we have a similar result of the theorems above, only for the points of the form  $x = \lambda y$ ,  $x, y \in X$  and any scalar  $\lambda$ . On the other words, similar conclusions are hold for x out of  $B_X(1)$  and for y any scalar multiple of x.

Let A and B be classes of mappings. By A + B we will mean the sum of the mappings  $T \in A$  and  $S \in B$ , and A + B = C will mean that the mapping T + Sbelongs to the class C.

**Proposition 3.1** Let X be a strictly convex Banach space, and  $T, S: X \longrightarrow X$ , suppose that x - Ty = r(x - Sy) for any scalar r and every  $x, y \in X$ . If in addition,  $x = \lambda y$ . Then

- (i)  $KA(\alpha) + KA(\beta) = D(\mu, \mu), \mu = \max(\alpha, \beta).$
- (ii)  $CH(\alpha) + CH(\beta) = RH(\mu, \mu, \mu), \mu = \max(\alpha, \beta).$
- (iii)  $RE(a_1, a_2, a_3) + RE(b_1, b_2, b_3) = RE(\mu_4, \mu_2, \mu_3), \mu_4 = \mu_1 + \max(\mu_2, \mu_3),$  $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1, \ \mu_2 = \max(a_2, b_2), \ \mu_3 = \max(a_3, b_3).$
- (iv)  $RH(a_1, a_2, a_3) + RH(b_1, b_2, b_3) = RH(\mu_4, \mu_2, \mu_3), \ \mu_1 = a_1 + b_1, \ \mu_2 = a_1 + b_2, \ \mu_2 = a_1 + b_2, \ \mu_3 = a_1 + b_2, \ \mu_4 = a_1 + b_2, \ \mu_4 = a_1 + b_2, \ \mu_4 = a_2 + b_3, \ \mu_4 = a_1 + b_3, \ \mu_5 = a_1 + b_3, \ \mu_5 = a_2 + b_3, \ \mu_5 = a_1 + b_3, \ \mu_5 = a_2 + b_3, \ \mu_5 = a_3 + b_3, \ \mu_$  $\max(a_2, b_2), \mu_3 = \max(a_3, b_3), \mu_4 = \mu_1 + \max(\mu_2, \mu_3).$
(v) 
$$HR(a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5) + HR(b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5) = HR(\mu, \mu_2, \mu_3, \mu_4, \mu_5),$$
  
 $\mu_1 = a_1 + b_1, \mu_i = \max(a_i, b_i), i = 2, \dots, 5, \mu = \mu_1 + \max(\mu_2 + \mu_4, \mu_3 + \mu_5).$ 

*Proof* The proof follows from Theorems 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6. Using the hypothesis  $x = \lambda y$ , we can guarantee that ||x|| + ||y|| = ||x - y||, the rest is repeat each proof of Theorems mentioned above.

Acknowledgement E.M. Rojas is sponsored by Pontificia Universidad Javeriana under grant number 00005821.

## References

- 1. K.E. Atkinson, *The Numerical Solution of Integral Equations of the Second Kind* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997)
- T. Cardinali, N.S. Papageorgiou, Hammerstein integral inclusions in reflexive Banach spaces. J. Am. Math. Soc. 127(1), 95–103 (1999)
- 3. L.P. Castro, D. Kapanadze, Exterior wedge diffraction problems with Dirichlet Neumann and impedance boundary conditions. Acta Appl. Math. **110**(1), 284–311 (2010)
- 4. L.P. Castro, A.M. Simões, The impedance problem of wave diffraction by a strip with higher order boundary conditions. AIP Conf. Proc. **1561**, 184 (2013)
- L.P. Castro, F.-O. Speck, F.S. Teixeira, A direct approach to convolution type operators with symmetry. Math. Nachr. 269/270, 73–85 (2004)
- L.P. Castro, F.-O. Speck, F.S. Teixeira, On a class of wedge diffraction problems posted by Erhard Meister. Oper. Theory, Adv. Appl. 147, 211–238 (2004)
- 7. S.K. Chatterge, Fixed point theorem. C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. 25, 727–730 (1972)
- W.R. Derryck, L. Nova, Fixed point theorems for discontinuous operators, in *Glasnik Matematički* (1989), pp. 339–347
- 9. W.R. Derryck, L. Nova, Interior Properties and Fixed Points of Certain Discontinuous Operators (Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 1992), pp. 239–245
- J.B. Diaz, F.T. Metcalf, A complementary triangle inequality in Hilbert and Banach spaces. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 17(1), 88–97 (1966)
- S.S. Dragomir, Reverses of the triangle inequality in Banach spaces. JIPAM. J. Inequal. Pure Appl. Math. 6(5), 129 (2005)
- T. Ehrhardt, A.P. Nolasco, F.-O. Speck, Boundary integral methods for wedge diffraction problems: the angle 2 pi/n Dirichlet and Neumann conditions. Oper. Matrices 5(1), 1–39 (2011)
- K. Goebel, W.A. Kirk, T.N. Chimi, A fixed point theorem in uniformly convex spaces. Boll. Unione Mat. Ital. 7, 67–75 (1973)
- G.E. Hardy, T.D. Rogers, A generalization of a fixed point theorem of Reich. Can. Math. Bull. 16, 201–206 (1973)
- V. Istrăţescu, Fixed Point Theory. An Introduction. Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 7 (Reidel, Boston, 2001)
- 16. Z. Jackiewicz, M. Rahman, B.D. Welfert, Numerical solution of Fredholm integro-differential equation modelling  $\theta$ -neural networks. Appl. Math. Comput. **195**, 523–536 (2008)
- 17. R. Kannan, Some results on fixed points II. Am. Math. Mon. 76, 405–408 (1969)
- 18. R. Kannan, Some results on fixed points III. Fundam. Math. 70, 169–177 (1971)
- J. Kincses, V. Totik, Theorems and counterexamples on contractive mappings. Math. Balk. 4(1), 69–90 (1990)
- J. Lopez Gomez, A fixed point theorems for discontinuous operators, in *Glasnik Matematički* (1988), pp. 115–118
- J. Medlock, M. Kot, Spreading disease: integro-differential equations old and new. Math. Biosci. 184, 201–222 (2003)

- 22. R. Morales, E. Rojas, Some results for one class of discontinuous operators with fixed points. Acta Math. Univ. Comen. LXXVI(2), 149–160 (2007)
- L. Nova, Fixed point theorems for some discontinuous operators. Pac. J. Math. 123, 189–196 (1986)
- 24. S. Reich, Kannan's fixed point theorems. Boll. Unione Mat. Ital. 4, 121–128 (1971)
- S. Reich, Remarks on fixed points. Rend. R. Accad. Naz. Lincei, Cl. Sci. Morali Stor. Filol. 52, 689–697 (1972)
- B.E. Rhoades, A comparison of various definitions of contractive mappings. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 226, 257–290 (1977)

# On $(\alpha, \psi)$ Contractions of Integral Type on Generalized Metric Spaces

Erdal Karapınar

**Abstract** In this paper, we investigate the existence and uniqueness of fixed points of  $(\alpha, \psi)$ -contractive mappings of integral type in complete generalized metric spaces, introduced by Branciari. Our results generalize and improve several results in literature.

**Keywords** Generalized metric spaces  $\cdot \alpha \cdot \psi$  contractions of integral type

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)** Primary 46T99 · Secondary 47H10 · 54H25

## **1** Introduction and Preliminaries

The notion of a generalized metric, also known as rectangular metric, was introduced by Branciari [1] via replacing the triangle inequality with a quadrilateral inequality. It is evident that triangle inequality is more strong then quadrilateral inequality, and hence each metric space is generalized metric space, but, the converse of this statement is false [1]. In this initial paper, Branciari [1] successfully defined an open ball and hence a topology on generalized metric space. As it is expected, the topology of the generalized metric space could not provide some basic topological properties, such as,

- (P1) generalized metric needs not to be continuous,
- (P2) a convergent sequence in generalized metric space needs not to be Cauchy,
- (P3) generalized metric space needs not to be Hausdorff, and hence the uniqueness of limits can not be guaranteed.

E. Karapınar (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

Dedicated to Prof. V.P. Zakharyuta.

Department of Mathematics, Atilim University, 06836 Incek, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: erdalkarapinar@yahoo.com

E. Karapınar e-mail: ekarapinar@atilim.edu.tr

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_91

Despite the weakness of the topology of generalized metric space, Branciari [1] proved the analog of well-known Banach Contraction Principle without any further conditions. On the other hand, the proofs of Branciari [1] had gaps which was pointed first by Samet [2]. Later, it was understood that these gaps can be annihilated in some recent works see e.g. [3–5]. Another interesting result, the characterization of Caristi theorem in the context of generalized metric spaces, was obtained [4]. Getting fundamental theorems of fixed point theory in the setting of generalized metric space without additional conditions has attracted attention of several authors (see e.g. [2–19]).

In this paper, we investigate the existence and uniqueness of fixed point of  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contraction mappings of integral type, in the setting of generalized metric spaces by regarding the problems (P1)–(P3) above.

We, first, recall some basic definitions, notations and fundamental results that will be used in the sequel.

Let  $\Psi$  be the family of functions  $\psi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  satisfying the following conditions:

- (i)  $\psi$  is nondecreasing;
- (ii) there exist  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $a \in (0, 1)$  and a convergent series of nonnegative terms  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} v_k$  such that

$$\psi^{k+1}(t) \le a\psi^k(t) + v_k,$$

for  $k \ge k_0$  and any  $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ .

These functions are called as either Bianchini–Grandolfi gauge functions (see e.g. [20-22]) or (*c*)-comparison functions (see e.g. [23]).

**Lemma 1** (See e.g. [23]) If  $\psi \in \Psi$ , then the following hold:

(i)  $(\psi^n(t))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges to 0 as  $n \to \infty$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ ;

(ii)  $\psi(t) < t$ , for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ ;

- (iii)  $\psi$  is continuous at 0;
- (iv) the series  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \psi^k(t)$  converges for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ .

In what follows, we recollect the notion of generalized metric spaces.

**Definition 2** ([1]) Let *X* be a nonempty set and let  $d : X \times X \longrightarrow [0, \infty]$  satisfy the following conditions for all  $x, y \in X$  and all distinct  $u, v \in X$  each of which is different from *x* and *y* 

(GMS1) 
$$d(x, y) = 0$$
 if and only if  $x = y$   
(GMS2)  $d(x, y) = d(y, x)$   
(GMS3)  $d(x, y) \le d(x, u) + d(u, v) + d(v, y)$ . (1.1)

Then the map d is called generalized metric and abbreviated as GMS. Here, the pair (X, d) is called generalized metric space.

In the above definition, if d satisfies only (GMS1) and (GMS2), then it is called semimetric (see e.g. [6]).

The basic topological properties, such as concepts of convergence, Cauchy sequence and completeness in a GMS are defined below.

#### **Definition 3**

- 1. A sequence  $\{x_n\}$  in a GMS (X, d) is GMS convergent to a limit x if and only if  $d(x_n, x) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .
- 2. A sequence  $\{x_n\}$  in a GMS (X, d) is GMS Cauchy if and only if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists positive integer  $N(\varepsilon)$  such that  $d(x_n, x_m) < \varepsilon$  for all  $n > m > N(\varepsilon)$ .
- 3. A GMS (*X*, *d*) is called complete if every GMS Cauchy sequence in *X* is GMS convergent.

Wilson [6] the following assumption to weakened the triangle inequality by preserving the benefits.

(*W*) For each pair of (distinct) points u, v there is a number  $r_{u,v} > 0$  such that for every  $z \in X$ ,

$$r_{u,v} < d(u,z) + d(z,v).$$

**Proposition 4** ([4]) In a semimetric space, the assumption (W) is equivalent to the assertion that limits are unique.

**Proposition 5** ([4]) Suppose that  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in a GMS (X, d) with  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(x_n, u) = 0$ , where  $u \in X$ . Then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d(x_n, z) = d(u, z)$  for all  $z \in X$ . In particular, the sequence  $\{x_n\}$  does not converge to z if  $z \neq u$ .

**Definition 6** ([24]) For a nonempty set *X*, let  $T : X \to X$  and  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, \infty)$  be mappings. We say that *T* is  $\alpha$ -admissible if for all  $x, y \in X$ , we have

$$\alpha(x, y) \ge 1 \implies \alpha(Tx, Ty) \ge 1. \tag{1.2}$$

We refer e.g. [24–29] for interesting examples of such mappings.

In what follows, the notion of  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping is defined.

**Definition 7** ([24]) Let (X, d) be a metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be a given mapping. We say that *T* is an  $\alpha \cdot \psi$  contractive mapping if there exist two functions  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, \infty)$  and  $\psi \in \Psi$  such that

$$\alpha(x, y)d(Tx, Ty) \le \psi(d(x, y)), \quad \text{for all } x, y \in X.$$
(1.3)

Note that, any contractive mapping, that is, a mapping satisfying Banach contraction, is an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping with  $\alpha(x, y) = 1$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $\psi(t) = kt$ ,  $k \in (0, 1)$ . The notion of transitivity of mapping  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$  was introduced in [30, 31] as follows:

**Definition 8** (See [30, 31]) Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . We say that  $\alpha$  is *N*-transitive (on *X*) if

$$x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_{N+1} \in X : \alpha(x_i, x_{i+1}) \ge 1,$$

for all  $i \in \{0, 1, ..., N\} \Rightarrow \alpha(x_0, x_{N+1}) \ge 1$ .

In particular, we say that  $\alpha$  is transitive if it is 1-transitive, i.e.,

 $x, y, z \in X : \alpha(x, y) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(y, z) \ge 1 \Rightarrow \alpha(x, z) \ge 1$ .

## 2 Main Results

We shall present our main results in this section. First, we define  $\Phi = \{\varphi : \varphi : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}\}$  such that  $\varphi$  is nonnegative, Lebesgue integrable, and satisfy

$$\int_0^{\epsilon} \varphi(t) dt > 0 \quad \text{for each } \epsilon > 0.$$
 (2.1)

In what follows that we introduce the notion of  $\alpha$ - $\psi$ -contractive type mappings of integral type.

**Definition 9** Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be a given mapping. We say that *T* is an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$ -contractive mapping of integral type if there exist two functions  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$  and  $\psi \in \Psi$  such that for each  $x, y \in X$ 

$$\alpha(x, y) \int_0^{d(Tx, Ty)} \varphi(t) dt \le \psi\left(\int_0^{d(x, y)} \varphi(t) dt\right), \tag{2.2}$$

where  $\varphi \in \Phi$ .

Now, we state the following fixed point theorem.

**Theorem 10** Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping of integral type. Suppose that

- (i) T is  $\alpha$ -admissible;
- (ii) there exists  $x_0 \in X$  such that  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(x_0, T^2x_0) \ge 1$ ;
- (iii) T is continuous.

Then there exists  $a \ u \in X$  such that Tu = u.

*Proof* Let  $x_0 \in X$  be an arbitrary point such that  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$ . Notice that the existence of such a point guaranteed from assumption (ii) of theorem. We construct an iterative sequence  $\{x_n\}$  in X by  $x_{n+1} = Tx_n = T^{n+1}x_0$  for all  $n \ge 0$ . If we have  $x_{n_0} = x_{n_0+1}$  for some  $n_0$ , then  $u = x_{n_0}$  is a fixed point of T. Hence, for the rest of the proof, we presume that

$$x_n \neq x_{n+1} \quad \text{for all } n. \tag{2.3}$$

Since T is  $\alpha$ -admissible, we have

$$\alpha(x_0, x_1) = \alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \alpha(Tx_0, Tx_1) = \alpha(x_1, x_2) \ge 1.$$

Recursively, we obtain that

$$\alpha(x_n, x_{n+1}) \ge 1$$
, for all  $n = 0, 1, ...$  (2.4)

Analogously, we derive that

$$\alpha(x_0, x_2) = \alpha(x_0, T^2 x_0) \ge 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \alpha(T x_0, T x_2) = \alpha(x_1, x_3) \ge 1.$$

Iteratively, we get that

$$\alpha(x_n, x_{n+2}) \ge 1$$
, for all  $n = 0, 1, \dots$  (2.5)

Regarding (2.2) and (2.4), we deduce that

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(Tx_n,Tx_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \alpha(x_n,x_{n-1}) \int_{0}^{d(Tx_n,Tx_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \psi\left(\int_{0}^{d(x_n,x_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt\right), \tag{2.6}$$

for all  $n \ge 1$ .

Inductively, we find that

$$\int_0^{d(x_{n+1},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt \le \psi^n \left( \int_0^{d(x_1,x_0)} \varphi(t)dt \right), \quad \text{for all } n \ge 1.$$
 (2.7)

It is clear from Lemma 1 that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^{d(x_{n+1}, x_n)} \varphi(t) dt = 0$$
(2.8)

and hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_{n+1}, x_n) = 0.$$
 (2.9)

On account of (2.2) and (2.5), we get that

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n+2},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{n+1},Tx_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \alpha(x_{n+1},x_{n-1}) \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{n+1},Tx_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \psi\left(\int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n-1})} \varphi(t)dt\right), \tag{2.10}$$

for all  $n \ge 1$ . By elementary calculations, the inequality (2.10) yields that

$$\int_0^{d(x_{n+2},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt \le \psi^n \left( \int_0^{d(x_2,x_0)} \varphi(t)dt \right), \quad \text{for all } n \ge 1.$$
(2.11)

Again by Lemma 1, we find that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^{d(x_{n+2}, x_n)} \varphi(t) dt = 0, \quad \text{and consequently} \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_{n+2}, x_n) = 0.$$
(2.12)

Let  $x_n = x_m$  for some  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $m \neq n$ . Without loss of generality, assume that m > n. Thus,  $x_m = T^{m-n}(T^n x_0) = T^n x_0 = x_n$ . Consider now,

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n})} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{n},x_{n})} \varphi(t)dt$$
  
=  $\int_{0}^{d(Tx_{m},Tx_{m-1})} \varphi(t)dt$   
 $\leq \alpha(x_{m},x_{m-1}) \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{m},Tx_{m-1})} \varphi(t)dt$   
 $\leq \psi^{m-n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n})} \varphi(t)dt \right).$  (2.13)

Due to (ii) of Lemma 1, the inequality (2.13) turns into

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt \le \psi^{m-n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt \right) < \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_n)} \varphi(t)dt, \quad (2.14)$$

which is a contradiction. Now we shall show that the sequence  $\{x_n\}$  is Cauchy. First observe that

$$\int_{d(x_{n+1},x_{n})}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n})} \varphi(t)dt \le \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n})}$$
(2.15)

since  $\{d(x_{n+1}, x_n)\}$  is a non-negative sequence. For this aim, it is sufficient to investigate the following cases. Case (I): Suppose that k > 2 and k is odd. Let k = 2m + 1,  $k \ge 1$ . Then, by using the quadrilateral inequality together with (2.11) and (2.15), we find

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+k})} \varphi(t)dt &= \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+2m+1})} \varphi(t)dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+1})+d(x_{n+1},x_{n+2})+\dots+d(x_{n+2m},x_{n+2m+1})} \varphi(t)dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+1})} \varphi(t)dt + \int_{d(x_{n},x_{n+1})}^{d(x_{n+1},x_{n+2})} \varphi(t)dt \end{split}$$

On  $(\alpha, \psi)$  Contractions of Integral Type on Generalized Metric Spaces

$$+ \dots + \int_{d(x_{n+2m}, x_{n+2m+1})}^{d(x_{n+2m}, x_{n+2m+1})} \varphi(t) dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{d(x_{n}, x_{n+1})} \varphi(t) dt + \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+1}, x_{n+2})} \varphi(t) dt$$

$$+ \dots + \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+2m}, x_{n+2m+1})} \varphi(t) dt$$

$$\leq \sum_{p=n}^{n+k-1} \psi^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{1}, x_{0})} \varphi(t) dt \right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{p=n}^{+\infty} \psi^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{1}, x_{0})} \varphi(t) dt \right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

$$(2.16)$$

Case (II): Let k > 2 and k is even. Let k = 2m,  $k \ge 1$ . Then, by applying the quadrilateral inequality together with (2.11), (2.12) and (2.15), we get

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+k})} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+2m})} \varphi(t)dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{d(x_{n},x_{n+2})} \varphi(t)dt + \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+2},x_{n+3})} \varphi(t)dt$$

$$+\dots + \int_{0}^{d(x_{n+2m-1},x_{n+2m})} \varphi(t)dt$$

$$\leq \sum_{p=n}^{n+k-1} \psi^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{2},x_{0})} \varphi(t)dt \right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{p=n}^{+\infty} \psi^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{d(x_{2},x_{0})} \varphi(t)dt \right) \rightarrow 0 \quad \text{as } n \rightarrow \infty. \quad (2.17)$$

By (2.16) and (2.16) we observe that  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in (X, d). Since (X, d) is complete, there exists  $u \in X$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_n, u) = 0.$$
(2.18)

Since T is continuous, we obtain from (2.18) that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_{n+1}, Tu) = \lim_{n \to \infty} d(Tx_n, Tu) = 0.$$
 (2.19)

From (2.18) and (2.19) we get immediately that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} Tx_n x_0 = \lim_{n\to\infty} Tx_n = Tu$ . Taking Proposition 5 into account, we conclude that *u* is a fixed point of *T*, that is, Tu = u.

**Theorem 11** Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping of integral type. Suppose that

- (i) T is  $\alpha$ -admissible;
- (ii) there exists  $x_0 \in X$  such that  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(x_0, T^2x_0) \ge 1$ ;
- (iii) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in X such that  $\alpha(x_n, x_{n+1}) \ge 1$  for all n and  $x_n \to x \in X$ as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $\alpha(x_n, x) \ge 1$  for all n.

Then there exists  $a \ u \in X$  such that Tu = u.

*Proof* Following the proof of Theorem 10, we know that the sequence  $\{x_n\}$  defined by  $x_{n+1} = Tx_n$  for all  $n \ge 0$ , converges for some  $u \in X$ . From (2.4) and condition (iii), there exists a subsequence  $\{x_{n(k)}\}$  of  $\{x_n\}$  such that  $\alpha(x_{n(k)}, u) \ge 1$  for all k. Applying (2.2), for all k, we get that

$$\int_{0}^{d(x_{n(k)+1},Tu)} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{n(k)},Tu)} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \alpha(x_{n(k)},u) \int_{0}^{d(Tx_{n(k)},Tu)} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \psi\left(\int_{0}^{d(x_{n(k)},u)} \varphi(t)dt\right).$$
(2.20)

Letting  $k \to \infty$  in the above equality, we find that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_0^{d(x_{n(k)+1}, Tu)} \varphi(t) dt = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} d(x_{n(k)+1}, Tu) = 0, \tag{2.21}$$

and hence  $\lim_{n\to\infty} T^n x_0 = \lim_{n\to\infty} T x_n = T u$ . By Proposition 5, we obtain that u is a fixed point of T, that is, T u = u.

**Corollary 12** Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping of integral type. Suppose that

- (i) T is  $\alpha$ -admissible;
- (ii) there exists  $x_0 \in X$  such that  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha$  is transitive;
- (iii) either,
  - (a) *T* is continuous.
  - (b) If  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in X such that  $\alpha(x_n, x_{n+1}) \ge 1$  for all n and  $x_n \to x \in X$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $\alpha(x_n, x) \ge 1$  for all n.

Then there exists  $a \ u \in X$  such that Tu = u.

*Proof* By assumption of (ii) theorem, there exists  $x_0 \in X$  such that  $\alpha(x_0, Tx_0) \ge 1$ . Thus, we get  $\alpha(Tx_0, T^2x_0) \ge 1$ , by (i). Owing to the fact that  $\alpha$  is transitive, we conclude that  $\alpha(x_0, T^2x_0) \ge 1$ . Consequently, all conditions of Theorem 10 (and, respectively Theorem 11) are satisfied. For the uniqueness, we need an additional condition:

(U) For all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , we have  $\alpha(x, y) \ge 1$ , where Fix(T) denotes the set of fixed points of T.

**Theorem 13** Adding condition (U) to the hypotheses of Theorem 10 (resp. Theorem 11 and Theorem 12), we obtain that u is the unique fixed point of T.

*Proof* In what follows we shall show that *u* is a unique fixed point of *T*. We shall use the *reductio ad absurdum*. Let *v* be another fixed point of *T* with  $v \neq u$ . It is evident that  $\alpha(u, v) = \alpha(Tu, Tv)$ .

Now, due to (2.2), we have

$$\int_{0}^{d(u,v)} \varphi(t)dt \leq \alpha(u,v) \int_{0}^{d(u,v)} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \alpha(Tu,Tv) \int_{0}^{d(Tu,Tv)} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\leq \psi \left( \int_{0}^{d(u,v)} \varphi(t)dt \right) < \int_{0}^{d(u,v)} \varphi(t)dt \qquad (2.22)$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, u = v.

As an alternative condition for the uniqueness of a fixed point of a  $\alpha$ - $\psi$  contractive mapping, we shall consider the following hypothesis.

(*H*) For all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , there exists  $z \in X$  such that  $\alpha(x, z) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(y, z) \ge 1$ .

**Theorem 14** Adding conditions (H) and (W) to the hypotheses of Theorem 10 (resp. Theorem 11), we obtain that u is the unique fixed point of T.

*Proof* Suppose that v is another fixed point of T. From (H), there exists  $z \in X$  such that

$$\alpha(u, z) \ge 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha(v, z) \ge 1. \tag{2.23}$$

Since T is  $\alpha$ -admissible, from (2.23), we have

$$\alpha(u, T^n z) \ge 1$$
 and  $\alpha(v, T^n z) \ge 1$ , for all  $n$ . (2.24)

Define the sequence  $\{z_n\}$  in X by  $z_{n+1} = T z_n$  for all  $n \ge 0$  and  $z_0 = z$ . From (2.24), for all n, we have

$$\int_{0}^{d(u,z_{n+1})} \varphi(t)dt = \int_{0}^{d(Tu,Tz_{n})} \varphi(t)dt \le \alpha(u,z_{n}) \int_{0}^{d(Tu,Tz_{n})} \varphi(t)dt$$
$$\le \psi\left(\int_{0}^{d(u,z_{n})} \varphi(t)dt\right)$$
(2.25)

 $\Box$ 

Iteratively, by using the inequality (2.25), we get that

$$\int_0^{d(u,z_{n+1})} \varphi(t)dt \le \psi^n \left( \int_0^{d(u,z_0)} \varphi(t)dt \right), \tag{2.26}$$

for all *n*. Letting  $n \to \infty$  in the above inequality, we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(z_n, u) = 0. \tag{2.27}$$

Similarly, one can show that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(z_n, v) = 0.$$
(2.28)

Regarding (W) together with (2.27) and (2.28), it follows that u = v. Thus we proved that u is the unique fixed point of T.

**Corollary 15** Adding condition (H) to the hypotheses of Theorem 10 (resp. Theorem 11 and Theorem 12) and assuming that (X, d) is Hausdorff, we obtain that u is the unique fixed point of T.

The proof is clear and hence it is omitted. Indeed, Hausdorffness implies the uniqueness of the limit. Thus, the theorem above yields the conclusions.

#### **3** Consequences

In this section, we shall state some existing results in the literature that can be inferred from the main results.

**Corollary 16** Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be a given mapping. Suppose that there exists a function  $\psi \in \Psi$  such that

$$\int_0^{d(Tx,Ty)} \varphi(t) dt \le \psi \left( \int_0^{d(x,y)} \varphi(t) \right) dt,$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then T has a unique fixed point.

*Proof* Let  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, \infty)$  be the mapping defined by  $\alpha(x, y) = 1$ , for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then *T* is an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$ -contraction mapping. It is evident that all conditions of Theorem 10 are satisfied. Hence, *T* has a unique fixed point.

The following fixed point theorems follow immediately from Corollary 16 by taking  $\psi(t) = \lambda t$ , where  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ .

**Corollary 17** (Samet [32]) Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T: X \to X$  be a given mapping. Suppose that there exists a constant  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$\int_0^{d(Tx,Ty)} \varphi(t))dt \le \lambda \int_0^{d(x,y)} \varphi(t))dt,$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then T has a unique fixed point.

**Corollary 18** Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be a given mapping. Suppose that there exists a function  $\psi \in \Psi$  such that

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \psi(d(x, y)),$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then T has a unique fixed point.

*Proof* Let  $\alpha : X \times X \to [0, \infty)$  be the mapping defined by  $\alpha(x, y) = 1$ , for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then *T* is an  $\alpha$ - $\psi$ -contraction mapping. It is evident that all conditions of Theorem 10 are satisfied. Hence, *T* has a unique fixed point.

The following fixed point theorems follow immediately from Corollary 18 by taking  $\psi(t) = \lambda t$ , where  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ .

**Corollary 19** (Branciari [1]) Let (X, d) be a complete generalized metric space and  $T: X \to X$  be a given mapping. Suppose that there exists a constant  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$d(Tx, Ty) \le \lambda d(x, y),$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Then T has a unique fixed point.

*Remark 20* These result improve the results of Samet [32] and Branciari [1]. Notice that in the literature, to prove fixed point theorem in generalized metric spaces, some superfluous conditions have been assumed such as Hausdorffness, continuity and so on. By following the interesting results [3, 4] we prove our results without any further condition.

### References

- 1. A. Branciari, A fixed point theorem of Banach–Caccioppoli type on a class of generalized metric spaces. Publ. Math. (Debr.) **57**, 31–37 (2000)
- 2. B. Samet, Discussion on: a fixed point theorem of Banach–Caccioppoli type on a class of generalized metric spaces by A. Branciari. Publ. Math. (Debr.) **76**(4), 493–494 (2010)
- J. Jleli, B. Samet, The Kannan's fixed point theorem in a cone rectangular metric space. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 2(3), 161–167 (2009)
- W.A. Kirk, N. Shahzad, Generalized metrics and Caristi's theorem. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 2013, 129 (2013)
- L. Kikina, K. Kikina, A fixed point theorem in generalized metric space. Demonstr. Math. XLVI(1), 181–190 (2013)

- 6. W.A. Wilson, On semimetric spaces. Am. J. Math. 53(2), 361-373 (1931)
- P. Das, A fixed point theorem on a class of generalized metric spaces. Korean J. Math. Sci. 9, 29–33 (2002)
- P. Das, A fixed point theorem in a generalized metric spaces. Soochow J. Math. 33, 33–39 (2007)
- 9. P. Das, B.K. Lahiri, Fixed point of a Ljubomir Ćirić's quasi-contraction mapping in a generalized metric space. Publ. Math. (Debr.) **61**, 589–594 (2002)
- P. Das, B.K. Lahiri, Fixed point of contractive mappings in generalized metric space. Math. Slovaca 59, 499–504 (2009)
- A. Azam, M. Arshad, Kannan fixed point theorems on generalized metric spaces. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 1, 45–48 (2008)
- 12. A. Azam, M. Arshad, I. Beg, Banach contraction principle on cone rectangular metric spaces. Appl. Anal. Discrete Math. **3**, 236–241 (2009)
- 13. H. Lakzian, B. Samet, Fixed points for  $(\psi, \varphi)$ -weakly contractive mapping in generalized metric spaces. Appl. Math. Lett. **25**, 902–906 (2012)
- M.S. Khan, M. Swaleh, S. Sessa, Fixed point theorems by altering distances between the points. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. 30, 1–9 (1984)
- 15. H. Aydi, E. Karapinar, H. Lakzian, Fixed point results on the class of generalized metric spaces. Math. Sci. 6, 46 (2012)
- 16. N. Bilgili, E. Karapinar, D. Turkoglu, A note on "common fixed points for  $(\psi, \alpha, \beta)$ -weakly contractive mappings in generalized metric spaces". Fixed Point
- C.-M. Chen, W.Y. Sun, Periodic points for the weak contraction mappings in complete generalized metric spaces. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 2012, 79 (2012)
- 18. I. Erhan, E. Karapinar, T. Sekulić, Fixed points of  $(\psi, \phi)$  contractions on rectangular metric spaces. Fixed Point Theory Appl. **2012**, 138 (2012)
- D. Mihet, On Kannan fixed point principle in generalized metric spaces. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 2(2), 92–96 (2009)
- R.M. Bianchini, M. Grandolfi, Transformazioni di tipo contracttivo generalizzato in uno spazio metrico. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei, Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat., Rend. Lincei, Suppl. 45, 212–216 (1968)
- P.D. Proinov, A generalization of the Banach contraction principle with high order of convergence of successive approximations. Nonlinear Anal. 67, 2361–2369 (2007)
- 22. P.D. Proinov, New general convergence theory for iterative processes and its applications to Newton Kantorovich type theorems. J. Complex. **26**, 3–42 (2010)
- 23. I.A. Rus, *Generalized Contractions and Applications* (Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca, 2001)
- 24. B. Samet, C. Vetro, P. Vetro, Fixed point theorems for  $\alpha$ - $\psi$ -contractive type mappings. Nonlinear Anal. **75**, 2154–2165 (2012)
- M. Jleli et al., Best proximity points for generalized α-ψ-proximal contractive type mappings. J. Appl. Math. 2013, 534127 (2013)
- 26. M. Jleli et al., Fixed point results for  $\alpha \psi_{\lambda}$  contractions on gauge spaces and applications. Abstr. Appl. Anal. **2013**, 730825 (2013)
- M.U. Ali, T. Kamran, On (α<sup>\*</sup>, ψ)-contractive multi-valued mappings. Fixed Point Theory Appl. **2013**, 137 (2013). doi:10.1186/1687-1812-2013-137
- 28. E. Karapinar, Discussion on  $(\alpha, \psi)$  contractions on generalized metric spaces. Abstr. Appl. Anal. **2014**, 962784 (2014)
- 29. E. Karapinar, B. Samet, Generalized  $\alpha \cdot \psi$ -contractive type mappings and related fixed point theorems with applications. Abstr. Appl. Anal. **2012**, 793486 (2012)
- 30. M. Berzig, M. Rus, Fixed point theorems for α-contractive mappings of Meir–Keeler type and applications. arXiv:1303.5798 [math.GN]
- 31. M. Berzig, E. Karapinar, Fixed point results for  $(\alpha \psi \alpha \phi)$ -contractive mappings for a generalized altering distance. Fixed Point Theory Appl. **2013**, 205 (2013)
- 32. B. Samet, A fixed point theorems in a generalized metric space for mapping satisfying a contractive condition of integral type. Int. J. Math. Anal. **3**(26), 1265–1271 (2009)

# Infinite Dimensional Stochastic Cauchy Problems in Ito and Differential Forms: Comparison of Solutions

Irina V. Melnikova and Olga Starkova

**Abstract** We consider three types of solutions to the infinite dimensional stochastic Cauchy problem X'(t) = AX(t) + BW(t),  $t \ge 0$ ,  $X(0) = \zeta$ , with A being the generator of a regularized semigroup in a Hilbert space and a white noise W in another Hilbert space: weak, generalized in t, and generalized in a random variable. It is proved coincidence of the solutions under the conditions they exist.

Keywords Distribution  $\cdot$  Semigroup of operators  $\cdot$  White noise  $\cdot$  Wiener process  $\cdot$  Generalized  $\cdot$  Weak  $\cdot$  Regularized solutions

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010)  $47D06 \cdot 47D60 \cdot 47D62 \cdot 60G15 \cdot 60G20$ 

Models of various evolution processes considered with regard for random perturbations lead to the Cauchy problem for equations with an inhomogeneity in the form of white noise in infinite dimensional spaces. Among them, important for applications is the first-order Cauchy problem:

$$X'(t) = AX(t) + BW(t), \quad t \ge 0, \ X(0) = \zeta; \ B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{H}, H), \tag{0.1}$$

with *A*, the generator of a generally regularized semigroup in a Hilbert space *H* and a white noise process  $\mathbb{W} = \{\mathbb{W}(t), t \ge 0\}$  in another separable Hilbert space  $\mathbb{H}$ . Due to the singularities of  $\mathbb{W}$  which is not a process in the usual sense, the problem (0.1), similarly to the finite dimensional case, is considered in the integral form:

$$X(t) = \zeta + \int_0^t AX(s)ds + \int_0^t BdW(t), \quad t \ge 0,$$
 (0.2)

I.V. Melnikova (🖂) · O. Starkova

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_92

This work was completed with the support of RFBR project 13-01-00090 and of RF Program of support leading universities (agreement no. 02.A03.21.0006 from 27.08.2013).

Institute of Maths and Comp. Sciences, Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: irina.melnikova@urfu.ru

O. Starkova e-mail: olga-n4@yandex.ru

where  $\int_0^t BdW(t)$  is the Ito integral with respect to an  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued Wiener process  $\{W(t), t \ge 0\}$ , a "primitive" of  $\mathbb{W}$  (see, e.g. [2, 3, 5, 7, 8]). The problem (0.2) is usually written in the short form:  $dX(t) = AX(t)dt + BdW(t), t \ge 0, X(0) = \zeta$ .

In addition to (0.2), we study the problem in the differential form (0.1) in spaces of distributions using the known technique of abstract distribution L. Sczwartz and a new one generalizing the white noise theory to the infinite dimensional case (see, e.g. [1, 6, 9] and in the finite dimensional case [5, 10]).

The present paper is devoted to the important problem naturally arising in this situation—to comparison of solutions for the Cauchy problem considered in different forms, more specifically, to comparison of weak solutions, generalized in t-variable solutions, and generalized in  $\omega$ -variable solutions. We show that under conditions when each of them exists, these solutions, obtained in absolutely different techniques, coincide.

## **1** Solutions of the Stochastic Cauchy Problem in Integral and Differential Forms

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{P})$  be a probability space with normal filtration  $\{\mathcal{F}_t, t \ge 0\}$ ; *H* and  $\mathbb{H}$  be separable Hilbert spaces.

At the beginning we consider the abstract stochastic Cauchy problem in the form (0.2), where  $\zeta$  is an  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable *H*-valued random variable, *A* is the generator of a semigroup  $S = \{S(t), t \ge 0\}$ , generally regularized,  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{H}, H)$ , and  $W = \{W(t), t \ge 0\}$ ,  $W(t) = W(\omega, t), \omega \in \Omega$ , is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued *Q*-Wiener process.

An *H*-valued process  $X = \{X(t), t \ge 0\}$  is said to be *a weak solution* for problem (0.2) if  $\int_0^t ||X(s)||_H ds < \infty$  and for each  $y \in \text{dom } A^*$ 

$$\langle X(t), y \rangle = \langle \zeta, y \rangle + \int_0^t \langle X(s), A^* y \rangle ds + \langle BW(t), y \rangle, \quad \mathbf{P}_{a.s}$$

Similarly to the classical case, we look for a solution in the following form

$$X(t) = S(t)\zeta + \int_0^t S(t-s)BdW(s) =: S(t)\zeta + W_A(t), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(1.1)

where S(t) are solution operators to the corresponding homogeneous problem.

To prove the existence and uniqueness of a weak solution for the Cauchy problem we need the stochastic convolution  $W_A$ , the important component of a solution, to be well defined. That is  $\Psi(s) = S(t-s)B$  for  $t \ge 0$  must satisfy the condition for existence of the Ito integral  $\int_0^t \Psi(s) dW(s)$ :

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\| \Psi(s) \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^{2} ds < \infty, \quad \left\| \Psi(s) \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^{2} := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| \Psi(s) Q^{\frac{1}{2}} e_{j} \right\|^{2} = \mathrm{Tr} \, \Psi(s) Q^{\frac{1}{2}} Q^{*\frac{1}{2}} \Psi^{*}(s).$$
(1.2)

In the case of a semigroup of class  $C_0$  the following result holds [1, 2].

**Theorem 1.1** Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup S and W be a Q-Wiener process. If  $\Psi(s) = S(t - s)B$ ,  $t \ge 0$ , satisfies (1.2), then for each  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable  $\zeta \in H$  the random process  $\{X(t) = S(t)\zeta + W_A(t), t \ge 0\}$  exists and is a unique weak solution.

In [1] it is shown that if A generates a K-convoluted semigroup { $S(t), t \ge 0$ }, a *weak K-convoluted solution* for the problem (0.2) can be constructed in the form (1.1). An H-valued process X defined by (1.1) is a weak K-convoluted solution of (0.2) if for each  $y \in \text{dom } A^*$ 

$$\langle X(t), y \rangle = \left\langle \int_0^t K(s)\zeta ds, y \right\rangle + \left\langle \int_0^t X(s)ds, A^*y \right\rangle$$
  
 
$$+ \left\langle \int_0^t \int_0^s K(s-r)BdW(r)ds, y \right\rangle.$$

In particular, X is a weak n-times integrated solution if

$$\langle X(t), y \rangle = \left\langle \frac{t^n}{n!} \zeta, y \right\rangle + \int_0^t \langle X(s), A^* y \rangle ds + \left\langle \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} BW(s) ds, y \right\rangle.$$

Now we consider the Cauchy problem (0.1) in spaces of abstract distributions. Let *H* be a Hilbert space. By  $\mathcal{D}'(H)$  we denote a space of *H*-valued distributions over the space of L. Schwartz test functions  $\mathcal{D}$  and by  $\mathcal{D}'_0(H)$  the space of *H*-valued distributions with supports on  $[0, \infty)$ .

In the space of distributions  $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{H})$  a *Q*-white noise is well defined as the generalized derivative of a *Q*-Wiener process continued by zero for  $t \leq 0$ :

$$\langle \varphi, \mathbb{W} \rangle := -\int_0^\infty W(t)\varphi'(t)dt, \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}, \ \mathbf{P}_{a.s.}; \ \mathbb{W} \in \mathcal{D}'_0(L_2(\Omega, \mathbb{H})).$$
(1.3)

Using [1, 3, 7], the Cauchy problem (0.1) in spaces of abstract distributions can be written as follows:

$$P * X = \delta \otimes \zeta + B \mathbb{W}, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $P := \delta' \otimes I - \delta \otimes A \in \mathcal{D}'_0(\mathcal{L}([\operatorname{dom} A], H))$  and  $[\operatorname{dom} A]$  is the domain of A with the graph-norm  $||x||_{[\operatorname{dom} A]} = ||x|| + ||Ax||$ .

A distribution  $G \in \mathcal{D}'_0(\mathcal{L}(H, [\operatorname{dom} A]))$  is called *inverse with respect to convolution* with  $P \in \mathcal{D}'_0(\mathcal{L}([\operatorname{dom} A], H))$  if  $G * P = \delta \otimes I_{[\operatorname{dom} A]}$ ,  $P * G = \delta \otimes I_H$ , where  $I_{[\operatorname{dom} A]}$  and  $I_H$  are identity operators in  $[\operatorname{dom} A]$  and H respectively. By the use the properties of inverse distribution G, it is proved that a unique solution of a Cauchy problem  $P * X = \delta \otimes \zeta + F$  with  $F \in \mathcal{D}'_0(H)$  is defined as  $X = G * \delta\zeta + G * F$ . It follows that if A generates a  $C_0$ -class semigroup or an n-times integrated semigroup, the solution

$$X = G * \delta\zeta + G * B\mathbb{W}, \quad X \in \mathcal{D}'_0([\operatorname{dom} A]) \cap \mathcal{D}'_0(L_2(\Omega, [\operatorname{dom} A]))$$
(1.5)

exists and is a unique solution of the problem (1.4). Here we also have a stochastic convolution  $W_A = G * B \mathbb{W}$ , but now in a generalized sense.

If *A* is the generator a semigroup  $S = \{S(t), t \ge 0\}$  of class  $C_0$ , then by the definition of a convolution in spaces of distributions and distribution *G* inverse to *P* (in the case of  $C_0$ -class semigroup *G* coincides with distribution **S** defined as a semigroup *S*, extended by zero as t < 0), we get a solution of (1.4) in the form (1.5) with  $G = \mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbb{W}$  defined by (1.3).

If *A* generates a *n*-times integrated semigroup  $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}$ , then we obtain the solution in the form (1.5) with  $G = \mathbf{S}^{(n)}$ .

For a solution of (1.4) with the generator of a *K*-convoluted semigroup *S* we need a larger space of distributions, namely ultra-distributions, since we have to find an operator inverse to convolution with function *K*, which is an infinite differentiation operator  $P_{ult}(\frac{d}{dt})$  defined in the spaces. In this case the solution of (1.4) is presented as follows [1]:

$$\begin{split} \langle \varphi, X \rangle &= \left\langle P_{ult}^* \left( \frac{d}{dt} \right) \varphi, S\zeta \right\rangle - \int_0^\infty S(t) \left\langle P_{ult}^* \left( \frac{d}{dt} \right) \varphi'(t+s), BW(s) \right\rangle dt \\ &= \int_0^\infty P_{ult}^* \left( \frac{d}{dt} \right) \varphi(t) S(t) \zeta dt + \int_0^\infty P_{ult}^* \left( \frac{d}{dt} \right) \varphi(t) dt \int_0^t S(t-s) BdW(s). \end{split}$$
(1.6)

At last, we consider the problem (0.1) in the spaces of abstract stochastic distributions  $(\mathcal{S})^*(H)$  and a solution generalized in random variable  $\omega$ .

The series of inclusions

$$(\mathcal{S})(H) \subset \cdots \subset (\mathcal{S}_p)(H) \subset \cdots \subset (L_2)(H) \subset \cdots \subset (\mathcal{S}_{-p})(H) \subset \cdots \subset (\mathcal{S})^*(H)$$

is built for a Hilbert space H (see, e.g. [1]) by analogy with the Gelfand triple  $S \subset L_2(\mathbb{R}) \subset S^*$  [9], where elements of the spaces  $(S_p)(H)$  and  $(S_{-p})(H)$  are defined in terms of the behavior (decrease or increase, respectively) of the Fourier coefficients with respect to the basis in  $(L_2)(\mathbb{R})$  consisting of stochastic Hermite polynomials defined by

$$\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(\omega) := \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} h_{\alpha_i} \big( \langle \xi_i, \omega \rangle \big), \quad \omega \in \mathcal{S}', \ \alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots) \in \mathcal{T},$$

where  $\xi_i(x) = \pi^{-\frac{1}{4}}((i-1)!)^{-\frac{1}{2}}e^{-\frac{x}{2}}h_{i-1}(\sqrt{2}x)$  are Hermite functions,  $h_i(x) = (-1)^i e^{\frac{x^2}{2}} \frac{d^i}{dx^i} e^{-\frac{x^2}{2}}$  are Hermite polynomials, and  $\mathcal{T}$  is the set of all possible finite multi-indexes. These spaces contain an  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued *Q*-Wiener process  $\{W(t) := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \beta_j e_j, t \ge 0\}$ :

$$W(t) = \sum_{i,j \in \mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \int_0^t \xi(s) ds(\mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}} e_j)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^\infty \sigma_{j(n)} \left( \int_0^t \xi_{i(n)}(s) ds e_{j(n)} \right) \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_n} \in (L_2)(\mathbb{H}).$$

Infinite Dimensional Stochastic Cauchy Problems

as well as a *Q*-white noise  $\{\mathbb{W}(t), t \ge 0\}$ :

$$\mathbb{W}(t) = \sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \xi_i(t) (\mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}} e_j) = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \sigma_{j(n)} \mathbb{W}_{\epsilon_n}(t) \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_n} \in (\mathcal{S})^*(H),$$
(1.7)

where  $Qe_j = \sigma_j^2 e_j$ ,  $\mathbb{W}_{\epsilon_n}(t) = \xi_{i(n)}(t)e_{j(n)}$ , n(i(n), j(n)) = n, and  $\epsilon_n := (0, 0, ..., 1, 0, ...)$ .

A generalized (in  $\omega$ ) solution of the Cauchy problem (0.1) with  $\mathbb{W}(t) \in (\mathcal{S})^*(\mathbb{H})$  is constructed in [1] as follows.

**Theorem 1.2** Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup  $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}$  in a Hilbert space H, let  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{H}, H)$  and let  $\mathbb{W}$  be a white noise process given by (1.7). Then

$$X(t) = \sum_{\alpha} X_{\alpha}(t) h_{\alpha} \in (\mathcal{S})^*(H), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(1.8)

where

$$X_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{cases} S(t)\zeta_{\epsilon_n} + \int_0^t S(t-s)B\mathbb{W}_{\epsilon_n}(s)ds, & \alpha = \epsilon_n\\ S(t)\zeta_{\alpha}, & \alpha \neq \epsilon_n \end{cases}$$

is a unique solution of the Cauchy problem (0.1) in  $(S)^*(H)$  for any  $\zeta = \sum_{\alpha} \zeta_{\alpha} h_{\alpha} \in (\text{dom } A)$ .

*Remark 1.3* Note, that a cylindrical Wiener process and a singular white noise are defined in the space  $(S)^*(\mathbb{H})$  and Theorem 1.2 is true for the singular white noise, but in this paper we do not consider them.

# 2 Connections Between Weak and Generalized in *t*-Variable Solutions

In this section we prove the coincidence of solutions to the generalized Cauchy problem (1.4) with weak solutions of the Cauchy problem (0.2) in the case of  $C_0$ -class, *n*-times integrated and *K*-convoluted semigroups. In the next section we will prove the coincidence of the obtained solution in the space  $(\mathcal{S})^*(H)$  with a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (0.2).

**Theorem 2.1** Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup  $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}$  under condition (1.2) with  $\Psi(s) = S(t-s)B$ ,  $t \ge 0$ . Then weak solution (1.1) is a solution of the generalized Cauchy problem (1.4), where Q-white noise  $\mathbb{W}$  is the generalized derivative of a Q-Wiener process W. Conversely: the generalized solution (1.5) with  $G = \mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbb{W}$  defined by (1.3) is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (0.2).

*Proof* Further the following equality

$$-\int_0^\infty W(t)\varphi'(t)dt = \int_0^\infty \varphi(t)dW(t), \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{D},$$
 (2.1)

resulting from a generalization of the Ito formula to the infinite-dimensional case will be important.

Now we check that **X** defined as weak solution  $X(t) = S(t)\zeta + \int_0^t S(t-s)BdW(s)$ ,  $t \ge 0$ , extended by zero for t < 0, satisfies (1.4) for each *H*-valued  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable random variable  $\zeta$ . For this we multiply *X* by a function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}$  and integrate with respect to *t* from zero to infinity. From (2.1) we obtain the following equalities:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \varphi, \mathbf{X} \rangle &= \int_0^\infty \varphi(t) S(t) \zeta dt + \int_0^\infty \varphi(t) \int_0^t S(t-s) B dW(s) dt \\ &= \langle \varphi, S\zeta \rangle - \left\langle \varphi'(t), \int_0^t S(t-s) BW(s) ds \right\rangle, \quad a.s. \text{ in } \omega. \end{aligned}$$
(2.2)

The equalities can be written as follows:

$$\langle \varphi, \mathbf{X} \rangle = \langle \varphi, \mathbf{S}\zeta \rangle - \langle \varphi', \mathbf{S} * BW \rangle = \langle \varphi, \mathbf{S}\zeta \rangle + \langle \varphi, \mathbf{S} * BW \rangle,$$
(2.3)

where the (regular) distribution  $\mathbf{S} \in \mathcal{D}'_0(\mathcal{L}(H, [\operatorname{dom} A]))$  is the semigroup *S* extended by zero for t < 0. The obtained equality (2.3) means that **X** coincides with the generalized solution (1.5) of the problem (1.4).

Conversely, we go from bottom to top; then it follows from (2.3)–(2.2) that the generalized solution  $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{S}\zeta + \mathbf{S} * B \mathbb{W}$  of (1.4) coincides with the weak solution of (0.2)  $X(t), t \ge 0$ , continued by zero for t < 0.

Analyzing the structure of the solutions and the relationship between generalized and weak solutions obtained, we see that in the case of the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup the sum of two components  $S(t)\zeta + W_A(t), t \ge 0$ , is a weak solution for each *H*-valued  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable random variable  $\zeta$ ; this is due to the fact that we do not need to apply *A* to  $S(t)\zeta$  and  $W_A(t)$ , instead  $A^*$  is applied to elements  $y \in \text{dom } A^*$ .

The sum  $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{S}\zeta + \mathbf{S} * BW$  is a generalized solution due to the equality  $A\langle\varphi, S\zeta\rangle = -\varphi(0)\zeta - \int_0^\infty \varphi'(t)S(t)dt$ , which in the case of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup is proved to hold on the whole space H and implies that the action of A is "smoothed" by test functions  $\varphi'$ .

It is important to note, that by the proof of the coincidence of weak and generalized in *t* solutions, we have actually proved the coincidence of the stochastic convolution defined by Ito integral and the one defined in the space of abstract distributions:  $W_A = \mathbf{S} * B \mathbb{W}$ .

In the case of a *n*-times integrated semigroup  $S = \{S(t), t \ge 0\}$  we show that a generalized solution coincides with the *n*-th order derivative of a weak *n*-times integrated solution.

**Theorem 2.2** Let A be the generator of a n-times integrated semigroup S under condition (1.2). Then the n-th order generalized derivative of  $X(t) = S(t)\zeta + \int_0^t S(t-s)BdW(s)$ , weak n-times integrated solution of (0.1), is the solution of (0.2). Conversely, a solution of the generalized problem (1.4) is the n-th derivative of a weak n-times integrated solution.

*Proof* Let X(t),  $t \ge 0$  be a weak *n*-times integrated solution and **X** be equal to the X(t) continued by zero as t < 0. Then

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \varphi, \mathbf{X}^{(n)} \right\rangle &= (-1)^n \bigg[ \int_0^\infty \varphi^{(n)}(s) S(s) \zeta \, ds + \int_0^\infty \varphi^{(n)}(t) dt \int_0^t S(t-s) B \, dW(s) \bigg] \\ &= (-1)^n \bigg[ \int_0^\infty \varphi^{(n)}(t) S(t) \zeta \, dt - \int_0^\infty \varphi^{(n+1)}(t) dt \int_0^t S(t-s) B \, W(s) ds \bigg]. \end{split}$$

Hence by (2.1), the distribution  $\mathbf{X}^{(n)}$  is a generalized solution of (1.4)  $\omega$  a.s. From the obtained equality and the convolution properties the converse statement follows.  $\Box$ 

The theorem for the case of *K*-convoluted semigroups we present without a proof, due to the limited size of the article.

**Theorem 2.3** Let A be the generator of a K-convoluted semigroup  $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}$ . Then the process  $\{P_{ult}(\frac{d}{dt})X(t), t \ge 0\}$ , where X is a weak K-convoluted solution of the problem (0.2), is a solution of the problem (1.4). Conversely, a generalized solution of the problem (1.4) is the result of applying ultra-differential operator  $P_{ult}(\frac{d}{dt})$  to a weak K-convoluted solution.

# **3** Connections Between Weak and Generalized in ω-Variable Solutions

We consider the solution (1.8) obtained for the stochastic Cauchy problem in spaces of stochastic distributions  $(S)^*(H)$  with the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup, a white noise W defined by (1.7), and an initial data  $\zeta \in (\text{dom } A)$ . As it follows from Remark 1.3, solutions in the space can be constructed for the problem with a singular white noise, not only with a Q-white noise, but with irregular white noise; nevertheless, we have a restriction on the initial data:  $\zeta \in (\text{dom } A)$ .

Now we show that a generalized in  $\omega$  solution coincides with a weak solution, under the existence conditions for both of them.

**Theorem 3.1** Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -class semigroup  $\{S(t), t \ge 0\}, \Psi(s) = S(t-s)B$  satisfy (1.2),  $\zeta \in (\text{dom } A)$ , and W be a Q-Wiener process. Then the generalized in  $\omega$  solution (1.8) for the Cauchy problem (0.1) and a weak solution for (0.2) coincide.

*Proof* The solution obtained by (1.8) can be written in the following form:  $X(t) = S\zeta + \int_0^t S(t-s)BW(s)ds, t \ge 0, X(t) \in (S)^*(H)$ , where

$$\int_0^t S(t-s)B\mathbb{W}(s)ds := \sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{N}}\sigma_j \int_0^t S(t-s)B\xi_i(s)dse_j \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}}$$

Hence, in the case under consideration to prove the coincidence of the solutions (1.8) and (1.1), is enough to show the coincidence of the integrals:

$$\int_{0}^{t} S(t-s)BdW(s) = \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s)BWds.$$
 (3.1)

First, for  $\mathbb{W}$  defined by (1.7) we show that the right hand integral in (3.1) belongs to the space  $(L_2)(H) = L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}; H)$ , where  $\Omega = S'$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{B}(S')$ . For this we check up that  $\|\int_0^t S(t-s)B\mathbb{W}ds\|_{(L_2)(H)} < \infty$  for each  $t < \infty$ . It follows from (1.2) for  $\Psi(s) = S(t-s)B$  and the following equalities (where  $\{g_k\}$  is a basis in H):

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{N}}\sigma_{j}^{2}\left\|\int_{0}^{t}S(t-s)Be_{j}\xi_{i}(s)ds\right\|_{H}^{2} \\ &=\sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\left(\int_{0}^{t}\xi_{i}(s)\big(\sigma_{j}S(t-s)Be_{j},g_{k}\big)_{H}ds\Big)^{2} \\ &=\sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{N}}\left\|\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}\big(\sigma_{j}S(t-\cdot)Be_{j},g_{k}\big)\right\|_{L_{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \\ &=\sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{0}^{t}\left|\left(S(t-\cdot)BQ^{\frac{1}{2}},g_{k}\right)_{H}\right|^{2}ds=\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{0}^{t}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\left(S(t-\cdot)BQ^{\frac{1}{2}}e_{j},g_{k}\right)_{H}^{2}ds \\ &=\int_{0}^{t}\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\left\|S(t-s)BQ^{\frac{1}{2}}e_{j}\right\|_{H}^{2}ds=\int_{0}^{t}\left\|S(t-s)B\right\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^{2}ds. \end{split}$$

The fact that the integrals in (3.1), being in  $(L_2)(H)$  coincide, can be proved by obtaining this equality on elementary functions and then going to the limit. Show (3.1) on elementary operator-functions  $\Psi_m(s) = \{\chi_{[s_k, s_{k+1})} \Psi_{mk}\}_k^m$  approximating S(t-s)B:

$$\int_0^t \Psi(s) \mathbb{W} ds = \sum_{i,j \in \mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \int_0^t \Psi_m(s) e_j \xi_i(s) ds \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j \in \mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \int_{t_{k-1}}^{t_k} \Psi_{mk} \xi_i(s) ds e_j \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \Psi_{nk} \sum_{i,j \in \mathbb{N}} \sigma_j \int_{t_{k-1}}^{t_k} \xi_i(s) ds e_j \mathbf{h}_{\epsilon_{n(i,j)}}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \Psi_{mk} \Big[ W(t_k) - W(t_{k-1}) \Big] = \int_0^t \Psi_n(t) dW(t)$$

Going to the limit as  $n \to \infty$ , we obtain (3.1). It follows that generalized in  $\omega$  and the corresponding weak solution under the existence conditions for both of them.  $\Box$ 

## References

- M.A. Alshanskiy, I.V. Melnikova, Regularized and generalized solutions of infinitedimensional stochastic problems. Mat. Sb. 202(11), 3–30 (2011)
- G. Da Prato, J. Zabczyk, *Stochastic Equations in Infinite Dimensions* (Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1992)
- 3. H.O. Fattorini, The Cauchy Problem (Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1983)
- 4. L. Gawarecki, V. Mandrekar, *Stochastic Differential Equations in Infinite Dimensions* (Springer, Berlin, 2011)
- 5. H. Holden, B. Oksendal, J. Uboe, T. Zhang, *Stochastic Partial Differential Equations* (Birkhäuser, Boston, 1996)
- I.V. Melnikova, Generalized solutions of differential-operator equations with singular white noise. Differ. Equ. 49(4), 475–486 (2013)
- I.V. Melnikova, A. Filinkov, *The Cauchy Problem: Three Approaches*. Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 120 (2001)
- I.V. Melnikova, A.I. Filinkov, U.A. Anufrieva, Abstract stochastic equations I. Classical and distributional solutions. J. Math. Sci. 111(2), 3430–3465 (2002)
- I.V. Melnikova, A.I. Filinkov, M.A. Alshansky, Abstract stochastic equations II. Solutions in spaces of abstract stochastic distributions. J. Math. Sci. 116(5), 3620–3656 (2003)
- S. Philipovic, D. Selesi, Structure theorems for generalized random processes. Acta Math. Hung. 117(3), 251–274 (2007)

# **Biomechanical Model of the Human Eye on the Base of Nonlinear Shell Theory**

Vladimir Yakushev

Abstract The goal of this work is the development of a biomechanical model of the human eye and to prove software simulation systems of measuring the intraocular pressure (IOP) by an optical analyzer. We numerically simulate the eye deformation when the IOP is measured using the Ocular Response Analyzer developed by the USA company Reichert. The biomechanical model includes a cornea and a sclera, which are considered as axisymmetrically deformable shells of revolution with fixed boundaries; the space between these shells is filled with incompressible fluid. Nonlinear shell theory is used to describe the stressed and strained state of the cornea and sclera. The optical system is calculated from the viewpoint of the geometrical optics. Dependences between the pressure in the air jet and the area of the surface reflecting the light into a photo detector for the different thickness of the cornea were obtained. Three problems with different boundary conditions were considered. The shapes of the regions on the cornea surface were found from which the reflected light falls on the photo detector. First, the light is reflected from the center of the cornea, but then, as the cornea deforms, the light is reflected from its periphery. The numerical results make it possible to better interpret the measurement data. This work was supported by a grant No. 13-01-00801 from the Russian Foundation for Basic Research.

**Keywords** Nonlinear shell theory · Computational mathematics · Geometrical optics · Human eye · Intraocular pressure

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) Primary 74K25 · Secondary 65M06

## **1** Introduction

Modeling of the cornea and the sclera is important for clinical applications and as a tool to deepen our understanding of how an eye behaves from a point of view of

V. Yakushev (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015

<sup>19/18, 2-</sup>nd Brestskaja st., 123056 Moscow, Russian Federation e-mail: yakushev@icad.org.ru

V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0\_93





measuring the intraocular pressure. Some ocular instruments, such as the CORVIS ST (Oculus, Inc.) or the ORA (Reichert, Inc.) [1] can be used to investigate biomechanical properties of eye and are becoming useful tools for assessing refractive surgery qualification and outcomes. These devices use a brief and intense air pulse to rapidly deform the eye and detect its shape during deformation. The pressure pulse exerted on the cornea during loading is measured throughout the test at all times.

Glaucoma, an eye disease characterised by degeneration of the optic nerve, is often associated with increased IOP. The only effective therapy against disease progression is lowering of IOP. However, our limited understanding of outflow resistance generation by the trabecular outflow pathway impedes the development of new IOP-lowering therapies.

The outer coat (sclera and cornea) provides structural integrity and has key relationships with the systems that generate and control intraocular pressure. The latter is a key risk factor for glaucoma and if too low also can lead to catastrophic loss of vision.

The scheme of the device can be described as follows. A patient presses his or her forehead to the device. A narrow beam of light is directed to the cornea center at a certain angle using a special positioning system. The light passes through the aperture, as a result, a part of the light flux is cut off and an illuminated area *S* emerges on the cornea (Fig. 1). Then, an air jet in which the pressure increases from zero to a certain magnitude is directed to the center of the cornea. As a result, the cornea is deformed, and the reflected light flux changes depending on the cornea shape. As a result of the measurements, a curve is shown on the device display that plots the reflected light flux against the pressure in the jet. Figures 1 and 2 were taken by the author from the Internet.

## 2 Basic Equations

Eye schematically depicted in Fig. 2. We assume that the cornea and the sclera are axisymmetric about the longitudinal axis and the pressure at the center is also distributed symmetrically about this axis. Thus, we have an axisymmetric problem for



the calculation of the deformation of both shells (Fig. 3). The coordinates in the section are denoted by the capital letters X and Z. The cornea and the sclera are considered as elastic shells whose deformation is described by a geometrically nonlinear theory under finite displacements and rotation angles. So, we have the basic equations of the theory of shells of revolution under the influence of an axisymmetric load. These equations are the same for the cornea and the sclera; only their geometric and mechanical parameters are different. For that reason, we write these equations in the general form [2].

The shell surface can be obtained by rotating the plane curve  $X = X(s_0)$ ,  $Z = Z(s_0)$ , around the axis Z, where  $s_0$  is the arc length along the cornea surface measured from its center (see [2]). The angle between the tangent to the surface and the axis X is  $\varphi(s_0)$ . The values  $X(s_0)$ ,  $Z(s_0)$  and  $\varphi(s_0)$  are obtained by solving the problem of the simultaneous deformation of the cornea and the sclera. Such problems were studied in [2–5].

Nonlinear shell theory is used to describe the stressed and strained state of the cornea and sclera. The spatial problem was decided by a method of finite differences. For a solution of the nonlinear problems of deformation and stability of shells a method of additional viscosity was used [2]. It permits to build converging iterative processes, including those near critical loads. In this case, there is no necessity to change solution parameters and to chose specified procedures for bypassing singular points.

As a result, a system of six partial differential equations was obtained. It has the form of the canonical hyperbolic system (see [2])

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Phi}{\partial s_0 \partial t} + \mathbf{A} \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{\tau} \left\{ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial s_0} + \mathbf{B} \right\} = 0.$$
(2.1)

The components of  $\Phi$  are functions of the spatial coordinate  $s_0$  and the time *t*; they are determined by the relation

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi} = [\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \varepsilon_1, k_1, \boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{Z}]^T.$$
(2.2)



Fig. 3 Three problems with different boundary conditions

The matrices A and B of size  $6 \times 6$  and  $6 \times 1$  are functions of the components of  $\Phi$ , which, in turn, are functions of the time *t* and the coordinate *s*<sub>0</sub>.

The static problem is described by Eq. (2.1) for the zero velocities  $\dot{\varepsilon}_1 = \dot{\varepsilon}_2 = \dot{k}_1 = \dot{k}_2 = \dot{\gamma} = 0$ . Therefore, the static problem is described by the equations in braces:

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial s_0} + \mathbf{B} = 0$$

Its solution is obtain from system (2.1) asymptotically when  $\dot{\gamma}$ ,  $\dot{\varepsilon}_1$ ,  $\dot{k}_1$ ,  $\dot{\phi}$ ,  $\dot{x}$ ,  $\dot{y}$  tend to zero.

This problem was solved using the step-by-step method. For every load value  $p_e$ , the iterative process was carried out until stabilization, i.e., until the velocity  $|\partial \Phi / \partial t|$  became less than a prescribed value determining the computation error.

Since we solved the problem numerically, the shapes of the cornea and the sclera could be defined by coordinates of some of their points. However, there is not enough data to do so; for that reason, we assumed that their shapes were sphere segments [2].

Three problems with different boundary conditions were considered (Fig. 3). In the first of them, the point where the cornea and sclera meet was fixed; denote this point by A. The lower point of the cornea can move freely. On the contrary, in the second problem considered here, the point A can move in the vertical direction, while the lower point is fixed. In the third problem sclera is surrounded with muscles and fatty tissue. They are modelled by Winkler foundation.

To analyze the influence of the initial internal pressure on the location of the curves in the dependence  $S-p_e$ , calculations for eight values of  $p_i$  were performed with the cornea 0.45 mm thick (see Fig. 4). It is seen that the maximum of the dependence  $S-p_e$  moves to the right as  $p_i$  increases. This fact can be used to interpret the measurement results.

The dependencies between the area S (sq. mm) and the pressure in the jet  $p_i$  (mm Hg) are shown in Fig. 5. It gives a comparison of the first and second boundary conditions. The continuous line corresponds to the second task, and dotted—the



first. From these results it is visible that change of boundary conditions didn't lead to considerable change of the results.

The third type of boundary conditions gives the most realistic scheme of loading of an eye at measurement of intraocular pressure. Figure 6 displays the pressure in the air jet  $p_i$  (mm Hg) against the area S (sq. mm) from which the reflected light comes to the photodetector for various sizes of maximum shift down  $Z_c$  of a point A in millimeters. Apparently insignificant point shifts strongly influences the provision of a maximum. In Fig. 7 figure value of a maximum S for the area and pressure  $p_i$ depending on vertical shift is shown.

The optical system is calculated from the viewpoint of the geometrical optics. The dependences between the pressure in the air jet and the area of the surface reflecting the light into a photodetector are obtained. The shapes of the regions on the cornea surface are found from which the reflected light falls on the photodetector. First, the light is reflected from the center of the cornea, but then, as the cornea de-





Fig. 7 The scheme of the cornea and the sclera

Fig. 8 The scheme of the cornea and the sclera

forms, the light is reflected from its periphery (Fig. 8). Figure shows the shapes of the regions in the central part of the cornea corresponding to the unlit part (black), the illuminated part that reflects the light not hitting the photodetector (gray), and the illuminated part that reflects the light hitting the photodetector (white). This is a very important result because no experiments on investigating the shape of the region for the reflected light were earlier carried out, while this is necessary for the correct interpretation of measurement results.

## **3** Conclusions

Knowledge on the biomechanical properties of human eye is essential in treatment and diagnosis of ophthalmic diseases. A numerical model was proposed to simulate the interaction between sclera and cornea. Better understanding the biomechanical characteristics of the eye can lead to improvements in treatments of IOP.

## References

- 1. D. Lusce, D. Taylor, Reichert Ocular Response Analyzer. Measures Corneal Biomechanical Properties and IOP. Reichert Ophthalmic Instruments (2006)
- R.R. Khusainov, V.R. Tsibul'skii, V.L. Yakushev, Simulation of eye deformation in the measurement of intraocular pressure. Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 51(2), 326–338 (2011)
- 3. V.L. Yakushev, Statement of the problem of intraocular pressure measurement modeling by a pneumotonometric method. Mech. Solids **46**(6), 937–945 (2011)
- V.L. Yakushev, Simulation of the measurement of intraocular pressure, in *Proceedings of the* 8th Congress of the International Society for Analysis, Its Applications and Computation (22– 27 August 2011). Progress in Analysis, vol. 22 (2011), Peoples' Friendship University of Russia
- V. Yakushev, Simulation of the corneoscleral rigidity in the measurement of in-traocular pressure, in *Book of Abstracts*, EUROMECH Colloquium 533, "Biomechanics of the Eye", Genoa, Italy, 22–24 July, 2013 (University of Genoa, Genoa, 2013), pp. 57–58

# Appendix Impressions of 9th ISAAC Congress, Kraków 2013


































## **Author Index**

Alekseev, D., 753 Amosov, A.A., 625 Ascanelli, Alessia, 193 Ashino, Ryuichi, 467 Ayele, Tsegaye G., 163 Badecka, Inez, 41 Bare, Z., 637 Begehr, Heinrich, 77 Bez, Neal, 281 Billich, Martin, 433 Bodzioch, Mariusz, 11 Boiti, Chiara, 193 Borsuk, Mikhail, 11 Bosiakov, S., 793 Bottacin, Francesco, 375 Boumenir, Amin, 531 Britvina, Lyubov Y., 507 Castro, L.P., 553 Chițescu, Ion, 341 Czapla, Roman, 777 D'Abbicco, Marcello, 209 Dosta, A., 793 Dronjuk, Ivanna, 723 Du, Jinyuan, 67 Dubatovskaya, Maryna, 5 Ehler, Martin, 715 Emanuello, John A., 499 Fan, Jishan, 217 Filbir, Frank, 715 Filipuk, Galina, 93 Fujinoki, Kensuke, 443 Fujita, Keiko, 451 Fujiwara, H., 553 Fukuda, Naohiro, 459 Gaiko, Valery A., 655 Galakhov, Evgeny, 299 Galstian, Anahit, 225

Ghiloni, R., 475 Goldman, Mikhail L., 163 Grybos, Anna, 681 Gürkanlı, A. Turan, 145 Hoshino, Hiroki, 233 Iakovleva, Valentina, 649 Jeavons, Chris, 281 Kanguzhin, Baltabek, 49 Karapınar, Erdal, 843 Karlovich, Y.I., 571 Keller, Julien, 361 Kempa, Wojciech M., 733 Kerimbekov, Akylbek, 803 Kim-Tyan, L.R., 101 Kinoshita, Tamotu, 459 Kisil, Vladimir V., 583 Koroleva, Anna, 5 Kubo, Akisato, 233 Kycia, Radosław Antoni, 93 Lamberti, Pier Domenico, 171 Lantzberg, Daniel, 695 Levajković, Tijana, 315 Lieb, Florian, 705 Loaiza, Maribel, 591 Loginov, B.V., 101 Mandai, Takeshi, 467 Matsuoka, Katsuo, 179 Matsuura, Tsutomu, 3 Melnikova, Irina V., 855 Mena, Hermann, 315 Mikołajczyk, Wojciech, 689 Mishuris, Gennady, 5 Mochizuki, Kiyoshi, 253 Morales, J.R., 831 Moretti, V., 475 Morimoto, Akira, 467 Mozel, V.A., 571

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 V.V. Mityushev, M.V. Ruzhansky (eds.), *Current Trends in Analysis and Its Applications*, Trends in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-12577-0 Muratbekov, M.B., 85 Muratbekov, M.M., 85 Nakamura, Makoto, 203 Nawalaniec, Wojciech, 769 Nazarkevich, Maria, 723 Nguyen, Hung Manh, 485 Nolder, Craig A., 499 Omarbayeva, B., 117 Onchis, Darian M., 681 Orlik, J., 637 Ospanov, K.N., 19 Ozawa, Tohru, 217 Panasenko, G., 637 Pattakos, Nikolaos, 281 Pei, Pei, 307 Perotti, A., 475 Pessoa, Luís V., 605 Picard, Rainer, 243 Provenzano, Luigi, 171 Prykarpatski, Anatolij K., 325 Rabinovich, Vladimir, 615 Rajabova, Lutfya, 123 Rammaha, Mohammad A., 307 Rappoport, Juri, 545 Rodrigues, M.M., 553 Rojas, E.M., 831 Rousak, Y.B., 101 Rudol, Krzysztof, 689 Rusakov, Alexandr, 425 Rykov, Vladimir, 741 Rylko, Natalia, 761 Ryś, Jan, 417 Saitoh, Saburo, 523, 561

Salieva, Olga, 299 Santos, Ana Moura, 605 Shklyar, B., 823 Shpileuski, I., 753 Shupeyeva, B., 59 Ślęczka, Ryszard, 417 Soltanov, Kamal N., 347 Starkova, Olga, 855 Stępień, Łukasz T., 273 Tarasyev, Alexander M., 133 Tokmagambetov, Niyaz, 49 Toundykov, Daniel, 307 Trooshin, Igor, 253 Tuan, Nguyen Minh, 515 Tuan, Vu Kim, 531, 553 Tungatarov, A., 117 Tytuła, Anna, 33 Usova, Anastasia A., 133 Vanegas, Judith, 649 Vasilevski, Nikolai, 591 Vasilyev, Alexander V., 663 Vasilyev, Vladimir B., 663 Vinokurova, A., 793 Vishnevsky, Vladimir, 741 Wang, Ying, 67 Yagdjian, Karen, 263 Yakushev, Vladimir, 865 Yanjin, Wang, 23 Yufeng, Wang, 23 Yurkevich, K., 785 Zelinskii, Yuri, 335 Zheng, Kai, 395 Zhunussova, Zhanat, 671